## STATISTICS OF INCOME FOR 1943

## PART 1

COMPILED TROM INDIVIDUAL INCOME AND VICTORY TAX RETURNS, TAXABLE FIDUCIARY INCOME AND VICTORY TAX RETURNS, ESTATE TAX RETURNS, AND, GIFT TAX RETURNS

STATES TREASURY DEPARTMEN BUREAU OF INTERNAL REVENUE . WASHINGTON D.C

Chainbridge
TECHNOLOGIES





## STATISTICS OF INCOME FOR 1943

#### PART 1

COMPILED FROM INDIVIDUAL INCOME AND VICTORY
TAX RETURNS, TAXABLE FIDUCIARY INCOME
AND VICTORY TAX RETURNS, ESTATE
TAX RETURNS, AND GIFT TAX
RETURNS

PREPARED UNDER DIRECTION OF THE
COMMISSIONER OF INTERNAL REVENUE
BY THE
STATISTICAL DIVISION



UNITED STATES
GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE
WASHINGTON: 1950

### LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

TREASURY DEPARTMENT,
OFFICE OF COMMISSIONER OF INTERNAL REVENUE,
Washington, D. C., January 31, 1950.

Sir: In accordance with the provisions of section 63 of the Internal Revenue Code, requiring the annual preparation and publication of statistics with respect to the operation of Federal income tax laws, I have the honor to transmit herewith a report, "Statistics of Income for 1943, Part 1," setting forth by various classifications, data relative to the income, deductions, exemptions, credits, tax liability, and other pertinent facts reported on the individual and the taxable fiduciary income and victory tax returns for 1943 filed in 1944. The report also contains tabulations of data from the estate tax returns filed in 1944 for the estates of individuals irrespective of the date of death, and from the gift tax returns for 1943 filed in 1944. There are also included historical presentations of significant data reported on returns filed since the inception of the present period of income taxation under the sixteenth amendment to the Constitution, and a synopsis of tax rates, credits, and other provisions of the Federal income tax laws which affect the comparability of these historical data.

Respectfully,

GEO. J. SCHOENEMAN, Commissioner of Internal Revenue.

Hon. John W. Snyder, Secretary of the Treasury.

### CONTENTS

|  | Page              |
|--|-------------------|
| Introduction   | 1–2               |
| INDIVIDUAL INCOME AND VICTORY TAX RETURNS AND TAXABLE FIDUCIARY INCOME AND VICTORY TAX RETURNS                                       |                   |
|  | 0.7               |
| Summary data   | 2-4               |
| Returns included   | . 4               |
| Changes in income tax lawBasic items   | 5-6               |
| Basic items  | 6-9               |
| Scope of estimated data  | 9-10              |
| Classification of returns  | 10-13             |
| Tabular arrangement of data  | 13-14             |
| Simple and cumulative distribution by net income classes   | 14-16             |
| Types of tax liability Surtax and surtax net income (Form 1040)  | 17-25             |
| Surtax and surtax net income (Form 1040)   | 26-28             |
| Tax withheld, tax payments, and tax refund   | 29-45             |
| Forgiven tax under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943   | 46-59             |
| Family relationship—individual returns with net income   | 60-62             |
| Number of dependents—individual returns with net income  | 62-75             |
| Sources of income and deduction  | . 76–88           |
| Patterns of income   | . 88–92           |
| Sole proprietorships   | . 93-96           |
| Government obligations and interest  | 97-98             |
| Rovernment obligations and interest  Net gain or loss from sales or exchanges of capital assets                                      | 98–100            |
| Medical and dental expenses  Comparability of income tax liability and tax collections   | 100-102           |
| Comparability of income tax liability and tax collections  | . 106             |
| Description of the sample and limitations of data  | 100-115           |
| Historical data  | 15-122            |
| Individual and fiduciary returns   | 115-1:16          |
| Capital gain and loss  | 116-120           |
| Capital gain and loss Partnership returns, number of returns filed   | 120-121           |
| Source Book of Statistics of Income  | 121-122           |
| BASIC TABLES   |                   |
| 1. Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit  |                   |
| for dependents, and tax analysis, by net income classes—individua  | l                 |
| and taxable fiduciary returns  | 24-135            |
| 1-A. Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption<br>credit for dependents, and tax analysis, by net income classes— | ,                 |
| credit for dependents, and tax analysis, by net income classes—  | -                 |
| individual returns   | 130-147           |
| 1-B. Number of returns, net income, exemption, and tax analysis, by net  | [<br>  40 159     |
| income classes—taxable fiduciary returns   | 140-100           |
| 2. Simple and cumulative distributions of number of returns, net income  | ,                 |
| total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943   | 3                 |
| income, by net income classes—individual and taxable fiduciary re  | -<br>1 2 4 3 2 27 |
| turns  | 104-107           |
| 2-A. Simple and cumulative distributions of returns, net income, total   | 1                 |
| income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 194  | 0<br>150 161      |
| income, by net income classes—individual returns   | 108-101           |
| 3. Number of returns, net income, personal exemption, credit for depend  | <b>-</b>          |
| ents, and income and victory tax on 1943 income, by net income   | е                 |
| classes and by sex and family relationship—individual returns with   | n.                |

| Tago  |
|---|
| 4: Sources of income, deductions, and net income or deficit, by net income classes—individual and taxable fiduciary returns 173-179                       |
| 4-A. Sources of income, deductions, and net income or deficit, by net   |
| income classes—individual returns   |
| ciary, by net income classes—taxable fiduciary returns 186-189 5. Net gain from sales of capital assets, net loss from sales of capital                   |
| assets before and after statutory limitation, net short- and long-<br>term gain or loss, and net capital loss carried over, by net income                 |
| classes—individual and taxable fiduciary returns190-195<br>5-A. Net gain from sales of capital assets, net loss from sales of capital                     |
| assets before and after statutory limitation, net short- and long-  |
| term gain or loss, and net capital loss carried over, by net income   |
| classes—individual returns  |
| classes—individual returns  |
| classes—taxable fiduciary returns 204–205   |
| 8. Number of returns, gross income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and tax analysis, by gross income classes—individual                       |
| returns, Form 1040A   |
| 9. Sources of income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and  |
| income and victory tax on 1943 income, by gross income classes and by sex and family relationship—individual returns, Form 1040A_ 208-213                 |
| 10. Population, percent of returns to population, number of returns, net income, and tax, by States and Territories—individual and taxable                |
| fiduciary returns with net income214-215 10-A. Number of returns, net income, and tax, by States and Territories—   |
| 10-A. Number of returns, net income, and tax, by States and Territories—  |
| individual returns with net income  |
| come and victory tax on 1943 income, by States and Territories—   |
| individual returns with net income by net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes); also, aggregate for taxable fiduciary returns             |
| with net income218-251  |
| HISTORICAL TABLES   |
| 12. Number of returns, net income, tax, and tax credits, 1913-1943 256-257  13. Number of returns, net income or deficit, tax, and effective tax rate, by |
| net income classes, 1914–1943   |
| 4. Sources of income, deductions, and net income or deficit 1916–1943 265–277   |
| 15. Number of returns, net income, and total tax, by States and Territories, 1934-1943  |
| ESTATE TAX RETURNS  |
| Summary data291   |
| Federal estate tax law  |
| Basic items 294–297 Classification of returns 298   |
| Classification of returns 298   |
| Nonresident aliens 298–299  |
| Estate tax tables 299-322  1. Number of returns, items of gross estate, deductions, net estate,   |
| and taxes, by revenue acts—taxable and nontaxable returns 302-305   |
| 2. Number of returns, items of gross estate, deductions, net estate,  |
| and taxes, by net estate classes—taxable returns  |
| and taxes, by gross estate classes—taxable returns 312-315  |
| 4. Number of returns, items of gross estate, deductions, net estate (or no net estate) before exemption, by gross estate classes—                         |
| nontaxable returns 316-319  |
| 5. Number of returns, by taxable status, and selected items for taxable returns, by States and Territories—taxable and nontaxable                         |
| returns320-321  |
| 6. Number of returns, gross estate, net estate, and tax for all returns filed, September 9, 1916, through December 31, 1944 322                           |
|   |

| Page Page   |
|---|
| Summary data  |
| Gift tax law 328  |
| Returns included 329  |
| Resignitions 329–330  |
| Classification of returns   |
| Identical denore  |
| Gift tax tables 331-342   |
| Gift tax tables  1. Number of returns, total gifts by type of property, exclusions,   |
| doductions not citts and taxtaxable returns by net gut classes  |
| and nontaxable returns in aggregate   |
| 2. Number of returns, total gifts before exclusions, exclusions, deduc-   |
| tions, net gifts, and tax—taxable returns by total gifts plus tax   |
| classes and nontaxable returns by total gift classes 337-339 3. Value of gifts transferred in trust and of gifts otherwise trans- |
| ferred, by type of property—all returns340  |
| 4. Number of returns, total gifts after exclusions, deductions, net   |
| gifts, and tax, by taxable status—taxable and nontaxable returns  |
| of identical donors   |
| 5 Number of returns by net gift classes and by net gift for prior   |
| years classes—taxable returns of identical donors who filed taxable   |
| returns for prior years34   |
| returns for prior years34. 6. Number of returns, total gifts before exclusions, net gifts, and tax,                               |
| 1932–1943   |
| SYNOPSIS OF FEDERAL TAX LAWS AFFECTING THE COMPARABILITY OF   |
| HISTORICAL DATA IN STATISTICS OF INCOME   |
| INSTORIONE DATA IN STATISTICS OF MOONE  |
| Individual and fiduciary returns:   |
| A. Requirements for filing, amount of personal exemption, credit for  |
| dependents, and normal tax rates, 1913-1943   |
| B. Surtax rates and total surtax, 1913–1943 350–350 C. Optional tax (individual returns, Form 1040A, only) 1941–1943 354–350      |
| D. Provisions pertaining to capital gains and losses, excess-profits tax,   |
| taxes paid to foreign countries, and earned income credit,  |
| 1917–1943   |
| Estate tax returns:   |
| E Requirements for filing, amount of exemption, tax credits, tax  |
| rates, and total estate tax, 1916–1944 360–36   |
| Cift tow returns:   |
| F. Requirements for filing, amount of exclusion, deductions, tax rates, and total gift tax, 1924–1943                             |
| and total gift tax, 1924-1943   |
| INCOME TAX FORMS  |
| Facsimiles of Forms 1040, 1040A, 1041, and 1065 for 1943  |

### STATISTICS OF INCOME FOR 1943, PART I

INDIVIDUAL INCOME AND VICTORY TAX RETURNS, TAXABLE FIDUCIARY INCOME AND VICTORY TAX RETURNS, ESTATE TAX RETURNS, AND GIFT TAX RETURNS

#### INTRODUCTION

This annual report, compiled from data reported on individual income and victory tax returns, Forms 1040 and 1040A, taxable fiduciary income and victory tax returns, Form 1041, Federal estate tax returns, Form 706, and gift tax returns, Form 709, is prepared in accordance with section 63 of the Internal Revenue Code, which requires the preparation and publication annually of statistics reasonably available with respect to the operation of the income tax laws, including classifications of taxpayers and of income, the amounts allowed as deductions, exemptions, and credits, and other facts deemed

pertinent and valuable.

The major portion of this report comprises income data and tax data tabulated from the individual income and victory tax returns. Forms 1040 and 1040A, and the taxable fiduciary income and victory tax returns, Form 1041, for 1943. Identical classifications are applied to the forms whenever possible, and data are tabulated together or in associated tables. The individual returns, Form 1040A, differ in many respects from returns, Form 1040, but are classified insofar as possible to correspond with the classifications used for Form 1040, in order that a complete coverage of individual returns may be presented. The text relating to these income and tax data is followed by 18 detailed basic tables, some of which present composite data while others present data for each form of return, separately. In addition, there are four historical tables giving a résumé of the income data and of the tax liability reported on individual and fiduciary returns filed in earlier years. No information is tabulated from the partnership returns of income, Form 1065; however, each partner is required to report on his individual income tax return his share of the profit or loss from any partnership of which he is a member. Facsimilies of the 1943 income and victory tax returns, Forms 1040, 1040A, 1041. and the partnership return of income, Form 1065, are inserted at the close of this report.

Data pertaining to the estate tax returns, Form 706, are compiled from returns filed during the calendar year 1944, irrespective of the date of death of the individual or the revenue act under which the estate is taxed. Data concerning the gross estate, deductions, specific exemption, estate tax, and tax credits are presented in five tables; the

sixth and last is a brief summary for estate tax returns filed since September 1916.

Information from gift tax returns, Form 709, regarding property transferred by gift during 1943 and the tax liability of the donor, is tabulated in five tables; the sixth presents a brief summary of data for each year since June 7, 1932, the effective date of the present period of gift taxation.

In order to facilitate the comparison, from year to year, of the data assembled in the historical tables, there is included at the end of this report, a synopsis of Federal tax laws relating to income tax. estate tax, and gift tax, setting forth for each of the revenue acts important provisions affecting the comparability of these historical data.

Certain data from this report were published in the June 1947 Treasury Bulletin and some advance data for returns with net income of \$5,000 and over were printed in the Treasury Bulletin, August 1945.

#### INDIVIDUAL INCOME AND VICTORY TAX RETURNS AND TAXABLE FIDUCIARY INCOME AND VICTORY TAX RETURNS

#### SUMMARY DATA

The total number of individual income and victory tax returns and taxable fiduciary income and victory tax returns filed for the income year 1943 is 43,819,194, an increase of 7,118,465 returns, or 19.4 percent, over the number filed for 1942. The returns for 1943 include 23.380.515 individual returns, Form 1040; 20,341,523 optional returns, Form 1040A, for individuals with gross income of \$3,000 or less, derived wholly from salaries, dividends, interest, and annuities; and 97,156 taxable fiduciary returns, Form 1041.

The total income tax net income is \$99,585,627,446, including gross income of \$31,086,413,059 reported on Form 1040A, which does not provide for reporting the amount of net income. The net income for 1943 reflects an increase of \$20,696,265,790, or 26.2 percent, over the

net income shown in Statistics of Income for 1942, Part 1.

The income and victory tax on 1943 income is \$14,590,017,548, of which \$14,450,084,140 is from individual returns and \$139,933,408 is from taxable fiduciary returns. The net victory tax of \$2,314,114,600 is included; and tax credits of \$16,803,446 relating to income tax paid at source on tax-free covenant bond interest and to income tax paid to a foreign country or United States possession, are deducted. The tax tabulated for individual returns is the tax computed on 1943 income, without regard to the comparison with the 1942 tax liability as provided under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943; and, therefore does not include the tax adjustments necessary for the merging of the 1942 and 1943 tax liabilities. Neither the tax on 1943 income nor the tax on 1942 income of individuals, as such, was collected in full because of the merging of the two taxes under that Act.

The income and victory tax on 1943 income before tax credits is \$14.606.820,994, representing an increase of \$5,680,109,071, or 63.6 percent, over the total income tax on 1942 income. In making this comparison, it should be noted that the tax on 1943 income includes

the net victory tax.

The total income and victory tax liability is \$17.145.912.269. including \$139,933,408 income and victory tax on 1943 income from taxable fiduciary returns. Total income and victory tax of \$17.005,-978,861 from individual returns is the tax resulting from the merging of the 1942 and 1943 tax liabilities under the Current Tax-Payment Act of 1943. It is the aggregate of (1) the income and victory tax on 1943 income less credits relating to income tax paid at source on tax-free covenant bond interest and to income tax paid to a foreign country or United States possession, (2) the amount by which the 1943 tax is increased to equal the 1942 tax liability, on returns showing a smaller tax (or no tax) for 1943 prior to such adjustment, and (3) the unforgiven portion of the 1942 or 1943 tax, whichever is smaller.

The average income and victory tax on 1943 income for returns classified as taxable on the basis of 1943 income is \$362 as compared with \$322 for taxable returns for 1942. The effective tax rate for income and victory tax on 1943 income is 14.9 percent as compared with 13.3 percent for the income tax on 1942 income. However, the average tax and effective tax rate for 1943 are computed on the tax including the net victory tax, after deducting the two tax credits mentioned previously, while those for 1942 are before such tax credits.

A summary of data for 1942 and 1943 is tabulated below, showing the amount and percent of increase or decrease in number of returns, net income, deficit, and taxes.

Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, 1943 and 1942: Number of returns, net income, deficit, and taxes

(For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13.

#### [Money figures in thousands of dollars]

| [Money figures in 1  | thousands of d   | ioliarsj   |   |   |
|--|--|--|---|---|
|  |  |  | Increase or de  | ecrease (—)   |
|  | 1943   | 1942   | Number or<br>amount   | Percent   |
| Total individual and taxable fiduciary returns:  Number of returns.  Net income <sup>1</sup> Deficit <sup>2</sup> Tax on current year's income—before credits <sup>1</sup> Tax on current year's income—after credits <sup>4</sup>                     | 43, 819, 194<br>99, 585, 627<br>226, 346<br>14, 606, 821<br>14, 590, 018 | 36, 700, 729<br>78, 889, 362<br>198, 598<br>8, 926, 712<br>Not available                             | 7, 118, 465<br>20, 696, 266<br>27, 748<br>5, 680, 109   |   |
| Additional tax from returns with larger tax in 1942  | 702, 633<br>1, 853, 261  |  | 702, 633<br>1, 853, 261   |   |
| Total income and victory tax 5   | 17, 145, 912   |  |   |   |
| Taxable individual and fiduciary returns:   With net income:  Number of returns.  Net income!  Tax on current year's income—before credits  Normal tax  Surtax.  Alternative tax  Optional tax  Net victory tax  Less credits for foreign tax paid and | 1, 823, 396<br>2, 313, 421   | 27, 718, 534<br>67, 060, 862<br>8, 926, 712<br>1, 445, 042<br>5, 720, 130<br>443, 593<br>1, 317, 947 | 12, 600, 068<br>31, 089, 328<br>5, 679, 415<br>588, 742<br>1, 744, 130<br>527, 674<br>505, 449<br>2, 313, 421 | 45. 46<br>46. 36<br>63. 62<br>40. 74<br>30. 49<br>118. 95<br>38. 35 |
| tax paid at source 11  | 16, 803<br>14, 589, 324  | Not available<br>Not available   | ***************************************   |   |
| in 1942<br>Unforgiven tax  | 635, 832<br>1, 853, 201  |  |   |   |

Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, 1948 and 1942: Number of returns, net income, deficit, and taxes—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6–13, 106-114]

[Money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   |   |                             | Increase or d                             | ecrease (-)      |
|---|---|-----------------------------|---|------------------|
|   | 1943                                      | 1942                        | Number or<br>amount                       | Percent          |
| Taxable individual and fiduciary returns 6—Con. With no net income: 12 Number of returns. Deficit 2. Net victory tax 10 Additional tax from returns with larger tax in 1942 Unforgiven tax. | 18, 691<br>27, 988<br>694<br>3, 526<br>61 |                             | 18, 691<br>27, 988<br>694<br>3, 526<br>61 |                  |
| Nontaxable individual returns: 13 With net income: 7  | •   |                             |   |                  |
| Number of returns<br>Net income <sup>1</sup><br>Additional tax from returns with a tax in   | 3, 283, 854<br>1, 435, 438                | 8, 819, 059<br>11, 828, 500 | -5, 535, 205<br>-10, 393, 062             | -62.76<br>-87.86 |
| With no net income: 12  | 35, 756                                   |                             | 35, 756                                   |                  |
| Number of returns  Deficit <sup>2</sup> Additional tax from returns with a tax in   | 198, 047<br>198, 358                      | 163, 136<br>198, 598        | 34, 911<br>-240                           | 21. 40<br>12     |
| 1942  | 27, 519                                   |                             | . 27, 519                                 |                  |

For footnotes, see pp. 103-105.

#### RETURNS INCLUDED

The returns from which data in this report are tabulated, are in general, for the calendar year 1943. However, there are included returns for a fiscal year ending within the period July 1943 through June 1944, and returns for a part year with the greater part of the

accounting period in 1943.

The returns from which data are tabulated are individual returns, Form 1040, 1040A, and 1040B, and fiduciary returns, Form 1041, with net income taxable to the fiduciary, filed for estates and trusts. The individual return, Form 1040, is filed by citizens and resident aliens except that individuals whose gross income is not more than \$3,000 and is wholly from salaries and wages, dividends, interest, and annuities, may elect to file the optional return, Form 1040A. The latter form does not provide for reporting of deductions or net income. Return Form 1040B is filed by nonresident aliens with business or office within the United States. Tentative returns are not included and amended returns are used only if the original returns are excluded.

Statistical data are taken from unaudited returns, prior to any revision that may be made as a result of audit by the Bureau of Internal Revenue. Facsimiles of individual returns, Form 1040 and 1040A, and of the fiduciary return, Form 1041, are on pages 368-388. Returns with net income of less than \$500 or with no net income appear in statistics for the reason that returns are required to be filed by or for (a) individuals and estates on the basis of specified amounts of gross income without regard to deductions or the amount of net income, (b) individuals who had a tax liability for 1942, regardless of the gross income for 1943, (c) deceased persons, if the gross income in the period prior to death is equal to, or in excess of, the allowable personal exemption, (d) taxpayers who change their accounting period, if the gross income during the interim equals or exceeds the allowable personal exemption, (e) individuals establishing a claim for refund of tax withheld, and (f) trusts with net income of

\$100 or more or with a nonresident alien beneficiary regardless of the amount of net income.

#### CHANGES IN THE INCOME TAX LAW

The comparability of the income and tax data for 1943 with that of the previous year is affected by provisions, applicable to the 1943 income tax returns, contained in the Revenue Act of 1942, the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943, and the Revenue Act of 1943. The principal changes affecting the data tabulated from individual returns and fiduciary returns are as follows:

1. The minimum amount of gross income for which a return is required to be filed is reduced from \$1,200 to \$624 for a married person living with spouse, where the entire income is attributable to one spouse; a return is required of any person liable for an income tax for the income year 1942, regardless of the amount of gross income for 1943; and a person entitled to a refund on account of overwithholding of tax or overpayment of tax on a declaration of estimated tax is required to file a return in order to claim a refund or request a tax credit applicable to the 1944 estimated tax.

2. A victory tax is imposed applicable to taxable years beginning on or after January 1, 1943, which is 5 percent of the victory tax net income after a specific exemption of \$624. A victory tax credit (with limitations) computed with regard to marital status and number of dependents is allowable against the victory tax. The amount of victory tax is limited to the excess of 90 percent of net income over the tax imposed by Chapter 1 of the Internal Revenue Code computed

without regard to the victory tax or the tax credits.

3. Current collection of the income tax liability of individuals is effected through withholding upon wages and through payments on declaration of estimated tax. Every withholding agent must deduct and withhold upon wages a tax equal to 5 percent of the excess of each wage payment over the withholding deduction allowable, on pay rolls after January 1, 1943. The withholding upon wages is increased to 20 percent of the excess of each wage payment over the withholding exemption allowable, effective for the first complete pavroll period after July 1, 1943. To provide for the current collection of taxes on income not subject to withholding, persons receiving more than specified amounts of such income were required to file on September 15, 1943, a declaration of estimated tax for the taxable year. After deducting the estimated tax to be withheld and payments on 1942 tax, the remaining estimated tax was due in two installments. The first installment was to be paid at the time of filing the declaration and the second on December 15, 1943. Amounts withheld upon wages or paid on account of the declaration as well as payments on 1942 tax liability are considered payments on the total income and victory tax liability.

4. In the adoption of the system of current collection of the tax liability of individuals, the income tax liability for 1942 is discharged, except that (1) for individuals whose income tax liability for 1942 is greater than for 1943, the tax liability for 1943 is increased by the amount by which the 1942 tax exceeds the tax for 1943; (2) for individuals whose smaller tax liability, either 1942 or 1943, exceeds \$66.67, the tax liability for 1943 is increased by 25 percent of the smaller

tax; and (3) for individuals whose smaller tax liability, either 1942 or 1943, is more than \$50 but not more than \$66.67, the tax liability for 1943 is increased by the excess of the smaller tax over \$50. In effect, the provisions of the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943 grant relief to those taxpayers who otherwise would be liable for payment during 1943 of taxes due for both 1942 and 1943, through the discharge (or forgiveness) of 100 percent of the lower tax where the lower tax liability is \$50 or less; a percentage less than 100 percent but greater than 75 percent where the lower tax liability is more than \$50 but not more than \$66.67; and 75 percent where the lower tax liability exceeds \$66.67.

In computing the increase in (1) above for an individual who was in the active service of the military or naval forces of the United States or any of the other United Nations at any time during the taxable year 1942 or 1943, the increase in the 1943 tax liability is reduced by an amount equal to that by which the 1942 tax is increased by reason of inclusion in the net income for 1942 of the earned net income.

5. Military and naval personnel exclude from the 1943 gross income \$1,500 compensation received while in active service in the military or naval forces of the United States. This provision applies to both enlisted personnel and officers as well as to citizens or residents of the United States who are members of the military or naval forces of the other United Nations.

6. Returns for a fiscal year beginning in 1943 and ending in 1944 are subject to the law applicable to taxable years beginning on January 1, 1943, as well as the law applicable to taxable years beginning on January 1, 1944. A tentative tax is computed under each law; and each tentative tax is prorated on the basis of the number of days in such fiscal year before January 1, 1944, and after December 31, 1943, respectively. The tax liability is then determined by combining the two prorated tentative taxes.

#### BASIC ITEMS

Net income is the income tax net income. For individual returns, it is the excess of total income over total deductions; for fiduciary returns, it is income tax net income taxable to the fiduciary, that is, the excess of total income over the sum of total deductions and amounts distributable to beneficiaries. In the computation of income tax net income, a net gain from sales or exchanges of capital assets is included in total income to the extent provided by law (regardless of whether the alternative tax is imposed) or, in the case of a net loss from such sales or exchanges, the loss is included in total deductions to the extent provided under the limitation on capital losses. Net income is not reported on the optional returns, Form 1040A, therefore, gross income is tabulated as net income.

Deficit, for individual returns with no net income, is the excess of total deductions over total income; for taxable fiduciary returns with no net income, it is the excess of total deductions and the amount distributable to beneficiaries over total income. In the computation of deficit, a net gain from sales or exchanges of capital assets is included in total income to the extent provided by law or, in the case of a net loss from such sales, the loss is included in total deductions to the extent provided under the limitation on capital losses. Taxable fidu-

ciary returns with no net income appear in this report because there is a victory tax net income and victory tax thereon.

Surtax net income, for individual returns with normal tax and surtax liability, is the excess of income tax net income over the sum of personal exemption and credit for dependents; for returns with alternative tax liability, the surtax net income is income tax net income reduced by (1) the excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss, (2) credit for personal exemption, and (3) credit for dependents. Surtax net income, for fiduciary returns with normal tax and surtax liability, is the excess of income tax net income taxable to the fiduciary over personal exemption allowable to an estate or the credit allowable to a trust in lieu thereof; for fiduciary returns with alternative tax liability, surtax net income is income tax net income reduced by (1) the excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss, and (2) credit for personal exemption allowable to an estate or the credit allowable to a trust in lieu thereof.

Net income subject to normal tax, for individual returns, is the surtax net income less partially tax-exempt interest on Government obligations, partially tax-exempt dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations, and earned income credit. Net income subject to normal tax, for fiduciary returns, is the surtax net income less the fiduciary's share of partially tax-exempt interest on Government obligations and partially tax-exempt dividends on share accounts

in Federal savings and loan associations.

Victory tax net income on Form 1040A is gross income; on Forms 1040 and 1041, it is gross income excluding gain or loss from sales of capital assets and interest on United States obligations which is exempt from normal tax—less deductions for the following: business expense; nontrade or nonbusiness expenses incurred either (a) for the production or collection of taxable income, or (b) for the management or maintenance of property held for production of taxable income; net operating loss deduction; alimony; and, in addition on Form 1041, the amount distributable to beneficiaries.

Normal tax and surtax liability is the sum of the normal tax and surtax. The normal tax is 6 percent of the net income subject to normal tax. Surtax is imposed on the entire surtax net income at graduated rates ranging from 13 percent on the first \$2,000 to 82 percent on surtax net income over \$200,000. Normal tax and surtax liability is reported on (a) returns which show no sales or exchanges of capital assets, (b) returns showing a net loss from sales and exchanges of capital assets, and (c) returns with a net gain from sales or exchanges of capital assets unless the alternative tax is imposed.

Alternative tax liability is the sum of (a) normal tax and surtax (partial tax) computed on net income reduced for this purpose by the excess of the net long-term capital gain over the net short-term capital loss, and (b) 50 percent of such excess. The normal tax and surtax rates are the same as stated above. The alternative tax liability is reported on returns showing an excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss, but only if the alternative tax is less than the combined normal tax and surtax on net income which includes the net gain from sales or exchanges of capital assets.

Optional tax liability is the tax paid in lieu of normal tax and surtax by individuals who have income of \$3,000 or less from certain sources

only, and who elect to file Form 1040A. The optional tax, provided in Supplement T of the Code, allows for personal exemption and earned income credit, and also allows for deductions amounting to approxi-

mately 6 percent of total income.

Net victory tax is 5 percent of the victory tax net income after deducting a specific exemption of \$624—less a credit (with limitations) of 25 percent of the tax for a single person, or 40 percent for a married person, plus 2 percent for each dependent. Net victory tax liability is limited to the excess of 90 percent of the taxpayer's net income over the tax imposed by Chapter 1 of the Code, computed without regard to victory tax, or to credits for foreign taxes paid, taxes withheld at source on tax-free covenant bond interest, and taxes withheld upon wages.

Credits for foreign tax paid and tax paid at source are the sum of two tax credits—the income tax paid at source on tax-free covenant bond interest and the income tax paid to a foreign country or United States

possession. These credits were not tabulated last year.

Income and victory tax withheld upon wages, in accordance with sections 466 and 1622 of the Code, is 5 percent of the excess of wage payments over withholding deduction from January through June and 20 percent of the excess of wage payments over withholding exemption from July through December 1943.

Payments on declaration are those made on the balance of estimated tax remaining after deducting the estimated tax to be withheld and the payments made to collectors during 1943 on the 1942 income tax

liability.

Income and victory tax on 1943 income is the tax computed on the income reported for 1943, consisting of either the normal tax and surtax (or optional tax paid in lieu thereof) or the alternative tax, and the net victory tax, after deducting the tax credits relating to income tax paid at source on tax-free covenant bond interest and to income tax paid to a foreign country or United States possession. Unlike the tax tabulated in the 1942 report, the current year tax includes the net victory tax and the two tax credits are deducted.

Additional tax from returns with a larger tax in 1942 is an amount imposed under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943 adopted to accomplish the current collection of the income tax liability. Under this act individuals liable for a tax in both 1942 and 1943 pay the larger of the two taxes; therefore, individuals whose income tax for 1942 is greater than the tax for 1943 increase the latter by an amount equal to the excess of the 1942 tax liability over the tax for 1943. This additional amount of tax is tabulated separately from the tax computed on income reported for 1943.

Unforgiven tax, either 1942 or 1943, is that portion of the smaller tax, 1942 or 1943, which is not discharged (or forgiven) in granting relief to individuals who otherwise would be liable for the payment, during 1943, of taxes due for both 1942 and 1943. If the smaller tax is more than \$66.67, the unforgiven tax is 25 percent of the smaller tax; if the smaller tax is more than \$50 but not more than \$66.67, then

the unforgiven tax is the excess of the smaller tax over \$50.

Unforgiven tax postponed is one-half of the unforgiven tax for tax-payers who elect to postpone payment thereof until March 15, 1945.

Total income and victory tax, reported on individual returns for 1943,

is the tax resulting from the merging of the 1942 and 1943 tax liabili-

ties under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943. It is the aggregate of (1) the income and victory tax on 1943 income less credits for tax paid at source on tax-free covenant bond interest and for tax paid to foreign countries, (2) the amount by which the 1943 tax is increased to equal the 1942 tax liability, on returns showing a smaller tax (or no tax) for 1943 prior to such adjustment, and (3) the unforgiven portion of the 1942 or 1943 tax, whichever is smaller. In tables containing composite data for individual and fiduciary returns, total income and victory tax includes also the income and victory tax on 1943 income from the fiduciary returns.

Tax refund or tax credit on 1944 tax occurs when there are payments through tax withheld by employers and/or payments on declaration of estimated tax in excess of the total income and victory tax liability. At the option of the taxpayer, the excess thus paid is refunded to the

taxpayer or it is applied against his estimated tax for 1944.

Personal exemption allowable against income tax net income for a single person, a married person not living with husband or wife, or an estate, is \$500; for a person who, during the entire taxable year, was head of a family or was married and living with husband or wife, the personal exemption is \$1,200. A credit of \$100 against income tax net income is allowable for a trust in lieu of personal exemption. If the marital status of an individual who files return, Form 1040, has changed during the taxable year, the personal exemption is apportioned according to the number of months before and after such change; whereas, the marital status and personal exemption of an individual who files the optional return, Form 1040A, is determined as of July 1, 1943, without regard to any change that may have occurred during the year.

Credit for dependent of \$350 is allowable against normal tax net income reported on Form 1040, for each person (other than husband and wife) under 18 years of age, or incapable of self-support because mentally or physically defective, whose chief support was received from the taxpayer. If the taxpayer's status with regard to dependents changes during the year, the credit is prorated according to the number of months before and after such change when reported on Form 1040. A credit of \$385 is allowable against gross income reported on Form 1040A, for each dependent as of July 1, 1943, without regard to changes that occur during the year. In the case of a taxpayer who is the head of a family only by reason of one or more dependents for whom he would be entitled to credit, a credit is allowable for each of such dependents except one.

Earned income credit is 10 percent of the earned net income which cannot exceed \$14,000, or 10 percent of the net income, whichever is smaller. The earned income credit tabulated for the optional returns, Form 1040A, is estimated at 9.4 percent of the gross income (equivalent to 10 percent of the income after deductions aggregating

6 percent of gross income).

#### SCOPE OF ESTIMATED DATA

Owing to the increased number of returns filed by individuals for 1943, it is necessary to estimate data for a larger segment of returns than heretofore, in tabulations of data pertaining to the United States

758454---50----2

as a whole. Formerly, data were estimated only for the individual returns, Form 1040, with net income under \$5,000 and for optional returns, Form 1040A. In contrast with former years, the 1943 data for individual returns with net income of \$5,000 under \$20,000 are estimated from samples, as well as data for returns with net income under \$5,000 including the optional returns, in all tables presenting data on a national basis. Data for individual returns with net income of \$20,000 and over are tabulated from each return.

Limited data on a State basis are estimated for individual returns, Form 1040, with net income under \$5,000 and for optional returns, Form 1040A, for 1943, as was the case in former years; and similar data are completely tabulated from returns with net income of \$5,000

and over.

The procedure employed in the selection of samples for both the national data and the State data from the returns filed in each collection district, and the method of estimating these data, together with the relative sampling variations to be expected, are explained in the description of the sample and limitations of data, on pages 106–115.

Data for the taxable fiduciary returns are tabulated from each return

regardless of the amount of net income.

#### CLASSIFICATION OF RETURNS

In tables showing national data, individual returns are classified as taxable or nontaxable, as returns with net income or returns with no net income, and by patterns of income; returns with net income are classified by family relationship, and by number of dependents classes; and taxable returns are classified by type of tax liability. Also, returns, Form 1040, with net income are classified by net income classes and by surtax net income classes; and returns, Form 1040A, are classified by gross income classes. Returns with no net income are tabulated only in aggregate. These classifications, together with additional classifications used in special text tables, are described below.

In tables for national data, taxable fiduciary returns are classified as returns with net income or returns with no net income, by type of tax liability, and the returns with net income are classified by net income classes.

The items of national data presented under the various classifications

differ, some items not being available for all classifications.

In tables for State data, individual returns with net income, Form 1040, and optional returns, Form 1040A, are classified by net income classes and by gross income classes, respectively; however, the classes are of wider intervals than those used for national data. Segregation of taxable and nontaxable returns is not available. Taxable fiduciary returns with net income are tabulated only in aggregate. Data on a State basis are limited to the number of returns, amount of net income, and taxes.

Taxable and nontaxable.—This classification is based on the existence or nonexistence of a tax liability on the income reported for 1943, disregarding the result of merging the 1942 and 1943 tax liabilities of individuals under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943. The tax liability on 1943 income may be either the victory tax or the income tax, or both; but is without consideration of the additional liability

for returns with a larger tax in 1942 and the unforgiven tax, both imposed on individuals under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943.

Type of tax liability.—Taxable returns are classified according to the type of tax on 1943 income; i. e., victory tax, normal tax and surtax, alternative tax, and the combination of victory tax with either the

normal tax and surtax or the alternative tax.

Returns with net income or with no net income.—Returns are classified as returns with net income when total income exceeds total deductions (plus, on taxable fiduciary returns, the amount distributable to beneficiaries) and there exists an income tax net income for 1943, regardless of whether there is a victory tax net income or a victory tax or an income tax. Optional returns, Form 1040A, show gross income but no deductions and are classified as returns with net income. Returns, Form 1040, with net income are nontaxable if the personal exemption, credit for dependents, and earned income credit equal or exceed the income tax net income, and there is no victory tax liability. Returns, Form 1040A, are nontaxable if the credit for dependents reduces the gross income to an amount shown as nontaxable in the optional tax table, supplied in supplement T of the Code, and there is no victory tax liability.

Returns with no net income are those on which total deductions (plus, on taxable fiduciary returns, the amount distributable to beneficiaries) equal or exceed total income, and there exists an income tax net deficit for 1943, regardless of whether there is a victory tax net income or a victory tax. Returns with no net income are taxable if the victory tax net income is sufficient to be subject to the victory tax. Except on joint returns of husband and wife both having an income, returns with no net income which show a victory tax net income of more than \$624 have a victory tax. For the first time there are taxable fiduciary returns with income tax net deficit, but they are

subject to the victory tax.

Net income classes.—Individual returns, Form 1040, with net income are segregated into net income classes based on the amount of income tax net income; and taxable fiduciary returns, Form 1041, are segregated into net income classes based on the amount of income tax net income taxable to the fiduciary.

Surtax net income classes.—Taxable individual returns, Form 1040, are segregated into 10 surtax net income classes based on the amount of surtax net income used for the purpose of the regular income tax

(as distinguished from alternative tax).

Gross income classes.—The optional returns, Form 1040A, are segregated into gross income classes based on the amount of gross income.

Family relationship.—The classifications for family relationship—joint returns of husbands and wives, separate returns of husbands and wives, community property returns, returns for heads of families, and returns for those who are not heads of families—applied only to individual returns with net income, are based on the taxpayer's marital status. For the individual who reports on Form 1040, the marital status is as of the last day of the taxable year. This is determined from schedule I and question 3, page 3, together with any other information concerning personal exemption and credit for dependents given elsewhere on the return. In case the individual elects to file Form 1040A, the marital status is as of July 1, 1943. Individ-

uals who file Form 1040 and whose marital status with regard to personal exemption and credit for dependents changed during the year prorate the personal exemption and credit for dependents according to the number of months before and after such change. Returns in each classification, except joint returns of husbands and wives, are classified also as returns of men and women. Joint returns of husbands and wives which show income for each spouse are segregated from those which show only one income, based on the specific exemption claimed against the victory tax net income. When the specific exemption claimed is \$624, the return is considered to have one income; when the specific exemption claimed is more than \$624, the return is considered to have two incomes.

Number of dependents classes.—The classification for number of dependents is applied only to the individual returns with net income and is based on the number of dependents for which credit is allowable against income tax net income on Form 1040, or against gross income on Form 1040A. There is a class for each of one through four dependents and for five or more dependents for all returns in aggregate and for the joint returns of husbands and wives. (Similar classification for other family relationships is not available.)

Patterns of income.—The classification, patterns of income, is based on the original source of income, that is, whether the income is from salaries and/or from other sources, and the amount of income from such other sources. On this basis, six patterns of income are presented as follows: Income solely from salaries; income from salaries and less than \$100 other income; income from salaries and \$100-\$200 other income; income from salaries and \$200-\$500 other income; income from salaries and \$500 or more other income; and income solely from sources other than salaries.

Tax payments.—Individual returns are classified according to selected types of tax payments on the total income and victory tax liability (tax resulting from the merging of the 1942 and 1943 tax liabilities). These payments relate to tax withheld on wages by employers, payments on the 1942 tax liability, payments on declaration of estimated income and victory tax for 1943, and the combinations of these payments. The eight types of tax payments selected are: (1) returns with only a tax withheld by employers, (2) returns with tax withheld by employers and with payments on 1942 tax, (3) returns with tax withheld by employers and with payments on 1943 declaration, (4) returns with tax withheld by employers, also payments on 1942 tax and on 1943 declaration, (5) returns with payments on 1942 tax only, (6) returns with payments on 1943 declaration only, (7) returns with payments on 1942 tax and on 1943 declaration, and (8) returns with no tax withheld by employers and with no payments on 1942 tax or on 1943 declaration. In classifying returns for each of the selected types of tax payments, no regard is given to the additional features related to the complete discharge of the total income and victory tax; i. e., cash payment at time of filing, postponed unforgiven tax, or to the refund for overpayment of the tax.

Comparison of 1942 and 1943 tax liabilities.—Individual returns for 1943 are segregated to distinguish returns with a larger tax on 1942 income from returns with a larger tax on 1943 income. Returns with only a 1942 tax liability are considered to have a larger tax on 1942

income; and returns with only a 1943 tax liability are considered to have a larger tax on 1943 income. Returns with a tax liability on income for both years are further segregated according to the amount of the smaller tax liability, which amount indicates the basis for tax forgiveness, as follows: smaller tax not over \$50 (completely forgiven), smaller tax over \$50 but not over \$67 (\$50 forgiven), and smaller tax over \$67 (75 percent forgiven).

Industrial groups.—The industrial activity of sole proprietors, reported on returns, Form 1040, is classified by groups and subgroups, in accordance with the nature of business as stated by the taxpayer in the business schedule. When two or more kinds of businesses are reported on one return, the classification is based on the business

activity showing the largest amount of total receipts.

States and Territories.—Limited data are tabulated for each of the 48 States, Hawaii, and the District of Columbia. The segregation of returns on the basis of States and Territories is determined by the location of the collection district in which the return is filed, except that for the District of Columbia, the segregation is determined by the address of the taxpayer. Collection districts, or groups of such districts, are coextensive with the States and Territories, except that the District of Columbia comprises a part of the collection district of Maryland and the Territory of Alaska is a part of the collection district of Washington. The sampling technique employed for 1943 does not permit separate tabulation of returns from Alaska. Tabulation of income on the basis of States and Territories does not represent what may be called the geographic distribution of income. There is no way to determine from the income tax returns the amount of income originating in the respective States. Moreover, the income tax return may be filed either in the collection district in which the individual or fiduciary resides or the district in which his principal place of business is located.

#### TABULAR ARRANGEMENT OF DATA

Statistical data for the individual returns, Forms 1040 (including 1040B) and 1040A, and taxable fiduciary returns, Form 1041, are presented in detail in 18 basic tables. The first 15 numbered 1 through 9 with six associated tables (1-A, 1-B, 2-A, 4-A, 4-B, and 5-A), present national data; and the remaining three, numbered 10 through 11 with one associated table (10-A), present State data. All text tables present national data, several of which are summaries of national data contained in the basic tables, while others present national data not elsewhere tabulated.

Basic tables for national data are tabulated by detailed classes for taxable and nontaxable returns, separately; but, for State data, there is no separation for taxable and nontaxable returns and the returns under \$5,000 income are in \$1,000 classes. Text tables showing data not elsewhere tabulated are by detailed income classes; and text tables which summarize data from basic tables are by classes which, in most instances, are of a wider range than classes employed in the basic tables.

Composite data for individual returns, Form 1040, and taxable fiduciary returns, Form 1041, are tabulated in basic tables 1, 2, 4, 5, and 10, and in the two text tables on pages 3 and 77.

Data for taxable fiduciary returns, exclusively, are presented in detail in basic tables 1-B, 4-B, and 7. Also, aggregate data for fiduciary returns with net income are shown in basic table 11. Data for the taxable fiduciary returns are completely tabulated from each return and include data from taxable returns for estates and trusts improperly filed on Form 1040. In tabulating data from the returns improperly filed on Form 1040, an adjustment is made whereby the amount distributable to beneficiaries (if any) is removed from other deductions and total deductions and tabulated under its proper caption.

Data for individual returns, exclusively, are presented in detail in basic tables 1-A, 2-A, 3, 4-A, 5-A, 6, 8, 9, and 10-A. Also, a limited number of items for individual returns with net income are tabulated in basic table 11. Certain text tables present summaries of national data contained in the basic tables; other text tables present in detail national data, not elsewhere tabulated, with respect to surtax, victory tax, tax withheld from wages, forgiven tax under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943, sole proprietorships, selected patterns of income,

number of dependents, and medical expenses.

Data for individuals who report their income on the optional return. Form 1040A, are tabulated separately from data reported on Form 1040. The optional return, Form 1040A, for 1943 may be filed at the election of the individual whose gross income is not more than \$3,000, consisting wholly of salaries, wages, or compensation for personal services, dividends, interest, and annuities. Deductions and the amount of net income are not reported; therefore, a classification of the returns, Form 1040A, cannot be made on the basis of net income. In tables showing both data from Form 1040A and data from Form 1040, the amount of gross income reported on Form 1040A is tabulated as total income and also as net income; and the optional tax paid in lieu of normal tax and surtax is tabulated as normal tax and surtax. The amount of personal exemption is ascertained from the taxpayer's status as indicated on the return. Earned income credit is estimated at 9.4 percent of the gross income (equivalent to 10 percent of the income after deductions aggregating 6 percent of the gross income). Four basic tables, 8, 9, 10-A, and 11, and Part II in each of the two text tables, on pages 72-75 and 92, present in detail information from individual returns, Form 1040A.

#### SIMPLE AND CUMULATIVE DISTRIBUTIONS BY NET INCOME CLASSES

The simple and cumulative distributions of number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income, with corresponding percentage distributions, are presented in basic tables 2 and 2–A. In basic table 2, composite data for the individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, Forms 1040 and 1041, with net income, are tabulated by net income classes, while the composite data for individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with no net income and data for individual returns, Form 1040A, are shown, separately, in aggregate. Basic table 2–A presents the same distributions of data for individual returns exclusively. In the following table these data for the individual returns are tabulated by net income classes which are, in most instances, of a wider range than classes employed in the basic tables.

Individual returns, 1943, by net income classes: Simple and cumulative distributions of number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income, with corresponding percentage distributions; also aggregate for individual returns with no net income

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

Number of returns

#### [Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|              |  |                           |  | 1  |                     |  |  |
|--------------|--|---------------------------|--|--|---------------------|--|--|
| Simple dist  | ribution   |                           | 1 highest  | Cumulative distribu-<br>tion from lowest<br>income class |                     |  |  |
| Number       | Percent<br>of total  | Number                    | Percent<br>of total                                      | Number   | Percent<br>of total |  |  |
|              |  |                           |  |  |                     |  |  |
| 00 041 500   |  | į.                        |  |  |                     |  |  |
| 1            | 46.76  | 11                        |  | -  |                     |  |  |
| 3, 052, 385  | 7.02   | 43, 506, 553              | 100.00   | 35, 817, 339   | 82. 33              |  |  |
| 6, 090, 264  |  |                           | ]  | 1  |                     |  |  |
| 6, 087, 586  | 13.99  | 7, 689, 214               | 17.67  | 41, 904, 925   | 96. 32              |  |  |
| 1, 099, 577  | 2. 53  | 1,601,628                 |  | 43, 004, 502   | 98.85               |  |  |
| 100, 714     | . 23   | 971 206                   |  |  | 99. 38<br>99. 61    |  |  |
| 53, 630      | .12  | 170, 682                  |  | 43, 389, 501   | 99.73               |  |  |
| 84, 782      | .19  | 117, 052                  | . 27   | 43, 474, 283   | 99, 93              |  |  |
| 4, 408       |  | 32, 270<br>7 403          | .07  | 43, 499, 150   | 99. 98<br>99. 99    |  |  |
| 2 294        | . 01   | 2, 995                    | .01  | 43, 505, 852   | 99. 99              |  |  |
| 439          |  | 701                       |  | 43, 506, 291   | 99. 99              |  |  |
| 48           | (17)   |                           | (17)   | 43, 506, 505   | 99, 99<br>100, 00   |  |  |
|              | <del></del>  |                           | <del></del>  | 10, 000, 000   |                     |  |  |
| 43, 506, 553 | 100.00   |                           |  | ·  |                     |  |  |
| 215, 485     | (18)   |                           |  | .  |                     |  |  |
|              | -  |                           |  | -  |                     |  |  |
| 43, 722, 038 | (18)   |                           |  |  |                     |  |  |
|              |  | Net incor                 | ne 14  | 1  | <del>`</del>        |  |  |
|              |  | 1                         |  | 1  |                     |  |  |
| Simple dist  | tion from  | highest                   | Cumulative distribu-<br>tion from lowest<br>income class |  |                     |  |  |
| Amount       | Percent<br>of total  | Amount                    | Percent<br>of total                                      | Amount   | Percent<br>of total |  |  |
|              |  |                           |  |  |                     |  |  |
| 31 086 413   | 31 33  | ,                         |  | 1  | i                   |  |  |
| 1 ' ' 1      | 01.00  | 11                        |  |  |                     |  |  |
| 1, 967, 917  | 1.98   | }99, 209, 862             | 100.00   | 58, 115, 032   | 58. 58              |  |  |
| 9, 219, 150  | 9. 29<br>15.07   |                           |  |  |                     |  |  |
| 22, 148, 687 | 22.33  | 41, 094, 829              | 41.42  | 80, 263, 719   | 80, 90              |  |  |
| 7, 329, 177  | 7.39   | 18, 946, 143              | 19.10  | 87, 592, 896   | 88. 29              |  |  |
| 2, 791, 325  | 2. 81  | 11, 616, 966              | 11.71  | 90, 384, 221   | 91. 10<br>92. 85    |  |  |
| 1.194.339    | 1. 20  | 7, 088, 640               | 7.15   | 92, 121, 222   | 94, 06              |  |  |
| 2, 863, 371  | 2.89   | 5, 894, 301               | 5, 94  | 90, 178, 931   | 96.94               |  |  |
| 1,656,694    |  | 3, 030, 931               | 3.06   | 97, 835, 625   | 98.61               |  |  |
| 452, 032     | . 46   | 1, 374, 237<br>845, 355   |  | 98, 364, 507   | 99.15<br>99.60      |  |  |
| 165, 682     | .17  | 393, 323                  |  | 98, 982, 221   | 99.77               |  |  |
| 144, 036     | . 15   | 227, 641                  | , 23   | 99, 126, 257   | 99, 92              |  |  |
| 83, 005      | .08  | 83, 605                   | . 08   | 99, 209, 862   | 100, 00             |  |  |
| 99, 209, 862 | 100.00   |                           |  |  |                     |  |  |
| 19 225, 683  | (18)   |                           |  |  |                     |  |  |
|              | マツ   |                           |  |  |                     |  |  |
|              |  |                           |  |  |                     |  |  |
|              | Number  20, 341, 523 3, 052, 385 6, 090, 264 6, 333, 167 6, 087, 586 1, 099, 577 230, 655 100, 714 53, 630 84, 782 24, 867 4, 408 2, 294 439 214 48  43, 506, 553 215, 485  43, 722, 038  Simple distance Amount  31, 086, 413 1, 967, 917 9, 219, 150 15, 841, 553 22, 148, 687 7, 329, 177 2, 791, 325 1, 737, 001 1, 194, 339 2, 863, 371 1, 656, 694 1, 966, 682 144, 036 83, 005 99, 209, 862 | Number   Percent of total | Number   | Number   | Number              |  |  |

Individual returns, 1948, by net income classes: Simple and cumulative distributions of number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income, with corresponding percentage distributions; also aggregate for individual returns with no net income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]
[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   |  | Tota  | l income and  | l victory ta   | X 5  | •  |  |
|---|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| Net income classes  | Simple dist  | ribution  | Cumulative<br>tion from<br>income   | highest  | Cumulative distribu-<br>tion from lowest<br>income class   |  |  |
|   | Amount   | Percent<br>of total   | Amount  | Percent<br>of total  | Amount   | Percent<br>of total  |  |
| Individual returns with net income:  Form 1040A15 (est.)  Form 1040:  Under 1 (est.)  1 under 2 (est.)  3 under 3 (est.)  5 under 10 (est.)  10 under 15 (est.)  20 under 25  25 under 50  50 under 100  100 under 150  150 under 300  300 under 500  500 under 1,000  1,000 and over | 2, 652, 207 153, 612 914, 467 1, 897, 896 3, 389, 282 1, 776, 296 907, 344 684, 299 540, 972 1, 606, 649 1, 202, 922 454, 303 425, 109 159, 497 132, 994 76, 982 | 15. 62<br>. 90<br>5. 39<br>11. 18<br>19. 97<br>10. 46<br>5. 35<br>4. 03<br>3. 19<br>9. 46<br>7. 09<br>2. 68<br>2. 50<br>9. 44 | 11, 356, 049<br>7, 966, 767<br>6, 190, 471<br>5, 283, 127<br>4, 598, 828<br>4, 057, 856<br>2, 451, 807<br>1, 248, 885, 794, 582<br>369, 473<br>209, 976 | 100.00<br>66.90<br>46.93<br>36.47<br>31.12<br>27.09<br>23.91<br>14.44<br>4.68<br>2.18<br>1.24<br>.45 | 5, 618, 181<br>9, 007, 463<br>10, 783, 759<br>11, 691, 103<br>12, 375, 402<br>12, 916, 374<br>14, 522, 423<br>15, 725, 345<br>16, 179, 648<br>16, 604, 757<br>16, 764, 254<br>16, 897, 248<br>16, 974, 230 | 53, 10<br>53, 35<br>68, 88<br>72, 91<br>76, 00<br>85, 56<br>92, 64<br>95, 32<br>97, 82<br>98, 77<br>99, 55 |  |
| TotalIndividual returns with no net income 12 (est.)  | 16, 974, 230<br>31, 749  | 100.00  |   |  |  |  |  |
| Grand total, individual returns   | 17, 005, 979   | 100.00  |   |  |  |  |  |
|   |  | Income a  | nd victory te   | x on 1943 i  | ncome 4  |  |  |
|   |  | ******  | Cumulativ   | e distribu-  | Cumulative   |  |  |

| 1_  | Income and victory tax on 1943 income   |   |   |  |  |   |  |  |  |
|---|---|---|---|--|--|---|--|--|--|
| Net income classes  | Simple dist   | ribution  | Cumulative<br>tion from<br>income   | highest  | Cumulative distribu-<br>tion from lowest<br>income class   |   |  |  |  |
|   | Amount Percent of total   |   | Amount Percent of total   |  | Amount   | Percent<br>of total   |  |  |  |
| Individual returns with net income:  Form 1040A <sup>16</sup> (est.)  Form 1040:  Under 1 (est.)  1 under 2 (est.)  2 under 3 (est.)  5 under 10 (est.)  10 under 15 (est.)  15 under 20 (est.)  20 under 25.  25 under 30  59 under 100  100 under 150  59 under 100  300 under 300  300 under 500  500 under 500  500 under 1,000  1,000 and over | 2, 389, 266 98, 520 764, 226 1, 664, 406 2, 964, 261 1, 476, 551 752, 993 561, 375 445, 099 1, 321, 678 985, 619 134, 019 133, 707 112, 234 65, 816 | 16. 54<br>. 68<br>5. 29<br>11. 52<br>20. 51<br>- 10. 22<br>5. 21<br>3. 89<br>9. 15<br>6. 82<br>2. 56<br>2. 38<br>9. 15<br>- 0. 82<br>2. 56<br>2. 38 | 9, 533, 023<br>6, 568, 762<br>5, 092, 211<br>4, 339, 217<br>4, 339, 217<br>3, 332, 743<br>2, 011, 025, 446<br>655, 776<br>311, 757<br>178, 050<br>65, 816 | 100. 00<br>65. 98<br>45. 46<br>35. 24<br>30. 03<br>26. 15<br>23. 06<br>13. 92<br>7. 10<br>4. 54<br>2. 16<br>6<br>1. 23<br>. 46 | 4, 916, 418  7, 880, 680 9, 387, 231 10, 110, 224 10, 671, 599 11, 116, 698 12, 438, 376 13, 423, 995 14, 137, 684 14, 137, 684 14, 137, 684 14, 134, 484 14, 449, 441 | 34, 02<br>54, 54<br>64, 76<br>69, 97<br>73, 85<br>76, 94<br>86, 08<br>92, 90<br>95, 46<br>97, 84<br>98, 77<br>99, 54<br>100, 00 |  |  |  |
| Total Individual returns with no net income 12 (est.)   | 14, 449, 441<br>643   | 100.00  |   |  |  |   |  |  |  |
| Grand total, individual returns   | 14, 450, 084  | 100.00  |   |  |  |   |  |  |  |

For footnotes, see pp. 103-105.

#### TYPES OF TAX

The tax imposed on 1943 income is divided into three parts—the normal tax and the surtax, which together compose the regular income tax, and the victory tax. An exception arises in cases involving the computation of tax where there is an excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss, in which case an alternative tax is imposed if, and only if, the alternative tax is less than the combined normal tax and surtax of the regular income tax.

An optional tax, also designated as an alternative tax in the Code, is provided in supplement T for individuals with income of less than \$3,000 derived wholly from wages, dividends, interest, and annuities. This tax is a combination of the normal tax and the surtax of the

regular income tax.

The normal tax rate is 6 percent of the net income subject to normal tax; and the surtax rate is 13 percent of the first \$2,000 surtax net income, rising to 82 percent on surtax net income which exceeds \$200.000.

The alternative tax on income which contains an excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss is the sum of a partial tax, computed on income tax net income reduced for this purpose by the excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term

capital loss, and 50 percent of that excess.

The victory tax, a wartime tax, is 5 percent of the victory tax net income after deducting the specific exemption of \$624. An exemption of \$1,248 is allowed husband and wife filing a joint return unless the victory tax net income of one spouse is less than \$624, in which case the total exemption is \$624 plus the victory tax net income of such spouse. Credit (with limitations) is allowed against the victory tax of 25 percent of the tax for a single person, or 40 percent for a married person, plus 2 percent for each dependent. The net victory tax liability is limited to the excess of 90 percent of the income tax net income over the income tax computed without regard to the victory tax or to any of the tax credits.

Victory tax net income is gross income excluding gain or loss from sales of capital assets and interest on United States obligations which is exempt from normal tax—less deductions for the following: business expenses; nontrade or nonbusiness expenses incurred either for (a) the production or collection of taxable income, or for (b) the management or maintenance of property held for production of taxable income; net operating loss deduction; alimony; and, on fiduciary returns, the

amount distributable to beneficiaries.

Returns are classified as taxable returns when there is a tax liability for any one or more of these types of tax on income reported for 1943 whether it be income tax net income or victory tax net income. This classification disregards the tax on 525,562 returns which show no tax liability on 1943 income, but which do show a tax liability on 1942 income carried forward as provided under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943.

Basic table 1-A for individual returns shows details concerning taxes and related data classified as returns with normal tax and surtax and returns with alternative tax. Returns, Form 1040A, are not included in Part II for returns with normal tax and surtax; but are

classified as returns with normal tax and surtax in Part I for all returns. The income tax net income tabulated for the 40,222,699 taxable returns with net income in Part I, includes net income of \$8,599,852,067 reported on 6,245,185 returns which have neither a normal tax nor a surtax. (In any previous year these returns would have been considered nontaxable returns.) These returns are classified as taxable only because of the victory tax paid on the victory tax net income reported. The effective tax rate, tabulated in table 1-A. is based on the net income tabulated therein although it is not the precise tax base in view of the fact that the income and victory tax on 1943 income is a combination of taxes having different bases. The victory tax does not apply to the income tax net income tabulated but is based on the victory tax net income; in the case of returns, Form 1040A, the gross income is tabulated as net income; and, in the case of returns with alternative tax, the tax rates are applied to a different amount of income than that tabulated.

Basic table 1-B presents tax data from taxable fiduciary returns by similar classifications and basic table 1 shows composite data for individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns. Basic table 8, for optional returns, Form 1040A, contains the tax data reported thereon.

In the table on pages 20-25, taxable individual returns, Forms 1040 and 1040A, are classified according to the types, or combination of types, of tax liability on 1943 income—victory tax only; normal tax and surtax only; normal tax, surtax, and victory tax; alternative tax only; and alternative tax and victory tax. The number of returns in each category, by return form, is as follows:

| Types of tax   | Numb   | Number of taxable returns  |   |  |  |  |  |
|--|--|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| . Types of tax   | Total  | Form 1040  | Form 1040A                              |  |  |  |  |
| Victory tax only: Returns with net income. Returns with no net income. Normal tax and surtax only. Normal tax, surtax, and victory tax Alternative tax only. Alternative tax and victory tax  Total. | 6, 245, 185<br>17, 438<br>709, 536<br>33, 236, 128<br>379<br>31, 471 | 2, 168, 107<br>17, 438<br>270, 887<br>19, 592, 111<br>379<br>31, 471 | 4, 077, 078<br>438, 649<br>13, 644, 017 |  |  |  |  |

Returns with victory tax only include returns which show the income tax net income to be less than the sum of personal exemption, credit for dependents, and the credits for earned income and for certain Government interest; but which do show a victory tax net income in excess of the specific exemption allowable for victory tax purposes.

Returns showing normal tax and surtax only and those showing alternative tax only (i. e., returns with no victory tax) include returns for a fiscal year ending within the period July through November 1943 which returns are not subject to the victory tax; calendar year returns with net gain from sales of capital assets which when excluded from the income, show a victory tax net income that is less than the specific exemption for victory tax; returns of married persons whose joint victory tax net income is less than their specific exemption; and returns of single persons with victory tax net income under \$624.

Net victory tax of \$2,304,834,775 is reported on 39,530,222 returns, showing a victory tax net income of \$102,844,179,434. Normal tax and surtax of \$11,230,550,620 before tax credits is reported on 33,945,664 returns showing income tax net income of \$87,428,800,231. Alternative tax of \$931,039,962 before credits is reported on 31,850 returns showing income tax net income of \$1,745,771,124.

Income tax net income and victory tax net income with the respective tax yield

[In thousands of dollars]

| Type of tax                         | Income tax<br>net income |                         | Victory tax<br>net income | Net vic-<br>tory tax |
|-------------------------------------|--------------------------|-------------------------|---------------------------|----------------------|
| Victory tax only:                   |                          |                         | 0.074.100                 | 100 022              |
| Returns with net income             |                          |                         | 8, 974, 180<br>31, 310    | 129, 833<br>643      |
| Normal tax and surtax only          | 488, 538                 | 56, 381                 |                           |                      |
| Normal tax, surtax, and victory tax | 86, 940, 262             | 11, 174, 170<br>16, 146 | 92, 302, 473              | 2, 116, 601          |
| Alternative tax and victory tax     | 27, 971<br>1, 717, 800   | 914, 894                | 1, 536, 217               | 57, 758              |
| Total                               | 89, 174, 572             | 12, 161, 591            | 102, 844, 179             | 2, 304, 835          |

# Taxable individual returns, 1948, by net income classes and by types of tax liability: Number of returns income tax net income, victory tax net income, and amount of each type of tax on 1943 income

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

#### [Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |  |   | otel   | Re  | turns with v   | ictory tax c  | nly  |   | with norms<br>surtax only  |   |  |
|--|--|---|--|---|--|---|--|---|--|---|--|
|  | Net income classes   | Number<br>of returns  | Income vid vietory tax on 1943 income 4  | Number of returns   | Net<br>income 14   | Victory<br>tax net<br>income 21   | Net<br>victory<br>tax <sup>10</sup>  | Number<br>of returns  | Net<br>income 14   | Normal<br>tax   |  |
| 1  | Taxable individual returns:  With net income: Form 1040A <sup>15</sup> (est.) Form 1040+   | 18, 159, 744  | 2, 389, 266  | 4,077,078   | 5, 811, 488  | 5, 811, 488   | 84, 446  | 438, 649  | 257, 456   |   | . 1  |
| 2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9   | Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 under 1.25 (est.) 1.5 under 1.5 (est.) 1.5 under 1.75 (est.) 1.5 under 1.75 (est.) 2 under 2.5 (est.) 2 under 2.5 (est.)  | 1, 331, 800<br>1, 466, 935<br>1, 517, 176<br>1, 645, 854<br>1, 628, 123 | 7, 369 24, 130 67, 021 110, 263 155, S30 211, 327 286, 805 333, 247 381, 106   | 88, 094<br>204, 526<br>406, 823<br>531, 835<br>318, 932<br>229, 401<br>168, 594<br>94, 896<br>41, 081 | 31, 700<br>135, 901<br>358, 512<br>596, 700<br>439, 418<br>368, 050<br>312, 232<br>201, 856<br>97, 507 | 86, 629<br>167, 810<br>412, 394<br>631, 467<br>484, 218<br>493, 846<br>349, 039<br>220, 416 | 1, 096<br>1, 174<br>4, 418<br>9, 243<br>6, 866<br>6, 279<br>5, 747<br>3, 964 | 113, 236<br>126, 211<br>22 6, 436<br>22 7, 604<br>22 3, 470<br>22 2, 383<br>22 2, 749                                     | 32, 648<br>70, 225<br>5, 651<br>8, 709<br>4, 639<br>3, 887<br>5, 137   | 1, 539<br>997<br>128<br>128<br>58<br>72<br>89                                     | 2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8  |
| 11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15   | 2.5 under 2.75 (est.)<br>2.75 under 3 (est.)<br>3 under 3.5 (est.)<br>3.5 under 4 (est.)<br>4 under 4.5 (est.)   | 1, 445, 838<br>1, 680, 352<br>2, 991, 236                               | 402, 742<br>547, 312<br>1, 177, 147<br>840, 908<br>561, 235  | 29, 780<br>24, 006<br>23, 898<br>22 4, 885  | 97, 507<br>77, 117<br>69, 109<br>76, 387<br>18, 121  | 105, 904<br>83, 981<br>73, 212<br>78, 765<br>18, 171  | 1,880<br>1,538<br>1,335<br>1,433<br>303                                      | 22 5, 891   | 17, 194  | 576   | 10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14   |
| 16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30 | 4.5 under 5 (est.) 5 under 6 (est.) 6 under 7 (est.) 7 under 8 (est.) 8 under 9 (est.) 9 under 10 (est.) 10 under 11 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 20 (est.) 20 under 25 25 under 30 30 under 40 | 508, 751  | 384, 970<br>455, 767<br>314, 638<br>264, 501<br>227, 601<br>214, 044<br>173, 738<br>159, 917<br>146, 520<br>138, 470<br>134, 349<br>561, 375<br>445, 099<br>366, 064 |   | 5, 754   |   |  | 22 395<br>22 243<br>21 180<br>22 65<br>22 110<br>22 72<br>22 29<br>22 28<br>23 38<br>24 43<br>21 114<br>418<br>288<br>315 | 2, 190<br>1, 592<br>1, 346<br>551<br>1, 051<br>750<br>329<br>347<br>509<br>613<br>1, 947<br>9, 278<br>7, 886 | 102<br>77<br>68<br>68<br>- 39<br>18<br>18<br>27<br>33<br>103<br>513<br>439<br>616 | 15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29 |

| 31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50 | 40 under 50 50 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 200 200 under 250 250 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 560 500 under 750 750 under 1,000 1,000 under 1,500 1,500 under 3,000 3,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 | 10, 127<br>6, 100<br>4, 029<br>2, 698<br>1, 913<br>4, 408<br>1, 411<br>580<br>303<br>296<br>143<br>156<br>58<br>28<br>9<br>6 | 399, 257<br>305, 508<br>230, 846<br>184, 247<br>145, 654<br>119, 366<br>99, 470<br>65, 482<br>81, 740<br>51, 966<br>75, 656<br>36, 579<br>26, 590<br>12, 870<br>8, 875<br>3, 192<br>9, 304<br>4, 985 |                        |                           |                        |                 | 106<br>75<br>64<br>31<br>24<br>67<br>26<br>6<br>2<br>2<br>3 |          |          | 31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50 |
|--|--|--|--|------------------------|---------------------------|------------------------|-----------------|---|----------|----------|--|
| 51<br>52   | Total, taxable individual returns with net income. With no net income, Form 1040 12 (est.)   | 40, 222, 699<br>17, 438  | 14, 449, 441<br>643  | 6, 245, 185<br>17, 438 | 8, 599, 852<br>10 27, 326 | 8, 974, 180<br>31, 310 | 129, 833<br>643 | 709, 536  | 488, 538 | 8, 243   | 51<br>52   |
| 53   | Total, taxable individual returns  | 40, 240, 137   | 14, 450, 084   | 6, 262, 623            | 20 8, 572, 526            | 9, 005, 489            | 130, 476        | 709, 536  | 488, 538 | ` 8, 243 | 53   |

For footnotes, see pp. 103-105.

Taxable individual returns, 1943, by net income classes and by types of tax liability: Number of returns, income tax net income, victory tax net income, and amount of each type of tax on 1943 income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

#### [Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  | tax an  | ith normal<br>d surtax<br>ontinued  |   | Retu  | rns with vic  | tory tax, no  | ormal tax, an  | d surtax   |   |   |
|--|---|---|---|---|---|---|--|--|---|---|
| Net income classes   | Surtax  | Normal<br>tax and<br>surtax<br>on 1943<br>income  | Number<br>of returns  | Net<br>income <sup>14</sup>   | Normal<br>tax   | Surtax  | Victory<br>tax net<br>income <sup>21</sup>   | Net<br>victory<br>tax 10   | Income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 4   |   |
| Taxable individual returns:  With net income: Form 1040c 15 (est.) Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 1.05 under 1.25 (est.) 1.25 under 1.25 (est.) 1.5 under 1.5 (est.) 1.75 under 2 (est.) 2.05 under 2.5 (est.) 2.5 under 2.5 (est.) 3.5 under 2.75 (est.) 3.5 under 3.5 (est.) 3.5 under 3.5 (est.) 4.5 under 3.6 (est.) 4.0 under 3.5 (est.) 3.5 under 3.5 (est.) 4.5 under 5 (est.) 4.5 under 6 (est.) 4.5 under 7 (est.) 7 under 8 (est.) 8 under 9 (est.) 9 under 10 (est.) 11 under 11 (est.) 12 under 12 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 16 (est.) 16 under 10 (est.) 17 under 11 (est.) 18 under 19 (est.) 19 under 10 (est.) 19 under 11 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 20 (est.) 20 under 25 | 3, 755<br>2, 877<br>393<br>377<br>193<br>224<br>278 | 2, 914 5, 275 3, 860 502 505 251 296 367 . 2, 081 396 310 272 117 235 172 83 83 138 170 591 3, 230 3, 056 | 13, 644, 017 16, 748 423, 552 693, 183 792, 361 1, 144, 533 1, 285, 392 1, 474, 511 { 1, 537, 051 1, 415, 573 1, 655, 624 2, 966, 311 1, 679, 424 900, 976 508, 346 498, 289 165, 786 119, 520 95, 078 66, 565 53, 597 43, 202 35, 316 30, 765 100, 021 47, 438 26, 955 | 24, 170, 414  6, 149 276, 702 603, 641 898, 060 1, 574, 510 2, 082, 509 2, 768, 703 3, 253, 705 3, 175, 560 4, 769, 554 9, 577, 343 6, 251, 444 1, 51 1, 238, 155 2, 568, 660 1, 610, 671 1, 238, 155 530, 497 489, 659 445, 934 1, 723, 795 1, 054, 840 735, 418 | 262<br>4, 059<br>14, 112<br>22, 78<br>30, 550<br>42, 059<br>57, 873<br>66, 952<br>77, 693<br>83, 225<br>115, 710<br>255, 242<br>184, 948<br>124, 925<br>88, 907<br>101, 532<br>68, 668<br>56, 328<br>47, 190<br>43, 077<br>33, 966<br>30, 334<br>26, 953<br>24, 683<br>22, 323<br>28, 980<br>56, 741<br>40, 318 | 654<br>12, 289<br>38, 340<br>60, 156<br>85, 948<br>116, 729<br>160, 296<br>186, 450<br>214, 702<br>229, 054<br>314, 141<br>684, 274<br>496, 483<br>337, 639<br>234, 575<br>282, 958<br>200, 059<br>171, 840<br>151, 069<br>144, 565<br>119, 469<br>111, 746<br>103, 818<br>99, 250<br>97, 501<br>416, 503<br>304, 770<br>243, 204 | 24, 170, 414  11, 238 337, 705 699, 746 1, 016, 841 1, 770, 272 2, 340; 017 3, 070, 772 3, 605, 747 4, 035, 504 4, 093, 482 5, 183, 651 10, 642, 241 6, 688, 516 4, 067, 017 2, 561, 113 2, 717, 945 1, 705, 520 1, 306, 651 1, 665, 866 945, 886 943, 457 564, 033 511, 324 464, 579 1, 791, 426 1, 101, 442 763, 546 | 481, 425<br>93<br>2, 777<br>9, 686<br>17, 906<br>32, 747<br>46, 171<br>63, 001<br>75, 915<br>86, 339<br>116, 117<br>236, 673<br>159, 158<br>64, 624<br>71, 468<br>45, 708<br>36, 179<br>29, 578<br>20, 452<br>20, 452<br>21, 453<br>14, 531<br>14, 531<br>13, 540<br>51, 211<br>32, 025<br>22, 912 | 2, 301, 906 998 19, 096 62, 101 100, 516 148, 713 204, 752 280, 691 328, 975 378, 986 401, 070 545, 816 560, 954 560, 954 384, 751 455, 369 173, 566 159, 834 146, 437 138, 332 134, 179 556, 763 393, 055 306, 214 | 4 5 6 6 7 7 8 9 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 26 27 28 |

| 30  | 30 under 40                                | 4, 176  | 4,776   | 27, 955      | 960, 075     | 53, 547     | 1 361, 753  | 1,007,889    | 31,601      | 446, 166                                       | 1.30 |
|-----|--|---------|---------|--------------|--------------|-------------|-------------|--------------|-------------|--|------|
| 31  | 40 under 50                                | 3, 110  | 3, 523  | 13, 220      | 587, 737     | 33, 288     | 250, 906    | 621, 204     | 20, 813     | 304.175  |      |
| 32  | 50 under 60                                | 2, 690  | 3, 023  | 7, 463       | 406, 773     | 23, 212     | 189. 264    | 429, 130     | 15, 335     | 227, 472                                       |      |
| 33  | 60 under 70                                | 2, 417  | 2, 684  | 4, 442       | 286, 565     | 16, 466     | 142, 538    | 303, 846     | 11.446      | 170, 276                                       |      |
| 34  | 70 under 80                                | 2, 476  | 2, 708  | 2, 817       | 210, 067     | 12, 127     | 110, 231    | 222, 395     | 8, 797      | 130, 918                                       | 34   |
| 35  | 80 under 90                                | 1,470   | 1.625   | 1,856        | 157, 114     | 9, 113      | 86, 226     | 166, 411     | 6, 795      | 102,066  |      |
| 36  | 90 under 100                               | 1, 300  | 1, 432  | 1, 273       | 120, 602     | 7, 004      | 68, 869     | 127, 775     | 5, 363      | 81, 095  |      |
| 37  | 100 inder 150                              | 5.019   | 5, 496  | 2, 753       | 330, 006     | 19.301      | 203, 444    | 352, 174     | 15, 323     | 237, 580                                       | 37   |
| 38  | 150 under 200                              | 2, 987  | 3, 250  | 806          | 137, 168     | 8,060       | 91, 959     | 146, 463     | 6, 668      | 106, 470                                       |      |
| 39  | 200 under 250                              | 878     | 953     | 325          | 72, 052      | 4. 249      | 50, 714     | 76, 358      | 3, 542      | 58, 449  | 39   |
| 40  | 250 under 300                              | 374     | 405     | 178          | 48, 515      | 2, 875      | 35, 179     | 52, 085      | 2, 461      | 40, 353  | 40   |
| 41  | 300 under 400                              | 798     | 861     | 155          | 53, 261      | 3, 168      | 39, 650     | 56, 846      | 2, 721      | 45, 271  | 41   |
| 42  | 400 under 500                              |         |         | 74           | 32, 815      | 1, 949      | 24, 991     | 35, 077      | 1, 701      | 28, 543  | 42   |
| 43  | 500 under 450                              | 559     | 1 602   | 74           | 45, 039      | 2, 691      | 35.014      | 48, 395      | 2, 380      | 39, 910  | 43   |
| 44  | 750 under 1.000                            |         |         | 22           | 18, 490      | 1, 106      | 14, 591     | 20, 128      | 942         | 16, 617  | 44   |
| 45  | 1,000 under 1,500                          |         | l .     | 10           | 12, 903      | 771         | 10, 323     | 13, 324      | 538         | 11, 573  | 45   |
| 46  | 1.500 under 2.000                          |         | l .     | 1 2          | 5, 090       | 305         | 4, 095      | 5, 900       | 207         | 4, 604   | 46   |
| 47  | 2,000 under 3,000                          |         | i .     | ; 1          | 2, 290       | 137         | 1,853       | . 2, 426     | 71          | 2:038  | 47   |
| 48  | 3,000 under 4,000                          |         | l       | l            | 1            |             | -,          |              | '-          | _,   | 48   |
| 49  | 1,000 trider 0,000                         |         |         | I            |              |             |             |              |             |  | 49   |
| 50  | 5,000 and over                             |         |         | 1            | 5, 540       | 332         | 4, 517      | 6, 856       | 136         | 4, 985   | 50   |
| 51  | Total, taxable individual returns with net | 45, 223 | 56, 240 | 33, 236, 128 | 86, 940, 262 | 2,009,087   | 7, 344, 601 | 92, 302, 473 | 2, 116, 601 | 13, 276, 959                                   | 51   |
| - 1 | income.                                    | ,       | ′       | ' ' '        | 1 ' '        |             |             | , ,          | 2, 110, 001 | 10, 210, 909                                   | UI.  |
| 52  | With no net income, Form 1040 12 (est.)    |         |         |              |              |             |             |              |             | l <u>.                                    </u> | 52   |
| 53  |  |         |         | <del></del>  | ·            | I———        |             |              |             |  |      |
| 93  | Total, taxable individual returns          | 45, 223 | 56, 240 | 33, 236, 128 | 86, 940, 262 | 2, 009, 087 | 7, 344, 601 | 92, 302, 473 | 2, 116, 601 | 13, 276, 959                                   | 53   |
|     |  |         | l       | 1            | 1            | l           |             | 1            |             | l  | 1    |

For footnotes, see pp 103-105.

Taxable individual returns, 1948, by net income classes and by types of tax liability: Number of returns, income tax net income, victory tax net income, and amount of each type of tax on 1943 income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

(Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars)

|         |   | Returns v   | with alterna  | tive tax   |  | Returns wi   | th victory t  | ax and alter   | native <b>t</b> ax   | c  |
|---------|---|---|---|--|--|--|---|--|--|--|
|         | Net income classes  | Number<br>of returns  | Net income 14   | Alterna-<br>tive tax <sup>9</sup>  | Number<br>of returns   | Net income 14  | Alterna-<br>tive tax <sup>8</sup>   | Victory<br>tax net<br>income 21  | Net vic-<br>tory tax <sup>10</sup>   | Income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 4  |
| Taxable | individual returns:   |   |   |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |
| WIL     | h net income:<br>Form 1040A <sup>15</sup> (est.)  | 1   |   |  | \\   |  |   |  |  |  |
|         | Form 10404:  Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 under 1.25 (est.) 1.25 under 1.76 (est.) 1.5 under 1.76 (est.) 1.5 under 2.76 (est.) 2.0 under 2.25 (est.) 2.0 under 2.25 (est.) 2.5 under 2.6 (est.) 2.5 under 3.6 (est.) 3.5 under 4.6 (est.) 4.0 under 3.5 (est.) 3.5 under 3.6 (est.) 4.5 under 3.6 (est.) 4.5 under 4.5 (est.) 4.5 under 5 (est.) 5. under 7 (est.) 5. under 7 (est.) 8. under 7 (est.) 8. under 8 (est.) 8. under 9 (est.) 9. under 10 (est.) |   |   |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |
|         | Under 0.5 (est.)  |   |   |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |
|         | 0.5 under 0.75 (est.)   |   |   | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·  |  |  |   |  |  |  |
|         | 1 under 1.25 (est.)   |   |   |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |
|         | 1.25 under 1.5 (est.)   |   |   |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |
|         | 1.5 under 1.75 (est.)   |   |   |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |
|         | 1.75 under 2 (est.)   |   |   |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |
|         | 2.25 under 2.5 (est.)   |   |   |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |
|         | 2.5 under 2.75 (est.)   |   |   |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |
|         | 2.75 under 3 (est.)   |   |   | :  |  | [  |   |  |  |  |
|         | 3 Under 3.5 (est.)  |   |   |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |
|         | 4 under 4.5 (est.)  |   |   |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |
|         | 4.5 under 5 (est.)  |   |   |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |
|         | 5 under 6 (est.)  |   |   |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |
|         | 7 under 8 (est.)  |   |   |  |  |  | •   |  |  |  |
|         | 8 under 9 (est.)  |   |   |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |
|         | 9 under 10 (est.)   |   |   |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |
|         | 10 unuer 11 (est.)  |   |   |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |
|         | 11 under 12 (est.)<br>12 under 13 (est.)  |   |   |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |
|         | 13 under 14 (est.)  |   |   |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |
|         | 14 under 15 (est.)  |   |   |  | I  |  |   |  | ·  |  |
|         | 15 under 20 (est.)  |   |   |  | 579  | 11, 259  | 3, 690  | 11, 102  | 335  | 4,020  |
|         | 20 under 25   | 57<br>40  | 1, 271<br>1, 110  | 464<br>430   | 5, 717<br>5, 014   | 128, 949<br>137, 430   | 44, 746<br>52, 569  | 126, 217<br>131, 499   | 3, 714<br>3, 900   | 48, 350<br>56, 364   |
|         | 30 under 40   | 82<br>44  | 2,820   | 1,233  | 6,649  | 229, 679   | 97, 590   | 214, 913   | 6,764  | 104, 183   |
|         | 40 under 50   | 1 44 1  | 1, 981  | 937  | 4,056  | 181, 020   | 85, 015   | 168, 762   | 5, 752   | 90, 622  |
|         | 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 90. 90 under 100. 100 under 150. 250 under 200. 250 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500. 500 under 500. 750 under 500. 1,000 under 1,500. 1,500 under 2,000.  | - 22<br>17<br>- 12<br>- 8<br>- 34<br>- 13<br>- 8<br>- 2<br>- 2<br>- 2<br>- 1<br>- 1 | 744<br>4, 145<br>2, 141<br>1, 763<br>509<br>2, 731<br>870<br>506<br>753<br>1, 437 | 766<br>656<br>578<br>427<br>2, 468<br>1, 188<br>344<br>2, 066<br>584<br>225<br>380<br>1, 238 | 6 1,561<br>1,131<br>3 799<br>7 608<br>1,554<br>1 566<br>3 241<br>1 121<br>7 130<br>4 67<br>80<br>35<br>17 80<br>37 80<br>37 80<br>37 80<br>38 90<br>40 80<br>40 80 | 138, 402<br>101, 131<br>84, 447<br>67, 800<br>57, 593<br>186, 617,<br>97, 387<br>53, 447<br>32, 819<br>44, 418<br>30, 519<br>48, 557<br>29, 960<br>18, 763<br>10, 119<br>10, 550<br>3, 682 | 69, 732<br>53, 654<br>47, 064<br>38, 899<br>34, 266<br>117, 074<br>64, 592<br>36, 847<br>23, 171<br>31, 845<br>21, 746<br>33, 405<br>18, 954<br>13, 218<br>7, 915<br>6, 786<br>3, 046 | 93, 633<br>78, 648<br>61, 881<br>53, 417<br>168, 085<br>82, 950<br>45, 258<br>27, 174<br>36, 202<br>23, 164<br>32, 509<br>14, 213<br>12, 278<br>8, 333<br>4, 827 | 3, 555<br>3, 104<br>2, 532<br>2, 313<br>7, 274<br>3, 746<br>2, 085<br>1, 256<br>1, 751 | 57, 119<br>49, 966<br>41, 385<br>36, 411<br>124, 133<br>67, 965<br>38, 881<br>24, 384<br>33, 540 |
| Wi      | 4,000 under 5,000   | -   |   |  | 31, 471  | 13, 231  | 9, 072  | 7, 627   | 57, 758  | 9, 304   |
|         | Total, taxable individual returns   |   |   | ·] <del></del> -   | -  |  | 914, 894  | l  | 57, 758  | 970, 263   |

For footnotes, see pp. 103-105.

SURTAX AND SURTAX NET INCOME—INDIVIDUAL RETURNS, FORM 1040

For 1943, there are 19.894.848 individual returns, Form 1040, with a surtax net income of \$40.766.808.903 and a surtax liability of \$8,093,990,441. Approximately 74 percent of these returns have surtax net income of \$2,000 or less. The optional returns. Form 1040A, do not show the amount of surtax net income, although surtax comprises a part of the optional tax.

The surtax net income classes used in the two following tables are identical with the surtax rate brackets for surtax net income not over \$18,000; and the surtax net income class over \$18,000 embraces the remaining surtax rate brackets. The returns with alternative tax automatically fall in the surtax net income class over \$18,000. since that tax is ineffective on smaller amounts. The surtax net income, tabulated and used for classification of the returns, is the excess of income tax net income over the sum of personal exemption and credits for dependents. However, the surtax net income tabulated for returns with alternative tax is not the actual amount on which the surtax is computed, for the reason that the alternative tax method requires that the excess of net long-term capital gain over net shortterm capital loss be eliminated before surtax rates are applied and the excess thus eliminated is taxed at a flat rate of 50 percent. The normal tax and surtax tabulated include the actual amounts paid on this category of returns; and the income and victory tax on 1943 income includes \$143,928,085 resulting from the 50 percent tax on the excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss.

| rns, net income, personal exemption,   |   |  |
|--|---|--|
| Number of retu   | on 1943 income  |  |
| h surtax net income, 1943, by surtax net income classes: Number of returns, net income, personal exempti | credit for dependents, surtax net income, and taxes on 1943 |  |
| dividual returns, Form 1040, with surta  |   |  |

| Surfa  | Surtax net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars   | lasses and m   | oney figures in  | thousands   | of dollars]  |   | -   |  |  |
|--|---|--|--|---|--|---|---|--|--|
| Surtax net income classes 23   | Number of<br>returns  | Net income   | Personal exemption 24  | Credit for dependeents 25   | Surtax net income 23   | Surtax  | Normal<br>tax   | Net vic-<br>tory tax 10  | Income and victory tax on 1943 income 4  |
| Individual returns with surtax net income:  Not over 2 (est.)  Over 2, not over 4 (est.)  Over 6, not over 8 (est.)  Over 10, not over 10 (est.)  Over 12, not over 14 (est.)  Over 14, not over 18 (est.)  Over 16, not over 18 (est.)  Over 18, not over 18 (est.)  Over 18 (est.)  Total individual returns with surtax net income. | 14, 628, 079<br>3, 839, 506<br>260, 676<br>149, 904<br>92, 144<br>92, 144<br>93, 143<br>46, 072<br>46, 072<br>46, 072<br>182, 619<br>182, 619 | 32, 029, 442<br>34, 753, 463<br>34, 859, 276<br>2, 114, 250<br>1, 505, 875<br>1, 118, 578<br>746, 778<br>7, 310, 504<br>64, 746, 702 | 13, 917, 780<br>3, 758, 898<br>5, 758, 726<br>246, 118<br>137, 609<br>84, 758<br>60, 154<br>60, 154<br>78, 788<br>33, 278<br>33, 278<br>176, 438 | 3, 807, 100<br>7, 100<br>141, 0, 020<br>66, 000<br>83, 477<br>25, 343<br>12, 057<br>12, 057<br>12, 057<br>13, 057<br>14, 954, 389 | 14, 304, 561<br>10, 304, 561<br>1, 302, 133<br>1, 329, 789<br>1, 008, 476<br>841, 495<br>690, 152<br>607, 878<br>7, 088, 911 | 1, 859, 531<br>1, 402, 301<br>1, 402, 301<br>145, 688<br>3, 3, 763<br>2, 55, 244<br>2, 25, 244<br>196, 121<br>172, 962<br>183, 671<br>3, 071, 678 | 671, 018<br>671, 018<br>155, 575<br>195, 398<br>196, 398<br>17, 520<br>38, 851<br>34, 820<br>395, 820 | 730, 075<br>394, 924<br>102, 982<br>62, 067<br>44, 402<br>32, 997<br>27, 572<br>22, 198<br>12, 198<br>12, 198<br>16, 399<br>256, 318 | 3, 257, 570<br>2, 322, 777<br>703, 551<br>474, 715<br>372, 738<br>370, 613<br>270, 839<br>270, 830<br>270, 830<br>270, 830<br>270, 830<br>270, 8 |
| To fortunates  |   |  |  |   |  |   | a too t   | 100 tags (1  | 12, 01.1, 100  |

29

classes and by surtax net income classes: Frequency distribution number of returns Individual returns, Form 1040, with surtax net income, 1948, by net

methods of tabulating and For description of

in thousands of dollars] [Net income classes and surtax net income classes

|   |  |   |   |   |   |  | ,  |                                      |                            |                            |  |
|---|--|---|---|---|---|--|--|--------------------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|--|
|   |  |   |   |   | Surts   | x net inco   | Surtax net income classes #                      | 2                                    |                            |                            |  |
| Net income classes  | Number of<br>returns   | Not over 2  | Over 2,<br>not<br>over 4  | Over 4,<br>not<br>over 6  | Over 6,<br>not<br>over 8  | Over 8,<br>not<br>over 10                                      | Over 10,<br>not<br>over 12                       | Over 12,<br>not<br>over 14           | Over 14,<br>not<br>over 16 | Over 16,<br>not<br>over 18 | Over 18  |
| Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1.25 under 1.5 (est.) 1.5 under 1.5 (est.) 1.5 under 2.5 (est.) 2.5 under 2.6 (est.) 2.5 under 2.6 (est.) 2.5 under 2.6 (est.) 3. under 3.6 (est.) 4. under 4.5 (est.) 5. under 6 (est.) 6. under 6 (est.) 6. under 6 (est.) 7. under 8 (est.) 6. under 7 (est.) 1. under 8 (est.) 7. under 8 (est.) 8. under 1 (est.) 1. under 1 (est.) 1. under 1 (est.) 1. under 2 (est.) 2. under 3.0 under 1 (est.) 1. under 60 3. under 60 4. under 60 6. under 60 | 129, 984<br>699, 763<br>1, 148, 903<br>1, 148, 903<br>1, 148, 72<br>1, 148, 72<br>1, 148, 72<br>1, 148, 72<br>1, 153, 73<br>1, | 129, 984<br>549, 763<br>799, 965<br>799, 965<br>1, 148, 003<br>1, 473, 775<br>1, 513, 392<br>1, 774, 281<br>1, 774 | 28, 670<br>24, 381<br>141, 777<br>224, 385<br>1, 982, 635<br>1, 982, 635<br>1, 982, 635<br>434, 030<br>226, 730<br>11, 203<br>11, 203<br>11, 203<br>3, 839, 506 | 27.7.698<br>240.298<br>241.261<br>69.2348<br>5.2348<br>5.2348<br>5.2348<br>5.2348 | 25, 2993<br>26, 297<br>100, 514<br>2, 384<br>2, 384<br>2, 384<br>2, 384 | 13, 783<br>13, 783<br>55, 637<br>10, 686<br>11, 686<br>11, 686 | 8.8.636<br>32,1997<br>13,428<br>11,308<br>11,308 | 25.818<br>22.845<br>25.487<br>10,845 | 42,059                     | 35, 337                    | 12, 411<br>12, 411<br>32, 201<br>17, 484<br>32, 278<br>32, 278 |
|   | 18, 591, 010   | 14, 020, 0/8  | a, 838, aua   | 700,000   | 200, 002  | 149, 004   | 92, 194  | 64, 995                              | 46, 072                    | 35, 811                    |  |

TAX WITHHELD, TAX PAYMENTS, AND TAX REFUND

Current collection of the individual income tax was inaugurated on January 1, 1943. At that time collection of tax at source on wages covered only the victory tax portion of the income and victory tax liability. Subsequently on July 1, 1943, under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943, the rate of withholding on wages was increased to approximate the victory tax, the normal tax, and the surtax at the lowest bracket rate. Individuals whose income was not subject to withholding were required to make payments of tax during the income year, through the medium of a declaration of estimated tax as explained below. The new act also provided for the merging of the 1942 and 1943 tax liabilities in arriving at the total income and victory tax reported on the 1943 return. Discharge of this combined tax liability was accomplished by the various tax payments or combination of payments made during 1943, and by a final adjustment, if necessary, when the 1943 income tax return was filed, after the close of the income year. The year-end adjustment results either in a refund where the total income and victory tax has been overpaid, or in a cash payment at time of filing where there is a balance of tax due. There follows a résumé of tax payments and year-end adjustments.

During the first 6 months of 1943, there was withheld, by the employer, from the wages of every employee (except certain groups specifically exempt by law, such as members of the armed forces in active service, agriculture labor, domestic servants, and casual labor not connected with the employer's trade or business) a tax of 5 percent of the excess of each wage payment over the withholding deduction allowable. The withholding deduction was \$624 for the taxable year. Beginning on July 1, 1943, the withholding upon wages was increased to 20 percent of the excess of each wage payment over the withholding exemption, under provisions of the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943. The amount to be withheld by employers, under the new act, depends upon the amount of wages paid to the employee and upon the amount of personal exemption and number of dependents claimed by the employee, for withholding purposes, on his withholding exemption certificate. The act provides tables, to be used at the option of the employer, to determine the amount of tax to be withheld in accordance with the employee's status as shown on the withholding exemption certificate. The tax thus withheld at source on wages is allowable as a credit against the total income and victory tax resulting from the

merging of the 1942 and 1943 tax liabilities.

Payments of the 1942 tax liability, as reported on the 1942 returns were made to collectors of internal revenue during the first half of 1943. Further payments on this liability, as such, were not made after the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943 became effective, July 1. 1943. Payments which were made on the 1942 tax liability are credited toward the discharge of the total income and victory tax reported on the 1943 return.

In order to provide for the current collection of individual income tax on income not subject to withholding, a declaration of estimated income and victory tax on 1943 income, Form 1040-ES, was required to be filed on or before September 15, 1943, by (1) individuals not subject to withholding if the anticipated gross income be such as to

require the making of a return, that is, \$500 or more if single, or \$1,200 or more if married, (2) individuals required to make a return for 1942 and whose gross wages in that year were greater than expected from that source in 1943, (3) individuals subject to withholding, but whose wages were expected to exceed \$2,700 if single, or \$3,500 if married. or did exceed such amounts the previous year, and (4) individuals subject to withholding, but whose income from sources other than wages were expected to exceed \$100 and whose gross income be such as to require a return, or did exceed \$100 in the previous year and a return was required to be filed, or would have been required if the marital status had been the same. After reducing the estimated income tax by the amount to be withheld from wages during the entire year and the payments made on 1942 tax liability, the balance of estimated tax was due in two installments, one at time of filing and the second on or before December 15, 1943. Declaration of estimated tax did not necessarily result in an actual payment since the estimated tax on 1943 income may have been nil, or, in the case of an estimated tax, the withholding tax on wages and the 1942 tax payments may have left no unpaid balance. If there was a payment on account of the estimated tax, or an installment thereon, it is considered a payment on account of the total income and victory tax.

Payment of an amount not exceeding one-half of the unforgiven tax could be postponed until March 15, 1945, at the option of the tax-payer who had a balance of tax due at time of filing, under provisions of the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943, granting relief from double payment of tax during 1943 to taxpayers who were taxable on both 1942 and 1943 incomes.

Cash payment at time of filing the 1943 return is that portion of total income and victory tax remaining after deducting credit for tax withheld on wages, payments on 1942 tax liability, payments on declaration of estimated tax on 1943 income, and the allowable amount of unforgiven tax to be postponed.

Individuals whose tax withheld at source on wages, payments on 1942 tax liability, and payments on declaration of estimated tax on 1943 income exceed their total income and victory tax are eligible for a refund of the overpayment, or, if they so elect, may request that the overpayment be applied on their 1944 estimated tax.

The number of individual returns showing the various tax payments and the amount of such payments together with the tax post-poned and tax overpayment are as follows:

|   | Number of returns   | Amount (in<br>thousands<br>of dollars)   |
|---|---|--|
| Returns showing: Income and victory tax withheld. Payments on 1942 tax. Payments on 1943 declaration Cash payments at time of filing Unforgiven tax postponed. Overpayment—refund, or credit on 1944 estimated tax. Total income and victory tax. | 36, 585, 007<br>25, 946, 406<br>9, 727, 496<br>28 15, 866, 443<br>4, 596, 284<br>16, 032, 848<br>40, 765, 699 | 5, 870, 557<br>4, 526, 925<br>4, 157, 419<br>2, 742, 191<br>365, 820<br>656, 934<br>17, 005, 979 |

For footnotes, see pp. 103-105.

In tabulating data regarding these tax payments in the text table on pages 32-45, the returns with an income and victory tax withheld are tabulated separately from returns with no income and victory tax withheld and there is a summary for each group, as well as for all returns. In the summary for all returns, a frequency distribution of returns is also included. Returns with an income and victory tax withheld are segregated into returns with only a tax withheld by employers; returns with a tax withheld by employers and with payment on 1942 tax; returns with tax withheld by employers and with payments on 1943 declaration; returns with tax withheld by employers. also payments on 1942 tax and on 1943 declaration. Returns with no income and victory tax withheld are segregated into returns with payments on 1942 tax only; returns with payments on 1943 declaration only; returns with payments on 1942 tax and on 1943 declaration; and returns with no payments on 1942 tax or on 1943 declaration. Each of these segregations disregards the additional features related to the complete discharge of the total income and victory tax liability, i. e., cash payment at time of filing, tax postponed, or tax overpayment.

Comparison of the number of returns with income and victory tax withheld on wages and the number of returns with salaries reveals that there are 1,674,089 individual returns showing wages no part of

which were subject to withholding.

Upon comparing the number of returns with payments on 1942 tax with the number of 1943 returns showing a 1942 tax liability, it will be observed that there are approximately 300,000 more returns showing a payment on 1942 tax than show a 1942 tax liability. This is without doubt the result of payments on 1942 tax made by members of the armed forces who subsequently recomputed their 1942 tax, as provided in the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943, to eliminate from the excess of 1942 tax over 1943 tax, the tax attributable to earned net income, thereby making the 1942 income nontaxable and causing no 1942 tax to be reported on the 1943 return. Such overpayments are refundable.

The number of returns with payments on a 1943 declaration of estimated tax is not indicative of the number of taxable declarations filed, but only of the number on which a cash payment is made.

The number of returns with cash payment at time of filing excludes the number of returns, Form 1040A, which number is not available.

The number of returns with a refund, the number of returns with a credit on 1944 estimated tax, and the respective amounts for each are not tabulated separately.

Individual returns, 1943; returns with net income by net income classes and returns with no net income in aggregate, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by returns with tax withheld and returns with no tax withheld, and by selected types of tax payments: Number of returns, total income and victory tax, and selected tax payments; also for all returns: Frequency and amount of tax payments and tax overpayment

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimated data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

| [Net income classes and mone | y figures in thousands of dollars] |
|------------------------------|------------------------------------|
|------------------------------|------------------------------------|

|  |  |   |   |   | All returns  |   |   |  | 70   |
|--|--|---|---|---|--|---|---|--|--|
|  | Net income classes   | Number of returns   | Total income  | and victory   | Income and<br>with   | victory tax<br>neld   | Payments o  | n 1942 tax e   | STATISTICS   |
|  |  |   | Number of returns   | Amount  | Number of returns  | Amount  | Number of<br>returns  | Amount   | TICS   |
| 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>29<br>29<br>29<br>29<br>29<br>29<br>29<br>29<br>29<br>29<br>29<br>29 | Taxable individual returns:  With net income:  Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  0.75 under 1 (est.)  1 under 1.25 (est.)  1.25 under 1.5 (est.)  1.75 under 1 (est.)  2 under 2.25 (est.)  2.25 under 2.5 (est.)  2.5 under 2.6 (est.)  2.5 under 3.6 (est.)  3.5 under 3.6 (est.)  3.5 under 4 (est.)  4 under 4.5 (est.)  5 under 5 (est.)  5 under 7 (est.)  5 under 6 (est.)  6 under 7 (est.)  7 under 8 (est.)  8 under 10 (est.)  9 under 10 (est.)  11 under 13 (est.)  12 under 13 (est.)  13 under 13 (est.)  13 under 13 (est.)  14 under 15 (est.)  15 under 16 (est.)  10 under 11 (est.)  11 under 12 (est.)  12 under 13 (est.)  13 under 14 (est.)  14 under 15 (est.)  15 under 26 (est.)  20 under 25 (est.) | 18, 159, 744 218, 078 754, 289 1, 106, 442 1, 331, 800 1, 466, 935 1, 517, 176 1, 645, 854 1, 628, 123 1, 578, 854 1, 445, 838 1, 680, 352 2, 991, 236 1, 685, 140 902, 459 508, 751 469, 296 249, 542 249, 542 249, 542 245, 966 119, 585 95, 188 66, 637 53, 626 43, 230 36, 354 30, 808 100, 714 53, 630 32, 297 | 18, 159, 744  218, 078 754, 289 1, 106, 442 1, 331, 800 1, 466, 935 1, 517, 176 1, 645, 854 1, 628, 123 1, 578, 854 1, 445, 838 1, 680, 352 2, 991, 236 1, 685, 140 902, 499 508, 751 469, 296 249, 542 2165, 966 119, 585 95, 188 66, 637 53, 626 43, 230 36, 354 30, 808 100, 714 53, 630 32, 297 | 2, 636, 838  14, 474  35, 662  85, 422  137, 348  188, 210  250, 859  335, 716  384, 225  436, 446  458, 133  619, 074  1, 335, 772  900, 651  647, 672  445, 286  537, 861  377, 434  319, 435  282, 657  288, 908  209, 951  193, 842  177, 641  167, 484  168, 425  684, 299  540, 972  444, 313 | 17, 474, 477  106, 801 343, 734 627, 109 852, 097 1, 011, 462 1, 126, 876 1, 305, 847 1, 356, 013 1, 353, 254 1, 257, 282 1, 504, 203 2, 733, 308 1, 505, 929 767, 376 405, 996 321, 722 145, 392 89, 902 60, 551 48, 995 31, 892 25, 658 20, 444 17, 251 14, 589 46, 951 14, 589 46, 951 15, 5011 | 1, 785, 685  4, 450 15, 677 38, 080 67, 262 97, 807 131, 559 177, 363 212, 334 240, 941 253, 212 341, 102 477, 839 287, 443 174, 261 160, 786 85, 832 61, 390 47, 316 39, 230 28, 916 25, 767 21, 630 19, 892 18, 023 68, 153 47, 513 33, 671 | 8, 776, 971  87, 262 289, 476 486, 186 653, 291 792, 204 942, 400 1, 122, 553 1, 187, 551 1, 229, 236 1, 173, 111 1, 398, 652 2, 591, 458 1, 527, 113 841, 957 481, 403 447, 861 239, 883 160, 189 115, 900 92, 639 64, 841 52, 300 42, 176 35, 524 30, 109 98, 679 52, 169 31, 421 | 496, 501 6, 457 13, 324 25, 572 38, 125 49, 272 65, 266 83, 685 91, 468 103, 656 107, 787 142, 500 315, 697 235, 790 167, 164 118, 440 151, 350 10, 650 10, 650 10, 650 12, 650 12, 650 12, 650 12, 650 12, 650 12, 650 12, 650 12, 650 12, 650 12, 650 12, 650 12, 650 12, 650 12, 650 12, 650 12, 650 12, 650 12, 650 134, 226 | OF INCOME FOR 1943, PART 1  2 3 4 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 112 114 15 16 17 8 19 20 12 22 22 24 25 6 27 8 29                                     |
| 30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>950  | 30 under 40 40 under 50 50 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 200 200 under 250 250 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 50 500 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 4,000 1,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 5,000 3,000 under 5,000 5,000 and over   | 17, 484<br>10, 127<br>6, 100<br>4, 029<br>2, 698<br>1, 913<br>4, 408  | 35, 001<br>17, 484<br>10, 127<br>6, 100<br>4, 029<br>2, 688<br>1, 913<br>4, 408<br>1, 411<br>580<br>303<br>296<br>143<br>156<br>58<br>28  | 675, 475<br>486, 261<br>371, 078<br>283, 238<br>226, 384<br>176, 886<br>145, 333<br>220, 724<br>124, 153<br>80, 233<br>96, 709<br>62, 788<br>89, 751<br>43, 243<br>30, 267<br>14, 861<br>10, 248<br>4, 314<br>11, 409<br>5, 883   | 16, 073 7, 992 4, 626 2, 751 1, 811 1, 234 866 1, 860 605 249 1122 102 66 72 22 15 5 3   | 44, 381<br>26, 671<br>18, 626<br>11, 604<br>9, 105<br>6, 398<br>4, 886<br>11, 111<br>4, 312<br>1, 818<br>1, 287<br>1, 198<br>459<br>570<br>522<br>42<br>31<br>24  | 34, 049<br>17, 012<br>9, 863<br>5, 925<br>3, 897<br>2, 629<br>1, 851<br>4, 259<br>1, 356<br>560<br>295<br>281<br>140<br>154<br>56<br>6<br>6<br>6  | 204, 807<br>148, 685<br>115, 560<br>88, 297<br>71, 786<br>55, 284<br>45, 058<br>140, 555<br>68, 858<br>39, 183<br>26, 398<br>28, 859<br>21, 127<br>27, 508<br>12, 801<br>7, 542<br>3, 683<br>2, 754<br>3, 644<br>3, 644<br>3, 644<br>1, 795  | 30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50 |
| 51<br>52   | Total, taxable individual returns with net income<br>With no net income, Form 1040 <sup>13</sup> (est.)  | 40, 222, 699<br>17, 438   | 40, 222, 699<br>17, 438   | 16, 938, 473<br>4, 230  | 34, 631, 376<br>22 6, 209  | 5, 824, 303<br>889  | 25, 126, 888<br>22 8, 215   | 4, 463, 964<br>2, 818  | 51 Z<br>52 Z   |
| 53   | Total, taxable individual returns  | 40, 240, 137  | 40, 240, 137  | 16, 942, 704  | 34, 637, 585   | 5, 825, 192   | 25, 135, 103  | 4. 466, 782  | 53 OM  |
| 54<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58<br>59   | Nontaxable individual returns:  With net income: 19 Form 1940A <sup>13</sup> (est.) Form 1940:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  1 and over (est.)  Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income   | 2, 181, 779<br>643, 849<br>208, 284<br>121, 443<br>128, 499<br>3, 283, 854  | 264, 600<br>131, 891<br>29, 174<br>21, 303<br>22, 389<br>469, 357   | 15, 369<br>12, 536<br>3, 434<br>2, 084<br>2, 333<br>35, 756   | 1, 739, 265<br>104, 209<br>35, 280<br>26, 595<br>24, 154<br>1, 929, 503  | 38, 087<br>2, 581<br>1, 055<br>973<br>920<br>43, 616  | 511, 156<br>150, 344<br>33, 515<br>23, 203<br>24, 560<br>742, 778   | 24, 310<br>10, 672<br>2, 924<br>1, 705<br>1, 905   | E FOR 1943,  |
| 60<br>61   | With no net income, Form 1040 12 (est.)  Total, nontaxable individual returns (59+60).   | 198, 047  | 56, 205   | 27, 519   | 17, 919  | 1, 750  | 68, 525   | 18, 627  | 60 H   |
| 62   | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)   | 3, 481, 901<br>43, 722, 038   | 525, 562<br>40, 765, 699  | 63, 275<br>17, 005, 979   | 1, 947, 422<br>36, 585, 007  | 45, 366<br>5, 870, 557  | 811, 303<br>25, 946, 406  | 60, 143<br>4, 526, 925   | ART 62   |
| 63<br>64   | Individual returns with net income (51+59)   | 43, 506, 553<br>215, 485  | 40, 692, 056<br>73, 643   | 16, 974, 230<br>31, 749   | 36, 560, 879<br>24, 128  | 5, 867, 919<br>2, 639   | 25, 869, 666<br>76, 740   | 4, 505, 480<br>21, 446   | 63<br>64   |
| <u> </u>   | (000) (00   00)  | 210, 100  | 10,020  | 31, 149   | 27, 123  | 2,000   | 10, 120   | 21, 770  |  |

Individual returns, 1948; returns with net income by net income classes and returns with no net income in aggregate, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by returns with tax withheld and returns with no tax withheld, and by selected types of tax payments: Number of returns, total income and victory tax, and selected tax payments; also for all returns: Frequency and amount of tax payments and tax overpayment—Continued [For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]
[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| <u> </u>   |   |   |  | All returns-   | -Continued  |   |  |   |
|--|---|---|--|--|---|---|--|---|
| Net income classes   | Payments of larat   |   | Cash paymen<br>filin   | t at time of   | Unforgiver<br>por   |   | Tax refund, o  |   |
| ,  | Number of returns   | Amount  | Number of returns  | Amount   | Number of returns   | Amount  | Number of returns  | Amount  |
| Taxable individual returns:   With net income:   Form 1040A 15 (est.)     Form 1040A 15 (est.)     Form 1040C     Under 0.5 (est.)     0.5 under 0.75 (est.)     0.75 under 1 (est.)     1 under 1.25 (est.)     1.25 under 1.75 (est.)     1.5 under 1.75 (est.)     1.75 under 2 (est.)     2 under 2.25 (est.)     2.25 under 2.5 (est.)     2.5 under 2.75 (est.)     3.5 under 3.5 (est.)     3.5 under 4 (est.)     4 under 4.5 (est.)     5 under 5 (est.)     5 under 7 (est.)     5 under 8 (est.)     5 under 8 (est.)     1 under 10 (est.)     1 under 10 (est.)     1 under 11 (est.)     1 under 12 (est.)     1 under 12 (est.)     1 under 12 (est.)     1 under 14 (est.) | 1, 120, 508  49, 483 229, 726 349, 493 400, 0.56 446, 582 458, 282 524, 481 498, 468 469, 812 426, 934 479, 625 988, 194 840, 016 538, 858 337, 211 350, 136 203, 788 140, 874 105, 411 85, 024 60, 466 49, 372 40, 166 33, 865 | 58, 140 3, 213 8, 541 115, 222 20, 883 27, 165 34, 061 45, 561 46, 691 50, 957 49, 778 61, 288 123, 676 114, 046 95, 954 78, 626 127, 859 96, 249 92, 039 76, 370 71, 588 68, 009 65, 738 | (39) 121, 744 371, 212 673, 685 815, 603 873, 894 917, 354 1, 036, 843 1, 051, 131 1, 058, 496 1, 023, 833 1, 289, 727 2, 454, 180 1, 428, 188 797, 294 458, 102 422, 866 223, 492 149, 827 108, 048 86, 258 60, 499 48, 740 39, 339 32, 964 | 491, 870 3, 308 8, 038 17, 817 27, 533 34, 833 43, 511 52, 472 56, 352 60, 209 187, 439 183, 765 94, 137 70, 808 94, 711 70, 532 60, 525 55, 116 49, 961 40, 459 37, 066 32, 695 30, 992 | 1, 488, 648  22, 413 27, 455 25, 627 65, 010 91, 000 113, 287 136, 857 145, 190 168, 443 172, 597 265, 123 586, 230 305, 688 230, 760 150, 176 145, 964 77, 333 52, 367 38, 012 31, 430 21, 958 18, 227 15, 629 13, 316 | 28, 796  82 112 325 1, 050 1, 573 2, 218 3, 075 3, 306 4, 003 7, 072 18, 572 15, 418 11, 362 8, 880 11, 342 8, 000 6, 909 6, 196 5, 863 4, 794 4, 649 4, 500 4, 276 | 7, 956, 488 79, 723 320, 391 428, 423 476, 316 561, 822 575, 946 585, 480 585, 722 508, 508 408, 158 372, 930 480, 178 239, 519 96, 869 41, 077 22, 872 14, 205 10, 424 8, 100 5, 179 4, 163 3, 308 2, 922 | 224, 154 3, 037 10, 029 11, 594 17, 505 22, 442 25, 755 25, 452 25, 755 21, 87, 701 18, 997 29, 136 16, 207 8, 479 5, 729 8, 187 7, 399 5, 469 5, 106 5, 502 2, 800 2, 204 2, 324 |
| 14 under 15 (est.)<br>15 under 20 (est.)<br>20 under 25<br>25 under 30   | 28, 953<br>95, 491<br>51, 044<br>30, 877  | 62, 973<br>283, 279<br>234, 328<br>197, 001   | 27, 868<br>91, 172<br>43, 871<br>26, 623   | 28, 755<br>119, 167<br>88, 768<br>70, 333  | 11, 013<br>39, 038<br>21, 753<br>14, 150  | 4,001<br>18,817<br>16,031<br>14,258   | 2, 449<br>8, 160<br>4, 842<br>2, 707   | 2, 103<br>9, 335<br>7, 475<br>5, 176  |

| 30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50 | 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 90. 90 under 100. 100 under 150. 150 under 200. 200 under 250. 250 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 50. 500 under 50. 500 under 50. 250 under 250. 250 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500. 500 under 50. 500 under 250. 250 under 300. 300 under 4,000. 1,000 under 1,500. 1,500 under 2,000. 2,000 under 3,000. 3,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 6,000. |   | 306, 023<br>225, 412<br>170, 153<br>132, 808<br>106, 249<br>86, 331<br>69, 470<br>219, 670<br>219, 670<br>108, 215<br>61, 579<br>39, 981<br>48, 908<br>31, 737<br>44, 346<br>24, 100<br>18, 219<br>9, 125<br>5, 866 | 28, 907 14, 654 8, 533 5, 128 3, 361 2, 248 1, 600 3, 880 1, 252 7257 2558 125 140 46 22 9 6 6 1 3 3 | 104, 567 72, 330 55, 224 41, 663 31, 780 24, 391 20, 445 65, 754 31, 733 17, 002 9, 873 14, 142 8, 358 13, 227 4, 482 3, 661 1, 602 1, 007 3, 351 3, 931 3, 931 | 16, 143<br>8, 646<br>5, 268<br>3, 223<br>2, 198<br>1, 452<br>1, 109<br>2, 662<br>2, 682<br>350<br>176<br>184<br>86<br>98<br>333<br>12<br>5<br>5 | 23, 145<br>18, 068<br>14, 696<br>11, 340<br>9, 342<br>7, 199<br>6, 387<br>20, 160<br>10, 049<br>6, 427<br>3, 395<br>4, 241<br>2, 799<br>2, 395<br>1, 947<br>399<br>497<br>449 | 2, 821<br>1, 297<br>709<br>426<br>298<br>210<br>125<br>338<br>97<br>37<br>29<br>23<br>14<br>14<br>8<br>5 |   | 30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50 | STATISTICS OF |
|--|--|---|---|--|---|---|---|--|---|--|---------------|
| 51<br>52   | Total, taxable individual returns with net income With no net income, Form 1040 17 (est.)  | 9, 514, 360<br>22 7, 023                            | 4, 135, 439<br>2, 415   | <sup>28</sup> 15, 803, 803<br><sup>22</sup> 7, 891   | 2, 734, 681<br>254  | 4, 596, 254<br>(27)   | 365, 819<br>( <sup>27</sup> )   | 13, 832, 926<br>10, 093  | 585, 732<br>2, 147                              | 51<br>52   | INC           |
| 53   | Total, taxable individual returns  | 9, 521, 383   | 4, 137, 854   | 28 15, 811, 694  | 2, 734, 935   | 4, 596, 284   | 365, 820  | 13, 843, 019   | 587, 879  | 53   | 20            |
| 54<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58   | Nontaxable individual returns: With net income: 19 Form 1040 A 15 (est.) Form 1040: Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 and over (est.)   | 29, 652<br>78, 836<br>27, 139<br>17, 505<br>18, 727 | 1, 241<br>4, 051<br>908<br>710<br>945   | (80)<br>25, 239<br>22 5, 563<br>22 4, 884<br>22 5, 292   | 3, 582<br>1, 219<br>199<br>202<br>84  |   |   | 1, 853, 824<br>160, 793<br>56, 039<br>36, 638<br>34, 331   | 51, 850<br>5, 987<br>1, 651<br>1, 506<br>1, 520 | 54<br>55 .<br>56<br>57<br>58   | TE FOR 194    |
| 59<br>60   | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income. With no net income, Form 1040 12 (est.)  | 171, 859<br>34, 254                                 | 7, 855<br>11, 711   | 28 40, 978<br>13, 771  | 5, 285<br>1, 971  |   |   | 2, 141, 625<br>48, 204   | 62, 515<br>6, 540                               | 59<br>60   | 3,<br>P       |
| 61   | Total, nontaxable individual returns (59+60)   | 206, 113  | ' 19, 565   | 28 54, 749   | 7, 256  |   |   | 2, 189, 829  | 69, 055   | 61   | AR            |
| 62   | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)   | 9, 727, 496   | 4, 157, 419   | 28 15, 866, 443  | 2, 742, 191   | 4, 596, 284   | 365, 820  | 16, 032, 848   | 656, 934  | 62   | 1-)           |
| 63<br>64   | Individual returns with net income (51+59)   | 9, 686, 219<br>41, 277                              | 4, 143, 294<br>14, 126  | <sup>28</sup> 15, 844, 781<br>21, 662  | 2, 739, 966<br>2, 225   | 4, 596, 254<br>(27)   | 365, 819<br>(27)  | 15, 974, 551<br>58, 297  | 648, 247<br>8, 687                              | 63<br>64   | _             |
|  |  |   |   |  |   |   |   |  |   |  |               |

For footnotes, see pp. 103-105.

Individual returns, 1943; returns with net income by net income classes and returns with no net income in aggregate, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by returns with tax withheld and returns with no tax withheld, and by selected types of tax payments: Number of returns, total income and victory tax, and selected tax payments; also for all returns: Frequency and amount of tax payments and tax overpayment—Continued [For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114] [Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |  |   | Re  | turns with in  | come and vi  | ctory tax wit   | hheld on wa   | ges   |   |  |
|--|--|---|---|--|--|---|---|---|---|--|
| -  |  |   |   |  | To   | tal   |   |   |   | TAT  |
|  | Net income classes   | Number of returns   | Total in-<br>come and<br>victory tax <sup>5</sup>   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>withheld  | Payments<br>on 1942 tax  | Payments<br>on 1943<br>declaration  | Cash pay-<br>ment at<br>time of<br>filing   | Unforgiven<br>tax post-<br>poned  | Tax refund,<br>or credit on<br>1944 tax   | TATISTICS (  |
| 1  | Taxable individual returns:  With net income: Form 1040A 15 (est.) Form 1040F  | 17, 474, 477  | 2, 575, 738   | 1, 785, 685  | 473, 036   | 39, 418   | 469, 240  | 28, 442   | 220, 083  | OF INC   |
| 2 3 4 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 144 15 16 17 18 19 20 12 22 23 24 25 27 28 29  | Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 1.5 under 1.25 (est.) 1.25 under 1.5 (est.) 1.5 under 1.75 (est.) 1.5 under 1.75 (est.) 1.5 under 2.85 (est.) 2.5 under 2.5 (est.) 2.25 under 2.5 (est.) 2.5 under 2.5 (est.) 2.5 under 2.5 (est.) 3.5 under 3.6 (est.) 3.5 under 4 (est.) 4 under 4.5 (est.) 5 under 6 (est.) 5 under 7 (est.) 7 under 8 (est.) 9 under 10 (est.) 11 under 11 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 14 (est.) 15 under 16 (est.) 16 under 7 (est.) 17 under 8 (est.) 18 under 9 (est.) 19 under 10 (est.) 10 under 11 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 20 (est.) 20 under 25 | 106, 801<br>343, 734<br>627, 109<br>852, 097<br>1, 011, 462<br>1, 126, 876<br>1, 305, 847<br>1, 356, 013<br>1, 353, 254<br>1, 257, 282<br>1, 504, 203<br>2, 733, 038<br>1, 505, 929<br>767, 376<br>405, 996<br>321, 722<br>145, 392<br>80, 902<br>60, 551<br>46, 905<br>31, 892<br>22, 548<br>20, 444<br>17, 251<br>14, 589<br>46, 951<br>14, 589<br>46, 951<br>15, 611 | 7, 140 18, 989 55, 178 100, 382 144, 699 198, 020 270, 952 320, 543 369, 557 393, 788 545, 000 1, 200, 565 843, 976 635, 928 346, 368 3366, 757 213, 657 213, 657 213, 657 213, 657 213, 657 213, 657 213, 657 213, 657 317, 834 253, 843 79, 354 474, 367 317, 834 253, 843 206, 846 | 4, 450<br>15, 677<br>38, 080<br>67, 262<br>97, 807<br>131, 559<br>177, 369<br>1212, 334<br>240, 941<br>253, 212<br>341, 102<br>718, 576<br>477, 839<br>287, 443<br>174, 261<br>160, 786<br>85, 832<br>61, 390<br>47, 316<br>25, 757<br>21, 630<br>19, 892<br>18, 023<br>68, 163<br>47, 513<br>47, 513<br>33, 671   | 2, 746<br>5, 189<br>12, 518<br>22, 982<br>32, 862<br>44, 958<br>60, 954<br>71, 374<br>81, 845<br>20, 004<br>272, 547<br>201, 318<br>132, 197<br>201, 318<br>132, 197<br>38, 020<br>98, 110<br>62, 135<br>50, 385<br>41, 590<br>28, 800<br>29, 800<br>24, 518<br>22, 668<br>99, 124<br>79, 859<br>66, 266 | 679 1, 179 2, 885 4, 825 6, 935 10, 828 15, 886 17, 517 20, 392 20, 395 27, 692 62, 072 60, 806 45, 162 34, 611 44, 422 33, 967 32, 014 28, 936 28, 836 23, 372 22, 812 21, 555 21, 509 21, 001 96, 917 84, 936 73, 537 | 1, 440<br>3, 615<br>9, 783<br>18, 297<br>23, 540<br>29, 880<br>36, 371<br>39, 337<br>43, 230<br>66, 484<br>153, 941<br>103, 205<br>66, 677<br>45, 070<br>48, 677<br>29, 554<br>23, 616<br>21, 053<br>18, 726<br>14, 699<br>13, 668<br>12, 045<br>11, 1732<br>11, 107<br>45, 805<br>35, 061<br>36, 937 | 11 677 216 879 1, 323 1, 948 2, 632 2, 632 3, 632 6, 599 17, 428 14, 560 10, 539 7, 715 5, 781 7, 722 4, 074 2, 846 2, 600 2, 606 11, 006 9, 288 8, 171 | 2, 196<br>6, 738<br>8, 314<br>13, 863<br>21, 153<br>22, 254<br>23, 043<br>20, 414<br>16, 661<br>16, 882<br>23, 999<br>13, 752<br>6, 090<br>4, 310<br>4, 414<br>3, 602<br>2, 254<br>4, 414<br>1, 183<br>2, 254<br>1, 194<br>1, 183<br>1, 183<br>1, 184<br>1, 183<br>1, 1736<br>1, 1736 | INCOME FOR 1943, PART 1  2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 2 13 14 15 16 7 18 19 20 12 23 24 25 25 28 29                                     |
| 30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50 | 40 under 50  | 7, 902<br>4, 622<br>- 2, 751<br>- 1, 811<br>- 1, 234<br>- 866<br>- 1, 866<br>- 249<br>- 122<br>- 102<br>- 66<br>- 72<br>- 22<br>- 15<br>- 5<br>- 3  | 223, 29<br>170, 39<br>170, 32<br>127, 678<br>102, 824<br>81, 401<br>66, 176<br>194, 122<br>95, 788<br>51, 856<br>33, 498<br>32, 966<br>28, 661<br>28, 661<br>16, 792<br>8, 188<br>4, 376  | 26, 671<br>3 18, 622<br>3 11, 604<br>5 9, 105<br>6 4, 886<br>11, 111<br>9 4, 312<br>10 1, 287<br>11, 125<br>12, 125<br>13, 115<br>14, 125<br>15, 125<br>16, 125<br>17, 125<br>18, | 73, 235<br>5 56, 188<br>41, 685<br>34, 399<br>5 26, 836<br>6 45, 505<br>6 30, 799<br>6 17, 063<br>7 12, 677<br>12, 677<br>11, 691<br>11, 691<br>12, 4, 548<br>2, 44, 548<br>2, 44, 548   | 6 86,717<br>6 7,732<br>6 67,732<br>6 7,732<br>7 35,880<br>8 28,792<br>8 5,356<br>6 44,939<br>8 24,811<br>7 15,080<br>1 14,851<br>2 1,331<br>8 10,248<br>1 4,260<br>2 2,902  | 28, 408<br>21, 178<br>16, 024<br>12, 100<br>9, 718<br>7, 914<br>23, 935<br>31, 346<br>5, 983<br>3, 181<br>3, 415<br>3, 201<br>1, 154<br>1, 177<br>1, 174<br>280   | 9, 821<br>7, 811<br>5, 907<br>4, 862<br>3, 836<br>10, 025<br>4, 931<br>2, 575<br>1, 755<br>1, 483<br>1, 903<br>624<br>844<br>237<br>233                 | 1, 552<br>1, 207<br>754<br>466<br>1, 264<br>275<br>809<br>558<br>333<br>314<br>118<br>545<br>112<br>112   | 31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>47<br>48 |
| 51<br>52   | Total, taxable individual returns with net income With no net income, Form 1040 12 (est.)  | 34, 631, 376<br>22 6, 209   | 11, 746, 572<br>1, 661  |  |  |   |   | 1 1   | 476, 704<br>763   | 51<br>52<br>52   |
| 53   | Total, taxable individual returns  | 34, 637, 585  | 11, 748, 233  | 5, 825, 192  | 2, 902, 898  | 1, 587, 794   | 1, 662, 584   | 247, 233  | 477, 467  | 1 P  |
| 54<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58   | Nontaxable individual returns:  With net income: <sup>29</sup> Form 1040A <sup>15</sup> (est.)  Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  0.75 under 0.75 (est.)  1 and over (est.)   | 35, 280<br>26, 595  | 1, 129<br>736   | 2, 581<br>1, 055<br>973  | 2, 330<br>742<br>600   | 747<br>146<br>113   | 309<br>92   |   | 41, 938<br>3, 230<br>906<br>1, 016<br>915   | 55<br>56<br>57   |
| 59<br>60   | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income With no net income, Form 1040 12 (est.)   | 1, 929, 503<br>17, 919  |   |  |  | 1, 812<br>1, 720  | 2, 408<br>479   |   | 48, 006<br>2, 295   | 59   |
| 61   | Total, nontaxable individual returns (59+60)   | 1, 947, 422   | 18, 890   | 45, 366  | 17, 406  | 3, 532  | =   |   | 50, 301   | =l `∸  |
| 62   | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)   | ===   | 11, 767, 123  |  | =======  | =   | 1, 665, 471   | 247, 233  |   | =) ⊩   |
| 63<br><b>64</b>  | Individual returns with net income (51+59). Individual returns with no net income <sup>12</sup> (est.) (52+60)   | 36, 560, 879<br>24, 128   | 11, 761, 608<br>5, 515  | 5, 867, 919<br>2, 639  | 2, 917, 266<br>3, 038  | 1, 588, 950<br>2, 376   | 1, 664, 951<br>520  | 247, 232  |   |  |

Individual returns, 1943; returns with net income by net income classes and returns with no net income in aggregate, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by returns with tax withheld and returns with no tax withheld, and by selected types of tax payments: Number of returns, total income and victory tax, and selected tax payments; also for all returns: Frequency and amount of tax payments and tax overpayment—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]
[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| =  |   |  | Returns wit   | th income and   | victory tax w  | ithheld on was   | ges—Continue   | aa   | T.   |
|--|---|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|
|  | Net income classes  | Returns with   | only a tax wit  | thheld by em-   | Returns w  | ith tax withhe payments  | ld by employe<br>on 1942 tax   | er and with  | - 012  |
|  |   | Number of returns  | Total income and victory  | Income and victory tax withheld   | Number of returns  | Total income and victory   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>withheld  | Payments on on 1942 tax  | STICE  |
| 1 2 2 3 4 4 5 5 6 6 7 7 8 8 9 100 111 213 114 15 16 6 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 7 28 29                       | 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 under 1.26 (est.) 1.25 under 1.6 (est.) 1.5 under 1.76 (est.) 1.75 under 2 (est.) 2 under 2.25 (est.) 2.5 under 2.25 (est.) 2.5 under 2.5 (est.) 3.5 under 3.5 (est.) 3 under 3.5 (est.) 4 under 4 (est.) 5 under 4 (est.) 5 under 4 (est.) 4 under 4.5 (est.) 5 under 6 (est.) 5 under 6 (est.) 7 under 6 (est.) 7 under 6 (est.) 6 under 7 (est.) | 70, 505 208, 673 309, 942 345, 042 375, 446 343, 036 333, 286 301, 903 244, 270 195, 176 213, 983 289, 850 20, 486 20, 486 21, 197 21, 393 22, 305 22, 110 22, 866 22, 77 22, 42 22, 56 22, 29 22, 114 | 657, 237  2, 947  8, 591 21, 215 27, 917 34, 154 37, 367 41, 195 42, 578 40, 701 37, 444 46, 506 74, 956 28, 183 8, 358 3, 487 3, 155 1, 120 261 260 159 239 148 716 636 6225 | 681, 089 3, 059 10, 192 10, 886 26, 506 33, 465 36, 196 39, 383 41, 826 38, 346 34, 991 42, 364 64, 119 23, 115 6, 599 2, 319 1, 761 491 268 337 112 141 146 48 88 63 160 75 32 | 7, 737, 571  28, 605 104, 619 251, 882 412, 117 504, 020 608, 757 715, 918 777, 998 825, 064 798, 066 964, 710 1, 682, 120 740, 901 329, 417 155, 916 103, 833 37, 185 19, 188 10, 184 7, 229 4, 203 2, 708 1, 936 1, 561 1, 094 2, 875 1, 061 | 1, 677, 861 3, 058 7, 737 26, 375 58, 317 86, 588 122, 202 162, 701 194, 722 230, 387 352, 255 738, 705 414, 022 227, 233 132, 082 113, 135 54, 199 35, 414 23, 349 19, 121 13, 084 9, 660 7, 789 7, 274 5, 722 19, S12 11, 480 6, 971 | 980, 101  1, 154 4, 568 15, 471 34, 805 53, 827 77, 587 105, 599 129, 520 155, 111 168, 201 226, 369 454, 147 244, 300 130, 157 72, 150 58, 422 26, 535 16, 872 10, 755 8, 128 5, 399 3, 835 2, 871 2, 523 1, 900 5, 756 2, 616 1, 402 | 422, 844 2, 101 4, 182 10, 096 19, 075 26, 549 35, 650 46, 193 52, 872 59, 609 64, 569 87, 080 183, 289 115, 044 66, 152 40, 766 37, 071 19, 303 12, 629 8, 423 7, 467 5, 094 3, 800 3, 283 2, 965 5, 842 3, 701 | 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 |
| 30<br>51<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49 | 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 90. 90 under 100. 100 under 150. 250 under 250. 250 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500. 500 under 500. 500 under 500. 500 under 500. 500 under 500. 300 under 1,000. 1,000 under 1,000. 1,500 under 2,000. 2,000 under 3,000. 3,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 4,000.  |  |   |   |  |  |  |  | 30 311 32 334 356 37 88 40 41 42 43 44 44 45 64 67 48 8              |
| 50<br>51   | Total, taxable individual returns with net income   | 12, 257, 674   | 1, 123, 996   | 1, 107, 587   | 16, 832, 266   | 5, 054, 822  | 3, 005, 199  | 1, 385, 547  | 49 OF<br>50 F  |
| 52<br>53   | With no net income, Form 1040 12 (est.)  Total, taxable individual returns  | 12, 260, 000   | 1, 124, 066   | 1, 107, 826   | 16, 834, 839   | 362<br>5, 055, 184   | 322  | 218  | INCOME   |
| 54<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58   | Nontaxable individual returns: With net income: <sup>39</sup> Form 1040A <sup>15</sup> (est.) Form 1040: Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 and over (est.)   | 1, 486, 778<br>64, 724<br>22, 932<br>15, 740<br>16, 825  | 1, 101, 010   | 33, 715<br>1, 654<br>598<br>541<br>622  | 237, 219<br>29, 716<br>22 9, 091<br>22 8, 141<br>22 4, 614   | 8, 563<br>1, 830<br>864<br>400<br>254  | 3, 005, 521<br>4, 145<br>600<br>390<br>300<br>208  | 1, 385, 765<br>10, 424<br>1, 809<br>596<br>396<br>186  | ME FOR 194   |
| 59<br>60   | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income<br>With no net income, Form 1040 to (est.)   | 1, 606, 999<br>22 9, 162   |   | 37, 129<br>862  | 288, 781<br>22 5, 849  | 11, 911<br>1, 966  | 5, 643<br>510  | 13, 412<br>1, 125  | 3,<br>59   |
| 61   | Total, nontaxable individual returns (59+60)  | 1, 616, 161  |   | 37, 992   | 294, 630   | 13, 877  | 6, 153   | 14, 536  | PART   |
| 62   | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)  | 13, 876, 161   | 1, 124, 066   | 1, 145, 818   | 17, 129, 469   | 5, 069, 060  | 3, 011, 674  | 1, 400, 301  | 62 F   |
| 63<br>64   | Individual returns with net income (51+59)  | 13, 864, 673<br>11, 488  | 1, 123, 996<br>70   | 1, 144, 716<br>1, 102   | 17, 121, 047<br>22 8, 422  | 5, 066, 733<br>2, 328  | 3, 010, 842<br>832   | 1, 398, 958<br>1, 343  | 63<br>64   |
|  | <u> </u>  |  |   | I   | 1  |  |  |  |  |

Individual returns, 1943; returns with net income by net income classes and returns with no net income in aggregate, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by returns with tax withheld and returns with no tax withheld, and by selected types of tax payments: Number of returns, total income and victory tax, and selected tax payments; also for all returns: Frequency and amount of tax payments and tax overpayment—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

Returns with income and victory tax withheld on wages-Continued

| Ta:  1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28                                  | Net income classes   | with 1  Number of returns  157, 289  22, 620 11, 756 27, 239 38, 136 47, 153 50, 079 53, 816 45, 996 41, 715 30, 301 62, 791 46, 834 23, 887 10, 607 6, 179 2, 296 695 22, 278 22, 287 22, 288 22, 287 22, 298 22, 298 22, 297 22, 298 22, 298 22, 297 22, 298 23, 298 24, 298 | 25, 901  25, 901  25, 901  92  561  1, 917  3, 413  5, 395  7, 125  10, 084  9, 796  9, 689  8, 259  10, 171  23, 490  20, 064  11, 157  125, 603  2, 853  1, 960  1, 645  7, 157  5, 603  2, 853  1, 960  1, 645  7, 157  7, 1590  1, 645  2, 059  2, 059  2, 059  2, 059 | Income and victory tax withheld by em 1943 decl  Income and victory tax withheld  16, 510  72 310 1, 126 2, 105 3, 506 4, 449 5, 547 1, 5, 453 4, 493 4, 493 1, 494 12, 670 7, 221 3, 649 2, 459 987 552 484 333 156 171 189 104 162 289 321 | Reployer and aration  Payments on 1943 declaration  8, 096  102 346 937 1, 631 2, 310 2, 981 3, 773 3, 733 3, 802 7, 627 5, 660 4, 029 2, 434 2, 363 1, 503 1, 232 91 5, 1, 072 485 572 328 412 502 1, 330 1, 341  |   | Total income and   | Income   | 50, 192  50, 192  645 1, 007 2, 422 3, 907 6, 312 9, 307 14, 761 18, 502 22, 236 23, 520 32, 923 84, 254 86, 045 48, 254 61, 040 42, 832 37, 756 61, 040 42, 832 37, 756 61, 040 42, 832 37, 756 61, 040 42, 832 37, 756 61, 040 42, 832 37, 756 61, 040 62, 193 63, 167 64, 254 62, 077 62, 553 60, 193 60, 068   | Payments<br>on 1943   | STATISTICS OF INCOME FOR 1943, PART 1  2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 12 22 23 24 25 6 27 28 |
|--|--|--|--|--|--|---|--|--|--|---|--|
| 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20      | xable individual returns:  With net income: Form 1040A 15 (est.) Form 1040C Under 0.75 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 1.75 under 1.25 (est.) 1.25 under 1.25 (est.) 1.5 under 1.75 (est.) 1.75 under 2 (est.) 2.25 under 2.25 (est.) 2.25 under 2.25 (est.) 2.5 under 2.75 (est.) 3.5 under 3.6 (est.) 4.5 under 4.6 (est.) 4.5 under 4.6 (est.) 4.5 under 4.5 (est.) 4.5 under 6 (est.) 5 under 7.5 (est.) 9 under 10 (est.) 10 under 11 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 13 (est.) 13 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 12 (est.) 15 under 15 (est.) 15 under 16 (est.) 15 under 16 (est.) 15 under 17 (est.) 15 under 18 (est.) 15 under 19 (est.) 15 under 19 (est.) 15 under 19 (est.) 15 under 19 (est.) 15 under 15 (est.) | 157, 289  22 2, 620 11, 756 27, 239 38, 136 47, 153 50, 075 30, 301 62, 791 46, 834 23, 887 10, 607 6, 179 2, 296 1, 278 695 22 278 22 187 22 185 22 176 375   | come and victory tax s  25, 901  921 561 1, 917 3, 413 5, 395 7, 125 10, 084 9, 796 9, 689 9, 689 10, 171 23, 490 20, 064 12, 556 7, 157 5, 603 2, 853 1, 960 1, 540 1, 960 1, 644 9, 734 734 734 734 735 735 736 737 735 736 737 737 737 737 737 737 737 737 737          | and victory tax withheld  16, 510  72  310  1, 126  2, 105  5, 506  4, 449  5, 946  5, 527  5, 453  4, 493  5, 771  14, 184  12, 670  7, 221  7, 221  7, 231  8987  552  484  333  156  171  189  104  162  289                              | on 1943 declaration  8, 096  102 346 937 1, 631 2, 981 3, 734 3, 439 3, 733 3, 802 7, 627 5, 660 4, 029 2, 434 2, 363 1, 503 1, 232 2, 485 502 328 412 502 1, 330  | Number of returns  671, 530  22 5, 071  18, 686 38, 046 56, 822 84, 843 125, 004 202, 827 230, 116 242, 205 243, 265 295, 209 698, 277 632, 332 393, 586 233, 276 207, 972 105, 033 69, 045 49, 266 38, 871 27, 325 22, 586 18, 272 15, 479 13, 290 43, 587 | come and victory tax \$ 214, 738   1, 043 2, 100   5, 670 10, 736, 670 10, 736, 670 10, 736, 670 10, 736, 670 10, 736, 670 10, 736, 670 10, 736, 670 10, 731, 731, 731, 731, 731, 731, 731, 731  | and victory tax withheld  107, 985  165 607 1, 596 3, 787 7, 010 13, 327 26, 435 35, 461 42, 031 45, 527 66, 598 186, 126 197, 754 143, 698 18, 144 98, 148 157, 819 43, 698 61, 948 | 50, 192  645 1,007 2, 422 3, 907 6, 312 9, 307 14, 761 18, 502 22, 236 23, 520 32, 923 34, 258 86, 274 66, 045 48, 254 48, 254 42, 37, 756 61, 040 42, 832 37, 756 61, 040 42, 832 37, 756 61, 040 42, 832 37, 756 61, 040 42, 832 37, 756 61, 040 62, 254 62, 277 62, 553 62, 70, 193 62, 193 62, 193 62, 193 62, 193 62, 193 62, 193 62, 193 62, 193 62, 193 62, 193 62, 193 62, 193 62, 193 62, 193 62, 193 62, 193 62, 193 62, 193 62, 193 63, 194 65, 194 65, 194 66, 194   | on 1943<br>declara-<br>tion  31, 321  577 833 1, 958 3, 195 4, 625 7, 848 11, 907 13, 803 16, 589 16, 956 23, 890 54, 445 55, 146 41, 132 32, 177 42, 059 32, 454 30, 782 28, 001 27, 764 22, 886 22, 240 21, 227 21, 097 20, 498 95, 587                           | 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26   |
| 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20      | With net income:  Form 1040A ¹s (est.)  Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  0.75 under 1 (est.)  1 under 1.25 (est.)  1.25 under 1.5 (est.)  1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  1.75 under 2.25 (est.)  2.25 under 2.25 (est.)  2.5 under 2.75 (est.)  2.75 under 3 (est.)  3.5 under 3.6 (est.)  3.5 under 4 (est.)  4 under 4.75 (est.)  5 under 8 (est.)  4 under 4.75 (est.)  5 under 8 (est.)  5 under 9 (est.)  6 under 7 (est.)  7 under 8 (est.)  9 under 10 (est.)  9 under 10 (est.)  10 under 11 (est.)  11 under 12 (est.)  12 under 13 (est.)  13 under 14 (est.)  14 under 14 (est.)  15 under 16 (est.)  15 under 16 (est.)  16 under 17 (est.)  17 under 18 (est.)  18 under 19 (est.)  19 under 10 (est.)  10 under 11 (est.)  11 under 12 (est.)  12 under 13 (est.)  13 under 14 (est.)  14 under 15 (est.)  | 22 2, 620 11, 756 27, 239 38, 136 47, 153 50, 079 53, 816 45, 996 41, 715 30, 730 62, 791 46, 834 23, 887 10, 607 6, 179 2, 296 1, 278 695 22 278 22 287 21 194 23 185 22 185 23 176   | 92<br>561<br>1, 917<br>3, 413<br>5, 395<br>7, 125<br>10, 084<br>9, 796<br>9, 689<br>8, 259<br>10, 171<br>23, 490<br>20, 064<br>12, 556<br>7, 157<br>5, 603<br>2, 853<br>1, 960<br>601<br>601<br>7755<br>2, 059   | 72<br>310<br>1, 126<br>2, 105<br>3, 506<br>4, 449<br>5, 946<br>5, 527<br>5, 453<br>4, 493<br>5, 771<br>14, 184<br>12, 670<br>7, 221<br>3, 649<br>2, 459<br>987<br>552<br>484<br>333<br>156<br>171<br>189<br>104<br>162<br>289                | 102<br>346<br>937<br>1, 631<br>2, 910<br>2, 981<br>3, 713<br>3, 734<br>3, 439<br>3, 802<br>7, 627<br>5, 660<br>4, 029<br>2, 434<br>2, 363<br>1, 503<br>1, 232<br>955<br>1, 072<br>328<br>412<br>412<br>412<br>412<br>413<br>414<br>415<br>415<br>416<br>417<br>417<br>417<br>417<br>417<br>417<br>417<br>417<br>417<br>417 | 22 5, 071 18, 086 38, 046 56, 822 84, 843 125, 004 202, 827 230, 116 242, 205 295, 209 698, 277 632, 332, 265 207, 972 105, 033 69, 045 49, 266 38, 871 27, 325 22, 586 13, 299 43, 587   | 1, 043<br>2, 100<br>5, 670<br>10, 736<br>18, 563<br>31, 325<br>56, 973<br>73, 446<br>88, 783<br>94, 410<br>136, 068<br>363, 413<br>381, 706<br>287, 781<br>203, 641<br>155, 485<br>131, 519<br>114, 570<br>105, 193<br>84, 548<br>81, 123<br>73, 825<br>71, 239<br>67, 742<br>295, 247 | 165<br>607<br>1, 596<br>3, 787<br>7, 010<br>13, 327<br>26, 435<br>35, 461<br>42, 031<br>45, 527<br>66, 598<br>186, 126<br>197, 754<br>143, 467<br>98, 144<br>57, 819<br>43, 698<br>35, 740<br>30, 657<br>23, 220<br>21, 606<br>18, 522<br>21, 177<br>15, 898<br>61, 948  | 645<br>1, 007<br>2, 422<br>3, 907<br>6, 312<br>9, 307<br>14, 761<br>18, 502<br>22, 236<br>23, 520<br>32, 923<br>84, 258<br>86, 274<br>66, 045<br>48, 254<br>61, 040<br>42, 832<br>37, 756<br>61, 040<br>42, 832<br>37, 756<br>61, 040<br>42, 254<br>42, 254<br>43, 254<br>44, 254<br>45, 254<br>47, 765<br>24, 766<br>24, 254<br>47, 254 | 577<br>833<br>1, 958<br>3, 195<br>4, 625<br>7, 848<br>11, 907<br>13, 803<br>16, 589<br>16, 589<br>54, 445<br>55, 146<br>41, 132<br>32, 177<br>42, 059<br>32, 454<br>30, 782<br>22, 800<br>27, 764<br>22, 886<br>22, 240<br>21, 227<br>21, 097<br>20, 498<br>95, 587 | 1 2 3 4 5 6 6 7 8 9 10 112 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26   |
|  |  |  |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |   |  |
| 29   30   31   32   33   32   33   34   35   36   37   38   40   41   42   43   44   45   46   47   48   49   50 | 25 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 90. 90 under 150. 150 under 200. 250 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500. 500 under 750. 750 under 200. 250 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500. 500 under 750. 750 under 300. 3,000 under 4,000. 1,000 under 4,000. 2,000 under 4,000. 3,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000.  |  |  |  | 969<br>1, 305<br>866<br>659<br>863<br>617<br>364<br>90<br>640<br>362<br>240<br>390<br>425<br>211<br>546  | 14, 382<br>15, 438<br>7, 721<br>4, 471<br>2, 655<br>1, 747<br>1, 197<br>1, 820<br>596<br>245<br>118<br>99<br>64<br>70<br>22<br>15<br>3  | 198, 241 298, 953 215, 716 164, 583 122, 698 99, 240 78, 752 189, 502 94, 384 51, 044 30, 513 32, 313 27, 924 38, 436 15, 511 16, 792 8, 180 4, 376  | 32, 061<br>42, 244<br>25, 568<br>17, 683<br>11, 091<br>8, 617<br>6, 183<br>4, 641<br>10, 846<br>4, 759<br>1, 254<br>1, 194<br>443<br>534<br>42<br>42<br>31<br>24   | 62, 565<br>95, 117<br>69, 954<br>53, 398<br>39, 546<br>32, 946<br>25, 119<br>21, 023<br>62, 468<br>30, 621<br>16, 848<br>10, 102<br>10, 081<br>9, 030<br>11, 276<br>4, 536<br>4, 536<br>2, 448<br>938  | 72, 568<br>114, 475<br>85, 850<br>67, 073<br>52, 345<br>42, 210<br>35, 516<br>28, 702<br>84, 716<br>44, 597<br>24, 570<br>14, 691<br>16, 159<br>14, 640<br>20, 785<br>9, 246<br>10, 284<br>4, 260<br>2, 902   | 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 6 37 8 8 9 01 12 43 44 45 46 47 48 9 9 5  |
| 51   | Total, taxable individual returns with net income<br>With no net income, Form 1040 <sup>12</sup> (est.)  | 694, 277<br>(27)   | 188, 033   | 100, 089   | 75, 462  | 4, 847, 159   | 5, 379, 721  | 1, 611, 428  | 1, 516, 513  | 1, 511, 676   | 51   |
| 53   | Total, taxable individual returns  | 694, 703   | 188, 059   | 100, 194   | 75, 507  | 4, 848, 043   | 5, 380, 924  | 1,611,650  | 1, 517, 133  | 1, 512, 287   | 52 OME   |
| 54<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58<br>59   | taxable individual returns:  With net income: <sup>39</sup> Form 1040A <sup>18</sup> (est.) Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 and over (est.)  Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income.  With no net income, Form 1040 <sup>12</sup> (est.)  | 22 2, 019<br>22 3, 392<br>22 1, 357<br>(27)<br>(27)<br>22 8, 668<br>(27)   |  | 37<br>136<br>24<br>(27)<br>(27)<br>(255<br>(27)  | 74<br>284<br>26<br>(27)<br>(27)<br>435<br>(27)   | 13, 249  22 6, 377  22 1, 900  22 1, 764  22 1, 765  25, 055  22 2, 292   | 1, 234<br>906<br>265<br>336<br>384<br>3, 126<br>1, 888   | 190<br>192<br>43<br>116<br>47<br>588<br>339  | 699<br>521<br>146<br>204<br>224<br>1, 795<br>1, 075  | 531<br>462<br>119<br>86<br>178<br>1, 377<br>1, 464  | FOR 1943, F  |
| 61   | Total, nontaxable individual returns (59+60)   | 22 9, 284  |  | 294  | 691  | 27, 347   | 5, 014   | 927  | 2, 870   | 2, 841  | 60 ART   |
| 62<br>63 Indi<br>64 Indi   | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)vidual returns with net income (51+59)vidual returns with no net income <sup>12</sup> (est.) (52+60)   | 703, 987<br>702, 945<br>22 1, 042  | 188, 059<br>188, 033<br>26   | 100, 488<br>100, 344<br>144  | 76, 198<br>75, 897<br>301  | 4, 875, 390<br>4, 872, 214<br>22 3, 176   | 5, 385, 937<br>5, 382, 846<br>3, 091   | 1, 612, 577<br>1, 612, 016<br>561  | 1, 520, 003<br>1, 518, 308<br>1, 695   | 1, 515, 128<br>1, 513, 053<br>2, 075  | 62 H<br>63<br>64   |

Individual returns, 1943; returns with net income by net income classes and returns with no net income in aggregate, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by returns with tax withheld and returns with no tax withheld, and by selected types of tax payments: Number of returns, total income and victory tax, and selected tax payments; also for all returns: Frequency and amount of tax payments and tax overpayment—Continued [For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]
[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   |  |   |  | Returns v  | vith no inco  | me and vid   | cory tax w  |   |   |  |
|---|--|---|--|--|---|--|---|---|---|--|
|   |  |   |  | Total  |   |  |   |   | with paym<br>942 tax only   |  |
| Net income classes  | Number<br>of returns   | Total income and victory tax b  | Payments<br>on 1942 tax  | Payments<br>on 1943<br>declara-<br>tion  | Cash pay-<br>ment at<br>time of<br>flling   | Unfor-<br>given<br>tax post-<br>poned  | Tax refund, or credit on 1944 tax   | Number<br>of returns  | Total income and victory tax 5  | Pay-<br>ments<br>on 1942<br>tax  |
| Taxable individual returns: With net income: Form 1040A <sup>15</sup> (est.)  | 685, 267   | 61, 101   | 23, 465  | 18,722   | 22, 631   | 354  | 4, 071  | 183, 818  | 16, 513   | 12, 730  |
| Form 1040:     Under 0.5 (est.)     0.5 under 0.75 (est.)     0.75 under 1 (est.)     1 under 1.25 (est.)     1.25 under 1.5 (est.)     1.5 under 1.75 (est.)     1.75 under 2 (est.)     2 under 2.5 (est.)     2 under 2.5 (est.)     2.5 under 2.6 (est.)     2.5 under 2.75 (est.)     3.5 under 3.6 (est.)     3.5 under 3.6 (est.)     4.5 under 4.5 (est.)     4.5 under 4.5 (est.)     5 under 6 (est.)     6 under 7 (est.)     6 under 7 (est.) | 111, 277 410, 555 479, 333 479, 703 455, 473 390, 300 340, 007 272, 110 225, 600 188, 556 176, 149 258, 198 179, 211 135, 083 102, 755 147, 574 104, 150 | 7, 334<br>16, 673<br>30, 244<br>36, 966<br>43, 511<br>52, 839<br>64, 764<br>63, 681<br>66, 906<br>64, 345<br>74, 074<br>135, 208<br>116, 675<br>111, 643<br>98, 919<br>181, 104<br>163, 778<br>149, 905 | 3, 711<br>8, 134<br>13, 054<br>15, 143<br>16, 410<br>20, 308<br>22, 731<br>20, 094<br>21, 811<br>19, 698<br>22, 496<br>43, 150<br>34, 472<br>34, 957<br>29, 421<br>53, 239<br>48, 555<br>44, 135 | 2, 533<br>7, 362<br>12, 327<br>16, 058<br>20, 231<br>23, 232<br>29, 624<br>29, 175<br>30, 634<br>29, 383<br>33, 596<br>61, 604<br>53, 240<br>50, 792<br>44, 015<br>83, 437<br>75, 823<br>69, 545 | 1, 859 4, 423 8, 034 9, 236 11, 293 13, 631 16, 101 17, 015 16, 980 16, 927 19, 625 33, 498 30, 560 27, 460 27, 460 40, 977 36, 908 | 70<br>45<br>109<br>171<br>250<br>270<br>443<br>280<br>370<br>378<br>473<br>1,092<br>858<br>824<br>1,164<br>2,167<br>2,219<br>2,118 | 840<br>3, 291<br>3, 280<br>3, 642<br>4, 674<br>4, 602<br>4, 135<br>2, 883<br>2, 883<br>2, 041<br>2, 116<br>2, 137<br>2, 454<br>2, 389<br>1, 418<br>3, 773<br>3, 797<br>2, 800 | 26, 081<br>76, 853<br>73, 797<br>63, 603<br>60, 368<br>59, 180<br>42, 925<br>30, 684<br>28, 402<br>18, 752<br>24, 876<br>15, 951<br>11, 810<br>7, 510<br>9, 431<br>6, 485<br>4, 805 | 10,757  | 1, 891<br>4, 167<br>6, 398<br>6, 990<br>6, 875<br>8, 933<br>6, 788<br>5, 192<br>6, 128<br>4, 449<br>5, 038<br>9, 384<br>6, 322<br>7, 267<br>5, 322<br>8, 014<br>7, 166<br>6, 887 |
| 7 under 8 (est.). 8 under 9 (est.). 9 under 10 (est.). 10 under 11 (est.). 11 under 12 (est.). 12 under 13 (est.). 13 under 14 (est.). 14 under 15 (est.). 15 under 20 (est.).  | 59, 034<br>48, 283<br>34, 745<br>27, 968<br>22, 786<br>19, 103<br>16, 219<br>53, 763   | 141, 922<br>132, 228<br>111, 325<br>101, 888<br>95, 209<br>88, 131<br>84, 058<br>366, 466   | 41, 295<br>38, 390<br>32, 422<br>29, 587<br>27, 652<br>24, 393<br>24, 108<br>105, 095  | 67, 293<br>63, 202<br>52, 998<br>48, 776<br>46, 454<br>44, 229<br>41, 973<br>186, 362  | 34, 063<br>31, 235<br>25, 760<br>23, 398<br>20, 650<br>19, 260<br>17, 648<br>73, 361  | 2, 122<br>2, 166<br>1, 760<br>1, 803<br>1, 810<br>1, 670<br>1, 666<br>7, 811   | 2, 852<br>2, 764<br>1, 615<br>1, 677<br>1, 357<br>1, 422<br>1, 336<br>6, 164  | 3, 391<br>2, 461<br>1, 671<br>1, 311<br>975<br>783<br>656<br>1, 959   | 8, 788<br>7, 911<br>6, 276<br>5, 260<br>4, 683<br>4, 068<br>4, 324<br>15, 534 | 5, 377<br>5, 024<br>4, 059<br>3, 136<br>2, 895<br>2, 472<br>2, 810<br>9, 411   |

| 29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45 | 25 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 59. 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 90. 90 under 100. 100 under 150. 150 under 250. 250 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500. 500 under 1,000. 1,000 under 1,500. | 17, 286<br>18, 928<br>9, 492;<br>5, 501<br>3, 349<br>2, 218<br>1, 464<br>1, 047<br>2, 548<br>806<br>331<br>181<br>194<br>77<br>84<br>36 | 237, 467<br>363, 620<br>262, 963<br>200, 750<br>155, 561<br>123, 558<br>95, 485<br>79, 160<br>260, 181<br>124, 935<br>72, 297<br>46, 733<br>63, 746<br>34, 127<br>50, 369<br>27, 732<br>13, 476<br>6, 681 | 67, 959 103, 907 75, 450 50, 371 46, 608 37, 387 28, 446 23, 464 76, 050 38, 059 22, 121 18, 750 11, 916 15, 817 8, 254 3, 006 1, 234 | 123,464<br>190, 243<br>138,600<br>102, 422<br>79, 599<br>63, 422<br>50, 452<br>40, 678<br>134, 314<br>63, 255<br>36, 768<br>24, 900<br>32, 325<br>16, 886<br>23, 014<br>14, 853<br>7, 935<br>4, 865 | 43, 396<br>64, 304<br>43, 923<br>34, 046<br>25, 640<br>19, 680<br>14, 673<br>12, 531<br>41, 820<br>20, 387<br>11, 020<br>6, 693<br>10, 727<br>5, 157<br>9, 289<br>3, 329<br>2, 543<br>3, 399 | 6, 087<br>10, 236<br>8, 247<br>6, 885<br>5, 433<br>4, 479<br>3, 369<br>3, 121<br>10, 135<br>5, 118<br>2, 853<br>1, 806<br>2, 465<br>1, 316<br>2, 443<br>11, 323<br>133<br>183 | 3, 440<br>5, 069<br>3, 353<br>1, 974<br>1, 719<br>1, 410<br>634<br>2, 138<br>1, 885<br>464<br>387<br>520<br>1, 148<br>27<br>141 | 563<br>512<br>242<br>164<br>105<br>64<br>29<br>19<br>.66<br>17<br>10<br>1<br>4<br>3<br>7 | 8, 842 11, 854 7, 664 7, 276 5, 359 4, 344 2, 419 1, 576 8, 232 2, 704 2, 173 2 | 5, 649 7, 730 4, 879 4, 673 3, 055 2, 689 1, 618 1, 156 5, 193 1, 352 1, 064 230 799 1, 455 1, 265 1, 452 | 29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46 |
|--|---|---|---|---|---|--|---|---|--|--|---|--|
| 47<br>48<br>49<br>50   | 2,000 under 3,000<br>3,000 under 4,000<br>4,000 under 5,000<br>5,000 and over   | 3<br>1<br>2<br>1  | 5, 872<br>4, 314<br>8, 967<br>5, 883  | 1, 766<br>3, 564<br>3, 384<br>1, 795  | 2, 965<br>1, 813<br>3, 418  | 727<br>351<br>3, 274<br>221  | 414<br>399<br>497<br>449  |   | 1<br>1   | 4, 314<br>5, 365   | 3, 564<br>2, 216  | 47<br>48<br>49<br>50   |
| 51   | Total, taxable individual returns with net  | 5, 591, 323   | 5, 191, 902   | 1,561,904   | 2, 548, 301   | 1,072,138  | 118, 587  | 109, 028  | 778, 058   | 335, 742   | 218, 754  | 51   |
| 52   | income. With no net income, Form 1040 12 (est.)   | 11,229  | 2, 569  | 1,980   | 1,759   | 213  |   | 1,383   | 22 2, 141  | 517  | 498   | 52   |
| 53   | Total, taxable individual returns   | 5, 602, 552   | 5, 194, 470   | 1, 563, 884   | 2, 550, 060   | 1,072,351  | 118, 587  | 110, 412  | 780, 199   | 336, 258   | 219, 252  | 53   |
| 54<br>55   | Nontaxable individual returns: With net income: 29 Form 1040A 15 (est.) Form 1040: Under 0.5 (est.)   | 442, 514<br>539, 640  | 5, 572<br>• 9, 800  | 13, 187<br>8, 342   | 635<br>3, 304   | 1,662<br>910   |   | 9, 912<br>2, 757  | 247, 439<br>81, 685  | 4, 321<br>5, 414   | 12, 496<br>6, 092   | 54<br>55   |
| 56<br>57<br>58   | 0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)<br>1 and over (est.)   | 173, 004<br>94, 848<br>104, 345   | 2, 305<br>1, 348<br>1, 695  | 2, 181<br>1, 106<br>1, 494  | 762<br>597<br>744   | 106<br>135<br>63   |   | 745<br>490<br>605   | 17, 096<br>22 9, 227<br>12, 482  | 1, 385<br>718<br>997   | 1, 638<br>711<br>1, 116   | 56<br>57<br>58   |
| 59   | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income.   | 1, 354, 351   | 20, 720   | 26, 310   | 6,042   | 2, 877   |   | 14, 509   | 367, 929   | 12, 834  | 22, 053   | 59   |
| 60   | With no net income, Form 1040 12 (est.)   | 180, 128  | 23, 665   | 16, 427   | 9, 991  | 1, 492   |   | 4, 245  | 39, 764  | 8, 538   | 8, 463  | 60   |
| 61   | Total, nontaxable individual returns (59+60).   | 1, 534, 479   | 44, 385   | 42, 737   | 16, 033   | 4, 369   |   | 18, 754   | 407, 693   | 21, 372  | 30, 516   | 61   |
| 62   | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)  | 7, 137, 031   | 5, 238, 856   | 1,606,621   | 2, 566, 094   | 1,076,720  | 118, 587  | 129, 166  | 1, 187, 892  | 357, 630   | 249, 768  | 62   |
| 63<br>64   | Individual returns with net income (51+59)  | 6, 945, 674<br>191, 357   | 5, 212, 621<br>26, 234  | 1, 588, 213<br>18, 408  | 2, 554, 344<br>11, 750  | 1,075,015<br>1,705   | 118, 587  | 123, 537<br>5, 628  | 1, 145, 987<br>41, 905   | 348, 576<br>9, 054   | 240, 807<br>8, 961  | 63<br>64   |

Individual returns, 1943; returns with net income by net income classes and returns with no net income in aggregate, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by returns with tax withheld and returns with no tax withheld, and by selected types of tax payments: Number of returns, total income and victory tax, and selected tax payments; also for all returns: Frequency and amount of tax payments and tax overpayment—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]
[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   |  |  |  |   |  |   |  | <del></del>  |   |   |
|---|--|--|--|---|--|---|--|--|---|---|
|   |  |  | Re   | turns with  | no income  | and victory   | tax withhel  | ld—Continu   | ed.   |   |
|   | Net income classes   | Returns<br>1943 d  | with payn<br>leclaration   | ents on<br>only   | Returns w  | vith paymer<br>1943 dec   | nts on 1942 t<br>laration  | ax and on  |   | ts on 1942<br>1 1943 dec-   |
|   |  | Number<br>of returns   | Total<br>income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax <sup>5</sup>   | Payments<br>on 1943<br>declara-<br>tion   | Number<br>of returns   | Total income and victory tax 5  | Payments<br>on 1942<br>tax   | Payments<br>on 1943<br>declara-<br>tion  | Number<br>of returns  | Total income and victory tax <sup>8</sup>   |
| 23155789  | Taxable individual returns:  With net income: Form 1040A 15 (est.). Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.). 0.5 under 0.75 (est.). 0.75 under 1 (est.). 1 under 1.25 (est.). 1.25 under 1.5 (est.). 1.5 under 1.75 (est.). 1.75 under 1.75 (est.). 2 under 2 (est.). 2 under 2 (est.). | 73, 603  | 5, 767<br>404<br>1, 952<br>4, 192<br>5, 954<br>7, 659<br>8, 074<br>9, 875<br>9, 491<br>8, 610      | 4, 947<br>714<br>2, 916<br>4, 793<br>6, 367<br>7, 592<br>7, 690<br>8, 619<br>7, 905<br>7, 248     | 184, 052<br>27, 505<br>89, 318<br>122, 461<br>120, 749<br>142, 973<br>149, 459<br>160, 883<br>148, 753<br>133, 565 | 30, 533<br>3, 697<br>7, 671<br>14, 843<br>19, 135<br>23, 981<br>30, 126<br>42, 323<br>43, 563<br>46, 739        | 10, 735<br>1, 820<br>3, 968<br>6, 656<br>8, 153<br>9, 535<br>11, 375<br>15, 943<br>14, 902<br>15, 683      | 13, 775<br>1, 819<br>4, 446<br>7, 533<br>9, 691<br>12, 639<br>15, 542<br>21, 006<br>21, 270<br>23, 385     | 209, 760<br>43, 404<br>134, 418<br>121, 328<br>111, 002<br>80, 519<br>47, 921<br>29, 294<br>19, 070<br>11, 306            | 8, 287<br>902<br>2, 211<br>2, 811<br>2, 787<br>3, 053<br>3, 032<br>2, 421<br>2, 599<br>2, 076 |
| 01231537390   | 2.25 under 2.5 (est.) 2.5 under 2.75 (est.) 2.75 under 3 (est.) 3 under 3.5 (est.) 3.5 under 4 (est.) 4 under 4.5 (est.) 4.5 under 5 (est.) 5 under 6 (est.) 6 under 7 (est.) 7 under 8 (est.) 8 under 9 (est.)  | 39, 866<br>32, 138<br>40, 941<br>22, 921<br>14, 241<br>22 8, 627<br>9, 360<br>5, 279<br>3, 400<br>2, 290 | 8, 097<br>8, 092<br>13, 456<br>10, 972<br>8, 453<br>6, 478<br>9, 213<br>6, 823<br>5, 621<br>4, 695 | 6, 418<br>6, 233<br>10, 786<br>8, 146<br>7, 283<br>4, 820<br>7, 150<br>5, 412<br>4, 418<br>3, 667 | 123, 028<br>121, 977<br>186, 185<br>137, 929<br>107, 144<br>84, 701<br>126, 625<br>91, 180<br>67, 151<br>53, 059   | 47, 711<br>56, 301<br>104, 465<br>93, 542<br>90, 883<br>82, 636<br>156, 355<br>143, 701<br>132, 311<br>127, 861 | 15, 249<br>17, 408<br>33, 767<br>28, 150<br>27, 690<br>24, 098<br>45, 226<br>41, 389<br>37, 248<br>35, 918 | 22, 965<br>27, 363<br>50, 818<br>45, 094<br>43, 508<br>39, 195<br>76, 287<br>70, 410<br>65, 127<br>63, 626 | 22 6, 910<br>22 5, 278<br>22 6, 196<br>22 2, 410<br>22 1, 888<br>22 1, 917<br>2, 158<br>1, 206<br>708<br>21 294<br>22 364 | 1, 352<br>1, 620<br>2, 589<br>1, 026<br>1, 299<br>1, 551<br>2, 272<br>1, 625<br>1, 217        |
| $\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{2}{3}$ $\frac{4}{5}$ $\frac{5}{6}$ | 9 under 10 (est.)<br>10 under 11 (est.)<br>11 under 12 (est.)<br>12 under 13 (est.)<br>13 under 14 (est.)<br>14 under 15 (est.)  | 707<br>530   | 3, 232<br>3, 271<br>2, 498<br>2, 467<br>2, 077<br>1, 884   | 2, 484<br>2, 509<br>2, 065<br>2, 035<br>1, 708<br>1, 612  | 44, 078<br>31, 642<br>25, 695<br>20, 993<br>17, 701<br>15, 069   | 120, 249<br>101, 192<br>93, 648<br>87, 702<br>81, 620<br>77, 561  | 33, 366<br>28, 362<br>26, 451<br>24, 757<br>21, 922<br>21, 298   | 60, 718<br>50, 489<br>46, 712<br>44, 419<br>42, 521<br>40, 361   | 22 211<br>22 158<br>22 111<br>22 89<br>22 76  | 586<br>482<br>357<br>366  |

| 789012345678901234567890 12 3 | 15 under 20 (est.) 20 under 25. 25 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 90. 90 under 100. 100 under 150. 150 under 200. 200 under 250. 250 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500. 500 under 150. 1,500 under 200. 2,000 under 250. 5,000 under 300. 5,000 under 5,000. 1,500 under 3,000. 1,500 under 3,000. 2,000 under 3,000. 3,000 under 3,000. 3,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 5,000. 5,000 and over | 1, 303, 519                   |                 | 177, 404           | 50, 258 26, 330 .15, 983 .17, 603 .8, 837 .5, 104 .3, 091 .2, 042 .3, 375 .375 .375 .375 .376 .32 .12 .766 .32 .33 .3 .3 .3 .3 .3 .3 .3 .3 .3 .3 .3 .3 | 342, 047<br>265, 167<br>219, 931<br>338, 633<br>245, 835<br>186, 348<br>144, 324<br>114, 145<br>5 89, 847<br>74, 062<br>240, 412<br>2115, 990<br>67, 179<br>45, 282<br>59, 044<br>32, 193<br>45, 417<br>24, 055<br>512, 237<br>4, 954<br>5, 872<br>4, 542, 806<br>5, 883<br>4, 542, 806 | 95, 684 74, 410 62, 311 96, 177 70, 571 54, 698 43, 553 34, 697 22, 308 70, 857 21, 056 13, 491 17, 951 10, 461 14, 552 6, 802 3, 006 1, 234 1, 766 1, 167 1, 795 1, 343, 149 1, 482 | 180, 201 144, 323 119, 361 184, 585 134, 913 99, 856 62, 160 49, 485 39, 624 130, 887 61, 652 35, 912 24, 776 31, 819 16, 536 23, 014 14, 103 7, 935 3, 205 2, 965 1, 813 3, 418 | 22 275<br>526<br>345<br>429<br>225<br>137<br>96<br>83<br>40<br>36<br>13<br>5<br>10<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>23,375 | 104, 570              | 27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50<br>50<br>50<br>50<br>50<br>50<br>50<br>50<br>50<br>50<br>50<br>50<br>50 | STATISTICS OF INCOME. |
|-------------------------------|--|-------------------------------|-----------------|--------------------|--|---|--|--|---|-----------------------|--|-----------------------|
| •                             | Nontaxable individual returns:  With net income: 10  | 1, 306, 615                   | 208, 885        | 177, 785           | 2, 672, 022  | 4, 544, 681   | 1,344,631  | 2, 372, 275  | 843, 716  | 104, 647              | 53   | 100                   |
| 5 5 7                         | Form 1040 A <sup>15</sup> (est.)<br>Form 1040:<br>Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)<br>1 and over (est.)  | 36, 501<br>18, 454<br>10, 720 |                 | 948<br>289<br>242  | 13, 249<br>32, 566<br>21 5, 428<br>22 4, 071   | 1, 023<br>4, 080<br>908<br>627  | 691<br>2, 250<br>544<br>395  | 602<br>2, 356<br>473<br>356  | 180, 691<br>388, 888<br>132, 026<br>70, 830   | 229<br>306<br>13<br>3 | 54<br>55<br>56<br>57   | , 0 . 4 .             |
| 9                             | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income With no net income, Form 1040 12 (est.)   | 77, 123<br>10, 726            |                 | 1, 850<br>1, 672   | 61, 013<br>20, 620   | 7, 335<br>14, 975   | 378<br>4, 257<br>7, 965  | 4. 192<br>8, 319   | 75, 851<br>848, 286<br>109, 018   | 550<br>153            | 58<br>59<br>60   | TULL                  |
| ı                             | Total, nontaxable individual returns (59+60)   | 87, 849                       |                 | 3, 522             | 81, 633  | 22, 310   | 12, 221  | 12, 511  | 957, 304  | 703                   | 61   | F                     |
| 2                             | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)   | 1, 394, 464                   | 208, 885        | . 181, 307         | 2, 753, 655  | 4, 566, 991   | 1, 356, 853  | 2, 384, 786  | 1, 801, 020   | 105, 350              | 62   |                       |
| 1                             | Individual returns with net income (51+59)   | 1, 380, 642<br>13, 822        | 208, 784<br>100 | 179, 254<br>2, 053 | 2, 730, 418<br>23, 237   | 4, 550, 141<br>16, 850  | 1, 347, 406<br>9, 447  | 2, 375, 089<br>9, 697  | 1, 688, 627<br>112, 393   | 105, 120<br>230       | 63<br>64   |                       |
|                               |  |                               |                 |                    |  |   |  |  |   |                       |  |                       |

#### FORGIVEN TAX UNDER THE CURRENT TAX PAYMENT ACT OF 1943

When the system of current collection of income tax liability was inaugurated, individuals who had an income tax on 1942 income and also on 1943 income were granted relief from the full payment of both years' taxes during 1943, under provisions of the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943. This act provided forgiveness of all, or a portion, of the smaller year's tax and a postponement until March 15, 1945, of the payment of an amount not greater than one-half of the unforgiven portion. The 1942 and 1943 tax liabilities were compared to determine the smaller tax.

The amount of tax forgiveness depends on the amount of the smaller year's tax and on the fact that the taxpayer was, or was not. in active service as a member of the armed forces. If there is no tax for one of the 2 years, 1942 or 1943, there is no forgiveness, except for members of the armed forces as explained below. The amount of tax forgiveness is as follows: (1) where the smaller year's tax is \$50 or less. the smaller year's tax is completely forgiven; (2) where the smaller year's tax is more than \$50 but not more than \$66.67, the tax forgiveness is \$50 of the smaller year's tax; and (3) where the smaller year's tax is more than \$66.67, the tax forgiveness is 75 percent of the smaller year's tax. However, if the taxpayer was in any of the armed forces in active service at any time during either 1942 or 1943, and his 1942 tax is larger than the tax on 1943 income, the tax forgiveness in (1), (2), or (3) is increased by an amount equivalent to the excess of the tax shown on the 1942 return over the tax on 1943 income, to the extent that such excess is attributable to 1942 earned net income. This may result in the 1942 tax as recomputed being no larger than the 1943 tax; or, where there is no tax on the 1943 income, the 1942 tax may be eliminated.

Generally, members of the armed forces reported the 1942 tax as recomputed, on their 1943 returns. This means that the 1942 tax liability, reported on the 1943 returns of members of the armed forces having a larger tax on 1942 income, is less than the actual 1942 tax liability shown on the 1942 returns when filed. Also, where the 1943 income is nontaxable and the excess of 1942 tax, that is, the entire 1942 tax, is eliminated by reason of recomputation, the 1943 return shows no 1942 tax liability despite the fact that the 1942 return, as

filed, did show a tax.

Since the 1942 tax as recomputed is reported by members of the armed forces having a larger tax on 1942 income, the special tax forgiveness, relating to the 1942 tax attributable to earned income, is not registered on the 1943 return; and data are not available from which it can be determined. Consequently, the number of returns with tax forgiveness and the amount of that forgiveness, tabulated for returns with a larger tax on 1942 income, in the tables herewith, are understated; and the 1942 tax liability attributable to such members of the armed forces is less than the amount of liability reported on their 1942 returns.

Returns taxable only on 1 year's income or nontaxable in both years have no forgiveness, except that members of the armed forces who had a larger tax on 1942 income had benefit of the special tax forgiveness which is not recorded on the 1943 returns and therefore could not be tabulated as having tax forgiveness. Also, there are a negligible number of taxable returns with fiscal years ending July through November 1943 which have no tax forgiveness, since they are not subject to the Current Tax Payment Act.

A résumé of all returns filed in 1943, tabulated below, presents the number of returns showing a tax forgiveness, the number of returns without a tax forgiveness, and the amount of forgiven tax reported on the 1943 returns.

Individual returns for 1943: Number of returns with or without tax forgiveness and the amount of forgiven tax

[Money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  | То   | tal                                | Returns w<br>tax on 194                    |                                    | Returns w<br>tax on 194                |                                |
|--|--|------------------------------------|--|------------------------------------|--|--------------------------------|
|  | Number of<br>returns                       | Forgiven tax                       | Number of<br>returns                       | Forgiven<br>tax                    | Number of returns                      | Forgiven<br>tax                |
| Returns showing tax forgiveness (taxable on 1942 and 1943 income): 75 percent of smaller tax forgiven 100 percent of smaller tax forgiven \$50 of smaller tax forgiven | 17, 168, 144<br>6, 224, 027<br>1, 727, 929 | 5, 509, 242<br>145, 643<br>86, 396 | 15, 264; 624<br>5, 056, 297<br>1, 527, 476 | 4, 526, 536<br>120, 557<br>76, 374 | 1, 903, 520<br>1, 167, 730<br>200, 453 | 982, 705<br>25, 086<br>10, 023 |
| Total Returns showing no tax forgiveness:  | 25, 120, 100                               | 5, 741, 282                        | 21, 848, 397                               | 4, 723, 408                        | 32 3,271,703                           | 1, 017, 814                    |
| Taxable, either on 1942 or on 1943 income  | 15, 643, 766                               |                                    | 15, 118, 204                               |                                    | <sup>83</sup> 525, 562                 |                                |
| TotalNontaxable in both years, or fiscal year returns not subject to Current Tax Payment   | 40, 763, 866                               | 5, 741, 282                        | 36, 966, 601                               | 4, 723, 468                        | 3, 797, 265                            | 1, 017, 814                    |
| Act  | 33 2, 958, 172                             |                                    |  |                                    |  |                                |
| Grand total  | 43, 722, 038                               |                                    |  |                                    |  |                                |

For footnotes, see pp. 103-105.

Additional data regarding tax forgiveness are tabulated in the table on pp. 50-59. Returns included in this tabulation are (1) returns which show a tax on 1942 income and also on 1943 income and (2) returns which show a tax for only 1 year, either 1942 or 1943, except that the fiscal year returns ending during July-November 1943 are excluded. (They are not subject to the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943.) These data are presented in a manner which shows the tax base on which tax forgiveness is computed, that is, by segregation of returns with a larger tax on 1943 income and returns with a larger tax on 1942 income. Returns with an equal amount of tax in both years are tabulated with returns showing a larger tax on 1942 income. Returns with a tax for only 1 year are considered having a larger tax in the applicable year; however, such returns have no forgiven tax (unless the return is for a member of the armed forces with a larger tax in 1942, in which case the forgiveness is not recorded on the 1943 returns as previously explained).

Returns with a larger tax on 1943 income and returns with a larger tax on 1942 income are further segregated according to the amount of the smaller tax liability, which amount indicates the amount of tax to be forgiven, as follows: smaller tax not over \$50 (completely forgiven); smaller tax over \$50 but not over \$67 (\$50 forgiven); and smaller tax over \$67 (75 percent forgiven). Data tabulated for each of these categories and for returns taxable only in 1 year show the 1942 tax liability reported on the 1943 returns, the income and victory tax on 1943 income, unforgiven portion of the smaller tax, and the total income and victory tax where there is a difference between it and the applicable tax tabulated. The summaries for returns with a larger tax on 1943 income and for returns with a larger tax on 1942 income also show these data, while the summary for all returns combines the tax liability for 1942 as reported on the 1943 returns with the income and victory tax on 1943 income, which combination represents the gross tax liability for the 2 years before tax forgiveness, except that members of the armed forces reported the recomputed 1942 tax which is after the special tax forgiveness attributable to earned net income in 1942. The gross tax liability for the 2 years of \$22,698,666,673, compared with the total income and victory tax of \$16,957,385,129 (which is the tax after forgiveness) shows that the amount of forgiven tax reported is \$5,741,281,544.

The 1942 tax reported on the 1943 returns does not equal that published in Statistics of Income for 1942, Part 1. There are several reasons for the difference (approximately 5 million dollars), chief among which are (1) members of the armed forces reported on their 1943 returns the 1942 tax as recomputed, which tax is smaller than the tax reported on the 1942 return, (2) there are no 1943 returns for individuals who died during 1942, so that the 1942 tax for such individuals is not reported, (3) members of the armed forces outside the United States on the due date for filing a return are automatically granted deferment; in such cases, a 1942 return may be in Statistics of Income for 1942 with no corresponding return in 1943 statistics, and conversely, a 1943 return giving data on 1942 income tax may be in this report without a corresponding return in the 1942 statistics,

(4) fiscal year returns with income years beginning in 1942 and ending July through November 1943 do not show a prior year tax, inasmuch as such returns are not subject to the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943, (5) the tax credits for tax paid at source on tax-free covenant bond interest and for tax paid to foreign countries are not deducted from the tax tabulated in Statistics of Income for 1942, but these credits were deducted from the 1942 tax as reported on the 1943 returns, and (6) sampling variations may be present in the area for which estimated data are computed; for 1942, samples were used for returns with net income under \$5,000; for 1943, samples were used for returns with net income under \$20,000.

 $[For \ description \ of \ items \ and \ classifications, \ and \ methods \ of \ tabulating \ and \ estimating \ data, \ see \ pp. \ 6-13, \ 106-114]$ 

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|                      |  |   | All ret  | urns                             | ļ                                | Retu                                      | rns with lar                     | ger tax liab                  | ility on 1943                                  | ncome  | ,              |
|----------------------|--|---|--|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|---|----------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|--|----------------|
|                      |  |   |  |                                  |                                  |   |                                  | Total                         |  |  |                |
|                      | Net income classes   | Number of                                 | Tax lia-<br>bility for<br>1942 plus            | Total in-                        | Forgiven<br>tax, either          |   | 1942                             | tax                           | 1943   | tax  | (              |
|                      |  | returns                                   | income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income | victory<br>tax 5                 | 1942 or<br>1943                  | Number of<br>returns                      | Total                            | Unfor-<br>given<br>portion    | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income | Total income and victory tax 5               |                |
|                      | Taxable individual returns:<br>With net income:  | 10 150 744                                | n 000 442                                      | 0 020 020                        | 659, 605                         | 16, 988, 721                              | 755, 943                         | 170, 687                      | 2, 294, 713                                    | 2, 465, 401                                  | 1              |
| 1                    | Form 1040A 15 (est.)<br>Form 1040:   |   | 3, 296, 443<br>16, 985                         | 2, 636, 838<br>14, 474           | 2, 512                           | 154, 644                                  | 733, 843                         | 64                            | 5, 339   | 5, 403                                       | 2              |
| 2<br>3<br>4          | Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)   | 754, 289<br>1, 106, 442                   | 43, 202<br>106, 189                            | 35, 662<br>85, 422               | 7, 540<br>20, 767<br>34, 185     | 591, 646<br>930, 245<br>1, 135, 314       | 3, 603<br>14, 836<br>31, 010     | 474<br>2, 126<br>6, 545       | 19, 239<br>56, 970<br>98, 143                  | 19, 713<br>59, 096<br>104, 688               | 3<br>4<br>5    |
| 5<br>6<br>7          | 1 under 1.25 (est.)<br>1.25 under 1.5 (est.)<br>1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  | 1, 331, 800<br>1, 466, 935<br>1, 517, 176 | 171, 533<br>238, 004<br>320, 609               | 137, 348<br>188, 210<br>250, 859 | 49, 794<br>69, 750               | 1, 135, 314<br>1, 260, 090<br>1, 324, 428 | 46, 716<br>68, 964               | 10, 173<br>15, 264<br>23, 579 | 139, 428<br>190, 511                           | 149 602                                      | 6 7            |
| 8<br>9               | 1 75 under 2 (est.)  | 1 1, 645, 854                             | 436, 457<br>502, 588                           | 335, 716<br>384, 225             | 100, 740<br>118, 364             | 1, 462, 946<br>1, 469, 517                | 103, 454<br>124, 672             | 29, 092                       | 259, 369<br>303, 048                           | 205, 775<br>282, 948<br>332, 141<br>387, 150 | 9              |
| 10<br>11             | 2 under 2.25 (est.)<br>2.25 under 2.5 (est.)<br>2.5 under 2.75 (est.)<br>2.75 under 3 (est.)   | 1, 578, 854<br>1, 445, 838<br>1, 680, 352 | 567, 454<br>599, 171<br>808, 170               | 436, 464<br>458, 133<br>619, 074 | 130, 990<br>141, 038<br>189, 096 | 1, 455, 693<br>1, 349, 872<br>1, 590, 477 | 143, 982<br>159, 894<br>220, 901 | 34, 044<br>38, 399<br>53, 657 | 353, 107<br>376, 706<br>518, 192               | 415, 105<br>571, 850                         | 10<br>11<br>12 |
| 12<br>13<br>14       | 3 under 3.5 (est.)<br>3.5 under 4 (est.)   | 2, 991, 236                               | 1, 760, 368<br>1, 277, 723                     | 1, 335, 772<br>960, 651          | 424, 595<br>317, 071             | 2, 857, 761<br>1, 609, 090                | 509, 880<br>382, 961             | 125, 619<br>94, 857           | 1, 123, 372<br>802, 285                        | 1, 248, 991<br>897, 141                      | 13<br>14       |
| 15<br>16             | 4 under 4.5 (est.)<br>4.5 under 5 (est.)   | 902, 459<br>508, 751<br>469, 296          | 868, 466<br>602, 265                           | 647, 572<br>445, 286             | 220, 894<br>156, 978             | 854, 738<br>481, 003<br>435, 614          | 263, 165<br>187, 215<br>226, 985 | 65, 473<br>46, 685<br>56, 680 | 530, 299<br>363, 040                           | 595, 772<br>409, 725                         | 15<br>16<br>17 |
| 17<br>18<br>19       | 5 under 6 (est.)<br>6 under 7 (est.)<br>7 under 8 (est.)   | 249, 542<br>165, 966                      | 733, 403<br>516, 430<br>441, 233               | 537, 861<br>377, 434<br>319, 435 | 195, 542<br>138, 996<br>121, 798 | 227, 242<br>149, 682                      | 156, 772<br>136, 216             | 39, 168<br>34, 039            | 422, 117<br>286, 114<br>238, 341               | 478, 797<br>325, 283<br>272, 380             | 18<br>19       |
| 20<br>21             | 8 under 9 (est.)<br>9 under 10 (est.)  | 119, 585<br>95, 188                       | 399, 469<br>355, 191                           | 282, 657<br>258, 908             | 116, 811<br>96, 283              | 107, 144<br>84, 880                       | 131, 623<br>105, 025             | 32, 899<br>26, 252            | 203, 485<br>190, 697                           | 236, 384<br>216, 949                         | 20<br>21<br>22 |
| 22<br>23<br>24       | 10 under 11 (est.)<br>11 under 12 (est.)   | 66, 637<br>53, 626                        | 286, 694<br>265, 661                           | 209, 951<br>193, 842<br>177, 641 | 76, 743<br>71, 819<br>63, 124    | 59, 107<br>47, 641<br>38, 129             | 82, 534<br>77, 840<br>66, 826    | 20, 631<br>19, 458<br>16, 705 | 153, 951<br>142, 001<br>129, 183               | 174, 582<br>161, 459<br>145, 888             | 22<br>23<br>24 |
| 24                   | 12 under 13 (est.)   | 43, 230                                   | 240, 765                                       | 177,041                          | 1 03,124                         | 30,129                                    | . 00, 820                        | 10,703                        | 129, 103                                       | . 140, 800                                   | . 24           |
|                      |  | •   |  | •                                |                                  | -   |                                  | -                             |  |  |                |
| 25                   | 13 under 14 (est.)   | 36, 354<br>30, 808                        | 229, 915<br>213, 079                           | 167, 484<br>158, 425             | 62, 431<br>54, 654               | 32, 275<br>27, 123                        | 67, 514<br>56, 734               | 16, 877<br>14, 182            | 122, 744<br>118, 211                           | 139, 621                                     | 25<br>26       |
| 25<br>26<br>27<br>28 | 13 under 14 (est.)<br>14 under 15 (est.)<br>15 under 20 (est.)<br>20 under 25<br>25 under 30<br>30 under 40  | 100, 714<br>53, 191                       | 941, 975<br>744, 495                           | 684, 299<br>537, 572             | 257, 675<br>206, 922             | 87, 493<br>45, 766                        | 269, 591<br>214, 080             | 67, 394<br>53, 519            | l 487, 403 l                                   | 132, 393<br>554, 798<br>433, 404             | 27<br>28       |
| 28<br>29<br>30<br>31 | 25 under 30<br>30 under 40   | 31, 986<br>34, 630                        | 613, 904<br>936, 394                           | 440, 984<br>669, 854             | 172, 919<br>266, 540             | 27, 119<br>29, 369                        | 175, 487<br>271, 491             | 43, 871<br>67, 872            | 379, 885<br>307, 663<br>466, 841               | 351, 535<br>534, 713<br>379, 879             | 29<br>30       |
| 31<br>32<br>33<br>34 | 40 under 50  | 17, 284<br>10, 001<br>6, 009              | 677, 975<br>519, 487<br>396, 051               | 481, 958<br>367, 513<br>279, 972 | 196, 017<br>151, 974<br>116, 079 | 14, 472<br>8, 400<br>4, 957               | 197, 025<br>154, 378<br>114, 833 | 49, 256<br>38, 594<br>28, 708 | 330, 623<br>253, 690<br>187, 640               | 379, 879<br>292, 284<br>216, 349             | 31<br>32<br>33 |
| 34<br>35             | 70 under 80<br>80 under 90   | 3, 951<br>2, 658                          | 317, 057<br>247, 163                           | 223, 061<br>174, 829             | 93, 996<br>72, 334               | 3, 246<br>2, 200                          | 93, 001<br>71, 640               | 23, 250<br>17, 910            | 148, 598<br>118, 791                           | 171, 848<br>136, 701                         | 34<br>35 .     |
| 36<br>37             | 90 under 100<br>100 under 150  | 1,882<br>4,322                            | 203, 796<br>631, 172                           | 143, 510<br>447, 364             | 60, 285<br>183, 808              | 1, 550<br>3, 590                          | 59, 856<br>183, 047              | 14, 964<br>45, 762<br>22, 000 | 97, 014  | 111, 977<br>346, 462                         | 36<br>37<br>38 |
| 38<br>39<br>40       | 150 under 200<br>200 under 250   | 1,377<br>568<br>300                       | 306, 542<br>171, 215<br>112, 218               | 216, 540<br>122, 275<br>79, 628  | 90, 001<br>48, 940<br>32, 589    | 1, 126<br>450<br>261                      | 87, 999<br>44, 875<br>34, 708    | 11, 219<br>8, 677             | 142, 880<br>77, 215<br>56, 134                 | 164, 879<br>88, 434<br>64, 811               | 39<br>40       |
| 41<br>42             | 300 under 400<br>400 under 500   | 287<br>143                                | 131, 927<br>90, 250                            | 94, 249<br>62, 788               | 37, 678<br>27, 463               | 247<br>119                                | 39, 060<br>27, 491               | 9, 765<br>6, 873              | 56, 134<br>68, 102<br>42, 840                  | 77, 866<br>49, 712                           | 41<br>42       |
| 43<br>44             | 500 under 750.<br>750 under 1,000.   | 155<br>58                                 | 126, 292<br>59, 788                            | 89, 150<br>43, 243               | 37, 142<br>16, 545               | 133<br>52                                 | 38, 689<br>17, 739               | 9, 672<br>4, 435              | 64, 220<br>32, 258                             | 73, 892<br>36, 693                           | 43<br>44       |
| 45<br>46             | 1,000 under 1,500<br>1,500 under 2,000   | . 27<br>9<br>6                            | 39, 096<br>20, 534<br>14, 282                  | 29; 029<br>14, 861<br>10, 248    | 10, 068<br>5, 673<br>4, 035      | 24<br>8<br>5                              | 10, 385<br>5, 968<br>3, 513      | 2, 596<br>1, 492<br>878       | 22, 312<br>11, 274<br>7, 008                   | 24, 909<br>12, 766<br>7, 886                 | 45<br>46<br>47 |
| 47<br>48<br>49       | 20 under 40 40 under 50 50 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 200 200 under 250 250 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 750 750 under 1,000 1,000 under 1,500 1,000 under 1,500 1,000 under 2,000 2,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 5,000 3,000 under 5,000 4,000 under 5,000 | 1 3                                       | 6, 708<br>16, 535                              | 4, 314<br>11, 409                | 2, 394<br>5, 126                 | 2   | 2, 860                           | 715                           | 5,329  | 6,044  | 48<br>49       |
| 50                   | 5,000 and over   | ļ   | 8, 574   | 5, 883                           | 2, 692                           | 1 00 055 010                              | 3, 589                           | 897                           | 4, 985   | 5, 883                                       | 50             |
| 51<br>52             | Total, taxable individual returns with net income.  With no net income. Form 1040 12 (est.)  | 40, 220, 866<br>17, 438                   | 22, 630, 897<br>4, 495                         | 16, 889, 880<br>4, 230           | 5, 741, 017                      | 10, 989                                   | 6, 247, 379<br>49                | 1, 523, 955                   | 13, 054, 009                                   | 14, 577, 964<br>372                          | 51<br>52       |
| 53                   | Total, taxable individual returns  | 40, 238, 304                              | 22, 635, 391                                   | 16, 894, 110                     | 5, 741, 282                      | 36, 966, 601                              | 6, 247, 428                      | 1, 523, 960                   | 13. 054, 375                                   | 14, 578, 336                                 | 53             |
|                      | Nontaxable individual returns: With net income: 29   |   |  |                                  | 17*                              |   |                                  |                               |  |  |                |
| 54                   | Form 1040A 15 (est.)<br>Form 1040:   | 264, 600                                  | 15, 369  | 15, 369                          |                                  |   |                                  |                               |  |  | 54             |
| 55<br>56             | Under 0.5 (cst.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (cst.)  | 131, 891<br>29, 174                       | 12, 536<br>3, 434<br>2, 084                    | 12, 536<br>3, 434                |                                  |   |                                  |                               |  |  | 55<br>56       |
| 57<br>58             | 0.75 under 1 (est.)<br>1 and over (est.)   | 21, 303<br>22, 389                        | 2, 084<br>2, 333                               | 2, 084<br>2, 333                 |                                  |   |                                  |                               |  |  | 57<br>58       |
| 59                   | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income.  | 469, 357                                  | 35, 756  | 35, 756                          |                                  |   |                                  |                               |  |  | 59             |
| 60                   | With no net income, Form 1040 12 (est.)  | 56, 205                                   | 27, 519  | 27, 519                          |                                  |   |                                  |                               |  |  | 60             |
| 61<br>62             | Total, nontaxable individual returns (59+60).  Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)  | 525, 562<br>40, 763, 866                  | 63, 275<br>22, 698, 667                        | 63, 275<br>16, 957, 385          | 5, 741, 282                      | 36, 966, 60,1                             | 6, 247, 428                      | 1, 523, 960                   | 13, 054, 375                                   | 14, 578, 336                                 | 61<br>62       |
| 63                   | ·  | 40, 690, 223                              | 22, 666, 653                                   | 16, 925, 636                     | 5, 741, 282                      | 36, 955, 612                              | 6, 247, 379                      | 1, 523, 955                   | 13, 054, 009                                   | 14, 577, 964                                 | 63             |
| 64                   | Individual returns with net income (51+59)   | 73, 643                                   | 32, 014  | 31, 749                          | 265                              | 10, 989                                   | 49                               | 6                             | 366  | 372  | 64             |

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

Returns with larger tax liability on 1943 income-Continued

| İ  |  | Taxable in  | 1043 non-  |  | Taxab  | le in both y  | ears, 1942 and  | l 1943   |  |   |
|--|--|---|--|--|--|---|---|--|--|---|
|  | Net income classes   | taxable 19<br>forgi   | 42 (no tax   | 1942 tax no  | t over \$50 (o<br>forgiven)  | completely  | 1942 tax ove  | r \$50 but no<br>50 forgiven)  |  |   |
|  |  |   | Income<br>and  |  |  | Income<br>and   |   | 1942   | tax                                      |   |
|  |  | Number of<br>returns  | victory<br>tax on<br>1943<br>income 4  | Number of<br>returns   | 1942 tax   | victory<br>tax on<br>1943<br>income   | Number of<br>returns  | Total  | Unfor-<br>given<br>portion               |   |
| 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12            | Taxable individual returns:  With net income:  Form 1040 A15 (est.)  | 579, 412<br>525, 289<br>442, 094<br>348, 332<br>270, 591<br>280, 128<br>395, 259  | 689, 150<br>4, 221<br>13, 264<br>30, 007<br>40, 011<br>50, 001<br>55, 791<br>64, 442<br>63, 938<br>60, 752<br>53, 745<br>65, 493<br>112, 594 | 2, 449, 016<br>19, 755<br>106, 863<br>192, 370<br>175, 036<br>236, 288<br>272, 335<br>281, 588<br>269, 592<br>245, 766<br>196, 287<br>188, 466<br>259, 063 | 57, 551<br>497<br>1, 832<br>5, 102<br>4, 024<br>5, 007<br>6, 284<br>7, 247<br>6, 480<br>4, 925<br>4, 751<br>6, 498 | 339, 738<br>762<br>4, 051<br>14, 592<br>17, 589<br>23, 139<br>33, 200<br>41, 412<br>44, 738<br>48, 310<br>44, 627<br>51, 197<br>84, 015 | 746, 772  22, 3, 351  24, 300  56, 260  61, 589  46, 560  72, 000  85, 703  86, 277  77, 625  64, 906  60, 775  91, 572 | 205<br>328<br>3,341<br>3,887<br>2,766<br>4,259<br>5,083<br>5,144<br>4,569<br>3,870<br>3,945<br>5,802 | 7, 232                                   | 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13 |
| 13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21                     | 3 tuter 3 (est.) 3.5 under 4 (est.) 4 under 4.5 (est.) 4.5 under 5 (est.) 5 under 6 (est.) 6 under 7 (est.) 7 under 8 (est.) 8 under 9 (est.) 9 under 10 (est.)  | 155, 112<br>59, 146<br>26, 242<br>19, 606<br>8, 923<br>5, 190<br>3, 502   | 58, 268<br>29, 936<br>17, 369<br>17, 791<br>11, 146<br>8, 303<br>6, 673<br>5, 348  | 100, 192<br>34, 910<br>12, 929<br>7, 557<br>2, 592<br>1, 616<br>752<br>22 486  | 2, 667<br>929<br>339<br>199<br>80<br>56<br>22<br>12  | 41, 751<br>18, 258<br>8, 656<br>6, 632<br>3, 160<br>2, 457<br>1, 398<br>1, 073  | 38, 172<br>15, 017<br>21 5, 496<br>2, 724<br>920<br>507<br>23 316<br>22 254   | 2, 256<br>887<br>321<br>160<br>56<br>33<br>19  | • 348<br>136<br>46<br>24<br>10<br>8<br>3 | 14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21                      |
| 222 23 24 255 26 27 28 30 1 332 23 33 34 40 441 442 443 446 447 48 490 | 10 under 11 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 20 (est.) 20 under 25 25 under 30 30 under 40 40 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 100 100 under 100 100 under 200 200 under 250 250 under 200 200 under 30 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 500 500 under 500 150 under 200 200 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 500 1,000 under 1,500 1,500 under 3,000 3,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 5,000 5,000 and over | 1, 149<br>998<br>695<br>589<br>1, 774<br>779<br>423<br>406<br>193<br>97<br>54<br>20<br>43<br>112<br>5<br>5<br>3<br>2<br>2 |  |  | (81)   | 192   | 1 1   | (31)   |  | 43  |
| 51<br>52   | Total, taxable individual returns with net income  | 15, 108, 968<br>12 9, 236   | 1, 524, 001<br>249   | 5, 054, 842<br>22 1, 455   | 120, 533<br>25   | 837, 415<br>58  | 1, 527, 466   | 91, 488<br>(17)  | 15, 115<br>(27)                          | 52  |
| 53<br>54<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58<br>59<br>60                           | Total, taxable individual returns.  Nontaxable individual returns:  With net income: 19 Form 1040/13 (est.). Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.). 0.5 under 0.75 (est.). 1 and over (est.).  Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income With no net income, Form 1040 13 (est.).  |   |  |  |  |   | 1, 527, 476   | 91, 489  |  | 53<br>54<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58<br>59<br>60                      |
| 61   | Total, nontaxable individual returns (59+60)   |   | 1 504 050  | E 050 007  | 190 557  | 002 120   | 1 507 470   | 01 400   | 15, 115                                  | 61  |
| 62<br>63<br>64   | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)   | [ <del></del>   | 1, 524, 250<br>1, 524, 001<br>249  | 5, 056, 297<br>5, 054, 842<br>21 1, 455  | 120, 557<br>120, 533<br>25   | 837, 473<br>837, 415<br>58  | 1, 527, 476<br>1, 527, 466<br>(27)  | 91, 489<br>91, 488<br>(27)   | 15, 115<br>15, 115<br>(27)               | =   |

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

#### [Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| -  | ·  | . R   |  | larger tax lis  |   |  |  |   | Returns w<br>tax liah<br>1942 inco  | oility on  |                                  |
|--|--|---|--|---|---|--|--|---|---|--|----------------------------------|
|  |  | 1942 tax ov<br>not over<br>forgiven   | rer \$50 but<br>r \$67 (\$50   |   |   |  | percent forgiv   | ven)  | То  | tal  |                                  |
|  | Net income classes   | 1943  | tax  |   | 1942  | tax  | 1943   | 3 tax   |   |  |                                  |
|  |  | Income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 4   | Total income and victory   | Number<br>of returns  | Total   | Unfor-<br>given<br>portion   | Income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 4  | Total in-<br>come and<br>victory tax <sup>5</sup>   | Number<br>of returns  | 1942 tax   |                                  |
| 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>20<br>21                 | Taxable individual returns:  With net income:  Form 1040A <sup>15</sup> (est.).  Form 1040C:  Under 0.5 (est.).  0.5 under 1.75 (est.).  1 under 1.25 (est.).  1 under 1.25 (est.).  1.25 under 1.75 (est.).  1.5 under 1.75 (est.).  1.5 under 2.55 (est.).  2.2 under 2.25 (est.).  2.5 under 2.5 (est.).  2.5 under 3 (est.).  3 under 3.5 (est.).  3 under 3.5 (est.).  4 under 4 (est.).  4 under 4.5 (est.).  4.5 under 5 (est.).  5 under 6 (est.).  6 under 7 (ust.).  7 under 8 (est.).  8 under 9 (est.).  8 under 9 (est.).  9 under 10 (est.).   | 227<br>382<br>5,094<br>7,933<br>7,318<br>10,691<br>14,949<br>17,831<br>16,704<br>16,145<br>19,272<br>30,779<br>16,665<br>8,340<br>3,595<br>2,464<br>1,078 | 135, 962<br>264<br>495<br>5, 622<br>8, 690<br>7, 755<br>11, 350<br>15, 748<br>18, 662<br>17, 392<br>16, 769<br>19, 878<br>32, 003<br>17, 013<br>8, 476<br>3, 641<br>2, 488<br>1, 088<br>1, 088<br>1, 088<br>567<br>537 | 4, 393, 964  21, 700 12, 912 58, 611 217, 116 299, 357 490, 681 570, 366 671, 554 783, 970 818, 988 1, 055, 108 2, 111, 614 745, 665 436, 336 405, 727 214, 807 142, 369 1(2, 574 81, 777 | 653, 821<br>108<br>1, 443<br>6, 394<br>23, 149<br>38, 943<br>58, 422<br>91, 124<br>113, 047<br>133, 425<br>151, 099<br>212, 206<br>497, 580<br>378, 037<br>261, 349<br>186, 556<br>226, 626<br>156, 636<br>136, 127<br>131, 583<br>104, 999   | 163, 455 27 361 1, 598 5, 787 9, 736 14, 696 22, 781 28, 262 33, 356 37, 775 53, 051 124, 395 194, 509 65, 337 46, 639 56, 656 39, 159 34, 032 32, 896 26, 250   | 1, 137, 095 129 1, 542 7, 278 32, 610 58, 971 90, 829 138, 565 176, 541 227, 340 202, 189 382, 230 895, 984 685, 601 473, 765 333, 420 305, 230 270, 731 220, 782 194, 851 183, 741                                    | 1, 300, 550  1.56 1. 903 8. 876 38. 397 68. 707 105, 434 161, 346 204, 802 260, 596 299, 964 435, 282 1, 020, 37 780, 110 539, 102 380, 059 451, 887 309, 890 269, 813 227, 747 209, 990                                | 1, 171, 023<br>63, 434<br>162, 643<br>176, 197<br>196, 486<br>206, 845<br>192, 748<br>182, 908<br>158, 606<br>123, 161<br>95, 966<br>89, 875<br>133, 475<br>76, 050<br>47, 721<br>27, 748<br>33, 682<br>22, 300<br>10, 284<br>10, 308 | 151, 234<br>8, 805<br>15, 468<br>24, 332<br>30, 259<br>35, 458<br>40, 317<br>44, 670<br>42, 366<br>36, 535<br>39, 957<br>73, 340<br>53, 854<br>44, 066<br>30, 079<br>50, 652<br>45, 021<br>40, 515<br>40, 214<br>36, 122   | 15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20 |
| 22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50 | 10 under 11 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 20 (est.) 20 under 25 25 under 30 30 under 40 40 under 50 50 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 200 200 under 200 200 under 200 200 under 200 200 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 500 1,000 under 500 1,000 under 1,000 1,000 under 1,000 1,000 under 1,500 1,000 under 2,000 2,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 3,000 4,000 under 3,000 4,000 under 3,000 | 55<br>101<br>172  |  | 32<br>24<br>8<br>5  | 82, 519   77, 831   66, 818   67, 509   56, 729   269, 576   214, 075   175, 485   514, 377   114, 833   93, 001   71, 640   50, 856   183, 047   87, 999   44, 875   34, 708   30, (60   27, 491   38, 689   17, 739   10, 38, 689   17, 739   10, 38, 513   2, 860   3, 513   2, 860   3, 513   2, 860   3, 589   37, 589   37, 389   38, 689   37, 389   38, 689   38, 513   38, 513   38, 513   38, 513   38, 513   38, 513   38, 589   37, 589   38, 589   38, 513   38, 589   38, 513   38, 513   38, 513   38, 589   38, 513   38, 589   38, 513   38, 589   38, 513   38, 589   38, 513   38, 589   38, 513   38, 589 | 20, 630<br>19, 458<br>16, 704<br>16, 877<br>14, 182<br>67, 394<br>63, 519<br>43, 871<br>67, 872<br>49, 256<br>38, 594<br>28, 708<br>23, 250<br>17, 910<br>14, 964<br>22, 000<br>11, 219<br>8, 677<br>9, 765<br>6, 873<br>9, 672<br>4, 435<br>2, 596<br>1, 492<br>878 | 148, 456 137, 758 125, 018 119, 547 115, 064 475, 896 372, 427 302, 271 459, 727 325, 950 250, 326 185, 550 147, 378 117, 747 296, 828 141, 507 76, 188 55, 364 67, 611 42, 277 63, 274 32, 258 22, 312 11, 274 7, 008 | 169, 085 157, 216 141, 722 136, 424 129, 246 543, 290 425, 946 346, 143 527, 600 375, 297 288, 920 214, 259 170, 628 135, 657 110, 740 342, 590 163, 507 87, 407 77, 376 40, 119 72, 946 36, 693 24, 909 12, 766 7, 886 | 7, 530   5, 985   5, 101   4, 079   3, 685   5, 101   4, 079   3, 685   7, 425   7, 425   4, 867   5, 261   2, 812   1, 601   1, 052   458   332   251   118   339   40   24   222   6   6   3   3   1   1   1   1                    | 30, 423<br>27, 904<br>27, 419<br>22, 932<br>21, 997<br>111, 009<br>88, 716<br>75, 682<br>114, 167<br>85, 996<br>63, 166<br>53, 639<br>43, 132<br>31, 927<br>26, 407<br>28, 746<br>12, 631<br>13, 588<br>10, 793<br>11, 593<br>11, 593<br>11, 696<br>1, 696<br>1, 696<br>1, 696<br>4, 371 | 47<br>48                         |
| 51<br>52   | Total, taxable individual returns with net income. With no net income, Form 1040 12 (est.)   |   | 327, 179<br>(27)   | 15, 264, 336  | 6, 035, 358<br>(27)   | 1, 508, 840  | 10, 380, 530   | 11, 889, 370  | 3, 265, 254<br>22 6, 449  | 1, 982, 670<br>3, 803  | 51                               |
| 53   | Total, taxable individual returns  | 312,065   | 327, 180   | 15, 264, 624  | 6, 035, 382   | 1, 508, 845  | 10, 380, 588   | 11, 889, 433  | 3, 271, 703   | 1, 986, 473  | 53                               |
| 54<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58   | Nontaxable individual returns:  With net income: 29  Form 1040 A 15 (est.)  Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  0.75 under 1 (est.)  1 and over (est.)  |   |  |   |   |  | i  |   | 264, 600<br>131, 891<br>29, 174<br>21, 303<br>22, 389   | 15, 369<br>12, 536<br>3, 434<br>2, 084<br>2, 333   | 1                                |
| 59<br>60   | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income.  With no net income, Form 1040 12 (est.)   |   |  |   |   |  |  | -   | 469, 357<br>56, 205   | 35, 756<br>27, 519   |                                  |
| 61   | Total, nontaxable individual returns (59+60)   |   |  |   |   |  | ·  |   | 525, 562  | 63, 275  | -                                |
| 62   | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)   | 312,065   | 327, 180   | 15, 264, 624  | 6, 035, 382   | 1, 508, 845  | 10, 380, 588   | 11, 889, 433  | 3, 797, 265   | 2, 049, 748  | 62                               |
| 63<br>64   | Individual returns with net income (51+59)   | 312,064<br>(27)   | 327, 179<br>(27)   | 15, 264, 336<br>( <sup>27</sup> )   | 6, 035, 358   | 1, 508, 840<br>(27)  | 10, 380, 530   | 11, 889, 370<br>(27)  | 3, 734, 611<br>62, 654  | 2, 018, 426<br>31, 322   | 63<br>64                         |

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]
[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| =              |   | -   | <del></del>                | Returns wit              | h larger ta                  |                                    | n 1942 incor              | ne—Contir                   | nued  | ,   | Ī     |
|----------------|---|---|----------------------------|--------------------------|------------------------------|------------------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------------------|---|---|-------|
|                |   |   | <del></del>                |                          |                              |                                    | Taxat                     | le in both                  | years, 1942   | and 1943  |       |
|                | Net income classes  | Tot   | al—Contin                  | ued                      | Taxable<br>nontax<br>(no tax | in 1942,<br>able 1943<br>forgiven) | 1943 t<br>(comp           | ax not ove                  | r \$50<br>iven)                                     | 1943 tax over<br>\$50 but not<br>over \$67 (\$50<br>forgiven) | 1     |
|                | 1.07 11001110 01111000  |   | 1943 tax                   |                          |                              |                                    |                           |                             | Tmoormo   |   |       |
|                |   | Income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 4 | Unfor-<br>given<br>portion | Total income and victory | Number<br>of re-<br>turns    | 1942 tax                           | Number<br>of re-<br>turns | 1942 tax                    | Income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax<br>on 1943<br>income | Number of<br>returns  |       |
|                | Taxable individual returns: With net income:  |   |                            |                          |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   |       |
| 1              | Form 1040 A 18 (est.)   |   | 20, 203                    | 171, 438                 |                              |                                    | 588, 191                  | 41,562                      | 11,754  | 84, 789<br>22 8, 097  | -1    |
| 2<br>3         | Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)   | 2, 031<br>4, 891                                      | 265<br>480                 | 9, 071<br>15, 949        |                              |                                    | 45, 728<br>138, 133       | 5, 914<br>11, 508<br>8, 491 | 2, 692<br>1, 456                                    | 22 7, 356<br>27, 319  | 3 ]   |
| 4<br>5         | 0.75 under 1 (est.)<br>1 under 1.25 (est.)  | 10,051<br>12,121                                      | 1, 994<br>2, 401           | 26, 326<br>32, 660       |                              |                                    | 120,324                   | 14, 054<br>11, 699          | 2, 346<br>3, 093                                    | 22 6, 882<br>28, 317  | 2     |
| 6<br>7         | 1.25 under 1.5 (est.)<br>1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  | 20,816  | 3, 150<br>4, 767           | 38, 608<br>45, 084       |                              |                                    | 46, 715                   | 6.126                       | 1,355<br>925  | 16, 670<br>22 8, 099  | )     |
| 8              | 1.75 under 2 (est.)<br>2 under 2.25 (est.)  | 27, 436<br>30, 198                                    | 6, 571<br>7, 414           | 52, 768<br>52, 084       |                              |                                    | 10,007                    | 4, 258<br>1, 308            | 399   | 22 7, 148   | вl    |
| 10<br>11       | 2.25 under 2.5 (est.)<br>2.5 under 2.75 (est.)  | 27, 999<br>26, 036                                    | 6, 947<br>6, 493           | 49, 313<br>43, 028       |                              |                                    | 22 / 02/                  | 950                         | 209   | 22 3, 579   | - 1   |
| 12<br>13       | 2.75 under 3 (est.)<br>3 under 3.5 (est.)   | 29, 119<br>53, 775                                    | 7, 267<br>13, 442          | 47, 224<br>86, 781       |                              | .                                  | - 1,001                   | 1                           | i   | 22 1, 919   | 9     |
| 14             | 3.5 under 4 (est.)  | 38, 624   | 9, 656<br>7, 734           | 63, 510<br>51, 800       | 1                            |                                    | 1                         | .                           |   |   |       |
| 15<br>16       | 4 under 4.5 (est.)<br>4.5 under 5 (est.)  | 21,930  | 5, 483                     | 35, 561<br>59, 064       | 1                            | 1                                  | 1                         | 1                           | . !   |   |       |
| 17<br>18       | 5 under 6 (est.)<br>6 under 7 (est.)  | 33, 650<br>28, 524                                    | 8, 413<br>7, 131           | 52, 152                  | If .                         | 1                                  | 1                         | 1                           | 1   | 1   |       |
| 19<br>20<br>21 | 7 under 8 (est.)<br>8 under 9 (est.)<br>9 under 10 (est.)   | 26, 161<br>24, 116                                    | 6, 540<br>6, 029           | 47, 055<br>46, 273       |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   |       |
|                |   |   | 5, 837                     | 41, 959                  |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   |       |
| 22<br>23<br>24 | 10 under 11 (est.)<br>11 under 12 (est.)  | 19, 787<br>17, 917                                    | 4, 947<br>4, 479           | 35, 370<br>32, 383       |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   | 2     |
| 25             | 12 under 13 (est.)<br>13 under 14 (est.)  | 17, 337<br>15, 726                                    | 4, 334<br>3, 931           | 31, 753<br>27, 863       |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   | - 2   |
| 6              | 14 under 15 (est.)<br>15 under 20 (est.)  | 16, 138<br>73, 971                                    | 4, 034<br>18, 493          | 26, 031<br>129, 502      |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   | - 3   |
| 7<br>8<br>9    | 20 under 25<br>25 under 30  | 61, 816<br>55, 072                                    | 15, 454<br>13, 768         | 104, 169<br>89, 450      |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   |       |
| 0<br>1         | 30 under 40.<br>40 under 50.<br>50 under 60.  | 83, 896<br>64, 330                                    | 20, 974<br>16, 083         | 135, 141<br>102, 079     |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   | -l •  |
| 2              | 50 under 60<br>60 under 70  | 48, 254<br>39, 939                                    | 12, 063<br>9, 985          | 75, 229                  |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   | -  ;  |
| 4<br>5         | 70 under 80   | 32, 327<br>24, 806                                    | 8, 082<br>6, 201           | 51,213                   |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   | -  :  |
| 6              | 90 under 100  | 20, 525   | 5, 131                     | 31, 533                  |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   | . :   |
| 7<br>8<br>9    | 100 under 150<br>150 under 200  | 62, 031<br>32, 003                                    | 15, 508<br>8, 001          | 100, 902<br>51, 661      |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   | -13   |
| n.             | 250 under 250<br>250 under 300  | 20, 378<br>8, 744                                     | 5, 094<br>2, 186           | 33, 841<br>14, 817       |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   | -     |
| 2              | 300 under 400<br>400 under 500  | 11, 178<br>9, 127                                     | 2, 794<br>2, 282           | 16, 382<br>13, 075       |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   | -1    |
| 3              | 400 under 500<br>500 under 750.<br>750 under 1,000.   | 10, 834<br>4, 321                                     | 2, 708<br>1, 080           | 15, 257<br>6, 550        |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   | -  4  |
| 5<br>6         | 1,000 under 1,500<br>1,500 under 2,000  | 3, 038<br>1, 596                                      | 760<br>399                 | 4.120                    |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   | -1 4  |
| 7              | . 2,000 under 3,000   | 1,867   | 467                        | 2, 095<br>2, 362         |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   | - -   |
| 9              | 3,000 under 4,000<br>4,000 under 5,000  | 3, 192<br>3, 975                                      | 798<br>994                 | 4, 314<br>5, 365         |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   | ؛ إ.  |
| 0              | 5,000 and over  |   |                            |                          |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   | -  '  |
| 51<br>52       | Total, taxable individual returns with net income With no net income, Form 1040 12 (est.)                 | 1, 346, 838<br>277                                    | 329, 246<br>55             | 2, 311, 916<br>3, 858    |                              |                                    | 1, 162, 724<br>22 5, 006  | 105, 870<br>1, 271          | 25, 041<br>45                                       | 200, 175<br>( <sup>27</sup> )                                 | _   : |
| 3              | Total, taxable individual returns   | 1, 347, 115   | 329, 301                   | 2, 315, 774              |                              |                                    | 1, 167, 730               | 107, 140                    | 25, 086   | 200, 453  | =     |
|                | Nontaxable individual returns: With net income: 20  |   |                            |                          |                              |                                    |                           |                             |   |   |       |
| 54             | Form 1040A 15 (est.)  |   |                            | 15, 369                  | 264, 600                     | 15, 369                            |                           |                             |   |   | -     |
| 5<br>6         | Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)   | - 1   |                            | 12, 536<br>3, 434        | 131, 891<br>29, 174          | 12, 536<br>3, 434                  |                           |                             |   |   | - :   |
| 7              | 0.75 under 1 (est.)   |   |                            | 2,084                    | 21,303                       | 2,084                              |                           |                             |   |   | -     |
| 8              | 1 and over (est.)   |   | <del></del>                | 2, 333                   | 22, 389                      | 2, 333                             |                           |                             |   |   | -i    |
| 9              | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income.  With no net income, Form 1040 <sup>12</sup> (est.) |   |                            | 35, 756<br>27, 519       | 469, 357<br>56, 205          | 35, 756<br>27, 519                 |                           |                             |   |   | -     |
| ı              | Total, nontaxable individual returns (59+60)  |   |                            | 63, 275                  | 525, 562                     | 63, 275                            |                           |                             |   |   | -     |
| 2              | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)  |   | 329, 301                   | 2, 379, 049              | 525, 562                     | 63, 275                            | 1, 167, 730               | 107, 140                    | 25, 086   | 200. 453  | 1     |
| 3              | Individual returns with net income (51+59)  | 1, 346, 838   | 329, 246                   | 2, 347, 672              | 469, 357                     | 35, 756                            | 1, 162, 724               | 105, 870                    | 25, 041   | 200, 175  | =     |
| 34             | Individual returns with no net income 12 (est.) (52+69)   | 277   | 55                         | 31,377                   | 56, 205                      | 27, 519                            | 22 5, 006                 | 1, 271                      | 45  | (27)  |       |

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

#### [Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   |   |  | R   | eturns wit  | h larger ta  | x liability o  | n 1942 incon  | e-Continu   | ed   |   |  |
|---|---|--|---|---|--|--|---|---|--|---|--|
|   | ••  |  |   | Taxab   | e in both  | years, 1942 a  | nd 1943—C   | ontinued  |  |   |  |
|   |   |  |   | it not over<br>Continue   |  | 1943   | tax more th   | an \$67 (75 p   | ercent forg  | iven)   |  |
|   | Net income classes  |  |   | 1943 tax  |  |  |   |   | 1943 tax   |   | ,  |
|   |   | 1942 tax                                 | Income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax<br>on 1943<br>income * | Unfor-<br>given<br>portion  | Total<br>income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax <sup>5</sup>                             | Number<br>of returns   | 1942 tax  | Income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 4   | Unfor-<br>given<br>portion   | Total income and victory tax 5  |  |
| 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21 | Taxable individual returns:  With net income: Form 1040 \(^{15}\) (est.)  Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  1.5 under 1.25 (est.)  1.25 under 1.25 (est.)  1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  2 under 2.25 (est.)  2 under 2.25 (est.)  2.15 under 2.75 (est.)  3.5 under 3.6 (est.)  4.5 under 3.75 (est.)  5.5 under 4 (est.)  4 under 4.5 (est.)  4 under 4.5 (est.)  5 under 5 (est.)  6 under 7 (est.)  7 under 8 (est.)  7 under 8 (est.)  8 under 9 (est.)  9 under 10 (est.)  9 under 10 (est.) | 2, 692<br>1, 379<br>1, 182<br>550<br>472 | 4, 990  487 398 1, 615 402 1, 651 980 464 428 211 114 | 751.<br>82<br>30<br>249<br>58<br>236<br>147<br>59<br>71<br>32<br>18 | 9,629<br>1,272<br>896<br>3,993<br>968<br>4,519<br>2,839<br>1,439<br>1,253<br>581 | 498, 043  29, 609 17, 154 67, 558 69, 289 75, 951 129, 363 150, 064 141, 451 116, 378 88, 323 133, 000 76, 050 77, 748 33, 682 22, 300 16, 284 12, 441 10, 308 | 100, 794  1, 702 3, 095 12, 097 15, 294 19, 476 31, 499 40, 560 42, 180 41, 217 36, 284 39, 560 73, 166 53, 854 44, 066 30, 079 50, 652 45, 021 40, 515 40, 244 36, 122   | 77, 809  732 1, 802 6, 980 9, 373 11, 658 18, 481 26, 047 27, 662 25, 943 29, 043 30, 937 21, 930 33, 650 28, 524 26, 161 24, 116 23, 346   | 19, 452<br>183<br>450<br>1, 745<br>2, 343<br>4, 620<br>6, 512<br>7, 343<br>6, 915<br>6, 486<br>7, 261<br>13, 437<br>9, 656<br>7, 483<br>8, 413<br>7, 131<br>6, 540<br>6, 915<br>8, 92<br>6, 92<br>6, 92<br>6, 92<br>6, 92<br>6, 92<br>6, 92<br>6, 93<br>6, 95<br>6, | 120, 247  1, 885 3, 545 13, 842 17, 638 22, 390 36, 120 47, 072 49, 523 48, 133 42, 769 46, 821 86, 603 63, 510 51, 800 55, 561 59, 064 52, 152 47, 055 46, 273 41, 959   | 1 2 3 4 5 6 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21  |
| 2222324<br>245266<br>277288<br>299300<br>313233334<br>35536<br>36738<br>34041<br>44344<br>44546<br>47748<br>48950       | 50 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 200 200 under 250 250 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 750 750 under 1,000 1,000 under 1,500 1,500 under 2,000 2,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 5,000 4,000 under 5,000 5,000 and over   |  |   |   |  | 4, 079<br>3, 685<br>13, 221<br>7, 425<br>4, 867<br>5, 261<br>1, 601<br>1, 052<br>705<br>458<br>332<br>251<br>1118<br>39<br>40<br>24<br>22<br>6<br>6            | 30, 423<br>27, 904<br>27, 419<br>23, 932<br>21, 997<br>111, 009<br>88, 715<br>75, 682<br>114, 167<br>85, 996<br>63, 166<br>53, 639<br>43, 132<br>31, 927<br>26, 402<br>85, 394<br>43, 660<br>28, 746<br>12, 631<br>13, 588<br>10, 793<br>12, 549<br>63, 690<br>1, 895<br>3, 516<br>4, 371 | 19, 787<br>17, 917<br>17, 317<br>15, 726<br>16, 138<br>73, 971<br>61, 816<br>55, 072<br>83, 896<br>64, 330<br>48, 254<br>39, 939<br>32, 327<br>24, 806<br>20, 525<br>62, 031<br>32, 073<br>8, 744<br>11, 178<br>9, 127<br>10, 834<br>4, 321<br>3, 596<br>1, 867<br>3, 192<br>3, 975 | 4, 947<br>4, 479<br>4, 334<br>3, 931<br>15, 454<br>13, 768<br>20, 974<br>16, 983<br>12, 963<br>9, 985<br>8, 982<br>6, 201<br>5, 131<br>15, 508<br>8, 001<br>5, 131<br>15, 508<br>1, 202<br>2, 794<br>2, 282<br>2, 708<br>1, 760<br>399<br>467<br>708<br>994  | 35, 370<br>32, 383<br>31, 753<br>27, 863<br>26, 031<br>129, 502<br>104, 169<br>89, 450<br>135, 141<br>102, 079<br>75, 279<br>63, 624<br>51, 213<br>38, 128<br>31, 533<br>100, 902<br>51, 661<br>33, 81<br>11, 817<br>16, 382<br>13, 075<br>6, 550<br>4, 120<br>2, 095<br>2, 095<br>2, 365<br>4, 314<br>4, 314<br>5, 365 | 22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48 |
| 51<br>52  | Total, taxable individual returns with net income.  With no net income, Form 1040 11 (est.)   | (27)                                     | 11, 741<br>(27)                                       | 1, 732<br>( <sup>27</sup> )   | 27, 879<br>(17)  | 1, 902, 355<br>22 1, 165   | 1, 850, 653<br>2, 443   | 1, 310, 056<br>218  | 327, 514<br>54   | 2, 178, 167<br>2, 497   | 51<br>52   |
| 53  | Total, taxable individual returns.  Nontaxable individual returns:  With net income: 29   | 26, 236                                  | 11, 755   | 1, 733  | 27, 969  | 1, 903, 520  | 1, 853, 096   | 1, 310, 274   | 327, 568   | 2, 180, 665   | 53   |
| 55<br>56<br>57<br>58<br>59<br>60  | Form 1040A is (est.) Form 1040: Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 and over (est.) Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income. With no net income, Form 1040 is (est.)  |  |   |   |  |  |   |   |  |   | 54<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58<br>59<br>60   |
| 61<br>62  | Total, nontaxable individual returns (59+60)  |  |   |   |  |  |   | 1 010 37  | 007 700  |   | 61   |
| 63<br>64  | Individual returns with net income (51+59). Individual returns with no net income 13 (est.) (52+60)   | 26, 236<br>26, 147<br>(27)               | 11, 755<br>11, 741<br>(27)                            | 1,733<br>1,732<br>(27)  | 27, 969<br>27, 879<br>(27)   | 1, 903, 520<br>1, 902, 355<br>21, 165  | 1, 853, 096<br>1, 850, 653<br>2, 443  | 1, 310, 274<br>1, 310, 056<br>218   | 327, 568<br>327, 514<br>54   | 2, 180, 665<br>2, 178, 167<br>2, 497  | 62<br>63<br>64   |
| !   | For footnotes, see pp. 103–105.   |  | 1   | - 1   |  | <u> </u>   |   |   |  | ,   |  |

#### FAMILY RELATIONSHIP-INDIVIDUAL RETURNS WITH NET INCOME

The summary table below, for individual returns with net income, shows the number of returns, amount of net income, and percentage of total, classified by the family relationship of the taxpaver. The number of returns, net income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and income and victory tax on 1943 income, classified by family relationship and by net income classes, are tabulated in basic table 3. Basic table 9 shows the number of returns, sources of income. gross income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and income and victory tax on 1943 income tabulated from individual returns, Form 1040A, by family relationship and by gross income classes. Individual returns with no net income are not classified by family relationship owing to the lack of sufficient data on which to base the classification. Returns, Form 1040, with net income are classified according to the taxpayer's marital status on the last day of the taxable year, regardless of any changes that may have taken place during the year. Returns, Form 1040A, are classified according to the marital status on July 1, 1943, regardless of changes that may have occurred before or after that date.

The five classifications for family relationship are: Joint returns of husbands and wives, separate returns of husbands and wives. community property returns, returns for heads of families, and returns for those who are not heads of families. The community property returns, although separate returns of husbands and wives, are not included in the classification for separate returns of husbands and wives unless noted to that effect. Except in the case of joint returns of husbands and wives, returns are classified as returns of men or returns of women.

The joint returns of husbands and wives are segregated to show those with one income reported and those with two incomes reported. Segregation is based on the specific exemption claimed against the victory tax net income. A specific exemption of \$624 is allowed when only one income is reported and \$1,248 is allowed when husband and wife both have income, unless the victory tax net income of one spouse is less than \$624, in which case the total exemption is limited to \$624 plus the victory tax net income of such spouse.

Heads of families are individuals who, although not married, actually support and maintain in one household one or more individuals who are closely connected with him by blood relationship, relationship by marriage, or by adoption, and whose right to exercise family control and provide for these dependent individuals is based upon

some moral or legal obligation. Such individuals may be over 18 years of age. (It will be noted that the definition of dependents used to qualify the taxpayer as a head of family is different from the definition of dependents used for the purpose of determining credit for dependents.) Heads of families are allowed the same personal exemption as married persons filing a joint return.

The community property classification is applied to returns showing the income of spouses divided according to the community property laws in the States of Arizona, California, Idaho, Louisiana, Nevada, New Mexico, Oklahoma, Oregon, Texas, and Washington even though such division of income for 1943, by taxpayers residing in Oklahoma and Oregon, is not recognized for Federal income tax purposes and will be eliminated upon audit of the returns. (Revised community property laws were enacted in Oklahoma during 1945 and in Oregon during 1947 which are recognized thenceforth for Federal income tax purposes.)

Every return showing community property income, regardless of the amount of net income, is classified as a community property return. The net income class for community property returns filed separately by husband and wife is based on the respective amounts of net income. In tabulating data for a joint return showing community property income apportioned equally between husband and wife and the tax for each computed on the divided net incomes, the items of income, deductions, net income, and tax are divided to represent two returns which are classified as separate community property returns, and the net income class for each is based on one-half the combined community property net income reported. The return of a married person not reporting community property income, filed in the States listed above, is classified in the same manner as the return of a married person filed in a noncommunity State, i. e., joint returns of husbands and wives or separate returns of husbands or wives.

The unequal number of returns for men and women in the two classifications, "Separate returns of husbands and wives" and "Community property returns," is the result of (1) insufficient data in some returns to properly identify the returns of married persons, (2) use of samples as basis of estimating data, and (3) deferment of filing returns by members of the armed forces.

63

Individual returns with net income, 1943, by sex and family relationship: Number of returns, net income, and percentage of total

[For description of classifications and method of estimating data, see pp. 10-13, 106-114]

|   | Retu                        | rns                 | Net inc                             | ome 14              |
|---|-----------------------------|---------------------|-------------------------------------|---------------------|
| Family relationship   | Number                      | Percent<br>of total | Amount<br>(thousands<br>of dollars) | Percent<br>of total |
| Joint returns of husbands and wives:  |                             |                     | ,                                   |                     |
| Two incomes reported 34   | 6, 267, 054<br>15, 964, 575 | 14. 41<br>36. 69    | 16, 052, 969<br>41, 270, 920        | 16.18<br>41.60      |
| Separate returns of husbands and wives: 85 Men Women  | 1, 778, 379<br>2, 042, 144  | 4.09<br>4.69        | 7, 723, 044<br>3, 838, 856          | 7. 78<br>3. 87      |
| Community property returns: 35  Men   | 955, 929<br>936, 666        | 2. 20<br>2. 15      | 3, 279, 514<br>3, 167, 591          | 3.31<br>3.19        |
| Heads of families: Single men and married men not living with wives Single women and married women not living with hus- | 1, 268, 241                 | 2. 92               | 2, 836, 538                         | 2. 86               |
| bands   | 1, 558, 534                 | 3.58                | 2, 519, 820                         | 2. 54               |
| Not heads of families: Single men and married men not living with wives   | 5, 421, 119                 | 12.46               | 8, 808, 275                         | 8. 88               |
| Single women and married women not living with husbands.  | 7, 313, 912                 | 16.81               | 9, 712, 335                         | 9. 79               |
| Total individual returns with net income  | 43, 506, 553                | 100.00              | 99, 209, 862                        | 100, 00             |

For footnotes, see pp. 103-105.

## NUMBER OF DEPENDENTS-INDIVIDUAL RETURNS WITH NET INCOME

The following table shows, for individual returns with net income, the number of returns with and without credit claimed for dependents and the number of dependents for whom credit is claimed, distributed by income classes and by family relationship. Data are not available for returns with no net income because information regarding credit for dependents is insufficient for accurate tabulation. The family relationship classification is the same as previously described except that in this table the community property returns are tabulated with the separate returns of husbands and wives. In Part I of this table. data for individual returns, Form 1040, are presented by net income classes and returns, Form 1040A, in aggregate; and, in Part II, data for individual returns, Form 1040A, are tabulated by gross income classes. In both instances, classes are identical with those in the basic tables of this report.

Frequency distribution of returns by number of dependents classes is available only for returns in aggregate and for joint returns of husbands and wives. The five dependents classes are: One, two, three,

four, and five or more dependents.

A dependent for whom credit is allowed is any person (other than husband or wife) under 18 years of age, or incapable of self-support because mentally or physically defective, whose chief support is received from the taxpayer. However, if the taxpayer is head of a family only because of dependents for whom he would be entitled to credit under this rule, credit is allowed for each of such dependents except one. The amount of credit for dependents, tabulated elsewhere in this report, is \$350 each if Form 1040 is filed, or \$385 each if Form 1040A is filed.

On returns, Form 1040A, the number of dependents for which credit is claimed is determined as of July 1, 1943, without regard to any change that occurred during the taxable year in the taxpayer's status with respect to dependents. On returns, Form 1040, the number of dependents for which credit is claimed includes dependents who received their chief support from the taxpayer for only a part of the year. In such instances, the taxpayer apportions the credit according to the number of months for which the chief support was rendered.

It can be determined from this tabulation that the 43,506,553 individual returns with net income represent a minimum coverage of 101,151,758 persons. Each of the 43,506,553, returns represents one person and a total of 32,586,801 dependents are reported thereon. The joint returns include 22,231,629 wives, who are not considered dependents; and each of the 2,826,775 heads of families had at least one dependent excluded. Thus, a minimum of 101,151,758 persons are covered by the individual returns with net income. Actually a greater number of persons are covered because of (a) dependents over 18 years of age, not mentally defective, for whom credit cannot be claimed, and (b) dependents born subsequent to July 1, 1943, to married persons filing form 1040A. (The 215,485 individual returns with no net income, which are not included in this tabulation, represent a like number of persons as well as an unknown number of wives and dependents.)

Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by family relationship—Part I, all returns by net income classes; Part II, returns Form 1040A by gross income classes: Number of returns, number of returns with no dependents, and for returns with dependents: Number of returns, number of exemptions claimed; and for returns in aggregate and for joint returns: Number of returns by number of dependents classes

[For description of classifications and method of estimating, see pp. 10–13, 106–114]

Aggregate

Returns with dependents

#### PART I-ALL RETURNS

|  | <u></u> .   |  |  | İ   |   | Returns   | s with deper   | ndents  |  |  | 1  | Si                 |
|--|---|--|--|---|---|---|--|---|--|--|--|--------------------|
|  | Net income classes<br>(Thousands of dollars)  | Number of returns  | Number of<br>returns<br>with no  | Number of   | Number of<br>dependents   | Number  | of returns b   | y number  | of depende   | nts classes  |  | TICS               |
|  |   |  | dependents   | returns   | for whom<br>credit is<br>claimed  | One   | Two  | Three   | Four   | Five and over  |  | OF IN              |
| 1  | Taxable individual returns with net income: Form 1040A <sup>15</sup> (est.) Form 1040:  | 1 ' '  | 11, 704, 850   | 6, 454, 894   | 12, 878, 886  | 3, 084, 633   | 1, 741, 622  | 860, 276  | 397, 564   | 370, 799   | 1  | COME               |
| 2 3 4 5 6 6 7 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 20 21 22 23 24 25 27  | Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 under 1.25 (est.) 1.25 under 1.5 (est.) 1.5 under 1.75 (est.) 1.75 under 2 (est.) 2. under 2.25 (est.) 2.25 under 2.5 (est.) 2.5 under 2.75 (est.) 2.5 under 2.75 (est.) 3. under 3. (est.) 3.5 under 4. (est.) 4 under 4. (est.) 4 under 4. (est.) 5 under 5 (est.) 5 under 6 (est.) 6 under 7 (est.) 7 under 8 (est.) 9 under 10 (est.) 10 under 11 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 17 (est.) 16 under 19 (est.) 17 under 19 (est.) 18 under 9 (est.) 19 under 10 (est.) 19 under 11 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 11 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 20 (est.) | 764. 289 1, 106, 442 1, 331, 800 1, 406, 935 1, 517, 176 1, 645, 854 1, 628, 123 1, 578, 854 1, 445, 838 1, 680, 352 2, 991, 236 1, 655, 140 902, 459 508, 751 469, 296 249, 542 165, 966 119, 585 95, 188 66, 637 53, 626 43, 230 36, 354 30, 808 | 207, 350<br>668, 311<br>1898, 178<br>1, 071, 351<br>1, 077, 315<br>1, 020, 978<br>997, 932<br>858, 950<br>734, 917<br>627, 990<br>687, 499<br>1, 169, 733<br>612, 344<br>340, 885<br>212, 571<br>212, 724<br>119, 832<br>81, 896<br>60, 243<br>46, 995<br>34, 307<br>26, 740<br>21, 757<br>18, 681<br>15, 565<br>51, 971 | 10, 728<br>85, 978<br>208, 264<br>200, 449<br>389, 620<br>496, 198<br>647, 922<br>769, 173<br>823, 937<br>817, 848<br>992, 853<br>1, 921, 503<br>1, 072, 796<br>561, 574<br>296, 180<br>266, 572<br>129, 710<br>84, 070<br>59, 342<br>48, 193<br>32, 330<br>26, 886<br>21, 473<br>17, 673<br>17, 673<br>1 | 19. 065 162. 560 182. 560 184. 257 472. 331 677. 074 822. 886 1, 061. 826 1, 283. 587 1, 424. 411 1, 471, 147 1, 841. 734 3, 548. 193 2, 109. 336 1, 106. 358 240, 762 156, 920 109. 662 89, 119 59, 426 50, 251 39, 722 33, 303 328, 948 91, 549 | 24, 349 44, 701 116, 637 149, 694 229, 868 306, 374 422, 508 424, 304 472, 050 472, | 22 5, 153 22, 018 49, 070 58, 461 90, 193 114, 206 182, 113 235, 662 264, 984 271, 138 317, 444 555, 649 360, 072 189, 84, 910 42, 222 27, 878 19, 399 16, 212 10, 618 8, 839 6, 763 5, 6763 5, 672 4, 856 15, 622 | (27) 10, 233 20, 457 28, 030 38, 521 42, 210 55, 981 75, 674 91, 062 102, 922 128, 563 267, 191 154, 938 88, 041 139, 065 35, 131 18, 449 11, 480 7, 895 6, 467 4, 342 4, 134 3, 358 2, 708 2, 169 7, 487 | (**) **2* 4, 508 12, 597 12, 863 15, 820 18, 073 19, 487 22, 357 30, 365 29, 919 44, 957 78, 352 57, 424 28, 345 16, 688 12, 035 4, 298 2, 781 2, 074 1, 542 1, 159 969 969 962 913 2, 477 | (27) 22 4, 518 29 9, 503 11, 401 15, 218 15, 335 12, 994 12, 972 13, 222 19, 149 29, 839 87, 564 39, 768 19, 804 11, 832 7, 697 2, 880 1, 169 677 599 404 367 369 1, 049 | 2 3 4 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 22 25 26 27  | E FOR 1943, PART 1 |
| 28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>50 | 20 under 25. 25 under 30 30 under 40 40 under 60 59 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 200 200 under 250 250 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 750 750 under 1,000 1,000 under 1,500 1,500 under 4,000 4,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000   | 53, 630<br>32, 97<br>35, 901<br>17, 484<br>10, 127<br>6, 100<br>4, 029<br>2, 698<br>1, 913<br>4, 408<br>1, 411<br>580<br>303<br>296<br>143<br>156<br>588<br>88<br>9<br>6   | 27, 008 16, 416 17, 966 9, 049 5, 231 3, 202 2, 171 1, 447 1, 001 2, 454 793 334 105 173 92 98 32 20 4 2   | 26, 622<br>15, 881<br>17, 035<br>8, 435<br>4, 836<br>2, 898<br>1, 251<br>912<br>1, 954<br>618<br>246<br>138<br>123<br>51<br>58<br>8<br>6<br>8<br>8<br>5<br>4<br>4<br>1<br>3   | 51. 467<br>30, 737<br>33, 114<br>16, 643<br>9, 577<br>5, 755<br>3, 757<br>2, 514<br>1, 860<br>1, 322<br>504<br>318<br>301<br>107<br>127<br>75<br>75<br>4<br>2<br>9  | 11, 497<br>6, 783<br>7, 316<br>3, 551<br>2, 105<br>1, 209<br>753<br>518<br>367<br>247<br>101<br>62<br>41<br>20<br>24<br>27<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>4  | 8, 760<br>5, 321<br>5, 591<br>2, 771<br>1, 550<br>939<br>605<br>397<br>299<br>620<br>188<br>73<br>26<br>19<br>14<br>17<br>2<br>4   | 4, 128<br>2, 473<br>2, 646<br>1, 322<br>808<br>469<br>305<br>212<br>156<br>286<br>113<br>45<br>11<br>8<br>12<br>1<br>1  | 1, 533<br>845<br>989<br>522<br>220<br>191<br>134<br>85<br>52<br>131<br>44<br>20<br>13<br>9<br>5<br>4<br>2  | 704<br>459<br>493<br>269<br>90<br>61<br>39<br>38<br>70<br>26<br>6<br>7<br>1<br>1<br>5<br>3<br>1  | 28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50 | STATISTICS OF IN   |
| 51   | Total, taxable individual returns with net income   | 40, 222, 699   | 23, 689, 524   | 16, 533, 175  | 31, 384, 141  | 8, 064, 053   | 4, 823, 531  | 2, 120, 582   | 829, 734   | 695, 275   | 51   | INCOME             |
| 52   | Nontaxable individual returns with net income: 29 Form 1040A 18 (est.) Form 1040:   | 2, 181, 779  | 1, 905, 374  | 276, 405  | 510, 283  | 157, 598  | 59, 126  | 30,788  | 15, 268  | 13, 625  | 52   |                    |
| 53<br>54<br>55<br>56   | Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 and over (est.)  | 643 849<br>208, 284<br>121, 443<br>128, 499  | 544, 796<br>122, 937<br>69, 879<br>66, 759   | 99, 053<br>85, 347<br>51, 564<br>61, 740  | 195, 534<br>172, 727<br>105, 029<br>136, 656  | 50, 068<br>38, 264<br>23, 068<br>24, 151  | 23, 068<br>25, 644<br>13, 976<br>18, 590   | 14, 926<br>11, 263<br>22 9, 227<br>22 9, 091  | 22 5, 970<br>22 4, 749<br>22 2, 579<br>23 5, 564   | 22 5, 021<br>23 5, 427<br>22 2, 714<br>23 4, 344   | 53<br>54<br>55<br>56   | FOR 1              |
| 57   | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income.   | 3, 283, 854  | 2, 709, 745  | 574, 109  | 1, 120, 229   | 293, 149  | 140, 404   | 75, 295   | 34, 130  | 31, 131  | 57   | 943,               |
| 58   | Total individual returns with net income (51+57)  | 43, 506, 553   | 26, 399, 269   | 17, 107, 284  | 32, 504, 370  | 8, 357, 202   | 4, 963, 935  | 2, 195, 877   | 863, 864   | 726, 406   | 58   | ,<br>'P            |

Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by family relationship—Part I, all returns by net income classes;

Part II, returns Form 1040A by gross income classes: Number of returns, number of returns with no dependents, and for returns with dependents: Number of returns, number of exemptions claimed; and for returns in aggregate and for joint returns: Number of returns by number of dependents classes—Continued.

[For description of classifications and method of estimating, see pp. 10-13, 106-114]

| PADT | T A T.T. | RETURNS-Continued  |
|------|----------|--------------------|
| LWWI | 1X JJ.U  | Danimino—Communica |

| ٠                               | •  |   |   | Jo   | oint returns o   | f husbands  | and wives  |   |   |   |   |
|---------------------------------|--|---|---|--|--|---|--|---|---|---|---|
|                                 |  |   | Number  |  |  | Returns   | with depend  | dents   |   |   |   |
|                                 | Net income classes<br>(Thousands of dollars)   | Number of returns   | of returns<br>with no<br>depend-  | Number of  | Number of<br>dependents  | Number  | of returns by  | y number of   | dependen  | ts classes  |   |
|                                 |  |   | ents  | returns  | for whom<br>credit is<br>claimed   | One   | Two  | Three   | 'Four   | Five and over   |   |
| 1                               | Taxable individual returns with net income: Form 1040A (est.) <sup>15</sup> Form 1040:   | 7, 472, 881   | 2, 693, 826   | 4, 779, 055  | 10, 457, 376   | 1, 908, 598   | 1, 399, 098  | 758, 038  | 364, 231  | 349, 090  | 1   |
| 2334455677890012334455377890012 | Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 under 1.26 (est.) 1.25 under 1.5 (est.) 1.5 under 2.6 (est.) 2.5 under 2.25 (est.) 2.5 under 2.25 (est.) 2.5 under 2.75 (est.) 2.5 under 2.6 (est.) 3. under 3.6 (est.) 4.5 under 3.5 (est.) 5.5 under 6 (est.) 4.5 under 4.5 (est.) 5 under 4.5 (est.) 4.5 under 5 (est.) 5 under 7 (est.) 5 under 8 (est.) 5 under 9 (est.) 8 under 9 (est.) 9 under 10 (est.) 10 under 11 (est.)   | 940, 530<br>1, 050, 897<br>1, 109, 449<br>1, 082, 912<br>1, 270, 731<br>2, 295, 471<br>1, 305, 138<br>695, 792<br>378, 009<br>317, 498<br>153, 781<br>95, 783<br>64, 835  | 15, 284<br>90, 803<br>185, 509<br>337, 414<br>402, 875<br>408, 797<br>425, 912<br>424, 793<br>410, 989<br>370, 234<br>399, 184<br>679, 767<br>355, 023<br>107, 337<br>123, 877<br>109, 367<br>54, 952<br>33, 996<br>23, 268<br>17, 440<br>11, 561<br>8, 924 | 26, 773 63, 388 155, 514 199, 010 307, 257 399, 184 614, 618 626, 104 698, 460 712, 678 871, 547 1, 615, 704 1, 615, 704 1, 618, 455 254, 132 208, 131 98, 829 61, 787 41, 567 33, 020 20, 662 20, 662 16, 792   | 14, 852<br>131, 995<br>320, 322<br>393, 284<br>571, 171<br>705, 296<br>890, 301<br>1, 997, 488<br>1, 247, 954<br>1, 621, 493<br>1, 665, 885<br>3, 230, 941<br>1, 917, 945<br>1, 007, 202<br>506, 640<br>408, 909<br>192, 212<br>121, 213<br>81, 304<br>64, 118<br>69, 940<br>33, 750 | (17) 27, 943 71, 382 100, 376 166, 413 225, 537 273, 214 313, 838 337, 751 389, 941 704, 481 383, 776 197, 603 107, 202 87, 776 41, 596 26, 259 17, 315 13, 784 8, 713 6, 482             | # 4, 895<br>17, 263<br>43, 840<br>49, 791<br>159, 736<br>208, 451<br>235, 848<br>248, 355<br>290, 092<br>502, 217<br>328, 576<br>173, 184<br>85, 205<br>71, 163<br>33, 747<br>21, 827<br>11, 743<br>7, 214<br>6, 075   | (27)<br>22 9, 748<br>19, 379<br>25, 894<br>35, 436<br>39, 708<br>51, 086<br>69, 683<br>83, 309-<br>95, 184<br>119, 249<br>250, 327<br>145, 496<br>81, 119<br>24, 259<br>4, 911<br>3, 035<br>2, 713                            | (27)<br>22 4, 271<br>11, 529<br>12, 032<br>15, 463<br>17, 480<br>17, 826<br>21, 288<br>28, 940<br>29, 187<br>43, 148<br>73, 133<br>54, 280<br>26, 160<br>15, 551<br>10, 941<br>5, 353<br>3, 622<br>2, 2, 323<br>1, 600<br>1, 159<br>976 | (27) 22 4, 163 22 9, 384 10, 917 14, 980 12, 756 12, 844 12, 756 18, 201 29, 117 85, 546 37, 988 19, 685 11, 358 7, 142 2, 645 1, 775 1, 233 541 546  | 2 3 4 4 5 5 6 6 7 7 8 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 22 22 23   |
|                                 | 11 under 12 (est.)<br>12 under 13 (est.)<br>13 under 14 (est.)<br>14 under 15 (est.)<br>16 under 20 (est.)   | 19, 544<br>16, 121<br>13, 658<br>42, 082  | 6, 756<br>5, 847<br>4, 656<br>14, 727   | 12, 788<br>10, 274<br>9, 002<br>27, 355  | 25, 401<br>20, 750<br>18, 249<br>54, 401   | 5, 013<br>3, 916<br>3, 528<br>10, 907   | 4, 486<br>3, 648<br>3, 129<br>9, 360   | 2, 268<br>1, 754<br>1, 436<br>4, 721  | 711<br>689<br>627<br>1,617  | 310<br>22 267<br>22 282<br>750  | 24<br>25<br>26<br>27  |
| 8901231557 390                  | 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 20 (est.)  20 under 25 25 under 30 30 under 40 40 under 50 50 under 60 60 under 60 80 under 90 90 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 250 250 under 250 250 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 750 1,500 under 1,000 1,500 under 1,000 1,500 under 2,000 2,000 under 2,000 2,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 3,000   | 19, 544<br>16, 121<br>13, 658<br>42, 082<br>21, 648<br>12, 111<br>12, 052<br>5, 502<br>2, 964<br>1, 712<br>1, 722<br>674<br>429<br>899<br>232<br>99<br>63<br>445<br>16<br>19<br>5<br>2  | 5, 847<br>4, 656  | 9,002  | 20, 750<br>18, 249   | 3, 916<br>3, 528  | 3, 648   | 1, 754<br>1, 436  | 689<br>627  | 22 267<br>22 282  | 24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43  |
|                                 | 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 20 (est.)  20 under 25 25 under 30 30 under 40 40 under 50 50 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 100 100 under 100 100 under 100 200 under 200 200 under 200 200 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 750 750 under 750 750 under 1,000 1,000 under 1,000 1,000 under 1,000 1,500 under 2,000 2,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 4,000   | 19, 544<br>16, 121<br>13, 658<br>42, 082<br>21, 648<br>12, 111<br>12, 052<br>5, 502<br>2, 964<br>1, 712<br>1, 722<br>674<br>429<br>429<br>899<br>633<br>45<br>16<br>19<br>5<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>1   | 7, 321<br>4, 656<br>14, 727<br>7, 321<br>4, 237<br>4, 226<br>1, 952<br>1, 952<br>1, 955<br>234<br>150<br>319<br>83<br>39<br>23  | 9,002<br>27,355<br>14,327<br>7,874<br>7,874<br>7,826<br>3,550<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,909<br>1,90 | 28, 899<br>15, 986<br>15, 986<br>15, 986<br>15, 903<br>7, 248<br>3, 874<br>2, 257<br>1, 330<br>917<br>1168<br>279<br>122<br>107<br>70<br>23<br>22<br>28<br>8   | 3, 916<br>3, 528<br>10, 907<br>5, 615<br>3, 042<br>3, 035<br>1, 385<br>1, 385<br>1, 250<br>166<br>105<br>238<br>67<br>7<br>24<br>18<br>9  | 3, 648<br>3, 129<br>9, 360<br>4, 949<br>2, 721<br>2, 701<br>1, 235<br>643<br>359<br>211<br>144<br>91<br>202<br>52<br>19  | 1, 754<br>1, 436<br>4, 721<br>2, 390<br>1, 367<br>1, 309<br>543<br>328<br>188<br>98<br>81<br>54<br>74<br>20<br>9<br>4<br>6<br>3<br>3<br>3   | 689<br>627<br>1,617<br>1,617<br>903<br>458<br>508<br>252<br>130<br>80<br>52<br>34<br>20<br>41<br>6<br>7<br>13   | 22 267<br>22 282<br>750<br>470<br>286<br>273<br>135<br>65<br>40<br>26<br>15<br>.9<br>25<br>4  | 244<br>252<br>262<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>41<br>42<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>48<br>48<br>48<br>48<br>48<br>48<br>48<br>48<br>48<br>48<br>48<br>48 |
|                                 | 13 under 14 (est.). 14 under 15 (est.). 15 under 20 (est.).  20 under 25. 25 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 60 under 60. 60 under 80. 80 under 90. 90 under 100. 100 under 150. 150 under 250. 250 under 250. 250 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500. 500 under 500. 500 under 500. 500 under 750. 750 under 1,000. 1,000 under 1,500 1,500 under 2,000. 2,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 2,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 5,000. 5,000 and over.  Total, taxable individual returns with net income.   | 21, 648<br>42, 082<br>21, 648<br>10, 121<br>113, 658<br>42, 082<br>21, 648<br>12, 111<br>12, 052<br>5, 502<br>2, 964<br>1, 712<br>429<br>899<br>63<br>445<br>16<br>19<br>5<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>1  | 7, 321<br>4, 656<br>14, 727<br>7, 321<br>4, 237<br>4, 226<br>1, 952<br>1, 055<br>611<br>188<br>383<br>39<br>23<br>15<br>83<br>39<br>23<br>15<br>8<br>15<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10                       | 9, 002<br>27, 355<br>14, 327<br>7, 874<br>7, 826<br>3, 550<br>1, 909<br>1, 101<br>637<br>440<br>279<br>580<br>149<br>60<br>40<br>30<br>8<br>11<br>4<br>1<br>2<br>1<br>2<br>1<br>3<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1  | 20, 750<br>18, 249<br>54, 401<br>28, 899<br>15, 986<br>15, 903<br>7, 248<br>3, 874<br>2, 257<br>1, 330<br>917<br>578<br>1, 168<br>279<br>122<br>107<br>70<br>223<br>222<br>18<br>2<br>8<br>1   | 3, 916<br>3, 528<br>10, 907<br>5, 615<br>3, 042<br>3, 035<br>1, 385<br>238<br>67<br>24<br>18<br>9   | 4, 949<br>2, 721<br>2, 701<br>1, 235<br>643<br>359<br>211<br>144<br>91<br>202<br>52<br>19<br>3<br>5<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>4, 123, 044   | 1, 754<br>1, 436<br>4, 721<br>2, 390<br>1, 367<br>1, 309<br>543<br>326<br>188<br>98<br>81<br>54<br>74<br>200<br>9<br>4<br>6<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>1   | 889<br>627<br>1, 617<br>903<br>458<br>508<br>252<br>252<br>130<br>80<br>52<br>34<br>20<br>41<br>6<br>7<br>13  | 22 267<br>22 282<br>750<br>286<br>273<br>135<br>65<br>40<br>26<br>15<br>9<br>25<br>4<br>1<br>1<br>5<br>4  | 222222222222222222222222222222222222222   |
|                                 | 13 under 14 (est.). 14 under 15 (est.). 15 under 25. 25 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 90. 90 under 100. 100 under 155. 150 under 200. 200 under 255. 250 under 300. 300 under 40. 400 under 500. 500 under 500. 500 under 500. 500 under 750. 750 under 1,000. 1,500 under 1,500 1,500 under 4,000. 4,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 4,000. 5,000 under 4,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 1,500. 5,000 under 5,000. | 19, 544<br>16, 121<br>13, 658<br>42, 082<br>21, 648<br>12, 111<br>12, 052<br>5, 502<br>2, 964<br>429<br>899<br>63<br>45<br>16<br>19<br>5<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>1<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>3<br>45<br>16<br>19<br>5<br>5<br>5<br>5<br>5<br>5<br>5<br>5<br>5<br>5<br>5<br>5<br>5 | 7, 321 4, 237 4, 226 1, 952 1, 055 224 155 234 155 319 83 39 23 15 8 8 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1  | 9, 002<br>27, 356  | 20, 750<br>18, 249<br>54, 401<br>28, 899<br>15, 986<br>15, 903<br>7, 248<br>3, 874<br>2, 257<br>1, 330<br>917<br>578<br>1, 168<br>279<br>122<br>107<br>70<br>23<br>222<br>18<br>8<br>1<br>1<br>26, 619, 204  | 3, 916<br>3, 528<br>10, 907<br>5, 615<br>3, 042<br>3, 035<br>1, 385<br>67, 748<br>434<br>250<br>166<br>105<br>238<br>67, 24<br>18<br>9  | 3, 648<br>3, 129<br>9, 360<br>4, 949<br>2, 721<br>2, 701<br>1, 235<br>643<br>359<br>211<br>144<br>91<br>202<br>52<br>19<br>3<br>5<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>4, 123, 044<br>37, 267<br>22, 389<br>24, 288<br>24, 288<br>24, 288 | 1, 754<br>1, 436<br>4, 721<br>2, 390<br>1, 367<br>1, 309<br>543<br>326<br>188<br>98<br>81<br>54<br>74<br>200<br>9<br>9<br>4<br>6<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1, 909, 398<br>23, 974<br>13, 433<br>10, 991<br>12, 90, 227 | 889<br>627<br>1, 617<br>903<br>458<br>508<br>252<br>130<br>80<br>52<br>34<br>20<br>41<br>6<br>7<br>13<br>   | 22 267<br>22 282<br>750<br>470<br>286<br>273<br>135<br>65<br>40<br>26<br>15<br>9<br>25<br>4<br>1<br>1<br>5<br>4<br>1<br>1<br>2<br>6<br>6<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1 | 22222 223333333333333333333333333333333   |
|                                 | 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 20 (est.)  20 under 25 25 under 30 30 under 40 40 under 50 60 under 60 60 under 60 90 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 250 250 under 250 250 under 30 30 under 40 400 under 50 50 under 30 00 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 750 500 under 750 500 under 750 500 under 500  1,500 under 5,000 1,500 under 5,000 5,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 0,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 0,000   | 19, 544 16, 121 13, 658 42, 082  21, 648 12, 111 12, 052 5, 502 2, 964 1, 712 429 429 829 823 99 63 445 61 19 5 2 2 1  21, 064, 816   532, 733 217, 104 171, 919 118, 457 126, 600  | 7, 321<br>4, 656<br>14, 727<br>7, 321<br>4, 237<br>4, 226<br>1, 952<br>1, 055<br>611<br>385<br>5234<br>150<br>319<br>83<br>39<br>23<br>15<br>8<br>8<br>8<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1                         | 9, 002<br>27, 355<br>14, 327<br>7, 874<br>7, 826<br>3, 550<br>1, 909<br>1, 101<br>637<br>440<br>279<br>580<br>149<br>60<br>40<br>30<br>8<br>11<br>1<br>2<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1, 2<br>1<br>1<br>1, 2<br>1<br>1, 331, 030  | 28, 899<br>15, 986<br>15, 986<br>15, 983<br>7, 248<br>3, 874<br>2, 257<br>1, 330<br>917<br>578<br>1, 168<br>279<br>102<br>107<br>70<br>23<br>22<br>18<br>2<br>2<br>18<br>2<br>2<br>369, 544  | 3, 916<br>3, 528<br>10, 907<br>5, 615<br>3, 042<br>3, 035<br>1, 385<br>1, 385<br>67<br>748<br>434<br>434<br>434<br>166<br>105<br>228<br>67<br>24<br>18<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>5, 769, 763 | 3, 648<br>3, 129<br>9, 360<br>4, 949<br>2, 721<br>2, 701<br>1, 235<br>643<br>359<br>211<br>144<br>91<br>202<br>52<br>19<br>11<br>3<br>5<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>4, 123, 044<br>37, 267<br>22, 389<br>24, 288                 | 1, 754<br>1, 436<br>4, 721<br>2, 390<br>1, 367<br>1, 309<br>543<br>328<br>188<br>98<br>81<br>54<br>74<br>20<br>9<br>4<br>6<br>6<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>1<br>1, 909, 398  | 889<br>627<br>1, 617<br>903<br>458<br>508<br>252<br>130<br>52<br>34<br>20<br>41<br>6<br>7<br>13<br>   | 22 267<br>22 282<br>750<br>286<br>273<br>135<br>65<br>40<br>26<br>15<br>9<br>25<br>4<br>1<br>1<br>5<br>4<br>1<br>1<br>2<br>1<br>2<br>1<br>2<br>1<br>2<br>1<br>2<br>1<br>2<br>1<br>2<br>1<br>2<br>1<br>2             | 2222 223333333333444444444455 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5   |

Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by family relationship—Part I, all returns by net income classes; Part II, returns Form 1040A by gross income classes: Number of returns, number of returns with no dependents, and for returns with dependents: Number of returns, number of exemptions claimed; and for returns in aggregate and for joint returns: Number of returns by number of dependents classes—Continued

[For description of classifications and method of estimating, see pp. 10-13, 106-114]
PART I—ALL RETURNS—Continued

| =  |  | Sepa  | rate returns of h   | usbands and w  | ives <sup>86</sup>   | persons an   | milies—Singl<br>d married per<br>living wit  | -  |
|--|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|
|  | Net income classes<br>(Thousands of dollars)   | Number of returns   | Number of<br>returns with<br>no depend-<br>ents   | Number of<br>returns with<br>dependents  | Number of<br>dependents<br>for whom<br>credit is<br>claimed  | Number of returns  | Number o<br>returns wit<br>no depend<br>ents   | h  |
|  | Taxable individual returns with net income: Form 1040A <sup>15</sup> (est.)  | 1, 813, 63  | 8 1, 194, 551   | 619,087  | 891, 522   | 1, 696, 964  | 936, 39  | 2 1  |
|  | 6 4.5 under 5 (est.) 5 under 6 (est.)  | 138, 26 178, 91 200, 45 220, 23 282, 07 353, 40 267, 10 212, 57 216, 08 336, 76 191, 02 111, 68 73, 70 93, 45 62, 59 47, 19 37, 39 25, 88 21, 20 18, 16                 | 9   | 14, 287 21, 286 34, 745 48, 617 82, 224 99, 781 94, 273 77, 465 87, 135 142, 975 89, 252 48, 259 31, 083 38, 484 25, 707 18, 714 14, 928 13, 210 10, 370 8, 960 7, 752 6, 588 5, 569 | 2, 304<br>8, 728<br>16, 917<br>25, 558<br>44, 509<br>58, 615<br>102, 821<br>124, 886<br>131, 060<br>108, 763<br>125, 381<br>217, 684<br>60, 765<br>40, 862<br>30, 411<br>24, 056<br>22, 080<br>17, 483<br>14, 858<br>11, 293<br>11, 293<br>9, 645<br>34, 051 | 22 5, 349 27, 338 53, 807 85, 764 111, 599 102, 729 101, 830 82, 054 62, 368 52, 541 61, 311 100, 245 53, 924 23, 342 17, 537 15, 580 8, 421 5, 481 4, 373 3, 399 1, 991 1, 655 1, 381 1, 148 965 3, 183 | 23 4, 50<br>20, 31<br>40, 27<br>67, 88<br>84, 63<br>73, 96<br>68, 78<br>51, 61<br>39, 87<br>31, 77<br>68, 24<br>30, 72<br>13, 76<br>9, 21<br>13, 76<br>9, 21<br>14, 14<br>9, 10<br>16, | 1  |
| 28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>44<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50 | 20 under 25 25 under 30 30 under 40 40 under 50 50 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 260 250 under 260 250 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 750 7750 under 500 500 under 250 250 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 750 750 under 750 750 under 1,500 1,500 under 2,000 2,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 5,000 5,000 and over | 24, 149<br>15, 419<br>17, 641<br>9, 315<br>5, 566<br>3, 427<br>2, 310<br>1, 595<br>1, 188<br>2, 690<br>924<br>360<br>188<br>190<br>91<br>102<br>41<br>19<br>6<br>3<br>1 | 13, 103<br>8, 154<br>9, 330<br>4, 871<br>2, 888<br>1, 785<br>1, 221<br>860<br>607<br>1, 449<br>516<br>190<br>99<br>107<br>51<br>62<br>20<br>12<br>4 | 11, 046<br>7, 265<br>8, 311<br>4, 444<br>2, 678<br>1, 642<br>1, 089<br>735<br>581<br>1, 241<br>408<br>170<br>89<br>83<br>40<br>40<br>21<br>7<br>2<br>2                               | 20, 605<br>13, 605<br>15, 830<br>8, 683<br>5, 156<br>3, 262<br>2, 197<br>1, 481<br>1, 182<br>2, 488<br>906<br>348<br>193<br>217<br>79<br>86<br>54<br>20<br>5   | 1,710<br>1,004<br>1,124<br>517<br>292<br>189<br>139<br>74<br>41<br>122<br>42<br>16<br>6<br>8<br>6<br>1   | 1,012   550   641   295   641   295   641   148   101   79   41   23   56   15   10   3   3   4   1   2   1   1  | 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 50 |
| 51   | Total, taxable individual returns with net income.   | 5, 537, 506   | 3, 828, 193   | 1, 709, 313  | 2, 481, 279  | 2, 691, 573  | 1, 600, 420  | 51 COME<br>52 E  |
| 52   | Nontaxable individual returns with net income: 29 Form 1040A 15 (est.) Form 1040:  | 127, 440  | 116, 126  | 11, 314  | 16, 438  | 98, 296  | 54,080   |  |
| 53<br>54<br>55<br>56   | Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 and over (est.)   | 36, 501<br>10, 720<br>(27)<br>(27)  | 33, 381<br>22 9, 093<br>(27)<br>(27)  | 22 3, 120<br>22 1, 627<br>(27)<br>(27)   | 3, 256<br>2, 170<br>(27)<br>(27)   | 21, 710<br>11, 805<br>22 1, 900<br>22 1, 491   | 15, 604<br>22 8, 820<br>(27)<br>(27)   | 53<br>54<br>55<br>56                                     |
| 57   | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income   | 175, 612  | 159, 143  | 16, 469  | 22, 408  | 135, 202   | 79, 995  | 57 44<br>58 5  |
| 58   | Total individual returns, with net income (51+57)  | 5, 713, 118   | 3, 987, 366   | 1, 725, 782  | 2, 503, 687  | 2, 826, 775  | 1,680,415  | 58 J   |

Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by family relationship—Part I, all returns by net income classes; Part II; returns Form 1040A by gross income classes: Number of returns, number of returns with no dependents, and for returns with dependents: Number of returns, number of exemptions claimed; and for returns in aggregate and for joint returns: Number of returns by number of dependents classes—Continued

[For description of classifications and method of estimating, see pp. 10-13, 106-114]

#### PART I-ALL RETURNS-Continued

|  |   | Heads of fan<br>persons and<br>sons not<br>spouse 37—C   | married per-<br>living with   | · Not head  | ls of families—   | Single men and   | women  | II  |
|--|---|--|---|---|---|--|--|---|
|  | Net income classes<br>(Thousands of dollars)  | Number of<br>returns with<br>dependents  | Number of<br>dependents<br>for whom<br>credit is<br>claimed   | Number of returns   | Number of<br>returns with<br>no depend-<br>ents   | Number of<br>returns with<br>dependents  | Number of<br>dependents<br>for whom<br>credit is<br>claimed  | Ę   |
| 1  | Taxable individual returns with net income:<br>Form 1040A <sup>15</sup> (est.)  | 760, 572   | 1, 124, 856   | 7, 176, 261   | 6, 880, 081   | 296, 180   | 405, 132   | 1 2   |
| 2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>27<br>28 | Form 1040: Under 0.75 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 1.75 under 1 (est.) 1. under 1.25 (est.) 1.5 under 1.75 (est.) 1.5 under 1.75 (est.) 1.75 under 2.6 (est.) 2. under 2.25 (est.) 2.5 under 2.5 (est.) 2.5 under 2.75 (est.) 3. under 3.5 (est.) 3. under 3.5 (est.) 4.5 under 4.6 (est.) 4. under 4.5 (est.) 4. under 5 (est.) 5 under 6 (est.) 6 under 7 (est.) 7 under 8 (est.) 8 under 1 (est.) 9 under 10 (est.) 10 under 11 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 16 (est.) 16 under 17 (est.) 17 under 8 (est.) 18 under 19 (est.) 19 under 11 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 20 (est.) 16 under 20 (est.) | (17)<br>21 6, 526<br>13, 536<br>17, 955<br>26, 963<br>28, 762<br>33, 045<br>22, 494<br>20, 803<br>24, 037<br>42, 001<br>23, 196<br>9, 580<br>8, 324<br>6, 574<br>3, 396<br>2, 207<br>1, 942<br>1, 357<br>619<br>483<br>727<br>619<br>483<br>619<br>483<br>619<br>649<br>649<br>649<br>649<br>649<br>649<br>649<br>64 | (27)<br>9, 732<br>19, 124<br>27, 484<br>35, 754<br>34, 951<br>44, 497<br>42, 903<br>34, 392<br>31, 844<br>35, 103<br>67, 797<br>38, 754<br>14, 821<br>11, 272<br>10, 653<br>5, 304<br>3, 304<br>2, 995<br>1, 291<br>1, 120<br>913<br>782<br>669<br>1, 996<br>1, 117 | 63, 783 434, 491 532, 691 509, 160 424, 968 324, 392 250, 037 176, 426 139, 932 97, 814 132, 230 258, 756 135, 054 71, 637 71, 637 71, 637 71, 637 71, 637 9, 987 6, 539 5, 048 4, 144 3, 878 4, 144 3, 878 1, 152 10, 209 6, 123 | 62, 834 425, 583 507, 767 486, 962 404, 313 304, 757 232, 052 163, 582 131, 222 90, 912 122, 096 237, 933 124, 821 66, 357 36, 861 39, 376 22, 966 16, 146 12, 082 9, 381 6, 084 4, 641 3, 830 3, 550 2, 894 9, 407 5, 572 5, 435 | (27)<br>22 8, 908<br>24, 927<br>22, 198<br>20, 655<br>19, 635<br>18, 035<br>12, 844<br>22, 8, 710<br>22, 6, 902<br>10, 134<br>20, 823<br>10, 233<br>10, 233<br>11, 233<br>11, 233<br>11, 233<br>11, 233<br>11, 233<br>11, 233<br>11, 233<br>12, 5, 280<br>22, 641<br>3, 383<br>1, 778<br>1, 362<br>905<br>407<br>407<br>407<br>407<br>407<br>407<br>407<br>408<br>407<br>407<br>407<br>408<br>407<br>407<br>407<br>408<br>407<br>407<br>408<br>408<br>409<br>409<br>409<br>409<br>409<br>409<br>409<br>409 | (27) 12, 105 27, 894 26, 005 25, 640 24, 024 24, 207 18, 310 11, 005 9, 047 15, 365 31, 771 14, 621 7, 207 3, 234 4, 758 2, 384 1, 808 1, 288 828 712 523 413 478 385 1, 101 846 480 | 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 22 22 24 25 27 28 29 |
| 30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44   | 30 under 40. 40 under 60. 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 90. 90 under 100. 100 under 150. 200 under 200. 200 under 200. 200 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500. 500 under 500. 500 under 500.   | 222<br>144<br>88<br>60<br>33<br>18<br>66<br>27<br>6  | 762<br>357<br>243<br>127<br>98<br>55<br>25<br>106<br>63<br>17<br>5<br>6   | 255<br>697<br>213<br>105<br>46<br>53<br>30<br>34  | 705<br>486<br>312<br>221<br>630<br>179<br>95<br>40<br>48<br>29<br>27  | 415<br>219<br>165<br>67<br>72<br>43<br>34<br>67<br>34<br>10<br>6<br>5  | 619<br>355<br>304<br>109<br>132<br>61<br>75<br>127<br>74<br>17<br>13<br>8<br>8<br>3<br>19  | 35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44              |
| 44<br>45<br>46<br>47   | 1,500 under 1,500<br>1,500 under 2,000<br>2,000 under 3,000   |  |   | 6 1 2   | 6   | 1  | 2 1  | 45<br>46<br>47  |
| 47<br>48<br>49   | 3,000 under 4,000   |  |   | -   | -   |  |  | 48<br>49<br>50  |
| 50   | 5,000 and over  |  |   |   |   |  |  | -   |
| 51   | Total, taxable individual returns with net income   | 1,091,153  | 1, 609, 099   | 10, 928, 804  | 10, 427, 125  | 501, 679   | 674, 559   | 51  |
| 52   | Nontaxable individual returns with net income: <sup>20</sup> Form 1040A <sup>15</sup> (est.)  | 44, 216  | 65, 595   | 1, 423, 310   | 1,380,772   | 42, 538  | 58, 706  | 52  |
| 53<br>54<br>55<br>56   | Form 1040:<br>Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)<br>1 and over (est.)   | 22 6, 106<br>22 2, 985<br>(27)<br>(27)   | 10, 312<br>5, 019<br>(27)<br>(27)   | 368, 534<br>13, 840<br>(27)<br>(27)   | 364, 192<br>10, 177<br>(27)   | 22 4, 342<br>22 3, 663<br>(27)<br>(27)   | 5, 564<br>4, 070<br>(27)<br>(27)   | 53<br>54<br>55<br>56  |
| 57   | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income  | 55, 207  | 84, 320   | 1, 806, 227   | 1, 755, 412   | 50, 815  | 68, 748  | 57  |
| - 1  | Total individual returns with net income (51+57)  | 1, 146, 360  | 1, 693, 419   | 12, 735, 031  | 12, 182, 537  | 552, 494   | 743, 307   | 58  |

Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by family relationship—Part I, all returns by net income classes; Part II, returns Form 1040A by gross income classes: Number of returns, number of returns with no dependents, and for returns with dependents: Number of returns, number of exemptions claimed; and for returns in aggregate and for joint returns: Number of returns by number of dependents classes—Continued

[For description of classifications and method of estimating, see pp. 10-13, 106-114]

## PART II-FORM 1040A 18

|                         |   |   |   |  | A   | ggregate   |  |   |   |   |                            |
|-------------------------|---|---|---|--|---|--|--|---|---|---|----------------------------|
|                         |   |   |   | Returns with dependents                                  |   |  |  |   |   |   |                            |
|                         | Gross income classes<br>(Thousands of dollars)  | Number of returns   | Number of<br>returns<br>with no   | returns  | Number of<br>dependents   | Number o   | of returns by  | number o  | f depende   | nts classes   |                            |
|                         |   |   | dependents  | Number<br>of returns                                     | for whom<br>credit is<br>claimed  | One  | Two  | Three   | Four  | Five and over   |                            |
| 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5   | Taxable returns:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  0.75 under 1 (est.)  1 under 1.25 (est.)  1.25 under 1.5 (est.)  1.5 under 1.75 (est.) | 1, 292, 706<br>2, 016, 002<br>2, 276, 468<br>2, 312, 856<br>2, 370, 959 | 1, 180, 480<br>1, 662, 678<br>1, 789, 735<br>1, 681, 189<br>1, 521, 012 | 112, 226<br>353, 324<br>486, 733<br>631, 667<br>849, 947 | 187, 473<br>623, 662<br>919, 340<br>1, 220, 263<br>1, 622, 422          | 71, 837<br>209, 993<br>267, 511<br>331, 246<br>450, 974  | 21, 374<br>76, 657<br>114, 287<br>149, 820<br>207, 645   | 10, 564<br>34, 980<br>52, 469<br>78, 410<br>97, 074     | 22 4, 577<br>14, 908<br>23, 125<br>35, 450<br>44, 750 | 22 3, 874<br>16, 786<br>29, 341<br>36, 741<br>49, 534 | 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6 |
| 7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11 | 2 under 2.25 (est.)<br>2.25 under 2.5 (est.)<br>2.5 under 2.75 (est.)<br>2.75 under 3.75 (est.)   | 1, 841, 692<br>1, 556, 224<br>1, 289, 067<br>1, 068, 628                | 1, 256, 947<br>928, 631<br>707, 216<br>551, 720<br>425, 242             | 878, 195<br>913, 061<br>849, 008<br>737, 347<br>643, 386 | 1, 716, 248<br>1, 868, 613<br>1, 775, 709<br>1, 571, 992<br>1, 373, 164 | 429, 962<br>401, 791<br>353, 549<br>304, 368<br>263, 402 | 241, 058<br>268, 646<br>256, 946<br>215, 007<br>190, 182 | 109, 750<br>132, 405<br>132, 052<br>115, 031<br>97, 541 | 49, 651<br>58, 807<br>57, 867<br>56, 812<br>51, 647   | 47, 774<br>51, 412<br>48, 594<br>46, 129<br>40, 614   | 8<br>9<br>10<br>11         |
| 12                      | Total   | 18, 159, 744  | 11, 704, 850  | 6, 454, 894  | 12, 878, 886  | 3, 084, 633  | 1, 741, 622  | 860, 276  | 397, 564  | 370, 799  | 12                         |
| 13<br>14<br>15<br>16    | Nontaxable returns: 29<br>Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)<br>1 and over (est.)                                   | 1, 600, 593<br>375, 512<br>95, 140<br>110, 534                          | 1, 510, 890<br>279, 836<br>55, 114<br>59, 534                           | 89, 703<br>95, 676<br>40, 026<br>51, 000                 | 145, 334<br>168, 255<br>83, 718<br>112, 976                             | 59, 430<br>58, 044<br>19, 683<br>20, 441                 | 16, 773<br>18, 833<br>22 9, 364<br>14, 156               | 22 7, 950<br>11, 230<br>22 4, 542<br>22 7, 066          | 22 2, 649<br>22 3, 028<br>22 3, 408<br>22 6, 183      | 22 2, 901<br>22 4, 541<br>22 3, 029<br>22 3, 154      | 13<br>14<br>15<br>16       |
| 17                      | Total   | 2, 181, 779   | 1, 905, 374   | 276, 405   | 510, 283  | 157, 598   | 59, 126  | 30, 788   | 15, 268   | 13, 625   | 17                         |
| 18                      | Grand total   | 20, 341, 523  | 13, 610, 224  | 6, 731, 299  | 13, 389, 169  | 3, 242, 231  | 1, 800, 748  | 891, 064  | 412, 832  | 384, 424  | 18                         |

|                         |   |  |  | Jo   | int returns o   | f husbands   | and wives  |  |   |   |                  |
|-------------------------|---|--|--|--|---|--|--|--|---|---|------------------|
| 75845                   | Gross income classes  |  | eturns with no   | Returns with dependents                                  |   |  |  |  |   |   |                  |
| 1                       | (Thousands of dollars)  | Number of returns                            |  | Number   | _  dependents _   | Number of returns by number of dependents classes        |  |  |   |   |                  |
|                         |   |  | dependents   | of returns   | for whom<br>credit is<br>claimed  | One  | Two  | Three  | Four  | Five and over   |                  |
| 1                       | Taxable returns:<br>Under 0.5 (est.)  |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |   |   | 1                |
| 3 4 5 6                 | 0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)<br>1 under 1.25 (est.)<br>1.25 under 1.5 (est.)<br>1.5 under 1.75 (est.) | 421, 629<br>602, 981<br>830, 346<br>911, 456 | 86, 932<br>241, 760<br>318, 055<br>380, 001<br>350, 043  | 47, 468<br>179, 869<br>284, 926<br>450, 345<br>561, 413  | 96, 932<br>388, 142<br>630, 654<br>963, 372<br>1, 229, 178              | 23, 007<br>81, 109<br>124, 775<br>201, 424<br>238, 868   | 11, 432<br>43, 708<br>72, 821<br>114, 286<br>150, 113    | 22 6, 808<br>26, 880<br>40, 496<br>68, 080<br>84, 044  | 22 3, 169<br>12, 795<br>20, 072<br>31, 576<br>41, 318 | 22 3, 052<br>15, 377<br>26, 762<br>34, 979<br>47, 070 | 2<br>3<br>4<br>5 |
| 7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11 | 1.75 under 2 (est.)<br>2 under 2.25 (est.)<br>2.25 under 2.6 (est.)<br>2.5 under 2.75 (est.)<br>2.75 under 3 (est.)   |  | 325, 029<br>290, 994<br>258, 210<br>233, 211<br>209, 591 | 645, 704<br>720, 822<br>703, 719<br>624, 955<br>559, 834 | 1, 395, 178<br>1, 585, 907<br>1, 540, 312<br>1, 390, 298<br>1, 237, 403 | 259, 879<br>269, 857<br>261, 874<br>235, 582<br>212, 223 | 196, 491<br>228, 413<br>225, 279<br>186, 305<br>170, 250 | 97, 777<br>119, 023<br>118, 789<br>106, 111<br>90, 030 | 45, 543<br>54, 347<br>52, 821<br>53, 995<br>48, 595   | 46, 014<br>49, 182<br>44, 956<br>42, 962<br>38, 736   | 8<br>9<br>10     |
| 12                      | Total.  |  | 2, 693, 826  | 4, 779, 055  | 10, 457, 376  | 1, 908, 598  | 1, 399, 098  | 758, 038   | 364, 231  | 349, 090  | 12               |
| 13<br>14<br>15<br>16    | Nontaxable returns: 39  | 195, 074<br>140, 186<br>89, 841<br>107, 632  | 149, 677<br>93, 302<br>53, 301<br>58, 116                | 45, 397<br>46, 884<br>36, 540<br>49, 516                 | 83, 094<br>98, 689<br>77, 877<br>109, 884                               | 28, 769<br>23, 596<br>17, 791<br>20, 062                 | 22 6, 535<br>22 9, 030<br>22 8, 401<br>13, 303           | 22 5; 299<br>22 7, 571<br>22 4, 038<br>22 7, 066       | 22 2, 019<br>22 2, 650<br>22 3, 281<br>22 5, 931      | 22 2, 775<br>22 4, 037<br>22 3, 029<br>22 3, 154      | 14               |
| 17                      | Total   | 532, 733                                     | 354, 396   | 178, 337   | 369, 544  | 90, 218  | 37, 269  | 23, 974  | 13, 881   | 12, 995   | 17               |
| 18                      | Grand total.  | 8, 005, 614                                  | 3, 048, 222  | 4, 957, 392  | 10, 826, 920  | 1,.998, 816  | 1, 436, 367  | 782, 012   | 378, 112  | 362, 085  | 18               |

Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by family relationship—Part I, all returns by net income classes; Part II, returns Form 1040A by gross income classes: Number of returns, number of returns with no dependents, and for returns with dependents: Number of returns, number of exemptions claimed; and for returns in aggregate and for joint returns: Number of returns by number of dependents classes—Continued

[For description of classifications and method of estimating, see pp. 10-13, 106-114]

## PART II—FORM 1040A 18—Continued

|   |  | Separa  | te returns of h   | ives <sup>36</sup>   | Heads of far<br>persons a<br>persons not<br>spouse 37   | nilies—Single<br>nd married<br>living with  |  |   |
|---|--|---|---|--|---|---|--|---|
|   | Gross income classes<br>(Thousands of dollars)   | Number of<br>returns  | Number of<br>returns<br>with no<br>dependents   | Number of<br>returns<br>with<br>dependents   | Number of<br>dependents<br>for whom<br>credit is<br>claimed   | Number of<br>returns  | Number of<br>returns<br>with no<br>dependents  |   |
| 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11 | Taxable returns:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  0.75 under 1 (est.)  1 under 1.25 (est.)  1.25 under 1.5 (est.)  1.5 under 1.5 (est.)  1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  1.75 under 2 (est.)  2 under 2.25 (est.)  2.5 under 2.75 (est.)  2.5 under 2.75 (est.)  Total | 57, 516<br>123, 131<br>147, 430<br>155, 411<br>357, 774<br>295, 797<br>240, 159<br>185, 461<br>144, 964<br>105, 995 | 50, 505<br>105, 672<br>120, 646<br>127, 000<br>220, 220<br>181, 838<br>143, 795<br>106, 841<br>80, 825<br>57, 209 | 22 7, 011<br>17, 459<br>26, 784<br>28, 411<br>137, 554<br>113, 959<br>96, 361<br>78, 620<br>64, 139<br>48, 786 | 10, 848<br>24, 590<br>37, 482<br>38, 749<br>177, 327<br>151, 503<br>139, 434<br>126, 360<br>104, 445<br>80, 784 | 71, 250<br>213, 985<br>276, 664<br>276, 313<br>255, 653<br>205, 533<br>154, 472<br>113, 037<br>76, 062<br>53, 995 | 37, 556<br>116, 493<br>155, 601<br>163, 802<br>139, 565<br>13, 208<br>79, 520<br>61, 215<br>41, 229<br>28, 203 | 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11 |
| 13<br>14<br>15<br>16                                  | Nontaxable returns: <sup>29</sup> Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 and over (est.)   | (27)<br>(27)  | 79, 106<br>36, 904<br>(27)  | 22 5, 687<br>22 4, 861<br>(27)<br>(27)   | 7, 587<br>7, 447<br>(27)<br>(27)<br>16, 438   | 49, 084<br>44, 921<br>22 2, 650<br>22 1, 641<br>98, 296   | 30, 322<br>22, 202<br>(27)<br>(27)<br>(27)<br>54, 080  | 13<br>14<br>15<br>16                                  |
| 17<br>18  | TotalGrand total   | 1, 941, 078   | .1, 310, 677  | 630, 401   | 907, 960  | 1, 795, 260   | 990, 472   | -   |

| and the same of th |  | Head of far<br>persons a<br>persons no<br>spouse 37—6             | nd married t<br>t living with  | Not heads of families—Single men and women   |  |  |  |   |
|--|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|---|
|  | Gross income classes (Thousands of dollars)  | Number of<br>returns<br>with<br>dependents                        | Number of<br>dependents<br>for whom<br>credit is<br>claimed  | Number of returns  | Number of<br>returns<br>with no<br>dependents  | Number of<br>returns<br>with<br>dependents   | Number of<br>dependents<br>for whom<br>credit is<br>claimed  |   |
| 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10  | Taxable returns:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  0.75 under 1 (est.)  1 under 1.25 (est.)  1.5 under 1.5 (est.)  1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  1.75 under 2 (est.)  2 under 2.25 (est.)  2.5 under 2.5 (est.)  2.5 under 2.5 (est.)  2.5 under 3.5 (est.)  2.5 under 3.5 (est.)  2.5 under 3.5 (est.) | 33, 694<br>97, 492<br>121, 063<br>112, 511<br>116, 088<br>92, 325 | 48, 959<br>135, 946<br>178, 620<br>160, 933<br>168, 198<br>134, 174<br>114, 454<br>86, 385<br>56, 165<br>41, 022 | 1, 029, 540<br>1, 257, 257<br>1, 249, 393<br>1, 050, 786<br>846, 076<br>663, 079<br>435, 245<br>295, 797<br>209, 875<br>139, 213 | 1, 005, 487<br>1, 198, 753<br>1, 195, 433<br>1, 010, 386<br>811, 184<br>636, 872<br>414, 322<br>280, 950<br>196, 455<br>130, 239 | 24, 053<br>58, 504<br>53, 960<br>40, 400<br>34, 892<br>26, 207<br>20, 923<br>14, 847<br>13, 420<br>22 8, 974 | 20, 734<br>74, 984<br>72, 584<br>57, 209<br>47, 719<br>35, 393<br>28, 818<br>22, 652<br>21, 084<br>13, 955 | 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10 |
| 12   | Total  | 760, 572  | 1, 124, 856  | 7, 176, 261  | 6, 880, 081  | 296, 180   | 405, 132   | 12  |
| 13<br>14<br>15<br>16   | Nontaxable returns: 29   | 18, 762<br>22, 719<br>21, 765<br>(27)                             | 26, 672<br>34, 459<br>2, 650<br>1, 814   | 1, 271, 642<br>148, 640<br>22 2, 019<br>22 1, 009  | 1, 251, 785<br>127, 428<br>(27)<br>(27)  | 19, 857<br>21, 212<br>21, 091<br>(27)  | 27, 981<br>27, 660<br>2, 309<br>( <sup>17</sup> )  | 13<br>14<br>15<br>16                            |
| 17   | Total.   | 44, 216   | 65, 595  | 1, 423, 310  | 1, 380, 772  | 42, 538  | 58, 706  | 1   |
| 18   | Grand total  | 804, 788  | 1, 190, 451  | 8, 599, 571  | 8, 260, 853  | 338, 718   | 463, 838   | 18  |

## SOURCES OF INCOME AND DEDUCTIONS

Income from the various sources tabulated in this report is the net amount, that is, the excess of gross receipts over the deductions as reported in the schedules on the returns, and the aggregate tabulated for each source is the sum of the net amounts of income from that source, except that "Salaries, wages, etc.," and "Other income," tabulated for returns, Form 1040A, are gross amounts. Dividends, interest, and annuities being reported in one sum on Form 1040A, cannot be tabulated in their proper sources inasmuch as none can be separated; therefore, the combined amount is tabulated as other income. Negative amounts reported under "Income" on Forms 1040 and 1041 are transferred in tabulation to deductions, and are included in the amount tabulated for a specific deduction or in other deductions.

Deductions are reported only on returns, Forms 1040 and 1041. A deduction for contributions, for medical expenses, or for a net loss from sales of capital assets is allowable only in the event that it meets specified limitations involving a net income computation as explained subsequently in the descriptions of these deduction items. Where the result of the computation is a deficit, the deduction is not allowable. However, for purposes of this report, the returns are not edited to ascertain whether or not these deductions conform to the specified limitation and there are some instances, particularly among returns with no net income, where the amount reported exceeds the limitation.

Composite data pertaining to sources of income and deductions for taxable individual and fiduciary returns, Forms 1040 and 1041, and data for nontaxable individual returns, Form 1040, with net income, are tabulated by net income classes in basic table 4, which also presents the composite aggregate for the taxable individual and fiduciary returns, Forms 1040 and 1041, with no net income, as well as aggregates for taxable and nontaxable individual returns, Form 1040A, and for nontaxable individual returns, Form 1040, with no net income. Data similar to those in basic table 4, are tabulated separately for individual returns and for taxable fiduciary returns in basic tables 4–A and 4–B, respectively. Basic table 9 shows the sources of income reported on individual returns, Form 1040A, tabulated by taxable and nontaxable returns and by size of gross income.

A frequency distribution for "Salaries, wages, etc.," may be obtained from the tabulation for patterns of income on pages 90-92, for "Net gain or loss from sales of capital assets" from basic tables 5 and 5-A presenting data for such gains and losses, and for "Medical, dental, etc., expenses" reported on returns, Form 1040, from the text table on pages 101-102.

The following table shows each source of income and deduction, as reported on the individual returns and on the taxable fiduciary returns, tabulated by returns with net income or with no net income.

Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, 1943, by returns with net income and with no net income: Number of returns, sources of income, deductions, and net income or deficit

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

#### [Money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |   | Individu                                  | al returns                     |                               | fiduciary<br>urns     |
|--|---|---|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|-----------------------|
| Sources of income and deductions   | Total                                     | With net income                           | With no<br>net<br>income 12    | With net income               | With no net income 12 |
| Total number of returns  | 43, 819, 194                              | 43, 506. 553                              | 215, 485                       | 95, 903                       | 1, 253                |
| Sources of income: Salaries, wages, etc. Dividends from domestic and foreign cor-  | 82, 754, 673                              | 82, 713, 697                              | 40, 975                        |                               |                       |
| porations 38<br>Interest: 39   | 3, 105, 230                               | 2, 751, 284                               | 28, 550                        | 318, 401                      | 6, 996                |
| Bank deposits, notes, mortgages, cor-<br>poration bonds  | 807, 636                                  | 732, 655                                  | 9, 597                         | 63, 893                       | 1, 492                |
| ligations ** Taxable Government obligations ** Annuities   | 126, 829                                  | 76, 577<br>65, 130<br>125, 113            | 903<br>892<br>1, 716           | 8, 173<br>11, 152             | 120                   |
| Net gain from sales of capital assets 42.  Net gain from sales of property other than  | 892, 530                                  | 785, 156                                  | 9, 814                         | 97, 238                       | 322                   |
| capital assets <sup>43</sup> Rents and royalties (profit) <sup>44</sup> Business profit <sup>46</sup> Partnership profit <sup>46</sup> | 1 880 444                                 | 76, 254<br>1, 779, 761<br>11, 018, 336    | 698<br>33, 052<br>22, 657      | 1, 445<br>65, 844<br>45, 359  | 1, 787<br>1, 56       |
| Partnership profit 46  | 839, 394                                  | 5, 093, 021<br>818, 005<br>579, 223       | 15, 124<br>5, 453<br>1, 435    | 44, 576<br>15, 795<br>12, 001 | 140<br>140<br>193     |
| Total income   |   | ·   | 170, 866                       | 653, 876                      | 11, 519               |
| Deductions:  Net loss from sales of capital assets 49  Net loss from sales of property other than                                      | 203, 151                                  | 189, 718                                  | 10, 065                        | 2, 928                        | 440                   |
| capital assets <sup>43</sup> Business loss <sup>45</sup> Partnership loss <sup>46</sup> Contributions <sup>49</sup>                    | 123, 972<br>373, 845<br>60, 517           | .74, 124<br>213, 394<br>41, 361           | 48, 778<br>159, 363<br>18, 761 | 1,008<br>1,072<br>354         | 63<br>16<br>42        |
| Interest paid si Taxes paid si Losses from fire, storm, shipwreck, etc., or  | 1, 836, 006<br>1, 065, 600<br>2, 147, 179 | 1, 830, 363<br>1, 038, 883<br>2, 108, 792 | 5, 643<br>17, 224<br>20, 393   | 8, 286<br>16, 809             | 1, 207<br>1, 185      |
| theft 51 52  | 139, 970<br>799, 573<br>1, 116, 782       | 118, 355<br>785, 047<br>1, 004, 315       | 21, 615<br>14, 526<br>80, 182  | 31, 077                       | 1, 207                |
| Total deductions Amount distributable to beneficiaries   | 7, 866, 595<br>254, 597                   | 7. 404, 352                               | 396, 550                       | 61, 534<br>246, 576           | 4, 160<br>8, 022      |
| Net income or deficit  | 20 99, 359, 282                           | 99, 209, 862                              | 19 225, 683                    | 375, 766                      | 19 663                |

For footnotes, see pp. 103-105.

Salaries, wages, etc., reported on individual returns include salaries, wages, fees, bonuses, commissions, compensation of officers and employees of State and local governments or any agency or instrumentality thereof, as well as pensions and retirement pay upon which a tax is withheld. Military and naval personnel exclude from gross income compensation not exceeding \$1,500 for active service during the war in the military or naval forces of the United States or the other United Nations. The compensation tabulated in this report for individuals and partners who received during the taxable year compensation or back pay for personal services, covering 36 calendar months or more, is the proportionate amount which would have been reported on the return for 1943 if the compensation had been received

79

in equal portions in each of the years for which the personal service was rendered. According to section 107 of the Internal Revenue Code as amended, the tax attributable to such compensation and back pay shall not exceed the aggregate of taxes which would have been due had the compensation been received in equal portions in each of the years for which the personal service was rendered. The compensation tabulated for 1943 is the portion to which 1943 tax rates are applied, and the compensation and tax allocated to prior years are not included in this report nor in Statistics of Income, Part 1, for prior years.

STATISTICS OF INCOME FOR 1943, PART 1

Dividends from domestic and foreign corporations include dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations issued on or after March 28, 1942, but exclude such dividends on prior issues and dividends of all kinds received through partnerships and

fiduciaries.

Interest on bank deposits, notes, mortgages, and corporation bonds is the interest received or accrued from these sources, but unlike last year, the amortizable bond premium for the taxable year on corporation bonds is not deducted, even though the taxpayer elected to report on that basis. (The deduction is reported in other deductions.)

Partially tax-exempt interest is that received on certain Government obligations issued prior to March 1, 1941, namely, United States savings bonds and Treasury bonds owned in principal amount over \$5,000 and obligations of instrumentalities of the United States other than Federal land banks, Federal intermediate credit banks, or joint stock land banks. Unlike last year, this item includes dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations issued prior to March 28, 1942, which are also partially tax-exempt. The reported amount, which also includes such interest and dividends received through partnerships and fiduciaries, is not subject to normal tax or victory tax. The deduction for amortizable bond premium for the taxable year has been deducted from the interest received where the taxpayer elects to report on that basis.

Taxable interest on Government obligations is that received on Treasury notes issued on or after December 1, 1940, United States savings bonds, and other obligations of the United States or any instrumentality thereof issued on or after March 1, 1941. The reported amount excludes such interest received through partnerships, estates, and trusts, and it has no exemption from the income tax or victory tax. The amortizable bond premium has been deducted

where the taxpayer elects to report on that basis.

Annuities reported as income on individual returns are only the taxable portion of amounts received under an annuity or endowment contract. Amounts received to the extent of 3 percent of the total cost of the annuity are reported as income for each taxable year, until the aggregate of amounts received and excluded from gross income in this and prior years equals the total premiums or consideration paid. Thereafter, the entire amount received is taxable and must be reported in gross income.

Net gain or net loss from sales of capital assets is the amount reported for the computation of net income whether or not the alternative tax is imposed. It is a combination of net short- and long-term capital

gain and loss the computation of which includes the net capital loss carried over from 1942. If the combination of net short- and longterm capital gain and loss and the carry-over results in a net gain, the amount thereof is included in total income; if the combination results in a net loss the deduction for the current year is limited to the net loss, or to \$1,000, or to the net income computed without regard to capital gains or losses, whichever is smallest. The allowable deduction may consist wholly of current year capital loss; or wholly of carry-over; or partly of current year capital loss and partly of carryover, depending on the circumstances. Certain details of the net gain and net loss from sales or exchanges of capital assets are shown in basic tables 5 and 5-A and are discussed on pp. 98-100.

The term "capital assets" means property held by the taxpayer (whether or not connected with his trade or business), but not (1) stock in trade or other property which would properly be included in inventory if on hand at the close of the taxable year, (2) property held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of trade or business, (3) property used in trade or business of a character which is subject to the allowance for depreciation, (4) an obligation of the United States or any possession thereof, or of a State or Territory or any political subdivision thereof, or the District of Columbia, issued on or after March 1, 1941, on a discount basis and payable without interest at a fixed maturity date not exceeding 1 year from date of issue, or (5) real property used in trade or business.

For the purpose of computing net gain or loss from sales or exchanges of capital assets the law distinguishes between short- and long-term capital gain and loss and provides different rules for the treatment of each. The distinction between short- and long-term gain and loss is based on the length of time that the asset is held before the sale or exchange. Short-term applies to the gain or loss resulting from the sale or exchange of a capital asset held for not more than 6 months, and 100 percent of the recognized gain or loss thereon is taken into account in computing net short-term capital gain or loss. Long-term applies to the gain or loss resulting from the sale or exchange of a capital asset held for more than 6 months, and 50 percent of the recognized gain or loss thereon is taken into account in computing

net long-term capital gain or loss.

Under certain circumstances, property used in trade or business, which is not a capital asset (defined in (3) and (5) above) may be treated as a capital asset. This category includes such property as land, buildings, and depreciable property if used in business and if held more than 6 months. If the recognized gains from the sales or exchanges and from the involuntary conversions (through seizure, condemnation, destruction, or fire) of property in this category plus the recognized gains from involuntary conversions of any capital assets held more than 6 months are greater than the recognized losses from such sales, exchanges, and conversions, then the net gain is to be treated as a long-term capital gain. If the recognized losses are greater than the recognized gains, the net loss is not considered a capital loss but is deductible in full.

If bonds in registered or coupon form and corporate stocks become worthless during the year and are capital assets, the loss therefrom is considered as from the sales or exchanges of capital assets; also, a 80

nonbusiness debt which becomes totally worthless within the year is considered a loss from the sale of a capital asset held not more than 6 months: and certain distributions under employees' trust plans, as specified under section 165(b), to the extent that the distributions exceed the amount contributed by the employee, are considered a gain from the sale or exchange of a capital asset held more than 6 months.

The amounts reported as net gain or loss from sales of capital assets include the net short- and long-term capital gain and loss to be taken into account from partnerships and common trust funds. The net gain from sales of capital assets is not subject to the victory tax, neither is the net loss therefrom deductible in computing the victory

tax net income.

Net gain or loss from sales of property other than capital assets is the net gain or loss from sales or exchanges of: Property used in trade or business of a character which is subject to the allowance for depreciation; obligations of the United States or any of its possessions, a State or Territory or any political subdivision thereof, or the District of Columbia, issued on or after March 1, 1941, on a discount basis and payable without interest at a fixed maturity date not exceeding 1 year from date of issue; and real property used in the trade or business of the taxpaver.

Rents and royalties are, in general, the net profits received from these sources. Depreciation, repairs, interest, taxes, and other expenses, insofar as the instructions on the return are observed by taxpayers, have been deducted from the gross rent received, and depletion from the gross royalties received. The net loss reported from these sources

is tabulated in other deductions.

Business profit or business loss is the current year net profit or loss from business or profession, reported by sole proprietors, and is obtained by deducting cost of goods and other business expenses from total receipts shown in the business schedule. Sole proprietors who have Government contracts report a deduction with respect to amortization of emergency facilities based on a period of 60 months, provided the prescribed election is made. Compensation of the proprietor is not allowed as a deduction. The net operating loss deduction is not taken as a business deduction; however, it is an allowable deduction against total income and is reported on the return in other deductions. The business activity of sole proprietors for 1943 is classified by industrial groups in the text table on pages 95-96.

Partnership profit or partnership loss, reported on the income tax return of the partner, excludes partially tax-exempt interest on Government obligations and net gain or loss from sales or exchanges of capital assets, each of which is reported in its respective source of income or deduction. This item also excludes dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations issued prior to March 28, 1942, which are reported in the schedule for interest on Government obligations. In computing partnership profit or loss, charitable contributions are not deductible nor is the net operating loss deduction allowed. However, the pro rata shares of contributions and of prior vear income and losses of the partnership are taken into account by each partner in determining his own contributions and net operating loss deduction.

Income from fiduciaries, reported on the income tax return of the beneficiary, excludes partially tax-exempt interest on Government obligations and dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations issued prior to March 28, 1942, both of which are reported in the schedule for interest on Government obligations. The net operating loss deduction is allowed to estates and trusts and is deducted in computing the income to be distributed by the fiduciary.

Other income includes alimony received, earnings of minors, prizes, sweepstake winnings, gambling profits, and all other taxable income or profit for which an entry is not provided on the return. The amount of dividends, interest, and annuities reported in one sum on the individual returns, Form 1040A, is tabulated as other income.

Total income in this report is the sum of the positive amounts reported under "Income" on the returns and tabulated as "Sources of income." Net gain from sales or exchanges of capital assets is included in total income to the extent provided by law, regardless of whether the net income is taxed at the normal tax and surtax rates or is subjected to the alternative tax. The method of computing the amount of capital gain reported in total income is described under that source.

Contributions are those made by individuals filing Form 1040, to organizations created or organized in the United States or possessions thereof, or under the law of the United States, or of any State, Territory, or possession of the United States, and operated for religious, charitable, scientific, literary, educational, or public purposes. Individuals who are members of a partnership may include in their personal return the pro rata share of contributions made by the partnership. The amount of charitable contributions allowed as a deduction is limited, in general, to 15 percent of the individual's net income computed without benefit of this deduction or the deduction for medical and dental expenses.

Interest paid is that paid on personal indebtedness and excludes amounts deducted in schedules for business or profession and for

rents and royalties.

Taxes paid exclude (1) taxes assessed against local benefits, (2) Federal income taxes, (3) estate, inheritance, legacy, succession, and gift taxes, (4) taxes imposed upon the taxpayer's interest as shareholder of a corporation, which are paid by the corporation without reimbursement from the taxpayer, (5) income taxes paid to a foreign country or possession of United States if any portion thereof is claimed as a tax credit, (6) taxes deducted in the schedules for rents and royalties and for business or profession, and (7) Federal social security and employment taxes paid by or for an employee.

Losses from fire, storm, shipwreck, or other casualty, or theft are those not compensated for by insurance or otherwise, tabulated from individual returns, Form 1040, and exclude amounts reported in schedules for business or profession and for rents and royalties. Similar losses allowed on fiduciary returns, Form 1041, are reported in other deduc-

tions.

Medical, dental, etc., expenses are allowed as a deduction from the total income of individuals filing on Form 1040. This deduction is allowed for expenses paid during the taxable year, not compensated for by insurance or otherwise, for medical care of the taxpayer, his spouse, or a dependent. Such expenses include amounts paid for diagnosis, cure, treatment, or prevention of disease, or to alleviate a defect, as well as amounts paid for hospital, health, and accident insurance. The deduction is limited to the amount of such expenses in excess of 5 percent of the net income computed without regard to this deduction. The maximum deduction on a joint return of husband and wife or on a return of the head of a family is \$2,500, and for all other individuals, \$1,250. On pages 101–102 there is a tabulation showing medical expenses and net income by income classes, from which the entire medical cost may be computed for individuals who reported a deduction for this expense.

Other deductions include certain bad debts; amortizable bond premium on corporation bonds; net operating loss deduction due to the unabsorbed net operating loss of the two preceding taxable years from business, partnership, and common trust fund; expenses incurred for the production of taxable income or for the management and maintenance of property held for the production of taxable income; the net loss from rents and royalties reported in sources of income; alimony paid reported on individual returns; losses from fire, storm, shipwreck, etc., reported on fiduciary returns; and other authorized deductions for which no entry is provided on the return. Gambling losses in excess of the gains from such transactions are not allowed.

Total deductions are the sum of the deductions reported on the return and the negative amounts reported under income, which amounts have been transferred to a specific deduction or to other deductions. The net loss from sales or exchanges of capital assets included in total deductions does not exceed \$1,000 or the net income, whichever is smaller. The method of computing this loss is described on page 79. Deductions do not include personal exemption or credit of \$100 allowed a trust in lieu thereof, credit for dependents, earned income credit allowed individuals, or the amount distributable to

beneficiaries reported on fiduciary returns. Amount distributable to beneficiaries tabulated from taxable fiduciary returns, Form 1041, is a deduction allowed in computing the net income of estates and trusts, consisting of (1) a deduction without limitation, in lieu of the deduction allowed individuals, for amounts paid to or permanently set aside for organizations operated exclusively for religious, charitable, scientific, literary, educational, or public purposes, and (2) the amount of income for the taxable year which is to be distributed currently to beneficiaries and the amount to be held or distributed as the court may direct. Such distributable amounts, not taxable to the fiduciary, are to be included in computing the net income of the beneficiary whether actually distributed or not. Consequently, the amount distributable to beneficiaries shown on these taxable fiduciary returns is reported on the income tax returns of individuals who are beneficiaries and on fiduciary returns filed for estates and trusts which are recipients of an amount distributable, if such individuals and fiduciaries are required to file a return. On the income tax return of each beneficiary (individual or fiduciary), the respective share of the amount distributable to beneficiaries is reported in "Income from fiduciaries" except that partially tax-exempt interest on Government obligations and dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations are reported apart in order

that they may be excluded, along with other similar items, for normal tax purposes. Thus, in tables showing composite data from individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, there is some duplication in these sources and in "Total income," insofar as they were distributable from taxable fiduciary returns. However, the duplication is only a negligible percent of the total income. It is impossible to determine the exact amount of duplication because (1) every beneficiary may not be required to file a return, (2) data for returns, Form 1040, with net income under \$20,000 are estimated on the basis of samples, and (3) data are not tabulated from returns of (a) charitable organizations, (b) nonresident aliens not engaged in trade or business within the United States, or (c) nontaxable fiduciaries some of which show an amount distributable to beneficiaries (individuals or fiduciaries) whose returns are included in this report, while other nontaxable fiduciary returns may show the receipt of an amount distributable from the taxable fiduciary returns which are tabulated in this report.

The following table, prepared from individual returns exclusively, shows, for a limited number of net income classes, the sources of income, total income, deductions, and net income, followed by a percentage distribution based on total income.

Individual returns, 1943; returns with net income by net income classes and returns with no net income in aggregate: Number of returns, sources of income, deductions, and net income or deficit

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |   | Sources of income   |   |   |  |  |  |  |  |
|--|---|---|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|
|  |   |   |   |   | Interest 29  |  |  |  |  |
| Net income classes   | Number of returns   | ·   | Dividends<br>from do-   | Bank de-  | Government obligation  |  |  |  |  |
|  | i etui iis  | Salaries,<br>wages, etc.  | mestic and<br>foreign<br>corpora-<br>tions 35   | posits,<br>notes,<br>mortgages,<br>corporation<br>bonds   | Partially tax-ex- empt 40 (subject to surtax only)   | Taxable 41<br>(subject to<br>normal tax,<br>surtax, and<br>victory tax)                                      |  |  |  |
| Returns with net income: Form 1040A <sup>15</sup> (est.) Form 1040:  | 20, 341, 523  | 30, 903, 272  | (55)  | (55)  | (65)   | (55)   |  |  |  |
| Form 1040:  Under 5 (est.) 5 under 10 (est.) 10 under 15 (est.) 15 under 20 (est.) 20 under 25. 25 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 150. 150 under 300. 300 under 500. 500 under 1,000 1,000 and over | 230, 655<br>100, 714<br>53, 630<br>84, 782<br>24, 867<br>4, 408<br>2, 294 | 44, 075, 894<br>4, 101, 482<br>1, 094, 667<br>624, 267<br>418, 071<br>897, 424<br>423, 139<br>95, 519<br>59, 769<br>12, 947<br>6, 143<br>1, 103 | 682, 428<br>409, 946<br>253, 269<br>185, 028<br>141, 527<br>410, 093<br>306, 783<br>119, 149<br>110, 646<br>44, 710<br>49, 964<br>37, 742 | 382, 360<br>122, 440<br>57, 918<br>36, 843<br>25, 886<br>57, 577<br>29, 077<br>8, 633<br>6, 910<br>2, 511<br>1, 766 | 30, 390<br>12, 156<br>6, 849<br>5, 019<br>3, 478<br>9, 108<br>5, 521<br>1, 117<br>1, 229<br>1, 540 | 22, 884<br>9, 301<br>5, 621<br>4, 189<br>3, 158<br>8, 843<br>5, 809<br>1, 973<br>1, 805<br>783<br>611<br>153 |  |  |  |
| Total<br>Returns with no net income 12   | 43, 506, 553  | 82, 713, 697  | 2, 751, 284   | 732, 655  | 76, 577  | 65, 130  |  |  |  |
| (est.)   | 215, 485  | 4(), 975  | 28, 550   | 9, 597  | 903  | 892  |  |  |  |
| Grand total, indi-<br>vidual returns   | 43, 722, 038  | 82, 754, 673  | 2, 779, 833   | 742, 252  | 77, 480  | 66, 022  |  |  |  |

For footnotes, see pp. 103-105.

Individual returns, 1943; returns with net income by net income classes and returns with no net income in aggregate: Number of returns, sources of income, deductions, and net income or deficit—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  | So   | urces of inco  | me—Continu   | ed   |
|--|--|--|--|--|
| Net income classes   | Annuities  | Net gain<br>from sales<br>of capital<br>assets 42  | Net gain<br>from sales<br>of property<br>other than<br>capital<br>assets 43                      | Rents and<br>royalties "<br>(profit)   |
| Returns with net income: Form 1040A 115 (est.) Form 1040: Under 5 (est.) 5 under 10 (est.) 10 under 15 (est.) 20 under 20 (est.) 25 under 50 50 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 300 300 under 500 500 under 1,000 1,000 and over  Total Returns with no net income 12 (est.) | 2, 298<br>5, 403<br>3, 281<br>934<br>654<br>283<br>141<br>64<br>125, 113<br>1, 716 | 200, 576<br>116, 633<br>64, 428<br>45, 899<br>32, 285<br>93, 278<br>69, 012<br>36, 180<br>43, 188<br>21, 410<br>39, 108<br>23, 160<br>785, 156<br>9, 814 | 54, 221<br>11, 286<br>4, 084<br>2, 061<br>1, 309<br>2, 230<br>704<br>111<br>144<br>9<br>68<br>26 | 1, 194, 337<br>249, 230<br>96, 947<br>57, 341<br>35, 528<br>77, 654<br>37, 694<br>11, 774<br>13, 433<br>2, 642<br>1, 270<br>1, 911<br>1, 779, 761<br>33, 052 |
| Grand total, individual returns  | 126, 829   | 794, 970   | 76, 952  | 1, 812, 813  |

|   |  | Sources  | of income—C  | Continued  |  |
|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| Net income classes  | Business<br>profit 45  | Partner-<br>ship<br>profit *6  | Income<br>from fidu-<br>ciaries 47   | Other<br>income 49   | Total<br>income  |
| Returns with net income:  Form 1040A <sup>16</sup> (est.)  Form 1040:  Under 5 (est.)  5 under 10 (est.)  10 under 15 (est.)  20 under 25 (est.)  25 under 25  55 under 100  100 under 150  150 under 300  300 under 500  500 under 500 | 802, 714<br>453, 809<br>288, 624<br>597, 462<br>285, 933<br>88, 427<br>79, 478 | 1, 125, 820<br>905, 599<br>569, 594<br>409, 559<br>299, 806<br>824, 916<br>544, 555<br>180, 460<br>142, 897<br>52, 290<br>23, 276<br>14, 250 | 169, 594<br>127, 876<br>74, 429<br>56, 797<br>44, 095<br>125, 008<br>93, 805<br>38, 381<br>39, 006<br>18, 711<br>22, 889<br>7, 414 | 183, 141<br>279, 173<br>49, 739<br>16, 129<br>11, 526<br>7, 507<br>16, 529<br>8, 443<br>2, 672<br>2, 090<br>1, 413<br>857<br>4 | 31, 086, 41 54, 776, 249 8, 033, 334 3, 052, 905 1, 896, 115 1, 303, 572 3, 125, 525 1, 813, 757 585, 329 501, 251 184, 124 161, 212 94, 427 |
| Total   | 11, 018, 336<br>22, 657  | 5, 093, 021<br>15, 124   | 818, 005<br>5, 453   | 579, 223<br>1, 435   | 106, 614, 214<br>170, 866  |
| Grand total, individual returns   | 11, 040, 994   | 5, 108, 145  | 823, 459   | 580, 658   | 106, 785, 080  |

For footnotes, see p. 103-105.

Individual returns, 1943; returns with net income by net income classes and returns with no net income in aggregate: Number of returns, sources of income, deductions, and net income or deficit—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| _   |  |  |  | Deduction   | 18   |   |  |
|---|--|--|--|---|--|---|--|
| Net income classes  | Net loss<br>from sales<br>of capital<br>assets 49                      | Net loss<br>from sales<br>of prop-<br>erty other<br>than<br>capital<br>assets 42 | Business<br>loss 45  | Partner-<br>ship<br>loss 46   | Contribu-<br>tions <sup>80</sup>   | Interest<br>paid <sup>81</sup>  | Taxes<br>paid *1   |
| Returns with net income: Form 1040A <sup>18</sup> (est.) Form 1040: Under 5 (est.) 5 under 10 (est.) 10 under 15 (est.) 20 under 25 25 under 50 5 under 100 | 115, 081<br>32, 890<br>14, 182<br>7, 740<br>5, 077<br>9, 689<br>3, 718 | 41, 837<br>11, 010<br>4, 358<br>3, 805<br>1, 968<br>5, 395<br>2, 980             | 122, 762<br>24, 101<br>12, 625<br>7, 778<br>6, 498<br>17, 043<br>11, 154 | 18, 599<br>7, 199<br>3, 304<br>1, 806<br>1, 627<br>3, 509<br>2, 765 | 1, 382, 878<br>166, 855<br>58, 963<br>36, 910<br>25, 698<br>63, 634<br>43, 540 | 817, 173<br>103, 405<br>33, 781<br>19, 359<br>12, 459<br>26, 855<br>13, 819 | 1, 549, 392<br>210, 631<br>79, 249<br>50, 117<br>35, 587<br>86, 992<br>52, 390 |
| 100 under 150<br>150 under 300<br>300 under 500<br>500 under 1,000<br>1,000 and over  | 783<br>401<br>100<br>49<br>7   | 990<br>851<br>270<br>154<br>506  | 3, 531<br>3, 678<br>1, 301<br>1, 474<br>1, 450                           | 1, 038<br>680<br>613<br>219   | 17, 188<br>15, 539<br>6, 661<br>7, 604<br>4, 891                               | 5, 556<br>3, 907<br>1, 313<br>916<br>341                                    | 17, 708<br>15, 557<br>4, 924<br>3, 911<br>2, 332                               |
| Total<br>Returns with no net income 12<br>(est.)  | 189, 718<br>10, 065  | 74, 124<br>48, 778   | 213, 394<br>159, 363   | 41, 361<br>18, 761  | 1, 830, 363<br>5, 643  | 1, 038, 883<br>17, 224  | 2, 108, 792<br>20, 393   |
| Grand total, indi-<br>vidual returns  | 199, 783   | 122, 901   | 372, 757   | 60, 122   | 1, 836, 006  | 1, 056, 107   | 2, 129, 185  |

|   |  | Deduction   | s—Continue   | ed  |   |
|---|--|---|--|---|---|
| Net income classes  | Losses<br>from fire,<br>storm,<br>etc. 51 52                                     | Medical,<br>dental,<br>etc., ex-<br>penses 53                                       | Other<br>deduc-<br>tions 4   | Total de-<br>ductions   | Net income  |
| Returns with net income: Form 1040A <sup>15</sup> (est.)  |  |   |  |   | 31, 086, 418  |
| Form 1040:  Under 5 (est.) 5 under 10 (est.) 10 under 15 (est.) 15 under 20 (est.) 20 under 25 25 under 50 50 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 300 300 under 500 500 under 1,000 | 10, 178<br>2, 742<br>1, 378<br>979<br>2, 015<br>1, 159<br>379<br>227<br>94<br>77 | 725, 331<br>39, 590<br>9, 630<br>4, 106<br>2, 216<br>3, 431<br>635<br>74<br>31<br>3 | 726, 763<br>98, 299<br>42, 743<br>26, 116<br>17, 123<br>43, 590<br>24, 903<br>9, 201<br>8, 349<br>3, 163<br>2, 771<br>1, 292 | 5, 598, 943<br>704, 157<br>261, 580<br>159, 115<br>109, 233<br>262, 154<br>157, 064<br>49, 219<br>18, 442<br>17, 176<br>10, 823 | 49, 177, 306<br>7, 329, 177<br>2, 791, 325<br>1, 737, 001<br>1, 194, 333<br>2, 863, 371<br>1, 656, 694<br>528, 882<br>452, 032<br>165, 682<br>144, 036<br>83, 605 |
| TotalReturns with no net income 12 (est.)   |  | 785, 047<br>14, 526   | 1, 004, 315<br>80, 182   | 7, 404, 352<br>396, 550   | 99, 209, 862<br>19 225, 683   |
| Grand total, individual returns   | 139, 970   | 799, 573  | 1, 084, 497  | 7, 800, 902   | 20 98, 984, 178   |

Individual returns, 1943; returns with net income by net income classes and returns with no net income in aggregate: Percentage distribution of sources of income, deductions, and net income, based on total income

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6–13, 106-114]

|  |  | So   | urces of inco   | me  |   |
|--|--|--|---|---|---|
|  |  |  |   | Interest 30   |   |
| Net income classes   |  | Dividends  | 703   | Governmen   | t obligations   |
| (Thousands of dollars)   | Salaries,<br>wages, etc.   | from<br>domestic<br>and foreign<br>corpo-<br>rations 38  | Bank<br>deposits,<br>notes,<br>mortgages,<br>corpo-<br>ration<br>bonds                                      | Partially<br>tax-<br>exempt 40<br>(subject to<br>surtax<br>only)                              | Taxable 41 (subject to normal tax, surtax, and victory tax)   |
| Returns with net income:<br>Form 1040A 15 (est.)   | 99.41  | (55)   | (55)  | (55)  | (55)  |
| Form 1040:  Under 5 (est.)  5 under 10 (est.)  10 under 15 (est.)  20 under 25.  25 under 50.  50 under 100.  100 under 160.  300 under 50.  300 under 50.  50 under 50.  150 under 50.  100 under 1,000  1,000 and over | 51. 06<br>35. 86<br>32. 92<br>32. 07<br>28. 72<br>23. 33<br>16. 32<br>11. 92<br>7. 03<br>3. 81 | 1. 25<br>5. 10<br>8. 30<br>9. 76<br>10. 86<br>13. 12<br>16. 91<br>20. 35<br>22. 07<br>24. 28<br>30. 99<br>39. 97 | 0. 70<br>1. 53<br>1. 90<br>1. 94<br>1. 98<br>1. 84<br>1. 60<br>1. 47<br>1. 38<br>1. 36<br>1. 09             | 0.06<br>.15<br>.22<br>.26<br>.27<br>.29<br>.30<br>.19<br>.24<br>.84<br>.09                    | 0. 04<br>. 12<br>. 18<br>. 22<br>. 24<br>. 28<br>. 32<br>. 34<br>. 36<br>. 43<br>. 38<br>. 16           |
| TotalReturns with no net income 12 (est.)  | 77. 58<br>23. 98   | 2. 58<br>16. 71  | . 69<br>5. 62   | . 07  | . 06  |
| Grand total, individual returns.   | 77. 50   | 2. 60  | . 70  | . 07  | . 06  |
|  |  | Sour   | rces of incom   | e-Continue  | i   |
| Net income classes<br>(Thousands of dollars)   |  | Annuities  | Net gain<br>from sales<br>of capital<br>assets 42   | Net gain<br>from sales<br>of property<br>other than<br>capital<br>assets 43                   | Rents and royalties " (profit)  |
| Returns with net income: Form 1040A 15 (est.)  |  | (55)   |   |   |   |
| Form 1040:  Under 5 (est.)  5 under 10 (est.)  10 under 15 (est.)  20 under 25 (est.)  25 under 50  50 under 100  100 under 150  300 under 50  300 under 50  500 under 1,000  1,000 and over                             |  | 0. 16<br>. 17<br>. 20<br>. 20<br>. 18<br>. 17<br>. 18<br>. 16<br>. 13<br>. 15<br>. 09<br>. 07                    | 0. 37<br>1. 45<br>2. 11<br>2. 42<br>2. 48<br>2. 99<br>3. 81<br>6. 18<br>8. 62<br>11. 63<br>24. 26<br>24. 52 | 0. 10<br>. 14<br>. 13<br>. 11<br>. 10<br>. 07<br>. 04<br>. 02<br>. 03<br>. 01<br>. 04<br>. 03 | 2. 18<br>3. 10<br>3. 18<br>3. 03<br>2. 72<br>2. 48<br>2. 08<br>2. 01<br>2. 68<br>1. 43<br>. 79<br>2. 02 |
| TotalReturns with no net income <sup>12</sup> (est.)   |  | 1.00   | . 74<br>5. 74   | . 07  | 1. 67<br>19. 35   |
| Grand total, individual returns  |  | .12  | . 74  | . 07  | 1. 70   |

For footnotes, see pp. 103-105.

Individual returns, 1945; returns with net income by net income classes and returns with no net income in aggregate: Percentage distribution of sources of income, deductions, and net income, based on total income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13 106-114]

|  |  | Sources   | of income—C  | ontinued   |   |
|--|--|---|--|--|---|
| Net income classes<br>(Thousands of dollars)   | Business<br>profit 45  | Partner-<br>ship<br>profit 46   | Income<br>from<br>fiduciaries 47   | Other<br>income 48   | Total<br>income   |
| Returns with net income: Form 1040A <sup>15</sup> (est.). Form 1040: Under 5 (est.). 5 under 10 (est.). 10 under 15 (est.). 20 under 25. 25 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 150. 150 under 300. 300 under 300. 500 under 1,000. 500 under 1,000. | 23. 70<br>26. 29<br>23. 93<br>22. 14<br>19. 12<br>15. 77<br>15. 11<br>15. 86 | 2. 05<br>11. 27<br>18. 66<br>21. 60<br>23. 00<br>26. 39<br>30. 02<br>30. 83<br>32. 51<br>22. 40<br>14. 44<br>15. 09 | 0. 31<br>1. 59<br>2. 44<br>3. 00<br>3. 38<br>4. 00<br>5. 17<br>6. 56<br>7. 78<br>10. 16<br>14. 20<br>7. 85 | 0. 59  . 51 . 62 . 53 . 61 . 58 . 53 . 47 . 46 . 42 . 77 . 53 . 01 | 100. 00<br>100. 00 |
| Total<br>Returns with no net income <sup>12</sup> (est.)   | 10. 33<br>13. 26   | 4. 78<br>8. 85  | . 77<br>3. 19  | . 54<br>. 84   | 100. 00<br>100. 00  |
| Grand total, individual returns  | 10. 34   | 4. 79   | . 77   | . 54   | 100.00  |

|   |  |   | Dedu   | ctions  |   |  |
|---|--|---|--|---|---|--|
| Net income classes<br>(Thousands of dollars)  | Net loss from sales of capital assets 49             | Net loss<br>from<br>sales of<br>property<br>other<br>than<br>capital<br>assets 43 | Business<br>loss 45  | Partner-<br>ship loss 46  | Contri-<br>butions 50   | Interest<br>paid 51  |
| Returns with net income: Form 1040A <sup>15</sup> (est.) Form 1040: Under 5 (est.) 5 under 10 (est.) 10 under 15 (est.) 20 under 25 25 under 50 50 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 300 300 under 300 500 under 300 500 under 1,000 1,000 and over | .41<br>.46<br>.41<br>.39<br>.31<br>.13<br>.08<br>.05 | 0.08<br>.14<br>.14<br>.20<br>.15<br>.17<br>.17<br>.17<br>.17<br>.15<br>.09        | 0. 22<br>.30<br>.41<br>.50<br>.55<br>.62<br>.60<br>.73<br>.71<br>.91 | 0. 03<br>.09<br>.11<br>.09<br>.12<br>.11<br>.15<br>.18<br>.14<br>.33<br>.13 | 2. 52<br>2. 08<br>1. 93<br>1. 95<br>1. 97<br>2. 04<br>2. 94<br>3. 10<br>3. 62<br>4. 72<br>5. 18 | 1. 49<br>1. 29<br>1. 11<br>1. 02<br>. 96<br>. 86<br>. 76<br>. 95<br>. 78<br>. 71<br>. 57<br>. 36 |
| Total<br>Returns with no net income <sup>12</sup> (est.)  | . 18<br>5. 89  | . 07<br>28. 55  | . 20<br>93. 27   | . 04<br>10. 98  | 1. 72<br>3. 30  | . 97<br>10. 08   |
| Grand total, individual returns.  | . 19   | . 11  | .35  | . 06  | 1,72  | . 99   |

Individual returns, 1948; returns with net income by net income classes and returns with no net income in aggregate: Percentage distribution of sources of income, deductions, and net income, based on total income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

|   |   | Deduc  | tions—Con   | tinued   |  |   |
|---|---|--|---|--|--|---|
| Net income classes<br>(Thousands of dollars)  | Taxes<br>paid <sup>51</sup>                                 | Losses<br>from fire,<br>storm,<br>etc. 51 52   | Medical,<br>dental,<br>etc.,<br>expenses a                            | Other<br>deduc-<br>tions 54  | Total<br>deduc-<br>tions   | Net<br>income   |
| Returns with net income: Form 1040A <sup>15</sup> (est.) Form 1040: Under 5 (est.) 5 under 10 (est.) 10 under 15 (est.) 20 under 25 25 under 50 50 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 300 300 under 500 500 under 1,000 1,000 and over | 2. 64<br>2. 73<br>2. 78<br>2. 89<br>3. 03<br>3. 10<br>2. 68 | . 18<br>. 13<br>. 09<br>. 07<br>. 08<br>. 07<br>. 06<br>. 06<br>. 05<br>. 05<br>. 05 | 1. 33<br>.49<br>.32<br>.22<br>.17<br>.11<br>.03<br>.01<br>.01<br>(17) | 1. 33<br>1. 22<br>1. 40<br>1. 38<br>1. 31<br>1. 39<br>1. 37<br>1. 57<br>1. 66<br>1. 72<br>1. 72<br>1. 37 | 10. 22<br>8. 77<br>8. 57<br>8. 39<br>8. 38<br>8. 39<br>8. 66<br>9. 64<br>9. 82<br>10. 02<br>10. 65<br>11. 46 | 100, 00<br>89, 78<br>91, 23<br>91, 43<br>91, 61<br>91, 62<br>91, 61<br>90, 36<br>90, 18<br>89, 98<br>89, 35<br>88, 54 |
| TotalReturns with no net income 12 (est.)   | 1. 98<br>11. 93   | . 11<br>12, 65   | . 73<br>8. 50   | . 94<br>46. 93   | 6. 94<br>232. 08   | 93.06<br>(18)   |
| Grand total, individual returns.  | 1. 99   | . 13   | . 75  | 1.02   | 7. 31  | 92. 69  |

For footnotes, see pp. 103-105.

#### PATTERNS OF INCOME

Individual returns are segregated into patterns of income based on the original source of income, that is, whether the income is from salaries and/or from other income, and also on the amount of income from other sources. Income from other sources includes dividends, interest, annuities, and profits from business, from rents and royalties, and from capital gain, as well as any other taxable income. The six selected patterns are: salaries, wages, etc., only; salaries, wages, etc., and less than \$100 other income; salaries, wages, etc., and \$200-\$500 other income; salaries, wages, etc., and \$200-\$500 other income; salaries, wages, etc., and \$500 or more other income; and income solely from sources other than salaries, wages, etc.

Of the 43,722,038 returns filed by individuals for the current year, 31,051,002, or 71.0 percent, of the returns show salaries or wages as the only source of income; 5,462,942 returns, or 12.5 percent, show the entire income to be from sources other than salaries and wages; and the remainder of the returns show a combination of salaries and other income.

| Income from—   | Number of returns  | Percent of<br>total                            |
|--|--|--|
| Salaries, wages, etc., only Salaries, wages, etc., and less than \$100 other income Salaries, wages, etc., and \$100-\$200 other income Salaries, wages, etc., and \$200-\$500 other income Salaries, wages, etc., and \$500 or more other income Salaries, wages, etc., and \$500 or more other income Income solely from sources other than salaries, wages, etc | 31, 051, 002<br>2, 796, 643<br>988, 875<br>1, 380, 170<br>2, 042, 406<br>5, 462, 942 | 71. 0<br>6. 4<br>2. 2<br>3. 1<br>4. 6<br>12. 4 |
| Total.   | 43, 722, 038   | 100.00   |

In the following table, frequency of returns in each of the selected patterns of income are tabulated by detailed income classes: In Part I, for all returns, the number of returns, Form 1040A, is in aggregate and the number of returns, Form 1040, is by net income classes; in Part II, for returns, Form 1040A, the number of returns is by gross income classes. No data with respect to the amount of salaries, wages, etc., or the amount of other income are available for the selected patterns.

Individual returns, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by patterns of income—Part I, all returns with net income by net income classes, also aggregate for returns with no net income; Part II, returns, Form 1040A, by gross income classes: Frequency distribution of returns

[For description of classifications and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 10-13, 106-114]

## PART I—ALL RETURNS

| 7  |  |  | ·   | N  | umber of ret  | urns with—   |   |  |  |
|--|--|--|---|--|---|--|---|--|--|
|  | Net income classes<br>(Thousands of dollars)   | Total num-<br>ber of<br>returns  | Salaries,<br>wages, etc.,<br>only   | Salaries,<br>wages, etc.,<br>and less<br>than \$100<br>other<br>income   | Salaries,<br>wages, etc.,<br>and \$100-<br>\$200 other<br>income  | Salaries,<br>wages, etc.,<br>and \$200-<br>\$500 other<br>income   | Salaries,<br>wages, etc.,<br>and \$500<br>or more<br>other<br>income  | Income<br>solely from<br>sources<br>other than<br>salaries,<br>wages, etc.   |  |
|  | Taxable individual returns:<br>With net income:  | 18, 159, 744   | 17, 032, 544  | 789, 616   | 123, 131  | 110, 806   | 48, 712   | 54, 935  | 1  |
| 2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>29<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20 | Form 1040A <sup>15</sup> (est.)  Form 1040 A <sup>15</sup> (est.)  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  1.5 under 1 (est.)  1.25 under 1.5 (est.)  1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  1.75 under 2 (est.)  2 under 2.25 (est.)  2 under 2.25 (est.)  2.5 under 2.5 (est.)  2.5 under 2.5 (est.)  3 under 3.5 (est.)  3 under 3.5 (est.)  4 under 4.5 (est.)  4 under 4.5 (est.)  5 under 6 (est.)  6 under 7 (est.)  7 under 8 (est.)  8 under 8 (est.)  9 under 10 (est.)  11 under 11 (est.)  12 under 12 (est.)  12 under 12 (est.)  13 under 3 (est.)  14 under 5 (est.)  15 under 6 (est.)  16 under 7 (est.)  17 under 8 (est.)  18 under 10 (est.)  19 under 10 (est.)  11 under 11 (est.)  12 under 13 (est.)  13 under 14 (est.)  14 under 15 (est.)  15 under 15 (est.)  15 under 20 (est.)  20 under 25  25 under 30  30 under 40 | 218, 078 754, 289 1, 106, 442 1, 331, 800 1, 465, 935 1, 517, 176 1, 645, 854 1, 628, 123 1, 678, 812 1, 678, 838 1, 880, 352 2, 991, 236 1, 885, 140 902, 459 249, 542 165, 966 119, 585 95, 188 66, 637 53, 626 43, 230 36, 354 30, 808 100, 714 | 97, 074 357, 696 513, 157 663, 761 752, 016 815, 028 908, 387 939, 164 931, 898 867, 645 1, 110, 170 2, 009, 470 1, 012, 870 498, 293 230, 552 149, 888 51, 725 25, 450 14, 142 9, 877 5, 697 4, 176 2, 971 2, 340 1, 902 865 695 | 22 9, 165 33, 370 57, 199 76, 104 95, 039 121, 813 145, 800 148, 311 147, 1955 147, 148 159, 430 312, 091 119, 701 111, 771 65, 882 2, 705 1, 942 1, 603 1, 060 8655 2, 427 2, 424 940 424 | 21, 4, 894 24, 560 28, 377 42, 041 53, 184 57, 850 71, 041 73, 057 70, 803 65, 042 65, 381 108, 471 73, 461 31, 657 20, 118 18, 325 8, 918 5, 227 3, 489 2, 582 1, 570 1, 105 688 312 | 22 8, 216 39, 204 56, 052 67, 452 83, 677 75, 499 101, 325 1100, 100 99, 962 91, 775 77, 332 146, 847 97, 287 51, 145 32, 901 14, 282 9, 515 5, 823 4, 580 2, 867 2, 473 1, 682 1, 134 3, 122 1, 436 690 | 21 6, 475 24, 293 48, 546 77, 517 104, 814 110, 963 122, 976 129, 528 129, 814 107, 431 116, 653 191, 487 142, 877 142, 877 142, 877 142, 877 172, 142 191, 018 61, 358 46, 327 23, 083 19, 112 16, 036 11, 635 11, 635 11, 635 11, 635 11, 635 11, 635 11, 635 11, 635 11, 635 11, 635 11, 635 11, 635 | 92, 254 275, 166 403, 111 404, 925 378, 205 336, 023 296, 325 227, 963 199, 322 166, 797 151, 386 222, 870 158, 87, 176 130, 626 91, 826 67, 535 52, 439 43, 242 30, 715 24, 818 20, 129 17, 143 14, 490 47, 400 25, 194 | 19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29                                     |
| 31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48   | 40 under 50 50 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 200 200 under 250 250 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 750 750 under 1,000 1,000 under 1,500 1,500 under 2,000 2,000 under 2,000 3,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 5,000 4,000 under 5,000   | 17, 484<br>10, 127<br>6, 100<br>4, 029<br>2, 698<br>1, 913<br>4, 408<br>1, 411<br>580<br>303<br>296<br>143<br>156<br>58<br>28<br>9   |   |  |   |  | 136   | 8, 122<br>4, 783<br>2, 823<br>1, 847<br>1, 229<br>821<br>2, 087<br>654<br>261<br>152<br>160<br>62<br>24<br>10<br>3<br>3<br>3   | 31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47 |
| 50<br>51   | Total tayable individual seturns with not be   | 40, 222, 699   | 20 010 707  | 0.700.077  | 050 800   |  | , 1   |  | 49<br>50   |
| 52<br>53   | With no net income, Form 1040 12 (est.)  Total, taxable individual returns.  | 17, 438  | 29, 016, 797<br>22 3, 067   | 2, 726, 977  | 959, 729<br>(11)  | 1, 318, 508<br>23 1, 197   | 1, 992, 951<br>22, 609  | 4, 207, 737<br>23 9, 586   | 51<br>52   |
| - 1  | Nontaxable individual returns: With net income: 29   | 40, 240, 137   | 29, 019, 864  | 2, 727, 353  | 960, 332  | 1, 319, 705  | 1, 995, 560   | 4, 217, 323  | 53   |
| 54<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58   | Form 1040A <sup>18</sup> (est.). Form 1040: Under 0.5 (est.). 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.). 1 and over (est.).  | 2, 181, 779<br>643, 849<br>208, 284<br>121, 443<br>128, 499  | 1, 863, 048<br>100, 004<br>28, 088<br>12, 212<br>13, 755  | 41, 261<br>17, 097<br>22 4, 749<br>22 1, 764<br>22 2, 307  | 22 7, 066<br>13, 026<br>22 3, 664<br>22 2, 035  | 28, 766<br>12, 076<br>227, 192   | (27)<br>22 9, 363<br>22 6, 513<br>12, 077   | 264, 348<br>475, 593<br>153, 194<br>86, 163  | 54<br>55<br>56<br>57   |
| 59<br>60   | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income   | 3, 283, 854<br>198, 047  | 2, 016, 107<br>15, 031  | 67, 178<br>22 2, 112   | 27, 555<br>(27)   | 58, 074<br>22 2, 391   | 13, 568<br>42, 151<br>22 4, 695   | 93, 491<br>1, 072, 789<br>172, 830   | 58<br>59<br>60   |
| 61   | Total, nontaxable individual returns (59+60)   | 3, 481, 901  | 2, 031 138  | 69, 290  | 28, 543   | 60, 465  | 46, 846   | 1, 245, 619  | 61   |
| 62   | Grand total (53+61)  | 43, 722, 038   | 31,051,002  | 2, 796, 643  | 988, 875  | 1, 380, 170  | 2, 042, 406   | 5, 462, 942  | 62   |

92

12645978601 2

#### SOLE PROPRIETORSHIPS

Individual relurns, 1948, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by patterns of income—Part I, all returns with net income by net income also aggregate for returns with no net income; Part II, returns, Form 1040A, by gross income classes: Frequency distribution Continued

For description of classifications and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 10-13, 105-114]

|  | -   |                                   | ;   | 1   | the second   |  | -  |
|--|---|-----------------------------------|---|---|--|--|--|
|  |   |                                   | z   | Number of returns with  | urns with—   |  |  |
| Gross income classes<br>(Thousands of dollars) | Total number of returns   | Salaries,<br>wages, etc.,<br>only | Salaries,<br>wages, etc.,<br>and less<br>than \$100<br>other<br>income  | Salaries,<br>wages, etc.,<br>and \$100-<br>\$200 other<br>income  | Salaries,<br>wages, etc.,<br>and \$200-<br>\$500 other<br>income   | Salaries,<br>wages, etc.,<br>and \$500<br>or more<br>other<br>income | Income<br>solely from<br>sources<br>other than<br>salaries,<br>wages, etc.   |
|  | 1, 292, 706<br>2, 016, 002<br>2, 276, 468<br>2, 312, 856<br>2, 370, 959<br>2, 370, 959<br>1, 544, 692<br>1, 289, 067<br>1, 068, 628<br>1, 668, 528<br>1, 668, 528<br>1, 668, 628<br>1, 668, 628<br>1, 669, 683<br>3, 65, 618<br>1, 600, 593<br>3, 65, 618<br>1, 600, 593<br>3, 65, 618<br>1, 600, 593<br>3, 65, 618<br>1, 600, 593<br>3, 65, 618<br>1, 669, 638<br>1, 660, 693<br>3, 66, 618<br>1, 660, 693<br>3, 660, 618<br>1, 66 |                                   | 29, 697<br>52, 234<br>67, 789<br>87, 565<br>109, 164<br>109, 164<br>109, 164<br>101, 189<br>11, 180<br>71, 367<br>789, 616<br>30, 914<br>30, 914<br>30, 914<br>31, 183<br>31, 183<br>32, 193<br>31, 183<br>31, 183<br>3 | 10, 2016<br>10, 2016<br>10, 2016<br>10, 2016<br>10, 2016<br>11, 105<br>11, 105<br>1 | 25.22<br>25.030<br>25.030<br>12.500<br>13.020<br>13.020<br>13.020<br>13.020<br>13.020<br>13.020<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10.021<br>10. | 20, 1, 057 23, 23, 23, 23, 23, 23, 23, 23, 23, 23,                   | 16, 081<br>11, 251<br>12, 278<br>12, 278<br>12, 409<br>12, 34, 605<br>12, 34, 605<br>12, 34, 605<br>11, 174<br>11, 174<br>11, 010<br>11, 010 |
|  | 20, 341, 523  | 1, 805, 045                       | 830, 877  | 130, 197  | 1  | 49, 342  | 319, 283   |

The net profit and the net loss from business or profession are tabulated as a source of income and as a deduction, respectively, by net income classes, for individual returns in basic table 4-A; for taxable fiduciary returns in basic table 4-B; and for composite data from individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns in basic table 4.

Data for business reported on individual returns, Form 1040, are estimated from samples of returns with net income under \$20,000 and for returns with no net income, while data for returns with \$20,000 and over net income are tabulated from each return. Explanation of samples used and method of estimating data is given on pages 106-114.

Returns were filed by 5,120,685 individuals who are sole proprietors of a business or profession. Total receipts of \$57,951,447,316 are reported from these enterprises. Net profits of \$11,040,993,501 are reported by 4,735,012 individuals from their businesses; and net losses of \$372,757,267 are reported by 385,673 other individuals.

In the following table, data for total receipts and for net profit or net loss from business or profession reported on the individual returns are presented by industrial groups and subgroups. Returns with net profit from business are tabulated separately from those with net loss from business; and aggregates are shown for the number of returns with business and for the amount of total receipts. The subgroups are restricted to those industries which are sufficiently large to result in reliable data from the standpoint of the sampling procedure employed for 1943. The basic groups and such subgroups as are presented in this table are comparable with those published in Statistics of Income for 1941. The classification of industrial activity is determined from the nature of business as stated by the taxpayer in his business schedule. The number of returns with business does not signify the precise number of sole proprietorships because of returns on which an individual reports two or more enterprises. On such returns, all business data are combined; but the industrial classification is based entirely on the enterprise which shows the largest amount of total receipts.

Business data are tabulated in nine basic industrial groups some of which have subgroups. The tabulated totals for each of the nine basic groups are a complete coverage of the respective basic group, in aggregate as well as for returns with net profit from business and for returns with net loss from business. There are no subgroups listed for the three basic groups-mining; construction; and nature of business not allocable. For each of the three basic groups—trade; service; and agriculture, forestry, and fishery—the listed subgroups comprise the total for the respective basic group; however, for the returns with net loss from business, data for listed subgroups are shown only when the number of returns therein is subject to a maximum sampling error of less than 25 percent. The totals for the remaining three basic groups-manufacturing; public utilities; and finance, insurance, and real estate—are a complete coverage of these basic groups, but subgroups are not listed and data are not shown for listed subgroups when the number of returns in the subgroup is subject to sampling variation of more than 25 percent. Thus the listed sub-

524

groups, in these cases, do not comprise the total for the respective basic group.

In the two subgroups—retail trade and professional service—the totals are a complete coverage of these subgroups whether or not data in the comprising subgroups are shown.

Subgroups are not listed and data are not shown for listed subgroups where the number of returns therein is subject to sampling variations of more than 25 percent, because these data are considered too unreliable for general use; nevertheless, such excluded data are contained in the total for the respective basic group or subgroup.

Total receipts are taken from schedule C(2), Profit (or Loss) from Business or Profession, Form 1040, from schedule of Farm Income and Expenses, Form 1040F, and from attached business schedules when submitted with the return. For returns with net profit from business for which no schedule is submitted, the amount of net profit is tabulated both as total receipts and as net profit; for returns with net loss from business for which no schedule is submitted, no amount is tabulated as total receipts. In both instances, total receipts are understated by an indeterminable amount.

| [For description of sample and method of estimating data, see pp. 106-114]   | and method   | of estimatin  | g data, see p   | p. 106-114]   |   |  |   |  |
|--|--|---|---|---|---|--|---|--|
| [Money   | Money figures in thousands of dollars  | usands of do  | ilars]  |   |   |  |   |  |
| Transcentist Management  | Aggr   | Aggregate   | Returns   | Returns with net profit from<br>business 88   | ofit from   | Return   | Returns with net loss from<br>business 39                               | ss from  |
| Tudustiai groups ~   | Number of<br>returns 57  | Total<br>receipts   | Number of<br>returns 57   | Total<br>receipts 38  | Net profit  | Number of<br>returns 37  | Total<br>receipts 09  | Net los  |
| All industrial groups  | 5, 120, 685  | 67, 951, 447  | 4, 735, 012   | 56, 011, 673  | 11, 040, 994  | 385, 673   | 1, 940, 875   | 372,   |
| Mining and quarrying   | 16, 167  | 348, 245  | 12, 584   | 277, 979  | 51, 971   | 13 3, 447  | 41, 439   | 16, 1  |
| Manufacturing, total   | 107,007  | 3, 741, 364   | 99, 595   | 3, 631, 201   | 525, 573  | 11 7, 427  | 117, 206  | 17,7   |
| Food and kindred products. Appared and products made from fabrics. Lumber and timber basic products. Printing and publishing industries.   | 14,356<br>10,216<br>16,667<br>14,950   | 714, 066<br>495, 392<br>378, 464<br>216, 697  | 13, 475<br>10, 154<br>14, 764<br>14, 007  | 722, 158<br>493, 550<br>355, 838<br>184, 372  | 65, 917<br>58, 359<br>44, 219<br>37, 290  | (99)<br>(99)<br>(90)   | (99)<br>(99)<br>(90)  | <b>EEEE</b>  |
| Public utilities, total  | 127, 490   | 1, 151, 154   | 119, 275  | 1, 102, 330   | 251, 797  | 218,215  | 48, 825   | 9 '9   |
| Transportation   | 124, 200   | 1, 112, 729   | 116, 130  | 1,064,248   | 242, 315  | (69)   | (60)  | (00)   |
| Trade, total   | 1,080,034  | 30, 111, 049  | 1,025,940   | 29, 458, 617  | 3, 281, 518   | 54,094   | 652, 433  | 45, 5  |
| Wholesale.<br>Retail, total  | 111, 439<br>933, 810   | 6, 288, 847<br>22, 248, 690   | 106, 340<br>886, 428  | 6, 133, 928<br>21, 770, 716   | 530, 471<br>2, 604, 021   | (60)<br>47, 382  | (80)<br>477, 975  | (%)<br>38,3  |
| Departmental, general merchandise, dry goods. Food and package liquor stores. Drug stores. Apparel and accessories. Purnture and house furnishings Eating and drinking places. Filling stations and dealers in automobiles, accessories, tires, batteries. Other retail trade. | 35, 951<br>257, 841<br>36, 511<br>54, 565<br>24, 787<br>179, 728<br>123, 177<br>221, 250 | 1, 141, 638<br>7, 359, 303<br>1, 157, 437<br>1, 530, 227<br>530, 110<br>3, 594, 913<br>2, 478, 743<br>4, 456, 319 | 34, 035<br>245, 900<br>36, 621<br>52, 583<br>22, 775<br>1169, 051<br>116, 253<br>210, 210 | 1, 116, 664<br>7, 199, 631<br>1, 149, 055<br>1, 514, 848<br>517, 091<br>3, 504, 685<br>2, 405, 684<br>4, 363, 058 | 121, 319<br>609, 466<br>148, 759<br>230, 975<br>91, 777<br>500, 421<br>289, 393<br>611, 912 | (60)<br>11,941<br>(60)<br>(60)<br>(60)<br>10,677<br>(60)<br>11,040 | (40)<br>159, 672<br>(80)<br>(80)<br>(80)<br>(90, 228<br>(90)<br>93, 261 | (60)<br>(60)<br>(60)<br>(60)<br>(60)<br>(60)<br>(60)<br>(8,5 |
| Trade not allocable  | 24 705   | 1 572 519   | 22 179  | 1 669 079   | 147 095   | (40)   | (80)  | /40/   |

#### GOVERNMENT OBLIGATIONS AND INTEREST

groups and by returns with business profit or with business loss: and net loss—Continued Individual relurns with business (sole proprietorship), 1948, Number of relurns, tot

of returns, total receipts, net profit, and net loss—Contin description of sample and method of estimating data, see pp. 106-114]

| To destrict processes to   | Aggregate   | egate  | Returns   | Returns with net profit from<br>business 39                    | fit from  | Return   | Returns with net loss from<br>business 19          | s from                                   |
|--|---|--|---|--|---|--|--|--|
| TIGUSATISI KITUKS  | Number of<br>returns 67                               | Total<br>receipts  | Number of returns 57                                  | Total<br>receipts 48   | Net profit  | Number of<br>returns 57                            | Total<br>receipts sa                               | Net loss                                 |
| Service, total   | 804, 192  | 6, 059, 091  | 764, 515  | 5, 934, 666  | 2, 234, 904   | 39, 677  | 124, 424   | 26, 032                                  |
| Personal service. Business service. Automobile repair services and garages. Amusoments Professional and social service, total. | 319, 033<br>33, 080<br>44, 525<br>38, 433<br>318, 242 | 1, 953, 275<br>288, 021<br>461, 219<br>509, 892<br>2, 517, 651 | 304, 456<br>30, 396<br>41, 879<br>34, 838<br>303, 598 | 1, 900, 356<br>278, 507<br>443, 966<br>493, 612<br>2, 492, 377 | 539, 120<br>82, 768<br>88, 979<br>108, 141<br>1, 314, 589 | 14, 577<br>(60)<br>(60)<br>(60)<br>(60)<br>14, 644 | 52, 919<br>(60)<br>(60)<br>(60)<br>(60)<br>25, 274 | 7, 707<br>(60)<br>(60)<br>(60)<br>9, 240 |
| Physicians, surgeons, oculists Dentists Legal services Other professional and social services.                                 | 96, 098<br>55, 427<br>69, 968<br>96, 749              | 1, 036, 830<br>456, 537<br>445, 224<br>579, 060                | 92, 897<br>53, 991<br>66, 199<br>90, 511              | 1, 033, 327<br>451, 613<br>439, 570<br>567, 867                | 613, 226<br>233, 044<br>225, 239<br>243, 081              | <u> </u>   | <b>EEEE</b>  | (60 (60 (60 (60 (60 (60 (60 (60 (60 (60  |
| Other service and repair.  | 50,879  | 329, 033   | 49, 348   | 325, 847   | 101, 307  | (00)   | (09)   | (60)                                     |
| Finance, insurance, and real estate, total   | 100,344   | 868, 506   | 93, 169   | 836, 299   | 272,819   | 22 7, 175  | 32, 206  | 12,868                                   |
| Insurance agents, brokers, and real estate   | 93, 405   | 634, 935   | 87,325  | 607, 193   | 246, 169  | (99)   | (99)   | (00)                                     |
| Construction   | 149, 356  | 2, 106, 910  | 142, 813  | 1,990,579  | 375, 251  | 22 6, 543  | 116, 332   | 11, 676                                  |
| Agriculture, forestry, and fishery, total  | 2, 588, 435   | 11, 762, 480   | 2, 346, 322   | 11,049,312   | 3,748,261   | 242, 113   | 713, 168   | 209, 731                                 |
| Farming. Other agriculture, forestry, and fishery.   | 2, 559, 990<br>28, 445                                | 11, 504, 005<br>258, 475                                       | 2, 319, 637<br>26, 685                                | 10, 794, 932<br>254, 379                                       | 3, 703, 023<br>45, 239                                    | 240, 353   | 709, 072<br>(00)                                   | 207, 907<br>( <sup>60</sup> )            |
| Nature of husiness not allocable   | 147, 660  | 1, 802, 648  | 130, 799  | 1, 730, 690  | 298, 899  | 16, 982  | 94, 841  | 26,054                                   |
| For footnotes, see pp. 103-105.  |   |  |   |  |   |  |  |  |

Data pertaining to partially tax-exempt and taxable Government obligations owned and the interest received thereon, as reported in schedule A, Form 1040, by individuals with net income of \$5,000 and over, are tabulated in basic table 6. Similar data, as reported in schedule B, Form 1041, by fiduciaries with balance income of \$5,000 and over, are tabulated in basic table 7. Balance income is the fiduciary income before deducting the amount distributable to beneficiaries. and is the excess of total income over total deductions. In both tables, data for Government obligations and the interest thereon are classified according to the taxability of the interest for Federal income tax purposes, into two classes—partially tax-exempt and taxable. The amount of Government obligations owned is the amount owned on the last day of the taxable year. The interest received is interest on such obligations received throughout the year or accrued at the end of the year, before the deduction for amortizable bond premium. No data are available for the wholly tax-exempt Government obligations or the interest thereon.

Partially tax-exempt Government obligations are securities the interest on which is subject to the surtax only. They include (1) United States savings bonds and Treasury bonds issued prior to March 1, 1941. and (2) obligations of instrumentalities of the United States issued prior to March 1, 1941, other than Federal land banks, Federal intermediate credit banks, or joint stock land banks. The amount of partially tax-exempt Government obligations owned includes the taxpayer's pro rata share of such obligations held by partnerships and fiduciaries, and the partially tax-exempt interest includes the interest thereon received through these entities. Interest on an aggregate principal amount not to exceed \$5,000 of United States savings bonds and Treasury bonds issued prior to March 1, 1941, although included in the interest received, is not subject to the surtax. Interest received on the excess of \$5,000 principal amount of these bonds is reported as a source of income on the face of the return and tabulated as "Partially tax-exempt interest on Government obligations" in basic tables 4. 4-A, and 4-B. However, it is not possible to reconcile the amount of partially tax-exempt interest tabulated in the net income classes of \$5,000 and over in basic tables 4-A and 4-B with that in tables 6 and 7. respectively. Partially tax-exempt interest tabulated in tables 4-A and 4-B is taken from the face of the return and consists of (1) the amount of interest subject only to surtax after deducting amortizable bond premium and (2) dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations issued prior to March 28, 1942; while partially tax-exempt interest shown in tables 6 and 7 is taken from the interest schedule before the amortization of bond premium, and is larger than the amount of interest to be reported on the face of the return for surtax purposes, inasmuch as interest reported in the schedule includes interest on the principal amount not exceeding \$5,000, which is exempt from the surtax; furthermore, data in tables 6 and 7 do not include dividends from Federal savings and loan associations.

Taxable Government obligations are securities the interest on which is subject to both the normal tax and the surtax. They include (1) Treasury notes issued on or after December 1, 1940, (2) United States savings bonds and other obligations of the United States or any instrumentality thereof, issued on or after March 1, 1941, the interest upon which has no exemption from Federal income tax as provided in section 4 of the Public Debt Act of 1941. Interest received on such obligations is reported as a source of income on the face of the return, after deducting the amortizable bond premium, and is tabulated as "Taxable interest on Government obligations" in basic tables 4, 4-A, and 4-B.

The data tabulated in basic tables 6 and 7 do not represent a complete summary of Government obligations owned or the interest received thereon by individuals and taxable fiduciaries, in view of the fact that (a) the returns from which these data are tabulated do not include individual returns with net income under \$5,000, or fiduciary returns with balance income under \$5,000, and (b) the schedule for interest on Government obligations, from which these data are tabulated, is an informational schedule wherein the data occasionally are incomplete or entirely omitted. In addition, inconsistencies occur. such as interest reported for which no corresponding principal amount owned is shown, or the principal amount owned may be reported with no corresponding interest shown. Bond holdings vary during the vear; therefore, the amount of obligations reported as of the end of the year may include obligations on which no interest was received and, similarly, the interest reported may include interest on obligations which were sold prior to the end of the year.

#### NET GAIN OR LOSS FROM SALES OR EXCHANGES OF CAPITAL ASSETS

There are 709,416 individual and taxable fiduciary returns showing a net gain from sales or exchanges of capital assets and 413,712 individual and taxable fiduciary returns showing a net loss from sales or exchanges of capital assets. The definition of capital assets and the method of reporting net gain and loss from sales thereof are given on pp. 78-80. The amounts of net short- and long-term capital gains and losses, net capital loss carry-over, and net loss from sales of capital assets before and after the statutory limitation are shown in basic tables 5 and 5-A. Data in these tables are tabulated from the summary of capital gains and losses as reported in schedule B, attached to Form 1040, and in schedule E, on Form 1041. In table 5, data are composite for individual and taxable fiduciary returns. Forms 1040 and 1041, while data in table 5-A contain information from individual returns, Form 1040, only. In each tabulation, data reported on returns with a net gain from sales of capital assets are tabulated separately from data reported on returns with a net loss from sales of capital assets. Since the net gain or allowable loss from sales of capital assets is a combination of current year net gain or loss and the carry-over from 1942, the classification of returns with net gain from sales of capital assets and returns with net loss from sales of capital assets is based on the combined data, not on that of the current year alone.

The 709,416 returns with net gain from sales of capital assets show a net gain from such sales amounting to \$892,530,085 after the deduction for capital loss carry-over of \$19,111,827, carried over from 1942 in accordance with the carry-over provision of the Code.

The 413,712 returns with a net loss from sales of capital assets show a deduction of \$203,150,627 on account of these losses. The deduction is only that portion of the reported net loss from sales of capital assets conforming to the provision of the Code which places a limitation on the amount to be deducted from total income. The amount allowable as a deduction is limited to the amount of net loss from sales of capital assets, or to the net income computed without regard to capital gains and losses, or to \$1,000, whichever is smallest. The net loss from sales of capital assets before limitation is \$462,677,888 including a capital loss carry-over of \$150,616,853 carried over from 1942.

The capital loss carry-over provision of the Code allows the amount of net capital loss (i. e., the excess of net loss from sales of capital assets over \$1,000 or net income computed without regard to capital gains and losses, whichever is smaller) of any year beginning after December 31, 1941, to be carried forward as a short-term capital loss in each of the five succeeding years to the extent that such amount exceeds the net capital gain (i. e., net gain from sales of capital assets plus \$1,000 or net income computed without regard to capital gains and losses, whichever is smaller) of any subsequent year intervening between the year in which the net capital loss is sustained and the fifth succeeding year.

The carry-over reported on the current year returns differs in two important respects from that reported on returns for the previous year. First, the carry-over reported on the 1943 returns includes both short- and long-term capital losses; whereas, the carry-over reported on 1942 returns includes only short-term capital losses: Second, the capital loss carry-over reported on the 1943 returns is shown independently of current year capital gain and loss and is reported in the schedule without limitation; whereas, the carry-over reported in the schedule on 1942 returns is limited to the net income of 1941, and also to the net short-term capital gain of 1942.

The carry-over reported on the 1943 returns may or may not be offset by current year capital gains (short and/or long.) On returns showing a net gain from sales of capital assets in total income, the carry-over is entirely offset by current year gains; on returns showing a deduction for net loss from such sales, the carry-over is in some cases partly offset by current year gains and in other cases the carry-over is not offset. The latter cases, with carry-over not offset, consist of returns showing only a carry-over and returns showing only a net loss from sales of capital assets made during the current year. Thus, the net loss from sales of capital assets before statutory limitation of \$462,677,888 is partially attributable to current year net loss from sales of capital assets and partially attributable to that portion of the carry-over not offset by current year gains. The portion of net loss before limitation attributable to current year net loss from sales of capital assets and the portion attributable to the carry-over cannot be determined from the tabulated data nor are the components available.

Depending on whether there is a carry-over and an offset on account of current year gains, as mentioned above, the allowable deduction for a net loss from sales of capital assets in some cases consists wholly of current year net loss from such sales; in other cases, it consists wholly of the prior year carry-over; and, in still other cases, the deduc-

tion consists partly of the current year net loss and partly of the prior year carry-over; so that, after subtracting the allowable deduction of \$203,150,627 from the net loss before statutory limitation of \$462,677,888, the remaining net capital loss of \$259,527,261 to be carried forward into future years is composed partly of current year net loss from sales of capital assets and partly of the prior year carry-over. The amount attributable to the current year, that is, the amount of net capital loss sustained in 1943 to be carried forward, is not available.

As an indication of the volume of short-term gains and losses from sales of capital assets held 6 months or less, irrespective of long-term transactions or the carry-over, the total net short-term capital gains reported in the current year amount to \$147,819,892 and the total net short-term capital losses to \$51,548,304. The volume of net long-term gains and losses from sales of capital assets held more than 6 months, to be taken into account, without regard to short-term transactions or the carry-over, is \$808,852,242 and \$305,542,953, respectively. These latter amounts represent one-half of the actual long-term gain and loss from sales of capital assets held more than 6 months, inasmuch as only 50 percent of the recognized gain and loss is taken into account.

#### MEDICAL AND DENTAL EXPENSES

Data from individual returns, Form 1040, showing a deduction for medical, dental, etc., expenses are tabulated below, by net income classes. Medical expenses are not reported on the optional returns, Form 1040A. The deduction for medical expenses is that for amounts paid during the taxable year, not compensated for by insurance or otherwise, for medical care of the taxpayer, his spouse, or a dependent and includes amounts paid for diagnosis, treatment, cure, or prevention of disease, or to alleviate a defect, amounts paid for drugs, nursing services, optical expenses, dentistry, expenses of X-rays, and surgical operations, as well as amounts paid for hospital, health, and accident insurance. The deduction is limited to the amount of such expenses in excess of an amount equal to 5 percent of the net income computed without this deduction; however, the maximum deduction is \$2,500 on a joint return of husband and wife or on a return for the head of a family and \$1,250 on returns for all other persons.

There are 4,809,337 returns with net income showing deductions for medical expenses amounting to \$785,047,078 and 24,857 returns with no net income showing deductions totaling \$14,526,398. Since the net deficit reported on 17,594 nontaxable returns with no net income exceeds the amount of medical deduction reported thereon, it would seem that the medical expenses are erroneously reported. The medical deduction, being based on net income computed without benefit of the medical expense, technically is not allowable unless there is such a net income.

To determine the entire amount of medical expenses paid during the year by the individuals filing the 4,809,337 returns with net income showing deductions for medical expenses, such deductions amounting to \$785,047,078, should be added to the net income of \$11,506,533,281, making an income of \$12,291,580,359 before deduction for medical expenses. Medical expenses equal to 5 percent of this sum, or

\$614,579,018 are disallowed as a deduction according to section 23(x) of the Code. These disallowed medical expenses when added to the allowable deduction of \$785,047,078 show that the entire medical expenses actually paid in 1943 by individuals filing these returns were a minimum of \$1,399,626,095—minimum because there may be cases in which the limitation of the maximum deduction was effective. This computation does not give consideration to the medical expenses paid by individuals filing 215,485 returns, Form 1040, showing no net income nor individuals filing 18,355,693 returns, Form 1040, showing net income, but whose medical expenses did not exceed 5 percent of their net income computed without regard to such expenses and therefore were denied a deduction for income tax purposes; neither does this computation give consideration to medical expenses of individuals filing 20,341,523 returns, Form 1040A.

Individual returns, Form 1040, 1943; returns with net income by net income classes and returns with no net income in aggregate: Number of returns, medical, dental, etc., expenses, and net income

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

## [Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| Net income classes  | Number<br>of returns   | Medical,<br>dental,<br>etc.,<br>expenses  | Net<br>income  |
|---|--|---|--|
| Taxable individual returns, Form 1040:  With net income:  Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 1.0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 under 1.25 (est.) 1.25 under 1.5 (est.) 1.5 under 1.75 (est.) 1.75 under 2.25 (est.) 2.25 under 2.25 (est.) 2.5 under 2.75 (est.) 2.5 under 2.75 (est.) 3 under 3.5 (est.) 3 under 3.5 (est.) 4 under 4 (est.) 4 under 4.5 (est.) 5 under 6 (est.) 5 under 6 (est.) 6 under 7 (est.) 7 under 8 (est.) 9 under 10 (est.) 10 under 15 (est.) 20 under 25 20 under 25 20 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 150 150 under 300 300 under 500 500 under 1,000 1,000 and over | 177, 409 253, 057 314, 734 370, 311 383, 487 408, 107 412, 879 374, 013 379, 932 547, 671 1273, 687 127, 342 66, 899 56, 343 27, 061 16, 315 10, 762 7, 880 7, 880 15, 974 5, 389 2, 469 3, 381 527 26 26 27 | . 22, 058<br>29, 854<br>48, 231<br>56, 500<br>60, 508<br>60, 946<br>62, 650<br>62, 67<br>58, 090<br>55, 898<br>77, 335<br>42, 370<br>23, 587<br>14, 348<br>15, 003<br>9, 196<br>6, 605<br>4, 928<br>3, 858<br>9, 630<br>4, 106<br>2, 216<br>3, 431<br>635<br>74<br>31 | 22, 928 113, 314 222, 996 355, 165 599, 857 623, 029 765, 414 897, 358 979, 248 897, 358 979, 248 892, 178 1, 092, 023 1, 766, 055 1, 017, 964 538, 149 314, 946 306, 481 172, 714 121, 791 191, 055 74, 783 191, 278 92, 707 54, 658 110, 528 34, 315 6, 619 5, 269 779 558 |
| Total taxable returns with net income   | 4, 724, 802<br>7, 263  | 773, 461<br>7, 417  | 11, 463, 278<br>19 3, 359  |
| Total taxable returns.  | 4, 732, 065  | 780, 878  | 11, 459, 919   |

Individual returns, Form 1040, 1943; returns with net income by net income classes and returns with no net income in aggregate: Number of returns, medical, dental, etc., expenses, and net income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

#### [Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| Net income classes   | Number<br>of returns | Medical,<br>dental,<br>etc.,<br>expenses 53 | Net<br>income   |
|--|----------------------|---|-----------------|
| Nontaxable individual returns, Form 1040: With net income: ** Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 and over (est.) | 54, 412              | 7, 827                                      | 17, 604         |
|  | 12, 076              | 1, 854                                      | 7, 046          |
|  | 22 9, 770            | 1, 091                                      | 8, 547          |
|  | 22 8, 277            | 814   | 10, 057         |
| Total.   | 84, 535              | 11, 586                                     | 43, 255         |
| With no net income <sup>12</sup> (est.)  | 17, 594              | 7, 109                                      | 19 17, 249      |
| Total nontaxable returns   | 102, 129             | 18, 695                                     | 20 26, 006      |
| Grand total  | 4, 834, 194          | 799, 573                                    | 20 11, 485, 926 |
| Individual returns with net income   | 4, 809, 337          | 785, 047                                    | 11, 506, 533    |
|  | 24, 857              | 14, 526                                     | 19 20, 608      |

For footnotes, see pp. 103-105.

#### Footnotes for text tables

[Facsimiles of return forms, to which references are made, appear on pp. 368-396]

- <sup>1</sup> Net income is the sum of (1) income tax net income on Form 1040, (2) gross income on Form 1040A, and (3) in tables including taxable fiduciary returns, Form 1041, the income tax net income taxable to the fiduciary.
- <sup>2</sup> Deficit is that reported on individual returns, Form 1040, with no income tax net income, and for 1943, includes deficit on taxable fiduciary returns with no income tax net income taxable to the fiduciary.
- <sup>3</sup> Tax on income reported for the respective year before deducting tax credits for income tax paid at source on tax-free covenant bond interest and for income tax paid to foreign countries or United States possessions. (See also note 4.)
- 4 Income and victory tax on 1943 income is the tax computed on income reported for 1943 and includes either the normal tax and surtax (or optional tax paid in lieu thereof) or the alternative tax, and net victory tax, after deducting tax credits relating to income tax paid at source on tax-free covenant bond interest and income tax paid to foreign countries or United States possessions. For individual returns, the tax on 1943 income is without regard to the comparison with 1942 tax liability as provided under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943; and, therefore, does not include the tax adjustments necessary for the merging of the 1942 and 1943 tax liabilities. This tax on 1943 income is conceptually comparable with the total tax tabulated in last year's report; except that the tax on 1943 income includes the victory tax and two tax credits are deducted.
- \*The total income and victory tax reported on individual returns for 1943 is the tax resulting from the merging of the 1942 and 1943 tax liabilities under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943. It is the aggregate of (1) the income and victory tax on 1943 income less credits for tax paid at source on tax-free covenant bond interest and tax paid to foreign countries or United States possessions, (2) the amount by which the 1943 tax is increased to equal the 1942 tax liability on returns showing a smaller tax (or no tax) for 1943 prior to such adjustment, and (3) the unforgiven portion of the 1942 or 1943 tax, whichever is smaller. In the table on page 3, showing composite data for individual and taxable fiduciary returns, total income and victory tax includes also the income and victory tax on 1943 income from the taxable fiduciary returns.
- d Taxable returns are returns showing a tax liability on income reported for the respective year. For 1942, the tax may be normal tax, surtax, alternative tax, or optional tax; for 1943, the tax may be victory tax, normal tax, surtax, alternative tax, or optional tax—singly or in combination. (Also see note 4.)
- <sup>7</sup> Returns with net income are those on which total income exceeds total deductions (plus, on taxable fiduciary returns, the amount distributable to beneficiaries) and there exists for 1942 a net income or for 1943, an income tax net income (disregarding the victory tax net income). Optional returns, Form 1040A, are classified as returns with net income.
- Alternative tax is reported on returns showing an excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss, but only if such tax is less than the sum of normal tax and surtax computed on net income which includes the net gain from sales or exchanges of capital assets. Alternative tax is the sum of a partial tax (normal tax and surtax) computed on net income reduced for this purpose by the excess of net long-term capital gain over the net short-term capital loss, and 50 percent of such excess.
- Optional tax is the tax paid in lieu of normal tax and surtax by individuals who have income of \$3,000 or less derived wholly from salaries, dividends, interest, and annuities and who elect to file Form 1010A.

- 10 The victory tax for 1943 is 5 percent of the victory tax net income after a specific exemption of \$624. A victory tax credit of 25 percent of the tax for a single person or 40 percent for a married person, but not more than \$500 for any one person, plus 2 percent, but not more than \$100, for each dependent, is allowable against the victory tax. Only the net victory tax is tabulated in this report.
- <sup>11</sup> Credits for income tax paid to foreign countries or United States possessions and income tax paid at source on tax-free covenant bond interest.
- 12 Returns with no net income are those on which total deductions (plus, on taxable fiduciary returns, the amount distributable to beneficiaries) equal or exceed total income. For 1943, returns with no income tax net income are classified as taxable if there is a victory tax liability.
- <sup>13</sup> Nontaxable returns have no tax liability of any kind on income reported for the respective year. Nontaxable returns with not income are: (1) Form 1040 on which personal exemption, credit for dependents, and earned income credit exceed not income for 1942 or, for 1943, exceed income tax net income and on which there is no victory tax, and (2) Form 1040A on which the credit for dependents reduces gross income to an amount shown as nontaxable in the optional tax table and on which, for 1943, there is no victory tax.
- <sup>14</sup> Net income is the income tax net income on Form 1040 and gross income on Form 1040A. Deficit on returns with no net income, Form 1040, is the excess of total deductions over total income, i. e., income tax net deficit.
- 18 Form 1040A (optional return), which may be filed by individuals whose gross income is from certain sources only and is not more than \$3,000, does not provide for reporting the amount of net income. Gross income is tabulated both as total income and as net income.
- 16 This class includes a negligible number of non-taxable returns with net income over \$2,000.
- 17 Less than 0.005 percent,
- 18 Not computed.
- 19 Deficit.
- 20 Income less deficit.
- 21 Victory tax net income on Form 1040A is gross income; on Form 1040, it is gross income excluding gain or loss from sales of capital assets and interest on United States obligations if it is exempt from normal tax, less deductions as follows: business expenses, nontrade or nonbusiness expenses incurred either (a) for the production or collection of taxable income, or (b) for the management or maintenance of property held for production of taxable income, net operating loss deduction, and alimony.
- Alternative tax is reported on returns showing an excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss, but only if such tax is less than the sum of normal tax and surtax computed on net in-
  - 22 Surtax net income, used for classification and tabulation, is the amount of income tax net income in excess of the personal exemption and credit for dependents. Surtax net income classes are based on this amount whether or not the alternative tax is imposed. All returns with alternative tax fall in the surtax net income class over \$18,000. (For the purpose of the alternative tax, the surtax net income tabulated here is reduced by an amount equal to the excess of net long-term capital gain over the net short-term capital loss.)

(Footnotes continued on p. 104)

#### Footnotes for text tables—Continued

[Facsimiles of return forms, to which references are made, appear on pp. 368-396]

- 24 Personal exemption allowed the head of a family | or a married person living with husband or wife for the entire year is \$1,200, and that allowed a single person, a married person not living with husband or wife is \$500.
- 25 Credit for dependent is \$350 when Form 1040 is filed. However, in the case of a taxpayer who is head of a family only by reason of one or more dependents for whom he would be entitled to credit. credit is allowed for each of such dependents except
- 26 Includes \$143,928,085 from returns with alternative tax, which amount is 50 percent of the excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss.
- 27 Number of returns is subject to sampling variation of more than 100 percent. The number of returns and associated data are not shown separately since they are considered too unreliable for general use; however, they are included in the totals. For description of sample, see pages 106-114.
- 28 Excludes returns, Form 1040A (see note 30).
- 39 Nontaxable returns with net income are: Form 1040 on which personal exemption, credit for dependents, and earned income credit exceed income tax net income and there is no victory tax; Form 1040A on which credit for dependents reduces gross income to an amount shown as nontaxable in the optional tax table and there is no victory tax.
- 20 The number of returns, Form 1040A, with cash payment at time of filing is not available.
- 11 Less than \$500.
- 32 Number of returns with tax forgiveness excludes the number of returns for members of the armed forces who have no tax on 1943 income but who had the special tax forgiveness eliminating, from the excess of 1942 tax over 1943 tax, the tax attributable to 1942 earned net income. Also the amount of forgiven tax excludes the special tax forgiveness applicable to members of the armed forces who had a larger tax in 1942.
- \*\* Members of the armed forces, included here, had the special tax forgiveness which eliminated, from the 1942 tax, the tax attributable to 1942 earned
- 34 Joint returns of husbands and wives are considered to have one income when a specific exemption of \$624 is claimed against the victory tax net income. When specific exemption of more than \$624 is claimed, joint returns are considered to have income for both husband and wife.
- <sup>25</sup> An unequal number of separate returns for men and women is the result of (1) insufficient data in some returns to identify them as separate returns of married persons, (2) use of samples for estimating the data, and (3) deferment of filing returns by members of the armed forces. The separate returns of husbands and wives do not include the separate community property returns. An explanation of community property returns is given on page 61.
- 36 In this tabulation, separate returns of husbands and wives include separate community property returns.
- 37 The head of a family may not claim credit for a dependent used to qualify him as head of family. The number of dependents tabulated here is the number for whom credit may be claimed.
- 38 Dividends include dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations issued on or prior issues and all dividends received through partnerships and fiduciaries.

- 30 Interest received or accrued from Government bonds is the net amount after deducting the amortizable bond premium for the taxable year where the taxpayer elects to report on that basis; but, unlike last year, the interest on corporation bonds is the amount before the deduction for amortizable bond premium, which is reported in other deductions.
- 40 Partially tax-exempt interest is that received on certain Government obligations issued prior to Mar. 1, 1941, namely, United States savings bonds and Treasury bonds owned in excess of \$5,000 and obligations of instrumentalities of the United States other than Federal land banks, Federal intermediate credit banks, or joint stock land banks, and unlike last year, includes dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations issued prior to March 28, 1942, which are also partially taxexempt. The amount reported includes such interest and dividends received through partnerships and fiduciaries, and it is not subject to normal tax or victory tax.
- 41 Taxable interest on Government obligations is that received on Treasury notes issued on or after Dec. 1, 1940; United States savings bonds and other obligations of the United States or any instrumen tality thereof issued on or after Mar. 1, 1941. The amount reported excludes such interest received through partnerships and fiduciaries.
- 42 Net gain from sales of capital assets is the amount taken into account in computing net income whether or not the alternative tax is imposed. It is a combination of net short- and long-term capital gain and loss; also the net capital loss carried over from 1942 has been deducted. Net gain from such sales includes worthless stocks, worthless bonds if they are capital assets, nonbusiness bad debts, certain distributions from employees' trust plans, and each participant's share of net short- and long-term capital gain and loss to be taken into account from partnerships and common trust-funds. Net gain from sales of capital assets is not subject to victory tax.
- 43 Net gain or loss from the sales of property other than capital assets is that from the sales of (1) property used in trade or business of a character which is subject to the allowance for depreciation, (2) obligations of the United States or any of its possessions, a State or Territory or any political subdivision thereof, or the District of Columbia, issued on or after March 1, 1941, on a discount basis and payable without interest at a fixed maturity date not exceeding one year from date of issue, and (3) real property used in trade or business.
- 44 Rents and royalties tabulated under sources of income are the net profits reported; the reported net losses are included in other deductions.
- 45 Profit or loss from business or profession (sole proprietorship) is for the current year. (Net operating loss deduction is reported in other deductions.)
- 46 Partnership profit or loss, as reported on the income tax return of the partner, excludes (1) partially tax-exempt interest on Government obligations and (2) net gain or loss from sales or exchanges of capital assets, each of which is reported in its respective source of income or deduction, and (3) dividends on source of income or deduction, and (3) dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations issued prior to Mar. 28, 1942, reported in the schedule for interest on Government obligations. In computing partnership profit or loss, charitable contributions are not deductible nor is the net operating loss deduction allowed. However, the prorata shares of contributions, and of prior year income after March 28, 1942, but exclude such dividends on and losses of the partnership are taken into account by each partner in determining his own contributions and net operating loss deduction.

#### Footnotes for text tables—Continued

[Facsimiles of ceturn forms, to which references are made, appear on pp. 368-396]

- tax return of the beneficiary, excludes partially tax-exempt interest on Government obligations and dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations issued prior to Mar. 28, 1942, both of which are reported in the schedule for interest on Government obligations. The net operating loss deduction is allowed to estates and trusts and is deducted in computing the income to be distributed.
- 48 Other income includes alimony received, earnings of minors, prizes, sweepstakes, gambling profits. etc. The amount of dividends, interest, and annuities reported in one sum on individual returns. Form 1040A, is tabulated as other income.
- 49 Net loss from sales of capital assets is the amount reported as a deduction. It is the result of combining net short- and long-term capital gain and loss and the net capital loss carried over from 1942, the deduction, however, is limited to the amount of net loss, or to the net income (computed without regard to capital gains and losses), or to \$1,000, whichever is smallest. Loss from sales of capital assets includes worthless stocks, worthless bonds if they are capital assets, nonbusiness bad debts, certain distributions from employees' trust plans, and each participant's share of net short- and long-term capital gain and loss to be taken into account from partnerships and common trust funds. Net loss from sales of capital assets is not deductible in computing the victory tax net
- 50 Contributions include the taxpayer's share of charitable contributions made by a partnership of which he is a member. The allowable amount is limited to 15 percent of net income computed without this deduction or the deduction for medical, dental, etc., expenses.
- 51 Deductions for interest, taxes, and losses from fire, storm, shipwreck, etc., or theft exclude amounts reported in schedules for (1) rents and royalties and (2) business or profession.
- 52 Losses from fire, storm, shipwreck, war, or other casualty, or from theft not compensated for by insurance or otherwise, reported on individual returns,
- 33 Medical, dental, etc., expenses paid for care of basic g taxpayer, his spouse and dependents, not compen-

- 47 Income from fiduciaries, as reported on the income | sated for by insurance or otherwise, which exceed 5 sated for by insurance or otherwise, which exceed a percent of the net income computed without the deduction. Maximum deduction is \$2,500 on the return for husband and wife or for the head of a family: \$1,250 for all other individuals
  - 54 Other deductions include certain bad debts, net. operating loss deduction, amortizable bond premium on corporation bonds, expenses incurred for the management and maintenance of property held for the production of taxable income, the net loss from rents and royalties reported in sources of income, as well as alimony paid reported on individual returns, and losses from fire, storm, shipwreck, etc., reported on fiduciary returns.
  - 55 Included in other income.
  - 56 Where a sole proprietor is engaged in two or more businesses, the receipts, profits and/or losses are combined for tabulation, but the industrial classification is based on the business showing the largest amount of total receipts.
  - 57 The number of returns on which business is reported does not reflect the number of businesses in which sole proprietors are engaged, since two or more businesses operated by the same proprietor are reported on one return.
  - 55 On returns showing a net profit from business for which no schedule is submitted, the amount of net profit is tabulated both as total receipts and as net profit.
  - 50 Includes number of returns and the net loss from business for which no schedule is submitted and for which total receipts are not available.
  - 60 The number of returns with net loss from business and associated data for a subgroup are not shown separately when the number of returns is subject to sampling variation of more than 25 percent. Howfor the respective basic group, regardless of the degree of sampling variation to which the number of returns in that basic group is subject. Also, the number of returns and the amount of receipts, thus excluded, are contained in the aggregate for the subgroup as well as in the aggregate for the respective basic group. For description of sample, see pp.

#### COMPARABILITY OF INCOME TAX LIABILITY AND TAX COLLECTIONS

With the advent of current collections of individual income tax liability as provided under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943, the tax liability reported on the individual and fiduciary returns for a given year should more nearly approximate the collections from these sources during the same period than has been the case heretofore. To facilitate the execution of the Current Tax Payment Act, the tax liabilities on individual incomes for the income years 1942 and 1943 are merged into a combined tax on the 1943 returns. The combined liability is tabulated in this report as total income and victory tax. The tax collections during the calendar year 1943, while including individual taxes for both 1942 and 1943, do not agree with the total income and victory tax tabulated for various reasons, among which are:

1. Except for a few early fiscal year returns the tax collection for fiduciary returns pertain to the tax liability for the income year 1942; whereas, the tax in this report, tabulated for fiduciary returns, is for the income year 1943, to be collected for the most part in 1944. (Fiduciary returns are not affected by the Current Tax Payment Act.)

2. Penalties, interest, and additional taxes resulting from an audit of the returns are included in collections, but are not a part of the tax

in this report.

3. Delays in tax payments due to financial embarrassment, death, liquidation of business, delinquent returns, or other causes result in

the collection of taxes pertaining to returns for prior years.

4. Tax collections include taxes on returns, Forms 1040C, 1040D, 1040NB, and 1040NB-a, none of which are included in this report. Forms 1040C and 1040D are returns for departing aliens; Forms 1040NB and 1040NB-a are for nonresident aliens not engaged in trade or business within the United States and not having a place of business therein.

5. The entire tax liability paid under section 107 of the Code, relative to compensation for services rendered for a period of 36 months or more and back pay, is included in the collections, but the tax in this report includes only that portion of the tax which is computed at 1943 rates.

6. The tax withheld upon wages included in collections is in excess of the tax liability reported on and tabulated for returns where a

refund or credit is due the taxpayer.

7. The final payment of the combined 1942 and 1943 individual tax liability is not included in the collections for 1943, inasmuch as it is not due until March 1944; and one-half of the unforgiven tax may be postponed until March 15, 1945, if the taxpayer so elects. Also, the tax liability reported on fiscal year returns which are included in this report is not all collected in the calendar year 1943; however, it may be offset by collections from fiscal year returns included in last year's report.

#### DESCRIPTION OF THE SAMPLE AND LIMITATIONS OF DATA

The statistical program with respect to individual income tax returns filed for the income year 1943 called for extensive classifications and tabulations on a total United States basis and for a distribution of returns, income, and tax, by size of net income for the separate States.

For purposes of the national distributions, a basic stratified sample was prescribed for 1943, with uniform representation of all States according to the same sample ratio at each level of stratification. This basic sample was supplemented, in the case of certain strata and certain States, for State table purposes.

The various strata established for sampling purposes for 1943 were determined largely with reference to the classification system adhered to by collectors in their administrative processing of returns. The sampling methods prescribed for each of the sampling strata, particularly in the case of those strata for which the selection was accomplished in the collectors' offices, were determined in such manner as to satisfy the requirements of randomness, without unduly interrupting or complicating the collectors' fundamental duties of assessment, collection, and refunding of tax.

There are discussed below, for the basic stratified sample, the composition of the sample, the selection methods prescribed, the universe sizes, the weighting procedures, and the limitations of the data in terms of sampling variability. A separate discussion is provided for the basic sample increased by supplementation, which was utilized in deriving the State distributions; and a statement with respect to the comparability of the two series of data also is included.

#### COMPOSITION OF THE BASIC SAMPLE

Individual income tax returns for 1943 are of nine fundamental types insofar as administrative processing in collectors' offices is concerned. These include (1) taxable assessable returns, Form 1040A, (2) taxable nonassessable returns, Form 1040A, (3) nontaxable returns, Form 1040A, (4) taxable assessable returns, Form 1040, retained in collectors' offices, (5) taxable nonassessable returns, Form 1040, retained in collectors' offices, (6) nontaxable returns, Form 1040, retained in collectors' offices, (7) taxable assessable returns, Form 1040, sent to Washington, (8) taxable nonassessable returns, Form 1040, sent to Washington, and (9) nontaxable returns, Form 1040, sent to Washington. Returns, Form 1040, retained in collectors' offices are those showing net income under \$5,000 and total receipts from business, if any, under \$25,000. Returns, Form 1040, sent to Washington are those showing net income of \$5,000 or more or total receipts from business of \$25,000 or more. Taxable assessable returns are taxable returns showing tax withheld, payments on 1942 tax, and payments on declaration of estimated tax the sum of which is less than the total income and victory tax liability. Taxable nonassessable returns are taxable returns showing tax withheld, payments on 1942 tax, and payments on declaration of estimated tax equal to or in excess of the total income and victory tax liability. Tax liability, upon which the above classifications are based, is the total income and victory tax liability determined with reference to both 1942 and 1943 incomes. in accordance with the provisions of the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943. Nontaxable returns are those with no tax liability on income for either of the two years 1942 or 1943. This concept of taxability for classification purposes in collectors' offices differs from the concept used for classification of taxable and nontaxable returns in this volume. wherein the classification is with reference to the tax on 1943 income

109

For the income year 1943, the sampling activities in the individual income tax return statistical program were extended substantially. As compared with prior years, for which sampling was confined to selected categories of returns with net income under \$5,000, the sampling program for the income year 1943 was extended to embrace all groups of returns with net income under \$5,000, as well as returns with net income between \$5,000 and \$20,000, which previously had been tabulated in full without recourse to sampling.

STATISTICS OF INCOME FOR 1943, PART 1

One percent coverage was prescribed for returns in each of the above groups (1) to (6), inclusive. However, each group was designated as a distinct stratum for sample selection purposes, since the particular processing operations to which returns of the various categories were subjected affected their availability for sampling, and since the different categories are sufficiently dissimilar with respect to types and

sizes of income and tax to warrant separate controls.

Returns in the three groups (7), (8), and (9) were subdivided by size of income for sampling purposes. Further stratification beyond the categories distinguished in collectors' offices was advisable for these returns in view of the extensive income range encompassed by them and their heterogeneity with respect to types of income. Ten percent coverage was prescribed for the "Under \$10,000" strata among groups (7), (8), and (9). Twenty percent coverage was prescribed for returns having net income from \$10,000 to \$20,000. and 100 percent coverage for returns having net income of \$20,000 or more.

A total of 15 strata, comprising a single stratum for each of the groups (1) to (6), inclusive, and three strata for each of the groups (7). (8), and (9), were thus distinguished for sample selection purposes. The 1, 10, 20, and 100 percent coverages specified for the various sampling strata were uniformly applicable to returns filed in each of the collection districts. Precise 1, 10, and 20 percent samples were not achieved, principally because of the particular sampling techniques employed. Accordingly, the universe populations relating to the separate strata distinguished for sample selection purposes were independently determined and compared with the corresponding samples. The resultant weighting patterns made allowance for the deviation of actual sample sizes from prescribed sample sizes.

#### SELECTION OF THE SAMPLE

As returns were received in collectors' offices, those which the taxpayers indicated to be assessable were assigned serial numbers and were blocked in units of 100 returns having consecutive serial numbers ending in "00" to "99," inclusive—separate series of numbers being provided for returns, Form 1040A; returns, Form 1040, retained in collectors' offices; and returns, Form 1040, sent to Washington. The serial number, less the ending two digits thereof, constituted the block number, which was identical for all returns within a block. After completion of the necessary assessment operations, the taxable assessable returns were available for sampling.

Taxable nonassessable and nontaxable returns were subjected to document-matching operations for refund purposes prior to serializing. Upon completion of such operations these returns were serialized and blocked. Distinct series of numbers were assigned to taxable nonassessable returns and to nontaxable returns, with each series subdivided into returns, Form 1040A; returns, Form 1040, retained in collectors' offices; and returns, Form 1040, sent to Washington. The taxable nonassessable and nontaxable returns were not available for sampling until they were serialized, blocked, and scheduled for refund or credit of any overpayment.

The selection of the 1 percent sample of returns for each of the six strata encompassed by returns, Form 1040A, and returns, Form 1040, retained in collectors' offices was accomplished in the various collectors' offices. The block status of returns was of fundamental importance for the collectors' processing operations and any decomposition of the blocks, by sampling certain returns within each block, would have seriously complicated the collectors' operations, not only since block unity would be destroyed, but because the sampling process itself would be extremely laborious. Accordingly, to achieve the maximum simplification for the collectors' offices, the selection operation was prescribed in terms of blocks of 100 returns each, one of each hundred blocks being required. Since selection of the first block might result in marked over-representation of rare types of returns, and, conversely, selection of the hundredth block might result in substantial under-representation, the maximum effectiveness is considered to be associated with the mid-block of each successive hundred blocks. Thus collectors' offices were instructed to withdraw for sample purposes all blocks with block number ending in "50" (represents fiftyfirst of each successive 100 blocks) from among the various categories of returns, Form 1040A, and returns, Form 1040, retained in their offices. Although selection of the above blocks represents a departure from a true 1 percent formula, nevertheless in most cases a substantial number of blocks were involved, and the sample approximated closely 1 percent. Furthermore, universes were independently determined and data tabulated from the sample were weighted accordingly. The degrees of sampling variability as shown on page 112 allow for possible nonrandomness associated with the block sampling technique employed for returns, Form 1040A, and returns, Form 1040, retained in collectors' offices.

The selection of the 10, 20, and 100 percent samples of returns, Form 1040, sent to Washington was accomplished in Washington. These returns were received from collectors in block arrangement, and the sample selection was accomplished by subdividing each block of returns into three groups—returns with net income under \$10,000, returns with net income from \$10,000 to \$20,000, and returns with net income of \$20,000 or more—and then by withdrawing every successive tenth return, every successive fifth return, and the entire body of returns from the above respective groups, aggregated over all blocks, separately for the taxable assessable, taxable nonassessable, and nontaxable categories.

#### UNIVERSE SIZES

The primary sources of universe data for 1943 were the statements submitted by the 64 collectors' offices showing the number of returns filed in each district, falling into each of the fundamental types (1) to (9), inclusive. Adjustments were required in collectors, counts before such universes could be utilized for weighting purposes, since the classification of returns as taxable or nontaxable by collectors was based on tax liability determined with reference to both 1942 and 1943 incomes; whereas the classification for purposes of this volume is determined with reference to tax on 1943 income only. The collectors' counts of taxable returns include, and their counts of nontaxable returns exclude, a number of returns which were taxable by virtue of their 1942 income only and were nontaxable with respect to 1943 income

In the case of returns, Form 1040, sent to Washington, collectors' reports showed the total number of returns filed in each district. separately for the taxable assessable, taxable nonassessable, and nontaxable categories, but did not show the number falling into the three separate strata within each category determined with reference to size of net income. For returns with net income under \$20,000, however, the supplementary samples selected for State distribution purposes, discussed subsequently, were designed to assure 100 percent representation when merged with the basic sample; such supplementary samples consisted of 90 percent of returns with net income under \$10,000 and 80 percent of returns with net income from \$10,000 to \$20,000. For returns with net income of \$20,000 or more, the basic sample called for 100 percent representation. Accordingly, the sum of the returns in the basic sample and the returns in the supplementary sample provided another basic source of universe data for weighting purposes.

Secondary sources included the tabulated counts of returns in the basic sample. Such tabulated counts, in the case of returns, Form 1040A, and returns, Form 1040, retained in collectors' offices, were expected to approximate 1 percent of the corresponding reported universes for the various sampling strata within each collection district, taking into account the adjustments between the taxable and nontaxable universes noted above. In the case of returns, Form 1040, sent to Washington the tabulated counts were expected to approximate 10, 20, and 100 percent of the combined basic and supplementary samples of returns with net income under \$10,000, from

\$10,000 to \$20,000, and \$20,000 and over, respectively.

The aggregates of reported stratum universes, over all collection districts, with such adjustments as were clearly indicated by secondary sources, and the aggregates of the basic and supplementary samples, in the case of returns, Form 1040, sent to Washington, provided the bases for uniform weights applied to all districts for purposes of the national distributions. The separate district stratum universes for returns, Form 1040A, and returns, Form 1040, retained in collectors' offices provided the basis for a series of independent collection district weights for purposes of the State distributions. The basic and supplementary samples of returns, Form 1040, sent to Washington accounted for the entire universe of such returns, and no extensions were required for their strata for State table purposes.

## WEIGHTING PROCEDURES

Although the sampling pattern for 1943 called for 15 distinct strata for sample selection and universe determination purposes, it was possible to achieve a degree of simplification in the tabulating and weighting operations, in the case of returns, Form 1040A, and returns,

Form 1040, retained in collectors' offices, by combination of multiple strata, where the data in the tables are composites of such strata, each subject to the same sampling ratio, and where the percentage representations attained for the strata were in close agreement. For example, for each return form, the degree of representation achieved for the taxable assessable element closely approximated the degree of representation for the taxable nonassessable element, permitting joint processing of the two categories of returns.

For returns, Form 1040, sent to Washington, substantial simplification was achieved by jointly processing the taxable assessable and taxable nonassessable returns. For these returns, an extension system was devised which utilized to the utmost the universe data provided by the combined basic and supplementary samples. Only limited data were available for returns in the supplementary sample, consisting of number of such returns, amount of net income, amount of income and victory tax on 1943 income, and amount of total income and victory tax liability, by size of net income. These data, when added to corresponding data in the basic sample, provided a series of independent universes of number of returns, amount of net income, amount of income and victory tax on 1943 income, and amount of total income and victory tax liability for each income class from \$5,000 to \$20,000. For each such income class, a series of independent weights were evolved on the basis of such universes.

Inasmuch as data for returns, Form 1040, with net income under \$5,000 and with deficit, sent to Washington, were merged in the final compilations with data for returns, Form 1040, retained in collectors' offices which constitute the preponderant element and for which separate income class extension factors were not available, the more refined techniques of establishing separate universes for distinct items for each net income class were not applied to the returns, Form 1040, sent to Washington. All data for returns, Form 1040, with net income under \$5,000 sent to Washington were uniformly weighted according to a single factor based on the total number of such returns in the basic sample as compared with the basic and supplementary samples combined. Similar procedure was followed with respect to returns, Form 1040, with deficit sent to Washington.

Data for returns with net income of \$20,000 or more, as stated previously, were derived from a complete coverage and, therefore,

did not require weighting.

#### SAMPLING VARIABILITY

Insofar as the data in this volume are tabulated from samples, they are subject to sampling variability. The degrees of variability are shown on page 112; they relate to specific frequency levels and not to money amounts. Furthermore, in the case of returns with net income from \$5,000 to \$20,000, the degrees of variability relate to frequencies other than total number of returns per net income class, since the latter are derived from a complete coverage.

In determining degrees of variability associated with random sampling herein, six distinct sampling patterns were recognized. These patterns embrace the following types of returns: (1) taxable returns, Form 1040A, (2) nontaxable returns, Form 1040A, (3) taxable returns, Form 1040, with net income under \$5,000, (4) returns with

net income from \$5,000 to \$10,000, (5) returns with net income from \$10,000 to \$20,000, and (6) nontaxable returns, Form 1040. Patterns (3) and (6) above are comprehensive patterns accounting for returns retained in collectors' offices and returns sent to Washington. Although separate variability series were computed for the six sampling patterns recognized above, the variabilities associated with specific frequency levels were of almost like magnitude in the case of taxable and nontaxable returns, Form 1040A; taxable returns, Form 1040, with net income under \$5,000; and nontaxable returns, Form 1040. Accordingly these four groups are presented jointly in the table below. For the two groups of returns, Form 1040, those with net income from \$5,000 to \$10,000 and those with net income from \$10,000 to \$20,000, the degrees of variability are based on total stratum populations and total sample sizes, and are, therefore, maximum values: the actual variability may be somewhat smaller as a result of the separate weighting of frequencies for each specific net income class.

In computing the limits of variation and relative sampling error of a given frequency, a range of two standard errors was used; chances are somewhat over 19 out of 20 that the frequency as estimated from the sample tabulation differs from the actual frequency, which would have resulted from tabulation of the entire universe, by less than twice the standard error. Variation beyond the two-error limit would occur less than 1 time in 20 and would be sufficiently rare to justify a two-error range in defining sample variability. Thus, all limits of variation are determined on the basis of two standard errors, and the degrees of variability are expressed in terms of relative errors. or percents of the numbers to which they relate. Specific cell frequencies in national distributions in this volume, unless otherwise footnoted, are subject to maximum variation of less than 25 percent. Frequencies which are subject to maximum variation of more than 25 percent, but not more than 100 percent, are footnoted to indicate their great variability. Frequencies which are subject to maximum variation of more than 100 percent and associated data are not shown separately since they are considered too unreliable for general use; however, they are included in the totals.

Sampling variability at selected frequency levels

|  | Returns, Form 1040<br>income under \$5,00<br>turns, Form 1040A   | io, and re-  | Returns with ne<br>from \$5,000 to  |  | Returns with ne<br>from \$10,000 to   |  |
|--|--|--|---|--|---|--|
| If the num-<br>ber of returns<br>in a cell of a<br>table is— | Then the number for<br>that cell of the uni-<br>verse lies in the<br>range—  | And the relative sampling error expressed as a percent is— | Then the number for that cell of the universe lies in the range—  | And the relative sampling error expressed as a percent is— | Then the number for that cell of the universe lies in the range—  | And the<br>relative<br>sampling<br>error<br>expressed<br>as a per-<br>cent is— |
| 500  | 0- 1,100 3,000- 7,000 7,000- 13,000 20,000- 30,000 44,000- 56,000 91,000- 109,000 237,000- 263,000 482,000- 518,000 727,000- 773,000 975,000-1,025,000 1,960,000-2,040,000 | 40<br>30<br>20<br>12<br>11<br>9<br>5<br>4<br>3             | 350- 650<br>4,500- 5,500<br>9,300- 10,700<br>24,000- 26,000<br>48,000- 52,000<br>73,000- 77,000<br>98,000-102,000<br>247,000-233,000<br>496,000-504,000 | 30<br>10<br>7<br>4<br>4<br>3<br>2<br>1<br>1                | 400- 600<br>4, 700- 5, 300<br>9, 500- 10, 500<br>24, 000- 26, 000<br>49, 000- 51, 000<br>74, 000- 76, 000<br>99, 000-101, 000 | 20<br>6<br>5<br>4<br>2<br>1<br>1   |

Uniform sampling ratios were prescribed for all collection districts within each sampling stratum; however, in view of the block sampling technique applied in the case of returns, Forms 1040A and 1040. retained in collectors' offices, some differences in percentage representation were noted between the various collection districts. In general, the differences were minor, with the greatest deviations from the prescribed sampling ratio occurring for districts having relatively few returns, and little weight in the universe. In view of the small differences noted and of the homogeneity within the separate strata. no appreciable bias resulted from the combined tabulation and extension of data for all collection districts for the national distributions. For purposes of deriving the State distributions, separate weights were derived for each State, taking into account the particular State universes and sample sizes. The differences in data between the national and State distributions attributable to the dual weighting system and to the use of supplementary samples for State purposes are discussed

in a subsequent paragraph.

The preceding analyses with respect to variability have been confined to cell frequencies. Specific consideration has not been given to associated money amounts; however, the homogeneity of the separate strata employed for sampling purposes, and the large number of returns included in the samples, together with the progressively increased sample sizes in the higher income areas, culminating in 100 percent representation of returns with net incomes of \$20,000 and over, generally serve to limit the sampling variability with respect to such amounts. An exception occurs in the case of returns with no net income. Stratification by size of deficit was not administratively feasible, nor was it possible to establish separate strata for returns with deficit as distinct from returns with net income. As a result, returns. Form 1040, with deficit and with total receipts from business, if any, under \$25,000 were classified along with the much larger group of returns with net income retained in collectors' offices, which were subject to a 1 percent sampling ratio. Returns, Form 1040, with deficit and with total receipts from business of \$25,000 or more were classified among returns with net income under \$5,000 sent to Washington. However, for these deficit returns, which were relatively few as compared with deficit returns retained in collectors' offices, distinct universe weighting factors were available, based on the number of such returns occurring in the basic and supplementary samples combined as compared with the number in the basic sample alone. In view of the facts that (a) the deficit returns are extremely heterogeneous and were not stratified by size, (b) the samples of such returns are generally inadequate, and (c) independent universes were not available for weighting purposes in the case of returns retained in collectors' offices which constitute the greater part of the deficit returns, money amounts associated with deficit returns in this volume may be subject to marked sampling variability.

Data in the text table on pages 95-96, showing number of returns with net profit or with net loss from business, amount of net profit or net loss, and amount of total receipts from business by industrial groups, are composites derived from all categories of returns, Form 1040. The majority of the data, however, are contributed by returns, Form 1040, retained in collectors' offices which account, in aggregate

over all industrial groups, for about 90 percent of the returns with net profit or net loss from business. The sampling variability associated with amounts of total receipts from business and amounts of net profit or loss for the various industrial groups is not known. Inasmuch as no sampling controls were instituted with respect to these items, and inasmuch as total receipts up to \$25,000 may be reported on returns retained in collectors' offices and total receipts reported on returns in each stratum among those sent to Washington may extend over an indefinite range, these items may be subject to considerable sampling error. Consequently, data are not shown in the table for industrial subgroups for which total number of returns with net profit or loss is subject to variation of more than 25 percent. In the case of industrial subgroups for which maximum sampling variability is less than 25 percent for returns with net profit, but more than 25 percent for returns with net loss, data with respect to returns with net loss are omitted. Although data may be totally or partly omitted in the table for a specific industrial subgroup, they are included in the total for the respective basic group.

### STATE AGGREGATES

State components of the 1 percent basic sample of returns, Forms 1040A and 1040, retained in collectors' offices were generally too small to permit adequate distributions by size of income on a State basis, so that, for the majority of States, supplementary samples of such returns were selected. Altogether, supplementary samples of returns, Form 1040A, were selected for 36 States and the Territory of Hawaii, such supplementary samples ranging from 1 percent, yielding a total sample of 2 percent when added to the basic sample, to 19 percent, yielding a total sample of 20 percent. Similarly, supplementary samples of returns, Form 1040, ranging from 1 percent to 19 percent, were selected for 34 States and the Territory of Hawaii. The sampling ratio prescribed for the supplementary sample applied to all categories of returns—taxable assessable, taxable nonassessable, and nontaxable. For States comprised of multiple collection districts, the sampling ratio was uniformly applicable to all districts, in order to permit the combined processing of data for all districts in the State. The supplementary samples, as was the case with the basic sample, were selected in terms of blocks of 100 returns each.

The income year 1943 is the first year that sampling activities were extended to embrace returns, Form 1040, sent to Washington, for purposes of the national distributions. For State table purposes, however, 100 percent representation was prescribed, so that the supplementary samples comprise 90 percent of such returns with net income under \$10,000 for all collection districts, and 80 percent of returns with net income from \$10,000 to \$20,000. Inasmuch as the basic sample itself accounted for the entire universe of returns with net income of \$20,000 and over, no supplementary samples were

required in this area.

Data in table 11 for returns, Form 1040, with net income under \$5,000 and for returns, Form 1040A, are composites representing both the taxable and nontaxable populations, and data for each State were derived from independent State samples. In view of the facts that the sample sizes and the universes for the various States differed,

and that the proportions of taxable and nontaxable returns, which constituted distinct sampling strata, varied, sampling errors at specific frequency levels differ by States and it is not possible to present a comprehensive series of sampling errors uniformly applicable to all States. However, frequencies in table 11 which are associated with sampling variability of more than 20 percent are footnoted to indicate their great variability; sampling variability for frequencies which are not footnoted is less than 20 percent. Data in table 11 are necessarily confined to returns with net income, since returns with deficit were too few, and the sampling variability too great, to permit their

distribution on a State basis.

Data in the National and State distributions, in the case of returns, Form 1040A, and returns, Form 1040, retained in collectors' offices, were estimated from nonidentical samples. No attempt was made to achieve precise agreement between the two series, and data in the two series consequently do not coincide. Further differences stem from the use of rounded weighting factors in deriving each series and from the dual system of weighting employed, involving a uniform series of weights for all States for purposes of the national distributions and separately determined weights for each State for purposes of the State distributions. Although the series do not coincide, they are in substantial agreement. Thus, a comparison of number of returns, net income, income and victory tax on 1943 income, and total income and victory tax, in the tables of national data with corresponding items aggregated over the States for each of the various income classes under \$5,000, in the State distributions, indicates a maximum difference of less than 1 percent in all cases. Data in the State distributions, in the case of returns, Form 1040, with net income of \$5,000 or more, represent a complete coverage. Inasmuch as these data are not estimates subject to sampling variability, they were used as universes for purposes of deriving weighting factors for the national distributions. Accordingly, number of returns, net income, income and victory tax on 1943 income, and total income and victory tax, in the tables of national data coincide with corresponding data aggregated over the States, for each of the net income classes above \$5,000.

## HISTORICAL DATA

#### INDIVIDUAL RETURNS AND RETURNS OF FIDUCIARIES

A résumé of significant data from the individual income tax returns and returns of fiduciaries, for each year since the inception of the present period of income taxation, is presented in basic tables 12, 13, 14, and 15. These tables are prepared from data in the reports, Statistics of Income, published annually since 1916, in accordance with provisions of the various revenue acts, and from data in the Annual Report of the Commissioner of Internal Revenue for 1914-1916. The number of returns and tax tabulated for income years 1913-1915 are as reported by the Commissioner for the fiscal year ended June 30, immediately following, and the net income is estimated from the number of returns filed and the average net income for each income class. The amount of tax tabulated as surtax is technically "additional tax" for 1913-1917

Historical data for 1916-1936 are tabulated for individual and fiduciary returns. Forms 1040 and 1040A, including individual returns with no net income for 1928 and thereafter. Data for 1937-1940 are tabulated from individual returns, Forms 1040 and 1040A, with net income and with no net income, and from taxable fiduciary returns, Forms 1041, filed for estates and trusts and from returns for estates and trusts filed (improperly) on Form 1040, except that for 1938 and thereafter, the nontaxable returns in this last category are excluded. Data for 1941-1943 are tabulated from individual returns, Form 1040, with net income and with no net income, optional returns, Form 1040A, with gross income not over \$3,000, and taxable fiduciary returns, Form 1041 (or Form 1040).

Basic table 12 shows historical data for the number of taxable and nontaxable returns, net income or deficit, various types of tax, and the tax credits; in basic table 13 the number of returns, net income or deficit, total tax, and effective tax rate are tabulated by net income classes; in table 14 the sources of income and deductions are tabulated for all returns and for returns with net income of \$5,000 and over; and in table 15 the number of returns, net income, and total tax for each State and Territory are shown for the 10-year period ending with

the current year.

Changes in the provisions of the Federal income tax laws under which the returns are filed interfere with the comparability of the statistical data over a period of years. The major provisions of the Federal tax laws from 1913-1943 are summarized on pages 344-359. The changes in law affecting income tax data for 1943 are set forth briefly on pages 5-6. Revisions in the income tax return forms to incorporate changes in the law may eliminate, combine, or introduce items which make it impracticable or impossible to present comparable data from year to year.

#### CAPITAL GAINS AND LOSSES

In the interpretation of historical data for capital gains and losses a survey of the income tax provisions affecting the gains and losses resulting from sales and exchanges of capital assets together with the method of tabulating these data, will be helpful. Table D, on pages 356-357, presents a résumé of the changes in tax laws pertaining to gains and losses on sales of capital assets, and, in basic table 14 which shows sources of income and deductions, the amounts of net gain and net loss from sales of capital assets are tabulated as pre-

sented in previous reports.

The revenue acts in effect from January 1, 1922, through December 31, 1933, provide for the special taxation of the net gain resulting from sales or exchanges of capital assets, and the revenue acts in effect from January 1, 1924, through December 31, 1933, provide for a tax credit on account of the net loss resulting from sales or exchanges of such capital assets. Under these acts, the term "Capital assets" means property held by the taxpayer more than 2 years (whether or not connected with his trade or business), but does not mean (1) for any year, stock in trade or other property which would properly be included in the inventory of the taxpayer if on hand at the close of the taxable year; (2) for the years 1922-1923, property held for personal use; or (3) after January 1, 1924, property held primarily for sale in the course of trade or business.

In presenting these data in Statistics of Income, "Capital net gain" is tabulated as such and included in "Total income" and "Net income" for returns with net income for the years 1922-1933. "Capital net gain" for returns with no net income is tabulated as such for the vears 1928 and 1929; is included in "Profit from sales of real estate. stocks, bonds, etc.," for 1930-1933; and is included in "Total income" and "Deficit" for the entire period 1928-1933.

"Capital net loss" for which a tax credit of 12½ percent is taken is not tabulated and is not taken into account in computing "Total deductions" or "Net income" for 1924-1933. "Capital net loss" when reported by the taxpayer as a deduction (a) in computing "Net income" is included in "Other deductions" for 1924-1928. and in "Net loss from sales of real estate, stocks, bonds, etc.," for 1929-1933, and (b) in computing "Deficit" is included in "Other deductions" for 1928 and in "Net loss from sales of real estate, stocks. bonds, etc.," for 1929-1933. "Capital net loss" not taken into account by the taxpayer as a deduction in computing "Net income," and for which no credit of 12½ percent is taken, is not included in "Total deductions" for 1924-1933; and "Capital net loss" not taken into account in computing "Deficit" is not included in "Total deductions" for 1928-1931, but for 1932 and 1933 is tabulated in "Net loss from sales of real estate, stocks, bonds, etc.," and both "Total deductions" and "Deficit" are adjusted to correspond.

The capital net gain and loss from sales of capital assets prior to 1934 include the taxpayer's pro rata share of capital gain or loss of a partnership in which he is a member and of an estate or trust under which he is a beneficiary, when the tax or the tax credit is computed

at 12½ percent.

Under the provisions of the Revenue Acts of 1934 and 1936 (in effect January 1, 1934, through December 31, 1937), the definition of capital assets is expanded to include assets of the taxpayer, regardless of time held, instead of assets held over 2 years. Certain percentages of the gain or loss recognized upon such sales or exchanges are taken into account in computing net income. These percentages, which vary according to the period for which the assets have been held, are: 100 percent of the gain or loss from sales of capital assets held not over 1 year; 80 percent of the gain or loss from sales of capital assets held over 1 year but not over 2 years; 60 percent of the gain or loss from sales of capital assets held over 2 years but not over 5 years: 40 percent of the gain or loss from sales of capital assets held over 5 years but not over 10 years; and 30 percent of the gain or loss from sales of capital assets held over 10 years. The deduction for net capital loss (that is, after the percentages are applied and after subtracting the capital gains to be taken into account) is limited to \$2,000, or the amount of the net capital loss, whichever is smaller.

The net income reported on individual income tax returns, Form 1040, for the taxable years 1934-1937, and fiduciary income tax returns. Form 1041, for 1937, includes net capital gain or loss computed in accordance with the limitations stated in the preceding paragraph. The net capital gain or loss, as reported for this period, excludes that received through partnerships and fiduciaries. It is not possible, by using the net capital gain and net capital loss on the returns for these

vears, to adjust the "Total income," "Total deductions," and "Net income" so that they will be comparable with these items as tabulated for prior years. Moreover, net capital gain or loss reported on returns for 1934-1937 is not comparable with "Profit or loss from sale of real estate, stocks, and bonds, etc.," "Capital net gain," or "Capital net loss" reported on returns for prior years.

STATISTICS OF INCOME FOR 1943, PART 1

Under the provisions of the Revenue Act of 1938 and of the Internal Revenue Code as originally enacted, the definition of capital assets is the same as that under the provisions of the Revenue Acts of 1934 and 1936, except that property used in trade or business of a character which is subject to the allowance for depreciation is excluded; and securities (stocks and bonds) which became worthless during the taxable year are considered as loss from sale or exchange of capital The Revenue Act of 1941, amending the Code, excludes from capital assets an obligation of the United States or any possession thereof, or of a State or Territory or any political subdivision thereof, or the District of Columbia, issued on or after March 1, 1941, on a discount basis and payable without interest at a fixed maturity date not exceeding 1 year from date of issue.

The percentages of the recognized gains or losses from the sales or exchanges of capital assets to be taken into account in computing net income for the years 1938-1941 differ from the percentages of gains or losses from such sales to be taken into account for 1934-1937, and the periods of time for which the assets were held are reduced from five to three. The percentages, varying according to the time the assets were held, are: 100 percent of the gain or loss from sales of capital assets held 18 months or less; 66% percent of the gain or loss from sales of capital assets held over 18 months but not over 24 months; 50 percent of the gain or loss from sales of capital assets held over 24 months. The net capital gain or loss is separated into short-term and long-term. Net short-term gain or loss is that from the sales or exchanges of capital assets held 18 months or less, and net long-term gain or loss is that from the sales or exchanges of capital assets held over 18 months. Net short-term gain, net long-term gain, and net long-term loss are taken into account in computing current year net income. Net shortterm loss, however, is not deductible in computing current year net income.

The net short-term capital loss sustained in any income year 1938-1941, while not deductible from income in the year in which the loss is sustained, may be carried over to the next succeeding income year and treated as a short-term capital loss. The amount carried over cannot exceed the net income for the year in which the loss is sustained, and can be deducted only to the extent of the net short-term capital gain of the year in which the deduction is permitted. The carry-over is restricted to 1 year. The deduction on account of net short-term loss under the capital loss carry-over provision, is first reported on returns for 1939.

In comparing "Net short-term capital gain included in total income" and "Net income" on returns for the years 1939-1941 with similar items on returns for 1938, it should be noted that the amounts for 1939-1941 are after the deduction for net short-term capital loss of the preceding year, whereas, in 1938, such a deduction was not allowable. The item "Current year net short-term capital gain" published in

Statistics of Income for 1940 and 1941, is comparable with "Net short-term capital gain before deducting prior year net short-term capital loss," published in Statistics of Income for 1939, and with "Net short-term capital gain" published for 1938. The item "Net shortterm capital loss of preceding taxable year deducted," published for 1940 and 1941, is comparable with "Prior year net short-term capital loss deducted," published for the first time in 1939. Net long-term capital gain and loss for the years 1938-1941 are comparable.

The amounts of "Net short-term capital gain" and "Net long-term capital gain (or loss)" shown on the returns and tabulated for the income years 1938-1941, are not comparable with "Net capital gain (or loss)" for the income years 1934-1937 because, for 1938-1941, the periods of time for which the assets were held and the percentages of recognized gain or loss to be taken into account are changed; worthless stocks and bonds are included; the net short-term loss is excluded since it is disallowed as a deduction in any current year; and for the vears 1939-1941 the capital loss carry-over is deducted from the shortterm capital gain. Moreover, for the years 1938-1941, the net shortterm capital gain and net long-term capital gain or loss include the net gain or loss to be taken into account from partnerships and common trust funds, whereas, for 1934-1937, the net capital gain and loss exclude such gain or loss from partnerships and fiduciaries. It is not possible, by using the "Net short-term capital gain" and the "Net long-term capital gain (or loss)" to adjust "Total income." "Total deductions," and "Net income" for the income years 1938-1941 so that they will be comparable with these items for the income years 1934-1937.

The Revenue Act of 1942 excludes real property used in trade or. business of the taxpaver from the definition of capital assets; changes the periods of time for which an asset is held in determining shortterm and long-term capital gain or loss; and changes the percentages of recognized gain or loss to be taken into account as follows: 100 percent of the gain or loss from sales of capital assets held 6 months or less (short-term) and 50 percent of the gain or loss from sales of capital assets held more than 6 months (long-term). Net short- and long-term capital gain and loss are combined. If the combination results in a net loss, the deduction for the current year is limited to the amount of net loss, or to \$1,000, or to the net income computed without regard to capital gains and losses, whichever is smallest; if the combination results in a net gain, the amount thereof is included in total income.

The capital loss carry-over is the net capital loss of any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1941, and includes both short- and long-term capital losses. The amount of net capital loss may be carried forward as a short-term capital loss in each of five succeeding years to the extent that such amount exceeds the net capital gain of any subsequent year intervening between the year in which the net capital loss occurred and the fifth succeeding year. "Net capital loss" is the excess of net loss from sales of capital assets over \$1,000 or net income computed without regard to capital gains and losses, whichever is smaller. "Net capital gain" is the net gain from sales of capital assets plus \$1,000 or net income computed without regard to capital gains and losses, whichever is smaller.

The "Net gain (or loss) from sales of capital assets." reported on the returns and tabulated for 1942, is a combination of the net shortand long-term capital gains and losses including the net gain or loss to be taken into account from partnerships and common trust funds: also the net short-term capital loss carried over from 1941, not in excess of the net income for that year, has been deducted but only to the extent of net short-term gain for 1942. For 1943, the "Net gain (or loss) from sales of capital assets" is similar to that tabulated for the previous year, except that the carry-over is the "Net capital loss" of 1942, as defined above. The carry-overs reported on the 1942 and 1943 returns differ in two important respects: The carry-over reported on 1943 returns includes both short- and long-term capital losses and is reported, without limitation, independently of the current year capital gain or loss; whereas, the carry-over reported on 1942 returns includes only short-term losses and is limited to the net income for 1941 as well as to the net short-term capital gain of 1942.

The allowable deduction for a net loss from sales of capital assets for 1942-1943 is limited to the amount of such loss, or to \$1,000, or to the net income computed without regard to capital gains and losses, whichever is smallest. For 1942, the allowable deduction consists of capital loss of that year; but for 1943, the allowable deduction consists partly of carry-over and partly of current year capital loss.

The amount of net capital loss, sustained in 1942 or 1943 and carried

forward into future years, is not available.

The net gain or loss from sales of capital assets reported and tabulated for 1942–1943 is not comparable with that from sales of capital assets for 1938–1941 because of the changes in the periods of time for which the assets were held, in the percentages of gain or loss to be taken into account, in the computation of the carry-over, and in the amount of allowable deduction for capital loss; and because of the combination of net short- and long-term capital gain and loss all of which affect the data for 1942–1943. It is not possible to adjust "Total income," "Total deductions," or "Net income" for 1942–1943 so that they are comparable with such items for the years 1938–1941.

A summary of the provisions of the various revenue acts, relating to the gains and losses on sales of capital assets, the tax on capital gains, and the tax credit for capital losses, is presented in table D, pages 356-357.

#### PARTNERSHIP RETURNS OF INCOME, 1917-1943

Partnership returns of income, except for the war excess-profits tax of 1917, are not subject to direct assessments of Federal income tax. However, every domestic partnership and every foreign partnership doing business in the United States or having an office or place of business therein is required to file a return of income on Form 1065 (facsimile on pages 389-396). "The term 'partnership' includes a syndicate, group, pool, joint venture, or other unincorporated organization, through or by means of which any business, financial operation, or venture is carried on, and which is not, within the meaning of this title, a trust or estate or a corporation \* \* \*" (section 3797(a)(2), Internal Revenue Code). The distributive share of net profit or net loss of the partnership (whether distributed or not) is reported on the individual income tax return of each partner according to his pro-

portionate share, and the profit or loss thus reported is tabulated elsewhere in this report as a source of income or deduction, insofar as it is reported on individual returns, Form 1040, and taxable fiduciary returns, Form 1041, for the income year 1943.

For the income year 1939, data from partnership returns of income, Form 1065, have been compiled and published in a Supplement to Statistics of Income for 1939, Part 1. The tabulations therein present by industrial groups the receipts and deductions, ordinary income or deficit, income and deductions not included in computing ordinary income, gross receipts from business, cost of goods, and gross profit or loss from business; also there are distributions of the returns by gross receipts classes, by ordinary net income or deficit classes, by types of partnership, and by number of copartners. Copies may be secured from the Superintendent of Documents, United States Government Printing Office, Washington 25, D. C., at a cost of 15 cents. (Data from the 1945 and 1947 partnership returns are in process of compilation.)

The number of partnership returns, Form 1065, filed for the income years 1917 through 1943, shown below as reported by the collectors of internal revenue, include calendar year returns, fiscal and part year returns filed during the succeeding calendar year regardless of month in which the income year ended, and delinquent returns.

| Income year:  1917  1918  1919  1920  1921  1922  1923  1924  1925  1926  1927  1928 | 100, 728<br>175, 898<br>240, 767<br>259, 359<br>287, 959<br>304, 996<br>321, 158<br>309, 414<br>295, 425<br>282, 841<br>272, 127 | Income year—Continued 1931 1932 1933 1934 1935 1936 1937 1938 1939 1940 1941 | 216, 712<br>214, 881<br>221, 740<br>222, 293<br>237, 367<br>261, 470<br>273, 361<br>290, 876<br>372, 796<br>453, 911<br>490, 320 |
|--|--|--|--|
| 1928<br>1929<br>1930   | $\begin{array}{cccc} 272, 127 \\ 263, 519 \end{array}$   | 1942   | 490, 320   |

#### SOURCE BOOK OF STATISTICS OF INCOME

The Source Book is a series of unpublished volumes containing comprehensive compilations of data which supplement the published reports, "Statistics of Income." The Source Book is maintained in the Statistical Division, Bureau of Internal Revenue, and is available for research purposes to officials of the Federal and State Governments and to qualified representatives of accredited organizations upon the presentation of a written request addressed to the Commissioner of Internal Revenue.

The following data from individual income tax returns for 1927–1942 (except Form 1040A for 1941–1942) are classified by States and Territories, by taxable and nontaxable returns, and by net income classes: The sources of income and deductions (as published for each year in the Statistics of Income), total income, total deductions, net

758454---50-----9

income, personal exemption and credit for dependents (combined for 1927–1932 and shown separately thereafter), earned income credit for 1934–1942, net loss for prior year 1927–1932, normal tax, surtax, 12½ percent tax on capital net gain for 1927–1933, 12½ percent tax credit for capital net loss for 1927–1933, tax credit for earned income for 1927–1931, alternative tax for 1938–1942, and total tax.

The number of returns with net income and the amount of net income for 1927–1942, personal exemption for 1937–1942, credit for dependents for 1937–1942, and total tax for 1941–1942 (except Form 1040A for 1941–1942) are classified by States and Territories, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by sex and family relationship.

The amount of Government obligations owned and the wholly and partially tax-exempt interest received thereon as reported on individual returns with net income of \$5,000 and over for 1932–1940 are classified by States and Territories and by net income classes.

The Source Book contains no other data for individual returns, Form 1040A, than that published in the report for 1941. For 1942, the Source Book shows for Form 1040A the number of returns, amount of salaries, other income (dividends, interest, and annuities in one sum), gross income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, and optional tax classified by gross income classes, by taxable and nontaxable returns, and by sex and relationship, for States and Territories.

The sampling technique employed for estimating data for 1943 does not permit tabulation of data from Form 1040 or 1040A by income classes or by family relationship for the States and Territories.

# INDIVIDUAL RETURNS AND TAXABLE FIDUCIARY RETURNS 1943

## BASIC TABLES

Tax analysis—by net income classes:

- 1. Individual and taxable fiduciary returns.
- 1-A. Individual returns.
- 1-B. Taxable fiduciary returns.

Cumulative distributions of number of returns, net income, and tax—by net income classes:

- 2. Individual and taxable fiduciary returns.
- 2-A. Individual returns.

Number of returns, net income, and tax-by family relationship:

3. Individual returns—by net income classes.

Sources of income and deduction—by net income classes:

- 4. Individual and taxable fiduciary returns.
- 4-A. Individual returns.
- 4-B. Taxable fiduciary returns.

Capital gains and losses—by net income classes:

- 5. Individual and taxable fiduciary returns.
- 5-A. Individual returns.

Government obligations and interest-by net income classes:

- 6. Individual returns.
- 7. Taxable fiduciary returns.

Optional returns, Form 1040A—by gross income classes:

- 8. Tax analysis.
- 9. Sources of income, exemption, credit, and tax—by family relationship.

Number of returns, net income, and tax-by States:

- 10. Individual and taxable fiduciary returns.
- 10-A. Individual returns.
- 11. Individual returns by net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes) and taxable fiduciary returns in aggregate.

TABLE 1.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax. income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART I—ALL RETURNS
[Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

|  | Net income classes <sup>1</sup> (1)   | Number of<br>returns   | Net income <sup>2</sup> (item 18, p. 1, Ferm 1040; item 17, p. 1, Form 1041; and item 3, Form 1040A)  | Personal<br>exemption <sup>3</sup>   | Credit for<br>dependents <sup>4</sup><br>(individual<br>returns)   | Earned income credit 6 (individual returns)  |  |
|--|---|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| 1  | Taxable individual and fiduciary returns:  With net income: Form 1040A <sup>10</sup> (est.) Forms 1040 and 1041:  | 1  | 30, 239, 358<br>76, 806   | 15, 680, 127<br>69, 623  | 4, 958, 370  | 2, 842, 500<br>5, 505  | 1  |
| 2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>29<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20 | Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 1 under 1.25 (est.) 1.25 under 1.75 (est.) 1.5 under 1.76 (est.) 1.5 under 1.76 (est.) 1.75 under 2.6 (est.) 2 under 2.25 (est.) 2.5 under 2.5 (est.) 2.5 under 2.75 (est.) 3.5 under 3.6 (est.) 3.5 under 4.6 (est.) 4 under 4.5 (est.) 5 under 5 (est.) 5 under 6 (est.) 6 under 7 (est.) 7 under 8 (est.) 9 under 10 (est.) 10 under 11 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 13 (est.) | 1, 471, 852<br>1, 521, 033<br>1, 649, 011<br>1, 630, 884<br>1, 581, 258<br>1, 447, 801<br>1, 682, 056<br>2, 994, 026<br>1, 687, 359<br>904, 302<br>510, 340<br>471, 781<br>251, 437<br>167, 350<br>120, 768<br>96, 076<br>67, 420<br>43, 748<br>36, 852  | 624, 141<br>546, 305<br>496, 883  | 34, 705  |  | 69, 910<br>59, 644<br>43, 981<br>38, 205<br>32, 520<br>28, 989   | 2 3 4 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 12 23 24 25 1              |
| 25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>40<br>41   | 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 20 (est.) 20 under 25. 25 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 100. 100 under 100. 200 under 250. 250 under 300.   | 31, 229<br>102, 108<br>54, 507<br>32, 791<br>35, 593<br>17, 819<br>10, 228<br>6, 232<br>1, 4, 114<br>2, 766<br>1, 964<br>1, 96 | 452,645<br>1,761,037<br>1,213,861<br>895,372<br>1,123,886<br>792,956<br>2,402,533<br>4,402,533<br>4,402,533<br>4,402,533<br>4,402,533<br>4,402,533<br>4,402,533<br>4,402,533<br>4,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6,402,533<br>6, | 29, 672<br>96, 427<br>52, 816<br>2 31, 842<br>3 34, 343<br>17, 081<br>6 6, 022<br>7 3, 914<br>2 2, 662<br>1, 877<br>1 1, 305<br>1 1, 877<br>2 29<br>2 29<br>2 29 | 9, 727<br>30, 663<br>17, 304<br>10, 334<br>11, 147<br>5, 632<br>1, 938<br>1, 266<br>855<br>1, 266<br>855<br>1, 304<br>2, 433<br>2, 255<br>1, 938<br>1, 266<br>855<br>1, 304<br>1, 266<br>855<br>1, 304<br>1, | 25, 515<br>85, 286<br>48, 020<br>30, 137<br>34, 228<br>11, 273<br>3, 246<br>4, 798<br>4, 798<br>5, 266<br>6, 2, 299<br>6, 1, 640<br>6, 2, 299<br>6, 3, 4, 788<br>7, 155<br>6, 4, 788<br>6, 2, 299<br>6, 5, 266<br>6, 80<br>347<br>4, 327<br>4, 327<br>6, 347<br>6, 347<br>7, 155<br>8, 3, 4, 4, 788<br>8, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, | 25<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>40<br>41 |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 1.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax highlity—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART I—ALL RETURNS—Continued
[Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

| _  |  |   |  |   |  |  | =  |
|--|--|---|--|---|--|--|--|
|  | Net income classes <sup>1</sup>  | Number of<br>returns  | Net income <sup>2</sup> (item 18, p. 1, Form 1040; item 17, p. 1, Form 1041; and item 3, Form 1040A) | Personal<br>exemption 8                                     | Credit for<br>dependents <sup>4</sup><br>(individual<br>returns) | Earned<br>income<br>credit <sup>6</sup><br>(individual<br>returns) |  |
|  | (1)  | (2)   | (3)  | (4)   | (5)  | (6)  |  |
| 43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50 | Taxable individual and fiduciary returns—Continued With net income—Continued Forms 1040 and 1041—Con. 500 under 7,50. 750 under 1,000. 1,000 under 2,000. 2,000 under 3,000. 3,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 4,000. 5,000 and over. | 160<br>62<br>31<br>10<br>8<br>2<br>3                        | 97, 331<br>52, 655<br>37, 140<br>17, 151<br>18, 353<br>7, 445<br>13, 231<br>5, 540                   | 151<br>51<br>22<br>10<br>5                                  | 42<br>24<br>7<br>5<br>1<br>1                                     | 153<br>53<br>32<br>11<br>6<br>(12)<br>2                            | 43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50 |
| 51   | Total, taxable returns with net income.  | 40, 318, 602  | 98, 150, 189   | 37, 242, 823  | 11, 133, 005   | 8, 494, 515  | 51   |
| 52   | With no net income 11 (est.)   | 18, 691   | 14 27, 988   | 12, 591   | 1, 485   |  | 52   |
| 53   | Total, taxable returns (51+52)   | 40, 337, 293  | 18 98,122,201  | 37, 255, 414  | 11, 134, 489   | 8, 494, 515  | 53   |
| 54.<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58                  | Nontaxable individual returns:  With net income: 12  Form 1040A 10 (est.)  Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  1 and over (est.)  1 and over (est.)   | 2, 181, 779<br>643, 849<br>208, 284<br>121, 443<br>128, 499 | 847, 055<br>211, 987<br>122, 321<br>107, 479<br>146, 596   | 1, 545, 354<br>485, 488<br>233, 227<br>144, 416<br>162, 427 | 196, 459<br>66, 176<br>59, 090<br>35, 597<br>46, 581             | 79, 623<br>6, 197<br>3, 514<br>3, 431<br>4, 601                    | 54<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58                   |
| 59   | Total, nontaxable re-  | 3, 283, 854   | 1, 435, 438  | 2, 570, 911   | 403, 903   | 97, 366  | 59   |
| 60   | turns with net income. With no net income, Form 1040 11 (est.).  | 198, 047  | 14 198, 358  | (16)  | (18)   |  | 60   |
| 61   | Total, nontaxable returns (59+60)  | 3, 481, 901   | 18 1, 237, 081   | (18)  | (16)   | 97, 366  | 61   |
| 62   | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)   | 43, 819, 194  | 18 99,359,282  | (16)  | (16)   | 8, 591, 881  | 62   |
| 63   | Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with net income (51+59).  | 43, 602, 456  | 99, 585, 627   | 39, 813, 734  | 11, 536, 908   | 8, 591, 881  | 63   |
| 64   | Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with no net income (est.) (52+60).  | 216, 738  | 14 226, 346  | (16)  | (16)   |  | 64   |
|  |  |   | ·  |   |  | ·  | _  |

Table 1.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART I-ALL RETURNS-Continued

[Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

|   | [Net medic classes and mone   | , 2821-2, -2  |  |   |  |  |  |
|---|---|---|--|---|--|--|--|
|   |   | Total in-   | Income and victory tax   | Returns   | with norma<br>surtax <sup>8</sup>  | l tax and  |  |
|   | Net income classes <sup>1</sup>   | come and<br>victory tax 6<br>(item 20,<br>p. 4, Form<br>1040; item<br>37, p. 1,<br>Form 1041;<br>and item<br>12, Form<br>1040A)   | on 1943<br>income '<br>(item 16,<br>p. 4, Form<br>1040; item<br>37, p. 1,<br>Form 1041;<br>and item 8,<br>Form<br>1040A) (col.<br>11+15)   | Normal tax<br>and surtax<br>(item 10, p.<br>4, Form<br>1040; item<br>26, p. 1,<br>Form 1041;<br>and item<br>6, Form<br>1040A)   | Net victory<br>tax (item<br>13, p. 4,<br>Form 1040;<br>item 34,<br>p. 1, Form<br>1041; and<br>item 7,<br>Form<br>1040A)  | Income and victory tax on 1943 income ? (item 16, p. 4, Form 1040; item 37, p. 1, Form 1041; and item 8, Form 1040A)   |  |
|   | (1)   | (7)   | (8)  | (9)   | (10)   | (11)   |  |
|   | Taxable individual and fiduciary returns:   |   |  |   |  |  |  |
| 1   | With net income:<br>Form 1040A <sup>10</sup> (est.)<br>Forms 1040 and 1041:   | 2, 636, 838   | 2, 389, 266  | 1, 823, 396   | 565, 870   | 2, 389, 266  | i  |
| 2 8 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 | Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  1 under 1.75 (est.)  1.25 under 1.6 (est.)  1.5 under 1.76 (est.)  1.5 under 2 (est.)  2.25 under 2.25 (est.)  2.25 under 2.5 (est.)  2.5 under 2.6 (est.)  3 under 3 (est.)  4 under 4.5 (est.)  4 under 4.5 (est.)  5 under 6 (est.)  6 under 7 (est.)  7 under 8 (est.)  8 under 9 (est.)  9 under 10 (est.)  9 under 10 (est.)  10 under 11 (est.) | 15, 155 36, 476 86, 439 138, 448 189, 328 251, 947 336, 776 385, 306 437, 546 459, 139 620, 054 1, 337, 629 962, 396 644, 965 541, 011 380, 416 322, 058 285, 299 261, 218 212, 281 | 8, 050 24, 944 68, 038 111, 363 115, 6, 948 212, 415 287, 863 334, 328 382, 188 403, 748 548, 292 1, 179, 004 842, 653 662, 927 386, 649 458, 916 317, 619 267, 124 230, 243 216, 354 176, 068 | 6, 864 21, 035 3, 918 84, 451 117, 761 160, 053 219, 482 254, 673 2203, 588 313, 307 430, 881 941, 562 683, 430 464, 254 322, 187 387, 699 271, 701 230, 801 200, 755 189, 961 155, 659 | 1, 219<br>3, 986<br>14, 179<br>27, 250<br>39, 732<br>52, 568<br>68, 869<br>80, 003<br>88, 949<br>91, 004<br>117, 568<br>238, 324<br>159, 686<br>159, 686<br>48, 32<br>71, 823<br>46, 040<br>36, 457<br>20, 858<br>26, 733<br>20, 682 | 8, 050 24, 944 68, 038 111, 363 156, 948 212, 415 287, 863 334, 328 382, 188 403, 748 548, 292 1, 179, 004 842, 653 642, 927 386, 649 458, 916 317, 619 267, 124 230, 243 216, 354 | 2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>22 |
| 21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30                                | 11 under 12 (est.)  | 196, 268<br>179, 619<br>169, 587<br>160, 393<br>692, 788<br>548, 753<br>450, 206<br>685, 213  | 162, 343<br>148, 498<br>140, 573<br>136, 316<br>569, 864<br>452, 881<br>371, 957<br>566, 096   | 144, 362<br>132, 647<br>126, 025<br>122, 814<br>514, 708<br>370, 756<br>290, 625<br>426, 858  | 18, 270<br>16, 066<br>14, 715<br>13, 705<br>51, 864<br>32, 506<br>23, 205<br>32, 052   | 162, 343<br>148, 498<br>140, 573<br>136, 316<br>565, 610<br>402, 741<br>313, 571<br>458, 159   | 23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30   |
| 30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39                                | 40 under 50<br>50 under 60<br>60 under 70<br>70 under 80<br>80 under 90<br>90 under 100<br>100 under 150<br>150 under 200<br>200 under 250  | 494, 004<br>375, 797<br>288, 167<br>230, 112<br>180, 451<br>148, 422<br>463, 923<br>225, 372<br>126, 660  | 406, 999<br>310, 227<br>235, 774<br>187, 975<br>149, 219<br>122, 450<br>379, 290<br>183, 714<br>101, 978   | 292, 244<br>218, 010<br>163, 979<br>126, 990<br>99, 022<br>78, 711<br>231, 841<br>105, 388<br>56, 575   | 21, 113<br>15, 508<br>11, 606<br>8, 912<br>6, 927<br>5, 449<br>15, 542<br>6, 785<br>3, 588   | 312, 503<br>233, 179<br>175, 407<br>135, 620<br>105, 881<br>84, 018<br>246, 880<br>111, 954<br>60, 108   | 31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39   |
| 40<br>41<br>42  | 250 under 300<br>300 under 400<br>400 under 500   | 82, 764<br>98, 979<br>65, 326   | 68, 014<br>84, 010<br>54, 505  | 39, 617<br>44, 562  | 2, 513<br>2, 757<br>1, 744   | 41, 967<br>47, 052<br>29, 335  | 40<br>41<br>42   |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 1.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART I-ALL RETURNS-Continued

#### [Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

| _  |  |   | Incomeand   | 1   | with norma<br>surtax 8  | l tax and   |  |
|--|--|---|---|---|---|---|--|
|  | Net income classes 1   | Total income and victory tax <sup>6</sup> (item 20, p. 4, Form 1040; item 37, p. 1, Form 1041; and item 12, Form 1040A) | (item 16,<br>p. 4, Form<br>1040; item<br>37, p. 1,                                | Normal tax<br>and surtax<br>(item 10, p.<br>4, Form<br>1040; item<br>26, p. 1,<br>Form 1041;<br>and item<br>6, Form<br>1040A) | Net victory<br>tax (item<br>13, p. 4,<br>Form 1040;<br>item 34,<br>p. 1, Form<br>1041; and<br>item 7,<br>Form<br>1040A) | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943 in-<br>come 7<br>(item 16,<br>p. 4, Form<br>1040; item<br>37. p. 1,<br>Form 1041;<br>and item 8,<br>Form<br>1040A) |  |
|  | (1)  | (7)   | (8)   | (9)   | (10)  | (11)  |  |
| 43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50 | Taxable individual and fiduciary returns—Continued  With net income—Continued  Forms 1040 and 1041—Con.  500 under 750.  750 under 1,000.  1,000 under 1,500.  1,500 under 2,000.  2,000 under 3,000.  3,000 under 4,000.  4,000 under 5,000.  5,000 and over. | 91, 670<br>45, 322<br>32, 835<br>15, 839<br>13, 005<br>7, 601<br>11, 409<br>5, 883                                      | 77, 575<br>38, 658<br>29, 158<br>13, 848<br>11, 632<br>6, 478<br>9, 304<br>4, 985 | 39, 281<br>15, 696<br>11, 095<br>4, 400<br>1, 990<br>3, 287   | 2, 436<br>942<br>538<br>207<br>71   | 41, 534<br>16, 617<br>11, 573<br>4, 604<br>2, 038<br>3, 287   | 43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50 |
| 51   | Total, taxable returns   | 17, 078, 356  | 14, 589, 324  | 11, 321, 440  | 2, 254, 242   | 13, 561, 355  | 51   |
| 52   | with net income. With no net income 11 (est.)  | 4, 281  | 694   |   | 694   | 694   | 52   |
| 53   | Total, taxable returns (51+52)   | 17, 082, 637  | 14, 590, 018  | 11, 321, 440  | 2, 254, 936   | 13, 562, 049  | 53   |
| 54<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58                   | Nontaxable individual returns:  With net income: 12  Form 10404:  Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  0.75 under 1 (est.)  1 and over (est.)  | 1   |   |   |   |   | 54<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58                   |
| 59   | Total, nontaxable re-  | 35, 756   |   |   |   |   | 59   |
| 60   | turns with net income. With no net income, Form 1040 11 (est.).  | 27, 519   |   |   |   |   | 60   |
| 61   | Total, nontaxable returns (59+60).   | 63, 275   |   |   |   |   | 61   |
| 62   | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)   | 17, 145, 912  | 14, 590, 018  | 11, 321, 440  | 2, 254, 936   | 13, 562, 049  | 62   |
| 63   | Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with net income (51+59).  | 17, 114, 112  | 14, 589, 324  | 11, 321, 440  | 2, 254, 242   | 13, 561, 355  | 63   |
| 64   | ndividual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with no net income 11 (est.) (52+60).  | 31,800  | 694   |   | 694   | 694   | 64   |

Table 1.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART I—ALL RETURNS—Continued
[Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

|                    |   | 7  |  |  |   | S VI UVIIAI  |   | _   |
|--------------------|---|--|--|--|---|--|---|---|
| 1                  |   | Ret  | urns with a  | lternative   | tax 9   |  |   |   |
|                    | Net income classes <sup>1</sup>   | Normal tax and surtax (item 12, Sch. B, Form 1040, and item 10, Sch. E, Form 1041)   | 50 percent of the excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss (item 13, Sch. B, Form 1040, and item 11, Sch. E. Form 1041) | Net victory tax<br>(item 13, p. 4, Form<br>1040, and item 34, p. 1, Form<br>1041)                      | Income and victory tax on 1943 income 7 (item 16, p. 4, Form 1040, and item 37, p. 1. Form 1041)  | Average income and victory tax on 1943 income (col. 8+2)   | Effective tax rate percent for income and victory tax on 1943 income (col. 8÷3)   |   |
|                    | (1)   | (12)   | (13)   | (14)   | (15)  | (16)   | (17)  |   |
| Taxab<br>retu<br>W | cle individual and fiduciary irns:  Form 1040A 10 (est.).  Forms 1040 and 1041:  Under 0.5 (est.).  0.5 under 0.75 (est.).  1 under 1.25 (est.).  1.25 under 1.6 (est.).  1.5 under 1.75 (est.).  1.5 under 1.75 (est.).  2.5 under 2.5 (est.).  2.5 under 2.5 (est.).  2.5 under 2.5 (est.).  3 under 3 (est.).  3 under 3 (est.).  4 under 4.5 (est.).  4 under 4.5 (est.).  5 under 6 (est.).  9 under 10 (est.).  10 under 11 (est.).  11 under 12 (est.).  12 under 13 (est.).  3 under 3 (est.).  5 under 5 (est.).  14 under 16 (est.).  15 under 16 (est.).  10 under 11 (est.).  11 under 12 (est.).  12 under 13 (est.).  13 under 14 (est.).  14 under 15 (est.).  15 under 16 (est.).  10 under 17 (est.).  10 under 11 (est.).  10 under 13 (est.).  11 under 15 (est.).  12 under 15 (est.).  15 under 60.  60 under 60.  60 under 60.  60 under 100.  100 under 150.  150 under 200.  200 under 200. | 3, 635<br>41, 606<br>47, 665<br>87, 650<br>76, 382<br>62, 975<br>49, 011<br>43, 273<br>35, 148<br>31, 706<br>106, 119<br>56, 685<br>33, 173<br>20, 632 | 272<br>4, 837<br>6, 842<br>13, 556<br>12, 376<br>9, 487<br>7, 792<br>6, 115<br>5, 655<br>4, 511<br>19, 074<br>11, 622<br>6, 611<br>4, 149            | 353<br>3,812<br>3,996<br>6,910<br>3,170<br>2,581<br>2,389<br>7,440<br>3,170<br>3,828<br>2,150<br>1,318 | 4, 254<br>50, 139<br>58, 387<br>107, 937<br>94, 496<br>77, 048<br>60, 367<br>52, 355<br>43, 338<br>38, 432<br>132, 411<br>71, 760<br>41, 870<br>26, 046 | \$132<br>33<br>33<br>107<br>140<br>175<br>242<br>279<br>326<br>394<br>499<br>622<br>758<br>973<br>1, 268<br>1, 906<br>2, 512<br>2, 612<br>2, 612<br>2, 612<br>2, 52<br>2, 612<br>2, 52<br>2, 612<br>2, 58<br>3, 394<br>4, 365<br>5, 581<br>1, 343<br>1, 596<br>5, 581<br>8, 309<br>11, 343<br>15, 905<br>5, 581<br>8, 309<br>11, 343<br>15, 905<br>17, 104<br>215, 916<br>171, 104<br>215, 916<br>171, 104<br>215, 916<br>171, 104<br>215, 916 | 7. 90 10. 48 5. 08 7. 37 7. 75 8. 60 9. 31 10. 18 10. 18 10. 18 11. 32 12. 20 13. 42 14. 73 19. 55 21. 37 22. 37 22. 37 24. 90 26. 01 27. 18 28. 29 30. 12 32. 36 37. 31 41. 54 51. 33 55. 57 61. 26 63. 69, 61 77. 20 79. 34 | 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 9 0 11 12 13 3 14 15 5 16 6 7 18 19 0 21 22 23 24 25 6 29 3 31 32 33 34 35 6 36 37 38 39 40 |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 1.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax hability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART I—ALL RETURNS—Continued [Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

|  |  | Ret  | urns with a   | lternative                                       | tax 9                            |   |   | T          |
|--|--|--|---|--|----------------------------------|---|---|------------|
|  |  | Alterna  | ntive tax   | 1  |                                  |   |   |            |
|  | Net income classes <sup>1</sup>  | Normal<br>tax and<br>surtax<br>(item 12,<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040, and<br>item 10,<br>Sch. E,<br>Form<br>1041) | 50 percent<br>of the<br>excess of<br>net long-<br>term<br>capital<br>gain over<br>net short-<br>term<br>capital<br>loss<br>(item 13,<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040, and<br>item 11,<br>Sch. E,<br>Form | Net victory tax (item 13,                        | on 1943<br>income 7<br>(item 16, | on 1943<br>income   | Effective tax rate percent for income and victory tax on 1943 income (col. 8+3) |            |
|  | (1)  | (12)   | (13)  | (14)   | (15)                             | (16)  | (17)  |            |
| 43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50 | Taxable individual and fiduciary returns—Continued  With net income—Continued  Forms 1040 and 1041—Con. 500 under 750. 750 under 1,000. 1,000 under 1,500. 1,500 under 2,000. 2,000 under 3,000. 3,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 5,000. 5,000 and over. | 23, 978<br>10, 812<br>11, 892<br>6, 819<br>3, 645<br>2, 825<br>5, 795  | 10, 554<br>10, 555<br>5, 114<br>2, 073<br>5, 898<br>221<br>3, 277   | 1, 589<br>715<br>593<br>370<br>210<br>194<br>379 | 3, 192                           | \$484, 841<br>623, 522<br>940, 571<br>1, 384, 771<br>1, 453, 954<br>3, 239, 223<br>3, 101, 227<br>4, 985, 292 | 79. 70<br>73. 42<br>78. 51<br>80. 74<br>63. 38<br>87. 02<br>70. 32<br>89, 99    | 4444444455 |
| 51<br>52                                     | Total, taxable returns with net income.  | 808, 893   | 162, 373  | 59, 179  | 1, 027, 969                      | 362   | 14. 86  |            |
| 53   | With no net income 11 (est.)   |  |   |  |                                  | 37  |   | {          |
| ю  | Total, taxable returns (51+52)   | 808, 893   | 162, 373  | 59, 179  | 1, 027, 969                      | 362   | 14. 87  | 1          |
| 54<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58                   | Nontaxable individual returns:  With net income: 12  Form 1040A 10 (est.)  Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  0.75 under 1 (est.)  1 and over (est.)   |  |   |  |                                  |   |   | 5 5555     |
| 9  | Total, nontaxable returns with net in-   |  |   |  |                                  |   |   |            |
| 0  | come.<br>With no net income, Form 1040 11<br>(est.).   |  |   |  |                                  |   |   | •          |
| 1  | Total, nontaxable returns (59+60).   |  |   |  |                                  |   |   | ,          |
| 2  | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)   | 808, 893   | 162, 373  | 59, 179  | 1, 027, 969                      | 333   | 14. 68  |            |
| 3  | Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with net income   | 808, 893   | 162, 373  |  | 1, 027, 969                      | 335   | 14. 65  |            |
| 4  | (51+59).<br>Individual returns and taxable fidu-<br>ciary returns with no net income <sup>11</sup><br>(est.) (52+60).  |  |   |  |                                  |   |   | •          |

Table 1.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART II-RETURNS WITH NORMAL TAX AND SURTAX 6

[Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

|  |   |   |  |  |   |  | _   |
|--|---|---|--|--|---|--|---|
|  | Net income classes <sup>1</sup><br>· .  | Number<br>of returns  | Net income 1 (item 18, p. 1, Form 1040, and item 17, p. 1, Form 1041)  | Personal<br>exemption 3  | Credit for<br>depend-<br>ents 4 (in-<br>dividual<br>returns)  | Earned<br>income<br>credit individual<br>returns)  |   |
|  | (1)   | (2)   | (3)  | (4)  | (5)   | (6)  | ,   |
| 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 0 11 12 3 14 5 16 7 8 11 12 3 12 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 | Taxable individual and fiduciary returns with net income: Forms 1040 and 1041: Under 0.5 (est.). 0.5 under 0.75 (est.). 1.5 under 1.25 (est.). 1.25 under 1.5 (est.). 1.5 under 1.5 (est.). 2.5 under 2.5 (est.). 2.5 under 2.5 (est.). 2.5 under 2.5 (est.). 3.5 under 4.5 (est.). 3.5 under 4 (est.). 3.5 under 4 (est.). 3.5 under 6 (est.). 5 under 7 (est.). 5 under 7 (est.). 10 under 10 (est.). 11 under 10 (est.). 12 under 13 (est.). 13 under 6 (est.). 14 under 7 (est.). 15 under 6 (est.). 16 under 7 (est.). 11 under 11 (est.). 11 under 12 (est.). 12 under 13 (est.). 13 under 14 (est.). 14 under 15 (est.). 25 under 20 (est.). 20 under 25. 25 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 90. 90 under 100. 100 under 100. 100 under 250. 50 under 250. 250 under 250. 250 under 260. 250 under 270. 750 under 400. 400 under 50. 550 under 750. 750 under 1 000. 1,000 under 1,500. 3,000 under 2,000. 3,000 under 2,000. 3,000 under 5,000. 5,000 and over. | 54, 339<br>43, 748<br>36, 852<br>31, 229<br>101, 496<br>48, 585<br>27, 599<br>28, 706<br>13, 587<br>7, 655<br>4, 580<br>2, 923<br>1, 926<br>1, 320<br>2, 863<br>849<br>335<br>185<br>161<br>176<br>777<br>222<br>100<br>3<br>3<br>1 | 44, 825 354, 668 621, 806 913, 915 1, 585, 877 2, 102, 648 2, 779, 749 9, 589, 750 6, 262, 774 3, 815, 729 2, 412, 955 2, 574, 451 1, 624, 555 1, 249, 864 1, 023, 739 911, 158 707, 018 624, 141 1, 546, 305 496, 883 452, 645 1, 749, 144 1, 980, 306 753, 069 985, 952 604, 055 417, 200 295, 448 217, 954 163, 098 343, 369 144, 499 147, 174 500, 486 55, 420 33, 763 5, 540 63, 300, 972 | 8, 053 233, 295 313, 702 432, 867 887, 291 1, 109, 381 1, 354, 392 1, 514, 901 1, 588, 925 1, 522, 781 1, 796, 653 3, 226, 840 1, 859, 735 91, 677 555, 334 494, 982 253, 951 166, 063 118, 183 93, 672 253, 951 166, 063 118, 183 93, 674 1, 237 34, 705 63, 874 51, 667 41, 237 34, 705 2, 803 13, 215 7, 479 2, 833 1, 865 1, 281 2, 720 805 1, 281 1, 271 163 744 (18)  (18) | 437<br>1, 675<br>7, 228<br>12, 362<br>23, 490<br>89, 038<br>186, 652<br>307, 759<br>410, 655<br>439, 436<br>570, 755<br>1, 123, 651<br>163, 022<br>80, 787<br>52, 616<br>36, 805<br>29, 859<br>19, 858<br>16, 950<br>13, 263<br>11, 184<br>4, 12, 2486<br>61, 434<br>916<br>611<br>42, 486<br>61, 434<br>916<br>611<br>611<br>611<br>611<br>611<br>611<br>611<br>611<br>611 | 3, 959 34, 724 61, 957 90, 646 158, 054 210, 031 277, 102 365, 749 372, 636, 212 477, 856 949, 779 611, 003 363, 737 222, 748 220, 466 126, 676 126, 676 126, 676 126, 678 127, 932 128, 989 243, 102 25, 583 27, 932 24, 273 8, 568 6, 406 3, 534 2, 303 1, 581 3, 421 987 390 205 181 78 78 74 74 72 75 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 | 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 19 11 11 11 16 17 18 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 |
| 50   | Total, individual and fidu-<br>ciary returns with normal<br>tax and surtax.   | 19, 956, 767  | 63, 300, 973   | 19, 018, 347   | 4, 945, 206   | 5, 485, 600  | OU !  |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 1.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART II—RETURNS WITH NORMAL TAX AND SURTAX 8—Continued [Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

| Tax liability                                   |   |  |   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|---|---|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
|   |   | Total in-  | Tax on 1943 income  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | Net income classes <sup>1</sup>   | come and<br>victory<br>tax 6 (item<br>20, p. 4,<br>Form 1040,<br>and item<br>37, p. 1,<br>Form 1041)<br>(col. 12+<br>13+14)  | Normal tax<br>(item 8,<br>p. 4, Form<br>1040, and<br>item 24,<br>p. 1, Form<br>1041)  | Surtax<br>(item 9,<br>p. 4, Form<br>1040, and<br>item 25,<br>p. 1, Form<br>1041)   | Credits for<br>foreign tax<br>paid and<br>tax paid at<br>source  | Net victory<br>tax (item<br>13, p. 4,<br>Form 1040,<br>and item<br>34, p. 1,<br>Form 1041)   |  |  |  |
|   | (1)   | (7)  | (8)   | (9)  | (10)   | (11)   |  |  |  |
| 12345678901234456789012344567890123345667890123 | Taxable individual and fiduciary returns with net income: Forms 1040 and 1041: Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 under 1.25 (est.) 1.25 under 1.5 (est.) 1.5 under 1.76 (est.) 1.75 under 2 (est.) 2 under 2.25 (est.) 2.25 under 2.5 (est.) 2.5 under 2.5 (est.) 3 under 3.5 (est.) 3 under 3.6 (est.) 3 under 3.5 (est.) 4 under 4.5 (est.) 4 under 4.5 (est.) 4 under 4.5 (est.) 5 under 6 (est.) 6 under 7 (est.) 9 under 10 (est.) 10 under 11 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 26 (est.) 25 under 30 (est.) 10 under 10 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 250 250 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 750 500 under 1,000 | 14, 038 35, 301 82, 021 129, 206 182, 461 245, 668 331, 027 381, 343 435, 658 457, 668 962, 093 649, 174 446, 954 541, 009 380, 416 322, 058 328, 259 261, 281 106, 268 179, 619 169, 587 160, 393 687, 600 486, 902 378, 345 552, 470 378, 688 281, 238 281, 238 281, 238 281, 238 281, 538 281, 538 281, 538 281, 538 281, 538 281, 538 281, 538 281, 538 281, 538 281, 538 281, 538 281, 538 281, 538 281, 538 281, 538 281, 538 281, 538 281, 538 281, 538 | 2, 004<br>5, 330<br>14, 534<br>23, 227<br>30, 930<br>42, 436<br>58, 257<br>67, 332<br>78, 057<br>83, 535<br>116, 019<br>255, 843<br>185, 527<br>125, 410<br>86, 386<br>102, 403<br>69, 444<br>56, 990<br>47, 790<br>43, 617<br>34, 420<br>30, 827<br>27, 324<br>27, 125<br>58, 199<br>41, 331<br>55, 044<br>34, 234<br>41, 331<br>55, 044<br>34, 237<br>52, 990<br>8, 467<br>7, 7267<br>7, 267<br>7, 267<br>7, 267<br>7, 267<br>7, 267<br>7, 267<br>7, 267<br>7, 267<br>7, 267<br>2, 990<br>8, 412<br>9, 467<br>7, 267<br>7,  4, 860<br>15, 7864<br>61, 224<br>86, 831<br>117, 618<br>161, 225<br>187, 341<br>229, 772<br>314, 862<br>685, 719<br>497, 903<br>338, 844<br>235, 801<br>1285, 296<br>202, 257<br>173, 353<br>104, 345<br>121, 239<br>113, 535<br>105, 301<br>109, 102<br>423, 253<br>312, 557<br>249, 294<br>423, 253<br>312, 557<br>249, 294<br>41, 266<br>71, 465<br>71, 465<br>71, 475<br>71, 47 | 32<br>777<br>59<br>338<br>546<br>205<br>487<br>348<br>350<br>562<br>157<br>882<br>463<br>479<br>370<br>605<br>122<br>123<br>133<br>371<br>340<br>274<br>290<br>214<br>168<br>203<br>962<br>520<br>252<br>751<br>853<br>339<br>178<br>853<br>853<br>853<br>853<br>853<br>853<br>853<br>853<br>853<br>85 | 2, 811<br>1, 761<br>18, 008<br>32, 865<br>46, 289<br>63, 121<br>76, 039<br>87, 061<br>89, 466<br>116, 233<br>236, 891<br>159, 383<br>299, 362<br>64, 821<br>71, 821<br>46, 040<br>36, 457<br>29, 858<br>26, 733<br>20, 682<br>18, 270<br>16, 066<br>14, 715<br>13, 705<br>51, 884<br>32, 506<br>61, 715<br>113, 705<br>51, 884<br>32, 506<br>623, 205<br>22, 113<br>33, 205<br>32, 682<br>21, 113<br>36, 997<br>6, 927<br>6, 785<br>8, 912<br>6, 785<br>8, 912<br>6, 785<br>8, 912<br>6, 785<br>8, 912<br>6, 785<br>8, 912<br>6, 785<br>8, 912<br>8, 912<br>9, 9 | 11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11 |  |  |
| 4   | 1 000 under 1 500   | 13, 685<br>5, 293  | 771<br>305  | 10, 323<br>4, 095  | 61<br>3  | 538<br>207   | 44   |  |  |
| 6   | 1,500 under 2,000   | 2, 437<br>3, 287   | 137<br>226  | 1, 853<br>3, 061   | 23   | 71   | 46<br>47   |  |  |
| 8   | 4,000 under 5,000<br>5,000 and over   | 5, 883   | 332   | 4, 517   |  | 136  | 48<br>49   |  |  |
| 0   | Total, individual and fidu-<br>ciary returns with normal  | 13, 139, 247   | 2, 033, 784   | 7, 464, 261  | 14, 327  | 1, 642, 963  | 50   |  |  |

Table 1.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax hiability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART II—RETURNS WITH NORMAL TAX AND SURTAX —Continued [Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

| T   |   | <b>6</b> 0 . 12  | 1.724  |  | <del></del>  |   |
|---|---|--|--|--|--|---|
|   |   | Tax III  | ability-Con  |  |  |   |
|   | Net income classes <sup>1</sup>   | Tax on 1943<br>income—<br>Continued  Income and victory tax on 1943 income 7 (item 16, p. 4, Form 1040, and item 37, p. 1, Form 1041) (col. 8+9+11— 100    | Additional<br>tax from<br>returns<br>with larger<br>tax in 1942<br>(item 17,<br>p. 4, minus<br>item 16, p.<br>4, Form<br>1040)   | Unforgiven<br>tax, either<br>1942 or 1943<br>(item 19(c),<br>p. 4, Form<br>1040)   | Average income and victory tax on 1943 income (col. 12÷2)  | Effective<br>tax rate<br>percent for<br>income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943 in-<br>come (col.<br>12+3)   |
|   | (1)   | (12)   | (13)   | (14)   | (15)   | (16)  |
| 1234567890123456789012234567890333333333333333333333333333333333333 | Taxable individual and fiduciary returns with net income: Forms 1040 and 1041: Under 0.5 (est.). 0.5 under 0.75 (est.). 0.75 under 1 (est.). 1.075 under 1 (est.). 1.25 under 1.25 (est.). 1.25 under 1.75 (est.). 1.75 under 1.75 (est.). 2.25 under 2.5 (est.). 2.25 under 2.5 (est.). 2.5 under 2.5 (est.). 3.5 under 3 (est.). 3.5 under 4.5 (est.). 3.5 under 4 (est.). 4.5 under 5 (est.). 5 under 6 (est.). 5 under 6 (est.). 10 under 11 (est.). 11 under 12 (est.). 12 under 12 (est.). 12 under 12 (est.). 9 under 10 (est.). 13 under 14 (est.). 14 under 15 (est.). 15 under 6 (est.). 10 under 11 (est.). 11 under 12 (est.). 12 under 13 (est.). 13 under 14 (est.). 14 under 15 (est.). 15 under 60. 00 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 50. 50 under 250. 250 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500. 500 under 500. 500 under 500. 500 under 1,000. 1,000 under 1,500. 1,500 under 2,000. 2,000 under 5,000. 4,000 under 5,000. | 140, 573 136, 316 565, 610 402, 741 313, 571 448, 150 312, 503 233, 179 175, 407 135, 620 105, 881 84, 018 84, 018 84, 018 47, 052 29, 335 41, 534 46, 617 | 6, 775 10, 577 14, 281 18, 138 19, 057 19, 501 18, 761 14, 472 14, 367 10, 499 10, 838 19, 565 15, 230 13, 129 8, 148 17, 002 16, 497 14, 354 16, 128 10, 081 8, 206 6, 859 36, 790 23, 140 16, 520 22, 765 16, 302 10, 498 10, 081 16, 520 22, 765 16, 302 10, 498 10, 081 11, 772 11, 772 11, 772 11, 773 11, 772 11, 773 11, 772 11, 773 11, 772 11, 773 11 | 330<br>954<br>4, 120<br>8, 946<br>13, 323<br>30, 150<br>36, 506<br>40, 991<br>44, 892<br>60, 925<br>139, 060<br>104, 513<br>73, 207<br>52, 168<br>65, 093<br>46, 299<br>40, 580<br>38, 928<br>32, 089<br>25, 577<br>21, 039<br>20, 809<br>18, 217<br>71, 546<br>49, 883<br>37, 861<br>22, 567<br>16, 920<br>18, 217<br>16, 920<br>17, 546<br>49, 883<br>37, 881<br>22, 567<br>16, 920<br>17, 546<br>49, 883<br>37, 881<br>22, 567<br>6, 864<br>70, 288<br>71, 546<br>71, 546<br>72, 546<br>73, 546<br>74, 546<br>74, 546<br>75, 546<br>76, 546<br>77, 547<br>77, | \$45<br>42<br>90<br>127<br>130<br>160<br>191<br>215<br>247<br>284<br>330<br>396<br>501<br>623<br>758<br>973<br>1, 596<br>11, 906<br>11, 906<br>11, 906<br>11, 906<br>11, 906<br>11, 362<br>2, 612<br>2, 988<br>3, 394<br>4, 365<br>5, 573<br>8, 288<br>11, 362<br>2, 598<br>23, 000<br>30, 461<br>38, 298<br>46, 398<br>46, 398 | 15. 47<br>6. 70<br>10. 23<br>11. 17<br>9. 46<br>9. 80<br>10. 13<br>10. 40<br>10. 81<br>11. 45<br>12. 28<br>13. 45<br>14. 75<br>16. 62<br>21. 37<br>22. 49<br>23. 74<br>24. 90<br>26. 01<br>27. 18<br>28. 32. 34<br>30. 12<br>32. 34<br>40. 47<br>51. 73<br>55. 89<br>59. 57<br>62. 22<br>64. 92<br>67. 18<br>83. 11<br>84. 90<br>77. 48<br>83. 13<br>84. 90<br>88. 53<br>89. 89<br>88. 58<br>89. 89<br>89. 89<br>89. 89<br>87. 34 |
| 19<br>10  | 5,000 and over<br>Total, individual and fidu-   | 4, 985<br>11, 126, 681   | 513, 135   | 1, 499, 430  | 4, 985, 292<br>558   | 89. 99<br>17. 58  |
| ,,  | ciary returns with normal tax and surtax.   | 11, 120, 001   |  | 1, 499, 430  | 958  | 17. 58  |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 1.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART III—RETURNS WITH ALTERNATIVE TAX \*

[Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

| Net income classes   Net income   Number of returns   Net income retur |  |  |   |  |  |  |  |   |  |
|--|--|--|---|--|--|--|--|---|--|
| Taxable individual and fiduciary returns with not income: Forms 1040 and 1041:  Under 15 (est.)  |  | Net income classes ! •   | ber of  | come 1<br>(item 18,<br>p. 1, Form<br>1040, and<br>item 17, p.<br>1, Form   | net long-<br>term cap-<br>ital gain<br>over net<br>short-<br>term cap-<br>ital loss<br>(item 2,<br>Sch. B,<br>1040; item<br>2, Sch. E.                         | come reduced by excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss  | exemp-   | for de-<br>pend-<br>ents 4<br>(individ-<br>ual re-  |  |
| returns with net income: Forms 1040 and 1041:  Under 15 (est.)   |  | (1)  | (2)   | (3)  | (4)  | (5)  | (6)  | (7)   |  |
| fiduciary returns with   | 2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>25 | returns with net income: Forms 1040 and 1041: Under 15 (est.). 15 under 20 (est.). 20 under 25. 25 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 100. 100 under 150. 150 under 200. 200 under 200. 200 under 200. 200 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500500 under 750750 under 1,500 1,500 under 1,500 1,500 under 1,600 1,500 under 1,600 2,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 4,000 5,000 and over.  Total, individual and | 5, 922<br>5, 192<br>6, 887<br>4, 232<br>2, 631<br>1, 652<br>1, 191<br>840<br>644<br>1, 672<br>261<br>130<br>144<br>75<br>83<br>40<br>21<br>7<br>7<br>7<br>7<br>7<br>7 | 133, 555<br>142, 303<br>237, 936<br>188, 904<br>143, 796<br>107, 086<br>88, 873<br>71, 256<br>'60, 978<br>200, 852<br>103, 401<br>57, 930<br>35, 235<br>49, 371<br>33, 974<br>50, 414<br>34, 165<br>24, 236<br>12, 061<br>16, 063<br>3, 682<br>13, 231 | 9, 674 13, 683 27, 112 24, 761 18, 975 15, 584 12, 230 11, 310 9, 022 38, 149 23, 244 13, 223 8, 298 12, 717 10, 846 21, 110 10, 229 4, 145 11, 797 442 6, 555 | 123, 881<br>128, 620<br>210, 824<br>164, 163<br>124, 821<br>91, 502<br>76, 644<br>51, 956<br>51, 956<br>51, 956<br>51, 956<br>51, 956<br>52, 703<br>80, 157<br>24, 707<br>26, 937<br>36, 655<br>23, 128<br>29, 307<br>13, 055<br>14, 008<br>7, 916<br>4, 267<br>3, 240<br>6, 676 | 5, 206 4, 751 6, 239 3, 866 -2, 441 1, 650 1, 081 797 589 1, 520 1, 557 246 115 127 76 32 14 6 6 5 1 4 | 1, 510<br>1, 495<br>1, 998<br>1, 220<br>504<br>351<br>240<br>197<br>468<br>182<br>42<br>42<br>42<br>15<br>20<br>14<br>5<br>4<br>1<br>1<br>3 | 2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25 |
|  |  |  |   |  |  |  | 1  |   |  |

Table 1.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART III-RETURNS WITH ALTERNATIVE TAX 9-Continued

[Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

| -  |  |  |  |  |  |   |  |   |
|--|--|--|--|--|--|---|--|---|
|  | ·  |  |  | ·  | Tax liabilit   | у   |  |   |
|  |  |  |  |  | Tax on 1   | 943 income  |  |   |
| İ  |  |  | ,  |  | Altern   | ative tax   |  |   |
|  |  | Earned   | Total in-<br>come and  | Parti  | al tax   | 50 percent<br>of the ex-  |  |   |
|  | Net income classes <sup>1</sup>  | income<br>credit *<br>(individ-<br>ual re-<br>turns) | victory tax*6 (item 20, p. 4, Form 1040, and item 37, p. 1, Form 1041) (col. 16+17+18)   | Normal<br>tax (item<br>10, Sch.<br>B, Form<br>1040, and<br>item 8,<br>Sch. E,<br>Form<br>1041)   | Surtax<br>(item 11,<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040, and<br>item 9,<br>Sch. E,<br>Form<br>1041)   | cess of net<br>long-term<br>capital<br>gain over<br>net short-<br>term capi-<br>tal loss<br>(item 13,<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040, and<br>item 11,<br>Sch. E,<br>Form<br>1041) | Total alternative tax (item 16, Sch. B, Form 1040, and item 14, Sch. E, Form 1041) (col. 10+11+12)   |   |
|  | (1)  | (8)  | (9)  | (10)   | (11)   | (12)  | (13)   |   |
| 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 2 11 3 14 15 16 17 18 19 22 12 22 22 24 25 | Taxable individual and flduciary returns with net income: Forms 1040 and 1041: Under 15 (est.) | 653<br>291<br>141<br>145<br>78<br>80<br>33           | 5, 189<br>61, 852<br>71, 862<br>132, 744<br>115, 316<br>94, 259<br>74, 919<br>64, 497<br>52, 476<br>47, 093<br>165, 255<br>88, 775<br>53, 367<br>30, 128<br>42, 985<br>25, 690<br>19, 150<br>10, 545<br>10, 568<br>4, 314<br>11, 409 | 616<br>6, 686<br>7, 029<br>11, 718<br>9, 255<br>7, 101<br>5, 244<br>4, 705<br>2, 630<br>1, 589<br>2, 140<br>1, 377<br>1, 744<br>773<br>839<br>475<br>255<br>194<br>400 | 3, 019 34, 920 40, 636 75, 932 67, 127 55, 874 43, 767 38, 856 31, 693 28, 682 96, 559 51, 980 30, 543 19, 043 26, 744 17, 208 22, 235 10, 039 11, 053 6, 345 3, 389 2, 630 5, 395 | 272 4, 837 6, 842 13, 556 12, 376 9, 487 7, 792 6, 115 5, 655 4, 511 19, 074 11, 622 6, 611 4, 149 6, 358 5, 423 10, 554 10, 555 5, 114 2, 073 5, 898 221 3, 277              | 3, 907<br>46, 443<br>54, 507<br>101, 206<br>88, 757<br>72, 462<br>56, 803<br>36, 217<br>125, 193<br>68, 307<br>39, 784<br>24, 781<br>35, 242<br>24, 008<br>34, 532<br>21, 367<br>17, 006<br>8, 892<br>9, 543<br>3, 046<br>9, 072 | 1 2 3 4 5 6 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 |
| 26   | Total, individual and fiduciary returns with alternative tax.                                  | 30, 962  | 1, 256, 863  | 85, 225  | 723, 669   | 162, 373  | 971, 266   | 26  |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 1.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13 \* 106-114]

PART III—RETURNS WITH ALTERNATIVE TAX &—Continued

[Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

| Ì   |  |   | Tax lis   | bility—Con   | tinued   |  |   |  | _  |
|---|--|---|---|--|--|--|---|--|--|
|   |  | Tax   | on 1943 in<br>Continue  |  | Addi-<br>tional<br>tax from  |  |   | Effec-<br>tive tax   |  |
|   | Net income classes <sup>1</sup>  | Credits<br>for for-<br>eign tax<br>paid<br>and tax<br>paid at<br>source   | Net victory tax<br>(item<br>13, p. 4,<br>Form<br>1040,<br>and<br>item 34,<br>p. 1,<br>Form<br>1041)   | Income and victory tax on 1943 income? (item 16, p. 4, Form 1040, and item 37, p. 1, Form 1041) (col. 13+15-14)  | returns with larger tax in 1942 (item 17, p. 4, minus item 16, p. 4, Form 1040)  | Unfor-<br>given<br>tax,<br>either<br>1942 or<br>1943<br>(item<br>19(c), p.<br>4, Form<br>1040) | Average income and victory tax on 1943 income (col. 16+2)   | rate percent for income and victory tax on 1943 income (col. 16÷3)   |  |
|   | (1)  | (14)  | (15)  | (16)   | (17)   | (18)   | (19)  | (20)   |  |
| 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 22 12 22 23 24 25 | Taxable individual and fiduciary returns with net income:  Forms 1040 and 1041:  Under 15 (est.)  15 under 20 (est.)  20 under 25  25 under 30  30 under 40  40 under 50  50 under 60  60 under 70  70 under 80  80 under 90  90 under 100  100 under 150  150 under 250  250 under 250  250 under 300  300 under 400  400 under 500  500 under 500  500 under 500  500 under 1,000  1,000 under 1,500  1,500 under 2,000  2,000 under 3,000  3,000 under 4,000  4,000 under 5,000  5,000 under 5,000  5,000 under 5,000 | 7<br>116<br>117<br>179<br>147<br>195<br>203<br>46<br>174<br>222<br>2374<br>64<br>52<br>25<br>22<br>280<br>41<br>117<br>159<br>48<br>147 | 353<br>3, 812<br>3, 996<br>6, 910<br>5, 886<br>4, 711<br>3, 660<br>3, 170<br>2, 581<br>2, 389<br>2, 150<br>1, 318<br>1, 741<br>1, 741<br>1, 589<br>715<br>593<br>370<br>210<br>194, 379 | 4, 254 50, 139 58, 387 107, 987 94, 496 77, 048 60, 367 52, 355 43, 338 38, 432 132, 431 71, 760 41, 870 26, 046 36, 958 25, 171 36, 041 17, 585 9, 244 9, 594 3, 192 9, 304 | 248<br>3, 759<br>4, 090<br>7, 506<br>5, 364<br>4, 414<br>4, 677<br>3, 377<br>1, 947<br>2, 063<br>11, 592<br>5, 280<br>4, 831<br>789<br>1, 407<br>1, 197<br>1, 405<br>1, 085<br>236<br>324<br>397 | 946<br>798   | \$6, 950<br>8, 467<br>11, 245<br>15, 673<br>22, 329<br>29, 285<br>36, 542<br>43, 959<br>51, 593<br>59, 677<br>79, 193<br>119, 401<br>160, 421<br>200, 357<br>56, 649<br>335, 649<br>335, 649<br>335, 638<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889<br>1,320,889 | 69. 40<br>72. 28<br>73. 92<br>74. 86<br>74. 09<br>71. 49<br>64. 51<br>72. 56<br>76. 64<br>59. 73<br>86. 69<br>70. 32 | 1<br>23<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>22<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>28<br>28<br>28<br>28<br>28<br>28<br>28<br>28<br>28<br>28<br>28<br>28 |
| 26  | Total, individual and fiduciary returns with alternative tax.  | 2, 477  | 59, 179   | 1, 027, 969  | 66, 015  | 162, 880   | 31, 295   | 56. 44   | 26   |

Table 1-A.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART I—ALL RETURNS

### [Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

|   | Net income classes  | Number of returns   | Net<br>income <sup>2</sup><br>(item 18,<br>p. 1, Form<br>1040, and<br>item 3,<br>Form<br>1040A)   | Personal<br>exemption 3   | Credit for<br>depend-<br>ents 4  | Earned<br>income<br>credit b  |  |
|---|---|---|---|---|--|---|--|
|   | (1)   | (2)   | (3)   | (4)   | (5)  | (6)   |  |
| 1 23 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 9 20 1 22 2 24 25 6 27 28 9 30 1 32 2 33 34 35 6 37 8 9 40 41 42 43 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 9 8 9 8 9 8 9 8 9 8 9 8 | Taxable individual returns:  With net income:  Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.).  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  1.75 under 1 (est.).  1.25 under 1.5 (est.).  1.25 under 1.5 (est.).  2.25 under 2.5 (est.).  2.25 under 2.5 (est.).  2.5 under 2.5 (est.).  2.5 under 2.5 (est.).  3.5 under 3 (est.).  3.5 under 4 (est.).  4 under 4.5 (est.).  5 under 6 (est.).  4 under 4.5 (est.).  7 under 8 (est.).  8 under 9 (est.).  9 under 10 (est.).  10 under 11 (est.).  11 under 12 (est.).  12 under 13 (est.).  13 under 5 (est.).  9 under 10 (est.).  10 under 11 (est.).  11 under 12 (est.).  12 under 13 (est.).  13 under 6 (est.).  6 under 7 (est.).  10 under 10 (est.).  10 under 10 (est.).  10 under 11 (est.).  11 under 12 (est.).  12 under 13 (est.).  13 under 14 (est.).  14 under 15 (est.).  15 under 20 (est.).  20 under 25  25 under 30.  30 under 40.  40 under 60.  60 under 70.  70 under 80.  80 under 100.  100 under 150.  200 under 200.  200 under 200.  200 under 50.  500 under 50.  500 under 60.  400 under 50.  500 under 100.  100 under 50.  500 under 100.  100 under 50.  500 under 90.  90 under 100.  100 under 50.  500 under 90.  90 under 60.  400 under 50.  500 under 60. | 218, 078 754, 289 1, 106, 131, 800 1, 466, 935, 1466, 935, 157, 187, 187, 187, 187, 187, 187, 187, 18 | 30, 239, 358  70, 497 482, 829 972, 804 1, 503, 468 2, 018, 567 2, 464, 446 3, 086, 072 4, 484, 486 3, 739, 925 4, 840, 729 9, 657, 097 3, 812, 966 6, 272, 607 3, 812, 966 6, 272, 607 3, 812, 966 6, 272, 607 3, 10, 13, 702 5, 560, 954 1, 013, 702 5, 560, 954 1, 013, 702 5, 902, 734 698, 823 490, 184 490, 184 1, 737, 001 1, 194, 339 881, 845 1, 203, 510 7, 78, 016 552, 382 393, 994 300, 517 228, 589 181, 212 241, 146 128, 365 101, 478 64, 204 94, 825 | 15, 680, 127 66, 590 455, 213 784, 691 1, 044, 936 1, 276, 834 1, 382, 224 1, 555, 103 1, 628, 006 1, 637, 691 1, 824, 992 1, 864, 692 992, 624 1, 655, 085 494, 406 255, 085 494, 406 255, 085 494, 406 253, 460 253, 460 253, 460 253, 460 253, 471 255, 085 494, 406 253, 460 253, 471 255, 085 494, 406 253, 460 252, 596 31, 715 34, 202 34, 575 29, 568 96, 082 52, 596 31, 715 34, 202 17, 001 9, 881 5, 996 3, 890 2, 648 1, 858 1, 858 1, 858 2, 287 287 287 287 | 4, 958, 370 4, 777 54, 282 123, 344 158, 431 1224, 728 272, 616 349, 892 424, 795 473, 942 489, 891 619, 105 1, 180, 008 709, 631 375, 246 80, 787 52, 616 36, 805 194, 180 163, 484 80, 787 52, 616 36, 805 194, 180 163, 484 9, 727 30, 663 11, 263 11, 334 11, 15, 632 3, 252 1, 938 1, 266 851 1, 266 851 1, 268 851 1, 266 851 1, 269 194 368 369 369 369 370 394 388 386 387 389 389 389 389 389 389 389 389 389 389 | 2, 842, 500  5, 505 40, 918 78, 279 119, 226 179, 129 226, 872 293, 188 336, 684 371, 136 481, 490 953, 744 611, 659 363, 925 222, 802 220, 519 126, 69 91, 042 69, 910 59, 644 43, 981 38, 205 32, 520 28, 989 25, 516 85, 286 48, 020 30, 137 34, 283 11, 273 37, 155 4, 798 3, 246 3, 246 3, 246 3, 247 3, 247 3, 247 3, 255 1, 640 680 6847 327 155 153 | 1 2 3 4 4 5 6 6 7 7 8 9 9 100 111 113 114 115 116 117 221 222 23 24 25 29 33 32 24 33 34 34 35 36 36 37 38 39 40 41 42 44 48 |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 1-A.—Individual returns with net income, 1948, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability—Part I, all-returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and suriax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, carned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART I-ALL RETURNS-Continued

### [Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousand of dollars]

|  |   |                      |  |   |  |   | _                                      |
|--|---|----------------------|--|---|--|---|--|
|  | Net income classes  | Number of<br>returns | Net<br>income '<br>(item 18,<br>p. 1. Form<br>1040, and<br>item 3,<br>Form<br>1040A) | Personal<br>exemption <sup>3</sup>                          | Credit for<br>depend-<br>ents 4                      | Earned<br>income<br>credit <sup>§</sup>         |  |
| İ                                      | . (1)   | (2)                  | (3)  | (4)   | (5)  | (6)   |  |
| 44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50 | Taxable individual returns—Con. With net income—Continued Form 1040—Continued 750 under 1,000 | 28                   | 49, 211<br>33, 103<br>15, 209<br>12, 840<br>3, 682<br>13, 231<br>5, 540              | 49<br>21<br>10<br>4<br>1<br>4                               | 24<br>7<br>5<br>1<br>1<br>3                          | 53<br>32<br>11<br>6<br>(13)                     | 44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50 |
| 51                                     | Total, taxable individ-<br>ual returns with net   | 40, 222, 699         | 97, 774, 423   | 37, 219, 858  | 11, 133, 005   | 8, 494, 515                                     | 51 ·                                   |
| 52                                     | income. With no net income, Form 1040 11 (est.).  | 17, 438              | 14 27, 326   | 12, 489   | 1, 485   |   | 52                                     |
| 53                                     | Total, taxable individual returns (51+52).  | 40, 240, 137         | 15 97,747,098  | 37, 232, 347  | 11, 134, 489   | 8, 494, 515                                     | 53                                     |
| 54<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58             | Nontaxable individual returns:  With net income: 12  Form 1040A 10 (est.)                     | 643, 849<br>208, 284 | 847, 055<br>211, 987<br>122, 321<br>107, 479<br>146, 596                             | 1, 545, 354<br>485, 488<br>233, 227<br>144, 416<br>162, 427 | 196, 459<br>66, 176<br>59, 090<br>35, 597<br>46, 581 | 79, 623<br>6, 197<br>3, 514<br>3, 431<br>4, 601 | 54<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58             |
| 59                                     | Total, nontaxable indi-<br>vidual returns with<br>net income.                                 | 3, 283, 854          | 1, 435. 438  | 2, 570, 911   | 403, 903   | 97, 366   | 59                                     |
| 60                                     | With no net income, Form 1040 11 (est.).  | 198, 047             | 14 198, 358  | (16)  | (10)   |   | 60                                     |
| 61                                     | Total, nontaxable individual returns (59+60).   | 3, 481, 901          | 15 1, 237, 081   | (16)  | (16)   | 97, 366   | 61                                     |
| 62                                     | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)  | 43, 722, 038         | 1598,984, 178  | (16)  | (16)   | 8, 591, 881                                     | 62                                     |
| 63                                     | Individual returns with net income (51+5?).   | 43, 506, 553         | 99, 209, 862   | 39, 790, 769  | 11, 536, 908   | 8, 591, 881                                     | 63                                     |
| 64                                     | Individual returns with no net income " (est.) (52+60).                                       | 215, 485             | 14 225, 683  | (16)  | (16)   |   | 64                                     |

Table 1-A.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART I—ALL RETURNS—Continued

[Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

|  |  |   | Income and  | Returns wi  | th normal ta  | and surtax  |  |
|--|--|---|---|---|---|---|--|
| !  | Net income classes   | Total<br>income and<br>victory<br>tax 6 (item<br>20, p. 4,<br>Form 1040,<br>and item 12,<br>Form<br>1040A)  | victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7<br>(item 16,<br>p. 4, Form<br>1040, and<br>item 8,<br>Form<br>1040A)<br>(col. 11+15)   | Normal tax<br>and surtax<br>(item 10,<br>p. 4, Form<br>1040, and<br>item 6,<br>Form<br>1040A)   | Net victory<br>tax (item<br>13, p. 4,<br>Form 1040,<br>and item 7,<br>Form<br>1040A)  | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7<br>(item 16,<br>p. 4, Form<br>1040, and<br>item 8,<br>Form<br>1040A)   |  |
|  | (1)  | (7)   | (8)   | (9)   | (10)  | (11)  |  |
|  | Taxable individual returns:<br>With net income:  |   |   |   |   |   |  |
| 1  | Form 1040A 10 (est.)<br>Form 1040:   |   | 2, 389, 266   | 1, 823, 396   | 565, 870  | 2, 389, 266   | 1  |
| 2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20 | Under 0.5 (est.). 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.). 1 under 1.26 (est.). 1.25 under 1.26 (est.). 1.5 under 1.75 (est.). 1.75 under 2 (est.). 2 under 2.25 (est.). 2.25 under 2.5 (est.). 2.5 under 2.75 (est.). 3.5 under 3 (est.). 3.5 under 4 (est.). 4 under 4.5 (est.). 4 under 4.5 (est.). 5 under 5 (est.). 6 under 7 (est.). 7 under 8 (est.). 8 under 8 (est.). | 14, 474 35, 662 85, 422 137, 348 188, 210 250, 859 335, 716 384, 225 436, 464 458, 133 619, 074 1, 335, 772 960, 651 647, 572 445, 286 337, 434 319, 435 282, 657 | 7, 369 24, 130 67, 021 110, 263 155, 830 211, 327 286, 805 333, 247 381, 106 402, 742 547, 312 1, 177, 147 840, 908 561, 235 384, 970 455, 767 314, 638 264, 501 227, 601 | 6, 210<br>20, 252<br>52, 972<br>83, 448<br>116, 759<br>159, 078<br>218, 537<br>253, 710<br>292, 626<br>312, 412<br>939, 913<br>681, 882<br>462, 754<br>320, 690<br>384, 886<br>269, 036<br>228, 440<br>198, 379 | 1, 189<br>3, 951<br>14, 104<br>27, 148<br>39, 613<br>52, 450<br>68, 748<br>88, 824<br>90, 887<br>117, 452<br>238, 106<br>159, 479<br>99, 248<br>64, 635<br>71, 469<br>45, 708<br>36, 179<br>29, 578 | 7, 369-24, 130, 67, 021, 110, 263, 155, 830, 211, 327, 286, 805, 333, 1, 106, 402, 742, 547, 312, 1, 177, 147, 840, 986, 976, 1235, 384, 970, 455, 767, 314, 638, 264, 501, 227, 601, 227, 601, 314, 638, 364, 501, 227, 601, 364, 501, 501, 501, 501, 501, 501, 501, 501 | 2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20 |
| 21<br>22<br>23<br>24   | 9 under 10 (est.)<br>10 under 11 (est.)<br>11 under 12 (est.)<br>12 under 13 (est.)  | 258, 908<br>209, 951<br>193, 842  | 214, 044<br>173, 738<br>159, 917  | 187, 877<br>153, 547<br>142, 163  | 26, 493<br>20, 452<br>18, 037   | 214, 044<br>173, 738<br>159, 917  | 21<br>22<br>23   |
| 25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29   | 12 under 14 (est.).<br>13 under 14 (est.).<br>14 under 15 (est.).<br>15 under 20 (est.).<br>20 under 25.<br>25 under 30.   | 177, 641<br>167, 484<br>158, 425<br>684, 299<br>540, 972<br>444, 313  | 146, 520<br>138, 470<br>134, 349<br>561, 375<br>445, 099<br>366, 064  | 130, 854<br>124, 091<br>120, 994<br>507, 075<br>364, 748<br>286, 598  | 15, 875<br>14, 531<br>13, 540<br>51, 211<br>32, 025<br>22, 912  | 146, 520<br>138, 470<br>134, 349<br>557, 355<br>396, 285<br>309, 270  | 24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29   |
| 30<br>31<br>32<br>33   | 30 under 40<br>40 under 50<br>50 under 60<br>60 under 70   | 675, 475<br>486, 261<br>371, 078<br>283, 238  | 556, 358<br>399, 257<br>305, 508<br>230, 846  | 280, 398<br>420, 092<br>287, 716<br>215, 496<br>161, 689  | 31, 601<br>20, 813<br>15, 335<br>11, 446  | 309, 270<br>450, 942<br>307, 698<br>230, 495<br>172, 960  | 30<br>31<br>32<br>33   |
| 34<br>35<br>36<br>37   | 70 under 80<br>80 under 90<br>90 under 100<br>100 under 150  | 226, 384<br>176, 886<br>145, 336<br>454, 303  | 184, 247<br>145, 654<br>119, 364<br>369, 670  | 125, 109<br>96, 964<br>77, 305<br>228, 240  | 8, 797<br>6, 795<br>5, 363<br>15, 323   | 133, 625<br>103, 691<br>82, 527<br>243, 076   | 34<br>35<br>36<br>37   |
| 38<br>39<br>40<br>41   | 150 under 200<br>200 under 250<br>250 under 300<br>300 under 400   | 220, 724<br>124, 153<br>80, 233<br>96, 709  | 179, 066<br>99, 470<br>65, 482<br>81, 740   | 103, 269<br>55, 915<br>38, 459<br>43, 679   | 6, 668<br>3, 542<br>2, 461<br>2, 721  | 109, 720<br>59, 402<br>40, 759<br>46, 132   | 38<br>39<br>40<br>41   |
| 42<br>43   | 400 under 500<br>500 under 750   | 62, 788<br>89, 751  | 51, 966<br>75, 656  | 26, 941<br>38, 307  | 1, 701<br>2, 380  | 28, 543<br>40, 512  | 42<br>43   |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 1-A.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART I-ALL RETURNS-Continued

[Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousand of dollars]

| 1,000 under 1,500   |                      |  |   |  |   |   |   |                                  |
|---|----------------------|--|---|--|---|---|---|----------------------------------|
| Net income classes  |                      |  |   |  | Returnswit  | th normal tax   | and surtax !  |                                  |
| Taxable individual returns—Con. With not income—Continued Form 1040—Continued Form 1040—Continued Too under 1,000   |                      | Net income classes   | income and<br>victory<br>tax 6 (item<br>20, p. 4,<br>Form 1040,<br>and item 12,<br>Form | on 1943<br>income 7<br>(item 16,<br>p. 4, Form<br>1040, and<br>item 8,<br>Form<br>1040A) | and surtax<br>(item 10,<br>p. 4, Form<br>1040, and<br>item 6,<br>Form | tax (item<br>13, p. 4,<br>Form 1040,<br>and item 7,<br>Form | victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7<br>(item 16,<br>p. 4, Form<br>1040, and<br>item 8,<br>Form |                                  |
| With net income—Continued Form 1040—Continued 44 750 under 1,000  |                      | (1)  | (7)   | (8)  | (9)   | (10)  | (11)  |                                  |
| 48  |                      | With net income—Continued  |   |  |   |   |   |                                  |
| 50  | 45<br>46<br>47<br>48 | 750 under 1,000  | 30, 267<br>14, 861<br>10, 248<br>4, 314   | 26, 590<br>12, 870<br>8, 875<br>3, 192   | 11, 095<br>4, 400   | 538<br>207  | 11, 573<br>4, 604   | 44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49 |
| Vidual returns with net income.   Section |                      | 5,000 and over   | 5, 883  | 4,985  | 4, 850  | 136   | 4, 985  | 50                               |
| 52         With no net income, Form 1040 11 (est.).         4,230         643         643         52           53         Total, taxable individual returns (51+52).         16,942,704         14,450,084         11,230,551         2,247,077         13,463,675         53           54         Form 1040A 10 (est.)         15,369         54         55         54         55         54         55         54         55         54         55         56         0.5 under 0.75 (est.)         3,434         55         55         56         0.75 under 0.75 (est.)         3,434         55         56         57         1 and over (est.)         2,084         56         57         57         1 and over (est.)         2,084         56         57         58         1 and over (est.)         2,333         56         56         57         58         1 and over (est.)         2,533         56         56         57         58         1 and over (est.)         60         57         58         60         56         60         56         60         60         60         60         60         60         60         60         60         60         60         60         60         60         60         60         60         60   | 51                   | vidual returns with  | 16, 938, 473  | 14, 449, 441   | 11, 230, 551  | 2, 246, 434   | 13, 463, 033  | 51                               |
| turns (51+52).  Nontaxable individual returns: With net income: 12 Form 1040: 15, 369 Form 1040: 12, 536 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 12, 536 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 2, 984 57 0.75 under 1 (est.) 2, 984 58 1 and over (est.) 2, 333 57 Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income. With no net income, Form 1040 11 (est.) 60 With no net income, Form 1040 11 (est.) 60 Total, nontaxable individual returns (59+60).  61 Total, nontaxable individual 63, 275 returns (59+60).  62 Grand total (53+61 or 63+64) 17, 005, 979 14, 450, 084 11, 230, 551 2, 247, 077 13, 463, 675 63 Individual returns with net income (5)+59). 64 Individual returns with no net in- 31, 749 643 643 643 644  | 52                   | With no net income, Form 1040 11                                 | 4, 230  | 643  |   | 643   | 643   | 52                               |
| With net income: 12 Form 1040A 10 (est.)  | 53                   |  | 16, 942, 704  | 14, 450, 084   | 11, 230, 551  | 2, 247, 077   | 13, 463, 675  | 53                               |
| Under 0.5 (est.)  | 54                   | With net income: 12<br>Form 1040A 10 (est.)                      | 15, 369   |  |   |   |   | 54                               |
| 60         vidual returns with net income. met income. With no net income. Form 1040 11 (est.).         27, 519         66         66         66         66         66         66         67         67         68         68, 275 (est.).         61         61         68         68, 275 (est.).         61         62         62         62         62         62         62         62         62         62         62         62         62         62         62         62         62         62         62  | 56<br>57             | Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.) | 3, 434<br>2, 084  |  |   |   |   | 55<br>56<br>57<br>58             |
| 60 With no net income, Form 1040 11 (est.). 60 (est.). 60  Total, nontaxable individual returns (59+60). 62 Grand total (53+61 or 63+64). 17,005,979 14,450,084 11,230,551 2,247,077 13,463,675 62 (51+59). 64 Individual returns with net income (51+59). 64 Individual returns with no net in 31,749 643 643 643 643 643  | 59                   | vidual returns with  | 35, 756   |  |   |   |   | 59                               |
| returns (59+60).  62 Grand total (53+61 or 63+64) .   | 60                   | With no net income, Form 1040 11                                 | 27, 519   |  |   |   |   | 60                               |
| 63 Individual returns with net income (51+59). 64 Individual returns with no net in 31,749 643  | 61                   |  | 63, 275   |  |   |   |   | 61                               |
| (51+59). 64 Individual returns with no net in 31,749 643  | 62                   | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)                                     | 17, 005, 979  | 14, 450, 084   | 11, 230, 551  | 2, 247, 077   | 13, 463, 675  | 62                               |
| 64 Individual returns with no net in- 31,749 643 643 643 643 643  | 63                   |  | 16, 974, 230  | 14, 449, 441   | 11, 230, 551  | 2, 246, 434   | 13, 463, 033  | 63                               |
|   | 64                   | Individual returns with no net in-                               | 31, 749   | 643  |   | 643   | 643   | 64                               |

Table 1-A.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13,

PART I—ALL RETURNS—Continued [Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

|   |   | Ret   | urns with  | alternative   | tax *  |  |   | Ī   |
|---|---|---|--|---|--|--|---|---|
|   |   | Altern  | ative tax  |   |  |  |   |   |
|   | Net income classes  | Normal<br>tax and<br>surtax<br>(item 12,<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040)  | 50 percent of the excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss (item 13, Sch. B, Form 1040)   |   | Income<br>and<br>victory<br>tax on<br>1943 in-<br>come 7<br>(item 16,<br>p. 4,<br>Form<br>1040)  | Average income and victory tax on 1943 income (col. 8÷2)   | Effective tax rate percent for income and victory tax on 1943 income (col. 8÷3)   |   |
|   | (1)   | (12)  | (13)   | (14)  | (15)   | (16)   | (17)  |   |
| 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>24<br>24<br>24<br>24<br>24<br>24<br>24<br>24<br>24<br>24<br>24<br>24 | Taxable individual returns:  With net income:  Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  1 under 1.25 (est.)  1.5 under 1.25 (est.)  1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  2.5 under 2.6 (est.)  2.5 under 2.6 (est.)  2.5 under 2.6 (est.)  3 under 3.5 (est.)  4 under 4.5 (est.)  4 under 4.5 (est.)  5 under 5 (est.)  4 under 4.5 (est.)  4 under 4.5 (est.)  5 under 6 (est.)  6 under 7 (est.)  7 under 8 (est.)  9 under 10 (est.)  9 under 10 (est.)  10 under 11 (est.)  11 under 12 (est.)  12 under 13 (est.)  13 under 14 (est.)  14 under 14 (est.)  15 under 16 (est.)  10 under 11 (est.)  11 under 12 (est.)  12 under 13 (est.)  13 under 14 (est.)  14 under 15 (est.)  15 under 20 (est.)  20 under 25  25 under 30 |   |  |   |  | \$132<br>34<br>32<br>61<br>83<br>106<br>139<br>174<br>205<br>241<br>279<br>326<br>394<br>492<br>622<br>757<br>971<br>1, 261<br>1, 594<br>1, 903<br>2, 249  | 7, 90<br>10, 45<br>5, 00<br>6, 89<br>7, 33<br>7, 72<br>8, 58<br>9, 63<br>10, 17<br>10, 62<br>11, 31<br>12, 19<br>13, 41<br>14, 72<br>16, 00<br>17, 80<br>19, 53<br>21, 34<br>22, 45<br>23, 71 | 1 2 3 4 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 2 3 14 15 6 17 18 9 19 20 21  |
| 25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43  | 10 under 11 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 20 (est.) 20 under 25. 25 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 90. 90 under 100. 100 under 150. 150 under 200 200 under 250. 250 under 300. 300 under 300. 300 under 400.  | 85, 866<br>74, 650<br>61, 901<br>47, 524<br>42, 313<br>34, 440<br>30, 664<br>103, 200<br>55, 379<br>31, 964<br>19, 701<br>28, 285 | 239<br>4, 613<br>6, 521<br>12, 957<br>11, 302<br>8, 594<br>6, 897<br>5, 037<br>4, 029<br>16, 336<br>10, 595<br>6, 070<br>3, 810<br>5, 628<br>4, 833<br>10, 215 | 335<br>3, 714<br>3, 900<br>6, 764<br>4, 638<br>3, 555<br>3, 104<br>2, 532<br>2, 313<br>7, 274<br>3, 746<br>2, 085<br>1, 256<br>1, 721<br>1, 116<br>1, 557 | 4, 020<br>48, 814<br>56, 794<br>105, 415<br>91, 559<br>75, 013<br>57, 885<br>50, 622<br>41, 963<br>36, 838<br>126, 595<br>69, 346<br>40, 068<br>24, 724<br>35, 608<br>23, 423<br>35, 144 | 2, 607<br>2, 982<br>3, 389<br>3, 809<br>4, 361<br>5, 574<br>8, 299<br>11, 334<br>15, 895<br>22, 836<br>30, 168<br>37, 844<br>45, 730<br>53, 986<br>62, 396<br>62, 396<br>62, 396<br>126, 907<br>171, 501<br>216, 113<br>276, 150<br>363, 402<br>484, 971 | 24. 86<br>25. 96<br>27. 14<br>28. 25<br>30. 99<br>32. 32<br>37. 27<br>41. 51<br>46. 23<br>51. 31<br>68. 59<br>61. 59<br>63. 72<br>65. 87<br>69. 90<br>74. 26<br>77. 40<br>80. 55<br>80. 55    | 212<br>223<br>244<br>256<br>277<br>289<br>290<br>311<br>323<br>334<br>355<br>367<br>388<br>399<br>401<br>412<br>423 |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 1-A.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART I—ALL RETURNS—Continued
[Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousand of dollars]

|  |   | Retu   | ırns with a  | lternative   | tax 9   |   |   |  |
|--|---|--|--|--|---|---|---|--|
|  |   | Alterna  | tive tax   |  |   |   |   |  |
|  | Net income classes  | Normal<br>tax and<br>surtax<br>(item 12,<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040) | 50 percent of the excess of net long-term capital gain over net term capital loss (item 13, Sch. B, Form 1040) | Net<br>victory<br>tax<br>(item 13,<br>p. 4,<br>Form<br>1040) | Income and victory tax on 1943 income? (item 16, p. 4, Form 1040) | Average income and victory tax on 1943 income (col. 8÷2)  | Effective<br>tax rate<br>percent<br>for<br>income<br>and<br>victory<br>tax on<br>1943<br>income<br>(col. 8÷3) |  |
|  | (1)   | (12)   | (13)   | (14)   | (15)  | (16)  | (17)  |  |
| 44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50 | Taxable individual returns—Con.  With net income—Continued Form 1040—Continued 750 under 1,000 1,000 under 2,000 2,000 under 2,000 3,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 5,000 5,000 and over | 10, 062<br>10, 616<br>6, 819<br>3, 645<br>2, 825<br>5, 795           | 9, 272<br>3, 841<br>1, 095<br>3, 141<br>221<br>3, 277  | 669<br>573<br>370<br>210<br>194<br>379                       | 19, 961<br>15, 017<br>8, 267<br>6, 837<br>3, 192<br>9, 304        | \$630, 671<br>949, 637<br>1, 430, 044<br>1, 479, 135<br>3, 191, 911<br>3, 101, 227<br>4, 985, 292 | 74. 33<br>80. 32<br>84. 62<br>69. 12<br>86. 69<br>70. 32<br>89. 99  | 44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50 |
| 51<br>52                               | Total. taxable individual returns with net income.  With no net income, Form 1040 <sup>11</sup> (est.).   | 787, 112   | 143, 928   | 57, 758  | 986, 409  | 359<br>37   | 14. 78  | 51<br>52                               |
| 53                                     | Total, taxable individual returns (51+52).  | 787, 112   | 143, 928   | 57, 758  | 986, 409  | 359   | 14.78   | 53                                     |
| 54<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58             | Nontaxable individual returns:  With net income: 12  Form 1040A 10 (est.)  Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  1 and over (est.)   |  | 1  |  |   |   |   | 54<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58             |
| 59                                     | Total, nontaxable in-   |  |  |  |   |   |   | 59                                     |
| 60                                     | dividual returns<br>with net income.<br>With no net income, Form<br>1040 11 (est.).   |  |  | <b></b>  |   |   |   | 60                                     |
| 61                                     | Total, nontaxable individual returns (59+60).   |  |  |  |   |   |   | 61                                     |
| 62                                     | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)  | 787, 112   | 143, 928   | 57, 758  | 986, 409  | 331   | 14.60   | 62                                     |
| 63<br>64                               | Individual returns with net income (51+59). Individual returns with no net income 11 (est.) (52+60).  | 787, 112   | 143, 928   | 57, 758  | 986, 409  | 332   | 14. 56  | 63<br>64                               |

Table 1-A.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability-Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

STATISTICS OF INCOME FOR 1943, PART 1

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART II-RETURNS WITH NORMAL TAX AND SURTAX !

#### [Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

| =   | [Net income classes and mone   | ey ngures, ex  | cept average  | tax, in thou   | sands of dol   | iarsj  |   |
|---|--|--|---|--|--|--|---|
|   | Net income classes   | Number of returns  | Net income<br>(item 18,<br>p. 1, Form<br>1040)  | Personal exemption   | Credit for dependents 4  | Earned income credit 5   |   |
|   | (1)  | (2)  | . (3)   | (4)  | (5)  | (6)  |   |
| 1 2 3 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 3 14 4 15 6 17 8 19 22 12 22 32 4 1 15 16 17 18 19 22 12 22 32 4 33 33 34 35 36 7 38 9 30 41 42 44 34 44 5 46 47 48 9 50 | Taxable individual returns with net income:  Form 1040:  Under 0.75 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  1.5 under 1.25 (est.)  1.25 under 1.5 (est.)  1.5 under 1.5 (est.)  1.75 under 2.5 (est.)  2.25 under 2.5 (est.)  2.5 under 2.5 (est.)  2.75 under 3 (est.)  3. under 2.5 (est.)  3. under 2.5 (est.)  3. under 2.5 (est.)  1.75 under 3 (est.)  3. under 3.5 (est.)  3. under 4 (est.)  4. under 4.5 (est.)  4. under 4.5 (est.)  5 under 6 (est.)  6 under 7 (est.)  7 under 8 (est.)  9 under 10 (est.)  11 under 12 (est.)  12 under 13 (est.)  13 under 14 (est.)  14 under 15 (est.)  15 under 20 (est.)  20 under 20  20 under 25  25 under 30  30 under 40  40 under 50  50 under 60  60 under 70  70 under 80  80 under 100  100 under 150  150 under 200  200 under 250  250 under 400  400 under 5,000  5,000 under 1,000  1,000 under 1,000  1,000 under 1,000  1,000 under 5,000  5,000 under 1,000  1.550 under 200  2.000 under 5,000  5,000 under 5,000 | 549, 763 699, 619 790, 965 1, 148, 003 1, 287, 775 1, 477, 260 1, 533, 227 1, 537, 773 1, 416, 058 1, 656, 346 2, 967, 338 1, 680, 255 901, 262 508, 612 469, 276 249, 542 105, 966 119, 585 66, 637 53, 626 43, 230 36, 354 47, 856 27, 243 28, 270 18, 384 7, 569 4, 517 2, 821 1, 887 1, 297 2, 822 331 1, 887 74 1, 297 2, 822 331 1, 887 74 1, 297 2, 822 331 1, 887 74 1, 297 2, 822 331 1, 887 74 1, 297 2, 822 331 1, 887 74 1, 297 2, 822 331 1, 887 74 1, 297 2, 822 331 1, 887 74 1, 297 2, 822 331 1, 887 74 1, 297 2, 822 331 1, 887 74 1, 297 2, 822 331 1, 887 74 1, 297 2, 822 331 1, 887 74 1, 297 2, 822 331 1, 887 74 1, 297 2, 822 331 1, 837 3, 838 3, 8 | 38, 797 346, 927 614, 292 906, 768 1, 579, 149 2, 996, 526, 996 2, 773, 840 3, 716, 808 4, 771, 620 9, 580, 707 6, 254, 486 1, 612, 263 1, 239, 502 1, 612, 263 1, 239, 502 1, 612, 263 1, 239, 502 1, 612, 263 1, 239, 502 1, 612, 263 1, 239, 502 1, 612, 263 1, 239, 502 1, 612, 263 1, 239, 502 1, 612, 263 1, 239, 502 1, 614 539, 844 539, 843 539, 844 539, 843 539, 844 539, 843 539, 844 539, 844 539, 843 539, 844 539, 844 539, 843 539, 844 539, 844 539, 843 539, 844 539, 844 539, 843 539, 844 539, 843 539, 844 5412, 523 291, 414 1, 624, 118 743, 304 741, 799 159, 775 122, 875 122, 875 122, 875 122, 875 122, 875 122, 875 122, 875 122, 875 122, 875 122, 875 122, 875 122, 875 122, 875 122, 875 122, 875 122, 875 122, 903 12, 903 12, 903 12, 903 12, 903 12, 900 15, 540 63, 000, 931 | 5, 488 229, 703 311, 205 431, 033 895, 863 1, 108, 263 1, 135, 248 1, 514, 142 1, 588, 255 1, 522, 252 1, 796, 258 3, 256, 085 1, 889, 116 991, 188 554, 919 494, 338 253, 465 165, 713 31, 78 31, 575 29, 568 95, 733 47, 436 27, 006 28, 002 13, 168 7, 459 4, 464 4, 862 2, 820 2, 1857 1, 275 2, 709 2, 709 310 174 162 2, 709 800 174 162 773 775 19 88 4 | 437<br>1, 675<br>7, 228<br>12, 362<br>23, 490<br>89, 038<br>186, 652<br>307, 799<br>410, 655<br>439, 436<br>570, 755<br>1, 123, 651<br>686, 833<br>371, 299<br>193, 725<br>163, 022<br>80, 787<br>52, 616<br>36, 805<br>29, 859<br>19, 858<br>16, 950<br>13, 263<br>11, 184<br>9, 727<br>30, 626<br>15, 794<br>8, 139<br>9, 149<br>4, 412<br>2, 486<br>11, 434<br>916<br>611<br>428<br>836<br>852<br>21<br>22<br>21<br>(u) | 3, 959 34, 724 61, 957 90, 646 158, 054 210, 031 277, 102 326, 212 3365, 749 372, 621 477, 856 949, 779 611, 003 363, 737 222, 748 61, 003 363, 737 222, 748 69, 910 59, 644 43, 981 38, 205 32, 520 328, 989 25, 515 84, 819 43, 102 25, 583 27, 932 14, 277 8, 568 5, 406 3, 534 22, 303 1, 581 3, 421 3987 390 205 181 78 774 20 212 31 | 12<br>33<br>45<br>66<br>10<br>111<br>113<br>113<br>115<br>116<br>117<br>118<br>119<br>120<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>22<br>23<br>30<br>31<br>31<br>31<br>33<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>40<br>40<br>41<br>41<br>41<br>41<br>41<br>41<br>41<br>41<br>41<br>41<br>41<br>41<br>41 |
|   | with not man tax and surtax,   |  |   |  |  |  |   |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 1-A.-Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability-Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART II-RETURNS WITH NORMAL TAX AND SURTAX 9-Continued [Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

| ī   |   |   |  | Tax liability   |  |   |
|---|---|---|--|---|--|---|
|   |   | Total   |  | Tax on 19   | 43 income  |   |
|   | Net income classes  | income and<br>victory<br>tax 6 (item<br>20, p. 4,<br>Form 1040)<br>(col. 12+<br>13+14)  | Normal<br>tax (item<br>8, p. 4,<br>Form 1040)  | Surtax<br>(item 9, p. 4,<br>Form 1040)  | Credits for foreign tax paid and tax paid at source  | Net<br>victory<br>tax (item<br>13, p. 4,<br>Form 1040)  |
|   | . (1)   | (7)   | (8)  | (9)   | (10)   | (11)  |
| T 12345577890123345578901233455678900123345567890012334556789000000000000000000000000000000000000 | Caxable individual returns with net income:  Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.) | 13, 377 34, 487 81, 004 128, 106 181, 344 244, 580 329, 969 380, 261 434, 576 617, 7434 319, 436 2445, 275 537, 860 277, 434 319, 436 282, 657 258, 908 209, 951 193, 842 177, 641 167, 481 158, 425 679, 344 480, 446 374, 044 645, 253 373, 882 278, 854 210, 801 163, 620 125, 785 99, 837 294, 864 134, 362 72, 587 54, 423 34, 406 47, 684 19, 685 5, 293 2, 437 | 1, 801 5, 086 14, 240 22, 915 30, 617 42, 131 57, 962 67, 032 77, 760 83, 261 115, 573 185, 073 124, 977 85, 964 101, 634 43, 131 33, 945 56, 396 47, 214 43, 131 33, 945 57, 254 40, 757 54, 163 33, 700 23, 542 24, 721 24, 310 16, 734 12, 401 19, 268 97, 137 19, 778 8, 323 4, 324 2, 906 3, 231 1, 949 2, 734 1, 106 332 2, 734 1, 106 332 2, 734 1, 106 332 2, 734 1, 106 333 2 | 4, 409 15, 166 38, 732 -60, 533 86, 142 116, 947 160, 574 186, 678 214, 866 229, 151 314, 255 684, 560 496, 810 337, 726 283, 252 200, 291 172, 044 151, 164 119, 602 111, 811 103, 884 416, 991 307, 494 245, 841 365, 929 254, 016 191, 954 144, 955 112, 708 87, 696 70, 169 208, 463 94, 946 51, 592 35, 553 40, 447 24, 991 10, 323 4, 095 11, 853 | 300<br>73<br>55<br>333<br>542<br>2000<br>479<br>342<br>344<br>557<br>152<br>872<br>452<br>767<br>355<br>589<br>106<br>118<br>356<br>327<br>262<br>283<br>209<br>153<br>185<br>931<br>185<br>931<br>183<br>185<br>194<br>194<br>195<br>196<br>196<br>197<br>197<br>197<br>197<br>197<br>197<br>197<br>197<br>197<br>197 | 93<br>2, 777<br>9, 686<br>17, 906<br>17, 906<br>17, 906<br>175, 915<br>86, 935<br>89, 349<br>116, 117<br>236, 673<br>159, 176<br>99, 158<br>64, 624<br>71, 468<br>45, 708<br>36, 179<br>29, 578<br>26, 493<br>20, 452<br>218, 037<br>14, 531<br>13, 540<br>51, 211<br>132, 025<br>22, 912<br>31, 601<br>31, 633<br>51, 363<br>51, 363 |
|   | Total, individual returns with normal tax and surtax.                     | 13, 040, 945  | 2, 017, 330  | 7, 389, 824   | 13,952   | 1,635,177   |

Table 1-A.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART II—RETURNS WITH NORMAL TAX AND SURTAX &—Continued [Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

|  |  |  |   |  | sands of doll   |   |  |
|--|--|--|---|--|---|---|--|
| - 1  |  | Tax li   | ability—Cor   | ntinued  |   |   | T  |
|  | Net income classes   | Tax on 1943 income—Continued Income and victory tax on 1943 income? (item 16, p. 4, Form 1040) (col. 8+9+11-10)  | Additional<br>tax from<br>returns<br>with<br>larger tax<br>in 1942<br>(item 17,<br>p. 4,<br>minus<br>item 16,<br>p. 4, Form<br>1040)  | Unforgiven<br>tax, either<br>1942 or<br>1943 (item<br>19(c), p. 4,<br>Form<br>1040)  | Average income and victory tax on 1943 income (col. 12+2)   | Effective<br>tax rate<br>percent<br>for income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax<br>on 1943<br>income<br>(col. 12÷3)  |  |
|  | (1)  | (12)   | (13)  | (14)   | (15)  | (16)  |  |
| 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 9 0 111 2 13 4 14 5 16 7 18 9 10 111 2 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 | Taxable individual returns with net income:  Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.). 0.5 under 0.76 (est.). 0.75 under 1 (est.). 1 under 1.25 (est.). 1.25 under 1.36 (est.). 1.5 under 1.76 (est.). 1.5 under 1.76 (est.). 2 under 2.26 (est.). 2.5 under 2.75 (est.). 2.5 under 2.75 (est.). 2.5 under 2.75 (est.). 3.5 under 3.5 (est.). 3.5 under 4.75 (est.). 4.5 under 5 (est.). 4.5 under 6 (est.). 5 under 6 (est.). 6 under 7 (est.). 7 under 8 (est.). 10 under 11 (est.). 11 under 12 (est.). 12 under 13 (est.). 13 uuder 14 (est.). 14 under 15 (est.). 15 under 20 (est.). 20 under 25 (est.). 20 under 60 (est.). 60 under 70 (est.). 70 under 80 (est.). 80 under 90 (est.). 90 under 100 (est.) 100 under 150 (est.) 200 under 200 (est.). 200 under 200 (est.). 200 under 60 (est.). 200 under 60 (est.). 200 under 100 (est.). 200 under 100 (est.). 200 under 200 (est.). 200 under 200 (est.). 200 under 200 (est.). 200 under 50 (est.). 250 under 300 (est.). 260 under 70 (est.). 2750 under 1,500 (est.). 280 under 200 (est.). 290 under 1,500 (est.). 2,000 under 4,000 (est.). 3,000 under 4,000 (est.). 4,000 under 6,000 (est.). | 6, 273 22, 956 62, 603 101, 021 148, 964 205, 048 281, 058 329, 283 379, 218 401, 204 401, 204 454, 977 1, 175, 714 840, 605 561, 145 384, 959 455, 765 314, 638 264, 501 227, 601 224, 044 173, 738 159, 917 146, 520 138, 470 134, 349 1557, 355 306, 285 307, 698 230, 405 172, 960 133, 625 103, 691 82, 527 243, 076 109, 720 138, 527 243, 076 109, 720 138, 527 145, 094 131, 628 152, 527 153, 691 154, 617 111, 573 14, 614 15, 638 | 6, 775 10, 577 14, 281 18, 138 19, 057 19, 501 18, 761 14, 472 14, 367 10, 499 10, 838 19, 565 15, 230 13, 129 8, 148 17, 002 16, 497 14, 354 16, 128 12, 776 10, 636 9, 988 10, 081 8, 206 5, 859 36, 790 23, 140 22, 765 16, 302 10, 498 9, 023 7, 427 5, 174 3, 814 3, 198 11, 772 6, 377 3, 538 3, 098 1, 003 470 310 65 86 100 | 330<br>954<br>4, 120<br>8, 946<br>13, 323<br>30, 150<br>36, 506<br>40, 991<br>44, 892<br>5139, 060<br>104, 513<br>73, 207<br>52, 168<br>65, 093<br>46, 299<br>40, 580<br>38, 928<br>32, 089<br>25, 577<br>21, 039<br>20, 809<br>18, 217<br>21, 039<br>20, 809<br>18, 217<br>11, 546<br>49, 881<br>82, 567<br>16, 920<br>13, 496<br>40, 017<br>18, 265<br>16, 920<br>13, 496<br>40, 017<br>18, 265<br>5, 393<br>6, 842<br>2, 980<br>2, 980<br>2, 980<br>18, 217<br>16, 920<br>13, 496<br>40, 017<br>18, 265<br>5, 393<br>6, 842<br>2, 980<br>2, 980<br>3, 980<br>3, 980<br>3, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>4, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 980<br>5, 9 | \$48<br>42<br>89<br>126<br>130<br>159<br>190<br>215<br>247<br>283<br>330<br>562<br>500<br>623<br>757<br>971<br>1, 261<br>1, 594<br>1, 903<br>2, 249<br>2, 607<br>2, 982<br>2, 982<br>2, 982<br>3, 869<br>4, 361<br>11, 352<br>15, 566<br>8, 281<br>11, 462<br>202, 436<br>201, 978<br>385, 718<br>540, 157<br>755, 339<br>1, 157, 260<br>11, 534, 528<br>20, 037, 661 | 16. 17 6. 62 10. 19 11. 14 9. 43 9. 78 10. 13 10. 11 10. 39 10. 79 11. 44 12. 27 13. 44 14. 74 16. 00 17. 80 19. 52 21. 34 22. 45 23. 71 24. 86 25. 96 27. 14 28. 25 30. 09 32. 30 37. 24 41. 61 46. 44 51. 71 55. 87 59. 35 62. 21 64. 90 67. 18 81. 03 83. 12 84. 91 86. 98 88. 55 89. 89 90. 45 88. 98 | 1 1 2 2 3 4 4 5 5 6 7 7 8 9 10 11 12 12 13 14 15 6 17 7 18 8 19 20 1 22 2 22 24 25 6 27 7 8 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 6 37 8 39 40 14 24 34 44 54 64 7 44 8 6 17 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 |
|  | 5.000 and arrow  | 4, 985   |   | 897  | 4, 985, 292   | 89. 99  | 49   |
| i9<br>50   | 5,000 and over   | 1, 000   |   |  | 4, 550, 292   | 09. 89  |  |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 1-A .- Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13,

PART III-RETURNS WITH ALTERNATIVE TAX \* [Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

| · Net in  | come classes  | Number of returns  | Net income (item 18, p. 1, Form 1040)  | Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss (item 2, Sch. B, Form 1040)   | Net income reduced by excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss (col. 3-4)  | Personal exemption 3   | Credit<br>for de-<br>pendents•  |
|---|---|--|--|---|---|--|---|
| net income: Form 1040 1 Under 2 15 und 3 20 und 4 25 und 5 30 und 6 40 und 7 50 und 8 60 und 11 90 und 11 90 und 12 100 und 13 150 und 14 200 und 15 300 und 16 300 und 17 400 und 18 500 und 18 500 und 19 750 und 20 1,500 und 21 1,500 und 22 2,000 und 23 3,000 und 24 4,000 und 25 5,000 and 26 Tota | ridual returns with  : 15 (est.) er 20 (est.) er 20 (est.) er 25 er 30 er 40 er 50 er 60 er 70 er 80 er 90 der 150 der 200 der 250 der 300 der 250 der 300 der 5000 | 579<br>5, 774<br>5, 054<br>6, 731<br>4, 100<br>2, 558<br>1, 583<br>1, 148<br>579<br>249<br>123<br>138<br>69<br>81<br>18<br>6<br>6<br>6<br>5<br>5<br>1<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3 | 11, 259 130, 220 138, 540 232, 499 183, 001 139, 860 102, 580 102, 580 86, 718 68, 814 58, 337 190, 762 99, 528 45, 110 33, 328 47, 149 31, 389 49, 073 30, 722 20, 200 10, 119 10, 550 3, 682 13, 231 | 9, 277<br>9, 226<br>13, 042<br>25, 913<br>22, 604<br>17, 189<br>13, 793<br>10, 813<br>10, 073<br>21, 189<br>12, 141<br>7, 619<br>9, 665<br>20, 429<br>18, 545<br>7, 681<br>2, 190<br>6, 283<br>4, 555<br>287, 866 | 10, 782<br>120, 994<br>125, 498<br>206, 586<br>160, 397<br>122, 671<br>88, 787<br>74, 905<br>58, 741<br>50, 280<br>158, 090<br>78, 338<br>43, 070<br>25, 709<br>35, 893<br>21, 724<br>28, 644<br>12, 177<br>12, 519<br>4, 267<br>3, 240<br>6, 676 | 349<br>5,160<br>4,709<br>6,201<br>3,833<br>2,422<br>1,532<br>1,069<br>7503<br>1,069<br>7503<br>1,069<br>7503<br>1,069<br>7503<br>1,069<br>7503<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1,069<br>1 | 36<br>1, 510<br>1, 495<br>1, 998<br>20<br>706<br>504<br>351<br>240<br>197<br>468<br>182<br>80<br>32<br>42<br>42<br>15<br>20<br>14<br>5<br>4<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>3 |

Table 1-A.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART III—RETURNS WITH ALTERNATIVE TAX \*—Continued [Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

|   |  |   | 70.7  | 7  | Γax liabilit   | у   |  |   |
|---|--|---|---|--|--|---|--|---|
|   |  |   |   |  | Tax on 1   | 943 income  |  |   |
| ĺ   |  | !   |   |  | Altern   | ative tax   |  |   |
|   |  | Earned  | Total in-<br>come and   | Parti  | al tax   | 50 per-<br>cent of  |  |   |
|   | Net income classes   | income<br>credit <sup>5</sup>   | victory<br>tax <sup>6</sup><br>(item 20,<br>p. 4, Form<br>1040) (col.<br>16+17+18)  | Normal<br>tax<br>(item 10,<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040)   | Surtax<br>(item 11,<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040)  | the ex- cess of net long-term capital gain over net short- term capital loss (item 13, Sch. B, Form 1040)   | Total alterna- tive tax (item 16, Sch. B, Form 1040) (col. 10+11+12)   |   |
|   | (1)  | (8)   | (9)   | (10)   | (11)   | (12)  | (13)   |   |
| 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 6 11 7 18 19 20 12 22 22 22 22 25 | Taxable individual returns with net income:  Form 1040:  Under 15 (est.) | 467<br>4, 918<br>4, 553<br>6, 296<br>4, 059<br>2, 705<br>1, 749<br>942<br>718<br>1, 835<br>653<br>291<br>141<br>145<br>78<br>80<br>33<br>20<br>7<br>7<br>5<br>(u) | 4, 955<br>60, 526<br>70, 269<br>130, 222<br>112, 379<br>92, 224<br>72, 437<br>62, 764<br>51, 101<br>45, 499<br>159, 439<br>86, 362<br>51, 565<br>29, 511<br>42, 286<br>28, 381<br>42, 088<br>23, 610<br>16, 583<br>9, 568<br>7, 811<br>4, 314<br>411, 409 | 583<br>6, 517<br>6, 848<br>11, 467<br>9, 033<br>6, 974<br>5, 082<br>9, 288<br>4, 596<br>1, 516<br>2, 094<br>1, 293<br>1, 704<br>4, 722<br>749<br>4, 75<br>2, 255<br>1, 400 | 2, 868<br>34, 080<br>39, 629<br>74, 399<br>65, 617<br>64, 928<br>42, 442<br>38, 000<br>31, 057<br>27, 742<br>93, 911<br>60, 782<br>29, 430<br>18, 186<br>26, 191<br>16, 204<br>21, 736<br>6, 345<br>3, 389<br>2, 639<br>5, 395 | 239<br>4, 613<br>6, 521<br>112, 957<br>11, 302<br>8, 594<br>6, 897<br>5, 407<br>5, 037<br>4, 029<br>16, 336<br>10, 595<br>6, 070<br>3, 810<br>5, 628<br>4, 833<br>10, 215<br>9, 272<br>3, 841<br>1, 095<br>3, 141<br>1, 095<br>3, 141<br>1, 095<br>3, 221<br>3, 277 | 3, 690<br>45, 210<br>52, 999<br>98, 822<br>70, 496<br>54, 421<br>47, 720<br>39, 477<br>34, 693<br>119, 536<br>65, 973<br>38, 035<br>23, 511<br>33, 912<br>22, 330<br>33, 655<br>19, 334<br>14, 457<br>7, 915<br>6, 786<br>8, 046<br>9, 072 | 1 2 2 3 4 4 5 6 6 7 8 9 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 5 5 6 7 8 9 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 |
| 26  | Total, individual returns<br>with alternative tax.                       | 30, 962   | 1, 215, 303   | 82, 946  | 704, 166   | 143, 928  | 931, 040   | 26  |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 1-A.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; returns with no net income in aggregate; and taxable returns by type of tax liability—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income or deficit, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

PART III—RETURNS WITH ALTERNATIVE TAX 6—Continued
[Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

|   |   | ,  | Tax lial   | oility—Co  | ntinued   |  |   |  |
|---|---|--|--|--|---|--|---|--|
|   |   | Tax on 1   | 943 incom  | ne—Con.  | Addi-<br>tional   |  |   | Effective<br>tax rate  |
|   | Net income classes  | Credits for foreign tax paid and tax paid at source  | Net victory tax<br>(item 13,<br>p. 4,<br>Form<br>1040)   | Income and victory tax on 1943 income 7 (item 16, p. 4, Form 1040) (col. 13+15-14)   |   | Unforgiven<br>tax,<br>either<br>1942 or<br>1943<br>(item<br>19(c),<br>p. 4,<br>Form<br>1040)   | A verage income and victory tax on 1943 income (col. 16+2)  | percent<br>for in-<br>come<br>and vic-<br>tory tax<br>on 1943<br>income<br>(col.<br>16+3)  |
|   | (1)   | (14)   | (15)   | (16)   | (17)  | (18)   | (19)  | (20)   |
| 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 12 22 23 24 25 | Taxable individual returns with net income: Form 1040: Under 15 (est.) 15 under 20 (est.) 20 under 25. 25 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 90. 90 under 100. 100 under 150. 250 under 200 200 under 250 250 under 300 300 under 400. 400 under 500 500 under 750. 750 under 500 500 under 750. 750 under 300 300 under 400. 400 under 5,000. 1,500 under 1,000 1,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 5,000. 5,000 and over | 43.<br>25<br>22<br>68<br>41<br>13<br>17<br>159<br>48 | 335<br>3,714<br>3,900<br>6,762<br>4,638<br>3,555<br>3,104<br>2,532<br>2,313<br>7,274<br>3,746<br>1,256<br>1,256<br>1,721<br>1,116<br>1,557<br>370<br>210<br>194<br>370 | 4, 020<br>48, 814<br>56, 794<br>105, 415<br>91, 559<br>75, 013<br>57, 885<br>50, 622<br>41, 963<br>36, 838<br>126, 595<br>69, 346<br>24, 724<br>35, 608<br>23, 423<br>35, 144<br>19, 117<br>8, 267<br>6, 837<br>3, 192<br>9, 304 | 248<br>3, 759<br>4, 090<br>7, 500<br>5, 364<br>4, 414<br>4, 677<br>1, 947<br>2, 063<br>11, 592<br>5, 280<br>1, 407<br>1, 197<br>1, 405<br>1, 408<br>1, 408<br>236 | 687<br>7, 953<br>9, 385<br>17, 305<br>15, 456<br>12, 797<br>9, 875<br>7, 191<br>6, 599<br>21, 252<br>11, 753<br>6, 667<br>3, 999<br>5, 271<br>3, 761<br>5, 539<br>2, 565<br>1, 330<br>1, 301<br>946<br>798<br>1, 709 | \$6, 943<br>8, 454<br>11, 237<br>15, 661<br>22, 331<br>29, 325<br>36, 567<br>44, 096<br>51, 742<br>59, 801<br>79, 720<br>119, 769<br>160, 917<br>201, 007<br>228, 028<br>339, 469<br>433, 873<br>554, 484<br>834, 291<br>1,377, 802<br>1,367, 430<br>3,191, 911<br>3,101, 227 | 36. 70<br>37. 49<br>40. 99<br>45. 34<br>50. 03<br>53. 63<br>56. 43<br>59. 06<br>60. 98<br>63. 15<br>66. 36<br>69. 68<br>72. 57<br>74. 18<br>75. 52<br>74. 62<br>71. 62<br>64. 81<br>81. 69<br>64. 81<br>86. 69<br>70. 32 |
| 26  | Total, individual returns with alternative tax.   | 2, 389   | 57, 758  | 986, 409   | 66, 015   | 162, 880   | 30, 970   | 56. 50   |

Table 1-B.—Taxable fiduciary returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes and by type of tax liability and returns with no net income in aggregate—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income, personal exemption, total income and victory tax, average tax, and effective tax rate

#### PART I-ALL RETURNS

[Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

|   |  |  |   |   |   | Retur   | s with nor<br>and surtax   | mal tax  | Ret  | urns with a   | alternative   | tax °   |  |  |  |
|---|--|--|---|---|---|---|--|--|--|---|---|---|--|--|--|
|   | ·  | -  |   |   | Total income  |   |  |  | Alterna  | tive tax  |   |   |  | Th or  |  |
|   | Net income classes t   | Number of returns  | Net income to (item 17, p. 1, Form 1041)  | Personal<br>exemp-<br>tion <sup>3</sup>   | and victory tax<br>(item 37,<br>p. 1,<br>Form<br>1041)<br>(col.<br>8+12)  | Normal<br>tax and<br>surtax<br>(item 26,<br>p. 1,<br>Form<br>1041)  | Net victory tax<br>(item 34,<br>p. 1,<br>Form<br>1041)   | Total<br>income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax<br>(item 37,<br>p. 1;<br>Form<br>1041)   | Normal<br>tax and<br>surtax<br>(item 10,<br>Sch. E,<br>Form<br>1041) | of the excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss (item 11, Sch. E, Form 1041) | Net vic-<br>tory tax<br>(item 34,<br>p. 1,<br>Form<br>1041) | Total income and victory tax (item 37, p. 1, Form 1041) | A verage income and victory tax (col. 5+2)   | Effective tax rate percent for income and victory tax (col. 5÷3)   |  |
|   | (1)  | (2)  | (3)   | (4)   | (5)   | (6)   | (7)  | (8)  | (9)  | (10)  | (11)  | (12)  | (13)   | (14)   | ,  |
| 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13   | Taxable fiduciary returns with net income:     Under 0.5     0.5 under 0.75     0.75 under 1     1 under 1.25     1.25 under 1.5     1.5 under 1.75     1.5 under 2     2 under 2.25     2.25 under 2.75     2.5 under 2.75     3.5 under 3.3     3 under 3.5     3.5 under 4  | 23, 879 12, 584 8, 665 6, 390 4, 917 3, 857 3, 157 2, 761 2, 404 1, 963 1, 704 2, 790 2, 219                               | 6, 310<br>7, 756<br>7, 513<br>7, 147<br>6, 728<br>6, 251<br>5, 909<br>5, 846<br>5, 708<br>4, 899<br>9, 042<br>8, 288  | 3, 033<br>3, 606<br>2, 497<br>1, 834<br>1, 428<br>1, 990<br>908<br>759<br>670<br>529<br>464<br>754<br>620   | 681<br>814<br>1,017<br>1,100<br>1,118<br>1,088<br>1,058<br>1,082<br>1,082<br>1,006<br>980<br>1,857<br>1,745   | 653<br>783<br>946<br>1,003<br>1,002<br>975<br>945<br>964<br>963<br>869<br>1,649<br>1,548  | 30<br>35<br>75<br>102<br>119<br>118<br>121<br>124<br>126<br>117<br>116<br>218<br>207   | 1, 082<br>1, 082<br>1, 006   |  |   | ,   |   | \$29<br>65<br>117<br>172<br>227<br>282<br>335<br>392<br>450<br>513<br>575<br>665<br>786  | 10. 79<br>10. 50<br>13. 54<br>15. 39<br>16. 61<br>17. 40<br>17. 91<br>18. 50<br>18. 96<br>19. 55<br>20. 01<br>20. 53<br>21. 06   | 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13  |
| 14   16   17   18   16   17   18   19   20   21   22   23   24   25   27   28   29   30   31   35   36   37   39   34   44   44   44   44   44   44 | 4 under 4.5. 4.5 under 5 5 under 6 6 under 7 7 under 8 8 under 9 9 under 10 10 under 11 11 under 12 12 under 13 13 under 14 14 under 15 15 under 20 20 under 25 25 under 30 30 under 40 40 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 10 100 under 150 150 under 200 200 under 250 250 under 300 30 under 400 40 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 150 150 under 200 200 under 250 250 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 750 50 under 400 400 under 1,500 500 under 4,000 1,000 under 1,500 1,500 under 1,500 1,500 under 2,000 2,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 4,000 5,000 under 4,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 | 1. 943 1. 589 2. 485 1. 895 1. 384 1, 183 888 713 713 518 498 421 1, 394 877 494 592 335 159 132 99 132 99 8 4 4 3 1 1 2 1 | 7, 813<br>7, 836<br>13, 601<br>12, 293<br>10, 363<br>10, 013<br>8, 424<br>8, 195<br>8, 197<br>6, 462<br>6, 715<br>6, 608<br>24, 036<br>19, 522<br>20, 379<br>14, 943<br>8, 613<br>8, 640<br>6, 310<br>5, 766<br>4, 835<br>15, 339<br>6, 755<br>3, 563<br>3, 366<br>3, 413<br>4, 036<br>1, 942<br>5, 514<br>3, 763 | 489<br>415<br>644<br>486<br>349<br>302<br>239<br>197<br>183<br>135<br>130<br>104<br>345<br>219<br>127<br>140<br>79<br>40<br>33<br>24<br>15<br>12<br>37<br>9<br>5<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11 | 1, 692<br>1, 679<br>3, 149<br>2, 981<br>2, 623<br>2, 642<br>2, 310<br>2, 426<br>1, 2330<br>2, 426<br>8, 489<br>7, 782<br>4, 718<br>4, 928<br>3, 565<br>3, 086<br>9, 620<br>4, 640<br>2, 531<br>2, 531<br>2, 539<br>1, 919<br>2, 538<br>1, 919<br>2, 558<br>2, 568<br>3, 287<br>2, 575<br>3, 287 | 1, 500<br>1, 497<br>2, 812<br>2, 665<br>2, 366<br>2, 376<br>2, 199<br>1, 792<br>1, 934<br>1, 820<br>7, 633<br>6, 008<br>4, 027<br>6, 763<br>2, 290<br>1, 881<br>2, 290<br>1, 488<br>1, 406<br>3, 601<br>2, 119<br>1, 600<br>1, 158<br>884<br>749<br>974 | 204<br>1197<br>353<br>331<br>278<br>281<br>239<br>230<br>233<br>191<br>184<br>165<br>654<br>480<br>293<br>451<br>300<br>173<br>160<br>173<br>160<br>173<br>160<br>293<br>451<br>300<br>175<br>32<br>56<br>56<br>56<br>56<br>56<br>56<br>56<br>56<br>56<br>56<br>56<br>56<br>56 | 1, 692<br>1, 679<br>3, 149<br>2, 981<br>2, 623<br>2, 642<br>2, 310<br>2, 426<br>1, 978<br>2, 103<br>1, 968<br>8, 255<br>6, 456<br>4, 301<br>7, 217<br>4, 805<br>2, 684<br>1, 995<br>2, 190<br>1, 492<br>3, 804<br>2, 234<br>6, 209<br>9, 209<br>9, 209<br>9, 209<br>1, 022 |  |   |   |   | 918   1,057   1,267   1,573   2,233   2,2976   3,402   2,976   3,402   4,609   6,450   6,450   6,450   6,52,425   6,0508   75,750   119,187   7,508   75,750   119,187   7,508   75,750   119,187   7,508   75,750   119,187   7,508   75,750   119,187   7,508   75,750   75,750   75,750   75,750   75,750   75,750   75,750   75,750   75,750   75,750   77,313   1,378   411   1,378   411   1,326   535 | 21. 66<br>22. 28<br>23. 15<br>24. 25<br>25. 31<br>26. 38<br>27. 42<br>28. 43<br>29. 59<br>30. 61<br>31. 32<br>39. 86<br>43. 57<br>47. 79<br>51. 81<br>54. 78<br>61. 83<br>63. 22<br>76. 42<br>68. 97<br>76. 51<br>69. 97<br>76. 51<br>69. 97<br>76. 51<br>69. 97<br>76. 50<br>69. 97<br>76. 51<br>69. 97<br>76. 50<br>69.  14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49 |
| · 50<br>51  | Total<br>Taxable fiduciary returns with<br>no net income. <sup>11</sup>  | 95, 903<br>1, 253  | 375, 766<br>14 663  | 22, 964<br>103  | 139, 882<br>51  | 90, 889   | 7, 807<br>51   | 98, 322<br>51  | 21, 782  | 18, 445   | 1,421   | 41, 560   | 1, 459<br>41   | 37. 23   | 50<br>51   |
| 52  | Grand total  | 97, 156  | 15 375, 103   | 23, 067   | 139, 933  | 90, 889   | 7, 858   | 98, 373  | 21, 782  | 18, 445   | 1, 421  | 41, 560   | 1, 440   | 37. 31   | 52   |

Table 1-B.—Taxable fiduciary returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes and by type of tax liability and returns with no net income in aggregate—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax; and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income, personal exemption, total income and victory tax, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

## PART II—RETURNS WITH NORMAL TAX AND SURTAX 8

[Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

|  |  |   |  |  |  | Tax  |  |   |  |  |  |
|--|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|---|--|--|--|
| Net income classes <sup>1</sup>  | Number<br>of returns   | Net income 1 (item 17, p. 1, Form 1041)   | Personal<br>exemption 3  | Normal<br>tax (item<br>24, p. 1,<br>Form 1041)   | Surtax<br>(item 25,<br>p. 1,<br>Form 1041)   | Credits<br>for foreign<br>tax paid<br>and tax<br>paid at<br>source                                   | Net victory tax (item 34, p. 1, Form 1041)   | Total income and victory tax (item 37, p. 1, Form 1041) (col. 5+6+8-7)  | Average income and victory tax (col. 9+2)  | Effective tax rate percent for income and victory tax (col. 9÷3)   |  |
| (1)  | (2)  | (3)   | (4)  | (5)  | (6)  | (7)  | (8)  | (9)   | (10)   | (11)   |  |
| Taxable fiduciary returns with net inc  Under 0.5  0.5 under 0.75  1 0.5 under 0.75  3 0.75 under 1  4 1 under 1.25  5 1.25 under 1.5  7 1.75 under 1  8 2 under 2.25  9 2.25 under 2.5  10 2.5 under 2.5  11 2.75 under 3  12 3 under 3.5  13 3.5 under 3  14 4 under 4.5  15 4.5 under 5  16 5 under 6  17 6 under 7  18 7 under 8  19 8 under 9  20 9 under 10  21 10 under 11  22 11 under 12  23 12 under 13  24 13 under 14  25 14 under 16  20 13 under 3 | 22, 773 12, 554 8, 605 6, 390 4, 917 3, 857 3, 157 2, 404 11, 704 2, 790 11, 843 11, 704 2, 485 11, 518 11, 384 11, 1883 | 6, 028<br>7, 741<br>7, 513<br>7, 147<br>6, 728<br>6, 251<br>5, 909<br>9, 846<br>5, 148<br>4, 899<br>9, 042<br>8, 288<br>7, 813<br>13, 601<br>12, 293<br>10, 363<br>10, 013<br>8, 424<br>8, 195<br>8, 195<br>6, 462<br>6, 6, 6, 608<br>23, 402 | 2, 565<br>3, 592<br>2, 497<br>1, 834<br>1, 428<br>1, 090<br>908<br>759<br>670<br>529<br>464<br>764<br>486<br>349<br>302<br>239<br>197<br>183<br>135<br>130 | 203<br>244<br>294<br>312<br>313<br>304<br>294<br>300<br>297<br>273<br>262<br>490<br>454<br>432<br>769<br>699<br>699<br>593<br>576<br>486<br>475<br>373<br>390<br>356<br>1, 371 | 451<br>.540<br>.662<br>.691<br>.680<br>.671<br>.663<br>.665<br>.621<br>.607<br>.1, 159<br>.1, 094<br>.1, 097<br>.1, 075<br>.2, 043<br>.1, 966<br>.1, 767<br>.1, 775<br>.1, 775<br>.2, 043<br>.1, 960<br>.1, 767<br>.1, 801<br>.1, 598<br>.1, 637<br>.1, 724<br>.1, 410<br>.1, 410<br>.1, 410<br>.1, 464<br>.1, 464 | 2 4 4 4 3 5 8 6 6 6 5 5 5 10 10 12 15 16 15 15 14 12 6 6 6 15 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 | 10<br>34<br>75<br>102<br>119<br>118<br>121<br>124<br>126<br>117<br>116<br>218<br>227<br>224<br>197<br>353<br>331<br>278<br>281<br>229<br>230<br>230<br>231<br>191<br>184<br>165<br>664 | 661<br>813<br>1,017<br>1,100<br>1,118<br>1,088<br>1,082<br>1,082<br>1,082<br>1,092<br>1,092<br>1,679<br>1,745<br>1,679<br>3,149<br>2,981<br>2,633<br>2,633<br>2,330<br>2,330<br>2,330<br>2,330<br>2,340<br>1,978<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,981<br>2,98 | \$29<br>65<br>117<br>1172<br>227<br>282<br>335<br>539<br>450<br>513<br>575<br>666<br>786<br>918<br>1,057<br>1,267<br>1,267<br>1,267<br>2,233<br>2,602<br>2,976<br>6,066<br>3,818<br>4,674<br>6,066 | 10. 97<br>10. 51<br>13. 54<br>15. 39<br>16. 61<br>17. 40<br>17. 91<br>18. 50<br>18. 56<br>19. 55<br>20. 01<br>20. 53<br>21. 06<br>21. 66<br>22. 28<br>23. 15<br>24. 25<br>24. 25<br>25. 31<br>26. 38<br>27. 42<br>28. 43<br>29. 59<br>30. 61<br>31. 32<br>32. 27<br>35. 28 | 1 2 3 4 4 5 6 6 7 8 9 10 11 122 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 22 22 24 25 26 |
| 27   20 under 25. 28   25 under 30. 29   30 under 40. 30   40 under 50. 31   50 under 60. 32   60 under 70. 33   70 under 80. 34   80 under 90. 35   90 under 100. 36   100 under 150. 37   150 under 200. 38   200 under 250. 39   250 under 300. 40   300 under 400. 41   400 under 500. 42   500 under 750. 43   750 under 750. 44   750 under 1,000. 45   1,000 under 1,500. 46   1,000 under 2,000.   | 356<br>438<br>438<br>203<br>86<br>63<br>42<br>38<br>23<br>17<br>7<br>4<br>5  | 14, 941<br>9, 040<br>4, 677<br>4, 034<br>3, 154<br>3, 323<br>2, 194<br>5, 249<br>2, 881<br>1, 450<br>1, 090<br>906<br>1, 165  |  | 945<br>574<br>881<br>534<br>279<br>239<br>186<br>199<br>130<br>312<br>169<br>52<br>83<br>65<br>53<br>69  | 3, 289<br>1, 950<br>608<br>1, 074<br>818<br>696<br>905   | (13)<br>(13)<br>22<br>3<br>4<br>1<br>1<br>(13)<br>1<br>(13)<br>1<br>1<br>2                           |  | 6, 456<br>4, 301<br>7, 217<br>4, 805<br>2, 684<br>2, 446<br>1, 995<br>2, 190<br>1, 492<br>3, 804<br>2, 234<br>706<br>1, 209<br>920<br>791<br>1, 022   | 8, 856<br>12, 081<br>16, 552<br>23, 671<br>31, 209<br>38, 830<br>47, 499<br>56, 151<br>64, 857<br>88, 466<br>131, 430<br>176, 445<br>241, 744<br>306, 652<br>395, 739<br>510, 863                  |  | 30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41         |

Table 1-B.—Taxable fiduciary returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes and by type of tax liability and returns with no net income in aggregate—Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with normal tax and surtax, and Part III, returns with alternative tax: Number of returns, net income, personal exemption, total income and victory tax, average tax, and effective tax rate—Continued

#### PART III-RETURNS WITH ALTERNATIVE TAX •

[Net income classes and money figures, except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

| =  |   |                                     | [1.00 [1.00  |  |  | , nguico,   |  | crage tax.  | in thousai  | 143 01 401  | im of  |  |   |   |  |  |
|--|---|-------------------------------------|--|--|--|---|--|---|---|---|--|--|---|---|--|--|
|  |   |                                     |  |  |  |   |  |   |   | Tax   |  |  |   |   |  |  |
|  |   |                                     |  | Excess of  | Net in-  |   |  | Altern  | ative tax   |   |  |  |   |   |  |  |
|  |   |                                     | Net in-  | net long-<br>term cap-<br>ital gain  | come re-<br>duced by<br>excess of  |   | Parti  | al tax  | 50 percent<br>of the  |   |  |  | Total<br>income   | Average   | Effective<br>tax rate  |  |
|  | Net income classes <sup>1</sup>   | Number<br>of<br>returns             | of p. 1, Errm capital loss (item 2, Sch. E, Form 1041)   |  | net long-<br>term cap-<br>ital gain<br>over net<br>short-<br>term cap-<br>ital loss<br>(col.<br>3-4)                     | Personal<br>exemp-<br>tion 3  | Normal<br>tax (item<br>8, Sch.<br>E, Form<br>1041)   | (item 9,  | excess of<br>net long-<br>term cap-<br>ital gain<br>over net<br>short-<br>term cap-<br>ital loss<br>(item 11,<br>Sch. E,<br>Form<br>1041) | Total alternative tax (item 14, Sch. E, Form 1041) (col. 7+8+9)   | Credits<br>for for-<br>eign tax<br>paid and<br>tax paid<br>at source | Net victory tax<br>(item 34,<br>p. 1,<br>Form<br>1041)                               | and vic-<br>tory tax<br>(item 37,<br>p. 1,<br>Form<br>1041)<br>(col.<br>10+12-<br>11)   | income<br>and vic-  | percent<br>for in-<br>come<br>and vic-<br>tory tax<br>(col.<br>13÷3)   |  |
|  | (1)   | (2)                                 | (3)  | (4)  | (5)  | (6)   | (7)  | (8)   | (9)   | (10)  | (11)   | (12)   | (13)  | (14)  | (15)   |  |
| 1  | Taxable fiduciary returns with<br>net income:<br>Under 15   |                                     |  |  |  |   |  |   |   |   |  |  |   |   |  |  |
| 2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15 | 15 under 20<br>20 under 25<br>25 under 30<br>30 under 40<br>40 under 50<br>50 under 60<br>60 under 70<br>70 under 80<br>80 under 90<br>90 under 100<br>100 under 150<br>150 under 200<br>200 under 200<br>250 under 300 | 138<br>156<br>132<br>73<br>69<br>43 | 634<br>3, 334<br>3, 763<br>5, 437<br>5, 903<br>3, 936<br>4, 506<br>2, 443<br>2, 641<br>10, 090<br>3, 874<br>2, 719<br>1, 907 | 67<br>448<br>641<br>1, 199<br>2, 147<br>1, 786<br>1, 790<br>1, 416<br>1, 237<br>965<br>5, 476<br>2, 055<br>1, 082<br>679 | 567<br>2,887<br>3,122<br>4,238<br>3,756<br>2,150<br>2,715<br>1,739<br>1,205<br>1,676<br>4,613<br>1,819<br>1,638<br>1,228 | 8<br>46<br>42<br>38<br>33<br>19<br>19<br>11<br>7<br>6<br>26<br>4<br>4 | 32<br>169<br>181<br>251<br>222<br>127<br>162<br>103<br>72<br>101<br>271<br>108<br>96<br>74 | 152<br>840<br>1,006<br>1,534<br>1,510<br>947<br>1,325<br>856<br>636<br>940<br>2,648<br>1,113<br>857 | 33<br>224<br>321<br>599<br>1, 074<br>893<br>895<br>708<br>619<br>483<br>2, 738<br>1, 027<br>541<br>339                                    | 217<br>1, 233<br>1, 508<br>2, 384<br>2, 806<br>1, 967<br>2, 382<br>1, 668<br>1, 327<br>1, 524<br>5, 658<br>2, 334<br>1, 750<br>1, 270 | 2<br>5<br>12<br>7<br>2<br>5<br>1<br>1<br>6<br>7<br>1<br>13<br>9      | 18<br>98<br>96<br>146<br>133<br>73<br>105<br>66<br>49<br>76<br>166<br>82<br>65<br>61 | 234<br>1, 326<br>1, 593<br>2, 522<br>2, 937<br>2, 035<br>2, 482<br>1, 733<br>1, 375<br>1, 594<br>5, 816<br>2, 414<br>1, 802<br>1, 323 | \$7,081<br>8,957<br>11,541<br>16,167<br>22,251<br>27,870<br>35,970<br>40,306<br>47,414<br>56,935<br>69,241<br>109,726<br>150,133<br>188,941 | 36. 84<br>39. 76<br>42. 33<br>46. 38<br>49. 76<br>51. 69<br>55. 98<br>54. 92<br>60. 36<br>57. 62<br>62. 32<br>66. 25<br>69. 37 | 13<br>14                                     |
| 16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25                 | 300 under 400<br>400 under 500<br>500 under 750<br>750 under 1,000<br>1,000 under 1,500<br>1,500 under 2,000<br>2,000 under 3,000<br>3,000 under 4,000<br>4,000 under 5,000<br>5,000 and over                           | 6<br>2<br>4<br>3<br>1<br>2          | 2, 223<br>2, 585<br>1, 342<br>3, 443<br>4, 036<br>1, 942<br>5, 514   | 1, 461<br>1, 181<br>678<br>2, 565<br>2, 547<br>1, 955<br>5, 514  | 762<br>1,404<br>663<br>878<br>1,489  | 2<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1                                       | 46<br>84<br>39<br>50<br>90   | 553<br>1,004<br>498<br>700<br>1,185   | 731<br>590<br>339<br>1, 282<br>1, 274<br>977<br>2, 757  | 1, 329<br>1, 678<br>877<br>2, 033<br>2, 549<br>977<br>2, 757  | 11   | 20<br>69<br>32<br>47<br>19   | 1, 350<br>1, 747<br>897<br>2, 079<br>2, 568<br>977<br>2, 757  | 224, 953<br>291, 214<br>448, 625<br>519, 870<br>855, 957<br>977, 313<br>1,378,411   | 60. 72<br>67. 59<br>66. 88<br>60. 40<br>63. 62<br>50. 33<br>50. 00   | 17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24 |
| 26   | Total fiduciary returns with alternative tax.   | 998                                 | 75, 426  | 36, 890  | 15 38, 537   | 272   | 2, 279   | 19, 503   | 18, 445   | 40, 226   | 88   | 1, 421   | 41, 560   | 41,643  | 55. 10   | 20   |

Table 2.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by net income classes: Simple and cumulative distributions of number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income, with corresponding percentage distributions; also aggregate for returns with no net income

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| =   |   |  |  | Number of   | returns  |   | 1  |
|---|---|--|--|---|--|---|--|
|   | Net income classes <sup>1</sup>   | Simple dist  | ribution   | Cumulativ<br>tion from<br>income cl   | n highest  | Cumulativ<br>bution fr<br>income c  | om lowest  |
|   |   | Number   | Percent<br>of total  | Number  | Percent<br>of total  | Number  | Percent<br>of total  |
|   | _ (1)   | (2)  | (3)  | (4)   | (5)  | (6)   | (7)  |
| 1 234567891011213415617189201222342562789333333334014234444564784955552 | Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with net income:  Form 1040 And 1041:  Under 0.5 (est.).  0.5 under 0.75 (est.).  1.5 under 1.6 (est.).  1.25 under 1.5 (est.).  1.5 under 1.5 (est.).  2.25 under 2.5 (est.).  2.5 under 2.5 (est.).  2.5 under 2.5 (est.).  3.5 under 3 (est.).  3.5 under 4.5 (est.).  3.5 under 4 (est.).  4.5 under 3 (est.).  3.5 under 4 (est.).  4.5 under 5 (est.).  5 under 6 (est.).  6 under 7 (est.).  7 under 8 (est.).  9 under 10 (est.).  11 under 12 (est.).  12 under 12 (est.).  12 under 12 (est.).  9 under 10 (est.).  10 under 11 (est.).  11 under 12 (est.).  12 under 13 (est.).  13 under 4 (est.).  14 under 15 (est.).  15 under 6 (est.).  6 under 7 (est.).  10 under 11 (est.).  11 under 12 (est.).  12 under 13 (est.).  13 under 14 (est.).  14 under 15 (est.).  15 under 20 (est.).  20 under 30.  30 under 40.  40 under 50.  60 under 90.  90 under 100.  100 under 150.  150 under 250.  250 under 300.  300 under 400.  400 under 500.  500 under 1,000.  1,000 under 1,000.  1,000 under 7,000.  3,000 under 400.  4,000 under 5,000.  5,000 and over  Total, returns with not income. II drividual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with not income. II drividual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with not income. II drividual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with not income. II drividual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with not income. II drividual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with not income. II of total. | 1, 581, 258<br>1, 447, 801<br>1, 682, 056<br>2, 994, 026<br>510, 340<br>471, 781<br>251, 437<br>167, 350<br>120, 768<br>96, 076<br>67, 420<br>54, 339<br>43, 748<br>36, 852<br>31, 229<br>102, 108<br>54, 507<br>32, 791<br>35, 593<br>17, 819<br>10, 286<br>6, 232<br>4, 114<br>2, 766<br>6, 43<br>1, 964<br>4, 535<br>1, 596<br>315<br>315<br>305<br>305 | 46. 65  2. 03 2. 24 2. 84 3. 36 3. 38 3. 49 3. 78 3. 74 3. 63 3. 32 3. 86 6. 87 3. 87 2. 07 1. 17 1. 08 2. 28 2. 22 1. 55 1. 12 1. 00 0. 08 0. 07 2. 31 0. 08 0. 07 1. 13 0. 08 0. 04 0. 01 0. 0 | 343, 602, 456  7. 712, 836 4, 718, 810 3, 031, 451 2, 127, 149 1, 616, 809 1, 145, 028 893, 591 726, 241 605, 473 509, 397 441, 977 387, 638 3275, 809 173, 701 119, 194 86, 403 50, 810 32, 991 22, 705 16, 473 12, 359 9, 593 3, 094 1, 644 1, 048 733 3, 094 1, 644 1, 048 733 1, 048 733 1, 048 734 1, 048 735 1, 048 734 1, 048 735 1, 048 737 117 155 24 14 6 4 1 | 100.00  17.69 10.82 6.95 4.88 3.71 2.63 2.05 1.67 1.39 -70 -70 -70 -72 -08 -05 -04 -04 -04 -04 -01 -01 -01 -01 -01 -01 -01 -01 -01 -01 | 35, 889, 620  38, 883, 646 40, 571, 005 41, 475, 307 41, 985, 647 42, 457, 428 42, 708, 865 42, 876, 215 42, 996, 983 43, 903, 059 43, 285, 566 43, 295, 418 43, 228, 566 43, 295, 418 43, 285, 664 43, 285, 566 43, 295, 418 43, 285, 646 43, 569, 465 43, 589, 465 43, 589, 465 43, 599, 362 43, 601, 723 43, 692, 456 43, 602, 452 43, 602, 452 43, 602, 456 43, 602, 456 43, 602, 456 | 82. 31<br>89. 18<br>93. 05<br>95. 12<br>96. 29<br>97. 37<br>97. 95<br>98. 33<br>98. 61<br>99. 37<br>99. 60<br>99. 73<br>99. 80<br>99. 99<br>99. 98<br>99. 98<br>99. 99<br>99. 99 |
|   | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·   |  |  | ·   |  |   | ·  |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 2.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by net income classes: Simple and cumulative distributions of number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income, with corresponding percentage distributions; also aggregate for returns with no net income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |   |   |   | Net inc  | ome ;   |   |  |
|--|---|---|---|--|---|---|--|
|  | Net income classes <sup>1</sup>   | Simple dis  | tribution   | Cumulative bution frest incor  | rom high-   | Cumulati<br>bution f<br>income  | ve distri-<br>rom lowest<br>class  |
|  |   | Amount  | Percent<br>of total   | Amount   | Percent<br>of total   | Amount  | Percent<br>of total  |
|  | (1)   | (8)   | (9)   | (10)   | (11)  | (12)  | (13)   |
| 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 22 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 40 42 44 44 44 44 44 44 44 44 44 44 44 44 | Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with net income: Form 1040 A 10 (est.)                         | 31, 086, 413  288, 793 612, 906 1, 087, 797 1, 657, 211 2, 025, 295 2, 470, 697 3, 091, 981 3, 464, 698 3, 753, 755 3, 799, 073 4, 845, 627 9, 666, 137 6, 280, 895 3, 820, 779 2, 413, 555 1, 624, 555 1, 249, 864 1, 023, 739 911, 158 707, 018 624, 141 546, 305 496, 883 452, 645 1, 761, 037 1, 213, 861 1, 935, 372 1, 223, 888 792, 959 560, 996 | (9)  31. 22  . 99 . 62 1.09 1.66 2.03 2.48 3.10 3.48 3.77 3.81 4.87 9.71 6.31 3.84 2.42 2.59 9.01 63 63 61 63 63 61 63 63 63 61 63 64 63 63 63 63 64 | (10)<br>41, 401, 381<br>31, 735, 243<br>25, 464, 349<br>21, 633, 570<br>19, 220, 015<br>16, 645, 460<br>13, 771, 040<br>12, 747, 302<br>11, 836, 144<br>11, 129, 126<br>10, 504, 868<br>9, 461, 798<br>9, 909, 153<br>7, 248, 116<br>6, 034, 255<br>5, 138, 883<br>3, 144, 994<br>3, 122, 035<br>2, 561, 039<br>1, 617, 325<br>1, 431, 277<br>887, 057<br>1, 617, 325<br>1, 431, 277<br>887, 057<br>1, 617, 325<br>1, 431, 277<br>887, 057<br>1, 639, 156<br>6507, 053<br>421, 331<br>316, 540<br>248, 846<br>151, 515 | (11)  100.00  41.57 31.87 25.56 21.72 19.30 16.71 15.08 13.83 12.80 11.18 10.55 10.00 9.05 7.28 0.06 5.16 3.93 3.14 2.57 2.17 1.86 1.62 1.62 1.44 1.89 1.64 1.51 1.42 1.25 1.51 | 67, 850, 384 74, 131, 279 77, 952, 057 80, 365, 613 82, 940, 168 84, 564, 723 85, 814, 587 86, 838, 326 87, 749, 483 88, 456, 501 89, 080, 642 89, 026, 947 90, 123, 830 90, 576, 475 92, 337, 512 93, 551, 373 94, 446, 745 95, 670, 633 95, 463, 592 97, 427, 121 93, 551, 373 94, 446, 745 95, 670, 633 95, 463, 592 97, 92, 154, 350 97, 427, 121 98, 946, 471 98, 946, 471 99, 078, 575 99, 164, 969 98, 154, 350 99, 434, 113 99, 434, 113 99, 434, 113 99, 434, 113 99, 486, 767 | (18)  58. 43  68. 13  74. 44  78. 28  80. 70  83. 29  84. 92  86. 17  87. 20  88. 11  88. 82  89. 45  90. 50  90. 95  92. 72  93. 94  94. 84  96. 07  96. 86  97. 83  98. 14  98. 38  98. 56  99. 11  99. 36  99. 49  99. 58  99. 68  99. 68  99. 68  99. 75  99. 85  99. 85  99. 85 |
| 45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49   | 1,000 under 1,500<br>1,500 under 2,000<br>2,000 under 3,000<br>3,000 under 4,000<br>4,000 under 5,000           | 37, 140<br>17, 151<br>18, 353<br>7, 445<br>13, 231  | .04<br>.02<br>.02<br>.01<br>.01   | 98, 860<br>61, 720<br>44, 569<br>26, 216   | . 10<br>. 06<br>. 04<br>. 03<br>. 02  | 99, 523, 907<br>99, 541, 058<br>99, 559, 412<br>99, 566, 857  | 99. 94<br>99. 96<br>99. 97<br>99. 98   |
| 50<br>51   | 5,000 and over  | 5, 540  | . 01  | 18, 771<br>5, 540  | . 01  | 99, 580, 088<br>99, 585, 627  | 99. 99   |
| 52   | Total, returns with net income.  Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with no net income 11-(est.). | 99, 585, 627  | 100.00  |  |   |   |  |
| 53   | Grand total   | 15 99, 359, 282   | (19)  |  |   |   |  |
| F  | or footnotes, see pp. 252-254.  | 1   |   | }  | <u> </u>  | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·   | <u> </u>   |

Table 2.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by net income classes: Simple and cumulative distributions of number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income, with corresponding percentage distributions; also aggregate for returns with no net income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| 7  |   | Total income and victory tax 6   |   |  |   |   |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|--|---|--|---|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
|  | Net income classes <sup>1</sup>   | Simple dist  | ribution  | Cumulative<br>bution fro<br>est income   | m high-   | Cumulative<br>bution from<br>income cla   | n-lowest   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  | •   | Amount   | Percent<br>of total   | Amount   | Percent<br>of total   | Amount  | Percent<br>of total  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  | (1)   | (14)   | (15)  | (16)   | (17)  | (18)  | (19)   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 1 23 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 111 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 12 22 23 42 25 26 27 28 9 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 9 40 14 44 44 45 6 47 48 49 60 55 15 52 | Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with net income:  Form 1040 A <sup>10</sup> (est.) | 2, 652, 207  27, 690 39, 910 88, 523 140, 781 189, 328 251, 947 336, 775 385, 306 437, 546 459, 139 620, 054 1, 337, 629 662, 396 649, 284 444, 965 541, 011 380, 416 322, 058 225, 299 261, 218 212, 281 196, 268 179, 619 169, 587 160, 393 662, 788 548, 753 450, 206 685, 213 494, 004 375, 797 288, 177 288, 177 288, 177 289, 177 289, 177 298, 177 | 15. 50  16. 23  .52  .82  1. 11  1. 47  1. 97  2. 25  6. 2. 88  3. 69  2. 3. 79  2. 61  3. 16  3. 16  2. 22  1. 18  4. 05  3. 21  4. 05  3. 21  4. 00  2. 89  2. 20  1. 88  3. 63  4. 00  2. 89  2. 20  1. 88  3. 69  2. 20  1. 88  4. 00  2. 89  2. 20  1. 88  3. 69  3. 10  4. 00  5. 99  6. 00  6. 00  7. 00  1. 00 | 11, 484, 904<br>10, 147, 275<br>9, 184, 879<br>8, 535, 615<br>8, 088, 650<br>7, 167, 223<br>6, 845, 166<br>6, 559, 867<br>6, 288, 649<br>6, 086, 368<br>5, 890, 100<br>5, 710, 481<br>5, 540, 893<br>3, 688, 753<br>3, 003, 539<br>1, 845, 572<br>4, 138, 959<br>2, 509, 535<br>2, 133, 739<br>1, 845, 572<br>1, 615, 460<br>1, 425, 009<br>1, 286, 587<br>122, 664<br>577, 292<br>470, 632<br>387, 888<br>228, 889<br>223, 563<br>131, 893<br>24, 897<br>24, 892<br>27, 292<br>37, 897<br>24, 892<br>217, 292<br>5, 883 | 100. 00<br>67. 11<br>59. 29<br>53. 67<br>49. 87<br>47. 26<br>44. 10<br>41. 88<br>40. 00<br>35. 56<br>34. 42<br>33. 37<br>32. 38<br>31. 44<br>27. 39<br>24. 18<br>21. 55<br>11. 55<br>11. 66<br>12. 47<br>10. 78<br>9. 44<br>8. 38<br>7. 52<br>2. 75<br>2. 27<br>1. 69<br>1. 31<br>1. 31<br>2. 22<br>2. 15<br>5. 10<br>0. 03 | 6, 966, 837 7, 929, 233 8, 578, 497 9, 025, 462 9, 566, 473 9, 466, 889 10, 288, 946 10, 554, 246 11, 024, 4013 11, 403, 632 11, 573, 219 11, 733, 612 12, 426, 400 11, 105, 733, 219 11, 733, 612 12, 426, 400 14, 110, 573 13, 425, 360 14, 110, 573 13, 425, 360 14, 110, 573 13, 425, 360 14, 110, 573 18, 890, 349 16, 562, 241 16, 682, 242 17, 076, 244 16, 882, 220 17, 076, 522 17, 076, 521 17, 089, 220 17, 076, 821 17, 108, 230 17, 114, 112 | 32. 89 40. 71 46. 33 50. 13 52. 74 55. 90 61. 67 63. 20 64. 44 65. 58 66. 63 67. 62 68. 56 72. 61 75. 82 90. 56 91. 62 92. 48 95. 19 96. 51 97. 73 98. 31 98. 69 99. 29 99. 99 99. 99 99. 99 | 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 6 17 8 19 20 1 12 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 2 |  |  |  |  |  |
|  | income 11 (est.).   |  | (10)  |  | ļ   | -   | ļ  | 53   |  |  |  |  |  |
| 53   | . Grand total   | 17. 145, 912   | 1 (19)  | *  | <u> </u>  | .'  |  | تتسد   |  |  |  |  |  |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 2.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by net income classes: Simple and cumulative distributions of number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income, with corresponding percentage distributions; also aggregate for returns with no net income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |  |   | Income a            | nd victory t   | ax on 1943   | income 7  |  |
|--|--|---|---------------------|--|--|---|--|
|  | Net income classes <sup>1</sup>  | Simple dist   | ribution            | Cumulative bution from est income  | rom high-  | Cumulative bution from est income   | rom low-   |
|  |  | Amount  | Percent<br>of total | Amount   | Percent<br>of total  | Amount  | Percent<br>of total  |
|  | . (1)  | (20)  | (21)                | (22)   | (23)   | (24)  | (25)   |
| 1 2345678900112344566789001223425678890011234456678900112344566789001123445667889001123446667890011246678900112466789001124667890011246678900112466789001124667890001124667890001124667890001146678900011466789000114667890001146678900001146678900001146678900000000000000000000000000000000000 | Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with net income:  Form 1040A (est.)  Forms 1040 and 1041:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  0.5 under 1 (est.)  1 under 1.25 (est.)  1.25 under 1.5 (est.)  1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  2.5 under 2 (est.)  2.5 under 2.5 (est.)  2.5 under 2.5 (est.)  2.5 under 2.5 (est.)  3 under 3.5 (est.)  3 under 3.5 (est.)  4 under 4.5 (est.)  5 under 6 (est.)  6 under 7 (est.)  7 under 8 (est.)  8 under 9 (est.)  9 under 10 (est.)  11 under 12 (est.)  12 under 13 (est.)  13 under 14 (est.)  14 under 15 (est.)  15 under 6 (est.)  6 under 7 (est.)  7 under 8 (est.)  8 under 9 (est.)  10 under 11 (est.)  11 under 12 (est.)  12 under 13 (est.)  13 under 14 (est.)  14 under 15 (est.)  5 under 60  60 under 60  60 under 60  60 under 60  90 under 100  100 under 150  150 under 250  250 under 400  400 under 500  500 under 7,000  1,000 under 1,000  1,000 under 5,000  5,000 and over  Total, returns with net income.  Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with no net income.  Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with no net income.  Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with no net income.  Grand total | 2, 389, 266  8, 050 24, 944 68, 038 111, 363 166, 948 212, 415 227, 863 334, 328 382, 188 403, 748 648, 292 1, 179, 004 448, 916 317, 619 267, 124 230, 243 216, 354 162, 384 162, 384 162, 384 162, 384 162, 384 162, 881 371, 957 666, 096 406, 999 310, 227 225, 774 49, 219 122, 450 379, 290 183, 714 84, 010 54, 505 77, 575 38, 658 29, 188 13, 688 29, 188 11, 632 6, 478 8, 914 4, 985 11, 632 6, 478 9, 304 4, 985 11, 589, 324 | 16. 38  . 06        | 9, 661, 878<br>8, 482, 874<br>7, 640, 221<br>7, 077, 293<br>6, 690, 644<br>6, 231, 728<br>5, 914, 109<br>5, 646, 985<br>5, 416, 742<br>5, 200, 388<br>5, 204, 321<br>4, 861, 978<br>4, 713, 480<br>4, 572, 907<br>3, 436, 591<br>3, 866, 727<br>3, 413, 846<br>5, 2475, 793<br>1, 758, 567<br>1, 522, 673<br>1, 134, 817<br>1, 185, 366<br>300, 144<br>398, 166<br>330, 149<br>683, 858<br>500, 144<br>398, 166<br>320, 143<br>191, 637<br>75, 404<br>46, 247<br>32, 399<br>20, 767<br>14, 289<br>4, 985 | 100. 00  66. 23 58. 14 52. 37 48. 51 45. 64 42. 71 40. 54 33. 33 32. 31 31. 34 30. 41 26. 50 23. 40 20. 85 16. 97 14. 18 12. 05 10. 44 9. 15 8. 13 7. 29 4. 69 1. 31 2. 26 1. 69 1. 31 2. 22 2. 22 2. 14 2. 03 | 6, 106, 449<br>6, 949, 103<br>7, 512, 030<br>7, 898, 679<br>8, 357, 595<br>8, 675, 215<br>8, 942, 339<br>9, 172, 582<br>9, 388, 936<br>9, 565, 003<br>9, 727, 346<br>9, 875, 844<br>10, 016, 417<br>10, 162, 733<br>11, 252, 537<br>11, 175, 478<br>11, 547, 435<br>112, 113, 531<br>12, 520, 530<br>13, 264, 506<br>13, 262, 175<br>13, 066, 531<br>13, 264, 506<br>14, 089, 180<br>14, 191, 158<br>14, 299, 171<br>14, 343, 181<br>14, 397, 686<br>14, 475, 261<br>14, 683, 677<br>14, 566, 925<br>14, 688, 586<br>14, 775, 035<br>14, 588, 586<br>14, 75, 688, 586<br>14, 775, 035<br>14, 688, 586<br>14, 75, 688, 586<br>14, 675, 033<br>14, 589, 324 | 33. 77  41. 86 47. 63 51. 49 54. 14 57. 29 62. 87 64. 35 65. 56 66. 67 67. 69 68. 66 69. 59 73. 50 76. 60 79. 15 83. 03 86. 82 87. 95 89. 56 90. 85 91. 87 92. 71 95. 31 96. 57 97. 74 98. 31 98. 69 99. 22 99. 48 99. 69 99. 97 100. 00 |
| _  | or footnotes, see pp. 252-254,   | ,000,010 1  | _ ` / _ ′           |  |  |   |  |

Table 2-A.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes: Simple and cumulative distributions of number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income, with corresponding percentage distributions; also aggregate for returns with no net income

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |   | Number of returns  |   |  |   |   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|--|---|--|---|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
|  | Net income classes  | Simple dist  | ribution  | Cumulative<br>bution frest incom   | om high-  | Cumulative<br>bution fr<br>est incom  | om low-  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |   | Number   | Percent<br>of total   | Number   | Percent<br>of total   | Number  | Percent<br>of total  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  | (1)   | (2)  | (3)   | (4)  | (5)   | (6)   | (7)  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 1 23 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 67 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 53 67 38 8 34 0 41 2 43 44 44 44 44 44 44 44 44 44 44 44 44 | Individual returns with net income: Form 1040A <sup>10</sup> (est.)  10 come: Form 1040: Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  1.25 under 1.25 (est.)  1.5 under 1.25 (est.)  1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  2.5 under 2.25 (est.)  2.5 under 2.5 (est.)  2.5 under 2.5 (est.)  2.5 under 2.5 (est.)  3. under 3.5 (est.)  3. under 3.5 (est.)  4. under 4.5 (est.)  4. under 4.5 (est.)  5 under 7 (est.)  10 under 10 (est.)  11 under 11 (est.)  12 under 10 (est.)  13 under 14 (est.)  4 under 4.5 (est.)  5 under 6 (est.)  10 under 10 (est.)  10 under 10 (est.)  11 under 11 (est.)  12 under 13 (est.)  13 under 14 (est.)  4 under 15 (est.)  5 under 6 (est.)  6 under 7 (est.)  7 under 8 (est.)  8 under 9 (est.)  10 under 10 (est.)  11 under 12 (est.)  12 under 20 (est.)  20 under 25  25 under 40  40 under 60  60 under 70  70 under 80  80 under 90  90 under 100  100 under 150  150 under 200  200 under 250  250 under 300  300 under 40  40 under 500  500 under 750  750 under 1,000  1,000 under 1,500  1,500 under 2,000  2,000 under 3,000 | 2, 991, 236 1, 685, 140 902, 459 508, 751 469, 296 249, 542 165, 546 119, 585 95, 188 66, 637 53, 626 43, 230 36, 354 30, 808 100, 714 53, 630 32, 297 35, 001 17, 484 10, 127 6, 100 4, 029 2, 698 1, 913 3, 4, 408 1, 411 580 303 296 143 156 588 28 9 6 | 46. 76  1. 98 2. 21 2. 82 3. 36 3. 37 3. 49 3. 78 3. 63 3. 32 3. 86 6. 88 3. 87 2. 07 1. 10 8. 57 7 1. 08 57 1. 10 08 07 01 01 (18) (18) (18) (18) (18) (18) (18) (18 | 343, 506, 553<br>7, 689, 214<br>4, 697, 978<br>3, 012, 838<br>2, 110, 379<br>1, 601, 628<br>1, 132, 332<br>882, 790<br>716, 824<br>597, 239<br>502, 051<br>435, 414<br>381, 786<br>338, 558<br>302, 204<br>271, 396<br>170, 682<br>2117, 052<br>84, 755<br>49, 754<br>32, 270<br>22, 143<br>16, 043<br>12, 014<br>9, 316<br>7, 403<br>1, 584<br>1, 004<br>11, 004<br>10, 004<br>11, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>11, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>11, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>10, 004<br>1 | 100. 00  17. 67 10. 80 6. 93 4. 85 3. 68 2. 60 2. 60 1. 37 1. 15 1. 00 6. 27 1. 15 1. 07 0. 05 0. 02 0. 02 0. 01 (18) (18) (18) (18) (18) (18) (18) (18 | 38, 808, 575 40, 493, 715 41, 996, 174 41, 994, 925 42, 874, 221 42, 693, 374, 221 43, 004, 502 43, 071, 139 43, 124, 765 43, 104, 502 43, 071, 139 43, 245, 157 43, 3389, 501 43, 421, 798 43, 456, 799 43, 456, 799 43, 456, 799 43, 474, 283 43, 484, 410 43, 494, 539 43, 497, 237 43, 499, 150 43, 506, 549 43, 506, 549 43, 506, 549 43, 506, 549 43, 506, 549 43, 506, 543 43, 506, 543 43, 506, 543 43, 506, 543 43, 506, 543 43, 506, 544 43, 506, 533 43, 506, 544 43, 506, 543 43, 506, 544 43, 506, 543 43, 506, 544 43, 506, 548 | 82. 33<br>89. 20<br>93. 07<br>95. 15<br>96. 32<br>97. 40<br>97. 97<br>98. 35<br>99. 00<br>99. 12<br>99. 31<br>99. 83<br>99. 81<br>99. 99<br>99. 99 | 1 2 3 4 4 5 6 7 7 8 9 9 10 11 1 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 12 22 23 4 25 6 37 8 39 40 14 42 3 44 44 54 64 7 48 |  |  |  |  |
| 48<br>49<br>50   | 3,000 under 4,000<br>4,000 under 5,000<br>5,000 and over  | 3  | (18)  | 1  | (18)  | 43, 506, 552<br>43, 506, 553  | 99. 99<br>100. 00  | 50   |  |  |  |  |
| 51   | Total, individual returns with net income.  | 43, 506, 553   | 100.00  |  |   |   |  | 51   |  |  |  |  |
| 52   | Individual returns with no net income 11 (est.).  | 215, 485   | (19)  |  |   |   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 53   | Grand total   | 43, 722, 038   | (19)  |  |   |   |  | 53   |  |  |  |  |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 2-A.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes: Simple and cumulative distributions of number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income, with corresponding percentage distributions; also aggregate for returns with no net income—Continued [For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |   |   |                     | Net inco  | ome 2               |  |                     |
|--|---|---|---------------------|---|---------------------|--|---------------------|
|  | Net income classes  | Simple dist   | ribution            | Cumulative bution for est incom   | rom high-           | Cumulativ<br>bution fr<br>est incon  | om low-             |
|  |   | Amount  | Percent<br>of total | Amount  | Percent<br>of total | Amount   | Percent<br>of total |
|  | (1)   | (8)   | (9)                 | (10)  | (11)                | (12)   | (13)                |
| 1  | Individual returns ith net income: Form 1040A <sup>10</sup> (est.)                        | 31,,086, 413  | 31. 33              |   |                     |  |                     |
| 2  | Form 1040;<br>Under 0.5 (est.)  | 282, 484  | . 28                |   |                     |  |                     |
| 3  | 0.5 under 0.75 (est.)   | t 605, (50  | . 61<br>1. 09       |   |                     |  |                     |
| 4<br>5<br>6<br>7   | 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 under 1.25 (est.) 17 1 25 under 1.5 (est.) 17 1 25 under 1.5 (est.) | 1,650,064   | 1.66                | 00 000 000  | 100.00              | FO 115 070   | 50.50               |
| 7  | 1.25 under 1.5 (est.)<br>1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  | 2, 018, 567<br>2, 464, 446  | 2. 03<br>2. 48      | 99, 209, 862  | 100.00              | 58, 115, 032   | 58. 58              |
| 8  | 1.75 under 2 (est.)<br>2 under 2.25 (est.)  | 3, 086, 072   | 3.11                | 11  | 1                   |  |                     |
| 10   | 2.25 under 2.5 (est.)   | 3, 458, 852<br>3, 748, 047  | 3. 49<br>3. 78      |   |                     | 1  |                     |
| 11   | 2.5 under 2.75 (est.)   | 2 702 025   | 3.82                | 11  |                     |  | 1 1                 |
| 12<br>13   | 2.75 under 3 (est.)<br>3 under 3.5 (est.)   | 4, 840, 729<br>9, 657, 095<br>6, 272, 607<br>3, 812, 966<br>2, 406, 019 | 4. 88<br>9. 73      | 41, 094, 829  | 41.42               | 67, 772, 127   | 68. 31              |
| 14   | 3.5 under 4 (est.)<br>4 under 4.5 (est.)<br>4.5 under 5 (est.)                            | 6, 272, 607   | 6.32                | 1 31, 437, 735  | 31.69               | 74, 044, 734<br>77, 857, 700<br>80, 263, 719<br>82, 824, 673                 | 74.63               |
| 15<br>16   | 4 under 4.5 (est.)  | 3, 812, 966   | 3. 84<br>2. 43      | 25, 165, 128<br>21, 352, 162<br>18, 946, 143  | 25. 37<br>21. 52    | 77, 857, 700   | 78. 48<br>80. 90    |
| 17   | 5 under 6 (est.)  | 2,550.954   | 2. 58               | 18, 946, 143  | 19.10               | 82, 824, 673   | 83.48               |
| 18<br>19   | 6 under 7 (est.)  | 1,612,263   | 1.63<br>1.25        | 16, 385, 189<br>14, 772, 926  | 16. 52<br>14. 89    | 84, 436, 935<br>85, 676, 437   | 85. 11<br>86. 36    |
| 20   | 8 under 9 (est.)  | 1, 239, 502<br>1, 013, 725<br>902, 734                                  | 1.02                | 13, 533, 425  | 13.64               | 86, 690, 162   | 87.38               |
| 21   | 8 under 9 (est.)<br>9 under 10 (est.)<br>10 under 11 (est.)                               | 902, 734  | . 91<br>. 70        | 12, 519, 699<br>11, 616, 966  | 12.62               | 87, 592, 896   | 88. 29<br>88. 99    |
| 23   | 11 under 12 (est.)  | 698, 823<br>615, 944  | 62                  | 10 010 149  | 11.71<br>11.01      | 88, 291, 719<br>88, 907, 663   | 89.62               |
| 24   | 12 under 13 (est.)  | 615, 944<br>539, 843  | . 54                | 10, 302, 198  | 10.38               | 89, 447, 507   | 90.16               |
| 20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34 | 13 under 14 (est.)  | 490, 168<br>446, 547  | . 49<br>. 45        | 10, 918, 143<br>10, 302, 198<br>9, 762, 355<br>9, 272, 187<br>8, 825, 641<br>7, 088, 640<br>5, 894, 301 | 9. 84<br>9. 35      | 89, 937, 675<br>90, 384, 221   | 90. 65<br>91. 10    |
| 27   | 15 under 20 (est.)  | 446, 547<br>1, 737, 001<br>1, 194, 339                                  | 1.75                | 8, 825, 641   | 8.90                | 92, 121, 222   | 92.85               |
| 29   | 20 under 25<br>• 25 under 30  | 1, 194, 339<br>881, 845   | 1.20<br>.89         | 7, 088, 640<br>5, 894, 301  | 7.15<br>5.94        | 90, 384, 221<br>92; 121, 222<br>93, 315, 561<br>94, 197, 405<br>95, 400, 915 | 94. 06<br>94. 95    |
| 30   | 30 under 40   | 1, 203, 510   | 1. 21               | 1 3.012.307   | 5.05                | 95, 400, 915   | 96.16               |
| 32   | 40 under 50<br>50 under 60  | 778, 016<br>552, 382  | . 78<br>. 56        | 3, 808, 947<br>3, 030, 931  | 3.84<br>3.06        | 96, 178, 931<br>96, 731, 314   | 96. 94<br>97. 50    |
| 33   | 50 under 60<br>60 under 70  | 393, 994  | . 40                | 2, 478, 548   | 2. 50               | 97, 125, 307   | 97. 90              |
| 35   |   |   | .30<br>.23          | 2, 084, 554<br>1, 784, 037  | 2. 10<br>1. 80      | 97, 425, 825<br>97, 654, 413   | 98. 20<br>98. 43    |
| 36   | 80 under 90   | 181, 212  | . 18                | 1, 555, 449   | 1.57                | 97, 835, 625   | 98.61               |
| 37<br>38   | 100 under 150   | 528, 882<br>241 146   | . 53<br>. 24        | 1, 374, 237   | 1.39                | 98, 364, 507   | 99. 15<br>99. 39    |
| 39   | 150 under 200<br>200 under 250  | 228, 589<br>181, 212<br>528, 882<br>241, 146<br>128, 520                | . 13                | 1, 555, 449<br>1, 374, 237<br>845, 355<br>604, 209<br>475, 688  | . 61                | 98, 605, 653<br>98, 734, 173<br>98, 816, 539                                 | 99, 52              |
| 40<br>41   | 250 under 300<br>300 under 400  | 82, 365<br>101, 478   | . 08                | 475, 688<br>393, 323  | . 48                | 98, 816, 539<br>98, 918, 017   | 99. 60<br>99. 71    |
| 42   | 400 nnder 500   | 64 204  | . 06                | 291, 845  | . 29                | 98, 982, 221   | 99.77               |
| 43<br>44   | 500 under 750   | 94, 825<br>49, 211  | . 10                | 227, 641<br>132, 816  | . 23                | 98, 982, 221<br>99, 077, 046<br>99, 126, 257                                 | 99, 87<br>99, 92    |
| 45   | 1,000 under 1,500   | 33, 103   | . 03                | 83, 605   | . 13                | 99. 159. 360   | 99. 95              |
| 46<br>47   | 1,500 under 2,000   | 15, 209   | . 02                | 50, 502   | . 05                | 99, 174, 559   | 99. 96              |
| 48   | 2,000 under 3,000<br>3,000 under 4,000  | 12, 840<br>3, 682   | . 01                | 35, 292<br>22, 453  | .04                 | 99, 187, 409<br>99, 191, 091   | 99, 98<br>99, 98    |
| 49<br>50   | 4,000 under 5,000   | 3, 682<br>13, 231   | . 01                | 18, 771   | . 02                | 99, 204, 322   | 99.99               |
|  | 5,000 and over  | 5, 540  | . 01                | 5, 540  | . 01                | 99, 209, 862   | 100.00              |
| 51   | Total, individual returns with net income.  | 99, 209, 862  | 100.00              |   |                     |  |                     |
| 52   | Individual returns with no net income " (est.).   | 14 225, 683   | (19)                |   |                     |  |                     |
| 53   | Grand total   | 15 98, 984, 178   | (19)                |   |                     |  |                     |
| F  | or footnotes, see pp. 252-254.  |   |                     |   |                     |  |                     |

Table 2-A.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes: Simple and cumulative distributions of number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income, with corresponding percentage distributions; also aggregate for returns with no net income—Continued [For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13-106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  | [Net income c   | asses and m  | ney nguic           | 3 III tilousuii  |                         |  |                     | ==   |
|--|---|--|---------------------|--|-------------------------|--|---------------------|--|
|  |   |  | Tota                | l income and   | victory ta              | X 6  |                     |  |
|  | Net income classes  | Simple dist  | ribution            | Cumulative<br>tion from<br>income  | highest                 | Cumulative<br>tion from<br>income  | lowest              |  |
|  |   | Amount   | Percent<br>of total | Amount   | Percent<br>of total     | Amount   | Percent<br>of total |  |
|  | (1)   | (14)   | (15)                | (16)   | (17)                    | (18)   | (19)                |  |
| ľ  | Individual returns with net in-   |  |                     | •  |                         |  |                     |  |
| 1  | come:<br>Form 1040A <sup>10</sup> (est.)  | 2, 652, 207  | 15. 62              | )  |                         |  |                     | 3  |
| 3  | Under 0.5 (est.)  | 27, 009<br>39, 096<br>87, 506  | . 16<br>. 23        |  |                         |  |                     | 23456789                                     |
| 4  | 0.75 under 1 (est.)<br>1 under 1.25 (est.) <sup>17</sup><br>1.25 under 1.5 (est.)<br>1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  | 139, 681   | . 52<br>. 82        |  |                         |  |                     | 5  |
| 5<br>6<br>7                                  | 1.25 under 1.5 (est.)<br>1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  | 188, 210<br>250, 859   | 1.11<br>1.48        | 16, 974, 230   | 100.00                  | 5, 618, 181  | 33. 10              | 7  |
| 8 9  | 1.75 under 2 (est.)<br>2 under 2.25 (est.)<br>2.25 under 2.5 (est.)<br>2.5 under 2.75 (est.)  | 335, 716<br>384, 225   | 1.98<br>2.26        |  |                         |  |                     | 8<br>9                                       |
| 10   | 2.25 under 2.5 (est.)   | 436, 464   | 2, 57               |  |                         |  |                     | 10<br>11                                     |
| 11<br>12                                     |   | 458, 133<br>619, 074   | 2. 70<br>3. 65      | )  |                         |  |                     | 12   |
| 13   | 2.75 under 3 (est.)<br>3 under 3.5 (est.)<br>3.5 under 4 (est.)<br>4 under 4.5 (est.)<br>4.5 under 5 (est.)<br>5 under 6 (est.)<br>6 under 7 (est.) | 1, 335, 772  | 7.87                | 11, 356, 049<br>10, 020, 276   | 66. 90<br>59. 03        | 6, 953, 953<br>7, 914, 605   | 40. 97<br>46. 63    | 13<br>14                                     |
| 14<br>15                                     | 3.5 under 4 (est.)  | 960, 651<br>647, 572   | 5. 66<br>3. 82      | 9, 059, 625  | 53. 37                  | Q 569 176  | 50.44               | 15   |
| 16   | 4.5 under 5 (est.)  | 647, 572<br>445, 286   | 2.62                | 8, 412, 053  | 49. 56<br>46. 93        | 9, 007, 463<br>9, 545, 324   | 53.07<br>56.23      | 16<br>17                                     |
| 17<br>18                                     | 5 under 6 (est.)  | 537, 861<br>377, 434   | 3.17<br>2.22        | 7, 966, 767<br>7, 428, 906   | 43.77                   | 9, 922, 759  | 58.46               | 18   |
| 19   | / under o (esc.)  | 319, 435   | 1.88                | 7, 051, 471  | 41.54                   | 10, 242, 194   | 60.34<br>62.00      | 19   |
| 20<br>21                                     | 8 under 9 (est.)<br>9 under 10 (est.)   | 282, 657<br>258, 908   | 1.67<br>1.53        | 6, 732, 036<br>6, 449, 379   | 39.66<br>38.00          | 10, 783, 759   | 63. 53              | 21   |
| 22   | 10 under 11 (est.)  | 900 051  | 1.24                | 6, 190, 471<br>5, 980, 520   | 36. 47<br>35. 23        | 10, 524, 851<br>10, 783, 759<br>10, 993, 710<br>11, 187, 552                                 | 64. 77<br>65. 91    | 20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27 |
| 23<br>24                                     | 11 under 12 (est.)<br>12 under 13 (est.)  | 193, 842<br>177, 641   | 1.14<br>1.05        | 5, 786, 678  | 34.09                   | 11, 365, 193   | 66, 96              | 24   |
| 22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29 | 12 under 13 (est.)<br>13 under 14 (est.)  | 193, 842<br>177, 641<br>167, 484<br>158, 425<br>684, 299                         | . 99                | 5, 609, 037  | 33.04<br>32.06          | 11, 532, 678   | 67.94<br>68.88      | 25   |
| 26<br>27                                     | 14 under 15 (est.)<br>15 under 20 (est.)  | 158, 425<br>684, 299   | . 93<br>4. 03       | 5, 441, 552<br>5, 283, 127   | 31.12                   | 11, 691, 103<br>12, 375, 402   | 72.91               | 27   |
| 28   | 15 under 20 (est.)<br>20 under 25   | 540, 972   | 3.19                | 4, 598, 828  | 27.09                   | 12, 916, 374<br>13, 360, 686   | 76. 09<br>78. 71    | 28   |
| 29<br>30                                     | 25 under 30<br>30 under 40  | 444, 313<br>675, 475   | 2. 62<br>3. 98      | 4, 057, 856<br>3, 613, 543   | 23. 91<br>21. 29        | 14 026 161   | 82. 69              | 29<br>30                                     |
| 31   | 40 under 50   | 486, 261   | 2.86                | กักขอากสอ  | 17.31                   | 14, 522, 423<br>14, 893, 501<br>15, 176, 739<br>15, 403, 123<br>15, 580, 009<br>15, 725, 345 | 85. 56              | 31<br>32<br>33                               |
| 32<br>33                                     | 50 under 60<br>60 under 70  | 371, 078<br>283, 238   | 2.19<br>1.67        | 2, 451, 807<br>2, 451, 807<br>2, 080, 729<br>1, 797, 491<br>1, 571, 107<br>1, 394, 221 | 14. 44<br>12. 26        | 15, 176, 739   | 87. 74<br>89. 41    | 33   |
| 34   | 70 under 80   | 226, 384   | 1.33                | 1, 797, 491  | 10. 59<br>9. 26         | 15, 403, 123   | 90.74<br>91.79      | 34<br>35                                     |
| 35<br>36                                     | 80 under 90   | 176,886  | 1.04                | 1, 571, 107  | 9. 20<br>8. 21          | 15, 725, 345   | 92.64               | 36   |
| 37   | 60 under 70   | 371, 078<br>283, 238<br>226, 384<br>176, 886<br>145, 336<br>454, 303<br>220, 724 | 2. 68               | 1, 248, 888  | 7.36                    | 16, 179, 648<br>16, 400, 372   | 95.32               | 37<br>38                                     |
| 38<br>39                                     | 150 under 200<br>200 under 250<br>250 under 300   | 124, 153   | 1.30<br>.73         | 794, 582<br>573, 858   | 4. 68<br>3. 38<br>2. 65 | 16, 524, 524   | 96. 62<br>97. 35    | 39   |
| 40   | 250 under 300   | 80, 233  | . 47<br>. 57        | 449, 706   | 2.65                    | 16, 604, 757   | 97.82               | 40<br>41                                     |
| 41<br>42                                     | 300 under 400   | 96, 709<br>62, 788   | .57                 | 369, 473<br>272, 764   | 2. 18<br>1. 61          | 16, 701, 466<br>16, 764, 254   | 98.39<br>98.76      | 42   |
| 43   | 400 under 500   | 89, 751  | . 53                | 200 076  | 1.24                    | 16, 854, 005   | 99. 29              | 43<br>44                                     |
| 44<br>45                                     | 750 under 1,000<br>1,000 under 1,500  | 43, 243<br>30, 267   | . 25                | 120, 225<br>76, 982<br>46, 715<br>31, 853  | . 71                    | 16, 854, 005<br>16, 897, 248<br>16, 927, 515<br>16, 942, 376<br>16, 952, 624                 | 99. 55<br>99. 72    | 45   |
| 46   | 1.500 under 2.000   | 14, 861<br>10, 248   | .09                 | 46, 715  | . 28                    | 16, 942, 376   | 99.81               | 46   |
| 47<br>48                                     | 2,000 under 3,000<br>3,006 under 4,000  | 10, 248  | .06                 | 31,853<br>21,606   | . 19                    | 16, 952, 624<br>16, 956, 938   | 99.87<br>99.90      | 47<br>48                                     |
| 49   | 4,000 under 5,000   | 4, 314<br>11, 409<br>5, 883  | .07                 | 17, 292  | . 10                    | 16, 968, 347   | 99.97               | 49   |
| <b>5</b> 0                                   | 5,000 and over  | 5, 883   | . 03                | 5, 883   | . 03                    | 16, 974, 230   | 100.00              | 50   |
| 51   | Total, individual returns with net income.  | 16, 974, 230   | 100.00              |  |                         |  |                     | 53   |
| 52   | Individual returns with no net income 11 (est.).  | 31, 749  | (19)                |  |                         |  |                     | 52   |
| 53   | Grand total   | 17, 005, 979   | (19)                |  |                         |  |                     | 53   |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 2-A.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes: Simple and cumulative distributions of number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income, with corresponding percentage distributions; also aggregate for returns with no net income—Continued [For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |  | Income and victory tax on 1943 income?  |   |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|--|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
|  | Net income classes   | Simple dist   | ribution  | Cumulativ<br>tion from<br>income cl  | n highest  | Cumulativ<br>bution fro<br>income el   | om lowest  |  |  |  |
|  |  | Amount  | Percent<br>of total   | Amount   | Percent<br>of total  | Amount   | Percent<br>of total  |  |  |  |
|  | (1)  | (20)  | (21)  | (22)   | (23)   | (24)   | (25)   |  |  |  |
| 1 234567891011213445667899101122222445678991011223333453663389941144234445467488499551 | Individual returns with net income: Form 1040 A 10 (est.) Form 1040: Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 1.5 under 1.25 (est.) 1.25 under 1.5 (est.) 1.5 under 1.75 (est.) 1.5 under 1.75 (est.) 2.25 (est.) 2.25 under 2.5 (est.) 2.5 under 2.5 (est.) 2.5 under 3 (est.) 3.5 under 4 (est.) 4.5 under 3.5 (est.) 3.5 under 4 (est.) 4.5 under 5 (est.) 4.5 under 6 (est.) 5 under 6 (est.) 6 under 7 (est.) 11 under 11 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 4 (est.) 4 under 6 (est.) 6 under 7 (est.) 5 under 6 (est.) 6 under 7 (est.) 10 under 11 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 15 under 16 (est.) 16 under 20 (est.) 20 under 25 25 under 30 30 under 40 40 under 50 50 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 90 under 100 100 under 100 100 under 250 250 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 5,000 5,000 under 4,000 1,500 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 and over | 227, 601<br>214, 044<br>173, 738<br>159, 917<br>146, 520<br>138, 470<br>561, 375<br>445, 099<br>366, 064<br>566, 358<br>399, 257<br>305, 508<br>230, 846<br>184, 247<br>119, 364<br>369, 670<br>179, 066<br>99, 470<br>65, 482<br>81, 740 | 16. 54  .055 .17 .46 .61 .98 .2. 31 .2. 64 .2. 79 .8. 15 .5. 82 .3. 88 .2. 66 .3. 15 .1. 20 .1. 11 .01 .96 .3. 3. 89 .3. 38 .4. 88 .1. 20 .1. 11 .01 .96 .93 .3. 89 .3. 89 .4. 83 .2. 53 .3. 85 .2. 76 .2. 11 .60 .93 .3. 89 .48 .1. 20 .1. 11 .61 .96 .97 .3. 89 .48 .5. 25 .57 .58 .69 .45 .57 .58 .69 .69 .60 .60 .70 .70 .70 .70 .70 .70 .70 .70 .70 .7 | 9, 533, 023<br>8, 365, 876<br>7, 514, 949<br>6, 688, 762<br>6, 688, 762<br>6, 112, 936<br>5, 798, 367<br>5, 536, 254<br>5, 902, 211<br>4, 918, 473<br>4, 758, 556<br>4, 612, 036<br>4, 379, 213<br>3, 332, 743<br>2, 966, 680<br>2, 410, 322<br>2, 011, 066<br>1, 705, 557<br>1, 474, 711<br>1, 125, 446<br>1, 144, 810<br>1, 125, 446<br>655, 776<br>476, 710<br>377, 239<br>311, 757<br>230, 017<br>178, 050<br>102, 396<br>66, 816<br>39, 226<br>2, 11, 481<br>11, 289<br>9, 226<br>2, 366<br>39, 266<br>39, 266<br>39, 266<br>4, 985<br>4, 985 | 65. 98<br>57. 83<br>52. 01<br>48. 12<br>45. 46<br>42. 31<br>36. 72<br>35. 24<br>34. 04<br>32. 93<br>31. 92<br>30. 96<br>30. 03<br>26. 14<br>23. 06<br>20. 53<br>16. 68<br>13. 92<br>7. 10<br>4. 54<br>3. 30<br>2. 61<br>2. 11<br>8. 93<br>7. 92<br>7. 10<br>4. 54<br>3. 30<br>2. 61<br>2. 11<br>8. 93<br>7. 92<br>7. 10<br>4. 54<br>3. 30<br>2. 61<br>2. 16<br>3. 60<br>3. 60<br>3. 60<br>3. 60<br>3. 60<br>3. 7. 92<br>7. 10<br>4. 54<br>3. 30<br>3. 60<br>3. 60<br>3. 60<br>3. 7. 92<br>7. 10<br>4. 54<br>3. 30<br>3. 60<br>3. 60<br>4. 54<br>3. 30<br>3. 60<br>3. 60<br>3. 60<br>3. 7. 92<br>7. 10<br>4. 54<br>3. 30<br>3. 60<br>3. 60<br>3. 60<br>3. 60<br>3. 7. 92<br>7. 10<br>4. 54<br>3. 80<br>3. 60<br>3. 60<br>3. 60<br>3. 60<br>3. 60<br>3. 60<br>4. 54<br>3. 60<br>3. 60 | 6, 093, 566<br>6, 934, 474<br>7, 495, 709<br>7, 880, 680<br>8, 336, 447<br>8, 651, 084<br>9, 143, 187<br>9, 357, 231<br>9, 530, 968<br>9, 837, 406<br>9, 975, 875<br>10, 110, 224<br>10, 671, 599<br>11, 116, 698<br>11, 482, 762<br>12, 438, 376<br>12, 743, 884<br>12, 974, 730<br>13, 158, 977<br>12, 743, 884<br>14, 21, 394<br>14, 137, 684<br>14, 271, 391<br>14, 347, 046<br>14, 383, 025<br>14, 471, 391<br>14, 471, 391<br>14, 423, 086<br>14, 435, 152<br>14, 444, 451<br>14, 444, 451<br>14, 449, 441 | 34. 02<br>42. 17<br>47. 99<br>51. 88<br>54. 54<br>54. 76<br>65. 96<br>67. 07<br>78. 85<br>79. 47<br>83. 32<br>86. 98<br>88. 29<br>90. 97<br>91. 88<br>92. 90<br>95. 76<br>96. 76<br>97. 88<br>99. 90<br>99. 82<br>99. 82<br>99. 83<br>99. 90<br>99. 83<br>99. 90<br>99. 82<br>99. 83<br>99. 90<br>99. 82<br>99. 83<br>99. 90<br>99. 83<br>99. 90<br>99. 82<br>99. 83<br>99. 90<br>99. 83<br>99. 90<br>99. 86 | 1 2 3 4 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 1 1 1 2 1 3 4 4 5 6 1 7 8 1 9 2 1 1 3 4 1 1 5 6 1 7 7 8 1 9 2 2 2 2 4 4 2 2 5 6 2 7 8 2 9 0 3 1 2 2 2 3 3 4 5 3 6 6 7 8 3 9 0 4 1 2 4 3 4 4 4 5 6 4 6 7 4 8 9 5 0 5 1 5 2 |  |  |
| <b>5</b> 3   | income <sup>11</sup> (est.).  Grand total  | 14, 450, 084  | (19)  |  |  |  |  | 53   |  |  |
|  |  | , ,   |   |  |  |  | İ  |  |  |  |

Table 3.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by sex and family relationship: Number of returns, net income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and income and victory tax on 1943 income

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  | [Net medite classes   |  |   | Total   |  |  | =  |
|--|---|--|---|---|--|--|--|
|  | Net income classes  | Number of returns  | Net<br>income   | Personal<br>exemp-<br>tion 3  | Credit for<br>depend-<br>ents 4                          | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943 in-<br>come 7       |  |
|  | (1)   | (2)  | (3)   | (4)   | (5)  | (6)  |  |
|  | Taxable individual returns with net   |  |   |   |  |  |  |
| 1  | income:<br>Form 1040A <sup>10</sup> (est.)  | 18, 159, 744   | 30, 239, 358  | 15, 680, 127  | 4, 958, 370  | 2, 389, 266  | 1  |
| 2 3 4  | Form 1040:<br>Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)  | 218, 078<br>754, 289<br>1, 106, 442<br>1, 331, 800       | 70, 497<br>482, 829<br>972, 804   | 66, 590<br>455, 213<br>784, 691<br>1, 064, 936                          | 4,777<br>54,282<br>123,344<br>158,431                    | 7, 369<br>24, 130<br>67, 021<br>110, 263                 | 2<br>3<br>4<br>5                             |
| 5<br>6<br>7<br>8   | 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 under 1.25 (est.) 1.25 under 1.5 (est.) 1.5 under 1.75 (est.) 1.75 under 1.75 (est.) 2.0 under 2.25 (est.) 2.25 under 2.25 (est.) 2.5 under 2.75 (est.) 3.5 under 3.5 (est.) 4 under 4.5 (est.) 5 under 5 (est.)  | 1, 466, 935<br>1, 517, 176<br>1, 645, 854                | 1, 503, 468<br>2, 018, 567<br>2, 464, 446<br>3, 086, 072<br>3, 458, 852 | 1, 276, 834<br>1, 382, 224<br>1, 555, 103                               | 158, 431<br>224, 728<br>272, 616<br>349, 892<br>424, 795 | 155, 830<br>211, 327<br>286, 805<br>333, 247             | 6<br>7<br>8<br>9                             |
| 9<br>10<br>11<br>12  | 2 under 2.25 (est.)<br>2.25 under 2.5 (est.)<br>2.5 under 2.75 (est.)<br>2.75 under 3 (est.)  | 1, 628, 123<br>1, 578, 854<br>1, 445, 838<br>1, 680, 352 | 3, 748, 047<br>3, 793, 925  | 1, 628, 006<br>1, 637, 871<br>1, 557, 691<br>1, 824, 997<br>3, 284, 762 | 473, 942<br>489, 891<br>619, 105<br>1, 180, 008          | 381, 106<br>402, 742<br>547, 312                         | 10<br>11<br>12<br>13                         |
| 13<br>14<br>15<br>16   | 3 under 3.5 (est.)<br>3.5 under 4 (est.)<br>4 under 4.5 (est.)<br>4 5 under 5 (est.)  | 2, 991, 236<br>1, 685, 140<br>902, 459<br>508, 751       | 4, 840, 729<br>9, 657, 095<br>6, 272, 607<br>3, 812, 966<br>2, 406, 019 | 3, 284, 762<br>1, 864, 692<br>992, 624<br>555, 085                      | 709, 631<br>375, 246<br>194, 180                         | 1, 177, 147<br>840, 908<br>561, 235<br>384, 970          | 14<br>15<br>16                               |
| 17<br>18<br>19   | 4.5 under 5 (est.) 5 under 6 (est.) 6 under 7 (est.) 7 under 8 (est.) 8 under 9 (est.) 9 under 10 (est.) 10 under 11 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 20 (est.) 20 under 25  | 469, 296<br>249, 542<br>165, 966                         | 2, 406, 019<br>2, 560, 954<br>1, 612, 263<br>1, 239, 502<br>1, 013, 725 | 494, 460<br>253, 465<br>165, 713<br>117, 881                            | 163, 484<br>80, 787<br>52, 616<br>36, 805                | 384, 970<br>455, 767<br>314, 638<br>264, 501<br>227, 601 | 17<br>18<br>19<br>20                         |
| 20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30 | 8 under 9 (est.)<br>9 under 10 (est.)<br>10 under 11 (est.)<br>11 under 12 (est.)   | 119, 585<br>95, 188<br>66, 637<br>53, 626                | 902, 734<br>698, 823<br>615, 944<br>539, 843                            | 93, 567<br>63, 677<br>51, 484   | 29, 859<br>19, 858<br>16, 950<br>13, 263                 | 214, 044<br>173, 738<br>159, 917                         | 21<br>22<br>23                               |
| 24<br>25<br>26   | 12 under 13 (est.)<br>13 under 14 (est.)<br>14 under 15 (est.)  | 43, 230<br>36, 354<br>30, 808<br>100, 714                | 539, 843<br>490, 168<br>446, 547<br>1, 737, 001                         | 41, 102<br>34, 575<br>29, 568<br>96, 082                                | 13, 263<br>11, 184<br>9, 727<br>30, 663                  | 146, 520<br>138, 470<br>134, 349<br>561, 375             | 21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28 |
| 28<br>29<br>30   | 15 under 20 (est.)<br>20 under 25<br>25 under 30<br>30 under 40   | 53, 630<br>32, 297<br>35, 001                            | 1, 194, 339<br>881, 845<br>1, 203, 510<br>778, 016                      | 52, 596<br>31, 715<br>34, 202<br>17, 001                                | 17, 304<br>10, 334<br>11, 147                            | 366, 064<br>556, 358                                     | 29<br>30                                     |
| 31<br>32<br>33   | 20 under 25. 25 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 100. 100 under 150. 150 under 200. 200 under 250. 250 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500. 500 under 500. 500 under 500. 500 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500. 500 under 300. 3,000 under 4,000. 1,600 under 3,000. 3,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. | 17, 484<br>10, 127<br>6, 100<br>4, 029                   | 778, 016<br>552, 382<br>393, 994<br>300, 517                            | 17, 001<br>9, 881<br>5, 996<br>3, 890                                   | 5, 632<br>3, 252<br>1, 938<br>1, 266                     | 399, 257<br>305, 508<br>230, 846<br>184, 247             | 31<br>32<br>33<br>34                         |
| 34<br>35<br>36<br>37   | 70 under 80   | 2, 698<br>1, 913<br>4, 408                               | 228, 589<br>181, 212<br>528, 882  | 2, 648<br>1, 858<br>4, 202  | 851<br>625<br>1, 304                                     | 184, 247<br>145, 654<br>119, 364<br>369, 670             | 35<br>36<br>37                               |
| 38<br>39<br>40   | 150 under 200   | 1, 411<br>580<br>303<br>296                              | 241, 146<br>128, 520<br>82, 365   | 1, 353<br>552<br>287<br>287   | 438<br>167<br>100<br>94                                  | 179, 066<br>99, 470<br>65, 482<br>81, 740                | 38<br>39<br>40<br>41                         |
| 41<br>42<br>43<br>44   | 300 under 400   | 143<br>156<br>58   | 101, 478<br>64, 204<br>94, 825<br>49, 211                               | 131<br>150<br>49  | 36<br>42<br>24<br>7                                      | 51, 966<br>75, 656<br>36, 579                            | 42<br>43<br>44                               |
| 45<br>46<br>47   | 1,000 under 1,500   | 28<br>9<br>6   | 33, 103<br>15, 209<br>12, 840   | 21<br>10<br>4   | 7<br>5<br>1  | 26, 590<br>12, 870<br>8, 875<br>3, 192                   | 45<br>46<br>47<br>48                         |
| 48<br>49<br>50   | 3,000 under 4,000<br>4,000 under 5,000<br>5,000 and over  | 3 1  | 3, 682<br>13, 231<br>5, 540   | 1<br>4<br>1   | 3  | 9, 304<br>4, 985   | 49<br>50                                     |
| 51   | Total, taxable individual returns with net income.  | 40, 222, 699   | 97, 774, 423  | 37, 219, 858  | 11, 133, 005   | 14, 449, 441   | 51   |
| 52   | Nontaxable individual returns with<br>net income: <sup>12</sup><br>Form 1040A <sup>10</sup> (est.)<br>Form 1040:  | 1  | 847, 055  | 1, 545, 354   | 196, 459   | 1 '  | 52   |
| 53<br>54<br>55   | Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 and over (est.)  | 643, 849<br>208, 284<br>121, 443<br>128, 499             | 211, 987<br>122, 321<br>107, 479<br>146, 596                            | 485, 488<br>233, 227<br>144, 416<br>162, 427                            | 66, 176<br>59, 090<br>35, 597<br>46, 581                 |  | 53<br>54<br>55<br>56                         |
| 56<br>57   | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income.   |  | 1, 435, 438   | 2, 570, 911   | 403, 903   |  | 57   |
| 58   | Total, individual returns with net income (51+57).  | 43. 506, 553   | 99, 209, 862  | 39, 790, 769  | 11, 536, 908   | 14, 449, 441   | 58   |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 3.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by sex and family relationship: Number of returns, net income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| =                          | Joint returns of husbands and wives   |  |   |   |  |   |                                 |  |
|----------------------------|---|--|---|---|--|---|---------------------------------|--|
|                            |   | ļ  |   | ···   |  |   |                                 |  |
|                            |   |  | One   | income repor  | rted 49                                      | 1   |                                 |  |
|                            | Net income classes  | Number of returns  | Net<br>income   | Personal<br>exemp-<br>tion <sup>3</sup>                           | Credit for<br>depend-<br>ents 4              | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943 in-<br>come 7          |                                 |  |
|                            | (1)   | (7)  | (8)   | (9)   | (10)   | (11)  |                                 |  |
|                            | Taxable individual returns with net income:   |  |   |   |  |   |                                 |  |
| 1                          | Form 1040A 10 (est.)  | 5, 775, 801  | 10, 884, 884  | 6, 930, 961   | 3, 238, 363                                  | 514, 396  | 1                               |  |
| 2<br>3<br>4<br>5           | Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)<br>1 under 1.25 (est.)   | 310, 827<br>431, 746   | 6, 180<br>98, 180<br>274, 101<br>489, 292                   | 20, 570<br>171, 251<br>365, 938<br>512, 132                       | 3, 302<br>44, 361<br>98, 994<br>115, 651     | 293<br>846<br>3, 854<br>9, 184                              | 2<br>3<br>4<br>5                |  |
| 6<br>7<br>8<br>9           | 1.25 under 1.5 (est.)<br>1.5 under 1.75 (est.)<br>1.75 under 2 (est.)   | 500, 156<br>568, 759<br>664, 734                                     | 688, 978<br>923, 690<br>1, 247, 208<br>1, 586, 791          | 593, 801<br>677, 948<br>793, 432<br>892, 574                      | 135, 072<br>170, 419<br>218, 720<br>275, 658 | 22, 071<br>42, 995<br>74, 434                               | 3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9 |  |
| 10<br>11<br>12<br>13       | 2.25 under 2.5 (est.)<br>2.5 under 2.75 (est.)<br>2.75 under 3 (est.)   | 773, 235<br>729, 385<br>840, 498                                     | 1, 835, 761<br>1, 914, 093<br>2, 420, 921<br>4, 857, 091    | 926, 836<br>872, 738  | 307, 969<br>316, 468<br>396, 850             | 113, 176<br>151, 025<br>175, 528<br>240, 949                | 10<br>11<br>12                  |  |
| 14<br>15<br>16<br>17       | 3.5 under 4 (est.). 4 under 4.5 (est.). 4.5 under 5 (est.). 5 under 6 (est.). 6 under 7 (est.).   | 873, 923<br>481, 139<br>272, 219                                     | 3, 253, 105<br>2, 033, 521<br>1 287 855                     | 1, 007, 697<br>1, 802, 648<br>1, 046, 768<br>576, 867<br>326, 178 | 748, 162<br>429, 773<br>233, 117<br>125, 740 | 534, 551<br>407, 453<br>282, 838<br>194, 560                | 13<br>14<br>15<br>16            |  |
| 18<br>19                   | 6 under 7 (est.)<br>7 under 8 (est.)<br>8 under 9 (est.)<br>9 under 10 (est.)<br>10 under 11 (est.)<br>11 under 12 (est.)<br>12 under 12 (est.) | 244, 137<br>125, 249<br>79, 394<br>54, 792<br>43, 165                | 1, 331, 300<br>808, 732<br>592, 375<br>464, 384<br>409, 136 | 293, 338<br>149, 791<br>94, 903<br>65, 672                        | 107, 899<br>53, 518<br>34, 656<br>23, 656    | 221, 817<br>148, 002<br>118, 536<br>98, 339                 | 17<br>18<br>19<br>20            |  |
| 20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24 | 10 under 11 (est.)<br>11 under 12 (est.)<br>12 under 13 (est.)  | 27, 608<br>22, 405<br>16, 837  | 289, 427<br>257, 203<br>210, 291                            | 51, 694<br>33, 051<br>26, 804<br>20, 174                          | 19, 016<br>11, 708<br>10, 156<br>7, 472      | 91, 800<br>- 68, 196<br>- 63, 406<br>- 54, 466<br>- 50, 722 | 21<br>22<br>23<br>24            |  |
| 24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28 | 12 under 13 (est.)<br>13 under 14 (est.)<br>14 under 15 (est.)<br>15 under 20 (est.)<br>20 under 25   | 13, 936<br>11, 979<br>36, 607<br>19, 193                             | 187, 906<br>173, 628<br>630, 203<br>426, 980                | 16, 692<br>14, 329<br>43, 827<br>22, 938                          | 6, 217<br>5, 537<br>16, 289<br>8, 772        | 50, 722<br>50, 116<br>196, 159<br>154, 949                  | 25<br>26<br>27<br>28            |  |
| 29<br>30<br>31<br>32       | 30 under 40<br>40 under 50  | 10, 700<br>10, 466<br>4, 650<br>2, 466                               | 291, 954<br>358, 447<br>206, 451<br>134, 190                | 12, 799<br>12, 503<br>5, 553<br>2, 951                            | 4, 876<br>4, 765<br>2, 146<br>1, 111         | 118, 743<br>162, 466<br>104, 146<br>72, 942                 | 29<br>30<br>31<br>32            |  |
| 33<br>34<br>35<br>36       | 50 under 60<br>60 under 70<br>70 under 80<br>80 under 90<br>90 under 100  | 1, 395<br>835<br>570<br>354  | 90, 084<br>62, 327<br>48, 398<br>33, 668                    | 1, 666<br>996<br>683<br>424                                       | 632<br>361<br>267                            | 52, 206<br>38, 043<br>30, 615                               | 33<br>34<br>35                  |  |
| 37<br>38<br>39<br>40       | 100 under 150   | 756<br>194<br>79   | 90, 955<br>32, 763<br>17, 417                               | 901<br>230<br>94  | 167<br>339<br>75<br>35                       | 22, 126<br>63, 764<br>24, 284<br>13, 635                    | 36<br>37<br>38<br>39            |  |
| 41<br>42<br>43             | 250 under 300.<br>300 under 400.<br>400 under 500.<br>500 under 750   | 53<br>43<br>15<br>17   | 14, 441<br>14, 932<br>6, 838<br>10, 303                     | 63<br>51<br>17<br>20  | 26<br>22<br>6                                | 11, 151<br>12, 542<br>5, 901<br>8, 211                      | 40<br>41<br>42<br>43            |  |
| 44<br>45<br>46<br>47       | 400 under 500.<br>500 under 750.<br>750 under 1,000.<br>1,000 under 1,500.<br>1,500 under 2,000.  | 4 1  | 3, 646<br>1, 011<br>3, 527                                  | 5<br>1<br>2   | 6<br>3<br>1<br>3                             | 2, 708<br>916<br>2, 345                                     | 44<br>45<br>46                  |  |
| 48<br>49<br>50             | 2,000 under 3,000<br>3,000 under 4,000<br>4,000 under 5,000<br>5,000 and over   |  | 2,040   | 1   | (13)   | 1,017   | 47<br>48<br>49<br>50            |  |
| 51                         | Total, taxable individual returns with not income.  | 15, 365, 408   | 41,006,608  | 18, 390, 513  | . 7, 178, 353                                | 4, 832, 420   | 51                              |  |
| 52                         | Nontaxable individual returns with<br>net income: <sup>12</sup><br>Form 1040A <sup>10</sup> (est.)<br>Form 1040:                                | 294, 000   | 126, 397  | 352, 800  | 64, 690                                      |   | 52                              |  |
| 53<br>54<br>55<br>56       | Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)<br>1 and over (est.)   | 178, 975<br>108, 009<br><sup>21</sup> 8, 277<br><sup>21</sup> 9, 906 | 56, 479<br>61, 480<br>7, 342                                | 211, 247<br>128, 172<br>9, 933                                    | 50, 437<br>37, 787<br>3, 398                 |   | 53<br>54<br>55                  |  |
| 57                         | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income.   | 599, 167   | 12, 614<br>264, 312   | 713, 948  | 4, 862<br>161, 174                           |   | 56<br>57                        |  |
| 58                         | Total, individual returns<br>with net income (51+57).   | 15, 964, 575   | 41, 270, 920  | 19, 104, 461  | 7, 339, 527                                  | 4, 832, 420   | 58                              |  |
| F                          | or footnotes, see pp. 252-254.  |  |   |   |  |   |                                 |  |

Table 3.—Individual returns with net income, 1948, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by sex and family relationship: Number of returns, net income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| _   | Net income classes   |                                   |                         |  |                                 | . , 1  |
|---|--|-----------------------------------|-------------------------|--|---------------------------------|--|
|   |  | Joint                             | returns of ht           |  |                                 | nuea   |
|   |  |                                   | Two i                   | ncomes repo                                  | rted 49                         |  |
|   | Net income classes   | Number of returns                 | Net<br>income           | Personal<br>exemp-<br>tion !                 | Credit for<br>depend-<br>ents 4 | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943 in-<br>come 7 |
|   | (1)  | (12)                              | (13)                    | (14)   | (15)                            | (16)   |
| ľ   | Taxable individual returns with net  |                                   |                         | _  |                                 |  |
| 1   | income:<br>Form 1040A <sup>10</sup> (est.)   | 1, 697, 080                       | 3, 603, 689             | 2, 036, 496                                  | 787, 727                        | 196, 026   |
|   | Form 1040:   | 21 3 836                          | 1, 183                  | 4.495  | 422                             | 94   |
| 2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7                                    | Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  | 21 3, 836<br>21 7, 485<br>30, 196 | 4, 853                  | 4, 495<br>8, 875                             | 657                             | 74   |
| 4   | 0.75 under 1 (est.)  | 30, 196                           | 27, 161                 | 35, 196                                      | 4, 889                          | 379<br>1, 238                                      |
| 5   | 1 under 1.25 (est.)  | 104, 678                          | 120, 620<br>289, 333    | 124, 234<br>250, 272                         | 17, 751<br>56, 306              | 5, 924   |
| 8   | 1 under 1.25 (est.)<br>1.25 under 1.5 (est.)<br>1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  | 209, 976<br>239, 222              | 389, 080                | 285, 185                                     | 65, 874                         | 14, 753  |
| 6   | 1.5 tinder 1.75 (esc.)   | 275, 796                          | 517, 918                | 329, 853                                     | 77, 896                         | 28,754   |
| 8   | 2 under 2.25 (est.)  | 304, 940                          | 648, 349                | 364, 430                                     | 89, 642                         | 45, 232  |
| 0   | 2.25 under 2.5 (est.)  | 336, 214                          | 799, 501                | 403, 735                                     | 108, 901                        | 65, 763  |
| 1   | 1.75 under 2 (est.)<br>2 under 2.25 (est.)<br>2.25 under 2.5 (est.)<br>2.5 under 2.75 (est.)<br>2.75 under 3 (est.)  | 353, 527<br>430, 233              | 929, 068<br>1, 239, 015 | 423, 735<br>515, 217                         | 124, 952<br>164, 331            | 84, 720<br>123, 495                                |
| 2   | 2.75 Under 5 (est.)  | 791, 272                          | 2, 556, 361             | 948, 533                                     | 326, 992                        | 280, 960   |
| 4   | 3 under 3.5 (est.)<br>3.5 under 4 (est.)<br>4 under 4.5 (est.)<br>4.5 under 5 (est.)   | 431, 215                          | 1 602 554               | 948, 533<br>517, 270<br>257, 335<br>126, 786 | 216, 874<br>109, 371            | 192, 723<br>120, 574                               |
| 5   | 4 under 4.5 (est.)   | 214, 653<br>105, 790              | 906, 119<br>498, 994    | 257, 335                                     | 109, 371                        | 120, 574   |
| 6   | 4.5 under 5 (est.)   | 105, 790                          | 498, 994<br>398, 612    | 126, 786<br>88, 306                          | 46, 079<br>30, 502              | 74, 054<br>65, 488                                 |
| 7   | 5 under 6 (est.)   | 73, 361<br>28, 532                | 183, 978                | 34, 176                                      | 11, 294                         | 33, 401  |
| 8   | 7 under 8 (est.)   | 16, 389                           | 122, 411                | 19, 603                                      | 6, 161                          | 24, 488  |
| ň   | 8 under 9 (est.)   | 10, 043                           | 85, 041                 | 12, 033<br>8, 762                            | 3, 821                          | 18, 052  |
| i (   | 9 under 10 (est.)  | 7, 295                            | 68, 967                 | 8, 762                                       | 2, 585<br>1, 734                | 15, 571<br>11, 465                                 |
| 2   | 4.5 under 5 (est.) 5 under 6 (est.) 6 under 7 (est.) 7 under 8 (est.) 8 under 9 (est.) 9 under 10 (est.) 10 under 11 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 3 (est.) | 4, 615<br>3, 311                  | 48, 401<br>37, 976      | 5, 536<br>3, 950                             | 1, 734                          | 9, 374   |
| 3   | 11 under 12 (est.)   | 2, 707                            | 33, 817                 | 3, 236                                       | 1, 072                          | 8, 723   |
| 5   | 13 under 14 (est.)   | 2, 185                            | 29, 428                 | 2,610  | 802                             | 7, 966   |
| 6   | 12 under 14 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 20 (est.) 20 under 25. 25 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50.                                  | 1,679                             | 24, 333                 | 2,003  | 630                             | 7,050  |
| 7   | 15 under 20 (est.)   | 5, 475                            | 94, 140<br>54, 584      | 6, 561<br>2, 938                             | 2, 068<br>986                   | 29, 366<br>19, 850                                 |
| 0<br>1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>0<br>1<br>2 | 20 under 25  | 2, 455<br>1, 411                  | 38, 491                 | 1, 685                                       | 518                             | 15, 636  |
| y I   | 30 under 40  | 1, 586                            | 54, 851                 | 1,900  | 606                             | 24, 984  |
| ĭl  | 40 under 50  | 852                               | 37, 939                 | 1,015  | 326                             | 19, 214  |
| 2   |  |                                   | 27, 161                 | 597  | 200                             | 14,890<br>11,828                                   |
| 3   | 60 under 70<br>70 under 80   | 317<br>187                        | 20, 428<br>13, 956      | 381<br>224                                   | 129<br>89                       | 8, 459   |
| 4<br>5  | 70 under 80  | 104                               | 8, 838                  | 124  | 43                              | 5, 571   |
| 6   | 90 under 100   | 75                                | 7, 139                  | 90   | 29                              | 4, 647   |
| 6   | 80 under 90  | 143                               | 16,933                  | 172  | 55                              | 11,742<br>4,724                                    |
| 8   | 150 under 200  | 38<br>20                          | 6, 519                  | 46<br>24                                     | 18<br>6                         | 3, 568   |
| 8   | 200 under 250  | 10                                | 4, 494<br>2, 706        | 12   | 5                               | 2, 102   |
| 0   | 300 under 400  | 2                                 | 693                     | 2  | 1                               | 592  |
| 2   | 400 under 500  | 1                                 | 480                     | 1  | 1                               | 418  |
| 3   | 150 under 200  | 2                                 | 1,346                   | 2  | 1 3                             | 1,081  |
| 4 5   | 750 under 1,000  | 1                                 | 1.044                   | ĺ  | 1                               | 836  |
| 6   | 1,500 under 2.000  |                                   |                         |  |                                 |  |
| 7   | 2,000 under 3,000  |                                   |                         |  |                                 |  |
| 8   | 750 under 1,000  |                                   |                         |  |                                 |  |
| 9   | 5,000 under 5,000<br>5,000 and over  |                                   |                         |  |                                 |  |
| 1   | Total. taxable individual  | 5, 699, 408                       | 15, 559, 471            | 6, 827, 639                                  | 2, 263, 626                     | 1, 616, 306  |
|   | returns with net income.  Nontaxable individual returns with   |                                   |                         |  |                                 |  |
| 2   | ret income: 12<br>Form 1040A 19 (est.)   | 238, 733                          | 211, 711                | 286, 480                                     | 77, 584                         |  |
|   | Form 1040:   | 38, 129                           | 11, 939                 | 45, 646                                      | 9,864                           |  |
| 3   | Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  | 63, 910                           | 40,712                  | 75, 883                                      | 17, 567                         |  |
| 5   | 0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  | 110, 180                          | 97,616                  | 131, 354                                     | 31, 728                         |  |
| 6   | 1 and over (est.)  | 116, 694                          | 131, 519                | 140, 304                                     | 40, 838                         |  |
| 57  | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income.  | 567, 646                          | 493, 498                | 679, 667                                     | 177, 582                        |  |
| 58  | Total, individual returns with net income (51+57).   | 6, 267, 054                       | 16, 052, 969            | 7, 507, 307                                  | 2, 441, 208                     | 1, 616, 306  |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 3.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by sex and family relationship: Number of returns, net income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| -                                |   | Se                  | oarate return                    | s of husban             | ds and wive                | S 20                                    | $\overline{}$                    |
|----------------------------------|---|---------------------|----------------------------------|-------------------------|----------------------------|---|----------------------------------|
|                                  |   |                     |                                  | Men                     |                            |   |                                  |
|                                  | Net income classes  | Number of returns   | Net income                       | Personal<br>exemption 3 | Credit for dependents      | Income and victory tax on 1943 income 7 | 1                                |
|                                  | (1)   | (17)                | (18)                             | (19)                    | (20)                       | (21)                                    |                                  |
|                                  | Taxable individual returns with net   |                     |                                  |                         |                            |   | 1                                |
| 1                                | income:<br>Form 1040A <sup>10</sup> (est.)  | 538, 423            | 1, 133, 208                      | 323, 054                | 155, 470                   | 131, 921                                | 1                                |
| . 2                              | Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)   | 11, 043<br>13, 100  | 3, 388<br>8, 616                 | 1,386                   | 30                         | 448                                     | 2                                |
| 4                                | 0.75 under 1 (est.)   | 22, 167             | 19, 440                          | 6, 130<br>11, 203       | 579<br>985                 | 522<br>1,780                            | 3                                |
| 5                                | 1 under 1.25 (est.)   | 24, 401             | 27, 459                          | 11, 203<br>14, 265      | 2, 242                     | 2, 638                                  | 5                                |
| 6<br>7                           | 1.25 under 1.5 (est.)<br>1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  | 31, 915<br>43, 998  | 44, 054<br>71, 702               | 18, 779<br>29, 313      | 4, 529                     | 4,776                                   | 6<br>7<br>8<br>9                 |
| 8                                | 1.75 under 2 (est.)   | 59, 215             | 111, 532                         | 38, 299                 | 5, 623<br>10, 033          | 8, 764<br>13, 992                       | 7                                |
| 9                                | 2 under 2.25 (est.)   | 59, 215<br>70, 349  | 149, 654<br>192, 947             | 51, 027                 | 11, 338                    | 19, 340                                 | ă                                |
| 10                               | 2.25 under 2.5 (est.)   | 81,016              | 192, 947                         | 60, 655                 | 16, 038                    | 25, 646                                 | 10                               |
| 11<br>12                         | 2.5 under 2.75 (est.)<br>2.75 under 3 (est.)  | 86, 582<br>110, 192 | 227, 150                         | 73, 022                 | 18, 652                    | 29, 965                                 | 111                              |
| 13                               |   | 000 074             | 317, 132<br>658, 982             | 101, 430<br>204, 432    | 25, 272<br>52, 303         | 42, 355                                 | 12                               |
| 14                               | 3.5 under 4 (est.)<br>4 under 4.5 (est.)  | 117, 190            | 436, 816                         | 123, 657                | 32, 498                    | 90, 116<br>63, 505                      | 13<br>14                         |
| 15<br>16                         | 4 under 4.5 (est.)  | 63, 313<br>38, 728  | 436, 816<br>267, 600<br>182, 995 | 66, 973                 | 17, 881                    | 42, 253                                 | 15                               |
| 17                               | 4.5 under 5 (est.)<br>5 under 6 (est.)  | 38, 728<br>38, 666  | 182, 995<br>211, 460             | 41, 195<br>41, 281      | 12, 773                    | 30, 200                                 | 16                               |
| 18                               | 6 under 7 (est.)  | 24, 300             | 157, 423                         | 25, 643                 | 11, 254<br>7, 378          | 38, 004<br>30, 588                      | 17                               |
| 19                               | 6 under 7 (est.)<br>7 under 8 (est.)<br>8 under 9 (est.)  | 18, 079             | 135, 141                         | 19, 153                 | 5, 206                     | 28, 745                                 | 18<br>19                         |
| 20<br>21                         | 9 under 10 (est.)   | 14, 546<br>12, 338  | 123, 551                         | 15, 586                 | 4, 246                     | 27, 390                                 | 20                               |
| 21<br>22<br>23                   | 10 under 11 (est.)  | 9, 119              | 117, 116<br>95, 724              | 13, 432<br>9, 838       | 3, 950                     | 27, 240                                 | 21                               |
| 23                               | 9 under 10 (est.)<br>10 under 11 (est.)<br>11 under 12 (est.)<br>12 under 13 (est.)<br>13 under 14 (est.) | 7, 980              | 91, 821                          | 8, 604                  | 2, 868<br>2, 633<br>2, 255 | 23, 348<br>23, 469                      | 22                               |
| 24<br>25                         | 12 under 13 (est.)<br>13 under 14 (est.)  | 6, 824<br>5, 800    | 85, 194                          | 7, 395                  | 2, 255                     | 22, 689                                 | 24                               |
| 26                               | 14 under 15 (est.)  | 5, 397              | 78, 184<br>78, 272               | 6, 320<br>6, 019        | 1, 940<br>1, 897           | 21, 652                                 | 21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26 |
| 27                               | 15 under 20 (est.)  | 19, 797             | 343, 433                         | 21, 749                 | 6, 872                     | 23, 092<br>109, 467                     | 26                               |
| 24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29 | 20 under 25<br>25 under 30  | 13, 308             | 296, 984                         | 15, 013                 | 4, 914                     | 109, 129                                | 28                               |
| 30                               | 30 under 40   | 8, 998<br>10, 450   | 245, 983<br>360, 117             | 10, 212<br>11, 906      | 3, 323                     | 101, 132                                | 29                               |
| 31<br>32                         | 30 under 40<br>40 under 50  | 5, 638              | 251, 401                         | 6, 439                  | 3, 957<br>2, 193           | 165, 526<br>128, 491                    | 30<br>31                         |
| 32<br>33                         | 50 under 60   | 3, 514              | 191, 924<br>142, 770             | 4.020                   | 1, 328                     | 106, 024                                | 32                               |
| 34                               | 50 under 60   | 2, 210<br>1, 464    | 142, 770<br>109, 143             | 2, 529                  | 814                        | 83, 281                                 | 33                               |
| <b>3</b> 5                       | 80 under 90<br>90 under 100   | 1, 015              | 85, 871                          | 1, 683<br>1, 173        | 558<br>378                 | 66, 837                                 | 34<br>35                         |
| 36<br>37                         | 90 under 100  | 762                 | 72, 066                          | 874                     | 304                        | 54, 525<br>47, 397                      | 36                               |
| 38                               | 100 under 150<br>150 under 200  | 1, 775<br>599       | 212, 622                         | 2, 033                  | 638                        | 148, 367                                | 37                               |
| 39                               | 200 under 250   | 240                 | 102, 839<br>53, 283              | 687<br>275              | 223<br>89                  | 76, 425                                 | 38                               |
| 40<br>41                         | 250 under 300   | 116                 | 31, 549                          | 135                     | 47                         | 41, 009<br>25, 483                      | 39<br>40                         |
| 42                               | 300 under 400<br>400 under 500  | 128                 | 43, 847                          | 148                     | 55                         | 35. 185 l                               | 41                               |
| 43                               | 500 under /50   | 56<br>70            | 24, 825<br>42, 305               | 63<br>83                | 15                         | 20, 307                                 | 42                               |
| 44                               | 750 under 1.000   | 30                  | 25, 448                          | 29                      | 24<br>12                   | 33, 640<br>19, 470                      | 43<br>44                         |
| 45<br>46                         | 1,000 under 1,500   | 9                   | 10, 674                          | 7                       | 2                          | 8, 205                                  | 45                               |
| 47                               | 1,000 under 1,500<br>1,500 under 2,000<br>2,000 under 3,000   | 6 2                 | 10, 073<br>4, 432                | 7                       | (13)                       | 9, 078                                  | 46                               |
| 48                               | 3,000 under 4,000   |                     |                                  |                         | ()                         | 3, 131                                  | 47<br>48                         |
| 49<br>50                         | 4,000 under 5,000<br>5,000 and over   | . 3                 | 13, 231<br>5, 540                | 4                       | 3                          | 9, 304<br>4, 985                        | 49<br>50                         |
| 51                               | Total, taxable individual returns with net income.  | 1, 728, 746         | 7, 706, 919                      | 1, 397, 158             | 435, 629                   | 2, 180, 836                             | 51                               |
|                                  | Nontaxable individual returns with  |                     |                                  |                         |                            |   |                                  |
| 52                               | ret income: 19<br>Form 1040A 10 (est.)  | 32, 806             | 0.000                            | 10.004                  |                            | Į                                       |                                  |
| - 1                              | FORM 1040:  |                     | 9, 969                           | 19, 684                 | 1, 633                     |   | <b>52</b>                        |
| 53<br>54                         | Under 0.5 (est.)  | 12, 077             | 3, 452                           | 6, 015                  | 265                        |   | 53                               |
| 55                               | 0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)  | 21 4, 614           | 2, 560                           | 3, 540                  | 292 _                      |   | 54                               |
| 56                               | 1 and over (est.)   | (22)                | (22)                             | (22)                    | (22)                       |   | 55                               |
| 57                               | Total, nontaxable individual  | 49, 633             | 16, 124                          | 29, 402                 | 2, 190                     |   | 56                               |
| 58                               | returns with net income.  |                     |                                  |                         | 4, 180                     |   | 57                               |
| 1                                | Total, individual returns with net income (51+57).  | 1, 778, 379         | 7, 723, 044                      | 1, 426, 560             | 437, 819                   | 2, 180, 836                             | 58 -                             |
| r (                              | or footnotes, see pp. 252-254.  |                     |                                  |                         |                            |   | _                                |

Table 3.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by sex and family relationship: Number of returns, net income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| (1) (22) (23) (24)  Taxable individual returns with net income: Form 1040A 10 (est.) 598, 285 846, 613 358, 971 Form 1040: 113, 651 33, 369 3, 261   | dit for vindents             | acome and ictory tax on 1943 income 7 (26) |                                  |
|--|------------------------------|--|----------------------------------|
| Number of returns   Net income   Personal   Cremption   dept.  | dit for ndents4 (25) 46, 457 | ictory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7<br>(26)  |                                  |
| Taxable individual returns with net income:  1 Form 1040 A <sup>10</sup> (est.)  | 46, 457                      |  |                                  |
| income: Form 1040A 10 (est.) 598, 285 846, 613 358, 971  | 377                          | 85, 652                                    |                                  |
| income: Form 1040A 10 (est.) 598, 285 846, 613 358, 971  | 377                          | 85, 652                                    |                                  |
| Form 1040: Under 0.5 (est.)  113, 651 33, 369 3, 261   |                              | 1  | 1                                |
|  |                              | 5, 677<br>10, 949                          | 2<br>3                           |
| 2 Under 0.5 (est.) 118, 299 74, 294 16, 791 3 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 118, 299 74, 294 16, 791 147, 588 129, 981 37, 454 0.75 under 1 (est.) 147, 588 129, 981 37, 454 4 0.75 un | 3,021                        |  | 4                                |
| 1 1 mder 1 25 (est.) 161, 369 181, 394 49, 722   | 3, 946<br>4, 909             | 26, 416  <br>34, 000                       | 4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8            |
| 5 1.25 under 1.25 (est.) 161, 814 222, 386 53, 905 1.25 under 1.75 (est.) 152, 611 246, 981 53, 376  | 5 455                        | 39, 357                                    | 7                                |
| 7 1.5 under 1.75 (est.) 125, 796 235, 373 46, 618 1.75 under 2 (est.) 125, 796 235, 373 46, 618  | 5,032                        | 38, 668                                    | 8                                |
| 9 under 2 25 (ASL.)  | 4, 223 ]                     | 29, 962                                    | 9                                |
|  | 3, 462<br>2, 385             |  | l0<br>l1                         |
| 10 2.5 under 2.75 (est.) 37, 451 97, 930 18, 725 11 2.5 under 2.75 (est.) 26, 783 76, 969 12, 816  | 2, 446                       |  | 12                               |
| 12 2.75 under 3 (est.) 34,751 111,975 18,264   | 3, 386                       | 19,889                                     | 13                               |
| 13 3 under 3.5 (est.) 16, 085 60, 233 9, 174 14 3.5 under 4 (est.) 16, 085 61, 219 7, 437  | 1, 951<br>1, 941             | 11, 032<br>11, 815                         | 14<br>15                         |
| 14 3.5 tinder 4 (est.) 14, 542 61, 219 7, 437 15 4 under 4.5 (est.) 10, 704 50, 893 5, 297 16 16 17 17 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18  | 1 035                        | 10, 437                                    | 15<br>16                         |
| 10   12,511   68,833   5,733   | 1, 216                       | 15,052                                     | 17                               |
| 17 5 tinder 6 (est.) 9, 087 58, 831 3, 908   | 746<br>846                   | 13, 451                                    | 18                               |
|  | 468                          |  | 19<br><b>2</b> 0                 |
| 20 8 under 9 (est.) 5, 648 47, 825 2, 447<br>20 9 under 10 (est.) 4, 425 41, 988 1, 953  | 496                          |  | 21<br>22                         |
| 21 9 under 10 (est.) 3, 337 35, 034 1, 537   | 320                          | 9, 519                                     | 22                               |
| 22 10 under 11 (est.) 2,784 31,957 1,291 23 11 under 12 (est.) 2,467 30,811 1,155  | 291<br>247                   | 8, 993                                     | 23                               |
| 20     8 under 9 (est.)  | 263                          | 8, 205                                     | 25                               |
| 25   13 under 14 (est.)   1,669   24,164   823   | 190                          | 7, 707<br>37, 204                          | 26                               |
| 20         8 under 9 (est.)  | 739<br>408                   | 28, 548                                    | 23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28 |
| 27 13 third 27 (est.) 3, 313 73, 747 1, 818 28 20 under 25   | 316                          | 24, 555                                    | 29                               |
| 28 20 tinder 25 2, 993 57, 113 1, 162 29 25 under 30 2, 418 83, 294 1, 383   | 357                          | 39, 309                                    | 30                               |
| 30 30 under 40   | 182<br>114                   | 29, 304<br>23, 378                         | 31<br>32                         |
| 29 25 under 30. 2, 090 37, 110 1, 183 30 30 under 40. 2, 418 83, 294 1, 883 31 40 under 50. 1, 265 56, 320 738 31 40 under 60. 765 41, 736 459 32 50 under 60. 440 28, 433 274 33 60 under 70. 440 28, 065 177 34 70 under 80. 309 23, 065 177 34 80 under 90 223 18, 896 163  | 83                           | 16,796                                     | 33                               |
| 33 60 under 70 309 23, 065 177   | 53                           | 14,026                                     | 34                               |
| 70 under 80.   30   18, 896   163   35   80 under 90.   146   13, 834   99   36   90 under 100.   146   13, 834   99   37   100 under 150.   365   43, 775   229   37   100 under 200.   145   24, 952   102   38   200 under 200.   45   9, 896   37   39   200 under 200.   36   9, 870   22   37   38   200 under 200.   36   9, 870   22   37   38   38   38   38   38   38   38   | 46<br>26                     | 12, 106<br>9, 096                          | 35<br>36                         |
| 36 90 under 100 146 13, 834 99 100 under 150 365 43, 775 229   | 63                           | 30, 280                                    | 37                               |
| 37 100 under 150 145 24, 952 102   | 38                           | 18, 139                                    | 38                               |
| 38 150 trider 200 45 9,896 37 39 200 under 250 36 9,870 22   | 4<br>5                       | 7, 835<br>7, 783                           | 39<br>40                         |
| 39 200 tinder 200 36 9, 870 22 4 8, 191 20   | 6                            | 6, 467                                     | 41                               |
| 41 300 under 400 16 7, 152 15  | 4                            | 5, 963                                     | 42                               |
| 40 220 tritler 300 24 8, 191 20<br>41 300 under 400 16 7, 152 15<br>42 400 under 500 16 7, 152 15<br>43 500 under 750 19 11, 717 17<br>43 750 under 1,000 7 5, 735 4<br>44 1,000 under 1,500 3 3, 168 2  | 4                            | 9, 450<br>4, 161                           | 43<br>44                         |
| 44 750 under 1,000   | 2                            | 1,590                                      | 45                               |
| 45 1,000 under 2,000   | (13)                         | 1, 867                                     | 46                               |
| 45 1,500 under 2,000   | 1                            | 3, 192                                     | 47<br>48                         |
|  |                              |  | 49                               |
| 5,000 and over   |                              | <u></u>                                    | 50                               |
| 51 Total, taxable individual 1, 929, 070 3, 794, 785 786, 074  | 98, 930                      | 829, 352                                   | 51                               |
| returns with net income.   | ·                            |  | İ                                |
| Nontaxable individual returns with   |                              |  | 1                                |
| net income: 12 Form 1040A 10 (est.) 91, 227 36, 084 54, 736  | 3, 919                       |  | 52                               |
| 52 Form 1040:  | 257                          | .1 .                                       | 53                               |
| Inder D b (est.)   | 427                          |  | 54                               |
|  | (22)                         |  | 55                               |
| 55 1 and over (est.) (22) (22) (23)  | (22)                         |  | 56                               |
| m-4-1 menterable individe   113 074   44 071   00,021  | 4, 701                       |  | 57                               |
| ual returns with net in-   | 100 000                      | 829, 352                                   | 58                               |
| 58 Total, individual returns 2,042,144 3,838,856 851,395 with net income (51+57).  | 103, 630                     | 629, 352                                   |                                  |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 3.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by sex and family relationship: Number of returns, net income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| _   |   |  | Commun  | ity property   | returns 20   |  |
|---|---|--|---|--|--|--|
|   |   |  |   | Men  |  |  |
|   | Net income classes  | Number<br>of returns   | Net<br>income   | Personal<br>exemption <sup>3</sup>   | Credit for<br>dependents   | Income and victory tax on 1943 income 7  |
|   | (1)   | (27)   | (28)  | (29)   | (30)   | (31)   |
|   | Taxable individual returns with net income:   |  |   |  |  |  |
| 1   | Form 1040A 10 (est.)<br>Form 1040:  | 349, 205   | 680, 912  | 209, 523   | 88, 388  | 75, 974  |
| 23 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 1 22 23 25 6 27 28 29 30 1 32 3 34 44 45 6 47 48 49 50 51 52 53 55 55 | Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  1. under 1.25 (est.)  1. under 1.25 (est.)  1. under 1.75 (est.)  1. under 1.75 (est.)  1. under 1.75 (est.)  1. under 2.5 (est.)  2. under 2.25 (est.)  2.5 under 2.5 (est.)  2.5 under 2.75 (est.)  2.5 under 2.75 (est.)  3. under 3.5 (est.)  3. under 3.5 (est.)  3. under 3.5 (est.)  3. under 3.5 (est.)  4. under 4.5 (est.)  4. under 4.5 (est.)  5. under 6 (est.)  6 under 7 (est.)  7 under 8 (est.)  9 under 10 (est.)  10 under 11 (est.)  11 under 12 (est.)  12 under 13 (est.)  13 under 14 (est.)  14 under 15 (est.)  15 under 20 (est.)  20 under 25  25 under 30  30 under 40  40 under 50  50 under 60  60 under 70  70 under 80  80 under 100  100 under 150  150 under 200  200 under 250  250 under 250  250 under 250  250 under 400  400 under 5,000  5,000 under 7,000  5,000 under 1,000  1,000 under 1,000  1,000 under 1,000  1,000 under 5,000  5,000 and over  Total, taxable individual returns with net income: 12  Form 1040A 10 (est.)  Form 1040A 10 (est.)  Form 1040: Under 0.75 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.) | 21 1, 226 21 3, 133 21 4, 834 21 7, 504 12, 052 42, 139 83, 941 81, 586 64, 431 44, 306 40, 087 49, 067 29, 237 76, 534 12, 099 21, 465 7, 240 6, 726 6, 316 4, 435 3, 742 2, 948 9, 697 3, 862 2, 236 2, 477 1, 254 205 152 298 109 40 21 111 7 7 7 3 4 | 397 2, 107 4, 258 8, 639 16, 807 69, 705 157, 767 173, 271 152, 352 115, 918 115, 438 168, 337 109, 725 69, 800 57, 391 117, 814 94, 846 92, 536 74, 232 68, 781 70, 509 61, 048 55, 396 61, 048 650, 496 42, 732 167, 194 85, 937 61, 936 50, 496 42, 732 167, 194 85, 937 61, 335 85, 176 85, 176 88, 18, 18, 18, 18, 18, 18, 18, 18, 18, | 209, 523  408 1, 490 2, 651 3, 853 6, 542 24, 173 46, 301 44, 924 35, 089 24, 371 22, 657 27, 337 16, 051 8, 751 6, 648 11, 909 8, 002 4, 734 2, 874 2, 874 2, 404 4, 2066 1, 607 5, 380 1, 535 444 1, 330 1, 535 4, 765 444 1, 330 1, 535 4, 76 | 88, 388  24 409 391 1, 23460 2, 460 4, 095 11, 686 10, 564 15, 421 7, 753 3, 988 2, 800 5, 337 3, 773, 73, 73 3, 050 2, 318 2, 120 1, 891 1, 533 1, 329 1, 099 763 2, 692 1, 181 1699 763 427 248 149 102 215, 611  215, 611 | 75, 974  34 81 342 784 81, 760 8, 913 21, 557 24, 244 22, 051 17, 559 18, 178 26, 401 19, 227 12, 990 11, 110 24, 228 20, 556 19, 146 17, 844 17, 437 18, 515 16, 706 15, 692 14, 809 13, 415 55, 941 32, 747 25, 746 39, 936 29, 004 20, 706 16, 394 13, 582 11, 154 4, 472 4, 472 4, 472 4, 472 4, 472 4, 472 4, 472 4, 472 761, 898 |
| 56<br>57  | 1 and over (est.)  Total, nontaxable individual   | 21 6, 418  | 9 550   | 9 (00  |  | 5  |
| 58  | returns with net income.  |  | 2, 550  | 3, 623   | 625  | 5  |
| _   | Total, individual returns with net income (51+57).  | 955, 929   | 3, 279, 514   | 544, 172   | 216, 236   | 761, 898   |
| F   | or footnotes, see pp. 252-254.  |  |   |  | <del></del>  | ·  |

Table 3.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by sex and family relationship: Number of returns, net income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|                  |  | Cor                             | mmunity pr           | operty return           | ns 20—Contin             | neg                                    |
|------------------|--|---------------------------------|----------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------|--|
|                  |  |                                 |                      | Women                   |                          | ······································ |
|                  | Net income classes   | Number<br>of returns            | Net<br>income        | Personal<br>exemption 3 | Credit for<br>dependents | Income and victory tax on 1943 in-     |
|                  | (1)  | (32)                            | (33)                 | (34)                    | (35)                     | come <sup>7</sup> (36)                 |
|                  | Taxable individual returns with net  |                                 |                      |                         |                          |  |
| 1                | income:<br>Form 1040A <sup>10</sup> (est.)   | 327, 725                        | 632, 479             | 196, 635                | 52, 920                  | 75, 276                                |
| 1                | Form 1040:   | (22)                            | (22)                 | (22)                    | (22)                     | (22)                                   |
| 2<br>3<br>4<br>5 | Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  | 21 3, 737                       | 2, 448               | 1,906                   | 170                      | 107                                    |
| Ĺ                |  | 21 4, 329                       | 3,844                | 2, 389<br>4, 293        | 509<br>521               | 308<br>729                             |
| į                | 0.75 under 1 (25 (est.)  | <sup>21</sup> 7, 178<br>14, 455 | 8, 171<br>20, 188    | 8, 951                  | 1, 755                   | 2, 080                                 |
| 7                | 1.25 tinder 1.5 (est.)   | 43, 326                         | 71, 593              | 26, 813                 | 2, 761                   | 9,075                                  |
| į                | 1.5 under 2 (est.)   | 84, 455                         | 158, 721             | 53, 565                 | 4, 447                   | 21, 501                                |
| í                | 2 under 2.25 (est.)  | 80, 538                         | 170, 931             | 52, 221                 | 7, 593                   | 24, 171                                |
| ١                | 2.25 under 2.5 (est.)  | 67, 486                         | 159.787              | 43, 517                 | 7, 527                   | 23, 459                                |
|                  |  | 44, 232<br>39, 018              | 115, 689<br>112, 325 | 32, 624<br>25, 270      | 4, 228<br>4, 218         | 17, 787<br>17, 902                     |
| 2                | 2.75 under 3 (est.)  | 49, 072                         | 157, 870             | 32, 631                 | 4, 730                   | 26, 672                                |
| ì                | 3 under 3.5 (est.)<br>3.5 under 4 (est.)   | 28, 512<br>17, 299              | 107,003              | 19,058                  | 3, 223                   | 19, 192                                |
| ,                | 4 under 4.5 (est.)<br>4.5 under 5 (est.)   | 17, 299                         | 73, 301              | 11, 266                 | 1,578                    | 13, 717                                |
| ;                | 4.5 under 5 (est.)   | 12, 172                         | 57,872               | 8, 100                  | 908<br>2, 169            | 11, 200<br>23, 721                     |
|                  | 5 under 6 (est.)   | 20, 817<br>14, 536              | 114, 322<br>94, 053  | 13, 643<br>9, 433       | 1, 541                   | 20, 557                                |
|                  | 6 under 7 (est.)   | 11,099                          | 83, 041              | 7, 428                  | 1,057                    | 19, 534                                |
|                  | 8 under 9 (est.)   | 8, 451                          | 71,648               | 5, 605                  | 882                      | 17, 383                                |
|                  | 9 under 10 (est.)  | 8, 451<br>7, 339                | 69, 702              | 4,862                   | 737                      | 17, 771                                |
| i                | 7 under 8 (est.)   | 6,702                           | 70, 268              | 4, 444                  | 688<br>511               | 18, 545<br>16, 226                     |
|                  | 11 under 12 (est.)   | 5, 128<br>4, 435                | 58, 915<br>55, 413   | 3, 416<br>2, 981        | 449                      | 15, 857                                |
|                  | 12 under 13 (est.)   | 3, 625                          | 48, 925              | 2, 462                  | 446                      | 14, 573                                |
|                  | 13 under 14 (est.)<br>14 under 15 (est.)<br>15 under 20 (est.)<br>20 under 25.<br>25 under 30.<br>30 under 40. | 3, 019                          | 43, 783              | 2,062                   | 299                      | 13,834                                 |
| -                | 15 under 20 (est.)   | 9, 422                          | 162, 247             | 6, 311                  | 973                      | 54, 465                                |
| 7 33             | 20 under 25  | 3, 666                          | 81,659               | 2, 513                  | 394<br>227               | 31, 417<br>24, 308                     |
| '                | 25 under 30  | 2, 092<br>2, 296                | 57, 102<br>78, 868   | 1, 434<br>1, 540        | 235                      | 37, 307                                |
|                  | 40 under 50  | 1, 158                          | 51,544               | 795                     | 120                      | 27, 026                                |
| :                | 50 under 60  | 610                             | 33, 261              | 404                     | 70                       | 18, 540                                |
|                  | 40 under 50<br>50 under 60<br>60 under 70  | 350                             | 22, 623              | 247                     | 52                       | 13, 480                                |
|                  | 70 under 80<br>80 under 90   | 243<br>152                      | 18, 120<br>12, 847   | 170<br>101              | 32<br>14                 | 11, 148<br>8, 258                      |
|                  | 90 under 100   | 128                             | 12, 107              | 94                      | 18                       | 8,030                                  |
|                  | 100 under 150  | 252                             | 30, 639              | 171                     | 31                       | 21, 421                                |
|                  | 100 under 150<br>150 under 200<br>200 under 250  | 71                              | 12,095               | 48                      | 7                        | 8, 946                                 |
|                  | 200 under 250  | 35                              | 7,774                | 23<br>9                 | 7 5                      | 5, 792                                 |
| ١                | 250 under 300  | 15<br>17                        | 4, 077<br>5, 788     | 12                      | i                        | 3, 146<br>4, 544                       |
| ,                | 400 under 500  | R                               | 3,773                | 4                       | 1                        | 2, 573                                 |
|                  | 500 under 750  | 6                               | 3, 581               | 4                       | (13)                     | 2, 432                                 |
| 1                | 500 under 750  | 1                               | 787                  | 1                       | (13)                     | 390<br>3, 176                          |
|                  | 1,000 under 1,500  | 3                               | 3, 529               | 3                       |                          | 3, 170                                 |
| . ]              | 2 000 under 2 000  |                                 |                      |                         |                          |  |
|                  | 3,000 under 4,000  |                                 |                      |                         |                          |  |
| ١                | 4,000 under 5.000  |                                 |                      |                         |                          |  |
|                  | 5,000 and over   |                                 |                      |                         |                          |  |
|                  | Total, taxable individual returns with net income.   | 930, 179                        | 3, 165, 085          | 589,875                 | 108, 144                 | 727,606                                |
|                  | Nontaxable individual returns with   |                                 |                      |                         |                          |  |
|                  | net income: 12<br>Form 1040A 10 (est.)   | <sup>21</sup> 2, 145            | 1,105                | 1,287                   | 437                      |  |
|                  | Form 1040:<br>Under 0.5 (est.)   | 21 3, 799                       | 1,088                | 2, 203                  | 131                      |  |
|                  | 0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  | (22)                            | ( <sup>22</sup> )    | (22)                    | (22)                     |  |
|                  | 0.75 under 1 (est.)  |                                 |                      |                         |                          |  |
|                  | 1 and over (est.)  |                                 |                      |                         |                          |  |
| ,                | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income.  | <sup>21</sup> 6, 487            | 2, 506               | 3, 836                  | 615                      |  |
|                  | Total, individual returns with net income (51+57).   | 936, 666                        | 3, 167, 591          | 593, 711                | 108, 759                 | 727, 606                               |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 3.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by sex and family relationship: Number of returns, net income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13· 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| =  |   | 1  |   |   |   |   | ==   |
|--|---|--|---|---|---|---|--|
|  |   |  |   | leads of fami   |   |   |  |
|  | 1   | Single   | men and m   | arried men n  | ot living with  | h wives   | ļ  |
|  | Net income classes  | Number of<br>returns   | Net<br>income   | Personal<br>exemp-<br>tion 3  | Credit for dependents   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income  | <b>.</b>   |
|  | (1)   | (37)   | (38)  | (39)  | (40)  | (41)  | \  |
|  | Taxable individual returns with net income:   |  |   |   |   |   |  |
| 1  | Form 1040A 10 (est.)  | 681, 978   | 1, 190, 606   | 818, 374  | 212, 125  | 65, 242   | 1  |
| 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 1 13 4 15 16 17 18 9 20 1 2 2 3 4 2 2 5 6 7 2 8 9 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 | Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 under 1.25 (est.) 1.25 under 1.5 (est.) 1.5 under 1.75 (est.) 1.75 under 2.25 (est.) 2.25 under 2.25 (est.) 2.25 under 2.25 (est.) 2.5 under 2.75 (est.) 2.5 under 2.5 (est.) 3.5 under 3 (est.) 3.5 under 4 (est.) 4.5 under 5 (est.) 5.5 under 6 (est.) 5 under 7 (est.) 7 under 8 (est.) 8 under 9 (est.) 10 under 10 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 6 (est.) 0 under 10 (est.) 10 under 10 (est.) 10 under 20 (est.) 20 under 25 25 under 30 30 under 40 40 under 50 50 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 200 200 under 250 250 under 250 250 under 250 250 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 750 750 under 1,000 1,000 under 1,500 1,500 under 2,000 2,000 under 2,000 2,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 5,000 under 5,000 | 44, 503 45, 352 37, 967 35, 278 44, 986 47, 816 13, 485 11, 265 5, 670 2, 2857 2, 240 1, 326 1, 038 717, 656 2, 092 1, 145 734 100 555 25 88 27 11 | 727 7, 243 16, 325 32, 800 45, 342 60, 887 83, 695 90, 058 89, 945 92, 536 130, 574 256, 959 167, 016 74, 995 63, 982 61, 293 36, 711 27, 663 24, 206 21, 251 13, 960 11, 951 10, 859 9, 663 9, 663 9, 506 17, 726 25, 188 15, 592 10, 676 25, 188 15, 592 10, 676 8, 012 7, 453 4, 651 2, 360 10, 596 4, 587 2, 392 1, 354 1, 827 1, 730 | 2, 055 12, 128 21, 943 34, 033 38, 559 44, 137 52, 974 44, 737 71, 892 53, 767 94, 907 53, 567 21, 015 16, 110 13, 481 6, 742 3, 572 3, 430 2, 675 1, 573 1, 241 1, 046 851 781 2, 403 1, 366 773 873 873 873 873 873 873 873 873 873 | 45 1, 186 2, 567 4, 221 4, 908 5, 030 8, 055 8, 598 7, 640 7, 960 9, 494 19, 479 11, 498 3, 908 2, 864 1, 330 500 506 308 252 205 161 171 496 143 160 50 29 25 211 5 24 14 5 1 (13) | 33<br>64<br>249<br>650<br>1, 588<br>3, 374<br>6, 016<br>8, 345<br>8, 768<br>9, 913<br>15, 336<br>32, 336<br>32, 320<br>11, 276<br>10, 408<br>10, 722<br>7, 005<br>8, 672<br>5, 321<br>4, 936<br>3, 388<br>3, 065<br>2, 657<br>2, 783<br>11, 432<br>2, 657<br>2, 783<br>11, 432<br>2, 657<br>7, 272<br>11, 517<br>17, 912<br>5, 834<br>4, 704<br>4, 487<br>7, 272<br>11, 505<br>7, 433<br>3, 366<br>1, 758<br>2, 1505<br>7, 433<br>3, 366<br>1, 758<br>2, 1505<br>7, 433<br>3, 366<br>1, 758<br>1, 129<br>1, 552<br>1, 556<br>1, 550 | 2.3 4 5 6 7 7 8 9 10 112 13 4 1 15 6 17 7 18 9 20 1 22 2 23 24 2 5 6 2 7 8 3 3 4 5 6 6 3 7 8 9 4 1 4 4 3 4 4 4 5 4 6 4 7 |
| 48<br>49<br>50   | 4,000 under 5,000   |  |   |   |   |   | 48.<br>49.<br>50.  |
| 51   | Total, taxable individual returns with net income.  | 1, 212, 970  | 2, 813, 961   | 1, 445, 986   | 318, 368  | 333, 750  | 51   |
| 52   | Nontaxable individual returns with net income: 17 Form 1040A 10 (est.) Form 1040:   | 38,990   | 15, 127   | 46, 788   | 10, 625   |   | 52.  |
| 53<br>54<br>55   | Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)  | 10, 312<br>21 4, 749<br>(22)   | 3, 270<br>2, 715<br>(22)  | 11, 986<br>5, 509<br>(22)   | 2, 191<br>778   |   | 53.<br>54<br>55  |
| 56   | 1 and over (est.)   | (22)   | (22)  | (22)  | (22)  |   | 56,  |
| 57   | Total, nontaxable, individ-<br>ual returns with net income.   | .55, 271   | 22,′578   | 65, 694   | 14, 113   |   | 57   |
| 58   | Total, individual returns with net income (51+57).  | 1, 268, 241  | 2, 836, 538   | 1, 511, 680   | 332, 482  | 333, 750  | 58,  |
| F  | or footnotes see pp. 252-254  |  |   |   |   |   |  |

758454--50---12

Table 3.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by sex and family relationship: Number of returns, net income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13,

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| $\overline{\Box}$   |   |   | Heads of   | families—Co  | ntinued  |  |
|---|---|---|--|--|--|--|
|   |   | Single wome   | en and marri   | ed women no  | ot living with   | husbands   |
|   | Net income classes  | Number of returns   | Net<br>income  | Personal<br>exemp-<br>tion 3   | Credit for dependents 4  | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7   |
|   | (1)   | (42)  | (43)   | (44)   | (45)   | (46)   |
|   | Taxable individual returns with net   |   |  |  |  | 1  |
| 1   | income:<br>Form 1040A <sup>10</sup> (est.)  | 1, 014, 986   | 1, 485, 193  | 1, 217, 983  | 220, 944   | . 61, 678  |
| 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 34 44 44 44 45 | Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  1 under 1.25 (est.)  1 under 1.25 (est.)  1.25 under 1.5 (est.)  1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  1.5 under 1.5 (est.)  2.5 under 2.5 (est.)  2.5 under 2.25 (est.)  2.5 under 2.25 (est.)  3.5 under 3.5 (est.)  3.5 under 3.5 (est.)  4 under 4.5 (est.)  5 under 6 (est.)  5 under 6 (est.)  6 under 7 (est.)  7 under 8 (est.)  9 under 10 (est.)  10 under 11 (est.)  11 under 12 (est.)  12 under 13 (est.)  13 under 14 (est.)  14 under 15 (est.)  15 under 6 (est.)  10 under 10 (est.)  10 under 10 (est.)  10 under 10 (est.)  10 under 10 (est.)  10 under 10 (est.)  10 under 10 (est.)  10 under 10 (est.)  10 under 10 (est.)  10 under 10 (est.)  10 under 10 (est.)  10 under 11 (est.)  11 under 12 (est.)  12 under 13 (est.)  13 under 14 (est.)  14 under 15 (est.)  50 under 60  60 under 60  60 under 70  70 under 80  80 under 90  90 under 100  100 under 150  150 under 200  200 under 250  250 under 300  300 under 400  400 under 500  500 under 750  750 under 1,000  1,000 under 1,500 | 2, 751<br>1, 755<br>1, 516<br>1, 159<br>665<br>665<br>667<br>508<br>431<br>309<br>1, 091<br>167<br>96<br>65<br>39<br>167<br>96<br>65<br>39<br>116<br>16<br>34<br>15<br>15 | 977 10, 934 31, 210 64, 68, 77 108, 855 107, 312 178, 836 57, 781 45, 176 46, 270 66, 121 33, 309 23, 143 19, 063 23, 641 17, 792 12, 838 11, 029 6, 992 7, 077 6, 340 5, 818 4, 473 18, 731 12, 626 9, 668 13, 375 7, 443 5, 244 4, 204 2, 858 1, 593 1, 521 4, 025 2, 584 1, 078 2, 678 1, 103 866 866 543 | 3, 405 18, 661 30; 894 65, 098 91, 581 70, 990 67, 426 43, 334 28, 861 20, 328 18, 993 24, 447 10, 639 6, 632 4, 846 4, 1, 782 1, 782 1, 783 783 783 783 783 783 783 1, 281 1, 284 464 115 77 45 23 19 41 18 6 6 1 1 1 1 1 1 | 173 1, 950 3, 399 4, 791 6, 498 5, 769 6, 181 5, 229 3, 486 2, 516 2, 122 2, 908 1, 218 1, 041 643 409 9283 284 171 107 129 96 47 166 99 71 166 6 8 8 3 31 11 5 (13) | 36 141 582 1, 551 4, 368 6, 473 8, 357 7, 067 5, 954 5, 124 5, 708 8, 770 4, 883 3, 565 3, 112 4, 260 3, 476 2, 823 2, 837 2, 608 1, 704 1, 826 1, 704 1, 826 1, 704 1, 826 1, 704 1, 619 1, 340 5, 970 4, 688 3, 980 6, 106 3, 722 2, 883 2, 450 1, 746 1, 746 1, 930 764 2, 828 1, 930 764 2, 934 605 4, 930 605 605 605 605 |
| 46<br>47  | 1,500 under 2,000   |   |  |  |  |  |
| 48<br>49  | 4 000 under 5.000   | .   |  |  |  |  |
| 50  | 5,000 and over<br>Total, taxable individual   | 1, 478, 603   | l  | 1, 759, 130  | 271, 697   | 193, 364   |
| 51  | returns with net income.  | 2, 170, 000   |  |  |  |  |
| 52  | Nontaxable individual returns with<br>net income: <sup>17</sup><br>Form 1040A <sup>10</sup> (est.)  | 1   | 28, 975  | 71, 167  | 14,629   |  |
| 53<br>54  | Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)  | 11,398<br>21.7,056  | 3, 910<br>3, 889   | 12, 816<br>8, 316  | 1, 104<br>934  |  |
| 55<br>56  | 0.75 under 1 (est.)   | . 21 1, 357   | 1, 137   | 1, 628   | (22)   |  |
| 57  | Total, nontaxable individ-<br>ual returns with net in-<br>come.   |   | 38, 936  | 103, 045   | 17, 237  |  |
| 58  | Total, individual returns with net income (51+57).  | 1, 558, 534   | 2, 519, 820  | 1, 862, 175  | 288, 933   | 193, 364   |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 3.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by sex and family relationship: Number of returns, net income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| 1                |  |   | Not  | heads of fam   | ilies   |  |
|------------------|--|---|--|--|---|--|
|                  |  | Single  | men and ma   | rried men no   | t living with   | wives  |
|                  | Net income classes   | Number<br>of returns  | Net<br>income  | Personal<br>exemp-<br>tion 3   | Credit for<br>depend-<br>ents 4   | Income<br>and<br>victory<br>tax on 1943<br>income 7  |
| 1                | (1)  | (47)  | (48)   | (49)   | (50)  | (51)   |
| ľ                | Taxable individual returns with net  |   |  |  |   |  |
|                  | income:<br>Form 1040A <sup>10</sup> (est.)<br>Form 1040:   | 2, 813, 482   | 4, 086, 202  | 1, 406, 741  | 82, 637   | 513, 001   |
| 3390 234557390 1 | Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  1 under 1.25 (est.)  1 under 1.25 (est.)  1.25 under 1.5 (est.)  1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  1.75 under 2 (est.)  2.25 under 2.6 (est.)  2.5 under 2.75 (est.)  2.5 under 2.75 (est.)  3.5 under 3 (est.)  3.5 under 4 (est.)  4 under 3.5 (est.)  5 under 5 (est.)  5 under 6 (est.)  6 under 7 (est.)  7 under 8 (est.)  9 under 10 (est.)  11 under 11 (est.)  11 under 12 (est.)  12 under 13 (est.)  13 under 14 (est.)  14 under 15 (est.)  15 under 6 (est.)  9 under 10 (est.)  10 under 11 (est.)  11 under 12 (est.)  12 under 13 (est.)  13 under 14 (est.)  14 under 15 (est.)  15 under 6 (est.)  20 under 25  25 under 30  30 under 40  40 under 60  60 under 70  70 under 80  80 under 90  90 under 100  100 under 150  150 under 250  250 under 300  300 under 400  400 under 5,000  5,000 under 7,500  750 under 5,000  5,000 under 5,000  5,000 under 5,000  5,000 under 5,000  5,000 under 5,000  5,000 under 5,000  5,000 under 1,000  1,000 u | 16, 303 168, 243 172, 843 172, 843 174, 1854 134, 903 126, 004 107, 543 90, 664 81, 153 60, 044 96, 281 203, 833 105, 573 51, 350 29, 686 28, 476 15, 318 10, 528 3, 705 2, 890 2, 324 2, 124 1, 816 5, 598 3, 446 2, 153 3, 446 2, 153 3, 446 3, 153 3, 203 1, 222 1, 184 2, 353 1, 222 1, 184 2, 353 1, 222 1, 184 2, 353 1, 222 1, 184 343 2111 151 389 121 122 22 1 1 123 23 24 24 25 25 26 26 27 27 27 28 28 28 28 29 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 | 6, 066 105, 682 150, 168 164, 212 185, 299 204, 979 201, 107 192, 477 192, 898 157, 486 657, 466 392, 767 216, 893 140, 288 657, 839 65, 839 65, 839 65, 839 65, 839 65, 839 65, 484 98, 910 28, 653 26, 289 96, 474 27, 742 58, 268 80, 975 54, 281 40, 897 728, 551 42, 281 44, 927 77, 128 87, 476 6, 588 97, 477 6, 588 98, 477 6, 588 98, 477 6, 588 98, 477 6, 588 98, 477 6, 588 99, 478 6, 586 6, 58 | 7, 517 84, 410 86, 745 74, 629 68, 448 64, 153 54, 778 45, 914 41, 199 31, 081 26, 139 15, 018 14, 477 7, 750 2, 960 1, 482 1, 082 1, 751 1, 083 1, 182 379 222 2175 106 62 622 379 222 2175 106 78 196 62 62 379 222 2175 106 78 196 62 63 11 11 11 11 11 11 22, 263, 125 | 52<br>1,711<br>3,743<br>3,267<br>3,535<br>4,460<br>4,809<br>4,016<br>2,690<br>2,159<br>4,590<br>9,723<br>4,426<br>2,166<br>1,055<br>1,303<br>1557<br>424<br>274<br>219<br>113<br>112<br>87<br>91<br>133<br>112<br>87<br>91<br>113<br>112<br>87<br>113<br>112<br>81<br>113<br>114<br>115<br>115<br>115<br>115<br>115<br>115<br>115<br>115<br>115 | 313, 001  234 4, 144 12, 872 19, 085 24, 941 30, 132 27, 791 50, 755 123, 884 77, 659 44, 332 29, 841 34, 791 19, 660 16, 982 15, 035 10, 775 9, 634 8, 628 8, 876 8, 613 33, 583 30, 5540 25, 413 38, 819 28, 622 23, 055 17, 020 15, 982 21, 652 9, 527 32, 713 15, 747 11, 765 5, 789 7, 408 8, 498 3, 063 2, 351 1, 448 1, 797 |
|                  | Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)<br>1 and over (est.)  | 162, 828<br>21 5, 156   | 54, 187<br>2, 783  | 82, 926<br>3, 548  | 659<br>474  |  |
| i                | 1 and over (est.)  |   |  |  |   |  |
|                  | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income.  | 919, 260  | 244, 825   | 462, 113   | 11, 270   |  |
| ;                | Total, individual returns with net income (51+57).   | 5, 421, 119   | 8, 808, 275  | 2, 725, 237  | 150, 485  | 1, 540, 713  |

Table 3.-Individual returns with net income, 1943. by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by sex and family relationship: Number of returns, net income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| -                    | Not heads of families—Continued   |   |                                 |   |                                 |  |            |  |
|----------------------|---|---|---------------------------------|---|---------------------------------|--|------------|--|
|                      |   | G1  |                                 |   |                                 | h husbands   |            |  |
|                      |   | Single won  | en and marr                     | ied women n                             | or nying wit                    | u nuspangs   |            |  |
|                      | Net income classes  | Number<br>of returns                                  | Net<br>income                   | Personal<br>exemp-<br>tion <sup>3</sup> | Credit for<br>depend-<br>ents 4 | Income<br>and<br>victory<br>tax on 1943<br>income <sup>7</sup> |            |  |
|                      | (1)   | (52)  | (53)                            | (54)                                    | (55)                            | (56)   |            |  |
|                      | Taxable individual returns with net   |   |                                 |   |                                 |  |            |  |
| 1                    | income:<br>Form 1040A <sup>10</sup> (est.)  | 4, 362, 779   | 5, 695, 572                     | 2, 181, 390                             | 73, 339                         | 670, 099   | ť          |  |
| 1                    | Form 1040:  | 47, 480   | 17 936                          | 23, 080                                 | 263                             | 487  | 2.         |  |
| 2 3                  | Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)   | 266, 248<br>360, 209<br>363, 006                      | 17, 836<br>168, 371<br>316, 318 | 133, 571<br>181, 277                    | 1,896                           | 7, 201   | 3.         |  |
| 4 5                  | 0 75 under 1 (est.)   | 360, 209  | 316, 318                        | 181, 277                                | 4,845                           | 28, 362  | 4          |  |
| 5                    | 1 under 1.25 (est.)   | 363, 006<br>290, 065                                  | 406, 794<br>397, 637            | 182, 676<br>145, 996                    | 4, 807<br>4, 755                | 47, 959<br>54, 323   | 5.<br>6.   |  |
| 6 7                  | 1 under 1.25 (est.)<br>1.25 under 1.5 (est.)<br>1.5 under 1.75 (est.)                                 | 198 388   | 320, 275                        | 100, 137                                | 3, 129                          | 47, 492  | 7          |  |
| 8                    | 1.75 under 2 (est.)   | 198, 388<br>142, 544<br>85, 762<br>58, 779<br>37, 770 | 265, 438                        | 71, 858                                 | 3, 034                          | 42, 143  | 8          |  |
| 9                    | 1.75 under 2 (est.)<br>2 under 2.25 (est.)  | 85, 762   | 181, 136<br>139, 237            | 43, 370<br>29, 502                      | 1, 933                          | 30, 087  | 9,         |  |
| 10                   | 2 25 under 2.5 (est.)   | 58, 779   | 139, 237                        | 29, 502                                 | 808<br>686                      | 24, 116<br>17, 736   | 10·<br>11  |  |
| 11                   | 2.5 under 2.75 (est.)   | 37, 770<br>35, 949                                    | 98, 917<br>103, 598             | 19, 175<br>18, 211                      | 517                             | 19, 111  | 12.        |  |
| 12<br>13             | 2.5 under 2.75 (est.)<br>2.75 under 3 (est.)<br>3 under 3.5 (est.)                                    | 54, 923   | 175, 933                        | 27, 794                                 | 897                             | 33, 569  | 13         |  |
| 14                   | 3.5 under 4 (est.)  | 29, 481   | 110,079                         | 14,687                                  | 416                             | 22, 012<br>17, 885   | 14         |  |
| 15                   | 3.5 under 4 (est.)<br>4 under 4.5 (est.)  | 20, 287   | 86, 376<br>46, 686              | 10, 210                                 | 256                             | 17, 885  | 15         |  |
| 16                   | 4.5 under 5 (est.)<br>5 under 6 (est.)<br>6 under 7 (est.)  | 9, 816<br>14, 283                                     | 78, 233                         | 4, 908<br>7, 186                        | 45<br>277                       | 10, 049<br>17, 684   | 16-<br>17  |  |
| 17                   | 6 under 7 (est.)  | 9, 426  | 60, 988                         | 4, 759                                  | 237                             | 14, 385  | 18         |  |
| 18<br>19             | 7 under 8 (est.)  | 6, 980  | 52, 134                         | 3, 522                                  | 185                             | 13, 117  | 19-        |  |
| 20                   | 8 under 9 (est.)  | 5, 212  | 44, 161<br>38, 943              | 2,616                                   | 155                             | 11, 459<br>10, 638   | 20·<br>21  |  |
| 21                   | 9 under 10 (est.)   | 4, 105<br>2, 834                                      | 29, 700                         | 2,087<br>1,432                          | 60<br>101                       | 8, 282   | 22"        |  |
| 20<br>21<br>22<br>23 | 7 under 8 (est.)<br>8 under 9 (est.)<br>9 under 10 (est.)<br>10 under 11 (est.)<br>11 under 12 (est.) | 2, 158  | 24, 823                         | 1,089                                   | 60                              | 7, 196   | 23:        |  |
| 24                   |   | 1.820   | 22, 716                         | 923                                     | 49                              | 6, 872   | 24         |  |
| 25                   | 13 under 14 (est.)  | 1,754   | 23, 644<br>19, 361              | 894<br>670                              | 69<br>42                        | 7, 391<br>6, 400   | 25<br>26   |  |
| 26<br>27             | 14 under 15 (est.)  | 1, 336<br>4, 611                                      | 79, 452                         | 2, 300                                  | 134                             | 27, 787  | 27         |  |
| 27<br>28             | 15 under 20 (est.)<br>20 under 25<br>25 under 30  | 2, 677  | 59, 573                         | 1,348                                   | 108                             | 23, 783  | 28.        |  |
| 29                   | 25 under 30   | 1, 629  | 44, 505                         | 819                                     | 59                              | 19, 501  | 29         |  |
| 30                   | 30 under 40<br>40 under 50<br>50 under 60   | 1,831   | 63, 219                         | 917                                     | 91                              | 30, 364  | 30         |  |
| 31                   | 40 under 50   | 928<br>557  | 41, 247                         | 466<br>279                              | 54<br>42                        | 21, 816<br>17, 256   | 32"        |  |
| 32<br>33             | 60 under 70   | 329   | 30, 427<br>21, 266              | 165                                     | 16                              | 12, 686  | 33         |  |
| 34                   | 60 under 70   | 215   | 16,049                          | 107                                     | 14                              | ,9,937   | 34 -       |  |
| 35                   | 80 under 90   | 144   | 12, 206                         | 71<br>52                                | 6                               | 7,824  | 35<br>36   |  |
| 36                   | 90 under 100  | 104<br>308  | 9, 825<br>36, 844               | 156                                     | 12<br>17                        | 6, 524<br>26, 094  | 37         |  |
| 37<br>38             | 100 under 150<br>150 under 200  | 92  | 15, 515                         | 46                                      | 19                              | 11, 819  | 38         |  |
| 39                   | 200 under 250<br>250 under 300  | 38  | 8,441                           | 19                                      | 1                               | 6, 601   | 39,        |  |
| 40                   | 250 under 300   | 20  | 5, 378                          | 10                                      | 3                               | 4, 397<br>6, 910   | 40°<br>41  |  |
| 41                   | 300 under 400<br>400 under 500  | 25<br>15  | 8, 621<br>6, 746                | 13<br>8                                 | 1                               | 5, 829   | 42.        |  |
| 42<br>43             | 500 under 750   | 18  | 10, 622                         | 9                                       | 4                               | 8,882  | 43         |  |
| 44                   | 750 under 1,000   | 5   | 4, 367                          | 3                                       |                                 | 3, 574   | 44         |  |
| 45                   | 500 under 750   | 4   | 5, 058                          | 2                                       |                                 | 4, 491   | 46         |  |
| 46<br>47             | 2,000 under 3,000   | 1   | 2,030                           | 1                                       | (13)                            | 1,064  | 47"        |  |
| 48                   | 3,000 under 4,000   |   | -,                              |   |                                 |  | 48-        |  |
| 49                   | 4,000 under 5,000   |   |                                 |   |                                 |  | 49°<br>50° |  |
| 50                   | -,  | 0.400.645   | 0.400.007                       | 2 910 900                               | 102 402                         | 1, 433, 197  | 511        |  |
| 51                   | Total, taxable individual returns with net income.  | 6, 426, 945   | 9, 406, 297                     | 3, 219, 808                             | 103, 433                        | 1, 455, 197  | 1 311      |  |
|                      | Nontaxable individual returns with  |   |                                 | - <del></del>                           |                                 |  |            |  |
| 52                   | net income: 12<br>Form 1040A 10 (est.)  | 672, 034  | 229, 269                        | 336, 017                                | 12, 465                         |  | 52         |  |
| 53                   | Form 1040:<br>Under 0.5 (est.)  | 205, 706  | 71, 572                         | 103, 295                                | 1,053                           |  | 53         |  |
| 54                   | 0.5 under 0.75 (est.)   | 21 8, 684   | 4,749                           | 4,600                                   | 736                             |  | 54         |  |
| 55                   | 0.75 under 1 (est.)   | (22)  | (22)                            | [ (22)                                  | (22)                            |  | 55         |  |
| 56                   | 1 and over (est.)   | (22)  | (22)                            | (22)                                    | (22)                            |  | 56         |  |
| 57                   | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income.   | 886, 967  | 306, 038                        | 444, 262                                | 14,396                          |  | 57         |  |
| 58                   | Total, individual returns with net income (51+57).  | 7, 313, 912   | 9, 712, 335                     | 3, 664, 070                             | 117, 829                        | 1, 433, 197  | 58:        |  |

TABLE 4.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classés; also aggregates for returns with no net income: Number of returns, amount of each specific source of income and deduction, and net income or deficit

For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114

|   |                      |   |                                | Sources   | Sources of income                               |  |                         |                              |
|---|----------------------|---|--------------------------------|-----------|---|--|-------------------------|------------------------------|
|   |                      |   |                                |           | Interest 24                                     |  |                         |                              |
|   |                      | *************************************** |                                |           |   |  |                         |                              |
| Net income classes <sup>1</sup>           | Number of<br>returns | Salaries,                               | Dividends<br>from domestic     | Bank do   | Governmen                                       | Government obligations   | Annuities               | Net gain from                |
|   |                      | (individual<br>returns)                 | and foreign<br>corporations 23 | <u> </u>  | Partially taxexempt 23 (Subject to Surfax only) | Taxable <sup>26</sup> (subject to normal tax, surtax, and victory tax) | (individual<br>returns) | sales of capital<br>assets " |
| (1)                                       | (2)                  | (3)                                     | (4)                            | (6)       | (9)   | £  | (8)                     | 6)                           |
| Taxable individual and fiduciary returns: | <del>.</del>         |   |                                |           |   |  |                         |                              |
| Forms 1040 and 1041.                      | 18, 159, 744         | 30, 065, 187                            | (40)                           | (e)       | (g)   | 9  | (e)                     |                              |
| Under 0.5 (est.)                          | 241, 957             |   |                                | 210 10    | 0   |  | ,                       |                              |
| 0.5 under 0.75 (est.)                     | 766.873              | 306, 596                                | 39, 151                        | 21, 916   | 2,073   | 2,919  | 2,611                   | 3,641                        |
| 0.75 under 1 (est.)                       | 1, 115, 107          |   |                                | 27, 478   | 2,210   |  | 4,439                   | 5,19                         |
| I under 1.25 (est.)                       | 1, 338, 190          |   |                                | 28, 511   | 1.704   |  | 10, 20,                 | 7.00                         |
| 1.50 under 1.5 (est.)                     | 1,471,852            |   |                                | 24,669    | 2,045   |  | 9,816                   | 60.0                         |
| 1.75 under 2 (est.)                       | 1, 521, 033          |   |                                | . 27, 143 | 2,061   |  | 7, 185                  | 11,15                        |
| 2 under 2.25 (est.)                       | 1, 630, 884          | _                                       |                                | 27, 213   | 2,161   |  | 7,405                   | 13,80                        |
| 2.25 under 2.5 (est.)                     | 1, 581, 258          |   |                                | 23, 430   | 2, 201  |  | , 13I                   | 13, 52                       |
| 2.5 under 2.75 (est.)                     | 1, 447, 801          |   |                                | 21, 149   | 2, 218  |  | 3,695                   | 13,05                        |
| 3 under 2 5 (est.)                        | 1,682,056            |   |                                | 25, 905   | 1,540   |  | 4.547                   | 14, 286                      |
| 3.5 under 4 (est.)                        | 2, 994, 020          | _                                       |                                | 44,019    | 3,644   |  | 7,981                   | 29,866                       |
| 4 under 4.5 (est.)                        | 1,004,309            |   |                                | 31, 925   | 3, 332  |  | 2, 461                  | 24, 43                       |
| 4.5 under 5 (est.)                        | 510 340              |   |                                | 23, 650   | 2,069   |  | 2,005                   | 19, 370                      |
| 5 under 6 (est.)                          | 471.781              |   |                                | 20, 412   | 1,906   |  | 2,001                   | 18, 74                       |
| 6 under 7 (est.)                          | 251, 437             |   |                                | 90, 907   | 3, 190  |  | 4,462                   | 31, 408                      |
| 7 under 8 (est.)                          | 167, 350             |   | _                              | 27,07     | 9,000   |  | 3,437                   | 27, 75                       |
| 8 under 9 (est.)                          | 120,768              |   |                                | 99, 913   | 2, 000  |  | 201.7                   | 24, 646                      |
| 9 under 10 (est.)                         | 96,076               |   |                                | 10.501    | 1,011   |  | 4, 214                  | 762, 257                     |
| 10 under 11 (est.)                        | 67, 420              |   |                                | 14, 958   | 1, 500  |  | 1,071                   | 21, 21,                      |
| 11 under 12 (est.)                        | 54, 339              |   |                                | 13, 421   | 1,011   |  | 1,000                   | 14, 200                      |
| 12 under 15 (est.)                        | 43, 748              |   |                                | 11.917    | 1 488   |  | 1000                    | 12, 701                      |
|   |                      |   |                                |           |   |  |                         |                              |

Table 4.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; also aggregates for returns with no net income: Number of returns, amount of each specific source of income and deduction, and net income or deficit—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   | et meonie cias                                      |   |  |  |   |   |   | 1  |
|---|---|---|--|--|---|---|---|--|
|   |   |   |  | Sources  | of income   |   |   |  |
|   |   |   |  |  | Interest 24   |   |   |  |
| Net income classes !  | Number of   | Salaries,   | Dividends  |  | Government  | obligations   | Annuities   | Net gain from                            |
| 1100 111001110 012223   | returns   | (individual   | from domestic<br>and foreign<br>corporations <sup>23</sup> | Bank de-<br>posits, notes,<br>mortgages,<br>corporation<br>bonds   | Partially tax-<br>exempt 25<br>(subject to<br>surtax only)  | Taxable 26 (subject to normal tax, surtax, and victory tax)   | (individual<br>returns)   | sales of capital<br>assets <sup>27</sup> |
| (1)   | (2)   | (3)   | (4)  | (5)  | (6)   | (7)   | (8)   | (9)                                      |
| Taxable individual and fiduciary returns—Continued With net income—Continued Forms 1040 and 1041—Continued 14 under 15 (est.) | 1, 964 4, 535 1, 450 596 315 305 151 160 62 31 10 8 | 167, 381<br>624, 267<br>418, 071<br>295, 745<br>373, 473<br>228, 206<br>153, 198<br>100, 493<br>74, 392<br>54, 557<br>40, 499<br>95, 519<br>35, 676<br>15, 285<br>8, 808<br>9, 415<br>3, 532<br>400<br>205<br>196 |  | 10, 301<br>38, 803<br>27, 483<br>19, 290<br>25, 702<br>16, 218<br>10, 283<br>7, 110<br>5, 757<br>4, 138<br>3, 672<br>9, 662<br>2, 258<br>1, 544<br>1, 121<br>1, 121<br>1, 511<br>263<br>411<br>129<br>123<br>123 | 1, 394 5, 360 3, 926 2, 851 4, 174 2, 536 1, 768 1, 643 1, 038 669 542 1, 206 581 484 172 1, 356 185 146 20 227 5 | 1, 207 4, 599 3, 580 2, 809 3, 999 2, 664 1, 926 1, 397 1, 231 846 752 2, 121 1, 014 488 393 508 296 444 251 662 40 9 | 1, 139<br>3, 777<br>2, 298<br>1, 648<br>2, 144<br>1, 612<br>1, 105<br>853<br>517<br>555<br>252<br>934<br>335<br>149<br>171<br>198<br>85<br>99<br>43 |  |

| 49<br>50             | 4,000 under 5,000<br>5,000 and over  | 3 1  | 239<br>2*                                | 7, 616<br>7, 997                      | 33<br>32                              | (13)                       | 12<br>28                |                                | 6, 557                               | 7   4       |
|----------------------|--|--|--|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------------|-------------|
| 51<br>52             | Total, taxable returns with net income With no net income " (est.)                     | 40; 318, 602<br>18, 691                      | 81, 717, 388<br>14, 349                  | 3, 055, 493<br>16, 711                | 781, 103<br>4, 593                    | 83, 000<br>434             | 75, 485<br>609          | 120, 727<br>322                | 867, 300<br>1, 109                   |             |
| 53                   | Total, taxable returns (51+52)   | 40, 337, 293                                 | 81, 731, 738                             | 3, 072, 204                           | 785, 696                              | 83, 434                    | 76, 095                 | 121, 049                       | 868, 408                             | -1          |
| 54                   | Nontaxable individual returns: With net income: 13 Form 1040A 10 (est.) Form 1040:     | 2, 181, 779                                  | 838, 085                                 | (40)                                  | (40)                                  | (40)                       | (40)                    | (40)                           |                                      | 5-          |
| 55<br>56<br>57<br>58 | Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)<br>1 and over (est.)  | 643,′849<br>208, 284<br>121, 443<br>128, 499 | 68, 297<br>31, 915<br>25, 439<br>32, 573 | 10, 216<br>1, 511<br>1, 227<br>1, 238 | 11, 586<br>1, 715<br>1, 024<br>1, 120 | 1, 119<br>335<br>221<br>75 | 440<br>161<br>80<br>117 | 2, 226<br>427<br>439<br>1, 295 | 4, 231<br>2, 653<br>2, 705<br>5, 505 | 5<br>5<br>5 |
| 59                   | Total, nontaxable returns with net income.   | 3, 283, 854                                  | 996, 309                                 | 14, 191                               | 15, 445                               | 1, 750                     | 797                     | 4, 386                         | 15, 094                              | -           |
| 60                   | With no net income, Form 1040 11 (est.)  | 198, 047                                     | 26, 626                                  | 18, 835                               | 6, 496                                | 589                        | 433                     | 1, 393                         | 9, 027                               |             |
| 61                   | Total, nontaxable returns (59+60)  | 3, 481, 901                                  | 1, 022, 935                              | 33, 026                               | 21, 940                               | 2, 339                     | 1, 230                  | 5, 780                         | 24, 122                              | -j          |
| 62                   | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)   | 43, 819, 194                                 | 82, 754, 673                             | 3, 105, 230                           | 807, 636                              | 85, 773                    | 77, 325                 | 126, 829                       | 892, 530                             | =           |
| 63                   | Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with net income (51+59).              | 43, 602, 456                                 | 82, 713, 697                             | 3, 069, 684                           | 796, 548                              | 84, 750                    | 76, 283                 | 125, 113                       | 882, 394                             | =  `        |
| 64                   | Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with no net income 11 (est.) (52+60). | 216, 738                                     | 40, 975                                  | 35, 546                               | 11,089                                | 1, 023                     | 1,042                   | 1, 716                         | 10, 136                              | 1           |

Table 4.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; also aggregates for returns with no net income: Number of returns, amount of each specific source of income and deduction, and net income or deficit—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

## [Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   |  |  | Sources  | of income—(   | Continued   |   |  |  | Deductions   |  |
|---|--|--|--|---|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| Net income classes <sup>1</sup>   | Net gain<br>from sales<br>of property<br>other than<br>capital<br>assets 23  | Rents and royalties (profits) 29   | Business<br>profit 30  | Partnership<br>profit <sup>31</sup>   | Income<br>from<br>fiduciaries 32  | Other<br>income 33  | Total income   | Net loss<br>from sales<br>of capital<br>assets 34  | Net loss<br>from sales<br>of property<br>other than<br>capital<br>assets 29  | Business<br>loss 30  |
| (1)   | (10)   | (11)   | (12)   | (13)  | (14)  | (15)  | (16)   | (17)   | (18)   | (19)   |
| Taxable individual and fiduciary returns:  With net income:  Form 1040 A <sup>10</sup> (est.).  Form 1040 and 1041:  Under 0.5 (est.).  0.5 under 0.75 (est.).  1 under 1.25 (est.).  1.25 under 1.25 (est.).  1.5 under 1.25 (est.).  1.5 under 1.5 (est.).  2 under 2.5 (est.).  2.5 under 2.5 (est.).  2.5 under 2.5 (est.).  2.5 under 2.5 (est.).  3 under 3.5 (est.).  4.5 under 3.6 (est.).  4.5 under 4 (est.).  4 under 4.5 (est.).  5 under 6 (est.).  6 under 7 (est.).  7 under 8 (est.).  8 under 9 (est.).  9 under 10 (est.).  11 under 11 (est.).  12 under 13 (est.).  13 under 14 (est.).  14 under 14 (est.).  14 under 15 (est.).  15 under 11 (est.).  11 under 11 (est.).  12 under 13 (est.).  13 under 14 (est.).  14 under 15 (est.).  15 under 20 (est.).  20 under 25. | 489<br>796<br>2, 094<br>1, 179<br>2, 524<br>1, 1992<br>15, 310<br>2, 652<br>2, 738<br>3, 145<br>2, 612<br>2, 612<br>2, 386<br>3, 478<br>3, 789<br>2, 386<br>3, 673<br>2, 602<br>2, 218<br>1, 385<br>1, 722<br>1, 132<br>1, 132 | 29, 478 65, 263 74, 217 87, 534 81, 007 81, 770 84, 477 80, 932 73, 768 74, 286 126, 337 90, 460 58, 086 46, 523 75, 829 57, 783 44, 886 43, 449 37, 181 26, 771 21, 883 21, 006 17, 189 14, 911 60, 627 37, 437 26, 276 | 19, 155 149, 753 285, 171 397, 869 496, 005 516, 614 527, 912 496, 811 452, 467 410, 507 403, 682 655, 867 528, 665 529, 889 339, 789 344, 559 356, 268 309, 949 260, 892 206, 885 177, 399 155, 740 140, 917 125, 709 456, 156 290, 538 | 3, 026<br>18, 897<br>27, 505<br>40, 577<br>45, 047<br>59, 886<br>69, 069<br>75, 607<br>83, 823<br>77, 819<br>81, 451<br>143, 323<br>143, 820<br>123, 416<br>123, 257<br>214, 288<br>193, 867<br>179, 269<br>156, 604<br>166, 690<br>136, 270<br>125, 420<br>112, 135<br>101, 819<br>98, 198<br>413, 056<br>303, 451 | 3, 153<br>5, 602<br>9, 884<br>8, 722<br>7, 036<br>10, 864<br>8, 162<br>11, 301<br>12, 273<br>9, 785<br>8, 186<br>25, 293<br>18, 838<br>16, 595<br>17, 080<br>29, 514<br>26, 473<br>25, 947<br>24, 497<br>23, 692<br>17, 505<br>16, 263<br>14, 381<br>15, 277<br>12, 313<br>57, 952<br>45, 151 | 174, 171  1, 880 8, 279 9, 909 11, 329 15, 052 16, 267 16, 074 13, 625 19, 742 16, 539 15, 080 25, 623 14, 808 14, 916 14, 236 14, 236 14, 236 14, 388 14, 916 14, 237 15, 387 17, 381 18, 897 2, 778 2, 778 2, 778 2, 284 8, 212 2, 5367 | 30, 239, 358  205, 762 634, 029 1, 180, 75, 101 2, 337, 083 2, 833, 603 3, 499, 247 3, 921, 381 4, 228, 927 4, 252, 870 10, 548, 656 6, 824, 133 4, 136, 974 2, 624, 600 2, 820, 776 1, 789, 771 1, 378, 033 1, 132, 313 1, 001, 836 778, 133 684, 509 599, 861 547, 459 496, 630 1, 933, 283 1, 333, 136 981, 408 | 8, 993<br>5, 628<br>7, 755<br>8, 505<br>5, 906<br>6, 7810<br>7, 418<br>6, 730<br>8, 408<br>6, 949<br>7, 158<br>12, 493<br>9, 165<br>6, 713<br>5, 865<br>9, 440<br>7, 310<br>6, 222<br>5, 490<br>4, 812<br>2, 128<br>2, 123<br>2, 123 | 1, 911<br>468<br>2, 794<br>4, 506<br>2, 660<br>1, 888<br>2, 023<br>3, 550<br>2, 399<br>3, 003<br>4, 174<br>2, 635<br>1, 019<br>2, 726<br>1, 970<br>1, 970<br>1, 970<br>1, 933<br>862<br>743<br>765<br>688<br>8, 3, 935<br>2, 069<br>1, 585 | 1, 672<br>5, 069<br>8, 971<br>7, 815<br>11, 408<br>6, 772<br>10, 299<br>8, 404<br>6, 681<br>5, 681<br>3, 487<br>2, 553<br>7, 042<br>4, 887<br>4, 887<br>4, 489<br>3, 345<br>2, 672<br>2, 171<br>1, 847<br>2, 723<br>7, 818<br>6, 569<br>4, 660<br>4, 660<br>4, 660 |

| 30<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47 | 40 under 50 50 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 200 200 under 260 250 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 750 750 under 3,000 1,500 under 3,000 2,000 under 3,000 | 545<br>301<br>147<br>135<br>97<br>37<br>111<br>84<br>58<br>2<br>5<br>4<br>7<br>61 | 21, 080<br>13, 485<br>11, 060<br>-6, 446<br>4, 930<br>3, 910<br>12, 199<br>8, 274<br>3, 804<br>2, 410<br>1, 483<br>1, 160<br>907<br>363<br>1, 598 | 149, 087<br>97, 449<br>67, 812<br>51, 566<br>40, 561 | 243, 379<br>181, 502<br>133, 730<br>101, 148<br>75, 576<br>59, 675<br>182, 725 | 36, 493<br>29, 369<br>21, 984<br>17, 580 | 4, 834                               | 873, 420<br>615, 725<br>443, 403<br>337, 312<br>259, 411<br>205, 290<br>608, 953<br>276, 825<br>146, 983<br>95, 088<br>116, 275<br>75, 933<br>109, 191<br>58, 820<br>39, 530<br>20, 314 | 2, 264<br>1, 406<br>936<br>645<br>437 | 2, 201<br>1, 660<br>1, 023<br>722<br>483<br>427<br>338<br>990<br>425<br>365<br>154<br>52<br>219<br>120<br>43 | 5, 344<br>3, 865<br>2, 502<br>2, 233<br>1, 566<br>1, 122<br>3, 559<br>2, 019<br>1, 065<br>850<br>458 | 4 31<br>22 32<br>23 33<br>25 35<br>27 36<br>37 38<br>39 39 40<br>41 42<br>43 44<br>44 45<br>46 47 |
|--|--|---|---|--|--|--|--------------------------------------|---|---------------------------------------|--|--|---|
| 49<br>50   | 4,000 under 5,000<br>5,000 and over  |   | l   |  |  |  |                                      | 10, 575<br>14, 457  | 1                                     | 8  |  | 48  |
| 51   |  |   | 258   |  |  |  |                                      | 8, 317  | 1                                     | 498  | 89   | 49<br>- 50  |
| 52   | Total, taxable returns with net income.  | 74, 722   | 1, 754, 107   | 10, 685, 625   | 5, 122, 177  | 831, 401                                 | 572, 526                             | 105, 741, 055   | 191, 083                              | 70, 583  | 191, 633   | 51  |
|  | With no net income ii (est.)   | 121   | 7, 281  | 4, 687   | 1, 538   | 859                                      | 531                                  | 53, 145   | 5, 634                                | 5, 230   | 3, 428   |   |
| 53   | Total, taxable returns (51+52).  | 74, 843   | 1, 761, 389   | 10, 690, 312   | 5, 123, 715  | 832, 261                                 | 573, 057                             | 105, 794, 200   | 196, 716                              | 75, 813  | 195, 061   | -   |
| 54   | Nontaxable individual returns: With net income: 12 Form 1040A: Form 1040C:   |   |   |  |  |  | 8, 970                               | 847, 055  | <del></del>                           | -  |  | -   |
| 55<br>56<br>57<br>58   | Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)<br>1 and over (est.)  | 353<br>369<br>995   | 62, 178<br>12, 187<br>8, 380<br>8, 752  | 111, 422<br>84, 974<br>78, 676<br>102, 998           | 7, 594<br>3, 180<br>2, 124<br>2, 522   | 1, 880<br>367<br>74<br>78                | 4, 829<br>1, 958<br>1, 517<br>1, 425 | 287, 276<br>141, 736<br>122, 275<br>158, 692  | 1, 178<br>101<br>284                  | 3, 245<br>912<br>184<br>208  | 11, 873<br>4, 806<br>3, 779<br>2, 376  | 56<br>57  |
| 59   | Total, nontaxable returns with net income.   | 2, 977  | 91, 498   | 378, 070   | 15, 420  | 2, 399                                   | 18, 698                              | 1, 557, 034   | 1, 563                                | 4, 549   | 22, 834  | 59  |
| 60   | With no net income, Form 1040 " (est.)   | 601   | 27, 557   | 18, 126  | 13, 727  | 4, 734                                   | 1, 097                               | 129, 241  | 4,871                                 | 43, 611  | 155, 951   | ĺ   |
| 61   | Total, nontaxable returns (59+60).   | 3, 578  | 119, 055  | 396, 196   | 29, 146  | 7, 133                                   | 19, 795                              | 1, 686, 275   | 6, 434                                | 48, 160  | 178, 785   | 60<br>61  |
| 62   | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64) .   | 78, 421   | 1, 880, 444   | 11, 086, 508   | 5, 152, 861  | 839, 394                                 | 592, 851                             | 107, 480, 475   | 002.151                               | 100.05   |  |   |
| 63   | Individual returns and taxable fiduciary   | 77, 699   | 1, 845, 605   | 11, 063, 695   | 5, 137, 596  | 833, 801                                 |                                      |   | 203, 151                              | 123, 972   | 373, 845   | 62  |
| 64   | returns with net income (51+59). Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns with no net income!! (est.)  | 721   | 34, 839   | 22, 813  | 15, 265  | 5, 593                                   | 591, 223<br>1, 628                   | 107, 298, 090<br>182, 386   | 192, 646<br>10, 505                   | 75, 132<br>48, 841   | 214, 467<br>159, 379   | 63<br>64  |
|  | (52+60).   |   |   |  | _  | ļ  |                                      |   | ŀ                                     |  | ,  |   |

Table 4.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; also aggregates for returns with no net income: Number of returns, amount of each specific source of income and deduction, and net income or deficit—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

| [Net income classes and money | figures in thousands of dollars] |
|-------------------------------|----------------------------------|
|-------------------------------|----------------------------------|

Deductions-Continued

|   | Net income classes 1   | Partner-<br>ship loss 31   | Contribu-<br>tions 35 (in-<br>dividual<br>returns)   | Interest<br>paid <sup>26</sup>  | Taxes<br>paid <sup>36</sup>   | Losses from<br>fire, storm,<br>shipwreck,<br>etc., or<br>theft 30 37<br>(individual   | Medical,<br>dental,<br>etc., ex-<br>penses <sup>28</sup><br>(individual<br>returns)  | Other de-<br>ductions 39  | Total de-<br>ductions   | Amount<br>distributa-<br>ble to ben-<br>eficiaries<br>(fiduciary<br>returns)   | Net income 2   |   |
|---|--|--|--|---|---|---|--|---|---|--|--|---|
|   | (1)  | (20)   | (21)   | (22)  | (23)  | returns)<br>(24)  | (25)   | (26)  | (27)  | (28)   | (29)   |   |
| 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>17<br>18<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>29<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20 | Taxable individual and fiduciary returns:  With net income:  Form 1040A to (est.)  Form 1040 and 1041:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  1.5 under 1.25 (est.)  1.25 under 1.25 (est.)  1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  2 under 2.25 (est.)  2.25 under 2.5 (est.)  2.15 under 2.6 (est.)  3.5 under 3.5 (est.)  4.5 under 3.5 (est.)  5.5 under 6 (est.)  4.5 under 3.5 (est.)  3.5 under 3.5 (est.)  1.75 under 3.5 (est.)  1.75 under 3.5 (est.)  1.75 under 3.5 (est.)  1.75 under 3.5 (est.)  1.75 under 3.5 (est.)  1.75 under 3.5 (est.)  1.75 under 4 (est.)  4.75 under 5 (est.)  1.75 under 7 (est.)  1.75 under 7 (est.)  1.75 under 10 (est.)  1.75 under 11 (est.)  1.75 under 11 (est.)  1.75 under 12 (est.)  1.75 under 15 (est.)  1.75 under 15 (est.)  1.75 under 15 (est.)  1.75 under 20 (est.)  20 under 25 (est.)  25 under 30 (est.) | 843<br>855<br>1, 480<br>872<br>1, 890<br>1, 541<br>753<br>284<br>1, 1014<br>1, 552<br>1, 301<br>2, 313<br>1, 040<br>777<br>806 | 5, 870<br>24, 450<br>43, 375<br>63, 921<br>78, 456<br>89, 749<br>104, 398<br>110, 518<br>69, 622<br>117, 403<br>132, 602<br>233, 546<br>148, 782<br>88, 530<br>54, 611<br>58, 124<br>37, 189<br>28, 048<br>23, 139<br>20, 354<br>14, 748<br>13, 209<br>9, 256<br>36, 910<br>25, 698<br>18, 801 | 7, 913<br>9, 985<br>15, 530<br>24, 050<br>32, 505<br>44, 553<br>66, 346<br>68, 948<br>77, 511<br>73, 850<br>82, 926<br>134, 611<br>87, 592<br>51, 439<br>33, 160<br>23, 318<br>14, 346<br>12, 080<br>9, 014<br>7, 915<br>6, 938<br>5, 932<br>4, 836<br>19, 746<br>12, 869<br>8, 876 | 14, 711<br>27, 466<br>41, 591<br>56, 822<br>71, 882<br>88, 146<br>94, 430<br>120, 141<br>130, 810<br>128, 427<br>147, 110<br>265, 739<br>173, 481<br>105, 284<br>67, 194<br>46, 687<br>36, 334<br>29, 922<br>26, 401<br>19, 933<br>17, 671<br>11, 750<br>12, 765<br>50, 931<br>36, 178<br>28, 958 | 4, 088 3, 028 3, 878 6, 140 5, 568 6, 906 6, 389 7, 169 8, 697 7, 143 8, 269 13, 909 8, 605 4, 056 3, 399 3, 073 1, 884 1, 952 2, 418 850 20 875 535 414 464 1, 378 980 676 | 22, 058<br>29, 854<br>38, 762<br>48, 231<br>56, 500<br>60, 946<br>62, 650<br>62, 607<br>55, 898<br>77, 335<br>42, 370<br>23, 587<br>14, 348<br>15, 003<br>9, 196<br>6, 605<br>4, 928<br>3, 858<br>2, 770<br>2, 167<br>1, 693<br>1, 132<br>4, 106<br>2, 216<br>1, 352 | 11, 696<br>19, 593<br>25, 237<br>33, 418<br>39, 764<br>43, 877<br>50, 753<br>62, 339<br>99, 035<br>46, 997<br>53, 439<br>123, 581<br>57, 527<br>27, 433<br>22, 892<br>23, 385<br>24, 047<br>17, 330<br>16, 298<br>12, 324<br>10, 949<br>9, 077<br>8, 852<br>9, 080<br>6, 860<br>27, 402<br>18, 210<br>14, 473 | 79, 123 126, 233 188, 448 255, 124 302, 440 356, 503 401, 489 451, 660 469, 489 449, 420 296, 959 875, 387 122, 785 104, 153 87, 319 67, 591 58, 036 51, 380 47, 726 41, 400 111, 581 81, 900 | 49, 832<br>17, 211<br>11, 987<br>9, 362<br>9, 347<br>6, 403<br>5, 777<br>5, 023<br>6, 109<br>7, 132<br>6, 109<br>3, 895<br>4, 681<br>6, 420<br>5, 383<br>4, 422<br>3, 360<br>3, 525<br>2, 331<br>2, 176<br>2, 850<br>2, 585<br>10, 347<br>7, 695<br>4, 136 | 30, 239, 358  76, 806 490, 584 980, 317 1, 510, 615 2, 025, 29 770, 697 3, 091, 981 3, 464, 698 3, 753, 755 3, 799, 073 4, 845, 627 9, 666, 137 6, 280, 895 3, 820, 779 2, 413, 555 1, 624 | 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>29<br>29<br>29<br>29<br>29<br>29<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20 |
| 303<br>313<br>323<br>334<br>356<br>377<br>389<br>400<br>414<br>424<br>445<br>50<br>51<br>52<br>53<br>54<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58<br>59   | 30 under 40 40 under 50 50 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 200 200 under 250 250 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 750 750 under 1,000 1,000 under 1,500 1,000 under 1,500 2,000 under 3,000 2,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 5,000 5,000 and over  Total, taxable returns with net income. With no net income 11 (est.).  Total, taxable returns (51+52).  Nontaxable individual returns: With net income: 11 Form 1040 Form 1040 10.5 under 0.5 (est.). 10.5 under 0.5 (est.). 10.75 under 1 (est.) 10.75 under 1 (est.) 10.75 under 1 (est.) 10.75 under 1 (est.) 10.75 under 1 (est.) 10.75 under 1 (est.) 10.75 under 1 (est.) 10.75 under 1 (est.) 10.75 under 1 (est.) 10.75 under 1 (est.)  | 982<br>982<br>982<br>450<br>248<br>1,049<br>481<br>146<br>593<br>20<br>215<br>4<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>38,905<br>698<br>39,602      | 18, 291 13, 530 10, 327 - 7, 898 6, 443 5, 344 17, 188 8, 404 4, 505 2, 631 3, 973 2, 689 5, 097 2, 507 1, 219 7718 544 609 823 978 1, 813, 315 1, 085 1, 814, 400   | 11, 463<br>7, 403<br>4, 685<br>3, 368<br>2, 638<br>2, 685<br>1, 669<br>6, 152<br>2, 454<br>1, 191<br>660<br>773<br>622<br>724<br>460<br>130<br>232<br>40<br>27<br>40<br>38<br>1, 038, 233<br>9, 087<br>1, 047, 320  | 36, 478 24, 977 17, 378 12, 614 9, 894 7, 436 6, 125 18, 198 8, 325 4, 541 3, 192 3, 086 1, 907 2, 569 1, 300 538 635 226 63 164 735 2, 101, 095 8, 085 2, 109, 180   | 399<br>299<br>293<br>233<br>156<br>77<br>376<br>93<br>828<br>527<br>79<br>153<br>24<br>1<br>116, 460<br>18, 414<br>134, 874   | 688<br>2822<br>142<br>96<br>65<br>49<br>74<br>13<br>11<br>6<br>3<br>(13)<br>1  | 12, 702<br>8, 825<br>6, 006<br>4, 716<br>3, 700<br>2, 840<br>10, 079<br>5, 034<br>2, 417<br>1, 515<br>1, 456<br>1, 979<br>2, 003<br>908<br>321<br>-<br>225<br>39<br>-<br>102<br>528   | 74, 846<br>52, 321<br>37, 890<br>29, 285<br>22, 653<br>18, 073<br>58, 468<br>27, 521<br>14, 409<br>8, 914<br>10, 927  | 5, 622<br>2, 408<br>2, 408<br>2, 980<br>1, 201<br>2, 404<br>1, 129<br>6, 264<br>1, 403<br>470<br>453<br>557<br>201<br>3<br>3<br>379<br>162<br>175<br>2, 163<br>2, 163  | 792, 956<br>560, 996<br>402, 533<br>306, 827<br>234, 354<br>136, 048<br>544, 220<br>247, 901<br>132, 104, 791<br>67, 694<br>97, 331<br>52, 655<br>37, 140<br>17, 151<br>18, 353<br>7, 445<br>13, 231<br>58, 540  | 32<br>33<br>34<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50<br>51<br>52<br>53<br>54<br>55<br>657   |
| 60<br>61  | With net income. With no net income, Form 1040 " (est.)  | 2,810  | 17, 047<br>4, 559  | 8, 937<br>9, 344  | 24, 506<br>13, 493  | 1, 895<br>3, 201  | 11, 586<br>7, 109  | 25, 869<br>67, 355  | 121, 596<br>327, 598  |  | 1, 435, 438  | 59<br>60  |
|   | Total, nontaxable returns (59+60).   | 20, 915  | 21, 606  | 18, 281   | 37, 999   | 5, 096  | , 18, 695  | 93, 224   | 449, 194  |  | 15 1, 237, 081   | 61  |
| 62  | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64).  | 60, 517  | 1,836,006  | 1, 065, 600   | 2, 147, 179   | 139, 970  | 799, 573   | 1, 116, 782   | 7, 866, 596   | 254, 597   | 15 99, 359, 282  | 62  |
| 63  | Individual returns and taxable fiduciary re-<br>turns with net income (5i+59).<br>Individual returns and taxable fiduciary re-<br>turns with no net income " (est.) (52+60).   | 41, 715<br>18, 803   | 1, 830, 363<br>5, 643  | 1, 047, 170<br>18, 431  | 2, 125, 601<br>21, 578  | 118, 355<br>21, 615   | 785, 047<br>14, 526  | 1, 035, 392<br>81, 389  | 7, 465, 886<br>400, 710   | 246, 576<br>8, 022   | 99, 585, 627<br>14 226, 346  | 63<br>64  |
|   | For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.  |  |  |   |   |   | ····   | <del></del>   |   |  |  |   |

Net gain from sales of property other than capital assets 28

Net gain from sales of capital assets 27

Table 4-A.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; also aggregates for returns with no net income: Number of returns, amount of each specific source of income and deduction, and net income or deficit

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

Number of

Dividends from do-mestic and foreign cor-porations <sup>23</sup>

Bank deposits, notes, mortgages, corporation bonds

Sources of income

Government obligations

Interest 24

|  | Net income classes   | returns  | Salarics,<br>wages, etc.   | from do-<br>mestic and<br>foreign cor-<br>porations 23  | Bank deposits, notes, mortgages, corporation bonds   | Partially<br>tax-ex-<br>empt 25 (sub-<br>ject to<br>surtax<br>only)         | Taxable 28 (subject to normal tax, surtax, and victory tax)   | Annuities  | from sales<br>of capital<br>assets 27   | of property<br>other than<br>capital<br>assets 28            |  |
|--|--|--|----------------------------|---|--|---|---|--|---|--|--|
|  | (1)  | (2)  | (3)                        | (4)   | (5)  | (6)   | (7)   | (8)  | (9)   | (10)   |  |
|  | Taxable individual returns:<br>With net income:  |  |                            |   | (40)   | (40)  | (40)  | (40)   |   |  | 1  |
| 1  | Form 1040A <sup>10</sup> (est.)  |  | 30, 065, 187               | (40)  | (40)   | ( <sup>40</sup> )   | 540   | 2,611  | 1, 109  | 422  | 1  |
| 3  | Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  | 754, 289   | 67, 466<br>306, 596        | 14, 474<br>26, 110  | 8, 470<br>20, 876<br>23, 892   | 1, 630<br>1, 984  | 1, 083<br>1, 173  | 4, 439<br>6, 267   | 3, 264<br>5, 778  | 690<br>2,022   | 3  |
| 4<br>5   | 0.76 under 1 (est.)<br>1 under 1.25 (est.)   | 1,331,800  | 1, 134, 466                | 32, 582<br>34, 625  | 25, 720<br>22, 354   | 1, 370<br>1, 794  | 1, 704<br>1, 092  | 10, 251<br>9, 816  | 6, 270<br>8, 456  | 1, 118<br>2, 460   | 5 6  |
| 6<br>7   | 1.25 under 1.5 (est.)<br>1.5 under 1.75 (est.)<br>1.75 under 2 (est.)  | 1, 466, 935<br>1, 517, 176   | 1, 596, 299<br>2, 054, 179 | 32, 519<br>37, 411  | 25, 264<br>25, 406   | 1,872<br>1,937  | 1, 163<br>1, 495  | 7, 185<br>7, 405   | 9, 781<br>12, 581   | 1, 939<br>15, 264  | 8  |
| 8<br>9   | 2 under 2.25 (est.)  | 1, 628, 123  | 2, 683, 634<br>3, 141, 865 | 39, 065<br>39, 522<br>43, 468   | 23, 964<br>22, 970   | 2, 113<br>1, 849  | 1, 196<br>883   | 7, 131<br>5, 972   | 12, 261   | 2,626<br>2,694   | 10   |
| 10<br>11<br>12   | 2.25 under 2.5 (est.)<br>2.5 under 2.75 (est.)   | . 1,445,838  | 3, 478, 279<br>3, 574, 559 | 39, 351<br>50, 127  | 19, 940<br>24, 856   | 2, 085<br>1, 412  | 1, 721<br>1, 442  | 3, 625<br>4, 547   | 12,880  | 3, 115<br>2, 585   | 12   |
| 13   | 2.75 under 3 (est.)<br>3 under 3.5 (est.)  | 2, 991, 236  | 9, 335, 578                | 84, 400<br>71, 401  | 42, 299<br>30, 181   | 3, 349<br>3, 161  | 2, 491<br>2, 769  | 7, 981<br>2, 461   | 27, 933<br>22, 633  | 6, 795<br>3, 422   |  |
| 14<br>15<br>16   | 3.5 under 4 (est.) 4 under 4.5 (est.)  | _   902, 459   | 3, 362, 326                | 67, 433<br>55, 748  | 28, 445<br>22, 278   | 1,881<br>1,751  | 1,674<br>1,660  | 2,005<br>2,001   | 17, 256   | 3, 739<br>2, 352   | 16   |
| 17   | 4.5 under 5 (est.)   | 469, 296   | 1, 745, 148                | 100, 866<br>89, 502   | 33, 470<br>26, 511   | 2, 952<br>2, 749  | 2, 339<br>2, 066  | 4, 462<br>3, 437   |   | 2,560  | 18   |
| 18<br>19   | 6 under 7 (est.) 7 under 8 (est.) 7  | . 165, 966   | 617, 470                   | 78, 367<br>74, 166  | 22, 926<br>21, 054   | 2, 501<br>2, 167  | 1, 743<br>1, 652  | 2, 152   | 22, 327   |  | 20   |
| 20<br>21<br>22<br>23   | 8 under 9 (est.) 9 under 10 (est.)   | 95, 188  | 385, 510                   | 67, 045<br>59, 465  | 18, 479  | 1, 787<br>1, 568  | 1, 502  | 1, 671   | 19, 526   | 1,581  | 1 22   |
| 22<br>23   | 10 under 11 (est.)<br>11 under 12 (est.)   | . 53, 626  | 247, 314                   | 53, 846   | 12, 671  | 1, 383  | 1, 133<br>1, 142  | 1, 104   | 13, 240   | 1, 247   | 3   24   |
| 24<br>25<br>26   | 12 under 13 (est.)   | 43, 230<br>36, 354<br>30, 808  | 188, 464                   | 47, 673   | 10, 370  | 1, 294  | 963   | 1,098  | 3   11, 242   | 2   485<br>522   | 5   25<br>2   26   |
| 27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48 | 30 under 40 40 under 50 50 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 100 100 under 150 200 under 250 250 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 550 750 under 750 750 under 1,000 1,000 under 1,500 1,500 under 2,000 2,000 under 3,000 | 10. 127<br>6, 100<br>4, 029<br>2, 698<br>1, 913<br>4, 408<br>1, 411<br>580<br>303<br>296<br>143<br>156<br>58<br>28 | 228, 206<br>153, 198       | 171, 638<br>124, 724<br>93, 418<br>71, 253<br>58, 236<br>45, 310<br>38, 566<br>119, 149<br>59, 385<br>32, 118<br>19, 143<br>26, 056<br>18, 654<br>35, 136<br>6, 475<br>6, 874<br>4, 691 | 24, 284<br>15, 115<br>9, 738<br>6, 835<br>5, 326<br>3, 903<br>3, 275<br>8, 633<br>3, 452<br>2, 101<br>1, 357<br>1, 072<br>1, 503<br>407<br>124 | 4,005 2,423 1,735 1,618 1,014 622 533 1,117 574 484 172 1,355 185 124 20 27 | 3, 735<br>2, 507<br>1, 816<br>1, 343<br>1, 139<br>801<br>711<br>1, 073<br>963<br>477<br>365<br>502<br>281<br>392<br>219<br>62<br>40 | 2, 144<br>1, 612<br>1, 105<br>853<br>517.<br>555<br>252<br>934<br>335<br>149<br>171<br>198<br>85<br>99<br>43 | 28, 338<br>20, 632<br>16, 088<br>12, 318<br>31, 261<br>8, 713<br>36, 180<br>22, 426<br>12, 746<br>8, 015<br>11, 496<br>9, 914<br>20, 524<br>18, 584<br>7, 687<br>2, 191<br>6, 283 | 538<br>300<br>142<br>132<br>93<br>37<br>111<br>84<br>58<br>2 | 30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47 |
| 49<br>50   | 4,000 under 5,000<br>5,000 and over  | 3  | 239                        | 4, 088<br>7, 616  | 15<br>33   | (13)  | 12  |  | 6, 557  |  | 48   |
| 51   | Total, taxable individual returns with net   | 40, 222, 699   | 81,717,388                 | 7, 997<br>2, 737, 092   | 717, 210   | 74, 827   | 64, 333   | 120, 727   | 770 000   | 70.077   |  |
| 52   | income. With no net income, Form 1040 !! (est.)  | 17, 438  | 14, 349                    | 9,715   | 3, 102   | 314   | 459   | 120, 727   | 770, 062  | 73, 277  | 51   |
| 53   | Total, taxable individual returns (51+52)  | 40, 240, 137   | 81, 731, 738               | 2, 746, 807   | 720, 312   | 75, 142   | 64, 792   | 121,049  | 770, 849  | 73, 374  | 53   |
|  | Nontaxable individual returns:   |  |                            |   |  |   |   |  |   | 10,011   | -  ~   |
| 54   | With net income: 12 Form 1040A 10 (est.)   | 2, 181, 779  | 838, 085                   | ( <sup>40</sup> )   | (40)   | (40)  | (40)  | (40)   |   |  | . 54   |
| 55<br>56   | Form 1040;<br>Under 0.5 (est. )  | 643, 849   | 68, 297                    | 10, 216   | 11, 586  | 1, 119  | 440   | 2, 226   | 4 221   | 1, 260   | 55   |
| 57   | 0.5 under 0.75 (est.).<br>0.75 under 1 (est.).   | 208, 284<br>121, 443   | 31, 915<br>25, 439         | 1, 511<br>1, 227  | 1,715<br>1,024   | 335<br>221  | 161<br>80   | 427<br>439   | 4, 231<br>2, 653<br>2, 705  | 353<br>369   | 56<br>57   |
| 58   | • 1 and over (est.)  | 128, 499   | 32, 573                    | 1, 238  | 1, 120   | 75  | 117   | 1, 295   | 5, 505  | 995  | 58   |
| 59   | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income.  | 3, 283, 854  | 996, 309                   | 14, 191   | 15, 445  | 1, 750  | 797   | 4, 386   | 15, 094   | 2, 977   | 59   |
| 60   | With no net income, Form 1040 " (est.)   | 198, 047   | 26, 626                    | 18, 835   | 6, 496   | 589   | 433   | 1, 393   | 9, 027  | 601  | 60   |
| 61   | Total, nontaxable individual returns (59+60).  | 3, 481, 901  | 1, 022, 935                | 33, 026   | 21, 940  | 2, 339  | 1, 230  | 5, 780   | 24, 122   | 3, 578   | 61   |
| 62   | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)   | 43, 722, 038   | 82, 754, 673               | 2, 779, 833   | 742, 252   | 77, 480   | 66, 022   | 126, 829   | 794, 970  | 76, 952  | 62   |
| 64   | Individual returns with net income (51+59)   | 43, 506, 553<br>215, 485   | 82, 713, 697<br>40, 975    | 2, 751, 284<br>28, 550  | 732, 655<br>9, 597   | 76, 577<br>903  | 65, 130<br>892  | 125, 113   | 785, 156  | 76, 254  | 63<br>64   |
| 64   | Individual returns with net income (51+59) Individual returns with no net income " (est.) (52+60) For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.  |  | 82, 713, 697<br>40, 975    | 2, 751, 284<br>28, 550  | 732, 655<br>9, 597   | 76, 577<br>903  | 65, 130<br>892  | 125, 113<br>1, 716   | 7:  | 85, 156<br>9, 814  | 85, 156<br>9, 814 76, 254<br>698   |

Table 4-A.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; also aggregates for returns with no net income: Number of returns, amount of each specific source of income and deduction, and net income or deficit—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| T                          |  |  | Sc   | ources of inco   | me—Contin  | ued  |  |  | Deductions  |  |                                      |
|----------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|---|--|--------------------------------------|
|                            | Net income classes   | Rents and royalties 20 (profit)                      | Business<br>profit <sup>30</sup>                                     | Partner-<br>ship<br>profit <sup>31</sup>                         | Income<br>from fidu-<br>ciaries 32                           | Other<br>income 33   | Total<br>income  | Net loss<br>from sales<br>of capital<br>assets 34        | Net loss<br>from sales<br>of property<br>other than<br>capital<br>assets 29 | Business<br>loss 30  | · ·                                  |
|                            | (1)  | (11)   | (12)   | (13)   | (14)   | (15)   | (16)   | (17)   | (18)  | (19)   | -                                    |
| 1 2                        | Taxable individual returns:  With net income:  Form 1040A <sup>10</sup> (est.)  Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.)                                 | 23, 499  | 17, 148<br>148, 493  | 2, 495<br>18, 336  | 2, 179<br>4, 938   | 174, 171<br>1, 318<br>7, 668                                   | 30, 239, 358<br>142, 186<br>605, 287   | 8, 452<br>5, 426   | 1, 813<br>437   | 1, 617<br>4, 917   |                                      |
| 3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8 | 0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)<br>1 under 1.25 (est.)<br>1.25 under 1.5 (est.)<br>1.5 under 1.75 (est.)<br>1.75 under 2 (est.) | 70, 928<br>84, 503<br>83, 460<br>78, 824<br>79, 907  | 283, 928<br>396, 713<br>494, 651<br>515, 422<br>526, 969             | 27, 091<br>40, 333<br>44, 779<br>59, 675<br>68, 837              | 9,352<br>8,386<br>6,761<br>10,606<br>7,911                   | 9, 306<br>10, 936<br>14, 675<br>16, 021<br>15, 839<br>13, 395  | 1, 158, 606<br>1, 756, 394<br>2, 319, 115<br>2, 819, 342<br>3, 486, 253<br>3, 909, 260 | 7, 609<br>8, 391<br>5, 783<br>7, 714<br>7, 323<br>6, 640 | 2,770<br>4,483<br>2,579<br>2,630<br>1,873<br>2,009                          | 8, 937<br>8, 034<br>7, 794<br>11, 391<br>6, 760<br>10, 230 | 5<br>6<br>7<br>8                     |
| 9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13  | 2 under 2.25 (est.)<br>2.25 under 2.5 (est.)<br>2.5 under 2.75 (est.)<br>2.75 under 3 (est.)<br>3 under 3.5 (est.)                           | 82, 881<br>79, 301<br>72, 168<br>73, 135<br>123, 374 | 495, 952<br>451, 410<br>409, 619<br>402, 948<br>654, 409<br>527, 336 | 75, 274<br>83, 580<br>77, 405<br>81, 253<br>142, 388<br>143, 308 | 11. 080<br>12, 074<br>9, 562<br>7, 973<br>24, 777<br>18, 498 | 15, 395<br>19, 613<br>16, 248<br>14, 874<br>75, 209<br>25, 326 | 4, 216, 240<br>4, 242, 279<br>5, 336, 899<br>10, 530, 983<br>6, 808, 177               | 8, 336<br>6, 862<br>7, 103<br>12, 375<br>9, 079          | 3, 518<br>2, 389<br>2, 998<br>4, 166<br>2, 576                              | 8, 335<br>6, 673<br>5, 661<br>8, 032<br>5, 392             | 10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14           |
| 14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18 | 3.5 under 4 (est.)<br>4 under 4.5 (est.)<br>4.5 under 5 (est.)<br>5 under 6 (est.)<br>6 under 7 (est.)<br>7 under 8 (est.)                   | 56, 296<br>45, 001<br>72, 988<br>55, 551             | 428, 705<br>338, 713<br>547, 760<br>432, 747<br>354, 977             | 122, 952<br>122, 694<br>212, 837<br>193, 032<br>178, 381         | 16, 295<br>16, 801<br>28, 932<br>25, 862<br>25, 536          | 14, 468<br>14, 547<br>13, 845<br>11, 574                       | 4, 124, 040<br>2, 611, 208<br>2, 797, 687<br>1, 769, 444<br>1, 360, 704                | 6, 133   | 1, 921  | 3, 437<br>2, 537<br>7, 004<br>4, 865<br>4, 881             | 16<br>17<br>5 18<br>1 19             |
| 19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23 | 8 under 9 (est.)<br>9 under 10 (est.)<br>10 under 11 (est.)<br>11 under 12 (est.)  | 35, 752<br>25, 638<br>20, 776                        | 308, 445<br>259, 781<br>206, 022<br>176, 459                         | 155, 357<br>165, 992<br>135, 471<br>124, 186                     | 24, 144<br>23, 402<br>17, 109<br>16, 072                     | 8, 414<br>7, 031<br>3, 706<br>3, 645                           | 1, 116, 439<br>939, 059<br>765, 450<br>673, 083<br>590, 260                            | 4, 762<br>3, 821<br>3, 077<br>2, 765                     | 1, 645<br>1, 324<br>855<br>743  | 3, 449<br>3, 903<br>3, 297<br>2, 643<br>2, 153             | 3   21<br>7   22<br>3   23<br>3   24 |
| 24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28 | 12 under 13 (est.)<br>13 under 14 (est.)<br>14 under 15 (est.)<br>15 under 20 (est.)<br>20 under 25  | 16, 345<br>14, 168<br>57, 341<br>35, 528             | 140, 304<br>124, 930<br>453, 809<br>288, 624                         | 101, 093<br>97, 471<br>409, 559<br>299, 806                      | 15, 072<br>12, 010<br>56, 797<br>44, 095                     | 2, 575<br>2, 598<br>11, 526<br>7, 507                          | 536, 978<br>487, 135<br>1, 896, 115  | 2, 408<br>2, 112<br>7, 740<br>5, 077                     | 685<br>3,805<br>1,968   | 7, 778<br>6, 498<br>4, 638                                 | 7   26<br>8   27<br>8   28<br>6   29 |
| 29<br>30                   | 25 under 30<br>30 under 40   | 24, 578<br>33, 186                                   |  |  |  |  | 1, 311, 805  |  |   |  |                                      |

| 311 322 333 344 355 366 367 378 389 400 411 422 433 444 45 50 51 52 53 | 50 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 200 200 under 250 250 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 750 750 under 750 750 under 1,000 1,000 under 1,500 1,500 under 3,000 2,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 5,000 5,000 and over  Total, taxable individual returns with net income. With no net income, Form 1040 !! (est.) | 12, 952<br>10, 292<br>6, 295<br>4, 323<br>3, 832<br>11, 774<br>7, 835<br>3, 293<br>2, 305<br>1, 482<br>1, 160<br>907<br>363<br>1, 597<br>56 | 96, 881<br>67, 374                         | 240, 134<br>179, 811<br>131, 420<br>99, 991<br>74, 682<br>58, 652<br>180, 460<br>75, 787<br>41, 421<br>25, 688<br>35, 785<br>16, 605<br>17, 201<br>6, 075<br>10, 306<br>1, 622<br>2, 322<br>5, 077, 601<br>1, 398 | 29, 080                   | 3, 228<br>1, 841<br>1, 737<br>981<br>656<br>2, 672<br>1, 050<br>999<br>42<br>462<br>951<br>771<br>86 | 603, 893                                     | 2, 233 1, 389 927 639 429 334 783 286 84 51 62 38 35 14 5 (13) 1 188, 155 5, 194 | 1, 010<br>727<br>479<br>427<br>337<br>990<br>339<br>365 | 3, 817<br>2, 480<br>2, 196<br>1, 562<br>1, 099<br>3, 531<br>2, 019<br>1, 065<br>594<br>845 | 32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>50 |
|--|---|---|--|---|---------------------------|--|--|--|---|--|--|
| 54   | Nontaxable individual returns: With net income: <sup>19</sup> Form 1040A <sup>10</sup> (est.) Form 1040:  |   |  |   |                           | 8, 970   | 847, 055                                     |  |   |  | 54   |
| 55<br>56<br>57<br>58   | Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)<br>1 aud over (est.)   | 62, 178<br>12, 187<br>8, 380<br>8, 752  | 111, 422<br>84, 974<br>78, 676<br>102, 998 | 7, 594<br>3, 180<br>2, 124<br>2, 522  | 1, 880<br>367<br>74<br>78 | 4, 829<br>1, 958<br>1, 517<br>1, 425   | 287, 276<br>141, 736<br>122, 275<br>158, 692 | 1, 178<br>101<br>284   | 3, 245<br>912<br>184<br>208                             | 11, 873<br>4, 806<br>3, 779<br>2, 376  | 55   |
| 60   | Total, nontaxable individual returns with net income.   | 91, 498   | 378, 070                                   | 15, 420   | 2, 399                    | 18, 698  | 1, 557, 034                                  | 1, 563   | 4, 549  | 22, 834  | 59   |
| 61   | With no net income, Form 1040 !! (est.)   | 27, 557   | 18, 126                                    | 13, 727   | 4, 734                    | 1, 097   | 129, 241                                     | 4, 871   | 43, 611   | 155, 951   | 60   |
|  | Total, nontaxable individual returns (59+60).   | 119, 055  | 396, 196                                   | 29, 146   | 7, 133                    | 19, 795  | 1, 686, 275                                  | 6, 434   | 48, 160   | 178, 785   | 61   |
| 62   | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)  | 1, 812, 813   | 11, 040, 994                               | 5, 108, 145   | 823, 459                  | 580, 658   | 106, 785, 080                                | 199, 783   | 122, 901  | 372, 757   | 62   |
| 63 64  | Individual returns with net income (51+59). Individual returns with no net income 11 (est.) (52+60)   | 1, 779, 761<br>33, 052  | 11, 018, 336<br>22, 657                    | 5, 093, 021<br>15, 124  | 818, 005<br>5, 453        | 579, 223<br>1, 435   | 106, 614, 214<br>170, 866                    | 189, 718<br>10, 065  | 74, 124<br>48, 778                                      | 213, 394<br>159, 363   | 63<br>64   |

Table 4-A.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by net income classes; also aggregates for returns with no net income: Number of returns, amount of each specific source of income and deduction, and net income or deficit—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   |               |   | •   |   | Deductions-  | -Continued   |  |   |  |  |
|---|---------------|---|---|---|--|--|--|---|--|--|
| Net incor   |               | Partner-<br>ship loss 31                        | Contribu-   | Interest<br>paid 36   | Taxes<br>paid <sup>36</sup>  | Losses from<br>fire, storm,<br>shipwreck,<br>etc., or<br>theft 25 37 | Medical,<br>dental, etc<br>expenses **                         | Other de-<br>ductions 39  | Total de-<br>ductions  | Net income   |
| (1)   | ,             | (20)  | (21)  | (22)  | (23)   | (24)   | (25)   | (26)  | (27)   | (28)   |
| Form 1040:<br>Under 0.5 (cst.)  |               | 186   | 5, 870  | 7, 441  | 12, 779  | 4, 088   | 22, 058  | 7. 388  | 71, 689  | 30, 239, 358<br>70, 497  |
| 0.75 under 1 (est<br>1 under 1.25 (est<br>1.25 under 1.5 (e<br>1.5 under 1.75 (e<br>1.75 under 2 (est | st.)          | 686<br>545<br>1, 471<br>1, 438<br>892<br>2, 137 | 24, 450<br>43, 375<br>63, 921<br>78, 456<br>89, 749<br>104, 398     | 9, 658<br>15, 305<br>23, 846<br>32, 332<br>44, 380<br>66, 238   | 26, 463<br>40, 852<br>56, 195<br>71, 363<br>87, 674<br>94, 095       | 3, 028<br>3, 878<br>6, 140<br>5, 568<br>6, 906<br>6, 389             | 29, 854<br>38, 762<br>48, 231<br>56, 500<br>60, 508<br>60, 946 | 17, 510<br>23, 770<br>32, 215<br>38, 731<br>43, 052<br>50, 021  | 122, 458<br>185, 802<br>252, 926<br>300, 548<br>354, 896<br>400, 181 | 482, 829<br>972, 804<br>1, 503, 468<br>2, 018, 567<br>2, 464, 446<br>3, 086, 072       |
| 2.25 under 2.5 (e<br>2.5 under 2.75 (e<br>2.75 under 3 (est<br>3 under 3.5 (est.<br>3.5 under 4 (est. | )st.)st.)st.) | 827<br>850<br>1, 469<br>870<br>1, 873<br>1, 522 | 110, 518<br>69, 622<br>117, 403<br>132, 602<br>233, 546<br>148, 782 | 68, 842<br>77, 350<br>73, 757<br>82, 871<br>134, 439<br>87, 465 | 119, 802<br>130, 440<br>128, 126<br>146, 887<br>265, 316<br>173, 095 | 7, 169<br>8, 687<br>7, 143<br>8, 269<br>13, 909<br>8, 605            | 62, 650<br>62, 606<br>58, 090<br>55, 898<br>77, 335<br>42, 370 | 61, 671<br>98, 399<br>46, 443<br>53, 005<br>122, 847<br>56, 686 | 450, 408<br>468, 192<br>448, 354<br>496, 170<br>873, 888<br>535, 570 | 3, 458, 852<br>3, 748, 047<br>3, 793, 925<br>4, 840, 729<br>9, 657, 095<br>6, 272, 607 |
| 4 under 4.5 (est.<br>4.5 under 5 (est.)<br>5 under 6 (est.)<br>6 under 7 (est.)<br>7 under 8 (est.)   |               | 744<br>282<br>1,003<br>1,549<br>1,298           | 88, 530<br>54, 611<br>58, 124<br>37, 189<br>28, 048                 | 51, 344<br>32, 969<br>36, 282<br>23, 117<br>17, 898             | 104, 949<br>66, 851<br>72, 797<br>46, 242<br>35, 869                 | 4, 056<br>3, 399<br>3, 073<br>1, 884<br>1, 952                       | 23, 587<br>14, 348<br>15, 003<br>9, 196<br>6, 605              | 26, 797<br>22, 360<br>31, 181<br>23, 197<br>16, 598             | 311, 075<br>205, 189<br>236, 733<br>157, 182<br>121, 203             | 3, 812, 966<br>2, 406, 019<br>2, 560, 954<br>1, 612, 263<br>1, 239, 502                |
| 9 under 10 (est.)<br>10 under 11 (est.)<br>11 under 12 (est.)<br>12 under 13 (est.)                   | )             | 2, 310<br>1, 039<br>768<br>803<br>536           | 23, 139<br>20, 354<br>14, 748<br>13, 209<br>11, 257                 | 14, 173<br>11, 935<br>8, 860<br>7, 795<br>6, 579                | 29, 584<br>26, 139<br>19, 633<br>17, 437<br>15, 542                  | 2, 418<br>850<br>875<br>535<br>455                                   | 4, 928<br>3, 858<br>2, 770<br>2, 167<br>1, 867                 | 15, 483<br>11, 840<br>10, 531<br>8, 618<br>8, 519               | 102, 714<br>86, 325<br>66, 627<br>57, 138<br>50, 417                 | 1, 013, 725<br>902, 734<br>698, 823<br>615, 944<br>539, 843                            |
| 13 under 14 (est.<br>14 under 15 (est.<br>15 under 20 (est.<br>20 under 25<br>25 under 30             | )             | 655<br>542<br>1, 806<br>1, 627<br>1, 019        | 10, 494<br>9, 256<br>36, 910<br>25, 698<br>18, 801                  | 5, 814<br>4, 734<br>19, 359<br>12, 459<br>8, 450                | 14, 139<br>12, 498<br>50, 117<br>35, 587<br>26, 554                  | 414<br>464<br>1,378<br>980<br>676                                    | 1, 693<br>1, 132<br>4, 106<br>2, 216<br>1, 352                 | 8, 605<br>6, 470<br>26, 116<br>17, 123<br>13, 860               | 46, 810<br>40, 588<br>159, 115<br>109, 233<br>80, 358                | 490, 168<br>446, 547<br>1, 737, 001<br>1, 194, 339                                     |
| 30 under 40<br>40 under 50  |               | 1, 539<br>951<br>936                            | 26, 543<br>18, 291<br>13, 529                                       | 11, 132<br>7, 273<br>4, 530                                     | 35, 866<br>24; 573<br>17, 103  | 772<br>567<br>396  | 1, 352<br>1, 390<br>689<br>282                                 | 13, 860<br>17, 769<br>11, 960<br>8, 519                         | 108, 295<br>73, 501<br>51, 511                                       | 881, 845<br>1, 203, 510<br>778, 016<br>552, 382  |

| 33<br>33<br>33<br>33<br>33<br>33<br>33<br>33<br>33<br>34<br>34<br>45<br>45<br>45<br>45<br>45<br>45<br>45<br>45<br>45<br>45<br>45<br>45<br>45 | 80 under 90. 90 under 90. 90 under 100. 100 under 150. 150 under 200. 200 under 250. 250 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500. 500 under 500. 750 under 1,000. 1,000 under 1,500 1,500 under 2,000 2,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 5,000 5,000 and over | - 444<br>248<br>- 160<br>- 1,038<br>- 475<br>- 146<br>- 59<br>- 593<br>- 20<br>215<br>4 | 7, 898<br>6, 443<br>5, 344<br>17, 188<br>8, 404<br>4, 505<br>2, 631<br>3, 973<br>2, 689<br>5, 097<br>2, 507<br>1, 219 | 2, 421<br>2, 000<br>1, 600<br>5, 555<br>2, 311<br>1, 044<br>548<br>756<br>750<br>750<br>95 | 9, 670<br>7, 283<br>5, 968<br>17, 708<br>8, 170<br>4, 361<br>3, 026<br>2, 972<br>1, 952<br>2, 561<br>1, 351<br>522<br>632 | 231<br>156<br>779<br>93<br>82<br>52<br>79<br>15<br>53<br>24 | 99<br>64<br>44<br>74<br>12<br>11<br>11<br>6<br>3<br>(11) | 4, 526<br>3, 498<br>9, 201<br>4, 834<br>2, 092<br>1, 423 | 5 28. 60<br>22. 12:<br>5 17, 61:<br>5 6, 44:<br>5 6, 92:<br>13, 75:<br>8, 53:<br>10, 71:<br>7, 73:<br>11, 764:<br>5, 411<br>2, 115:<br>2, 949:<br>866:<br>1, 226: | 0 300, 51<br>228, 58<br>5 181, 21:<br>8 528, 88:<br>7 241, 144<br>5 128, 52:<br>82, 36:<br>1 101, 475<br>1 494, 82:<br>4 94, 82:<br>4 92, 21:<br>3 33, 103<br>1 15, 209<br>1 2, 840<br>3 , 682<br>1 3, 23: | 7 34<br>99 35<br>22 37<br>66 38<br>90 39<br>40 41<br>42<br>51 43<br>44 42<br>45<br>46 47<br>47<br>48<br>49 |
|--|--|---|---|--|---|---|--|--|---|--|--|
| 52   | Total, taxable individual returns with net income.  With no net income, Form 1040 !! (est.)  | 38, 551   | 1, 813, 315   | 1, 029, 946  | 2, 084, 286   | 116, 460  | 773, 461   | 978, 446   | 2, 777  |  | -  ""  |
| 53   |  |   | 1, 085  | 7, 880   | 6, 900  | 18, 414   | 7, 417   | 12,827   | 7, 282, 756<br>68, 951  | 01,112,120   | 1  |
|  | Total, taxable individual returns (51+52).  Nontaxable individual returns:   | 39, 207   | 1, 814, 400   | 1, 037, 826  | 2, 091, 186   | 134, 874  | 780, 878   | 991, 273   | 7, 351, 707   | 14 27, 326   | _]   |
| 54   | I WILD net income: 19  |   |   |  |   |   |  | 001, 210   | 1, 351, 707   | 15 97, 747, 098  | 53   |
| 55   | Form 1040A <sup>10</sup> (est.)<br>Form 1040:<br>Under 0.5 (est.)  |   |   |  |   |   | <br>   |  | ì   |  |  |
| 56<br>57<br>58<br>59   | Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 and over (est.) Total, nontaxable individual returns with   | 296<br>85<br>1, 076   | 9, 803<br>2, 487<br>2, 553<br>2, 204  | 5, 623<br>1, 583<br>805<br>926   | 16, 902<br>3, 125<br>2, 477<br>2, 003   | 1, 370<br>338<br>114<br>73                                  | 7, 827<br>1, 854<br>1, 091<br>814                        | 16, 113<br>3, 915<br>3, 424<br>2, 416                    | 75, 289<br>19, 415<br>14, 796<br>12, 096  | 847, 055<br>211, 987<br>122, 321<br>107, 479<br>146, 596   | 55<br>56<br>57   |
| 60   | net income. With no net income, Form 1040 !! (est.)  | 2, 810  | 17, 047   | 8, 937   | 24, 506   | 1, 895  | 11, 586  | 25, 869  | 121, 596  | 1, 435, 438  | 59   |
| 61   | Total, nontaxable individual returns (50.1   | 18, 105<br>20, 915  | 4, 559  | 9, 344   | 13, 493   | 3, 201  | 7, 109   | 67, 355  | 327, 598  | 14 198, 358  | 60   |
| 62   | 00).   | 20, 915   | 21, 606   | 18, 281  | 37, 999   | 5, 096  | 18, 695  | 93, 224  | 449, 194  | 15 1, 237, 081   | 61   |
| 63   | Grand total (53+61 or 63+64)   | 60, 122   | 1, 836, 006   | 1,.056, 107  | 2, 129, 185   | 139, 970  | 799, 573   | 1, 084, 497  |   |  | "  |
| 64   | Individual returns with net income (51+59)<br>Individual returns with no net income <sup>11</sup> (est.) (52+60).  | 41, 361<br>18, 761  | 1, 830. 363<br>5, 643   | 1, 038, 883  | 2, 108, 792   | 118, 355  | 785, 047   | 1, 004, 315  | 7, 800, 902   | 15 98, 984, 178  | 62   |
|  | For footnotes, see no. 252 254   | 10,,01  | 0, 043  | 17, 224  | 20, 393   | 21, 615   | 14, 526  | 80, 182  | 7, 404, 352<br>396, 550   | 99. 209, 862<br>14 225, 683  | 63<br>64   |

186

Table 4-B.—Taxable fiduciary returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes specific source of income and

[For description of items and classifications, and

[Net income classes and money

| 1   |   |            |  | Sources o   | f income   |   |
|---|---|------------|--|---|--|---|
|   |   | -          |  |   | Interest 14  |   |
|   | Net income classes <sup>1</sup>   | Number     | Dividends<br>from do-  | Bank de-  | Governmen  | t obligations   |
|   | Net income classes  | of returns | mestic and<br>foreign<br>corpora-<br>tions <sup>23</sup>   | posits,<br>notes,<br>mortgages,<br>corpora-<br>tion bonds   | Partially<br>tax-<br>exempt 25<br>(subject to<br>surtax only)  | Taxable 25<br>(subject to<br>normal tax,<br>surtax, and<br>victory tax)                           |
|   | (1)   | (2)        | (3)  | (4)   | (5)  | (6)   |
| 1 2 3 4 4 5 6 6 7 7 8 9 9 0 1 2 3 4 4 5 6 6 7 7 8 9 9 0 1 2 3 3 4 5 5 6 7 8 9 9 0 1 2 3 3 4 5 5 6 7 8 9 9 0 1 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 | Taxable fiduciary returns with net income:  Under 0.5 0.5 under 0.75 0.75 under 1.75 1.25 under 1.25 1.25 under 1.5 1.5 under 2.25 2.2 under 2.25 2.25 under 2.5 2.5 under 2.5 2.75 under 3 3 under 3.5 3.5 under 4.4 4 under 4.5 4.5 under 4.5 4.5 under 5 5 under 6 6 under 7 7 under 8 8 under 9 9 under 10 10 under 11 11 under 12 12 under 13 13 under 14 14 under 15 15 under 20 20 under 25 25 under 30 30 under 40 40 under 50 50 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 10 10 under 10 10 under 10 10 under 10 11 under 15 15 under 20 20 under 25 25 under 30 30 under 40 40 under 50 50 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 150 150 under 250 250 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 5,000 5,000 under 5 | 95,90      | 10, 277<br>5, 855<br>5, 885<br>3, 311<br>4, 132<br>2, 644<br>12, 588<br>4, 07<br>2, 388<br>1, 266<br>2, 744<br>1, 83<br>1, 8 | 1, 163<br>1, 160<br>1, 022<br>860<br>774<br>4 728<br>724<br>1, 959<br>1, 557<br>1, 111<br>1, 418<br>3, 276<br>3, 397<br>1, 103<br>545<br>55<br>1, 023<br>6 13<br>7 26<br>8 43<br>1, 103<br>6 15<br>15<br>16 18<br>17 18<br>18 18<br>18 18<br>18 18<br>18 18<br>18 18<br>18 18<br>18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18<br>18 18 18 18<br>18 18 18 18<br>18 18 18 18<br>18 18 18 18 18<br>18 18 18 18 18<br>18 18 18 18 18<br>18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 1 | 188<br>125<br>96<br>3424<br>449<br>177<br>166<br>113<br>31<br>22<br>22<br>24<br>44<br>45<br>1 (13)<br>27<br>(13)<br>(13)<br>27<br>(13)<br>(13)<br>27<br>(13)<br>28<br>17<br>17<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>18<br>18<br>18<br>18<br>18<br>18<br>18<br>18<br>18 | 422<br>200<br>263<br>167<br>110<br>15<br>10<br>10<br>110<br>110<br>110<br>110<br>110<br>110<br>11 |
| 52  | Grand total   | 97, 15     | 6 325, 39  | 65, 38  | 4 8, 29  | 3 11,30   |

and returns with no net income in aggregate: Number of returns, amount of each deduction, and net income. method of tabulating data, see pp. 6-13]

figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |   | s  | ources of in   | come—Cont                        | inued          |                |   |   |
|--|---|--|--|----------------------------------|----------------|----------------|---|---|
| Net gain<br>from sales<br>of capital<br>assets <sup>27</sup>   | Net gain<br>from sales<br>of property<br>other than<br>capital<br>assets 28                                   | Rents and royalties a (profit)   | Position   | Partner                          | - Incom        | u- Other       | Total income  |   |
| (7)  | (8)   | (9)  | (10)   | (11)                             | (12)           | (13)           | (14)  |   |
| 2, 532<br>1, 935<br>1, 762<br>1, 614<br>1, 501<br>1, 370<br>1, 226<br>1, 387<br>1, 993<br>1, 489<br>1, 549<br>1, 549<br>1, 549<br>1, 549<br>1, 549<br>1, 687<br>1, 678<br>1, 515<br>1, 104<br>1, 586<br>1, 625<br>5, 501<br>3, 509<br>2, 836<br>3, 993<br>3, 445<br>2, 019<br>1, 758<br>1, | 66 107 72 61 64 44 330 27 61 56 50 34 67 42 40 24 141 54 32 24 32 63 64 (13) 38 6 1 5 4 (13) 4 (18) (18) (19) | 5, 978 4, 104 3, 288 4, 104 3, 288 3, 032 2, 424 2, 183 1, 863 1, 597 1, 631 1, 599 1, 152 2, 963 2, 056 1, 790 1, 521 1, 614 1, 783 1, 429 1, 133 1, 106 987 844 743 3, 285 1, 910 1, 697 2, 249 1, 190 1, 1 | 2,000 1,256 1,246 1,156 1,355 1,192 943 8800 1,057 8888 733 1,458 1,4380 1,185 1,076 2,147 2,147 1,812 1,291 1,505 1,121 803 939 741 614 779 2,346 1,909 1,338 1,257 1,661 1,909 1,338 1,257 1,661 1,909 1,338 3,257 1,661 1,909 1,338 3,257 1,661 1,1020 2,47 1,47 2,47 2,47 2,47 2,47 2,47 2,47 2,47 2 | 56<br>41<br>24<br>26<br>21<br>23 | 1              | 14             | 1 28, 74 22, 14 3 18, 70 6 17, 96 6 14, 26 4 12, 99 12, 12 10, 12, 12 10, 13, 39 17, 67 17, 67 17, 67 18, 93 18, 93 19, 18, 19, 19 19, 19, 19 11, 12 | 6 3 4477 5677 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 20 1 |
| 97, 238<br>322   | 1, 445<br>24  | 65, 844<br>1, 787  | 45, 359<br>156   | 44, 576<br>140                   | 15, 795<br>140 | 12, 001<br>193 | 683, 876<br>11, 519   | 50<br>51  |
| 97, 560  | 1, 468  | 67, 632  | 45, 515  | 44, 716                          | 15, 935        | 12, 194        | 695, 395  | 52  |

Table 5.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by returns with net gain or with net loss from sales of capital assets; also aggregates for returns with no net income. Number of returns, net gain from sales of capital assets, net loss from sales of capital assets before and after statutory limitation, net short-term capital gain or loss, net long-term capital gain or loss, and net capital loss carried over from 1942

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   | [Net Income classes:   | and money i   |   |  |  |  | =   |
|---|--|---|---|--|--|--|---|
| Ī   |  | Retur   | ns with net a   | gain from sale   | es of capital a  | ssets  |   |
|   |  |   | Net gain<br>from sales<br>of capital  | Short-1<br>(before ca  |  | Long-<br>term <sup>42</sup>  |   |
|   | Net income classes 1   | Number of returns   | assets <sup>27</sup> (item 4, Sch. B, Form 1040, and Sch. E, Form 1041, or item 6 (a), p. 1, Form 1040, and item 7(a), p. 1, Form 1041) (col. 4+6 minus col. 5, 7, and 8) | Net short-<br>term<br>capital<br>gain<br>(item 1,<br>col. 4(a),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form 1040,<br>and Sch.<br>E, Form<br>1041) | Net short-<br>term<br>capital<br>loss<br>(item 1,<br>col. 4(b),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form 1040,<br>and Sch.<br>E, Form<br>1041) | Net long-<br>term capital gain (item 2, col. 4(a), Sch. B, Form 1040, and Sch. E, Form 1041)   |   |
|   | (1)  | (2)   | (3)   | (4)  | (5)  | (6)  |   |
| 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 1 12 3 14 15 6 17 8 19 20 1 22 2 24 25 6 27 28 8 29 30 3 32 33 34 35 6 | Taxable individual and fiduciary returns:  With net income:  Forms 1040 and 1041:  Under 0.5 (est.).  0.5 under 0.75 (est.).  1.75 under 1.25 (est.).  1.25 under 1.75 (est.).  1.75 under 2.26 (est.).  2.2 under 2.25 (est.).  2.25 under 2.25 (est.).  2.25 under 2.25 (est.).  2.5 under 2.25 (est.).  2.5 under 2.5 (est.).  3 under 3.5 (est.).  3 under 3.5 (est.).  4 under 4.5 (est.).  4 under 4.5 (est.).  4 under 4.5 (est.).  5 under 6 (est.).  6 under 7 (est.).  7 under 8 (est.).  8 under 9 (est.).  9 under 10 (est.).  10 under 11 (est.).  11 under 12 (est.).  12 under 13 (est.).  13 under 14 (est.).  14 under 15 (est.).  20 under 20 (est.).  20 under 20.  20 under 40.  40 under 60.  60 under 70.  70 under 80.  80 under 90.  90 under 100.  100 under 100. | 34, 552<br>32, 746<br>35, 009<br>32, 699<br>37, 450<br>58, 301<br>41, 957<br>27, 241<br>24, 063<br>35, 370<br>26, 083<br>14, 171<br>11, 129<br>9, 210<br>7, 887<br>6, 963<br>6, 090<br>21, 393<br>21, 7, 656<br>8, 662<br>21, 10, 100<br>5, 565<br>6, 600<br>21, 1, 451<br>1, 451<br>1, 451<br>1, 451 | 28, 858<br>42, 912<br>31, 783<br>22, 651<br>18, 082<br>14, 076<br>12, 592<br>9, 845   | 4, 214<br>2, 593<br>2, 155<br>1, 666<br>871<br>565   | 118<br>239<br>138  | 12, 401<br>25, 933<br>20, 540<br>15, 664<br>14, 675<br>26, 188<br>22, 162<br>19, 777<br>18, 998<br>16, 869<br>14, 391<br>12, 102<br>11, 199<br>10, 957<br>10, 922<br>42, 665<br>30, 758<br>25, 475<br>37, 988<br>29, 339<br>21, 061<br>16, 786<br>12, 972<br>12, 294<br>9, 692 | $\begin{smallmatrix} 1&2&3&4&5&6&7&8&9&0&1&1&1&1&1&1&1&1&1&2&2&2&2&2&2&2&2&2&2$ |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 5.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by returns with net gain or with net loss from sales of capital assets; also aggregates for returns with no net income: Number of returns, net gain from sales of capital assets, net loss from sales of capital assets before and after statutory limitation, net short-term capital gain or loss, net long-term capital gain or loss, and net capital loss carried over from 1942—Con.

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

# [Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| =   | T   | ·                                  |   |   |  |   |
|---|---|------------------------------------|---|---|--|---|
|   |   | Returns wi                         | ith net gain i  | from sales of   | capital assets   | -Continued  |
|   | 1   |                                    | Net gain<br>from sales<br>of capital  |   | -term 42<br>arry-over)   | Long-<br>term 42  |
|   | Net income classes 1  | Number of<br>returns               | assets " (item 4, Sch. B, Form 1040, and Sch. E, Form 1041, or item 6 (a), p. 1, Form 1040, and item 7(a), p. 1, Form 1041) (col. 4+6 minus col. 5, 7, and 8) | capital gain (item 1,   | Net short-<br>term<br>capital<br>loss<br>(item 1,<br>col. 4(b),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form 1040,<br>and Sch.<br>E, Form<br>1041) | Net long-<br>term<br>capital<br>gain<br>(item 2,<br>coi. 4(a),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form 1040,<br>and Sch.<br>E, Form<br>1041)   |
|   | (1)   | (2)                                | (3)   | (4)   | (5)  | (6)   |
| 17<br>18<br>19<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>7<br>18<br>19<br>10 | Taxable individual and fiduciary returns—Continued  With net income—Continued  Forms 1040 and 1041—Con.  150 under 250.  250 under 300.  300 under 400.  400 under 500.  500 under 750.  750 under 1,000.  1,000 under 1,500.  1,500 under 1,500.  2,000 under 2,000.  2,000 under 3,000.  3,000 under 5,000.  4,000 under 5,000.  5,000 under 5,000. | 85<br>42<br>22<br>7<br>7<br>1<br>3 | 24, 504<br>13, 973<br>8, 976<br>12, 957<br>11, 095<br>21, 204<br>21, 153<br>11, 371<br>4, 252<br>11, 797<br>442<br>6, 557                                     | 1, 283<br>768<br>745<br>244<br>249<br>97<br>43<br>1, 146<br>107 | 170<br>116<br>61<br>32<br>4<br>79<br>12<br>9   | 23, 729<br>13, 467<br>8, 414<br>13, 004<br>10, 864<br>21, 321<br>21, 183<br>10, 204<br>4, 195<br>11, 806<br>442<br>6, 555 |
| ,   | Total, taxable returns<br>with net income.<br>With no net income 11 (est.)  | 673, 178                           | 867, 300  | 132, 728  | 7, 260   | 766, 667  |
|   | Total, taxable returns (50+51).   | 674, 162                           | 868, 408  | 132, 979  | 7, 260   | 767, 557  |
|   | Nontaxable individual returns, Form 1040:  With net income 12 (est.)  With no net income 11 (est.)  Total, nontaxable re-   | 27, 952<br>21 7, 302               | 15, 094<br>9, 027   | 2, 542<br>1, 318  | 14<br>311  | 12, 672<br>8, 218   |
|   | turns.  | 35, 254                            | 24, 122   | 3,860   | 325  | 20, 890   |
| 1   | Grand total (52+55)   | 709, 416                           | 892, 530  | 136, 839  | 7,585  | 788, 447  |

TABLE 5.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by returns with net gain or with net loss from sales of capital assets; also aggregates for returns with no net income: Number of returns, net gain from sales of capital assets, net loss from sales of capital assets before and after statutory limitation, net short-term capital gain or loss, net long-term capital gain or loss, and net capital loss carried over from 1942—Con.

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

## [Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  | ·   | Returns wir<br>from sales<br>assets—C   | of capital  |   | th net loss fr<br>capital assets   | om sales of  |
|--|---|---|---|---|--|--|
|  |   | Long-<br>term <sup>12</sup> —<br>Continued  | Net<br>capital  |   | Net loss<br>from sales<br>of capital   | Net loss<br>from sales<br>of capital<br>assets before  |
|  | Net income classes <sup>1</sup>   | Net long-<br>term<br>capital<br>loss<br>(item 2,<br>col. 4(b),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form 1040,<br>and Sch.<br>E, Form<br>1041)   | loss<br>carried<br>over from<br>1942 <sup>43</sup><br>(item 3,<br>Sch. B,<br>Form 1040,<br>and Sch.<br>E, Form  | Number of returns   | assets after<br>statutory<br>limita-<br>tions <sup>34</sup><br>(item 6(a),<br>p. 1, Form<br>1040 and<br>item 7(a),<br>p. 1, Form<br>1041)  | statutory<br>limitation<br>(item 5,<br>Sch. B,<br>Form 1040,<br>and Sch.<br>E, Form<br>1041) (col.<br>13+15+16<br>minus<br>col. 12<br>and 14)  |
|  | (1)   | (7)   | (8)   | (9)   | (10)   | (11)   |
| 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 112 13 14 5 16 17 8 19 200 221 223 224 225 227 288 29 | Taxable individual and fiduciary returns:  With net income:  Forms 1040 and 1041:  Under 0.5 (est.) | 165<br>93<br>10<br>42<br>111<br>50<br>81<br>72<br>214<br>107<br>52<br>211<br>157<br>191<br>266<br>239<br>360<br>318<br>284<br>217<br>176<br>246<br>108<br>108<br>108<br>108<br>43<br>44<br>54<br>45<br>54<br>54<br>54<br>54<br>54<br>54<br>54<br>54<br>54<br>54 | 392<br>177<br>76<br>330<br>218<br>153<br>47<br>125<br>721<br>72<br>173<br>76<br>137<br>1,026<br>407<br>513<br>772<br>385<br>396<br>392<br>339<br>298<br>292<br>2,052<br>1,134<br>1,133<br>1,366 | 14, 691<br>10, 803<br>13, 817<br>15, 681<br>17, 196<br>19, 089<br>18, 833<br>21, 472<br>17, 130<br>18, 147<br>29, 887<br>22, 464<br>16, 609<br>12, 851<br>19, 717<br>14, 342<br>11, 605<br>9, 833<br>8, 444<br>2, 6, 634<br>4, 710<br>4, 175<br>3, 665<br>12, 786<br>7, 947<br>5, 245<br>6, 639 | 8, 993<br>5, 628<br>7, 755<br>8, 505<br>5, 906<br>6, 7810<br>7, 418<br>6, 730<br>8, 408<br>12, 493<br>9, 165<br>6, 713<br>5, 865<br>9, 440<br>7, 310<br>6, 222<br>5, 490<br>4, 812<br>3, 870<br>3, 123<br>2, 808<br>2, 481<br>2, 128<br>7, 815<br>4, 128<br>2, 128<br>7, 815<br>8, 129<br>8, 129 | 16, 348 1<br>7, 474 2<br>12, 534 3<br>11, 888 4<br>8, 564 5<br>11, 954 6<br>11, 904 6<br>11, 904 1<br>10, 404 11<br>25, 977 12<br>21, 312 13<br>10, 654 1<br>11, 304 15<br>20, 370 16<br>17, 906 17<br>14, 919 18<br>12, 390 19<br>15, 360 20<br>10, 688 2<br>10, 688 2<br>6, 303 25<br>25, 846 26<br>17, 805 27<br>12, 866 26<br>17, 805 27<br>12, 866 26<br>17, 805 27<br>12, 866 26<br>17, 805 27<br>12, 866 26 |
| 30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36                                     | 40 under 50   | 88<br>106<br>73<br>45<br>39   | 997<br>623<br>539<br>371<br>288<br>236<br>789   | 3, 255<br>2, 022<br>1, 270<br>878<br>590<br>438<br>1, 049   | 2, 264<br>1, 406<br>936<br>645<br>437<br>339<br>800  | 9, 618 30<br>6, 510 31<br>4, 815 3<br>3, 622 33<br>2, 574 34<br>2, 018 35<br>7, 481 36   |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 5.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by returns with net gain or with net loss from sales of capital assets; also aggregates for returns with no net income: Number of returns, net gain from sales of capital assets, net loss from sales of capital assets before and after statutory limitation, net short-term capital gain or loss, net long-term capital gain or loss, and net capital loss carried over from 1942—Con.

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

## [Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| =  |   |  |  |  |  |  |                      |
|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|----------------------|
|  |   | from sale  | rith net gain<br>es of capital<br>Continued  | Returns w<br>capita  | rith net loss f  | rom sales of<br>atinued  |                      |
|  | Net income classes 1  | Long-<br>term 42—<br>Continued  Net long-<br>term capital loss (item 2, col. 4(b), Sch. B, Form 1040, and Sch. E, Form 1041) | Net<br>capital<br>loss<br>carried<br>over from<br>1942 44<br>(item 3,<br>Sch. B,<br>Form 1040,<br>and Sch.<br>E, Form<br>1041) | Number of returns  | Net loss<br>from sales<br>of capital<br>assets after<br>statutory<br>limita-<br>tions si<br>(item 6(a),<br>p. 1, Form<br>1040 and<br>item 7(a),<br>p. 1, Form<br>1041) | Net loss from sales of capital assets before statutory limitation (item 5, Sch. B, Form 1041) (col. 13+15+16 minus col. 12 and 14) |                      |
|  | (1)   | (7)  | (8)  | (9)  | (10)   | (11)   |                      |
| 37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49 | Taxable individual and fiduciary returns—Continued With net income—Continued Forms 1040 and 1041—Con. 150 under 200 | (13)   | 318<br>140<br>110<br>259<br>14<br>135<br>61<br>27<br>50<br>10  | 337.<br>110<br>71<br>76<br>46<br>42<br>15<br>7<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1 | 273<br>85<br>51<br>62<br>39<br>37<br>14<br>(19)<br>1<br>1  | 2, 281<br>599<br>533<br>1, 141<br>783<br>978<br>81<br>23<br>(11)<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>1, 578  | 38<br>39<br>40<br>41 |
| 51   | With net income. With no net income 11 (est.)   | (22)   | (22)   | 21 5, 698  | 5, 634   | 11, 327  | 51                   |
| 52   | Total, taxable returns (50+51).   | 6, 053   | 18, 814  | 399, 751   | 196, 716   | 449, 034   | 52                   |
| 53<br>54   | Nontaxable individual returns, Form 1040: With net income 12 (est.)   | 1  | 106  | 21 6, 513  | 1 562  | 1.424  | <b>50</b>            |
| J  | With no net income 11 (est.)  | 4  | 193  | 21 7, 448  | 1, 563<br>4, 871   | 1, 424<br>12, 220  | 53<br>54             |
| 55   | Total, nontaxable returns.  | 5  | 298  | 13, 961  | 6, 434   | 13, 644  | 55                   |
| 56   | Grand total (52+55)   | 6, 058   | 19, 112  | 413, 712   | 203, 151   | 462, 678   | 56                   |

Table 5.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by returns with net gain or with net loss from sales of capital assets; also aggregates for returns with no net income: Number of returns, net gain from sales of capital assets, net loss from sales of capital assets before and after statutory limitation, net short-term capital gain or loss, net long-term capital gain or loss, and net capital loss carried over from 1942-Con.

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  | [2.00.000000000000000000000000000000000  |  |  |   |   |  | =  |
|--|--|--|--|---|---|--|--|
|  |  | Returns wit  | h net loss fro   | m sales of ca   | pital assets—   | Continued  |  |
|  |  | Short-t<br>(before ca  |  | Long-t  | erm 42  | Net<br>capital   |  |
|  | Net income classes <sup>1</sup>  | Net short-<br>term<br>capital<br>gain<br>(item 1,<br>col. 4(a),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form 1040,<br>and Sch.<br>E, Form<br>1041) | Net short-<br>term<br>capital<br>loss<br>(item 1,<br>col. 4(b),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form 1040,<br>and Sch.<br>E, Form<br>1041) | Net long-<br>term<br>capital<br>gain<br>(item 2,<br>col. 4(a),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form 1040,<br>and Sch.<br>E, Form<br>1041) | Net long-<br>term<br>capital<br>loss<br>(item 2,<br>col. 4(b),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form 1040,<br>and Sch.<br>E, Form<br>1041) | loss<br>carried<br>over from<br>1942 <sup>43</sup><br>(item 3,<br>Sch. B,<br>Form 1040,<br>and Sch.<br>E, Form<br>1041)  | •  |
| 1  | (1)  | (12)   | (13)   | (14)  | (15)  | (16)   |  |
| 1 2 3 4 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 114 15 16 17 7 18 19 20 1 22 22 23 30 31 32 33 34 35 6 | Taxable individual and fiduciary returns:  With net income:  Forms 1040 and 1041:  Under 0.5 (est.).  0.5 under 0.75 (est.).  1.5 under 1.25 (est.).  1.25 under 1.25 (est.).  1.25 under 1.5 (est.).  1.5 under 1.75 (est.).  2.2 under 2.25 (est.).  2.25 under 2.5 (est.).  2.5 under 2.5 (est.).  2.5 under 2.5 (est.).  3.5 under 2.5 (est.).  4 under 2.5 (est.).  4 under 4.5 (est.).  5 under 3.5 (est.).  5 under 6 (est.).  6 under 7 (est.).  7 under 8 (est.).  8 under 9 (est.).  10 under 11 (est.).  11 under 12 (est.).  12 under 13 (est.).  13 under 14 (est.).  14 under 15 (est.).  15 under 10 (est.).  10 under 11 (est.).  11 under 12 (est.).  12 under 13 (est.).  13 under 14 (est.).  14 under 15 (est.).  15 under 16 (est.).  10 under 17 (est.).  11 under 19 (est.).  12 under 19 (est.).  13 under 19 (est.).  14 under 15 (est.).  15 under 20 (est.).  20 under 25.  25 under 30.  30 under 40.  40 under 50.  50 under 60.  60 under 70.  70 under 80.  80 under 90.  90 under 100.  100 under 150. | 227 1,003 175 257 383 627 626 289 347 330 183 251 226 142 910 662 394 539 405 261 164 130 92                             | 1,703<br>1,302<br>1,499<br>810<br>528<br>646<br>233<br>399<br>175  | 305<br>391<br>1, 582<br>1, 187<br>903<br>1, 301<br>742<br>621<br>454<br>323<br>311<br>1216                              | 4, 081<br>14, 092<br>10, 854<br>6, 896<br>8, 792<br>5, 243<br>3, 627<br>2, 505<br>1, 970<br>1, 156                      | 1, 406 1, 915 1, 393 2, 295 1, 585 1, 436 859 3, 501 1, 508 1, 50 | 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 1 13 14 15 6 17 8 19 20 12 22 32 22 52 22 29 33 12 33 33 34 53 6 |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

194

Table 5.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by returns with net gain or with net loss from sales of capital assets; also aggregates for returns with no net income: Number of returns, net gain from sales of capital assets, net loss from sales of capital assets before and after statutory limitation, net short-term capital gain or loss, net long-term capital gain or loss, and net capital loss carried over from 1942-Con,

STATISTICS OF INCOME FOR 1943, PART 1

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13,

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| =  | [Net Income classe  | s and money  | ingures in th   | ousands of  | dollarsj   |   |  |
|--|---|--|---|---|--|---|--|
|  |   | Returns w  | rith net loss f   | rom sales of  | capital assets   | -Continued  |  |
|  |   |  | -term 42<br>arry-over)  | Long  | -term 42   | Net   |  |
|  | Net income classes 1  | Net short-<br>term<br>capital<br>gain<br>(item 1,<br>col. 4(a),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form 1040,<br>and Sch.<br>E, Form<br>1041) | Net short-<br>term<br>capital<br>loss<br>(item 1,<br>col. 4(b),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form 1040,<br>and Sch.<br>E, Form | Net long-<br>term<br>capital<br>gain<br>(item 2,<br>col. 4(a),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form 1040,<br>and Sch.<br>E, Form<br>1041) | Net long-<br>term<br>capital<br>loss<br>(item 2,<br>col. 4(b),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form 1040,<br>and Sch.<br>E, Form | capital loss carried over from 1942 44 (item 3, Sch. B, Form 1040, and Sch. E, Form 1041)   |  |
|  | (1)   | (12)   | (18)  | (14)  | (15)   | (16)  |  |
| 37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50 | Taxable individual and fiduciary returns—Continued With net income—Continued Forms 1040 and 1041—Con. 150 under 200. 200 under 250. 250 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500. 500 under 750. 750 under 1,000. 1,000 under 1,500. 1,500 under 2,000. 2,000 under 3,000. 3,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 3,000. 5,000 and over.  Total, taxable returns with net income. With no net income 10 (est.) | 12<br>26<br>49<br>46<br>12   | 227<br>175<br>18<br>26<br>19<br>8<br>22<br>8<br>3<br>3<br>42,603<br>1,000<br>43,603                             | 369<br>84<br>168<br>91<br>83<br>12<br>3<br>1<br>4<br>19,535<br>593  | 1, 300 225 189 750 423 685 25 13 2 2 2 1, 343 280, 572 8, 423 288, 995   | 1, 160<br>296<br>520<br>505<br>471<br>308<br>37<br>3<br>1<br>1<br>235<br>144, 651<br>2, 787 | 37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50<br>51 |
|  | Nontaxable individual returns, Form   |  | =======================================   |   |  |   |  |
| 53<br>54   | With net income 12 (est.) With no net income 11 (est.)  | 108  | 41<br>319   | 27<br>250   | 1, 246<br>9, 244   | 164<br>3, 015   | 53<br>54   |
| 55   | Total, nontaxable re-<br>turns.   | 108  | 360   | 276   | 10, 490  | 3, 179  | 55   |
| 56   | Grand total (52+55)   | 10, 981  | 43, 963   | 20, 406   | 299, 485   | 150, 617  | 56   |

Table 5-A.—Individual returns, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by returns with net gain or with net loss from sales of capital assets; also aggregates for returns with no net income: Number of returns, net gain from sales of capital assets, net loss from sales of capital assets before and after statutory limitation, net short-term capital gain or loss, net long-term capital gain or loss, and net capital loss carried over from 1942

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   | [Net Income classes   |   |   |  |  |   | =  |
|---|---|---|---|--|--|---|--|
|   |   | Retu  | ns with net   | gain from sal  | es of capital  | assets  |  |
|   |   |   | Net gain<br>from sales  | Short-<br>(before ca   | term 42<br>Arry-over)  | Long-<br>term 42  |  |
|   | Net income classes  | Number<br>of returns  | of capital assets <sup>17</sup> (item 4, Sch. B, or item 6(a), p. 1, Form 1040) (col. 4+6 minus col. 5, 7, and 8)   | Net short-<br>term cap-<br>ital gain<br>(item 1,<br>col. 4(a),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040)   | Net short-<br>term cap-<br>ital loss<br>(item 1,<br>col. 4(b),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040)   | Net long-<br>term cap-<br>ital gain<br>(item 2,<br>col. 4(a),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040)   |  |
|   | (1)   | (2)   | (3)   | (4)  | (5)  | (6)   |  |
| 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 2 3 14 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 2 13 14 15 6 17 18 9 20 12 22 32 24 5 26 7 28 9 31 32 33 34 5 35 6 | Taxable individual returns:  With net income:  Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  1.5 under 1.25 (est.)  1.25 under 1.25 (est.)  1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  1.75 under 2.25 (est.)  2 under 2.26 (est.)  2.25 under 2.5 (est.)  2.75 under 3.6 (est.)  3 under 3.6 (est.)  3.5 under 3.6 (est.)  4.5 under 3.6 (est.)  4.5 under 3.6 (est.)  5 under 4.5 (est.)  4 under 4.5 (est.)  4 under 7 (est.)  7 under 8 (est.)  8 under 9 (est.)  9 under 10 (est.)  10 under 11 (est.)  11 under 12 (est.)  12 under 13 (est.)  13 under 14 (est.)  14 under 15 (est.)  15 under 16 (est.)  10 under 17 (est.)  10 under 19 (est.)  10 under 10 (est.)  10 under 10 (est.)  10 under 11 (est.)  11 under 12 (est.)  12 under 13 (est.)  13 under 14 (est.)  14 under 15 (est.)  15 under 20 (est.)  20 under 25  25 under 30  30 under 40  40 under 60  60 under 70  70 under 80  80 under 100  90 under 100  100 under 150 | 34, 120<br>32, 047<br>36, 852<br>57, 234<br>41, 121<br>26, 517<br>23, 453<br>34, 365<br>25, 304<br>19, 604<br>17, 116<br>13, 786<br>10, 775<br>8, 912<br>7, 663<br>6, 717<br>5, 862<br>20, 722<br>12, 395<br>8, 396<br>9, 822<br>5, 385<br>3, 239<br>1, 940<br>1, 401<br>969<br>711<br>1, 749 | 1, 109 3, 264 5, 778 6, 270 8, 456 9, 781 12, 261 14, 146 14, 146 12, 880 13, 313 27, 933 22, 633 17, 256 28, 483 25, 086 22, 327 21, 212 21, 212 21, 212 21, 212 22, 236 22, 327 21, 212 21, 212 22, 327 21, 212 21, 289 22, 327 21, 212 21, 212 22, 327 21, 212 21, 212 22, 327 21, 212 21, 322 22, 327 21, 212 21, 322 22, 327 21, 212 21, 324 22, 325 22, 325 22, 325 22, 325 22, 325 23, 919 28, 338 20, 632 28, 338 20, 632 21, 318 36, 880 22, 426 | 261<br>526<br>504<br>987<br>1, 602<br>1, 519<br>1, 841<br>1, 425<br>3, 1973<br>2, 063<br>4, 030<br>4, 030<br>4, 030<br>3, 831<br>4, 412<br>6, 446<br>6, 315<br>5, 503<br>5, 289<br>2, 233<br>2, 780<br>11, 072<br>6, 663<br>4, 773<br>2, 411<br>2, 023<br>1, 439<br>851<br>851<br>851<br>851<br>851<br>851<br>851<br>851<br>851<br>851 | 36<br>5<br>5<br>35<br>39<br>96<br>21<br>51<br>80<br>80<br>52<br>54<br>33<br>296<br>279<br>107<br>101<br>148<br>178<br>149<br>138<br>105<br>111<br>893<br>516<br>309<br>536<br>533<br>292<br>213<br>3114<br>175 | 940<br>2, 830<br>5, 334<br>7, 025<br>8, 455;<br>10, 853<br>11, 041<br>11, 902<br>11, 535<br>24, 205<br>18, 933<br>14, 338<br>13, 335<br>23, 565<br>19, 784<br>17, 794<br>17, 090<br>15, 357<br>12, 884<br>10, 777<br>10, 260<br>9, 487<br>9, 566<br>38, 038<br>27, 697<br>23, 099<br>34, 357<br>26, 294<br>19, 188<br>14, 885<br>11, 405<br>10, 919<br>8, 612<br>33, 774<br>21, 672 | 1 2 3 3 4 4 5 5 6 . 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 33 34 36 36 37 |
| 37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43  | 150 under 200   | 273<br>137<br>146<br>70<br>83<br>38   | 12,746<br>8,015<br>11,496<br>9,914<br>20,524<br>18,584  | 623<br>463<br>244<br>249<br>95<br>39   | 116.<br>61.<br>27.<br>4.<br>79.<br>12.   | 12, 385<br>7, 734<br>11, 527<br>9, 680<br>20, 642<br>18, 603<br>7, 712  | 38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43   |

For footnotes, see p. 252-254.

Table 5-A.—Individual returns, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by not income classes, and by returns with net gain or with net loss from sales of capital assets; also aggregates for returns with no net income: Number of returns, net gain from sales of capital assets, net loss from sales of capital assets before and after statutory limitation, net short-term capital gain or loss, net long-term capital gain or loss, and net capital loss carried over from 1942—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| =                          |  | <del></del>          | agures in tho  |   | <b>01141</b> 5)  |  |          |
|----------------------------|--|----------------------|--|---|--|--|----------|
|                            |  | Return               | s with net ga  | in from sales   | of capital ass   | ets—Con.   | Ī        |
|                            |  |                      | Net gain<br>from sales   | (before   | t-term <sup>62</sup><br>carry-over)  | Long-<br>term 42   |          |
|                            | Net income classes   | Number<br>of returns | of capital assets 27 (item 4, Sch. B, or item 6(a), p. 1, Form 1040) (col. 4+6 minus col. 5, 7, and 8) | Net short<br>term cap-<br>ital gain<br>(item 1,<br>col. 4(a),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040) | Net short-<br>term cap-<br>ital loss<br>(item 1,<br>col. 4(b),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040) | Net long<br>term cap<br>ital gap<br>(item 2,<br>col. 4(a),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040) | -        |
|                            | (1)  | (2)                  | (3)  | (4)   | (5)  | (6)  |          |
| 45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49 | Taxable individual returns—Con. With net income—Continued Form 1040—Continued 1,500 under 2,000 2,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 5,000 5,000 and over | 6<br>5<br>1<br>3     | 2, 191<br>6, 283<br>442<br>6, 557  | 1 2   |  | 2, 241<br>6, 293<br>442<br>6, 555  | 4        |
| 50                         | Total, taxable individ-<br>ual returns with net<br>income.   | 637,110              | 770,062  | 121, 844  | 6, 891   | 677, 658   | 5        |
| 51                         | With no net income, Form 1040 11 (est.).   | (22) .               | (22)   | (22)  | (22)   | (22)   | 5.       |
| 2                          | Total, taxable individ-<br>ual returns (50+51).  | 638, 004             | 770, 849   | 122, 092  | 6, 891   | 678, 213   | 52       |
| 1                          | Nontaxable individual returns, Form  |                      |  |   |  |  | 1        |
| 3 4                        | With net income 12 (est.) With no net income 11 (est.)   | 27, 952<br>21 7, 302 | 15, 094<br>9, 027  | 2, 542<br>1, 318  | 14<br>311  | 12, 672<br>8, 218  | 53<br>54 |
| 5                          | Total, nontaxable returns.   | 35, 254              | 24,122   | 3,860   | 325  | 20, 890  | 55       |
|                            | Grand total (52+55)  | 673, 258             | 794, 970   | 125, 953  | 7, 217   | 699, 103   | 56       |

STATISTICS OF INCOME FOR 1943, PART 1

199

Table 5-A.—Individual returns, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by returns with net gain or with net loss from sales of capital assets; also aggregates for returns with no net income: Number of returns, net gain from sales of capital assets, net loss from sales of capital assets before and after statutory limitation, net short-term capital gain or loss, net long-term capital gain or loss, and net capital loss carried over from 1942—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| Net income classes   |   | [Net income classes   | and money r  | igures in tho   | usanus oi uc   | niaisj   |   | =              |
|--|---|---|--|---|--|--|---|----------------|
| Net income classes   |   |   | from sales of  | capital as-   | Returns v  | vith net loss i<br>capital asset   | from sales<br>ts  | :              |
| (1) (7) (8) (9) (10) (11)  Taxable individual returns: With net income: Form 1040:  1 Under 0.5 (est.) 56 1 10,144 8,452 11,77 2 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 7 13,448 7,609 12,2 4 1 under 1.25 (est.) 7 158 14,772 5,788 8,11 5 1.25 under 1.75 (est.) 7 158 14,772 5,788 8,11 6 1.5 under 1.75 (est.) 7 158 14,772 5,788 8,11 7 1.75 under 2 (est.) 75 18,864 7,323 11,5 8 2 under 2.55 (est.) 46 112 16,946 7,714 11,6 7 1.75 under 2 (est.) 75 18,864 7,323 11,5 8 2 under 2.55 (est.) 213 680 21,227 8,336 11,3 10 2.5 under 2.575 (est.) 104 35 16,964 6,862 11,7 11 2.75 under 3 (est.) 104 35 16,964 6,862 11,7 11 2.75 under 3 (est.) 164 110 12 2,964 7 12,375 25,4 13 3.5 under 4.55 (est.) 164 103 22,292 9,079 21,0 14 4 under 4.5 (est.) 186 109 16,436 6,623 10,3 15 4.5 under 5 (est.) 266 192 12,708 5,793 11,0 16 5 under 6 (est.) 234 997 19,511 9,333 19,9 17 6 under 6 (est.) 284 721 9,709 5,425 12,2 20 9 under 10 (est.) 199 339 8,333 12,641 7,740 11,61 11 |   | Net income classes  | Con.  Net long-term capi-  | loss carried<br>over from<br>1942 43  |  | from sales<br>of capital<br>assets after<br>statutory  | (item 5,  |                |
| Taxable individual returns: With net income: Form 1040:  1   |   |   | (item 2,<br>col. 4(b),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form  | Sch. B,<br>Form   |  | (item 6(a),<br>p. 1, Form  |   |                |
| With net income:   Form 1040:  |   | (1)   | (7)  | (8)   | (9)  | (10)   | (11)  |                |
| 33     70 under 80.     68     343     871     639     3,3       34     80 under 90.     45     228     581     429     2,6       35     90 under 100.     39     236     431     334     1,5       36     100 under 150.     104     705     1,029     783     5,1       37     150 under 200.     19     316     329     266     2,2       38     200 under 250.     6     140     109     84       39     250 under 300.     11     110     68     51       40     300 under 400.     (14)     248     76     62     1,       40     300 under 400.     10     45     38  | 23 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 112 13 14 15 6 17 18 19 20 12 22 32 42 25 6 27 28 29 30 31 23 33 44 41 42 | With net income: Form 1040: Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 1.5 under 1.75 (est.) 1 under 1.25 (est.) 1.25 under 1.75 (est.) 1.5 under 1.75 (est.) 2.25 under 2.25 (est.) 2.25 under 2.25 (est.) 2.5 under 2.75 (est.) 2.5 under 3.5 (est.) 3. under 3.5 (est.) 4 under 4.5 (est.) 4 under 4.6 (est.) 5 under 6 (est.) 7 under 8 (est.) 10 under 11 (est.) 11 under 11 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 10 (est.) 10 under 10 (est.) 11 under 10 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 10 (est.) 16 under 10 (est.) 17 under 11 (est.) 19 under 10 (est.) 19 under 10 (est.) 10 under 10 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 15 under 20 (est.) 20 under 40 40 under 50 50 under 60 60 under 90 90 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 250 250 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 500 | 85<br>77<br>39<br>746<br>755<br>422<br>213<br>104<br>45<br>210<br>154<br>186<br>234<br>358<br>315<br>284<br>199<br>176<br>245<br>198<br>108<br>93<br>385<br>256<br>445<br>244<br>231<br>88<br>106<br>68<br>45<br>39<br>104<br>104<br>105<br>106<br>106<br>106<br>106<br>106<br>106<br>106<br>106<br>106<br>106 | 269<br>158<br>112<br>67<br>680<br>35<br>154<br>103<br>109<br>192<br>997<br>375<br>478<br>721<br>339<br>362<br>255<br>228<br>265<br>277<br>1, 933<br>1, 303<br>1, 074<br>1, 313<br>1, 303<br>1, 074<br>1, 313<br>1, 303<br>1,  10, 144 13, 348 15, 118 14, 772 16, 946 18, 616 21, 287 16, 948 18, 616 21, 287 16, 948 18, 621 29, 647 22, 292 29, 647 22, 292 39, 647 4, 111 3, 625 5, 975 3, 209 1, 988 1, 260 12, 641 431 1, 029 329 329 329 329 329 329 329 329 329 3 | 5, 426<br>6, 640<br>8, 336<br>6, 662<br>7, 108<br>12, 375<br>9, 079<br>6, 623<br>5, 793<br>5, 793<br>5, 793<br>5, 793<br>5, 4, 762<br>4, 762<br>4, 762<br>4, 762<br>4, 762<br>4, 762<br>4, 762<br>4, 762<br>4, 762<br>4, 762<br>4, 762<br>4, 762<br>4, 762<br>4, 763<br>4, 763<br>6, 233<br>1, 397<br>2, 765<br>2, 418<br>2, 118<br>2, | 6, 234<br>24, 928<br>16, 934<br>17, 602<br>16, 340<br>6, 398<br>4, 701<br>3, 596<br>2, 562<br>1, 968<br>5, 154<br>6, 2, 151<br>6, 2, 151<br>6, 398<br>1, 141<br>778 | 41<br>42<br>43 |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 5-A.—Individual returns, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by returns with net gain or with net loss from sales of capital assets; also aggregates for returns with no net income: Number of returns, net gain from sales of capital assets, net loss from sales of capital assets before and after statutory limitation, net short-term capital gain or loss, net long-term capital gain or loss, and net capital loss carried over from 1942—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

# [Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| ==                   | 7   | <del></del> _   |  |  |   |   |                |
|----------------------|---|---|--|--|---|---|----------------|
|                      |   | Returns w<br>from sales of<br>sets—Cont   | ith net gain<br>of capital as-<br>inued                                      | Returns with net loss from sales of capital assets—Continued |   |   |                |
|                      |   | Long-<br>term 42—<br>Con.   | Net capital  |  | Net loss<br>from sales  | Net loss<br>from sales<br>of capital  |                |
|                      | Net income classes  | Net long-<br>term capi-<br>tal loss<br>(item 2,<br>col. 4(b),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040) | loss carried<br>over from<br>1942 43<br>(item 3,<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040) | Number of<br>returns   | of capital<br>assets after<br>statutory<br>limita-<br>tion 24<br>(item 6(a),<br>p. 1, Form<br>1040) | assets be-<br>fore statu-<br>tory limi-<br>tation<br>(item 5,<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040) (col.<br>13+15+16<br>minus col.<br>12 and 14) |                |
|                      | (1)   | (7)   | (8)  | (9)  | (10)  | (11)  |                |
| 45<br>46<br>47<br>48 | Taxable individual returns—Con. With net income—Continued Form 1040—Continued 1,500 under 2,000 2,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 4,000 |   | 80<br>10   | 1  | · (13)  | (i³)<br>2   | 45<br>46<br>47 |
| 49                   | 4,000 under 5,000<br>5,000 and over   |   |  | 1  | 1   | 1, 578  | 48<br>49       |
| 50                   | Total, taxable individual returns with net  | 5, 805  | 16, 744  | 387, 191   | 188, 155  | 423, 796  | 50             |
| 51                   | with no net income, Form 1040 11 (est.).  | (23)  | (32)   | <sup>21</sup> 5, 149   | 5, 194  | 8, 906  | 51             |
| 52                   | Total, taxable individual returns (50+51).  | 5, 805  | 16, 760  | 392, 340   | 193, 349  | 432, 702  | 52             |
| 1                    | Nontaxable individual returns, Form   |   |  |  |   |   |                |
| 53<br>54             | With net income 12 (est.) With no net income 11 (est)   | 1 4   | 106<br>193   | 21 6, 513<br>21 7, 448                                       | 1, 563<br>4, 871  | 1, 424<br>12, 220   | 53<br>54       |
| 55                   | Total, nontaxable re-<br>turns.   | . 5   | 298  | 13, 961  | 6, 434  | 13, 644   | 55             |
| 56                   | Grand total (52+55)   | 5, 810  | 17, 058  | 406, 301   | 199, 783  | 446, 345  | 56             |

TABLE 5-A.—Individual returns, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by returns with net gain or with net loss from sales of capital assets; also aggregates for returns with no net income: Number of returns, net gain from sales of capital assets, net loss from sales of capital assets before and after statutory limitation, net short-term capital gain or loss, net long-term capital gain or loss, and net capital loss carried over from 1942—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   | [Net income classes  | ind money i  | iguites in the   | uotitus 11 =-   |   |   |
|---|--|--|--|---|---|---|
| ٦   |  | Returns  | with net lo  | ss from sales   | of capital ass  | ets-Con.  |
|   |  | Short-1<br>(before ca  |  | Long-t  | erm 42  | Net capital   |
|   | Net income classes   | Net short-<br>term capi-<br>tal gain<br>(item 1,<br>col. 4(a),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040) | Net short-<br>term capi-<br>tal loss<br>(item 1,<br>col. 4(b),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040) | Net long-<br>term capi-<br>tal gain<br>(item 2,<br>col. 4(a),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040) | Net long-<br>term capi-<br>tal loss<br>(item 2,<br>col. 4(b),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040)   | over from<br>1942 43<br>(item 3,<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040)            |
| 1   | (1)  | (12)   | (13)   | (14)  | (15)  | (16)  |
|   | Taxable individual returns: With net income:   |  |  |   |   |   |
| 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22 | Form 1040:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  1 under 1.25 (est.)  1.25 under 1.25 (est.)  1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  2 under 2.25 (est.)  2.25 under 2.26 (est.)  2.5 under 2.6 (est.)  2.5 under 2.75 (est.)  2.75 under 3 (est.)  3. under 3 (est.)  3. under 3.5 (est.)  4.5 under 4.5 (est.)  4.5 under 4.5 (est.)  5 under 6 (est.)  5 under 7 (est.)  7 under 8 (est.)  8 under 9 (est.)  9 under 10 (est.)  10 under 11 (est.)  11 under 12 (est.) | 625<br>620<br>287<br>347<br>329<br>183   | 661  | 1, 037<br>413<br>560<br>578<br>356<br>358   | 13, 415 5, 927 9, 072 9, 464 5, 865 9, 381 9, 744 6, 149 9, 049 7, 959 9, 097 14, 376 6, 879 8, 325 12, 761 9, 330 10, 556 7, 522 7, 874 6, 301 6, 168 4, 778 | 4, 900   19<br>6, 267   20<br>3, 394   21<br>3, 847   22<br>4, 757   23 |
| 23<br>24<br>25  | 12 under 13 (est.)<br>13 under 14 (est.)<br>14 under 15 (est.)<br>15 under 20 (est.)   | 236<br>142   | 656<br>573<br>1, 494   | 282<br>391<br>1, 563  | 4, 037<br>13, 496   | 2, 073   24<br>2, 157   25<br>12, 209   26                              |
| 26<br>27<br>28<br>29  | 20 under 25<br>25 under 30   | 393  | 1, 250<br>1, 460   | 872<br>1, 286   | 8, 578  | 5,837 28<br>8,124 29  |
| 30<br>31<br>32  | 40 under 50<br>50 under 60<br>60 under 70  | 403<br>260<br>163  | 519  | 608   | 2, 467  | 3, 167 31<br>2, 209 32  |
| 33<br>34<br>35  | 70 under 80<br>80 under 90<br>90 under 100   | 92   | 399  | 310   | 1, 148<br>1, 065  | 1,417 34<br>1,004 35  |
| 36<br>37<br>38  | 200 under 250  | - 37   | 180  | 0 368<br>2 83   | 1, 22   | 7 1,149 37<br>5 296 38  |
| 39<br>40<br>41  | 400 under 500  | 49   | 2 2  | 6 91<br>9 83<br>8 11  | 75<br>3 41<br>2 68  | 505 40<br>8 471 41<br>2 305 42  |
| 42<br>43<br>44  | 750 under 1,000  |  |  | 2   |   |   |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 5-A.—Individual returns, 1943, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by net income classes, and by returns with net gain or with net loss from sales of capital assets; also aggregates for returns with no net income: Number of returns, net gain from sales of capital assets, net loss from sales of capital assets before and after statutory limitation, net short-term capital gain or loss, net long-term capital gain or loss, and net capital loss carried over from 1942—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| _                          |   | 1   |   |   |   |  | =                          |
|----------------------------|---|---|---|---|---|--|----------------------------|
| . ,                        |   | Return  | s with net lo   | ss from sales   | of capital as   | sets—Con.  |                            |
|                            |   |   | term 42<br>arry-over)   | Long-   | term 42   | Net capital  |                            |
|                            | Net income classes  | Net short-<br>term capi-<br>tal gain<br>(item 1,<br>col. 4(a),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form 1040) | Net short-<br>term capi-<br>tal loss.<br>(item 1,<br>col. 4(b),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040) | Net long-<br>term capi-<br>tal gain<br>(item 2,<br>col. 4(a),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040) | Net long-<br>term capi-<br>tal loss<br>(item 2,<br>col. 4(b),<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040) | loss carried<br>over from<br>1942 43<br>(item 3,<br>Sch. B,<br>Form<br>1040) |                            |
|                            | (1)   | (12)  | (13)  | (14)  | (15)  | (16)   |                            |
| 45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49 | Taxable individual returns—Con.  With net income—Continued  Form 1040—Continued  1,500 under 2,000  2,000 under 3,000  3,000 under 4,000  4,000 under 5,000  5,000 and over |   |   | 4   | 1, 343  | 235  | 45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49 |
| <b>5</b> 0                 | Total, taxable individ-<br>ual returns with net   | 10, 265   | 41,635  | 18, 738   | 273, 644  | 137, 521   | 50                         |
| 51                         | income.<br>With no net income, Form 1040 11<br>(est.).  | 268   | 906   | 549   | 6, 986  | 1, 830   | 51                         |
| 52                         | Total, taxable individ-<br>ual returns (50+51).   | 10, 533   | 42, 541   | 19, 287   | 280, 630  | 139, 351   | 52                         |
|                            | Nontaxable individual returns, Form 1040:   |   |   |   |   |  | !                          |
| 53<br>54                   | With net income <sup>12</sup> (est.)<br>With no net income <sup>11</sup> (est.)   | 108   | 41<br>319   | 27<br>250   | 1, 246<br>9, 244  | 164<br>3, 015  | 53<br>54                   |
| 55                         | Total, nontaxable returns.  | 108   | 360   | 278   | 10, 490   | 3, 179   | 55                         |
| 56                         | Grand total (52+55)   | 10, 641   | 42, 901   | 19, 565   | 291, 120  | 142, 530   | 56                         |

Table 6.—Individual returns with net income of \$5,000 and over, 1943, showing by net income classes

[For description of items and classifications, and

[Net income classes and money

|  |  |   |   |   | iicome ciasse.  |   |
|--|--|---|---|---|---|---|
|  |  | Gov   | ernment obl   | igations own  | ed at end of  | year  |
| -  |  |   | Part  | ially tax- exe  | mpt   | Taxable   |
|  | Net income classes   | Total<br>(col. 3+6)   | Total<br>(col. 4+5)   | United<br>States<br>savings<br>bonds and<br>Treasury<br>bonds is-<br>sued prior<br>to Mar. 1,<br>1941 | Obligations of instrumentalities of the United States issued prior to Mar. 1, 1941, other than Federal land banks, Federal intermediate credit banks, or joint stock land banks   | Total<br>(col. 7+8)   |
|  | (1)  | (2)   | (3)   | (4)   | (5)   | (6)   |
| 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 12 22 32 24 25 27 28 30 31 32 33 34 | 5 under 6 (est.) 6 under 7 (est.) 7 under 8 (est.) 9 under 19 (est.) 10 under 11 (est.) 11 under 12 (est.) 12 under 13 (est.) 13 under 14 (est.) 14 under 15 (est.) 14 under 20 (est.) 20 under 25 25 under 30 30 under 40 40 under 50 50 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 100 100 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 500 500 under 500 500 under 700 70 under 300 300 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 1,500 1,500 under 1,500 1,500 under 3,000 3,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 3,000 5,000 under 3,000 5,000 under 3,000 | 211, 205<br>276, 956<br>188, 933<br>136, 936<br>103, 512<br>82, 370<br>55, 569<br>47, 514<br>142, 423<br>72, 014<br>52, 503<br>25, 131<br>40, 578<br>21, 894<br>41, 438<br>8, 126<br>4, 298<br>4, 752<br>4, 005<br>9, 498<br>2, 310 | 92, 561<br>85, 165<br>74, 718<br>64, 866<br>59, 104<br>49, 009<br>47, 589<br>40, 736<br>37, 748<br>37, 142<br>169, 799<br>101, 648<br>82, 190<br>106, 992<br>65, 318<br>82, 190<br>24, 627<br>15, 670<br>13, 368<br>33, 690<br>23, 521<br>19, 017<br>3, 551<br>19, 02<br>3, 654<br>4, 048<br>864<br>525 |   | 10, 105<br>5, 847<br>5, 426<br>5, 110<br>5, 478<br>3, 924<br>3, 897<br>2, 006<br>2, 942<br>2, 383<br>9, 168<br>5, 921<br>4, 249<br>5, 942<br>4, 418<br>2, 350<br>4, 155<br>1, 986<br>477<br>383<br>1, 783<br>1, | 121, 413 96, 663 84, 849 90, 565 73, 323 65, 877 53, 407 63, 911 42, 923 49, 986 181, 841 150, 096 129, 918 169, 964 123, 615 57, 743 39, 900 34, 146 108, 733 48, 733 48, 731 15, 579 36, 877 18, 240 37, 390 23, 434 7, 601 4, 234 4, 752 9, 485 2, 310 |
| 35   | Total  | 3, 490, 247   | 1, 349, 054   | 1, 258, 303   | 90, 750   | 2, 141, 193   |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

partially tax-exempt and taxable Government obligations owned and interest received, and by type of obligation

methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

figures in thousands of dollars]

| tions ov  | ent obliga-<br>vned at end<br>Continued   |   | In  | terest receiv  | ed or accrued   | during the  | year 44  |  |  |  |
|---|---|---|---|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| Taxable—Continued   |   |   | Pa  | rtially tax-e  | xempt   | empt Taxable  |  |  |  |  |
| United<br>States<br>savings<br>bonds is-<br>sued on<br>or after<br>Mar. 1,<br>1941  | Other obligations issued on or after Mar. 1, 1941, by the United States or any instrumentality thereof, including Treasury notes issued on or after Dec. 1, 1940  | Total 45<br>(col. 10+<br>13)  | Total 45<br>(col. 11+<br>12)  | United<br>States<br>savings<br>bonds and<br>Treasury<br>bonds is-<br>sued prior<br>to Mar. 1,<br>1941 <sup>45</sup>  | Obligations of instrumentalities of the United States issued prior to Mar. 1,1941, other than Federal land banks, Federal intermediate credit banks, or joint stock land banks 46 | Total<br>(col. 14+<br>15)   | United<br>States<br>savings<br>bonds is-<br>sued on or<br>after<br>Mar. 1,<br>1941   | Other obligations is sued on or after Mar. 1, 1941, by the United States or any instrumentality thereof, including Treasury notes is sued on or after Dec. 1, 1940   |  |  |
| (7)   | (8)   | (9)   | (10)  | (11)   | (12)  | (13)  | (14)   | (15)   |  |  |
| 88, 922<br>69, 405<br>59, 857<br>56, 180<br>47, 752<br>48, 010<br>35, 356<br>39, 520<br>28, 162<br>31, 867<br>7121, 559<br>99, 524<br>66, 839<br>46, 839<br>99, 524<br>67, 751<br>16, 486<br>47, 751<br>16, 486<br>47, 751<br>16, 486<br>47, 751<br>16, 486<br>47, 751<br>16, 486<br>47, 751<br>16, 486<br>47, 751<br>16, 486<br>47, 751<br>16, 486<br>47, 751<br>16, 486<br>47, 751<br>16, 486<br>47, 751<br>16, 486<br>47, 751<br>17, 204<br>18, 204<br>18, 204<br>18, 204<br>204<br>204<br>204 | 32, 491 27, 258 24, 991 34, 385 25, 571 17, 866 18, 051 24, 391 14, 762 17, 219 60, 282 58, 073 59, 220 70, 440 57, 782 37, 880 31, 867 32, 499 19, 858 17, 661 60, 982 20, 543 30, 229 20, 740 13, 424 28, 983 21, 265 31, 480 4, 548 3, 800 | 6, 287 5, 195 4, 759 3, 766 3, 313 2, 963 2, 518 2, 527 2, 360 9, 223 7, 498 6, 232 8, 443 5, 268 4, 122 3, 057 1, 571 1, 264 3, 191 1, 488 968 968 1, 931 433 449 476 239 89 41 42 | 3, 174 3, 020 2, 867 2, 092 1, 989 1, 615 1, 432 1, 401 1, 445 1, 274 5, 268 3, 741 2, 973 4, 180 2, 792 2, 030 1, 705 971 633 633 633 633 633 1, 275 698 498 498 498 164 1, 411 189 120 24 27 (11) | 2, 569 2, 642 2, 270 1, 914 1, 760 1, 426 1, 285 1, 315 1, 174 4, 792 3, 369 2, 738 3, 831 2, 518 1, 916 1, 503 891 1, 963 1, 190 685 515 1, 190 1, 190 1, 190 1, 190 1, 190 1, 190 1, 190 1, 190 1, 190 1, 190 1, 190 1, 190 1, 190 1, 27 (u) | 605<br>378<br>597<br>178<br>228<br>190<br>175<br>116<br>130<br>100<br>476<br>372<br>235<br>349<br>274<br>113<br>202<br>80<br>48<br>78<br>86<br>60<br>17<br>5<br>90                | 3, 113<br>2, 175<br>1, 892<br>1, 674<br>1, 325<br>1, 387<br>1, 086<br>3, 954<br>4, 263<br>3, 757<br>3, 259<br>4, 263<br>4, 263<br>4, 263<br>671<br>1, 915<br>807<br>1, 915<br>807<br>1, 915<br>807<br>1, 915<br>807<br>1, 915<br>807<br>807<br>807<br>807<br>807<br>807<br>807<br>807<br>807<br>807 | 2, 460<br>1, 590<br>1, 342<br>1, 154<br>787<br>903<br>761<br>761<br>610<br>742<br>2, 552<br>2, 546<br>2, 215<br>2, 777<br>1, 317<br>769<br>554<br>600<br>352<br>880<br>322<br>201<br>92<br>2144<br>79<br>120<br>131<br>122 | 653<br>585<br>549<br>520<br>538<br>444<br>325<br>372<br>471<br>1, 402<br>1, 212<br>1, 045<br>1, 486<br>1,   |  |
| 35<br>75  | 9, 450<br>2, 235  | 12<br>28  | (18)  | (13)   |   | 12<br>28  | 1<br>2   | 27   |  |  |
| 1, 215, 734   | 925, 459  | 94, 295   | 49, 502   | 44, 321  | 5, 180  | 44, 795   | 28, 196  | 16, 597  |  |  |

Table 7.—Taxable fiduciary returns with balance income 41 of \$5,000 and over, 1943, showing partially tax-exempt and taxable Government obligations owned and interest received, by net income classes and by type of obligation

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   |  | Government o  | bligations own  | ned at end of yea   | r  | Interest received or accrued during the year   |   |   |  | •   |  |
|---|--|---|---|---|--|--|---|---|--|---|--|
|   |  | Pa  | artially tax-exempt   |   | Taxable<br>United States   |  | Partially tax-exempt  |   |  | Taxable<br>United States  |  |
| Net income classes t  | Total<br>(col. 3+6)  | (col. 4+5)  | United<br>States<br>savings<br>bonds<br>and<br>Treasury<br>bonds<br>issued<br>prior to<br>Mar. 1,<br>1941   | Obligations of instrumentalities of the United States issued prior to Mar. I, 1941, other than Federal land banks, Federal intermediate credit banks, or joint stock land banks | savings bonds and other obligations issued on or after Mar. 1, 1941, by the United States or any instrumentality thereof, including Treasury notes issued on or after Dec. 1, 1940 | and other obli-<br>gations issued<br>on or after<br>Mar. 1, 1941,<br>by the United<br>States or any<br>instrumental-<br>ity thereof,<br>including<br>Treasury notes<br>issued on or<br>after Dec. 1, | Total 6 (col. 8+11)   | Total 45<br>(col. 9+10)   | United<br>States<br>savings<br>bonds<br>and<br>Treasury<br>bonds<br>issued<br>prior to<br>Mar. 1,<br>1941 45 | Obligations of instrumentalities of the United States issued prior to Mar. 1, 1941, other than Federal land banks, Federal intermediate credit banks, or joint stock land banks <sup>48</sup> | savings bonds and other obli- gations issued on or after Mar. 1, 1941, by the United States or any instrumental- ity thereof, including Treasury notes issued on or after Dec. 1, 1940 |
| (1)   | (2)  | (3)   | (4)   | (5)   | (6)  | (7)  | 8)  | (9)   | (10)   | (11)  |  |
| Under 5. 5 under 6. 6 under 7. 7 under 8. 8 under 9. 9 under 10. 10 under 11. 11 under 12. 12 under 13. 13 under 14. 14 under 15. 15 under 20. 20 under 25. 25 under 30. 30 under 40. | 199, 448 21, 610 20, 981 18, 293 11, 914 11, 295 10, 002 10, 020 9, 371 9, 575 7, 468 225, 482 29, 461 13, 800 17, 979 | 72, 985<br>6, 827<br>8, 678<br>5, 860<br>4, 187<br>2, 103<br>3, 709<br>3, 764<br>2, 367<br>2, 367<br>8, 370<br>6, 752<br>3, 425<br>3, 994 | 68, 266<br>6, 472<br>8, 419<br>5, 518<br>4, 038<br>3, 015<br>2, 001<br>3, 522<br>3, 227<br>2, 837<br>2, 056<br>7, 694<br>6, 054<br>3, 121<br>3, 769 | 4, 719<br>354<br>259<br>342<br>149<br>182<br>102<br>187<br>537<br>729<br>312<br>677<br>699<br>305<br>225  | 126, 464<br>14, 784<br>12, 303<br>12, 432<br>7, 727<br>8, 097<br>7, 899<br>6, 311<br>5, 607<br>6, 009<br>5, 101<br>17, 112<br>22, 709<br>10, 375<br>13, 985                        | 7, 635<br>602<br>637<br>450<br>332<br>327<br>308<br>314<br>330<br>279<br>222<br>859<br>812<br>409  | 3, 121<br>260<br>328<br>197<br>156<br>139<br>120<br>137<br>2213<br>124<br>108<br>470<br>442<br>209<br>160 | 2, 732<br>247<br>317<br>183<br>143<br>132<br>116<br>129<br>190<br>99<br>90<br>446<br>365<br>195 | 389<br>13<br>12<br>15<br>13<br>7<br>7<br>4<br>8<br>8<br>23<br>24<br>18<br>24<br>77<br>14                     | 4, 514 342 308 252 177 188 188 177 117 156 114 389 370 201  |  |

| 40 under 50 | 8, 473<br>4, 934<br>4, 496<br>3, 709<br>3, 422<br>11, 754<br>2, 465<br>801<br>3, 170<br>1, 764<br>571<br>7, 000<br>2, 555<br>210<br>15 | 1        | f        | l       | 7, 605<br>7, 639<br>3, 815<br>4, 271<br>2, 915<br>3, 024<br>10, 703<br>2, 078<br>795<br>3, 170<br>1, 721<br>566<br>6, 300<br>2, 550<br>3,55 | 279 139 81 101 109 50 226 50 11 28 7 14 75 (13) (13) (13) | 127<br>32<br>29<br>26<br>66<br>100<br>102<br>(13)<br>(13)<br>(13)<br>(13)<br>(13)<br>(13)<br>(13)<br>(13) | 114<br>30<br>28<br>18<br>64<br>92<br>100<br>(11)<br>(13)<br>(13)<br>(13)<br>23<br>(14) | (13) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 | 152<br>108<br>52<br>75<br>43<br>40<br>124<br>40<br>11<br>28<br>6<br>14<br>52<br>32<br>(13) |
|-------------|--|----------|----------|---------|---|---|---|--|--|--|
| Total       |  | 147, 499 | 137, 109 | 10, 390 | 334, 320  | 15, 137   | 6, 615  | 5, 936   | 679                                      | 8, 524   |

Table 8.—Individual returns, 1943, Form 1040A, with gross income not more than returns, gross income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, earned income tax and effective tax rate

[For description of items and classifications, and methods]

Cooca income classes and money figure

| [Gross | income | classes | and | mon | ey | figu | res |
|--------|--------|---------|-----|-----|----|------|-----|
|        |        |         |     |     |    |      |     |

| Gross income classes  | Number<br>of returns  | Gross<br>income<br>(item 3,<br>Form<br>1040A)   | Personal<br>exemp-<br>tion <sup>2</sup>  | Credit<br>for de-<br>pendents 4<br>(item 4,<br>Form<br>1040A)   | Earned income credit <sup>8</sup>   |
|---|---|---|--|---|---|
| (1)   | (2)   | (3)   | (4)  | (5)   | (6)   |
| Taxable returns:     Under 0.5 (est.)     0.5 under 0.75 (est.)     0.75 under 1 (est.)     1 under 1.25 (est.)     1.25 under 1.5 (est.)     1.5 under 1.75 (est.)     1.75 under 2 (est.)     2 under 2.25 (est.)     2.25 under 2.5 (est.)     2.5 under 2.75 (est.)     2.75 under 3 (est.)     Total taxable returns  Nontaxable returns:  1 Under 0.5 (est.)     0.5 under 0.75 (est.)     0.5 under 1 (est.)     1 and over (est.)     Total | 1, 292, 706 2, 016, 002 2, 276, 468 2, 312, 856 2, 370, 959 2, 135, 142 1, 841, 692 1, 556, 224 1, 289, 067 1, 068, 628 18, 159, 744  1, 600, 593 375, 512 95, 140 110, 534 2, 181, 779 | 842, 501<br>1, 768, 693<br>2, 562, 091<br>3, 173, 206<br>3, 846, 727<br>3, 995, 994<br>3, 691, 951<br>3, 378, 783<br>3, 071, 123<br>30, 239, 358<br>428, 372<br>210, 433<br>83, 382<br>124, 869<br>847, 055 | 796, 060 1, 465, 244 1, 768, 729 1, 946, 630 2, 038, 233 1, 920, 537 1, 761, 264 1, 549, 134 1, 131, 990 1, 121, 308 15, 680, 127  979, 686 321, 507 112, 377 131, 783 | 72, 177 240, 110 353, 946 469, 801 624, 632 660, 755 719, 416 683, 648 605, 217 528, 669 4, 958, 370  55, 954 64, 778 32, 232 43, 495 | 79, 195<br>166, 267<br>240, 837<br>298, 281<br>361, 592<br>375, 557<br>367, 445<br>347, 043<br>317, 606<br>288, 686<br>2, 842, 500<br>40, 267<br>19, 781<br>7, 838<br>11, 738 |
| Grand total   | 20, 341, 523  | 31, 086, 413  | 17, 225, 481   | 5, 154, 830   | 2, 922, 123   |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

\$3,000, by taxable and nontaxable returns and by gross income classes: Number of credit, total income and victory tax, income and victory tax on 1943 income, average

of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

#### except average tax, in thousands of dollars]

|  | <del></del>   | Tax lis   | ability   |   |  |  |   |
|--|---|---|---|---|--|--|---|
| Total in-  | Те  | x on 1943 inco  | оте   | Additional  |  | Average<br>income  | Effective<br>tax rate   |
| come and<br>victory<br>tax 6 (item<br>12, Form<br>1040A) (col.<br>10+11+12)  | Optional<br>tax (item 6,<br>Form<br>1040A)  | Net victory<br>tax (item 7,<br>Form<br>1040A)   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943 in-<br>come 7 (item<br>8, Form<br>1040A) (col.<br>8+9)                                       | tax from<br>returns with<br>larger tax<br>in 1942 (item<br>9 less item<br>8, Form<br>1040A)                 | 1942 or 1943   | and vic-<br>tory tax<br>on 1943<br>income<br>(col. 10÷2)         | percent,<br>for income<br>and victory<br>tax on 1943<br>income<br>(col. 10+3)                   |
| (7)  | (8)   | (9)   | (10)  | (11)  | (12)   | (13)   | (14)  |
| 25, 600<br>99, 362<br>185, 872<br>247, 980<br>331, 359<br>365, 484<br>357, 968<br>351, 273<br>343, 067<br>328, 873<br>2, 636, 838<br>10, 928<br>2, 722<br>784<br>935 | 16, 349<br>70, 978<br>129, 231<br>170, 823<br>228, 050<br>251, 518<br>244, 612<br>241, 331<br>238, 943<br>231, 560<br>1, 823, 396 | 2, 681<br>17, 909<br>38, 445<br>54, 424<br>72, 763<br>80, 534<br>81, 271<br>78, 058<br>72, 947<br>66, 839<br>565, 870 | 19, 030<br>88, 886<br>167, 676<br>225, 247<br>300, 813<br>332, 052<br>325, 883<br>319, 389<br>311, 891<br>298, 399<br>2, 389, 266 | 6, 528<br>8, 410<br>9, 358<br>7, 780<br>7, 438<br>5, 650<br>4, 034<br>3, 567<br>2, 282<br>1, 633<br>56, 682 | 2, 066<br>8, 837<br>14, 953<br>23, 108<br>27, 782<br>28, 517<br>28, 841<br>28, 841<br>190, 891 | \$15<br>44<br>74<br>97<br>127<br>156<br>177<br>205<br>242<br>279 | 2. 26<br>5. 03<br>6. 54<br>7. 10<br>7. 82<br>8. 31<br>8. 34<br>8. 65<br>9. 23<br>9. 72<br>7. 90 |
| 2, 652, 207  | 1, 823, 396   | 565, 870  | 2, 389, 266   | 72, 050   | 190, 891   | 117  | 7. 69   |

Table 9.—Individual returns, 1943, Form 1040A, with gross income not more than \$3,000, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by gross income classes, and by sex and family relationship: Number of returns, sources of income, gross income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and income and victory tax on 1943 income

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6–13 106-114]

# [Gross income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|                      |   | Total   |   |   |  |   |   |  |  |  |
|----------------------|---|---|---|---|--|---|---|--|--|--|
|                      |   | Sources of  | income  |   |  |   | Income<br>and   |  |  |  |
| Gross income classes | Number of returns   | Salaries,<br>wages,<br>etc. (item<br>1, Form<br>1040Å)  | Dividends, interest, and annuities (item 2, Form 1040A) | Gross<br>income<br>(item 3,<br>Form<br>1040A)<br>(column<br>3+4)  | Personal<br>exemp-<br>tion <sup>3</sup>  | Credit<br>for de-<br>pendents 4<br>(item 4,<br>Form<br>1040A) | victory<br>tax on<br>1943<br>income (item 8,<br>Form<br>1040A)  |  |  |  |
| (1)                  | (2)   | (3)   | (4)   | (5)   | (6)  | (7)   | (8)   |  |  |  |
| Taxable returns:     | 1, 292, 706 2, 016, 002 2, 276, 468 2, 312, 856 2, 370, 959 2, 135, 142 1, 841, 692 1, 556, 224 1, 289, 667 1, 068, 628 18, 159, 744 1, 600, 593 375, 512 95, 140 110, 534 2, 181, 779 20, 341, 523 | 826, 994 1, 752, 584 2, 544, 671 3, 152, 878 3, 825, 257 3, 874, 205 3, 894, 282 3, 674, 107 30, 065, 187  424, 152 208, 196 82, 176 123, 562 838, 085 30, 903, 272 | = =====   | 842, 501<br>1, 768, 693<br>2, 562, 091<br>3, 173, 206<br>3, 846, 727<br>3, 995, 290<br>3, 691, 951<br>3, 378, 783<br>3, 071, 123<br>30, 239, 358<br>428, 372<br>210, 433<br>83, 382<br>124, 869<br>847, 055<br>31, 086, 413 | 796, 060 1, 465, 744 1, 768, 729 1, 946, 630 2, 038, 233 1, 920, 537 1, 761, 264 1, 549, 134 1, 312, 990 1, 121, 302 15, 680, 127  979, 686 321, 507 112, 377 131, 783 1, 545, 354 | -   | 19, 030<br>88, 886<br>167, 676<br>225, 247<br>300, 813<br>332, 052<br>322, 583<br>319, 389<br>311, 891<br>298, 399<br>2, 389, 266 |  |  |  |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 9.—Individual returns, 1943, Form 1040A, with gross income not more than \$3,000, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by gross income classes, and by sex and family relationship: Number of returns, sources of income, gross income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

### [Gross income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |  | Je  | oint return  | s of husban   | ds and wive   | es  |  |
|--|--|---|--|---|---|---|--|
|  |  |   | One  | income repo   | rted 49   |   |  |
| •  |  | Sources o   | f income   |   |   |   |  |
| Gross income classes   | Number<br>of returns   | Salaries,<br>wages, etc.<br>(item 1,<br>Form<br>1040A)  | Dividends, interest, and annuities (item 2, Form   | Gross income (item 3, Form 1040A) (col. 10+11)  | Personal exemption 3  | Credit for<br>depend-<br>ents 4<br>(item 4,<br>Form<br>1040A)   | Income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7<br>(item 8,<br>Form<br>1040A)                      |
| (1)  | (9)  | (10)  | 1040A)<br>(11)   | (12)  | (13)  | (14)  | (15)   |
| Taxable returns:     Under 0.5 (est.)     0.5 under 0.75 (est.)     0.75 under 1 (est.)     1 under 1.25 (est.)     1.5 under 1.6 (est.)     1.5 under 1.75 (est.)     1.75 under 2 (est.)     2 under 2.25 (est.)     2.5 under 2.75 (est.)     2.75 under 3 (est.)     Total | 130, 057<br>397, 918<br>552, 938<br>645, 942<br>702, 285<br>739, 025<br>781, 399<br>705, 806<br>613, 311<br>508, 020 | 88, 969<br>350, 142<br>621, 198<br>884, 536<br>1, 137, 432<br>1, 382, 943<br>1, 656, 843<br>1, 672, 513<br>1, 604, 026<br>1, 456, 013 | 464<br>1, 463<br>2, 521<br>3, 561<br>4, 113<br>2, 941<br>4, 033<br>3, 503<br>4, 069<br>30, 262 | 89, 433<br>351, 606<br>623, 719<br>888, 097<br>1, 141, 545<br>1, 385, 890<br>1, 660, 876<br>1, 676, 016<br>1, 607, 619<br>1, 460, 083 | 156, 068<br>477, 502, 446<br>662, 446<br>776, 130<br>842, 742<br>886, 830<br>937, 679<br>846, 967<br>735, 973<br>609, 624 | 36, 924<br>142, 517<br>228, 204<br>295, 896<br>380, 221<br>432, 878<br>498, 224<br>466, 256<br>410, 064<br>347, 180 | 335<br>3,061<br>8,140<br>19,134<br>34,203<br>54,290<br>78,674<br>95,582<br>108,742<br>112,237<br>514,396 |
| Nontaxable returns: <sup>12</sup>  | 171,857<br>98,673<br>13,754<br>21 9,716  | 46, 731<br>55, 906<br>11, 355<br>10, 787  | 500<br>425<br>439<br>253   | 47, 231<br>56, 332<br>11, 794<br>11, 040  | 206, 228<br>118, 408<br>16, 505<br>11, 659  | 28, 445<br>27, 345<br>5, 258<br>3, 642  |  |
| Total  | 294, 000   | 124, 779  | 1,618  | 126, 397  | 352, 800  | 3, 303, 053   | 514, 396   |

|                                      | Total total is of liabbonias and wives Constituted |  |   |  |                              |  |  |  |  |
|--------------------------------------|--|--|---|--|------------------------------|--|--|--|--|
|                                      |  |  | Two inc   | omes repor                                     | ted 49                       |  |  |  |  |
|                                      |  | Sources  | f income  |  |                              |  | <b>T</b>   |  |  |
| Gross income classes                 | Number<br>of returns                               | Salaries,<br>wages, etc.<br>(item 1,<br>Form<br>1041A) | Dividends, interest, and annuities (item 2, Form 1040A) | Gross income (item 3, Form 1040A) (col. 17+18) | Personal<br>exemp-<br>tion 3 | Credit for<br>depend-<br>ents <sup>4</sup><br>(item 4,<br>Form<br>1040A) | Income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax<br>on 1943<br>income <sup>7</sup><br>(item 8,<br>Form<br>1040A) |  |  |
| (1)                                  | (16)   | (17)   | (18)  | (19)   | (20)                         | (21)   | (22)   |  |  |
| Taxable returns:<br>Under 0.5 (est.) |  |  |   |  |                              |  |  |  |  |
| 0.5 under 0.75 (est.)                | 21 4, 343  | 2, 955   |   | 2, 955   | 5, 212                       | 395  | 18   |  |  |
| 0.75 under 1 (est.)                  | 23, 711  | 21, 265  | 48  | 21, 313  | 28, 453                      | 6, 918   | 135  |  |  |
| 1 under 1,25 (est.)                  | 50, 943  | 57; 022  | 1,047   | 58, 069  | 61, 132                      | 14, 598  | 458  |  |  |
| 1.25 under 1.5 (est.)                | 184, 404   | 251, 564   | 2,490   | 254, 054                                       | 221, 285                     | 75,002   | 2,799  |  |  |
| 1.5 under 1.75 (est.)                | 209, 171   | 338, 648   | 1,628   | 340, 276                                       | 251,005                      | 93, 013  | 8, 388   |  |  |
| 1.75 under 2 (est.)                  | 231, 708   | 431, 339   | 2,813   | 434, 152                                       | 278, 050                     | 104, 266   | 16, 123  |  |  |
| 2 under 2.25 (est.)                  | 230, 417   | 488, 635   | 1,689   | 490, 324                                       | 276, 500                     | 112, 351   | 23, 850  |  |  |
| 2.25 under 2.5 (est.)                | 256, 123   | 605, 463   | 2, 415  | 607, 878                                       | 307, 348                     | 126, 764   | 36, 688  |  |  |
| 2.5 under 2.75 (est.)                | 244, 855   | 640, 722   | 2,031   | 642, 753                                       | 293, 826                     | 125, 201   | 45, 830  |  |  |
| 2.75 under 3 (est.)                  | 261, 405   | 749, 464   | 2, 451  | 751, 916                                       | 313, 686                     | 129, 220   | 61, 738  |  |  |
| Total                                | 1, 697, 080  | 3, 587, 076  | 16,612  | 3, 603, 689                                    | 2, 036, 496                  | 787, 727   | 196, 026   |  |  |
| Nontaxable returns: 17               |  |  |   | <del></del>                                    |                              |  |  |  |  |
| Under 0.5 (est.)                     | 23, 217  | 7, 156   | 166   | 7, 322   | 27, 860                      | 3, 546   |  |  |  |
| 0.5 under 0.75 (est.)                | 41, 513  | 26, 224  | 486   | 26, 710  | 49, 816                      | 10,650   |  |  |  |
| 0.75 under 1 (est.)                  | 76, 087  | 66, 258  | 696   | 66, 954  | 91, 304                      | 24, 724  |  |  |  |
| 1 and over (est.)                    | 97, 916  | 109, 671   | 1,053   | 110, 724                                       | 117, 499                     | 38, 663  |  |  |  |
| Total                                | 238. 733   | 209, 310   | 2, 402  | 211, 711                                       | 286, 480                     | 77, 584  |  |  |  |
| Grand total                          | 1, 935, 813  | 3, 796, 386  | 19,014  | 3, 815, 400                                    | 2, 322, 976                  | 865, 311   | 196, 026   |  |  |
| For footnotes, see np. 252           | -254   |  |   |  |                              |  |  |  |  |

Table 9.—Individual returns, 1943, Form 1040A, with gross income not more than \$3,000, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by gross income classes, and by sex and family relationship: Number of returns, sources of income, gross income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and income and vict ry tax on 1943 income-

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

#### [Gross income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| [4:055   | Income clas  |   |  |   |  |  |  |
|--|--|---|--|---|--|--|--|
|  |  | Sepa  | rate return  | s of husban   | ds and wive  | S 20   |  |
|  |  |   |  | Men   |  |  |  |
| Gross income classes   | Number of<br>returns   | Salaries,<br>wages, etc.<br>(item 1,<br>Form<br>1040A)  | Divi-<br>dends,  | Gross<br>income<br>(item 3,<br>Form<br>1040A)<br>(col. 24+<br>25)   | Personal<br>exemp-<br>tion <sup>3</sup>  | Credit for<br>depend-<br>ents (item 4,<br>Form<br>1040A)   | Income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7<br>(item 8,<br>Form<br>1040 A)                       |
| (1)  | (23)   | (24)  | (25)   | (26)  | (27)   | (28)   | (29)   |
| Taxable returns:  Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 under 1.25 (est.) 1.25 under 1.5 (est.) 1.5 under 1.5 (est.) 1.6 under 1.75 (est.) 2.5 under 2.6 (est.) 2.25 under 2.5 (est.) 2.5 under 2.75 (est.) 2.75 under 3 (est.) Total  Nontaxable returns:  Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 1 and over (est.) 1 and over (est.) Total  Grand total | 10, 095 20, 659 24, 415 31, 575 51, 882 64, 794 85, 922 90, 970 87, 096 71, 015 538, 423 24, 731 21, 7, 697 (12) (22) 32, 806 571, 229 | 6, 959 17, 829 27, 386 43, 126 83, 984 121, 364 182, 529 216, 574 228, 125 220, 988 1, 136, 864  5, 229 4, 256 (22) (23) 9, 884 1, 140, 748 | 2 78 23 208 292 315 273 386 402 366 2, 344 81 (22) 85 2, 429               | 6, 961<br>17, 907<br>27, 409<br>43, 333<br>84, 276<br>121, 679<br>182, 802<br>215, 960<br>228, 527<br>204, 353<br>1, 133, 208<br>5, 233<br>4, 337<br>(22)<br>(22)<br>(22)<br>(22)<br>(22)<br>(23)<br>(24)<br>(27)<br>(29)<br>(21)<br>(21)<br>(22)<br>(22)<br>(23)<br>(24)<br>(24)<br>(25)<br>(27)<br>(27)<br>(27)<br>(27)<br>(27) | 6, 057 12, 395 14, 649 18, 945 31, 129 38, 876 51, 553 54, 582 52, 258 42, 609 323, 054 14, 839 4, 618 (22) (22) 19, 684 342, 737                  | 1, 514 3, 254 4, 925 5, 721 11, 826 15, 828 26, 341 31, 085 30, 726 25, 250 155, 470 656 (729 (21) 1, 633 157, 103 | 87<br>697<br>1, 704<br>3, 719<br>8, 285<br>13, 277<br>21, 189<br>26, 142<br>29, 242<br>27, 579<br>131, 921 |
|  | <u> </u>   | 1   | <u> </u>   | !   | <u> </u>   |  |  |
|  |  | Separate r  | eturns of h  | usbands and   | l wives 20—0   | Continued  |  |
| •  | ļ  |   |  | Women   |  |  |  |
| Gross income classes   | Number of<br>returns   | Salaries,<br>wages, etc.<br>(item 1,<br>Form<br>1040A)  | Divi-<br>dends, in-  | Gross income (item 3, Form 1040A) (col. 31+32)  | Personal<br>exemp-<br>tion 3   | Credit for<br>depend-<br>ents (<br>(item 4,<br>Form<br>1040A)  | Income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7<br>(item 8,<br>Form<br>1040A)                        |
| (1)  | (30)   | (31)  | (32)   | (33)  | (34)   | (35)   | (36)   |
| Taxable returns:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  1.5 under 1 (est.)  1 under 1.25 (est.)  1.25 under 1.5 (est.)  1.5 under 1.75 (est.)  1.6 under 2.5 (est.)  2 under 2.25 (est.)  2.5 under 2.75 (est.)  2.75 under 3 (est.)  Total  Nontaxable returns:  Under 0.5 (est.)  0.5 under 0.75 (est.)   | 89, 561<br>63, 737<br>42, 022<br>21, 715<br>13, 029<br>21 7, 043<br>598, 285<br>58, 421<br>32, 554                                     | 30, 845<br>84, 679<br>125, 076<br>147, 209<br>144, 334<br>117, 529<br>88, 251<br>51, 174<br>20, 174<br>842, 746<br>17, 357<br>18, 381       | 174<br>305<br>195<br>610<br>525<br>973<br>383<br>141<br>523<br>40<br>3,867 | 31, 019<br>84, 984<br>125, 271<br>147, 818<br>144, 859<br>118, 502<br>88, 634<br>51, 314<br>33, 999<br>20, 214<br>846, 613<br>17, 440<br>18, 408<br>(22)  | 27, 044<br>58, 244<br>66, 836<br>64, 582<br>53, 737<br>38, 242<br>25, 213<br>13, 029<br>7, 817<br>4, 226<br>358, 971<br>35, 053<br>19, 532<br>(22) | 2, 436<br>6, 123<br>8, 150<br>6, 682<br>6, 837<br>5, 830<br>4, 686<br>2, 414<br>1, 853<br>1, 446<br>46, 457        | 387<br>3, 933<br>9, 582<br>14, 601<br>16, 312<br>11, 547<br>7, 101<br>4, 805<br>2, 863<br>85, 652          |
| 1 and over (est.)  | 91, 227  | 35, 974   | 110  | 36, 084   | 54, 736  | 3, 919   |  |
| TotalGrand total   | 689, 512   | 878, 720  | 3, 977   | 882, 697  | 413, 707   | 50, 376  | 85, 652  |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 9.—Individual returns, 1943, Form 1040A, with gross income not more than \$3,000, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by gross income classes, and by sex and family relationship: Number of returns, sources of income, gross income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13,

Community property returns 20 Men

Gross in-

#### [Gross income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

Sources of income

| Gross income classes   | Number<br>of returns  | Salaries,<br>wages,<br>etc. (item<br>1, Form<br>1040A)   | Dividends, interest, and annuities (item 2, Form 1040A)                      | Gross in-<br>come<br>(item 3,<br>Form<br>1040A)<br>(col. 38+<br>39)   | Personal exemption 3  | Credit for<br>depend-<br>ents 4<br>(item 4,<br>Form<br>1040A)                                  | and<br>victory<br>tax on<br>1943 in-<br>come 7<br>(item 8,<br>Form<br>1040A)                         |
|--|---|--|--|---|---|--|--|
| (1)  | (37)  | (38  | (39)   | (40)  | (41)  | (42)   | (43)   |
| Taxable returns:     Under 0.5 (est.)     0.5 under 0.75 (est.)     0.75 under 1 (est.)     1 under 1.25 (est.)     1.25 under 1.75 (est.)     1.5 under 1.75 (est.)     1.75 under 2 (est.)     2 under 2.25 (est.)     2.25 under 2.75 (est.)     2.5 under 2.75 (est.)     2.5 under 3 (est.)     75 under 3 (est.) | 21 2, 230<br>21 6, 104<br>21 7, 630<br>109, 046<br>88, 739<br>57, 633   | (22)<br>2, 105<br>6, 797<br>10, 545<br>176, 365<br>165, 463<br>122, 070<br>90, 104<br>61, 841<br>43, 020<br>678, 809   | (22)<br>(13)<br>23<br>17<br>425<br>249<br>184<br>425<br>525<br>255<br>2, 102 | (22)<br>2, 106<br>6, 819<br>10, 562<br>176, 790<br>165, 712<br>122, 254<br>90, 529<br>62, 366<br>43, 275<br>680, 912                    | (22)<br>1, 338<br>3, 662<br>4, 578<br>65, 428<br>53, 243<br>34, 580<br>22, 960<br>14, 297<br>9, 015 | (22)<br>90<br>972<br>1,596<br>29,382<br>24,144<br>14,741<br>9,627<br>5,012<br>2,644<br>88,388  | (22)<br>105<br>454<br>853<br>16, 247<br>17, 512<br>14, 499<br>11, 514<br>8, 507<br>6, 273<br>75, 974 |
| Nontaxable returns:12  |   |  |  |   | 200, 020  | 60, 000  | 10,014   |
| Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)<br>1 and over (est.)  |   | (22)<br>(22)   | (22)<br>(22)   | (22)<br>(22)  | (22)<br>(22)  | (22)<br>(22)   |  |
| Total  | 21 1, 262   | 562  |  | F40   | *****   |  |  |
| Grand total  | 350, 467  | 679, 371   | 2, 102   | 562<br>681, 474   | 210, 280  | 340  |  |
|  | 000, 101  |  |  |   |   | 88, 728  | 75, 974  |
|  |   | Соши   | dunity pro   | perty return  | ns 20—Conti   | nuea   | •  |
| Gross income classes   | Number of returns   | Sources of Salaries, wages, etc. (item 1, Form 1040A)  | Dividends, interest, and annuities (item 2, Form 1040A)                      | Gross in-<br>come<br>(item 3,<br>Form<br>1040A)<br>(col. 45+<br>46)   | Personal exemption i  | Credit<br>for de-<br>pendents 4<br>(item 4,<br>Form<br>1040A)                                  | Income and victory tax on 1943 income? (item 8, Form 1040A)  |
| (1)  |   | Salaries,<br>wages,<br>etc. (item<br>1, Form   | Dividends, interest, and annuities (item 2, Form                             | Gross income (item 3, Form 1040A) (col. 45+   | exemp-  | for de-<br>pendents (<br>(item 4,<br>Form  | and<br>victory<br>tax on<br>1943 in-<br>come ?<br>(item 8,<br>Form                                   |
| (1)  Taxable returns:     Under 0.5 (est.)     0.5 under 0.75 (est.)     0.75 under 1 (est.)     1 under 1.25 (est.)     1.25 under 1.5 (est.)     1.5 under 1.75 (est.)     1.75 under 2 (est.)     2 under 2.5 (est.)     2.5 under 2.75 (est.)     2.5 under 3 (est.)     2.5 under 3 (est.)                        | (44)<br>(44)<br>21 1, 643<br>21 3, 169<br>21 5, 517<br>21 8, 569<br>107, 285<br>78, 527<br>74, 882<br>34, 510<br>21, 011<br>12, 912 | Salaries,<br>wages,<br>etc. (item<br>1, Form<br>1040A)<br>(45)<br>1, 104<br>2, 800<br>6, 245<br>11, 864<br>174, 265<br>146, 225<br>115, 373<br>81, 385<br>54, 389<br>36, 888 | Dividends, interest, and annuities (item 2, Form 1040A) (46)                 | Gross in- come (item 3, Form 1040A) (col. 45+ 46) (47)  1, 104 2, 803 6, 278 11, 869 174, 649 146, 463 115, 594 81, 766 54, 865 37, 087 | exemption 3  (48)  986  1, 901 3, 310 5, 141 64, 371 47, 116 32, 749 20, 706 12, 607 7, 747         | for dependents (item 4, Form 1040A)  (49)  45  45  20, 225 12, 527 8, 915 5, 524 2, 620 1, 763 | and victory tax on 1943 income 7 (item 8, Form 1040A) (50)   |
| (1)  Taxable returns: Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) 0.75 under 1 (est.) 1 under 1.25 (est.) 1.25 under 1.75 (est.) 1.5 under 1.75 (est.) 1.75 under 2 (est.) 2 under 2.25 (est.) 2.25 under 2.5 (est.) 2.5 under 2.76 (est.)  | (44)<br>21 1,643<br>21 3,169<br>21 5,517<br>21 8,569<br>107,285<br>78,527<br>78,527<br>74,582<br>34,510<br>21,011                   | Salarics,<br>wages,<br>etc. (item<br>1, Form<br>1040A)<br>(45)<br>   | Dividends, interest, and annuities (item 2, Form 1040A) (46)                 | Gross in- come (item 3, Form 1040A) (col. 45+ 46)  (47)  1, 104 2, 803 6, 278 11, 869 174, 649 116, 463 115, 594 81, 766 54, 865        | exemption 3  (48)  986 1, 901 3, 310 5, 141 64, 371 47, 116 32, 749 20, 706 12, 607                 | for dependents (item 4, Form 1040A)  (49)  45  45  918 20, 225 12, 527 8, 915 5, 524 2, 620    | and<br>victory<br>tax on<br>1943 in-<br>come 7<br>(item 8,<br>Form<br>1040A)<br>(50)                 |

1.105

1, 941 633, 584 197, 922

1, 287

437

53, 358

21 2, 145

329,870 631,643

Grand total....

Table 9.—Individual returns, 1943, Form 1040A, with gross income not more than \$3,000, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by gross income classes, and by sex and family relationship: Number of returns, sources of income, gross income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and income and victory tax on 1943 income— Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

[Gross income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| Gross   | income clas  | ses and mo  | ney ngures  | in thousand  |  |   |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|---|--|---|---|--|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
|   |  |   | Hea   | ds of familie  | S  |   |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   |  | Single me   | n and mar   | ried men not   | living wit   | h wives   |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Gross income classes  | Number of returns  | Salaries,<br>wages, etc.<br>(item 1,<br>Form<br>1040A)  | Dividends, interest, and annuities (item 2, Form 1040A)   | Gross income (item 3, Form 1040A) (col. 52+53)   | Personal<br>exemp-<br>tion <sup>3</sup>  | Credit for<br>depend-<br>ents 4<br>(item 4,<br>Form<br>1040A)   | Income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7<br>(item 8,<br>Form<br>1040A)                        |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| (1)   | (51)   | (52)  | (53)  | (54)   | (55)   | (56)  | (57)   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Taxable returns:     Under 0.5 (est.)     0.5 under 0.75 (est.)     0.75 under 1 (est.)     1 under 1.25 (est.)     1.25 under 1.5 (est.)     1.5 under 1.75 (est.)     1.5 under 2.75 (est.)     1.75 under 2.75 (est.)     2 under 2.25 (est.)     2.25 under 2.25 (est.)     2.5 under 2.75 (est.)     75 under 3 (est.)     Total   | 21, 011<br>62, 799<br>88, 152<br>90, 148<br>93, 082<br>84, 631<br>78, 527<br>70, 076<br>52, 234<br>41, 318<br>681, 978 | 14, 291<br>54, 658<br>99, 089<br>123, 343<br>150, 410<br>167, 599<br>165, 512<br>166, 283<br>136, 384<br>118, 148 | 133<br>522<br>530<br>364<br>502<br>629<br>1, 074<br>273<br>419<br>443<br>4, 889                 | 14, 424<br>55, 180<br>99, 619<br>123, 707<br>150, 912<br>158, 228<br>166, 586<br>136, 802<br>118, 591<br>1, 190, 606 | 25, 213<br>75, 359<br>105, 782<br>108, 178<br>111, 688<br>101, 557<br>94, 232<br>84, 091<br>62, 681<br>49, 582<br>818, 374     | 5, 278<br>17, 539<br>28, 011<br>26, 210<br>28, 957<br>26, 462<br>25, 708<br>23, 412<br>17, 149<br>13, 398 | 509<br>505<br>1, 383<br>2, 831<br>5, 349<br>7, 975<br>10, 702<br>12, 829<br>12, 049<br>11, 560<br>65, 242  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Nontaxable returns: <sup>12</sup>   | 22, 586<br>15, 016<br>(23)<br>(22)   | 5, 159<br>8, 644<br>( <sup>22</sup> )<br>( <sup>22</sup> )  | (23)<br>(22)  | 5, 173<br>8, 644<br>(22)<br>(23)   | 27, 103<br>18, 019<br>( <sup>22</sup> )<br>( <sup>23</sup> )   | 4, 558<br>5, 387<br>(22)<br>(22)  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Total   | 38, 990  | 15, 112   | 15  | 15, 127  | 46, 788  | 10, 625   | 65, 242  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Grand total   | 720, 968   | 1, 200, 829   | 4,904   | 1, 205, 733  | 865, 162   | 222, 750  | 00, 242  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   |  |   |   | families—C   |  | ·   |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | Si   | ngle women  | and marr  | ied women r  | ot living w  | ith husband   | h husbands   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Gross income classes  | Number<br>of returns   | Salaries,<br>wages, etc.<br>(item 1,<br>Form<br>1040A)  | Dividends, interest, and annuities (item 2, Form 1040A)   | Gross<br>income<br>(item 3,<br>Form<br>1040A)<br>(col. 59+<br>60)  | Personal<br>exemp-<br>tion 3   | Credit for<br>depend-<br>ents 4<br>(item 4,<br>Form<br>1040A)   | Income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax<br>on 1943<br>income <sup>7</sup><br>(item 8,<br>Form<br>1040A)             |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| (1)   | (58)   | (59)  | (60)  | (61)   | (62)   | (63)  | (64)   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Taxable returns:     Under 0.5 (est.)     0.5 under 0.75 (est.)     0.75 under 1 (est.)     1 under 1.25 (est.)     1.25 under 1.6 (est.)     1.5 under 1.75 (est.)     1.75 under 2 (est.)     2 under 2.25 (est.)     2.25 under 2.5 (est.)     2.5 under 2.75 (est.)     7.5 under 2.75 (est.)     7.5 under 2.75 (est.)     7.5 under 2.75 (est.)     7.75 under 3 (est.)     7.75 under 3 (est.) | 151, 186<br>188, 512<br>186, 165<br>162, 571<br>120, 902<br>75, 945<br>42, 961<br>23, 828<br>12, 677                   | 34, 119<br>132, 279<br>210, 551<br>253, 278<br>200, 767<br>223, 326<br>159, 594<br>101, 907<br>61, 643<br>35, 955 | 541<br>1, 248<br>1, 625<br>1, 543<br>2, 479<br>2, 598<br>1, 064<br>591<br>627<br>357<br>12, 674 | 160, 659<br>101, 598<br>62, 270<br>36, 312   | 60, 287<br>181, 423<br>226, 214<br>223, 398<br>195, 085<br>145, 082<br>91, 134<br>51, 553<br>28, 594<br>15, 212<br>1, 217, 983 | 35, 749<br>35, 799<br>25, 195<br>18, 357<br>9, 846<br>4, 474<br>2, 395                                    | 132<br>1, 197<br>2, 888<br>5, 769<br>9, 936<br>12, 463<br>11, 005<br>8, 457<br>6, 007<br>3, 833<br>61, 678 |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Nontaxable returns: 12<br>Under 0.5 (est.)<br>0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)  | 29, 905<br>21 1, 767   | 16,939  | 118   | 17,057   | 31, 798<br>35, 886<br>2, 120<br>1, 363   | 7,879   |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 1 and over (cst.)   |  |   |   | - CO OF-   | Pt 105   | 14 600  | 1  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Total<br>Grand total  | 59, 306  | 28, 809   | 166   | = ======   | 71, 167  |   | 61, 67   |  |  |  |  |  |  |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

Table 9.—Individual returns, 1943, Form 1040A, with gross income not more than \$3,000, by taxable and nontaxable returns, by gross income classes, and by sex and family relationship: Number of returns, sources of income, gross income, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and income and victory tax on 1943 income-Continued

[For description of items and classifications, and methods of tabulating and estimating data, see pp. 6-13, 106-114]

| [Gross   | income cla  | sses and mo   | ney figure  | s in thousar  | ids of dollar   | rs]   |   |
|--|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|
|  |   |   | Not   | heads of far  | nilies  |   |   |
|  |   | Single m  | en and ma   | rried men n   | ot living wi  | th wives  |   |
|  |   | Sources   | of income   |   |   |   |   |
| ·Gross income classes  | Number<br>of returns  | Salaries,<br>wages,<br>etc. (item<br>1, Form<br>1040A)  | Dividends, interest, and annuities (item 2, Form 1040A)   | Gross<br>income<br>(item 3,<br>Form<br>1040A)<br>(col.<br>66+67)  | Personal<br>exemp-<br>tion 3  | Credit for<br>depend-<br>ents (item 4,<br>Form<br>1040A)  | Income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax<br>on 1943<br>income †<br>(item 8,<br>Form<br>1040A)                       |
| (1)  | (65)  | (66)  | (67)  | (68)  | (69)  | (70)  | (71)  |
| 'Taxable returns:<br>Under 0.5 (est.)  |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |
| 0.5 under 0.75 (est.)<br>0.75 under 1 (est.)<br>1 under 1.25 (est.)<br>1.25 under 1.5 (est.)<br>1.5 under 1.75 (est.)<br>1.75 under 2 (est.)<br>2 under 2.25 (est.)<br>2.25 under 2.5 (est.)<br>2.5 under 3 (est.)<br>2.75 under 3 (est.)<br>Total | 430, 667<br>451, 326<br>401, 792<br>339, 346<br>300, 376<br>258, 001<br>210, 580<br>174, 896<br>143, 086<br>103, 412<br>2, 813, 482 | 271, 783<br>389, 857<br>447, 865<br>462, 113<br>484, 169<br>480, 094<br>445, 061<br>411, 450<br>371, 676<br>294, 167<br>4, 058, 236 | 3, 132<br>3, 437<br>2, 883<br>3, 203<br>1, 930<br>2, 883<br>1, 514<br>3, 104<br>3, 205<br>2, 675<br>27, 966 | 274, 915<br>393, 294<br>450, 748<br>465, 316<br>486, 100<br>482, 977<br>446, 575<br>414, 554<br>374, 881<br>296, 842<br>4, 086, 202 | 215, 334<br>225, 663<br>200, 896<br>169, 673<br>150, 188<br>129, 001<br>105, 290<br>87, 448<br>71, 543<br>51, 706 | 5, 949<br>11, 276<br>11, 589<br>11, 895<br>10, 643<br>6, 386<br>7, 634<br>6, 953<br>6, 953<br>3, 957<br>82, 637 | 7, 305<br>27, 888<br>45, 490<br>55, 774<br>64, 634<br>69, 601<br>67, 353<br>64, 811<br>60, 397<br>49, 749 |
| Nontaxable returns: 13   | 685, 536<br>63, 721<br>21 1, 262<br>(22)  | 150, 702<br>33, 261<br>1, 078<br>(22)   | 1, 682<br>337<br>38<br>(22)   | 152, 384<br>33, 597<br>1, 116<br>(22)   | 342, 768<br>31, 861<br>631<br>(22)  | 4, 263<br>5, 194<br>486<br>(**)   |   |
| Total  | 751, 276  | 185, 798  | 2, 057  | 187, 855  | 375, 638  | 10, 138   |   |
| Grand total  | 3, 564, 758   | 4. 244, 034   | 30, 023   | 4. 274. 057   | 1. 782, 379   | 92, 775   | 513, 001  |
|  |   | )   | Not heads   | of families-  | -Continued  |   |   |
|  | Si  | ngle women  | and marri   | ed women r  | oot living w  | ith husband   | ls  |
|  |   | Sources o   | f income  |   |   |   |   |
| ·Gross income classes  | Number of returns   | Salaries,<br>wages,<br>etc. (item<br>1, Form<br>1040A)  | Dividends, interest, and annuities (item 2, Form 1040A)   | Gross<br>income<br>(item 3,<br>Form<br>1040A)<br>(col.<br>73+74)  | Personal<br>exemp-<br>tion <sup>3</sup>   | Credit for<br>depend-<br>ents 4<br>(item 4,<br>Form<br>1040A)   | Income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax-<br>on 1943<br>income 7<br>(item 8,<br>Form<br>1040A)                      |
| (1)  | (72)  | (73)  | (74)  | (75)  | (76)  | (77)  | (78)  |
| Taxable returns: Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.)  | 598, 873  | 375, 471  | 11, 061   | 386, 532  | 299, 437  | 5, 883  | 10. 681   |

| Gross income classes                                    | Number<br>of returns | Salaries,<br>wages,<br>etc. (item<br>1, Form<br>1040A) | Dividends, interest, and annuities (item 2, Form 1040A) | Gross<br>income<br>(item 3,<br>Form<br>1040A)<br>(col.<br>73+74) | Personal<br>exemp-<br>tion 3           | Credit for<br>depend-<br>ents 4<br>(item 4,<br>Form<br>1040A) | Income<br>and vic-<br>tory tax-<br>on 1943<br>income 7<br>(item 8,<br>Form<br>1040A) |
|---|----------------------|--|---|--|--|---|--|
| (1)   | (72)                 | (73)   | (74)  | (75)   | (76)                                   | (77)  | (78)   |
| Taxable returns: Under 0.5 (est.) 0.5 under 0.75 (est.) | 598, 873             | 375, 471   | 11, 061   | 386, 532   | 299, 437                               | 5, 883  | 10. 681  |
| 0.75 under 1 (est.)                                     | 805, 931             | 696, 970   | 9,005   | 705, 975   | 402, 966                               | 17, 593   | 51, 202  |
| 1 under 1.25 (est.)                                     | 847, 601             | 943, 442   | 8, 541  | 951, 983   | 423, 801                               | 16, 356   | 97, 102  |
| 1.25 under 1.5 (est.)                                   | 711, 440             | 965, 302   | 8, 327  | 973, 628   | 355, 720                               | 10, 131   | 118, 643   |
| 1.5 under 1.75 (est.)                                   | 545, 700             | 874, 883   | 9, 192  | 884.075  | 272, 850                               | 7, 729  | 119, 831   |
| 1.75 under 2 (est.)                                     | 405, 078             | 748, 318   | 7, 444  | 755, 762   | 202, 539                               | 7, 240  | 109, 281   |
| 2 under 2.25 (est.)                                     | 224, 665             | 470, 412   | 4, 277  | 474, 690   | 112, 333                               | 3, 461  | 72, 478  |
| 2.25 under 2.5 (est.)                                   | 120, 901             | 279, 153   | 6, 627  | 285, 780   | 60, 451                                | 1, 768  | 45, 374  |
| 2.5 under 2.75 (est.)                                   | 66, 789              | 171, 829   | 2, 871  | 174, 699   | 33, 395                                | 1, 762  | 28, 443  |
| 2.75 under 3 (est.)                                     | 35, 801              | 98, 281  | 4, 168  | 102, 449   | 17, 901                                | 1, 416  | 17, 063  |
| Total   | 4, 362, 779          | 5, 624, 060  | 71, 513   | 5, 695, 572  | 2, 181, 390                            | 73, 339   | 670, 099   |
| Nontaxable returns: 12                                  |                      |  |   |  |  |   |  |
| Under 0.5 (est.)  | 586, 106             | 182, 155   | 1, 754  | 183, 910   | 293, 053                               | 6, 510  |  |
| 0.5 under 0.75 (est.)                                   | 84, 919              | 43, 707  | 763   | 44, 470  | 42, 460                                | 5, 455  |  |
| 0.75 under 1 (est.)                                     | (22)                 | (22)   | (22)  | (22)   |  | (27)  |  |
| 1 and over (est.)                                       | (27)                 | (22)   | (22)  | (22)   | (2 <sup>2</sup> )<br>(2 <sup>2</sup> ) | (23)  |  |
| Total   | 672, 034             | 226, 752   | 2, 517  | 229, 269   | 336, 017                               | 12, 465   |  |
| Grand total   | 5, 034, 813          | 5, 850, 812  | 74, 030   | 5. 924, 842  | 2, 517, 407                            | 85, 803   | 670.099  |
| For footnotes, see pp. 252                              | -254.                |  |   |  |  |   |  |

Table 10.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1943, by States and Territories: Population, percent of returns to population, number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income; also for returns with net income. Number of returns, net income, and income and victory tax on 1943 income; and for returns Form 1040A: Number of returns, gross income, and income and victory tax on 1943 income

## [Money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  | Population<br>July 1, 1943  | Percent-  | Number of individual and taxable   | Net in-                                      | Total in-   | Income<br>and victory   | ciary retu  | eturns and ta<br>rns 1 with n<br>ing returns, F | et income,                                       | Individual  | returns, For   | m 1040A 10                                       |
|--|---|---|--|--|---|---|---|---|--|---|--|--|
| States and Territories   | (Census Bureau estimate) (in thousands)   | Total re-<br>turns to<br>population   | fiduciary<br>returns<br>with net<br>income<br>(col. 8+11)  | come <sup>2</sup> (col. 9+12)                | come and<br>victory<br>tax <sup>6</sup>   | tax on 1943<br>income 7<br>(col. 10+13)   | Number of returns   | Net in-<br>come                                 | Income<br>and victory<br>tax on 1943<br>income 7 | Number of<br>returns  | Gross in-<br>come  | Income<br>and victory<br>tax on 1943<br>income 7 |
| (1)  | (2)   | (3)   | (4)  | (5)  | (6)   | (7)   | (8)   | (9)   | (10)   | (11)  | (12)   | (13)   |
| Alabama Arizona Arkansas California Colorado Connecticut Delaware District of Columbia Florida Georgia Hawaii Itlaho Illinois Indiana Iowa Kansas Kentucky Louisiana Maine Maryland Massachusetts Michigan Minnesota Mississipii Missouri Montana Nebraska Newada New Hampshire New Jersey | 1, 870<br>8, 468<br>1, 163<br>1, 780<br>281<br>281<br>2, 370<br>3, 226<br>4428<br>498<br>7, 695<br>3, 399<br>2, 319<br>1, 781<br>2, 734<br>2, 557<br>818<br>2, 52<br>4, 256<br>4, | 34, 95<br>32, 30<br>29, 57<br>19, 75<br>21, 43<br>32, 07<br>40, 24<br>40, 23<br>40, 23<br>61, 02<br>29, 47<br>43, 33, 89<br>61, 02<br>61, 02<br>61, 02<br>61, 03<br>61, 0 | 262, 353<br>841, 827<br>1, 724, 818<br>2, 041, 832<br>873, 639<br>223, 706<br>1, 105, 416<br>163, 443<br>392, 710<br>68, 667<br>166, 447 | 358, 241<br>793, 772<br>158, 379<br>334, 787 | 1, 011, 239<br>244, 595<br>67, 654<br>362, 203<br>53, 722<br>109, 947<br>31, 749<br>45, 394 | 860, 385<br>210, 693<br>54, 570<br>309, 593<br>44, 143<br>94, 926<br>26, 026<br>38, 354 | 130, 568<br>409, 909<br>829, 710<br>1, 282, 657<br>522, 319<br>90, 740<br>645, 544<br>93, 004<br>241, 002<br>26, 446<br>71, 059 | 85, 610<br>188, 737                             | 19, 033<br>28, 308                               | 132, 966<br>459, 872<br>70, 439<br>151, 708<br>42, 221<br>95, 388 | 500, 150 152, 248 175, 204 2, 613, 504 222, 220 701, 499 63, 766 421, 988 539, 450 149, 268 108, 134 2, 220, 735 874, 103 365, 725 307, 425 459, 770 403, 074 194, 763 638, 364 1, 370, 322 1, 264, 017 167, 274 671, 338 111, 785 217, 697 72, 769 146, 050 1, 069, 309 | 8, 386<br>13, 967<br>6, 993<br>10, 047           |

| New Mexico                 | 534 1    | 19. 49   | 104, 076     | 219, 684     | 33, 434      | 27, 623      | 48, 812      | 194 110      | 00.000       |              |              |             |
|----------------------------|----------|----------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|-------------|
| New York                   | 12, 861  | 40: 97   | 5, 268, 341  | 12, 910, 306 | 2, 532, 377  |              |              | 134, 110     | 22, 286      | 55, 264      | 85, 574      | 5, 337      |
| North Carolina             | 3, 639   | 18. 36   | 668, 111     |              |              | 2, 163, 443  | 3, 274, 786  | 9, 937, 368  | 1, 936, 108  | 1, 993, 555  | 2, 972, 938  | 227, 335    |
| North Dakota               | 543      | 29. 01   | 157, 435     | 1, 186, 994  | 167, 138     | 141, 284     | 272, 394     | 688, 978     | 117, 354     | 395, 717     | 498, 016     | 23, 930     |
| Ohio                       | 6, 888   | 39.06    |              | 292, 670     | 35, 013      | 30, 412      | 119, 265     | 244, 299     | 27, 411      | 38, 170      | 48, 371      | 3,001       |
| Oklahoma                   | 2, 168   |          | 2, 690, 274  | 6, 416, 706  | 1, 076, 761  | 922, 019     | 1, 515, 795  | 4, 575, 274  | 772, 576     | 1, 174, 479  | 1, 841, 432  | 149, 443    |
| Orogon                     |          | 21. 17   | 459, 155     | 919, 678     | 132, 535     | 110, 724     | 258, 463     | 631, 933     | 95, 861      | 200, 692     | 287, 745     | 14, 863     |
| Oregon                     | 1, 236   | 37. 11   | 458, 568     | 1, 171, 328  | 212, 326     | 183, 251     | 272, 482     | 862, 891     | 156, 600     | 186, 086     | 308, 436     | 26, 651     |
| Pennsylvania.              | 9, 468   | 34. 93   | 3, 307, 461  | 7, 581, 834  | 1, 261, 776  | 1, 076, 068  | 1, 669, 897  | 5, 013, 935  | 888, 674     | 1,637,564    | 2, 567, 899  | 187, 394    |
| Rhode Island               | 751      | 38. 29   | . 287, 470   | 653, 368     | 114, 322     | 95, 860      | 142, 262     | 434, 892     | 78, 483      | 145, 208     | 218, 476     | 17, 377     |
| South Carolina             | 1, 951   | 17. 21   | 335, 802     | 593, 837     | 78, 115      | 65, 806      | 120, 040     | 319, 570     | 50, 831      | 215, 762     | 274, 267     | 14, 975     |
| South Dakota               | 577      | 23. 27   | 134, 206     | 242, 073     | 29, 030      | 25, 197      | 91, 872      | 185, 478     | 21, 882      | 42, 334      | 56, 595      | 3, 315      |
| Tennessee                  | 2, 959   | 20.82    | 616, 094     | 1, 207, 188  | 179, 168     | 153, 816     | 220, 868     | 649, 448     | 121, 395     | 395, 226     | 557, 740     | 32, 421     |
| Texas                      | 6, 972   | 24. 67   | 1, 720, 062  | 3, 635, 677  | 611, 809     | 513, 347     | 810, 336     | 2, 256, 421  | 426, 207     | 909, 726     | 1, 379, 256  | 87, 140     |
| Utah                       | 634      | 29. 74   | 188, 462     | 425, 234     | 57, 627      | 50, 210      | 109, 597     | 292, 987     | 40, 972      | 78, 865      | 132, 247     | 9, 238      |
| Vermont                    | 328      | 28. 18   | 92, 286      | 173, 487     | 22, 437      | 19, 043      | 48, 387      | 108, 819     | 15, 255      | 43, 899      | 64, 668      |             |
| Virginia                   | 3, 078   | 23. 10   | 710, 996     | 1, 477, 637  | 224, 670     | 188, 755     | 293, 808     | 876, 014     | 154, 558     | 417, 188     |              | 3, 788      |
| wasnington "               | 2, 108   | 44. 53   | 938, 780     | 2, 201, 773  | 382, 847     | 326, 120     | 432, 388     | 1, 322, 452  | 239, 907     |              | 601, 622     | 34, 197     |
| West Virginia<br>Wisconsin | 1, 754   | 25, 35   | 444, 801     | 896, 571     | 103, 061     | 89, 088      | 153, 129     |              |              | 506, 392     | 879, 321     | 86, 213     |
| Wisconsin                  | 3, 011   | 35, 25   | 1, 061, 398  | 2, 156, 521  | 305, 854     |              |              | 442, 918     | 65, 957      | 291, 672     | 453, 653     | 23, 131     |
| W yoming                   | 254      | 31. 07   | 79, 062      |              |              | 263, 678     | 626, 963     | 1, 517, 440  | 215, 975     | 434, 435     | 639, 081     | 47, 702     |
|                            | 201      | 31.07    | 19,002       | 183, 307     | 28, 457      | 23, 835      | 47, 128      | 133, 216     | 20, 214      | 31, 934      | 50, 092      | 3, 620      |
| Total                      | 134, 484 | 32, 39   | 43, 556, 649 | 00 400 000   | 17 101 005   | 11 50= 000   |              |              |              |              |              | <del></del> |
| * *****                    | 104, 404 | ∂Z. 39   | 40, 000, 049 | 99, 482, 206 | 17, 121, 265 | 14, 587, 669 | 23, 228, 916 | 68, 420, 159 | 12, 185, 148 | 20, 327, 733 | 31, 062, 047 | 2, 402, 521 |
|                            |          | <u>-</u> |              |              | <u> </u>     |              |              |              |              |              |              |             |

Table 10-A.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income; also for returns, Forms 1040 and 1040A separately: Number of returns, net income or gross income, and income and victory tax on 1943 income.

| Money | figures i | n t | housands | of | dollars] |
|-------|-----------|-----|----------|----|----------|
|-------|-----------|-----|----------|----|----------|

|  | Number of  | Net income 3   | Total income   | Income and victory tax.   | Individual   | returns with n<br>Form 1040                 | et income,  | Individus   | dual returns, Form 1040A 10  |  |  |  |  |
|--|--|--|--|---|--|---|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| States and Territories   | individual<br>returns<br>with net<br>income<br>(col. 6+9)  | (item 18, p. 1,<br>Form 1040,<br>and item 3,<br>Form 1040A)<br>(col. 7+10)   | and victory<br>tax <sup>6</sup><br>(item 20, p. 4,<br>Form 1040,<br>and item 12,<br>Form 1040A)  | on 1943<br>income 7<br>(item 16, p. 4,<br>Form 1040,<br>and item 8,<br>Form 1040A)<br>(col. 8+11) | Number of returns  | Net income<br>(item 18, p. 1,<br>Form 1040) | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7<br>(item 16, p. 4,<br>Form 1040) | Number of returns   | Gross income<br>(item 3,<br>Form 1040A)  | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income <sup>7</sup><br>(item 8,<br>Form 1040A) |  |  |  |
| (1)  | (2)  | (3)  | (4)  | (5)   | (6)  | (7)   | (8)   | (9)   | (10)   | (11)   |  |  |  |
| Alabama Arizona Arkansas California Colorado Connecticut Delaware District of Columbia Florida Georgia Hawaii Idaho Illinois Indiana Iowa Kansas Kentucky Louisiana Maine Maryland Massachusetts Michigan Minnesota Mississippi Missouri Montana Nebraska Nevada New Hampshire | 335, 369 804, 510 804, 510 804, 510 95, 381 353, 511 546, 326 616, 065 155, 522 153, 131 3, 087, 295 1, 186, 198 746, 273 525, 155 538, 781 547, 614 261, 798 840, 308 1, 718, 101 2, 038, 605 871, 233 223, 517 1, 102, 999 163, 172 391, 503 68, 600 | 1, 100, 667<br>1, 158, 102<br>1, 118, 049<br>557, 956<br>1, 958, 112<br>3, 895, 261<br>5, 468, 728<br>1, 728, 329<br>429, 576<br>2, 288, 569<br>2, 357, 467<br>791, 22<br>158, 093 | 160, 268<br>184, 529<br>171, 757<br>77, 697<br>337, 985<br>677, 079<br>1, 004, 784<br>241, 775<br>67, 421<br>359, 515<br>53, 505<br>109, 331 | 43, 927<br>94, 351<br>25, 939   | 171, 955 65, 044 117, 625 1, 994, 189 184, 679 385, 915 53, 095 141, 276 239, 914 214, 430 65, 821 86, 382 1, 649, 639 476, 894 476, 894 476, 894 48, 390 317, 388 257, 387 210, 952 130, 013 408, 390 822, 993 1, 279, 430 519, 913 90, 551 643, 127 92, 733 239, 795 26, 379 70, 607 | 85, 325                                     | 18, 946   | 336, 662<br>131, 785<br>431, 918<br>895, 108<br>759, 175<br>351, 320<br>132, 966<br>459, 872<br>70, 439<br>151, 708 | 493,074<br>194,763<br>638,364<br>1,370,322<br>1,264,017<br>510,412<br>167,274<br>671,338<br>111,785<br>217,697<br>72,769 | 6, 967<br>49, 715<br>8, 386<br>13, 967<br>6, 993                                       |  |  |  |

| New Jersey New Mexico. New York North Carolina North Dakota Ohio Oklahoma Pennsylvania Rhode Island South Carolina South Dakota Tennessee Texas Utah Vermont Virginia Washington 4 West Virginia Wisconsin Wyoming Total | 103, 933 5, 253, 541 667, 295 156, 798 2, 685, 725 458, 186 457, 853 3, 299, 341 286, 443 335, 454 133, 601 615, 451 1, 716, 928 198, 252 92, 014 709, 903 937, 440 444, 235 1, 058, 640 | 4, 180, 454<br>219, 270<br>12, 846, 919<br>1, 183, 692<br>291, 410<br>6, 398, 743<br>915, 858<br>1, 169, 032<br>7, 555, 063<br>649, 868<br>592, 451<br>241, 096<br>1, 204, 095<br>3, 618, 165<br>424, 337<br>172, 897<br>1, 474, 740<br>2, 196, 594<br>983, 793<br>2, 150, 186<br>182, 907 | 716, 797 33, 321 2, 508, 204 165, 991 34, 753 1, 070, 175 131, 271 211, 655 1, 251, 841 113, 006 77, 608 28, 850 177, 871 604, 702 57, 268 22, 293 223, 860 381, 165 101, 974 304, 000 28, 365 16, 981, 383 | 612, 592<br>27, 510<br>2, 139, 270<br>140, 137<br>30, 152<br>915, 433<br>109, 460<br>182, 580<br>1, 066, 133<br>94, 544<br>65, 299<br>25, 018<br>152, 519<br>506, 240<br>49, 851<br>18, 899<br>187, 945<br>324, 438<br>88, 001<br>261, 884<br>23, 743 | 1, 050, 638<br>48, 669<br>3, 259, 986<br>271, 578<br>118, 628<br>1, 511, 246<br>257, 494<br>271, 767<br>1, 661, 777<br>141, 235<br>119, 692<br>91, 267<br>220, 225<br>807, 202<br>100, 387<br>48, 115<br>292, 715<br>431, 048<br>152, 563<br>621, 205<br>46, 975 | 3, 111, 144<br>133, 695<br>9, 873, 980<br>685, 676<br>243, 039<br>4, 557, 312<br>628, 113<br>860, 595<br>4, 987, 164<br>431, 392<br>318, 184, 501<br>646, 355<br>2, 238, 909<br>292, 090<br>108, 229<br>873, 117<br>1, 317, 274<br>440, 140<br>1, 511, 105<br>132, 816 | 523, 564<br>22, 173<br>1, 911, 935<br>116, 208<br>27, 151<br>765, 91<br>94, 597<br>155, 920<br>878, 740<br>77, 167<br>50, 324<br>21, 703<br>120, 008<br>419, 101<br>40, 613<br>15, 111<br>153, 748<br>238, 225<br>64, 870<br>214, 182<br>20, 123 | 675, 860<br>55, 264<br>1, 993, 555, 717<br>38, 170<br>1, 174, 479<br>200, 692<br>186, 086<br>1, 637, 564<br>145, 208<br>215, 762<br>42, 334<br>395, 226<br>909, 726<br>909, 726<br>78, 865<br>43, 895<br>43, 895<br>45, 895<br>45, 895<br>45, 895<br>46, 895<br>47, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 895<br>48, 8 | 1,069,309<br>85,574<br>2,972,938<br>498,016<br>48,371<br>1,841,432<br>237,745<br>303,436<br>2,567,789<br>218,476<br>274,267<br>56,595<br>557,740<br>1,379,256<br>132,247<br>64,668<br>601,622<br>879,321<br>453,653<br>639,081<br>50,092 | 89, 028 5, 337 227, 335 23, 930 3, 001 149, 443 14, 863 26, 651 187, 394 17, 377 14, 975 3, 315 32, 421 87, 140 9, 238 °3, 788 34, 197 86, 213 23, 131 47, 702 3, 620 2, 402, 521 |
|--|--|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|---|
|--|--|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|---|

Table 11.—Individual uns with net income, 1948, by net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes); also aggregate for taxable fiduciary returns with net income, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income

| [Net income classes and a | money figures in | thousands of dollars] |
|---------------------------|------------------|-----------------------|
|---------------------------|------------------|-----------------------|

|  |   |   | Ala  | bama   |   |  | Ar   | izona   |   |   | Arl   | ansas   |  |  |
|--|---|---|--|--|---|--|--|---|---|---|---|---|--|--|
|  | Net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes)  | Number<br>of returns  | Net in-<br>come 2  |  | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7  | Number<br>of returns   | Net in-  |   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7  | Number<br>of returns  | Net in-<br>come ?   | Total income and victory  | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7   |  |
| 1<br>2<br>3  | Individual returns with net income (taxable and nontaxable): Form 1040A: 10 Under 1 (est.)  | 104, 872<br>174, 692<br>72, 759   | 68, 365<br>256, 064<br>175, 721  | 1, 776<br>13, 000<br>13, 699   | 1, 497<br>11, 956<br>12, 507  | 23, 117<br>42, 898<br>30, 728  | 11, 478<br>66, 717<br>74, 053  | 440<br>5, 844<br>7, 293   | 322<br>5, 225<br>6, 591   | 52, 197<br>64, 685<br>20, 711   | 33, 265<br>92, 317<br>49, 622   | 824<br>4, 010<br>3, 462   | 688<br>3,728<br>3,195  | 1 2 3  |
| 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 22 22 | Form 1040:  Under 1 (est.)  1 under 2 (est.)  2 under 3 (est.)  3 under 4 (est.)  4 under 5 (est.)  5 under 6.  6 under 7.  7 under 8.  8 under 9.  9 under 10.  10 under 11.  11 under 12.  12 under 13.  13 under 14.  14 under 15.  15 under 20.  20 under 25.  25 under 30.  30 under 40. | 24, 186 46, 972 44, 836 30, 776 11, 501 3, 664 2, 043 1, 335 1, 022 836 480 402 356 342 984 492 314 | 15, 734 71, 070 113, 348 104, 705 50, 751 20, 015 13, 196 9, 980 8, 653 7, 933 6, 038 5, 510 5, 020 4, 805 4, 958 16, 949 10, 919 8, 561 11, 909 | 1, 570<br>7, 145<br>13, 277<br>15, 028<br>8, 849<br>4, 178<br>3, 145<br>2, 475<br>2, 315<br>2, 283<br>1, 830<br>1, 676<br>1, 676<br>1, 762<br>6, 817<br>4, 328<br>4, 328 | 716<br>5, 666<br>11, 353<br>12, 885<br>7, 605<br>3, 459<br>2, 521<br>2, 058<br>1, 904<br>1, 443<br>1, 353<br>1, 349<br>1, 430<br>5, 443<br>4, 027<br>3, 522<br>5, 509 | 6, 001<br>17, 499<br>23, 133<br>11, 300<br>4º 2, 351<br>1, 103<br>489<br>379<br>300<br>227<br>226<br>186<br>188<br>108<br>344<br>174<br>95 | 3, 784<br>27, 375<br>57, 270<br>38, 158<br>10, 514<br>6, 029<br>4, 875<br>3, 221<br>2, 852<br>2, 370<br>2, 362<br>2, 328<br>1, 864<br>1, 568<br>5, 667<br>2, 619<br>3, 774 | 971<br>3, 089<br>7, 527<br>5, 985<br>2, 467<br>1, 430<br>1, 281<br>1, 019<br>842<br>737<br>765<br>766<br>666<br>572<br>2, 416<br>1, 793<br>1, 423<br>2, 137 | 181<br>2, 286<br>6, 379<br>5, 211<br>1, 850<br>1, 191<br>1, 043<br>836<br>772<br>712<br>619<br>649<br>665<br>540<br>473<br>1, 982<br>1, 465<br>1, 125 | 25, 868<br>39, 084<br>28, 901<br>13, 058<br>43, 202<br>1, 835<br>558<br>435<br>356<br>315<br>235<br>1189<br>176<br>578<br>271<br>169<br>189 | 16, 544 57, 356 71, 367 44, 168 14, 172 10, 009 7, 581 6, 116 4, 725 4, 132 3, 728 3, 624 2, 926 2, 546 2, 546 2, 543 9, 930 6, 038 4, 035 6, 388 | 988<br>3, 989<br>7, 445<br>6, 173<br>2, 623<br>2, 172<br>2, 172<br>1, 813<br>1, 580<br>1, 348<br>1, 187<br>1, 175<br>1, 194<br>1, 025<br>927<br>915<br>4, 016<br>2, 765<br>2, 433<br>3, 631 | 440<br>3. 203<br>6. 387<br>5. 279<br>2. 083<br>1, 756<br>1, 463<br>1, 261<br>1, 955<br>969<br>971<br>790<br>724<br>742<br>3. 202<br>2, 243<br>1, 934 | 4<br>56<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22 |

| 23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>40<br>41<br>42 | 50 under 60<br>60 under 70<br>70 under 80<br>80 under 90                                       | 103<br>66<br>40<br>33<br>22<br>39<br>10<br>3<br>1<br>1 | 8, 570<br>4, 243<br>2, 965<br>2, 794<br>2, 074<br>4, 718<br>1, 688<br>652<br>776<br>359<br>412 | 3, 874<br>3, 121<br>2, 304<br>2, 024<br>1, 632<br>3, 90<br>9, 90<br>1, 836<br>604<br>513<br>353<br>476 | 3, 107<br>2, 520<br>1, 805<br>1, 783<br>1, 346<br>3, 287<br>1, 255<br>488<br>487<br>308<br>357 | 33<br>19<br>17<br>11<br>4<br>5<br>2<br>3<br>3<br>2<br>2 | 1, 782<br>1, 256<br>1, 252<br>376<br>532<br>306<br>647<br>531<br>606 | 1, 276<br>858<br>843<br>1, 234<br>257<br>540<br>247<br>849<br>502<br>788 | 972<br>785<br>752<br>599<br>254<br>373<br>234<br>514<br>439<br>510 | 43<br>27<br>22<br>14<br>6<br>24<br>6<br>1 | 2, 365<br>1, 743<br>1, 644<br>1, 188<br>587<br>2, 866<br>950<br>206 | 1, 666<br>1, 212<br>1, 134<br>932<br>445<br>2, 381<br>877<br>253 | 1, 318<br>1, 024<br>902<br>738<br>395<br>1, 987<br>710<br>161 | 8 24<br>4 25<br>2 26<br>2 27<br>3 28<br>2 29<br>3 30<br>3 1<br>3 2<br>3 32<br>3 34<br>3 35<br>3 6<br>3 7 |
|--|--|--|--|--|--|---|--|--|--|---|---|--|---|--|
| <b>4</b> 3<br>44   | Total, individual returns<br>with net income.<br>Taxable fiduciary returns with net<br>income. | 524, 278<br>543  | 1, 025, 051<br>2, 353  | 146, 427   | 122, 671   | 161, 787  | 346, 981   | 59, 021  | 48, 412  | 255, 218                                  | 468, 672  | 66, 688  | 55, 055   | 42   |
| 45   | Total, returns with net income.  | 524, 821   | 1, 027, 404  | 147, 261   | 123, 504   | 162, 021  | 753<br>347, 733  | 59, 249  | 48, 639  | 341<br>255, 559                           | 1, 526<br>470, 197  | 559<br>67 247  | 559   | 44   |
| !  | For footnotes, see pp. 252-254   |  |  |  |  |   |  | , - 10   | 40, 009  | 200, 559                                  | 470, 197  | 67, 247  | 55, 614   | 45   |

Table 11.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes); also aggregate for taxable fiduciary returns with net income, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |                      | Cal   | ifornia  |   |   | Col  | orado  |   |   | Conr   | iecticut   |   |
|--|----------------------|---|--|---|---|--|--|---|---|--|--|---|
| Net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes)   | Number<br>of returns | Net in-<br>come ?   | Total in-<br>come and<br>victory<br>tax 6  | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7  | Number<br>of returns  | Net in-<br>come *  | Total in-<br>come and<br>victory<br>tax b  | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7  | Number<br>of returns  | Net in-<br>come ?  | Total in-<br>come and<br>victory<br>tax 6  | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7  |
| Individual returns with net income (taxable and nontaxable):  Form 1040A: <sup>10</sup> Under 1 (ast.).  1 under 2 (est.).  2 under 3 (est.).  Form 1040:  Under 1 (est.).  5 1 under 2 (est.).  6 2 under 3 (est.).  7 3 under 4 (est.).  8 4 under 5 (est.).  9 5 under 6.  10 6 under 7.  11 7 under 8.  12 8 under 9.  13 0 under 10.  14 10 under 11.  15 11 under 12.  16 12 under 13.  17 13 under 14.  18 14 under 15.  19 15 under 20.  20 20 under 25.  21 25 under 30.  22 30 under 40. | 693, 514<br>548, 179 | 186, 798<br>1, 088, 920<br>1, 337, 786<br>90, 866<br>97, 56, 018<br>1, 797, 045<br>1, 401, 612<br>142, 895<br>180, 132<br>144, 632<br>127, 498<br>111, 596<br>113, 275<br>69, 913<br>55, 062<br>48, 391<br>42, 644<br>169, 074<br>116, 390<br>85, 986<br>118, 610 | 9, 036<br>108, 914<br>162, 742<br>9, 666<br>98, 914<br>227, 058<br>82, 831<br>42, 969<br>38, 493<br>37, 760<br>32, 337<br>34, 181<br>19, 462<br>16, 742<br>16, 742<br>16, 742<br>16, 373<br>67, 047<br>53, 279<br>43, 465<br>66, 006 | 6, 121<br>97, 704<br>147, 228<br>81, 488<br>223, 095<br>193, 930<br>31, 316<br>29, 612<br>27, 102<br>28, 796<br>18, 288<br>16, 500<br>15, 757<br>14, 405<br>13, 115<br>56, 860<br>44, 716<br>36, 553<br>55, 950 | 44, 339<br>65, 875<br>40, 476<br>29, 644<br>56, 766<br>52, 829<br>23, 388<br>8, 302<br>2, 264<br>1, 491<br>1, 106<br>873<br>654<br>522<br>444<br>316<br>260<br>850<br>442<br>255<br>266 | 26, 809<br>97, 958<br>97, 453<br>19, 565<br>86, 559<br>129, 962<br>78, 738<br>19, 992<br>14, 641<br>11, 136<br>5, 553<br>4, 270<br>14, 550<br>9, 801<br>6, 956<br>9, 062 | 2, 088<br>6, 622<br>7, 947<br>1, 199<br>6, 958<br>13, 844<br>11, 339<br>6, 497<br>4, 099<br>3, 384<br>2, 283<br>2, 132<br>1, 833<br>1, 752<br>1, 483<br>1, 309<br>5, 565<br>4, 349<br>3, 441<br>4, 895 | 795<br>6, 034<br>7, 256<br>815<br>5, 921<br>12, 219<br>9, 955<br>5, 666<br>2, 850<br>2, 312<br>2, 077<br>1, 936<br>1, 708<br>1, 540<br>1, 498<br>1, 195<br>1, 107<br>1, 679<br>3, 643<br>2, 871<br>4, 171 | 74, 563<br>198, 038<br>145, 994<br>34, 936<br>74, 227<br>90, 827<br>107, 638<br>38, 144<br>14, 065<br>6, 498<br>3, 801<br>2, 605<br>1, 884<br>747<br>797<br>648<br>2, 280<br>1, 163<br>2, 280<br>1, 163<br>1, 163 | 44, 157<br>296, 130<br>361, 211<br>21, 461<br>114, 031<br>231, 842<br>367, 271<br>107, 632<br>41, 987<br>28, 364<br>22, 081<br>17, 859<br>15, 448<br>14, 113<br>11, 901<br>10, 750<br>9, 400<br>39, 183<br>25, 933<br>19, 614<br>28, 027 | 2, 535<br>35, 858<br>46, 580<br>2, 511<br>14, 863<br>30, 371<br>64, 841<br>29, 788<br>15, 546<br>4, 602<br>4, 431<br>3, 382<br>3, 654<br>3, 314<br>15, 524<br>115, 524<br>116, 104 | 1, 722<br>32, 151<br>41, 534<br>1, 796<br>12, 685<br>26, 065<br>47, 339<br>25, 304<br>13, 149<br>8, 055<br>5, 863<br>4, 878<br>4, 174<br>3, 801<br>3, 117<br>3, 207<br>3, 207<br>3, 208<br>2, 731<br>12, 581<br>9, 618<br>8, 092<br>12, 959 |

| 23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38 | 50 under 60<br>60 under 70<br>70 under 80<br>80 under 90<br>90 under 100<br>100 under 150<br>150 under 200<br>200 under 250<br>250 under 300<br>300 under 400<br>400 under 500<br>500 under 750 | 976<br>591<br>- 400<br>- 265<br>- 202<br>- 419<br>- 112<br>- 48<br>- 31<br>- 28<br>- 10 | 53, 254<br>38, 170<br>29, 832<br>55, 22, 431<br>19, 173<br>50, 175<br>18, 927<br>10, 708<br>8, 399<br>9, 402<br>4, 659<br>3, 093 | 4 34, 426<br>26, 855<br>2 22, 264<br>17, 256<br>15, 202<br>42, 332<br>18, 601<br>10, 089<br>7, 712<br>9, 176<br>4, 209<br>2, 345 | 29, 94'<br>22, 55!<br>18, 47'<br>14, 500<br>12, 806<br>35, 353<br>14, 322<br>8, 462<br>6, 440<br>8, 038<br>3, 570 | 63<br>45<br>26<br>14<br>15<br>33<br>9<br>4<br>5 | 3, 439<br>2, 891<br>1, 946<br>1, 193<br>1, 408<br>4, 007<br>1, 501<br>899<br>1, 364<br>1, 491<br>970 | 2, 284<br>2, 430<br>1, 396<br>867<br>1, 099<br>3, 664<br>1, 399<br>545<br>1, 232<br>1, 184<br>1, 044 | 1, 911<br>1, 689<br>1, 160<br>750<br>934<br>2, 728<br>1, 126<br>511<br>1, 045<br>1, 103<br>848 | 229<br>164<br>106<br>67<br>54<br>106<br>37<br>11<br>9 | 9 12, 475<br>10, 575<br>7, 919<br>5, 703<br>5, 130<br>12, 668<br>6, 343<br>2, 412<br>2, 470<br>3, 559 | 9, 128<br>7, 833<br>6, 633<br>4, 474<br>4, 598<br>10, 727<br>5, 753<br>2, 530<br>2, 444<br>3, 338 | 6, 913<br>6, 191<br>4, 849<br>3, 775<br>3, 394<br>8, 758<br>4, 673<br>1, 870<br>2, 000<br>2, 846 | 3 24<br>25<br>26<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33 |
|--|---|---|--|--|---|---|--|--|--|---|---|---|--|--|
| 40<br>41<br>42   | 1,000 under 1,000<br>1,000 under 1,500<br>1,500 under 2,000<br>2,000 under 3,000<br>3,000 under 4,000<br>4,000 under 5,000<br>5,000 and over  |   |  |  |   | , 1   | 2, 040   | 1, 021   | 1, 017   |   | 2,000   | 1, 944  | 1, 755   | 37<br>38<br>39   |
| 43   | 5,000 and over  Total, individual returns with net income.  | 3, 576, 061   | 8, 868, 617  | 1, 714, 971  | 1, 468, 105   | 335, 369  | 733, 582   |  |  |   |   |   |  | 41<br>42   |
| 44   | Taxable fiduciary returns with net income.  | 6, 739  | 28, 529  | 10,560   | 10, 560   | 803   | 2, 925   | 120, 262   | 101, 669<br>1, 133   | 804, 510<br>2, 714                                    | 2, 061, 734<br>7, 877   | 413, 159  | 346, 917   | 43   |
|  | Total, returns with net income.   | 3, 582, 800   | 8, 897, 147  | 1, 725, 530  | 1, 478, 665   | 336, 172  | 736, 507   | 121, 395   | 102, 802   |   | 2, 069, 610   | 2, 547<br>415, 706  | 2, 547<br>349, 464   | 44 6   |
|  | For footnotes, see pp. 252-254  |   |  |  |   |   |  |  |  | /   | ' 1   |   | 5, 101   |  |

Table 11.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes); also aggregate for taxable fiduciary returns with net income, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

| П   |   |   | De   | elaware  |  |  | District o   | f Columbi  | 3.  |  | Fl   | orida   |  |  |
|---|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|---|--|--|---|--|--|
|   | Net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes)  | Number<br>of returns  | Net in-<br>come <sup>2</sup>   | Total in-<br>come and<br>victory<br>tax <sup>6</sup>   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7   | Number<br>of returns   | Net income?  |  | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7  | Number<br>of returns   | Net in-  |   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7   |  |
| 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22 | Individual returns with net income (taxable and nontaxable):  Form 1040A: 10  Under 1 (est.)  1 under 2 (est.)  2 under 3 (est.)  1 under 2 (est.)  2 under 3 (est.)  3 under 4 (est.)  4 under 5 (est.)  5 under 6  6 under 7  7 under 8  8 under 9  9 under 10  10 under 11  11 under 12  12 under 13  13 under 14  14 under 15  15 under 20  20 under 25  25 under 30  30 under 40 | 12, 136 18, 108 12, 042 6, 528 11, 765 12, 991 12, 178 4, 453 1, 457 792 601 358 254 226 171 141 1127 109 331 206 106 106 | 7, 598 26, 697 29, 471 4, 106 17, 749 32, 945 41, 740 19, 622 7, 918 5, 122 3, 739 2, 409 2, 375 1, 969 1, 762 1, 715 1, 578 4, 583 2, 880 2, 880 4, 563 | 292<br>2, 287<br>2, 989<br>320<br>1, 840<br>4, 074<br>5, 924<br>3, 371<br>1, 593<br>1, 165<br>907<br>795<br>684<br>704<br>634<br>565<br>560<br>560<br>2, 287<br>2, 064<br>1, 488<br>2, 530 | 246<br>2, 963<br>2, 647<br>237<br>1, 545<br>3, 491<br>5, 234<br>2, 915<br>1, 357<br>763<br>669<br>556<br>586<br>511<br>472<br>474<br>454<br>1, 839<br>1, 703<br>1, 198<br>2, 113 | 41, 753<br>108, 724<br>61, 758<br>13, 797<br>34, 462<br>34, 195<br>30, 230<br>11, 671<br>5, 386<br>2, 853<br>1, 775<br>1, 140<br>862<br>629<br>600<br>378<br>378<br>355<br>313<br>313<br>984<br>524<br>373<br>373<br>373 | 25, 228<br>170, 545<br>146, 483<br>8, 270<br>53, 347<br>84, 887<br>103, 943<br>51, 366<br>29, 305<br>18, 442<br>13, 326<br>8, 156<br>6, 156<br>4, 727<br>4, 798<br>4, 537<br>11, 641<br>10, 170<br>12, 305 | 1, 226<br>17, 508<br>19, 513<br>1, 166<br>7, 055<br>12, 533<br>16, 951<br>9, 480<br>6, 313<br>4, 337<br>3, 466<br>2, 595<br>2, 353<br>1, 937<br>1, 802<br>1, 578<br>1, 669<br>1, 625<br>6, 749<br>5, 210<br>5, 085<br>6, 973 | 919 16, 028 17, 355 595 5, 871 10, 686 14, 466 8, 152 2, 799 2, 154 1, 919 1, 622 1, 494 1, 289 1, 347 1, 325 5, 486 4, 300 4, 191 5, 684 | 100, 476 141, 795 64, 141 32, 096 63, 379 59, 656 45, 641 14, 451 6, 441 3, 625 2, 539 1, 315 1, 137 768 013 533 1, 769 1, 007 589 694 | 60, 476<br>206, 316<br>155, 196<br>21, 048<br>95, 151<br>149, 198<br>150, 670<br>35, 068<br>23, 443<br>18, 737<br>12, 569<br>9, 596<br>7, 715<br>7,  1, 800<br>11, 675<br>12, 643<br>1, 881<br>8, 287<br>16, 488<br>20, 984<br>10, 687<br>7, 102<br>5, 313<br>4, 621<br>4, 093<br>3, 441<br>3, 461<br>3, 188<br>3, 027<br>2, 762<br>2, 576<br>11, 501<br>9, 786<br>7, 941<br>11, 824 | 1, 363 10, 854 11, 708 1, 094 6, 889 14, 664 18, 721 9, 414 4, 532 3, 964 4, 532 2, 927 2, 941 2, 691 2, 565 2, 302 2, 243 8, 303 6, 657 10, 892 |  |

| 23   | 51 255 26 26 27 27 28 28 28 29 29 29 29 29 29 29 29 29 29 29 29 29 | 1 2,788<br>1,605<br>6 1,944<br>6 1,387<br>933<br>4 034<br>2,347<br>1,989<br>832<br>2,898<br>869<br>3,562<br>1,849<br>1,152 | 1, 950<br>1, 147<br>1, 582<br>1, 180<br>754<br>3, 508<br>2, 102<br>1, 927<br>816<br>2, 918<br>873<br>3, 828<br>1, 980<br>1, 173 | 1, 549<br>936<br>1, 209<br>802<br>602<br>2, 882<br>1, 784<br>1, 620<br>665<br>2, 446<br>710<br>3, 154<br>1, 657 | 96<br>63<br>44<br>24<br>21<br>49<br>14<br>2<br>1<br>1 | 5, 295<br>4, 055<br>3, 321<br>2, 036<br>2, 009<br>5, 773<br>2, 344<br>437<br>261<br>325 | 3, 666<br>2, 976<br>2, 710<br>1, 628<br>1, 825<br>5, 245<br>2, 250<br>433<br>245<br>298 | 2, 941<br>2, 343<br>2, 044<br>1, 300<br>1, 340<br>4, 072<br>1, 763<br>354<br>214<br>275 | 182<br>117<br>65<br>48<br>31<br>87<br>29<br>8<br>2<br>8<br>7<br>4 | 2 9,884<br>7,591<br>6 4,816<br>2,934<br>10,472<br>4,989<br>1,704<br>2,774<br>2,984<br>1,125<br>2,030 | 6, 475<br>5, 399<br>3, 328<br>3, 130<br>2, 293<br>8, 720<br>4, 313<br>1, 508<br>529<br>2, 979<br>3, 414<br>2, 443<br>1, 333 | 5, 42;<br>4, 420 | 3 24<br>9 25<br>9 26<br>27<br>28<br>30<br>7 31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38 |
|--|--|--|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|--|---|------------------|--|
| Total, individual returns with net income.  Taxable fiduciary returns with net income. |  | 260, 262<br>6, 503   | 65, 098   | 54, 638   | 353, 511  | 836, 306  | 164, 522  | 138, 448  |   | 1, 228, 121  | 221, 051  | 189, 765         | 41 42  |
| Total, returns with net in-  | 1  | 266, 765   | 3, 424  | 3, 424  | 736   | 2, 563  | 918   | 918   | 1, 332  | 7, 841   | 3, 062  | 3, 062           | 1  |
| For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.  | 00, 100  | 200, 765   | 68, 522   | 58, 062   | 354, 247  | 838, 869  | 165, 439  | 139, 366  | 547, 658  | 1, 235, 962  | 224, 113  | 192, 827         | 45   |

Table 11.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes); also aggregate for taxable fiduciary returns with net income, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

|                      |  |                               | Ge  | eorgia                                    |                                       |  | H                                       | awaii                                     |                                       |                                       | Id                                     | laho                                 |  |                      |
|----------------------|--|-------------------------------|---|---|---------------------------------------|--|---|---|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|--|--------------------------------------|--|----------------------|
|                      | Net income classes (Form 1040A, by<br>gross income classes)                            | Number<br>of returns          | Net income?                               | Total in-<br>come and<br>victory<br>tax 6 |                                       | Number<br>of returns                   | Net in-<br>come 2                       | Total in-<br>come and<br>victory<br>tax 6 |                                       | Number<br>of returns                  | Net income;                            |                                      | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7 |                      |
|                      | Individual returns with net income (taxable and nontaxable): Form 1040A: 10            |                               | -   |   |                                       |  |   |   |                                       |                                       |  |                                      |  |                      |
| 1<br>2<br>3          | Under 1 (est.)<br>1 under 2 (est.)<br>2 under 3 (est.)<br>Form 1040:                   | 190, 555                      | 90, 815<br>271, 777<br>176, 858           | 2, 230<br>13, 323<br>13, 176              | 1, 937<br>12, 298<br>12, 028          | 19, 136<br>46, 278<br>24, 287          | 13, 861<br>73, 422<br>61, 985           | 1, 029<br>8, 763<br>8, 570                | 677<br>7, 902<br>7, 554               | 14, 890<br>30, 985<br>20, 874         | 9, 370<br>47, 643<br>51, 121           | 436<br>3,730<br>4,187                | 316<br>3, 239<br>3, 734                          | 1<br>2<br>3          |
| 4<br>5<br>6          | Under 1 (est.)  1 under 2 (est.)  2 under 3 (est.)  3 under 4 (est.)  4 under 5 (est.) | 32, 114<br>62, 687<br>50, 986 | 22, 319<br>94, 074<br>126, 840            | 1, 405<br>8, 092<br>14, 171               | 1, 148<br>6, 714<br>12, 293           | 3, 679<br>7, 102<br>10, 268            | 2, 420<br>10, 854<br>26, 246            | 284<br>1, 506<br>4, 112                   | 196<br>1, 240<br>3, 439               | 10, 074<br>30, 690<br>27, 473         | 6, 930<br>47, 787<br>66, 967           | 418<br>4, 005<br>7, 847              | 222<br>3, 229<br>6, 837                          | 4<br>5<br>6          |
| 7<br>8<br>9<br>10    | 3 under 4 (est.)<br>4 under 5 (est.)<br>5 under 6<br>6 under 7                         | 1 0.101                       | 123, 352<br>55, 977<br>27, 972<br>18, 541 | 16, 584<br>9, 554<br>5, 745<br>4, 243     | 14, 795<br>8, 310<br>4, 831<br>3, 533 | 23, 889<br>12, 266<br>3, 413<br>1, 356 | 82, 453<br>54, 114<br>18, 451<br>8, 726 | 13, 620<br>10, 076<br>3, 673<br>1, 949    | 11, 958<br>8, 741<br>3, 130<br>1, 634 | 11, 206<br>48 2, 705<br>1, 288<br>694 | 37, 530<br>11, 905<br>7, 002<br>4, 477 | 5, 540<br>2, 192<br>1, 632<br>1, 124 | 4,848<br>1,933<br>1,404<br>970                   | 7<br>8<br>9          |
| 11<br>12<br>13       | 7 under 8  | 2,010<br>1,457                | 15, 025<br>12, 335<br>11, 363             | 3, 696<br>3, 287<br>3, 174                | 3, 096<br>2, 712<br>2, 638            | 770<br>488<br>351                      | 5,746<br>4,137<br>3,333                 | 1, 395<br>1, 058<br>954                   | 1, 163<br>897<br>768                  | 544<br>299<br>266                     | 4, 056<br>2, 541<br>2, 526             | 1,081<br>714<br>730                  | 927<br>612<br>630                                | 11<br>12<br>13       |
| 14<br>15<br>16<br>17 | 10 under 11<br>11 under 12<br>12 under 13<br>13 under 14                               | 923<br>760<br>571<br>536      | 9,660<br>8,715<br>7,117<br>7,226          | 2, 765<br>2, 743<br>2, 448<br>2, 409      | 2, 365<br>2, 228<br>1, 899<br>2, 003  | 270<br>254<br>170<br>154               | 2, 840<br>2, 922<br>2, 119<br>2, 076    | 823<br>969<br>742<br>719                  | 689<br>743<br>565<br>578              | 210<br>158<br>119<br>79               | 2, 191<br>1, 812<br>1, 498<br>1, 065   | 697<br>562<br>523<br>356             | 581<br>496<br>423<br>321                         | 14<br>15<br>16<br>17 |
| 18<br>19<br>20       | 13 under 14<br>14 under 14<br>15 under 15<br>15 under 20<br>20 under 25<br>25 under 30 | 465<br>1,501<br>771           | 6, 737<br>25, 915<br>17, 160              | 2, 299<br>9, 907<br>7, 541                | 1, 954<br>8, 312<br>6, 321            | 124<br>443<br>229                      | 1, 798<br>7, 615<br>5, 086              | 635<br>2, 906<br>2, 365                   | 518<br>2, 415<br>1, 866               | 79<br>230<br>108                      | 1, 141<br>3, 917<br>2, 389             | 405<br>1, 545<br>1, 135              | 349<br>1, 314<br>914                             | 18<br>19<br>20       |
| 21<br>22             | 30 under 40  | 495<br>529                    | 13, 454<br>18, 227                        | 6, 567<br>10, 239                         | 5, 535<br>8, 374                      | 167<br>181                             | 4, 587<br>6, 208                        | 2, 353<br>3, 622                          | 1, 893<br>2, 864                      | 42<br>58                              | 1, 131<br>1, 951                       | 565<br>1,074                         | 481<br>919                                       | 21<br>22             |

| 23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35 | 40 under 50  | - 144<br>96<br>54<br>38<br>- 19<br>71<br>15<br>9<br>4<br>3 | 7, 952<br>6, 247<br>4, 027<br>3, 225<br>1, 787<br>8, 690<br>2, 651<br>2, 017<br>1, 078<br>1, 008 | 5, 386<br>4, 419<br>2, 839<br>2, 420<br>1, 446<br>7, 159<br>2, 514<br>2, 098<br>3, 103<br>925<br>473 | 4, 40<br>3, 66<br>2, 41<br>2, 06<br>1, 190<br>6, 166<br>2, 061<br>1, 554<br>903<br>853 | 1 46<br>36<br>26<br>19 | 2, 488<br>2, 355<br>1, 977<br>1, 593 | 1, 690<br>1, 927<br>1, 448<br>1, 233 | 1, 362<br>1, 396<br>1, 217<br>1, 028 | 22<br>2<br>1<br>1<br>3 | 92<br>377<br>881 | 776<br>99<br>50<br>69<br>362<br>2, 957 | 69 8 4  |
|--|--|--|--|--|--|------------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|------------------------|------------------|--|---------|
|  | 750 under 1,000<br>1,000 under 1,500<br>1,500 under 2,000<br>2,000 under 3,000<br>3,000 under 4,000<br>4,000 under 5,000<br>5,000 and over |  |  |  |  |                        |                                      | ~                                    |                                      |                        |                  |  |         |
|  | Total, individual returns with net income.  Taxable fiduciary returns with net income.   | 616, 065<br>895  | 1, 213, 051<br>3, 827  | 186, 001   | 157, 416   | 155, 522               | 418, 490                             | 85, 501<br>629                       |                                      |                        | 320, 963<br>588  |  | 37, 126 |
| F  | Total, returns with net income.  For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.   | 616, 960   | 1, 216, 877  | 187, 348   | 158,764  | 155, 834               | 420, 058                             | 86, 130                              | 72, 866                              | 153, 338               | 321, 552         | 45, 742                                | 37, 278 |

Table 11.—Individual returns with net income, 1948, by net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes); also aggregate for taxable fiduciary returns with net income, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

|                            |   |  | 111   | inois   |   |   | Inc  | liana  |   |  | I  | owa.   | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·            |                            |
|----------------------------|---|--|---|---|---|---|--|--|---|--|--|--|--|----------------------------|
|                            | Net income classes (Form 1040A, by<br>gross income classes)   | Number<br>of returns                         | Net in-<br>come ?                                   |   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income ?    | Number<br>of returns                        | Net in-  | Total in-<br>come and<br>victory<br>tax <sup>6</sup> |   |  | Net in-<br>come 1                                |  | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7 |                            |
| 1 2                        | Individual returns with net income (taxable and nontaxable): Form 1040A:10 Under 1 (est.) 1 under 2 (est.) 2 under 3 (est.) | 365, 464<br>653, 042                         | 220, 200<br>970, 268                                | 10, 152<br>92, 381                                  | 7, 966<br>83, 413                                   | 136, 083<br>226, 127                        | 83, 094<br>339, 030                                | 3, 364<br>31, 103                                    | 2, 689<br>28, 334                               | 93, 921<br>119, 319                        | 56, 713<br>174, 560                              | 2, 260<br>11. 312                              | 1, 950<br>10, 382                                | 1 2                        |
| 3                          |   |  | 132,606   | 107, 409  | 97, 467<br>7, 285                                   | 183, 903<br>94, 356                         | 451, 979<br>59, 209                                | 45, 303<br>4, 456                                    | 41, 660<br>2, 650                               | 56, 139<br>99, 489                         | 134, 452<br>61, 768                              | 9, 830<br>3, 860                               | 9,095  | 3 4                        |
| 5<br>6<br>7<br>8           | Under 1 (est.)  1 under 2 (est.)  2 under 3 (est.)  3 under 4 (est.)  4 under 5 (est.)  5 under 6                           | 399, 331<br>446, 693<br>355, 179<br>107, 069 | 602, 058<br>1, 127, 721<br>1, 209, 676<br>472, 444  | 62, 999<br>134, 760<br>173, 581<br>84, 125          | 53, 633<br>117, 817<br>152, 295<br>71, 894          | 159, 916<br>159, 414<br>150, 825<br>41, 872 | 238, 162<br>403, 372<br>512, 510<br>185, 510       | 21, 489<br>46, 915<br>70, 905<br>31, 246             | 17, 423<br>41, 398<br>62, 667<br>27, 604        | 157, 648<br>116, 159<br>55, 096<br>19, 086 | 232, 613<br>235, 069<br>188, 444<br>84, 945      | 17, 516<br>29, 960<br>26, 177<br>14, 682       | 13, 574<br>25, 999<br>23, 037<br>12, 713         | 5<br>6<br>7<br>8           |
| 10<br>11<br>12             | 6 under 7   | 19, 777<br>13, 146<br>9, 193                 | 205, 901<br>127, 790<br>98, 139<br>77, 881          | 42, 335<br>27, 998<br>24, 449<br>28, 859            | 35, 863<br>24, 598<br>23, 664<br>17, 176            | 11, 429<br>5, 423<br>3, 402<br>2, 264       | 61, 941<br>35, 020<br>25, 392<br>19, 160           | 12, 451<br>7, 986<br>8, 196<br>5, 006                | 10, 621<br>6, 630<br>5, 207<br>4, 202           | 9, 916<br>5, 720<br>3, 560<br>2, 422       | 54, 091<br>36, 950<br>26, 549<br>20, 518         | 10, 645<br>8, 099<br>6, 287<br>5, 194          | 9, 271<br>6, 984<br>5, 405<br>4, 479             | 9<br>10<br>11<br>12        |
| 13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17 | 9 under 10.<br>10 under 11.<br>11 under 12.<br>12 under 13.<br>13 under 14.   | 5, 315<br>4, 339<br>3, 498                   | 67, 808<br>55, 740<br>49, 826<br>43, 695<br>38, 724 | 19, 188<br>16, 500<br>15, 440<br>14, 111<br>13, 086 | 15, 817<br>13, 691<br>12, 791<br>11, 707<br>10, 797 | 1, 657<br>1, 386<br>1, 051<br>857<br>696    | 15, 704<br>14, 530<br>12, 075<br>10, 712<br>9, 391 | 4, 386<br>4, 394<br>3, 797<br>3, 533<br>3, 204       | 3, 644<br>3, 562<br>3, 096<br>2, 879<br>2, 632  | 1, 657<br>1, 104<br>819<br>615<br>517      | 15, 680<br>11, 569<br>9, 405<br>7, 684<br>6, 973 | 4, 259<br>3, 292<br>2, 893<br>2, 465<br>2, 263 | 3, 627<br>2, 830<br>2, 406<br>2, 062<br>1, 948   | 13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17 |
| 18<br>19<br>20<br>21       | 14 under 15.<br>15 under 20.<br>20 under 25.<br>25 under 30.<br>30 under 40.  | 2, 526                                       | 36, 603<br>142, 625<br>95, 005<br>72, 960           | 12, 861<br>55, 747<br>42, 668<br>36, 507            | 10, 632<br>45, 736<br>35, 159<br>30, 139            | 626<br>1, 904<br>1, 015                     | 9, 059<br>32, 696<br>22, 552<br>15, 939            | 3, 190<br>12, 770<br>10, 280<br>8, 093               | 2, 623<br>2, 623<br>10, 456<br>8, 360<br>6, 560 | 422<br>1, 171<br>530<br>316                | 6, 112<br>20, 154<br>11, 798<br>8, 683           | 2, 253<br>2, 051<br>7, 928<br>5, 138<br>4, 354 | 1, 762<br>1, 762<br>6, 475<br>4, 367<br>3, 600   | 18<br>19<br>20<br>21       |
| 22                         | 30 under 40   | 2,891  | 99, 430   | 55, 218   | 45, 697   | 605   | 20, 763  | 11, 832  | 9, 514  | 293  | 10, 113  | 5, 699   | 4, 680   | 22                         |

| 23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38 | 60 under 70<br>70 under 80<br>80 under 90<br>90 under 100<br>100 under 150<br>150 under 200<br>200 under 250<br>250 under 300<br>300 under 400<br>400 under 500<br>500 under 750<br>750 under 1,000<br>1,000 under 1,500<br>1,500 under 2,000<br>2,000 under 3,000<br>3,000 under 4,000 | 87' 85':<br>31':<br>- 31':<br>- 32':<br>- 32':<br>- 124 54<br>- 28 10<br>- 11 10<br>- 2 1 | 7 47, 708<br>35, 644<br>3 23, 311<br>18, 706<br>3 12, 623<br>39, 405<br>21, 202<br>11, 924<br>5, 874<br>9, 409<br>4, 399<br>6, 457<br>8, 546<br>2, 378<br>1, 609 | 31, 664<br>25, 094<br>17, 300<br>14, 360<br>10, 014<br>33, 713<br>18, 955<br>11, 323<br>5, 637<br>9, 049<br>4, 373<br>6, 382<br>7, 830<br>1, 884<br>1, 623 | 26, 31-<br>20, 74'<br>14, 24'<br>11, 91'<br>8, 341'<br>15, 835<br>9, 248'<br>4, 773<br>7, 498<br>3, 687<br>5, 399<br>6, 221<br>1, 730<br>1, 448 | 4 178<br>7 88<br>8 58<br>8 57<br>33<br>70<br>23<br>8 55<br>5 1<br>3 3<br>1 | 3 9,771<br>5,764<br>4,411<br>3,116<br>8,282<br>3,887<br>1,741<br>1,376<br>1,682<br>1,962<br>787 | 6, 651<br>4, 081<br>3, 662<br>2, 451<br>2, 456<br>7, 379<br>3, 374<br>1, 645<br>1, 273<br>1, 770<br>2, 030<br>854 | 5, 450<br>3, 352<br>2, 721<br>1, 976<br>2, 053<br>5, 864<br>2, 929<br>1, 382<br>1, 116<br>1, 427<br>434<br>1, 702<br>713 | 96<br>36<br>22<br>18<br>10<br>14<br>7<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3 | 5,081<br>2,328<br>1,870<br>1,525<br>928<br>1,730<br>1,238<br>692<br>808<br>1,141 | 3, 387<br>1, 606<br>1, 453<br>1, 180<br>673<br>1, 643<br>1, 105<br>672<br>736<br>1, 023 | 2, 805<br>1, 370<br>1, 157<br>988<br>608<br>1, 253<br>970<br>530<br>672<br>981 | 5 24<br>25<br>7 26<br>8 27<br>8 28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35 |
|--|---|---|--|--|---|--|---|---|--|---|--|---|--|--|
| 42<br>43   | 4,000 under 5,000<br>5,000 and over<br>Total, individual returns<br>with net income   | 2 007 005   |  |  |   |  |   |   |  |   |  |   |  | 40<br>41<br>42   |
| 44   | with net income.  Taxable fiduciary returns with net income.  | 8, 052  | 7, 292, 243<br>37, 834   | 1, 320, 790<br>15, 302   | 1, 123, 585<br>15, 302  | 1, 186, 198<br>1, 639  | 2, 637, 290<br>5, 270   | 400, 253  | 342, 290   |   | 1, 489, 660  | 204, 536  | 174, 199   | 43   |
| 45   | Total, returns with net in-   | 3. 095 347  | 7, 330, 077  | 1 000 000  |   |  |   | 1,649   | 1,649  | 2, 610  | 6,014  | 1,461   | 1, 461   | 44   |
|  | come.   | 0,000,047   | 1, 000, 077  | 1, 336, 093  | 1, 138, 887   | 1, 187, 837  | 2, 642, 560   | 401, 902  | 343, 939   | 748, 883  | 1, 495, 674  | 205, 997  | 175, 660   | 45   |
|  | For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.   |   | <del></del>  | <del></del>  |   |  |   | 1   |  |   | 1  | 1   |  |  |

Table 11.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes); also aggregate for taxable fiduciary returns with net income, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

# [Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |   | Ka  | ınsas  |  |                      | Ke  | ntucky |  |  | Lou  | isiana  |   |                |
|--|---|---|--|--|----------------------|---|--------|--|--|--|---|---|----------------|
| Net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes)                   | Number<br>of returns  | Net in-<br>come ?   | Total income and victory   |  | Number<br>of returns | Net income 3  |        | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7 | Number<br>of returns   | Net in-  | Total in-<br>come and<br>victory<br>tax <sup>6</sup>  | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7  |                |
| Individual returns with net income (taxable and nontaxable):   Form 1040A: | 89, 702<br>55, 427<br>58, 487<br>102, 677<br>82, 108<br>42, 372<br>12, 620<br>5, 595<br>3, 339<br>2, 209<br>916<br>682<br>511<br>418<br>330<br>1, 055 | 39, 622<br>134, 115<br>133, 688<br>38, 760<br>153, 747<br>202, 326<br>144, 425<br>55, 453<br>30, 497<br>21, 582<br>16, 507<br>13, 080<br>10, 699<br>9, 589<br>7, 816<br>6, 377<br>5, 636<br>4, 782<br>18, 127<br>10, 766<br>10, 769<br>9, 813 | 1, 529<br>8, 673<br>10, 586<br>2, 341<br>12, 338<br>21, 974<br>20, 179<br>9, 547<br>6, 324<br>4, 952<br>4, 131<br>3, 498<br>3, 043<br>2, 786<br>2, 435<br>2, 028<br>1, 717<br>4, 811<br>17, 075<br>4, 811<br>13, 675<br>5, 510 | 2, 002<br>1, 714<br>1, 564<br>1, 393<br>5, 810<br>3, 992<br>3, 096 | 481<br>270           | 34, 845<br>201, 124<br>223, 802<br>26, 778<br>104, 290<br>170, 906<br>166, 168<br>73, 195<br>12, 214<br>10, 113<br>8, 185<br>7, 443<br>6, 040<br>5, 094<br>4, 386<br>3, 44<br>10, 739<br>7, 367<br>9, 925 | 3,725  |  | 94, 148<br>166, 272<br>76, 242<br>21, 649<br>64, 357<br>66, 039<br>35, 828<br>7, 244<br>4, 018<br>2, 350<br>1, 176<br>1, 079<br>695<br>618<br>468<br>468<br>362<br>1, 081<br>623<br>319<br>383 | 60, 099<br>248, 296<br>184, 679<br>14, 481<br>99, 264<br>163, 389<br>120, 765<br>31, 890<br>21, 897<br>15, 218<br>12, 589<br>9, 977<br>10, 224<br>7, 100<br>5, 727<br>6, 306<br>5, 237<br>18, 568<br>13, 866<br>13, 865<br>13, 837 | 1, 725 14, 975 15, 522 1, 322 10, 175 20, 944 17, 355 5, 962 3, 914 2, 851 3, 147 2, 301 2, 497 1, 960 2, 261 4, 431 7, 926 | 1, 440<br>13, 629<br>14, 184<br>557<br>7, 964<br>18, 135<br>5, 096<br>4, 253<br>3, 234<br>2, 856<br>2, 394<br>2, 578<br>1, 929<br>1, 945<br>1, 636<br>1, 863<br>1, 610<br>6, 228<br>5, 312<br>2, 3, 659<br>6, 280 | 19<br>20<br>21 |

| 40 under 50. 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 90. 90 under 100. 150 under 250. 250 under 250. 250 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 50. 500 under 750. 750 under 1,500. 1,500 under 2,000. 2,000 under 3,000. 3,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 5,000. 5,000 and over.  Total, individual with uet income. Taxable fiduciary returns income. | returns | 644<br>399<br>300<br>177<br>133<br>266<br>3 11<br>1 1<br>1 1<br>525,155 | 3, 480<br>2, 531<br>1, 443<br>1, 232<br>3, 195<br>1, 844<br>1, 338<br>779<br>495<br>506 | 2, 344<br>1, 751<br>1, 779<br>1, 091<br>975<br>3, 015<br>1, 534<br>1, 205<br>572<br>378<br>440<br>412 | 1, 923<br>1, 475<br>1, 391<br>909<br>781<br>2, 199<br>1, 275<br>1, 089<br>547<br>316<br>433<br>251 | 90<br>36<br>33<br>18<br>12<br>36<br>9<br>3<br>1<br>2<br>1<br>2 | 4, 945<br>2, 339<br>2, 444<br>1, 608<br>1, 126<br>4, 253<br>1, 519<br>683<br>278<br>673<br>425<br>1, 165<br>2, 874<br>1, 1030 | 3, 286<br>3, 289<br>1, 584<br>1, 761<br>1, 179<br>870<br>3, 247<br>1, 187<br>699<br>450<br>578<br>1, 461<br>517<br>1, 113 | 2, 614<br>2, 697<br>1, 373<br>1, 484<br>1, 003<br>734<br>2, 788<br>1, 089<br>555<br>137<br>571<br>370<br>577<br>7, 442<br>1, 093 |          | 7, 325 5, 159 4, 475 4, 690 2, 634 1, 874 5, 792 2, 470 2, 779 336 428 1, 410 1, 118, 049 1, 644 |          |          |
|--|---------|---|---|---|--|--|---|---|--|----------|--|----------|----------|
| come.  |         | 020, 002  | 1, 104, 144   | 161, 208  | 137, 093   | 539, 761   | 1, 168, 163   | 189, 026  | 161,893  | 547, 907 | 1, 119, 693  | 172, 324 | 147, 135 |

STATISTICS OF INCOME FOR 1943, PART 1

Table 11.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes); also aggregate for taxable fiduciary returns with net income, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

| [Net income classes and mone | figures in thousands of dollars |
|------------------------------|---------------------------------|
|------------------------------|---------------------------------|

|                   |  |                                       | М                                       | aine   |  |   | Ma   | ryland                                  |  |  | Massa                                       | chusetts                                 |  |             |
|-------------------|--|---------------------------------------|---|--|--|---|--|---|--|--|---|--|--|-------------|
|                   | Net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes)   | Number<br>of returns                  | Net in-<br>come ?                       | Total in-<br>come and<br>victory<br>tax <sup>6</sup> | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7 | Number of returns                       | Net in-<br>come 3                          |   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7 | Number<br>of returns                     | Net in-<br>come?                            | Total income and victory tax 5           | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7 |             |
|                   | Individual returns with net income (taxable and nontaxable): Form 1040A:10   |                                       | 04.000                                  |  | agia   |   |  |   |  |  |   |  |  |             |
| 2<br>3            | Under 1 (est.)   |                                       | 24, 299<br>87, 193<br>83, 272           | 1, 045<br>6, 343<br>6, 996                           | 888<br>5, 785<br>6, 359                          | 128, 606<br>183, 550<br>119, 762        | 71, 913<br>272, 874<br>293, 577            | 2, 986<br>22, 370<br>29, 781            | 2, 353<br>20, 259<br>26, 941                     | 212, 425<br>434, 739<br>247, 944         | 129, 955<br>634, 664<br>605, 704            | 7, 986<br>65, 607<br>63, 594             | 6,000<br>58,580<br>56,964                        | 1<br>2<br>3 |
| 4                 | Under 1 (est.)  1 under 2 (est.)  2 under 3 (est.) 3 under 4 (est.) 4 under 5 (est.) 5 under 6 6 under 7 7 under 8                                     | 18, 754                               | 11, 715                                 | 806  | 471  | 41, 832                                 | 26, 516                                    | 2, 590                                  | 1, 691   | 98, 904                                  | 62, 975                                     | 6, 101                                   | 4, 381   | 4           |
| 5                 |  | 33, 666                               | 50, 557                                 | 4, 173   | 3, 534   | 89, 671                                 | 136, 572                                   | 14, 837                                 | 12, 290  | 206, 436                                 | 312, 869                                    | 34, 194                                  | 28, 885  | 5           |
| 6                 |  | 31, 896                               | 80, 078                                 | 8, 709   | 7, 678   | 108, 897                                | 274, 937                                   | 33, 654                                 | 29, 259  | 209, 900                                 | 527, 387                                    | 63, 438                                  | 55, 220  | 6           |
| 7<br>8<br>9<br>10 | 3 under 4 (est.)   | 28, 931<br>8, 914<br>2, 550<br>1, 205 | 98, 351<br>39, 189<br>13, 829<br>7, 771 | 12, 465<br>6, 284<br>2, 730<br>1, 727                | 11, 216<br>5, 566<br>2, 350<br>1, 472            | 97, 597<br>34, 589<br>12, 529<br>5, 864 | 334, 027<br>152, 891<br>68, 037<br>37, 797 | 48, 340<br>26, 750<br>13, 859<br>8, 669 | 42, 010<br>23, 057<br>11, 701<br>7, 183          | 189, 419<br>56, 192<br>18, 498<br>9, 382 | 642, 149<br>247, 311<br>100, 393<br>60, 586 | 91, 184<br>42, 890<br>20, 567<br>13, 930 | 79, 010<br>37, 014<br>17, 324<br>11, 653         | 7<br>8<br>9 |
| 11                | 7 under 8  | 812                                   | 6,060                                   | 1, 484   | 1, 245   | 3, 480                                  | 25, 947                                    | 6, 399                                  | 5, 315   | 6, 023                                   | 44, 960                                     | 11, 308                                  | 9, 337   | 11          |
| 12                | 8 under 9  | 527                                   | 4,464                                   | 1, 182   | 982  | 2, 338                                  | 19, 800                                    | 5, 273                                  | 4, 342   | 4, 389                                   | 37, 239                                     | 10, 071                                  | 8, 251   | 12          |
| 13                | 9 under 10   | 430                                   | 4,075                                   | 1, 114   | 950  | 1, 749                                  | 16, 945                                    | 4, 839                                  | 3, 946   | 3, 393                                   | 32, 164                                     | 9, 146                                   | 7, 484   | 13          |
| 14                | 7 under 8. 8 under 9. 9 under 10. 10 under 11. 11 under 12. 12 under 13. 13 under 14. 14 under 15. 15 under 20. 20 under 25. 25 under 30. 30 under 40. | 361                                   | 3, 775                                  | 1, 071   | 918  | 1, 257                                  | 13, 181                                    | 3, 894                                  | 3, 210   | 2, 691                                   | 28, 220                                     | 8, 396                                   | 6, 986   | 14          |
| 15                |  | 294                                   | 3, 376                                  | 1, 036   | 862  | 1, 065                                  | 12, 197                                    | 3, 737                                  | 3, 091   | 2, 142                                   | 24, 564                                     | 7, 762                                   | 6, 315   | 15          |
| 16                |  | 188                                   | 2, 344                                  | 751  | 624  | 866                                     | 10, 795                                    | 3, 615                                  | 2, 888   | 1, 690                                   | 21, 114                                     | 7, 050                                   | 5, 707   | 16          |
| 17                |  | 155                                   | 2, 096                                  | 723  | 590  | 719                                     | 9, 370                                     | 3, 313                                  | 2, 684   | 1, 423                                   | 19, 314                                     | 6, 611                                   | 5, 387   | 17          |
| 18                | 14 under 15.   | 149                                   | 2, 153                                  | 737  | 620  | 642                                     | 9, 299                                     | 3, 352                                  | 2, 694   | 1, 341                                   | 19, 424                                     | 6, 873                                   | 5, 640   | 18          |
| 19                | 15 under 20.   | 471                                   | 8, 046                                  | 3, 034   | 2, 552   | 1, 954                                  | 33, 567                                    | 13, 306                                 | 10, 679  | 4, 300                                   | 73, 996                                     | 29, 076                                  | 23, 734  | 19          |
| 20                | 20 under 25.   | 271                                   | 6, 058                                  | 2, 723   | 2, 262   | 1, 047                                  | 23, 396                                    | 10, 690                                 | 8, 629   | 2, 050                                   | 45, 928                                     | 21, 009                                  | 17, 089  | 20          |
| 21                | 25 under 30  | 153                                   | 4, 137                                  | 2, 055   | 1, 699   | 642                                     | 17, 572                                    | 8, 869                                  | 7, 236   | 1,414                                    | 38, 630                                     | 19, 535                                  | 16, 009  | 21          |
| 22                | 30 under 40  | 134                                   | 4, 605                                  | 2, 514   | 2, 119   | 655                                     | 22, 577                                    | 12, 638                                 | 10, 304  | 1,462                                    | 50, 192                                     | 28, 240                                  | 23, 120  | 22          |

| 23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>33<br>34<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43<br>44 | 40 under 50. 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 90. 90 under 100. 100 under 150. 150 under 200. 200 under 200. 250 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 600. 500 under 750. 750 under 1,000. 1,000 under 1,500. 1,500 under 2,000. 2,000 under 2,000. 3,000 under 3,000. 3,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 5,000. 5,000 and over.  Total, individual returns with net income. | 33<br>18<br>12<br>8<br>6<br>13<br>6 | 1, 786<br>1, 169<br>895<br>667<br>573<br>1, 530<br>1, 009 | 1, 162<br>824<br>866<br>517<br>446<br>1, 284<br>922 | 975<br>681<br>554<br>426<br>372<br>1,041<br>778 | 203<br>130<br>80<br>56<br>38<br>91<br>35<br>5<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>3<br>5 | 11, 116<br>8, 390<br>5, 914<br>4, 795<br>3, 607<br>10, 937<br>6, 075<br>1, 079<br>795<br>1, 292<br>1, 368<br>2, 835 | 7, 437<br>6, 029<br>4, 335<br>3, 634<br>2, 913<br>8, 949<br>4, 842<br>1, 100<br>685<br>820<br>873<br>2, 266<br>869 | 6,000<br>4,889<br>3,587<br>3,062<br>2,398<br>7,543<br>4,092<br>846<br>592<br>739<br>790<br>2,131<br>781 | 406<br>251<br>167<br>114<br>57<br>168<br>40<br>21<br>4<br>5<br>5 | 22, 112<br>16, 187<br>12, 459<br>9, 642<br>5, 383<br>20, 417<br>6, 717<br>4, 646<br>1, 050<br>1, 797<br>2, 177<br>1, 725 | 15, 159<br>11, 677<br>9, 454<br>7, 560<br>4, 347<br>17, 680<br>5, 88<br>4, 364<br>984<br>1, 643<br>2, 116<br>1, 729 | 12, 195<br>9, 548<br>7, 685<br>6, 172<br>3, 540<br>14, 494<br>3, 510<br>825<br>1, 442<br>1, 888<br>1, 446 | 5 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 |
|--|--|-------------------------------------|---|---|---|--|---|--|---|--|--|---|---|---|
| 45   | Total, returns with net income.  | 262, 353                            | 559, 376  | 78, 117   | 67, 630   | 841, 827   | 1, 962, 755   | 339, 481   | 288, 615  | 1, 724, 818  |  | 6, 707  | 580, 528  | 44                                      |

Table 11.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes); also aggregate for taxable fiduciary returns with net income, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

|   |  | Mic   | higan  |   |  | Min  | nesota  |   |   | Miss  | sissippi  |   |   |
|---|--|---|--|---|--|--|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|
| Net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes)                      | Number of returns  | Net income 3  |  | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7  | Number<br>of returns   | Net income 1   |   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7  | Number<br>of returns  | Net in-<br>come ?   |   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7  |   |
| Individual returns with net income (taxable and nontaxable):   Form 1040A: 10 | 114, 821<br>222, 756<br>319, 087<br>385, 837<br>136, 231<br>40, 877<br>16, 534<br>4, 338<br>8, 932<br>5, 834<br>4, 338<br>2, 604<br>2, 115<br>1, 757<br>1, 7 | 104. 628<br>459. 827<br>699, 562<br>71, 433<br>336. 433<br>822, 195<br>11, 319, 038<br>599, 981<br>223, 807<br>106, 560<br>66, 609<br>49, 447<br>41, 101<br>33, 904<br>22, 706<br>21, 951<br>82, 413<br>54, 583<br>40, 489<br>55, 689 | 5, 869<br>47, 034<br>80, 323<br>11, 573<br>38, 197<br>104, 853<br>190, 661<br>100, 992<br>45, 967<br>23, 956<br>16, 244<br>12, 882<br>11, 451<br>10, 096<br>9, 313<br>8, 477<br>8, 076<br>7, 936<br>36, 029<br>24, 878<br>20, 915<br>32, 041 | 3, 917<br>43, 143<br>74, 295<br>4, 811<br>32, 952<br>93, 556<br>168, 140<br>88, 207<br>39, 549<br>19, 946<br>13, 472<br>10, 711<br>9, 409<br>8, 255<br>7, 607<br>6, 998<br>6, 594<br>6, 401<br>26, 189<br>20, 110<br>16, 706<br>25, 629 | 109, 265 162, 367 89, 698 113, 174 164, 428 132, 290 65, 415 19, 576 8, 009 4, 189 2, 684 1, 818 1, 342 957 791 667 544 423 1, 389 705 432 478 | 70, 784<br>222, 657<br>216, 971<br>72, 373<br>240, 948<br>326, 468<br>222, 921<br>86, 523<br>43, 635<br>43, br>435<br>435<br>435<br>435<br>435<br>435<br>435<br>435<br>4 | 3, 471 18, 523 18, 938 3, 691 18, 274 32, 775 30, 094 14, 036 8, 678 6, 015 4, 879 3, 924 3, 532 2, 937 2, 795 2, 619 2, 470 2, 170 2, 170 2, 170 5, 792 9, 052 | 2, 678 16, 980 17, 284 2, 494 15, 055 29, 272 26, 849 12, 386 7, 447 5, 105 4, 115 3, 354 2, 944 4, 430 2, 304 2, 199 2, 043 1, 784 7, 549 5, 831 4, 869 7, 582 | 54, 711<br>56, 988<br>21, 267<br>17, 711<br>27, 297<br>20, 296<br>12, 219<br>4, 617<br>1, 196<br>11, 196<br>635<br>532<br>466<br>337<br>289<br>226<br>209<br>697<br>341<br>223<br>193 | 35; 258<br>80, 650<br>51, 367<br>11, 104<br>40, 234<br>49, 280<br>42, 157<br>20, 278<br>5, 389<br>7, 743<br>6, 808<br>5, 389<br>5, 387<br>3, 673<br>3,  813<br>3, 476<br>3, 353<br>6, 671<br>3, 263<br>5, 697<br>6, 156<br>3, 968<br>2, 289<br>1, 844<br>1, 847<br>1, 564<br>1, 499<br>1, 542<br>1, 232<br>1, 073<br>1, 181<br>4, 969<br>3, 559<br>3, 043<br>3, 857 | 659<br>3, 216<br>3, 092<br>391<br>2, 397<br>4, 714<br>5, 126<br>3, 101<br>1, 887<br>1, 486<br>1, 417<br>1, 187<br>1, 124<br>909<br>982<br>865<br>883<br>3, 888<br>883<br>3, 888<br>2, 834<br>2, 500<br>3, 102 | 1 2 3 3 4 5 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 |

| 23<br>24<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>29<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42 | 40 under 50. 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 90. 90 under 150. 150 under 200. 200 under 250. 250 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500. 500 under 750. 750 under 1,000. 1,000 under 1,500. 1,500 under 3,000. 2,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. | 525<br>338<br>171<br>157<br>94<br>238<br>85<br>38<br>18<br>17<br>2<br>2<br>2 |             |             |          |          | 4, 774<br>3, 902<br>2, 909<br>1, 992<br>5, 625<br>3, 971<br>1, 332<br>298 |          |          |          |          | 1, 459<br>910<br>864<br>368<br>298<br>2, 187<br>152 | 1, 185<br>8022<br>049<br>305<br>251<br>1, 895<br>147 | 20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>20<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39 |
|--|--|--|-------------|-------------|----------|----------|---|----------|----------|----------|----------|---|--|--|
| 44   | with net income.   |  | 1           | 1           | 853, 930 | 871, 233 | 1, 728, 329   | 211, 775 | 207, 874 | 223, 517 | 429, 576 | - 67, 421   | 54, 337  | 43   |
| 33   | Taxable fiduciary returns with net income.   | 3, 227   | 16, 407     | 6, 455      | 6, 455   | 2, 406   | 7, 981  | 2, 819   | 2, 819   | 189      | 740      | 233   | 233  | 44   |
| 45   | Total, returns with net income.  | 2, 041, 832  | 5, 485, 135 | 1, 011, 239 | 860, 385 | 873, 639 | 1, 736. 311   | 244, 595 | 210, 693 | 223, 706 | 430, 315 | 67, 654   | 54, 570  | 45   |

Table 11.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes); also aggregate for taxable fiduciary returns with net income, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

|                      |   |                                  | Mi                                       | issouri                                |  |                               | Мо                                   | ontana                               |  |                                   | Nel                                     | braska                               |  |                      |
|----------------------|---|----------------------------------|--|--|--|-------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--|-----------------------------------|---|--------------------------------------|--|----------------------|
|                      | Net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes)                    | Number<br>of returns             | Net in-<br>come <sup>2</sup>             | Total income and victory               |  | Number<br>of returns          | Net income?                          |                                      | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7 | Number<br>of returns              | Net income 2                            |                                      | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7 |                      |
|                      | Individual returns with net income (taxable and nontaxable): Form 1040A; 10 |                                  |  |  |  |                               |                                      |                                      |  |                                   |   |                                      |  |                      |
| 1<br>2<br>3          | Under 1 (est.)<br>1 under 2 (est.)<br>2 under 3 (est.)                      | 135, 999<br>210, 717<br>113, 156 | 86, 489<br>309, 253<br>275, 595          | 3, 459<br>24, 941<br>26, 428           | 2, 872<br>22, 658<br>24, 185           | 18, 260<br>29, 096<br>23, 083 | 11, 515<br>43, 006<br>57, 264        | 502<br>3, 613<br>5, 268              | 396<br>3, 224<br>4, 766                          | 49, 520<br>63, 691<br>38, 497     | 31, 715<br>93, 499<br>92, 483           | 1, 305<br>6, 417<br>7, 478           | 1, 116<br>5, 921<br>6, 929                       | 1<br>2<br>3          |
| 4<br>5<br>6          | Form 1040:<br>Under 1 (est.)  | 125, 525<br>202, 459<br>169, 581 | 81, 036<br>303, 279<br>416, 706          | 3, 995<br>23, 716<br>44, 782           | 2, 855<br>19, 874<br>39, 546           | 14, 913<br>25, 558<br>26, 009 | 10, 005<br>38, 188<br>65, 073        | 934<br>3, 468<br>7, 416              | 447<br>2, 517<br>6, 204                          | 54, 035<br>80, 802<br>50, 010     | 34, 236<br>119, 589<br>123, 648         | 1, 551<br>7, 367<br>12, 994          | 969<br>6, 133<br>11, 502                         | 4<br>5<br>6          |
| 7<br>8<br>9          | 3 under 4 (est.)<br>4 under 5 (est.)<br>5 under 6                           | 85, 752<br>26, 480<br>8, 872     | 289, 259<br>117, 270<br>48, 303          | 40, 265<br>20, 646<br>10, 099          | 35, 570<br>17, 789<br>8, 512           | 15, 114<br>4, 669<br>2, 005   | 50, 880<br>20, 684<br>10, 920        | 7, 444<br>3, 838<br>2, 237           | 6, 344<br>3, 259<br>1, 888                       | 28, 840<br>11, 249<br>4, 499      | 98, 213<br>49, 428<br>24, 505           | 12, 932<br>8, 367<br>4, 863          | 11, 522<br>7, 320<br>4, 225                      | 7<br>8<br>9          |
| 10<br>11<br>12<br>13 | 6 under 7<br>7 under 8<br>8 under 9<br>9 under 10                           | 3, 496<br>2, 402                 | 31, 605<br>26, 108<br>20, 354<br>18, 728 | 7, 388<br>6, 619<br>5, 396<br>5, 481   | 6, 147<br>5, 433<br>4, 520<br>4, 388   | 1, 196<br>749<br>554<br>417   | 7, 719<br>5, 590<br>4, 695<br>3, 948 | 1, 783<br>1, 361<br>1, 242<br>1, 084 | 1, 477<br>1, 153<br>1, 027<br>911                | 2, 653<br>1, 651<br>1, 239<br>878 | 17, 145<br>12, 334<br>10, 503<br>8, 312 | 3, 781<br>2, 927<br>2, 688<br>2, 226 | 3, 255<br>2, 519<br>2, 293<br>1, 929             | 10<br>11<br>12<br>13 |
| 14<br>15<br>16       | 10 under 11.<br>11 under 12   | 1, 584<br>1, 174<br>935          | 16, 607<br>13, 484<br>11, 674            | 5, 058<br>4, 215<br>3, 892             | 4, 121<br>3, 465<br>3, 147             | 297<br>212<br>162             | 3, 116<br>2, 439<br>2, 018           | 930<br>768<br>649                    | 761<br>623<br>538                                | 624<br>497<br>371                 | 6, 560<br>5, 707<br>4, 633              | 1, 879<br>1, 704<br>1, 459           | 1, 612<br>1, 462<br>1, 245                       | 14<br>15<br>16       |
| 17<br>18<br>19       | 13 under 14<br>14 under 15<br>15 under 20                                   | 824<br>702<br>2, 436             | 11, 112<br>10, 175<br>41, 989<br>29, 638 | 3, 736<br>3, 551<br>16, 623<br>13, 199 | 3, 122<br>2, 968<br>13, 504<br>11, 019 | 114<br>97<br>316<br>160       | 1, 536<br>1, 406<br>5, 423<br>3, 557 | 515<br>506<br>2, 168<br>1, 745       | 426<br>408<br>1,740<br>1,307                     | 339<br>235<br>793<br>399          | 4, 574<br>3, 407<br>13, 644<br>8, 870   | 1, 529<br>1, 182<br>5, 280<br>3, 818 | 1, 277<br>990<br>4, 361<br>3, 264                | 17<br>18<br>19<br>20 |
| 20<br>21<br>22       | 20 under 25.<br>25 under 30.<br>30 under 40.                                | 754                              | 29, 638<br>20, 514<br>29, 754            | 10, 283<br>16, 831                     | 8, 450<br>13, 791                      | 67<br>64                      | 1, 830<br>2, 183                     | 910                                  | 754<br>1,004                                     | 242<br>215                        | 6, 642<br>7, 403                        | 3, 222<br>4, 042                     | 2,726  | 21<br>22             |

| 23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41 | 40 under 50. 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 90. 90 under 100. 100 under 150. 150 under 200. 200 under 250. 250 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500. 500 under 750. 750 under 1,000. 1,000 under 2,000. 2,000 under 3,000. 3,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. | 208<br>136<br>90<br>67<br>44<br>81<br>26<br>11<br>7<br>3<br>4<br>5 | 2, 288, 569 | 359, 515 | 306, 905 | 163, 172 | 357, 467 | 53, 505 | 43, 927 |          |          |          |         | 36<br>37<br>38<br>39 |
|--|---|--|-------------|----------|----------|----------|----------|---------|---------|----------|----------|----------|---------|----------------------|
| 772  | Taxable fiduciary returns with net income.  | 2, 417   | 7, 764      | 2, 688   | 2, 688   | 271      | 774      | 217     | 217     | 1, 207   | 2, 510   | 556      | 556     | 44.                  |
| 45   | Total, returns with net income.   | 1, 105, 416  | 2, 296, 333 | 362, 203 | 309, 593 | 163, 443 | 358, 241 | 53, 722 | 44, 143 | 392, 710 | 793, 772 | 109, 947 | 94, 907 | 45                   |

STATISTICS OF INCOME FOR 1943, PART 1

Table 11.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes); also aggregate for taxable fiduciary returns with net income, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

### [Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |  | Ne   | vada  |  |  | New H   | ampshire   |   |  | New   | Jersey   | <del> </del>  |   |
|--|--|--|---|--|--|---|--|---|--|---|--|---|---|
| Net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes)                     | Number<br>of returns   | Net in-<br>come <sup>2</sup>   |   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income ?   |  | Net in-<br>come ?   | Total in-<br>come and<br>victory<br>tax 6  |   | Number<br>of returns   | Net in-<br>come 1   |  | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income  |   |
| Individual returns with net income (taxable and nontaxable):   Form 1040A:19 | 8,006, 17,896 16,319 2,821 6,714 7,927 5,566 1,386 1,386 1,386 1,386 1,386 1,386 1,386 1,386 1,386 1,386 1,386 1,386 1,386 1,386 1,386 | 4, 939<br>27, 982<br>39, 848<br>1, 688<br>10, 650<br>19, 635<br>18, 658<br>6, 086<br>2, 794<br>1, 792<br>1, 433<br>1, 376<br>1, 277<br>962<br>828<br>798<br>579<br>699<br>2, 283<br>1, 789 | 227<br>2, 955<br>4, 770<br>402<br>1, 272<br>2, 763<br>2, 890<br>1, 209<br>498<br>396<br>418<br>397<br>274<br>300<br>204<br>247<br>947<br>803<br>570 | 154<br>2,588<br>4,250<br>61<br>921<br>2,576<br>1,019<br>559<br>389<br>330<br>328<br>324<br>224<br>229<br>227<br>173<br>216<br>6767<br>679<br>457 | 23,741<br>45,221<br>26,426<br>9,931<br>22,218<br>16,708<br>14,248<br>3,718<br>1,105<br>596<br>305<br>235<br>157<br>121<br>105<br>89<br>61<br>120<br>64 | 15, 610<br>66, 304<br>64, 136<br>6, 555<br>32, 933<br>41, 554<br>48, 150<br>6, 016<br>3, 855<br>2, 578<br>2, 2958<br>2, 578<br>2, 290<br>1, 642<br>1, 387<br>1, 304<br>1, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, 201<br>2, | 723<br>5, 062<br>5, 586<br>525<br>2, 786<br>4, 402<br>6, 614<br>2, 885<br>1, 255<br>900<br>743<br>678<br>675<br>494<br>436<br>417<br>420<br>331<br>1, 637<br>1, 182<br>876 | 582<br>4, 496<br>4, 969<br>307<br>2, 158<br>3, 777<br>5, 782<br>2, 425<br>1, 069<br>757<br>608<br>571<br>528<br>409<br>355<br>350<br>341<br>263<br>351<br>364<br>1, 354<br>978<br>715 | 155, 729<br>317, 793<br>202, 338<br>108, 406<br>277, 843<br>297, 262<br>218, 925<br>76, 982<br>23, 572<br>11, 343<br>7, 096<br>4, 950<br>3, 713<br>2, 897<br>2, 372<br>11, 505<br>1, 271<br>4, 176<br>2, 155<br>1, 248 | 100, 555<br>472, 271<br>496, 483<br>68, 000<br>422, 243<br>749, 006<br>749, 003<br>73, 230<br>52, 981<br>41, 962<br>35, 187<br>30, 351<br>27, 244<br>22, 966<br>20, 288<br>18, 414<br>71, 900<br>47, 918<br>34, 071 | 4, 879 43, 292 51, 902 6, 733 44, 968 87, 352 107, 435 58, 840 26, 073 16, 735 11, 064 9, 805 8, 912 8, 446 7, 373 6, 868 6, 495 28, 030 21, 805 17, 322 | 3, 618<br>38, 747<br>46, 665<br>4, 583<br>38, 611<br>76, 720<br>94, 257<br>50, 959<br>24, 980<br>13, 890<br>9, 145<br>8, 124<br>7, 391<br>7, 022<br>6, 142<br>5, 633<br>5, 315<br>22, 977<br>17, 554<br>13, 954 | 1 1 2 2 3 4 5 6 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 |

| 23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43 | 40 under 50                     | 22<br>111<br>5<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>5<br>1<br>3<br>1 |          | 768<br>1, 175<br>276<br>176<br>311<br>523<br>810<br>234<br>771<br>346 | 666<br>399<br>210<br>157<br>266<br>450<br>691<br>204<br>656<br>296 | 19<br>12<br>13<br>4<br>5<br>10<br>3 |          | 741<br>576<br>747<br>244<br>392<br>863<br>449 | 563<br>459<br>599<br>200<br>333<br>724<br>380 | 383<br>191<br>169<br>107<br>70<br>171<br>44<br>21<br>- 9<br>2 6<br>5<br>3 | 20, 948<br>12, 305<br>12, 574<br>9, 056<br>6, 639<br>20, 609<br>7, 469<br>4, 716<br>2, 458<br>678<br>2, 626<br>3, 110<br>2, 527 | 13, 945<br>9, 205<br>9, 528<br>7, 216<br>5, 342<br>17, 552<br>6, 589<br>4, 471<br>2, 090<br>617<br>2, 817<br>3, 489<br>2, 709 | 11, 571<br>7, 175<br>7, 777<br>5, 765<br>4, 334<br>14, 349<br>5, 489<br>3, 799<br>1, 781<br>42, 286<br>2, 741<br>2, 270 | 24<br>57<br>26<br>57<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41<br>42 |
|--|---------------------------------|---|----------|---|--|-------------------------------------|----------|---|---|---|---|---|---|--|
| 45   | Total, returns with net income. | 68, 667   | 158, 379 | 31, 749   | 26, 026  | 166, 447                            | 334, 787 | 45, 394                                       | 38, 354                                       | 1, 729, 830   | 4, 196, 078   | 724, 392  | 620, 187  | 45   |

Table 11.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes); also aggregate for taxable fiduciary returns with net income, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

| [Net income classes and mone | figures in thousands of dollars] |
|------------------------------|----------------------------------|
|------------------------------|----------------------------------|

|  |  |  | New I   | Mexico   |   |                                  | New  | York   |   |   | North  | Carolina  |   |  |
|--|--|--|---|--|---|----------------------------------|--|--|---|---|--|---|---|--|
|  | Net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes)   | Number<br>of returns   | Net in-<br>come a   | Total income and victory   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7  |                                  | Net in-<br>come  | Total in-<br>come and<br>victory<br>tax 6  |   | Number<br>of returns  | Net in-<br>come <sup>2</sup>   | Total in-<br>come and<br>victory<br>tax 6   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7  |  |
| 1 2 3 3 4 5 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 | Individual returns with net income (taxable and nontaxable):  Form 10404: 10  Under 1 (est.)  1 under 2 (est.)  2 under 3 (est.)  Form 1040:  Under 1 (est.)  1 under 2 (est.)  5 under 3 (est.)  2 under 3 (est.)  1 under 2 (est.)  5 under 3 (est.)  5 under 5 (est.)  5 under 6  6 under 7  7 under 8  8 under 9  9 under 10  10 under 11  11 under 12  12 under 13  13 under 14  14 under 15  15 under 20  20 under 20  20 under 25  25 under 30  30 under 40 | 5, 801<br>15, 602<br>14, 682<br>7, 730<br>4 1, 650<br>765<br>544<br>339<br>279<br>206<br>148<br>120<br>113<br>81<br>73 | 8, 486<br>39, 904<br>37, 184<br>3, 898<br>24, 013<br>36, 241<br>25, 079<br>7, 226<br>4, 185<br>3, 513<br>2, 524<br>2, 375<br>1, 414<br>1, 092<br>1, 058<br>4, 321<br>1, 267<br>1, 267<br>1, 267 | 288<br>2, 613<br>2, 997<br>319<br>2, 207<br>4, 512<br>3, 772<br>1, 465<br>993<br>711<br>693<br>581<br>525<br>479<br>470<br>376<br>370<br>1, 931<br>1, 173<br>685<br>1, 076 | 238<br>2, 366<br>2, 734<br>122<br>1, 640<br>3, 740<br>3, 274<br>1, 222<br>820<br>749<br>576<br>570<br>487<br>411<br>377<br>403<br>322<br>325<br>1, 460<br>956<br>540<br>873 | 521, 750<br>401, 215<br>936, 144 | 351, 349<br>1, 351, 884<br>1, 269, 706<br>268, 981<br>406, 250<br>2, 289, 735<br>2, 012, 345<br>802, 219<br>303, 009<br>219, 200<br>191, 030<br>171, 444<br>103, 254<br>91, 936<br>80, 078<br>76, 933<br>69, 575<br>226, 589<br>204, 559<br>153, 683<br>213, 175 | 15, 685<br>111, 467<br>125, 831<br>145, 602<br>288, 853<br>288, 936<br>64, 497<br>51, 550<br>48, 856<br>46, 327<br>30, 462<br>28, 230<br>26, 187<br>26, 034<br>24, 166<br>106, 621<br>91, 299<br>76, 268<br>117, 586 | 12, 057<br>100, 805<br>114, 473<br>17, 918<br>126, 126<br>237, 583<br>122, 610<br>53, 863<br>42, 472<br>39, 929<br>38, 145<br>38, 026<br>25, 353<br>23, 544<br>21, 476<br>21, 454<br>21, 454<br>23, 523<br>88, 653<br>75, 860<br>63, 671<br>98, 341 | 151, 711<br>187, 815<br>56, 191<br>58, 120<br>98, 099<br>53, 793<br>31, 886<br>49, 012<br>3, 837<br>2, 318<br>1, 584<br>1, 261<br>974<br>723<br>588<br>468<br>433<br>346<br>1, 205<br>634<br>396<br>400 | 102, 325<br>260, 542<br>135, 149<br>41, 498<br>44, 834<br>147, 513<br>103, 457<br>20, 920<br>14, 993<br>11, 830<br>10, 697<br>7, 563<br>6, 740<br>5, 860<br>5, 841<br>5, 013<br>20, 798<br>8, 14, 15, 16, 16, 16, 16, 16, 16, 16, 16, 16, 16 | 3, 212<br>12, 936<br>10, 098<br>2, 104<br>10, 481<br>14, 620<br>14, 633<br>3, 484<br>2, 969<br>2, 954<br>2, 594<br>2, 459<br>1, 956<br>1, 743<br>8, 279<br>6, 362<br>5, 629<br>7, 566 | 2, 680<br>11, 930<br>9, 329<br>1, 695<br>9, 085<br>12, 967<br>12, 817<br>5, 749<br>3, 630<br>2, 876<br>2, 432<br>2, 437<br>2, 141<br>1, 575<br>1, 632<br>1, 459<br>6, 680<br>6, 680<br>6, 680<br>6, 279 | 1 2 3 3 4 5 6 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 |

| 23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>40<br>41<br>42<br>43 | 40 under 50. 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 90. 90 under 100. 100 under 150. 150 under 200. 200 under 200. 250 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500. 590 under 750. 750 under 1,000. 1,500 under 1,000. 1,500 under 2,000. 2,000 under 3,000. 3,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 5,000. 5,000 and over.  Total, individual returns with net income. | 13<br>17<br>5<br>2<br>4<br>6<br>2<br>1<br> | 725<br>1,072<br>352<br>173<br>371<br>704<br>427<br>313<br> | 611<br>797<br>314<br>131<br>313<br>574<br>466 | 326<br>226<br>326<br>327<br>328<br>328<br>328 | 3 1,922<br>3 1,136<br>702<br>530<br>387<br>940<br>277<br>120<br>83<br>65<br>30<br>44<br>15<br>65 | 2   104, 951<br>73, 395<br>58, 957<br>44, 986<br>36, 660<br>112, 721<br>47, 597<br>26, 620<br>22, 315<br>22, 387<br>13, 318<br>27, 372<br>12, 211<br>7, 513 | 70, 272<br>51, 932<br>43, 840<br>34, 263<br>28, 969<br>95, 078<br>43, 284<br>24, 612<br>22, 095<br>21, 499<br>13, 070<br>27, 065<br>11, 710<br>7, 622<br>7, 801 | 57, 828<br>42, 728<br>36, 122<br>28, 258<br>23, 896<br>78, 560<br>35, 446 | 2006<br>122<br>67<br>56<br>211<br>21<br>46<br>19<br>5<br>8<br>7<br>7<br>4<br>4<br>2<br>1 | 6, 731<br>4, 335 | 4, 585   | 3, 747  | 7 24<br>8 25<br>2 26<br>2 26<br>2 28<br>3 29<br>3 30<br>3 31<br>3 34<br>3 35<br>3 36<br>3 37<br>3 38<br>3 39<br>40<br>41<br>42 |
|--|---|--|--|---|---|--|---|---|---|--|------------------|----------|---------|--|
| 1  | Total, returns with net income.   | 104, 076                                   | 219, 684   | 33, 434                                       | 27, 623                                       | 5, 268, 341  | 12, 910, 306  | 2, 532, 377   | 2, 163, 443   | 668, 111   | 1, 186, 994      | 167, 138 | 141,284 | 45   |

Table 11.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes); also aggregate for taxable fiduciary returns with net income, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

| =  |  |   | North   | Dakota   |  |  | C  | hio   |   |  | Okl  | ahoma   |   |  |
|--|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|---|---|--|--|---|---|--|
|  | Net income classes (Form 1040A, by<br>gross income classes)  | Number<br>of returns  | Net in-<br>come <sup>3</sup>  |  | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income <sup>7</sup>  | Number<br>of returns   | Net income 3   | Total income and victory tax 6  |   | Number<br>of returns   | Net in-<br>come 3  |   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income ?  |  |
| 1 2 3 4 5 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 | Individual returns with net income (taxable and nontaxable):  Form 1040A: 10  Under 1 (est.) 1 under 2 (est.) 2 under 3 (est.) 1 under 2 (est.) 1 under 2 (est.) 4 under 5 (est.) 5 under 6 6 under 7 7 under 8 8 under 9 9 under 10 10 under 11 11 under 12 12 under 13 13 under 14 14 under 15 15 under 20 20 under 20 20 under 25 25 under 30 30 under 40 | 41, 788<br>24, 678<br>9, 983<br>45 4, 554<br>1, 860<br>1, 090<br>633<br>464<br>301<br>227<br>148<br>125<br>99<br>61<br>209<br>107<br>48 | 9, 878<br>23, 727<br>14, 766<br>20, 446<br>61, 207<br>60, 225<br>34, 203<br>20, 148<br>10, 147<br>7, 041<br>4, 707<br>3, 920<br>2, 847<br>2, 381<br>1, 697<br>1, 557<br>1, 335<br>889<br>2, 389<br>2, 389<br>1, 310<br>1, 399 | 407<br>1,679<br>1,145<br>833<br>3,726<br>5,787<br>4,536<br>3,227<br>1,911<br>1,487<br>1,092<br>955<br>736<br>657<br>506<br>471<br>439<br>301<br>1,285<br>1,048<br>612<br>734 | 385<br>1,561<br>1,055<br>638<br>3,107<br>5,107<br>3,818<br>2,906<br>1,698<br>1,311<br>951<br>845<br>642<br>577<br>431<br>414<br>436<br>254<br>1,333<br>891<br>552<br>635 | 302, 827<br>505, 968<br>365, 684<br>179, 219<br>337, 045<br>392, 129<br>386, 709<br>117, 341<br>34, 735<br>15, 639<br>9, 341<br>6, 297<br>4, 872<br>3, 650<br>3, 052<br>2, 411<br>1, 743<br>5, 757<br>2, 867<br>1, 783<br>1, 783<br>1, 783 | 188, 884<br>756, 938<br>895, 609<br>116, 296<br>511, 161<br>991, 306<br>41, 321, 464<br>516, 051<br>188, 551<br>100, 875<br>69, 683<br>46, 070<br>38, 420<br>35, 029<br>30, 093<br>32, 206<br>25, 272<br>98, 954<br>48, 644<br>63, 897<br>48, 667, 216 | 8, 035<br>67, 916<br>88, 325<br>9, 917<br>52, 960<br>117, 341<br>186, 323<br>87, 239<br>39, 661<br>22, 890<br>17, 204<br>14, 141<br>13, 049<br>11, 424<br>10, 833<br>9, 258<br>9, 042<br>38, 816<br>29, 170<br>24, 756<br>38, 015 | 6, 532<br>61, 940<br>80, 970<br>7, 061<br>45, 312<br>103, 922<br>165, 326<br>76, 671<br>32, 116<br>19, 102<br>14, 319<br>11, 723<br>10, 656<br>9, 365<br>8, 928<br>8, 946<br>7, 361<br>31, 657<br>23, 758<br>20, 083<br>30, 842 | 60, 773 92, 355 47, 564 52, 269 83, 242 65, 097 32, 754 10, 941 8, 595 2, 138 1, 505 579 510 364 292 251 813 403 239 243 | 37, 662<br>135, 490<br>114, 593<br>32, 902<br>124, 951<br>111, 592<br>48, 558<br>19, 590<br>13, 830<br>11, 202<br>8, 899<br>8, 002<br>6, 060<br>5, 855<br>4, 550<br>3, 940<br>3, 610<br>13, 940<br>3, 610<br>18, 230 | 1, 055<br>6, 920<br>7, 976<br>3, 234<br>9, 894<br>16, 659<br>16, 222<br>8, 661<br>4, 101<br>1, 3253<br>2, 272<br>2, 438<br>2, 272<br>1, 784<br>1, 831<br>1, 514<br>1, 394<br>1, 328<br>4, 323<br>3, 456<br>4, 626 | 836<br>6, 508<br>7, 518<br>1, 117<br>8, 018<br>14, 707<br>13, 385<br>7, 358<br>3, 437<br>2, 693<br>2, 342<br>1, 986<br>1, 502<br>1, 502<br>1, 523<br>1, 234<br>1, 111<br>1, 053<br>4, 516<br>3, 317<br>2, 712<br>3, 776 | 1 2 2 3 4 5 6 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 |

| 23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>42<br>42<br>43 | 50 under 60 60 under 70 70 under 80 80 under 90 90 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 200 200 under 200 300 under 200 400 under 400 400 under 500 500 under 750 750 under 1,000 1,000 under 1,500 1,500 under 2,000 2,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 5,000 5,000 and over  Total, individual returns with net income. | 2 1 2    | 155<br>84<br>228 |         | 98<br>98<br>39<br>162 | 531<br>331<br>227<br>137<br>94<br>218<br>96<br>39<br>14<br>20<br>10<br>10<br>1 | 28, 843<br>22, 623<br>17, 006<br>11, 596<br>8, 819<br>25, 968<br>16, 490<br>8, 708<br>3, 738<br>6, 747<br>4, 576<br>6, 247<br>978 | 19, 811<br>16, 411<br>13, 049<br>8, 987<br>7, 126<br>22, 590<br>15, 521<br>8, 728<br>3, 844<br>4, 583<br>5, 568<br>495 | 21, 245<br>15, 838<br>13, 272<br>10, 413<br>7, 391<br>5, 798<br>18, 157<br>12, 222<br>6, 729<br>3, 991<br>5, 488<br>3, 971<br>4, 572<br>488<br>1, 424<br>2, 038 | 83<br>54<br>30<br>18<br>19<br>32<br>9<br>4<br>1 |          | 3, 076<br>2, 609<br>1, 576<br>1, 222<br>1, 332<br>3, 138<br>1, 502<br>1, 206<br>285 |          | 7 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 |
|--|---|----------|------------------|---------|-----------------------|--|---|--|---|---|----------|---|----------|---|
| 45   | Total, returns with net income.   | 157, 435 | 292, 670         | 35, 013 | 30, 412               | 2, 690, 274  | 6, 416, 706   | 1, 076, 761  | 922, 019  | 459, 155  | 919, 678 | 132, 535  | 110, 724 | 45                                      |

Table 11.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes); also aggregate for taxable fiduciary returns with net income, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   |  |   | Or   | egon  |   |   | Penn   | sylvania  |   |  | Rhod  | e Island  |   |  |
|---|--|---|--|---|---|---|--|---|---|--|---|---|---|--|
| Ne  | et income classes (Form 1040A, by<br>gross income classes)                               | Number<br>of returns  | Net income 1   | Total income and victory  | victory tax   |   | Net in-<br>come <sup>1</sup>   | Total income and victory  |   | Number<br>of returns   | Net income 3  |   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7  |  |
| Ind<br>(1<br>1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>19<br>20<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22 | dividual returns with net income (taxable and nontaxable): Form 1040A: 10 Under 1 (est.) | 73, 773<br>69, 965<br>30, 319<br>58, 170<br>68, 580<br>73, 408<br>21, 061<br>6, 229<br>3, 126<br>2, 047<br>1, 425<br>1, 126<br>888<br>646<br>484<br>440<br>410<br>1, 258<br>410<br>1, 258 | 25, 951<br>109, 954<br>172, 532<br>19, 738<br>88, 244<br>175, 598<br>249, 143<br>33, 876<br>20, 188<br>15, 297<br>12, 080<br>10, 685<br>9, 302<br>7, 424<br>6, 054<br>5, 933<br>5, 942<br>21, 633<br>15, 813<br>10, 974<br>14, 600 | 1, 307<br>10, 341<br>17, 842<br>1, 884<br>9, 829<br>21, 976<br>35, 526<br>15, 831<br>6, 825<br>4, 538<br>3, 732<br>2, 779<br>2, 315<br>1, 891<br>1, 972<br>2, 015<br>8, 308<br>6, 981<br>5, 440<br>8, 034 | 984<br>9, 311<br>16, 355<br>1, 355<br>8, 383<br>19, 403<br>31, 955<br>13, 827<br>5, 924<br>3, 920<br>2, 695<br>2, 533<br>2, 316<br>1, 928<br>1, 636<br>1, 737<br>7, 011<br>5, 879<br>4, 547<br>6, 735 | 424, 812<br>689, 487<br>523, 265<br>1180, 455<br>418, 440<br>487, 354<br>371, 864<br>1100, 101<br>31, 268<br>15, 742<br>10, 134<br>6, 970<br>5, 578<br>4, 254<br>3, 343<br>2, 770<br>2, 303<br>1, 904<br>6, 601<br>3, 886<br>2, 310<br>2, 660 | 255, 402<br>1, 029, 559<br>1, 282, 938<br>116, 821<br>638, 589<br>1, 221, 028<br>1, 265, 416<br>75, 702<br>75, 702<br>75, 702<br>75, 2870<br>44, 828<br>38, 557<br>34, 672<br>31, 205<br>27, 740<br>114, 495<br>85, 605<br>91, 842 | 11, 472<br>84, 443<br>111, 899<br>9, 877<br>63, 710<br>137, 661<br>176, 306<br>75, 496<br>34, 787<br>23, 400<br>18, 934<br>15, 825<br>14, 928<br>13, 512<br>12, 165<br>11, 307<br>10, 680<br>9, 846<br>44, 847<br>39, 074<br>31, 886<br>52, 165 | 9, 091<br>76, 543<br>101, 760<br>6, 855<br>54, 598<br>121, 571<br>155, 039<br>65, 541<br>29, 378<br>19, 446<br>13, 002<br>12, 323<br>10, 999<br>9, 873<br>9, 321<br>8, 734<br>8, 066<br>8, 6732<br>26, 125<br>42, 378 | 34, 727 73, 681 36, 800 14, 338 35, 240 42, 512 31, 770 8, 320 2, 559 1, 298 841 370 309 250 236 213 599 356 214 261 | 22, 696<br>105, 798<br>89, 981<br>9, 188<br>52, 837<br>106, 770<br>107, 851<br>14, 059<br>8, 376<br>6, 288<br>5, 407<br>4, 684<br>3, 877<br>3, 541<br>3, 119<br>3, 182<br>3, 090<br>10, 293<br>5, 869<br>8, 930 | 1, 317<br>9, 849<br>8, 558<br>900<br>5, 583<br>12, 230<br>14, 912<br>6, 445<br>2, 918<br>2, 020<br>1, 585<br>1, 550<br>1, 167<br>1, 124<br>1, 031<br>1, 078<br>1, 106<br>4, 024<br>3, 630<br>2, 933<br>5, 034 | 979<br>8, 785<br>7, 614<br>604<br>4, 540<br>10, 473<br>12, 928<br>5, 405<br>2, 444<br>1, 613<br>1, 309<br>1, 190<br>1, 190<br>961<br>914<br>838<br>894<br>963<br>3, 314<br>2, 917<br>2, 431<br>4, 119 | 1 2 3 4 5 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 |

| 23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38 | 40 under 50                                   | 108<br>78<br>54<br>37<br>29<br>53<br>15<br>10<br>7<br>5 | 681         | 745      | 5, 045<br>3, 273<br>2, 965<br>2, 444<br>2, 003<br>1, 842<br>4, 372<br>1, 909<br>1, 534<br>1, 456 | 1, 271<br>809<br>488<br>306<br>221<br>180<br>360<br>116<br>47<br>24<br>27<br>19<br>17 | 56, 435<br>44, 152<br>31, 326<br>22, 836<br>18, 644<br>17, 077<br>43, 194<br>19, 610<br>6, 514<br>9, 057<br>8, 623<br>10, 080<br>10, 437<br>2, 120 | 35, 694<br>29, 792<br>22, 242<br>17, 628<br>14, 676<br>13, 674<br>38, 246<br>17, 803<br>9, 782<br>6, 149<br>8, 767<br>9, 094<br>10, 105<br>810<br>1, 239 | 28, 922<br>24, 313<br>18, 353<br>14, 024<br>11, 946<br>11, 268<br>30, 218<br>14, 692<br>8, 224<br>5, 212<br>7, 562<br>7, 465<br>8, 303<br>648<br>1, 239 |          |          |          | 3, 170<br>2, 243<br>1, 418<br>1, 763<br>898<br>912<br>3, 473<br>2, 127<br>7, 734<br>851<br>356 | 24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38 |
|--|---|---|-------------|----------|--|---|--|--|---|----------|----------|----------|--|--|
| 40<br>41   | 3,000 under 4,000<br>4,000 under 5,000        |   |             |          |  | 1   | 3, 682<br>4, 602   | 4, 314<br>5, 365   | 3, 192  |          |          |          |  | 40   |
| 42   | 5,000 and over                                |   |             |          |  |   |  | ,  |   |          |          |          |  | 42   |
| 43   | Total, individual rețurns<br>with net income. |   | 1, 169, 032 | 211, 655 | 182, 580   | 3, 299, 341   | 7, 555, 063  | 1, 251, 841  | 1, 066, 133   | 286, 443 | 649, 868 | 113, 006 | 94, 544  | 43   |
| 44   | Taxable fiduciary returns with net income.    | 715   | 2, 296      | 671      | · 671  | 8, 120  | 26, 772  | 9, 935   | 9, 935  | 1, 027   | 3, 499   | 1, 316   | 1, 316   | 44   |
| 45   | Total, returns with net income.               | 458, 568  | 1, 171, 328 | 212, 326 | 183, 251   | 3, 307, 461   | 7, 581, 834  | 1, 261, 776  | 1, 076, 068   | 287, 470 | 653, 368 | 114, 322 | 95, 860  | 45   |

Table 11.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes); also aggregate for taxable fiduciary returns with net income, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

| [Net income classes and mone | figures in t | housands of dollars] |
|------------------------------|--------------|----------------------|
|------------------------------|--------------|----------------------|

|  |   |  | South   | Carolina   |  |   | South   | Dakota   |   |  | Ten  | nessee  |   |   |
|--|---|--|---|--|--|---|---|--|---|--|--|---|---|---|
|  | Net income classes (Form 1040A, by<br>gross income classes)   | Number<br>of returns   | Net in-<br>come <sup>2</sup>  | Total income and victory   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income <sup>7</sup>  | Number<br>of returns  | Net income ?  | Total in-<br>come and<br>victory<br>tax <sup>6</sup>   |   | Number<br>of returns   | Net in-<br>come <sup>1</sup>   |   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7  | -   |
| 1 2 3 4 5 6 6 7 7 8 9 100 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 | Individual returns with net income (taxable and nontaxable):  Form 1040A: 19  Under 1 (est.)  1 under 2 (est.)  2 under 3 (est.)  Form 1040:  Under 1 (est.)  2 under 3 (est.)  3 under 2 (est.)  4 under 5 (est.)  5 under 6.  6 under 7.  7 under 8.  8 under 9.  9 under 10.  10 under 11.  11 under 12.  12 under 13.  13 under 14.  14 under 15.  15 under 25.  20 under 30.  30 under 40.  40 under 50. | 22, 505 36, 023 26, 373 21, 105 6, 272 2, 037 1, 178 797 541 422 351 273 225 230 141 471 471 264 157 | 55, 562<br>136, 151<br>82, 554<br>15, 984<br>52, 665<br>65, 700<br>72, 330<br>27, 486<br>11, 115<br>7, 607<br>3, 139<br>2, 802<br>3, 106<br>2, 04<br>8, 103<br>5, 862<br>4, 289<br>4, 825<br>2, 742 | 1, 640<br>7, 916<br>7, 004<br>1, 155<br>4, 325<br>7, 516<br>10, 199<br>4, 753<br>2, 297<br>1, 742<br>1, 469<br>1, 209<br>1, 097<br>1, 103<br>942<br>887<br>1, 030<br>732<br>2, 703<br>2, 703<br>2, 165<br>2, 646<br>1, 690 | 1, 437 7, 222 6, 316 680 3, 631 6, 274 8, 611 1, 909 1, 440 1, 213 1, 005 891 794 794 795 865 596 2, 589 2, 156 1, 754 2, 235 1, 400 | 15, 606<br>18, 782<br>7, 946<br>25, 484<br>33, 465<br>17, 377<br>48 3, 064<br>1, 459<br>782<br>474<br>314<br>2211<br>136<br>120<br>101<br>73<br>47<br>189<br>88<br>50<br>37<br>12 | 10, 022<br>27, 685<br>18, 887<br>15, 772<br>48, 908<br>43, 214<br>25, 323<br>13, 449<br>8, 487<br>5, 050<br>3, 528<br>2, 662<br>1, 995<br>6, 1, 257<br>985<br>6, 232<br>1, 952<br>1, 374<br>1,  406<br>1,788<br>1,428<br>663<br>2,878<br>4,284<br>3,388<br>2,265<br>1,547<br>1,082<br>839<br>676<br>550<br>409<br>339<br>329<br>222<br>1,222<br>862<br>669<br>647<br>335 | 348<br>1, 647<br>1, 320<br>482<br>2, 355<br>3, 772<br>2, 995<br>1, 978<br>1, 462<br>946<br>721<br>573<br>458<br>342<br>343<br>333<br>274<br>193<br>1, 032<br>721<br>558<br>565<br>565 | 121, 790<br>192, 266<br>81, 170<br>39, 291<br>60, 471<br>51, 893<br>40, 845<br>10, 769<br>4, 567<br>2, 494<br>1, 716<br>1, 252<br>629<br>543<br>448<br>332<br>1, 177<br>625<br>373<br>448<br>217 | 83, 280<br>277, 845<br>196, 615<br>25, 487<br>90, 760<br>129, 933<br>139, 310<br>47, 264<br>24, 820<br>16, 107<br>12, 826<br>10, 605<br>8, 979<br>8, 041<br>7, 215<br>6, 039<br>4, 814<br>20, 249<br>13, 978<br>10, 200<br>15, 416<br>9, 679 | 2, 829<br>16, 429<br>16, 205<br>2, 071<br>17, 791<br>14, 125<br>18, 648<br>8, 027<br>5, 659<br>3, 674<br>2, 571<br>2, 512<br>2, 238<br>1, 786<br>1, 776<br>6, 405<br>5, 050<br>8, 504 | 2, 429<br>15, 159<br>14, 833<br>1, 195<br>6, 466<br>12, 430<br>16, 642<br>7, 014<br>4, 264<br>4, 264<br>2, 636<br>2, 333<br>2, 090<br>1, 972<br>1, 879<br>1, 808<br>1, 676<br>6, 483<br>6, 48 | 1<br>2<br>3<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>22<br>3 |

| 24<br>25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>40<br>41<br>42 | 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 90. 90 under 100. 100 under 150. 150 under 200. 200 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500. 500 under 750. 750 under 750. 1,000 under 1,000. 1,000 under 2,000. 2,000 under 3,000. 3,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 5,000. | 21<br>19<br>13<br>9<br>17<br>6<br>2 |          | 906<br>1, 059<br>829<br>729<br>1, 724<br>803<br>617 | 758<br>884<br>680<br>556<br>1,457<br>720<br>346 | 6 2 2 3 3 2 2 2 2 |          |         |         | 2 2 1    |             | 3, 562<br>3, 140<br>2, 061<br>2, 216<br>5, 547<br>2, 311<br>1, 611<br>540<br>1, 353<br>917<br>1, 140<br>966 | *********** | 25<br>26<br>27<br>28<br>29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39 |
|--|---|-------------------------------------|----------|---|---|-------------------|----------|---------|---------|----------|-------------|---|-------------|--|
| 43   | with net income.  | 335, 454                            | 592, 451 | 77, 608   | 65, 299   | 133, 601          | 241, 096 | 28, 851 | 25, 018 |          | 1, 204, 095 | 177, 871  | 152, 519    | 43   |
| 77   | Taxable fiduciary returns with net income.  | 348                                 | 1, 386   | 507   | - 507   | 605               | 977      | 179     | 179     | 643      | 3, 093      | 1, 297  | 1, 297      | 44   |
| 45   | Total, returns with net income.   | 335, 802                            | 593, 837 | 78, 115   | 65, 806   | 134, 206          | 242, 073 | 29, 030 | 25, 197 | 616, 094 | 1, 207, 188 | 179, 168  | . 153, 816  | 45   |

Table 11.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes); also aggregate for taxable fiduciary returns with net income, by States and Territories. Number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |  | T   | exas   |  |   | U   | tah                                  |  |   | Ver  | mont   |   |   |
|--|--|---|--|--|---|---|--------------------------------------|--|---|--|--|---|---|
| Net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes)                                     | Number<br>of returns   | Net in-<br>come ?   |  | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7   | Number<br>of returns  | Net income 3  |                                      | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7 | Number<br>of returns  | Net in-<br>come <sup>2</sup>   | Total in-<br>come and<br>victory<br>tax <sup>6</sup>   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7  |   |
| Individual returns with net income (taxable and nontaxable): Form 1040A: 10 1 Under 1 (est.) | 447, 548<br>231, 325<br>125, 634<br>250, 053<br>238, 625<br>115, 134<br>25, 951<br>11, 995<br>5, 516<br>4, 182<br>2, 461<br>1, 731<br>1, 231<br>3, 757<br>2, 110<br>1, 211<br>1, 211 | 143, 455<br>676, 923<br>558, 878<br>81, 140<br>382, 491<br>587, 578<br>389, 034<br>114, 153<br>65, 464<br>44, 624<br>235, 451<br>23, 441<br>21, 579<br>19, 550<br>17, 842<br>64, 782<br>46, 908<br>33, 129<br>45, 025 | 4, 178 42, 781 48, 040 5, 534 32, 661 72, 311 60, 016 22, 773 15, 915 13, 258 11, 608 10, 566 9, 310 8, 500 8, 188 7, 577 7, 062 26, 602 21, 918 17, 105 26, 429 20, 606 | 3, 572<br>39, 308<br>44, 260<br>1, 970<br>26, 042<br>62, 457<br>51, 823<br>19, 229<br>13, 054<br>10, 673<br>9, 428<br>8, 533<br>7, 708<br>6, 800<br>6, 377<br>6, 186<br>5, 480<br>21, 848<br>11, 041<br>21, 149<br>16, 874 | 17, 645<br>31, 329<br>29, 891<br>12, 016<br>32, 556<br>33, 131<br>20, 750<br>5, 916<br>1, 558<br>773<br>357<br>282<br>231<br>181<br>117<br>87<br>88<br>8112<br>55 | 11, 266 47, 737 73, 244 8, 282 82, 534 70, 670 26, 380 8, 455 4, 976 3, 851 3, 094 2, 682 1, 705 1, 310 1, 126 6, 364 3, 3899 2, 333 3, 855 2, 452 2, 482 | 2, 060<br>1, 800<br>1, 139<br>2, 159 | 1, 483<br>969<br>1, 755                          | 12, 307 20, 946 10, 646 11, 213 17, 423 10, 166 5, 320 48 1, 703 383 247 174 143 111 78 40 51 44 138 70 35 229 21 | 8, 293<br>30, 745<br>25, 629<br>7, 744<br>25, 370<br>25, 029<br>18, 016<br>7, 504<br>3, 754<br>2, 476<br>1, 838<br>1, 481<br>1, 355<br>1, 163<br>844<br>614<br>688<br>636<br>636<br>2, 377<br>1, 549<br>957<br>990 | 355<br>1, 934<br>1, 941<br>379<br>1, 541<br>2, 492<br>2, 441<br>1, 242<br>780<br>589<br>487<br>401<br>374<br>350<br>282<br>208<br>229<br>228<br>894<br>671<br>487<br>548<br>5567 | 290<br>1, 735<br>1, 763<br>213<br>2, 164<br>2, 149<br>1, 082<br>480<br>378<br>336<br>286<br>229<br>166<br>192<br>2186<br>765<br>579<br>394<br>459 | 1 2 3 4 5 6 6 7 8 9 100 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 20 21 22 23 |

|     | 50 under 60. 60 under 70. 70 under 80. 80 under 90. 90 under 100. 100 under 150. 150 under 200. 200 under 250. 250 under 300. 300 under 400. 400 under 500. 500 under 500. 750 under 1,000. 1,500 under 2,000. 2,000 under 2,000. 2,000 under 3,000. 3,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. | 189<br>138<br>93<br>74<br>160<br>71<br>28<br>10<br>16<br>13<br>7<br>7<br>5 |                        |          |          | 177<br>55<br>88<br>11<br>77<br>33<br>11<br>11 |          |         |         |         |          |         |         |
|-----|--|--|------------------------|----------|----------|---|----------|---------|---------|---------|----------|---------|---------|
| Тах | Total, individual returns with net income.  able fiduciary returns with net in-  | 1, 716, 928<br>3, 134  | 3, 618, 165<br>17, 512 | 604, 702 | 506, 240 | 188, 252                                      | 424, 337 | 57, 268 | 49, 851 | 92, 014 | 172, 897 | 22, 293 | 18, 899 |
| co  | ome.   |  |                        | 7, 106   | 7, 106   | 210   | 897      | 359     | 359     | 272     | 590      | 144     | 144     |
|     | Total, returns with net income.  | 1, 720, 062  | 3, 635, 677            | 611, 809 | 513, 347 | 188, 462                                      | 425, 234 | 57, 627 | 50, 210 | 92, 286 | 173, 487 | 22, 437 | 19, 043 |

Table 11.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes); also aggregate for taxable fiduciary returns with net income, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

| Form 1040:    Vinder 1 (est.)  |  |   |   | Vi   | rginia   |   |  | Wash  | ington 47  |   |  | West   | Virginia  |  |  |
|--|--|---|---|--|--|---|--|---|--|---|--|--|---|--|--|
| (taxable and nontaxable): Form 1040 × 10  1 Under 1 (est.)                                     |  |   |   |  | come and<br>victory  | victory tax<br>on 1943  | Number   |   | come and<br>victory  | victory tax<br>on 1943  | Number   |  | come and<br>victory   | victory tax<br>on 1943   |  |
| 21 25 under 30 400 10, 923 5, 753 4, 548 534 14, 628 7, 300 6, 214 183 5, 007 2, 540 2, 071 21 | 4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>15<br>16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20 | (taxable and nontaxable): Form 1040A: 10 Under 1 (est.) | 194, 359<br>96, 818<br>45, 430<br>73, 675<br>68, 241<br>61, 310<br>20, 977<br>7, 353<br>3, 621<br>2, 336<br>1, 604<br>1, 258<br>930<br>806<br>607<br>496<br>452 | 284, 997<br>233, 239<br>30, 519<br>109, 356<br>170, 778<br>210, 873<br>93, 993<br>23, 367<br>17, 432<br>13, 587<br>11, 886<br>9, 738<br>9, 259<br>7, 565<br>6, 683<br>6, 548<br>25, 303<br>17, 113 | 16, 690 18, 632 2, 035 10, 649 21, 089 31, 063 16, 526 8, 176 5, 378 4, 319 3, 553 3, 392 2, 938 2, 892 2, 467 2, 328 2, 282 9, 977 7, 759 | 15, 136<br>16, 774<br>1, 280<br>8, 344<br>17, 748<br>26, 586<br>14, 194<br>6, 853<br>4, 454<br>3, 575<br>2, 970<br>2, 759<br>2, 384<br>2, 381<br>2, 016<br>1, 853<br>1, 899<br>8, 084<br>6, 326 | 239, 018<br>184, 037<br>27, 168<br>102, 597<br>151, 405<br>97, 702<br>23, 476<br>8, 155<br>4, 622<br>3, 141<br>2, 241<br>1, 751<br>1, 314<br>999<br>871<br>642<br>566<br>1, 685<br>878 | 382, 069<br>451, 111<br>17, 590<br>164, 810<br>378, 244<br>331, 365<br>102, 894<br>44, 490<br>29, 850<br>23, 467<br>16, 603<br>13, 767<br>11, 469<br>10, 869<br>8, 661<br>8, 214<br>29, 025 | 40, 697<br>54, 295<br>2, 049<br>21, 382<br>53, 598<br>53, 899<br>20, 381<br>10, 333<br>7, 701<br>6, 499<br>5, 039<br>4, 336<br>3, 755<br>3, 716<br>3, 100<br>3, 019<br>11, 591<br>8, 958 | 36, 063<br>48, 482<br>1, 027<br>16, 623<br>45, 941<br>46, 820<br>17, 328<br>8, 782<br>6, 418<br>5, 373<br>4, 577<br>4, 194<br>3, 162<br>3, 162<br>2, 565<br>2, 519<br>9, 780<br>9, 7, 495 | 120, 651<br>95, 214<br>18, 435<br>36, 869<br>42, 273<br>36, 118<br>9, 205<br>2, 965<br>1, 576<br>918<br>750<br>533<br>372<br>273<br>208<br>190<br>626<br>336 | 180, 774 228, 061 12, 079 55, 738 106, 560 122, 144 40, 261 16, 120 10, 187 6, 360 6, 360 5, 036 3, 901 3, 997 3, 410 2, 803 2, 754 10, 753 7, 444 | 9, 650<br>14, 125<br>754<br>4, 723<br>10, 714<br>15, 527<br>7, 112<br>3, 239<br>2, 312<br>1, 663<br>1, 1370<br>1, 173<br>1, 242<br>1, 091<br>950<br>931<br>4, 111<br>3, 256 | 8, 855<br>13, 149<br>532<br>3, 895<br>9, 432<br>13, 653<br>5, 828<br>2, 750<br>1, 409<br>1, 402<br>1, 159<br>958<br>1, 025<br>917<br>789<br>801<br>3, 459<br>959<br>801<br>3, 459<br>959<br>801<br>3, 459<br>959<br>801<br>3, 459<br>801 | 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 1 |

| For footnotes, see pp. 252-254. |
|---------------------------------|
|---------------------------------|

Table 11.—Individual returns with net income, 1943, by net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes); also aggregate for taxable fiduciary returns with net income, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, total income and victory tax, and income and victory tax on 1943 income—Continued

| Net  | income  | classes | and   | money | figures | in  | thousands | n of | dollarsi |  |
|------|---------|---------|-------|-------|---------|-----|-----------|------|----------|--|
| 1100 | HICOING | CIASSES | PHILE | money | nguica  | 111 | tuvusanus | , 4  | uomanaj  |  |

|  |  | Wisc  | onsin  |  |  | Wyo   | ming   |  |  |
|--|--|---|--|--|--|---|--|--|--|
| Net income classes (Form 1040A, by gross income classes)                       | Number of<br>returns   | Net income <sup>2</sup>   | Total<br>income and<br>victory<br>tax <sup>8</sup>   | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income 7   | Number of<br>returns   | Net income 2  | Total<br>income and<br>victory<br>tax 6  | Income and<br>victory tax<br>on 1943<br>income <sup>7</sup>                                      |  |
| Individual returns with net income (taxable and non-taxable):   Form 1040A: 10 | 183, 311<br>118, 958<br>132, 981<br>181, 112<br>146, 056<br>106, 290<br>27, 691<br>9, 599<br>5, 040<br>3, 062<br>2, 143<br>1, 696<br>1, 240<br>1, 005<br>775<br>693<br>551<br>1, 785 | 77. 148 269, 054 292, 878 81, 264 267, 795 360, 810 121, 691 53, 771 32, 558 22, 833 18, 169 16, 077 13, 008 11, 546 9, 683 9, 326 7, 980 30, 646 19, 541 | 3, 525<br>22, 785<br>26, 319<br>3, 946<br>19, 352<br>38, 533<br>50, 183<br>20, 292<br>11, 218<br>7, 316<br>5, 635<br>4, 778<br>4, 452<br>3, 582<br>3, 159<br>3, 109<br>2, 816<br>11, 921<br>8, 704<br>6, 636 | 2, 840 20, 830 24, 032 2, 764 16, 319 34, 371 44, 446 17, 925 9, 170 6, 206 4, 668 3, 916 3, 189 2, 963 2, 587 2, 589 2, 305 10, 827 7, 243 5, 480 | 8, 297 13, 691 9, 946 6, 821 12, 033 11, 561 9, 938 3, 404 1, 012 533 3274 187 142 97 86 75 43 180 102 | 5, 326 20, 207 24, 558 4, 442 17, 890 28, 995 33, 929 15, 007 5, 515 3, 436 2, 632 2, 322 1, 770 1, 483 1, 116 1, 0061 1, 007 627 3, 106 2, 266 | 245<br>1, 538<br>2, 204<br>360<br>1, 533<br>3, 227<br>4, 661<br>2, 531<br>1, 126<br>659<br>604<br>518<br>495<br>371<br>340<br>339<br>302<br>1, 207<br>1, 007 | 186 1. 401 2. 033 200 1, 186 2, 729 4, 089 2, 216 950 661 534 502 413 362 288 286 284 185 1, 001 | 1 c 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 |

| 23                 | with net income. | 13:<br>7:<br>3:<br>25:<br>19:<br>46:<br>10:<br>5:<br>4:<br>3:<br>1 | 5 17, 38, 32 4, 714 5 5 2, 187 5 5 5 2, 187 5 5 5 5, 518 1, 715 5 1, 104 1, 054 963 497 | 8 4,94<br>3,33<br>2,16<br>1,71<br>1,43<br>4,77<br>2,82<br>1,077<br>991<br>947<br>481 | 13 (4, 1)<br>10 (2, 8)<br>1, 7<br>2, 18<br>2, 18<br>1, 7<br>1, 3<br>1, 3<br>1, 2<br>8<br>8<br>1, 2<br>8<br>1, 2<br>8<br>1, 3<br>1, 3 | 33   03   03   049   050 | 182, 907<br>400 | 33<br>34<br>4<br>1<br>1<br>36<br>6<br>6<br>6<br>7<br>16<br>6<br>6<br>6<br>7<br>16<br>16<br>16<br>16<br>16<br>16<br>16<br>16<br>16<br>16 | 33 2 2<br>33 2<br>44 10<br>9 48<br>22 10<br>503 | 03 30<br>31 32<br>33 34<br>7 35<br>36<br>37<br>38 39<br>40 41<br>42 |
|--------------------|------------------|--|---|--|--|--|-----------------|---|---|---|
| , ccc pp. 252-254, |                  |  |   |  | -00,070  | 79,062   | 183, 307        |   |   | 1 44  |
|                    |                  |  | •   |  |  |  | -50, 007        | 28, 457   | 23, 835   | 45  |

# Footnotes for basic tables 1-11, pp. 124-251

(Facsimiles of return forms, to which references are made, appear on pp. 368-396)

tabulated for, taxable fiduciary returns is the income tax net income taxable to the fiduciary, that is, after the deduction for the amount distributable to beneficiaries and without regard to the victory tax net income. Data for taxable fiduciary returns include data for estates and trusts filed (improperly) on Form 1040, which have income taxable to the fiduciary. In tabulating data from these returns filed (improperly) on Form 1040, an adjustment is made whereby the "Amount distributable to beneficiaries" (if any) is removed from deductions and tabulated as such in tables 4 and 4-B.

- 2 Net income is the sum of (1) income tax net income on Form 1040, (2) gross income on Form 1040A, and (3) in tables including fiduciary returns, Form 1041, the income tax net income taxable to the fidu-
- 3 The personal exemption allowed the head of a family and a married person living with husband or wife for the entire year is \$1,200 and that of a single person, a married person not living with husband or wife, or an estate is \$500. A trust is allowed, in lieu of personal exemption, a credit of \$100, against net income. The personal exemption tabulated for individual returns, Form 1040A, is ascertained from the taxpayer's marital status which is indicated on
- 4 The credit for each dependent is \$350 if Form 1040 is filed, or \$385 if Form 1040A is filed. However, in the case of a taxpayer who is head of a family only by reason of one or more dependents for whom he would be entitled to credit, the credit is allowed for each of such dependents except one.
- <sup>5</sup> Earned income credit is 10 percent of earned net income (not to exceed \$14,000) or 10 percent of net income, whichever is smaller. The credit tabulated for the optional returns, Form 1040A, is estimated at 9.4 percent of gross income (equivalent to 10 percent of the income after deductions aggregating 6 percent of gross income).
- The total income and victory tax reported on in-dividual returns for 1943 is the tax resulting from the merging of the 1942 and 1943 tax liabilities under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943. It is the aggregate of (1) the income and victory tax on 1943 income less credits for tax paid at source on tax-free covenant bond interest and for tax paid to foreign countries or United States possessions, (2) the amount by which the 1943 tax is increased to equal the 1942 tax liability, on returns showing a smaller tax (or no tax) for 1943 prior to such adjustment, and (3) the unforgiven portion of the 1942 or 1943 tax, whichever is smaller. In tables containing composite data for individual and fiduciary returns, total income and victory tax includes also the income and victory tax on 1943 income from fiduciary returns.
- 7 Income and victory tax on 1943 income is the tax computed on the income reported for 1943 and includes either normal tax and surtax (or optional tax paid in lieu thereof) or the alternative tax, and net victory tax, after deducting the tax credits relating to income tax paid at source on tax-free covenant bond interest and to income tax paid to a foreign country or United States possession. For individual returns, the tax computed on 1943 income is without regard to the comparison with the 1942 tax liability as provided under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943; and, therefore, does not include the tax adjustments necessary for the merging of the 1942 and 1943 tax liabilities. This tax on 1943 income is conceptually comparable with the total tax tabulated in last year's report; except that the 1943 tax includes the victory tax and the two tax credits are deducted.
- 5 Normal tax and surtax are reported on (1) returns without sales or exchanges of capital assets, (2) returns with a net loss from such sales, and (3) returns with a net gain from sales or exchanges of amount before the deduction for amortizable bond capital assets, unless the alternative tax is imposed. | premium, which is reported in other deductions.

1 The net income used for classification of, and | The optional returns, on which optional tax is paid in lieu of normal tax and surtax, and returns showing only a net victory tax are tabulated under returns with normal tax and surtax in Part I only of this table, so that taxes for all returns may be presented.

- Alternative tax is reported on returns showing an excess of net long-term capital gain over net shortterm capital loss, but only if such tax is less than the sum of normal tax and surtax computed on net income which includes the net gain from sales or exchanges of capital assets. Alternative tax is the sum of a partial tax (normal tax and surtax) computed on net income reduced for this purpose by the excess of net long-term capital gain over the net short-term capital loss, and 50 percent of such excess.
- 10 Form 1040A (optional return), which may be filed by individuals whose gross income is from certain sources only and is not more than \$3.000. does not provide for reporting the amount of net income. Gross income is tabulated both as total income and as net income.
- 11 Returns with no net income are those on which total deductions (plus, on taxable fiduciary returns, the amount distributable to beneficiaries) equal or exceed total income, regardless of the amount of victory tax net income or victory tax liability.
- 12 Nontaxable returns with net income are: Form 1040 on which personal exemption, credit for dependents, and earned income credit exceed income tax net income and there is no victory tax; Form 1040A on which credit for dependents reduces gross income to an amount shown as nontaxable in the optional tax table and there is no victory tax liability.
- 13 Less than \$500.
- 14 Deficit.
- 15 Income less deficit.
- 16 Not available.
- 17 This class includes a negligible number of nontaxable returns with net income over \$1,250.
- 18 Less than 0.005 percent.
- 19 Not computed.
- <sup>20</sup> An unequal number of separate returns is the result of (1) certain cases in which insufficient data make it impossible to identify the returns as separate returns, (2) estimating the data from samples, and (3) deferment of filing returns by members of the sample armed forces. The community property returns are not included in the separate returns of husbands and wives. An explanation of community property returns is given on p. 61.
- 21 Number of returns is subject to maximum sampling variation of 25 to 100 percent, depending on the number in the cell. For description of sample, see pp. 106-114.
- 22 Number of returns is subject to sampling variation of more than 100 percent. The number of returns and associated money amounts are not shown separately since they are considered too unreliable for general use; however, they are included in the totals. For description of sample, see pp. 106-
- 23 Dividends include dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations issued on or after Mar. 28, 1942, but exclude such dividends on prior issues and all dividends received through partnerships and fiduciaries.
- 24 Interest received or accrued from Government bonds is the net amount after deducting the amortizable bond premium for the taxable year where the taxpayer elects to report on that basis; but, unlike last year, the interest on corporation bonds is the

Footnotes for basic tables 1-11, pp. 124-251—Continued

(Facsimiles of return forms, to which references are made, appear on pp. 368-396)

- B Partially tax-exempt interest is that received on ertain Government obligations issued prior to Mar., 1941, namely, United States savings bonds and Form 1040A, is tabulated as other income. certain Government obligations issued prior to Mar. 1, 1941, namely, United States savings bonds and Treasury bonds owned in excess of \$5,000 and obligations of instrumentalities of the United States other than Federal land banks, Federal intermediate credit banks, or joint stock land banks, and unlike last year, includes dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations issued prior to Mar. 28, 1942, which are also partially tax-exempt. The amount reported includes such interest and dividends received through partnerships and fiduciaries, and it is not subject to normal tax or victory tax.
- 26 Taxable interest on Government obligations is that received on Treasury notes issued on or after Dec. 1, 1940; United States savings bonds and other obligations of the United States or any instrumentality thereof issued on or after Mar. 1, 1941. The amount reported excludes such interest received through partnerships and fiduciaries.
- 27 Net gain from sales of capital assets is the amount taken into account in computing net income whether or not the alternative tax is imposed. It is a combination of net short- and long-term capital gain and loss; also the net capital loss carried over from 1942 has been deducted. Net gain from such sales includes worthless stocks, worthless bonds if they are capital assets, nonbusiness bad debts, certain distributions from employees' trust plans, and each participant's share of net short- and long-term capital gain and loss to be taken into account from partnerships and common trust funds. Net gain from sales of capital assets is not subject to victory tax.
- <sup>18</sup> Net gain or loss from the sales of property other than capital assets is that from the sales of (1) property used in trade or business of a character which is subject to the allowance for depreciation, (2) obligations of the United States or any of its possessions, a State or Territory or any political subdivision thereof, or the District of Columbia, issued on or after Mar. 1, 1941, on a discount basis and payable without interest at a fixed maturity date not exceeding one year from date of issue, and (3) real property used in trade or business.
- 29 Rents and royalties (profits), tabulated under sources of income, are the profits reported; the reported losses are included in other deductions.
- 30 Business profit or loss from business or profession (sole proprietorship) is for the current year. (Net operating loss deduction is reported in other deduc-
- in Partnership profit or loss, as reported on the income tax return of the partner, excludes (1) partially tax-exempt interest on Government obligations and (2) het gain or loss from sales or exchanges of capital assets, each of which is reported in its respective source of income or deduction, and (3) dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations issued prior to Mar. 28, 1942, reported in the schedule for interest on Government obligations. In computing partnership profit or loss, charitable contributions are not deductible nor is the net operating loss deduction allowed. However, the pro rata shares of contributions, and of prior year income and losses of the partnership are taken into account by each partner in determining his own contributions and net operating loss deduction.
- 22 Income from fiduciaries, as reported on the income tax return of the beneficiary, excludes partially tax-exempt interest on Government obligations and dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations issued prior to Mar. 28, 1942, both of which are reported in the schedule for interest on Government obligations. The net operating loss deduction is allowed to estates and trusts, and is deducted in computing the income to be distributed.
- 23 Other income includes alimony received, earn-

- 34 Net loss from sales of capital assets is the amount reported as a deduction. It is the result of combinng net short- and long-term capital gain and loss and the net capital loss carried over from 1942, the deduc-tion, however, is limited to the amount of net loss, or tion, however, is limited to the amount of net loss, or to the net income (computed without regard to capital gains and losses), or to \$1,000, whichever is smallest. Loss from sales of capital assets includes worthless bonds if they are capital assets, worthless bonds if they are capital assets, and the control distributions. nonbusiness bad debts, certain distributions from employee's trust plans, and each participant's share of net short- and long-term capital gain and loss to be taken into account from partnerships and common trust funds. Net loss from sales of capital assets is not deductible in computing the victory tax,
- 35 Contributions include the taxpayer's share of charitable contributions made by a partnership of which he is a member. The allowable amount is limited to 15 percent of net income computed without this deduction or the deduction for medical, dental, etc., expenses.
- 38 Deductions for interest, taxes, and losses from fire, storm, shipwreek, etc., or theft exclude amounts reported in schedules for (1) rents and royalties and (2) business or profession.
- 87 Losses from fire, storm, shipwreck, war, or other casualty, or from theft not compensated for by insurance or otherwise, reported on individual returns. Form 1040
- 38 Medical, dental, etc., expenses paid for care of taxpayer, his spouse and dependents, not compensated for by insurance or otherwise, which exceed 5 percent of the net income computed without the deduction. Maximum deduction is \$2,500 on the return for husband and wife or for the head of a family; \$1,250 for all other individuals.
- 39 Other deductions include certain bad debts, net operating loss deduction, amortizable bond premium on corporation bonds, expenses incurred for the management and maintenance of property held for the production of taxable income, the net loss from rent and royalties reported in sources of income, as well as alimony paid reported on individual returns, and losses from fire, storm, shipwreck, etc., reported on fiduciary returns.
- 40 Included in other income.
- 41 Balance income (item 15, p. 1, Form 1041) is income before the deduction for the amount dis-tributable to beneficiaries and is the excess of total income over total deductions (items 10 and 14, respectively, p. 1, Form 1041).
- O Short-term applies to gains and losses from the sales and exchanges of capital assets held not more than six months; and long-term applies to gains and losses from the sales of such assets held more than six months.
- 48 Net capital loss carried over from 1942 and treated as short-term loss is the excess of the net loss from sales or exchanges of capital assets over \$1,000 or the net income for 1942 computed without regard to capital gains and losses, whichever is smaller.
- " Interest, received or accrued on Government obligations tabulated in this table, is that reported in the schedule for interest and ownership of Government obligations. The interest selected for tabulation is the amount before the deduction for amortization of bond premium, even though the taxpayer may have elected to reduce his interest by such amortization for income tax purposes. Interest in this table cannot be reconciled with that reported as a source of income (see p. 97).
- 44 The partially tax-exempt interest on United ings of minors, prizes, sweepstakes, gambling profits, States savings bonds and Treasury bonds issued

## Footnotes for basic tables 1-11, pp. 124-251-Continued

(Facsimiles of return forms, to which references are made, appear on pp. 368-396)

prior to Mar. 1, 1941, includes wholly tax-exempt | of the taxpayer, from the interest before including it interest on a principal amount not in excess of \$5,000. in total income. Interest received on the principal amount in excess of \$5,000, which is subject only to surtax, is reported as a source of income; however, the amortizable bond premium may be deducted, at the election of the taxpayer, from the interest before including it in

46 The partially tax-exempt interest on obligations of instrumentalities of the United States issued prior to Mar. 1, 1941, other than Federal land banks, prior to Mar. 1, 1941, other than reserral land banks, Federal intermediate credit banks, or joint stock land banks, is subject to surtax. Such interest is reported as a source of income; however, the amortiz-able bond premium may be deducted, at the election

- 47 Includes Alaska.
- 48 Number of returns in cell is subject to maximum sampling variation of 20 percent to 35 percent. For description of sample, see pp. 114-115.
- 49 Joint returns of husbands and wives are considered to have one income when a specific exemption of \$624 is claimed against the victory tax net income; and, when specific exemption of more than \$624 is claimed, joint returns are considered to have income for both husband and wife.
- M Includes a negligible number of nontaxable returns with net income of \$2,000 or more.

# HISTORICAL TABLES

# COMPOSITE DATA FOR INDIVIDUAL RETURNS AND TAXABLE FIDUCIARY RETURNS

- 12. Number of returns, net income, tax, and tax credits, 1913-43.
- 13. Number of returns, net income, tax, and effective tax rate, by net income classes, 1914-43.
- 14. Sources of income, deductions, and net income or deficit, 1916-43.
- 15. Number of returns, net income, and total tax, by States, 1934-43.

TABLE 12.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1913-43: Number of returns, net income, tax before tax credits, tax credits, and tax; and individual returns with no net income, 1928-43: Number of returns and deficit

[Money figures in thousands of dollars]

|                                    |  |  |  |                      |                      |  |  |  | ====      |
|------------------------------------|--|--|--|----------------------|----------------------|--|--|--|-----------|
| ł                                  |  | Individua  | l returns an   | d taxab              | le fidu              | ciary returns  | s, with net in                                     | come 1   |           |
|                                    |  | Number o   | f returns  |                      |                      |  | Tax be   | fore tax cred                                      | its 3     |
| Year                               | Total  |  | Non-   | Perce<br>tota        |                      | Net<br>income 2  | Normal   | Surtax   | Optional, |
|                                    |  | Taxable  | taxable  | Tax-<br>able         | Non-<br>tax-<br>able |  | tax  |  | tax 4     |
| 1913 <sup>10</sup><br>1914<br>1915 | 357, 598<br>357, 515<br>336, 652                         |  |  |                      |                      | 3, 900, 000<br>4, 000, 000<br>4, 600, 000                    | 12, 729<br>16, 559<br>23, 996                      | 15, 525<br>24, 487<br>43, 948                      |           |
| 1916<br>1917<br>1918<br>1919       | 437, 036  <br>3, 472, 890<br>4, 425, 114<br>5, 332, 760  | 362, 970<br>2, 707, 234<br>3, 392, 863<br>4, 231, 181      | 74, 066<br>765, 656<br>1, 032, 251<br>1, 101, 579        | 83<br>78<br>77<br>79 | 17<br>22<br>23<br>21 | 6, 298, 578<br>13, 652, 383<br>15, 924, 639<br>19, 859, 491  | 51, 441<br>156, 897<br>476, 433<br>468, 105        | 121,946<br>433,346<br>651,289<br>801,525           |           |
| 1920<br>1921<br>1922               | 7, 259, 944<br>6, 662, 176<br>6, 787, 481                | 5, 518, 310<br>3, 589, 985<br>3, 681, 249                  | 1, 741, 634<br>3, 072, 191<br>3, 106, 232<br>3, 428, 200 | 76<br>54<br>54<br>55 | 24<br>46<br>46<br>45 | 23, 735, 629<br>19, 577, 213<br>21, 336, 213                 | 478, 250<br>308, 059<br>355, 410<br>12 13 378, 388 | 596, 804<br>411, 327<br>474, 581<br>12 13 464, 918 |           |
| 1923<br>1924<br>1925<br>1926       | 7, 698, 321<br>7, 369, 788<br>4, 171, 051<br>4, 138, 092 | 4, 270, 121<br>4, 489, 698<br>2, 501, 166<br>2, 470, 990   | 2, 880, 090<br>1, 669, 885<br>1, 667, 102                | 61<br>60<br>60       | 39<br>40<br>40       | 25, 656, 153<br>21, 894, 576<br>21, 958, 506                 | 257, 795<br>216, 360<br>200, 599<br>215, 817       | 437, 541<br>432, 853<br>448, 330<br>511, 731       |           |
| 1927<br>1928<br>1929<br>1930       | 4,101,547<br>4,070,851<br>4,044,327<br>3,707,509         | 2, 440, 941<br>2, 523, 063<br>2, 458, 049<br>2, 037, 645   | 1,660,606<br>1,547,788<br>1,586,278<br>1,669,864         | 59<br>61<br>61<br>55 | 41<br>39<br>39<br>45 | 22, 545, 091<br>25, 226, 327<br>24, 800, 736<br>18, 118, 635 | 281, 895<br>162, 332<br>129, 475                   | 688, 825<br>582, 393<br>316, 816                   |           |
| 1931<br>1932<br>1933<br>1934       | 3, 225, 924<br>3, 877, 430<br>3, 723, 558<br>4, 094, 420 | 1,525,546<br>1,936,095<br>1,747,740<br>1,795,920           | 1,700,378<br>1,941,335<br>1,975,818<br>2,298,500         | 47<br>50<br>47<br>44 | 53<br>50<br>53<br>56 | 13,604,996<br>12,11,655,909<br>11,008,638<br>12,796,802      | 82,302<br>156,606<br>164,277<br>123,261            | 186, 078<br>239, 232<br>244, 307<br>388, 139       |           |
| 1935<br>1936<br>1937<br>1938       | 4, 575, 012<br>5, 413, 499<br>6, 350, 148<br>6, 203, 657 | 2, 110, 890<br>2, 861, 108<br>3, 371, 443<br>3, 048, 545   | 2, 464, 122<br>2, 552, 391<br>2, 978, 705<br>3, 155, 112 | 46<br>53<br>53<br>49 | 54<br>47<br>47<br>51 | 14, 909, 812<br>19, 240, 110<br>21, 238, 574<br>18, 897, 374 | 152, 814<br>330, 197<br>334, 550<br>228, 102       | 504, 625<br>883, 820<br>807, 019<br>258, 209       |           |
| 1939<br>1940<br>1941               | 7, 633, 199<br>14, 665, 462<br>25, 854, 973              | 3, 959, 297<br>7, 504, 649<br>17, 587, 471<br>27, 718, 534 | 3, 673, 902<br>7, 160, 813<br>8, 267, 502<br>8, 819, 059 | 52<br>51<br>68<br>76 | 48<br>49<br>32<br>24 | 23, 191, 871<br>36, 588, 546<br>58, 868, 025<br>78, 889, 362 | 286, 345<br>388, 950<br>556, 019<br>1, 445, 042    | 313, 518<br>435, 331<br>1, 927, 715<br>5, 720, 130 | 1.317.947 |
| 1943                               | 36, 537, 593<br>{43, 602, 456                            | 40, 318, 602   | 3, 283, 854  | 92                   | 8                    | 99, 585, 627   | 2, 033, 784  | 7, 464, 261  | 1,823,396 |

For footnotes, see pp. 284-287.

Table 12.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1913-43: Number of returns, net income, tax before tax credits, tax credits, and tax; and individual returns with no net income, 1928-43: Number of returns and deficit—Continued

| -  |   |  | [Money  | figures i                               | n thousan   | ds of dolla | ırs]   |   |   |
|--|---|--|---|---|---|-------------|--|---|---|
|  | Individ   | ual returns  | and taxable   | fiduciary                               | returns,  | with net i  | ncome <sup>1</sup> —Con  |   | dual returns<br>th no net<br>scome  |
| Year   | Tax be  | fore tax cred  | lits 3—Con.   |   | Tax cree  | dits        | 7  |   | T   |
|  | Alterna-  |  | 77-4-1  | 25 per cent o tax on earned net in come | f 12½ per<br>cent on<br>capital<br>net loss   | Total       | Tax 8  | Num-<br>ber of<br>return  | Deficit   |
| 1915<br>1916<br>1917<br>1918<br>1919<br>1920<br>1921<br>1922<br>1923<br>1924<br>1925<br>1926<br>1927<br>1928<br>1929<br>1930<br>1931<br>1932<br>1932 | 279, 522  | 31, 066<br>13 38, 916<br>48, 603<br>117, 571<br>112, 510<br>134, 034<br>233, 451<br>284, 654 | 41, 046<br>- 67, 944<br>- 173, 387<br>- 1795, 381<br>- 1, 127, 722    |   | 9,036<br>7,659<br>4,322<br>6,028<br>5,137<br>10,112<br>24,185<br>71,915<br>50,899<br>Credits<br>for |             | 41, 046<br>67, 944<br>173, 387<br>1795, 381<br>1, 127, 722<br>1, 269, 630<br>1, 075, 054<br>719, 387<br>861, 057 | 72, 829<br>92, 645<br>144, 863<br>206, 293<br>168, 449<br>104, 170<br>94, 609<br>73, 272<br>83, 904 | 499, 213<br>1, 025, 130<br>1, 539, 452<br>1, 936, 878<br>1, 480, 922<br>1, 141, 331<br>412, 859<br>381, 353<br>286, 632<br>308, 518 |
| 1940<br>1941<br>1942   | 328, 832<br>543, 772<br>1, 094, 587<br>443, 593<br>971, 266 | 128, 350<br>1, 150   | 928, 694<br>1, 496, 403<br>3, 907, 951<br>8, 926, 712<br>14, 606, 821 |   | tax paid<br>and tax<br>paid at<br>source  | 16, 803     | 928, 694<br>1, 496, 403<br>3, 907, 951<br>16 8, 926, 712<br>17 14, 590, 018                                      | 100, 233<br>82, 461<br>112, 697<br>99, 828<br>163, 136<br>216, 738                                  | 354, 156<br>284, 327<br>311, 385<br>292, 023<br>198, 598<br>226, 346  |
|  |   |  | <u></u>   |   |   |             | 18 17, 145, 912  |   | 220, 846  |

Table 13.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, by net income classes: Number of returns, 1914-43; net income, tax, and effective tax rate, 1916-43; also aggregate for individual returns with no net income, 1928-43

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

Number of returns 1

| Net income classes   |   |   | Number of  | returns  |  |   |
|--|---|---|--|--|--|---|
| Net income classes   | 1914  | 1915  | 1916 19  | 1917   | 1918   | 1919  |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income: 1 Under 1   |   |   |  | ,  | 1 516 029  | 1 004 879   |
| Under 1  |   |   |  | 1, 640, 758<br>838, 707  | 1, 516, 938<br>1, 496, 878   | 1, 924, 872<br>1, 569, 741  |
| 2 under 3  | 149 279   | 127, 994  | 157, 149   | 560, 763   | 932, 336   | 1, 180, 488   |
| 5 under 10   | 127, 448  | 120, 402  | 150, 553   | 270, 666   | 319, 356   | 438, 851  |
| 10 under 25  | 58, 603   | 60. 284   | 80, 880  | 112, 502   | 116, 569<br>28, 542  | 162, 485<br>37, 477   |
| 25 under 50  | 14, 676<br>5, 161   | 17, 301<br>6, 847   | 23, 734<br>10, 452   | 30, 391<br>12, 439   | 9, 996   | 13, 320   |
| 50 under 100   | 1, 189  | 1, 793  | 2, 900<br>2, 437   | 3, 302   | 9, 996<br>2, 358   | 2, 983  |
| 50 under 100<br>100 under 150<br>150 under 300   | 769   | 1, 326  | 2, 437   | 2, 347<br>559  | 1, 514<br>382  | 1, 864<br>425   |
| 300 under 500<br>500 under 1,000   | 216   | 376<br>209  | 714<br>376   | 315  | 178  | 189   |
| 1,000 and over   | 114   | 120   | 206  | 141  | 67   | 65  |
| Total individual and   |   |   |  |  |  |   |
| taxable fiduciary re-  |   | •   |  |  | 4 405 114  | E 920 760   |
| turns, with net income.  | 357, 515  | 336, 652  | 429, 401   | 3, 472, 890  | 4, 425, 114  | 5, 332, 760   |
|  |   |   | Number of  | returns 1  |  |   |
| Net income classes   | 1920  | 1921  | 1922   | 1923   | 1924   | 1925  |
|  |   |   |  |  |  |   |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income: 1  Under 1  |   | 401, 849  | 402, 076   | 368, 502<br>2, 523, 150  | 344, 876   | 98, 178   |
| 1 under 9  | 2, 671, 950   | 2, 440, 544   | 402, 076<br>2, 471, 181<br>2, 129, 898   | 2, 523, 150  | 2, 413, 881  | 1, 071, 992<br>842, 528   |
| 2 under 3.<br>3 under 5.<br>5 under 10.<br>10 under 25.<br>25 under 50.  | 2, 569, 316<br>1, 337, 116<br>455, 442  | 2, 222, 031<br>1, 072, 146  | 2, 129, 898<br>1, 190, 115   | 2, 472, 641<br>1, 719, 625   | 2, 112, 993<br>1, 800, 900   | 1, 327, 683   |
| 3 under 5  | 1, 337, 116   | 353, 247  | 391. 373   | 387, 842   | 437, 330<br>191, 216   | 1, 327, 683<br>503, 652<br>236, 779   |
| 10 under 25  | 171, 830  | 132, 344  | 391, 373<br>151, 329   | 170,095  | 191, 216<br>47, 061  | 236, 779<br>59, 721   |
| 25 under 50  | 38, 548   | 28, 946   | 35, 478<br>12, 000   | 39, 832<br>12, 452   | 15, 816  | 20, 958   |
| 50 under 100<br>100 under 150  | 12, 093<br>2, 191   | 8, 717<br>1, 367  | 2, 171   | 2, 339   | 3,065  | 4, 759  |
| 150 under 300  | .) 1,003 ]  | 739   | 1,323  | 1,301  | 1,876  | 3, 223<br>892   |
| 300 under 500<br>500 under 1,000   | 239   | 162<br>63   | 309<br>161   | 327<br>141   | 457<br>242   | 479   |
| 500 under 1,000  | . 123   | 21  | 67   | 74   | 75   | 207   |
| Total individual and   |   |   |  |  |  |   |
| taxable fiduciary re-<br>turns, with net income  | 7, 259, 944   | 6, 662, 176   | 6, 787, 481  | 7, 698, 321  | 7, 369, 788  | 4, 171, 051   |
| turns, with net income   | 1, 200, 011   | 0,002,110   | 3,707,   |  |  |   |
|  |   |   | Mumbara  | f returns 1  |  |   |
| Net income classes   | ,   |   | Number o   | i returns .  |  |   |
| Net income classes   | 1926  | 1927  | 1928   | 1929   | 1930   | 1931  |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net   |   |   | 1928   | 1929   |  |   |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income: 1   | 119, 513  |   | 1928   | 1929   | 150,000  | 185, 391<br>862, 153  |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income: 1   | 119, 513  | 126, 745<br>996, 098  | 1928<br>111, 123<br>918, 447<br>837, 781   | 1929<br>126, 172<br>903, 082<br>810, 347   | 150,000  | 185, 391<br>862, 153  |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income: 1   | 119, 513<br>1, 045, 519<br>837, 792<br>1 240, 400   | 126, 745<br>996, 098<br>855, 762<br>1, 209, 345   | 1928<br>111, 123<br>918, 447<br>837, 781<br>1, 192, 613  | 1929<br>126, 172<br>903, 082<br>810, 347   | 150, 000<br>909, 155<br>767, 684<br>1, 070, 239  | 185, 391<br>862, 153<br>675, 019<br>912, 630  |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income: ! Under 1   | 119, 513<br>1, 045, 519<br>837, 792<br>1, 240, 400<br>560, 549  | 126, 745<br>996, 098<br>855, 762<br>1, 209, 345<br>567, 700   | 1928<br>111, 123<br>918, 447<br>837, 781<br>1, 192, 613<br>628, 766  | 1929<br>126, 172<br>903, 082<br>810, 347<br>1, 172, 655<br>658, 039  | 150, 000<br>909, 155<br>767, 684<br>1, 070, 239<br>550, 977<br>198, 762  | 185, 391<br>862, 153<br>675, 019<br>912, 630<br>417, 655<br>137, 754  |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income: 1 Under 1   | 119, 513<br>1,045, 519<br>837, 792<br>1,240,400<br>560, 549<br>246, 730   | 126, 745<br>996, 098<br>855, 762<br>1, 209, 345<br>567, 700   | 1928<br>111, 123<br>918, 447<br>837, 781<br>1, 192, 613<br>628, 766<br>270, 889<br>68, 048   | 1929<br>126, 172<br>903, 082<br>810, 347<br>1, 172, 655<br>658, 039<br>271, 454<br>63, 689   | 150, 000<br>909, 155<br>767, 684<br>1, 070, 239<br>550, 977<br>198, 762<br>40, 845   | 185, 391<br>862, 153<br>675, 019<br>912, 630<br>417, 655<br>137, 754<br>24, 308   |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income: 1 Under 1   | 119, 513<br>1,045, 519<br>837, 792<br>1,240,400<br>560, 549<br>246, 730   | 126, 745<br>996, 098<br>855, 762<br>1, 209, 345<br>567, 700<br>252, 079<br>60, 123<br>22, 573   | 1928<br>111, 123<br>918, 447<br>837, 781<br>1, 192, 613<br>628, 766<br>270, 889<br>68, 048<br>27, 207  | 1929<br>126, 172<br>903, 082<br>810, 347<br>1, 172, 655<br>658, 039<br>271, 454<br>63, 689<br>24, 073  | 150, 000<br>909, 155<br>767, 684<br>1, 070, 239<br>550, 977<br>198, 762<br>40, 845<br>13, 645  | 185, 391<br>862, 153<br>675, 019<br>912, 630<br>417, 655<br>137, 754<br>24, 308<br>7, 830   |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income: 1 Under 1   | 119, 513<br>1, 045, 519<br>837, 792<br>1, 240, 400<br>560, 549<br>246, 730<br>57, 487<br>20, 520<br>4, 724                                | 126, 745<br>996, 098<br>885, 762<br>1, 209, 345<br>567, 700<br>252, 079<br>60, 123<br>22, 573<br>5, 261                                   | 1928<br>111, 123<br>918, 447<br>837, 781<br>1, 192, 613<br>628, 766<br>270, 889<br>68, 048<br>27, 207<br>7, 049  | 126, 172<br>903, 082<br>810, 347<br>1, 172, 655<br>658, 039<br>271, 454<br>63, 689<br>24, 073<br>6, 376  | 150, 000<br>909, 155<br>767, 684<br>1, 070, 239<br>550, 977<br>198, 762<br>40, 845<br>13, 645<br>3, 111                                | 185, 391<br>862, 153<br>675, 019<br>912, 630<br>417, 655<br>137, 754<br>24, 308<br>7, 830<br>1, 634                               |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income: 1 Under 1   | 119, 513<br>1,045, 519<br>837, 792<br>1,240, 400<br>560, 549<br>246, 730<br>57, 487<br>20, 520<br>4, 724<br>3, 267                        | 126, 745<br>996, 098<br>855, 762<br>1, 209, 345<br>567, 700<br>252, 079<br>60, 123<br>22, 573   | 111, 123<br>918, 447<br>837, 781<br>1, 192, 613<br>628, 766<br>270, 889<br>68, 048<br>27, 207<br>7, 049<br>5, 678<br>1, 756                              | 1929<br>126, 172<br>903, 082<br>810, 347<br>1, 172, 655<br>638, 039<br>271, 454<br>63, 689<br>24, 073<br>6, 376<br>5, 310<br>1, 641                | 150, 000<br>909, 155<br>767, 684<br>1, 070, 239<br>550, 977<br>198, 762<br>40, 845<br>13, 645<br>3, 111<br>2, 071                      | 185, 391<br>862, 153<br>675, 019<br>912, 630<br>417, 655<br>137, 754<br>24, 308<br>7, 830<br>1, 634<br>1, 056<br>268              |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income: 1 Under 1. 1 under 2. 2 under 3. 3 under 5. 5 under 10. 10 under 25. 25 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 150. 150 under 150. 150 under 300. 300 under 500. 500 under 100.                                  | 119, 513<br>1, 045, 519<br>837, 792<br>1, 240, 400<br>560, 549<br>240, 730<br>27, 487<br>20, 520<br>4, 724<br>3, 267<br>892<br>468        | 120, 745<br>996, 098<br>855, 762<br>1, 209, 345<br>567, 700<br>252, 079<br>60, 123<br>22, 573<br>5, 261<br>3, 873<br>1, 141               | 11928<br>111, 123<br>918, 447<br>837, 781<br>1, 192, 613<br>628, 766<br>270, 889<br>68, 048<br>27, 207<br>7, 049<br>5, 678<br>1, 756<br>983              | 1929<br>126, 172<br>903, 082<br>810, 347<br>1, 172, 655<br>658, 039<br>271, 454<br>63, 689<br>24, 073<br>6, 376<br>5, 310<br>1, 641<br>976         | 150, 000<br>909, 155<br>767, 684<br>1, 070, 239<br>550, 977<br>198, 762<br>40, 845<br>13, 645<br>3, 111<br>2, 071<br>552<br>318        | 185, 391<br>862, 153<br>675, 019<br>912, 630<br>417, 655<br>137, 754<br>24, 308<br>7, 830<br>1, 634<br>1, 056<br>268<br>149       |
| Individual returns and taxable flduciary returns, with net income: 1 Under 1 1 under 2 2 under 3 3 under 5 5 under 10 10 under 25 5 under 10 10 under 26 50 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 300 300 under 500 500 under 1,000 1,000 and over                                 | 119, 513<br>1, 045, 519<br>837, 792<br>1, 240, 400<br>560, 549<br>246, 730<br>57, 487<br>20, 520<br>4, 724<br>3, 267<br>892<br>468<br>231 | 126, 745<br>996, 098<br>855, 762<br>1, 209, 345<br>567, 700<br>252, 079<br>60, 123<br>22, 573<br>5, 261<br>3, 873<br>1, 141               | 111, 123<br>918, 447<br>837, 781<br>1, 192, 613<br>628, 766<br>270, 889<br>68, 048<br>27, 207<br>7, 049<br>5, 678<br>1, 756                              | 1929<br>126, 172<br>903, 082<br>810, 347<br>1, 172, 655<br>638, 039<br>271, 454<br>63, 689<br>24, 073<br>6, 376<br>5, 310<br>1, 641                | 150, 000<br>909, 155<br>767, 684<br>1, 070, 239<br>550, 977<br>198, 762<br>40, 845<br>13, 645<br>3, 111<br>2, 071                      | 185, 391<br>862, 153<br>675, 019<br>912, 630<br>417, 655<br>137, 754<br>24, 308<br>7, 830<br>1, 634<br>1, 056<br>268              |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income: 'Under 1  | 119, 513<br>1, 045, 519<br>837, 792<br>1, 240, 400<br>560, 549<br>246, 730<br>27, 487<br>20, 520<br>4, 724<br>3, 267<br>892<br>468<br>231 | 120, 745<br>996, 098<br>855, 762<br>1, 209, 345<br>567, 700<br>252, 079<br>60, 123<br>22, 573<br>5, 261<br>3, 873<br>1, 141<br>557<br>290 | 1928<br>111, 123<br>918, 447<br>837, 781<br>1, 192, 613<br>628, 766<br>270, 889<br>68, 048<br>27, 207<br>7, 049<br>5, 678<br>1, 756<br>983<br>511        | 1929<br>126, 172<br>903, 082<br>810, 347<br>1, 172, 655<br>688, 039<br>2271, 454<br>63, 689<br>24, 073<br>6, 376<br>5, 310<br>1, 641<br>976<br>513 | 150, 000<br>909, 155<br>767, 684<br>1, 070, 239<br>550, 977<br>198, 762<br>40, 845<br>3, 111<br>2, 071<br>552<br>318<br>150            | 185, 391<br>862, 153<br>675, 019<br>912, 630<br>417, 655<br>137, 764<br>24, 308<br>7, 830<br>1, 634<br>1, 056<br>268<br>149<br>77 |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income: 1 Under 1   | 119, 513<br>1, 045, 519<br>837, 792<br>1, 240, 400<br>560, 549<br>246, 730<br>57, 487<br>20, 520<br>4, 724<br>3, 267<br>892<br>468<br>231 | 120, 745<br>996, 098<br>855, 762<br>1, 209, 345<br>567, 700<br>252, 079<br>60, 123<br>22, 573<br>5, 261<br>3, 873<br>1, 141               | 111, 123<br>918, 447<br>837, 781<br>1, 192, 613<br>628, 766<br>270, 889<br>68, 048<br>27, 207<br>7, 049<br>5, 678<br>1, 756<br>983<br>511                | 1929<br>126, 172<br>903, 082<br>810, 347<br>1, 172, 655<br>68, 039<br>271, 454<br>63, 689<br>24, 073<br>6, 376<br>5, 310<br>1, 641<br>976<br>513   | 150, 000<br>909, 155<br>767, 684<br>1, 070, 239<br>550, 977<br>198, 762<br>40, 845<br>13, 645<br>3, 111<br>2, 071<br>552<br>318<br>150 | 185, 391<br>862, 153<br>675, 019<br>912, 630<br>417, 655<br>137, 754<br>24, 308<br>7, 830<br>1, 634<br>1, 056<br>268<br>149<br>77 |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income: 1 Under 1 1 under 2 2 under 3 3 under 5 5 under 10 10 under 25 25 under 50 50 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 300 300 under 500 500 under 1,000 1,000 and over  Total individual and taxable fiduciary re | 119, 513<br>1, 945, 519<br>837, 792<br>1, 240, 400<br>560, 549<br>246, 730<br>57, 487<br>20, 520<br>4, 724<br>3, 267<br>492<br>468<br>231 | 120, 745<br>996, 098<br>855, 762<br>1, 209, 345<br>567, 700<br>252, 079<br>60, 123<br>22, 573<br>5, 261<br>3, 873<br>1, 141<br>557<br>290 | 111, 123<br>918, 447<br>837, 781<br>1, 192, 613<br>628, 766<br>270, 889<br>68, 048<br>27, 207<br>7, 049<br>5, 678<br>1, 756<br>983<br>511<br>4, 070, 851 | 1929  126, 172 903, 082 810, 347 1, 172, 655 658, 039 271, 454 63, 689 24, 073 6, 376 5, 310 1, 641 976 513  4, 044, 327 92, 545                   | 150, 000<br>909, 155<br>767, 684<br>1, 070, 239<br>550, 977<br>198, 762<br>40, 845<br>3, 111<br>2, 071<br>552<br>318<br>150            | 185, 391<br>862, 153<br>675, 019<br>912, 630<br>417, 655<br>137, 764<br>24, 308<br>7, 830<br>1, 634<br>1, 056<br>268<br>149<br>77 |

Table 13.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, by net income classes: Number of returns, 1914-43; net income, tax, and effective tax rate, 1916-43; also aggregate for individual returns with no net income, 1928-43—Con. [Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

Number of returns 1 Net income classes 1932 1933 1934 1935 1936 1937 Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income:1 Under I.... 359, 688 1, 489, 589 967, 956 1 under 2 397, 676 320, 460 299, 594 1, 480, 717 2 under 3 . 608, 095 1, 777, 931 914, 198 599, 075 2, 111, 789 3 under 5 2, 524, 763 980, 682 1, 123, 699 703, 755 1, 317, 752 762, 536 1, 571, 996 873, 673 251,014 229, 754 75, 643 1, 029, 144 1, 251, 213 290, 824 339, 842 25 under 50 79, 210 440, 886 102, 892 471, 171 178, 446 123, 564 50 under 100 18, 480 18, 423 6, 021 1, 084 176, 649 20, 931 26, 029 100 under 150 5, 902 995 595 140 41, 137 6,093 38, 948 8, 033 150 under 300 13, 620 982 690 300 under 500\_\_\_\_\_\_ 500 under 1,000\_\_\_\_\_ 1, 395 2, 606 1, 544 141 81 50 116 206 86 1,000 and over\_\_\_\_ 109 20 178 Total individual and taxable fiduciary returns. with net income..... 3, 877, 430 Individual returns with no net 3, 723, 558 4,094,420 4, 575, 012 income 9 5, 413, 499 6, 350, 148 206, 293 168, 449 104, 170 94, 609 Grand total.... 73, 272 83, 904 4, 083, 723 3, 892, 007 4, 198, 590 4, 669, 621 5, 486, 771 6, 434, 052 Number of returns 1 Net income classes 1938 1939 1940 1941 1942 1943 Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net Under 3, Optional Form 1040A, not distributed Under 1 1 under 2 88 10, 252, 708 16, 106, 039 3, 228, 706 7, 172, 627 389, 871 20, 341, 523 3, 097, 513 6, 108, 585 6, 341, 999 374, 223 3, 036, 444 1,941,122 1, 976, 368 5, 754, 402 2, 433, 949 2 under 3 5, 026, 595 3 under 5\_ 5 under 10\_ 1, 614, 982 2,060,540 5, 264, 991 1, 652, 825 1, 172, 409 4, 722, 477 2, 199, 668 5, 430, 790 1, 468, 402 5 under 10. 10 under 25. 25 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 150. 415, 596 484, 698 3, 422, 331 6, 096, 027 140, 781 636, 901 164, 707 31, 992 785, 785 300, 161 189, 291 1, 107, 412 26, 336 7, 259 243, 081 37, 264 10, 673 390, 203 86, 203 150 under 300 1, 326 14,850 19, 793 1,618 1,964 25, 362 766 3, 585 1, 985 935 4, 535 2, 361 1, 131 207 212 1,000 and over\_\_\_\_ 118 111 415 128 456 169 199 222 55 Total individual and taxable fiduciary returns with net income Individual returns with no net 6, 203, 657 7, 633, 199 14, 665, 462 25, 854, 973 income 9 36, 537, 593 43, 602, 456 100, 233 82, 461 112, 697 99, 828 Grand total.... 163, 136 216, 738 6, 303, 890 7, 715, 660 14, 778, 159 25, 954, 801 36, 700 729 43, 819, 194

Table 13.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, by net income classes: Number of returns, 1914-43; net income, tax, and effective tax rate. 1916-43; also aggregate for individual returns with no net income, 1928-43—Con.

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |   |  | Net inc   | ome ³  |  |  |
|--|---|--|---|--|--|--|
| Net income classes   | 1916  | 1917   | 1918  | 1919   | 1920   | 1921   |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income:   Under 1 |   | 2, 461, 137<br>2, 064, 977<br>2, 115, 865<br>1, 827, 508<br>1, 687, 166<br>1, 042, 320<br>846, 894<br>400, 492<br>474, 652<br>200, 905<br>214, 631<br>306, 836             | 2, 232, 355<br>3, 626, 825<br>3, 535, 219<br>2, 145, 699<br>1, 736, 548<br>679, 72<br>284, 107<br>305, 025<br>144, 545<br>119, 076<br>137, 487                  | 2, 829, 113<br>3, 807, 286<br>4, 513, 244<br>2, 954, 137<br>2, 412, 276<br>1, 277, 365<br>896, 497<br>358, 393<br>371, 149<br>159, 071<br>128, 290<br>152, 650 | 4, 050, 067<br>6, 184, 543<br>5, 039, 607<br>3, 068, 331<br>2, 547, 905<br>1, 307, 785<br>810, 386<br>265, 512<br>215, 139<br>89, 314<br>79, 963<br>77, 078      | 213, 850<br>3, 620, 762<br>5, 325, 931<br>4, 054, 891<br>2, 378, 759<br>1, 958, 156<br>979, 629<br>582, 230<br>163, 521<br>145, 948<br>61, 343<br>42, 780<br>49, 411 |
|  |   |  | Net in  | come 2   |  |  |
| Net income classes   | 1922  | 1923   | 1924  | 1925   | 1926   | 1927   |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income:   Under 1 | 5, 153, 497<br>4, 500, 558<br>2, 641, 905<br>2, 255, 872<br>1, 208, 274<br>805, 224<br>260, 204<br>266, 814<br>116, 672<br>107, 671 | 252, 513<br>12 3, 693, 642<br>13 6, 073, 444<br>12 6, 469, 195<br>12 2, 653, 026<br>13 25, 653, 026<br>833, 898<br>280, 656<br>260, 584<br>124, 669<br>95, 107<br>152, 072 | 235, 452<br>3, 564, 474<br>5, 277, 1924<br>2, 991, 188<br>2, 855, 397<br>1, 599, 848<br>1, 066, 784<br>377, 645<br>374, 609<br>171, 249<br>158, 462<br>155, 974 | 339, 774<br>327, 368   | 67, 238<br>1, 747, 917<br>2, 042, 903<br>4, 872, 789<br>3, 538, 953<br>3, 660, 622<br>1, 954, 653<br>1, 389, 339<br>661, 412<br>340, 214<br>317, 881<br>494, 394 | 72, 231 1, 645, 576 2, 062, 275 4, 700, 816 3, 895, 759 3, 748, 088 2, 051, 771 1, 535, 887 636, 019 787, 270 431, 122 378, 167 600, 641                             |
| Total individual and tax-<br>able fiduciary returns,<br>with net income      | 21, 336, 213  | 12 24,777,466  | 25, 656, 153  | 21, 894, 576   | 21, 958, 506   | 22, 545, 091   |

For footnotes, see pp. 284-287.

Table 13.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, by net income classes: Number of returns, 1914-43; net income, tax, and effective tax rate, 1916-43; also aggregate for individual returns with no net income, 1928-43—Con.
[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dellars]

| [Net incor   | ne classes an  | d money figu  | res in thous   | ands of dolla   | ırs]  | , - 0011,   |
|--|--|---|--|---|---|---|
| Net income classes   |  |   | Netin  | come ²  |   |   |
| Net intome diasses   | 1928   | 1929  | 1930   | 1931  | 1932  | 1933  |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income: 1 Under 1. 1 under 2. 2 under 3. 3 under 5. 5 under 10. 10 under 25. 25 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 150. 150 under 300. 300 under 300. 500 under 1,000. 1,000 and over. Total individual and  | 64, 535<br>1, 526, 832<br>2, 030, 901<br>4, 648, 098<br>4, 282, 520<br>4, 037, 853<br>2, 326, 503<br>1, 857, 878<br>850, 451<br>1, 167, 131<br>663, 900<br>670, 862<br>1, 108, 863 | 73,742 1,499,908 1,958,595 4,572,596 4,025,223 2,174,458 1,646,476 770,536 1,087,410 628,229 669,878 1,212,099  | 86, 892<br>1, 494, 526<br>1, 864, 162<br>4, 151, 967<br>3, 723, 763<br>2, 922, 750<br>1, 333, 619<br>919, 040<br>374, 171<br>419, 016<br>207, 131<br>211, 693<br>359, 905                          | 106, 622<br>1, 399, 420<br>1, 641, 594<br>3, 515, 716<br>2, 807, 001<br>2, 006, 721<br>820, 648<br>528, 049<br>116, 598<br>212, 059<br>102, 186<br>102, 311<br>106, 060               | 231, 140<br>2, 145, 834<br>2, 437, 251<br>12 2, 597, 915<br>1, 677, 039<br>1, 160, 398<br>629, 639<br>313, 206<br>119, 596<br>118, 008<br>52, 469<br>57, 874<br>35, 240 | 264, 784<br>2, 003, 292<br>2, 295, 586<br>2, 207, 458<br>1, 537, 877<br>1, 112, 086<br>630, 006<br>401, 046<br>129, 156<br>139, 216<br>54, 570<br>86, 857               |
| taxable fiduciary returns, with net income.  Individual returns with no net income?  | 25, 226, 327<br>20 499, 213  | 24, 800, 736<br>20 1, 025, 130  | 18, 118, 635<br>20 1, 539, 452   | 1 ' '   | 12 11,655,909<br>20 1,480,922   | 11, 008, 638<br>20 1, 141, 331  |
|  |  |   | Net in   | come 2  | <del></del>   | 1   |
| Net income classes   | 1934   | 1935  | 1936   | 1937  | 1938  | 1939  |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net incorr.e:  Uniter 1.  1 under 2.  2 under 3.  3 under 5.  5 under 10.  10 under 25.  25 under 50.  50 under 100.  100 under 150.  150 under 300.  300 under 500.  500 under 100.  Total individual and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income funceme §   | 211, 113<br>2, 277, 726<br>2, 467, 851<br>2, 839, 348<br>1, 992, 81<br>1, 513, 592<br>708, 530<br>405, 976<br>117, 744<br>140, 960<br>43, 832<br>59, 465<br>57, 775                | 198, 900<br>2, 534, 828<br>2, 831, 583<br>3, 249, 107<br>2, 283, 402<br>11, 822, 271<br>882, 309<br>535, 772<br>166, 379<br>179, 911<br>77, 907<br>73, 811<br>73, 630                   | 187, 113 3, 011, 406 3, 325, 252 3, 821, 708 2, 977, 708 2, 028, 692 1, 400, 493 913, 518 311, 276 307, 930 124, 523 122, 762 107, 641   | 202, 401<br>3, 592, 283<br>3, 980, 864<br>4, 646, 965<br>3, 170, 571<br>2, 639, 518.<br>1, 319, 431<br>824, 661<br>272, 264<br>272, 724<br>117, 477<br>114, 399<br>85, 416            | 259, 833<br>3, 430, 143<br>4, 091, 500<br>4, 317, 709<br>2, 783, 893<br>2, 059, 770<br>886, 398<br>484, 768<br>158, 413<br>154, 996<br>78, 441<br>81, 396<br>110, 103   | 253, 911<br>4, 327, 850<br>5, 201, 685<br>5, 434, 218<br>3, 241, 405<br>2, 416, 728<br>1, 079, 972<br>617, 798<br>193, 959<br>187, 482<br>81, 387<br>74, 090<br>81, 370 |
| Net income o   | laceae   |   |  | Net in  | come 2  |   |
| 2100 200000  | nadaos   |   | 1940   | 1941  | 1942  | 1943  |
| Individual returns and taxable net income:   Under 3, Optional Form 104 Under 1   1 under 2   1 under 2   1 under 3   2 under 3   3 under 6   5 under 10   10 under 25   25 under 50   50 under 100   100 under 150   150 under 300   300 under 300   500 under 500   500 unde | 1, 525, 260<br>7, 361, 338<br>12, 583, 632<br>6, 014, 768<br>3, 604, 433<br>2, 785, 641<br>1, 257, 086<br>712, 495<br>235, 754<br>226, 596<br>84, 224<br>95, 564                   | 17, 531, 107<br>1, 429, 168<br>8, 872, 128<br>11, 479, 181<br>8, 000, 907<br>4, 286, 515<br>3, 583, 517<br>3, 583, 517<br>403, 583, 518<br>322, 402<br>139, 766<br>115, 661<br>106, 001 | 25, 715, 974<br>2, 120, 387<br>10, 869, 168<br>13, 294, 849<br>12, 453, 166<br>5, 254, 452<br>4, 452, 963<br>4, 201, 992<br>1, 324, 652<br>431, 323<br>394, 634<br>156, 867<br>132, 388<br>86, 586 | 31, 086, 413<br>1, 989, 496<br>9, 245, 184<br>15, 863, 154<br>22, 181, 366<br>7, 383, 871<br>5, 801, 889<br>2, 912, 220<br>1, 690, 758<br>544, 220<br>465, 726<br>149, 986<br>98, 860 |   |   |
| with net income  | Total individual and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income  |   |  |   |   | 99, 585, 627<br>20 226, 346   |

Table 13.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, by net income classes: Number of returns, 1914-43; net income, tax, and effective tax rate, 1916-43; also aggregate for individual returns with no net income, 1928-43—Con.

[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| Net income classes  |  |   | Таз   | 21   |  |   |
|---|--|---|---|--|--|---|
| Net income classes  | 1916   | 1917  | 1918  | 1919   | 1920   | 1921  |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income: 1 Under 1  |  |   |   |  |  | 174   |
| 1 under 2<br>2 under 3<br>3 under 5<br>5 under 10<br>10 under 25<br>25 under 50<br>50 under 100<br>100 under 150<br>150 under 300<br>300 under 500<br>500 under 1,000<br>1,000 and over   | 776<br>6, 301<br>11, 637<br>11, 603<br>16, 299<br>12, 423<br>24, 007   | 16, 244<br>9, 097<br>18, 283<br>44, 066<br>80, 695<br>76, 593<br>85, 028<br>55, 766<br>86, 718<br>50, 228<br>59, 349<br>109, 425                          | 26, 482<br>35, 415<br>82, 929<br>93, 058<br>142, 449<br>130, 241<br>147, 429<br>95, 680<br>136, 156<br>79, 165<br>69, 834<br>88, 885      | 24, 696<br>28, 258<br>75, 915<br>91, 538<br>164, 833<br>154, 946<br>186, 358<br>118, 705<br>163, 095<br>86, 031<br>76, 228<br>99, 027  | 36, 860<br>45, 508<br>83, 496<br>97, 886<br>172, 259<br>154, 265<br>163, 718<br>86, 588<br>92, 604<br>47, 043<br>45, 641<br>49, 185    | 29, 161<br>20, 712<br>42, 744<br>68, 871<br>126, 886<br>112, 910<br>115, 712<br>52, 330<br>61, 496<br>31, 860<br>25, 112<br>31, 420 |
| Total individual and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income.  | 173, 387   | 691, 493  | 1, 127, 722   | 1, 269, 630  | 1, 075, 054  | 719, 387  |
| Net income classes  |  |   | Таз   | 21   |  |   |
| Not income classes  | 1922   | 1923  | 1924  | 1925   | 1926   | 1927  |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income: 1  |  |   |   |  |  |   |
| Under 1 1 under 2 2 under 3 3 under 5 5 under 10 10 under 25 25 under 50 50 under 100 100 under 100 100 under 150 300 under 500 50 under 500 50 under 100 100 under 100 100 under 100 100 under 100 100 under 100 100 under 100 100 under 100 100 under 100 100 under 100 100 under 1000 100 under 1000 100 under 1000 100 under 1000 100 under 1000 100 under 1000 100 under 1000 100 under 1000 100 under 1000 100 under 1000 100 under 1000 100 under 1000 | 247<br>27, 081<br>20, 730<br>47, 533<br>70, 388<br>123, 576<br>125, 697<br>144, 093<br>71, 337<br>98, 810<br>43, 488<br>38, 559<br>49, 518 | 317<br>12 18, 253<br>12 16, 606<br>12 46, 048<br>12 54, 075<br>12 103, 100<br>103, 601<br>108, 879<br>55, 719<br>62, 104<br>31, 669<br>25, 498<br>35, 788 | 146<br>10, 432<br>10, 207<br>26, 865<br>28, 828<br>78, 069<br>109, 360<br>136, 636<br>75, 678<br>92, 481<br>45, 771<br>42, 585<br>47, 207 | 69<br>1, 704<br>3, 809<br>8, 326<br>19, 149<br>74, 172<br>120, 689<br>147, 843<br>79, 472<br>103, 059<br>55, 722<br>53, 674<br>66, 867 | 56<br>1. 761<br>4, 217<br>7, 245<br>20, 272<br>72, 465<br>112, 707<br>140, 947<br>77, 900<br>103, 997<br>55, 256<br>53, 665<br>81, 893 | 40<br>1, 234<br>3, 970<br>6, 508<br>20, 665<br>74, 226<br>119, 475<br>156, 676<br>87, 398<br>123, 776<br>73, 750<br>98, 657         |
| taxable fiduciary returns, with net income  | 861, 057   | <sup>12</sup> 661, 666  | 704, 265  | 734, 555   | 732, 471   | 830, 639  |

For footnotes, see pp. 284-287.

Table 13.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, by net income classes: Number of returns, 1914-43; net income, tax, and effective tax rate, 1916-43; also aggregate for individual returns with no net income, 1928-43.—Con.

| · [Net incon  | ie classes an  | d money figu   | res in thous   | inds of dolla   | rs]  |  |
|---|--|--|--|---|--|--|
| Net income classes  |  |  | Тах  | 21  |  |  |
| ivet income classes   | 1928   | 1929   | 1930   | 1931  | 1932   | 1933   |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income:   Under 1  | 60<br>1, 550<br>4, 317<br>7, 475<br>22, 896<br>82, 758<br>136, 568<br>194, 447<br>116, 855<br>182, 514<br>113, 250<br>116, 424<br>185, 140 | 17,<br>553<br>1, 404<br>2, 413<br>9, 551<br>59, 893<br>113, 904<br>160, 814<br>99, 560<br>159, 221<br>97, 336<br>106, 219<br>191, 054            | 37<br>1. 269<br>3. 310<br>5. 352<br>17. 448<br>49. 561<br>72. 708<br>87. 379<br>48. 739<br>62. 463<br>33, 053<br>34. 289<br>61, 098                              | 24<br>943<br>2, 466<br>3, 832<br>12, 407<br>40, 096<br>44, 780<br>23, 135<br>28, 793<br>15, 411<br>15, 457<br>26, 886   | 103<br>12, 254<br>9, 822<br>20, 895<br>35, 615<br>50, 150<br>43, 546<br>47, 150<br>24, 469<br>31, 912<br>18, 554<br>19, 016<br>16, 476                                       | 97<br>10. 345<br>7, 710<br>18. 397<br>35, 077<br>54. 977<br>52, 355<br>57, 491<br>30, 369<br>40, 412<br>17, 910<br>21, 221<br>27, 759  |
| able fiduciary returns, with net income.  | 1, 164, 254  | 1, 001, 938  | 476, 715   | 246, 127  | 329, 962   | 374, 120   |
| Not income classes  |  |  | Tax  | 21  |  |  |
| Net income classes  | 1934   | 1935   | 1936   | 1937  | 1938   | 1939   |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income:   Under 1  | 111<br>8, 659<br>7, 567<br>18, 349<br>43, 086<br>84, 907<br>84, 792<br>38, 166<br>57, 995<br>20, 854<br>30, 745<br>32, 211<br>511, 400     | 125<br>10, 058<br>9, 311<br>20, 738<br>48, 728<br>103, 754<br>112, 816<br>54, 132<br>74, 039<br>37, 245<br>38, 323<br>41, 499<br>657, 439        | 331<br>14, 010<br>13, 988<br>32, 232<br>79, 369<br>175, 613<br>191, 339<br>216, 045<br>116, 156<br>147, 381<br>71, 470<br>78, 945<br>77, 138<br>1, 214, 017      | 17, 262<br>15, 622<br>38, 852<br>83, 529<br>179, 395<br>194, 507<br>102, 062<br>131, 060<br>67, 489<br>74, 156<br>61, 457<br>1, 141, 569<br>Tax 21                          | 719 15, 202 13, 789 33, 920 71, 654 134, 162 120, 594 116, 989 58, 224 39, 832 42, 353 48, 035  765, 218 615 765, 833  | 744<br>21, 422<br>21, 374<br>47, 424<br>83, 430<br>158, 150<br>146, 937<br>146, 686<br>71, 970<br>88, 234<br>44, 237<br>44, 598<br>53, 181<br>928, 394<br>300<br>928, 694                  |
| Individual returns, and taxable returns, with net income: 1 Under 3, Optional Form 104 tributed. Under 1 1 under 2 2 under 3 3 under 5. 5 under 10 10 under 25 25 under 10 10 under 25 10 under 100 100 under 150 150 under 100 under 300 300 under 500 500 under 500 300 under 500 300 under 500 1,000 and over 1,000 and over | 0A, not dis-   | 2, 115<br>57, 727<br>49, 826<br>78, 830<br>119, 541<br>253, 227<br>270, 956<br>251, 414<br>110, 629<br>122, 832<br>61, 041<br>51, 173<br>66, 619 | 328, 479<br>11, 308<br>140, 676<br>298, 698<br>408, 916<br>406, 498<br>683, 247<br>574, 217<br>462, 842<br>181, 958<br>187, 259<br>83, 779<br>71, 991<br>65, 756 | 1, 317, 947<br>80, 802<br>496, 013<br>963, 892<br>1, 376, 442<br>904, 148<br>1, 231, 202<br>948, 162<br>742, 361<br>286, 405<br>287, 693<br>122, 470<br>103, 829<br>65, 346 | 2, 389, 266<br>101, 033<br>768, 590<br>1,668, 557<br>2, 971, 234<br>1, 490, 256<br>1, 786, 542<br>1, 345, 053<br>1, 005, 645<br>379, 290<br>353, 706<br>138, 515<br>116, 233 | 2, 652, 207<br>156, 124<br>8 918, 81<br>1, 902, 046<br>3, 396, 255<br>1, 790, 001<br>2, 159, 690<br>41, 629, 492<br>1, 222, 948<br>463, 923<br>434, 796<br>164, 305<br>136, 909<br>86, 571 |
| Total individual and tax<br>ary returns, with net in<br>Individual returns with no net  | come<br>income •   | 1, 495, 930<br>473   | 3, 905, 625<br>2, 326  | 8, 926, 712   | 14, 589, 324<br>694  | 17, 114, 112<br>31, 800  |
| For footnotes, see pp. 284-287.   |  | 1,496,403  | 3, 907, 951  | 8, 926, 712   | 14, 590, 018   | 17, 145, 912   |

TABLE 13.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, by net income classes: Number of returns, 1914-43; net income, tax, and effective tax rate, 1916-43; also aggregate for individual returns with no net income, 1928-43—Con.
[Net income classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| e (Net the   |   |  |  | ffective  | _  |  |  |  |   | ===   |  | ====   |
|--|---|--|--|---|--|--|--|--|---|---|--|--|
| Net income classes   | 1916  | 1917   | 1918   | 191   | 9  | 192  | 0  | 1921   | 192   | 2   | 1923   | 1924   |
| Individual returns and tax- able fiduciary returns, with net income: 1 Under 1   | 0. 12<br>61<br>94<br>1. 41<br>2. 25<br>3. 48<br>4. 75<br>6. 60<br>8. 14   | 0. 66<br>. 44<br>. 86<br>2. 41<br>4. 78<br>7. 34<br>10. 04<br>13. 92<br>18. 27<br>23. 93<br>27. 63<br>35. 65 | 1. 19<br>98<br>2. 35<br>4. 34<br>8. 20<br>13. 32<br>21. 69<br>33. 68<br>44. 64<br>54. 77<br>58. 65<br>64. 66 | 1. 3. 6. 12. 20. 33. 43. 54. 59.  | 74<br>68<br>10<br>83<br>13<br>79<br>12<br>94<br>08<br>42 | 3.   | 74<br>66<br>19<br>76<br>80<br>20<br>61<br>04<br>67   | 0. 08<br>. 81<br>. 39<br>1. 05<br>2. 90<br>6. 48<br>11. 53<br>19: 87<br>32. 00<br>42. 14<br>58. 70<br>63. 59 | 1.<br>2.  | 89<br>42<br>03<br>27  | 0. 13<br>. 49<br>. 27<br>2. 04<br>4. 06<br>7. 67<br>13. 06<br>19. 85<br>23. 83<br>25. 42<br>26. 81<br>23. 53                         | 0. 06<br>29<br>19<br>39<br>96<br>2. 73<br>6. 84<br>12. 81<br>20. 04<br>24. 69<br>26. 73<br>30. 27              |
| 'Total individual and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income   | 2. 75   | 5. 06  | 7. 08  |   |  |  | 53   | 3. 67  |   | 04  | 2. 67  | 2. 74  |
|  |   | Effective tax rate (percent) <sup>22</sup>   |  |   |  |  |  |  |   |   |  |  |
| Net income classes   | 1925  | 1926   | 1927   | 192   | 8  | 192  | 29   | 1930   | 193   | 31  | 1932   | 1933   |
| Individual returns and tax- able fiduciary returns, with net income: 1 Under 1   | 0. 12<br>. 10<br>. 19<br>. 16<br>. 55<br>2. 09<br>5. 94<br>10. 42<br>13. 87<br>15. 73<br>16. 40<br>16. 39<br>15. 83 | 0. 08<br>. 10<br>. 21<br>. 15<br>. 52<br>1. 98<br>5. 77<br>10. 14<br>13. 66<br>16. 56<br>16. 88<br>16. 56    | 0. 00<br>.0°<br>.11<br>.5:<br>1. 98<br>5. 8:<br>10. 22<br>13. 7:<br>15. 7:<br>17. 1'<br>16. 9'<br>16. 4'     | 7   | 77<br>06<br>35   | 1.<br>5.<br>9.<br>12.<br>14.<br>15.<br>15.<br>15.  | 64<br>49<br>86   | 0. 04<br>. 08<br>. 18<br>. 13<br>. 47<br>1. 70<br>5. 25<br>13. 03<br>14. 91<br>15. 96<br>16. 20<br>16. 98    | 11<br>4<br>8<br>11<br>13<br>15<br>15<br>16                  | 02<br>07<br>15<br>11<br>44<br>59<br>89<br>48<br>77<br>75<br>58<br>08<br>. 11<br>. 19  | 0. 04<br>. 57<br>. 40<br>. 80<br>2. 12<br>4. 32<br>6. 92<br>11. 99<br>20. 41<br>27. 04<br>35. 36<br>32. 86<br>46. 75                 | 0. 04<br>. 49<br>. 34<br>. 2. 28<br>4. 94<br>23. 51<br>29. 03<br>32. 83<br>37. 44<br>31. 96                    |
|  |   |  |  | Effecti   | ve t   | az ra  | te (pe   | rcent)   | 22  |   |  |  |
| Net income classes   | 1934  | 1935   | 1936   | 1937  | 19   | 38   | 1939   | 194  | ) ]   | 941   | 1942 22  | 1943 23  |
| Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income: I. Under 3, Optional Form 1040A, not distributed. Under 1. 1 under 2. 2 under 3. 3 under 5. 5 under 10. 10 under 25. 25 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 150. 150 under 300. 300 under 500. 500 under 1,000. 1,000 and over. | 0.03<br>38<br>31<br>.65<br>2.21<br>5.55<br>11.98<br>20.89<br>41.14<br>47.58<br>51.70<br>55.75                       | 0. 06<br>. 40<br>. 33<br>. 64<br>2. 13<br>5. 69<br>12. 06<br>32. 54<br>41. 15<br>47. 81<br>51. 92<br>56. 36  | 0. 18<br>. 47<br>. 42<br>. 84<br>2. 67<br>6. 68<br>13. 65<br>23. 65<br>37. 32<br>47. 86<br>64. 31<br>71. 66  | 0. 23<br>. 48<br>. 39<br>. 84<br>2. 63<br>6. 66<br>13. 60<br>23. 60<br>37. 49<br>48. 06<br>. 57. 45<br>64. 82<br>71. 95 | 2<br>6<br>13<br>24<br>36<br>45                           | 28<br>. 44<br>. 34<br>. 79<br>!. 57<br>i. 50<br>l. 13<br>i. 75<br>i. 00<br>l. 78<br>2. 03<br>3. 63 | 0. 29<br>. 48<br>. 41<br>. 87<br>2. 53<br>6. 54<br>13. 61<br>23. 7: 11<br>47. 00<br>54. 34<br>60. 19<br>65. 30 | 7 1.3<br>7 3.3<br>4 9.0<br>1 21.4<br>4 35.2<br>1 46.9<br>5 59.9  | 18 10 11 12 12 13 14 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 | 1. 87<br>. 79<br>1. 59<br>2. 60<br>5. 11<br>9. 48<br>9. 07<br>4. 31<br>6. 56<br>4. 48<br>88. 08<br>89. 94<br>32. 24<br>31. 98 | 5, 13<br>3, 81<br>4, 56<br>7, 25<br>11, 05<br>17, 21<br>27, 65<br>43, 06<br>56, 04<br>66, 40<br>72, 90<br>78, 08<br>78, 45<br>75, 47 | 7. 6<br>5. 0<br>8. 3<br>10. 5<br>13. 4<br>20. 1<br>30. 7<br>46. 1<br>59. 4<br>69. 6<br>75. 9<br>80. 3<br>77. 5 |
| Total individual and<br>taxable fiduciary re-<br>turns, with net in-<br>income   |   | 4.41   | 6. 31  | 5. 37   | 4  | 1. 05  | 4.0  | 0 4.0  | 09  | 6. 63   | 11. 32   | 14.6   |

For footnotes, see pp. 284-287.

Table 14.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1916-43, and individual returns with no net income, 1928-43; Part I, all returns; Part II, returns with net income of \$5,000 and over: Number of returns, sources of income, deductions, and net income or deficit

# PART I.—ALL RETURNS

## [Money figures in thousands of dollars]

| Distribution   | 1916   | 1917 23  | 1918  | 1919  | 1920   | 1921   |
|--|--|--|---|---|--|--|
| Number of returns 24   | 19 429, 401  | 1, 832, 132  | 4, 425, 114   | 5, 332, 760   | 7, 259, 944  | ·  |
| Sources of income: 28 Salaries, wages, commissions, etc. 28 Business profit 27 Partnership profit 38 Profit from sales of real estate, stocks, bonds, etc. Rents and royalties Dividends received 29 Income from fiduciaries 30 Partially tax-exempt interest on Government obligations 31 Interest and other income 32 Total income | 1, 851, 277 } 2, 637, 475 643, 803 2, 136, 469 379, 795 701. 084 8, 349, 902 | 3, 648, 438<br>( 2, 805, 413<br>775, 087<br>318, 171<br>684, 343<br>2, 848, 842<br>)<br>936, 715 | 8, 267, 392<br>3, 124, 355<br>1, 214, 914<br>291, 186<br>975, 680<br>2, 468, 749<br>(49)<br>1, 403, 486 | 10, 755, 693<br>3, 877, 550<br>1, 831, 430<br>999, 364<br>1, 019, 094<br>2, 453, 775<br>(*)<br>63, 377<br>1, 437, 402 | 12 15.322,873<br>12 3,215,555<br>12 1,706,229<br>1,020,543<br>1,047,424<br>2,735,846<br>(4*)<br>61,550 |  |
| Net loss from sales of real estate, stocks, bonds, etc. Net loss from business ? Net loss from partnership ?? Net loss from partnership ?? Taxes paid. Contributions ?? Other deductions ?4  Total deductions.   | (51)<br>(31)<br>(51)<br>(51)<br>2, 051, 324<br>2, 051, 324<br>6, 298, 578    | (51)<br>(51)<br>(51)<br>245, 080<br>885, 763<br>1, 130, 843<br>10, 946, 166                      | (51)<br>(61)<br>(61)<br>(61)<br>(51)<br>1, 821, 122<br>1, 821, 122<br>15, 924, 639                      | (51)<br>(51)<br>(61)<br>(61)<br>(51)<br>2, 578, 194<br>2, 578, 194<br>19, 859, 491                                    | (81)<br>(81)<br>(81)<br>(81)<br>387, 290<br>2, 567, 351<br>2, 954, 641<br>23, 735, 629                 | (81)<br>(81)<br>(81)<br>(81)<br>(81)<br>3, 751, 569<br>3, 751, 669 |

PART I .- ALL RETURNS-Continued

## [Money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |              |              |              |              | <del></del>  |                     |
|--|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|---------------------|
| Distribution                                     | 1922         | 1923 11      | 1924         | 1925         | 1926         | 1927                |
| Number of returns 24                             | 6, 787, 481  | 7, 698, 321  | 7, 369, 788  | 4, 171, 051  | 4, 138, 092  | 4, 101, 54          |
| Source of income: 25                             |              |              | -            |              |              |                     |
| Salaries, wages, commis-                         |              |              |              |              | l            |                     |
| sions, etc.26                                    |              | 14, 195, 356 | 13, 617, 663 | 9, 742, 160  | 9, 994, 315  | 10, 218, 45         |
| Business profit 27                               | 2, 839, 771  | 4, 722, 766  | 4, 755, 483  | 3, 688, 804  | 3, 572, 895  | 3, 287, 42          |
| Partnership profit 26                            | 1, 427, 127  | 1, 676, 409  | 1, 810, 014  | 1, 827, 025  | 1, 732, 581  | 1, 755, 14          |
| Profit from sales of real                        |              | i            | 1            | 1            | İ            |                     |
| estate, stocks, bonds, etc., other than taxed as |              |              | 1            | 1            | !            | ł                   |
| capital net gain                                 | 742, 104     | 863, 107     | 1 104 500    | 1 001 050    | 1 405 005    |                     |
| Capital net gain from sales                      | 742, 104     | 003, 107     | 1, 124, 566  | 1, 991, 659  | 1, 465. 625  | 1, 813, 39          |
| of assets held more than                         | 1            | 1            |              |              | i            |                     |
| 2 years 25                                       | 249, 248     | 305, 394     | 389, 148     | 940, 569     | 912, 917     | 1, 081, 18          |
| Rents and royalties                              | 1, 224, 929  | 1, 814, 126  | 2, 009, 716  | 1, 471, 332  | 1. 450, 760  | 1, 302, 27          |
| Dividends received 29                            |              | 3, 119, 829  | 3, 250, 914  | 3, 464, 625  | 4, 011, 590  | 4, 254, 82          |
| Income from fiduciaries 30                       | 257, 928     | 329, 124     | 310, 144     | 305, 806     | 333, 365     | 421, 48             |
| Partially tax-exempt inter-                      | , ·          | /            | ,            | 000,000      | 000,000      | 1,                  |
| est on Government obli-                          |              | ļ            | 1            | l            |              |                     |
| gations 31                                       | 33, 989      | 43, 711      | 29, 645      | 25, 651      | 36, 782      | 47, 47              |
| Other taxable interest                           | 1, 738, 601  | 2, 177, 771  | 2, 281, 703  | 1, 814, 402  | 1, 936, 604  | f 1, 675, 91        |
| Other income 32                                  | ) 1, 1       | į . 2,       | 2, 201, 700  | 1,011,402    | 1, 750, 104  | 350, 98             |
| Total income                                     | 24, 871, 908 | 29, 247, 593 | 29, 578, 997 | 25, 272, 035 | 25, 447, 436 | 26, 208. 56         |
| Deductions: 25                                   |              |              |              |              |              |                     |
| Net loss from sales of real                      |              | }            |              |              |              | l                   |
| estate, stocks, bonds,                           | 1            | ļ            |              |              | `            | İ                   |
| etc  | (51)         | (51)         | (51)         | (51)         | 178, 216     | 227, 87             |
| Capital net loss 36                              |              |              | (51)         | (51)         | (51)         | (51)                |
| Net loss from business 27                        | (51)         | (51)         | (51)         | (51)         | (51)         | (51)                |
| Net loss from partnership 28.<br>Interest paid   | K            | ` ′          | ` '          | ` '          | ( )          |                     |
| Taxes paid                                       | (81)         | (51)         | (51)         | (51)         | (51)         | (51)                |
| Contributions 23                                 | 425, 218     | 534, 797     | 533, 168     | 441, 590     | 484, 205     | 800, 800<br>507, 70 |
| Other deductions 34                              | 3, 110, 478  | 3, 935, 330  | 3, 389, 675  | 2, 935, 868  | 2, 826, 509  | 2, 127, 08          |
| 5 mil 40440010110 11111111                       | 0, 110, 170  | 0, 000, 000  | 0, 000. 010  | 2, 830, 800  | 2, 620, 009  | 2, 121, 00          |
| Total deductions                                 | 3, 535, 696  | 4, 470, 127  | 3, 922, 843  | 3, 377, 458  | 3, 488, 930  | 3, 663, 470         |
| Net income                                       | 21, 336, 213 | 24, 777, 466 | 25, 656, 153 | 21, 894, 576 | 21, 958, 506 | 22, 545, 09         |

For footnotes, see pp. 284-287.

Table 14.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net incom 1916-43, and individual returns with no net income, 1928-43; Part I, all return returns with net income of \$5,000 and over: Number of returns, sources income, deductions, and net income or deficit—Continued

# PART I.-ALL RETURNS-Continued

# [Money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  | Ī  | -gares III  | tnou                 | sands o  | f dol                   | lars]                                |                              |   |                              |   |
|--|--|---|----------------------|--|-------------------------|--------------------------------------|------------------------------|---|------------------------------|---|
|  |  | 1928  |                      |  | 19                      | 929                                  |                              |   | 10                           | )30   |
| Distribution   | Individua<br>returns and<br>returns of<br>fiduciaries,<br>with net<br>income | d Individ   | net                  | Individure<br>returns<br>returns<br>fiduciar<br>with n<br>income     | and<br>of<br>ies,<br>et | Indivi<br>retur<br>with no<br>incom  | ns                           | Individure returns returns fiducial with n income                 | dual<br>and<br>s of<br>ries, | Individus<br>returns<br>with no ne<br>income  |
| Number of returns 24   | 4, 070, 851  | 72, 8   | 29                   | 4, 044, 3  |                         | <del></del>                          | -                            |   |                              |   |
| Sources of income:25 Salaries, wages, commis-  |  |   | = -                  | 4, 044, 3  | 27                      | 92,                                  | 545                          | 3, 707,   | 509                          | 144, 86;  |
| Business profit Partnership profit 28 Profit from sales of real estate, stocks, bonds,   | 10, 862, 331<br>3, 243, 955<br>1, 929, 520                                   | 82, 19<br>32, 81<br>16, 63  | 11                   | 11, 173, 0<br>3, 327, 98<br>1, 846, 43                               | 20                      | 199, 6<br>58, 4<br>49, <i>8</i>      | 113                          | 9, 921, 9<br>2, 628, 0<br>1, 089, 6                               | 57                           | 283, 727<br>69, 697<br>57, 260  |
| Capital net gain from sales of assets held more than   | 2, 928, 142  | 53, 58  | 4   ;                | 2, 335, 89   | 8                       | 85, 2                                | 65                           | 636, 73   | 18                           |   |
| Partially tax-exempt in-<br>terest on Government   | 1, 879, 780<br>1, 164, 518<br>4, 350, 979<br>443, 998                        | 274<br>67, 071<br>88, 984<br>17, 577  | 1                    | 2, 346, 704<br>1, 278, 757<br>1, 783, 240<br>508, 221                | 3                       | 1, 42<br>79, 98<br>297, 72<br>12, 20 | 6 4                          | 556, 39<br>974, 32<br>, 197, 30<br>429, 459                       | 5                            | 68, 135<br>103, 460<br>434, 988<br>19, 843  |
| Other income 32  Total income 28   | 1, 841, 818<br>302, 040<br>3, 987, 634                                       | 1, 763<br>59, 760<br>420, 649   | { 1,                 | 40, 184<br>908, 030<br>296, 235                                      | b                       | 2, 86<br>115, 17                     | , lf 1.                      | 38, 134<br>608, 434<br>239, 004                                   | h.                           | 5, 738<br>161, 536  |
| Net loss from and  |  | 120, 049  | 29,                  | 844, 758   | -                       | 902, 251                             | 12 22                        | ,319,446  | 1                            | , 204, 383  |
| Capital net loss 36 Capital net loss 36 Net loss from business. Not loss from partnership 18 Interest paid Taxes paid 37 Contributions 33 Other deductions 34 Total deductions 3,3 | 761, 308   | (51)<br>(51)<br>(51)<br>(51)<br>(51)<br>(125, 990<br>8, 465<br>640, 847<br>919, 862<br>499, 213 | 5:<br>3, 5:<br>5, 04 | 994, 665<br>(31)<br>(51)<br>27, 093<br>22, 265<br>14, 023<br>70, 736 | { 1<br>9<br>1, 9;       |                                      | 12 4<br>12 2, 33<br>12 4, 20 | 232, 776 72, 538 ( <sup>81</sup> ) 17, 771 77, 726 00, 811 8, 635 | 1,                           | 307, 143<br>570, 023<br>(4)<br>31, 536<br>16, 630<br>818, 503<br>43, 835<br>39, 452 |

PART I.-ALL RETURNS-Continued

#### [Money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   | 19  | 31   | 19  | 32   | 193   |  |
|---|---|--|---|--|---|--|
| Distribution .  | Individual<br>returns and<br>returns of<br>fiduciaries,<br>with net<br>income | Individual<br>returns<br>with no net<br>income | Individual<br>returns and<br>returns of<br>flduciaries,<br>with net<br>income | Individual<br>returns<br>with no net<br>income | Individual<br>returns and<br>returns of<br>fiduciaries,<br>with net<br>income | Individual<br>returns<br>with no net<br>income |
| Number of returns 24  | 3, 225, 924   | 184, 583                                       | 3, 877, 430   | 206, 293                                       | 3, 723, 558   | 168, 449                                       |
| Sources of income: 25 Salaries, wages, commissions, etc. Business profit. Partnership profit 28. Profit from sales of real estate, stocks, bonds, etc.,   | 8, 325, 162<br>1, 889, 759<br>729, 523  | 305, 684<br>73, 186<br>47, 754                 | 8, 136, 717<br>1, 294, 952<br>482, 863  | 219, 716<br>54, 880<br>28, 612                 | 7, 390, 356<br>1, 402, 923<br>603, 725  | 174, 581<br>51, 137<br>31, 000                 |
| other than taxed as cap- ttal net gain. Capital net gain from sales of assets held more than 2 years 3. Rents and royalties. Dividends received 5. Income from fiduciaries 40. Partially tax-exempt in- | 301, 664<br>169, 949<br>770, 764<br>3, 113, 861<br>369, 140                   | 29, 573<br>117, 059<br>485, 616<br>29, 438     | 112,814<br>50,074<br>520;989<br>1,972,133<br>310,940                          | 20, 602<br>105, 609<br>216, 544<br>18, 843     | 419, 591<br>133, 616<br>447, 883<br>1, 559, 046<br>276, 067                   | 83, 675<br>152, 361<br>19, 846                 |
| terest on Government<br>obligations <sup>31</sup><br>Other taxable interest<br>Other income <sup>32</sup>   | 25, 325<br>1, 337, 606<br>235, 696  | 5, 138<br>296, 302                             | 29, 188<br>{ 1, 141, 799<br>330, 602  | 4, 235<br>131, 993<br>30, 559                  | 31, 689<br>961, 732<br>167, 197   | 4, 420<br>107, 904<br>33, 423                  |
| Total income  | 17, 268, 451  | 1, 299, 750                                    | 14, 392, 080  | 831, 592                                       | 13, 393, 825  | 725, 817                                       |
| Deductions: 25  Net loss from sales of real estate, stocks, bonds, etc  | 1, 160, 765   | 1, 818, 724                                    | 375, 445  | 835, 280                                       | 365, 782  | 773, 899                                       |
| Net loss from business<br>Net loss from partnership 26  |   | 590, 123                                       | 112, 659  | 519, 340                                       | 61,985<br>30,435<br>507,520   | 181,099<br>68,850<br>135,232                   |
| Interest paid <sup>37</sup>   | 328, 300<br>2, 039, 705   | 197, 133<br>25, 629<br>605, 019                | 304, 009<br>12 1, 944, 057  | 177, 758<br>12, 651<br>767, 486                | 506, 258<br>252, 251<br>660, 956  | 171, 387<br>29, 664<br>507, 017                |
| Total deductions  | 3, 663, 455   | 3, 236, 628                                    | 12 2, 736, 171  | 2, 312, 514                                    | 2, 385, 187   | 1, 867, 148                                    |
| Net income or deficit   | 13, 604, 996  | 20 1, 936, 878                                 | 12 11,655,909   | 20 1, 480, 922                                 | 11, 008, 638  | 20 1, 141, 331                                 |

For footnotes, see pp. 284-287.

Table 14.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net incom 1916-43, and individual returns with no net income, 1928-43; Part I, all return Part II, returns with net income of \$5,000 and over: Number of returns, source of income, deductions, and net income or deficit—Continued

PART I.—ALL RETURNS—Continued [Money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   | 7===   |  | <del></del>  |   |  |  |
|---|--|--|--|---|--|--|
|   | 15   | 934  | 1:   | 935   | 19   | )36  |
| Distribution  | Individual<br>returns and<br>returns of<br>fiduciaries,<br>with net<br>income  |  | returns of   | Individual<br>returns   | returns of   | Individu   |
| Number of returns 24  | 4, 094, 420  | 104, 170   | 4, 575, 012  | 94, 609   | 5, 413, 499  | 73, 2  |
| Sources of income: 24 Salaries, wages, commissions, etc. Business profit Partnership profit 28 Net capital gain 33 Rents and royalties Dividends received 29 Income from fiduciaries 30 Partially tax-exempt interest on Government obligations 31 Other taxable interest. Other income 32 Total income | 8, 600, 455<br>1, 716, 842<br>631, 915<br>211, 319<br>509, 844<br>1, 965, 670<br>288, 730<br>38, 044<br>909, 231<br>220, 910 | 80, 415<br>30, 808<br>12, 137<br>17, 7-5-6<br>59, 225<br>75, 078<br>8, 552<br>2, 224<br>45, 235<br>12, 635 | 9, 900, 578<br>1, 855, 019<br>739, 822<br>509, 714<br>572, 060<br>2, 234, 727<br>328, 978<br>43, 820<br>900, 501<br>231, 286 | 71, 670<br>25, 688<br>9, 514<br>20, 409<br>51, 121<br>53, 608<br>6, 874<br>2, 319<br>32, 985<br>14, 465 | 11, 661, 274<br>2, 374, 258<br>1, 022, 288<br>973, 796<br>685, 063<br>3, 173, 844<br>826, 184<br>43, 627<br>887, 684<br>240, 357 | 57, 0;<br>22, 7;<br>9, 4;<br>22, 45<br>42, 09<br>54, 15<br>8, 73<br>1, 32<br>22, 01<br>8, 49 |
| Deductions: 25  | 15, 092, 960   | 344, 055   | 17,316,505   | 288, 653  | 21,888,373   | 248, 530   |
| Net loss from business Net loss from partnership 28 Net capital loss 32 Interest paid 37 Taxes paid 37 Contributions 33 Other deductions 34 Total deductions Net income or deficit  | 63, 885<br>29, 004<br>183, 762<br>517, 217<br>541, 191<br>272, S22<br>688, 277<br>2, 296, 168                                | 130, 522<br>42, 943<br>27, 274<br>88, 538<br>64, 143<br>6, 994<br>396, 499<br>756, 914                     | 67, 453<br>23, 876<br>145, 728<br>503, 730<br>596, 559<br>305, 155<br>764, 191<br>2, 406, 693                                | 116, 068<br>35, 601<br>21, 616<br>67, 924<br>48, 415<br>4, 998<br>375, 384<br>670, 006                  | 79, 520<br>21, 307<br>129, 704<br>544, 869<br>698, 609<br>385, 838<br>788, 416<br>2, 648, 263                                    | 90, 070<br>28, 190<br>14, 847<br>48, 180<br>38, 850<br>3, 753<br>311, 263<br>535, 161        |

PART I.-ALL RETURNS-Continued

#### [Money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   | 19  | 37   | 19  | 38   | 193   | 39                                      |
|---|---|--|---|--|---|---|
| Distribution  | Individual<br>returns and<br>returns of<br>fiduciaries,<br>with net<br>income | Individual<br>returns<br>with no net<br>income | Individual<br>returns and<br>taxable fidu-<br>ciary returns<br>with net<br>income | Individual<br>returns<br>with no net<br>income | Individual<br>returns and<br>taxable fidu-<br>ciary returns<br>with net<br>income | returns                                 |
| Number of returns 24  | 6, 350, 148   | 83,904   | 6, 203, 657   | 100, 233                                       | 7, 633, 199   | 82, 461                                 |
| Sources of income: 25   |   |  |   |  |   |   |
| Salarics, wages, commissions, etc   | 14, 148, 510<br>2, 493, 426<br>1, 139, 301<br>434, 114                        | 57, 386<br>23, 421<br>10, 885<br>16, 947       | 13, 240, 991<br>2, 349, 344<br>1, 053, 673  | 65, 825<br>25, 954<br>13, 533                  | 16, 440, 923<br>2, 698, 217<br>1, 246, 633  | 49, 677<br>13, 693<br>10, 385           |
| Net short-term capital loss of preceding year deducted 39.  |   |  | ļ   | [  | 21,231  | 371                                     |
| Net short-term capital gain<br>in total income <sup>30</sup><br>Net long-term capital gain <sup>40</sup><br>Net gain from sales of prop-  |   |  | 152, 108<br>324, 795  | 7, 781<br>6, 443                               | 168, 397<br>229, 458  | 6, 152<br>6, 301                        |
| erty other than capital assets 1.  Rents and royalties.  Dividends received 29.  Income from fiduciaries 30.  Partially tax exempt inter- | 758, 444<br>3, 514, 293<br>830, 772   | 40, 146<br>60, 440<br>10, 295                  | 22, 607<br>769, 687<br>2, 372, 459<br>646, 258                                    | 1, 526<br>41, 601<br>89, 424<br>19, 291        | 28, 504<br>812, 447<br>2, 801, 988<br>710, 462                                    | 1, 607<br>34, 218<br>63, 093<br>12, 985 |
| est on Government obli-<br>gations 31   | 47, 955<br>862, 349<br>224, 935   | 1, 563<br>21, 343<br>7, 968                    | 46, 065<br>844, 443<br>233, 019   | 2, 373<br>32, 034<br>12, 983                   | 51, 740<br>864, 095<br>337, 785   | 1, 698<br>22, 148<br>6, 733             |
| Total income  | 24, 454, 099  | 250, 394                                       | 22, 055, 449  | 318, 769                                       | 26, 390, 649  | 228, 690                                |
| Deductions: 25 Net loss from business Net loss from partnership 28 Net capital loss 38 Net long-term capital loss 40                      | 264, 192  | 124, 159<br>40, 034<br>28, 695                 | 99, 263<br>30, 662<br>395, 779  | 142, 717<br>37, 800                            | 100, 895<br>28, 385<br>316, 915   | 122, 076<br>28, 396<br>151, 049         |
| Net loss from sales of prop-<br>erty other than capital<br>assets 11  | 560, 997  | 44.601   | 21, 805<br>509, 093   | 21, 427<br>48, 049                             | 27, 349<br>548, 877   | 27, 755<br>33, 804                      |
| Contributions 33. Losses from fire, storm,  | 837, 272<br>440, 010  | 37, 618<br>4, 919                              | 816, 381<br>407, 419  | 44, 779<br>6, 560                              | 882, 390<br>494, 789  | 34, 196<br>4, 112                       |
| etc. 42  Bad debts 43  Other deductions 34  Amount distributeble to   | 797, 055  | 278, 886                                       | 674, 562  | 179, 374                                       | 18, 635<br>81, 887<br>446, 393  | 7, 593<br>45, 107<br>58, 927            |
| Amount distributable to beneficiaries 44  | 189, 048  |  | 203, 112  |  | 252, 264  |   |
| Total deductions  | 3, 215, 525   | 558, 912                                       | 3, 158, 076   | 672, 925                                       | 3, 198, 778   | 513, 016                                |
| Net income or deficit   | 21, 238, 574  | 20 308, 518                                    | 18, 897, 374  | <sup>20</sup> 354, 156                         | 23, 191, 871  | 20 284, 327                             |

For footnotes, see pp. 284-287.

TABLE 14.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income 1916-43, and individual returns with no net income, 1928-43; Part I, all return: Part II, returns with net income of \$5,000 and over: Number of returns, sources a income, deductions, and net income or deficit—Continued

#### PART I.-ALL RETURNS-Continued

#### [Money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   | 19  | 940  | 19  | 141  | 19  | 1942  |  |  |
|---|---|--|---|--|---|---|--|--|
| Distribution  | Individual<br>returns and<br>taxable<br>fiduciary<br>returns,<br>with net<br>income | Individual<br>returns<br>with no net<br>income | Individual<br>returns and<br>taxable<br>fiduciary<br>returns,<br>with net<br>income | Individual<br>returns<br>with no net<br>income | Individual<br>returns and<br>taxable<br>fiduciary<br>returns.<br>with net<br>income | Individu<br>returns<br>with no ne<br>income |  |  |
| Number of returns 24  | 14.665,462  | 112,697  | 25, 854, 973  | 99, 828  | 36, 537, 593  | 163, 13                                     |  |  |
| Sources of income: 25 Salaries, wages, commis-  |   |  |   |  |   |   |  |  |
| sions, etc  | 27, 653, 985<br>4, 156, 570<br>1, 557, 741  | 53, 276<br>16, 742<br>10, 259                  | 47, 082, 403<br>6, 455, 957<br>2, 292, 262  | 57, 382<br>18, 861<br>12, 577                  | 65, 557, 995<br>9, 286, 126<br>3, 502, 219  | 59, 29<br>23, 40<br>7, 18                   |  |  |
| preceding year deducted 39. Net short-term capital gain   | 5,036   | <b>3</b> 39                                    | 3,977   |  | 836   |   |  |  |
| in total income 30  | 122, 372  | 4, 540   | 136, 083  | 4, 501   |   |   |  |  |
| gain 40   | 271, 380  | 4, 642   | 369, 394  | 4, 333   |   |   |  |  |
| Net gain from sales of prop-  |   |  |   |  | 361, 915  | 6, 70                                       |  |  |
| erty other than capital assets 41 Rents and royalties Dividends received 22 Income from fiduciaries 36 Interest on Government                     | 41, 450<br>1, 194, 134<br>3, 268, 441<br>768, 037                                   | 2, 373<br>35, 813<br>68, 537<br>13, 564        | 68, 339<br>1, 738, 897<br>3, 602, 753<br>769, 885                                   | 2, 417<br>31, 598<br>86, 362<br>14, 548        | 62, 554<br>1, 956, 567<br>3, 099, 138<br>777, 677                                   | 83<br>33, 4<br>23, 9<br>4, 9                |  |  |
| obligations: Partially tax-exempt 81 Taxable 46 Other taxable interest  | 80, 459<br>992, 492   | 1, 260<br>21, 155                              | 107, 639<br>16, 069<br>987, 812   | 2, 076<br>31<br>19, 991                        | 85, 748<br>44, 987<br>917, 013  | 6<br>5<br>13,0                              |  |  |
| Dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations 47 Annuities   | 754, 511  | 7, 423   | 5,057<br>161,850<br>747,437   | 2, 157<br>7, 199                               | 18, 681<br>138, 550<br>639, 701   | 2, 3<br>4, 8                                |  |  |
| Total income  | 40, 861, 570  | 239, 583                                       | 64, 541, 837  | 264,032  | 86, 448, 871  | 181,4                                       |  |  |
| Deductions: 25  |   |  |   |  | <del></del>   |   |  |  |
| Net loss from business<br>Net loss from partnership <sup>28</sup> .<br>Net long-term capital loss <sup>40</sup> .<br>Net loss from sales of capi- | 132, 165<br>29, 050<br>386, 181   | 127, 579<br>25, 463<br>175, 547                | 123, 851<br>32, 182<br>702, 256   | 104, 033<br>24, 173<br>203, 165                | 181, 850<br>38, 343   | 125, 34<br>18, 47                           |  |  |
| tal assets 45<br>Net loss from sales of prop-<br>erty other than capital  | <b>DO 110</b>   | 99.00  | 41 000  |  | 244, 420  | 12, 19                                      |  |  |
| assets 4! Interest paid 37 Taxes paid 37 Contributions 33 Medical and dental ex-  | 38, 118<br>720, 073<br>1, 255, 834<br>734, 645                                      | 33, 087<br>30, 899<br>33, 237<br>5, 347        | 61, 833<br>931, 578<br>1, 641, 395<br>996, 826                                      | 35, 281<br>24, 151<br>30, 329<br>5, 361        | 82, 924<br>1, 149, 354<br>2, 121, 137<br>1, 445, 260                                | 40, 10<br>18, 60<br>27, 13<br>4, 80         |  |  |
| penses 48  Losses from fire, storm,   |   |  |   |  | 651, 255  | 5, 1  |  |  |
| etc. 42<br>Bad debts 43<br>Other deductions 34  | 30, 516<br>92, 457<br>617, 333  | 9, 005<br>45, 585<br>65, 219                   | 56, 935<br>123, 312<br>721, 507   | 12, 639<br>54, 539<br>62, 383                  | 112, 839<br>162, 649<br>1, 160, 874   | 20, 2:<br>31, 2:<br>76, 6:                  |  |  |
| Amount distributable to<br>beneficiaries 4  | 236, 653  |  | 282, 136  |  | 208, 605  |   |  |  |
| Total deductions  | 4, 273, 025   | 550, 968                                       | 5, 673, 812   | 556, 055                                       | 7, 559, 509   | 380, 08                                     |  |  |
| Net income or deficit   | 36, 588, 546  | 20 311, 385                                    | 58, 868, 025  | 20 292, 023                                    | 78, 889, 362  | 20 198, 59                                  |  |  |

# PART I.-ALL RETURNS-Continued

# [Money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  | 194  | 13  |
|--|--|---|
| Distribution   | Individual re-<br>turns and tax-<br>able fiduciary<br>returns, with<br>net income  | Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with no net income                                  |
| Number of returns 24   | 43, 602, 456   | 216, 738  |
| Sources of income: 18 Salaries, wages, commissions, etc. Business profit. Partnership profit 28 Net capital loss, carried over from 1948 46 Net gain from sales of capital assets (after carry-over) 46. Net gain from sales of property other than capital assets 41. Rents and royalties. Income from fiduciaries 30. Dividends received 19. Interest on Government obligations: Partially tax-exempt 31. Taxable 44. Other taxable interest. Annuities. Other income 32. Total income.  | 6, 137, 596 18, 898 882, 394 77, 699 1, 845, 605 833, 801 3, 060, 684 84, 750 76, 283 796, 548 125, 113 591, 223                           | 40, 975 22, 813 15, 265 21, 41 10, 136 721 34, 839 5, 593 35, 546 1, 023 1, 042 11, 089 1, 716 1, 628 |
| Deductions: <sup>15</sup> Net loss from business. Net loss from partnership <sup>24</sup> Net loss from sales of capital assets <sup>35</sup> Net loss from sales of optical assets <sup>36</sup> Net loss from sales of property other than capital assets <sup>41</sup> Interest paid <sup>37</sup> Taxes paid <sup>37</sup> Contributions <sup>38</sup> Medical, dental, etc., expenses <sup>45</sup> Losses from fire, storm, etc. <sup>42</sup> Other deductions <sup>34</sup> Amount distributable to beneficiaries <sup>44</sup> Total deductions | 214, 467<br>41, 715<br>192, 646<br>75, 132<br>1, 047, 170<br>2, 125, 601<br>1, 830, 363<br>785, 047<br>118, 355<br>1, 035, 392<br>246, 576 | 21, 578<br>5, 643<br>14, 526<br>21, 615<br>81, 389<br>8, 022  |
| Not income or deficit  |  | 20 226, 346   |

For footnotes, see pp. 284-287.

Table 14.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1916-43, and individual returns with no net income, 1928-43; Part I, all returns Part II, returns with net income of \$5,000 and over: Number of returns, sources of income, deductions, and net income or deficit—Continued

# PART II.-RETURNS WITH NET INCOME OF \$5,000 AND OVER

#### [Money figures in thousands of dollars]

| Distribution  | 1916   | 1917 23  | 1918  | 1919  | 1920  | 1921   |
|---|--|--|---|---|---|--|
| Number of returns   | 19 272, 252  | 432, 662   | 478, 962  | 657, 659  | 681, 562  | 525, 606   |
| Sources of income: 15 Salaries, wages, commissions, etc. 25 Business profit 27 Partnership profit 28 Profit from sales of real estate, stocks, bonds, etc. Rents and royalties. Dividends received 29 Income from fiduciaries 30 Partially tax-exempt interest on Government obligations 31 Interest and other income 32 Total income | 1, 398, 329<br>2, 386, 905<br>516, 742<br>2, 098, 428<br>365, 326<br>627, 943<br>7, 393, 672 | 1, 794, 790<br>1, 062, 772<br>581, 708<br>217, 929<br>340, 868<br>2, 648, 155<br>822, 480<br>7, 468, 702 | 2, 103, 819<br>1, 148, 297<br>913, 853<br>187, 406<br>386, 474<br>2, 133, 209<br>(49)<br>(49)<br>799, 186 | 2, 948, 006<br>1, 743, 800<br>1, 426, 072<br>677, 284<br>445, 701<br>2, 128, 291<br>(49)<br>62, 571<br>876, 687<br>10, 308, 411 | 3, 367, 516<br>1, 398, 069<br>1, 201, 899<br>623, 993<br>461, 878<br>2, 363, 880<br>(49)<br>60, 432<br>847, 894 | 2, 831, 520<br>816, 040<br>903, 571<br>254, 456<br>420, 932<br>1, 916, 138<br>(49)<br>40, 281<br>732, 697<br>7, 914, 635 |
| Deductions: 23  | -  | <del></del>  |   |   | <del></del>   |  |
| Net loss from sales of real<br>estate, stocks, bonds, etc.<br>Net loss from business n.<br>Net loss from partnership n.<br>Interest paid.   | (51)<br>} (51)   | (81)<br>(81)   | (51)<br>(51)<br>(61)  | (61)<br>(61)  | (61)<br>(81)  | (81)<br>(81)   |
| Taxes paid  | 1, 719, 764  | 186, 907<br>458, 297   | (81)<br>1, 142, 003   | (\$1)<br>(\$1)<br>1, 598, 583   | (51)<br>(52)<br>1, 914, 150   | (51)<br>(51)<br>1, 552, 857  |
| Total deductions  | 1, 719, 764  | 645, 204   | 1, 142, 003   | 1, 598, 583   | 1, 914, 150   | 1, 552, 857  |
| Net income  | 5. 673, 909  | 6, 823, 497  | 6, 530, 241   | 8, 709, 828   | 8, 461, 412   | 6, 361, 778  |

PART II.—RETURNS WITH NET INCOME OF \$5,000 AND OVER—Continued

### [Money figures in thousands of dollars]

| Distribution                                | 1922                                    | 1923 12     | 1924         | 1925         | 1926         | 1927   |
|---|---|-------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--|
| Number of returns                           | 594, 211                                | 614, 403    | 697, 138     | 830, 670     | 894, 868     | 913, 59  |
| Sources of income: 25                       |   |             |              |              |              |  |
| Salaries, wages, commis-                    |   |             | 1            |              |              | 1  |
| sions, etc.26                               | 2, 933, 454                             | 3, 114, 006 | 3, 490, 916  | 4, 033, 811  | 4, 363, 395  | 4, 524, 27   |
| Business profit 27                          | 1, 012, 440                             | 1, 057, 731 | 1, 290, 722  | 1, 623, 638  | 1, 738, 523  | 1, 704, 17   |
| Partnership profit 28                       | 918, 183                                | 921, 851    | 1,112,710    | 1, 422, 799  | 1, 329, 786  | 1, 354, 42   |
| Profit from sales of real es-               |   | /           | 1 -,,        | 2, 122, 100  | 1,020,100    | 1,001,12   |
| tate, stocks, bonds, etc.,                  |   |             |              |              | İ            | ļ  |
| other than taxed as capi-                   |   |             | [            | 1            |              | 1  |
| tal net gain                                | 490, 794                                | 458, 184    | 770, 026     | 1,723,438    | 1, 224, 278  | 1, 511, 85   |
| Capital net gain from sales                 |   |             |              |              |              | 1 ' '  |
| of assets held more than                    | 040 040                                 |             |              |              |              | l .  |
| 2 years 85                                  | 249, 248                                | 305, 394    | 389, 148     | 940, 569     | 912, 918     | 1,081,18   |
| Rents and royalties.  Dividends received 20 | 482, 189                                | 497,624     | 570, 427     | 679, 569     | 689, 981     | 644, 30  |
| Income from fiduciaries 30                  | 2, 173, 499<br>197, 189                 | 2, 435, 137 | 2, 617, 871  | 3, 045, 368  | 3, 581, 362  | 3, 761, 91   |
| Partially tax-exempt in-                    | 197, 189                                | 233, 982    | 206, 972     | 248, 163     | 273, 252     | 329, 35  |
| terest on Government                        |   |             |              |              |              |  |
| obligations 31                              | 30, 962                                 | 30, 465     | 29, 645      | 07.051       | 20 -00       |  |
| Other taxable interest                      | , |             | ,            | 25, 651      | 36, 782      | 47, 479  |
| Other income 32                             | 850, 935                                | 864, 514    | 932, 324     | 1,084,120    | 1, 217, 681  | $\{\begin{array}{c} 1,115,924\\ 185,096 \end{array}$ |
| Total income                                | 9, 338, 893                             | 9, 918, 886 | 11, 410, 761 | 14, 827, 127 | 15, 367, 957 | 16, 259, 984   |
| Deductions: 25                              |   |             |              |              |              |  |
| Net loss from sales of real                 |   |             |              |              |              | 1  |
| estate, stocks, bonds, etc.                 | (51)                                    | (51)        | (51)         | (81)         | 122, 409     | 100 40   |
| Capital net loss 36                         |   | (-)         | (51)         | (51)         | (51)         | 136, 482<br>(51)                                     |
| Net loss from business 27                   | \ (81)                                  | (44)        | ` ′          | . ,          | ٠, /         | ` '  |
| Net loss from partnership 28                | } (**)                                  | (51)        | (81)         | (51)         | (51)         | (51)   |
| Interest paid                               | (61)                                    | (51)        | (51)         | /e.\         | 444          | ( (\$1)  |
| Taxes paid 37                               | ) '' 1                                  |             |              | (51)         | (51)         | 440.974  |
| Contributions 33                            | 211,863                                 | 238, 378    | 254, 072     | 293, 401     | 326, 511     | 353, 188   |
| Other deductions 34                         | 1, 323, 007                             | 1, 391, 835 | 1, 405, 532  | 1,756,030    | 1,691,377    | 1, 265, 148  |
| Total deductions                            | 1, 534, 871                             | 1, 630, 214 | 1, 659, 605  | 2, 049, 431  | 2, 140, 298  | 2, 195, 792  |
| Net income                                  | 7, 804, 022                             | 8, 288, 672 | 9, 751, 156  | 12,777,696   | 13, 227, 659 | 14, 064, 193   |

For footnotes, see pp. 284-287.

Table 14.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income 1916-43, and individual returns with no net income, 1928-43; Part I, all return returns with net income of \$5,000 and over: Number of returns, sources income, deductions, and net income or deficit—Continued

PART II.—RETURNS WITH NET INCOME OF \$5,000 AND OVER—Continued

# [Money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |   | figures in t   | housan  | ds of do                                     | llars]   |  | rm ne(t  |
|--|---|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| Distribution   | 1928  | 1929   |   | 1930   | 1931   |  |  |
| Number of returns  | 1,010,88  | 87 1, 032, 0   |   |  |  | 1932   | 1933   |
| Sources of income: 25 Salaries, wages, commissions etc.  |   | -, (4)2, (   |   | 810, 431                                     | 590, 2   | 356,   | 442 331,   |
| Business profit : Partnership profit :s Profit from sales of real estate, stocks, bonds, etc. other than taxed as  | 5, 008, 28<br>1, 772, 25<br>1, 583, 32                      | 5 1,836,3<br>2 1,497,9   | 29 1,   | 407, 606<br>215, 452<br>786, 931             | 3, 320, 0<br>766, 7<br>492, 1  | 30 354,4   | 254 1, 838,  |
| of assets held more than   | 2, 700, 557<br>1, 879, 780                                  | -, -, -, -,  |   | 527, 653                                     | 196, 57  | 71, 64   | 308, 7   |
| Rents and royalties Dividends received <sup>30</sup> Income from fiduciaries <sup>30</sup> Partially tax-exempt interest on Government obligations <sup>31</sup> | 637, 371<br>4, 009, 915<br>364, 889                         | 649, 12  | $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 3 \\ 3, 7 \end{bmatrix}$ | 556, 392<br>179, 401<br>108, 656<br>138, 400 | 169, 94<br>306, 336<br>2, 583, 674<br>280, 627                                     | 160, 24  | 4 124, 14<br>5 1 100 8   |
| Other taxable interest. Other income 32  Total income  | 1, 230, 178<br>196, 111<br>19, 423, 216                     | 40, 184<br>1, 257, 590<br>190, 110   | 1, 01   | 38, 134<br>18, 001<br>30, 191                | 25, 325<br>749, 345<br>120, 845  | 526 541  | 400.70   |
| Net loss from color  |   | 19, 710, 168   | 13, 20  | 6, 817                                       | 9, 011, 581  | 5, 369, 646  | -1   |
| Capital net loss 38 Net loss from business Net loss from partnership 28 Interest paid 37 Taxes paid 37 Contributions 33 Other deductions 34  Total deductions    | 866, 058<br>475, 422<br>390, 923<br>604, 987<br>2, 467, 255 | \$\\ 632, 693  (31)  886, 187  479, 100  384, 458 631, 836  3, 014, 274  6, 695, 895 | 105<br>574<br>407<br>286                      |  | 813, 503<br>72, 125<br>373, 603<br>294, 165<br>202, 979<br>313, 579<br>4, 069, 948 | 174, 627<br>46, 972<br>250, 844<br>230, 543<br>139, 846<br>283, 046<br>1, 125, 878 | 152, 959<br>26, 792<br>15, 597<br>208, 311<br>200, 078<br>111, 219<br>245, 065<br>960, 022 |
| or footnotes, see pp. 284-287.   |   | , 220, 000   | 10, 521,                                      | 088 6,                                       | , 941, 633   | 4, 243, 768  | 4, 147, 517  |

PART II.—RETURNS WITH NET INCOME OF \$5,000 AND OVER-Continued

[Money figures in thousands of dollars]

| Distribution   | 1934  | 1935  | 1936   | 1937   | 1938   | 1939  |
|--|---|---|--|--|--|---|
| Number of returns  | 422, 647  | 500, 115  | 677,011  | 705, 033   | 592, 446   | 693, 590  |
| Sources of income: 25 Salaries, wages, commissions, etc. Business profit. Partuership profit 25 Net capital gain 35 Net short-term capital loss of   | 2, 300, 256<br>568, 689<br>438, 066<br>160, 218 | 2, 708, 879<br>687, 467<br>531, 620<br>399, 918 | 3, 493, 623<br>1, 021, 608<br>791, 010<br>806, 916 | 3, 819, 979<br>1, 062, 875<br>827, 058<br>325, 270                         | 3, 309, 286<br>856, 740<br>702, 317                                      | 3, 714, 025<br>1, 071, 024<br>860, 453  |
| preceding year deducted 39   |   |   |  |  |  | 17,007  |
| in total income 39   |   |   |  |  | 101, 822   | 115, 284  |
| Net long-term capital  |   |   |  |  | 282, 712   | 180, <b>4</b> 34  |
| Net gain from sales of property other than capital assets 41.  Rents and royalties.  Dividends received 42.  Income from fiduciaries 40.  Partially tax-exempt inter-                          | 165, 786<br>1, 585, 042<br>203, 854             | 198, 210<br>1, 814, 184<br>232, 324             | 271, 556<br>2, 583, 888<br>691, 024                | 324, 869<br>2, 780, 529<br>703, 920  | 9, 953<br>298, 349<br>1, 662, 511<br>503, 905                            | 13, 421<br>323, 491<br>2, 030, 020<br>591, 112  |
| est on Government obli-<br>gations *1. Other taxable interest Other income *2  | 38, 044<br>453, 480<br>99, 226                  | 43, 820<br>448, 022<br>123, 234                 | 43, 627<br>445, 355<br>108, 784                    | 47, 955<br>431, 923<br>91, 931   | 46, 065<br>350, 031<br>80, 427   | 51, 740<br>367, 806<br>76, 672  |
| Total income   | 6, 012, 662                                     | 7, 187, 678                                     | 10, 257, 390                                       | 10, 416, 309   | 8, 204, 120  | 9, 395, 482   |
| Deductions: 25  Net loss from business  Net loss from partnership 28  Net capital loss 31  Net long-term capital loss 90  Net loss from sales of prop-   | 29, 753<br>15, 178<br>90, 968                   | 33, 713<br>13, 113<br>68, 981                   | 45, 125<br>12, 551<br>62, 828                      | 54, 680<br>16, 535<br>139, 832   | 48, 185<br>15, 377<br>246, 213   | 49, 816<br>16, 203<br>195, 107  |
| erty other than capital as- sets 41 Interest paid 37 Taxes paid 37 Contributions 33 Losses from fire, storm, etc. 43 Bad debts 42 Other deductions 34 Amount distributable to beneficiaries 44 | 231, 267<br>232, 490<br>129, 650<br>282, 591    | 240, 731<br>267, 571<br>148, 180<br>319, 993    | 285, 260<br>363, 986<br>.202, 147<br>400, 864      | 265, 243<br>431, 620<br>218, 614<br>( (31)<br>(61)<br>368, 195<br>105, 529 | 9, 503<br>209, 986<br>381, 403<br>177, 207<br>(\$1)<br>(\$1)<br>247, 306 | 11, 858-<br>222, 578-<br>392, 102-<br>210, 003<br>8, 797-<br>51, 380-<br>170, 759-<br>92, 687 |
| Total deductions   | 1, 011, 898                                     | 1, 092, 283                                     | 1, 362, 762  | 1, 600, 248  | 1, 405, 932  | 1, 421, 289   |
| Net income   | 5,000,764                                       | 6, 095, 394                                     | 8, 894, 628  | 8, 816, 061  | 6, 798, 188  | 7, 974, 192:  |

For footnotes, see pp. 284-287.

Table 14.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1914, and individual returns with no net income, 1928-43; Part I, all returns, Pall, returns with net income of \$5,000 and over: Number of returns, sources of i come, deductions, and net income or deficit—Continued

PART II.—RETURNS WITH NET INCOME OF \$5,000 AND OVER—Continued

[Money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  | <del></del>        | <del></del>  |              |            |
|--|--------------------|--------------|--------------|------------|
|  | 1940               | 1941         | 1942         | 1943       |
| Number of returns  | 779, 929           | 949, 350     | 1, 177, 100  | 1, 616,    |
| Sources of income: 25  |                    |              |              | 1, 010,    |
| Salaries, wages, commissions, etc.   | 4 000 075          |              | 1            | 1          |
| Business profit Partnership profit <sup>26</sup>   | 4, 263, 275        | 5, 278, 020  | 6, 379, 385  | 7, 734,    |
| Partnership profit 26  | 1, 289, 159        | 2,054,921    | 3, 098, 702  | 4, 575,    |
| Net short-term capital loss of preceding year deducted 39  |                    | 1,660,324    | 2,606,700    | 4,005,     |
| Net short-term capital gain in total income 3  | 01,001             | 3, 739       | 661          |            |
| Net long-term capital gain 40  | 017 017            | 88, 316      |              |            |
| INCL CUDILLU LOSS CATTLEA OPET ITOM 10/9 45  |                    | 299, 332     |              |            |
| Net gain from sales of capital sssets (after carry-  | 1                  |              |              | 10,        |
| Net gain from sales of property other than capital assets 41.  |                    |              | 264, 236     | 658,       |
| Rents and royalting  | 17, 301            | 27, 173      | 21, 511      | 22,        |
| Rents and royalties<br>Income from fiduciaries <sup>30</sup>   | 361, 415           | 420, 282     | 495, 541     | 614.       |
| Dividends received 20  | 639, 995           | 640, 848     | 637, 142     | 658.       |
| interest on Government obligations:  |                    | 2, 370, 840  | 2, 117, 318  | 2, 254,    |
| Partially tax-exempt 31  | 51, 695            | 49, 207      | 42,097       | 49.        |
| Taxable 46   |                    | 4, 422       | 19, 428      | 46,        |
| Other taxable interest.  Dividends on share accounts in Federal savings  | 1                  | 345, 506     | 361, 692     | 372,       |
| and loan associations 47   | h                  | 1 4,607      | 8, 515       | (53)       |
|  | }} 96,407          | 31,143       | 32, 605      | 37,        |
| Other income 32  | 1                  | 159, 378     | 123, 551     | 123,       |
| Total income   | 10, 649, 074       | 13, 434, 321 | 16, 208, 422 | 21, 152,   |
| eductions: 25  |                    |              | =====        |            |
| Net loss from business   | EE 000             | 20.015       |              | l          |
| Net loss from partnership <sup>28</sup> Net long-term capital loss <sup>40</sup> Net loss from sales of capital assets <sup>45</sup> | 55, 826<br>14, 809 | 62, 047      | 66, 195      | 91, 2      |
| Net long-term capital loss 40  | 240, 911           | 18,775       | 19, 413      | 22, 9      |
|  | 240, 911           | 423, 039     |              |            |
| Net loss from sales of property other than capital   |                    |              | 92, 811      | 75, 8      |
|  | 14, 738            | 22, 004      | 29, 269      |            |
|  | 225, 629           | 237, 164     | 240, 501     | 32, 8      |
|  | ا تیت'ممنا         | 473, 306     | 539, 207     | 227, 3     |
| Contributions as   | 9/1 150            | 280, 803     | 334, 834     | 567, 8     |
|  |                    | 200, 000     | 48, 260      | 447,4      |
| Losses from fire, storm, etc.42  | 14.322             | 13, 917      | 16, 988      | 59, 7      |
| Bad debts 43   | 52, 130            | 63, 537      | 64, 263      | 19, 2      |
| Other deductions 34  | 175, 785           | 188, 871     | 247, 858     | 291, 9     |
| Bad debts 42 Other deductions 34 Amount distributable to beneficiaries 44  |                    | 95, 415      | 73, 005      | 96, 4      |
| Total deductions   | 1, 545, 526        | 1, 878, 877  | 1, 772, 605  | 1, 932, 6  |
| Net income.  | 9, 103, 547        | 11, 555, 444 | 14, 435, 817 | 19, 220, 0 |

Table 15.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1934-43, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, and total tax

### [Money figures in thousands of dollars]

| Year   | Number of returns  | Net in-<br>come 2  | Total tax  | Number of returns  | Net in-<br>come <sup>2</sup>   | Total tax   | Number of returns  | Net in-<br>come <sup>2</sup>  | Total tax   | Number of returns   | Net in-<br>come 2   | Total tax   |  |
|--|--|--|--|--|--|---|--|---|---|---|---|---|--|
|  |  | United State   | es   |  | Alabama  |   | Alaska   |   |   | Arizona   |   |   |  |
| 1934   | 14, 665, 462<br>25, 854, 973   | 12, 796, 802<br>14, 909, 812<br>19, 240, 110<br>21, 238, 574<br>18, 897, 374<br>23, 191, 871<br>36, 588, 546<br>58, 868, 025<br>78, 889, 362<br>99, 482, 206 | 511, 400<br>657, 439<br>1, 214, 017<br>1, 141, 569<br>928, 394<br>1, 495, 930<br>3, 905, 625<br>48, 926, 712<br>51 14, 587, 669<br>55 17, 121, 265 | 23, 072<br>26, 141<br>31, 712<br>39, 959<br>39, 261<br>49, 243<br>99, 990<br>209, 344<br>384, 860<br>524, 821                    | 69, 229<br>80, 444<br>106, 648<br>130, 127<br>116, 163<br>150, 021<br>248, 276<br>472, 168<br>807, 380<br>1, 027, 404                            | 1, 407<br>1, 702<br>3, 435<br>4, 156<br>2, 715<br>3, 789<br>7, 774<br>28, 323<br>34 77, 356<br>31 123, 504<br>55 147, 261                   | (56)<br>(36)<br>(46)<br>(55)<br>(56)<br>(56)<br>(6, 982<br>13, 956<br>25, 702<br>39, 159<br>(56)               | (56)<br>(50)<br>(50)<br>(50)<br>(50)<br>(50)<br>17, 669<br>31, 382<br>53, 281<br>100, 516<br>(50)                   | (50)<br>(58)<br>(55)<br>(35)<br>(36)<br>(36)<br>308<br>553<br>2, 420<br>54 13, 267<br>(50)<br>(56)                        | 11, 378<br>13, 941<br>16, 842<br>20, 809<br>20, 532<br>26, 073<br>42, 932<br>76, 101<br>132, 647<br>162, 021        | 29, 803<br>38, 298<br>51, 444<br>62, 432<br>56, 564<br>69, 348<br>101, 476<br>168, 460<br>284, 079<br>347, 733                | 39;<br>614<br>1, 421<br>1, 51;<br>1, 04;<br>1, 29;<br>2, 20;<br>8, 94;<br>34 31, 42;<br>84 48, 63;<br>55 59, 24;                  |  |
|  | Arkansas   |  |  |  | California   |   |  | Colorado  |   |   | Connecticut   |   |  |
| 1934<br>1935<br>1936<br>1937<br>1937<br>1938<br>1939<br>1940<br>1941 | 13. 318<br>14, 085<br>16, 557<br>18, 502<br>19, 720<br>23, 203<br>49, 608<br>99, 264<br>186, 631<br>{ 255, 559 | 38, 886<br>43, 351<br>61, 157<br>64, 054<br>63, 377<br>75, 669<br>124, 787<br>239, 990<br>383, 152<br>470, 197   | 678<br>797<br>2, 074<br>1, 934<br>1, 577<br>1, 902<br>3, 502<br>16, 480<br>44 38, 519<br>54 55, 614<br>55 67, 247                                  | 315, 766<br>367, 757<br>436, 128<br>510, 224<br>526, 593<br>631, 218<br>1, 205, 853<br>2, 056, 686<br>2, 836, 783<br>3, 582, 800 | 968, 067<br>1, 172, 303<br>1, 494, 599<br>1, 677, 450<br>1, 585, 720<br>1, 892, 885<br>2, 911, 718<br>4, 602, 200<br>6, 303, 059<br>8, 897, 147, | 33, 380<br>42, 033<br>76, 428<br>74, 836<br>60, 127<br>60, 313<br>95, 024<br>296, 062<br>51, 771, 916<br>54, 1, 478, 665<br>55, 1, 725, 530 | 31, 232<br>33, 475<br>40, 332<br>45, 371<br>42, 132<br>55, 274<br>109, 226<br>178, 629<br>280, 742<br>336, 172 | 94, 502<br>108, 379<br>146, 499<br>156, 162<br>130, 642<br>164, 978<br>266, 828<br>387, 202<br>586, 460<br>736, 507 | 3, 282<br>4, 057<br>8, 935<br>9, 010<br>5, 783<br>6, 134<br>9, 066<br>23, 909<br>54 66, 622<br>41 102, 802<br>55 121, 395 | 91, 352<br>100, 898<br>121, 805<br>145, 363<br>132, 395<br>167, 869<br>331, 727<br>591, 604<br>738, 943<br>807, 224 | 288, 693<br>340, 303<br>439, 106<br>484, 984<br>409, 629<br>527, 467<br>855, 452<br>1, 404, 359<br>1, 841, 778<br>2, 069, 610 | 12, 32;<br>17, 22;<br>35, 98;<br>34, 89;<br>20, 90<br>27, 68;<br>45, 53;<br>110, 59;<br>54 254, 04;<br>54 349, 46;<br>55 415, 70; |  |

|  |   | Delaware   |  | Dis  | District of Columbia   |  |  | Florida  |   |  | Georgia   |  |  |
|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|---|--|---|--|--|
| 1934<br>1935<br>1936<br>1937<br>1938<br>1939<br>1940<br>1941<br>1942<br>1943 | 11, 371<br>13, 739<br>16, 836<br>17, 061<br>20, 658<br>38, 422  | 55, 073<br>64, 760<br>96, 695<br>104, 342<br>85, 395<br>118, 686<br>156, 874<br>196, 183<br>243, 699<br>266, 765         | 9, 312<br>11, 402<br>25, 539<br>25, 219<br>14, 339<br>28, 064<br>32, 987<br>37, 654<br>43, 530<br>4 58, 062<br>55 68, 522  | 82, 871<br>95, 271<br>106, 863<br>110, 689<br>113, 869<br>115, 081<br>162, 095<br>250, 954<br>363, 637<br>354, 247 | 234, 925<br>268, 667<br>327, 468<br>329, 916<br>321, 128<br>346, 905<br>428, 901<br>597, 870<br>805, 241<br>838, 869   | 5, 654<br>7, 176<br>13, 291<br>11, 630<br>9, 696<br>10, 655<br>16, 132<br>45, 523<br>54 106, 499<br>54 139, 366<br>55 165, 439 | 32, 550<br>38, 021<br>44, 048<br>52, 417<br>56, 401<br>71, 514<br>139, 786<br>239, 019<br>406, 036<br>547, 658                   | 112, 103<br>144, 693<br>197, 705<br>234, 631<br>218, 938<br>264, 895<br>400, 773<br>603, 598<br>872, 941<br>1, 235, 962                            | 5, 597<br>8, 933<br>18, 608<br>21, 287<br>16, 005<br>17, 521<br>27, 896<br>54, 299<br>54 106, 706<br>51 192, 827<br>65 224, 113             | 38, 137<br>46, 702<br>49, 512<br>56, 768<br>58, 309<br>69, 914<br>129, 411<br>256, 867<br>415, 774<br>616, 960           | 122, 612<br>150, 963<br>181, 626<br>205, 053<br>194, 543<br>237, 107<br>360, 654<br>604, 988<br>878, 950<br>1, 216, 877       | 3, 104<br>4. 149<br>8. 479<br>8. 370<br>6, 901<br>8, 581<br>14, 633<br>41, 700<br>54 100, 825<br>54 158, 764<br>55 187, 348    |  |
|  | Hawaii  |  |  | Idaho  |  |  | Illinois   |  |   | Indiana  |   |  |  |
| 1934<br>1935<br>1936<br>1937<br>1938<br>1939<br>1940<br>1941<br>1942         | 11, 252<br>13, 262<br>15, 214<br>17, 394<br>19, 048<br>22, 873<br>42, 952<br>99, 426<br>164, 583<br>{ | 37, 516<br>46, 902<br>58, 738<br>64, 825<br>62, 684<br>73, 190<br>110, 279<br>222, 663<br>419, 956<br>420, 058           | 1, 563<br>2, 396<br>4, 408<br>3, 709<br>2, 632<br>2, 591<br>4, 534<br>13, 356<br>54 51, 292<br>54 72, 866<br>55 86, 130    | 8, 932<br>11, 005<br>14, 201<br>15, 683<br>13, 245<br>16, 917<br>43, 430<br>74, 915<br>121, 153<br>153, 338        | 23, 637<br>29, 803<br>41, 693<br>43, 335<br>34, 271<br>41, 983<br>83, 678<br>152, 923<br>243, 944<br>321, 552          | 282<br>351<br>752<br>693<br>442<br>623<br>1, 138<br>5, 940<br>424, 187<br>54 37, 278<br>55 45, 742                             | 310, 456<br>345, 857<br>418, 303<br>505, 050<br>498, 614<br>614, 599<br>1, 272, 565<br>2, 081, 848<br>2, 723, 405<br>3, 095, 347 | 1, 006, 928<br>1, 171, 834<br>1, 599, 035<br>1, 804, 785<br>1, 626, 760<br>1, 938, 296<br>3, 315, 370<br>4, 871, 224<br>5, 944, 257<br>7, 330, 077 | 40, 399<br>51, 134<br>102, 036<br>103, 228<br>69, 737<br>81, 396<br>134, 254<br>345, 082<br>54 692, 848<br>54 1, 138, 887<br>55 1, 336, 093 | 69, 623<br>82, 436<br>103, 303<br>132, 218<br>122, 018<br>156, 404<br>352, 182<br>683, 411<br>1, 002, 578<br>1, 187, 837 | 198, 443<br>245, 980<br>332, 021<br>401, 914<br>344, 431<br>448, 824<br>813, 412<br>1, 472, 442<br>2, 053, 094<br>2, 642, 560 | 6, 882<br>8, 487<br>15, 648<br>15, 705<br>10, 243<br>14, 782<br>24, 227<br>76, 461<br>54 190, 217<br>43 43, 939<br>55 401, 902 |  |
|  | Iowa  |  | . Kansas   |  |  | Kentucky   |  |  | Louisiana   |  |   |  |  |
| 1934<br>1935<br>1936<br>1937<br>1937<br>1938<br>1940<br>1940<br>1941<br>1942 |   | 119, 454<br>148, 526<br>184, 118<br>196, 771<br>191, 017<br>241, 287<br>477, 609<br>803, 533<br>, 244, 655<br>, 495, 674 | 2, 006<br>2, 791<br>4, 841<br>4, 886<br>3, 498<br>4, 695<br>8, 501<br>30, 208<br>34 109, 457<br>34 175, 660<br>35 205, 997 | 35, 600<br>39, 492<br>47, 374<br>53, 182<br>52, 027<br>60, 527<br>129, 473<br>255, 045<br>444, 936<br>526, 652     | 91, 868<br>111, 404<br>145, 617<br>154, 317<br>133, 806<br>157, 366<br>266, 464<br>520, 241<br>867, 304<br>1, 104, 144 | 1, 499 2, 042 3, 945 4, 051 2, 658 2, 962 5, 266 23, 909 54 78, 483 54 137, 093 55 161, 208                                    | 35, 333<br>39, 763<br>45, 189<br>51, 192<br>53, 701<br>64, 748<br>131, 909<br>262, 107<br>413, 714<br>539, 761                   | 107, 390<br>125, 101<br>157, 007<br>168, 059<br>159, 636<br>185, 601<br>321, 065<br>567, 446<br>823, 624<br>1, 168, 163                            | 2, 727<br>3, 742<br>6, 582<br>5, 723<br>4, 530<br>4, 905<br>9, 175<br>28, 998<br>54 72, 980<br>54 161, 893<br>55 189, 026                   | 36, 871<br>40, 123<br>43, 728<br>54, 519<br>59, 127<br>70, 752<br>128, 202<br>230, 930<br>380, 000<br>547, 907           | 106, 168<br>122, 582<br>160, 055<br>191, 659<br>192, 258<br>228, 246<br>324, 676<br>525, 798<br>734, 200<br>1, 119, 693       | 2, 297 3, 066 8, 395 8, 172 6, 513 7, 304 11, 162 34, 083 54 84, 800 54 147, 135 55 172, 324                                   |  |

STATISTICS OF INCOME FOR 1943, PART 1

Table 15.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1934-48, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, and total tax—Continued

# [Money figures in thousands of dollars]

| Year | Number of returns  | Net in-<br>come <sup>2</sup>   | Total tax  | Number of returns  | Net in-<br>come ?   | Total tax   | Number of returns   | Net in-<br>come 2  | Total tax  | Number of returns   | Net in-<br>come <sup>2</sup>  | Total tax   |  |
|------|--|--|--|--|---|---|---|--|--|---|---|---|--|
|      |  | Maine  |  |  | Maryland  |   |   | Massachusetts  |  |   | Michigan  |   |  |
| 1934 | 21, 826<br>25, 057<br>28, 123<br>27, 001<br>32, 296<br>70, 776                 | 63, 205<br>69, 455<br>88, 859<br>95, 105<br>97, 912<br>96, 704<br>157, 545<br>292, 822<br>445, 089<br>559, 376               | 2, 208<br>2, 568<br>5, 181<br>5, 222<br>8, 059<br>3, 670<br>5, 689<br>15, 095<br>443, 338<br>467, 630<br>45 78, 117          | 84, 395<br>92, 550<br>105, 673<br>133, 183<br>135, 800<br>161, 367<br>285, 629<br>508, 679<br>716, 430<br>841, 827 | 282, 624<br>316, 888<br>391, 589<br>457, 052<br>423, 888<br>516, 644<br>723, 501<br>1, 211, 128<br>1, 618, 930<br>1, 962, 755 | 11, 040<br>12, 013<br>21, 594<br>21, 500<br>15, 225<br>18, 565<br>28, 290<br>81, 415<br>4186, 169<br>4288, 615<br>53 339, 481 | 242, 728<br>257, 495<br>284, 320<br>314, 390<br>302, 590<br>378, 791<br>670, 697<br>1, 177, 572<br>1, 515, 858<br>1, 724, 818 | 737, 045<br>825, 327<br>988, 904<br>1, 053, 823<br>868, 968<br>1, 141, 825<br>1, 711, 247<br>2, 596, 823<br>3, 247, 461<br>3, 915, 863 | 24, 624<br>31, 804<br>58, 876<br>52, 382<br>28, 746<br>42, 412<br>68, 768<br>171, 174<br>4 369, 519<br>4 580, 528<br>55 683, 786 | 139, 329<br>173, 799<br>239, 363<br>308, 486<br>275, 425<br>374, 013<br>762, 766<br>1, 371, 278<br>1, 785, 117<br>2, 041, 832 | 418, 569<br>568, 270<br>862, 578<br>984, 736<br>807, 130<br>1, 046, 909<br>1, 953, 151<br>3, 369, 744<br>4, 461, 566<br>5, 485, 135 | 14, 866<br>28, 319<br>60, 303<br>51, 495<br>29, 512<br>40, 142<br>78, 566<br>220, 616<br>54 547, 734<br>58 860, 385<br>58 1, 011, 239 |  |
|      |  | Minnesota  |  | Mississippi  |   |   | Missouri  |  |  | Montana   |   |   |  |
| 1934 | 72, 258<br>86, 294<br>107, 560<br>108, 506<br>131, 798<br>303, 934<br>510, 632 | 196, 345<br>222, 818<br>296, 979<br>321, 71<br>299, 992<br>364, 388<br>647, 370<br>1, 044, 556<br>1, 359, 158<br>1, 736, 311 | 5, 258<br>6, 673<br>13, 677<br>11, 909<br>8, 870<br>11, 121<br>17, 743<br>51, 947<br>4 122, 357<br>4 210, 693<br>55 244, 595 | 12, 507<br>13, 570<br>16, 296<br>17, 823<br>19, 881<br>24, 269<br>47, 732<br>92, 262<br>165, 731<br>223, 706       | 32, 578<br>36, 879<br>54, 517<br>55, 868<br>57, 872<br>73, 096<br>117, 403<br>224, 439<br>346, 881<br>430, 315                | 480<br>870<br>1,740<br>1,542<br>1,138<br>1,548<br>2,844<br>14,693<br>54 37,410<br>84 54,570<br>85 67,654                      | 98, 125<br>110, 370<br>130, 521<br>145, 457<br>144, 496<br>168, 793<br>329, 338<br>593, 756<br>898, 520<br>1, 105, 416        | 306, 041<br>358, 068<br>462, 885<br>491, 815<br>452, 816<br>525, 689<br>801, 641<br>1, 343, 747<br>1, 843, 671<br>2, 296, 333          | 9, 354<br>12, 426<br>24, 211<br>23, 083<br>18, 766<br>20, 423<br>31, 845<br>87, 271<br>54 197, 961<br>64 309, 593<br>55 362, 203 | 16, 825<br>19, 924<br>23, 916<br>30, 468<br>28, 037<br>36, 277<br>65, 985<br>105, 770<br>150, 523<br>163, 443                 | 46, 594<br>56, 720<br>68, 788<br>79, 583<br>71, 827<br>94, 463<br>145, 148<br>226, 276<br>310, 491<br>358, 241                      | 636<br>981<br>1, 411<br>1, 228<br>1, 020<br>1, 456<br>2, 474<br>9, 729<br>4 32, 110<br>4 44, 143<br>5 53, 722                         |  |

|  |   | Nebraska  | ·  |   | Nevada   |  | N  | ew Hampshi  | ire  |  | New Jersey   |  |  |
|--|---|---|--|---|--|--|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| 21 1934<br>20 1935<br>21 1936<br>21 1937<br>1938<br>1940<br>1940<br>1941<br>1942<br>1943 | 26, 781<br>31, 253<br>36, 887<br>40, 629<br>39, 393<br>47, 610<br>106, 211<br>181, 543<br>323, 138<br>392, 710                  | 77, 236<br>93, 113<br>115, 138<br>120, 277<br>111, 243<br>134, 126<br>227, 087<br>361, 131<br>613, 789<br>793, 772                            | 1, 439<br>1, 796<br>3, 222<br>2, 951<br>2, 328<br>2, 711<br>4, 860<br>15, 971<br>54 54, 917<br>54 94, 907                                | 5, 321<br>6, 441<br>7, 554<br>8, 944<br>8, 987<br>11, 089<br>20, 716<br>38, 911<br>59, 173<br>68, 667                                     | 15, 237<br>20, 681<br>27, 045<br>31, 635<br>28, 129<br>34, 248<br>53, 240<br>87, 994<br>137, 218<br>158, 379 | 528<br>1. 354<br>2, 226<br>2, 440<br>1. 719<br>1, 928<br>3, 194<br>6, 468<br>54 17, 947<br>54 26, 026<br>55 31, 749                                | 16, 785<br>17, 687<br>19, 664<br>21, 641<br>21, 118<br>26, 010<br>53, 634<br>103, 249<br>147, 007<br>166, 447  | 48, 267<br>51, 554<br>62, 820<br>68, 046<br>59, 704<br>73, 902<br>117, 785<br>205, 392<br>279, 946<br>334, 787          | 1, 348<br>1, 435<br>3, 059<br>3, 230<br>1, 855<br>2, 626<br>3, 764<br>10, 496<br>64 24, 151<br>64 38, 354<br>65 45, 394      | 210, 683<br>223, 489<br>260, 328<br>297, 053<br>302, 957<br>388, 932<br>734, 292<br>1, 221, 792<br>1, 515, 691<br>1, 729, 830    | 686, 065<br>737, 155<br>928, 153<br>1, 001, 637<br>928, 771<br>1, 185, 305<br>1, 850, 604<br>2, 895, 069<br>3, 319, 236<br>4, 196, 078             | 29. 121<br>34. 604<br>54, 395<br>51, 564<br>36. 806<br>47, 479<br>74, 722<br>190, 565<br>54 375, 399<br>54 620, 187<br>55 724, 392         |  |
| ı  |   | New Mexico  |  |   | New York   |  |  | North Carolina  |  |  | North Dakota   |  |  |
| 1934<br>1935<br>1936<br>1937<br>1933<br>1939<br>1940<br>1941<br>1942                     | 7, 647<br>9, 272<br>11, 222<br>13, 596<br>13, 726<br>17, 178<br>29, 168<br>52, 018<br>81, 083<br>{ 104, 076                     | 20, 108<br>25, 400<br>34, 953<br>42, 469<br>39, 486<br>49, 685<br>71, 150<br>18, 440<br>169, 103<br>219, 684                                  | 278<br>365<br>800<br>1, 141<br>829<br>1, 361<br>2, 026<br>6, 530<br>54 18, 141<br>64 27, 623<br>55 33, 434                               | 807, 818<br>852, 076<br>976, 939<br>1, 070, 628<br>1, 065, 103<br>1, 294, 244<br>2, 180, 949<br>3, 470, 004<br>4, 453, 391<br>5, 268, 341 | 12, 910, 306   | 166, 790<br>202, 971<br>348, 687<br>296, 063<br>186, 357<br>215, 923<br>323, 155<br>685, 149<br>54 1, 339, 959<br>54 2, 163, 443<br>55 2, 532, 377 | 32, 305<br>35, 813<br>42, 075<br>48, 645<br>50, 481<br>61, 019<br>128, 582<br>277, 997<br>504, 872<br>668, 111 | 112, 914<br>124, 880<br>156, 362<br>175, 495<br>163, 558<br>193, 275<br>312, 865<br>604, 724<br>934, 111<br>1, 186, 994 | 6, 281<br>6, 419<br>10, 499<br>10, 582<br>7, 774<br>9, 163<br>14, 022<br>39, 186<br>54 84, 378<br>54 141, 284<br>55 167, 138 | 9, 733<br>10, 039<br>10, 809<br>11, 408<br>11, 457<br>13, 958<br>39, 235<br>88, 219<br>127, 323<br>157, 435                      | 22, 352<br>23, 077<br>26, 705<br>28, 352<br>27, 447<br>32, 695<br>75, 195<br>150, 679<br>219, 669<br>202, 670                                      | 184<br>191<br>352<br>359<br>280<br>342<br>754<br>3,704<br>\$4 14,441<br>\$4 30,412<br>\$5 35,013   |  |
|  |   | Ohio  |  | Oklahoma  |  |  | Oregon   |   |  | Pennsylvania   |  |  |  |
| 1934   | 209, 589<br>246, 888<br>308, 789<br>384, 077<br>345, 903<br>442, 048<br>905, 162<br>1, 691, 662<br>2, 273, 920<br>{ 2, 690, 274 | 631, 348<br>766, 529<br>1, 078, 986<br>1, 228, 085<br>1, 013, 713<br>1, 315, 132-<br>2, 277, 911<br>3, 895, 008<br>5, 095, 365<br>6, 416, 706 | 19, 761<br>28, 982<br>58, 477<br>59, 703<br>36, 375<br>48, 738<br>86, 651<br>242, 969<br>54, 566, 623<br>54, 922, 019<br>55, 1, 076, 761 | 39, 279<br>44, 909<br>51, 277<br>55, 323<br>56, 083<br>65, 009<br>112, 417<br>212, 510<br>348, 322<br>459, 155                            | 120,030<br>139,148<br>170,786<br>190,524<br>170,403<br>188,767<br>278,140<br>476,375<br>656,608<br>919,678   | 3, 417<br>3, 433<br>6, 632<br>8, 266<br>5, 267<br>4, 886<br>8, 812<br>28, 172<br>5, 59, 798<br>5, 110, 724<br>5, 132, 535                          | 27, 253<br>33, 273<br>37, 778<br>51, 802<br>53, 807<br>66, 478<br>123, 635<br>232, 185<br>390, 179<br>458, 568 | 71, 077<br>91, 306<br>118, 061<br>144, 034<br>135, 376<br>169, 618<br>275, 686<br>505, 239<br>911, 806<br>1, 171, 328   | 1, 085<br>1, 626<br>3. 213<br>3. 252<br>2. 424<br>3. 253<br>6, 845<br>28, 219<br>54 108, 305<br>54 183, 251<br>55 212, 326   | 342, 308<br>389, 994<br>470, 511<br>576, 291<br>505, 049<br>633, 833<br>1, 227, 243<br>2, 229, 946<br>3, 046, 124<br>3, 307, 461 | 1, 067, 789<br>1, 273, 383<br>1, 604, 325<br>1, 892, 697<br>1, 562, 160<br>1, 858, 300<br>3, 057, 110<br>5, 076, 950<br>6, 571, 555<br>7, 581, 834 | 44, 424<br>57, 053<br>104, 979<br>97, 339<br>63, 254<br>85, 926<br>137, 958<br>338, 064<br>54 713, 032<br>34 1, 076, 068<br>55 1, 261, 776 |  |

Table 15.—Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns, with net income, 1934-43, by States and Territories: Number of returns, net income, and total tax—Continued

| [Money figures | in | thousands | of | dollars |
|----------------|----|-----------|----|---------|
|----------------|----|-----------|----|---------|

| Year | Number of returns   | Net income 2   | Total tax   | Number of returns   | Net income 2   | Total tax   | Number of returns  | Net in-<br>come <sup>3</sup>  | Total tax   | Number of returns  | Net income 2   | Total tax  |  |
|------|---|--|---|---|--|---|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|
|      | ·   | Rhode Islan  |   | South Carolina  |  |   | South Dakota   |   |   | Tennessee  |  |  |  |
| 1934 | 35, 424<br>43, 273<br>41, 590<br>51, 297<br>103, 271<br>203, 347                                | 104, 194<br>113, 641<br>141, 968<br>151, 295<br>122, 135<br>156, 471<br>250, 894<br>455, 710<br>574, 851<br>653, 368 | 5, 232<br>6, 002<br>10, 756<br>10, 067<br>5, 012<br>7, 524<br>12, 688<br>32, 165<br>54 67, 980<br>54 95, 860<br>55 114, 322 | 137, 616<br>253, 251  | 41, 024<br>47, 010<br>61, 787<br>70, 917<br>67, 057<br>83, 914<br>142, 395<br>280, 755<br>472, 524<br>593, 837 | 735<br>803<br>1, 654<br>2, 001<br>1, 315<br>1, 855<br>3, 711<br>13, 584<br>64 38, 517<br>34 65, 806<br>55 78, 115 | 8, 302<br>9, 582<br>10, 724<br>11, 328<br>11, 801<br>14, 526<br>38, 018<br>79, 279<br>128, 515<br>134, 206 | 20, 106<br>24, 694<br>27, 756<br>27, 870<br>28, 074<br>34, 285<br>67, 425<br>138, 575<br>218, 140<br>242, 073 | 225<br>345<br>431<br>377<br>332<br>483<br>816<br>3,938<br>54 14,069<br>54 25,197<br>55 29,030 | 37, 938<br>42, 341<br>48, 048<br>58, 598<br>58, 132<br>71, 606<br>138, 602<br>262, 156<br>445, 045<br>616, 094 | 115, 789<br>135, 557<br>173, 317<br>195, 529<br>186, 396<br>229, 798<br>357, 765<br>617, 698<br>926, 352<br>1, 207, 188    | 3, 596<br>3, 937<br>7, 343<br>7, 568<br>6, 637<br>8, 193<br>14, 291<br>43, 140<br>34 96, 255<br>54 153, 816<br>85 179, 168     |  |
|      |   | Texas  | ·   | Utah  |  |   | Vermont  |   |   | Virginia   |  |  |  |
| 1934 | 131, 447<br>156, 855<br>196, 415<br>206, 210<br>237, 742<br>457, 136<br>792, 947<br>1, 320, 969 | 569, 444<br>725, 592<br>691, 247<br>753, 070<br>1, 162, 278<br>1, 836, 788<br>2, 696, 512                            | 24, 571<br>41, 051<br>126, 046<br>84 305, 531   | 14, 088<br>16, 262<br>19, 892<br>19, 278<br>23, 573<br>39, 460<br>77, 805<br>151, 584<br>7 188, 462 | 59, 614<br>53, 219<br>63, 010<br>94, 235<br>170, 717<br>317, 873   | 686<br>1, 458<br>1, 620<br>1, 059<br>1, 180<br>2, 012<br>7, 593<br>54 26, 556                                     | 10, 903<br>12, 193<br>13, 874<br>13, 683<br>15, 893<br>34, 454<br>58, 894<br>82, 057<br>92, 286            | 74, 476<br>116, 619<br>151, 261   | 1, 196<br>1, 231<br>777<br>1, 265<br>2, 281<br>5, 457   | 54, 835<br>62, 449<br>71, 645<br>72, 625<br>90, 413<br>183, 239<br>368, 661<br>595, 377<br>710, 996            | 139, 932<br>171, 204<br>218, 974<br>245, 434<br>228, 428<br>286, 121<br>477, 918<br>866, 514<br>1, 273, 452<br>1, 477, 637 | 3, 666<br>5, 269<br>11, 791<br>12, 379<br>7, 829<br>11, 040<br>20, 704<br>56, 023<br>41 131, 492<br>51 188, 755<br>55 224, 670 |  |

| 1024   | Washington 57   |  | V   | West Virginia  |   |  | Wisconsin  |   |  | Wyoming  |   |   |
|--|---|--|---|--|---|--|--|---|--|--|---|---|
| 1934<br>1935<br>1935<br>1937<br>1938<br>1939<br>1940<br>1941<br>1942<br>1943<br>For footnotes, see pp. 2 | 88, 640<br>104, 386<br>106, 982<br>126, 577<br>247, 134<br>465, 691<br>740, 736<br>938, 780 | 153, 639<br>197, 924<br>259, 650<br>295, 685<br>276, 900<br>323, 347<br>545, 694<br>994, 896<br>1, 588, 821<br>2, 201, 773 | 2, 552<br>3, 868<br>7, 876<br>8, 315<br>5, 168<br>6, 357<br>12, 821<br>53, 074<br>54 181, 255<br>54 326, 120<br>65 382, 847 | . 30, 297<br>37, 224<br>47, 527<br>59, 323<br>54, 014<br>67, 914<br>125, 077<br>205, 409<br>381, 556<br>444, 801 | 87, 992<br>106, 920<br>145, 746<br>173, 671<br>146, 991<br>183, 744<br>303, 721<br>577, 631<br>750, 391<br>896, 571 | 1, 675<br>2, 276<br>5, 161<br>5, 204<br>3, 482<br>4, 061<br>7, 579<br>25, 183<br>54 53, 695<br>54 89, 088<br>55 103, 061 | 92, 826<br>105, 785<br>124, 202<br>151, 820<br>147, 609<br>175, 523<br>332, 382<br>623, 766<br>890, 083<br>1, 061, 398 | 217, 351<br>258, 590<br>338, 951<br>403, 656<br>355, 241<br>443, 388<br>727, 472<br>1, 269, 509<br>1, 750, 926<br>2, 156, 521 | 5, 010<br>5, 577<br>13, 615<br>13, 593<br>9, 034<br>11, 533<br>19, 839<br>62, 328<br>34 154, 970<br>64 263, 678<br>85 305, 854 | 7, 182<br>8, 739<br>10, 702<br>12, 247<br>11, 769<br>13, 735<br>28, 596<br>48, 361<br>67, 449<br>79, 062 | 19, 036<br>23, 703<br>30, 327<br>35, 287<br>31, 564<br>38, 026<br>66, 440<br>108, 133<br>141, 707<br>183, 307 | 584<br>646<br>1, 129<br>1, 061<br>476<br>1, 161<br>1, 584<br>5, 723<br>414, 443<br>54 23, 835<br>55 28, 457 |

# Footnotes for historical tables 12-15, pp. 256-283

secured from the annual reports of the Commissioner excess. of Internal Revenue; for 1916-36 tabulated from Form 1040 and 1040A showing net income, filed for individuals and for estates and trusts; for 1937-43 tabulated from Forms 1040 and 1040A showing net income, filed for individuals, and from Form 1041 filed for estates and trusts with net income taxable to the fiduciary, as well as returns for estates and trusts filed (improperly) on Form 1040 except that for 1938 and subsequent years, only data for the taxable returns are included. (For requirements for filing, see pp. 344-

Data for 1916 are completely tabulated from each return. For individual returns with net income under \$5,000, the number of returns is obtained annually from records of the Internal Revenue Bureau, but the distribution of the returns by net income classes, as well as data regarding income and taxes and their distribution by net income classes. is estimated based on samples for 1918-27, 1929, and 1943, and is in part estimated and in part completely tabulated for 1917, 1928, and 1939-42, except that for 1941-43 the return, Form 1040A, does not show deductions or net income, therefore cannot be distributed by net income classes. For individual returns with net income of \$5,000 under \$20,000, data and their distribution by net income classes, are estimated from samples for 1943 only. For fiduciary returns, Form 1041, data are completely tabulated from each return for 1937 and subsequent years.

Net income for 1913-15 is estimated from the number of returns filed and the average net income for each net income class, as shown in the annual reports of the Commissioner of Internal devenue. For 1916-39 the net income, tabulated as explained in note 1, is not income before the deduction for pricr year net loss which is an allowable deduction against total income in the period 1922-31. For 1940-43 net income is after the deduction for a net operating loss carried over from 2 previous years but not prior to Jan. 1, 1939. For 1941-43, net income includes the gross income reported on Form 1040A which does not provide for the reporting of net income.

The net income tabulated for fiduciary returns and used for the classification thereof, is the net income taxable to the fiduciary, that is, after the deduction for the amount distributable to bene-

Tax before credits for 1913-15 is the tax receipts for the fiscal year ended June 30 immediately following the year indicated, as shown in annual reports of the Commissioner of Internal Revenue, which receipts include fines, penalties, additional assessments, etc. Taxes for 1916 and subsequent years are tabulated from returns as explained in note 1 Amounts tabulated as surtax for 1913-17 are technically "additional tax." Taxes for 1942 and 1943 are before the forgiveness feature provided under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943. (The amount of tax forgiven for each year, as reported on 1943 returns, is stated in notes 16 and 17.)

4 Optional tax on Form 1040A paid in lieu of normal tax and surtax by individuals whose gross income is from salary, wages, dividends, interest, rents and royalties in 1941 only, and annuities and is not more than \$3,000.

Alternative tax for 1938-41, in the case of net longterm capital gain, is the sum of normal tax, surtax on net income reduced by the amount of net long-term capital gain, and 30 percent of the net long-term gain; and, in the case of net long-term capital loss, is the sum of normal tax and surtax on net income increased by the amount of net long-term capital loss. minus 30 percent of the net long-term capital loss. The amounts tabulated for this period include also alternative tax on individual returns with no net income on account of a net long-term capital loss (see note 9).

The alternative tax for 1942-43, occurring only in the case of an excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss, is the sum of normal tax by section 1200(a), Revenue Act of 1924, effective and surtax on net income reduced for this purpose by | for 1923.

1 Data for returns with net income for 1913-15 are | the amount of such excess, plus 50 percent of such

6 The defense tax for 1940 and for 1941 fiscal year returns only, is 10 percent of total tax before credits and cannot exceed 10 percent of the amount by which the net income exceeds such total tax.

Victory tax for 1943 is 5 percent of the victory tax net income after a specific exemption of \$624. A victory tax credit (with limitations) is allowable. The net victory tax is limited to the excess of 90 percent of the net income over the tax imposed by chapter 1 of the Code, computed without regard to the victory tax or credits. The amount tabulated is the victory tax after credit and limitation, and includes that reported on returns with no net income.

7 For earned income credit limitation, see p. 358.

8 Tax for 1942 and prior years is before the credit for foreign taxes paid although this credit is allowable for 1918 and subsequent years, and before the credit for income tax paid at source on interest from taxfree covenant bonds which is allowable for all years. Tax for 1938-41 includes the alternative tax from returns with no net income. Taxes for 1942 and 1943 are explained in notes 16, 17, and 18.

Data for returns with no net income are not available prior to 1928. Data for 1928-41 are completely tabulated from Forms 1040; and for 1942 are in part estimated based on a sample of Forms 1040. Data for 1943 are the combination of completely tabulated data from 1,253 taxable Forms 1041 and the estimated data based on a sample of Forms 1040. For 1937 and subsequent years the number of returns include those showing total deductions equal to total income. Net deficit tabulated for 1928-39 is the current year deficit; i. e., before the deduction for prior year loss which is allowable against total income in the period 1928-31. Net deficit for 1940-31 includes the net operating loss deduction carried over from two previous years but not prior to Jan. 1, 1939. For 1938-41, alternative tax is reported on a negligible number of returns with no net income on account of a net long-term capital loss, because the combined normal tax and surtax, computed on income excluding for this purpose the net long-term capital loss, exceeds 30 percent of the net long-term capital loss. For 1943, a net victory tax is reported on 18.691 individual and taxable fiduciary returns with no net income. In table 12, the alternative tax, the victory tax, and the total income and victory tax for these returns are tabulated with that for returns with net income.

10 Returns for 1913 pertain to the last 10 months

n Total tax for 1917 includes war excess profits taxes of \$101,249,781 on individuals and \$103,887,984 on partnerships.

11 Revised figures:

1920: Certain sources of income for returns with net income under \$5,000 have been revised, according to Statistics of Income for 1935, Part 1, p. 42, note 4.

1923: Sources of income, deductions, net income, and taxes have been revised according to Statistics of Income for 1925, pp. 28-29.

1929: Sources of income and deductions for returns with net income under \$5,000 have been revised according to Statistics of Income for

1934. Part 1, p. 31, note 18.
1930. Other income, total income, contributions, other deductions, and total deductions for returns with net income under \$5,000 have been revised according to Statistics of Income for 1937, Part 1, p. 47, note 25.

1932: Other deductions, total deductions, and net income for returns with net income under \$5,000 have been revised according to Statistics of Income for 1935, Part 1, p. 31, note 6.

13 Taxes before the 25 percent reduction provided

Footnotes for historical tables 12-15, pp. 256-283—Continued

<sup>14</sup> The 25 percent reduction in taxes for 1923 provided by section 1200(a), Revenue Act of 1924.

15 Tax after the 25 percent reduction provided by section 1200(a), Revenue Act of 1924, effective for

16 Income tax on 1942 income is before the deduction for allowable tax credits for foreign tax paid and for the tax paid at source, and is without regard to the amount of tax forgiven under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943, for individuals who are liable for an income tax on both 1942 and 1943 incomes. The amount of the 1942 tax forgiven, as reported on the 1943 individual returns, is \$4,723,

17 Income and victory tax on 1943 income is after the deduction for tax credits relating to income tax paid at source and income tax paid to a foreign country, and is without regard to the amount of tax forgiven under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943, for individuals who are liable for an income tax on both 1942 and 1943 incomes. The amount of the 1943 tax forgiven, as reported on the 1943 individual returns, is \$1,017,813,898. The tax tabulated includes the victory tax on returns with no net

18 Total income and victory tax, reported on 1943 returns, is the aggregate of (1) the income and victory tax on 1943 income less credits for tax paid at source and income tax paid to foreign countries. (2) the amount by which the 1943 tax is increased to equal the 1942 tax liability, on individual returns showing a smaller tax (or no tax) for 1943 prior to such adjustment, and (3) the unforgiven portion of the smaller of the 1942 or 1943 tax liability of individuals. The last two amounts constitute the adjustments necessary for merging the 1942 and 1943 tax liabilities of individuals as provided under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943. The amount tabulated includes such taxes reported on returns with no net income.

19 The number of returns for 1916 excludes the number of returns of married women making separate returns from husbands (288 returns show net income of \$3,000 under \$5,000 and 7,347 show \$5,000 and over). The net income on returns filed separately by husband and wife is combined and the total tabulated as one return. For subsequent years the returns of married women filed separately are included in their respective net income classes regardless of the husband's income.

20 Deficit.

for foreign tax paid and tax paid at source; also see notes 8, 16, 17, and 18.

<sup>22</sup> Percentages based on the tax tabulated in the preceding section of the table. For 1943, percentages are based on income and victory tax on 1943 income.

23 Data for 1917 exclude data for 1,640,758 returns with net income under \$2,000 showing aggregate net income of \$2,461,137,000. The net income, total deductions, and other deductions have been adjusted to reflect the deduction for contributions. (In the Statistics of Income for 1917 contributions are not included in general deductions and have not been deducted from net income.)

<sup>24</sup> Number of returns and data for returns with net income of \$3,000 and over for 1916; \$2,000 and over for 1917 (see note 23); \$1,000 and over for 1918-20; all returns for 1921 and thereafter; and all returns with no net income for 1928 and subsequent years.

25 Sources of income from the various sources for 1916 are gross receipts; the deductions, not having been allocated to the various sources, are included in the aggregate deductions. Beginning with 1917, the various sources of income are the net amounts by which the gross receipts exceed deductions as reported in the schedules on the return. Net losses reported under sources of income on the face of the return are transferred in tabulation to deductions, and are included in the amounts tabulated under specified or other deductions. For returns included over; and for 1940-43 all income classes, except that

26 Salaries, wages, etc., reported only on individ-ual returns, include "Professions and vocations" for 1916; wages and salaries of the individual, his wife, or dependent minors derived from business conducted as a sole proprietorship prior to 1924; and the taxpayer's earned income from partnership for 1916-26.

<sup>27</sup> Business profit or loss for 1916 excludes "Professions and vocations." Prior to 1924 salaries of the proprietor and members of his family were deductible in computing business profit or loss if the salaries are reported elsewhere as income.

28 Partnership profit or loss excludes the partially tax-exempt interest on Government obligations and dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations issued prior to Mar. 28, 1942; interest on corporation bonds upon which a tax was paid at source for 1917 and 1920; salaries or earned income of the partner prior to 1927; dividends on stock of domestic corporations subject to Federal income tax prior to 1936; dividends on stock of domestic corporations not subject to Federal income tax for 1932-33; capital net gain or loss when the tax or tax credit is computed at 12½ percent prior to 1934; and the net gain or loss from sales of capital assets for 1938-43. Amounts reported for the years 1918-21 include income from fiduciaries and income from personal service corporations except that dividends, partially tax-exempt interest on Government obligations, and in the case of fiduciaries interest from bonds upon which a tax was paid at source, received through these entities, are reported in their respective sources.

29 Dividends received include stock dividends for 1916-19; domestic dividends received through personal service corporations for 1918-21; dividends from stock of foreign corporations deriving more than 50 percent of gross income from sources within the United States prior to 1934, and dividends from stock of domestic corporatons subject to Federal income taxation, prior to 1936, both of which include such dividends received through partnerships and fiduciaries. Beginning 1936, dividends include all foreign and domestic dividends except dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations issued prior to Mar. 28, 1942, and dividends received through partnerships and fiduciaries.

80 Income from fiduciaries excludes the partially tax-exempt interest on Government obligations and dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations issued prior to Mar. 28, 1942; interest on corporation bonds upon which a tax was paid at Tax for 1942 and prior years is before the credits at source for 1917-20; dividends on stock of domestic corporations subject to Federal income tax, prior to 1936; dividends on stock of domestic corporations not subject to Federal income tax for 1932-33; capital net gain or loss when the tax or tax credit is computed at 121/2 percent prior to 1934; and the net gain or loss from sales of capital assets received from common trust funds for 1938-43.

> 31 Partially tax-exempt interest (exempt from normal tax) is that received on certain Government mai tax) is that received on certain Government obligations issued prior to Mar. 1, 1941, namely, United States savings bonds and Treasury bonds owned in excess of \$5,000, and from obligations of instrumentalities of the United States other than those issued under the Federal Farm Loan Act or that act as amondal. For 1818-21 groups include that act as amended. For 1918-21 amounts include such interest received through personal service corporations, and for all years that received through partnerships and fiduciaries; for 1941 include also taxable interest on Government obligations and dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations, reported on nontaxable returns; for 1943 dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations issued prior to Mar. 28, 1942. Amortizable bond premium has been deducted from partially tax-exempt interest for 1942-43.

The tabulated amounts for 1919-20 cover net income classes \$1,000 and over; for 1921-23 all income classes; for 1924-31 net income classes \$10,000 and over; for 1932, \$6,000 and over; for 1933-39, \$5,000 and and method of tabulating, see notes 1, 2, 9, and 24. amounts for any year do not include such interest

(Footnotes continued on p. 286)

#### Footnotes for historical tables 12-15, pp. 256-283—Continued

interest is in other taxable interest.)

- 32 Other income includes income from fiduciaries for 1917; partially tax-exempt interest on Government obligations for 1917 and 1918; dividends from foreign corporations other than those with more than 50 percent of gross income from sources in the United States, prior to 1934; dividends from all foreign corporations for 1934 and 1935; dividends from domestic corporations not subject to Federal income taxation for 1932-35; annuities prior to 1941; dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations for 1938-40; and all income except salaries, reported on Form 1040A for 1941-43.
- 33 Contributions are reported only on individual returns. This deduction was not allowed in 1916.
- 34 Other deductions exclude the prior year net loss allowable as a deduction in the years 1922-31, but include loss from rents and royalties for all years; net operating loss deduction for 1940-43; amortized bond premium on corporation bonds for 1943; bad debts from individual returns prior to 1939 and for 1943; as well as losses from fire, storm, shipwreck, etc., and had debts from fiduciary returns for all years, and the amount distributable to beneficiaries prior to 1937.
- W Capital net gain from sales of assets held more than 2 years including that received through partnerships and fiduciaries, taxed at 121/2 percent for 1922-33; tabulated from taxable returns with net income of \$30,000 and over for 1922-23 and 1925-31; \$25,000 and over for 1924; and \$15,000 and over for 1932-33. Capital net gain is reduced by losses in ordinary net in-
- 36 Capital net loss from sales of assets held more than 2 years, tabulated in other deductions for 1924-28, and in net loss from real estate, stocks and bonds for 1929-33, is only the amount reported as a deduction in computing net income or deficit except for 1932 and 1933 on the returns with no net income there is included also the capital net loss reported in schedule D when not used as a deduction. Capital net loss in schedule D for which the 12½ percent tax credit is taken is not tabulated as a deduction.
- 37 Taxes and interest paid exclude amounts reported in schedules for business and for rents and royalties. A historical summary of taxes paid for the years 1927-32 and of interest paid for the years 1928-32, for returns with net income of \$5,000 and over, showing separately the amounts reported in general deductions from total income and amounts reported in business deductions, is published in Statistics of Income for 1932, table 8-A, p. 80.
- 38 Net capital gain or loss for 1934-37 is the net gain or loss from sales or exchanges of capital assets, regardless of time held, after certain percentages (see table on pp. 356-357) depending on the time the assets were held, and the limitation on the deduction for capital loss have been applied. The net capital loss deduction is limited to \$2,000. Amounts reported exclude such gain or loss received through partnerships or
- 39 For 1938-41 short-term applies to sales of capital assets held 18 months or less upon which 100 percent of the gain or loss is taken into account. The short-term gain reported is after the carry-over and includes the net gain or loss from such sales received through partnerships and common trust funds. The net short-term capital loss is not deductible in the current year but is carried forward to the succeeding year in an amount not in excess of the net income for the year in which the loss is sustained and can be deducted only to the extent of the net short-term capital gain in such succeeding year.
- 40 For 1938-41, long-term applies to sales of capital assets held more than 18 months upon which 66% percent of the gain or loss on sales of assets held 18 months but not more than 24 months and 50 percent months, are taken into account. The amounts included in other deductions.

received by individuals filing Form 1040A. (Prior | reported include the net gain or loss from such sales to 1939, for classes not included, partially tax-exempt | received through partnerships and common trust received through partnerships and common trust funds. The net long-term capital loss is deductible rom total income.

- 41 For 1938-40 net gain or loss from sales of property used in trade or business of a character which is sub lect to the allowance for depreciation; for 1941-43 also includes certain Government bonds which are not capital assets; and for 1942-43 includes real property used in trade or business.
- 42 Losses from fire, storm, shipwreck, or other casualty, or from theft, are the amounts of such losses not compensated for by insurance or otherwise, and excludes amounts reported in schedules for business profit and rents and royalties. The amounts tabulated for 1939-43 are from individual returns,
- 42 Bad, debts, 1939-42, tabulated from individual returns. Form 1940 only, exclude bad debts reported in schedules for business and for rents and royalties.
- "The amount distributable to beneficiaries reported on the fiduciary returns, is a deduction llowed in computing the taxable net income of an estate or trust; included in other deductions prior to
- 45 For 1942-43, net gain or loss from sales or exchanges of capital assets, is the result of combining the net short- and long-term capital gain and loss after the net short-term capital gain for 1942 has been reduced by the net short-term capital loss carried over from 1941, and the net gain from sales of capital assets for 1943 has been reduced by the net capital loss carried over from 1942.

Short-term applies to sales of capital assets held 6 months or less upon which 100 percent of the gain or loss is taken into account, and long-term applies to sales of capital assets held more than 6 months upon which 50 percent of the gain or loss is taken into account.

The current year deduction for a net loss from sales or exchanges of capital assets is limited to the amount of net income computed without regard to capital gains and losses, or \$1,000, whichever is smaller. The remaining loss, i. e., the net capital loss, which is not deductible in the current year may be carried forward as a short-term capital loss to the extent that it exceeds the net capital gain of any subsequent year intervening between the year in which the loss is sustained and the fifth succeeding year.

- 46 Taxable interest on Government obligations is that received on Treasury notes issued on or after Dec. 1, 1940, and on obligations of the United States or any agency or instrumentality thereof, issued on or after Mar. 1, 1941, excluding that received through partnerships or fiduciaries. The amount tabulated for 1941 is only the amount reported on taxable returns: such interest reported on nontaxable returns is tabulated with partially tax-exempt interest.
- 47 Dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations issued prior to Mar. 28, 1942, including such dividends received through partnerships and fiduciaries. These dividends are exempt from normal tax. The amount tabulated for 1941 is only that reported on taxable returns; such dividends reported on nontaxable returns being included with partially tax-exempt interest. For 1943 such dividends are included in partially tax-exempt interest.
- 48 Medical and dental expenses in excess of an amount equal to 5 percent of the net income com-puted without the deduction. Maximum deduction is \$2.500 in the case of a head of a family or a joint return of husband and wife, and \$1,250 for all other individuals.
- 49 Included in partnership profit.
- 50 Included in other income.
- 51 Included in other deductions.
- 52 Contributions for 1920 which are not available of the gain or loss on sales of assets held more than 24 | for returns with net income of \$5,000 and over, are

(Footnotes continued on p. 287)

# Footnotes for historical tables 12-15, pp. 256-283-Continued

- s Included in partially tax-exempt interest.
- M Income tax on 1942 income is that computed on current year income before credits for foreign tax paid and tax paid at source; for 1943, the tax compaid and tax paid at source; for 1943, the tax compaid and tax paid at source; for 1943, the tax compaid and tax paid at source; for 1943, the tax compaids at tax paid at source; for 1943, the tax compaids at tax paid at ta paid and tax paid at source; for 1943, the tax computed on current year income after those credits—both are without regard to the amount of tax for given under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943. These amounts of tax for 1942 and 1943 were not regard to the control of the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943. paid in full because of the forgiveness feature provided under see. 6 of that act, applicable to individuals who are liable for a tax for both years.
- as Total income and victory tax, reported on 1943 returns, is the aggregate of (1) the income and victory tax on 1943 income less credits for tax paid at source and income tax paid to foreign countries,
- (2) the amount by which the 1943 tax is increased to equal the 1942 tax liability on individual returns showing a smaller tax (or no tax) for 1943 prior to showing a smaller tax (of no tax) for 1940 prior to such adjustment, and (3) the unforgiven portion of the smaller of the 1942 or 1943 tax liability of individuals. The last two amounts constitute the advadias. The last two amounts constitute the adjustments necessary for merging the 1942 and 1943 tax liabilities of individuals as provided under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943.
- 86 Data not available; included in Washington.
- <sup>17</sup>Data for Washington include data for Alaska for 1934-38 and for 1943.
- 88 For 1943, this class includes nontaxable returns with net income exceeding the class limit.

ESTATE TAX RETURNS

289

## **ESTATE TAX RETURNS**

#### SUMMARY DATA

There were 14,857 estate tax returns filed during the calendar year 1944, on which there is reported total gross estate of \$2,916,331,857, net estate of \$1,516,225,016, and Federal estate tax liability of \$405,780,111. As compared with the returns filed during the preceding year, there is a decrease of 1,176 returns, or 7.3 percent; gross estate increase of \$278,493,236, or 10.6 percent; net estate increase of \$110,824,757, or 7.9 percent; and tax liability increase of \$42,403,482, or 11.7 percent.

The 554 returns filed for estates of nonresident aliens show gross estate of \$8,711,921, net estate of \$7,272,360, and tax liability of

\$1,145,568.

The 14,303 returns filed for estates of citizens and resident aliens show gross estate of \$2,907,619,936, which includes \$187,620,155 reported on 2,149 nontaxable returns. The 12,154 taxable returns show gross estate of \$2,719,999,781, net estate of \$1,168,503,344 subject to basic tax and \$1,508,768,144 subject to additional tax, and tax liability of \$404,634,543. The tax liability consists of \$12,305,614 net basic tax, \$392,318,351 net additional tax, and \$10,578 defense tax which is effective only under the Revenue Act of 1940.

The effective tax rate for taxable returns for estates of citizens and resident aliens filed under all acts is 26.8 percent; for taxable returns filed under the 1942 act, 26.8 percent; and for taxable returns filed

under the 1941 act, 28.5 percent.

Tax credits for State inheritance taxes and Federal gift taxes totaling \$46,404,716 are claimed against the gross basic tax, and a credit for Federal gift taxes of \$1,182,800 is taken against the gross additional tax. The aggregate tax credits represent 10.5 percent of the total basic and additional taxes before credits.

#### FEDERAL ESTATE TAX LAW

The Federal estate tax, imposed under chapter 3 of the Internal Revenue Code, is neither a property nor an inheritance tax. It is imposed upon the transfer of the entire estate, not any particular legacy, devise, or distributive share, and the transfer of property is taxable although it escheats to the State for lack of heirs. The estate tax consists of (1) the basic tax, (2) the additional estate tax, which is the excess of a tentative tax over the basic tax, and (3) the defense tax restricted to the estates of individuals dying in the period June 26, 1940, through September 20, 1941 (effective period of the 1940 act). Both the basic tax and the tentative tax are computed at graduated rates. The basic tax provisions specify rates from 1 percent of the net estate not in excess of \$50,000 increasing to 20 percent

293

STATISTICS OF INCOME FOR 1943, PART 1

292

of the amount over \$10,000,000. The tentative tax provisions in effect on and after September 21, 1941, specify rates from 3 percent on the net estate not in excess of \$5,000 progressing to 77 percent on the amount in excess of \$10,000,000. A résumé of the principal estate tax provisions including rates, credits, and specific exemptions. applicable under each act from the Revenue Act of 1916 through the Revenue Act of 1942, is given on pages 360-363.

An estate tax return is required for the estate of an individual whose gross estate (as defined by statute) exceeds in value the amount of specific exemption allowable under the act in effect at date of death. On and after October 22, 1942, the effective date of the estate tax provisions of the Revenue Act of 1942, an estate tax return is required for the estate of a citizen or a resident alien, if the value of the gross estate at date of death exceeds \$60,000, while under the 1935 act a return is required if the gross estate exceeds \$40,000, and under the 1934 act a return is required if the gross estate exceeds \$50,000. Under earlier acts a return is required for the estate of a resident citizen and resident alien if the value thereof exceeds \$50,000 under the 1932 act, \$100,000 under the 1926 act, and \$50,000 under the 1924 or prior acts. Under the 1942 act, the increase from \$40,000 to \$60,000 in gross estate value for which a return is required is the result of an equivalent increase in specific exemption. The increased specific exemption compensates in some measure for the provision that life insurance not in excess of \$40,000 payable to beneficiaries other than the estate, formerly excluded, is included in the gross estate under the 1942 act.

An estate tax return is required for the estate of a nonresident alien who died on or after October 22, 1942, only if the part of his gross estate (as defined by statute) situated in the United States exceeds \$2,000 in value at time of death. However, if death occurred on or before October 21, 1942, a return is required if any part of the gross estate regardless of value is situated in the United States. The estate of a nonresident citizen who died prior to May 11, 1934, also is subject to the latter requirement.

The estate tax return for the estate of an individual who died on or after August 31, 1935, is due 15 months after the date of death. However, an extension of time for filing may be granted by the Commissioner. The return for the estate of a resident decedent must be filed with the collector in whose district the decedent had his domicile at time of death, and the return for the estate of a nonresident decedent must be filed with the collector in whose district the gross estate in the United States is situated. Approximately 88 percent of the returns for estates of citizens and resident aliens filed during 1944 were filed without extension of time. Regardless of when the return is filed, the estate is subject to the statutory provisions in effect at date of death.

Among the changes in the Internal Revenue Code, as amended by the Revenue Act of 1942, affecting the comparability of data tabulated from returns filed under that act with those filed under earlier

(a) The minimum value for which an estate tax return is required to be filed, in the case of a citizen or resident alien, is increased from a gross estate value of \$40,000 at date of death to a gross estate value of \$60,000 at date of death; and a return is no longer required for the estate of a nonresident alien unless the gross estate situated in the United States exceeds a value of \$2,000 at date of death.

(b) The exclusion from gross estate of \$40,000 for life insurance receivable by beneficiaries other than the estate is no longer allowed.

(c) The specific exemption allowable in determining the net estate for the purposes of the additional tax in the case of a citizen or resident alien is increased from \$40,000 to \$60,000; and a specific exemption of \$2,000 is deductible from the gross estate of a nonresident alien for purposes of both basic tax and additional tax.

(d) There is includible in the gross estate the entire community property held by the decedent and surviving spouse except such part thereof as may be shown to have been received as compensation for personal services actually rendered by the surviving spouse or derived originally from separate property of the surviving spouse. Previously community property was includible in the gross estate only to the extent of the decedent's share under State law.

(e) All property with respect to which the decedent had at time of death a power of appointment (with the exception of certain limited specified powers), whether exercised or not, is includible in the gross estate. Previously only property passing under general powers of appointment exercised by the decedent was includible.

(f) There is disallowed as a deduction from the value of gross estate, the amount, if any, by which the deductions for funeral and administrative expenses, debts of the decedent, mortgages and liens, and support of dependents exceed the value of property subject to claims and includible in the gross estate.

(g) In computing the net deduction for property previously taxed the amount otherwise allowable is to be reduced by the amount of other deductible items which may be allocated to the value of such property. In such computation there is taken into account the fact that, under the applicable law, in the final adjustment and settlement of the estate some deductions are claims enforceable first, or solely, against specified property, and the value, in whole or in part, of some property included in the gross estate (including the property previously taxed) is exempt from claims of creditors.

(h) The tax credit for estate, inheritance, legacy, or succession taxes is limited to 80 percent of the basic tax before deducting the credit for gift tax, whereas prior acts limit such credit to 80 percent of the

basic tax after deducting the gift tax credit.

#### RETURNS INCLUDED

The estate tax returns used for this report are the returns filed for the estates of citizens and aliens during the calendar year 1944 regardless of the date on which the individual died or the revenue act under which the estate is taxed, excluding returns which show a total gross estate value below the statutory amount for which a return is required to be filed under the specific revenue act in effect at time of death. Of the 14,303 returns filed during 1944 for the estates of citizens and resident aliens 13,356 show date of death on or after October 22, 1942, and are filed under provisions of the 1942 act; 688 show date of death in the period September 21, 1941, through October 21, 1942, and are

filed under provisions of the 1941 act; and the remaining 259 returns are filed under earlier acts—92 being filed under the 1940 act, 136 under the 1935 act, 8 under the 1934 act, 16 under the 1932 act, 6 under the 1926 act, and 1 under the 1924 or prior acts. No cognizance is given to the date of death or to the revenue act in effect at date of death for the 554 returns filed during 1944 for estates of nonresident aliens, other than to ascertain that there is included one return for the estate of a nonresident citizen who died prior to May 11, 1934. Previous to that date, the estate of a nonresident citizen is subject to the same provisions as apply to the estate of a nonresident alien.

The data for this report are taken from the estate tax returns as filed, prior to audit by the Bureau of Internal Revenue. The total estate tax liability tabulated herein differs from the collections of such taxes during 1944 by reason of changes made upon audit and because extensions of time for payment, granted in exceptional cases for periods not to exceed 10 years in aggregate, may result in the tax being collected subsequent to the year in which the return is filed. Furthermore, collections include delinquent taxes, interest, and penalties, none of which are tabulated in this report.

### BASIC ITEMS

Gross estate consists of real estate, tangible personal property, and intangible personal property. Under each category there is tabulated the value of jointly owned property, property transferred during the decedent's life, property subject to and/or transferred under powers of appointment, property previously taxed, and all other property. The amount tabulated for each is the value of such property reported as a part of the total gross estate for tax purposes. In the case of jointly owned property, the entire property is prima facie a part of the decedent's gross estate. But it is not the intent of the statute that there should be included a greater part thereof than is represented by an outlay of funds which, in the first instance, were the decedent's own, or more than a fractional part equal to that of each of the other joint owners if none of them have parted with any consideration in its acquirement. Whether the entire jointly owned property, or only a part, or none of it, enters into the makeup of gross estate depends on the actual circumstances of acquisition and of ownership. Property transferred during the decedent's life by means other than a bona fide sale for adequate and full consideration in money or money's worth is subject to estate tax if the transfer is one of several types which include transfers in contemplation of death; transfers conditioned upon the decedent's death; transfers under which the decedent reserved or retained the use or possession of the property or income therefrom; transfers under which the decedent retained the right to designate who shall possess or enjoy the property or income therefrom; and transfers under which the enjoyment of the transferred property is subject, at decedent's death, to change through the exercise of power to alter, amend, revoke, or terminate.

All property subject to powers of appointment, with the exception of certain limited powers and certain powers created prior to October 22, 1942, is includible in gross estate, if the decedent had the power of appointment at time of death, or if he exercised or released the power

during his lifetime in contemplation of death, by a disposition intended to take effect at or after death, or by a disposition under which he retained possession or enjoyment of the property, or the right to the income therefrom, or under which he retained the right to designate the persons who shall possess or enjoy the property or the income therefrom. However, if the decedent died prior to October 22, 1942, there is included only the property passing under a general power of appointment exercised by the decedent. Property previously taxed includes property received by the decedent by gift within 5 years prior to death, or received by gift, bequest, or inheritance from any person who died within 5 years prior to the death of the decedent, or property acquired in exchange therefor, with respect to which a deduction is authorized because a gift tax was paid by the donor or an estate tax was paid in behalf of the prior estate.

For estates of individuals who died on or after August 31,1935, the value of gross estate may be determined, at the election of the executor, either as of the date of death or as of the date one year after death. When the value as of the latter date is selected, it is referred to as the optional value. If the optional value is elected, property distributed, sold, exchanged, or otherwise disposed of within the year following death must be valued as of the date of disposition. For estates of individuals who died prior to August 31, 1935, the value of the gross estate must be determined as of the date of death.

Only the amount of taxable life insurance is included in the tabulated amount of gross estate. The gross amount of life insurance and the amount of tax-exempt life insurance are tabulated as information items. The tax-exempt insurance is life insurance receivable by beneficiaries other than the estate, not to exceed in aggregate \$40,000 for any one estate. Tax-exempt insurance is reported only on returns for estates of individuals who died prior to October 22, 1942.

Specific exemption of \$60,000 is allowable as a deduction in computing the net estate for additional tax in the case of a citizen or resident alien who died on or after October 22, 1942; \$40,000 if death occurred in the period August 31, 1935, through October 21, 1942; and \$50,000 if death occurred in the period June 6, 1932, through August 31, 1935. Also, a specific exemption of \$100,000 is allowable as a deduction in computing the net estate for basic tax. For the estates subject to both basic and additional taxes, that is, estates of individuals who died since June 6, 1932, the tabulated specific exemption is only that allowable for computing the additional tax. The specific exemption allowable in computing net estate of a citizen or resident alien who died prior to June 6, 1932, is \$100,000 under the 1926 act and \$50,000 under the 1924 or prior acts. A specific exemption of \$2,000 is authorized for the estates of nonresident aliens who died on or after October 22, 1942, in computing the net estate for basic tax as well as net estate for additional tax.

Property previously taxed, net deduction, is the deduction, subject to certain conditions and limitations, allowable when there is included in the gross estate of an individual, property received by him by gift from any person within 5 years prior to his death, or property received by gift, bequest, or inheritance from any person who died within five years prior to his death, or property acquired in exchange for property so received. The property respecting which the deduction is sought

must have formed a part of the prior decedent's gross estate situated in the United States, or have been included in the total amount of the donor's gifts made within 5 years prior to the decedent's death. An estate tax or a gift tax actually must have been paid with respect to such property and such a deduction in respect of the property must not have been allowable in determining the value of the net estate of the prior decedent. This deduction is limited to the value of such property as finally determined in the case of the prior decedent or donor, or as it is valued in the gross estate of the present decedent, whichever is lower, and is further reduced by a proportionate reduction which is equal to that proportion of total deductions except property previously taxed, which the value of property previously taxed bears to gross estate. However, in the case of an individual who died on or after October 22, 1942, if the property previously taxed includible in the gross estate is not wholly subject to general claims, the computation of the net deduction gives consideration to the fact that certain claims are enforceable first, or solely, against specified property, and that the value in whole or in part of some property included in the gross estate (including property previously taxed), is exempt from claims of creditors. This is accomplished by two reductions in the amount otherwise deductible: First, before applying the proportionate reduction, the amount otherwise deductible is reduced by that portion thereof which represents the specific claims against the property previously taxed; and, second, the balance thus obtained is further reduced by the proportionate reduction as stated above except that the amounts therein represent only such amounts as are subject to general claims. For an estate subject to both basic and additional taxes, the use of a different specific exemption for the purpose of each tax causes this net deduction for property previously taxed to differ also, in which case the amount tabulated is the net deduction used in computing the net estate for additional tax.

Disallowed deductions constitute that portion of total deductions equal to the excess of the sum of funeral and administration expenses, debts of the decedent, mortgages and liens, and support of dependents over the value of property includible in gross estate subject to claims, and are disallowed as a deduction from gross estate in computing both the net estate for basic tax and the net estate for additional tax. This provision is applicable only to the estates of individuals who died on or after October 22, 1942.

Net estate is the excess of gross estate over allowable deductions. The value of net estate subject to the basic tax differs from the value of the net estate subject to additional tax owing to the different specific exemptions allowable which directly affect total deductions and, as mentioned above, also result in different net deductions for property previously taxed. Estates of nonresident aliens have the same net estate value for both basic and additional taxes.

Net estate before specific exemption is the excess of gross estate over allowable deductions which exclude the tabulated specific exemption.

Net estate for basic tax is the excess of gross estate over the sum of the allowable deductions, including the specific exemption of \$100,000 allowable to citizens and residents for the computation of basic tax. Net estate for basic tax applies to the estates of individuals who died

since 10:25 a.m. February 26, 1926. The tabulated amount of net estate for basic tax also includes the net estate subject to tax for returns filed under the 1924 or prior acts which provide a specific exemption of \$50,000.

Net estate for additional tax is the excess of gross estate over the allowable deductions, including the specific exemption allowable to citizens and residents for the computation of additional tax, that is, \$60,000 under the 1942 act; \$40,000 under the 1941, 1940, and 1935 acts; and \$50,000 under the 1934 and 1932 acts. Net estate for additional tax applies only to the estates of individuals who died subsequent to 5 p. m. June 6, 1932.

Basic tax is computed on the net estate for basic tax at basic tax rates which have been in effect since February 26, 1926. For purposes of the basic tax, a specific exemption of \$100,000 is allowable to citizens and residents, and \$2,000 is allowable to nonresident aliens if death occurred on or after October 22, 1942. The tax liability for estates subject to the 1924 or prior acts is tabulated as basic tax.

Additional tax liability is in addition to the basic tax, and is applicable to the estates of individuals who died subsequent to 5 p.m. June 6, 1932. Additional tax is the excess of a tentative tax, computed on the net estate for additional tax at tentative tax rates, over the basic tax. The specific exemption allowable to citizens and residents for purposes of the additional tax is \$60,000 under the 1942 act; \$40,000 under the 1941, 1940, and 1935 acts; and \$50,000 under the 1934 and 1932 acts. In the case of nonresident aliens, a specific exemption of \$2,000 is allowable under the 1942 act only.

Tax credits are allowable against the basic tax for State inheritance taxes and for Federal gift taxes paid, while only a credit for gift tax is allowable against the additional tax. The credit deductible from the basic tax for estate, inheritance, legacy, or succession taxes paid to the States, Territories, District of Columbia, or (after June 29, 1939) United States possessions, is limited, under the 1942 act, to 80 percent of the basic tax before deducting the credits for gift taxes, whereas, under prior acts, the inheritance tax credit is limited to 80 percent of the basic tax after deducting the credit for gift taxes. The credits for gift taxes deductible from the basic tax are (1) the entire Federal gift tax paid under the 1924 act on property includible in the gross estate and (2) that portion of the 1932 gift tax which does not exceed the proportion of the basic tax (reduced under the 1942 act but not under prior acts by the credits for the 1924 gift tax and for the State inheritance tax) that the value of the included gift bears to gross estate.

Only one credit, that for Federal gift tax paid under the Revenue Act of 1932, is authorized against the additional tax. Such credit cannot exceed the proportion of the additional tax that the value of the included gift bears to gross estate nor can it exceed the balance of the gift tax not already credited in connection with the basic tax.

Defense tax is applicable only to estates of individuals who died within the period June 6, 1940, through September 20, 1941 (the effective period of the 1940 act). The defense tax is 10 percent of the net estate tax otherwise payable.

Total tax liability as tabulated in this report is the sum of net basic tax, net additional tax, and the defense tax when applicable.

#### CLASSIFICATION OF RETURNS

Estate tax returns are classified as returns for the estates of citizens and resident aliens, and returns for the estates of nonresident aliens. Returns for the estates of citizens and resident aliens are classified (1) as taxable or nontaxable, (2) by the applicable revenue acts, (3) by geographic divisions, and (4) by gross estate classes. The taxable returns are further classified by net estate before exemption classes. Data are presented by these classifications in the estate tax tables. but not all items are available for every classification.

Citizens and resident aliens, and nonresident aliens.-Estates of citizens whether residing in the United States or abroad and estates of aliens residing in the United States at date of death are taxed under provisions differing from those governing the tax liability of estates

of nonresident aliens, and are segregated for that reason.

Applicable revenue acts.—Estate tax returns are classified according to the revenue act in effect on the date of death of the individual whose estate is reported, and without regard to the filing date. The five groups in this classification are returns filed under the Revenue Act of 1942, the Revenue Act of 1941, the Revenue Act of 1940, the Revenue Act of 1935, and the Revenue Act of 1934 and prior acts.

Taxable or nontaxable returns.—This classification is based on the existence or nonexistence of a tax liability. Returns are classified as taxable whether there is reported a basic tax only, an additional tax

only, or both an additional tax and a basic tax.

Net estate before specific exemption classes.—This classification is applied only to returns filed under the 1935 and subsequent acts, and is based on the sum of the net estate for additional tax and the specific

exemption allowable in computing such net estate.

Gross estate classes.—This classification is applied only to returns filed under the 1935 and subsequent acts, and is based on the value of total gross estate for the returns filed under the 1942 act and on total gross estate plus the amount of tax-exempt life insurance (receivable by beneficiaries other than the estate, not to exceed in aggregate \$40,000 for any one estate) for all other returns. The gross estate under the 1942 act includes all insurance.

Geographic divisions.—This classification provides for the distribution of the returns by the 48 States, Alaska, Hawaii, and District of Columbia. The segregation of returns by States and Territories is determined by the location of the collection district in which the return is filed, except for two divisions, Alaska and District of Columbia. the segregation of which is determined by the residence of the individual

at time of death.

#### NONRESIDENT ALIENS

Data tabulated from the 554 returns for estates of nonresident aliens are limited to the number of returns, value of gross estate, value of net estate, and the tax liability, which data are included only in the historical summary. Data for nonresident alien returns are not classified for the applicable revenue acts, nor for size of gross estate or net estate. However, it was ascertained that 15 returns show over \$100,000 gross estate and 13 show over \$100,000 net estate, as compared with 20 and 14 returns, respectively, filed in the previous year.

Gross estate of a nonresident alien includes only property situated in the United States, but does not include the amount receivable as life insurance nor, in the case of such an alien not engaged in business in the United States, bank deposits, or United States bonds, notes, and certificates of indebtedness issued prior to March 1, 1941. A specific exemption of \$2,000 is allowable, in computing the net estate under the 1942 act, for nonresident aliens who died on or after October 22, 1942.

# ESTATE TAX TABLES

Estate tax tables 1 through 5 present data for estates of citizens and resident aliens. Data for estates of nonresident aliens are shown in aggregate in table 6, which is a historical summary for all estate tax

returns filed from September 9, 1916, through 1944.

Data for estates of all citizens and resident aliens are tabulated in table 1, by applicable revenue acts, and by taxable returns and nontaxable returns; and in table 5 by States and Territories. Data in tables 2 and 3 for taxable returns, and data in table 4 for nontaxable returns, are limited to the returns for estates of citizens and resident aliens who died on or after August 31, 1935.

# ESTATE TAX TABLES

Distribution of returns, gross estate, deductions, net estate, and taxes for estates of citizens and resident aliens:

- 1. Taxable and nontaxable returns—by applicable revenue acts.
- 2. Taxable returns filed under the 1935 and subsequent acts—by net estate before exemption classes.
- 3. Taxable returns filed under the 1935 and subsequent acts—by gross estate classes.
- 4. Nontaxable returns filed under the 1935 and subsequent acts—by gross estate classes.

Distribution of returns for estates of citizens and resident aliens, by States and Territories:

5. Number of nontaxable returns; number of taxable returns, gross estate, net estate, and taxes; also for returns subject to basic tax, the number of returns, gross estate, net estate, basic tax, and credits.

Historical data for estates of citizens and aliens, 1916-44:

6. Number of returns, gross estate, net estate, and tax.

Table 1.—Estate tax returns filed during 1944 for estates of citizens and resident returns, items of gross estate,

[Money figures in

|          |   |                                |                            | ľ                 |
|----------|---|--------------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------|
|          | 1   |                                |                            | ļ.                |
|          |   |                                |                            | 1                 |
| }        |   |                                | •                          | 1                 |
| Ì        |   |                                | All acts                   | j                 |
| - 1      |   |                                | 22 4000                    | ľ                 |
|          |   |                                |                            | - 1               |
|          |   |                                |                            |                   |
| - [      |   |                                |                            |                   |
| ļ        |   |                                |                            |                   |
|          |   |                                |                            | 37                |
|          |   | Total                          | Taxable                    | Nontax-<br>able   |
| 1        |   |                                |                            |                   |
| 1        | Number of returns   | 14, 303                        | 12, 154                    | 2, 149            |
|          |   | 2, 907, 620                    | 2, 720, 000                | 187, 620          |
| 2        | Gross estate, total   |                                |                            |                   |
| 3        | Real estate,2 total   | 440, 268                       | 384, 667                   | 55, 601           |
| 4        | Real estate not included in items 5-8   | 366, 534                       | 319, 748<br>40, 907        | 46, 786<br>6, 442 |
| 5        | Jointly owned  Transfers during the decedent's life   | 47, 349<br>13, 616             | 12, 341                    | 1, 275            |
| 6 7      |   | 1, 047<br>11, 721              | 789<br>10, 881             | 258  <br>840      |
| 8        | Previously taxed  |                                |                            |                   |
| 9        | Tangible personal property, total   | 36, 187                        | 32,713                     | 3,473             |
| 10       | Tangible personal property not included in items 11–14.   | 34, 729                        | 31, 413                    | 3, 315<br>67      |
| 11       | Jointly owned   | 480<br>405                     | 412<br>344                 | 61                |
| 12<br>13 |   | 2<br>572                       | 2<br>542                   | 30                |
| 14       | Previously taxed  |                                |                            |                   |
| 15       | Intangible personal property, total   | 2, 431, 165                    | 2, 302, 620                | 128, 546          |
| 16       | Federal Government bonds, total   | 202,004                        | 190, 336                   | 11,668<br>554     |
| 17       | Wholly tax-exempt   | 202, 004<br>19, 381<br>81, 761 | 18, 826<br>76, 240         | 5, 521            |
| 18<br>19 | Taxable   | 100, 862                       | 95, 270<br>156, 130        | 5, 592<br>3, 454  |
| 20<br>21 | Partially tax-exempt Taxable State and municipal bonds Other bonds Corporate stock Cash 4 Most regres and notes           | 159, 584<br>129, 430           | 121, 918                   | 7, 512            |
| 22       | Corporate stock   | 1, 142, 620<br>298, 697        | 1,099,148<br>275,119       | 43,472<br>23,578  |
| 23<br>24 | Cash 4  | 118, 567                       | 110, 030                   | 8, 537            |
| 25       | Taxable insurance (64 less 65)  | 201, 779<br>94, 462            | 186, 266<br>84, 844        | 15, 512<br>9, 618 |
| 26<br>27 | Casn * Mortgages and notes Taxable insurance (64 less 65) Interest in unincorporated business * Other intangibles *       | 84, 023                        | 78, 829                    | 5, 195            |
| 28       | Total deductions  | 1, 437, 313                    | 1, 213, 032                | 224, 281          |
|          | •   | 125, 023                       | 114, 534                   | 10, 489           |
| 29<br>30 | Funeral and administration expenses<br>Debts and mortgages  | 218, 312<br>339                | 169, 296                   | 49,016            |
| 31       |   | 339<br>12, 732                 | 128<br>11, 664             | 211<br>1,068      |
| 32<br>33 | Support of dependents  Charitable, public, and similar bequests, total Educational, scientific, or literary institutions: | 201, 897                       | 163, 581                   | 38, 316           |
|          | Educational, scientific, or literary institutions:  | 17,899                         | 13,077                     | 4,822             |
| 34<br>35 | Publicly ownedPrivately endowed   | 32, 181                        | 27, 191                    | 4, 990<br>5, 409  |
| 36       |   |                                | 10,753<br>112,560          | 23,095            |
| 37<br>38 | Religious. Charitable and all other gifts. Property previously taxed, net deduction 8. Specific exemption 9.              | 39, 161<br>839, 850            | 38, 540<br>715, 290        | 621<br>124, 560   |
| 39       |   |                                |                            |                   |
| 40       | Disallowed deductions <sup>10</sup>   | 5,871<br>1,431,442             | 1, 985<br>1, 211, 047      | 3,886<br>220,395  |
| 41       | Allowable deductions (28 less 40)   | 1, 401, 442                    | 1, 411, 047                |                   |
|          | Net estate: Before specific exemption 11 (2 less 41 plus 39)  | 2, 316, 028                    | 2, 224, 243                | 91, 786           |
| 42<br>43 | For basic tax <sup>12</sup> For additional tax  | 1, 168, 503<br>1, 508, 768     | 1, 168, 503<br>1, 508, 768 |                   |
| 44       | For additional tax  | 1,508,768                      | 1,508,768                  |                   |
|          |   |                                |                            |                   |

For footnotes, see p. 323.

aliens, by taxable and nontaxable returns under the applicable revenue acts: Number of deductions, net estate, and tax  $\frac{1}{2}$ 

thousands of dollars]

|  | Andreas  |  |  |  |   |   |   |   |  |                                  |  |  |  |  |
|--|--|--|--|--|---|---|---|---|--|----------------------------------|--|--|--|--|
|  |  |  |  | Applicable                                 | revenue a   | icts  | _   |   |  |                                  |  |  |  |  |
|  | Internal I   | Revenue C  | ode as am  | ended by-                                  | -   | Act of  | f 1932 as<br>ed by 1935   |   |  |                                  |  |  |  |  |
| viduals  | (effective<br>es of indi-<br>who died<br>after Oct.<br>1942) | for estate viduals in period 1941, three         | (effective<br>es of indi-<br>who died<br>I Sept. 21,<br>ough Oct.<br>1942) | for estat<br>viduals<br>in period<br>1940, | (effective<br>es of indi-<br>who died<br>d June 26,<br>through<br>20, 1941) | act; the Reven and the amende act (efficestates counts who period 1935, t | e Interna<br>ue Code;<br>e Code as<br>ed by 1939<br>ective for<br>of individ<br>to died in<br>Aug. 31,<br>through | A ct of<br>amende<br>act; 1 an<br>acts (eff<br>estates of<br>uals who | 1932 as<br>d by 1934<br>d all prion<br>ective for<br>of individ-<br>o died be-<br>ug. 31,<br>35) |                                  |  |  |  |  |
| Taxable  | Non-<br>taxable  | Taxable  | Non-<br>taxable  | Taxable                                    | Non-<br>taxable   | Taxable   | Non-<br>taxable   | Taxable   | Non-<br>taxable  |                                  |  |  |  |  |
| 11, 44;  | =  | 543  | 145  | 62   | 30  | 89  | 47  | 17  | 14   | 1                                |  |  |  |  |
| 2, 597, 830  | =  | 107, 480   | 10, 011  | 5, 372                                     | 1, 969  | 6, 644  | 3, 754  | 2,673   | 1,656  | 2                                |  |  |  |  |
| 364, 187   |  | 15,852   | 4, 278   | 928  | 1, 214  | 2,653   | 1,918   | 1, 046  | 855  | 3                                |  |  |  |  |
| 304, 210<br>38, 375<br>10, 800                                   | 5, 328<br>1, 131<br>258                                      | 12, 367<br>1, 991<br>932<br>260                  | 3, 567<br>568<br>87  | 649<br>112<br>109                          | 982<br>189<br>42  | 1, 810<br>285<br>500  | 1, 753<br>149<br>15   | 144   | 649<br>207   | 4<br>5<br>6                      |  |  |  |  |
| 10, 278  | =  | 297  | 56   | 58   |   | 58  |   | 190   |  | 8                                |  |  |  |  |
| 30, 506  |  | 2, 013   | 166  | 55   | 69  | 111   | 24  | 28  | 8  | 9                                |  |  |  |  |
| 29, 286<br>375<br>329<br>2                                       | 61   | 1, 950<br>25<br>11                               | 157<br>7<br>1  | 50<br>1<br>3                               | 69  | 110<br>1  | 24  | 17 11 (17)  | 8  | 10<br>11<br>12                   |  |  |  |  |
| 514  | 29   | 26   | (17)   | i  |   | (17)  |   |   |  | 13                               |  |  |  |  |
| 2, 203, 138  | 119, 687   | . 89,614   | 5, 568   | 4, 389                                     | 687   | 3. 880  | 1, 812  | 1, 599  | 792  | 15                               |  |  |  |  |
| 184, 488<br>18, 290<br>73, 936<br>92, 262<br>144, 500            | 11, 388<br>552<br>5, 351<br>5, 484<br>3, 415                 | 5, 158<br>521<br>1, 715<br>2, #22<br>11, 575     | 209<br>2<br>99<br>108<br>12  | 412<br>327<br>86                           | 15  | 274<br>13<br>261  | (17)<br>40  | 4 2 2   | 15<br>15   | 16<br>17<br>18<br>19             |  |  |  |  |
| 117, 373<br>1, 054, 063<br>260, 920<br>104, 924<br>183, 321      | 3, 415<br>7, 223<br>40, 291<br>22, 253<br>7, 646<br>14, 703  | 4, 020<br>41, 951<br>12, 512<br>3, 581<br>2, 767 | 178<br>1,990<br>870<br>438<br>614  | 69<br>1,473<br>818<br>502<br>93            | 39<br>218<br>186<br>105<br>92   | 48<br>370<br>1,176<br>811<br>636<br>72                                    | 24<br>60<br>688<br>235<br>295   | 85<br>485<br>56<br>387  | 12<br>285<br>33<br>52  | 20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24       |  |  |  |  |
| 79, 846<br>73, 703   | 8, 684<br>4, 083   | 4; 136<br>3, 914                                 | 811<br>446   | 508<br>506                                 | 19  | 294<br>200  | 84<br>67<br>318   | 13<br>61<br>506   | 20<br>37<br>339  | 25<br>26<br>27                   |  |  |  |  |
| 1, 159, 182  | 201, 788   | 43, 741  | 12, 564  | 3,662                                      | 2, 520  | 4,618   | 4,912   | 1,829   | 2, 497   | 28                               |  |  |  |  |
| 108,009<br>160,537<br>113<br>10,981                              | 9, 473<br>38, 520<br>190<br>901                              | 5, 636<br>7, 348<br>16<br>611                    | 614<br>5, 233<br>4<br>105  | 256<br>427                                 | 157<br>999<br>5   | 263<br>631  | 2, 782<br>8   | 370<br>352  | 65<br>1, 483<br>5  | 29<br>30<br>31                   |  |  |  |  |
| 156, 930   | 37, 347  | 6, 516   | 765  | 33<br>129                                  | 11<br>149   | 21<br>3   | 53<br>53  | 18<br>4   | 43   | 32<br>33                         |  |  |  |  |
| 12, 955<br>26, 524<br>10, 253<br>107, 198<br>36, 033<br>686, 580 | 4, 652<br>4, 858<br>5, 069<br>22, 767<br>577<br>114, 780     | 119<br>654<br>433<br>5, 309<br>1, 895<br>21, 720 | 93<br>118<br>325<br>230<br>44<br>5,800                                     | 12<br>65<br>52<br>337<br>2, 480            | 42<br>4<br>12<br>92<br>1,200  | 2<br>(17)<br>140<br>3, 560  | 36<br>10<br>3<br>5  | (17) 3  <br>1  <br>135  <br>950                                       | 1 900  | 34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39 |  |  |  |  |
| 1, 985<br>1, 157, 197  | 3, 886<br>197, 902   | 43, 741  | 12, 564  | 3,662                                      | 2, 520  | 4, 618  | 4, 912  | 1, 829  | 2, 497   | 40<br>41                         |  |  |  |  |
| 2, 127, 213<br>1, 120, 329<br>1, 440, 633                        | 87, 108  | 85, 459<br>47, 097<br>63, 739                    | 3, 247   | 4, 189<br>278<br>1, 709                    | 649   | 5, 587<br>369<br>2, 027   | 722   | 1, 795<br>419<br>660  | 59   | 42<br>43<br>44                   |  |  |  |  |

Table 1.—Estate tax returns filed during 1944 for estates of citizens and resident returns, items of gross estate,

[Money figures in

|  |  |                                      | All acts   |   |
|--|--|--------------------------------------|--|---|
|  |  | Total                                | Taxable  | Nontax-<br>able   |
| 45<br>46<br>47<br>48                               | Basic tax 13 before tax credits.  Tax credit for Federal gift taxes.  Tax credit for inheritance, etc., taxes 14.  Net basic tax (45 less 46 and 47) | 58, 710<br>120<br>46, 285<br>12, 306 | 58, 710<br>120<br>46, 285<br>12, 306   |   |
| 49<br>50<br>51                                     | Additional tax before tax credit   | 393, 501<br>1, 183<br>392, 318       | 393, 501<br>1, 183<br>392, 318   |   |
| 52   | Defense tax 15   | 11                                   | 11   |   |
| 53   | Total tax liability (48 plus 51 and 52)  | 404, 635                             | 404, 635   |   |
| 54   | Information items: Intangible personal property, total (items 55-63, or 15)  | 2, 431, 165                          | 2, 302, 620  | 128, 546  |
| 55<br>56<br>57<br>58<br>59<br>60<br>61<br>62<br>63 | Intangible personal property not included in items 60-63: Stocks and bonds   | 206, 764                             | 1, 411, 197<br>232, 482<br>98, 971<br>186, 266<br>141, 634<br>66, 293<br>86, 117<br>19, 032<br>60, 628 | 62, 273<br>20, 993<br>7, 750<br>15, 512<br>13, 478<br>3, 492<br>1, 882<br>512<br>2, 653 |
| 64<br>65   | Tax-exempt insurance 16  | 4, 985                               | 4,054  | 931   |

For footnotes, see p. 323.

aliens, by taxable and nontaxable returns under the applicable revenue acts: Number of deductions, net estate, and tax—Continued

#### thousands of dollars]

|  | Applicable revenue acts   |   |  |   |   |  |   |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|--|---|---|--|---|---|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
|  | Internal R  | evenue Co   | ode as ame   | ended by-   |   | Act of   | 1932 as   |  |  | -  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 1942 act (for estate viduals von or aft 22, 1  | s of indi-<br>vho died<br>ter Oct   | for estate  | ugh Oct.   | for estate<br>viduals<br>in period                            | (effective<br>es of indi-<br>who died<br>June 26,<br>hrough<br>0, 1941) | act; the<br>Revenu<br>and the<br>amende<br>act (effe<br>estates o<br>uals wh | Internal<br>te Code;<br>Code as<br>I by 1939<br>ective for<br>I individ-<br>o died in<br>Aug. 31,<br>hrough | amended<br>act; 1 and<br>acts (eff<br>estates of<br>uals who | Act of 1932 as<br>amended by 1934<br>act; ¹ and all prior<br>acts (effective for<br>estates of individ-<br>uals who died be-<br>fore Aug. 31,<br>1935) |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Taxable  | Non-<br>taxable   | Taxable   | Non-<br>taxable                                    | Taxable   | Non-<br>taxable   | Taxable Non-taxable  |   | Taxable  | Non-<br>taxable  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 55, 844<br>117<br>44, 041<br>11, 685   |   | 2, 852<br>1<br>2, 237<br>613  |  | (17) 4<br>3<br>1  |   | 4<br>I<br>1<br>3   |   | 6 3 3  |  | 45<br>46<br>47<br>48                               |  |  |  |  |  |
| 375, 710<br>1, 179<br>374, 530   |   | 17, 531<br>1<br>17, 530   |  | 107<br>2<br>105   |   | 129<br>1<br>128  |   | 25<br>25   |  | 49<br>50<br>51                                     |  |  |  |  |  |
| 386, 216   |   | 18, 143   |  | 116   |   | 131  |   | 28   |  | 52<br>53   |  |  |  |  |  |
| 2, 203, 138  | 119, 687  | 89, 614   | 5, 568   | 4, 389  | 687   | 3, 380   | 1, 812  | 1, 599   | 792  | 54   |  |  |  |  |  |
| 1, 353, 053<br>220, 387<br>94, 359<br>183, 321<br>132, 676<br>63, 367<br>80, 825<br>18, 432<br>56, 718 | 58, 604<br>19, 920<br>6, 996<br>14, 703<br>11, 430<br>3, 308<br>1, 707<br>512<br>2, 505 | 55, 303<br>10, 926<br>3, 297<br>2, 767<br>7, 086<br>1, 950<br>4, 572<br>491<br>3, 222 | 2, 341<br>723<br>340<br>614<br>1, 265<br>101<br>78 | 1, 204<br>461<br>449<br>93<br>822<br>491<br>286<br>109<br>474 | 221<br>149<br>70<br>92<br>24<br>1<br>91                                 | 1, 200<br>653<br>484<br>72<br>483<br>370<br>405                              | 796<br>180<br>292<br>84<br>383<br>70<br>6   | 437<br>55<br>382<br>13<br>567<br>115<br>29                   | 311<br>21<br>52<br>20<br>376<br>12   | 55<br>56<br>57<br>58<br>59<br>60<br>61<br>62<br>63 |  |  |  |  |  |
| 183, 321   | 14, 703   | 6, 366<br>3, 599  | 1, 369<br>755                                      | 289<br>196  | 113<br>21   | 221<br>149   | 211<br>127  | 123<br>110   | 48<br>28   | 64<br>65   |  |  |  |  |  |

Table 2.—Taxable estate tax returns filed during 1944 for estates of citizens and resident aliens who died on or after Aug. 31, 1935, by net estate before specific exemption classes: Number of returns, items of gross estate, deductions, net estate, and tax

| [Net estate before specific exemption classes and mone | y figures in thousands of dollars |
|--|-----------------------------------|
|--|-----------------------------------|

| T  |  |   |   | Net  | estate before   | specific exem  | iption classes   | 13  |  |   |  |
|--|--|---|---|--|---|--|--|---|--|---|--|
|  |  | Total   | 40 under 50   | 50 under 60  | 60 under 80   | 80 under<br>100  | 100 under<br>150   | 150 under<br>200                            | 200 under<br>300                       | 300 under<br>400  |  |
|  | Number of returns  | 12, 137   | 196   | 127  | 3, 695  | 2, 162   | 2, 513   | 1, 142                                      | 1,007                                  | 451   | 1  |
| 1  | Gross estate, total  | 2, 717, 326   | 11, 191   | 8, 799   | 303, 993  | 239, 113   | 375, 028   | 235, 157                                    | 285, 747                               | 187, 665  | 2  |
| 2  | Real estate, total   | 383, 620  | 4, 091  | 2, 626   | 78, 298   | 54, 891  | 72, 512  | 38, 839                                     | 41, 947                                | 22, 542   | 3  |
| 3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8   | Real estate not included in items 5-8 Jointly owned Transfers during decedent's life Powers of appointment Previously taxed  | 319, 036<br>40, 763<br>12, 341<br>789<br>10, 691  | 3, 315<br>409<br>271  | 1, 988<br>318<br>274<br>11<br>34                                 | 61, 747<br>10, 000<br>2, 921<br>84<br>3, 547  | 44, 053<br>6, 572<br>1, 973<br>77<br>2, 217  | 60, 152<br>8, 057<br>2, 255<br>96<br>1, 953  | 31, 229<br>4, 817<br>1, 401<br>19<br>1, 374 | 36, 057<br>4, 110<br>922<br>252<br>607 | 19, 419<br>1, 841<br>899<br>181<br>172                      | 4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8  |
| 9  | Tangible personal property, total  | 32, 685   | 161   | 166  | 4, 553  | 3, 187   | 4, 996   | 2, 960                                      | 2,834                                  | 1, 993  | 9  |
| 10   | Tangible personal property not included in items   | 31, 396   | 147   | 162  | 4, 319  | 3,008  | 4, 834   | 2,840                                       | 2, 741                                 | 1,899   | 10   |
| 11<br>12   | 11-14. Jointly owned   | 402<br>343  | 1   | (17)   | 91<br>33  | 67<br>25   | 62<br>24<br>2  | 31<br>17                                    | 49<br>6                                | 20<br>29  | 11<br>12<br>13   |
| 13<br>14   | Powers of appointment Previously taxed   | 542   | 13  | (17)   | 110   | 86   |  | 72  | 39                                     | 44  | 14   |
|  | Intangible personal property, total  |   | 6, 939  | 6,007  | 221, 146  | 181, 035   | 297, 520   | 193, 358                                    | 240, 966                               | 163, 130  | 15   |
| 16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27 | Federal Government bonds,3 total.  Wholly tax-exempt. Partially tax-exempt. Taxable. State and municipal bonds. Other bonds. Corporate stock Cash 4. Mortgage and notes. Taxable insurance (64 less 65). Interest in unincorporated business 5. Other intangibles 6. | 190, 332<br>18, 824<br>76, 238<br>95, 270<br>156, 130<br>121, 832<br>1, 098, 664<br>275, 062<br>109, 643<br>186, 253<br>84, 783 | 468<br>92<br>75<br>237<br>2, 317<br>1, 693<br>779<br>195<br>756 | 14<br>218<br>58<br>58<br>233<br>2, 412<br>1, 105<br>649<br>6 370 | 493<br>8, 415<br>9, 832<br>2, 919<br>11, 902<br>78, 078<br>40, 511<br>17, 147<br>29, 177<br>14, 490 | 1, 104<br>6, 245<br>8, 093<br>7, 259<br>10, 146<br>64, 189<br>29, 979<br>12, 823<br>24, 257<br>10, 759 | 745<br>10, 990<br>12. 949<br>7, 530<br>17, 281<br>117, 220<br>46, 201<br>19, 221<br>38, 217<br>15, 547 | 10. 839<br>20, 811<br>9, 485<br>6, 964      | 25, 375<br>9, 262<br>9, 919            | 79, 405<br>18, 039<br>9, 193<br>13, 886<br>5, 145<br>4, 608 | 17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27 |
| 28   | Total deductions   | 1, 211, 203   | 10, 239   | 6, 873   | 267, 493  | 175, 225   | 219, 426   | 107, 480                                    | 101, 209                               | 58, 125   | 25   |

| 29       | Funeral and administration expenses   | 114, 164                                | 615          | 1 456        | 13, 547            | 1 10 540           | 16,877             | 1 10 100           |                    |                   |          |
|----------|---|---|--------------|--------------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------|-------------------|----------|
| 30       | Debts and mortgages   | 168, 943                                | 1, 229       | 950          | 22, 140            | 10, 343<br>16, 186 | 28, 970            | 10, 403<br>16, 303 | 12, 638<br>19, 654 | 7, 625<br>10, 160 |          |
| 31       | Net losses during administration  | 128                                     | 10           | (17)         | 50                 | 10, 130            | 23, 370            | 10, 303            | 19,004             | 10.100            | 31       |
| 32       | Support of dependents 7.  | 11,646                                  | 63           | ` 60         | 1, 451             | 1, 267             | 2, 118             | 1.318              | 1, 360             | 946               | 32       |
| 33       | Charitable, public, and similar bequests, total<br>Educational, scientific, or literary institutions: | 163, 577                                | 155          | 143          | 7,010              | 13, 823            | 15, 199            | 7, 142             | 4, 437             | 9, 677            | 33       |
| 34       | Publicly owned  | 13, 074                                 |              |              |                    |                    |                    |                    | 1                  | · ·               | 1        |
| 35       | Privately endowed   | 27, 191                                 | 1 15         | 114          | 893<br>540         | 336                | 690                | 490                | 118                | 455               | 34       |
| 36       | Religious   | 10 752                                  | 71           | 15           | 1. 712             | 1, 517<br>2, 277   | 5, 386<br>1, 781   | 1, 316<br>563      | 518<br>754         | 2, 208<br>661     | 35       |
| 37       | Charitable and all other gifts  | 112, 560                                | 68           | 13           | 3, 865             | 9, 693             | 7, 352             | 4, 773             | 3, 046             | 6, 353            | 36       |
| 38       | Property previously taxed, net deduction 8  | 38 405                                  | 326          | 184          | 4, 394             | 4, 991             | 6. 912             | 4, 467             | 3, 344             | 2, 576            | 38       |
| 39       | Specific exemption 9  | 714, 340                                | 7, 840       | 5, 080       | <b>•218, 900</b>   | 128, 600           | 149, 320           | 67, 840            | 59, 760            | 27, 140           |          |
| 40       | Disallowed deductions 10  | 1, 985                                  |              |              | 92                 |                    | ****               |                    |                    | <del></del>       | :        |
| 41       | Allowable deductions (28 less 40)   | 1, 209, 218                             | 10, 239      | 6, 873       | 267, 401           | 198<br>175, 026    | 589<br>218, 837    | 717                | 101 000            | 342               | 40       |
|          | . ,   | ======================================= | 10, 200      | 0,011        | 201, 401           | 170,020            | 210, 007           | 106, 763           | 101, 209           | 57, 783           | 41       |
|          | Net estate:   |   | 1            |              |                    |                    |                    |                    |                    | 1                 | 9        |
| 42       | Before specific exemption (2 less 41 plus 39)   |   | 8, 792       | 7, 006       | 255, 497           | 192, 686           | 305, 511           | 196, 235           | 244, 298           | 157, 022          | 42       |
| 43<br>44 | For basic tax For additional tax  | 1, 168, 084                             | 4            | 4            | 157                | 1,039              | 56. 426            | 82, 962            | 144, 010           | 111, 813          | 43       |
| **       | Por auditional tax  | 1, 508, 108                             | 952          | 1, 926       | 36, 597            | 64, 086            | 156, 191           | 128, 395           | 184, 538           | 129, 882          | 44       |
| 45       | Basic tax before tax credits  | 58, 704                                 | (17)         | (17)         | 2                  | 11                 | 571                | 1,088              | 2, 806             | 2, 883            | 45       |
| 46       | Tax credit for Federal gift taxes   | 120                                     | (17)<br>(17) |              | (17)               | (17)               | "2                 | 1,050              | 2, 800             | 2,000             | 46       |
| 47       | Tax credit for inheritance, etc., taxes 14  | 46 282                                  | l (iii)      | (17)         | 1                  | `´8                | 438                | 844                | 2, 186             | 2, 245            | 47       |
| 48       | Net basic tax (45 less 46 and 47)   | 12, 303                                 | (17)         | (17)         | (17)               | 3                  | 130                | 237                | 604                | 630               | 48       |
| 49       | Additional tax before tax credit  | 393, 476                                | 33           | 116          | 2, 325             | 0.500              |                    |                    |                    |                   |          |
| 50       | Tax credit for Federal gift taxes   | 1, 183                                  | (17) 33      | (17)         | 2, 323             | 6, 569<br>5        | 25, 217<br>27      | 26, 763<br>15      | 43, 129<br>69      | 32, 213<br>39     | 49<br>50 |
| 51       | Net additional tax (49 less 50)   | 392, 294                                | ` ′ 33       | 116          | 2, 323             | 6, 564             | 25, 190            | 26, 748            | 43,060             | 32, 174           |          |
| 52       |   | ======                                  |              |              |                    |                    | 20, 100            | 20,110             | 23,000             | 32,171            | 01       |
| 52       | Defense tax 15  | 11                                      | (17)         | 1            | 2                  | 1                  | 4                  |                    | 2                  |                   | 52       |
| 53       | Total tax liability (48 plus 51 and 52)   | 404, 607                                | 34           | 117          | 2, 325             | 6, 568             | 25, 324            | 26, 985            | 49.000             | 20.004            | 53       |
|          | ,   | ======                                  |              |              | 2, 323             | 0, 003             | 20, 324            | 20, 985            | 43, 666            | 32, 804           | 33       |
|          | Information items:  |   |              |              |                    |                    |                    |                    |                    |                   | 1        |
| 54       | Intangible personal property, total (items 55-63, or 15)  | 2, 301, 021                             | 6, 939       | 6,007        | 221, 146           | 181, 035           | 297, 520           | 193, 358           | 240, 966           | 163, 130          | 54       |
|          | Intangible personal property not included in items  |   |              |              |                    |                    |                    |                    |                    |                   | 1        |
| 1 1      | 60-63:  |   |              |              |                    |                    |                    |                    |                    |                   |          |
| 55       | Stocks and bonds  | 1, 410, 760                             | 2, 243       | 2, 429       | 92, 162            | 82, 060            | 145, 593           | 103, 290           | 141, 186           | 100, 858          | 55       |
| 56<br>57 | Cash 4  | 232, 426                                | 1, 411       | . 867        | 31, 471            | 23, 791            | 36, 407            | 21, 616            | 24, 782            | 15, 759           | 56       |
| 58       | Mortgages and notes   | 98, 589                                 | 665          | 553.         | 14, 738            | 10, 979            | 16, 892            | 9, 253             | 12, 518            | 8, 452            | 57       |
| 59       | Other intangibles 6   | 186, 253<br>141, 067                    | 195<br>966   | 370          | 29, 177            | 24, 257            | 38, 217            | 20, 811            | 25, 375            | 13, 886           | 58       |
| 60       | Jointly owned   | 66, 178                                 | 395          | 838<br>251   | 19, 265<br>15, 263 | 14, 621<br>10, 205 | 23, 492<br>15, 468 | 13, 574            | 16, 048            | 7, 953            | 59<br>60 |
| 61       | Transfers during decedent's life  | \$6,087                                 | 314          | 326          | 6, 111             | 6, 423             | 8, 250             | 7, 705<br>8, 141   | 6, 569<br>7, 884   | 3, 285<br>7, 613  | 61       |
| 62       | Powers of appointment Previously taxed  | 19, 032                                 |              | 5            | 850                | 825                | 3, 046             | 3, 141             | 1, 391             | 1, 557            | 62       |
| 63       | Previously taxed  | 60, 628                                 | 751          | 369          | 12, 109            | 7, 873             | 10, 156            | 5, 826             | 5, 211             | 3, 767            | 63       |
| 64       | Gross insurance   | 190, 197                                | 000          |              |                    |                    |                    |                    |                    |                   |          |
| 65       | Tax-exempt insurance 16   | 3, 944                                  | 906<br>710   | 1,010<br>640 | 29, 785<br>608     | 24, 642<br>385     | 38, 724            | 21, 061            | 25, 751            | 13, 911           | 64       |
|          |   | 0, 544                                  | 110          | 040          | 008                | 385                | 506                | 251                | 376                | 25                | 65       |
|          |   |   |              |              |                    |                    |                    |                    |                    |                   |          |

Table 2.—Taxable estate tax returns filed during 1944 for estates of citizens and resident aliens who died on or after Aug. 31, 1935, by net estate before specific exemption classes: Number of returns, items of gross estate, deductions, net estate, and tax—Continued

[Net estate before specific exemption classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| Ī  |  |  |  | Net estate  | before specifi   | c exemption   | classes 18—C  | ontinued   |  |  |  |
|--|--|--|--|---|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|
|  |  | 400 under<br>500   | 500 under<br>600   | 600 under<br>700  | 700 under<br>800   | 800 under<br>900  | 900 under<br>1,000  | 1,000 under<br>1,500   | 1,500 under<br>2,000   | 2,000 under<br>2,500   |  |
| 1  | Number of returns  | 236  | 134  | 92  | 79   | 46  | 35  | 100  | 51   | 26   | 1                                      |
| 2  | Gross estate, total  | 130, 041   | 84, 472  | 70, 580   | 67, 956  | 48, 451   | 39, 910   | 143, 047   | 105, 894   | 68, 106  | 2                                      |
| 3  | Real estate,² total  | 12, 238  | 6, 817   | 6, 441  | 4, 555   | 4, 106  | 2, 999  | 10, 148  | 4, 978   | 3, 518   | 3                                      |
| 4<br>5<br>6<br>7   | Real estate not included in items 5-8  | 9,867<br>1,257<br>945<br>33<br>135   | 6, 184<br>407<br>58<br>6<br>162  | 5, 998<br>363<br>32<br>8<br>41  | 4, 038<br>382<br>37<br>1<br>97   | 3, 831<br>219<br>40   | 2, 825<br>131<br>27   | 9, 366<br>475<br>218<br>23<br>66   | 4,740<br>238   | 2,876<br>577<br>65   | 5<br>6<br>7<br>8                       |
| ٥  | Tangible personal property, total  | 1,086  | 970  | 972   | 727  | 353   | 244   | 1,050  | 2, 171   | 823  | 9                                      |
| 10   | Tangible personal property not included in items   | 887  | 952  | 937   | 687  | 353   | 244   | 1,023  | 2, 164   | 784  | 10                                     |
| 11<br>12   | II-14. Jointly owned Transfers during decedent's life Powers of appointment. Previously taxed  | 21<br>174  | 1  | 6<br>8  | <u>i</u> i   |   |   |  | 6  | 38   | 11<br>12<br>13                         |
| 13<br>14   | Powers of appointmentPreviously taxed.   | 3  | 17   | 20  | 29   |   |   | 11   |  | 1  | 14                                     |
| 15   | Intangible personal property, total  |  | 76, 685  | 63, 167   | 62, 675  | 43, 992   | 36, 667   | 131,850  | 98, 745  | 63, 765  | 15                                     |
| 16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27 | Federal Government bonds,* total.  Wholly tax-exempt. Partially tax-exempt. Taxable. State and municipal bonds. Other bonds. Corporate stock. Cash 4. Mortgages and notes. Taxable insurance (64 less 65). Interest in unincorporated business 4. Other intangibles 9. | 10, 113<br>713<br>4, 310<br>5, 090<br>8, 961<br>8, 601<br>59, 627<br>11, 138 | 6, 074<br>477<br>2, 342<br>3, 254<br>5, 955<br>4, 294<br>40, 119<br>6, 667<br>2, 283<br>6, 008<br>2, 126<br>3, 159 | 5, 733<br>317<br>2, 028<br>3, 388<br>4, 918<br>3, 516<br>32, 692<br>6, 812<br>2, 945<br>3, 925<br>846<br>1, 780 | 5, 922<br>372<br>3, 005<br>2, 544<br>7, 297<br>3, 120<br>31, 461<br>6, 233<br>2, 522<br>2, 302<br>2, 494<br>1, 323 | 2, 906<br>87<br>1, 228<br>1, 591<br>2, 970<br>2, 028<br>25, 643<br>3, 747<br>1, 406<br>2, 297<br>1, 231<br>1, 765 | 4, 299<br>679<br>2, 152<br>1, 468<br>4, 567<br>2, 454<br>18, 498<br>2, 916<br>750<br>2, 024<br>197<br>961 | 13, 746<br>2, 443<br>4, 919<br>6, 384<br>15, 397<br>6, 641<br>67, 150<br>11, 256<br>4, 310<br>3, 046<br>5, 697<br>4, 607 | 6, 538 1, 161 1, 195 4, 182 17, 216 3, 121 53, 718 9, 241 1, 488 2, 241 4, 221 | 7, 276<br>1, 238<br>1, 431<br>4, 608<br>10, 556<br>1, 974<br>33, 025<br>5, 451<br>3, 020<br>67<br>2, 044 | 21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27 |
| 28   | Total deductions   |  | 20, 044  | 16, 668   | 13, 603  | 12, 377   | 8, 872  | 27, 176  | 22, 379  | 12, 170  | _ 28                                   |

|                      |  |   |  |  | ······································   |   |  |   |   |  |  |
|----------------------|--|---|--|--|--|---|--|---|---|--|--|
| 29<br>30<br>31       | Funeral and administration expenses  |   | 3, 635<br>5, 350   | 3,317<br>3,722   | 2, 541<br>2, 835   | 2, 315<br>4, 734  | 1, 529<br>1, 811   | 5, 511<br>9, 927  | 4, 353<br>3, 301  |  | 3   29                                       |
| 32<br>33<br>34       | Net losses during administration. Support of dependents? Charitable, public, and similar bequests, total. Educational, scientific, or literary institutions: | 364<br>10, 863  | 245<br>1,912   | 383<br>2, 757  | 198<br>2,823   | 303   | 190  | (17)<br>433<br>3, 854   | 251<br>11, 192  | - 57   | 31 32  |
| 35<br>36<br>37<br>38 | Privately endowed  Religious  Chapitable and all other citté   | 5, 434<br>854<br>202  | 197<br>764<br>181<br>769   | 184<br>232<br>249<br>2, 092  | 41<br>161<br>315<br>2, 307   | 47<br>423<br>134<br>1,600   | 175<br>816<br>279<br>1,865   | 66<br>1, 076<br>234<br>2, 478   | 237<br>5, 007<br>46<br>5, 902   | 3, 544<br>. 895<br>93<br>726   | 35   |
| 39<br>40             | Property previously taxed, net deduction s. Specific exemption s. Disallowed deductions 10.  | 14, 020   | 901<br>8, 000  | 1,029<br>5,460   | 466<br>4, 740  | 100<br>2, 720   | 166<br>2, 040  | 1, 530<br>5, 920  | 322<br>2, 960   | 1, 540   | 38   |
| άĭ                   | A Howable deductions (28 less 40)  | 39, 587   | 20, 044  | 16, 668  | 13, 603  | 12, 377   | 8,872  | 27, 176   | 22, 379   | 12, 170  | - 40<br>41                                   |
| 12<br>13<br>14       | Net estate:  Before specific exemption (2 less 41 plus 39)  For basic tax  For additional tax  | 104, 474<br>81, 014<br>90, 454  | 72, 428<br>59, 089<br>64, 428  | 59, 372<br>50, 230<br>53, 912  | 59, 093<br>51, 217<br>54, 353  | 38, 794<br>34, 199<br>36, 074   | 33, 078<br>29, 585<br>31, 038  | 121, 791<br>111, 833<br>115, 871  | 86, 475<br>81, 384<br>83, 515   | 57, 476<br>54, 876<br>55, 936  | 43   |
| 15<br>16<br>17<br>18 | Basic tax before tax credits Tax credit for Federal gift taxes Tax credit for inheritance, etc., taxes " Net basic tax (45 less 46 and 47)                   | 2, 415<br>3<br>1, 920<br>492  | 1, 949<br>10<br>1, 485<br>454  | 1,822<br>3<br>1,427<br>391   | 2, 006<br>4<br>1, 560<br>443   | 1, 431<br>1<br>1, 127<br>303  | 1, 318<br>1, 014<br>305  | 5, 812<br>7<br>4, 515<br>1, 289   | 4, 962<br>(17)<br>3, 833<br>1, 128  | 3, 764<br>2, 986<br>778  | 45<br>46<br>47                               |
| 19<br>10<br>11       | Additional tax before tax credit  Tax credit for Federal gift taxes.  Net additional tax (49 less 50)  | 23, 167<br>52<br>23, 114  | 16, 752<br>(17)<br>16, 752   | 14, 351<br>11<br>14, 340   | 14, 702<br>4<br>14, 699  | 9, 879<br>7<br>9, 872   | 8, 615<br>8, 615   | 33, 048<br>94<br>32, 953  | 25, 136<br>1<br>25, 135   | 17, 758  | 49   |
| 2                    | Defense tax 15   |   |  | - <del></del>  | =======================================  | =====   |  | =======================================   | ======  | 17, 735  | 52   |
| 3                    | Total tax liability (48 plus 51 and 52)  | 23, 606   | 17, 206  | 14, 731  | 15, 142  | 10, 175   | 8, 920   | 34, 243   | 26, 263   | 18, 536  | 53   |
| 4                    | Information items: Intangible personal property, total (items 55-63, or 15)  | 116, 718  | 76, 685  | 63, 167  | 62, 675  | 43, 992   | 36, 667  | 131,850   | 98, 745   | 63, 765  | 54   |
| 5 7 3 9 ) [ 2 ]      | Intangible personal property not included in items 60-63: Stocks and bonds. Cash 4. Mortgages and notes  | 79, 445<br>9, 968<br>5, 068<br>7, 585<br>4, 774<br>1, 173<br>4, 170<br>2, 084<br>2, 451 | 54, 493<br>6, 220<br>2, 206<br>6, 008<br>4, 517<br>709<br>1, 297<br>330<br>906 | 43, 089<br>5, 622<br>2, 876<br>3, 925<br>2, 182<br>1, 117<br>2, 728<br>290<br>1, 338 | 45, 125<br>5, 974<br>2, 383<br>2, 302<br>3, 778<br>225<br>1, 543<br>911<br>435 | 31, 345<br>3, 287<br>1, 383<br>2, 297<br>2, 680<br>583<br>1, 585<br>737<br>95 | 27, 084<br>2, 796<br>750<br>2, 024<br>1, 148<br>132<br>2, 530<br>203 | 91, 193<br>10, 013<br>4, 035<br>3, 046<br>10, 095<br>1, 542<br>8, 471<br>1, 589<br>1, 865 | 76, 631<br>9, 093<br>904<br>1, 488<br>6, 106<br>567<br>2, 388<br>700<br>868 | 47, 378<br>4, 907<br>340<br>3, 020<br>573<br>161<br>5, 838<br>1, 542 | 56<br>57<br>58<br>59<br>60<br>61<br>62<br>63 |
| H                    | Tax-exempt insurance 16  | 120   | 40   | 80   | 2, 002   | 25 25   | 2, 084   | 3, 066<br>20  | 1, 505<br>17  | 3, 060<br>40   | 64<br>65                                     |

Table 2.— Taxable estate tax returns filed during 1944 for estates of citizens and resident aliens who died on or after Aug. 31, 1935, by net estate before specific exemption classes: Number of returns, items of gross estate, deductions, net estate, and tax—Continued

| Net estate before specific exemption | classes and money figures in thousands of dollars] |
|--------------------------------------|--|
|--------------------------------------|--|

|                |  |                         |                         |                         | Net est                 | ate before              | e specific              | exempti                 | on classe               | s 18—Con                | tinued                   |                           |                           |                       |          |
|----------------|--|-------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------------|----------|
|                |  | 2,500<br>under<br>3,000 | 3,000<br>under<br>3,500 | 3,500<br>under<br>4,000 | 4,000<br>under<br>4,500 | 4,500<br>under<br>5,000 | 5,000<br>under<br>6,000 | 6,000<br>under<br>7,000 | 7,000<br>under<br>8,000 | 8,000<br>under<br>9,000 | 9,000<br>under<br>10,000 | 10,000<br>under<br>20,000 | 20,000<br>under<br>50,000 | 50,000<br>and<br>over |          |
| ,              | Number of returns.   | 18                      | 5                       | . 2                     | 5                       | 1                       | 2                       |                         | 5                       | 1                       | 1                        |                           | 2                         |                       | 1        |
| 2              | Gross estate, total  | 59, 167                 | 17, 863                 | 8, 566                  | 22, 960                 | 4, 914                  | 17, 108                 |                         | 41, 660                 | 9, 941                  | 9, 990                   |                           | 120,002                   |                       | 2        |
| 3              | Real estate,² total  | 3, 922                  | 856                     | 209                     | 774                     | 44                      | 694                     |                         | 4, 284                  | 36                      | 157                      |                           | 1,098                     |                       | 3        |
| 4              | Real estate not included in items 5–8                                | 3, 854<br>63            | 856                     | 149<br>60               | 774                     | 44                      | 694                     |                         | 4, 135                  | 36                      | 149                      |                           | 630<br>468                |                       | 5        |
| 6              | Transfers during decedent's life                                     | 5                       |                         |                         |                         |                         |                         |                         | 149                     |                         | 8                        |                           |                           |                       | 7        |
| 8              | Previously taxed   |                         |                         |                         |                         |                         |                         |                         |                         |                         |                          |                           | 402                       |                       | 9        |
| 9              | Tangible personal property, total                                    | 357                     | 172                     | 21                      | 112                     | 3                       | 2, 077                  |                         | 266                     | 6                       | 25                       |                           | \                         |                       | 1        |
| 10             | Tangible personal property not included in items                     | 353                     | 171                     | 21                      | 112                     | 3                       | 2,077                   |                         | 246                     | 6                       | 22                       |                           | 402                       |                       | 10       |
| 11             | Jointly owned  | 4                       |                         |                         |                         |                         | <u> </u>                |                         |                         |                         |                          |                           |                           |                       | 12       |
| 12<br>13<br>14 | Powers of appointment Previously taxed                               |                         |                         |                         |                         |                         |                         |                         | 20                      |                         | 3                        |                           |                           |                       | 13<br>14 |
| 15             | Intangible personal property, total                                  | 54, 887                 | 16, 835                 | 8, 336                  | 22, 074                 | 4, 867                  | 14, 336                 |                         | 37, 110                 | 9, 899                  | 9,809                    |                           | 118, 501                  |                       | 15       |
| 16             | Federal Government ponds, total                                      | 3, 407                  | 2, 398                  | 65                      | 1,661                   | 214                     | 1, 595<br>912           |                         | 6, 683<br>4, 735        | 26                      | 37                       |                           | 317                       |                       | 16<br>17 |
| 17<br>18       | Wholly tax-exempt Partially tax-exempt                               | 773<br>1,315            | 438<br>238              |                         | 826                     | 106                     | 83                      |                         | 1,022                   |                         |                          |                           | 317                       |                       | 18<br>19 |
| 19             | Taxable  | 1, 319<br>9, 477        | 1,723                   | 3, 640                  | 834<br>949              | 108<br>226              | 4,830                   |                         | 927<br>12, 334          | 5, 638                  | 1, 112                   |                           | 2, 370                    |                       | 20       |
| 20<br>21       | State and municipal bondsOther bonds                                 | 1,005                   | 407                     | 273                     | 2, 249                  | 67                      | 1,075                   |                         | 897                     | 89                      | 7,779                    |                           | 70<br>110, 756            |                       | 21<br>22 |
| 22<br>23       | Corporate stock  | 31, 609<br>3, 458       | 10, 283                 | 3, 876                  | 6, 612<br>7, 291        | 3, 707                  | 4,852<br>819            |                         | 14,924                  | 3,613                   | 741                      |                           | 2, 973                    |                       | 23       |
| 23<br>24       | Mortgage and notes   | 1,671                   | 55                      | 30                      | 1,916                   | 4                       | 189                     |                         | 390<br>156              | 189                     | 1                        |                           | 154                       |                       | 24<br>25 |
| 25             | Taxable insurance (64 less 65) Interest in unincorporated business * | 1,272                   | 701                     | 28<br>238               | 77<br>504               | 37                      |                         |                         | 30                      |                         | 70                       |                           |                           |                       | 26       |
| 26<br>27       | Other intangibles 6  | 2, 963                  | 292                     | 87                      | 816                     | 473                     | 976                     |                         | 415                     | 6                       | 65                       |                           | 1,862                     |                       | 27       |
| 28             | Total deductions   | 11, 736                 | 1, 974                  | 1, 173                  | 2, 416                  | 304                     | 6, 655                  |                         | 4, 155                  | 1, 698                  | 878                      | ·\                        | 61, 221                   |                       | 28       |
| 29             | Funeral and administration expenses                                  | 1,992                   | 454                     | 462                     | 683                     | 145                     | 481                     |                         | 793                     | 683                     | 513                      |                           | 4,857                     |                       | J 29     |

| 30<br>31        | Debts and mortgages<br>Net losses during administration                        | (12)             | 830                | 223              | 171              | 89               | 367                |   | 1, 287             | 150              | 213                |   | . 2, 512           | l | .1 |
|-----------------|--|------------------|--------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|--------------------|---|--------------------|------------------|--------------------|---|--------------------|---|----|
| $\frac{32}{33}$ | Charitable, public, and similar bequests, total                                | 1 144            | 194                | 368              | 50               |                  |                    |   |                    |                  |                    | - | 250                |   |    |
| 34              | Educational, scientific, or literary institutions: Publicly owned              | 1                |                    | 308              | 1, 210           | 10               | ,                  |   | 965                | 825              | 27                 |   | 53, 483            |   | -  |
| 35<br>36        | Privately endowed  | 2 620            |                    | 29               | 20               |                  | 25<br>2,100        |   | 181                | 500              | -}                 |   | -                  |   | -  |
| 37<br>38        | i Unaritable and all other gifts   | ) on             |                    | 13<br>326        | 294<br>896       | 5 5              | 55                 | - | 653<br>131         | 25<br>300        | 27                 |   | F9 400             |   | -  |
| 39              | Property previously taxed, net deduction s. Specific exemption s.              | 1,060            | 216<br>280         | 120              | 300              | 60               | 3,507              |   | 810<br>300         | 40               | 65                 |   | 53, 483            |   | -  |
| 0               | Disallowed deductions 10   |                  | -                  |                  |                  | <del> </del>     | 120                |   | 300                | 40               | 60                 |   | 120                |   | =  |
| l               | Allowable deductions (28 less 40)  | 11, 736          | 1, 974             | 1, 173           | , 2, 416         | 304              | 6, 655             |   | 4, 155             | 1, 698           | 878                |   | 61, 221            |   | -  |
| ,               | Net estate: Before specific exemption (2 less 41 plus 39)                      | 48, 490          | 10, 100            | 7.510            |                  | -                |                    |   |                    |                  |                    |   |                    |   | =  |
|                 | For basic tax  | 46 600           | 16, 168<br>15, 671 | 7, 513<br>7, 313 | 20, 845          | 4, 670<br>4, 570 | 10, 573<br>10, 389 |   | 37, 804<br>37, 308 | 8, 283<br>8, 183 | 9, 173<br>9, 073   |   | 58, 900<br>58, 700 |   |    |
|                 | For additional tax   |                  | 15, 888            | 7, 393           | 20, 545          | 4, 610           | 10, 453            |   | 37, 504            | 8, 243           | 9, 113             |   | 58, 780            |   | -  |
|                 | Basic tax before tax credits Tax credit for Federal gift taxes                 | 8                | 1,273              | 638              | 1,866            | 443              | 1,059              |   | 4,460              | 1,016            | 1,177              |   | 10, 447            |   | =  |
|                 | Tax credit for inheritance, etc., taxes 14 Net basic tax (45 less 46 and 47)   | 2,788<br>689     | 1,018<br>255       | 510<br>128       | 1, 493<br>373    | 355<br>89        | 847                |   | 3, 568             | 813              | 942                |   | 8, 358             |   | -  |
|                 | Additional tax before tax credit   | 15 730           | 5, 541             | 2,680            |                  |                  | 212                |   | 892                | 203              | 235                |   | 2,041              |   |    |
|                 | Tax credit for Federal gift taxes<br>Net additional tax (49 less 50)           | 191              |                    |                  | 7,668            | 1,779            | 4, 181             |   | 16, 559            | 3, 736           | 4, 236             | ļ | 31, 590<br>734     |   | -  |
| ļ               | Defense tax 15   | 15,008           | 5, 541             | 2, 680           | 7, 668           | 1, 779           | 4, 181             |   | 16, 559            | 3, 736           | 4, 236             |   | 30, 856            |   | -  |
|                 |  |                  |                    |                  |                  |                  |                    |   |                    |                  |                    | } |                    |   |    |
|                 | Total tax liability (48 plus 51 and 52)  | 16, 297          | 5, 795             | 2,808            | 8, 041           | 1,868            | 4, 393             |   | 17, 451            | 3, 939           | 4,472              |   | 32, 897            |   | 1  |
|                 | Information items:<br>Intangible personal property, total (items 55-63, or 15) | 54, 887          | 16, 835            | 8, 336           | 22, 074          | 4, 867           | 14, 336            |   | 37, 110            | 9, 899           | 9,809              |   | 118, 501           |   |    |
| }               | Intangible personal property not included in items 60-63:                      |                  |                    |                  |                  |                  |                    |   |                    |                  |                    |   |                    |   | 1  |
| l               | Stocks and bonds   | 40, 491          | 13, 069            | 7, 855           | 11, 432          | 4, 214           | 7, 472             |   | 33, 751            | 9, 366           | 8, 910             |   | 108, 596           |   | ١  |
| l               | Mortgages and notes  | 3, 382<br>1, 666 | 1, 530<br>55       | 98<br>30         | 7, 291<br>1, 916 | 127              | 718<br>189         |   | 1, 281             | 338<br>189       | 703                |   | 2, 972             |   | 1  |
|                 | Taxable insurance (64 less 65) Other intangibles                               | 1, 272<br>2, 983 | 701<br>54          | 28<br>226        | 77<br>1, 319     | 37<br>486        | 976                |   | 156                |                  | 1<br>  <del></del> |   | 154                |   | 1  |
| Ì               | Transfers during decedent's life   | 760<br>4, 333    | 1, 187             | 64               |                  |                  | 970                |   | 410                | 6                | 134                |   | 1,862              |   | 1  |
|                 | Powers of appointment Previously taxed   |                  |                    | 35               | 38               |                  |                    |   |                    |                  |                    |   | 4, 918             |   | l  |
| l               | Gross insurance  |                  | 240                |                  | 1                |                  | 4, 981             |   | 1, 118             |                  | 61                 |   |                    |   | ļ  |
|                 | Tax-exempt insurance 16  | 1, 273           | 741<br>40          | 28               | 77               | 37               |                    |   | 156                |                  |                    |   |                    |   | l  |
|                 |  |                  |                    |                  |                  |                  |                    |   |                    |                  |                    |   |                    |   | ļ  |

Table 3.—Taxable estate tax returns filed during 1944 for estates of citizens and resident aliens who died on or after Aug. 31, 1935, by gross estate classes: Number of returns, items of gross estate, deductions, net estate, and tax

|  | [Gross  | estate classe:  | s and money   | figures in th   | ousands of d   | lonarsj  |   |  |   |  |  |
|--|---|---|---|---|--|--|---|--|---|--|--|
| T  |   |   |   |   | Gross  | s estate classe  | es 19   |  |   |  | 1  |
|  |   | Total   | 40 under 50   | 50 under 60   | 60 under 70  | 70 under 80  | 80 under 90   | 90 under 100   | 100 under<br>120  | 120 under<br>150   |  |
|  |   | 12, 137   | 73  | 100   | 967  | 1, 427   | 1,179   | 1, 044   | 1, 523  | 1, 442   | 1  |
|  | Number of returns   | 2, 717, 326   | 3, 360  | 5, 422  | 64,083   | 106, 791   | 99,759  | 98,602   | 165, 689  | 193, 418   | 2  |
| 2  | Gross estate, total   | 383, 620  | 1, 183  | 1,872   | 16, 992  | 26, 847  | 22, 405   | 23, 035  | 37, 781   | 40, 400  | 3  |
| 3<br>4<br>5<br>6   | Real estate,² total  Real estate not included in items 5-8  Jointly owned.  Transfers during decedent's life.  Powers of appointment  Previously taxed  | 319,036<br>40,763<br>12,341<br>789  | 928<br>106<br>146   | 1, 414<br>228<br>212<br>11  |  | 20, 897<br>3, 888<br>1, 331<br>(17)<br>731   | 17, 968<br>3, 093<br>839<br>56<br>449   | 18,066<br>3,133<br>1,095<br>33<br>708  | 30, 287<br>5,008<br>1,008<br>59<br>1,418  | 32, 707<br>5, 028<br>1, 225<br>54<br>1, 386  | 4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8  |
| 8  |   | 10, 691<br>32, 685  | 34  |   | -  |  | 1, 401  | 1,410  | 2, 217  | 2,417  | 9  |
| 9  | Tangible personal property, total   | 31,396  | -   | _]  | _\   | 1,349  | 1,336   | 1, 334   | 2, 110  | 2, 317   | 10   |
| 10<br>11<br>12   | Tangible personal property not included in items 11-14. Jointly owned   | 402<br>343  |   | (17)  | 21<br>11   | 11   | 34<br>16  | .]   | 55<br>16<br>1<br>36   | 24<br>5<br>2<br>70   | 11<br>12<br>13<br>14   |
| 13<br>14   | Previously taxed  | 542   | (17)  | (17)  | (17)   | 28   |   | -  | 125, 691  | 150,600  | 15   |
| 15   | Intangible personal property, total   | 2, 301, 021   | 2, 143  | _   |  | _  | _   | _  | 11, 293   | 12,684   | 16   |
| 16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27 | Federal Government bonds,3 total.  Wholly tax-exempt. Partially tax-exempt. Taxable. State and municipal bonds. Other bonds. Corporate stock Cash 4. Mortgages and notes. Taxable insurance (64 less 65). Interest in unincorporated business 5. Other intangibles 6. | 156, 130<br>121, 832<br>1, 098, 664<br>275, 065<br>109, 644<br>186, 255<br>84, 78,<br>78, 325 | 100<br>22<br>66<br>66<br>67<br>67<br>68<br>68<br>69<br>76<br>69<br>76<br>83<br>83<br>83<br>83<br>84<br>84<br>85<br>86<br>86<br>86<br>86<br>86<br>86<br>86<br>86<br>86<br>86<br>86<br>86<br>86 | 196<br>2 196<br>6 6<br>7 5<br>8 21<br>1 1,04<br>1 1,04<br>6 6 28<br>9 9 | 128<br>2,023<br>2,222<br>4 473<br>5 2,385<br>16,319<br>9 866<br>7 3,711<br>5 5,21-<br>7 2,260<br>1,622 | 142<br>3, 368<br>3, 780<br>1, 013<br>2 4, 425<br>5 26, 796<br>1 7, 133<br>4 9, 783<br>3, 788<br>2, 748 | 158<br>3, 186<br>3, 510<br>991<br>4, 076<br>5 26, 018<br>6, 036<br>2 10, 33<br>3 4, 723<br>3 2, 053 | 160<br>2,861<br>3,283<br>1,159<br>4,402<br>25,861<br>13,444<br>5,046<br>2,10,410<br>4,737<br>2,796 | 343<br>5, 135<br>5, 815<br>1, 771<br>7, 049<br>44, 332<br>21, 364<br>10, 192<br>18, 054<br>7, 181<br>4, 455 | 319<br>5, 664<br>6, 701<br>2, 665<br>8, 202<br>59, 145<br>23, 415<br>9, 854<br>20, 546<br>8, 441<br>5, 648 | 17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27 |
| 28   | Total deductions  |   |   |   |  |  |   | <u></u>  | 7,154   | 8,499  | 29   |
| 29   | Funeral and administration expenses   | 114,16  | 4 1 15  | 8 I 20  | 2,40   | ,,   | ,   |  |   | •  |  |

|          |  |                         | <del> </del> |             |                                       |   |          |                    |                    |   |          |
|----------|--|-------------------------|--------------|-------------|---------------------------------------|---|----------|--------------------|--------------------|---|----------|
| 30<br>31 | Debts and mortgages.  Net losses during administration  Support of dependence i  | - 168,943               |              |             |                                       |   |          |                    |                    |   |          |
| 32       | Support of dependents ' Charitable, public, and similar bequests, total- Educational, scientific, or literary institutions: Publicly owned.  | 108,943                 |              |             | 1,015                                 | 2,885                                   | 1 3,838  | 4, 784             | 1 0 550            |   |          |
| 33       | Charitable, public and similar   | . 11,646                |              | - 1<br>21   | 15                                    | 19                                      | 20       |                    | 9,559              |   | 3   30   |
|          | Educational, scientific or literary  | - 163, 577              | ĭ            |             | 145                                   |   |          | 572                | 925                |   | 31 32    |
| 34       | Publicly owned   |                         | 1            | 1 22        | 61                                    | 299                                     | 306      | 484                | 963                |   | 33       |
| 35       | Privately endowed  | - 13,074                |              | - (17)      | 4                                     |   | <b>†</b> | }                  | 1                  | 4,000                                   | , 1 33   |
| 36<br>37 | Religious Charitable and all other aid   | 27, 191                 |              | ે `′ 6      | 2                                     | 20<br>40                                | 11       |                    | 68                 |   | 34       |
| 38       | Charitable and all other gifts   | 10, 753<br>112, 560     |              |             | 30                                    | 125                                     | 151      | 103                | 72                 | 164                                     | 35       |
| 39       | Charitable and all other gifts Property previously taxed, net deduction  Specific exemption  Specific exem | 38, 405                 | 2            | 1           | 25                                    | 114                                     | 135      | 184<br>171         | 343                |   |          |
|          | Specific exemption   | 714, 340                | 2, 920       | 4 000       | 58                                    | 355                                     | 491      | 752                | 480<br>1, 871      |   | 37       |
| 40       | Disallowed deductions 10   |                         |              | 4,000       | 56, 020                               | 84, 300                                 | 69, 800  | 61, 740            | 90, 280            | 2, 638<br>85, 500                       | 38<br>39 |
| 41       | Disallowed deductions 10_Allowable deductions (28 less 40)   | 1,985                   |              |             | 15                                    | -                                       | -        |                    | 00, 200            | 00,000                                  | _  39    |
|          | 37.4   | 1, 209, 218             | 3, 157       | 4, 488      | 59, 756                               | 13                                      | 5        | 58                 | 16                 | 33                                      | 40       |
| 42       | Net estate:  |                         | -            | 1,100       | - 00, 700                             | 92, 835                                 | 79, 290  | 72, 690            | 110, 741           | 112,923                                 | 41       |
| 43       | Before specific exemption (2 less 41 plus 39) For basic tax For additional tax   | 2, 222, 448             |              | l           |                                       |   |          |                    |                    |   | =        |
| 44       | For additional   | 1, 168, 084             | 3, 123       | 4, 934      | 60, 347                               | 98, 256                                 | 90, 269  | 97.000             | l                  | 1                                       | 1        |
|          |  | 1 7 500 100             | 203          | ·           |                                       |   |          | 87,652             | 145, 228<br>4, 102 | 165, 995                                |          |
| 45       | Racio ton hata.  | L                       | 203          | 934         | 4, 327                                | 13, 956                                 | 20, 469  | 25, 912            | 54, 948            | 27, 102<br>80, 495                      | 43       |
| 46       | Tax credit for Federal gift taxes  Tax credit for inheritance, etc., taxes 11  Net basic tax (45 less 46 and 47)   | 58, 704                 |              |             |                                       |   |          |                    | 04, 040            | ou, 495                                 | 44       |
| 47       | Tax credit for inheritance, etc., taxes if   | 120                     | l            |             |                                       |   |          |                    | 42                 | 271                                     | 45       |
| 48       | Net basic tax (45 less 46 and 47)  | 46, 282                 |              |             |                                       |   |          |                    | (17)               | l "i                                    | 46       |
| 49       | Additional to the state of the  |                         |              |             |                                       |   |          |                    | 32                 | 210                                     | 47       |
| 50 l     | Additional tax before tax credit  Tax credit for Federal gift taxes.  Net additional tax (49 less 50)  | 393, 476                | 6            |             |                                       |   |          |                    | 10                 | 61                                      | 48       |
| 51       | Net additional tox (40 leases  | 1, 183                  | 1 0          | 42          | 199                                   | 807                                     | 1, 611   | 2, 484             | 6, 590             | 10.000                                  | ٠. ا     |
| _ 1      | (49 16SS 50)   | 392, 294                | 6            | (17) 41     | ( <sup>17</sup> )<br>199              | _1                                      | 1        | 3                  | 0, 590<br>5        | 12, 572<br>21                           | 49<br>50 |
| 52       | Defense tax 13   |                         |              | 41          | 199                                   | 807                                     | 1,610    | 2,481              | 6. 585             | 12, 550                                 | 51       |
| 33       | 70-4 1   | 11                      | (17)         | (17)        | (17)                                  | 1                                       |          |                    |                    | ======================================= | "        |
| ~        | Total tax liability (48 plus 51 and 52)  | 404, 607                |              |             |                                       |   | 1        | 1                  | 2                  | 2                                       | 52       |
|          | Information items  | 404,007                 | 6            | 42          | 199                                   | 808                                     | 1, 611   | 2, 482             | 0. 500             |   | 1        |
| 4        | Intangible personal property, total (items 55-63, or 15)   |                         |              |             |                                       |   |          | 2, 402             | 6, 598             | 12, 612                                 | 53       |
|          | or 15)   | 2, 301, 021             | 2, 143       | 3,411       |                                       |   | - (      |                    |                    |   | ı        |
| Н        | Intangible personal property not included in items 60-63:  |                         | 2,110        | 3,411       | 46, 223                               | 78, 529                                 | 75, 953  | 74, 158            | 125, 691           | 150, 600                                | 54       |
| ایا      | 60-63: Property not mended in items  | 1                       |              |             |                                       |   |          |                    |                    | 100,000                                 | 1 04     |
| 13       | Stocks and bonds   | 1 410 200               | }            |             | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | 1                                       | •        | i                  | i                  |   |          |
| 6        | Cash 4 Mortgages and notes Taxable insurance (64 less 65) Other intangibles 4 Jointly owned Transfers during decedent's life   | 1, 410, 760<br>232, 426 | 612          | 1. 325      | 19, 727                               | 33, 485                                 | 32, 399  | 20.000             |                    |   |          |
| Βl       | Tarable inguierone (C.)  | 98, 589                 | 673  <br>260 | 806         | 7, 243                                | 12, 471                                 | 11, 710  | 32, 623<br>10, 614 | 56, 187            | 72, 792                                 | 55       |
| PÌ       | Other intencibles 6  | 186, 253                | 16           | 383<br>65   | 3, 147                                | 6, 395                                  | 5, 408   | 4, 427             | 16, 305<br>8, 900  | 18, 512                                 | 56       |
| P        | Jointly owned  | 141,067                 | 209          | 357         | 5, 214                                | 9, 782                                  | 10, 332  | 10, 410            | 18, 054            | 8, 733<br>20, 546                       | 57<br>58 |
| u        | Transfers during decedent's life   | 66, 178                 | 214          | , 191       | 3, 392<br>4, 820                      | 5, 336                                  | 6,067    | 6,608              | 10, 334            | 11, 830                                 | 59       |
| Н        | Powere of appointment  | 86.087                  | 57           | 266         | 1, 809                                | 6, 556<br>2, 060                        | 5, 647   | 4, 718             | 7, 912             |   | 60       |
| П        | Previously taxed   | 19, 032                 |              | 5           | 172                                   | 378                                     | 2, 140   | 2, 408             | 3, 667             | 4, 466                                  | 61       |
| Ш        | Gross insurance  | 60, 628                 | 101          | 13          | 700                                   | 2, 065                                  | 218      | 355                | 195                |   | 62       |
| u        | Tax-exampt incurrence to   | 190, 197                | 05           |             |                                       | ======================================= | 2, 033   | 1, 994             | 4, 137             |   | 63       |
| 11       | Gross insurance  | 3, 944                  | 35<br>19     | 119         | 5, 490                                | 9, 995                                  | 10, 519  | 10, 793            | 18, 592            | 00,000                                  |          |
| Γ.       |  | 3,011                   | 19           | 53          | 276                                   | 213                                     | 186      | 384                | 538                |   | 64<br>65 |
| 14       | for footnotes, see p. 323.   |                         |              | <del></del> |                                       |   |          |                    | ~~                 | 367                                     | w        |
| l        | •  |                         |              |             |                                       |   |          |                    | <del></del>        | ~ <del>~~</del>                         | :        |

Table 3.—Taxable estate tax returns filed during 1944 for estates of citizens and resident aliens who died on or after Aug. 31, 1935, by gross estate, 3.—Taxable estate classes: Number of returns, items of gross estate, deductions, net estate, and tax—Continued

|              |                   |           | the and a of dollars  |
|--------------|-------------------|-----------|-----------------------|
| Cross estate | classes and money | igures in | thousands of dollars) |

| =              |  |                    |                  |                  | Gross estate       | e classes 19—C       | Continued            | ·                    |                       |                    |                |
|----------------|--|--------------------|------------------|------------------|--------------------|----------------------|----------------------|----------------------|-----------------------|--------------------|----------------|
|                |  | 150 under 200      | 200 under<br>300 | 300 under<br>500 | 500 under<br>1,000 | 1,000 under<br>2,000 | 2,000 under<br>3,000 | 3,000 under<br>5,000 | 5,000 under<br>10,000 | 10,000 and<br>over |                |
| -              |  | 1,419              | 1, 290           | 870              | 497                | 212                  | 51                   | 26                   | 14                    | 3                  | 1              |
| 1              | Number of returns  | 244, 868           | 311, 511         | 329, 941         | 340, 011           | 293, 396             | 122, 426             | 101, 485             | 105, 298              | 131, 266           | 2              |
| 2              | Gross estate, total  |                    | 51,006           | 40, 589          | 32, 237            | 23, 196              | 5, 313               | 4, 965               | 6, 699                | 1, 401             | 3              |
| 3              | Real estate, 2 total   |                    | 42, 482          | 33, 800          | 28, 550            | 21,915               | 4, 536               | 4,853                | 6,542                 | 933<br>468         | 4              |
| 4              | Real estate not included in items 5-8  | 4,674<br>1,696     | 5, 134<br>1, 023 | 3,870<br>1,583   | 2, 184<br>857      | 817<br>252           | 713<br>65            | 107                  |                       |                    | 6              |
| 6              | Realestate not included in items 3-6. Jointly owned. Transfers during decedent's life. Powers of appointment Previously taxed. | 29                 | 281<br>2,088     | 218<br>1, 118    | 25<br>621          | 23<br>189            | (17)                 |                      | 157                   |                    | 8              |
| 8              | Previously taxed   | 1,698              | 3, 792           | 3, 110           | 3, 763             | 2,812                | 1,952                | 1,189                | 535                   | 2, 435             | 9              |
| 9              | Tangible personal property, total  | 3, 195             | 3, 668           | 2, 767           | 3, 642             | -                    | 1,901                | 1, 188               | 512                   | 2, 435             | 10             |
| 10             | Tangible personal property not included in items 11-14.  |                    | 1                | 56               | 17                 | 1 .                  | }                    |                      |                       |                    | 11             |
| 11             |  | 44 19              | 37               | 212              | 20                 |                      |                      | -                    |                       |                    | 12<br>13       |
| 12<br>13       | Jointly owned. Transfers during decedent's life. Powers of appointment. Previously taxed.                                      | 56                 | 78               | 76               | 85                 | 37                   | 9                    | = ======             |                       |                    | 14             |
| 14             | Intangible personal property, total  |                    | 256, 713         | 286, 242         | 304, 011           | 267, 387             | 115, 161             | 95, 331              | 98,064                | -                  | 15             |
| 15             |  |                    | 22, 054          |                  | 27, 588            |                      | 11, 236<br>1, 639    | 6, 843<br>1, 743     | 8, 849<br>4, 735      |                    | 17             |
| 16<br>17       | Federal Government bonds, stotal<br>Wholly tax-exempt  | 633<br>7, 374      | 10, 106          | 10,811           | 11,609             | 8,032                | 3,501                | 1,145                | 1,122                 | 5                  | 18             |
| 18<br>19       | Partially tax-exempt<br>Taxable  | 8,693<br>3,856     | 11, 227          | 12,034           | 24, 760            | 33, 907              | 18,793               | 17,899               | 23,972                | 5, 521             | 20<br>21       |
| 20<br>21       | Wholly tax-exempt Partially tax-exempt Taxable State and municipal bonds Other bonds Corporate stock                           | 11, 927<br>79, 040 | 16,703           | 135, 016         | 155, 418           | 3 ] 143, 358         | 60,596               | 44, 025              | 53, 069               | 114, 217           | 1 22           |
| 22<br>23       | Corporate stock  | 28, 500<br>11, 547 | 33, 246          | 32, 474          | 12,607             | 7 7,546              | 3                    | 3,416                | 1, 154                | 154                | 23<br>24<br>25 |
| 23<br>24<br>25 | Cash 4 Mortgages and notes Taxable insurance (64 less 65) Interest in unincorporated business 5                                | 23, 721<br>11, 418 | 27, 331          | 26, 744          | 18, 83             | 6 7, 10              | 3 ] 541              | 1,312                | 1,203                 |                    | _ 26           |
| 26<br>27       | Interest in unincorporated business 5Other intangibles 6   | 7, 266             |                  |                  |                    | 9,62                 | _                    | =                    | =====                 |                    | =              |
|                | Total deductions   | 1                  | 125, 790         | 105, 568         | 92, 78             | 8 74, 40             | 7 24, 19             | 28, 422              | 32,775                | 67,396             | 28             |
| 28             | Total deductions   | I                  | - ا              |                  |                    |                      |                      |                      |                       |                    |                |

| 29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33 | Debts and mortgages   | 19 005                          | 22, 482                          | 14, 252<br>22, 179<br>2          | 14, 658<br>25, 942               | 22, 549<br>(17)                  | 4,060                          |                               |                               |                               |       |
|----------------------------|---|---------------------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|-------|
| 34<br>35                   | Educational, scientific, or literary institutions:  | 3, 559                          | 5, 343                           | 1,438<br>10,685                  | 1, 206<br>14, 802                |                                  | 228<br>11,648                  | 326<br>10,334                 | 25, 087                       | 250<br>55, 663                |       |
| 36<br>37<br>38             | n 1. Tributy chidowed   | 400                             | 1 228                            | 282<br>2, 459<br>2, 473          | 1, 617<br>2, 902<br>2, 039       | 1, 027                           | 207<br>4, 919<br>192           | 443<br>1,371<br>802           | 8, 191<br>6, 866<br>1, 035    | 2, 100                        | 5     |
| 39<br>40                   | Religious. Charitable and all other gifts. Property previously taxed, net deduction s Specific exemption s                                    | 5, 022<br>84, 100               | 5, 837<br>76, 320                | 5, 472<br>5, 313<br>51, 700      | 8, 244<br>6, 579<br>29, 600      | 14, 892<br>3, 885<br>12, 580     | 6, 330<br>810<br>2, 960        | 7, 718<br>218<br>1, 540       | 8, 995<br>1, 059<br>800       | 53, 538                       | 7     |
| 41                         | Disallowed deductions <sup>10</sup> Allowable deductions (28 less 40)   | 123, 784                        | 582<br>125, 208                  | 231<br>105, 337                  | 438<br>92, 350                   | 315<br>74, 092                   | 224<br>23, 974                 | 28, 422                       | 32,775                        |                               | =     |
| 42                         | Net estate:  Before specific exemption (a less that I are   |                                 |                                  |                                  |                                  |                                  |                                | 20, 122                       | 32, 113                       | 67,396                        |       |
| 43<br>44<br>45             | Before specific exemption (2 less 41 plus 39) For basic tax For additional tax  Basic tay before toy predite                                  | 205, 183<br>67, 554<br>121, 083 | 262, 623<br>135, 913<br>186, 303 | 276, 304<br>190, 347<br>224, 604 | 277, 261<br>228, 121<br>247, 661 | 231, 883<br>210, 887<br>219, 303 | 101, 412<br>96, 334<br>98, 452 | 74, 603<br>72, 024<br>73, 063 | 73, 323<br>71, 933<br>72, 523 | 64, 051<br>63, 767<br>63, 871 | 7 [   |
| 16<br>7<br>8               | Basic tax before tax credits Tax credit for Federal gift taxes. Tax credit for inheritance, etc., taxes ii Net basic tax (45 less 46 and 47). | 794<br>4<br>613                 | 2, 352<br>15                     | 4, 820<br>15                     | 8, 035<br>19                     | 10, 904                          | 6, 529                         | 5, 908                        | 8, 094                        | 10, 954                       | ď     |
| 9                          | Net basic tax (45 less 46 and 47)   | 177                             | 1, 834<br>503                    | 3, 766<br>1, 039                 | 6, 237<br>1, 780                 | 8, 432<br>2, 463                 | 5, 198<br>1, 322               | 4, 721<br>1, 186              | 6, 475                        | 8, 763                        | 1     |
| Ô                          | Additional tax before tax credit.  Tax credit for Federal gift taxes.  Net additional tax (40 lose 50).                                       | 23, 287                         | 41, 731                          | 55, 206                          | 65, 246                          | 62, 655                          | 31, 101                        | 25, 563                       | 1,619                         | 2, 142                        | =     |
| 1                          | (40 1633 30)  | 23, 268                         | 66<br>41,665                     | 93  <br>55, 113                  | 16<br>65, 229                    | 101<br>62, 554                   | 123<br>30, 979                 |                               | 30,764                        | 33,612<br>734                 | . [ . |
| 2                          | Defense tax 13  | 1                               | 3                                |                                  |                                  | 02,004                           | 30, 979                        | 25, 563                       | 30, 764                       | 32, 878                       | ]     |
| 3                          | Total tax liability (48 plus 51 and 52)   | 23, 446                         | 42, 172                          |                                  |                                  |                                  |                                |                               |                               |                               | -] .  |
| .                          | Information items:  | 20, 140                         | 42, 172                          | 56, 153                          | 67, 009                          | 65, 017                          | 32, 301                        | 26, 749                       | 32, 383                       | 35, 020                       | 1     |
| 1                          | Intangible personal property, total (items 55-63, or 15)  Intangible personal property not included in items                                  | 193, 973                        | . 256, 713                       | 286, 242                         | 304, 011                         | 267, 387                         | 115, 161                       | 95, 331                       | 98,064                        | 127, 430                      | 1     |
| 5                          | 60-63:<br>Stocks and bonds  | İ                               | . 1                              | 1                                |                                  |                                  |                                |                               |                               |                               | 1     |
| 5 6 7                      | Cash 4  Mortgages and notes.  Taxable insurance (64 less 65).  Other intangibles 4  Jointly owned.  | 96, 673<br>23, 342<br>9, 764    | 143, 565<br>27, 869              | 173, 435<br>28, 354              | 207, 112<br>25, 300              | 194, 052<br>20, 116              | 79, 169<br>11, 006             | 69, 200<br>11, 098            | 86, 106<br>3, 927             | 112, 298                      | 5     |
| 3                          | Other intangibles 6   | 23, 721                         | 13, 069<br>27, 331               | 13, 871<br>26, 744               | 12, 007<br>18, 832               | 6, 787                           | 718                            | 3,410                         | 1, 154                        | 3, 082<br>154                 | 5 5   |
| 1                          | Jointly owned   | 16, 508<br>7, 827               | 18,876                           | 16, 204                          | 15, 301                          | 8, 925  <br>15, 049              | 4, 402<br>2, 165               | 1, 705<br>6, 359              | 172                           |                               | 1 5   |
| 1                          | Jointly owned Transfers during decedent's life Powers of appointment. Previously taxed  | 7, 203                          | 7, 919<br>8, 262                 | 5, 269<br>12, 721                | 3, 443<br>10, 892                | 1,879                            | 857                            | 131                           | 4, 474<br>337                 | 1, 997                        | 5     |
| 1                          | Previously taxed  | 883<br>8, 051                   | 1,557                            | 2,834                            | 3, 180                           | 12, 607<br>2, 326                | 9, 652<br>6, 211               | 2, 952  <br>233               | 7                             | 4, 918                        | 6     |
| 1                          | Gross insurance ====================================  |                                 | 8, 266                           | 6, 810                           | 7,945                            | 5, 646                           | , 981                          | 241                           | 1,888                         | 4, 981                        | 6     |
|                            | Gross insurance ====================================  | 24, 213<br>491                  | 28, 032<br>701                   | 27, 036<br>291                   | 19, 057                          | 9, 005                           | 4, 461                         | 1, 745                        | 172                           |                               | 6     |

Table 4.—Nontaxable estate tax returns filed during 1944 for estates of citizens and resident aliens who died on or after Aug. 31, 1935, by gross estate classes: Number of returns, items of gross estate, deductions, and net estate (or no net estate) before specific exemption

[Gross estate classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |   |  |   |                               | Gross                         | s estate classe   | es 19   |  |  |   |  |
|--|---|--|---|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|---|---|--|--|---|--|
|  |   | Total  | 40 under 50   | 50 under 60                   | 60 under 70                   | 70 under 80   | 80 under 90   | 90 under<br>100  | 100 under<br>120   | 120 under<br>150                                |  |
| 1  | Number of returns   | 2, 135   | 91  | 38                            | 1,065                         | 329   | 173   | 101  | 124  | 74  | 1  |
| 2  | Gross estate, total   | 185, 964   | 3, 921  | 1,977                         | 67, 918                       | 24, 142   | 14, 587   | 9, 466   | 13, 408  | 9, 752  | 2  |
| 3  | Real estate,² total   | 54,746   | 1,316   | 1, 211                        | 19,843                        | 8, 327  | 4,806   | 3, 361   | 4, 370   | 3, 249  | 3  |
| 4<br>5<br>6  | Real estate not included in items 5-8<br>Jointly owned<br>Transfers during decedent's life<br>Powers of appointment   | 46, 137<br>6, 235<br>1, 275<br>258               | 1, 109<br>191<br>17   | 933<br>235<br>42              | 16, 420<br>2, 532<br>576<br>3 | 6, 987<br>1, 000<br>104   | 3, 925<br>746<br>100  | 2, 997<br>232<br>36  | 3, 638<br>604<br>38  | 2, 762<br>347<br>74<br>40                       | 4<br>5<br>6<br>7   |
| 8  | Previously taxed  | 840  |   |                               | 312                           | 236   | 35  | 97   | 89   | 26  | 8  |
| 9  | Tangible personal property, total   | 3, 465   | 89  | 31                            | 1, 346                        | 619   | 318   | 226  | 268  | 127   | 9  |
| 10   | Tangible personal property not included in items  | 8, 307   | 85  | 30                            | 1, 298                        | 560   | 315   | 223  | 252  | 123   | 10   |
| 11<br>12<br>13   | 11-14. Jointly owned. Transfers during decedent's life Powers of appointment. Previously taxed.   | . 67<br>61                                       | 2   | 1                             | 26<br>18                      | 25<br>29  | (17)  | i  | (17)   | 1   | 11<br>12<br>13   |
| 14   | Previously taxed  | 30   | (17)  |                               | 4                             | 5   | 1   | 2  | 13   | 1   | 14   |
| 15   | Intangible personal property, total   | 127, 753   | 2, 516  | 736                           | 46, 728                       | 15, 196   | 9, 463  | 5,879  | 8,770  | 6, 376  | 15   |
| 16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27 | Federal Government bonds,* total.  Wholly tax-exempt Partially tax-exempt Taxable State and municipal bonds Other bonds Corporate stock Cash 4 Mortgages and notes Taxable insurance (53 less 54) Interest in unincorporated business 5 Other intangibles 6 | 5, 592<br>3, 454<br>7, 500<br>43, 187<br>23, 545 | 108<br>2<br>62<br>45<br>4<br>70<br>640<br>799<br>404<br>73<br>248 | 253<br>90<br>138<br>48<br>123 |                               | 999<br>511<br>394<br>555<br>208<br>587<br>5, 320<br>2, 447<br>812<br>2, 738<br>1, 556 | 660<br>7<br>351<br>302<br>74<br>435<br>2,958<br>1,874<br>457<br>1,440<br>1,158<br>407 | 460<br>5<br>275<br>180<br>10<br>260<br>1, 745<br>1, 095<br>218<br>1, 010<br>782<br>299 | 733<br>31<br>432<br>270<br>61<br>575<br>2,947<br>1,791<br>616<br>848<br>803<br>398 | 477 14 244 219 97 553 1,879 1,040 379 1,053 594 | 16<br>17<br>18<br>19<br>20<br>21<br>22<br>23<br>24<br>25<br>26<br>27 |
| 28   | Total deductions  | 221, 784   | 4,883   | 2, 555                        | 77, 199                       | 30, 051   | 18, 089   | 11, 328  | 16, 447  | 11,643  | 28   |

| 29<br>30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38<br>39<br>40<br>41 | Funeral and administration expenses.  Debts and mortgages.  Net losses during administration.  Support of dependents?  Charitable, public, and similar bequests, total  Educational, scientific, or literary institutions:  Publicity owned.  Privately endowed.  Religious.  Charitable and all other gifts.  Property previously taxed, net deduction \$  Specific exemption \$  Disallowed deductions 18  Allowable deductions (28 less 40).  Net estate or no net estate before specific exemption 11 (2 less (41 less 39)). | 47, 533<br>206<br>1, 025<br>38, 315<br>4, 822<br>4, 990<br>5, 409<br>23, 094<br>621<br>123, 660           | 293<br>743<br>10<br>26<br>172<br>42<br>3<br>88<br>39<br>3,640 | ( <sup>17</sup> )                               | 6, 998<br>11<br>378<br>2, 595  | 6, 67, 67, 67, 67, 67, 67, 67, 67, 67, 6   | 4, 42%<br>87<br>187<br>2, 349<br>2, 349<br>181<br>252<br>635<br>1, 281<br>17<br>10, 180 | 3, 162<br>(17)<br>43<br>1, 638<br>125<br>247<br>504                   | 2 4, 12<br>3 4, 12<br>3 77<br>308<br>48, 12<br>377<br>308<br>48, 12<br>308<br>48, 12<br>308<br>48, 12<br>308<br>48, 12<br>308<br>48, 12<br>308<br>48, 12<br>308<br>48, 12<br>308<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, 12<br>48, | 4 3,803<br>10<br>63<br>2,932<br>3 179<br>410<br>275<br>2,068<br>31<br>4,280  | 30<br>31<br>32<br>33<br>34<br>35<br>36<br>37<br>38 | •               |
|--|--|---|---|---|--|--|---|---|---|--|--|-----------------|
| 43   | Information items: Intangible personal property, total (items 44-52, or 15) Intangible personal property not included in items   | 127, 753  | 2, 516  | 736   | 46, 728  | 15, 196  | 9, 463  | 5, 879  | 4, 296<br>8, 770  | 2, 389<br>6, 376   | 42   | ICS OF          |
| 44<br>45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49<br>50<br>51<br>52<br>53                   | 40-52: Stocks and bonds. Cash 4. Mortgages and notes. Taxable insurance (53 less 54). Other intangibles 4. Jointly owned. Transfers during decedent's life. Powers of appointment. Previously taxed.  Gross insurance Tax-exempt insurance 16.  For footnotes, see p. 323.   | 61, 962<br>20, 972<br>7, 698<br>15, 493<br>13, 102<br>3, 480<br>1, 882<br>512<br>2, 653<br>16, 396<br>903 | 817<br>641<br>345<br>73<br>406<br>121<br>38<br>74             | 266<br>75<br>107<br>48<br>179<br>18<br>25<br>17 | 19, 335<br>8, 668<br>3, 646<br>6, 599<br>4, 659<br>2, 211<br>708<br>258<br>645 | 6, 652<br>2, 104<br>695<br>2, 738<br>1, 963<br>1, 963<br>187<br>72<br>392<br>2, 957<br>219 | 3,892<br>1,709<br>445<br>1,440<br>1,471<br>215<br>178<br>52<br>62<br>1,542<br>102       | 2, 211<br>1, 038<br>209<br>1, 010<br>1, 005<br>58<br>176<br>38<br>133 | 3, 815<br>1, 600<br>566<br>848<br>1, 062<br>232<br>373<br>87<br>186<br>890  | 2, 922<br>987<br>326<br>1, 053<br>791<br>42<br>8<br>5<br>244<br>1, 102<br>48 | 44<br>45<br>46<br>47                               | INCOME FOR 1943 |

Table 4.—Nontaxable estate tax returns filed during 1944 for estates of citizens and resident aliens who died on or after Aug. 31, 1935, by gross estate classes: Number of returns, items of gross estate, deductions, and net estate (or no net estate) before specific exemption—Continued

[Gross estate classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

| Ī               |  |                  |                  |                  | Gross estate       | e classes 10—C       | Continued                               |                      |                       |                    |      |
|-----------------|--|------------------|------------------|------------------|--------------------|----------------------|---|----------------------|-----------------------|--------------------|------|
|                 |  | 150 under<br>200 | 200 under<br>300 | 300 under<br>500 | 500 under<br>1,000 | 1,000 under<br>2,000 | 2,000 under<br>3,000                    | 3,000 under<br>5,000 | 5,000 under<br>10,000 | 10,000 and<br>over |      |
| 1               | Number of returns  | 55               | 51               | 19               | 12                 | 3                    |   |                      |                       |                    |      |
| 2               | Gross estate, total  | 9, 261           | 11,846           | 6, 905           | 8, 253             | 4, 529               |   |                      | <br>                  |                    |      |
| 3               | Real estate, total   | 2, 219           | 3, 119           | 1,375            | 1,374              | 174                  |   |                      |                       |                    |      |
| 4               | Real estate not included in items 5-8                                | 1,881            | 2, 725           | 1, 289           | 1, 321<br>53       | 151                  |   |                      |                       |                    |      |
| 5<br>6          | Jointly owned<br>Transfers during decedent's life                    | 73<br>8          | 144<br>251       | (8               |                    | 22                   |   |                      |                       |                    |      |
| 7               | Powers of appointmentPreviously taxed                                | 213<br>45        |                  | 1                |                    |                      |   |                      |                       |                    |      |
| 9               | Tangible personal property, total                                    | 155              | 110              | 102              | 51                 | 24                   |   |                      |                       |                    | }    |
| 10              | Tangible personal property not included in items                     | 150              | 103              | 94               | 51                 | 24                   |   |                      |                       |                    |      |
| 11              | 11-14.<br>Jointly owned  | 3                | 8                |                  |                    |                      |   |                      |                       |                    | -    |
| 12<br>13        | Transfers during decedent's lifePowers of appointment.               |                  |                  | 8                |                    |                      |   |                      |                       |                    | _}   |
| 14              | Previously taxed   | 3                |                  |                  |                    |                      | ======================================= |                      |                       |                    |      |
| 15              | Intangible personal property, total.                                 | 6, 886           | 8, 616           | 5, 428           | 6, 828             | 4, 331               |   |                      |                       |                    | -    |
| 16              | Federal Government bonds, total<br>Wholly tax-exempt                 | 1,061<br>13      | 971<br>21        | 751<br>64        | 1, 306<br>80       | 706<br>187           |   |                      |                       |                    | -    |
| 17<br>18        | Partially tax-exempt   | 579<br>469       | 690<br>260       | 379<br>308       | 676<br>550         | 57<br>462            |   |                      |                       |                    | -    |
| $\frac{19}{20}$ | TaxableState and municipal bonds                                     | 138<br>778       | 334<br>827       | 507<br>625       | 690<br>646         | 977                  |   |                      |                       |                    | -[   |
| 21<br>22        | Other bonds  | 2, 281           | 3, 356           | 2, 085<br>836    | 3, 008<br>651      | 1,723                |   |                      |                       |                    | -    |
| 23<br>24        | Cash 4<br>Mortgages and notes  | 1,002<br>452     | 1, 323<br>491    | 85<br>85<br>297  | 281<br>210         | 100                  |   |                      |                       |                    | -    |
| 25<br>26        | Taxable insurance (53 less 54) Interest in unincorporated business 4 | 430              | 638<br>350       |                  | 2                  | 136                  |   |                      |                       |                    | -    |
| 27              | Other intangibles 6  | 207              | 325              | 242              | 33                 | 102                  |   |                      |                       |                    | =    |
| <b>2</b> 8      | Total deductions   | 10, 980          | 14,051           | 10, 018          | 9, 351             | 5, 189               |   | \                    |                       |                    | _    |
| 29              | Funeral and administration expenses                                  | 643              | 705              | 438              | 1 279              | 235                  | '                                       | ·                    | '                     | '                  | _1 : |

| 0<br>1<br>2 | Debts and mortgages. Net losses during administration. Support of dependents?  | 2, 778                         | 4, 708<br>163                 | 4, 792                | 2,626            | 1,972             | } |   |   |   | 13                         |
|-------------|--|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|-----------------------|------------------|-------------------|---|---|---|---|----------------------------|
| 3           | Charitable, public, and similar bequests, total  Educational, scientific, or literary institutions.                          | 4, 310                         | 5, 542                        | 31<br>3, 637          | 5,759            | 2, 802            |   |   |   |   | \ 3                        |
| 4   5   7   | Privately endowed  | 561<br>733                     | 714<br>219<br>616             | 171<br>533<br>350     | 2, 241<br>194    | 1,631             |   | - | - | - | - 34                       |
|             | Religious. Charitable and all other gitts. Property previously taxed, net deduction a Specific exemption a                   |                                | 3, 993                        | 2, 583                | 298<br>3, 025    | 1, 160            |   |   |   | - | 1 26                       |
|             |  | 3, 200                         | 2, 920                        | 1, 120                | 680              | 180               |   |   |   |   | - 38                       |
| ١.          | Disallowed deductions 10   | 61<br>10, 918                  | 37<br>14, 014                 | 2, 354<br>7, 664      | 407<br>8, 944    | 5, 189            |   | - |   | - | - 40<br>- 41               |
|             | Net estate or no net estate before specific exemption " (2 less (41 less 39)).   | 1,542                          | 752                           | , 361                 | <sup>20</sup> 11 | <sup>20</sup> 480 |   |   |   |   | 42                         |
|             | Information items:<br>Intangible personal property, total (items 44-52, or 15)   | 6, 886                         | 8, 616                        | 5, 428                | 6, 828           | 4, 331            |   |   | - |   | 12                         |
|             | Intangible personal property not included in items 49-52: Stocks and bonds Cash 4 Mortgages and notes Tayable insurance (521 | 3, 949<br>970                  | 5, 113<br>1, 192              | 3, 897<br>783         | 5, 650<br>651    | 3, 442<br>552     |   |   |   |   | 43                         |
|             | Other intangibles 6  Jointly owned  Transfers during decedent's life   | 441<br>538<br>610<br>66<br>134 | 455<br>638<br>641<br>82<br>57 | 82<br>297<br>42<br>42 | 281<br>210<br>35 | 100<br>238        |   |   |   |   | 45<br>46<br>47<br>48<br>49 |
|             | Previously taxed   | 176                            | 439                           | 285                   |                  |                   |   |   |   |   | 50<br>51<br>52             |
|             | Gross insurance Tax-exempt insurance 16.   | 584<br>46                      | 743<br>105                    | 297                   | 266<br>56        | •                 |   |   |   |   | 53<br>54                   |

TABLE 5.—Estate tax returns filed during 1944, for estates of citizens and resident aliens, by States and Territories: Number of taxable and nontaxable returns, and for taxable returns the gross estate, net estate, and taxes; also for returns subject to basic tax, the number of returns, net estate, basic tax, and tax credits

[Money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   |  |  |                                       |   |  |  |   | Taxable re        | turns   |  |  |   |  |    |
|---|--|--|---------------------------------------|---|--|--|---|-------------------|---|--|--|---|--|----|
|   |  |  |                                       |   |  |  |   |                   |   | 1  | Subject to                                   | basic tax 22  |  |    |
|   | Total  | Number   |                                       |   |  | Basic  | Net basic   |                   |   |  | В  | asic tax an   | d tax credi  | ts |
| States and Territories in<br>which returns were filed   | number<br>of returns   | of non-<br>taxable<br>returns  | Number<br>of returns                  | Gross estate  | Net estate<br>for addi-<br>tional  | tax 13 and<br>additional<br>tax before                     | net addi-<br>tional tax<br>(exclud-   | Defense<br>tax 15 | Number  | Net estate   |  | Cre   | dits   |    |
|   |  |  | 0,100,4123                            |   | tax 31   | tax perore<br>tax credits                                  |   | :                 | Number of returns for basic tax before tax credits  51 7,179 253  | Federal<br>gift taxes  | State<br>inherit-<br>ance, etc.,<br>taxes 14 | Net basic<br>tax  |  |    |
| Alabama   | 117  | 9  | 108                                   | 18, 844   | 10, 190  | 2, 566   | 2, 363  |                   | 51  | 7, 179   | 253  | (17)  | 203  | 51 |
| Alaska Arizona Arkansas California Colorado Connecticut Delaware District of Columbia Florida Georgia Hawaii Idaho Illinois Indiana Iowa Kansas Kentucky Louisiana Maine Maryland Massachusetts Michigan Minnesotta Missouri Missouri Missouri Missouri Missouri Missouri Missouri Missouri | 1, 027<br>293<br>370<br>186<br>174<br>108<br>114<br>306<br>769<br>363<br>217 | 6<br>11<br>216<br>64<br>7<br>17<br>19<br>15<br>6<br>8<br>150<br>72<br>72<br>19<br>19<br>34<br>16<br>14<br>22<br>21<br>118<br>39<br>33<br>33<br>49<br>6 | 284<br>651<br>324<br>184<br>86<br>278 | 6, 004<br>8, 065<br>209, 487<br>21, 543<br>66, 967<br>24, 428<br>29, 717<br>42, 778<br>23, 710<br>8, 958<br>3, 410<br>177, 664<br>37, 361<br>37, 573<br>24, 806<br>15, 972<br>15, 793<br>48, 427<br>157, 914<br>156, 387<br>31, 395<br>12, 830<br>53, 231<br>4, 066 | 2, 512<br>4, 059<br>142, 277<br>11, 281<br>39, 883<br>12, 078<br>21, 541<br>12, 433<br>15, 517<br>1, 226<br>94, 739<br>18, 106<br>14, 971<br>12, 764<br>14, 174<br>8, 096<br>7, 502<br>24, 741<br>16, 484<br>6, 156<br>29, 699<br>1, 721 | 5, 878<br>24, 122<br>31, 925<br>4, 158<br>1, 333<br>7, 671 | 529<br>34, 998<br>2, 529<br>9, 975<br>3, 425<br>7, 055<br>4, 888<br>2, 887<br>1, 466<br>3, 261<br>1, 788<br>1, 643<br>5, 561<br>22, 004<br>25, 976<br>3, 832<br>2, 7, 056<br>3, 262<br>1, 409 | 1                 | 16<br>277<br>635<br>61<br>173<br>28<br>67<br>120<br>60<br>19<br>7<br>410<br>117<br>99<br>69<br>72<br>48<br>47<br>127<br>371<br>169<br>78<br>41<br>134 | 1, 583<br>2, 548<br>106, 724<br>7, 818<br>30, 999<br>10, 560<br>19, 019<br>15, 253<br>9, 065<br>4, 578<br>70, 809<br>11, 545<br>8, 313<br>8, 553<br>10, 033<br>5, 398<br>4, 842<br>17, 051<br>67, 291<br>11, 790<br>3, 707<br>21, 821<br>906<br>4, 068 |  | (17) 16 (17) 18 (17) 19 (17) (17) (17) (17) (17) (17) (17) (17) | 18 555 3, 409 176 955 473 1, 031 1, 031 1, 031 1, 031 1, 031 1, 031 1, 031 1, 031 1, 039 1, 031 1, 0 |    |

# Table 6.—Estate tax returns for estates of citizens and aliens filed Sept. 9, 1916, through Dec. 31, 1944: Number of returns, gross estate, net estate, and tax 23

| [N  | Ioney figure   | s in thousand   | is of dollar   | rs]   |  |   |
|---|--|---|--|---|--|---|
|   | Nun  | ber of return   | ıs   | C   | ross estate  |   |
| 7701  |  | Estates   | of   | ,   | Estates  | of—   |
| Filing period   | Total  | Citizens 24<br>and resi-<br>dent aliens   | Nonresi-<br>dent<br>aliens 25  | Total   | Citizens 24<br>and resi-<br>dent aliens  | Nonresi-<br>dent<br>aliens 25   |
| Sept. 9, 1916-Jan. 15, 1922   | 45, 126<br>13, 876   | 42, 230<br>12, 563  | 2, 896<br>1, 313   | 8, 893, 239<br>3, 014, 073  | 8, 785, 642<br>2, 955, 959   | 107, 597<br>58, 113   |
| Jan. 1-Dec. 31:  1923 1924 1925 1926 1927 1928 1929 1931 1931 1932 1933 1934 1935 1936 1936 1937 1938 1938 1939 1940 1941 1942 1944 | 15, 119 14, 513 16, 019 14, 567 10, 700 10, 236 10, 382 9, 889 8, 507 10, 275 11, 853 12, 724 13, 321 17, 032 17, 642 16, 926 16, 876 17, 122 17, 396 16, 033 14, 857  | 13, 963<br>13, 011<br>14, 013<br>13, 142<br>9, 353<br>8, 079<br>8, 582<br>8, 798<br>8, 333<br>7, 113<br>8, 727<br>10, 353<br>11, 110<br>11, 605<br>15, 037<br>16, 932<br>15, 221<br>15, 435<br>15, 187<br>16, 215<br>15, 187<br>14, 303 | 1, 156<br>1, 502<br>2, 006<br>1, 425<br>1, 347<br>1, 757<br>1, 761<br>1, 556<br>1, 556<br>1, 558<br>1, 558<br>1, 568<br>1, 500<br>1, 614<br>1, 705<br>1, 710<br>1, 705<br>1, 710<br>1, 705<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, 710<br>1, | 2, 804, 327 2, 566, 522 2, 566, 522 3, 001, 089 3, 407, 923 3, 173, 235 3, 554, 270 3, 893, 246 4, 165, 623 4, 075, 575 2, 830, 388 2, 060, 956 2, 277, 285 2, 459, 892 2, 312, 421 2, 793, 758 3, 069, 625 2, 767, 888 2, 648, 199 2, 783, 439 2, 737, 133 2, 637, 839 2, 916, 332 | 2, 774, 741<br>2, 540, 922<br>2, 958, 364<br>3, 386, 267<br>3, 146, 290<br>3, 603, 239<br>3, 843, 514<br>4, 108, 517<br>4, 042, 381<br>2, 795, 818<br>2, 026, 931<br>2, 244, 107<br>2, 435, 282<br>2, 296, 257<br>2, 767, 739<br>3, 046, 977<br>2, 746, 143<br>2, 632, 659<br>2, 777, 657<br>2, 724, 513<br>2, 627, 367<br>2, 907, 620 | 29, 687<br>25, 600<br>42, 725<br>21, 656<br>26, 945<br>51, 032<br>49, 732<br>57, 106<br>33, 195<br>34, 670<br>34, 025<br>23, 178<br>24, 609<br>16, 163<br>26, 019<br>22, 648<br>21, 745<br>15, 540<br>10, 471<br>8, 712 |
|   |  | Net estate 26   |  |   | Tax 26   |   |
| Filing period   | Total  | Citizens 24<br>and resident aliens  | Nonresident  | Total   | Citizens 24 and resident aliens  | Nonresident aliens 25   |
| Sept. 9, 1916–Jan. 15, 1922<br>Jan. 15–Dec. 31, 1922  | 5, 509, 522<br>1, 704, 974   | 5, 407, 674<br>1, 652, 832  | 101,849<br>52,142  | 356, 516<br>120, 562  | 351, 138<br>117, 624   | 5, 378<br>2, 938  |
| Jan. 1-Dec. 31:  1923   | 1,685,869<br>1,972,537<br>1,761,992,503<br>2,313,976<br>2,427,454<br>2,356,332<br>1,423,437<br>1,000,924<br>1,170,566<br>1,339,726<br>1,260,022<br>1,646,613<br>1,745,259<br>1,558,322<br>1,493,184<br>1,575,768<br>1,536,331<br>1,405,400 | 1,391,569<br>970,868<br>1,150,533<br>1,316,838<br>1,245,395<br>1,622,618<br>1,724,589<br>2,1,537,975<br>1,479,268<br>1,561,215<br>6,1,524,881<br>1,396,697  | 20, 670<br>20, 347<br>13, 916<br>14, 553<br>11, 455<br>8, 703  | 96, 216<br>155, 466<br>196, 370<br>308, 450<br>316, 802<br>278, 938<br>251, 556<br>293, 399<br>309, 691<br>363, 377   | 153, 763<br>195, 301<br>305, 784<br>314, 620<br>276, 77<br>250, 360<br>291, 758<br>308, 342<br>362, 164  | 1, 196<br>1, 641<br>1, 349<br>1, 212  |

For footnotes, see page 323.

# Footnotes for estate tax tables 1-6, pp. 302-322

- <sup>1</sup> Returns filed under the act of 1932 or subsequent | funeral and administration expenses, debts of the acts prior to adoption of the Internal Revenue Code | decedent, mortgages and liens, and support of degree subject also to applicable provisions of the act of | pendents exceeds the value of property includible in
- <sup>2</sup> Total real estate represents full value of real estate reported in schedule A, Form 706. Outstanding mortgages and liens thereon are tabulated in item
- Federal Government obligations are classified on the basis of the taxability of the interest thereon off the basis of the basis of the market interest of for Federal income tax purposes. The interest on wholly tax-exempt Federal Government bonds is exempt from both the normal tax and surtax of the Federal income tax; the interest on partially taxexempt Federal Government bonds is exempt only from the normal tax; the interest on taxable Federal Government bonds is subject to both normal tax and surtax. United States savings bonds and Treasury bonds issued prior to Mar. 1, 1941 (on which the interest on a principal amount not in excess of \$5,000 is wholly tax-exempt), are classified as partially tax-exempt Federal Government bonds. The entire value of bonds in each category is subject to the estate tax and must be included in the gross estate of a citizen or resident alien.
- 4 Cash of all kinds is classified as intangible property.
- Interest in an unincorporated business is the value of the decedent's interests in sole proprietorships, copartnerships, or other organizations not incorporated. The value of good will is included but not that of real estate.
- 6 Other intangibles include such items as judgments, leaseholds, trade-marks, copyrights, royalties, claims, accounts receivable; interests in estate and trust funds; accruals of interest, dividends, and rent; and amounts due from retirement funds, pensions, and annuities.
- 7 Support of dependents is an amount allowed by the law of certain States and actually disbursed for the support of the decedent's dependents, during settlement of the estate.
- <sup>8</sup> The net deduction for property previously taxed is the net deduction computed for purposes of the additional tax, except that in table 1, for returns filed under the act of 1926 and prior acts, the deduction of the net deduction of the net deduction of the net deduction. tion is the net deduction computed as provided under those acts. See pp. 295-296 for a description of this deduction.
- <sup>6</sup> Specific exemption for additional tax under the Internal Revenue Code as amended by the act of Internal Revenue Code as amended by the act of 1942 is \$60,000; under the Code as amended by the acts of 1941 and 1940, and under the act of 1935, is \$40,000; and under the act of 1932 is \$50,000. The specific exemption for basic tax under the Code and the act of 1926 is \$100,000; under the act of 1924 and price acts \$50,000. and prior acts, \$50,000.

- gross estate subject to claims.
- 11 The net estate (or no net estate) before specific exemption tabulated for nontaxable returns is a combination of positive and negative amounts.
- 12 The net estate for basic tax includes the net estate for returns filed under the 1926 and prior acts.
- 13 The basic tax (before and after credits) includes the tax liability for returns filed under the 1926 and prior acts.
- <sup>14</sup> Estate, inheritance, legacy, or succession taxes paid to States, Territories, District of Columbia, or (after June 29, 1939) United States possession.
- 15 The defense tax applies only to estates of individuals who died in the period June 26, 1940, through Sept. 20, 1941, effective period of the 1940 act. The defense tax is 10 percent of the tax (after credits), computed without regard to the defense tax.
- able by beneficiaries other than the estate, not to exceed in the aggregate \$40,000 for any one estate, is allowable for estates of individuals who died prior to Oct. 22, 1942.
- 17 Less than \$500.
- <sup>18</sup> Net estate before specific exemption classes are based on the amount of net estate for additional tax before the deduction for specific exemption.
- 19 Gross estate classes are based on total gross estate plus tax-exempt life insurance.
- 20 Negative amount:
- 21 Includes net estate of \$184,512 reported on 3 returns taxable under the Revenue Acts of 1926. 1924, and prior acts.
- negative Returns showing a tax under provisions of the Revenue Act of 1926, or under the basic tax provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. (Returns taxed under the 1924 or prior acts are excluded.)
- 23 Changes in the revenue acts affecting the comparability of statistical data from estate tax returns are summarized on pp. 360-363.
- 24 Estates of citizens and resident aliens exclude returns filed for nonresident citizens who died prior to May 11, 1934.
- 25 Estate of nonresident aliens include returns filed for nonresident citizens who died prior to May 11.
- no The net estate tabulated for filing periods sub-sequent to 1932 is the net estate for additional tax plus the regular net estate for returns filed under the 1926 and prior acts, 300,000.

  1926 and prior acts; and the tax liability tabulated is the sum of (1) net basic tax (after credits), (2) net additional tax (after credits), and (3) defense tax, 1942, are equal to the amount by which the sum of

GIFT TAX RETURNS

## **GIFT TAX RETURNS**

#### SUMMARY DATA

Gift tax returns for the calendar year 1943 were filed by 16,987 donors, reporting the transfer by gift of property having a total value of \$412,654,632 before exclusions which amount to \$80,721,000. There are 4,656 taxable returns, showing total gifts of \$208,738,285 before exclusions amounting to \$29,163,000; net gifts of \$123,935,888; and tax liability of \$29,636,830. The 12,331 nontaxable returns disclose total gifts of \$203,916,347 before exclusions amounting to \$51,558,000 and show deductions for specific exemption and gifts to charitable, public, and similar organizations which are equal to the total gifts after exclusions.

Compared with the previous year, the number of gift tax returns increased 81, or 0.5 percent; total gifts decreased \$67,568,141, or 14.1 percent; net gifts increased \$3,283,140, or 2.7 percent; and the tax liability increased \$4,971,668, or 20.2 percent. The increase in net gifts, in contrast to the decrease in total gifts, is attributable to the reduction in the amount of specific exemption and in the amount of exclusion allowed with respect to gifts made during 1943. The effective tax rate is 23.9 percent as compared with 20.4 percent for 1942.

The principal types of property transferred, as reported on the gift tax returns for 1943, are stocks and bonds, cash, and real estate. As in former years, the value of stocks and bonds exceeds that of any other type. Stocks and bonds form 48.0 percent of the total gifts before exclusions, while cash is 20.6 percent, real estate 13.0 percent, insurance 1.7 percent, and miscellaneous property 16.7 percent. Miscellaneous property includes such items as jewelry, objects of art, copyrights, forgiveness of debts, interest in a business, and assignment of judgments.

Gifts amounting to \$74,489,814, or 18 percent of the total gifts, were transferred in trust; stocks and bonds constitute 64.2 percent of the gifts transferred in this manner. In 1943, gifts transferred in trust have an exclusion as do other gifts not of a future interest; therefore, gifts in trust are not reported unless they amount to \$3,000 or more for any one donee or unless they form part of a gift (not of future interest), the combined total of which amounts to \$3,000 or more for any one donee. In 1942, gifts transferred in trust had no exclusion, so that all gifts in trust regardless of the amount transferred were included in total gifts that year.

Property transferred by gift to approximately 1,726 charitable, public, and similar organizations during 1943 was valued at \$42,537,102, or 10.3 percent of the total gift before exclusions. Such gifts are deductible in computing the gift tax liability (when made by citizens and residents of the United States and with certain exceptions

when made by nonresidents), inasmuch as an exclusion is granted of the first \$3,000 given each donee and the remainder is allowed as a deduction in computing the net gift. Corresponding data for 1942 show that 1,550 charitable organizations received gifts of \$46,481,318, which is 9.7 percent of the total gifts for that year.

#### GIFT TAX LAW

The Federal gift tax is not imposed upon property but subjects to tax the transfers of property by gift and extends to the sales and exchanges of property for less than an adequate and full consideration in money or money's worth. The tax is imposed whether the transfer is in trust or otherwise, whether the gift is direct or indirect or of a future interest, and whether the property so transferred is real or personal, tangible or intangible. The gift tax, a primary and personal liability of the donor, is an excise upon his act of making the transfer, and is measured by the value of properties passing from the donor to the donee or donees during the calendar year, regardless of the fact that the identity of any donee may not then be known or ascertainable.

The gift tax on the transfer of property by gift during the calender year 1943 is imposed by chapter 4 of the Internal Revenue Code as amended by the Revenue Act of 1942. The principal changes under the amendments are: The specific exemption is reduced from \$40,000 to \$30,000; the amount of exclusion from net gifts (other than gifts of a future interest) of the first \$4,000 to any one donee is reduced to an exclusion of the first \$3,000; the exclusion from net gifts of the first \$3,000 is allowable against property transferred in trust; the exercise or release of a power of appointment (with the exception of certain limited powers and certain powers created before October 22, 1942) without adequate and full consideration in money or money's worth consitutes a gift by the individual possessing such power whether it is exercisable alone or in conjunction with another; and a gift of property held as community property under the laws of certain States constitutes a gift of the husband unless some portion thereof is shown to be economically attributable to the property of the wife.

A gift tax return, Form 709, is required of every citizen or resident of the United States who, during the calendar year 1943, transferred to any one done gifts totaling more than \$3,000 in value or who, regardless of value, made a gift of a future interest in property. A nonresident alien is similarly required to file a gift tax return if the gift consists of property situated in the United States. A return is required even though because of authorized deductions a tax may not be due. The return is due on or before the 15th day of March following the close of the calendar year in which the gift is made, and may not be filed prior to the close of the calendar year except in the case of a return for gifts of a deceased donor.

The gift tax rate, in effect since January 1, 1942, is 2½ percent on the first \$5,000 of net gifts, increasing on a graduated scale to 57½ percent of net gifts in excess of \$10,000,000. The rates, exclusions, specific exemption, and deductions provided by the various revenue acts are summarized on pages 364-366.

#### RETURNS INCLUDED

Gift tax returns used for this report are returns filed for gifts made during 1943, excluding returns which are not required to be filed. Data are completely tabulated from each return, prior to any revision that may be made as a result of audit by the Bureau of Internal Revenue. The gift tax liability tabulated from these returns does not agree with the gift tax collections during 1944, because payment of the tax may be deferred or the tax liability may be revised in audit; moreover, the collections include interest, penalties, and delinquent payments of taxes, none of which are tabulated in this report.

#### BASIC ITEMS

Total gifts or Total gifts before exclusions mean the entire value of gifts transferred where the total value transferred to any one donee is more than \$3,000, except in the case of a gift of future interest in property in which case the value thereof is included regardless of amount. (Gifts to any one donee totaling \$3,000 or less, other than a future interest in property, are excluded.)

Exclusion of the first \$3,000 of gifts made to any one donee during the calendar year is allowable, except with respect to gifts of future interests in property, in determining the total included amount of gifts for such year.

Total gifts after exclusions mean the amount of total gifts in excess of the exclusions and is the "Total included amount of gifts for year" reported on the face of the gift tax return.

Specific exemption of \$30,000 less the sum of the amounts claimed and allowed in prior years may be deducted from total gifts in the current year by citizens and residents. The exemption of \$30,000 may be taken in its entirety in a single year or may be spread over a period of years, at the option of the taxpayer. However, when the aggregate of \$30,000 has been taken no further exemption is allowable. The corresponding specific exemption for the period 1932–1935 was \$50,000 and for 1936–1942, \$40,000. In case a taxpayer has taken exemption in excess of \$30,000 previous to 1943, the amount of the excess is added to the aggregate net gifts cumulated for prior years for the purpose of computing the tax liability for the current year. Nonresident aliens are denied the specific exemption.

Net gifts mean the excess of total gifts after exclusions over the sum of the deduction for charitable, public, and similar gifts (after exclusions), and, in the case of citizens and residents, the deduction for specific exemption claimed in the current year.

Gift tax is the excess of a tax, computed at current year rates, on the aggregate net gifts transferred subsequent to June 6, 1932, over a tax computed at the same rates on the aggregate net gifts exclusive of the current year net gifts. This method of computing the gift tax results in the net gifts of the current year being taxed either at the same rate applied to net gifts of the most recent prior year or at a higher rate, regardless of the amount transferred in the current

year. Owing to the graduated tax rate and the variations in the amounts of exclusions, deductions, and specific exemption to be taken,

758454--50----22

and in the amount of aggregate net gifts cumulated since June 6. 1932, individuals making gifts of equal amounts in the same calendar year may have different tax liabilities; or, one may have a tax liability and the other no tax liability.

Prior years, in reference to gift tax returns, mean the interval of years since the inception of the present period of gift taxation (June

6, 1932) exclusive of the current year.

Net gifts for prior years are the aggregate net gifts cumulated since June 6, 1932, exclusive of the current year. The net gifts for prior years are tabulated from schedule C of the current year return and may exceed net gifts actually reported for those years, for the reason that when specific exemption of over \$30,000 has been taken prior to 1943, the net gifts for prior years are increased in schedule C by the amount in excess of \$30,000.

Tax on net gifts for prior years is the tax computed on aggregate net gifts for the preceding years (as shown in schedule C on the current year return) and may not be the actual tax liability reported for those years because it is computed at current rates on aggregate net gifts for prior years adjusted to include any specific exemption in

excess of \$30,000 taken prior to 1943.

Identical donor is a term used to indicate an individual who made gifts to donees other than charitable, public, and similar organizations in both the current year and one or more prior years. Identical donors are identified from data on the current year return only. Schedule C shows the net gifts for, and specific exemption taken in, prior years, from which data it can be determined whether the prior year gifts were made to donees other than charitable organizations.

#### CLASSIFICATION OF RETURNS

Gift tax returns are classified as taxable or nontaxable, and identical donors are distinguished from other donors. Taxable returns show net gifts and are further classified by size of net gift and by size of total gift plus tax. Nontaxable returns show no net gifts and are further classified by size of total gifts. The taxable returns of identical donors which are also taxable for prior years are classified by size of the aggregate net gifts for prior years. Data are presented by these classifications in the gift tax tables, but not all items are available for every classification.

Taxable or nontaxable.—This classification is based on the existence or nonexistence of a gift tax liability. Returns are classified as taxable or nontaxable for prior years as well as for the current year. Taxable returns show net gifts; nontaxable returns show no net gifts.

Net gift classes.—Taxable gift tax returns are segregated into net gift classes based on the amount of net gifts for the current year.

Total gift plus tax classes.—Taxable gift tax returns are segregated into total gift plus tax classes based on the sum of the total gifts and the gift tax liability of the current year.

Total gift classes.—Nontaxable gift tax returns are segregated into

total gift classes according to the amount of total gifts.

Identical donors.—Returns filed by individuals who are identical donors are distinguished from those of other individuals. This classification is based on the fact that the donor made gifts both in the current year and in prior years to donees other than charitable organizations.

Net gift for prior years classes.—Taxable returns of identical donors who were taxable for prior years are segregated into net gift for prior years classes based on the amount of aggregate net gifts for prior years as adjusted in schedule C of the current year return to include the amount of specific exemption in excess of \$30,000 taken prior to 1943.

## IDENTICAL DONORS

Among the individuals making gifts during 1943, there are 5,361 identical donors, that is, individuals who made gifts other than gifts to charitable, public, or similar organizations in 1943 and also in prior years. Of these identical donors, 2,029 are nontaxable for 1943, although 23 have previously paid a gift tax; 3,332 are taxable for 1943, of whom 554 are taxable for the first time. The gift tax liability for the 554 identical donors not previously taxed is \$1,008,292 while the tax liability for the 2,778 who have previously paid gift tax is \$25,284,278, or 85.3 percent of the total tax liability on all returns filed for 1943 gifts. The effective tax rate for the 2,778 previously taxed identical donors is 29.5 percent and indicates the effect of the progressive tax when compared with the 10.5 percent effective rate for the 554 identical donors not previously taxed.

## GIFT TAX TABLES

Tables 1, 2, and 3 contain data from all gift tax returns filed for gifts made during 1943. Taxable returns and nontaxable returns are presented separately in tables 1 and 2, while in table 3 data are in aggregate. The data for taxable returns are tabulated by net gift classes in table 1 and by total gift plus tax classes in table 2. The data for nontaxable returns are distributed by total gift classes in table 2.

Tables 4 and 5 present data for identical donors' returns. Certain information for these returns is classified by taxable status for the current year and for prior years in table 4. The number of returns taxable both for the current year and for prior years is tabulated, by size of net gift for 1943 and by size of net gifts for prior years, in table 5.

Historical data, 1932 through 1943, for the number of returns, total gifts, net gifts, and tax, are given in table 6.

# **GIFT TAX TABLES**

- 1. Number of returns, total gifts by type of property, exclusions, total gifts after exclusions, deductions, net gifts, and tax—taxable returns by net gift classes and nontaxable returns in aggregate-
- 2. Number of returns, total gifts before exclusions, exclusions, deductions, net gifts, and tax—taxable returns by total gift plus tax classes and nontaxable returns by total gift classes.
- 3. Value of gifts transferred in trust and of gifts otherwise transferred—by type of property.
- 4. Number of returns for identical donors, total gifts after exclusions, deductions, net gifts, and tax—by tax status.
- 5. Number of taxable returns for identical donors who filed taxable returns for prior years—by net gift classes and by net gift for prior years classes.
- 6. Number of returns, total gifts before exclusions, net gifts, and tax, 1932-43.

Table 1.—Gift tax returns for 1943, taxable returns by net gift classes and nontaxable returns in aggregate: Number of returns, total gifts by type of property, exclusions, total gifts after exclusions, deductions, net gifts, and tax

[Net gift classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   |  | Tot                  | al gifts befo      | ore exclusio  | ons, by typ   | e of proper   | rt <b>y</b>        |
|---|--|----------------------|--------------------|---|---|---|--------------------|
| Net gift classes <sup>1</sup>   | Number<br>of re-<br>turns                    | Total                | Real<br>estate     | Stocks<br>and<br>bonds  | Cash  | Insur-<br>ance  | Miscel-<br>laneous |
| Taxable returns:  Under 5. 5 under 10. 10 under 20. 20 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 5. 50 under 100. 100 under 200. 200 under 400. 400 under 600. 600 under 600. 600 under 1,000. 1,000 under 1,000. 1,000 under 2,000 2,000 under 2,000 2,000 under 2,500 3,500 under 3,500 3,500 under 4,000 4,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 4,000 | 128<br>266<br>117<br>48<br>10<br>4<br>5<br>1 |                      | 68                 | 12, 485<br>8, 341<br>12, 111<br>7, 027<br>5, 539<br>4, 304<br>11, 956<br>10, 475<br>11, 519<br>4, 231<br>2, 133<br>2, 133<br>2, 611 | 6, 174<br>4, 493<br>6, 208<br>3, 649<br>2, 050<br>1, 805<br>5, 819<br>3, 991<br>1, 560<br>479<br>2, 558<br>25<br>47<br>15 | 886<br>710<br>954<br>571<br>317<br>338<br>208<br>43<br>139<br>392 |                    |
| 4,500 under 5,000<br>5,000 under 6,000<br>6,000 under 7,000<br>7,000 under 8,000  | 1  | 6, 074               | 2,018              | 3, 042  | 986   | 28  |                    |
| 8,000 under 9,000<br>9,000 under 10,000<br>10,000 and over  | i  | 13, 167              | 9                  | 12, 328   | 826   |   | 4                  |
| TotalNontaxable returns: No net   | 4, 656<br>12, 331                            | 208, 738<br>203, 916 | 22, 225<br>31, 261 | 112, 820<br>85, 443   | 40, 687<br>44, 223  | 4, 586<br>2, 570  | 28, 421<br>40, 418 |
| Grand total   | 16, 987                                      | 412, 655             | 53, 486            | 198, 263  | 84, 910   | 7, 156  | 68, 840            |

For footnotes, see p. 342.

Table 1.—Gift tax returns for 1943, taxable returns by net gift classes and nontaxable returns in aggregate: Number of returns, total gifts by type of property, exclusions, total gifts after exclusions, deductions, net gifts, and tax—Continued

[Net gift classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   | Exclusio<br>gifts <sup>2</sup> m   | n of the fir<br>ade to any   | st \$3,000 of<br>one donee   |  |  | Deduction   | 15   |
|---|--|--|--|--|--|---|--|
| Net gift classes 1  | Total  | Charitable, public, and similar gifts                              | Gifts<br>other<br>than<br>chari-<br>table  | Total<br>gifts<br>after<br>exclu-<br>sions   | Total  | Charitable, public, and similar gifts after exclusions 3                        | Specific<br>exemp-<br>tion<br>claimed<br>for 1943<br>gifts 4                                 |
| Taxable returns:<br>Under 5   | 9, 453   |  |  |  |  |   |  |
| 5 under 10  | 5,049<br>5,247<br>2,652<br>1,488<br>981<br>2,082<br>1,236<br>579<br>54<br>21 | 717<br>273<br>306<br>114<br>48<br>42<br>138<br>174<br>57<br>3<br>6 | 8, 736<br>4, 776<br>4, 941<br>2, 538<br>1, 440<br>939<br>1, 944<br>1, 062<br>522<br>51<br>15 | 19, 889<br>15, 364<br>21, 461<br>13, 091<br>11, 372<br>7, 519<br>21, 601<br>17, 781<br>14, 204<br>5, 234<br>2, 902<br>4, 580 | 16. 284<br>8, 982<br>10, 189<br>4, 275<br>3, 522<br>1, 779<br>3, 498<br>1, 732<br>102<br>115 | 3, 489<br>1, 103<br>1, 234<br>351<br>746<br>271<br>415<br>884<br>210<br>7<br>55 | 12, 796<br>7, 879<br>8, 956<br>3 924<br>2, 776<br>1, 507<br>3, 084<br>848<br>334<br>95<br>60 |
| 1,000 under 1,500<br>1,500 under 2,000<br>2,000 under 2,500<br>2,500 under 3,000  |  |  | 3  | 1, 262   | 81   | 81  |  |
| 2,000 under 2,000<br>2,000 under 3,500<br>3,000 under 3,500<br>3,500 under 4,000<br>4,000 under 4,500<br>4,500 under 5,000<br>5,000 under 6,000 |  |  |  |  |  |   |  |
| 6,000 under 7,000   |  | , 10   | 21   | 5, 978   | 466  | 466   |  |
| 8,000 under 9,000<br>9,000 under 10,000<br>10,000 and over  | 27   | 72   | 15   | 13, 080  | 3, 315   | 3, 315  |  |
| Total<br>Nontaxable returns: No net   | 29, 163  | 2, 106   | 27, 057  | 179, 575   | 55, 639  | 13, 381   | 42, 258  |
| gifts   | 51, 558  | 3, 072   | 48, 486  | 152, 358   | 152, 358   | 23, 978   | 128, 380   |
| Grand total   | 80, 721  | 5, 178   | 75, 543  | 331, 934   | 207, 997   | 37, 359   | 170, 639   |

Table 1.—Gift tax returns for 1943, taxable returns by net gift classes and nontaxable returns in aggregate: Number of returns, total gifts by type of property, exclusions, total gifts after exclusions, deductions, net gifts, and tax—Continued

[Net gift classes and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |                        | Net gifts   |  |  | Tax  |   |
|--|------------------------|---|--|--|--|---|
| Net gift classes i   | Aggregate              | Prior<br>years 4  | 1943   | Aggregate  | Prior<br>years <sup>6</sup>  | 1943  |
| Taxable returns:  Under 5  |                        | 159, 938<br>89, 449<br>56, 534<br>33, 708<br>16, 187<br>15, 909<br>53, 925<br>16, 085<br>1, 260<br>2, 594<br>1, 457<br>1, 612<br>3, 812 | 3, 605<br>6, 383<br>11, 272<br>8, 816<br>7, 850<br>5, 740<br>18, 103<br>16, 049<br>13, 659<br>2, 787<br>4, 433<br>1, 182<br>1, 553<br>2, 094 | 38, 357<br>26, 104<br>12, 763<br>9, 086<br>4, 522<br>4, 423<br>19, 609<br>17, 188<br>7, 648<br>1, 651<br>2, 284<br>1, 895<br>804<br>1, 017<br>2, 307 | 38, 018 25, 461 11, 494 7, 937 3, 521 3, 513 16, 393 13, 484 4, 360 4, 411 1, 477 633 382 434 1, 295 | 339<br>643<br>1, 270<br>1, 149<br>1, 000<br>910<br>8, 216<br>3, 704<br>3, 288<br>1, 240<br>421<br>583<br>1, 011 |
| 4,000 under 4,500<br>4,500 under 5,000<br>5,000 under 6,000<br>6,000 under 7,000 | 13,036                 | 7,524   | 5,512  | 6,320  | 3,165  | 3, 154  |
| 7,000 under 8,000<br>8,000 under 9,000<br>9,000 under 10,000<br>10,000 and over  |                        | 103, 908  | 9, 766   | 64, 438  | 58, 798  | 5, 640  |
| TotalNontaxable returns: No net  | 741, 314<br>7 191, 175 | 617, 378<br>7 191, 175  | 123, 936   | 220, 414<br>7 54, 924  | 190, 777<br>7 54, 924  | 29, 637   |
| Grand total  | 932, 489               | 808, 553  | 123,936  | 275, 338   | 245, 702   | 29, 637   |

For footnotes, see p. 342.

Table 2.—Gift tax returns for 1943, taxable returns by total gift plus tax classes and nontaxable returns by total gift classes: Number of returns, total gifts before exclusions, exclusions, total gifts after exclusions, deductions, net gifts, and tax

[Total gift plus tax classes, total gift classes, and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  |   |                   |                           |                | Taxable retu                                  | ırns        | <del></del>              |  |
|--|---|-------------------|---------------------------|----------------|---|-------------|--------------------------|--|
| Total gift plus tax classes 8  | Total<br>num-<br>ber of   | Num-              | Total<br>gift             | Exclusion of g | sion of the frifts, made to                   | Total gifts | Deduc-<br>tions          |  |
|  | returns   | ber of<br>returns | before<br>exclu-<br>sions | Total          | Charitable<br>public, and<br>similar<br>gifts |             | after<br>exclu-<br>sions | Total  |
| Under 5. 5 under 10 10 under 20 20 under 30 30 under 40 40 under 50 50 under 100 100 under 200 200 under 400 400 under 600 600 under 600 600 under 1,000 1,000 under 1,000 1,000 under 2,000 2,000 under 2,000 2,000 under 2,000 3,000 under 3,500 3,500 under 3,500 3,500 under 4,000 4,000 under 4,500 4,500 under 4,000 6,000 under 6,000 6,000 under 6,000 6,000 under 7,000 7,000 under 8,000 8,000 under 9,000 9,000 under 9,000 9,000 under 1,000 | 3, 783<br>4, 704<br>2, 609<br>1, 969<br>642<br>815<br>250<br>92<br>22<br>11<br>12<br>4<br>4<br>9<br>2<br>2<br>2 |                   | 6, 074                    | 96             | 75  | 21          | 5, 978                   | 16<br>115<br>918<br>1, 952<br>11, 281<br>11, 533<br>15, 549<br>5, 011<br>2, 981<br>1, 321<br>233<br>115<br>146<br>81<br>35 |
| Total  | 16, 987   | 4, 656            | 208, 738                  | 29, 163        | 2, 106  | 27, 057     | 13, 080<br>179, 575      | 3, 315<br>55, 639  |

Table 2.—Gift tax returns for 1943, taxable returns by total gift plus tax classes and nontaxable returns by total gift classes: Number of returns, total gifts before exclusions, exclusions, total gifts after exclusions, deductions, net gifts, and tax—Con.

[Total gift plus tax classes, total gift classes, and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   |   |  | Taxal          | ble returns        | -Contin          | ued               |                   |                  |
|---|---|--|----------------|--------------------|------------------|-------------------|-------------------|------------------|
|   | Deduction   | s-Con.   |                | Net gifts          |                  |                   | Tax               |                  |
| Total gift plus tax<br>classes <sup>8</sup>   | Charitable,<br>public, and<br>similar<br>gifts after<br>exclusions <sup>3</sup> | Specific<br>exemp-<br>tion<br>claimed<br>for 1943<br>gifts 4 | Aggre-<br>gate | Prior<br>years b   | 1943             | Aggre-<br>gate    | Prior years 6     | 1943             |
| Under 5 5 under 10 10 under 20 20 under 30 30 under 40 40 under 50 50 under 100 100 under 200 200 under 400 400 under 600 600 under 800 800 under 1,000 1,000 under 1,500 2,500 under 2,000 2,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 3,000 3,000 under 3,000 4,000 under 4,000 4,000 under 4,000 5,000 under 4,000 5,000 under 3,500 5,000 under 3,500 8,000 under 3,500 8,000 under 3,000 8,000 under 3,000 9,000 under 9,000 9,000 under 9,000 9,000 under 9,000 9,000 under 1,000 | 17 245 388 321 414 1,416 2,154 2,359 1,257 138 55 146 81 35                     |  | 5, 906<br>     | 7, 524<br>103, 908 | 5, 512<br>9, 766 | 6, 320<br>64, 438 | 3, 165<br>58, 798 | 3, 154<br>5, 640 |
| Total   | 13, 381   | 42, 258  | 741, 314       | 617, 378           | 123, 936         | 220, 414          | 190, 777          | 29, 637          |

For footnotes, see p. 342.

Table 2.—Gift tax returns for 1943, taxable returns by total gift plus tax classes and nontaxable returns by total gift classes: Number of returns, total gifts before exclusions, exclusions, total gifts after exclusions, deductions, net gifts, and tax—Con.

[Total gift plus tax classes, total gift classes, and money figures in thousands of dollars]

|   |  |             |         |  |         |                                   | -,<br><del></del> |
|---|--|-------------|---------|--|---------|-----------------------------------|-------------------|
| b.  |  |             | Nor     | taxable retu                                   | rns     |                                   |                   |
| Total gift classes *  |  | Total gifts |         | on of the firmade to any                       |         | Total                             | Deduc-<br>tions   |
|   | Number<br>of returns   | 1 h-6       | Total   | Charitable,<br>public, and<br>similar<br>gifts |         | gifts after<br>exclu-<br>sions    | Total             |
| Under 5 5 under 10 10 under 20 20 under 30 30 under 40 40 under 50 50 under 100 100 under 200 200 under 400 400 under 600 600 under 800 800 under 800 800 under 1,000 1,000 under 2,000 2,000 under 3,500 2,500 under 3,000 3,000 under 3,500 3,500 under 3,000 3,500 under 4,000 4,000 under 4,500 5,000 under 6,000 5,000 under 7,000 5,000 under 7,000 5,000 under 7,000 5,000 under 8,000 8,000 under 9,000 9,000 under 9,000 9,000 under 1,000 | 3, 145<br>3, 858<br>2, 142<br>1, 356<br>81<br>115<br>81<br>11<br>2<br>1<br>3<br>1<br>1 |             |         | 6<br>30<br>3<br>3<br>3                         |         | 943<br>3, 509<br>1, 785<br>2, 009 |                   |
| 10,000 and 0 ver  |  |             |         |  | ·       |                                   |                   |
| Total   | 12, 331  | 203, 916    | 51, 558 | 3, 072   | 48, 486 | 152, 358                          | 152, 358          |

|   | No   | ntaxable retu                    | rns—Conti                          | nued                    |
|---|--|----------------------------------|------------------------------------|-------------------------|
|   | Deductions   | —Continued                       |                                    |                         |
| Total gift classes 9  | Charitable,<br>public, and<br>similar<br>gifts after<br>exclusions <sup>3</sup>  | exemption<br>claimed<br>for 1943 | Net gifts<br>for prior<br>years 17 | Tax for prior years * 7 |
| Under 5 5 under 10 10 under 20 20 under 30 30 under 40 10 under 50 90 under 50 90 under 100 100 under 200 900 under 400 100 under 600 900 under 1,000 900 under 1,000 900 under 2,000 900 under 2,000 900 under 2,000 900 under 3,500 900 under 3,500 900 under 4,000 900 under 4,000 900 under 5,000 900 under 5,000 900 under 5,000 900 under 8,000 900 under 8,000 900 under 8,000 900 under 8,000 900 under 8,000 900 under 9,000 900 under 9,000 900 under 9,000 900 under 9,000 | 611<br>1, 449<br>1, 247<br>1, 184<br>1, 195<br>3, 023<br>2, 088<br>2, 676<br>1, 290<br>943<br>3, 509<br>1, 785<br>2, 009 |                                  |                                    | 4,556                   |
| 0,000 and 0ver  |  |                                  |                                    |                         |
| Total   | 23, 978  | 128, 380                         | 191, 175                           | 54, 924                 |

Table 3.—Gift tax returns for 1943, gifts by type of property transferred: Total value, value of gifts transferred in trust, and value of gifts otherwise transferred

#### [Thousands of dollars]

|   | Value o   | f property t                                     | ransferred  |  |  |  |  |
|---|---|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| Type of property  | Total   | In trust   | Other than<br>in trust                              |  |  |  |  |
| Real estate Stocks and bonds Cash Insurance Miscellaneous Total | 53, 486<br>198, 263<br>84, 910<br>7, 156<br>68, 840 | 6, 255<br>47, 851<br>11, 026<br>1, 229<br>8, 130 | 47, 231<br>150, 412<br>73, 884<br>5, 927<br>60, 710 |  |  |  |  |

Table 4.—Gift tax returns for 1943, of identical donors, 10 by taxable status for current year and for prior years: Number of returns, total gifts after exclusions, deductions, net gifts, and tax

#### [Money figures in thousands of dollars]

|                                       |                                      |  | Deductions   |   |  |  |  |
|---------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--|--|---|--|--|--|
| Taxable status                        | Number of<br>returns for<br>1943     | Total gifts<br>after exclu-<br>sions, 1943 | Charitable,<br>public, and<br>similar gifts<br>after exclu-<br>sions | Specific ex-<br>emption<br>claimed for<br>1943 gifts <sup>4</sup> |  |  |  |
| Taxable for both 1943 and prior years | 2,778<br>554<br>23<br>2,006<br>5,361 | 98, 721<br>16, 629<br>535<br>13, 385       | 12, 411<br>268<br>277<br>680<br>13, 636                              | 645<br>6, 778<br>258<br>12, 705<br>20, 386                        |  |  |  |

|  |                           | Net gifts     |                   | Tax                       |             |                   |  |  |  |  |
|--|---------------------------|---------------|-------------------|---------------------------|-------------|-------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Taxable status   | Aggregate                 | Prior years 5 | 1943              | Aggregate                 | Prior years | 1943              |  |  |  |  |
| Taxable for both 1943 and prior years Taxable for 1943 and nontaxable for prior years Nontaxable for 1943 and taxable for prior years Nontaxable for both 1943 and | 703, 043<br>9, 583<br>747 | 617, 378      | 85, 665<br>9, 583 | 216, 062<br>1, 008<br>117 | 190, 777    | 25, 284<br>1, 008 |  |  |  |  |
| prior years<br>Total   | 713, 373                  | 618, 125      | 95, 248           | 217, 187                  | 190, 895    | 26, 293           |  |  |  |  |

For footnotes, see p. 342.

Table 5.—Taxable gift tax returns for 1943, of identical donors 10 who filed taxable returns for prior years, by net gift classes and by net gift for prior years classes: Number of returns

[Net gift classes and net gift for prior years classes in thousands of dollars]

|  |  |   |          | Ne                                    | t gift :   | for                                  | prior 3       | vears clas                              | ses 11         |                |                       |
|--|--|---|----------|---------------------------------------|------------|--------------------------------------|---------------|---|----------------|----------------|-----------------------|
| Net gift classes 1   | Tota   | ul Und                                    | ler 5    | 5 m                                   | nder<br>10 |                                      | under<br>20   | 20 under<br>30                          | 30 under<br>40 | 40 under<br>50 | 50 under<br>100       |
| Inder 5  |  | 00  | 101      | [                                     |            |                                      |               |   |                |                | ļ                     |
| Under 5<br>5 under 10  | 1,10   | 14  | 104      | 1                                     | 133        |                                      | 210           | 119                                     | 107            | 63             | 177                   |
| 10 under 20  |  | 23  | 45<br>31 | 1                                     | 62<br>46   |                                      | 96<br>54      | 47                                      | 37             | 22<br>19       | 71                    |
| 20 under 30  | - 3  | 05  | 13       | ì                                     | 27         |                                      | 26            | 43<br>15                                | 27             |                | 72                    |
| 30 under 40  |  | ii  | 14       | ı                                     | ii         |                                      | 22            | 7                                       | 14             | 11             | 30                    |
| '40 under 50   |  | 72  | 2        | ſ                                     | 4          |                                      | 5             | 1Ó                                      | δ<br>3         | 5              | 13                    |
| 50 under 100   | . 14   | 18  | 2<br>17  | ĺ                                     | 13         |                                      | 21            | 7                                       | 4              | 5              | 11                    |
| 100 under 200  | ! 8  | 34  | 2        | l                                     | 5          |                                      | 5             | 4                                       | 4              | li             | 18                    |
| 200 under 400  | 3  | 36  |          |                                       |            |                                      | 7             | ī                                       |                | i              | 8 3                   |
| 400 under 600  | j  | 7 }                                       | 1        |                                       |            |                                      |               |   |                | l ī            |                       |
| 600 under 800  |  | 2   | }        | <b>-</b>                              | }-         |                                      |               |   |                |                | 1                     |
| 800 under 1,000  |  | 5   |          |                                       |            |                                      |               |   | 1              |                |                       |
| 1,500 under 2,000  | -{   | 1   |          |                                       | [-         |                                      | -             |   |                |                |                       |
| 1,500 under 2,000<br>2,000 under 2,500   | -1   | i   |          |                                       |            |                                      | -             |   |                |                |                       |
| 2,500 under 3,000  | 7.   | •   |          |                                       |            |                                      |               |   |                |                |                       |
| 3,000 under 3,500  |  |   |          |                                       |            |                                      |               |   |                |                |                       |
| 3,500 under 4,000  |  |   |          |                                       |            |                                      |               |   |                |                |                       |
| 4,000 under 4,500<br>4,500 under 5,000   | -1   |   |          |                                       |            |                                      |               |   |                |                |                       |
| 4,500 under 5,000  |  | i   |          |                                       |            |                                      |               |   |                |                |                       |
| 5,000 under 6.000  | _1   | 1   | ].       |                                       |            |                                      |               |   |                |                |                       |
| 6,000 under 7,000.   | -  |   | ).       |                                       |            |                                      |               |   |                |                |                       |
| 7,000 under 8,000  |  |   | }-       |                                       | -          |                                      |               |   |                |                |                       |
| 8,000 under 9,000<br>9,000 under 10,000  | -  | i   | -        |                                       |            |                                      | {-            |   |                |                |                       |
| 10,000 and over  | -  | 4   |          |                                       | [          |                                      | [-            |   | ·[             |                |                       |
| 10,000 and 0 ver   | -  |   |          |                                       |            |                                      | -             |   |                |                |                       |
| Total  | 2, 77  | 8 :                                       | 229      | ;                                     | 301        |                                      | 446           | 253                                     | 202            | 134            | 404                   |
| Net gift classes t   | 100  | 200                                       | -4       | 100                                   | 600        | 0                                    | prior :       | years clas                              | <del></del>    | 2,000          | 2,500                 |
|  | under<br>200                                     | under<br>400                              |          | ider<br>00                            | und<br>800 | er<br>)                              | unde<br>1,000 | r i unde                                | under          | under<br>2,500 | and<br>over           |
| Tridor 5   |  |   |          |                                       |            |                                      |               |   | ~(             |                | [                     |
| Under 5<br>5 under 10  | 112  | 60  | !        | 28                                    | 1 :        |                                      |               |   | 1              | 1              |                       |
| 10 mmd - 00  |  |   |          |                                       |            | 13                                   | 1.            |   |                | 7              | 7                     |
|  | 53   | 48  | 1        | 12                                    |            | 5                                    | )             | 2 8                                     | 3 2            | 7 4            | 7<br>5                |
| 10 under 20<br>20 under 30   | 64   | 36  | ·        | 14                                    |            | 5 2                                  | )             | 2 3                                     | 2 2            | 4              | 5<br>2                |
| 20 under 30<br>30 under 40   | 64<br>28   | 36<br>26                                  | ·        | 14                                    |            | 5                                    | )             | 2 3                                     | 2 2            | 4              | 5                     |
| 20 under 30<br>30 under 40<br>40 under 50  | 64<br>28<br>12                                   | 36<br>26<br>11                            | ·        | 14<br>6<br>7                          | ·<br>      | 5<br>2<br>2                          |               | 2 8                                     | 2              | 4              | 5<br>2                |
| 20 under 30<br>30 under 40<br>40 under 50<br>50 under 100  | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22                       | 36<br>26<br>11<br>4                       |          | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1                     |            | 5<br>2<br>2<br>5                     |               | 2 8                                     | 2 2            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1           |
| 20 under 30<br>30 under 40<br>40 under 50<br>50 under 100<br>100 under 200   | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22<br>15                 | 36<br>26<br>11<br>4<br>21<br>10           |          | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1                     | ·<br>      | 5<br>2<br>2<br>5<br>3<br>4           |               | 2 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | 2 2            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1           |
| 20 under 30.<br>30 under 40.<br>40 under 50.<br>50 under 100.<br>100 under 200.  | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22<br>15                 | 36<br>26<br>11<br>4<br>21<br>10<br>6      | -        | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1<br>4<br>5           |            | 5<br>2<br>2<br>5<br>3<br>4           |               | 2 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | 2 2            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1<br>7<br>4 |
| 20 under 30.<br>30 under 40.<br>40 under 50.<br>50 under 100<br>100 under 200.<br>200 under 400<br>400 under 660.  | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22                       | 36<br>26<br>11<br>4<br>21<br>10           |          | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1                     |            | 5<br>2<br>2<br>5<br>3<br>4           |               | 2<br>6<br>1<br>4<br>6                   | 2 2            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1           |
| 20 under 30.<br>30 under 40.<br>40 under 50.<br>50 under 100.<br>100 under 200.<br>200 under 400.<br>400 under 600.<br>600 under 680.  | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22<br>15<br>7            | 36<br>26<br>11<br>4<br>21<br>10<br>6<br>2 |          | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1<br>4<br>5           |            | 5<br>2<br>2<br>5<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>1 |               | 2<br>6<br>1<br>4<br>6                   | 1 6            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1<br>7<br>4 |
| 20 under 30.<br>30 under 40.<br>40 under 50.<br>50 under 100.<br>100 under 200.<br>200 under 400.<br>400 under 660.<br>600 under 800.<br>880 under 1.000.  | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22<br>15<br>7<br>1       | 36<br>26<br>11<br>4<br>21<br>10<br>6<br>2 |          | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1<br>4<br>5           |            | 5<br>2<br>2<br>5<br>3<br>4           |               | 2 6 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | 1 6            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1<br>7<br>4 |
| 20 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 200. 200 under 400. 400 under 660. 600 under 800. 380 under 1,000. 1,000 under 1,500.   | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22<br>15<br>7<br>1       | 36<br>26<br>11<br>4<br>21<br>10<br>6<br>2 |          | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1<br>4<br>5<br>3<br>1 |            | 5<br>2<br>2<br>5<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>1 |               | 2<br>6<br>1<br>4<br>6                   | 1 6            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1<br>7<br>4 |
| 20 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 200. 200 under 660. 600 under 800. 800 under 1,000. 1,000 under 2,000.  | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22<br>22<br>15<br>7<br>1 | 36<br>26<br>11<br>4<br>21<br>10<br>6<br>2 |          | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1<br>4<br>5<br>3<br>1 |            | 5<br>2<br>2<br>5<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>1 |               | 2 6 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | 1 6            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1<br>7<br>4 |
| 20 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 200. 200 under 400. 400 under 667. 600 under 800. 1,000 under 1,500. 1,500 under 2,000.   | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22<br>22<br>15<br>7<br>1 | 36<br>26<br>11<br>4<br>21<br>10<br>6<br>2 |          | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1<br>4<br>5<br>3<br>1 |            | 5<br>2<br>2<br>5<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>1 |               | 2 6 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | 1 6            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1<br>7<br>4 |
| 20 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 200. 200 under 660. 600 under 800. 800 under 1,000. 1,000 under 2,500. 2,000 under 2,500. 2,500 under 3,500.  | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22<br>15<br>7<br>1       | 36<br>26<br>11<br>4<br>21<br>10<br>6<br>2 |          | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1<br>4<br>5<br>3<br>1 |            | 5<br>2<br>2<br>5<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>1 |               | 2 6 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | 1 6            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1<br>7<br>4 |
| 20 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 200. 200 under 400. 400 under 660. 600 under 1,000. 1,500 under 1,500. 2,500 under 2,500. 2,500 under 3,000. 3,000 under 3,000. 3,000 under 3,000.  | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22<br>15<br>7<br>1       | 36<br>26<br>11<br>4<br>21<br>10<br>6<br>2 |          | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1<br>4<br>5<br>3<br>1 |            | 5<br>2<br>2<br>5<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>1 |               | 2 6 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | 1 6            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1<br>7<br>4 |
| 20 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 200. 200 under 600. 600 under 800. 800 under 1,000. 1,000 under 2,000. 2,000 under 2,000. 2,000 under 2,500. 2,000 under 3,500. 3,500 under 3,500. 3,500 under 4,000.   | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22<br>15<br>7<br>1       | 36<br>26<br>11<br>4<br>21<br>10<br>6<br>2 |          | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1<br>4<br>5<br>3<br>1 |            | 5<br>2<br>2<br>5<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>1 |               | 2 6 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | 1 6            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1<br>7<br>4 |
| 20 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 200. 200 under 600. 600 under 600. 800 under 800. 800 under 1,000. 1,500 under 2,500. 2,500 under 2,600. 2,500 under 3,500. 3,000 under 3,500. 4,000 under 4,600.   | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22<br>15<br>7<br>7<br>1  | 36 26 11 11 14 21 10 6 2 1                |          | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1<br>4<br>5<br>3<br>1 |            | 5<br>2<br>2<br>5<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>1 |               | 2 6 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | 1 6            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1<br>7<br>4 |
| 20 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 200. 200 under 600. 600 under 600. 800 under 1,000. 1,500 under 2,000. 2,000 under 2,000. 2,000 under 3,500. 3,000 under 3,600. 3,500 under 4,600. 4,500 under 4,500. 4,500 under 5,000. 5,500 under 5,000.   | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22<br>15<br>7<br>1       | 36 26 11 4 21 10 6 2 1                    |          | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1<br>4<br>5<br>3<br>1 |            | 5<br>2<br>2<br>5<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>1 |               | 2 6 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | 1 6            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1<br>7<br>4 |
| 20 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 200. 200 under 60. 600 under 800. 800 under 800. 1,000 under 1,500. 1,500 under 2,500. 2,500 under 2,600. 2,500 under 3,600. 3,500 under 4,600. 4,000 under 4,600. 4,000 under 4,600. 5,000 under 4,600. 6,000 under 6,000.   | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22<br>15<br>7<br>1       | 36 26 11 4 21 10 6 2 1                    |          | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1<br>4<br>5<br>3<br>1 |            | 5<br>2<br>2<br>5<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>1 |               | 2 6 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | 1 6            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1<br>7<br>4 |
| 20 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 200. 200 under 400. 400 under 660. 600 under 1,000. 1,500 under 1,500. 2,500 under 2,000. 2,500 under 3,000. 3,000 under 3,500. 3,500 under 3,600. 4,000 under 4,500. 4,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 6,000. 6,000 under 5,000.  | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22<br>15<br>7<br>1       | 36 26 11 4 21 10 6 2 1                    |          | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1<br>4<br>5<br>3<br>1 |            | 5<br>2<br>2<br>5<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>1 |               | 2 6 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | 1 6            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1<br>7<br>4 |
| 20 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 200. 200 under 400. 400 under 660. 600 under 4,000. 1,000 under 1,000. 1,000 under 2,000. 2,000 under 2,000. 2,000 under 2,000. 3,000 under 3,000. 3,000 under 3,000. 3,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 6,000. 6,000 under 6,000. 6,000 under 7,000. 7,000 under 8,000.                                       | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22<br>15<br>7<br>1       | 36 26 11 4 21 10 6 2 1                    |          | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1<br>4<br>5<br>3<br>1 |            | 5<br>2<br>2<br>5<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>1 |               | 2 6 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | 1 6            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1<br>7<br>4 |
| 20 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 200. 200 under 400. 400 under 660. 800 under 1,000. 1,500 under 1,000. 1,500 under 2,000. 2,500 under 2,000. 2,500 under 3,500. 3,500 under 3,500. 4,000 under 3,600. 5,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 8,000 under 6,000. 8,000 under 6,000. 8,000 under 9,000. 8,000 under 9,000. | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22<br>15<br>7<br>1       | 36 26 11 4 21 10 6 2 1                    |          | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1<br>4<br>5<br>3<br>1 |            | 5<br>2<br>2<br>5<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>1 |               | 2 6 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | 1 6            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1<br>7<br>4 |
| 20 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 200. 200 under 660. 600 under 660. 600 under 1,000. 1,500 under 2,000. 2,000 under 2,500. 2,500 under 2,600. 3,500 under 3,500. 3,500 under 3,600. 4,500 under 4,500. 4,500 under 4,000. 4,500 under 6,000. 6,000 under 6,000. 6,000 under 7,000.   | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22<br>15<br>7<br>1       | 36 26 11 4 21 10 6 2 1                    |          | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1<br>4<br>5<br>3<br>1 |            | 5<br>2<br>2<br>5<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>1 |               | 2 6 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | 1 6            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1<br>7<br>4 |
| 20 under 30. 30 under 40. 40 under 50. 50 under 100. 100 under 200. 200 under 400. 400 under 660. 600 under 1,000. 1,500 under 1,000. 1,500 under 2,000. 2,500 under 3,000. 3,000 under 3,500. 3,500 under 3,600. 4,000 under 4,000. 4,000 under 4,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 5,000. 5,000 under 6,000. 6,000 under 6,000. 6,000 under 7,000. 7,000 under 8,000. 8,000 under 9,000. | 64<br>28<br>12<br>15<br>22<br>15<br>7<br>1       | 36 26 11 4 21 10 6 2 1                    |          | 14<br>6<br>7<br>1<br>4<br>5<br>3<br>1 |            | 5 2 2 5 3 4 4 1 1 1                  |               | 2                                       | 1 6            | 4              | 5<br>2<br>1<br>7<br>4 |

Table 6.—Gift tax returns, 1932-43: Number of returns, by taxable status, total gifts before exclusions, net gifts, and tax

#### [Money figures in thousands of dollars]

|  | Nur   | nber of ret  | urns  | Total gifts   |   |   |
|--|---|--|---|---|---|---|
| Calendar year in which gifts were made | Total   | Taxable  | Nontax-<br>able   | before ex-<br>clusions  | Net gifts   | Tax   |
| 1932 (June 7-Dec. 31)                  | 1, 747<br>3, 683<br>9, 270<br>22, 563<br>13, 420<br>13, 695<br>11, 042<br>12, 226<br>15, 623<br>25, 788<br>16, 906<br>16, 987 | 245<br>878<br>2,528<br>8,718<br>3,770<br>4,128<br>3,515<br>3,929<br>4,930<br>8,940<br>4,380<br>4,656 | 1, 502<br>2, 805<br>6, 742<br>13, 845<br>9, 650<br>9, 567<br>7, 527<br>8, 297<br>10, 693<br>16, 848<br>12, 526<br>12, 331 | 81, 389<br>241, 008<br>888, 753<br>2, 130, 514<br>482, 783<br>568, 109<br>399, 773<br>371, 604<br>570, 042<br>1, 081, 482<br>480, 223<br>412, 655 | 17, 879 101, 793 537, 083 1, 196, 001 134, 979 180, 939 138, 801 131, 577 225, 972 484, 319 120, 653 123, 936 | 1, 11<br>8, 94<br>68, 38<br>162, 79<br>15, 66<br>22, 75<br>17, 83<br>18, 70<br>34, 44<br>69, 81<br>24, 66<br>29, 63 |

#### Footnotes for gift tax tables 1-6, pp. 334-342

- <sup>2</sup> Exclusion of \$3,000 is not allowed in the case of gifts of future interest in property.
- <sup>3</sup> The exclusions for charitable, public, and similar gifts are tabulated under "Exclusion of the first \$3,000 of gifts made to any one donee."
- 4 Specific exemption of \$30,000 less the sum of amounts claimed and allowed in prior years is allowed each resident or citizen donor. At the option of the donor, the exemption may be taken in a single year or spread over a period of years.
- Net gifts for prior years (subsequent to June 6, 1932) reported in schedule C, 1943 return, may exceed net gifts actually reported in prior years, for the reason that when a specific exemption of more than \$30,000 has been taken for years prior to 1943 (when a larger exemption was allowable), the aggregate net gifts for prior years as reported in this schedule are increased by the amount taken in excess of \$30,000.
- 6 The tax for prior years (subsequent to June 6,

1 Net gift classes are based on the current year net 1932) may not be the actual tax liability reported for those years because it is a tax computed at current rates, on the aggregate net gifts for prior years adjusted as explained in note 5.

- 7 The amounts of net gifts and tax for prior years tabulated for nontaxable returns (computed as indicated in notes 5 and 6) are probably understated for the reason that schedule C is not always complete on the nontaxable returns.
- 8 Total gift plus tax classes are based on current year total gifts before exclusions plus the current year
- 9 Total gift classes are based on current year total gifts before exclusions.
- 10 Identical donors are individuals who reported for both 1943 and prior years (subsequent to June 6, 1932) gifts other than charitable, public, and similar
- Net gift for prior years classes are based on aggregate net gifts for prior years (subsequent to June 6, 1932) as adjusted in schedule C, 1943 returns, Form 1932) is tabulated from item 5, schedule for compu6, 1932) as adjusted in schedule C, 1943 returns, Form
  tation of tax, p. 1, 1943 return, Form 709. The tax 709, to include the amount in excess of \$30,000 specific
  on net gitts for prior years (subsequent to June 6, exemption taken prior to 1943 (see note 5).

# SYNOPSIS OF FEDERAL TAX LAWS

# AFFECTING THE COMPARABILITY OF HISTORICAL DATA IN STATISTICS OF INCOME

# INCOME TAX RETURNS OF INDIVIDUALS AND FIDUCIARIES

- A. Requirements for filing, personal exemption, credit for dependents, and normal tax rates, 1913-43.
- B. Surtax rates and total surtax, 1913-43.
- Optional tax (individuals only), 1941-43.
- D. Provisions pertaining to capital gains and losses, excess-profits tax, taxes paid to foreign countries, and earned income credit, 1917-43.

# ESTATE TAX RETURNS

E. Requirements for filing, exemption, credits, tax rates, and total estate tax, 1916-44.

# GIFT TAX RETURNS

F. Requirements for filing, exclusions, deductions, tax rates, and total gift tax, 1924-43.

A .- Income tax returns of individuals and fiduciaries: Requirements for filing. tax laws, for the income

|          |   |   | Ci               | tizens and re<br>United                           | sidents of t<br>States | he  |
|----------|---|---|------------------|---|------------------------|---|
|          |   |   | Requ             | nirements for                                     | filing retu            | rns 4   |
|          | Federal tax law <sup>1</sup><br>(Date of enactment)                                     | Income year <sup>2</sup>                |                  | and living<br>susband or                          | husban                 | arried and<br>ing, with<br>d or wife;<br>ries 4 (e) |
|          |   | ,                                       | Net income 7     | Gross income s regardless of amount of net income | Net in-<br>come 7      | Gross income strength of amount of net income       |
| 1        | Act of:<br>Oct. 3, 1913 (Income tax)  | Mar. 1, 1913, through<br>Dec. 31, 1915. | \$3,000          |   | \$3,000                |   |
| 2        | Revenue Act of:<br>1916 (Sept. 8, 1916)<br>1916 as amended and                          | 1916<br>} <sub>1917</sub>               | 3, 000<br>2, 000 |   | 3, 000<br>1, 000       |   |
| 3        | 1917 (Oct. 3, 1917)   | (1918                                   |                  |   | 1,000                  |   |
| 4        | 1918 (Feb. 24, 1919)  | 1919, 1920                              | 1                |   | 1,000                  |   |
| 5        | 1921 (Nov. 23, 1921)  | ` '                                     | 2,000            | \$5,000   | 1,000                  | \$5,000   |
| 6        | 1924 (June 2, 1924)   | 1924                                    | 2, 500           | 5, 000  | 1,000                  | 5,000   |
| 7        | 1926 (Feb. 26, 1926)  | 1925, 1926, 1927                        | 3, 500           | 5,000   | 1,500                  | 5,000   |
|          |   | 1928                                    | 1)               |   |                        | }   |
| 8        | 1928 (May 29, 1928)   | {1929                                   | 3, 500           | 5,000   | 1,500                  | 5,000   |
|          |   | 1930, 1931                              | ])               |   |                        |   |
| 9        | 1932 (June 6, 1932)   | 1932, 1933                              | 2, 500           | 5,000   | 1,000                  | 5,000   |
| 10       | 1934 (May 10, 1934)   | 1934, 1935<br>1936, 1937<br>1938        | 1,000            | 5,000   | 1,000                  | 5,000   |
| 11       | (Internal Revenue Code (Feb. 10,  | 1939                                    | 2,500            | 5, 000  | 1,000                  | 5,000   |
| 12<br>13 | 1939). <sup>31</sup>   Revenue Acts amending Code: <sup>22</sup>   1940 (June 25, 1940) | 1940                                    | (23)<br>(23)     | 2, 000<br>1, 500                                  | (23)<br>(23)           | 800<br>750  |
| 14       | 1942 (Oct. 21, 1942)<br>Current Tax Payment Act,<br>1943 25 (June 9, 1943).             | 1942.<br>1943 <sup>28</sup>             | 22)              | 27 1, 200   | (22)                   | 500   |

Footnotes 5

(References to notes are to

1 There are several statutes which, while they do not pertain to the items set forth in this table, do contain provisions pertaining to related items. References to such statutes are made in footnotes to this table as follows: Note 7(c), par. 6, and note 7(d), par. 5, refer to provisions of the National Industrial Recovery Act; notes 4(e), 7(c), par. 8, and note 9 refer to provisions of the Revenue Act of 1937; the references to notes are to note and to note a provision of tax in case of rate change during a fiscal year, see note 12, p. 348.

3 In general, nonresident aliens are required to flet income tax returns for all taxable income from sources within the United States regardless of amount, unless total tax has been paid at source. last two paragraphs of note 8 refer to the Public Salary Tax Act and the Revenue Act of 1939, respectively.

2 For 1917 and earlier, the income year to which the tax law applies is the calendar year; for 1918 through 1932, the calendar year and fiscal years ending therein; for 1933, the calendar year and fiscal years beginning or ending therein; and for 1934 and later, the calendar year and fiscal years other than that ending Dec. 31.

(b) For 1913 through 1915, a citizen or resident of the United States, whose net income was less than \$20,000 and for whom a full return was made by withholding agent, was not required to file a return.

4 (a) For 1913 through 1917, individuals were required to file returns on a calendar year basis; for 1918 and subsequent years, returns are permitted for a fiscal year other than that ending Dec. 31.

personal exemption, credit for dependents, and normal tax rates under the Federal years 1913 through 1943

| Citize   | ens and res  | idents of                                       | the United States—Cont  | inued                            |  | Nonreside   | nt aliens                                   | ; 1                   |          |
|--|--|---|---|----------------------------------|--|---|---|-----------------------|----------|
| Personal e   | exemption  |   | Normal tax comput   | ation                            | Personal   | exemption   |   |                       | -        |
| Married<br>and<br>living<br>with<br>husband<br>or wife;<br>head of<br>family | Single;<br>married<br>and not<br>living<br>with<br>husband<br>or wife;<br>not head<br>of family;<br>fiduci-<br>aries * | Credit<br>for<br>each<br>de-<br>pend-<br>ent 10 | Net income subject to<br>normal tax <sup>11</sup> —por-<br>tion taxed at each<br>rate                             | Rate<br>(per-<br>cent) 12        | Married<br>and<br>living<br>with<br>husband<br>or wife;<br>head of<br>family | Single;<br>married<br>and not<br>living<br>with<br>husband<br>or wife;<br>not head<br>of family | Oredi<br>for<br>each<br>de-<br>pend-<br>ent | mal<br>tax<br>rate    |          |
| ** <b>\$4,</b> 000   | 18 \$3,000   |   | All   | 1                                |  |   |   | 1                     | - 1      |
| 4, 000   | 3,000  |   | All   | 2                                | \$4,000  | <b>#0</b> 000   |   | {                     |          |
| 2,000  | 1,000  | \$200   | (First \$2,000<br>Amount over \$2,000   | 2                                | 34,000   | \$3,000   |   | 2 2                   | 2        |
| 2, 000   | 1,000  |   | First \$4,000   | 2<br>4<br>6<br>12                | (14)   | (14)  | (14)  | 12                    | 3        |
| 2,000  | 1,000  | 900   | 1 F 1 PST \$4.000   | 4                                | (19)   | (14)  |   |                       | 4        |
| 2, 500   | 1,000  | 400   | Amount over \$4,000<br>First \$4,000  | 8<br>16 4                        | K '' [   | ` ′   | (14)  | 8                     | ∭        |
| ,  |  | - 13  | (First \$4,000  | 16 8<br>2                        | 1,000  | 1,000   | (17)  | 18 8                  | 5        |
| 2, 500   | 1,000  | 400   | Second \$4,000<br>Amount over \$8,000   | 4<br>6                           | 1,000  | 1,000   | (17)  | 14 6                  | 6        |
| 3, 500   | 1,500  | 400   | Second \$4,000<br>Amount over \$8,000   | 1½<br>3<br>5                     | 1, 500   | 1, 500  | (17)  | 18 5                  | 7        |
| 3, 500   | 1, 500   | 400   | First \$4,000<br>Second \$4,000<br>A mount over \$8,000<br>First \$4,000<br>Second \$4,000<br>Amount over \$8,000 | 11/2<br>3<br>5<br>19 1/2<br>19 2 | 1, 500<br>1, 500   | 1, 500<br>1, 500  | (17)  | 18 5<br>18 4          | 8        |
| 2, 500   | 1,000  |   | First \$4,000   | 1½<br>3<br>5<br>4                | 1,500  | 1, 500  | (17)  | 18 5                  |          |
| 2, 500   | 1,000  | 14.   | Amount over \$4,000   | 8                                | 1,000  | 1,000   | (17)  | 19 8                  | 9        |
|  | ·  | 400   | All   | 4.                               | 20 1, 000  | 1,000<br>20 1,000   | (17)<br>(20)                                | 18 4<br>20 10         | }10      |
| 2, 500   | 1,000  | 400   | All   | 4                                | 20 1,000   | 20 1, 000   | (20)  | <sup>20</sup> 10      | 11       |
| 2, 000<br>1, 500   | 800<br>750   | 400<br>400                                      | All   | 24 4<br>4                        | <sup>20</sup> 800<br><sup>20</sup> 750                                       | 20 800<br>20 750  | (20)<br>(20)                                | 20 24 15<br>20 27 1/2 | 12<br>13 |
| 1, 200   | 500  | 350 A   | All   | 6                                | 20 500   | 20 500  | (20)  | 20 30                 | 13       |

for table A

the footnotes of this synopsis)

(c) For 1821 and subsequent years, cluzens deriving a large percentage of their gross income from sources within a possession of the United States are required to file returns for all income derived from sources within the United States, or from sources within or without the United States, received within the

(d) For 1925 through 1942, citizens who are non-residents of the United States for more than six months of the year are not required to report earned income from sources without the United States, and are not required to file returns unless that was income or not income available of earned their gross income or net income, exclusive of earned income from sources without the United States,

the footnotes of this synopsis)

(c) For 1921 and subsequent years, citizens deriving a large percentage of their gross income from sources within a possession of the United States are required to file returns for all income derived from sources within the United States, or from sources within the United States received within the United States received within the United States, regardless of amount.

(d) For 1925 through 1942, citizens who are non-residents of the United States for more than six months of the year are not required to report earned income from sources without the United States, regardless of amount.

(d) For 1925 through 1942, citizens who are non-residents of the United States for more than six months of the year are not required to report earned income from sources without the United States, regardless of amount.

(a) For 1932 and subsequent years, (1) the exclusion from gross income of earned income from sources within the United States, regardless of amount.

(2) the compensation of resident alien employees of foreign governments is excluded from gross income under certain conditions. See section 116(h), Revenue Act of 1936, which subsection (h) was added to section 116, Revenue Act of 1934, by Public, No. 374, Seventy-fourth Congress, and which is retroactive, subject to the statutory period of limitation.

(e) For 1936 and prior years, income from an estate income from sources without the United States, or trust taxable to the fiduciary is required to be equals or exceeds the amount indicated in this table under "Requirements for filing returns," Beginning 1943 the foregoing provisions apply only where the

# STATISTICS OF INCOME FOR 1943, PART 1 Footnotes for table A-Continued

(References to notes are to the footnotes of this synopsis)

ments for filing being the same as for a single person, except that a return is required for every estate or trust of which any beneficiary is a nonresident alien. Beginning with 1937, all income from an estate or trust is required to be reported on the fiduciary income tax return. Form 1041, the requirements for filing continuing to be the same as for a single person, with the exception previously mentioned, and with the additional requirement, for 1938 and subsequent years, that a return must be filed by every trust having a net income of \$100 or more.

- (f) Beginning with the tax year 1941, members of until the 15th day of the sixth month following the month in which they return to the United States (but not beyond June 15, 1948).
- (g) For 1943, under the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943, described in note 25, certain individuals are required to file returns even though their gross income is below the amounts specified in the table. Included in this group are persons who were liable for a tax on 1942 income and persons claiming a refund on account of overwithholding of tax or overpayment of tax on a declaration.
- 5 The personal exemption for 1913 through 1923 is determined by the status of the taxpayer on the last day of the taxable year; for 1924 and subsequent years, if the taxpayer's status changes during the taxable year, the exemption is apportioned according to the number of months during which the taxpayer occupied each status, except that for individuals filing Form 1040A, the marital status is determined for 1941, as of December 31, and for 1942-43 as of July 1, without proration.

For 1921 and subsequent years, citizens deriving a large percentage of their gross income from sources within a possession of the United States are allowed the same exemption as nonresident aliens.

- 6 Husband and wife each file a return unless combined income is included in joint return. (Also, see note 27.)
- 7 Net income means the excess of gross income (see note 8) over deductions as defined in the various revenue acts. Net income of fiduciary income tax returns, 1937 and subsequent years, means net income taxable to the fiduciary. The variations in certain deductions allowable in computing net income,
- (a) Amortization of buildings, machinery, equipment, or other facilities constructed or acquired on or after Apr. 6, 1917, for the production of articles contributing to the prosecution of the war is included to a reasonable amount in business deductions, for any taxable year ending before Mar. 3, 1924. Amortization of the cost of emergency facilities, completed or acquired after Dec. 31, 1939, and certified to be necessary for national defense, may be written off, subject to certain qualifications and limitations, subject to certain quantizations and immations, over a 60-month period instead of through the ordinary depreciation and obsolescence deduction based on estimated useful life. (The amount of the amortization deduction is not shown in this report, this implied in the amount deducted in arriving being included in the amount deducted in arriving at net profit or loss from business.) If the 60-month period extends beyond the date on which the facility ceased to be needed (or beyond Sept. 29, 1945, the date proclaimed by the President as ending the emergency period), the taxpayer may elect to use an amortization period shorter than 60 months, ending on the date the facility ceased to be needed (or on Sept. 29, 1945, whichever is the earlier).
- (b) Contributions or gifts made by individuals within the year to corporations, associations, or which such individual o societies, organized and operated exclusively for religious, charitable, scientific, or educational pursuock of the corporation.

fiduciary return of income, Form 1041, the require- poses, to an amount not in excess of 15 percent of the taxable net income computed without the benefit of the deduction for such contributions (and, for 1942 and 1943, also without benefit of the deduction for medical expenses), are, in general, deductible for 1917 and subsequent years. For 1938 and thereafter, such contributions are deductible only if actually paid during the taxable year; for 1938 and 1939, only if paid to or for the use of domestic organizations; and for 1940 through 1943, only if paid to or for the use of organizations created in or under the laws of the United States or any possession thereof.

Section 214 of the Revenue Act of 1924 introduces the provision that, if in the taxable year and in each postpone the filing of returns and payment of tax of the 10 preceding taxable years, the amount of charitable contributions (plus, for 1928 and thereafter, the amount of income taxes paid during such year in respect of preceding taxable years), exceeded 90 percent of the taxpayer's net income for each such year, the full amount of such contributions or gifts is deductible.

> (c) Losses: For 1913 and subsequent years, losses actually sustained during the taxable year, incurred in trade or business or arising from fire, storm, or shipwreck; other casualty or theft, 1916 and thereafter; and war losses occurring after Dec. 7, 1941, not compensated by insurance or otherwise, are deduct-

For 1916 and 1917, losses sustained during the taxable year in transactions entered into for profit but not connected with trade or business, were deductible only to the extent of the aggregate income from such sources; for 1918 and subsequent years. such losses are, in general, deductible. Certain variations and exceptions are outlined in the following paragraphs:

Beginning 1919, losses sustained by virtue of securities becoming worthless during the taxable year are deductible. For treatment of losses due to securities, which are capital assets, becoming worthless, for 1938 and thereafter, see table D, pages 356-357.

For 1921 and thereafter, losses resulting from the sale of securities after Nov. 23, 1921, are not deductible when substantially identical securities are acquired or reacquired within 30 days before or after such transaction.

For 1924 and subsequent years, loss on the sale or exchange of capital assets is deductible as shown in table D, pages 356-357. (For method of treating such loss in arriving at the net income as tabulated, see pages 116-120.)

For 1932 and 1933, losses from sales or exchanges of stocks or bonds, other than capital assets, and other than bonds issued by a government or political subdivision thereof, are allowed only to the extent of the gain from such sales or exchanges, except that persons dealing in securities or engaged in the banking business were allowed to deduct the full amount of such losses. The Revenue Act of 1932 allowed the excess of such losses to be carried forward and applied against such gains for the next succeeding year, but this carry-over was nullified by section 218(b). National Industrial Recovery Act; section 218(d) of this Act also provided that no part of any loss dis-allowed to a partnership should be allowed as a deduction to a member of such partnership in computing net income for 1933.

For 1934 and subsequent years, losses from wagering transactions are allowable, but only to the extent of the gains from such transactions; losses are not deductible when resulting from sales or exchanges of property, directly or indirectly, between members of a family or, except in case of distributions in liquidation, between an individual and a corporation in which such individual owns, directly or indirectly, more than 50 percent in value of the outstanding

## Footnotes for table A-Continued

(References to notes are to the footnotes of this synopsis)

For 1937 and subsequent years, losses are not deductible when resulting from sales or exchanges of profits and income derived from any source whatproperty between (1) a grantor and a fiduciary of any trust, (2) a fiduciary of a trust and a fiduciary of another trust, if the same person is a grantor with respect to each trust, and (3) a fiduciary of a trust and a beneficiary of such trust.

For 1942 and thereafter, losses from involuntary conversion of property are deductible in cases of business property or property the acquisition of which was a transaction entered into for profit. (See "Definition of capital assets," income years 1942, 1943, table D, pp. 356-357.)

(d) The provisions pertaining to net loss for prior year (excess of deductions over gross income with certain adjustments and limitations) are summarized in the following paragraphs:

A net loss for any taxable year beginning after Oct 31, 1918, and ending prior to Jan. 1, 1920, may be deducted from the net income of the preceding year, a redetermination of taxes for the preceding year being made. When the net loss exceeds the net income for the preceding year, the amount of such excess is to be deducted from the net income of the succeeding taxable year.

There is no provision for deduction of net loss

A net loss sustained in any year, 1921 through 1929, may be deducted from the net income of the succeed ing taxable year, and if such loss exceeds the net income of the first succeeding year, the amount of such excess is to be allowed in the second succeeding year. A net loss for 1930 may be carried forward and deducted from the net income of the first succeeding year only. (The prior year loss is not deducted from net income as tabulated in Statistics of Income.)

There is no provision for deduction of a net loss incurred in 1931 through 1938. (The Revenue Act of 1932 provides for a net loss carry-over to the first succeeding year only, but this provision was never in effect, being nullified by section 218(a), National Industrial Recovery Act.)

The Internal Revenue Code, as amended by section 211 of the Revenue Act of 1939, provides that individuals engaged in trade or business, incurring a net operating loss in any taxable year beginning on or after Jan. 1, 1939, may carry such loss forward and apply it with certain adjustments and limita tions, as a deduction against the net income of the first succeeding year. The excess loss, if any, that is not absorbed by the net income of the first succeeding year, may be carried forward and deducted from the net income of the second succeeding year. The 1942 law provides that the "net operating loss" may be carried back to the two preceding taxable years (but not to any taxable year beginning before Jan. 1, 1941) and be included in computing the net operating loss deduction for such preceding taxable year. The net operating loss for any taxable year which is not used as a carry-back may be carried forward to the two succeeding taxable years. See sec. 153, Revenue Act of 1942, amendatory of sec. 122(b) of the Code. (The "net operating loss" deduction, reported and tabulated in other deductions for 1940 and thereafter, is only the amount carried forward.)

(e) For 1942 and thereafter, section 23(v) of the Code provides the deduction for amortizable bond premium against interest income and section 23(x) introduces the allowance of medical, dental, etc., expenses paid during the taxable year and not compensated for by insurance or otherwise, to the extent that such expenses exceed 5 percent of net income computed without regard to these expenses, and with the further limitation that the deduction for medical, etc., expenses cannot exceed, in the case of the head of a family or persons filing a joint return, \$2,500; and in the case of all other individuals, \$1,250.

ever except such as is specifically exempted from income tax.

The following items, under certain conditions, are among the exclusions from gross income:

1913 and thereafter-

Proceeds of life insurance policies paid upon the death of the insured.

Wholly tax-exempt interest.

The value of property acquired by gift, bequest. devise, or descent.

Amounts received as return of premiums paid under life insurance, endowment, or annuity contracts

1913 through 1938-

Compensation of all officers and employees of a State or political subdivision thereof, including public school teachers, if not paid by the United States. (For 1939 and thereafter, see next to last paragraph of this note.)

1918 and thereafter-

Compensation for injuries or sickness.

So much of the amount received during World War I by a person in the military or naval forces of the United States as salary or com-pensation in any form from the United States, for active service in such forces, as did not exceed \$3,500.

1921 and thereafter-

Amounts received as compensation, family allotments and allowances, or as pensions from the United States for service of beneficiary or another in military or naval forces of the United States in time of war.

Rental value of a dwelling house furnished to a minister of the gospel.

Receipts of shipowners' mutual protection and indemnity associations.

1922 through 1931-

So much of the amount received as dividend or interest from domestic building and loan associations, operated exclusively for purpose of making loans to members, as does not exceed

1925 through 1943-

Earned income from sources without the United

1928 through 1938-

Salaries of teachers in Alaska and Hawaii, if not paid by the United States. 1932 and thereafter-

Compensation of employees of foreign governments.

1938 and thereafter-

Income exempt under treaty.

1940 and thereafter— Compensation of employees of the Commonwealth of the Philippines. 1942 and thereafter-

Disability pay for sickness or injury resulting from active service in the armed forces of any

Salaries received by noncommissioned personnel of the military or naval forces for active service during 1942, to the extent of \$250 if single, or \$300 if married or the head of family; and \$1,500 of such service pay received by commissioned or noncommissioned personnel during 1943. (Revenue Act of 1945 (enacted Nov. 8, 1945) and Public Law 384, Eightleth Congress, excludes all service pay of noncommissioned personnel retroactive to the income year 1941, but this exclusion is not reflected in the salary tabulated in Statistics of Income.)

The two following paragraphs pertain to certain salaries which are to be included in gross income, as indicated:

Prior to 1932 the taxability of the salaries of Federal judges was the subject of considerable litigation. The Revenue Act of 1932 made the salaries of Federal

## Footnotes for table A-Continued

(References to notes are to the footnotes of this synopsis)

Judges who took office after June 6, 1932, taxable. By the Public Salary Tax Act of 1939, the salaries of Federal judges who took office on or before June 6, 1932, were made taxable, as well as the compensation for personal services rendered after Dec. 31, 1938, as an officer or employee of a State, or any political subdivision thereof or any agency or instrumentality of any one or more of the foregoing. (See exclusion for 1913 through 1938 above.)

Section 107 of the Code, added by the Revenue Act of 1939, provides that, for any taxable year beginning after Dec. 31, 1938, in the case of compensation (a) received from personal services rendered by an individual in his individual capacity, or as a member of a partnership and covering a period of five calendar years or more from the beginning to the completion of such services, (b) paid (or not less than 95 percent of which is paid for 1939 and 1940; 75 percent for 1941) only on the completion of such services, and (c) required to be included in gross income of such individuals, the tax attributable to such compensation shall not be greater than the aggregate of taxes which would have been paid had the income been received in equal portions in each of the years in the period. For 1942 and 1943, practically the same provision obtains, except that the time element is reduced to 3 years and the portion of income is increased to 80 percent. (For method of tabulating compensation thus reported, see pp. 77-78 of this volume.)

- For 1937, certain trusts which permitted accumulation of income were not allowed the exemption; for 1938 and subsequent years, a credit of \$100 against the net income of a trust was substituted for the exemption.
- 10 The credit allowed individuals for each depend ent, under 18 years of age or incapable of self-support because mentally or physically defective, is determined by the number of dependents actually receiv mined by the number of dependents actually receiving their chief support from the taxpayer on the last duy of the taxable year, for 1931 and prior years; for 1932 and subsequent years, if the taxpayer's status changes during the taxable year, the credit for dependent is convertioned according to the number of pendents is apportioned according to the number of pendeuts is apportioned according to the number of months during which the taxpayer occupied cach status, except in the case of taxpayers filing Form 1040A for 1941 and subsequent years, for which see table C, note 3, p. 355. For 1941 and thereafter if the taxpayer is head of a family wholly by reason of one or more dapendents for whom he would be entitled. or more dependents for whom he would be entitled to credit, such credit is disallowed with respect to one such dependent.

The credit for dependents is not applicable to citizens deriving a large percentage of their gross income from sources within a possession of the United States, 1921 and subsequent years.

- ii The normal tax rates are applied to the balance of net income after deducting the following credits (however, for optional tax paid in lieu of normal tax and surtax for 1941-43, see table C):
- (a) Personal exemption. (For nonresident aliens, see note 14.)
- (b) Credit allowed individuals for dependents, 1917 and subsequent years. (For nonresident aliens, sec note 14.)
- (c) Dividends on stock of domestic corporations, 1913 through 1935 (other than (1) corporations deriving a large percentage of their gross income from ources within a possession of the United States, 1921 through 1935, (2) China Trade Act corporations, 1922 through 1935, and (3) corporations exempt from tax. 1932 through 1935), and dividends on stock of foreign corporations receiving a certain amount of income from sources within the United States, 1913 through 1933. (For 1936 and subsequent years, no dividends are deductible except those on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations which are deductible in their entirety for 1940 and 1941, and to the extent that they are subject to surtax only, for 1942 and 1943.)

- (d) Income upon which the tax has been paid or withheld for payment at the source, 1913 through 1917. (This amount was not tabulated separately in Statistics of Income.)
- (c) Interest on obligations issued after September 1, 1917 and before Mar. 1, 1941, by the United States or any instrumentality thereof (other than Treasury notes of the National defense series) to the extent that such interest is required to be included in gross income. (See Public Debt Act of 1941, sec. 4.)
- (f) The earned income credit allowed individuals. (See table D, p. 358.)
- 12 The rate of tax is that for the calendar year. In the case of a rate change during a fiscal year ending in the period 1918 through 1933, the tax was prorated on the basis of the number of months in each year (tax was prorated for fiscal years ending in 1919, 1922, 1924, 1925, 1929, 1930, and 1932); for fiscal years beginning in the period Jan. 1, 1934, through July 1, 1941, the rate is that for the year in which the taxable year begins; for fiscal years beginning in 1941 and ending in 1942 after June 30, a tentative tax is computed under the law in effect for each tax year and the two tentative taxes are then prorated according to the number of days before July 1, 1942, and after June 30, 1942; for fiscal years beginning in 1943 and ending in 1944, the tentative tax method is also employed and the tentative taxes are prorated according to the number of days before Jan. 1, 1944, and the number of days after Dec. 31, 1943.
- 12 No provision for head of family in Revenue Act of 1913. Exemption prorated for period Mar. 1, through Dec. 31, 1913.
- 14 For 1918 through 1920, nonresident aliens are allowed the personal exemption (\$1,000 if single; \$2,000 if married) and the credit for each dependent (\$200), only when the country of which the nonresident alien is a citizen either imposes no income tax or allows similar credit to citizens of the United States not residing within such foreign country. (See notes 17, 18, and 20.)
- 18 For net incomes in excess of \$5,000, personal exemption is \$2,000, but in no case shall the tax exceed that computed with an exemption of \$2,500 by more than the amount of net income in excess of
- 16 Tax for 1923, computed at these rates, was reduced 25 percent by credit or refund under section 1200(a), Revenue Act of 1924.
- 17 For 1921 through 1935, if nonresident alien is resident of Canada or Mexico, \$400 credit is allowed for each dependent. For limitation applicable to 1936 and subsequent years, see note 20.
- 18 For 1922 through 1933, alien residents of Canada or Mexico, on net income attributable to compensation for labor or personal services actually performed in the United States, received benefit of normal tax rate provided for United States citizens. For 1934 and 1935, the rate of normal tax is the same for all individuals, both resident and nonresident. (See
- 19 These reduced rates for 1929 are provided by Joint Resolution of Congress, No. 133, approved by the President Dec. 16, 1929.
- 20 Beginning 1936, the returns of nonresident aliens are divided into two groups—(1) those who are engaged in trade or business within the United States or have an office or place of business therein at any time within the taxable year, and (2) those who do not have an office or place of business within the United States.

For 1936 through 1943 the aliens described in (1) above are allowed the deductions and credits, and are subject to the same tax rates upon their net income from sources within the United States as are

## Footnotes for table A-Continued

(References to notes are to the footnotes of this synopsis)

provided for citizens of the United; States. T(The | To relieve the burden on taxpayers of the payment returns of these aliens are included in Statistics of Income for all years )

The returns of aliens described in (2) above are not included in Statistics of Income for 1936 and subsequent years.

The exemptions shown are those used in computing the normal tax and surtax on the net income of aliens having a specified amount of gross income, the sum of the normal tax and surtax on net income being compared with a tax on gross income at the being compared with a tax on gross medine at the rate shown. Whichever is the larger of these two amounts is the tax liability. Residents of Mexico only are permitted to claim the credit for dependents in computing the tax at normal tax and surtax rates. For variations in these general statements and for provisions pertaining to these aliens including residents of certain countries with which treaties are in effect, see Supplement H of the Revenue Act of 1936 and corresponding provisions of later acts.

- 21 The Internal Revenue Code, approved Feb. 10, 1939, which was enacted as law, codified certain general laws of the United States and parts of such laws relating exclusively to internal revenue, in force on Jan. 2, 1939, and repealed all such laws and parts of laws codified therein to the extent that they related exclusively to internal revenue, as of the effective dates of the respective corresponding provisions of the Code.
- 22 Revenue Acts passed after Feb. 10, 1939 (the date of the enactment of the Internal Revenue Code) are not complete taxing statutes in themselves, but consist of amendments to the Code. There is no one effective date for all provisions of each act; some of the provisions are retroactive, others apply to the current tax period, while still others are effective for future taxable years.
- 23 Beginning 1940, net income of individuals is no longer a criterion for filing returns. However, as indicated in note 4(e), net income continues to be a criterion for determining whether certain fiduciaries must file a return.
- 24 For 1940 there is superimposed upon the total tax, the defense tax, which is 10 percent of the total tax. The defense tax is computed on the total tax before applying any credits, and is limited to an amount not more than 10 percent of the net income in excess of the total tax computed without regard to the defense tax.
- <sup>35</sup> The Current Tax Payment Act of 1943 provided for current collection of the income and victory tax liability of individuals, beginning July 1, 1943, through an increase in the rate of withholding upon salaries and wages and through payments on declara-tions of estimated tax. The withholding tax rate provided by earlier legislation (see note 26(e)) was increased to 20 percent of the excess of each wage payment over the withholding exemption allowable, effective for the first complete payroll period after July 1, 1943. Persons receiving more than specified amounts of income not subject to withholding were required to file, on or before Sept. 15, 1943, a declara-tion of estimated tax for the taxable year. After deducting the estimated tax to be withheld and the payments on 1942 tax, payment of the remaining estimated tax was due in two installments. The first installment was to be paid at the time of filing the declaration and the second on Dec. 15, 1943. Amounts actually withheld upon wages and those paid on account of the declaration, as well as payments on the 1942 tax, are considered payments on the total income and victory tax liability on the complete return for 1943.

As to the effect of this act upon the requirements for filing an individual income tax return, see note of 2 years' taxes in 1 year, provision was made for cancellation of part or all of the smaller year's tax liability of those individuals who were subject to tax on both 1942 and 1943 incomes. The forgiveness features, in general, are:

(a) If the smaller year's tax is \$50 or less, it is

all forgiven.
(b) If the smaller year's tax is more than \$50, but not over \$66.67, the forgiveness is a flat \$50.
(c) If the smaller year's tax is more than \$66.67, the forgiveness is 75 percent of such tax.

(d) In the case of an individual who was in the active service of the military or naval forces the active service of the initiaty of mayor inces of the United States or any of the other United Nations at any time during the taxable year 1942 or 1943, and whose tax liability for 1942 is greater than the tax for 1943, the forgiveness is increased by recomputing the 1942 tax to eliminate as much of its excess over the 1943 tax as is due to earned net income. This may result in the 1942 tax as recomputed being no greater than the 1943 tax.

26 The provisions shown for the income year 1943 in this table relate generally to income tax and not to victory tax. A summary of the victory tax provisions

- (a) For taxable years beginning in 1943, the Revenue Act of 1942 imposes a victory tax at the rate of 5 percent of the victory tax net income after a specific specient of the victory tax her income anter a specime exemption of \$624, regardless of marital status. An exemption of \$1,248 is allowed a husband and wife filing a joint return unless the victory tax her income of one spouse is less than \$624 in which case the total exemption is limited to \$624 plus the victory tax the trigory of the property of the victory of the property of the victory of the property of the victory of tax net income of such spouse. Against the victory tax ac trincome of such spouse. Against the victory tax a credit is allowed in the amount of 25 percent of the tax (but not over \$500) in the case of a single perthe tax (but not over \$500) in the case of a single person or married person not living with husband or wife, and 40 percent of the tax (but not over \$1,000) for a married person living with husband or wife or for the head of a family, plus, in each case, 2 percent of the tax (but not more than \$100) for each dependent with respect to whom a credit is allowable for income tax purposes. The amount of victory tax (hefore tax credits) is limited to the excess of 90 persons. (before tax credits) is limited to the excess of 90 percent of net income over the tax imposed by Chapter I of the Code.
- (b) Victory tax net income differs from income tax net income in that it does not include (1) partially tax-exempt interest, (2) gain or loss from sale or exchange of capital assets, nor (3) certain compensa-tion for injuries or sickness. It differs also in that the only deductions allowed in its determination are expenses incurred in trade or business or in the production of income.
- (c) No credit for dependents is allowed for victory tax purposes other than the tax credit described in paragraph (a) of this note.
- (d) Provision was made for collection of tax at source on wages by requiring employers to deduct and withhold from wages paid on or after Jan. 1, 1943, a tax equal to 5 percent of the excess of each wage payment over the withholding deduction allowable, The rate of withholding tax was increased beginning July 1, 1943, as indicated in note 25.
- (e) The victory tax is not applicable to nonresident aliens who are not engaged in trade or business in the United States, except in case of aliens (other than residents of Canada) deriving more than \$15,400 gross income from sources within the United States.
- 27 For 1943 only, in cases where the combined gross income of husband and wife is below \$1,200 but one spouse has gross income in excess of \$624, a return is required to be filed by such spouse on account of the victory tax. (Also, see note 4(g).)

Net income subject to surtax 1

Act of Oct. 3, 1913 (Income tax)

Income year 1916 1916

Income year 1917

Income years 1918 through 1920

1918

Act of 1921 Income year 1921

Revenue Act of-

Equal-ing

Income years Mar. 1, 1913, through Dec. 31,

Thousands of dollars

Rate (per-cent)

Total surtax 2

Rate (per-cent)

Total surtax 2

Rate (per-cent)

Total surtax 2

Rate .(per-cent)

Total surtax

B .- Income tax returns of individuals and fiduciaries: Surlax rates and total

| T 1<br>through 19. | PAR<br>1918 | 1943,<br>years | INCOME FOR 1943, PAR vs for the income years 1918 | l tax laws fo | surfax under the Federal tax laws for the income years 1918 through 1948 |
|--------------------|-------------|----------------|---|---------------|--|
|--------------------|-------------|----------------|---|---------------|--|

|   |                  | <del></del> _          |   |                 |
|---|------------------|------------------------|---|-----------------|
| 55555555555555555555555555555555555555  |                  | Rate<br>(per-<br>cent) | Incom   |                 |
| \$15<br>\$15<br>\$20<br>\$40<br>\$60<br>\$60<br>\$60<br>\$60<br>\$60<br>\$60<br>\$60<br>\$6 |                  | Total<br>surtax        | 1921<br>Income years 1922,<br>1923 3  |                 |
| 6664668888778888833888338882388882228888888888  |                  | Rate<br>(per-<br>cent) | Incon   | -               |
| \$20<br>\$20<br>\$20<br>\$20<br>\$20<br>\$20<br>\$20<br>\$20                                |                  | Total<br>surtax        | 1924<br>Income year 1924  |                 |
| 888888888888888888888888888888888888888   |                  | Rate<br>(per-<br>cent) | Incom<br>thro<br>Act<br>Incom<br>thro   | Reve            |
| \$20<br>\$20<br>\$20<br>\$20<br>\$20<br>\$20<br>\$20<br>\$20<br>\$20<br>\$20                |                  | Total<br>surtax        | 1926 Income years 1925 through 1927 Act of 1928 Income years 1928 Income years 1928 | Revenue Act of- |
| 55555555555555555555555555555555555555  |                  | Rate<br>(per-<br>cent) | ·   |                 |
| \$15<br>\$15<br>\$15<br>\$15<br>\$15<br>\$15<br>\$15<br>\$15                                |                  | Total<br>surtax        | 1932<br>Income years 1932,<br>1933  |                 |
| \$                | 4                | Rate<br>(per-<br>cent) | Incom   |                 |
| 150<br>150<br>150<br>150<br>150<br>150<br>150<br>150  | \$40             | Total<br>surtax        | 1934<br>Income years 1934,<br>1935  |                 |
| &9383233233235555555555555555555555555555   | ————'<br>∞ No H= |                        |   |                 |

|   | ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,   | 166666 <del>6</del> 6666   |   |           | , ,        |            |            |           | <u> </u>         | <del></del>      | _, |
|---|---|--|---|-----------|------------|------------|------------|-----------|------------------|------------------|----|
|   |   |  | ·   |           |            | П          |            |           |                  |                  | -  |
| 290,0   | - <u> </u>  |  |   | 69        |            |            | -          |           |                  |                  |    |
| 250<br>310<br>370<br>430<br>430<br>550<br>550<br>550<br>550<br>050<br>050<br>050<br>050<br>050  | 1800 8800 8800 1300 1300 1300 1300 1300   | 500 380 380 560 560 560 560 560 560 560 560 560 56                           | 488888888888888888888888888888888888888                     | \$20      | <u>: :</u> |            | <u> </u>   |           | <u> </u>         | <u>: : :</u>     |    |
|   |   |  |   | -         |            | 11         |            | 1         | ; ;              | 111              |    |
|   |   |  |   | - }       | 1          | 11         | ; ;        | : 1       | 11               |                  |    |
| 13<br>13<br>13<br>13<br>13<br>13<br>13<br>13<br>13<br>13<br>13<br>13<br>13<br>1   | ) U U U U U U U U U U U 4 4 4 4   | **************   |   | <u>-:</u> | 1.1.       | <u>; ;</u> |            | -         | <del>! !</del> - | <del>! ! !</del> | _  |
|   |   |  |   | Ì         |            |            | 1          |           | : :              | $\mathbb{H}$     |    |
| 1,600<br>1,760<br>1,760<br>1,840<br>1,920<br>2,000<br>4,500<br>7,500<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11,000<br>11, | سرسوسوسوسوس   |  |   | 50        | 1          | 1 1        | 1 1        | ; ;       | : :              |                  |    |
| 000000000000000000000000000000000000000   | 5200 2200 2200 2200 2200 2200 2200 2200   | 755 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55                                      | 31861412086<br>686646868                                    | \$20      | 11         | 11         |            |           | <u>; ;</u>       | <u> </u>         | _  |
|   |   |  |   |           |            |            |            |           |                  | į                |    |
|   |   |  |   |           |            |            |            |           |                  |                  |    |
| 63 65 65 65 65 65 65 65 65 65 65 65 65 65   | 888811111111111   | 72222222222  | ××××××××××××××××××××××××××××××××××××××                      | ∞ 5·      | 010        | 4.4        | 44.4       | <u></u> ω |                  |                  | _  |
|   |   |  |   |           |            |            |            |           |                  |                  |    |
|   |   |  |   |           |            |            |            |           |                  |                  |    |
| 10, 1<br>10, 5<br>11, 8<br>11, 8<br>11, 8<br>11, 8<br>11, 8<br>12, 3<br>25, 8<br>80, 8<br>80, 8<br>80, 8<br>126, 8<br>80, 8<br>172, 8<br>297, 8<br>297, 8<br>297, 8<br>297, 8<br>297, 8   | , 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1,  | 2, 340<br>2, 820<br>3, 060<br>3, 540<br>3, 780<br>3, 780<br>3, 780<br>3, 780 | 980<br>140<br>300<br>620<br>100                             | 660       | 88         | 25         | 210        | 150       | 210              | 22.5             |    |
| 30000000000000000000000000000000000000  | 1860<br>520<br>540<br>660<br>660<br>660   | 4 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6                                      |   |           |            |            |            |           |                  |                  | _  |
|   | •   |  |   |           |            |            |            |           |                  | }                |    |
| <b>44444488888888</b>   | 4146883333333333333333333333333333333333  | 26<br>27<br>28<br>28<br>28   | 15143111  | , eo a    | ) ~1 C     | n<br>non   | ಲೀ ಲಾ      | 470       |                  |                  |    |
| 666664466866666666666666666666666666666   | 21098765543210  |  |   |           |            |            |            |           |                  |                  | -  |
| ့ ဆွေ့မ   |   |  |   |           |            |            |            |           |                  | -                |    |
| 183, 283, 283, 283, 283, 283, 283, 283, 2   | 10<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>12<br>12<br>12<br>13<br>14<br>14<br>14<br>16  | ಜ.≉.ಕಿ.ದಿ.ದಿ.ದಿ.ರಿ.ರಿಯ   | . તે તે તે તે લે લે લે લે લે લે                             |           |            |            |            |           |                  |                  |    |
|   | 290<br>910<br>550<br>210<br>890<br>290<br>210<br>590<br>310<br>310<br>310<br>310<br>310<br>310<br>310<br>310<br>310<br>31 |  | 310<br>310<br>310<br>310<br>310<br>310<br>310<br>310<br>310 | 386       | 555        | 350        | 240<br>290 | 215       | 358              | 2662             |    |
|   |   |  |   |           |            |            |            |           |                  |                  | -  |
|   |   |  |   |           |            |            |            |           |                  |                  |    |
|   |   |  |   |           |            |            |            |           |                  |                  |    |
|   |   |  |   |           |            |            |            |           |                  |                  | ~  |
|   |   | <del></del>  |   |           |            |            |            |           |                  | <del></del> -    | -  |
|   |   |  |   |           |            |            |            |           |                  | : '              |    |

B.—Income tax returns of individuals and fiduciaries: Surtax rates and total surtax under the Federal tax laws for the income years 1913 through 1943—Continued

| Exceed-<br>ing  Thousar   | Equal-<br>ing   | Income   | nd 1938   |   |   | · <u></u>   | 1   |  |   |
|---|---|--|---|---|---|---|---|--|---|
|   | ı   | Interna<br>C   | years 1936<br>1938 and<br>Revenue<br>ode<br>year 1939   |   | 940<br>year 1940  |   | 941<br>year 1941  | Income years 1942, 1943  Rate 4 (per-  |   |
|   |   | Rate 4   | Total   | Rate 4 (per-  | Total   | Rate 4  | Total<br>surtax   |  |   |
| 0 2 4 5 6 7.5 8 10 12 12.5 13 14 15 16 18 20 22 24 44 48 82 52 54 44 46 66 87 72 75 76 880 82 84 86 88 90 92 94 96 98 100 150 | 2 4 5 6 7. 5 8 10 12 5 13 14 15 16 18 20 24 24 26 28 30 2 24 44 46 48 50 2 24 44 66 68 70 72 74 5 76 78 80 82 84 86 89 92 94 96 8 100 150 200 | cent)  4 4 5 5 6 7 8 8 8 9 9 11 13 157 17 19 19 19 12 24 24 27 27 27 31 31 31 31 35 35 36 39 43 43 47 47 47 51 551 555 555 555 555 555 555 555 555 | \$40<br>\$40<br>\$155<br>180<br>300<br>440<br>480<br>520<br>690<br>780<br>1, 260<br>2, 620<br>3, 300<br>4, 220<br>4, 640<br>5, 120<br>6, 680<br>7, 160<br>6, 680<br>7, 160<br>10, 260<br>11, 660<br>10, 260<br>10, 380<br>10, 260<br>11, 660<br>11, 440<br>13, 220<br>14, 800<br>14, 800<br>17, 520<br>18, 460<br>21, 440<br>22, 440<br>22, 440<br>22, 480<br>21, 440<br>22, 480<br>23, 480<br>24, 500<br>25, 600<br>25, 700<br>27, 800<br>28, 900<br>38, 900<br>38, 900<br>38, 900<br>39, 000<br>89, 000 | cent)  4 4 6 6 6 8 8 10 12 12 12 12 12 15 18 24 27 27 30 30 30 33 33 33 36 36 40 40 40 44 44 44 44 44 47 47 47 47 47 47 47 47 | surtax \$ \$40 80 170 200 360 560 620 680 800 950 1, 160 1, 460 1, 880 2, 380 2, 380 2, 380 10, 180 11, 780 11, 780 11, 780 12, 660 13, 540 14, 420 15, 300 11, 780 12, 660 13, 540 23, 880 24, 880 22, 880 22, 880 23, 880 24, 880 22, 880 23, 880 24, 880 24, 880 25, 880 26, 940 28, 060 29, 060 30, 120 31, 180 32, 300 33, 420 34, 540 35, 660 36, 780 95, 780 | cent)  6 9 13 13 13 17 17 21 25 29 29 29 32 35 35 35 55 55 57 57 57 57 57 57 57 57 57 69 69 61 61 61 61 63 63 63 63 63 63 63 64 64 64 64 64 64 64 64 66 66 66 66 66 | \$120<br>300<br>430<br>560<br>815<br>900<br>1, 320<br>1, 820<br>1, 820<br>1, 820<br>2, 400<br>3, 740<br>4, 500<br>5, 320<br>6, 200<br>7, 080<br>10, 900<br>11, 900<br>12, 900<br>13, 960<br>16, 080<br>17, 180<br>20, 520<br>21, 660<br>22, 800<br>23, 940<br>24, 500<br>23, 940<br>24, 500<br>33, 420<br>33, 420<br>34, 640<br>33, 420<br>34, 640<br>37, 080<br>34, 640<br>37, 080<br>40, 860<br>41, 120<br>44, 5940<br>44, 5940<br>44, 5940<br>44, 5940<br>47, 220<br>48, 500<br>49, 780<br>80, 49, 780<br>81, 580<br>81, 5940<br>41, 5940<br>42, 120<br>43, 380<br>44, 660<br>49, 780<br>81, 5940<br>49, 780<br>81, 580<br>81, 5940<br>81, 5940<br>81, 5940<br>82, 580<br>81, 5940<br>82, 5940<br>81, 5940<br>82, 580<br>81, 5940<br>82, 5940<br>82, 5940<br>82, 5940<br>82, 5940<br>82, 5940<br>82, 5940<br>83, 5940<br>84, 5940<br>84, 5940<br>85, 580<br>86, 5940<br>87, 780<br>88, 5940<br>89, 780<br>89, 780<br>81, 580<br>81, 580<br>81, 580<br>81, 5940<br>82, 5940<br>82, 5940<br>82, 5940<br>83, 5940<br>84, 5940<br>84, 780<br>84, 780<br>87, 780<br>88, 5940<br>89, 780<br>89, 780<br>89, 780<br>89, 780<br>81, 580<br>81, 580<br>81, 580<br>81, 580<br>81, 580<br>81, 5940<br>82, 5940<br>82, 5940<br>83, 5940<br>84, 5940<br>84, 5940<br>84, 5940<br>84, 5940<br>87, 780<br>88, 580<br>89, 780<br>89, 780<br>89, 780<br>89, 780<br>81, 580<br>81,   13 16 20 20 24 24 24 28 36 36 36 36 36 36 40 40 43 45 45 55 55 55 55 55 56 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 | \$260<br>580<br>780<br>780<br>1, 340<br>1, 460<br>2, 260<br>2, 260<br>3, 320<br>3, 780<br>4, 180<br>5, 940<br>7, 986<br>9, 922<br>10, 122<br>21, 284<br>21, 284<br>21, 284<br>22, 24, 560<br>33, 286<br>27, 200<br>28, 244<br>40, 344<br>41, 640<br>43, 944<br>45, 444<br>46, 944<br>46, 944<br>46, 944<br>46, 944<br>47, 946<br>48, 447<br>49, 640<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 600<br>57, 60 |
| 100   | 150   | 58   | 59,000  | 58  | 65, 780   | 65  | 82, 280   | 79   | 98, 64(<br>139, 14(<br>180, 14(<br>221, 14(<br>303, 14(<br>385, 14(<br>590, 14(<br>795, 14(<br>1, 205, 14(<br>1, 615, 14(   |

For footnotes, see p. 353.

# Footnotes for table B

- 1 Capital gains and losses are excluded from net income subject to surfax prior to 1934, if taxpayer elects to pay the alternative tax; for 1938 and subsequent years only net long-term capital gain is excluded if the alternative tax is paid. For 1934 and thereafter there is allowed as a credit in computing net income subject to surtax the personal exemption and credit for dependents.

  25 percent by credit or refund under section 1200(a), Revenue Act of 1924.

  4 The surtax rates for 1936 and subsequent years are not applicable to all nonresident alien individuals. (See note 20, pages 348-349.)

  5 For 1940 there is superimposed upon the total tax, the defense tax, which is 10 percent of the total tax.

- net income subject to surtax the personal exemption and credit for dependents.

  2 For 1913-17, the surtax was called "additional tax." For 1917, the rates are a combination of the additional tax rates provided by the Revenue Acts of 1916 and 1917.

  3 Tax for 1923, computed at these rates, was reduced

  5 For 1940 there is superimposed upon the total tax, the defense tax, which is 10 percent of the total tax before applying any credits, and is limited to an amount not more than 10 percent of the net income in excess of the total tax computed without regard to the defense tax.

# C.—Income tax returns of individuals: Optional tax 1 for 1941 through 1943 under Supplement T. Internal Revenue Code

[Form 1040A]

| Gross income <sup>2</sup> after deducting credit for dependents <sup>3</sup>  |  | Single, or married and<br>not living with hus-<br>band or wife (not<br>head of family) 4   |  | with hi   | and living<br>isband or<br>teach filing<br>ereturn <sup>5</sup>   | Married and living with husband or wife (joint return); or head of family                     |   |  |  |  |  |  |
|---|--|--|--|---|---|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| Over  | But not  |  | Optional tax 1   |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |  |
| OVE   | over   | 1941   | 1942, 1943   | 1941  | 1942, 1943  | 1941  | 1942, 1943  |  |  |  |  |  |
| \$0<br>\$25<br>555<br>556<br>557<br>550<br>650<br>625<br>650<br>675<br>700<br>725<br>750<br>800<br>825<br>850<br>875<br>950<br>925<br>950<br>975<br>1,000<br>1,025<br>1,050<br>1,125<br>1,200<br>1,225<br>1,275<br>1,300<br>1,225<br>1,350<br>1,275<br>1,350<br>1,275<br>1,350<br>1,275<br>1,350<br>1,275<br>1,350<br>1,275<br>1,350<br>1,275<br>1,350<br>1,275<br>1,350<br>1,275<br>1,350<br>1,275<br>1,350<br>1,275<br>1,350<br>1,275<br>1,350<br>1,275<br>1,350<br>1,275<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,350<br>1,455<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,500<br>1,600<br>1,600<br>1,600<br>1,600<br>1,600<br>1,600<br>1,600<br>1,600<br>1,600<br>1,600<br>1,600<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700<br>1,700 | \$525<br>550<br>575<br>600<br>625<br>650<br>675<br>700<br>725<br>750<br>775<br>800<br>825<br>850<br>875<br>900<br>925<br>950<br>925<br>950<br>1,000<br>1,025<br>1,000<br>1,125<br>1,100<br>1,125<br>1,120<br>1,235<br>1,300<br>1,225<br>1,300<br>1,225<br>1,300<br>1,225<br>1,300<br>1,425<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,450<br>1,550<br>1,550<br>1,650<br>1,650<br>1,650<br>1,650<br>1,650<br>1,650<br>1,650<br>1,755<br>1,600<br>1,650<br>1,650<br>1,650<br>1,650<br>1,755<br>1,500<br>1,755<br>1,500<br>1,555<br>1,500<br>1,650<br>1,650<br>1,755<br>1,500<br>1,755<br>1,600<br>1,755<br>1,600<br>1,755<br>1,600<br>1,755<br>1,600<br>1,755<br>1,750<br>1,755<br>1,750<br>1,755<br>1,750<br>1,755<br>1,750 | \$0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>1<br>1<br>2<br>3<br>3<br>5<br>7<br>9<br>11<br>14<br>16<br>18<br>22<br>24<br>26<br>29<br>31<br>33<br>35<br>35<br>37<br>39<br>42<br>44<br>46<br>48<br>50<br>50<br>50<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60 | \$0<br>1<br>4<br>4<br>7<br>111<br>15<br>20<br>224<br>238<br>333<br>37<br>411<br>46<br>50<br>54<br>59<br>63<br>67<br>77<br>76<br>80<br>84<br>89<br>97<br>102<br>106<br>110<br>115<br>128<br>132<br>132<br>136<br>141<br>145<br>149<br>158<br>167<br>171<br>175<br>175<br>175<br>175<br>175<br>175<br>175<br>175<br>17 | \$0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>1<br>1<br>2<br>3<br>5<br>7<br>9<br>11<br>14<br>16<br>18<br>22<br>24<br>26<br>29<br>31<br>33<br>35<br>37<br>39<br>44<br>48<br>48<br>50<br>50<br>50<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60 | \$0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>3<br>6<br>14<br>18<br>22<br>27<br>31<br>35<br>40<br>44<br>48<br>62<br>57<br>65<br>70<br>74<br>78<br>83<br>87<br>91<br>96<br>100<br>104<br>109<br>113<br>117<br>122<br>126<br>130<br>135<br>143<br>143<br>148<br>156<br>169<br>174<br>174<br>178<br>178<br>178<br>178<br>178<br>178<br>178<br>178<br>178<br>178 | \$0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0 | \$0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0 |  |  |  |  |  |

In lieu of the normal tax and surtax imposed by sections 11 and 12 of the Code, a citizen or resident may elect to pay the optional tax under section 400, if his gross income (see note 2) is not more than \$3,000. The optional tax makes allowance for personal exemption and earned income credit and for deductions in 1941 by a 10 percent reduction of the tax computed. At regular rates, on the midpoint of each income bracket are allowed, after which the tax is computed in the regular manner and rounded to the nearest dollar.

\*Gross income-reported on Form 1040 A must not exceed \$3,000 and for 1941 must be only from salaries, wages, other compensation for personal services, dividends, interest rent annuities and rovalties. If his gross income (see note 2) is not more than \$3,000. The optional tax makes allowance for personal exemption and earned income credit and for deductions in 1941 by a 10 percent reduction of the tax computed, at regular rates, on the midpoint of each income bracket, with a 10 percent earned income credit (based on the same midpoint) allowed for normal tax purposes. The tax thus computed is rounded to the nearest dollar. In 1942 and 1943, deductions amounting to 6 percent of the midpoint and the income must be from the same sources as for 1941 excluding rents and royalties. For exclusions from gross income, see note 8, table A, pp. 347-348.

C.—Income tax returns of individuals: Optional tax 1 for 1941 through 1943 under Supplement T, Internal Revenue Code—Continued

### [Form 1040A]

| Gross income<br>deducting or<br>dependents  | e 2 after<br>redit for   | not livin  | married and g with hus-<br>wife (not family) 4—<br>ed.  | with husband or with h wife but each filing wife (jo  |   |   | and living<br>usband or<br>pint return);<br>of family—<br>eed.  |
|---|--|--|---|---|---|---|---|
|   | But not _  |  |   | Optio   | Optional tax 1  |   |   |
|   | over   | 1941   | 1942, 1943  | 1941  | 1942, 1943  | 1941  | 1942, 1943  |
| 1, 775 1, 800 1, 825 1, 855 1, 855 1, 875 1, 900 2, 025 2, 075 2, 000 2, 025 2, 176 2, 100 2, 125 2, 176 2, 200 2, 175 2, 200 2, 175 2, 200 2, 175 2, 200 2, 175 2, 200 2, 2, 175 2, 200 2, 2, 255 2, 2, 255 2, 2, 255 2, 2, 255 2, 2, 255 2, 2, 255 2, 2, 255 2, 2, 255 2, 2, 255 2, 2, 255 2, 2, 255 2, 2, 255 2, 2, 255 2, 2, 255 2, 2, 255 2, 2, 255 2, 2, 255 2, 2, 255 2, 2, 255 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2 | 2, 250<br>2, 275<br>2, 300<br>2, 325<br>2, 350<br>2, 375<br>3, 400<br>2, 375<br>3, 425<br>3, 450<br>4, 500<br>4, 525<br>6, 550<br>6, 575<br>6, 600<br>7, 625<br>675<br>700<br>725<br>750 | \$85<br>87<br>89<br>93<br>96<br>98<br>100<br>102<br>104<br>106<br>109<br>111<br>113<br>115<br>119<br>122<br>124<br>128<br>130<br>132<br>134<br>137<br>139<br>141<br>143<br>145<br>147<br>150<br>158<br>169<br>172<br>177<br>180<br>169<br>172<br>177<br>180<br>183<br>185<br>187<br>187<br>187<br>188<br>189<br>191<br>197 | \$210 214 216 223 227 231 236 240 244 249 253 257 266 270 275 279 288 292 296 301 305 309 314 318 322 327 331 335 340 344 343 343 344 343 353 357 361 366 371 376 381 386 391 396 401 406 411 416 421 426 431 | \$85<br>87<br>89<br>91<br>93<br>96<br>98<br>90<br>100<br>100<br>104<br>106<br>109<br>111<br>113<br>115<br>117<br>119<br>122<br>124<br>128<br>130<br>131<br>141<br>143<br>145<br>145<br>145<br>150<br>163<br>163<br>163<br>163<br>163<br>163<br>163<br>163 | \$191 195 199 204 208 212 221 221 225 230 234 238 243 247 251 256 260 264 269 273 277 282 286 299 303 308 312 316 321 325 329 334 338 342 347 355 359 364 369 374 379 384 389 394 409 | \$17<br>19<br>22<br>24<br>26<br>28<br>30<br>32<br>35<br>37<br>39<br>41<br>43<br>45<br>48<br>50<br>63<br>65<br>67<br>69<br>71<br>73<br>76<br>69<br>71<br>73<br>76<br>78<br>80<br>80<br>82<br>84<br>86<br>89<br>91<br>91<br>90<br>106<br>110<br>110<br>110<br>110<br>110<br>110<br>110<br>110<br>11 | \$77<br>\$77<br>81<br>85<br>90<br>94<br>98<br>103<br>107<br>111<br>116<br>120<br>124<br>129<br>133<br>137<br>142<br>146<br>150<br>155<br>159<br>163<br>168<br>172<br>176<br>181<br>185<br>189<br>194<br>198<br>202<br>207<br>211<br>215<br>220<br>224<br>228<br>233<br>237<br>241<br>245<br>250<br>267<br>271<br>276<br>280<br>284<br>289 |

There is deducted from gross income the credit for each dependent (under 18 years of age or incapable of self-support because mentally or physically defective) receiving his chief support from the tax-payer, on Dec. 31, \$400 for 1941; and \$385 for such dependents on July 1, for 1942 and 1943. When the taxpayer is head of the family solely by reason of one or more dependents for whom he would be en-

D.—Income tax returns of individuals and fiduciaries: Provisions pertaining to earned income credit, under the Federal tax

|                                      |  | Capital gains and losses <sup>1</sup>  |  |
|--------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Federal tax law                      | Income<br>year <sup>2</sup>                                      | Definition of capital assets   | Period beld  |
| Revenue Act of:<br>1921              | 1922, 1923   | Proporty held for profit or investment for more than 2 years (whether or not connected with trade or business) but does not include property held for the personal use or consumption of the taxpayer or his family, stock in trade, or other property which would be included   | More than 2 years  |
| 1924                                 | 1924   | in inventory.4  Property held for more than 2 years (whether or not connected with trade or business) but does not include stock in trade or other property of a kind which would properly be included in inventory, or property held primarily for which the course of trade or business.   | do   |
| 1926<br>1928<br>1932<br>1934<br>1936 | 1925-1927<br>1928-1931<br>1932, 1933<br>1934, 1935<br>1936, 1937 | Same as 1924 Same as 1924 All property, whether or not connected with trade or business, regardless of period held, except (1) stock in trade or other property of a kind which would properly be included in inventory, and (2) property held primarily for sale to customers in ordinary course of trade or business.  | do   |
| 1938                                 | 1938   | Same as 1934-1937 with the addition of: except (3) property used in trade or business of a character which is subject to allowance for depreciation. (A loss sustained by virtue of securities which are capital assets becoming worthless during the taxable year 1938 or a subsequent year is considered as a loss from the sale or exchange of capital assets as of the end of the taxable year.) | Short-term: 18 months or less.   Long-term:   More than 18 months but not more than 24 |
| Internal Revenue                     | 1939, 1940   | Same as 1938   | months. More than 24 months  |
| Code. R'evenue Acts amending Code:   |  |  | Same as 1938.  |
| 1941                                 |  | (4) an onligation of the United States or<br>any of its possessions, or of a State or<br>Territory, or any political subdivision<br>thereof, or of the District of Columbia,<br>issued on or after March 1, 1941, on a<br>discount basis and payable without in-<br>terest at a fixed maturity date not ex-<br>ceeding one year from date of issue.  | Short-term: 6 months or less.  Long-term: more than 6 months.                          |
|                                      |  |  |  |

capital gains and losses, excess profits tax, taxes paid to foreign countries, and laws for the income years 1917 through 1943.

|  | Capital gains and loss   | es 1—Continued  |
|--|--|---|
| Percentage of<br>gain or loss<br>taken into<br>account |  | Tax credit for capital loss :   |
| 100  | 12½ percent. if the taxpayer elects to be so taxed, provided that the total tax (normal tax and surtax on ordinary net income \$\delta\$ plus 12½ percent of capital net gain) is not less than 12½ percent of the total net income. (Loss in ordinary net income \$\delta\$ annot \$\delta\$. | Act of 1921 for what is termed in later act: "capital net loss." Such loss, under the 192 Act, is treated as ordinary loss, i. e., deducted from ordinary income.) \$   |
| 100  | be deducted from capital net gain.) 12½ percent, if the taxpayer elects to be so taxed. The total tax will be the sum of the normal tax and surtax on ordinary net income s and 12½ percent of capital net gain. (Loss in ordinary net income may be de- ducted from capital net gain.         | 12½ percent of the capital net loss may be deducted as a credit against the sum of the normal tax and surtax on ordinary net income, provided that the tax thus produced is larger than the sum of the normal tax and surtax on net income after deducting the  |
| 100<br>100<br>100<br>100<br>100<br>80                  | Same as 1924<br>Same as 1924<br>Same as 1924   | Same or 1024  |
| 40   | Net capital gain is included in net income and taxed at the normal tax and surtax rates.   | None. (Superseded by a deduction equal to<br>the amount of net capital loss or \$2,000; which-<br>ever is less.)  |
|  | , , ,  |   |
|  | Net short-term capital gain is fully taxable at the normal tax and surtax rates.   | None for net short-term capital loss. (Such loss is not deductible from any income for the taxable year, but may be carried forward to the succeeding taxable year (in amount not in excess of the net income for the year in which the loss is sustained) and applied against the short-term capital gains not already offset by short-term capital losses in such succeeding year. Any excess of the prior year net short-term capital loss over the net short-term capital gain of the succeeding year is not deductible.)   |
| 50   | 30 percent, if such tax plus a tax computed on net income reduced by the net long-term capital gain is less than the regular tax on net income; otherwise net long-term gain is taxed at normal tax and surtax rates.  Same as 1938.   | 30 percent of the net long-term capital loss is deductible from the tax on net income increased by such loss, if the result is an amount greater than the regular tax on net income; otherwise net long-term loss is treated as a deduction from total income.  Same as 1938.   |
| Same as 1938   | Same as 1938   | Same as 1938.   |
|  |  |   |
| i  | Net short-term capital gain is fully taxable at the normal tax and surtax rates. 50 percent of the excess of net long-term   | None. (Superseded by a deduction as follows:<br>All capital gains and losses taken into ac-<br>count—short-term and long-term—are con-<br>sidered together. When the result is a net loss,<br>such loss is allowed by   |
|  | capital gain over net short-term capital loss, if such tax plus the tax on net income reduced by such excess is less than the regular tax on net income; otherwise the excess is taxed at normal tax and surtax rates.   | sidered together. When the result is a net loss, such loss is allowable as a deduction for the current year to the extent of \$1,000 or the net income (computed without regard to capital gain or loss), whichever is smaller. The amount not allowable in the current year is the "net capital loss" to be carried forward as a short-term capital loss in each of the 5 succeeding years to the extent that such carry-over exceeds the "net capital gain" (net gain from sales or exchanges of capital assets and net income computed without regard to capital gains or losses, or \$1,000 whichever is smaller) of any subsequent year intervening between the year in which the net capital loss is sustained and the fifth succeeding year.) There is no alternative tax in the case of a capital loss. |

D .- Income tax returns of individuals and fiduciaries: Provisions pertaining to capital gains and losses, excess profits tax, taxes paid to foreign countries. and earned income credit, under the Federal tax laws for the income years 1917 through 1943—Continued

STATISTICS OF INCOME FOR 1943, PART 1

|                            | E                                | xcess profits tax   |                        | Tax credit         | for income tuntries of U   | and profits taxes paid to<br>nited States possessions   |
|----------------------------|----------------------------------|---|------------------------|--------------------|--|---|
| Federal tax                | In-<br>come<br>year <sup>2</sup> | Income subject to excess profits tax  | Rate<br>(per-<br>cent) | Federal tax<br>law | Income<br>year   | Amount of credit against<br>income tax liability to<br>United States  |
| Revenue<br>Act of:<br>1917 | 1917                             | Salaries in excess of \$6,000 s and income in excess of \$6,000 s from business having no invested capital.  Net income from business having invested capital:  Net income equal to 15 percent of invested capital less deduction.  Net income in excess of 15 percent of invested capital but not in excess of 20 percent of invested capital.  Net income in excess of 20 percent of invested capital but not in excess of 25 percent of invested capital.  Net income in excess of 25 percent of invested capital.  Net income in excess of 25 percent of invested capital but not in excess of 37 percent of invested capital.  Net income in excess of 37 percent of invested capital.  Net income in excess of 37 percent of invested capital.  Net income in excess of 37 percent of invested capital.  Net income in excess of 37 percent of invested capital.  Net income in excess of 37 percent of invested capital. | 1                      |                    | 1918-1920<br>1921-1923<br>1924<br>1925-1927<br>1928-1931<br>1932, 1933<br>1934, 1935<br>1936, 1937<br>1938 | None (included in general deductions from gross income). Amount paid or accrued. Amount paid or accrued. Amount paid or accrued. Amount paid or accrued the proportion of the total tax against which the credit is taken. In that the taxpayer's net income from sources without the United States bears to the entire net income. 19 11 |

## EARNED INCOME CREDIT

| Federal tax  | In come<br>year 2                 | Kind of credit                 | Earned net income 12 recognized for computation of credit  | Limit of credit  |
|--|-----------------------------------|--------------------------------|--|--|
| Revenue<br>Act of:<br>1924                                   | 1924<br>1925, 1926,               | Against taxdodo                | All net income up to \$5,000 whether earned or not, and up to \$10,000, if earned. All net income up to \$5,000 whether earned or not, | 25 percent of normal tax on earned net income. (Cannot exceed 25 percent of normal tax on entire net income.) 25 percent of total tax on earned net income. (Cannot exceed |
| 1928   | 1927<br>1928, 1929,<br>1930, 1931 | do                             | and up to \$20,000, if earned.  All net income up to \$5,000 whether earned or not, and up to \$30,000, if earned.                     | the sum of 25 percent of norma<br>tax on entire net income and<br>25 percent of surtax on carnet<br>net income.)<br>Same as 1926.  |
| 1932<br>1934<br>1936<br>1938<br>Internal<br>Revenue<br>Code. | 1936, 1937<br>1938                | None 13<br>Against net income. | All net income up to \$3,000 whether earned or not, and up to \$14,000, if earned.   | 10 percent of the earned net in come, but not in excess of 1 percent of the entire net in come.  |

For footnotes, see p. 359.

## · Footnotes for table D

- I Prior to the Revenue Act of 1921, gain from the period, the individual had a deficit or a very small sale of capital assets was taxed as ordinary income income from business, or if invested capital cannot Loss from such sale was not recognized for 1913 through 1915; for 1916 and 1917 such loss was dethrough 1915; for 1916 and 1917 such loss was deductible to the extent of such gain, and for 1918 through 1921 was deductible in full. By the Revenue Act of 1921, the profit or loss from the sale or exchange of assets held for more than 2 years, consummated after Dec. 31, 1921, was designated "capital gain" or "capital loss."
- <sup>2</sup> For 1917 and earlier, the income year is the calendar year; for 1918 through 1932, the calendar year and fiscal years ending therein; for 1933, the calendar year and fiscal years beginning or ending therein; and for 1934 and later, the calendar year and fiscal years beginning therein.
- 3 For 1924 and subsequent years, when alternative taxes are provided, a taxpayer who reports a capital net gain pays the smaller of the two taxes computed; a taxpayer who sustains a capital net loss must pay the larger tax.
- <sup>4</sup> Losses resulting from the sale or exchange of securities consummated after Nov. 23, 1921, are not deductible when substantially identical securities are acquired or reacquired within 30 days before or after such transaction.
- "Ordinary net income" means the net income exclusive of all items of capital gain, capital loss, and capital deductions.
- 6 In excess of \$3,000 for nonresident aliens.
- 7 A nonresident alien having business with invested capital, reported only that proportion of invested capital which net income from sources within the United States was of the entire net income.
- 8 Deduction (not allowable to nonresident aliens): \$6,000 plus an amount equal to the same percentage of invested capital for taxable year as the average annual pre-war income was of pre-war invested capital nual pre-war moune was or pre-war invested capital (not less than 7 percent nor more than 9 percent). If not established during at least one whole year of the pre-war period, 8 percent. If, during the pre-war in the Revenue Act of 1932.

- income from business, or if invested capital cannot be determined, same percent as that of representative businesses. (See sec. 210, Revenue Act of 1917.)
- 9 Nonresident aliens were not allowed either a tax credit or a deduction for income and profits taxes paid to foreign countries, 1917 through 1920.
- 10 For the years 1921 through 1931, citizens and residents of the United States are permitted to include in deductions against gross income the amount of income and profits taxes paid to foreign countries or United States possessions in excess of countries or United States possessions in excess of that deducted as a tax credit; for 1832 and subsequent years, such individuals may elect to credit the income and profits taxes paid to foreign countries or United States possessions (with certain limitations) against the income tax liability to the United States against the mome tax hability to the United States or to include the entire amount of such taxes in deductions against gross income. (See secs. 131 and 23(c)(2), Revenue Act of 1932 and subsequent acts.)

Beginning 1942, domestic taxpayers are permitted to include in computing the credit for foreign taxes paid, those foreign taxes paid in lieu of the tax upon income, war-profits, and excess-profits, such as taxes on gross income, gross sales, or units of production.

- 11 For 1921 and subsequent years, nonresident aliens, and citizens of the United States deriving a large percentage of their gross income from sources within a possession of the United States, although wheth a possession of the Omica states, annough not permitted a tax credit, were permitted to deduct these taxes from gross income, if imposed upon income from sources within the United States.
- 12 "Earned income" means wages, salaries, professional fees, and other amounts received as com-pensation for personal services actually rendered; and in the case of a taxpayer engaged in trade or business, a reasonable allowance for compensation, not in excess of 20 percent of his share of the net profits.
- 18 There was no provision for earned income credit

E.—Estate tax returns: Requirements for filing, specific exemption; credits against of citizens and aliens who

|  |  |   | Reve   | nue Act of—  |   |
|--|--|---|--|--|---|
|  | 1916   | 1916 as<br>amended<br>by Act of<br>Mar. 3,<br>1917          | 1917   | 1918, 1921,<br>and 1924 as<br>amended by<br>1926   | 1926, 1926 as amended,<br>and Internal Revenue<br>Code <sup>1</sup>   |
| Requirements for filing re-<br>turns, specific exemption,<br>and credits against estate<br>tax   |  |   |  |  | (For basic tax)   |
|  | In effect<br>Sept. 9,<br>1916,<br>through<br>Mar. 2,<br>1917 | In effect<br>Mar. 3,<br>1917,<br>through<br>Oct. 3,<br>1917 | In effect<br>Oct. 4,<br>1917,<br>through<br>6:54 p. m.<br>Feb. 24,<br>1919 | In effect 6:55<br>p. m., Feb.<br>24, 1919,<br>through 10:24<br>a. m., Feb.<br>26, 1926           | In effect 10:25 a. m.,<br>Feb. 26, 1926, and<br>thereafter  |
| Return required s when value of gross estate ex-   |  |   | i  |  |   |
| ceeds, for:<br>Resident (citizen and   | \$50,000   | \$50,000  | \$50,000   | \$50,000   |   |
| alien). Nonresident citizen Nonresident alien Specific exemption, estate   | (4)<br>(5)   | (4)<br>(b)  | (4)<br>(5)   | (4)(5)   | (*)(5)  |
| of:<br>Resident (citizen and   | \$50,000   | \$50,000  | \$50,000   | \$50,000   | \$100,000   |
| alien).<br>Nonresident citizen   | None   | None  | None   | None   | \$100,000 after May 10,<br>1934.  |
| Nonresident alien  | None   | None  | Nоце   | None   | \$2,000 after Oct. 21, 1942   |
| Credits against estate tax:<br>Credit for gift tax paid<br>in respect of property<br>included in gross es-<br>tate.  | None   | None  | None   | Total gift tax<br>paid under<br>Revenue<br>Act of 1924<br>as amended.                            | Total gift tax paid under<br>Revenue Act of 1924,<br>as amended. Credit<br>for gift tax paid under<br>Revenue Act of 1932<br>not to exxeed the pro-<br>portion of the estate<br>tax computed under<br>the Revenue Act of<br>1926 that the value of<br>the included gift bears<br>to the entire gross<br>estate. |
| Credit for estate, inheritance, legacy, or succession taxes, actually paid to any State or Territory, or the District of Columbia in respect of any property included in gross estate for Federal estate tax purposes. | None   | None  | None   | Not to exceed 25 percent oftax (from 4:01 p. m., June2,1924, through 10:24 a.m., Feb. 26, 1926). | Not to exceed 80 percent of the difference between the basic tax and any credit for gift tax (10:25 a. m., Feb. 26, 1926, through Oct. 21, 1942).  Not to exceed 80 percent of the basic tax before deducting the credit for gift tax (Oct. 22, 1942, and thereafter).  |

For footnotes, see pp. 362-363.

estate tax, rates, and total estate tax, under the Federal tax laws applicable to estates died after Sept. 8, 1916

|   | Reven   | ie Act of—   |  |                                     |
|---|---|--|--|-------------------------------------|
| 1932 1  | 1932 as amended <sup>1</sup><br>by 1934       | 1932 as amended<br>by 1935; Internal<br>Revenue Code;<br>Revenue Acts of<br>1939 and 1940 I<br>amending Code | Code   | 1942 1 amending Code                |
| (For tentative tax)   | (For tentative tax)                           | (For tentative tax)  | (For tentative   | (For tentative                      |
| In effect 5 p. m.,<br>June 6, 1932,<br>through<br>May 10, 1934  | In effect May 11, 1934, through Aug. 30, 1935 | In effect<br>Aug. 31, 1935,<br>through<br>Sept. 20, 1941 2   | In effect<br>Sept. 21, 1941,<br>through<br>Oct. 21, 1942 | In effect<br>after<br>Oct. 22, 1942 |
|   |   |  |  |                                     |
| \$50,000  |   | \$40,000   | \$40,000   | \$60,000.                           |
| (1)   | \$50,000                                      | \$40.000   | \$40,000<br>(*)  | \$60,000                            |
| \$50,000  | \$50,000                                      | \$40,000   | \$40,000   | \$60,000.                           |
| None  | \$50,000                                      |  | \$40,000   |                                     |
| None  | None  | None   |  |                                     |
| None, for gift tax paid under Revenue Act of 1924, as amended. Credit for gift tax paid under Revenue Act of 1932 not to exceed the proportion of the additional estate tax that the value of the included gift bears to the entire gross estate, and not to exceed the difference between the total amount of the gift tax and the gift tax endit the difference to the entire gross estate, and not to exceed the difference between the total amount of the gift tax and the gift tax credit therefor allowed against the estate tax computed under the Revenue Act of 1926. | Same as 1932                                  | Same as 1932   |  |                                     |
| None  | None  | None   | None   | None.                               |

E.—Estate tax returns: Requirements for filing, specific exemption, credits against of citizens and aliens who died

| T   |  |  |   | Revenue Act of—  |  |   |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|---|--|--|---|--|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
|   |  |  | 1   | 916  | 1916 as amended<br>by act of<br>Mar. 3, 1917                 |   | 1917   |  | 1918, 1921, and 1924<br>as amended by<br>1926  |  |  |  |  |
|   | Net estate 7<br>(Thousands<br>of dollars)  |  |   | ·  |  |   |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   |  |  | Sept.   | effect<br>9, 1916,<br>rough<br>. 2, 1917   | $\mathbf{Mar}_{\mathbf{th}}$                                 | effect<br>3, 1917,<br>rough<br>3, 1917  | Oct.   | In effect Cot. 4, 1917, through 6:54 p. m. Feb. 24, 1919  In effect 6:55 p. Feb. 24, 191 through 10:24 p. Feb. 26, 19  |  | 24, 1919,<br>10:24 a. m.   |  |  |  |
| -   | Exceed-<br>ing   | Equal-<br>ing  | Rate<br>(per-<br>cent)  | Total<br>estate tax  | Rate<br>(per-<br>cent)                                       | Total<br>estate tax   | Rate<br>(per-<br>cent)   | Total<br>estate tax  | Rate<br>(per-<br>cent)   | Total<br>estate tax  |  |  |  |
| 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 1 22 22 24 25 26 29 33 1 32 33 34 35 6 | 5<br>10<br>20<br>30<br>40<br>50<br>60<br>70<br>100<br>150<br>2200<br>250<br>400<br>00<br>450<br>500<br>1, 250<br>2, 500<br>2, 500<br>3, 500<br>6, 000<br>7, 000<br>4, 000<br>4, 000<br>6, 000<br>7, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>10, 000<br>1 | 5 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 1100 20 50 60 60 60 60 750 800 1, 250 1, 500 6, 500 6, 500 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, | 1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>3<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>5<br>5<br>5<br>5<br>5<br>6<br>6<br>6<br>6<br>7<br>7<br>8<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10 | \$50<br>100<br>200<br>300<br>400<br>500<br>700<br>900<br>2,500<br>4,000<br>5,500<br>11,500<br>21,000<br>21,000<br>21,000<br>101,000<br>111,000<br>111,000<br>111,000<br>251,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000<br>211,000 | 11/2<br>11/2<br>11/2<br>11/2<br>11/2<br>11/2<br>11/2<br>11/2 | \$75<br>150<br>300<br>450<br>600<br>750<br>1, 050<br>1, 350<br>2, 250<br>3, 750<br>8, 250<br>17, 250<br>24, 000<br>31, 500<br>42, 750<br>46, 500<br>106, 500<br>115, 500<br>204, 000<br>256, 500<br>316, 500<br>41, 500<br>41, 500<br>41, 500<br>204, 000<br>256, 500<br>316, 500<br>317, 500<br>41, 500<br>41, 500<br>511, 500<br>511, 500<br>511, 500<br>511, 500<br>511, 500<br>511, 500<br>511, 500<br>511, 500<br>511, 500<br>511, 500<br>511, 500 | 2 2 2 2 2 4 4 4 4 4 4 6 6 6 8 8 8 100 1100 110 112 112 112 114 116 116 118 120 220 222 225 225 225 225 225 225 225 2 | \$100 200 400 800 1,000 1,400 1,800 3,000 8,000 11,000 27,000 32,000 42,000 52,000 62,000 82,000 112,000 342,000 122,000 142,000 | 1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>3<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>6<br>6<br>6<br>6<br>8<br>8<br>8<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11 | \$50 100 200 300 400 500 700 900 1,500 2,500 11,500 13,500 16,500 35,500 35,500 35,500 35,500 36,500 31,681,500 |  |  |  |

<sup>1</sup> The estate of an individual who died after 5 p. m. 1 The estate of an individual who died after 5 p. m. June 6, 1932, is subject to two Federal estate taxes—a basic tax and an additional tax. The basic tax is computed at the rates provided by the Revenue Act of 1926, which rates are embodied in the Internal Revenue Code as the basic estate tax. The additional tax is the excess of the tentative tax computed at the rates provided by the act in force at date of death, over the basic tax. death, over the basic tax.

estate tax, rates, and total estate tax, under the Federal tax laws applicable to estates after Sept. 8, 1916—Continued

|  |  |   |   | Rovenue  | Act of—  |   |   |   |                  | T   |
|--|--|---|---|--|--|---|---|---|------------------|---|
| 1926 as  | 1926, 1932 1 1932 1 as amended by 1934 e Code 1  |   |   | 1932 as amended<br>by 1935; Internal<br>Revenue Code;<br>Revenue Acts of<br>1939 and 1940 1<br>amending Code   |  | 1941 amending<br>Code                                       |   |   |                  |   |
| (Bas   | sic tax)   | (Tent   | ative tax)  | (Tent  | ative tax)   | (Ter  | itative tax)  | (Ter  | itative tax)     | ĺ   |
| Feb. 2   | 10:25 a. m.<br>26, 1926,<br>nereafter  | Jun<br>tl   | ect 5 p. m.<br>e 6, 1932,<br>prough<br>y 10, 1934   | May<br>th  | In effect<br>May 11, 1934,<br>through<br>Aug. 30, 1935   |   | In effect Aug. 31, 1935, through Sopt. 20, 1941 2 8   |   | . 21. 1941.      |   |
| Rate (percent)   | Total<br>(basic)<br>tax  | Rate<br>(per-<br>cent)  | Tentative<br>tax  | Rate<br>(per-<br>cent)   | Tentative<br>tax   | Rate<br>(per-<br>cent)                                      | Tentative<br>tax  | Rate<br>(per-<br>cent)  | Tentative<br>tax |   |
| 1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>3<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>4<br>5<br>5<br>5<br>6<br>6<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11<br>11 | \$50<br>100<br>200<br>300<br>400<br>500<br>700<br>900<br>1, 500<br>4, 500<br>6, 500<br>12, 500<br>15, 000<br>17, 500<br>22, 500<br>31, 500<br>48, 500<br>48, 500<br>88, 500<br>133, 500<br>238, 500<br>238, 500<br>238, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438, 500<br>438 | 1 1 2 3 4 4 5 5 7 7 7 7 9 9 11 11 13 13 13 15 15 15 17 19 12 12 23 25 27 29 31 33 35 35 37 39 41 43 45 45 | \$50<br>100<br>300<br>600<br>1, 500<br>2, 200<br>2, 900<br>14, 500<br>36, 000<br>19, 500<br>36, 000<br>42, 500<br>42, 500<br>42, 500<br>42, 500<br>42, 500<br>41, 500<br>56, 000<br>713, 500<br>32, 000<br>126, 000<br>127, 000<br>126, 000<br>127, 000<br>1, 166, 000<br>1, 166, 000<br>1, 166, 000<br>1, 166, 000<br>1, 166, 000<br>1, 166, 000<br>1, 166, 000<br>1, 166, 000<br>1, 166, 000<br>1, 166, 000<br>1, 166, 000<br>1, 166, 000<br>1, 166, 000<br>2, 2686, 000<br>7, 616, 000<br>2, 1, 116, 000<br>2, 1, 116, 000 | 1<br>1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>7<br>7<br>7<br>9<br>12<br>12<br>16<br>16<br>16<br>19<br>19<br>19<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>23<br>31<br>43<br>43<br>43<br>43<br>43<br>46<br>46<br>46<br>46<br>46<br>46<br>46<br>46<br>46<br>46<br>46<br>46<br>46 | \$50<br>100<br>300<br>600<br>1, 500<br>2, 200<br>2, 200<br>2, 900<br>11, 600<br>17, 600<br>25, 600<br>120, 600<br>120, 600<br>131, 600<br>251, 600<br>476, 600<br>251, 600<br>476, 600<br>476, 600<br>251, 600<br>476, 600<br>251, 600<br>476, 600<br>321, 600<br>476, 600<br>2, 736, 600<br>1, 716, 600<br>2, 736, 600<br>2, 736, 600<br>3, 836, 600<br>4, 416, 600<br>28, 416, 600<br>28, 416, 600 | 2 2 4 6 8 8 100 6 8 112 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 | \$100 200 600 1, 200 3, 000 4, 200 5, 400 9, 600 18, 100 26, 600 17, 100 89, 600 112, 600 112, 600 112, 600 117, 600 117, 600 1, 407, 600 1, 407, 600 1, 407, 600 1, 922, 600 1, 102, 600 1, 102, 600 1, 102, 600 1, 102, 600 1, 102, 600 1, 102, 600 1, 102, 600 1, 102, 600 1, 102, 600 1, 102, 600 1, 662, 600 1, 662, 600 1, 662, 600 1, 662, 600 1, 662, 600 1, 662, 600 1, 662, 600 | 3 7 7 111 14 18 22 25 28 30 30 30 32 23 25 35 56 9 63 63 76 66 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 | 36, 888, 200     | 1 2 3 4 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 22 22 22 25 26 27 28 9 31 2 32 33 34 35 36 |

part of his gross estate, regardless of value, was situated in the United States within the meaning of the statute; for a nonresident alien dying on or after Oct. 22, 1942, a return is required if the part of his gross estate situated in the United States exceeded a value of \$2,000 at date of death.

6 "Or any possession of the United States" is deductions for funeral and administrative expenses, dependents exceed the value of property subject to claims and includible in gross estate; and (3) the net deduction for property previously tayed is comclaims and includible in gross escale, and (a) like net deduction for property previously taxed is com-puted in a manner which eliminates from the de-duction the proportion thereof not subject to general

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Revenue Act of 1932 as amended by 1935 became effective Aug. 31, 1935; the Internal Revenue Code, Feb. 11, 1939; the Code as amended by the Revenue Act of 1939, June 30, 1939; and the Code as amended by the Revenue Act of 1940, June 26, 1940 (through Sept. 20, 1941).

<sup>\*</sup> Estate tax returns are required to be filed within Descare tax returns are required to be fired within
1 year after date of death, except that for estates of
persons who died on or after Aug. 31, 1935, returns
are due 15 months after date of death.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A return is required for the estate of a nonresident citizen who died prior to May 11, 1934, if any part of his gross estate regardless of value, is situated in the United States within the meaning of the statute; for a nonresident citizen dying on or after May 11, 1934, a return is required if his gross estate wherever situated (other than real property outside the United States) exceeded the amount specified in this chart under the act in effect at date of death.

A return is required for the estate of a nonresident alien who died prior to Oct. 22, 1942, if any

added with respect to estates of individuals who died on or after June 30, 1939 (sec. 813(b) of the Code as amended by the Revenue Act of 1939).

<sup>7 &</sup>quot;Net estate" is the excess of the value of gross estate over the deductions (including specific exemption) allowable under the statutory provisions in effect at date of death. In the case of a person who died on or after Oct. 22, 1942, (1) the exclusion from gross estate of \$40,000 for life insurance receivable

<sup>6 &</sup>quot;Defense tax" (10 percent of the sum of the basic and additional taxes after application of credits) also is imposed upon the estates of individuals who died within the period June 26, 1940, through Sept. 20, 1941, the effective period of the 1940 Act.

F.—Gift tax returns: Requirements for filing, exclusions, deductions, tax rates, and total gift tax, under the Federal tax laws affecting gifts made during the calendar years 1924 through 1943

| Requirements for filing, exclusions, and deductions  |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|--|---|---|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
|  |   | Revenue Act of—   |   | <u> </u>  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 1924 1   | 1932 and 1932 as amended<br>by 1934   | 1932 as amended by 1935   | 1932 as amended by<br>1938; and Internal<br>Revenue Code  | 1942 amending Internal<br>Revenue Code  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  | A   | ffecting gifts made   |   |   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| During calendar years 1924,1<br>1925   | After June 6, 1932, through<br>calendar year 1935   | During calendar years<br>1936 through 1938  | During calendar years<br>1939 through 1942  | During calendar year<br>1943 <sup>2</sup>   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Transfer of property by gift the aggregate amount of which exceeds the authorized deductions: Resident-property wherever situated. Nonresident-property situated within the United States. | Transfer of property by gift sexceeding \$5,000 in value to any one donee or the gift of a future interest in property, regardless of value: Citizen or resident-property wherever situated. Nonresident alien-property situated within the United States.  | Same as 1932 Act  | Transfer of property by gift 3 exceeding \$4,000 in value to any one done or the gift of a future interest in property, or a gift in trust, regardless of value:  Citizen, resident, and nonresident alien—same as 1932  Act. | Transfer of property by gift including trusts, exceeding \$3,000 in value to any one donee, or the gift of a future interest in property, regardless of value:  Citizen, resident, and nonresident alien—same as 1932  Act. |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  | \$5,000 except future interest in property.   | s5,000 except future interest in property.  | \$4,000 except future interest in property, and gifts in trust.   | \$3,000 except future interest in property.   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Entirely deductible to the extent included in gross  | Same as 1924  | Same as 1924  | Same as 1924  | Same as 1924.   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Resident:<br>\$50,000 each calendar<br>year.   | in a single year or over a<br>period of years at option   | Citizen or resident: \$40,-<br>000 under same condi-<br>tions as 1932.  | Citizen or resident: \$40,-<br>000 under same condi-<br>tions as 1932.  | Citizen or resident: \$30,-<br>000 under same condi-<br>tions as 1932.  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Nonresident: None. Entirely deductible to the extent included in gross gifts. Entirely deductible to the extent included in gross gifts.   | Nonresident alien:<br>None.   | Nonresident alien:<br>None.<br>Not deductible   | Nonresident alien:<br>None.<br>Not deductible   | Nonresident alien:<br>None.<br>Not deductible.  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  | During calendar years 1924,¹ 1925  Transfer of property by gift ¹ the aggregate amount of which exceeds the authorized deductions: Resident-property wherever situated. Nonresident-property situated within the United States.  Entirely deductible to the extent included in gross gifts. Resident: \$50,000 each calendar year.  Nonresident: None. Entirely deductible to the extent included in gross gifts. Entirely deductible to the extent included in gross gifts. Entirely deductible to the extent included in gross gifts. | During calendar years 1924,¹  Transfer of property by gift ² the aggregate amount of which exceeds the authorized deductions: Resident-property where ever situated. Nonresident-property situated within the United States.  Entirely deductible to the extent included in gross gifts. Resident: None. Entirely deductible to the extent included in gross gifts. Entirely deductible to the extent included in gross gifts. Entirely deductible to the extent included in gross gifts. Entirely deductible to the extent included in gross gifts. Entirely deductible to the extent included in gross gifts. Entirely deductible to the extent included in gross gifts. Entirely deductible to the extent included in gross gifts. Entirely deductible to the extent included in gross gifts. Entirely deductible to the extent included in gross gifts. Entirely deductible to the extent included in gross | 1924   1932 and 1932 as amended by 1935   | 1924   1932 and 1932 as amended by 1935   1932 as amended by 1938; and Internal Revenue Code  |  |  |  |  |  |  |

F.—Gift tax returns: Requirements for filing, exclusions, deductions, tax rates, and total gift tax, under the Federal tax laws affecting gifts made

| Tax rates and total gift tax   Revenue Act of  | 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5<br>6<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>10<br>11<br>12<br>13<br>14 | -                                     |             | N                             |         |
|--|---|---------------------------------------|-------------|-------------------------------|---------|
| Revenue Act of—  | 0<br>5<br>10<br>20<br>30<br>40<br>50                                    | <u> </u>                              |             | Net gifts + (<br>of dol       |         |
| 1924   as amended by 1926   1932   1932 as amended by 1934   1932 as amended by 1935;   Internal Revenue Code;   Revenue Act of 1940,   amending Code   Revenue Code   Revenue Act of 1940,   amending Code   Revenue  | 5<br>10<br>20<br>30<br>40<br>50   |                                       |             | Thousands<br>lars)            |         |
| Revenue Act of   1932   1932 as amended by 1934   1932 as amended by 1935; Internal Revenue Code; Revenue Act of 1940, amending Code   1941 amending Internal Revenue Code   1940, amending Code   1941 amending Internal Revenue Code   1940, amending Code   1941 amending Internal Revenue Code   1940, amending Code   1940, amending Code   1941 amending Internal Revenue Code   1942   1943 amending Code   1941   1943 amending Code   1941   1943 amending Code   1941   1943 amending Internal Revenue Code   1942   1943 amending Code   1942   1943 amending Code   1943 amending Code   1944   1945 amending Code   1945 am | 1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>2   |                                       |             | 1924 ¹ as a                   | ļ       |
| 1932   1932 as amended by 1934   1932 as amended by 1935; Internal Revenue Code; Revenue Act of 1940, amending Code   1941 amending Internal Revenue Code   Revenue Act of 1940, amending Code   1941 amending Internal Revenue Code   1941 amending Internal Revenue Code   1942   1943 amending Code   1941 amending Internal Revenue Code   1945   1946   1946   1947   1948   1 | \$50<br>100<br>200<br>300<br>400<br>500<br>700                          | ndar years 1924, <sup>1</sup><br>1925 |             | mended by 1926                |         |
| Revenue Act of—    1932 as amended by 1934     1932 as amended by 1935;   Internal Revenue Code;   Revenue Code amending Code     1941 amending Internal Revenue Code     1941 amending Internal Revenue Code     1941 amending Internal Revenue Code     1941 amending Internal Revenue Code     1942 amending Code     1943 amending Internal Revenue Code     1943 amending Internal Revenue Code     1943 amending Internal Revenue Code     1943 amending Internal Revenue Code     1943 amending Internal Revenue Code     1943 amending Internal Revenue Code     1943 amending Internal Revenue Code   1940   1941   1941   1943 amending Internal Revenue Code   1940   1941   1943 amending Internal Revenue Code   1940   1943 amending Internal Revenue Code   1940   1943 amending Internal Revenue Code   1941   1943 amending Internal Revenue Code   1940   1943 amending Internal Revenue Code   1940   1943 amending Internal Revenue Code   1940   1941   1943 amending Internal Revenue Code   1940   1941   1943 amending Internal Revenue Code   1940   1941   1943 amending Internal Revenue Code   1940   1942   1943 amending Internal Revenue Code   1940   1944 amending Internal Revenue Code   1940   1945 amending Internal Revenue Code   1942   1943 amending Internal Revenue Code   1940   1941   1941   1941   1941   1941   1941   1943 amending Internal Revenue Code   1940   1942   1943 amending Internal Revenue Code   1940   1940   1941   1941   1941   1941   1941   1941   1941   1941   1941   1941   1941   1943 amending Internal Revenue Code   1940   1940   1940   1941   19 | 34<br>34<br>11/2<br>21/4  | D                                     | <del></del> |                               |         |
| Revenue Act of—  | \$37.50<br>75.00<br>225,00<br>450.00<br>750.00<br>1,125.00              | 6, 1932, through<br>ec. 31, 1934      |             | 1932                          |         |
| 1932 as amended by 1935;   Internal Revenue Code;   Revenue Act of 1940,   amending Internal Revenue Code  | (percent)   |                                       | Affecting ( | 1932 as an                    | Revenue |
| Internal Revenue Code; Revenue Code   Revenue Act of 1940, amending Code   Revenue Code  | \$37.50<br>75.00<br>225.00<br>450.00<br>750.00<br>1,125.00<br>1,650.00  | endar year 1935                       | gifts made— | nended by 1934                | Act of— |
| Revenue Code; Act of 1940, Revenue Code  andar years 1936 pg h 1941  Total gift tax 6 7  \$75  | (percent)  11/2 11/2 3 41/2 6 71/2 9                                    | During cale                           |             | Internal<br>Revenue           |         |
| Revenue Code  During calendar years 1942, 1943 <sup>3</sup> Rate (percent)  Total gift tax <sup>6</sup> 214 \$112.50 514 375.00 814 1, 200.00 1014 2, 250.00 1314 3, 600.00 1614 5 250.00  | \$75<br>150<br>450<br>900<br>1,500<br>2,250<br>3,150<br>4 050           | endar years 1936<br>igh 1941          |             | Revenue Code;<br>Act of 1940. |         |
| nue Code  ndar years 1942, 943 3  Total gift tax 6  \$112.50 375.00 1, 200.00 2, 250.00 3, 600.0 5, 250.00   | (percent)  214 514 814 1014 1314 1614 1834                              | During cale                           |             | 1941 amer<br>Reve             |         |
|  | \$112.50<br>375.00<br>1,200.00<br>2,250.00<br>3,600.00<br>5.250.00      | ndar years 1942,<br>943 2             |             | nding Internal<br>nue Code    |         |

|  |   |   |  |   |   | Tax rates an  | d total gift t                           | 3.X              |   |                               |   |   |  |
|--|---|---|--|---|---|---|--|------------------|---|-------------------------------|---|---|--|
|  |   |   |  |   |   |   | Revenue                                  | Act of-          |   |                               |   |   |  |
|  | Net gifts (   | 1924 t as amended by 1926 of dollars)                       |  |   | !   | 1932 as amended by 1934 light amended by 1935; Internal Revenue Code; Revenue Act of 1940, amending Code. |  |                  | 1941 amen<br>Reve                             | ending Internal<br>venue Code |   |   |  |
|  |   |   |  |   |   |   | Affecting a                              | gifts made—      |   |                               |   |   |  |
|  |   |   |  | ndar years 1924, <sup>1</sup><br>1925   | After June<br>Dec                                     | 6, 1932, through<br>. 31, 1934  | During cal                               | endar year 1935  |   | endar years 1936<br>ugh 1941  | During calendar years 1942<br>1943 <sup>2</sup>   |   |  |
|  | Exceeding   | Equaling  | Rate 5 (percent)                             | Total gift tax  | Rate<br>(percent)                                     | Total gift tax 6  | Rate<br>(percent)                        | Total gift tax * | Rate<br>(percent)                             | Total gift tax 67             | Rate<br>(percent)                                 | Total gift tax 6  |  |
|  | 6, 000<br>7, 000<br>8, 000<br>9, 000<br>10, 000<br>20, 000<br>50, 000 | 7, 000<br>8, 000<br>9, 000<br>10, 000<br>20, 000<br>50, 000 | 20<br>20<br>22<br>22<br>22<br>25<br>25<br>25 | \$1, 041, 500<br>1, 241, 500<br>1, 461, 500<br>1, 681, 500<br>4, 181, 500<br>11, 681, 500 | 271/2<br>29<br>301/2<br>32<br>331/2<br>331/2<br>331/2 | 1, 687, 125, 00   | 39<br>40½<br>42<br>43½<br>45<br>45<br>45 | 2, 877, 450, 00  | 44¼<br>45¾<br>47¼<br>48¾<br>50¼<br>51¾<br>52½ | 24, 271, 950                  | 52½<br>54¾<br>57<br>57<br>57<br>57¾<br>57¾<br>57¾ | 3, 426, 150, 00<br>3, 996, 150, 00<br>4, 566, 150, 00<br>10, 341, 150, 00<br>27, 666, 150, 00 |  |

<sup>1</sup> The 1924 act, dated June 2, 1924, taxed gifts made during the entire calendar year, but subsequently the Suprème Court declared that gifts prior to June 2, 1924, are not subject to gift tax.

<sup>1</sup> The Code as amended by the Revenue Act of 1941 is effective as to rates of tax on gifts made during the calendar year 1942 and thereafter while the requirements for filing gift tax returns and the amount of the exclusion and of the exemption, applicable to the returns for the calendar year 1943, are provided by the Revenue Act of 1942, amending the Code.

<sup>3</sup> A gift tax return is required to be filed and the tax, if any, paid by donors who transfer property as a gift or who sell or exchange property for less than a fair consideration in money or money's worth.

For 1924 and 1925, gift tax returns were required to be filed by donors of all classes—individuals, corporations, associations, partnerships, trusts, and estates—returns being required whether the transfers were made directly or indirectly.

For 1932 and thereafter, only individual donors (not corporations, etc.) are required to file gift tax returns. The returns are required whether the transfers are in trust or other-

wise, whether the gifts are direct, indirect, or of a future interest, and whether the property is real or personal, tangible or intangible.

<sup>4</sup> Not gifts mean the excess of total gifts for the year over the sum of: Charitable deductions; specific exemption; and in addition for 1924-25, property previously taxed for estate or gift tax and a deduction for gifts the aggregate amount of which to any one donee does not exceed \$500; and for 1932 and thereafter the annual exclusion for each donee.

<sup>5</sup> The first gift tax was levied under the Revenue Act of 1924 but lower rates, shown here, were provided in the amendment by the 1926 act. The amount of tax paid for 1924 or 1925, under the provisions of the 1924 act, in excess of the tax imposed by the amendment, was refunded without interest. (See note 1.)

<sup>6</sup> Tax for current year is the excess of tax computed on the total net gifts made subsequent to June 6, 1932, over a tax computed on total net gifts exclusive of current year gifts.

7 Total tax as shown does not include the defense tax, which for 1940 is that portion of 10 percent of the tax for the current year, that the amount of gifts made in the period June 26, 1940, through Dec. 31, 1940, bears to the total amount of 1940 gifts. The defense tax for 1941 is 10 percent of the gift tax for 1941.

# Facsimiles 으

# JNITED STATES INCOME TAX FORMS FOR 1943

Form 1065: Form 1040A: Optional individual income and victory tax return for Partnership return Fiduciary income and victory tax return (for estates Individual income and victory tax return. and trusts) annuities. wholly from salaries, wages, dividends, interest, and gross incomes of not more than \$3,000 derived ıncome (filed also by syndicates,

pools, joint ventures, etc.).

| FORM 1 Treasury Depart Internal Revenue | 040<br>tment<br>Service   | INDIVIDUAL INC  | united states<br>COME AND VICTORY TAX  | RETURN   |               | 192                 | <u>13</u> |  |
|---|---|---|--|--|---------------|---------------------|-----------|--|
|   |   | OPTIONAL FORM 1040A MA<br>REPORTED ON THE CASH &<br>AND CONSISTS WHOLLY O | Y BE FILED INSTEAD OF THIS FORM IF GRO<br>LASIS FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR, IS NOT MOR<br>F SALARY, WAGES, OTHER COMPENSATION<br>ES, DIVIDENDS, INTEREST OR ANNUITIES | SS INCOME IS<br>RE THAN \$3,000,<br>FOR PERSONAL | (D            | o not use these spa | ces)      |  |
|   | }   |   | ES. DIVIDENDS, INTEREST OR ANNUITIES  CALENDAR YEAR 1943   |  | File<br>Code  |                     |           |  |
|   |   |   |  | 1044   | Serial<br>No. |                     |           |  |
|   | į   | PRINT NAME AN   | D ADDRESS PLAINLY. (See Instr  | uction C)  | Distri        |                     | _         |  |
|   | İ   |   | on names of both husband and wife, if this is a joint re   | turn)  | <u> </u>      | (Cashier's Stamp)   | _         |  |
|   | i   | (Mane) (Ore live  | (Street and number, or rural route)  |  |               |                     |           |  |
|   | ì   |   |  |  |               |                     |           |  |
|   |   |   |  | ate)   |               |                     |           |  |
|   |   | Occupation  | Social Security member, if any   | Column I   |               | Colone 2            |           |  |
|   | COM   | PUTATION OF NE  | r income   | Income Tax Net Incom                             |               | Victory Tax Net Inc |           |  |
|   |   | INCOME  |  |  |               |                     |           |  |
|   |   | Employer's Name   | City and State   |  |               | ١.                  | ĺ         |  |
| 1. Salary, Wages,<br>and Compensa-      |   | ***************************************                                   |  | \${.   |               | \$                  |           |  |
| tion for Personal                       |   |   |  |  |               |                     |           |  |
| Services                                |   |   |  |  |               |                     |           |  |
| (Manhers of                             | T-4-1   |   |  | \$   |               | \$                  |           |  |
| armed forces see                        | Lear D  | eductible expenses. (Ana  | ch itemized statement)   |  |               |                     |           |  |
| Instruction 1)                          | Comp  | ensation after deductible   | expenses   | \$   |               | \$                  |           |  |
| 2. Dividends.                           |   |   |  |  |               |                     |           |  |
| 3. Interest on                          | corporation b   | onds, bank deposits, note   | s, etc   |  |               |                     |           |  |
| 4. Interest on                          | Government  | obligations, etc.: (a) Fro  | om line A (8), Schedule A<br>om line B (5) and (3), Schedule A   | -  |               | *****               | XX        |  |
|   |   | (b) Fro   |  |  |               |                     |           |  |
| 5. Annuities                            | :- ( l) (   | am cale or exchange of ca   | pital assets. (From Schedule U)  |  |               | *****               | 11        |  |
| /2\ N-+                                 | - / t\ f  | cale or exchange of property  | nther than capital assets. (From Schedule B).  | l  |               |                     |           |  |
| 7 D                                     |   | 61.11.6(1)  |  | l  |               |                     |           |  |
| 8 Net profit (                          | or loss) from l   | ousiness or profession. (Fr   | om Schedule C (2))   |  |               |                     |           |  |
| (State to                               | stal receipts f   | rom line 1. Schedule C(2)   | \$)  | 1 1  |               |                     | )         |  |
| 9. Income (or                           | loss) from par  | rtnerships; fiduciary incom   | ne; and other income. (From Schedule C(3)).  | \$   |               | •                   |           |  |
| 10. Tot                                 | al income in i  | DEDUCTIONS  | ***************************************  |  |               | -                   |           |  |
| II. Contributi                          | ons. Caplain in   | Schedule D)   |  | \$   |               | *****               | xx        |  |
| 12 Interest                             | Control to Patients   | E) (See Instructions 12 and 16 for 1                                      | lictory Tax deduction)   | ]  |               | *****               | XX        |  |
| 12 T m                                  |   | Co., tamer and I and I for Viet   | ory Tax deduction)   |  |               | *****               | XX        |  |
| 14. Losses from                         | n fire, storm, s  | hipwreck, or other casualt  | y, or theft. (Eaplain in Schedule G)   |  |               |                     | XX        |  |
| 15. Medical, d                          | ental, etc., ex   | penses. (Explain in Schedule II).   | dule G)  |  |               | s                   |           |  |
| 17 Tot                                  | al deductions   | in items II to 16   |  | \$   |               | \$                  | 1         |  |
| 10 T T.                                 | v net income  | Green 10 col 1 less item  | 17. col. 1)  | \$   |               | *****               | XX        |  |
| 19. Victory Ta                          | x net income  | (item 10, col. 2, less item   | 17. col. 2)  | ******   | хx            | \$                  | <u> </u>  |  |
|   |   | INCOME AND  | VICTORY TAX  |  |               |                     |           |  |
| 20. Unpaid ba                           | lance of 1943   | Income and Victory Tax  | (from line 22, page 4)   | to one b   | - If          | \$                  |           |  |
| of item                                 | 19 (c), page 4.   | Enter the amount post   | 5, 1945, payment of the amount you poned. (For persons whose surtax  | net income for 1:                                | 744           |                     |           |  |
| 22. Amount n                            | The state of the second   | -turn Citam 20 lace itam 2  | 1)   |  |               | \$                  | <u> </u>  |  |
| (                                       | If the total  | of your payments (line 2  | (d) on page 4) is larger than your   | tax (line 20 on pa                               | age           | \$                  | 1         |  |
| 23. Refund or<br>Credit                 | 4), enter<br>Indicate by:   | the differencea check mark (V) what yo                                    | ou want done with this overpayment:  | Refund it to me                                  | □;            |                     | -         |  |
| I declare una                           | Apply it on my 1944 estimated tax  I declare under the penalties of perjury, that this return (including any accompanying schedules and statements) has been examined by me and to the best of my |   |  |  |               |                     |           |  |

THOSE WHOSE INCOME IS SOLELY FROM SALARIES MAY DISREGARD THIS PAGE PAGE 8
Schodule A—INTEREST AND OWNERSHIP OF TAXABLE GOVERNMENT OBLIGATIONS, ETC. (See Instruction of

|   | THE CHILL                                 | 51111 01 11                       | AAABI                    | LE GOVER                                      | COMENT            | BLICAT                                    | IONS, ETC   | : (See                           | Instruction   | 4)              |
|---|---|-----------------------------------|--------------------------|---|-------------------|---|---|----------------------------------|---|-----------------|
|   | 1. Obligations                            | of securities                     |                          |   |                   | 2 Amor<br>(par v<br>St                    | unt owned at end<br>value except for U<br>ates savings bond | of year<br>Juited<br>is)         | 3. later  | <b>*</b>        |
| A. Subject to surtax only:  |   |                                   |                          |   |                   | —j  |   | <del></del>                      | l   |                 |
| (1) United States savings bonds (co   | st price) and Treas                       | sury bonds issue                  | ed prior (               | to March 1, 1                                 | 941               | \$  | ******  | .                                | 3   | 1               |
| (2) Less: Wholly tax-exempt po  | tion, principal ame                       | ount not in exce                  | es of \$5.               | .000  |                   |   |   |                                  | ***************************************                           |                 |
| (3) Net taxable interest  |   |                                   |                          |   |                   |   | ******  | x x                              | •   |                 |
| (4) Obligations of instrumentalities<br>land banks, Federal intermed<br>(5) Divided to the control of | of the United Stat                        | es issued prior                   | to Marci                 | h I. 1941 (oth                                | er than Feder     | al }                                      |   | 1                                | *   | {               |
| (5) Dividends on share accounts in<br>March 28, 1942  | Lederal savings at                        | nd loan associat                  | tions in (               | case of shares                                | issued prior      | \$  |   | -                                |   |                 |
| (6) Subtotal for interest (total of li  |   | **********                        |                          |   | *                 | 1111                                      | *****   | 2 2                              |   |                 |
| (7) Less: Amortizable hand men  | nes 3, 4, and 3)                          |                                   |                          | ••••••  |                   |   | * * * * * * *   | 2 2                              | \$  |                 |
| . ,   | num. (See Instru                          | ction 16)                         |                          |   |                   |   | *****   | 11                               | *************   |                 |
| (8) Balance of interest. (Enter as<br>B. Subject to normal tax, surtax, and   | tem 4 (a), column                         | 1, page 1)                        |                          |   |                   | × × × ×                                   | *****   | x x                              | \$  |                 |
| (1) United States savings bonds issu<br>(2) Other obligations issued on or a<br>(include also Treasury notes i  | ed on or after Mari<br>ter March 1, 1941. | ch 1, 1941 (cost<br>by the United | price)<br>States or      | r any instrum                                 | entality there    | \$  |   |                                  | \$  |                 |
| (3) Subtotal for interest (see Left)  | and on or arer D                          | ecember 1, 1940                   | "                        |   | ••                |   | ·   |                                  |   | <u></u>         |
| (3) Subtotal for interest (total of li<br>(4) Less: Amortizable bond prest  | hesiand 2). (Ex                           | nter 86 item 4 (                  | b), colur                | mn 2, page i)                                 |                   |   | * * * * * *   | * *                              | \$  |                 |
|   | uum. (See Instruc                         | tion 16)                          |                          |   |                   | × × × × ×                                 | *****   | xx                               | <u> </u>  |                 |
| (5) Balance of interest. (Enter as  | tem 4 (è), column                         | , page 1)                         |                          |   |                   | XXX                                       | *****   | x x                              | \$  |                 |
| Schedule B.—Schedule B<br>exchanges of capital assets an  |   |                                   |                          |   | 100 MILLI EI      | scasa po                                  | ing gains a<br>art of this                                  | nd lo                            | sees from a   | ales or         |
| Schedu  | o C(1).—INCO                              | ME FROM                           | RENT                     | S AND RO                                      | YALTIES           | (See In                                   | struction   |                                  |   |                 |
| 1. Kind of property   | 2 Amount                                  | 3. Depree                         |                          |   |                   |   |   |                                  | No Co / I   | <del></del>     |
| . Kee a property  | Z Amoust                                  | (ear                              | iain below               | 4. Rep  | airs (captain bel | nr) 3. Other                              | expenses (itemiz<br>below)                                  | eur<br>(d                        | Net profit (column<br>n of columns 3, 4, a<br>enter as stem 7, pa | and 5)<br>re !) |
| ***************************************   | \$  | \$                                |                          | \$  |                   | \$  |   | . \$                             |   |                 |
|   |   |                                   |                          |   |                   |   |   |                                  | 1   |                 |
|   |   |                                   |                          |   | 1                 |   |   |                                  |   |                 |
| Schedule C(2)   | -PROFIT (OR                               | LOSS) FRO                         | OM BU                    | USINESS C                                     | OR PROFE          | SSION.                                    | (See Instr  | netion                           | 8)  |                 |
| (State (1) nature of business   |   |                                   |                          |   |                   |   | 1000 1111   | decion                           |   |                 |
| I. Total receipts   |   |                                   |                          |   | ; (2) busine:     | is name                                   |   |                                  |   | )               |
| ,   |   |                                   |                          |   |                   |   |   |                                  | \$  | 1               |
| COST OF COODS SOLD  | ł   | 1 1                               |                          |   | BUSINESS I        |   |   | - 1                              |   | 1               |
| (To be used where inventories are an income determining factor)   | *   | 11.                               | Salarie                  | and wages t                                   | ot included a     | a "Labor" (                               | do not deduct   | com-                             |   | 1               |
| (Enter the letters "C." or "C or M." on lines 2<br>8 if inventories are valued at either cost, or co-<br>market, whichever is lower)  | and<br>It or                              | 1 (                               | pens                     | ation for you<br>t on business                | rself)            |   |   |                                  | <b>\$</b>   |                 |
| 2. Inventory at beginning of year   | \$  |                                   |                          | n business an                                 |                   |   |   |                                  |   |                 |
| 3. Merchandise bought for sale  |   |                                   |                          | (explain belo                                 |                   |   |   |                                  |   |                 |
| 4. Labor  |   |                                   |                          | bts arising fro                               |                   |   |   | /-                               |   |                 |
| 5. Material and supplies.   |   |                                   |                          |   |                   |   |   |                                  |   | -               |
| 6. Other costs (explain below)  |   |                                   |                          | ation, obsoles                                |                   |   |   |                                  |   | -}              |
| 7. Total of lines 2 to 6  | \$  |                                   |                          | epairs, and ot                                |                   |   |   |                                  |   | -               |
| 8. Less inventory at end of year  | *   |                                   |                          | zation of emer                                |                   |   |   |                                  |   |                 |
| 9. Net cost of goods sold (line 7 less lin  |   | 19.                               |                          | Total of lines                                |                   |   |   | · <u> </u>                       | \$ <u>,</u>   |                 |
|   |   | 20.                               |                          | otal of lines                                 |                   |   |   |                                  | \$  |                 |
| 10. Gross profit (line 1 less line 9)   | \$  | 21.                               | Net pro                  | ht (or loss) (l                               | ine I less line   | 20). (Enter                               | r as item 8, pa   | ge 1)                            | \$  |                 |
| EXPLANATIO  | N OF DEDUCTIO                             | N FOR DEPR                        | ECIATI                   | ON CLAIME                                     | D IN COLU         | AND E NN                                  | LINE 16, AB   | OVE                              |   |                 |
| 1. Kind of property (If buildings, state material of which constructed)   |   | d. Assets fu                      | ally depre-<br>se at end | 5. Depreciat<br>lowed (or allo<br>in prior ye | wable) other      | mining cost or<br>basis to be<br>stovered | 7. Estimated<br>life used in<br>accumulat-<br>ing depre-    | 8. Estima<br>remains<br>lde from | ng 9. Depreci   | istion<br>this  |
|   |   | <u>-</u>                          | <del></del>              | <u> </u>                                      | <del></del> -     |   | ciation   | of year                          | 700   |                 |
| ************************  | \$  | \$                                |                          | -[\$  | -[] \$            |   | [   |                                  | \$  |                 |
|   |   |                                   |                          | -   | -                 |   | -   |                                  | ·   | ļ               |
|   |   | <u> </u>                          |                          | · <u>{</u>                                    | ·}                |   | l   |                                  |   |                 |
|   | N OF DEDUCTIO                             | NS CLAIMED                        | IN COL                   | UMNS 4 AN                                     | D S, AND L        | NES 6, 14,                                | AND 17, AB  | OVE                              |   |                 |
| I. Column or Line No. 2. Explanat   | ion                                       | 3. Aznouz                         | nt                       | I. Calumn or<br>Line No.                      | )                 | 2. Explen                                 | ation.  |                                  | J. Amoust   |                 |
|   |   | \$                                |                          |   |                   |   |   |                                  |   | <u> </u>        |
|   |   | <u> </u>                          | []                       |   |                   |   |   |                                  |   |                 |
| Schedule C(3).—INCOME   | FROM PART                                 | NERSHIPS,                         | FIDU                     | CIARIES,                                      | AND OTI           | TER SOL                                   | JRCES. (S   | See In                           | struction 9   | )               |
| Name and address of partnership, syndi  | CALL etc                                  |                                   |                          |   |                   |   |   | -                                |   |                 |
| Name and address of fiduciary   |   |                                   |                          |   |                   |   | Amo   |                                  |   |                 |
| Other income (state nature)   |   |                                   |                          |   |                   |   | Amo   | unt.                             |   |                 |
|   |   |                                   |                          |   |                   |   | Amo   | unt.                             | ,,,,  |                 |
| Total (enter as item 9, page 1)   |   |                                   |                          |   |                   |   |   | s                                |   |                 |
| **01138-1   |   |                                   |                          |   |                   |   |   |                                  |   | _               |

| Schedule D.—CONTRIBUTIONS.  | (See In                              | truction 11)      |           | Sch                         | edule E.—INTERES                        | T. (See I             | nstru          | ction 12)                         | ge 8    |
|---|--------------------------------------|-------------------|-----------|-----------------------------|---|-----------------------|----------------|-----------------------------------|---------|
| I. Name and Address of Organization                                       |                                      | 2. Amount         | T         | <del></del>                 | 1. To Whom Paid                         |                       |                | 2. Amount                         |         |
|   | <del></del>  -                       | T                 | -         |                             |   |                       |                |                                   |         |
|   | \$                                   |                   |           |                             |   |                       | *              |                                   |         |
|   |                                      |                   | -         |                             |   |                       |                |                                   |         |
|   |                                      |                   |           |                             |   |                       |                |                                   |         |
|   | <u></u>                              | <u></u>           |           | T . 1                       | (Enter as item 12, page                 | 1)                    |                |                                   |         |
| Total (Enter as item 11, page 1, subject to 15% in                        |                                      |                   | <u>  </u> |                             | LOSSES AND OTHER                        |                       |                |                                   | 16)     |
| Schedule F.—TAXES. (See   | Instruction                          |                   |           | ), Item No.                 | 2 Erolana                               |                       | · ·            | 3. Amount                         | <u></u> |
| I. Nature   |                                      | 2 Amount          | _         | I. Item No.                 |   |                       |                |                                   |         |
| <u>.</u>  | \$.                                  |                   |           |                             |   |                       |                | \$                                |         |
| ····  |                                      |                   |           |                             |   |                       |                |                                   |         |
| **************************************                                    |                                      | ·                 |           |                             |   | ***********           |                |                                   |         |
|   |                                      | <u></u>           |           |                             |   |                       |                |                                   |         |
| Total. (Enter as item 13. page 1)   | }.                                   |                   |           |                             |   |                       |                |                                   |         |
|   |                                      |                   | , ET      | C., EXPER                   | SES. (See Instruc                       |                       |                | 3. Amount                         |         |
| l. Name and Address of Person   | to Whom Pay                          | ments Were Made   |           |                             | 2. Approximate Date of                  | Actual 1 system       |                |                                   | Γ       |
| *****   |                                      |                   |           |                             |   | ••                    | 3              |                                   |         |
|   |                                      |                   |           |                             |   |                       |                |                                   |         |
|   |                                      |                   |           |                             |   |                       |                |                                   |         |
|   |                                      |                   |           |                             |   |                       |                | *                                 | -       |
| 1. Total medical, dental, etc., expenses actually pe                      | uid during th                        | e year as shown i | u coja    | ımn 3, above                |   |                       |                | ð                                 |         |
| 2. Amount received during the year as compensa-                           | tion for sucl                        | n expenses        |           |                             |   |                       |                | *******************************   | 3222    |
| 3. Payment for medical care not compensated for                           | during the                           | year (line I less | line 2    | )                           | · <del></del>                           |                       |                | ¥                                 |         |
| 4. Total income in item 10, page 1  |                                      |                   |           |                             | \$                                      |                       |                |                                   | 1       |
| 5. Taxal Administrations alried in items 11, 12, 13, 1                    | 14. and 16. p                        | age               |           |                             |   |                       |                |                                   | !       |
| 6. Net income before deduction for medical, denta                         | il, etc., exper                      | nses (line 4 less | line 5)   | )                           | <u> </u>                                |                       |                |                                   | 1       |
| - Co. (): (   |                                      |                   |           |                             |   |                       |                |                                   |         |
| 8. Excess of line 3 over line 7. (Enter as item 15.                       | page 1, sub                          | ject to maximum   | limit     | ation.) (See                | Instruction 15)                         |                       |                | \$                                | .       |
| Schedule 1.—PERSONAL EXEM   | APTION                               | AND CREDI         | T F       | OR DEPEN                    | DENTS. (See Tax                         | Computa               | tion I         | nstructions)                      |         |
| Schedule I.—PERSONAL EXEM   | AFTION .                             | AND CREEK         |           |                             |   |                       |                |                                   |         |
| (1) Personal Exem   | ption                                |                   |           | .                           | (2) Credit f                            |                       |                | Credit clain                      |         |
|   | Number of                            | 1                 |           | Number of m<br>during the y |   |                       |                | (Head of a farr<br>not claim cred | aly ma  |
| Status  | months<br>during the<br>year in each | Credit chim       | ed        | Name of                     | dependent and relationship              | Under 18<br>years old | 15 years       | pendent used t                    | toquali |
|   | status.                              | ·                 |           |                             | years old                               | or over               | August Nead or | a lamily                          |         |
| Single, or married and not living with husband                            |                                      | 1                 | 1         |                             |   | 1 1                   |                |                                   | 1       |
| or wife, and not head of family   |                                      | s                 | \         |                             |   | .                     |                | - \$                              |         |
| Married and living with husband or wife                                   |                                      |                   |           |                             |   |                       |                | -                                 | -       |
| Head of a family (explain below)  |                                      |                   | l         |                             |   |                       |                |                                   | .       |
| Ficad of & faithly (explain below)  |                                      |                   |           |                             |   |                       |                | <u>.l</u>                         | <u></u> |
|   |                                      |                   |           | Reason for                  | support if 18 years                     |                       |                |                                   |         |
|   |                                      |                   |           | 1                           |   |                       |                |                                   |         |
| Schedule J.—COMPUTAT  | FIGN. OF                             | CARNED IN         | CON       |                             |   | utation Ir            | ıstruc         | tions)                            |         |
| Schedule J.—COMPUTA  (1) If your net income is \$3,000 or LE: of schedule |                                      |                   | (2)       | If your n                   | et income is MORE                       | than 53,              | 000, u         | se only this                      | pert    |
| of schedule   | <del>-</del>                         | <u> </u>          |           |                             | e (not more than \$14,000               |                       |                |                                   | T       |
| Net income (item 18, page 1)  | \$                                   |                   |           |                             |   | /                     |                |                                   |         |
| Earned income credit (10% of net income                                   |                                      |                   | Fee       | ned income c                | 18, page 1)<br>redit (10% of earned net | income or 1           | 0%             |                                   |         |
| above)  |                                      |                   | -0        | net income,                 | above, whichever amounts than \$300)    | t is smaller,         | but            |                                   | 1       |
|   |                                      |                   |           |                             | 3 tilati 3.00/                          | *******               |                |                                   | -1.000  |
|   |                                      | -                 |           | TIONS                       |   |                       |                | 4 4 4                             |         |
| 1. Did you file a return for any prior year?                              |                                      | If so, what w     | 2.0       |                             | e rate of your salary or                |                       | aseq ur        | occreased durin                   | ng you  |
| the latest year? To which   | Collector's                          | office was it ser | t?        | i taxal                     | ble year? (Yes or No)                   |                       |                |                                   |         |
| 2. If you claimed credit for tax paid in line 21 (                        | c), page 4. to                       | o which Collecto  | 7.        | 6. Did vo                   | n receive during your ta                | xable year a          | ny amo         | unt claimed to l                  | be mon  |
| office was your declaration sent?   |                                      |                   |           | taval                       | ble (see General Instructi              | ion I)?               |                | . If so, attach s                 |         |
| If separate return was made for the current y                             | ear. state:                          |                   |           | show                        | ring source, nature, and a              | mount of suc          | h incom        | ж.                                |         |
| (a) Name of husband or wife   |                                      |                   |           |                             |   |                       |                |                                   |         |
| (b) Personal exemption, if any, claimed there                             |                                      |                   |           | 7. Did yo                   | ou at any time during y                 | our taxable           | year ow        | n directly or in                  | direct  |
| (c) Collector's office to which it was sent                               |                                      |                   |           | any                         | stock of a foreign corp-                | oration, or a         | person         | el polding comb                   | MIT .   |
|   |                                      |                   |           |                             |   |                       |                |                                   |         |

| COMPUTATION OF INCOME AND VICTORY TAX. (See Tax Comput.  |   | ns) p.                                   | 'agá 4         |
|--|---|--|----------------|
| 1. Income Tax net income (item 18, page 1).  |   | 1  |                |
| Z. Less: Personal exemption. (From Schedule 1-(1))   |   |  | 1              |
| 3. Credit for dependents. (From Schedule 1-(2))  | ļ   |  | 1              |
| 4. Balance (surtax net income)   |   |  | بتتننه         |
| 5. Less: Certain interest on Government obligations (item 4 (a), page 1)   | •   | -1                                       | 1              |
| b. Earned income credit. (From Schedule J-(I) or J-(Z)).   |   |  | 1              |
| /. Balance subject to normal tax   |   |  |                |
| 8. Normal tax (6% of line 7)   |   | 1  |                |
| 9. Surfax on amount in line 4. (See Surfax Table, page 3 of Instructions)  |   |  | 1              |
| (U. 10tal Income 1 ax (line 6 pitts line 9). (If Schedule it is used and absence as a control of the line of the l |   |  |                |
| 11. Less: Income I ax paid to a foreign country or U.S. possession. (Attach Form 116)  |   | 1  | ·              |
| 12. BALANCE OF INCOME TAX.   |   |  |                |
| 13. NET VICTORY TAX (line 6 of Victory Tax Schedule, below)  |   |  | 1              |
| 14. I otal of lines 12 and 13  |   | _  | -              |
| D. Income Tax paid at source on tax-free covenant bond interest. (See Footnote 1)  |   | 1  |                |
| 10. Lane 14 less line 15   |   |  |                |
| 17. income Tax for 1942. (See Statement, Form 1125, from Collector) (First, see page 4 of 1  | Instructions)                             |  |                |
| 18. Enter line 16 or 17 whichever is LARGER. (Members of the armed forces see page 4 of Inst   | ructions)                                 | - \$<br>\$                               |                |
| 9. FURGIVENESS FEATURE (Don't fill in (a), (b) and (c) below if either line 16 or 17 is  | ¢50 on lass\.                             | ***************************************  | ·              |
| (a) Enter line 16 or 17, whichever is SMALLER  | e or ress):                               |  | {              |
| (b) Enter 300 or three-tourths of (a) immediately above whichever is I ARCFR. This is 1  | 1   |  |                |
| the FORGIVEN part of the tax   | .   |  | ſ              |
| (c) Enter the UNFORGIVEN part of the tax which is the BALANCE (subtract (b)  | ( (-)) (C                                 | ={ !                                     | 4              |
| Footnote 2)  |   | 1  |                |
| 0. TOTAL INCOME AND VICTORY TAX. (Total of lines 18 and 19 (c))  |   |  |                |
| 11. Less: (a) Income and Victory Tax withheld by employer  |   | \$                                       | ·              |
| (b) Income Tax paid on 1942 income   | •   | ~  | i              |
| (6) Income Tax paid on 1942 income   |   |  | ſ              |
| (d) Total payments   |   | =(                                       | ļ              |
| 2. UNPAID BALANCE OF INCOME AND VICTORY TAX. (If line 20 is larger than line   | 21 (4)                                    |  |                |
| difference here and also as item 20, page 1; if not, see item 23, page 1).   | : 21 (a), enter the                       | ·  (                                     | (              |
| OOTNOTE 1 — If you claim a credit in line 15, disregard lines 19 (a) and (b), complete Schedule L-1 on page 4 of   |   | <u>.   }</u>                             | 1              |
| Attach completed schedule.  OOTNOTE 2.—If your auriax net income for 1942 nr 1943 exceeded \$20,000 years labor and the control of the labor.  | Instructions, and                         | inter result in line                     | 19 (c).        |
| OOTNOTE 2.—If your surriex not income for 1942 or 1943 exceeded \$20,000, requiring you to complete Schedule I or 27 of such schedule, \$  | L-2, enter here the                       | mount shown on l                         | iine 10        |
| Schedule KVICTORY TAX. (See Tax Computation Instru   |   |  |                |
|  |   |  |                |
| 1. Victory Tax net income (item 19, page 1)  |   | . \$                                     |                |
| 2. Less: Specific exemption (\$624 if return reports income of only one person; otherwise, see Inst  | tructions, page 3)                        |  |                |
| 3. Income subject to Victory Tax (line 1 less line 2).   |   |  |                |
| 4. Victory Tax before credit (3% of fine 3)  |   | . \$                                     |                |
| 5. Victory Tax credit:   |   | 1  | 1              |
| (a) Single person, or married person not living with husband or wife: 25% (plus 2% for   | each dependent)                           |  | İ              |
| of line 4, but not more than \$500 (plus \$100 for each dependent)   |   | 1.                                       |                |
| (b) Married person living with husband or wife if separate returns are filed: 40% (plus 2% for   | reach demandant)                          |  |                |
| <ul> <li>of line 4, but not more than \$500 (plus \$100 for each dependent).</li> </ul>  |   | 1 .                                      |                |
| (c) Married person living with husband or wife if only one return or a joint return is filed, or l   | head of a family.                         | V  | ******         |
| 40% (plus 2% for each dependent) of line 4, but not more than \$1,000 (plus \$100 for a  | each denendent)                           | 1  |                |
| (See Schedule I-(2), for exclusion of one dependent by head of a family).  |   |  |                |
| 6. Net Victory Tax (line 4 less line 5). (Enter in line 13. above)   | ***************************************   | . 4                                      | .,             |
| Schodule 1 To be sized all the state of the  |   |  |                |
| Schedule L.—To be used only by individuals whose surtax net income for 1942<br>Schedule to determine whether Section 6 (c) of the Current Tax Payment Ac   | or 1943 exceeded<br>at of 1943 is appl    | 1 \$20,000<br>icable                     |                |
| l. Surtax net income for 1942 (item 23, Form 1040 (1942))  |   | <del></del> _                            | _              |
| 2. Surfax net income for 1943 (line 4. above)  |   | •  |                |
| 3. Surtax net income for base year, \$ plus \$20,000: \$ (0  | Ch -1 '                                   | 1027 1022                                | •              |
| 1939; 1940)  | uneck year used:                          | 1937,; 1938                              | ;              |
| If either line 1 or 2 is greater than line 3, separate Schedule L-2 should be secured from the col   |   |  |                |
| this return.   | nector and hied w                         | nth and as a par                         | rt of          |
|  |   |  |                |
|  | r the aggregate of t<br>ed in the same ma | he separate surtas<br>nner as the surtar | s net<br>s net |

Note: The repeal of Section 6(c) of the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943 made the use of Schedule L, unnecessary.

373

# INSTRUCTIONS FOR FORM 1040. UNITED STATES INDIVIDUAL INCOME AND VICTORY TAX RETURN

(References are to the Internal Revenue Code, unless otherwise noted);

Page 1

1943

#### GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

1943

A. WHO MUST MAKE A RETURN .- Every citizen and resident of the United States naving during the taxable year, gross income (income derived from any source whatever, unless exempt from tax by law) in an amount specified below, regardless of the amount of net income, shall make a return if:

(1) Single for the entire year and gross income equals or exceeds... (2) Married but not living with husband or wife for any part of the year and gross income equals or

(3) Married and living with husband or wife for any part of the year or for the entire year, and-Gross income exceeds ....

Combined gross income of husband and wife

which they are married.

which they are married.

Joint Return.—May be filed by husband and wife only if they are (1) both citizens or residents of the United States and (2) living together at the end of the taxable year. A joint return permissible even though one has no gross income. In a joint return the aggregate income, deductions, and credits are computed as though husband and wife were one person.

urn the aggregate income, deductions, and creates are computed as though husband and wife were one person.

Deceased Individuals.—The return for the period to the date of death of a decedent is a return for a fractional part of a year, and the credit for personal exemption (as well as credit as head of a family and for dependents) is reduced proportionately to the number of months in such period. The return is required of Form 1040, not Form 1040, and its required in gross income to date of death is equal to, or in excess of, the credit for personal exemption as so reduced, or in excess of \$624. Amounts (other than amounts includible by a partner under section 182 in computing net income) which would be includible in the net income of, or allowable as deductions and credits to, a decedent solely by reason of his death shall not be included in computing the decedent's income for the taxable period in which falls the date of death. All amounts of gross income which are not includible in the income of the decedent will, when received, be includible in the income of the decedent will, when received, be includible in the income of the decedent will, when received, be includible in the income of the destate or person receiving such amounts by inheritance or survivorship from the decedent under section 126.

B. FORM OF RETURN.—Citizens and resident allein individuals use Form 1040, except that those whose gross income, com-

B. FORM OF RETURN—Citizens and resident alien individuals use Form 1040, except that those whose gross income, computed on the cash basis for the calendar year, is not more than \$3,000 and consists wholly of salary, wages, other compensation for personal services, dividends, interest, or annutites may use optional Form 1040A. In the case of a husband and wife living together at any time during the year, separate returns may not be made on Form 1040A unless each elects to use that form. Nonresident aliens use Form 1040B or 1040NB. Fiduciaries for estates and trusts use Form 1041.

C. FILING OF RETURNS.—File on or before 15th day of 3d month following close of taxable year with Collector of Internal Revenue for the district in which the taxpayer has his legal residence or principal place of business. If the taxpayer has no legal residence or place of business in United States, file with Collector of Internal Revenue at Baltimore 2, Md. The taxpayer's home address must be given and a permanent busiaddress may be added.

ness address may be added.

D. PAYMENT OF TAX.—The tax shown on the return may be paid in cash at the collector's office or by check or money order hayable to "Collector of Internal Revenue." The Income and Victory Tax imposed for the taxable year must be paid in full on or before the 15th day of the 3d month following the close of the taxable year. For information regarding postponement of payment of part of the tax, see item 21, page 1, of the return.

E. POSTPONEMENTS DUE TO WAR.—In cases of (a)

E. POSTPONEMENTS JUE TO WAR.—In cases of (a) members of the armed forces of the United States serving outside the continental United States or on sea duty, (b) civilian employees of the United States outside of the Americas for more than 90 days continuously but detained by an enemy government or beleaguered or besigeed by enemy forces, and (c) other individuals outside the Americas for more than 90 days continuously, the due date for filing returns and making

payment of tax is for (a) and (b), the 15th day of the 4th month following return to the United States and, for (c), the 91st day after return to the Americas, or, in either case, the 15th day of the 3d month following the month in which the war ends, whichever is the earlier.

F. PENALTIES.-Severe penalties are imposed for failing to file a required return, for late filing, and for filing a faise or fraudulent return.

fraudulent return.

G. BECLARATION.—The return shall contain or be verified by a written declaration that it is made under the penalties of perjury. The return may be made by an agent if the taxpayer is (1) too ill to make it or (2) absent from the United States for 60 days before the due date. A power of attorney on Form 395 must accompany the return made by an agent. Person or persons actually preparing the return for the taxpayer must also sign the declar, ion.

H. RECEIVED OR ACCRUED INCOME.—If books are kept H. RECEIVED OR ACCRUED INCOME—II books are kep-on accrual basis, report all income accrued, even though not received, and expenses incurred even though not paid. If books are not kept on accrual basis, or if no books are kept, report all income actually or constructively received, and all expenses paid.

I. ITEMS EXEMPT FROM TAX.—As to items of income exempt from tax other than those listed below, see sections 22 (b) and 116.

(1) Interest on governmental obligations other than those listed in Schedule

A is exempt.

(2) Proceeds of insurance policies.—The proceeds of life insurance policies, paid by reason of the death of the insured, are exempt. If any part of the proceeds is held by the insurer under an agreement to pay interest, the interest is taxable. Amounts received under a life insurance or endowment policy, not payable by reason of the death of the insurance or endowment policy, not payable by reason of the death of the insured, are not taxable until the aggregate of the amounts received exceeds the premiums or consideration paid for the policy. (See Specific Instruction & as to basable on & annutiaes.)

aggregate of the annuals received exceeds the symmetric of annualism.)

(3) Mincellancous items wholly exempt from tax:

(3) Mincellancous items wholly exempt from tax:

(4) Exempt from the second of the symmetric from the stable of the symmetric from the stable):

(5) Exempt in the case of amounts attributable to (and not in excess of) deductions allowed under section 23 (a) in any prior taxable year, amounts of deductions allowed under section 23 (a) in any prior taxable year, amounts of the symmetric from the symmetri

for services rendered by the vectors in time of war savings accounts to the extent that they represent deposits made before March 1.994;

(1) Income other than nest derived by a leaso of real property upon the term of the property of the savings accounts to the extent that they represent deposits made before March 1.994;

(2) Income other than nest derived by a leaso of real property starbulasts to buildings exected or other improvements made by the lease;

(2) Income attributable to the recovery during the taxable year of a lad debt, prior tax, or definuency amount, to the creent that such debt, tax, or definuency amount, to the creent that such debt, tax, or definuency amount, to the creent that such debt, tax, or definuency amount, to the creent that such debt, tax, or amount; and

(A) Compensation not exceeding \$1,500, received by a member of the military or nead forces of the United States for active service in such access the same than the same trivial and the same trivial an

#### SPECIFIC INSTRUCTIONS

'(Numbered to correspond with item numbers on page 1 of return)

I. SALARIES, ETC.—Enter the amount received as salaries, lees, bonuses, commissions, and other compensation for personal services. This means the amounts before deductions for taxes, leduction for ordinary and explain in Schedule D, your eleuction with ordinary and explain claimed as a selection with your occupation, should be fully explained in an attached statement. Include commensation received as an officiation of the United States and instrumentally ties, issued prior to March 1, 1941, owned by partnership, estate, or trust. Include in item 11, and explain in Schedule D, your eleuction with your occupation, should be fully explained in an attached statement. Include commensation received as an official received in the commensation received as an official received in the commensation received as an official received in the commensation received as an official received in the commensation received as an official received in the commensation received as an official received in the commensation received as an official received in the commensation received as an official received in the commensation received as an official received as an official received in the commensation received as an official received in the commensation received as an official received in the commensation received as an official received in the commensation received in the commensati fees, bonuses, commissions, and other compensation for personal services. This means the amounts before deductions for taxes, union dues, health insurance, etc. Any amount claimed as a deduction for acceptance of the compensation of the compensat union dues, health insurance, etc. Any amount claimed as a deduction for ordinary and necessary expenses against salaries, etc., such as traveling expenses while away from home in connection with your occupation, should be fully explained in an attached statement. Include compensation received as an officer or employee of a State or political subdivision or any agency or instrumentality thereof.

2. DIVIDENDS.—Enter the total of all taxable dividends, Include dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations in case of shares issued on or after March 28, 1942; dividends on shares issued before that date should be entered in

Schedule A.

3. INTEREST ON CORPORATION BONDS, NOTES, BANK DEPOSITS, ETC.—Enter interest received or accrued, as the case may be, on bonds, debentures, notes, certificates or other evidences of indebtedness, or similar interest-bearing obligations.

case may be, on bonus, accentures, notes, certificates or other evidences of indebtedness, or similar interest-bearing obligations.

4. INTEREST AND OWNERSHIP OF TAXABLE GOVERNMENT OBLIGATIONS. ETC.—Enter in Schedule A the amount owned at the end of the year of the various obligations listed therein and the interest received or accrued during the year which is subject to Federal tax. In the case of United States Savings Bonds, the taxpayer may elect to report the accrual of redemption value either as it occurs each year (see paragraph below) or in a lump sum when finally received. In the case of other obligations, the taxpayer may elect to amortize bond premium, thereby reducing the amount of interest subject to the contribution of the principal amount of United States Savings Bonds owned should be entered in Schedule A at cost and the principal amount of all other securities owned should be entered at pur or face amount.

Nanitariate same obligations issued at a discount—Taxpayer on the cash

Lies owned should be entered at par or face amount.

Noninterst-bearing obligations issued at a discount.—Transper on the cash
basis may elect, as to all noninterest-bearing obligations issued at a discount.

Noninterstand to the control of the c

subsequent years.

5. ANNUITIES.—Amounts received as an annuity under an annuity or endowment contract shall be included in gross income to the extent of 3 percent of the aggregate premiums or consideration paid for such annuity. If the aggregate of the amounts received and excluded from gross income in this and prior years equals the aggregate premiums or consideration paid for such annuity, the entire amount thereafter received must be included in gross income.

6. GAINS AND LOSSES.—For instructions relating to net gain (or loss) from the sale or exchange of capital assets and other property, see Schedule B (Form 1040).

other property, see Schedule B (Form 1949).

7. RENTS AND ROYALTIES.—Fill in Schedule C (1). All allowable deductions should be entered even in the absence of gross income. Include rent received in property or crops. Report crops received on crop-share basis in year in which disposed of (unless return is made on accrual basis).

8. BUSINESS OR PROFESSION.—Fill in Schedule C (2).

8. BUSINESS OR PROPESSION—Fill in Schedule C (2). Farmers keeping no books of account, or keeping books on the cash basis, must attach Form 1040F in lieu of Schedule C (2). A taxpayer electing to include in gross income amounts received during the year as loans from the Commodity Credit Corporation should file with his return a statement showing the details of such loans. (See section 123.)

of such loans. (See section 122.)

If installment method is used, attack scholdle showing separately for years 1940, 1941, 1942, and 1943; (a) Gross sains; (b) cost of scools sold; (c) gross profits; (d) percentages of profits to gross profit on amount collected.

Bad debts may be treated in either of two ways—(11) by a deduction from Jaconse in respect of dobts ascertained to be werthless in whole or in part, or both the profits of the

perposet will be disallowed as a deduction.

9. (a) INCOME FROM PARTNERSHIPS, FIDUCLARIES, ETC., WHOSE TAXABLE YEAR ENDS WITHIN THE TAXABLE YEAR ENDS WITHIN THE TAXABLE YEAR GOVERED BY YOUR RETURN.—Fill in Schedule C (3). Include your share of profits (whether remote or only or lossess of a partnership (including a syndicate, pool, etc., not taxable as a corporation) except capital gains and losses, which should be entered in Schedule B. Include also income from an estate or trust. Enter in Schedule A your share of in-

bond interest.

(b) OTHER INCOME.—Include any other taxable income, such as earnings of minor children if parent is legally entitled thereto and alimony and separate maintenance income.

11. CONTRIBUTIONS PAID.—Explain in Schedule D and enter (not to exceed 15 percent of your net income computed without the benefit of this deduction, or of the deduction for extraordinary medical expenses deductible under section 23 (x)) contributions or gifts, payment of which was made within the year to or for the use of—

(a) A corporation, trut, a companying that find a function is a superior of the contribution.

Year 10 of for this tian of the state of the

12 of the World War Veterans' Act, 1924;

(d) Posts or organizations of war veterans, or auxiliary units or seedstice of any such posts or organizations, if such posts, organizations units, or societies are organized in the United States or any of its beassession, and of the United States or any of its beassession, and of the organization of the United States or any of its beassession, and of the organization of the United States or any of its beassession, and of the organization o

or individual; or

(c) A domestic fraternal society, order, or association, operating under
the lodge system, but only if such contributions or gifts are to be used exclusively for relicious, charitable, scientific, literary, or educational purposes, or
for the prevention of cruelty to children or animals.

Charitable and other contributions are not allowable as a Outside the sine office contributions are not allowable as a deduction in computing the Victory Tax net income, except that in the case of a taxpayer who qualifies under the provisions of section 120, the deduction for contributions is allowable without regard to the 15 percent limitation. (Such deduction should be entered as a part of item 16.)

regard to the 16 percent limitation. (Such deduction should be entered as a part of item 16.)

12. INTEREST—For Income Tax.—Enter interest on personal indebtedness as distinguished from business indebtedness (which should be entered in Schedule C (1) and (2)). No not include interest on indebtedness incurred or continued to purchase or carry obligations (other than obligations of the United States issued after September 24, 1917, and originally subscribed for by the taxpayer) the interest upon which is wholly exempt from taxation. (For limitations on deductions for unpaid expenses and interest, see section 24 (c).) Do not deduct amounts paid or accrued on indebtedness incurred or continued to purchase a single premium life insurance or endowment contract. A contract shall be considered a single premium life insurance or endowment contract if substantially all the premiums on such contract are paid within a period of 4 years from the date on which the contract is purchased.

For Victory Tax.—The deduction generally allowable for the purpose of computing the Victory Tax net income is allowable for the purpose of computing the Victory Tax net income if the indebtedness with respect to which such interest is paid or accrued was incurred (a) in carrying on any trade or business, (b) for the production or collection of income, or (c) for the management, conservation, or maintenance of property held for the production of income. Interest upon indebtedness representing a mortgage upon taxpayer's home is not deductible. Interest upon indebtedness representing a mortgage upon taxpayer's home is not deductible. Interest upon indebtedness incurred incident to the acquisition of property held for investment, even though such property produces no income during the taxable year, is nevertheless deductible. Such deductible interest, not reported in Schedule C (1) or (2) should be included in item 16, column 2, page 1.

13. TAXES—For Income Tax.—Enter taxes paid or accrued during the taxable year estered in Schedule C (1)

or (2) should be included in item 16, column 2, page 1.

13. TAXES—For Income Tax.—Enter taxes paid or accrued during the taxable year except taxes entered in Schedules C (1) and (2) and taxes not deductible.

The taxes imposed by the United States Government on the following items—may be deducted.

Admissions, club dues, telephone and telegraph services, asfe-deposit boxes. Admissions of persons and property, use of motor vehicle or best, and decument, taken

transportation of persons any property use of most recent in the ments, and local retail sales taxes imposed in the first instance upon retailers. But so deducted to extent that they are separately stated and pad by the purchase of the pu

paid by or for an emblore are not deductible by the emblore. For Victory Tax.—Taxes paid or accrued generally allowable for the purpose of computing Income Tax net income are allowable for the purpose of computing Victory Tax net income only if paid or accrued (a) in connection with the carrying on of a

Page 3

trade or business, (b) in connection with property used in the trade or business, or (c) in connection with property held for the production of income. Taxes paid or accrued by a taxpayer with respect to the ownership of his home are not deductible. Such deductible taxes not reported in Schedule C (1) or (2) should be included in item 16, column 2, page 1.

should be included in item 16, column 2, page 1.

14. LOSSES.—Enter property losses (not claimed in Schedule C (2), from fire, storm, shipwreck, or other casualty or from theft not compensated for by insurance or otherwise. Include also losses (not claimed in Schedule C (2)) from property destroyed or seized in the course of military or naval operations during the war and of property located in enemy countries or in areas which come under the control of the countries or in areas which come under the control of the enemy. See section 127 for rules as to treatment of losses from war, taxation of property recovered, and basis of property. Ex-plain in Schedule G, giving description of property, date ac-quired, cost, subsequent improvements, depreciation allowable, insurance, salvage value, and deductible loss.

Only losses incurred in a trade or business are deductible for the purpose of computing the Victory Tax net income. Such deductible losses should be reported in Schedule C (2).

15. MEDICAL, DENTAL ETC., EXPENSES.—Expenses paid, not compensated by insurance or otherwise, for the diagnosis, cure, mitigation, treatment, or perture of the diagnosis, cure, mitigation, treatment, or perture of the diagnosis, cure, mitigation, treatment, or perture of function of the form of the purpose of antis paid for accident or health insurance) of the trayayer, are deductible only for the purpose of computing the laxoner, are deductible only for the purpose of computing the laxoner are tincome. The deduction is limited to such expenses as exceed 5 percent of the net income computed without the benefit of the deduction for expenses paid for such necial care. The maximum deduction in the case of a husband and wife who file a joint return or the head of a family may not exceed \$2,500, and in the case of all other individuals \$1,220. 15. MEDICAL, DENTAL, ETC., EXPENSES .- Expenses

case of all other individuals, \$1,250.

16. OTHER DEDUCTIONS AUTHORIZED BY LAW—For Both Income and Victory Tax—Enter other authorized deductions, including net operating loss deduction allowed by section, 23 (s). (For computation of net operating loss, including net operating loss carry-back and carry-over, see section 122.) Every taxpayer claiming a deduction due to a net operating loss for the preceding taxable year or years shall file with his return the statement required by the regulations. Include alimony and separate maintenance payments to the extent permitted by section 23 (u). Include nontrade or nonbusiness expenses incurred either (1) for the production or collection of taxable income or (2) for the management, conservation, or taxable income or (2) for the management, conservation, or maintenance of property held for the production of taxable

income. Bad debts arising from sales and services should be income. Dag devis arising from saies and services should be entered in Schedule C (2). Worthless bonds and similar obligations, and nonbusiness bad debts should be included in Schedule B as losses on capital assets.

Do not deduct losses in transactions not connected with your trade or business or not entered into for profit. Wagering losses are allowable to the extent of wagering gains.

For Income Tax.--

losses are allowable to the extent of wagering gains.

For Income Tax.—

ANORTIZABLE BOND PREMIUM.—Section 22 (v) provides for the deduction of anortizable ond premium by the owner of the bend. The term 'bond' means any bond, debenture, note, or certificate or other evidence of includedness issued by any corporation and barning interest (network), which interests coupons or in registered form, but does not include any such obligation which constitutes stock in trade of the travayer or any such obligation of a kind which would properly he included in the such obligation of a kind which would properly he included in the such obligation of a kind which would properly he included in the such obligation of a kind which would properly he included in the such obligation and the properly has been applied to the such obligation of a kind which would properly he included in the such obligation held by the tax more properly and the such as

(2) as a deduction; and (3) as a reduction to the credit for the interest on the bonds.

The second computing for amortization of bond premium is not allowable for the more of computing Victory Tax not income.

TERMANT-STOCKHIOLDERS PROPORITIONATE SHARE OF INTEREST AND TAXES—A tenant-stockholder may deduct amounts paid or accrued with his taxable year to a cooperative apartment corporation representing the state of the stands of the

#### TAX COMPUTATION INSTRUCTIONS

CREDIT FOR PERSONAL EXEMPTION AND DEPEND-ENTS.—A single person, or a married person not living with spouse, is allowed a personal exemption of \$500. A person who, during the entire taxable year, was the head of a family or was married and living with spouse, is allowed an exemption of \$1,200. On separate returns (Form 1040) the personal exemption may be taken by either husband or wife or divided between them in any proportion.

A "head of a family" is one who supports in one household one or more dependent individuals closely connected with him by blood relationship, relationship by marriage, or by adoption, and whose right to exercise family control is based upon some moral or legal obligation.

A credit of \$350 is allowed for each person (other than husand or wife) under 18 years of age, or incapable of self-support because mentally or physically defective, whose chief support was received from the taxpayer. If taxpayer is head of a family only because of dependents for whom he would be entitled to credit under preceding sentence, \$350 credit is allowed for each of such dependents except one.

If taxpayer's status, with respect to personal exemption and AL MAJIANCE & BARKES, WITH TESPECT. OPERSONS EXEMPTION and credit for dependents, changed during the taxable year, such exemption and credit shall be apportioned according to the number of months before and after such change. A fractional part of a month is disreparded unless it exceeds half a month, when it shall be considered a month.

EARNED INCOME CREDIT,-"Earned income" means wages, salaries, professional fees, and other amounts received as compensation for personal services actually rendered.
Where a taxpayer is engaged in a trade or business in which where a taxpayer is engaged in a trace or business in which both personal services and capital are material income-producing factors, a reasonable allowance as compensation for the personal services actually rendered by the taxpayer, not in excess of 20 percent of his share of the net profits of such trade or business, shall be considered as earned income. "Earned net income" means the excess of the amount of the earned income over the sum of the "earned income deductions," which

are the ordinary and necessary expenses properly chargeable

SURTAX TABLE.-The following table shows the surtax due for the taxable year upon surtax net income:

FOREIGN TAX CREDIT—If credit is claimed against the total normal tax and strtax for tax pad to a foreign country or possession of the United States, submit Form 1116 and receipts for such payments. If credit is claimed for taxes accrued, statch to Form 1116 certified copy of return on which tax was based. SPECIFIC EXEMPTION FROM VICTORY TAX—Every individual taxpayer is entitled to an exemption of \$624, regardless of martial status. An exemption of \$128 is allowed a husband and wife filing a joint return unless the Victory Tax net income of one spouse is less than \$624, in which case the total exemption is limited to \$624 plus the Victory Tax net income of such spouse. income of such spouse.

Norme of such spouse.

VICTORY TAX.—This tax is 5 percent, less a credit of 25 percent of the tax if you were single, or 40 percent if married, plus in either case 2 percent for each dependent. The amount of

Originally this credit was a "post-war credit." but most taxpayers were described by the credit was a "post-war credit." but most taxpayers were described by the credit is to be allowed annually. Accordingly, to simplify figuring, Congress decided last fall of the credit is to be allowed annually. LIMITATION ON AMOUNT the credit is to be allowed annually. LIMITATION ON AMOUNT the credit is a mount of the View of the control of the credit of the credit of the credit for fireful taxpayers not income for the taxable year over the tax imposed by chapter 1 congress of the credit for fireful tax and the credit for fireful for the credit for tax withheld at the source under settled for fireful for the credit

This relief is provided through the forgiveness of a portion or all of one year's tax.

all of one year's t.x.

In most cases the forgiveness will be three-fourths of the 1942 tax, or all the tax if it does not exceed \$50. This will be true unless the 1943 tax was less than the 1942 tax, in which case the forgiveness will be figured on the 1943 tax. Whether the 1942 or the 1943 tax liability is the greater is determined on the basis of the tax inability before the allowance of credits against the tax for amounts withheld at the source, without regard to interest and negative, and without regard to interest and negative, and without regard to interest and negative, and without regard to interest and negative, and without regard to interest and negative, and without regard to interest and negative, and without regard to interest and negative, and without regard to interest and negative, and without regard to interest and negative, and without regard to interest and negative and without regard to interest and negative and the source. est and penalties, and without regard to the unforgiven portion of the tay.

No amount of the tax liability of an individual who died dur-ing the taxable year 1942 is discharged.

ing the taxone year 1942 is discouraged.

(b) Where Tax for 1942 is Not Greater Than Tax for 1943.—
Where the 1943 tax liability is equal to or greater than the tax liability for 1942, the unforgiven portion of the tax is determined on the basis of the net tax liability after credits for 1942.

on the basis of the net tax liability after credits for 1942.

(c) Where Tax for 1942 is Greater Than Tax for 1943.—

(1) Where the tax liability of an individual for 1942 is discharged and such tax liability is greater than the tax for 1943, the excess of 1942 over the 1943 tax liability is added to the 1943 tax liability. For the purpose of determining the amount of the forgiveness, the net tax liability after credits for 1942 is used with respect to the year 1942 and the net tax liability plus the credits for tax withheld at source on wages is used with respect to the year 1943.

to the year 1943.

(2) In the case of a taxpayer who is in active service in the military or naval forces of the United States or any of the other United Nations at any time during the taxable year 1942 or 1943, and whose tax for the taxable year 1942 is greater than the tax for the taxable year 1943, the forgiveness shall be increased to the extent that the excess of the 1942 tax over the 1943 tax is attributable to the inclusion of earned net income. (For definition of "earned net income," see page 3 of these instructions.)

nistructions.)
(3) For the purpose of determining the unforgiven portion of the tax where the 1942 tax liability is greater than the 1943. Its liability, the net tax liability for 1943 plus the credits for Income and Victory Tax withheld at source on wages is used.

the credit is limited, however, to \$500 if you were single, or \$1,000 if married, nuss in either case \$100 for each dependent, Originally this credit was a "post-war credit," but most taxpayers were eligible to claim it now because of war bond purchases, insurance payments, etc. Accordingly, to simplify figuring, Congress decided last fall that the credit is to be allowed annually, LIMITATION ON AMOUNT OF VICTORY TAX.—The amount of the victory Tax is insuited to an amount representing the excess of 80 percent of the state is the control of the control of the case of the case of such tax over \$50, whichever is the lesser.

(d) Joint Return for One Year and Separate Returns for Other (a) Joint acturn for One 1 car and separate Keturns for Other Year.—(1) Change from separate returns to a joint few m.—If husband and wife filed separate returns for 1942 but are filing a joint return for 1943, the amount to be entered in line 11, page 4 of return, is the sum of the 1942 taxes shown on their separate.

of return, is the sum of the 1942 taxes shown on their separate returns.

(2) Change from a joint return to separate returns.—If husband and wise filed a joint return for 1942 but are filing separate returns for 1943, and their 1942 tax but of larger than their combined 1943 taxes (the sum of line 16, page 4 of their separate returns, Form 1940), they may divide the 1942 tax between them in any proportion they choose. Provinged that the amount allocated to either shall not exceed their or her separate tax for 1943. If their 1942 tax exceeds their combined 1943 taxes, they may divide the excess between their or any proportion they choose; then, each should enter in thir namy proportion they choose; then, each should enter in that puts his or her share of the excess of the 1942 tax over the combined 1943 taxes. Attach a statement to your return showing how you shared the joint 1942 tax. FOR PURPORSE OF CONPUTING THE AMOUNT OF TAX FORGIVENESS the comparison of 1942 and 1943 taxes and the computation of the amount forgiven must be made on the basis of the COMBINED taxes of husband and wife for each exert. The resulting unforgiven tax may be divided between them in any proportion they choose. Each should show on line 19 (c.), page 4 of return, the combined unforgiven tax and enter only his or her share in the right-hand column. share in the right-hand column.

INCOME AND VICTORY TAX WITHHELD ON WAGES.—

INCOME AND VICTORY TAX WITHHELD ON WAGES—
Enter the total of amounts withheld at the source wages for

(1) Victory Tax (6 percent) for first half of

(2) Income Tax (20 percent) for lost half of

(2) Income Tax (20 percent) for lost half of

PAYMENTS TO COLLECTOR DURING 1943 FOR 1942

INCOLE TAX—Lnter all payments (other than interest and

penalties) made to the College of Internal Revenue in the tax—
able year 1943 on account of the memor Tax liability shown on

your Income Tax return for the memor Tax liability shown on

your Income Tax return for 1942, by our 1942. If husband
and wife field a joint return for 1942, by our 1942. If husband

for the taxable year 1943, the payments of either the husband or the

wife, or may be divided between them.

PAYMENTS TO COLLECTOR FOR ESTIMATER MOONEY

PAYMENTS TO COLLECTOR FOR ESTIMATER MOONEY

wife, or may be divided between them.

PAYMENTS TO COLLECTOR FOR ESTIMATED INCOME
AND VICTORY TAX.—Enter all payments made on account
of the estimated tax shown on your Declaration of Estimated
Income and Victory Tax for the taxable year 1943. If husband
and wife filed a joint declaration of estimated Income and Victory Tax, but file separate returns for the taxable year 1943, the
estimated tax paid may be treated as the estimated tax of either
the husband or the wife, or may be divided between them:

# Schedule L-1.—TAX FORGIVENESS SCHEDULE (If this schedule is used as indicated by Footnote 1, page 4 of return, tear it off and attach it to your return) (If joint return for one year and separate returns for other, see Instructions above)

|   | The state of the s |   |     |
|---|--|---|-----|
| A. Tax on 1943 income (line 14, page 4 of return).  B. Tax on 1942 income. (See Statement Form 1125 (appendix 1125).  |  | <del></del>                             | -   |
| as item 31 on Form 1040)  | rm 1040 was used add amount shown  | *************************************** |     |
| and the B use Part I below. If line B is  | greater than line A use Part II below.   |   |     |
| I. Where lax on income for 1943 is equal to or greater than lax on income.  Balance of income tax on 1942 income (line 17, page 4 of return)  | í  |   | _   |
| LARGER.   | e 1, immediately above, whichever is   | j                                       |     |
| The UNFORGIVEN portion is the balance (line 2 subtracted in page 4 of return)   |  |   |     |
| II. Where tax on income for 1942 is greater than tax on income for 1945.  Balance of tax on 1942 income (line 17, page 4 of return)  Balance of Income and Victory Tax for 1943 dies 16 | (8)  |   |     |
|   |  |   |     |
| or 1943 tax (line 5), above, whichever is LARGER  | SMALLER of the 1942 tax (line 4)   |   |     |
| The UNFORGIVEN portion is the balance (line 6 subtracted for (Enter in line 19(c), page 4 of return)  | rom the smaller of line 4 or line 5).  |   |     |
|   | Ι δ_   | <del></del>                             | ••• |

\* # B. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE 11943 \$47151

Schedule B (Form 1040)

**UNITED STATES** 

TREASURY DEPARTMENT

SCHEDULE OF GAINS AND LOSSES FROM SALES OR EXCHANGES OF CAPITAL ASSETS AND PROPERTY OTHER THAN CAPITAL ASSETS

(TO BE FILED WITH THE COLLECTOR OF INTERNAL REVENUE WITH FORM 1040)

For Calendar Year 1943

| O۳ | fiscal | vear | beginning | ,                    | 1943,   | and     | ending | , | 194 |
|----|--------|------|-----------|----------------------|---------|---------|--------|---|-----|
| ٠. |        | ,    |           | in . I makes at ions | on othe | e aida) |        |   |     |

| ddress   |  |                     |                     |          | CAPI  | TAL .                   | ASS                               | ETS   |   |  |                      |   |           |            | _      |   | _                                       |
|--|--|---------------------|---------------------|----------|---|-------------------------|-----------------------------------|---|---|--|----------------------|---|-----------|------------|--------|---|---|
| I. Kind of property (if  | 2. Date scquired   | 3. Date sold        | 4, Gryss            | aa lee   | Ī   | Cost or<br>her basis    | 16                                | Expense<br>and cost   | de sub-   | 7. Depreci<br>allowed (or<br>able) since         | -11                  | 8. Gain or 1<br>4 plus coli<br>the sum of   | osa (colu |            | -      | lose to be tall<br>to account                   | -                                       |
| ment of descriptive<br>details not shown below)  | Mo, Day Year   | Me. Day Year        | price (cor<br>price |          | l   |                         | :                                 | ion or N<br>191   | acqua-<br>Aarch I,<br>3   | able) since<br>sition or M<br>1913 (at<br>Schedu | w)                   | 450   | 6)        | cent       | ۱-۱    | IO. Amoun                                       | ı                                       |
|  | SHORT-T  | ERM CAPITA          | L GAINS             | AND      | LOS   | SES-A                   | SSE                               | S HE  | LD NO   | T MORE   | THA                  | N 6 MON   | THS       |            |        |   | _                                       |
| _:   | 1  |                     | \$                  |          | 3   | Ī                       | . \$                              |   |   | \$   |                      | \$  |           | 100        | \$.    |   | -                                       |
|  |  |                     | *                   |          |   |                         |                                   |   | _   |  | ╄                    |   |           | 100        | · [    |   | -                                       |
|  |  |                     |                     |          |   |                         |                                   |   |   |  |                      |   |           | 100        | 1      |   | -                                       |
|  |  |                     |                     |          |   | -                       |                                   |   |   | ļ  | _]                   | ]   |           | 100        |        |   |   |
| Total net short-ter  | m capital gain   | or loss (enter i    | n line 1, c         | olumn    | 2, of   | summar                  | ry bel                            | w)  |   |  |                      |   |           |            | -1-    |   | -                                       |
| LON  | G-TERM CAP   | ITAL GAINS          | AND LO              | SSES     | -ASS  | ETS H                   | iELD                              | FOR 1   | MORE  | THAN 6   | MO!                  | VTHS  |           |            | =      |   | 1                                       |
|  | 1  |                     | \$                  |          | \$  |                         |                                   |   |   | \$   |                      | \$  |           | 50         | \$     |   |   |
|  |  |                     |                     |          | ļ   |                         |                                   |   |   |  |                      |   |           | 50         | 1      |   | -                                       |
|  |  |                     |                     |          | ļ   |                         |                                   |   |   | ļ  |                      |   |           | 50         | - 1    |   | ┧~                                      |
|  | .]   |                     | ļ                   |          | .]  |                         |                                   |   |   | ·}   |                      | <del></del>   |           | 50         | =      | <u>,</u>  | -                                       |
| Total net long-terr  | n capital gain o   | r loss (enter i     | line 2, co          | lumn :   | 2, of s                                       | ummar                   | y beli                            | w)  |   |  |                      |   |           |            |        |   | 1                                       |
|  |  | SU                  | MMAR'               | Y OF     | CA  | PITA                    | L G                               | AINS  |   | LOSSE<br>t rain or loss                          |                      | aken isaa   | 4         | Total net  | enir.  | or loss taker                                   | =                                       |
|  |  |                     | 2                   | Net gair | n or los<br>from co                           | s to be to<br>siumo 10. | ken in                            | ٠ .   | 3. Ne<br>account  | trom partner<br>trom partner<br>trust            | ships (              | ing common  | into      | account is | n col  | umns 2 and 3                                    | d                                       |
| 1.   | Classification   |                     |                     |          |   |                         | ) Los                             |   | (4)   | Gain   |                      | I) Loss   | (,        | ) Gain     | T      | (J) Los   |   |
|  |  |                     |                     | (e) Cui  | <u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u> |                         | ) LOH                             | 7-1-  |   | <del></del> -                                    | `                    | 1   |           | T          | -      |   | T                                       |
| Total net short-term cap   |  |                     |                     |          |   | \$                      |                                   |   | \$  |  | \$                   |   | \$        |            |        | \$  |   |
| Total net long-term capit  |  |                     | <u> </u>            |          | <u></u>                                       | <b>3</b>                |                                   | .!!   | *   |  | <b>V</b>             |   |           | 111        | x_     | \$  | 1                                       |
| Capital loss carry-ove<br>Net gain in column   |  |                     |                     | 664      | nage 1  | . Form                  | 1040                              | )   |   |  |                      |   | \$        |            |        |   |   |
| Net gain in column 4<br>Net loss in column 4<br>or (2) net income.   | , lines 1, 2, and  | 3. (The at          | nount to            | be ent   | ered  | as item                 | 6 (4                              | ), page   | 1,-F  | rm 1040.   | is (I)               | this item   |           |            | . [    | •   |   |
| or (2) net income.   | computed wit   | hout regard t       | o capital           | gains    | or loss                                       | ses, or                 | (3) \$                            | ,000, 1   | whiche  | VET 13 81714                                     | nest,                |   |           |            |        | ******  |   |
| Use only if you b  |  |                     | COMP                | UTA'     | TION  | V OF                    | ALI<br>short-                     | EKN/  | anita   | E TAX  | ad lin               | e 4, page 4,  | Form      | 104Ö, ex   | ceed   | s18,000   | _                                       |
| Use only if you t  | ad an excess o   | ner tong-ter        | Capiro              | ar yu    |   | 1 1                     |                                   |   |   |  |                      |   |           |            | ī      |   | Τ                                       |
| Net income (item 18,   | page I. Form   | 1040)               | \$                  |          |   |                         |                                   |   |   | of line 9  |                      |   |           |            | .  \$. |   |   |
| Excess of net long-ter   | m capital gain o   | ), less the au      | m of                |          |   | יון                     | 11. Sa                            | rtax or   | n line  | 6. (See S  | urtan                | Table in I  | orm 1     | 040 In-    | Į.     |   |   |
|  | and line 3 of  | summary abo         | vc)} <u></u>        |          |   |                         |                                   | structi   | ions)   |  |                      | *******   |           |            | -      | ******  | 2                                       |
| capital loss (line 2<br>line 1, column 4 (b)   | , and and 5 G  |                     |                     |          |   | 1 11                    |                                   |   |   |  | . 111                |   |           |            | . 3.   |   |   |
| Ordinary net income (  | line I less line 2   | ) <u></u>           | <u></u> \$-         |          |   |                         | 12. P                             | rtial te  | ax (line  | : 10 plus lir                                    |                      |   |           |            | 1      |   |   |
| Ordinary net income (<br>Less: Personal exempt<br>ule (-(1), Fo  | line 1 less line 2<br>ion, (From Sch<br>rm 1040)   | )<br> cd-  <b>s</b> | \$-<br>             |          |   | 1 1                     |                                   |   |   | : 10 plus lir                                    |                      |   |           |            |        |   |   |
| Ordinary net income (<br>Less: Personal exempt<br>ule (-(1), Fo  | line 1 less line 2<br>ion, (From Sch<br>rm 1040)   | )<br> cd-  <b>s</b> | 3.                  |          |   | 1 1                     |                                   | rtial to<br>% of !  |   | : 10 plus lir                                    |                      |   |           |            | -      | **********                                      |   |
| Ordinary net income (<br>Less: Personal exempt<br>ule I-(1), For<br>Credit for der<br>Schedule I-(   | line 1 less line 2<br>ion, (From Sch<br>rm 1040)<br>pendents, (Fr<br>2), Form 1040)  | )<br> cd-  <b>s</b> | 3-                  | ······   |   |                         | 13. 50<br>14. A                   | % of l  | ine 2_<br>ive tax   | (line 12 pl                                      | us line              | 13)   |           |            | . 3.   |   |   |
| Drdinary net income (<br>Less: Personal exempt<br>ule I-(1), For<br>Credit for des<br>Schedule I-(<br>Balance (surtax net in   | line 1 less line 2<br>ion, (From Sch<br>rm 1040)<br>pendents, (Fr<br>2), Form 1040)  | ed-<br>om           | \$.<br>             |          |   |                         | 13. 50<br>14. A                   | % of l<br>ternati   | ine 2_<br>ive tax<br>emal t   | (line 12 pl                                      | us line              |   |           | page 4     | 3.     |   | 22 2                                    |
| Ordinary net income ( , Less: Personal exempt ule I-(1). For Credit for der Schedule I-(-)  Balance (surtax net is  Less: Item 4 (a), pa   | line I less line 2<br>ion, (From Sch<br>rm 1040)<br>oendents, (Fr<br>2), Form 1040)<br>ncome)<br>ge I, Form 104<br>ne credit, (F         | )                   | \$.<br>\$.          | ······   |   |                         | 13. 50<br>14. A<br>15. T          | % of !<br>Iternati<br>otal no<br>of For                       | ine 2_<br>ive tax<br>irmal t<br>irm 104   | (line 12 pl<br>ax and sur                        | usline<br>tax (      | is 13)  | line 9,   |            | -      |   | 22 2                                    |
| Condinary net income ( Less: Personal exempt ule I-(1). For Credit for der Schedule I-(  Balance (surtax net is  Less: Item 4 (a). pag Earned incom Schedule I-(   | line I less line 2 ion, (From Sch rm 1040) pendents, (Fr 2), Form 1040) ncome) ge I, Form 104 ie credit. (F                              | )                   | 3.                  |          |   |                         | 13. 50<br>14. A<br>15. T          | % of !<br>Iternational no<br>of For                           | ive tax<br>ive tax<br>ive tax<br>ive 104  | (line 12 pl<br>ax and sur<br>(0)                 | tax (                | ine 8 plus  | line 9,   | lesser).   | -      |   | 22 2                                    |
| Condinary net income ( Less: Personal exempt ule I-(1). For Credit for der Schedule I-(  Balance (surtax net is  Less: Item 4 (a). pag Earned incom Schedule I-(   | line I less line 2 ion, (From Sch rm 1040) pendents, (Fr 2), Form 1040) ncome) ge I, Form 104 ie credit. (F                              | )                   | \$.<br>\$.          |          | OTH   |                         | 13. 50<br>14. A<br>15. T<br>16. T | % of l<br>lternati<br>otal no<br>of For<br>ax liabi<br>(Enter | ive tax<br>ive tax<br>ive tax<br>ive tax<br>ive tax<br>ility (li<br>ive tax<br>ility (li<br>ive tax | (line 12 pl<br>ax and sur<br>10)                 | tax (ine 15          | is 13)  | line 9,   | lesser).   | -      |   | 22 2                                    |
| B. Ordinary net income ( Less: Personal exempt ule I-(1). For Credit for der Schedule I-(  B. Balance (surtax net is  T. Less: Item 4 (a), pa  B. Earned incom   | line I less line 2 ion, (From Sch rm 1040) pendents, (Fr 2), Form 1040) ncome) ge I, Form 104 ie credit. (F                              | )                   |                     |          | отн   |                         | 13. 50<br>14. A<br>15. T<br>16. T | % of I<br>Iternational no<br>of For<br>ax liabi<br>(Enter     | ive tax<br>grmal t<br>rm 104<br>ility (li<br>r as lin   | (line 12 pl<br>ax and sur<br>(0)                 | tax (ine 15<br>4. Fo | ine 8 plus , whichever  | line 9,   | lesser).   |        | in or loss (co                                  | 22   2                                  |
| i, Ordinary net income (i), Less: Personal exempt<br>ule I-(I). For<br>i), Credit for der<br>Schedule I-(i), Balance (surtax net is<br>7. Less: Item 4 (a), pa<br>B. Earned incom<br>Schedule J-(I)  | line I less line 2 ion. (From Sch rm 1040) condents. (Fr 2), Form 1040) ncome) ge 1, Form 1040 ee credit. (F )or J-(2), Form 1 ormal tax | )                   | ROPER               |          | price   | ER T                    | 13. 50<br>14. A<br>15. T<br>16. T | % of I<br>lternational no<br>of For<br>ax liabi<br>(Enter     | ive tax<br>ive tax<br>irmal t<br>rm 104<br>ility (li<br>r as lin<br>PITA                            | (line 12 pl<br>ax and sur<br>10)                 | tax (ine 15<br>4. Fo | ine 8 plus  whichever  by the series of the | line 9,   | lesser).   | . s.   | uin or loss (col<br>column 6 le<br>of columns 4 | and and and and and and and and and and |
| Ordinary net income 6, Less: Personal exempt use 1-(1). For Credit for det Schedule 1-(.). Balance (surtax net in 1, Less: Item 4 (e), pa 8. Earned incom Schedule J-(), Palance subject to no   | line I less line 2 ion. (From Sch rm 1040) condents. (Fr 2), Form 1040) ncome) ge 1, Form 1040 ee credit. (F )or J-(2), Form 1 ormal tax | ) cd-<br>cd-<br>s   | ROPER               | TY (     | price   | ER T                    | 13. 50<br>14. A<br>15. T<br>16. T | % of I<br>lternational no<br>of For<br>ax liabi<br>(Enter     | ive tax<br>ive tax<br>irmal t<br>rm 104<br>ility (li<br>r as lin<br>PITA                            | (line 12 pl<br>ax and sur<br>(l0)                | tax (ine 15<br>4. Fo | ine 8 plus  whichever  by the series of the | line 9,   | lesser).   | . s.   | in or loss (col<br>column 6 le il columns 4     | umn th                                  |
| Ordinary net income ( Less: Personal exempt ule 1-(1). Fo Credit for det Schedule 1-( Balance (surtax net in Less: Item 4 (a), pa Less: Item 4 (b), pa Less: Item 4 (b), pa Less: Item 4 (b), pa Less: Item 4 (b), pa Less: Item 4 (b), pa Less: Item 4 (c), pa Less: | line I less line 2 ion. (From Sch rm 1040) condents. (Fr 2), Form 1040) ncome) ge 1, Form 1040 ee credit. (F )or J-(2), Form 1 ormal tax | ) cd-<br>cd-<br>s   | ROPER               | TY (     | price   | ER T                    | 13. 50<br>14. A<br>15. T<br>16. T | % of I<br>lternational no<br>of For<br>ax liabi<br>(Enter     | ive tax<br>ive tax<br>irmal t<br>rm 104<br>ility (li<br>r as lin<br>PITA                            | (line 12 pl<br>ax and sur<br>(l0)                | tax (ine 15<br>4. Fo | ine 8 plus  whichever  by the series of the | line 9,   | lesser).   | . s.   | in or loss (coloring 6 le d'columns 4           | as a summ                               |
| Ordinary net income ( Less: Personal exempt ule 1-(1). Fo Credit for det Schedule 1-( Balance (surtax net in Less: Item 4 (a), pa Less: Item 4 (b), pa Less: Item 4 (b), pa Less: Item 4 (b), pa Less: Item 4 (b), pa Less: Item 4 (b), pa Less: Item 4 (c), pa Less: | line I less line 2 ion. (From Sch rm 1040) condents. (Fr 2), Form 1040) ncome) ge 1, Form 1040 ee credit. (F )or J-(2), Form 1 ormal tax | ) cd-<br>cd-<br>s   | ROPER               | TY (     | price   | ER T                    | 13. 50<br>14. A<br>15. T<br>16. T | % of I<br>lternational no<br>of For<br>ax liabio<br>(Enter    | ive tax<br>ive tax<br>irmal t<br>rm 104<br>ility (li<br>r as lin<br>PITA                            | (line 12 pl<br>ax and sur<br>(l0)                | tax (ine 15<br>4. Fo | ine 8 plus  whichever  by the series of the | line 9,   | lesser).   | . s.   | in or loss (colorms 6 le d'columns 4            | and i                                   |

If any of such items were acquired by you other than by purchase, explain fully how acquired

#### INSTRUCTIONS

(References are to the Internal Revenue Code)

GAINS AND LOSSES FROM SALES OR EXCHANGES OF CAPITAL ASSETS AND OTHER PROPERTY.—Report details in schedule on other side.

OF ('APITAL ASSETS AND OTHER PROPERTY—Report details in schedule on other side.

"Capital assets" defined—The term "capital assets" means property held by the taxpayer (whether or not connected with his trade or business), but not stock in trade or other property of a kind which would properly be included in his inventory if on hand at the close of the taxable year, or property held by the taxpayer primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of his trade or business, or property used in the trade or business of a character which is subject to the allowance for depreciation provided in section 23 (1), or an obligation of the United States or any of its possessions, or of a State or Territory, or any political subdivision thereof, or of the District of Columbia, issued on or after March 1, 1941, on a discount basis and payable without interest at a fixed maturity date not exceeding one year from the date of issue, or real property used in the trade or business of the taxpayer.

Section 165 (b) provides that if an employee receives the total distribution that he is entitled to under an employees trust plan that meets the requirements of section 165 (a) in one taxable year on account of his separation from service, the amount of such distribution to the extent exceeding the amounts contributed by the employee shall be considered a gain from the eale or exchange of a capital asset held for more than 6 months.

A capital gain dividend, as defined in section 362 (relating to tax on regulated investment companies), shall be treated by the shareholder as gains from the sale or exchange of capi-tal assets held for more than 6 menths.

For special treatment of gains and losses from involuntary conversion, and from sale or exchange of certain property used in the trade or business, see section 117 (j).

In the trade or business, see section 117 (j).

Description of property.—State following facts: (a) For real estate, location and description of land and improvements; (b) for bonds or other evidences of indebtedness, name of issuing cornoration, particular issue, denomination and amount; and (e) for tooks, name of corporation, class of stock, number of shares, and capital changes affecting basis (including nontaxable distributions).

ing nontaxable distributions). Basis—In determining GAIN in case of property acquired before March 1, 1913, duse the cost or the fair market value as of March 1, 1913, adjusted as provided in section 113 (b), whichever is greater, but in determining LOSS use cost so adjusted. If the property was acquired after February 28, 1913, use cost, except as otherwise provided in section 113.

Losses on securities becoming worthless.—If (1) shares of stock become worthless during the year or (2) corporate secu-

rities with interest coupons or in registered form become worthless during the year, and are capital assets, the loss therefrom shall be considered as from the sale or exchange of capital assets as of the last day of such taxable year.

capital assets as of the last day of such taxable year.

Nonbusiness debts.—If a deck, other than a debt ovidenced by a corporate security with interest coupons or in registered form and other than a debt the loss from the worthlessness of which is incurred in the trade or business, becomes totally worthless within the taxable year, the loss resulting therefrom shall be considered a loss from the sale or exchange, during that the taxable year, of a capital asset held for not more than 6 months. Enter such loss in column 10 of schedule of shorterm capital gains and losses on other aide.

Classification of capital gains and losses.—The phrase "schange of capital assets held for 6 months or less; the phrase "choing of capital assets held for 6 months or less; the phrase "long-term" to capital assets held for 6 months or less; the phrase "long-term" to capital assets held for 6 months or less; the phrase "long-term" to capital assets held for 6 months or fear, the phrase "long-term" to capital assets held for 6 months or fear, from sales a "LIMITATION ON CAPITAL LOSSES.—Lavses from sales

"long-term" to capital assets hold for more than 6 months.

LIMITATION ON CAPITAL LOSSES—Losses from sales
or exchanges of capital assets shall be allowed only to the
extent of the gains from such sales or exchanges, plus the net
income (computed without regarders completed gains and losses)
or \$1,000, whichever is amalier.

However, a net capital loss as
defined in section 117 (a) (11) for a taxable year beginning in
1942 may be carried over to the taxable year beginning in any
interm capital loss for a taxable year beginning in 164 imay not
be included in computing the net capital loss for a taxable year
beginning in 1942 which can be carried forward to a taxable
year beginning in 1942 which can be carried forward to a taxable
year beginning in 1943.

year neguning in 1946.

ALTERNATIVE TAX.—If the net long-term capital gain exceeds the net short-term capital loss, an alternative tax may be imposed in flew of the normal tax and surfax imposed on net income. (See Computation of Alternative Tax, on other side.)

income. (See Computation of Alternative Tax, on other side.)
"Wash sales" losses—Loss from sale or other disposition of
stocks or necurities cannot be deducted unless sustained in
connection with the taxpayer's trade or business, and thin she
days before or after the date of sale or other states, and the sale of the

Losses in transactions between certain persons.—No deduction is allowable for losses from sales or exchanges of property directly or indirectly between (a) members of a family, (b) a corporation and an individual owning more than 50 percent of its stock (liquidations excepted), (c) a grantor and fiduciary of any trust, or (d) a fiduciary and a beneficiary of the same

TE B. B. BOYERREENT PRINTING DIFFICE : 1949 - BEGELL

READ THIS FIRST: You probably have paid a substantial part of your 1943 tax bill through withholding or directly to the government. You may have underpaid or overpaid. File this form. It tells you and your government whether you owe any more, or are entitled to any refund.

| This form may be used instead of Form 1040 if gross income is not more than \$3,000 and is only from the sources stated in items 1 and 2 below.  NANE    View print, If this season is per a hisband and wife, we both first name.  | FORM 104            | AO A         | OPTIONAL U.S. INDIVIDUAL INCOME AND VICTORY TAX RETURN • CALENDAR YEAR 1943  | Serial<br>No.<br>Amount<br>paid, \$ | rite in these spaces |
|---|---------------------|--------------|--|-------------------------------------|----------------------|
| ADDRESS Forms street and number or rear of seats OCCUPATION  1. Enter the TOTAL amount, before deductions for taxes, dues, insurance, bonds, etc., that you received in 1943 as salary, wayer, bemoves, commissions, etc. (Members of armed forces read instruction 6)  List I raphoves (Name  2. Enter here any amounts you received in 1945 in dividends, interest, and annutides.  3. Now add items 1 and 2 to get your TOTAL INCOME and enter it here.  4. List the persons—other than wife or husband—who on July 1, 1943, obtained their chird improve from you if they were not yet 18, or were mentally or physically unable to support themselvet.  Name of Dependent  Your Credit for Dependents  Form you if they were not yet 18, or were mentally or physically unable to support themselvet.  Name of Dependent Relationship 1/18 years or over, first reason for listing.  Your as allowed a credit of 1853 for each dependent, Novement, if you are not a manifed person lings with wife or husband of a lamily only because of the dependent year hand about, allow \$1835 for each independent acreaty one.  Enter rotal dependency credit here.  5. Substract item 4 from item 3. Enter the difference here. (Enter item 3 if item 4 is blank)  6. Turn over this form and check the box at the top which applies to you. Then, using the figure you entered in item 5, find your income tax in the table. Enter the amount here.  7. In the space on the back of this form, figure your Victory tax on item 3. Enter the tax here.  8. Now add items 6 and 7. Enter the total here.  9. If you filed a tax return on 1942 income, enter the amount of tax here. However, before entering anything, lead carefully instruction 4.  11. FORGIVENESS PEATURE Durit fill in a, B, and C below if either item 8 or 9 is \$50 or less.  A Enter item 8 or item 9, whichever is smaller.  12. Add item 10 to the amount in item 11. (if any). Here the total here. This is you total income and Victory tax  What You've Paid and What You Owe  13. A Enter the revolution of A above. Enter this amount or \$30, wh |                     | •            | This form may be used instead of Form 1040 if gross income is not more than \$3,000 and is only from the sources stated in items 1 and 2 below.  | ,                                   | мыст і фетр)         |
| Your Credit for Dependents  Your Credit for Turn over this form and check the box at the top which applies to you. Then, using the figure you entered in ten 9, find your income tax in the table. Enter them 3 if item 4 is blank)  Your Credit for Turn over this form and check the box at the top which applies to you. Then, using the figure you entered in ten 9, whichever is a larger. This is the pare on 1942 income tax here. However, before entering and form, and form, and form, and for many things, read early illy instruction 4.  Your Credit for Dependents  Your Credit for Substitute the second of t    |                     |              | Please print. If this return it for a hisbana and wife, use own for name.  |                                     |                      |
| Your Income  2. Enter here any amounts you received in 1943 in dividends, interest, and annutities.  3. Now add items 1 and 2 to get your TOTAL INCOME and enter it here.  4. List the persons—other than wife or hutband—who on July 1, 1943, obtained their chirf interest from you if they were not yet 18, or were mentally or physically unable to support themselves. Name of Dependents  Your Credit for Dependents  Your are allowed a credit of 1883 for each dependent, However, if you are one americal person lining with after or hutband, you many novel the control of the form. If you are hutband, you many novel the control of the dependent of the form. If you are hutband, you many novel the control of the form. If you are showed a credit of 1883 for each lined dependent except one. Faster total dependency rectal here.  5. Subtract item 4 from item 3. Enter the difference here. (Enter item 3 if item 4 is blank)  6. Turn over this form and check the box at the top which applies to you. Then, using the figure you entered in tiem 5, find your income tax in the table. Enter the amount here.  7. In the space on the back of this form, figure your Victory tax on item 3. Enter the tax here.  8. Now add items 6 and 7. Enter the total here.  9. If you filed a tax return on 1942 income, enter the amount of tax here. However, before entering anything, read carefully instruction 4.  10. Enter item 8 or item 9, whichever is larger.  A farter item 8 or 9, whichever is larger.  2. Add item 10 to the amount in item 11c, if any. Enter the total here.  3. Pack three-fourths of A above. Enter this amount or \$500, whichever is larger.  4. Description of the tax.  C Subtract B from A. This is the unforgitem part of the tax. Enter it here.  12. Add item 10 to the amount in item 11c, if any. Enter the total here.  13. A Enter here your income tax payments last September and December.  14. If the tax in item 12 is more than the total payments in item 13, you ove the difference. Enter it here. If the payments are greater, write "NONE" and skip i   |                     |              | Penat theet and number or rural route Social Security  | C.                                  | b-Check+M. O.        |
| 2. Enter here any amounts you received in 1943 in dividends, interest, and annuities.  3. Now add items 1 and 2 to get your TOTAL INCOME and enter it here.  4. List the persons—other than wife or husband—who on July 1, 1943, obtained their chief support from you if they were not yet 18, or were mentally or physically unable to support themselves.  Name of Dependents  Name of Dependents  Relationship  1/18 years or over, pite reason for listing  You are allowed a created of \$18.50 for each dependent. However, if you are not a married person living with wife or husband, you any provertified to the head of a family dependent with mile or husband, you any provertified to the head of a family dependent and provided the provided of a family dependent and provided the provided of a family of the husband, you may any provertified to the head of a family dependent and provided of a family of the husband, you may any provertified to the head of a family of the husband, you may nevertified to the head of a family of the husband, you was not a married person living with wife or husband, you may provertified to the head of a family of the you are not a married person living with wife or husband, you may provertified to the family of the provided of a family of the provided of a family of the provided of a family of the fami   |                     | 1. F         | 1943 as salary, wages, bonuses, commissions, etc. (Atembers of armed forces read instruc-  | ceived<br>tion 6)                   | Amount               |
| 3. Now add items 1 and 2 to get your TOTAL INCOME and enter it here.  4. List the persons—other than wife or husband—who on July 1, 1943, obtained their chief inspers from you if they were not yet 18, or were mentally or physically unable to support themselves.  Name of Dependent Relationship If 18 years or were, fire reason for listing.  Now set allowed a create of \$1300 to each dependent. However, if you are not a married person living with wife or husband, you may newtheless be the head of a family as defended in No. 6 on the other side of the form. If you are the head of a family as defended in No. 6 on the other side of the form. If you are the head of a family as defended in No. 6 on the other side of the form. If you are the head of a family as defended in No. 6 on the other side of the form. If you are the head of a family as defended in No. 6 on the other side of the form. If you are the head of a family as defended in No. 6 on the other side of the form. If you are the head of a family as defended in No. 6 on the other side of the form. If you are the head of a family as defended in No. 6 on the other side of the form. If you are the head of a family as defended in No. 6 on the other side of the form. If you are the head of a family as defended in No. 6 on the other side of the form. If you are the head of a family as defended in No. 6 on the other side of the form. If you are the head of a family as defended in No. 6 on the other side of the form. If you are the head of a family as defended in No. 6 on the other side of the form. If you are the head of a family as defended in No. 6 on the other side of the form. If you are the head of a family as defended in No. 6 on the other side of the form. If you are the head of a family as defended in No. 6 on the other side of the form. If you are the head of a family as defended in No. 6 on the other side of the form. If you are the head of a family as defended in No. 6 on the other side of the form. If you are the head of a family as defended in No. 6 on the   |                     | -            |  | Total                               |                      |
| Your Credit for  Dependents    Name of Dependent   Relationship   If 18 years or over, give reason for listing.   |                     | Lan          | low add items 1 and 2 to get your TOTAL INCOME and enter it here   |                                     |                      |
| Credit for  Dependents    Non-art allowed a credit of 1355 for each dependent. However, if you are not a married person living with wife or hubband, you may noverthelets be the head of a family as defined in No. 6 on the other side of the living of the head of a family as defined in No. 6 on the other side of the living with the head of a family as defined in No. 6 on the other side of the living with the head of a family as defined in No. 6 on the other side of the living mark the head of a family as defined in No. 6 on the other side of the living mark the head of a family as defined in No. 6 on the other side of the living mark the head of a family as defined in No. 6 on the other side of the living mark the head of a family as defined in No. 6 on the other side of the head of a family as defined in No. 6 on the other side of the head of a family as defined in No. 6 on the other side of the head of a family as defined in No. 6 on the other side of the head of a family as defined in No. 6 on the other side of the head of a family as defined in No. 6 on the other side of the more side of the head of a family as defined in No. 6 on the other side of the mind and \$155 for each interm \$4 is blank)    Turn over this form and check the box at the cop which applies to you. Then, using the figure you entered in item \$5. In the rap the figure your Victory tax on item 3. Enter the tax here.    The space on the back of this form, figure your Victory tax on item 3. Enter the tax here.    The space on the back of this form, figure your Victory tax on item 3. Enter the tax here.    The space on the back of this form, figure your Victory tax on item 3. Enter the tax here.    The space on the back of this form, figure your Victory tax on the same and the sum of the space and the sum of the space and the sum of the space and the sum of the space and the sum of the space and the sum of the space and the sum of the space and the sum of the space and the sum of the space and the sum of the space and the sum of the space and the  | Vone                | 4. L         | rom you if they were not yet 18, or were mentally or physically unable to support then   | iseryes.                            |                      |
| Fater total dependency reteal false.  5. Subtract item 4 from item 3. Enter the difference here. (Enter item 3 if item 4 is blank)  6. Turn over this form and check the box at the top which applies to you. Then, using the figure you entered in item 5, find your income tax in the table. Enter the amount here.  7. In the space on the back of this form, figure your Victory tax on item 3. Enter the tax here.  8. Now add items 6 and 7. Enter the total here.  9. If you filed a tax return on 1942 income, enter the amount of tax here. However, before entering anything, read carefully instruction 4.  10. Enter item 8 or item 9, whichever is larger.  11. FORGIVENESS FLATURE: Don't fill in A, B, and C below if either item 8 or 9 is \$50 or less.  A Enter item 8 or 9, whichever is smaller.  B Take three-fourths of A above. Enter this amount or \$50, whichever is larger. This is the profirm part of the tax.  C Subtract B from A. This is the unforgiven part of the tax. Enter it here.  12. Add item 10 to the amount in item 11c, if any. Enter the total here. This is your total income and Victory tax  What You've Paid and What  You Owe  13. A Enter here your income and Victory taxes withheld by your employer.  B Enter here any 1943 income tax payments last September and December.  D Now add the figures in A, B and C and enter the total here.  14. If the tax in item 12 is more than the total payments in item 13, you owe the difference. Enter it here. If the payments are greater, write "NONE" and skip items 15 and 16.  | Credit<br>for       | -            | Now we allowed a credit of \$385 for each dependent. However, if you are not a matried person living wit   | h wife or                           |                      |
| Your Tax Bill and Forgiveness  A Enter them 9, 9, whichever is larger.  1. FORGIVENESS FEATURE: Don't fill in A, B, and C below if either item 8 or 9 is \$50 or less.  A Enter tiem 8 or 9, whichever is smaller.  B Take three-fourths of A above. Enter this amount or \$50, whichever is larger. This is the lorgium part of the tax.  C Subtract B from A. This is the unforgiven part of the tax.  C Subtract B from A. This is the unforgiven part of the tax. Enter it here.  12. Add item 10 to the amount in item 11c, if any. Enter the total here. This is your total income and Victory tax  What You've Paid and What You Owe  13. A Enter here your income and Victory taxes withheld by your employer.  D Now add the figures in A, B and C and enter the total here. This is your total income and Victory tax.  14. If the tax in item 12 is more than the total payments in item 13, you owe the difference. Enter it here, it here you may postpone, until not later than March 15, 1945, payment of the amount you owe up to   | Dependents          | 5. S         | nter total dependency credit nere  |                                     |                      |
| Your Tax Bill and Forgiveness  8. Now add items 6 and 7. Enter the total here.  9. If you filed a tax recurs on 1942 income, enter the amount of tax here. However, before entering anything, read carefully instruction 4.  10. Enter item 8 or item 9, whichever is larger.  11. FORGIVENESS FEATURE: Don't fill in A, B, and C below if either item 8 or 9 is \$50 or less.  A Enter item 8 or 9, whichever is smaller.  B Take three-fourths of A above. Enter this amount or \$50, whichever is larger. This is the lorgism part of the tax.  C Subtract B from A. This is the unforgism part of the tax. Enter it here.  12. Add item 10 to the amount in item 11c, if any. Enter the total here. This is your total income and Victory tax  What You've Paid and What You Owe  13. A Enter here your income and Victory taxes withheld by your employer.  B Enter here any 1943 income tax payments hast September and December.  D Now add the figures in A, B and C and enter the total here.  14. If the tax in item 12 is more than the total payments in items 13, you owe the difference.  Enter it here. If the payments are greater, write "NONE" and skip items 15 and 16.  |                     | 6. 3         | furn over this form and check the box at the top which applies to you. Then, using the   | e figure                            |                      |
| and Forgiveness  10. Enter item 8 or item 9, whichever is larger.  11. FORGIVENESS FEATURE: Don't fill in A, B, and C below if either item 8 or 9 is \$50 or less.  A Enter item 8 or 9, whichever is smaller.  B Take three-fourths of A above. Enter this amount or \$50, whichever is larger. This is the Jorgium part of the tax.  C Subtract B from A. This is the unforgiven part of the tax. Enter it here.  12. Add item 10 to the amount in item 11C, if any. Enter the total here. This is your total income and Victory tax  What You've Paid and What You Owe  13. A Enter here your income and Victory taxes withheld by your employer.  B Enter here the total sums you paid last year on your 1942 income tax bill  C Enter here any 1943 income tax payments last September and December.  D Now add the figures in A, B and C and enter the total here.  14. If the tax in item 12 is more than the total payments in item 13, you owe the difference.  Enter it here, If the payments are greater, write "NONE" and skip items 15 and 16.   |                     | 8. 1<br>9. 1 | Now add items 6 and 7. Enter the total here.  I you filed a tax return on 1942 income, enter the amount of tax here. However, before anything, read enefully instruction 4.  | entering                            |                      |
| What You've Paid and What You Owe  13. A Enter here your income and Victory taxes withheld by your employer.  B Enter here total sums you paid last year on your 1942 income tax bill C Enter here any 1943 income tax payments last September and December.  D Now add the figures in A, B and C and enter the total here.  14. If the tax in item 12 is more than the total payments in 13, you owe the difference. Enter it here. If the payments are greater, write "NONE" and skip items 15 and 16.  | and                 | 10. 1        | ORGIVENESS FEATURE: Don't fill in A, B, and C below if either stem 8 or 9 ss \$ 50 or 1855.  |                                     |                      |
| What You've Paid and What You Owe 13. A Enter here your income and Victory taxes withheld by your employer.  B Enter here the total sums you paid last year on your 1942 income tax bill C Enter here any 1943 income tax payments last September and December. D Now add the figures in A, B and C and enter the total here. 14. If the tax in item 12 is more than the total payments in item 13, you owe the difference. Enter it here, If the payments are greater, write "NONE" and skip items 15 and 16.  15. You may postpone, until not later than March 15, 1945, payment of the amount you owe up to  |                     |              | larger. This is the forgiren part of the tax.  C Subtract B from A. This is the unforgiven part of the tax. Enter it here  |                                     |                      |
| Paid and What You Owe  B. Enter here the total sums you paid last year on your 1942 income tax bill D. Now add the figures in A, B and C and enter the total here.  14. If the tax in item 12 is more than the total payments in item 13, you owe the difference. Enter it here. If the payments are greater, write "NONE" and skip items 15 and 16.  15. You may postpone, until not later than March 15, 1945, payment of the amount you owe up to  |                     | Щ<br>Поста   | A Force here your income and Victory taxes withheld by your employer   | ome and                             |                      |
| You Owe 14. If the tax in item 12 is more than the total payments in item 13, you owe the difference. Enter it here. If the payments are greater, write "NONE" and skip items 15 and 16  15. You may postpone, until not later than March 15, 1945, payment of the amount you owe up to   | Paid                | 13.          | B Enter here the total sums you paid last year on your 1942 income tax bill C Enter here any 1943 income tax payments last September and December.   |                                     |                      |
|   |                     | LL           | If the tax in item 12 is more than the total payments in item 13, you owe the dif-<br>Enter it here, If the payments are greater, write "NONE" and skip items 15 and 16  |                                     |                      |
| The Tours has proved upon the paying with this return (subtract item 15 from item 14)   | Terms of<br>Payment |              | one half of item 11C. Enter the postponed amount here  |                                     |                      |
| Payment  17. If the TOTAL of your 1943 payments (item 13) is larger than your tax (item 12), enter the difference. You have overpaid your 1943 tax by this amount.  Check (V) what you want done: Refund it to me Credit it on my 1944 estimated tax   I declare under the penalties of perjury that this return has been examined by me, and to the best of my knowledge and belief, is a true, correct and complete ret   | or Refund           | 17.          | If the TOTAL of your 1943 payments (item 13) is larger than your tax (item 12), enter ference. You have overpaid your 1943 tax by this amount.  Check ( $\forall$ ) what you want done: Refund it to me $\square$ Credit it on my 1944 entimated tax $\square$ |                                     |                      |

| Check your family status in the proper box below before | you use the table to find your income to |
|---|--|
|---|--|

|   | y and anno to third jour income (a)   |
|---|---|
| Single (and not head of family) on July 1, 1943.  Married but not living with wife or husband (and not head of family) on July 1, 1943. | 4. Married and living with wife or husband on July 1, 1943, and only one had gross income during the year   |
| you checked No. 1 or No. 2 above, find your tax in column A of the table below  | and this return includes gross income of both wife and husband for the entire year.   |
|   | Others who are head of family (a single parton or marie)  |
| 3. Married and living with wife or husband on July 1, 1943. but each filing separate seturns on this form.                              | person not living with wife and husband who exercises family countrol and supports dosely connected dependent relative(s) in one household) on July 1, 1943 |
| If you obcoked No. 3 above, find your tax in column B of the table below  | If you checked No. 4, 5, or 6 above. And your far in column C of the table below  |

flow read down to where the figure you entered in item 5 falls, and then across to your column. Enter the lax you find there as item 6 on the other side.

| If locome subject to mx<br>(item 5 on other side) is | A        | CSLUMK<br>E3   | COLUMN         | If Income | subject to tax<br>other side) is | A       | escoma<br>B | CHER   | If become | subject to tax<br>substaids) is | COLUMN  | COLUMN | CGL  |
|--|----------|----------------|----------------|-----------|----------------------------------|---------|-------------|--------|-----------|---------------------------------|---------|--------|------|
| OVER But not over                                    | TAX is   | Your<br>TAX is | Yaur<br>TAX is | OVER      | But not over                     | Your.   | Y. 11/2     | 70-1   | OVER      | <del>,</del>                    | Your    | Your   | 1-10 |
| \$0 8525.  | 50.      | \$0.           | \$0.           | . 61.350  | . 81,375.                        | .\$141. | 3122        | TAXI   |           | But not over                    | TAX     | TAX    | 7.4  |
| 525 550.   | 1.       | 0.             | 0.             | 1.375.    | 1,400                            |         | 126.        | \$10). | . 82,175. | . \$2,200.                      | .\$263. | .8264. | .81  |
| 550 575 .  | 4.       | 0.             | 0              | . 1.400   | . 1.425                          | 149.    | 130         | 14.    | 2,200     | 2.225                           | 288.    | 269 .  | 1    |
|  | 7.       | 0.             | 0              | 1,425     | . 1.450                          | 154.    | 135         | 21     | 2.225 .   | 2.250 .                         | 292.    | 273.   | J :  |
| 606 625.   | 11.      | 0.             | 0.             | 1.450.    | 1,475                            | 158.    | 139.        | 25.    | 2.250.    | 2.275.                          | 296.    | 277.   |      |
| 625 650.   | 15.      | 0.             | 0.1            | 1.475     | 1.500                            | 162.    | 143         | 29     | 2.300     | 2.300                           | 301.    | 282.   |      |
| 050 675.   | 20       | 3 .            | 0.             | 1.500 .   | 1,525                            | 167.    | 148         | 34     | 2.325     | 2,325 .                         | 305.    | 286.   | []   |
| 675 700.   | 24,      | 6.             |                | . 1.525.  | 1.550                            | 171     | 152.        | 38     | 2.350     | 2,350.                          | 309.    | 290.   | ]    |
| 700 725.   | 28.      | 9.             | 0.             | 1,550     | . 1.575                          | .175    | 156.        | 42.    | 2.375     | 2.378.                          | 311.    | 295.   |      |
| 725 750.   | 33.      | 14.            | 0 .            | . 1.575.  | 1,600                            | 189.    | . 161.      | 47     | 2.100     | 2.400 .                         | .,318.  | 299 .  |      |
| 750 775.   | 37.      | 18.            | 0.             | 1.600     | 1.625                            | .184    | .165        | 51.    | . 2.425   | 2,428.                          | 322.    | 303.   | :    |
| 775 800.   | 41.      | 22.            | 0.             | 1,625.    | 1,030 .                          | 183.    | .169.       | 55.    | 2.430     | 2,475                           | 327.    | 308.   |      |
| 800 825 .  | 46.      | 27.            | 0.             | 1.650.    | 1,075                            | 193.    | .174        | 60     | 2,475     | 2.500                           | 331.    | 312.   | ٠.   |
| 825 850 .  | 50.      | 31.            | 0.             | 1.675.    | 1,700 .                          | 197     | 178.        | 64     | 2,500     | 2,525                           | 335.    | 316.   |      |
| 850 875  | 54.].    | 35.            | 0.             | 1,700     | . 1.725                          | 201     | .182        | 68.    | 2.525     | 2.550.                          | .,340.  | 321.   | :    |
| 875  | 59.      | 40 .           | 0.             | 1,725.    | 1,750.                           | 206     | .187.       | 73.    | 2,550     | 2.575                           | 348.    | 325.   |      |
| . 900 925.   | 63 .   . | 44.            | o.j            | 1.750.    | 1,775.                           | 210.    | .191        | 77.    | 2.575.    | 2.660                           | 353.    | 334.   | :    |
| 925 950.   | 67.      | 48.            | 0.             | 1,775.    | 1.800                            | 214.    | .195        | 81.    | 2.600     | 2.625                           | 357.    | 338.   |      |
| . 950 975  | 71.      | 52.            | 0.             |           | 1,825.                           | 218.    | .199.       | 85 .   | 2.625     | 2.050.                          | 361.    | 342.   |      |
|  | 76.      | 57.            | 0              | 1.825     | 1.850                            | 223     | .201.       | 90.    | 2.650     | 2.675                           | 366.    | 347.   |      |
|  | 80.      | 61.            | 0.             | 1.850.    | 1,875.                           | 227.    | .203.       | 94.    | 2.675     | 2.700                           | 371.    | 351    |      |
|  | 84.      | 65             | 0.             | 1.875.    | 1.000                            | .231.   | .212.       | 98.    | 2.700     | . 2,725                         | 376.    | 355.   |      |
|  | 89.      | 70.            | 0.             | 1.1,900.  | 1,925                            | .236.   | .217.       | .103.  | 2.725     | 2,750.                          | 381.    | .359.  |      |
|  | 93.      | 74.            | 0.             |           | 1,950 [.                         | .240.   | .221.       | .107.l | . 2.750   | 2.775                           | .386    | .361.  | 2    |
|  | 97.      | 78.            | 0.             | 1.950.    | 1.975.                           | .244.   | .225.       | .111.  | 2.775     | 2.800.                          | .391    | 369    | 2    |
| .1,125 1,150   | .102.    | 83.            | 0.             | 1.1,975.  | 2.000                            | .249.   | .230.       | .116.  | 2.800.    | 2.825                           | .396.   | .371   | 2    |
|  | .106.    | 87.            | 0.             | 2.000.    | 2.025.                           | .253.   | .234.       | .120.  | 2.825     | 2.850                           | .401    | .379   | 2    |
| .1,175 1,200 1,225                                   | .110.    | 91.            | 0.             | 2,025     | 2,050                            | .237.   | .238.       | .124.  | 2,850     | . 2.875                         | 406     | .384   | 2    |
|  | .115.    | 96.            | 0.             | 2.050     | .2.075.                          | .262.   | .243.       | .129.  | 2.875     | 2.900                           | 411     | .389.  | 2    |
| ,,   | .119.    | .100.          | 0.             |           | 2.100 . ] .                      | .266.   | .247.       | . 133. | 2,900     | . 2.925                         | 416     | .394   | 2    |
| .1,2501,275  | .123.    | .104.          | 0.             | 2,100.    | 2,125.                           | .270.   | .251.       | .137.  | 2,925 .   | 2,950                           | 421     | .399   | . 2  |
| 1,300 . 1,325  | .128.    | .109.          | 1.             | 2,125.    | .2.150                           | .275.   | .256. .     | .142.  | 2,950     | 2.975                           | 426     | 404    | . 21 |
| ,  | .132.    | .113.          | 4.             | 2,150.    | 2,175                            | .279.   | ,260.       | .146   | 2,975     |                                 | .431    | 409    | .21  |
| . 1.020 1.350  | . 136.   | .117.          | 7 .            | L .       | Į                                | Ì       | - 1         | - 1    | 1 1       |                                 |         |        |      |

| . 1,325 1  | .328132113 4.<br>.350136117 7.  | 2.175279260146.  | 2,975 3,000   |  |  |  |
|--|---|--|---|--|--|--|
| Figure<br>Your<br>Victory<br>Tax<br>In This<br>Space | If you checked No. 5, and both you and y here; however, if either of you had \$6.5 de here. The figure you enter is your Victor Co. Now subtract the amount in line b from to the condition of the | on the other side of this form.  pof this page, enter \$62.4, or  our wife or husband each had income of more it  or less, add the smaller of the two incomes to \$1  var exemption.  he amount in line a. Enter the difference here,  he table below first find the percentage which ar  d in line c by the raze you circle. Enter the res.  This method automatically allows you your cre.  wanny dependents you have.  \$2,4 \times 3, 35 \times 3, 35 \times 3, 15 \times 3  \$2,7 \times 2, 26 \times 2, 25 \times 2, 45  \$3,45 \times 3, 35 \times 3, 25 \times 3, 15 \times 3  \$3,25 \times 1, 25 \times 2, 25 \times 2, 45  \$3,27 \times 2, 26 \times 2, 25 \times 2, 45  \$4,27 \times 2, 26 \times 2, 25 \times 2, 45  \$4,27 \times 2, 26 \times 2, 27  \$5,27 \times 2, 26 \times 2, 27  \$5,27 \times 2, 26 \times 2, 27  \$5,27 \ | han \$624, ener \$1248  024 and ener the total  poplies to you and circle ult here and in item 7  10, 30, 50, 50, 50, 50, 50, 50, 50, 50, 50, 5 |  |  |  |
| Брисе  | EXAMPLE 1 — Single, no dependents   Amount entered in line   1,1525     Net Victory Tax rate.   7,0575     (from table above)   10675     4275     4275     Net Victory Tax (enter in line d) 157,195   | EXAMPLE 2—Married, no dependents           Amount entered in line c         \$1525           Net Victory Tax rate         \$2.03           (from table above)         \$45.75           Net Victory Tax (enter in line d)         \$45.75  | EXAMPLE 3 — Mariled, 2 dependents Amount entered in line c  |  |  |  |
|  | (Care of tine 8) 137.19   | 1  | Net Victory Tax (enter in line d) \$42.70   |  |  |  |

# Facts and Instructions to help you fill out your 1943 Tax Form 1040A

# 1. Who must file a return for 1943

Read the list carefully to see if you are included.

- \* Any single person whose total income was \$500 or more.
- \* Every husband or wife whose individual income was more than \$624.
- \* Every husband and wife whose combined total incomes were \$1,200 or more.
- \* Every individual who paid or owed a tax on 1942 income.

#### 2. Who may use Form 1040A

The form sent you with these instructions is called the short form, and is numbered rogod. It is simpler and quicker to fill in than the long form 1040, but only certain people may use it. You may do so if you meet all four of these conditions:

- \* If you are a citizen or resident of the United States-
- \* and your total income in 1943 was not more than \$3,000;
- \* and that income came only from salary, wages, dividends, interest, and annuities;
- \* and your wife or husband does not use

approximate. Since the year has ended, it is now possible to figure out exactly what you

owe or whether you are entitled to a refund.

Also, some extra figures are necessary so

When the pay-as-you-go plan started you

already owed your 1942 tax. To relieve you

of paying both years' taxes in one year, Con-

gress decided to forgive a part of one year t

tax. Naturally, if you had no tax in one of

these two years, there is nothing to be for-

given. The form shows you how to figure

your forgiveness. In most cases it will be

three-fourths of the 1942 tax, or all the tax if it does not exceed \$50. This will be

true unless your 1943 tax was less than your 1942 tax, in which case the forgiveness will be figured on the 1943 tax. This is why the

form asks you to compare your taxes for

There is a special rule which relates ONLY to husbands and wives who file a joint return

in one of the two years and separate returns

in the other. If you are not in this group, enter your 1942 tax in item 9 and you do not need to read the next five paragraphs.

Perhaps you and your wife or husband

filed separate returns for 1942, but you are now making a joint return. If so, you must add together the tax bills of both persons for

wife or husband filed a joint return for 1947,

you should enter as item 9 in this case is based on whether or not your joint 1942 tax

was smaller or larger than your combined

and now plan to file separate returns. What

1948, and enter the total in item 9.

On the other hand, perhaps you and your

that you may receive the tax furgiveness'

granted by the law.

these years.

the long form 1040. (If she or he does, the other may not use the short form.)

You and your wife or husband may elect to file separate returns or a joint return. You may make this choice regardless of the way you filed a return previously, or filled out a declaration last September or December.

You and your wife or husband may use the short form 1040A as a joint return only if:

\* You both meet the conditions above, and

asso

\* You were living together on July 1, 1943.
(You are considered to be living together
though temporarily apart; for instance, because one of you is with the armed forces.)

\* And your combined total income does
not exceed \$5,000.

Everyone else must use the long form 1040. In using this short form 1040A you must list total income without any deductions. The reason is that the credit for dependents and the tax table on the form together allow for your personal exemption, earned income credit and deductions amounting to 6 percent of total income.

However, under some circumstances you may find it advantageous to use the long form 1040. This may be true where deductions

for interest, contributions, taxes, alimony, etc., exceed 6 percent of your income, or if after last July 1, you married or the number of your dependents increased.

#### 3. Figures you need

To make out your tax return you need to know the amounts paid you during all last year for personal services, such as wages, salaries, bonuses, commissions, etc. This means the amounts before deductions for taxes, union dues, health insurance, etc. You also need figures on the amount of income and Victory taxes you paid through withholding. Your employer should have given you these wage and tax figures shortly after the first of this year.

Also, if you have received any dividends, interest, or annuities during the year, you should know how much they totaled.

Next, if you paid an income tax last year, you need to know how much the whole tax bill was, and how much of it you paid in March and Jone. You should have received with these instructions a slip which gives you these figures. This slip is Form No. 1125. You must be sure to send this slip back with your tax return.

In addition, if you filed a declaration of estimated tax in September or December, and paid a tax, you will also need to know the amount you paid.

#### 4. Pay-as-you-go and forgiveness

This return is on the pay-as-you-go basis and naturally, for this year of the change, requires more details than usual. Some of the additional figures are needed because the taxes you have been paying in 1943 were only

Instructions-Reverse side 1949 taxes (the sum of item 8 on both returns).

If your joint 1942 tax was smaller, then you may divide it between your two returns in any proportion you wish as long as your share does not exceed your separate 1943 tax.

If, however, your joint 1942 tax was larger than your combined 1943 taxes, first subtract to find the difference. You may divide this difference between you as you wish. You should enter in item 9 the sum of your should enter in item 9 the sum of your sharp, plus the amount of your separate 1943 tax. Attach a statement to your return showing how you shared this difference.

now your shared this unterence.

Also, if you filed jointly for 1942, and separately for 1943, you must figure your formers this way. Compare the joint 1942 tax with the combined 1949 taxe, and enter the first think the same that the same t

#### 5. Victory tax

More details are necessary this year because of the Victory Tax. This tax is 5%, less a credit of 25% of the tax if you were ningle, or 40% if married, plus in either case 2% for each dependent. Originally this payers were eligible to claim it now because of war bond purchases, insurance payments, etc. Accordingly, to simplify figuring, Congress decided last fall that the credit is to be allowed annually. The net Victory Tax rates shown on the form allow for this credit.

#### 6. Members of the armed forces

If you are serving with any of the American armed forces outside the United States,

★ v. s. 007EMBERT PRINTING STYLES : 1943 [0~60000~]

you do not need to file a return of your income tax until after the war or you come back home. Your wife also may postpone filing until you come back to the United States unless she has income of her own of \$1,200 or more.

If you are in the services you don't have to include in your income or pay a tax on the first \$1,500 of your service pay. There is another tax benefit that may be

There is another tax benefit that may be allowed you if you served as any time during 1942 or 1943, and your last for 1949 mer than your 1947 text. If you filed a separate return for 1942 reporting income of \$3,000 or less and you are likewise filing a separate return for 1943, you should enter in item 9 the same amount of tax you put down in item 8. If for 1942 you filed a joint return or had more than \$3,000 income, you, too, may benefit. However, you will have to refigure your 1942 income that have to refigure your 1942 income tax. Details as to how to do this may be obtained from any Collector of Internal Revenue.

#### 7. Refund or credit

When you finish making out your return, you may find you are entitled to a refund. By filling in item 17, you tell the Collector whether you want it refunded or credited and no further action on your part is necessary.

#### 8. Amended return

If you were eligible to file the short form return and do so, you may file an amended return on a similar form later, but may not use the long form.

#### 9. Filing of returns and payment

Returns must be filed and any tax due must be paid not later than March 15, 1944, to the Collector of Internal Revenue for pour district. If you don't know his address, ask at your local post office. Form 1041
Treasury Department
Internal Revenue Service

# UNITED STATES

1943

# FIDUCIARY INCOME AND VICTORY TAX RETURN

|  | 7                        | (FOR ESTA'                              | TES AND TRUSTS)  |   |         |                      |          |
|--|--------------------------|---|--|---|---------|----------------------|----------|
|  | 1                        | For Cale                                | ndar Year 1943   |   | ]       | (Do Not Use These Sp | uces)    |
|  | or feest yes             |   |  |   | F- 0    |                      |          |
| •  | File this return         | n pet let                               | , 1943, and ending   | <u> </u>                                | File C  | ode                  |          |
|  |                          | (PRINT NAMES AN                         | o day of the third month following (<br>taxable year.<br>(D ADDRESS PLAINLY BELOW) | he close of the                         | Serial  | No.                  |          |
|  | Name of                  |   | ID ADDRESS PLAINLY BELOW)  |   | Distric | et .                 |          |
|  | CHECK (/) WH             | UST<br>ETHER ESTATE (), OR TO           |  |   |         | (Casher's Stemp)     |          |
|  |                          | (                                       | KOSI 🔲   |   | l       |                      |          |
|  | Name and                 |   |  |   |         |                      |          |
|  | Address of               | {                                       |  |   | Cash    | Check                | M. O.    |
|  | Fiduciary                | ļ                                       |  |   |         | FIRST PAYMENT        | г        |
| Item and<br>Instruction No.  |                          |   |  |   | 2       |                      |          |
|  |                          | INCOME                                  |  | Colum<br>Income Tax                     | s I     | Column               | 2        |
| 1. Dividends   |                          |   | ****   |   |         | Victory Tax Net      | Income   |
| 3 Interest on bank deposits, no  | tes, corporation         | bonds, etc. (Except int                 | erest to be reported in item 3)  |   |         |                      |          |
| 4. Interest on Government obli   | bonds upon w             | hich a Federal incom                    | e tax was paid at source   |   |         |                      |          |
| (a) From lines (c), (f)  |                          |   | Less amortizable<br>bund premum  | •                                       |         |                      |          |
| column 3 (a) S   | r, and (g),<br>chodula B |   | •  | 1                                       |         | i                    | İ        |
| (b) From line (b) Scho   | edule B                  | · \$                                    |  |   |         |                      | 1        |
| (c) From line (i), Sche  | dule B                   | ····· \$                                |  |   |         | X X X X X X          | on only) |
| 5. Income (or loss) from part.   | nerships, syndi          | cates pools etc and                     | diament Control  |   |         |                      |          |
|  |                          |   |  |   | ļ       | 1                    | 1        |
| <ol> <li>Rents and royalties (from Scheen</li> <li>(a) Net gain (or loss) from sa</li> </ol> | duk C)                   | *************************************** |  |   |         | -                    |          |
| 7. (a) Net gain (or loss) from sa<br>(b) Net gain (or loss) from sa                          | ale or exchange          | of capital assets (from                 | Schedule E)  |   |         |                      |          |
| 8 Net part (-1 )   | ale or exchange          | of property other than                  | n capital assets (from Schedule F)   |   |         | . *****              | XX       |
| 8. Net profit (or loss) from trade<br>9. Other income. (State nature of i                    | e or business.           | (Attach statement)                      |  |   |         |                      | -        |
| Other income. (State nature of it     Total income in items 1 items 1                        | ncome)                   | ·                                       |  |   |         |                      | -        |
| The mediate in Reils 1   | o si (catte non          | taxable income in Schedules             | B and H)   | . \$                                    |         | \$                   |          |
| 11. Interest. (Explain in Schedule C)  | DEL                      | DUCTIONS                                |  |   |         |                      | -        |
| 12. Taxes. (Explain in Schedule C)   |                          |   | ***************************************  |   |         | *****                | X X      |
|  |                          |   |  |   |         | *****                | x x      |
| <ol> <li>Total deductions in items</li> </ol>  | 11 to 13                 |   |  | *************************************** |         | \$                   |          |
|  |                          |   |  |   |         | \$                   |          |
|  |                          |   |  |   |         | <b></b>              |          |
|  |                          |   |  |   |         |                      |          |
| 8. Victory Tax net income (taxa  | ble to fiduciary         | / (itent 13, column 2,                  | less item 16, column 2)  | XXXXXXX                                 | XX      | *******<br>\$        | **       |
|  |                          | COMPUIA                                 | LION OF TAY  |   |         |                      |          |
| 9. Income Tax net income (item   | 17 above)                | . \$                                    | 29. Victory Tax net income   | (item 18 above                          | c)(     | 3                    |          |
| Less: Personal exemption      Balance (surtax net income)                                    |                          | ·                                       | Dv. Less: Specific exemption   |   |         | 624                  | 00       |
| 2. Less: Interest on Governmen   |                          | \$                                      | 31. Income subject to Victor   | v Tax (item 2                           | 9 1000  |                      |          |
| etc. (item 4 (b), above)   | it obligations,          |   | item 30)   |   | - 1     | \$                   |          |
|  |                          |   | 32. Victory Tax before credit  | (5% of item ?                           | 31)     | \$                   |          |
| " I TOTHEL LEX (U% OF ICED 23)   |                          | 1 <b>t</b>                              | 33. Victory Tax credit: 25%  | of item 32, bu                          | t not   | ı                    |          |
| . Surtax on item 21  |                          | *                                       | more than \$500  | 22.1                                    |         | ·                    | *****    |
| <ol> <li>lotal Income Tax (item 24 blu</li> </ol>  | s item 25) (or           |   | 35. Total of items 28 and 34   | em 32 Jess item                         | 1 55)   | \$                   |          |
| line 14, Schedule E)   |                          | \$                                      | 36. Less: Fiduciary's share of   | Income Tar an                           |         | \$                   | •••••    |
| Less: Fiduciary's share of income tax  | paid to a foreign        |   | source on tax-free cove  | nant bond inte                          | Test    | [                    |          |
| country or U. S. possession. (At<br>B. BALANCE OF INCOME TA                                  | tach Form 1116)          |   | 37. BALANCE OF INCOME  | AND VICTO                               | ORY     |                      | *****    |
| INCL OF THEOME IA  | Λ                        | 5 1 1                                   | TAV  |   |         |                      |          |

Explanation of deductions claimed in columns 4 and 5.

Page 3

|   | Name and a<br>(Designate                                     | ddresi of each<br>nonresident s | beneficiary<br>iesse)  |                              | -                                  |                      | obligati                                     | ons sub   | e eschuive<br>lovernment<br>ject to sur-<br>ividends to<br>column 9 | 3. Feder<br>at son<br>amount<br>leas it  | ul income<br>rce (2%<br>st us item 3<br>em 36, page | tax paid<br>oi gross<br>, page l.      | 4. Incom<br>paid to<br>United           | ne and profits<br>a a foreign coun<br>I States possess   | tage<br>stry o               |
|---|--|---------------------------------|------------------------|------------------------------|------------------------------------|----------------------|--|-----------|---|--|---|--|---|--|------------------------------|
|   | ·  |                                 |                        |                              |                                    |                      | \$   |           |   | \$                                       |   | T                                      | \$                                      |  |                              |
|   |  | . <del> </del>                  |                        |                              |                                    |                      |  |           |   |  |   |  | • | <b></b>  | ļ                            |
|   |  |                                 |                        |                              |                                    |                      |  |           |   | }  |   |  |   |  | 1                            |
|   |  |                                 | ••••••                 |                              |                                    |                      |  |           |   |  |   |  |   |  |                              |
|   |  |                                 |                        |                              |                                    |                      |  |           |   |  |   |  |   |  | Į                            |
|   |  |                                 |                        |                              |                                    |                      |  |           |   |  |   |  |   |  |                              |
| Total of ben  | eficiaries' shares.  |                                 |                        |                              |                                    |                      | \$   |           |   | \$                                       |   |  | \$                                      |  |                              |
|   | ONTINUATIO   | ON OF S                         | HEDU                   | LE A                         | BENE                               | FICIA                | RIES'  | SHA       | RES OF  | _  |   | D CRE                                  | DITS                                    |  | ==                           |
|   | 6. Wholly tax-exem   | ot obligation                   | (shares of             | \                            |                                    |                      |  | _         |   | 141-0411                                 |   |  |   |  |                              |
| letter corre-<br>nding to shove<br>identify benefi- | 6. Wholly tax-czens<br>the sum of lizes<br>Schedule B)       | (a). (b). (c).                  | and (d) of             | 7. United<br>Bonds<br>Schedu | d States Se<br>(shares of<br>ut B) | vings B<br>line (r), | ond sand Tr<br>columns 2 o                   | and 3a.   | B. Obligate<br>the Unit<br>2 and 3                                  | ions of co<br>ed States (<br>a. Schedule | tain instru<br>shares of lin<br>B)                  | nentalities<br>e (f), colum            | 9. [                                    | Dividends on shounts of Federa                           | are i                        |
| NY  | a. Principal   | <b>b.</b>                       | nterest                |                              | Principal                          |                      | b. Interes<br>amortizable<br>premis          | bond      | s. 1  | Principal                                | S.EDOF  | nterest less<br>tizable bon<br>remium  | 4 0                                     | gs and loan a<br>one (shares of I<br>duesn Ja, Schoo     | ine (                        |
|   | \$   | \$                              |                        | \$                           |                                    |                      | \$   |           | \$  |  | <b>\$</b>   |  | \$                                      |  |                              |
|   |  |                                 |                        |                              |                                    | ļ .                  |  |           | ļ   |  |   |  |   |  | -                            |
|   |  |                                 |                        |                              |                                    |                      |  | ·         |   |  |   |  |   |  | †                            |
|   |  |                                 |                        |                              |                                    |                      |  | 1         |   |  |   |  |   |  | 1                            |
|   |  |                                 |                        |                              |                                    |                      |  |           |   |  |   |  |   |  |                              |
|   | 1  |                                 |                        |                              |                                    |                      |  |           |   |  |   |  |   |  | 4                            |
| Totals  | \$   | \$                              |                        | \$                           |                                    |                      | \$   | <u>.l</u> | \$  | <u></u>                                  | \$  |  | \$                                      |  | 1.                           |
|   | Schedule B   | .—INTE                          | EST O                  | N GOV                        | ERNM                               | ENT                  | OBLIC  | ATIC      | NS, ET  | c. (s                                    | e Instr   | uction                                 | 4)                                      | 5. Feduracy's  |                              |
|   | t, Obligazione er  | r securities                    |                        |                              | 2. Arnor                           | unt own              | •  | nly) rec  | (and divide<br>gived or accr  | ued during                               | the year  | 4. Fidu<br>share of<br>taxonpl<br>taxo | interest<br>from                        | of interestment in exemption, idende sub-<br>surtax only | e a t<br>race<br>and<br>pect |
| N. P 4 4 -  | State, Territory,  | on political                    | ubdivisio              | n thereof.                   | 1                                  |                      | 1. B   | eneficia  | pica aburca   | ь. Fidur                                 | ary's share   |  |   |  | T                            |
|   |  |                                 |                        |                              |                                    |                      | <b>\$</b>                                    |           |   | \$                                       |   | All                                    | <b></b>                                 | *****  | 4                            |
| Loan Act. or  | et of Columbia, or<br>sed prior to March<br>under such Act a | a nmended                       | 7                      |                              |                                    |                      |  |           |   |  |   | All                                    |   |  | ١.                           |
| bligations or                                       | Custod States as   | aca cas os s                    | ctore exp              |                              | '                                  |                      |  |           |   |  |   | All                                    | • • • • • •                             | *****  | •]                           |
| Francisco Note                                      | s issued prior to<br>asury Certificates                      | December<br>of Indebt           | 1, 1940.<br>edness ist | l'reasury                    | -                                  |                      | 1 1  |           |   |  | - 1   | AII                                    |   |  |                              |
| an March I  | 941<br>Savings Bonds an                                      |                                 |                        |                              |                                    |                      | j-   |           |   | •••••                                    |   | A                                      |   | l:   | -                            |
| to March I.   | 1941tition   | of the Unite                    | States 6               | other than                   |                                    |                      | } }  |           |   | •  |   | \$                                     |   | •  | 1                            |
| obligations t                                       | o be reported in (   | b) above) is                    | ued prior              | fo Marci                     |                                    |                      | <u>                                     </u> |           |   |  |   | None.                                  |   |  |                              |
| Nichtanda an a                                      | hare accounts in F<br>of shares issued                       | ederal savi<br>prior to M       | gs and los<br>arch 28, | n associa<br>1942            |                                    |                      | x x  |           |   |  |   |  |   |  | -                            |
| Total. (  | Include in item 4 (  | (b), page 1).                   |                        |                              | <u></u>                            | <u></u>              | <u></u>                                      |           |   |  |   | <u> </u>                               | 110                                     | terest received  |                              |
|   |  | 6 D                             |                        | 040 and                      | .Lliantina                         |                      | d on or a                                    | fter N    | (arch 1, 19   | <br>                                     | Amount  | owned at a<br>f year                   | red ("                                  | crued during<br>(subject to per<br>and suress)           | the                          |
|   |  |                                 | MOCE I. I'             | , ro, and t                  | - Marketton                        |                      | of interes                                   | t as it   | em 4 (c). D   | age 1)                                   | \$  |  | \$                                      |  | <u>l</u>                     |
| Treasury Not  | States or any agent  | ry or instru                    | ientality t            | hereot.                      | (Enter a                           | HOOLIC               |  |           | 177   |  |   |  |   |  |                              |
| Treasury Not  | States or any agent  | cy or instrur                   | ientality t            | hereot.                      | REN                                | TS A                 | ND RO  | YAL       | TIES.   | (See Ir                                  | structi   | on 6)                                  |   |  | _                            |
|   | States or any agent  | ry or instru                    | NCOM!                  | hereot.                      | REN                                | TS A                 | ND RO  | YAL       | TIES.<br>Repairs (CE)   | (See Ir                                  | 5. Other  |  | term-   6.                              | Net profit. (  | Ent                          |
| the United S  | States or any agenc<br>Sched                                 | ry or instru                    | NCOM!                  | FRON                         | REN                                | TS A                 | ND RO  | YAL       | TIES.   | (See Ir                                  | 5. Other  | on 6)                                  | tem- 6.                                 | Net profit. (<br>item 5, page                            | E <sub>1</sub>               |

|  |                           |   | C Dia ILL                          | Dirion Ci               | MINICO III 3  | CHEDULES   | , C, Air               | Dr. (5  | ee instruc   | tion M)                                       |                |
|--|---------------------------|---|------------------------------------|-------------------------|---|--|------------------------|---|--|---|----------------|
| 1. Kind of property (if buildings, state matture) of which constructed)  | 2. Dat+ ac-<br>quired     | 3. Cost or other<br>basis (do not un-<br>clude land or other<br>nondepreciable<br>property) | 4. Asset<br>depreciate<br>at end o | d in use al             | 5. Depreciation<br>lowed (or allow-<br>le) in prior years   | 6. Remaining<br>or other basis<br>recovers.            | to be                  | Estimated<br>c used in<br>umulating<br>sectation    | 8. Estimat<br>remainin<br>life from<br>beginning<br>year | 9. Depres                                     | istion         |
|  |                           | \$  | s                                  |                         | T   |  | _                      |   |  |   | T              |
|  |                           |   | 1                                  |                         |   | ************   |                        |   | *******  |   |                |
|  |                           |   | 1                                  |                         |   |  |                        |   |  |   |                |
| ***************************************  |                           |   |                                    |                         |   |  |                        |   |  |   |                |
| Schedule E.—GAINS At   | 2201 08                   | ES FROM SA  | LEC OF                             | EVCIL                   | NCEC OF   | CARTELL  |                        |   |  |   | -1             |
| Schedule E.—GAINS AI   | 10 1.033                  | ES FROM SA  | ALES UP                            | EXCHA                   | INGES OF  | CAPITAL  | ASSET                  | rs. (s  | ce Inst  | ruction 7)                                    |                |
| Kind of property (if necessary, attach statement of descriptive details not shown below)  2. Date as             | ) . Dan                   | 4. Gross sales<br>(contract po  | price 5. C                         | ost or other<br>basis   | 6. Expense of s<br>and cost of im-<br>provements sub-<br>quent to acqui-<br>tion or March<br>1913 | allowed (or  | ellow-8.<br>rch I, 7   | Gain or lo<br>mn 4 plus<br>feas the s<br>olumns 5 s | w (col-)   |   | <u></u>        |
| Ma. Day Ye   |                           |   |                                    |                         | <u> </u>  |  |                        |   |  | ie  |                |
| SHORT-   | TERM CAP                  | PITAL GAINS AI  | ND LOSSE                           | S-ASSET                 | S HELD NOT  | MORE TH  | AN 6 M                 | ONTHS   |  |   |                |
| 1  | ]                         | - T.  | Π.                                 |                         | 1.  | T  | TT                     |   | 1 1  | T   | 丁              |
|  |                           | •   | J   <b>3</b>                       |                         | \$  | \$   | \$                     |   | 10   |   |                |
|  |                           |   |                                    |                         | -   |  | -                      |   | ·   10   | . 1   |                |
|  |                           |   |                                    |                         | ·   | •••  | -}}                    |   | 10   | - 1   |                |
| Total net short-term capital gain  |                           |   | 1                                  |                         |   |  | -                      |   | 10   | 0   |                |
|  |                           |   |                                    |                         | w)  |  |                        |   |  |   |                |
| LONG-TI  | ERM CAPI                  | TAL GAINS AN  | D LOSSES                           | -ASSETS                 | HELD FOR  | MORE THA   | N 6 M                  | NTHS  |  | 1   | 1              |
|  |                           | 4   |                                    |                         |   | T  | 1 1.                   |   | 1 1  | <b>-</b>  .                                   | 1              |
|  |                           | ***************************************   | ****                               |                         | •   |  | ) *                    |   | 50   |   |                |
|  | 1                         |   |                                    |                         |   |  | -[[                    |   | 50   |   | [              |
|  |                           |   |                                    |                         |   |  |                        |   | 50   | 1   |                |
| Total net long-term capital gain   | or loss (ente             | r in line ? colum   | n 7 of a                           |                         |   |  | .                      |   | l 50   | 1   | سات            |
|  |                           |   |                                    |                         |   |  |                        |   |  | \$  | <u> </u>       |
| ter in the second  |                           | SUMMARY (   | OF CAPI                            | TAL GA                  | INS OR LO   | OSSES  |                        |   |  |   |                |
| I. Chanifestion  |                           | 2. Net ga   | in or loss to                      | taken into<br>10, above | 3. Net gai<br>account from  | in or lose to be to<br>n partnerships a<br>trust funds | uken into<br>nd common | 4 T   | otal net gai<br>count in co<br>this s                    | n or loss taken<br>lumns 2 and 3 s<br>summary | into           |
|  |                           | (e) Ca  | in                                 | (i) Loss                | (e) Gai   | in (   | ) Lose                 |   | Cain   | (i) Los                                       |                |
| 1. Total net short-term capital gain or loss   |                           |   |                                    |                         | \$  | 3  |                        | . 5   |  | 3   | 7              |
| 2. Total net long-term capital gain or loss  |                           | \$ <u></u>  | <u></u>   \$                       |                         |   | <u>                                     </u>           | <u>.</u> ]             |   |  |   | 1              |
| 3. Capital loss carry-over (attach state   |                           |   |                                    |                         |   |  |                        |   | 1111   | \$  |                |
| 4. Net gain in column 4, lines 1, 2, and 3.  | (Enter as                 | item 7 (a), page  | 1)                                 |                         | ******  |  |                        |   |  | *****   | 1.             |
| 5. Net loss in column 4 lines 1.2 and 3  | /T                        |   |                                    |                         | m de s  | (2)  |                        |   |  |   | · - <u>*</u> - |
| puted without regard to capital gains  | or losses, or             | (3) \$1,000, which  | never is sm:                       | o), page 1, E           | (I) this item   | or (2) net inco  | me, com-               | . * * * :   |  | ١,  | 1              |
| Use only if you had an excess of   |                           | COMPLETA  | TION O                             |                         |   | AX<br>apital loss                                      | and ite                |   |  | xceeds \$18                                   | .000           |
| 1 Not income Co. 17 15   |                           | - 1   |                                    | 1/                      |   |  |                        |   |  |   | _              |
| Escess of het long-term capital gair<br>term capital loss (line 2, column of line 1, column 4 (b), and line 3 of | n over net<br>(a), less t | short-<br>he sum  |                                    | 9. Surt                 | nal tax (6% o<br>ax on line 5.  | (See Instruct  | ion 25)                |   |  | \$  |                |
| 3. Ordinary net income (line ! less line ?   | summary                   | above)  |                                    |                         | ial tax (line 8   | plus line 9)   |                        |   |  | \$  |                |
| 4. Less: Personal exemption (item 20, pa   | •)                        | · \$  |                                    |                         | of line 2   |  |                        |   |  |   |                |
| 5. Balance (surtax net income)   | gc I)                     |   | ****                               |                         | mative tax (lir   |  |                        |   |  | أسيسيسي                                       |                |
|  |                           | · <b>\$</b>   |                                    | 13. Tota                | l normal tax a  | nd surtax (ite   | n 24 plus              | item 25,  | pagel) [   | \$ <u></u>                                    |                |
| <ol> <li>Less: Interest on Government obligati<br/>page 1).</li> </ol>   | ons, etc. (ite            | no 4 (b).   | - 1                                | l .                     |   |  |                        |   | i  |   |                |
| 7. Balance subject to normal tax   |                           |   | <del> </del>                       | 14. Tex                 | liability (line I   | 2 or line 13,  | whicheve               | r is the l  | esser).  |   |                |
|  |                           | · \$  |                                    | /I (E                   | inter as item 20  | ). Dage   )  |                        |   |  | \$  |                |
| State the family, fiduciary, or business relat   | ionship to y              | ou, if any, of pur  | chaser of ar                       | y of the iten           | ns in Schedule  | E:   |                        |   |  |   |                |
| If one of the time are   |                           |   |                                    |                         |   |  |                        | •             |  |   |                |
| If any of the tiens were acquired by you ob  | her than by               | purchase, explain   | fully how a                        | cquired:                |   |  |                        |   |  | *   |                |
|  |                           |   |                                    |                         |   |  |                        |   |  |   |                |

1. Kind of propert

Total net gain (or loss). (Enter as item 7 (b), page 1)\_\_

I, Source of income

1. Was a return of income filed for the preceding year?

3. If copy of will or trust instrument and statement required under

4. Check whether this return was prepared on the cash [] or accrual [

5. Did the estate or trust at any time during its taxable year have in its

employ more than eight individuals? (Answer "Yes" or "No") ... If answer is "Yes," has the estate or trust in this return taken a deduc

tion for any amount of wages or salaries representing an increase or

increases or decreases. If any of such increases or decreases re-

the best of my knowledge and belief, is a true, correct, and complete return.

Instruction I have been previously furnished, state when and

to which collector's office was it sent? 2. Date estate or trust was created

(Signature of person (other than taxpayer or agent)

Subscribed and sworn to before me this

State the family, fiductory, or business relationship to you, if any, of purchaser of any of the above items: If any of the above items were acquired by you other than by purchase, explain fully how acquired:

Schedule G.—EXPLANATION OF DEDUCTIONS CLAIMED IN ITEMS 11, 12, and 13. (See Instructions 11, 12, and 13)

Schedule H.—NONTAXABLE INCOME OTHER THAN INTEREST REPORTED IN SCHEDULE B. (See Instruction 10)

QUESTIONS

AFFIDAVIT (See Instruction F) I swear (or affirm) that this return (including any accompanying schedules and statements) has been examined by me, and to

(Title)

quired the prior approval of the National War Labor Board or the

Commissioner of Internal Revenue as stated in Instruction 8,

attach also a copy of the authorization for each of such increases

Did the estate or trust at any time during the taxable year own directly

(Answer "Yes" or "No") .....

(Check which.)

schedule as required by Instruction O. If return is for a trust, state name and address of grantor \_

Subscribed and sworn to before me this

(Signature of officer ado

or indirectly any stock of a foreign corporation or a personal holding company as defined in section 501 of the Internal Revenue Code?

If return is for an estate, has a United States Estate Tax Return

(Address of februiary or officer)

If answer is "Yes," attach

Schedule F.—GAINS AND LOSSES FROM SALES OF EXCHANGES OF PROPERTY OTHER THAN CAPITAL ASSETS. (See Instruction

|        |        | INSTRUCTI | ONS FOR | FORM | A 1041  |     |        |
|--------|--------|-----------|---------|------|---------|-----|--------|
| UNITED | STATES | FIDUCIARY | INCOME  | AND  | VICTORY | TAX | RETURN |

1943

Tapayers will find it helpful to read General Instructions A to O before commencing to fill in their returns, and to read Specific Instructions in connection with filling in the items to which they refer. (References are to the Internal Revenue Code, unless other-

#### GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

A. Who must use Form 1041.—Every fiduciary, or at least one of joint fiduciaries (except a receiver appointed by authority of haw in possession of part only of the property of an individual), must make under oath an Income and Victory Tax return on

1943

- form 1041 for:

  (1) Every estate for which he acts, if (a) the gross income of such estate for the taxable year is \$500 or over, or (b) any beneficiary is a nonresident alien.

  (2) Every trust for which he acts, if (a) the net income for such trust for the taxable year is \$100 or over, or (b) the gross income is \$500 or over regardless of the amount of net income, or (c) any beneficiary is a nonresident alien. (See also General Instruction N.)
- (See also General Instruction N.)

  B. Filouciary returns on Form 1040 and Form 1040A.—(1) An executor or administrator must make a return, on Form 1040, if the gross income of a decedent to the date of his death was equal to, or in excess of, his credit for personal exemption (disregarding his status as head of a family or for dependents), or was in excess of \$622. Such return is for a fractional part of a year, and the applicable credit for personal exemption (as well as credit as head of a family and for dependents) must be reduced proportionately to the number of months in such period.

  (2) A foliaging including the guarding of a miner and the
- (2) A fiduciary, including the guardian of a minor and the guardian or committee of an insane person, who has charge of the income of an individual, must make a return of income on Form 1040 or Form 1040A if a return is required for such individual.
- 1040 or Form 1040A if a return is required for such individual.

  C. Returns for nearestient alles benchistries. (1) United State Buistent.—11 of titizen or resident fiduciary has the distribution of the income of an extate or trust, and increased within its normalised and interest in trade or buistens within the opposition of the control of the co
- service of the motified of soundary small make a return on a rout not and stated theretoes.

  (2) No United Notes havines, clittent or readont fiduciars's braing the distribution of the income of an estate or trust will not be required to make a return on Form 100ND Bird may benefiting of the sestin or trust while not be income of an estate or trust will not be required to make a return on Form 100ND Bird may be returned to trust will not be required to trade or business within the United States at any time within the baseling year if and an the source, but such flowings is required to make a return on Form 100ND has for such tentificiary, other than a resident of Camada, who has gross income for the saxibity year of more than 115 Aid, and may any tax aboven therefor be does. Unless the saxibity year of more than 115 Aid, and may any tax aboven therefore be due. Unless the saxibity year of beneficiary is entitled camon to be obtained in the return field by the flowing. If the beneficiary appoints a person in the United States, the benefits of the return field by the flowing, if the benefits of the flowing is the flowing that the sax is the distinct of the sax is the flowing that the sax is the sax is the flowing that the sax is the s
- payable to me concurary.

  D. Period to be covered by return.—Returns shall be filed for the calendar year 1943 or fiscal year beginning in 1943 and ending in 1944. The established accounting period must be adhered to for all years, unless permission is received from the Commissioner to make a cliance. An application for a change in the accounting to make a chance. An appreciation for a change in the accounting period shall be made on Form 1128 and forwarded to the Commissioner of Internal Revenue, Washington 25, D. C., at least 60 days prior to the close of the fractional part of the year for which a return would be required to effect the change.
- which a return would be required to effect the change.

  E. When and where the return must be filed.—Returns must be filed on or before the 15th day of the third month following the close of the taxable year of the estate or trust with the collector of internal revenue for the district in which the fiduciary resides or has his principal place of business, except an extension of time for filing nontaxable returns is granted up to and including the 15th day of the fifth month following the close of the taxable year. In case the fiduciary has no legal residence or place of business in the United States, the return should be forwarded to the Collector of Internal Revenue, Baltimore 2, Md.

  F affidavis—The affidavit must be occurred by the indi-
- F. Affidavits.—The affidavit must be executed by the individual fiduciary, or by the authorized officer of the organization vidual indicary, or by the authorized officer of the organization receiving or having custody or control and management of the income of the estate or trust. If two or more individuals act jointly as fiduciaries, the affidavit may be executed by any one

Where the return is actually prepared by some person or persons other than the fiduciary, such person or persons must execute that affidavit at the foot of the fourth page of the return.

The oath or affirmation will be administered without charge by any collector, deputy collector, or internal revenue agent. If an internal revenue officer is not available, the return should be sworn to before a person authorized to administer oaths for general purposes by the law of the United States or of any State, eral purposes by the law of the United States or of any State, Territory, or possession of the United States, or of the District of Columbia, wherein such oath or affirmation is administered, except an attorney or agent employed to represent the taxpayer before the Department in connection with his tax liability.

before the Department in connection with his tax liability.

G. When and to whom the tax must be paid.—The tax must be paid in full when the return is filed, or in four equal installments as follows: On or before the 15th day of the third month, on or before the 15th day of the third month, on or before the 15th day of the ninth month, and on or before the 15th day of the 15th da

person except at the collector's office.

H. Penaltics.—For failure to make and file return on time.— Five percent to 25 percent of the amount of the tax, unless such failure is due to reasonable cause, and, in addition, where failure is willful, a fine of not more than \$10,000 or imprisonment for not more than one year, or both, together with the costs of

not more than one year, or both, together with the voice of prosecution.

For willfully altempting to evade or defeat payment of the tax.—

Not more than \$10,000 or imprisonment for not more than five years, or both, together with the costs of prosecution.

For deficiency due to negligence or fraud.—Five percent of the amount of the deficiency if due to negligence or intentional disregard of rules and regulations without intent to defraud, or 50 percent of the amount of the deficiency if due to fraud.

- 50 percent of the amount of the deficiency if due to fraud.

  1. Caps of will or trust instrument—A copy of the will or trust instrument sworn to by the aductory as a true and complete copy in cases in which the ross income of the estate or trust is \$5,000 or over, must be filled with the aductory return of the estate or trust is \$5,000 or over, must be filled with the aductory return of the estate of trust is \$5,000 or over, must be filled with the aductory return of the estate of trust instrument, when the statement by the following the description of the statement of the stat
- Jack in which the Amendment was made.

  J. Received or accrued income.—If the hooks of account of the estate or trust are kept on the accrual basis, report all income accrued, even though it has not been actually received or entered on the books, and expenses incurred instead of expenses paid. As to disallowance of doubteions for unpaid expenses and interest. due to certain persons, see Specific Instruction II. If the books are not kept on the accrual basis, or if no books are kept, make the return on the each basis and report all income received or constructively received, such as bank interest credited to the account of the estate or trust and coupon bond interest matured, and report expenses actually paid.
- K. Income in respect of decedents.—Amounts of gross income of a decedent, not includible in his gross income, shall be included when received in the gross income as estatt, legate, or other person entitled to receive such amounts estatt, legate, or other person entitled to receive such amounts as the conditions specified in section 23 (a), (b), or (c) (relating to decedent may be taken by the person receiving property of the decedent subject to the obligation for which the deduction is allowed. Similar treatment is given to the foreign tax credit provided by section 31. The deduction for persentage deplication specified in section 23 (m), not allowable to the decedent for any taxable period, may be taken by the person receiving the income in respect of the decedent to which such deduction relates. (See sections 23 (w) and 120.) K. Income in respect of decedents .- Amounts of gross income

The deductions allowed on account of decedent's deductions provided in section 23 (w) for the purpose of the normal tax and surtax are not allowable for the purpose of determining Victory Tax net income. (See section 451 (a) (13).)

L. Rems exempt from tax.—As to items of income exempt from tax other than those listed below, see sections 22 (b) and 116.

#### PAGE 2

(ii) Interest on governmental obligations:

(a) Entirely stemps — The Interest on (ii) obligations of a Bistle, Territory, or political content of the Interest of the Interest of the Interest of the Interest of the Interest of the Interest of the Interest of the Interest of the Interest of the Interest of

M. Depreciation, depletion, and amortization of emergency facilities.—A responsible silvesance for exhaustion, wear and two (unfouding a reasonable allowance for bostonization) (i) of property used in trade or business or 62) property hold for the production of income, may be declined at different production of income. The production of the following the second of For depletion deduction, see sections 23 (m) and 114.

Fit are not trust, provided an election is made as prescribed in section 124 (b), are entitled to a deduction with respect to the anortization of the adjusted basis (in determining ratio) of an emergency facility (as defined in section 123 (c)), based on a period of sixty months. A statement of the pertuent (see about the filed with the tarpayor's rature.

the tarpayer's return.

N. Information at source.—Every person making payments of salaries, wags, interest, entits, commissions, or other fixed or determinable momen of \$500 or more during the calendary are 1940, to an individual, a permetablin, or a finitearly, its required to make a return or forms 100 and 100 and howing the amount of the interest and the law return of forms 100 and 100 and how the first make a return or forms 100 and 100 and howing the amount making of the interest and the law returned with respect to (1) salary or wage payments from which the tan has been withheld, provided duplicates of the statements on Forms W-2 and V-2 are furnished, and (2) salaries and other compensation for personal services aggregating the time \$00 and to a married individual. Distributions to beneficiaries of an estate or trust shall be reported on Form 101 and not on Forms 1000 and 1000.

and 1000.

O. Stock a ward in foreign responsions and personal holding companies.—If at any time during the tasable year the existe or trust cowind directly or university any stock of a foreign correspond controlled on the control of the control

#### SPECIFIC INSTRUCTIONS

## The following instructions are numbered to correspond with item numbers on the first page of the return

1. Dividends.—Enter the total of all taxable dividends received from domestic and foreign corporations. Enter in Schedule H all dividends received which are claimed to be nontaxable, and include in item 1 dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations in case of shares issued on or after March 28, 1942; dividends on shares issued before that date should be entered in Schedule B.

date should be entered in Schoouse B.

2. Interest on bank deposits, notes, corporation bonds, etc.—
Interest coupons falling due within the taxable year will be
considered as income for such year where the books are kept on
a cash basis. If the books are kept on an accrual basis, report
the actual amount of interest accrued on the obligations owned
during the taxable year. (See instruction 4 for deduction of during the taxable year. (See i

3. Interest on tax-free covenant bonds.-Enter interest on d. Interest on tax-tree covenant bonds.—Enter interest on bonds upon which a Federal income tax was paid at the source by the debtor corporation, if an ownership certificate on Form 1020 was filled with the interest coupons. The tax of 2 percent paid at the source on such interest should be allocated to the beneficiaries in column 3, Schedule A.

4. Interest on Government obligations, etc.—If the estate or trust owns any of the obligations or securities enumerated in lines (a) to (f), inclusive, column 1, Schedule B, enter in column 2 the amount owned at the end of the year, and in column 3 the total interest received or accrued during the year on such obligations or securities. Interest on an aggregate of not exceeding \$5.000 principal amount of the obligations described in line (c), is exempt from surtax imposed by section 12. However, when the income of a trust is taxalle to beneficiaries of a trust the income of which is to be distributed to be indicated of trust the income of which is to be distributed to be indicated currently, each beneficiary is entitled to exemption as if he owned directly a proportionate part of the bonds held in trust. When, on the other hand, income is taxable to the trustee as in the case of a trust the income of which is accumulated for the benefit of unborn or unascertained persons, the trust, as owner of the bonds held in trust, is entitled to the exemption on account of such ownership. 4. Interest on Government obligations, etc .-- If the estate or such ownership.

such ownership.

Section 23 (y) provides for the deduction of amortizable bond premium by the owner of the bond. The term "bond" means any bond, debenture, notary corporation and bearing interest including as the control of the con item 4, and deducted from the amount of interest received or

accrued.

Amortization of bond premium is mandatory with respect to fully tax-exempt bonds (the interest on which is not subject to income tax). In the case of fully taxable bonds (the interest on

which is subject to the normal tax and the surtax) and partially which is subject to the normal tax and the surfax) and partially tax-exempt bonds (the interest on which is subject only to surfax), the amortization of bond premium is elective as to either one or as to both. Such election shall be made by the taxpayer by taking a deduction for the bond premium on his return for the first taxable year to which he desires the election to be applicable. Attach a statement showing the computation of the

deduction.

The election shall apply to all bonds with respect to which it was made owned by the tarpayer at the beginning of the first taxable year to which the election applies and also to all bonds of such class (or classes) thereafter acquired by him, and shall be binding for all subsequent taxable years, unless upon application by the taxpayer, the Commissioner permits the taxpayer. voke the election

In the case of a fully tax-exempt bond, the amortizable pre-In the case of a fully tax-exempt bond, the amortizable pre-mium for the taxable year is an adjustment to the basis or adjusted basis of the bond but no deduction is allowable on account of such amortizable premium. In the case of a fully taxable bond, the amortizable premium is both an adjustment to the basis or adjusted basis of the bond and also a deduction. In the case of a partially tax-exempt bond, the amortizable pre-mium for the taxable year is used for three purposes a deduction; and (3) as a reduction to the credit for the interest on the bonds, and (3) as a reduction to the credit for the interest on the bonds.

Taxpayer on the cash basis may elect, as to all noninterest-Taxpayer on the cash basis may elect, as to all noninterest-bearing obligations issued at a discount and redeemable for fixed amounts increasing at stated intervals (for example, United States Savings Bonds), to include the increase in redemption price applicable to the current year. For the year of election the total increase in redemption price of such obligations occur-ring notween the date of acquisition and the end of the year must ring between the date of acquisition and use and or the year mass be included. Taxpayer so electing shall report such income as interest in item 2, 3, or 4, page 1, whichever is applicable, and attach statement histing obligations owned and computation of accrued income. An election exercised in the current year or in a prior year is binding for all subsequent years.

in a prior year is binding for an abusequeue years.

Enter in column 7 (a), Schedule A, the principal amount of
the benediciaries' shares of the obligations described in line (e),
column 1, Schedule B, and in column 7 (b), Schedule A, the beneficiaries' shares of interest received or accured thereon during
the year less amportizable bond premium reflected in line M (a). the year less amortizable bond premium reflected in item 4 (a), page 1. The fiduciary shall advise each beneficiary as to the amount of his share of these obligations and of the interest (as well as amortizable bond premium), in order that the beneficiary may include this information in his individual income tax return and determine whether such interest is subject to tax. Enter in column 4, line (c), Schedule B, the fiduciary's share of interest compt from taxation and in column 5, lines (c) and (f), Schedule B, the fiduciary's share of interest on a about the state of exemption. If at the Scholler is the state of the st exemption. If at times during the taxable year the estate of trust held more than \$5,000 rhincipal amount in the aggregate of such obligations, enter in column 5, of line (e), Schedule B, the fiduciary's share of interest received or accrued in excess of interest on an aggregate of \$5,000 principal amount of such 16-87177-1

The amount of interest which is subject to surtax only is not includible in gross income for the purpose of computing the Victory Tax net income.

5. Income (or loss) from partnerships, syndicates, pools, 5. Income (or loss) from partnerships, syndicates, pools, etc., and other faduciaries.—Enter the share of the estate or trust of the profits (whether received or not) or of the losses of a partnership (including a syndicate, pool, otc., not taxable as comporation) except the estate's or trust's distributive share of the partnership capital gains or losses which should be exported in Schedule E and included in item T (a), and the share of the estate's or trust of the income from another estate or trust. The estate's or trust's share of interest in obligations of the United States,

or trust's share of interest in obligations of the United States, etc., owned by partnerships or another estate or trust abould be included in Schedule B. Include in items 27 and 36, respectively, the estate's or trust's share of credits claimed for foreign income and profits taxes and Federal income taxes paid at source. If the taxable year or the basis of which the state's or trust's return is filed does not coincide with the annual states or trust's return is filed does not coincide with the annual states or trust's return is filed does not coincide with the annual states or trust of the partnership or other fiduciary, include in the prefix for such accounting period of the partnership or other fiduciary ending within your taxable year.

\*\*Email and compliance Children Control of the Induction of the partnership or other fiduciary ending within your taxable year.

6. Rents and royalties. Fill in Schedule C giving the information requested.

If the estate or trust received property or crops in lieu of cash if the estate or trust received property or crops in lieu of cash rents, report the income as though the rent had been received in cash. Crops received as runt on erop-share basis should be reported as income for the year in which disposed of (unless the return is on the accrual basis).

7. Gains and losses from sales or exchanges of capital assets A. Game and obsect from sales or exchanges of capital assets and other property.—Report sales or exchanges of capital assets in Schedule E and sales or exchanges of other property in Schedule F, and enter the net amount of gain or loss to be taken

Schedule F, and cuter the net amount of gain or loss to be taken into account in computing net income.

"Capital assets" defined.—The term "capital assets" means property held by the taxpayer (whether or not connected with his trade or business), but not atock in trade or other property of a kind which would properly be included in his inventory if on hand at the close of the taxable year, or property held by the taxpayer primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of his trade for business, or property used in the trade or business of his trade for business, or property used in the trade or business of his trade for business (1), or an obligation of the United States or any of its ection 20 (1), or an obligation of the United States or any of its property of the District of Columbia, issued on or after March 1, 1941, or a discount basis and payable without interest at a fixed maturity date not exceeding one year from the date of issued maturity date not exceeding one year from the date of issued maturity date not exceeding one year from the date of issued maturity date not exceeding one year from the date of issued maturity date not exceeding one year from the date of issued maturity date not exceeding one year from

of the tarpayer.

Section 165 (b) provides that if an employee receives the total distribution that he is entitled to under an employees' trust plan that meets the requirements of section 165 (a) in one taxable year on account of his separation from service, the amount of such distribution to the extent exceeding the amounts contributed by the employee shall be considered a gain from the sale or exchange of a capital asset held for more than 6 months. A capital gain divided as defined in section 362 (relatives

sale or exchange of a capital asset held for more than 6 months. A capital gain dividend, as defined in section 362 (relating to tax on regulated investment companies) shall be treated by the shareholder as gains from the sale or exchange of capital assets held for more than 6 months. But for more than 6 months. In the sale of t

the trade of business, see section 117 (j).

Description of property—State following facts: (a) For real setate, location and description of land and improvements; (b) for bonds or other evidences of indebtedness, name of issuing corporation, particular issue, denomination and amount; and (c) for stocks, name of corporation, class of stock, number of shares, and capital changes affecting basis (including nontaxable distributions). distributions)

assurioutions).

Basis.—In determining GAIN in case of property acquired before March 1, 1913, use the cost or the fair market value as of March 1, 1913, adjusted as provided in acetion 118 (b) whichever is greater, but in determining LOSS use cost so adjusted. If the property was acquired after February 28, 1913, use cost, except as otherwise provided in acetion 113.

Losses on securities becoming worthless.-If (1) shares of Losses on securities becoming wortness.—It (1) shares us stock become worthless during the year or (2) corporate securities with interest coupons or in registered form become worthless during the year, and are capital assets, the loss therefrom shall be considered as from the sale or exchange of capital assets as be considered as from the sale or ex-of the last day of such taxable year.

of the last day of such taxable year.

Nonbusiness debts.—If a debt, other than a debt evidenced
by a corporate security with interest coupons or in registered
form and other than a debt the loss from the worthlessness of
which is incurred in the trade or business, becomes totally worthless within the taxable year, the loss resulting therefrom shall be
considered a loss from the sale or exchange, during the taxable
year, of a capital asset held for not more than 6 months.

PAGE 8 Classification of capital gains and tosses.—The phrase "shortterm" applies to gains and losses from the sale or exchange capital assets held for 6 months or less; the phrase "long-term" to capital assets held for more than 6 months.

tapital assets into for 0 months or less; the phrase "long-term" to espital assets held for more than 6 months.

Limitation on capital lesses.—Losses from sales or exchanges of capital assets are allowable to individual taxpayers only to the extent of the gains from such sales or exchanges, plus the net income (complication) and the sales of the case of an individual taxpayers of the complication of the complex of the comp

Losses in transactions between certain persons.-No de-

Losses in transactions between certain persons.—No deductions shall be allowed in respect of losses from sales or exchanges of property, directly or indirectly—

A. Between members of a family, which is defined for the purpose of this paragraph to include only the tarpayer's brothers and sisters (whether by the whole or half blood), spouse, ancestors, and lineal descendants;

B. Except in the case of distributions in liquidation, between an individual and a corporation more than 50 percent in value of the outstanding stock of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by or for such individual;

C. Between a granter and a fiduring of the control

C. Between a grantor and a fiduciary of any trust; or D. Between a fiduciary of a trust and a beneficiary of such trust.

such trust.

For the purposes of determining ownership of stock in applying
this paragraph, see section 24 (b) (2).

Alternative tax—If the net long-term capital gain exceeds the
net short-term capital loss, an alternative tax may be imposed
in lieu of the normal tax and surfax imposed on net income. (See
Computation of Alternative Tax, Schedule E.)

8. Net profit (or loss) from trade or business.—If the estate or trust was engaged in a trade or business during the taxable year, enter the net profit (or loss) and attach to the return a statement showing the nature of the trade or business, total receipts, cost of merchandise bought for sale, inventories of merchandise on hand at the beginning and end of the taxable year, other items entering into cost of goods sold, ealeries and wages of employees, interest, taxes, losses, and bad debta directly attributable to the trade or business, depreciation, obsolescence, and depletion of property used in the trade or business cant, repairs, and all other expenses in detail. A taxable year, early east in clouded in gross income amounts received during the year for include in gross income amounts received during the year for include in gross income amounts received during the year for include in gross income amounts received during the year for include in gross income amounts received during they grow with the commodity Credit Corporation should file with the cutter of the production of the production, manufacture, purchase, or sale of merchandise is an income and the production, manufacture, purchase, or sale of merchandise is an 8. Net profit (or loss) from trade or business .- If the estate or

Insentories.—II engaged in a trade or business in which the production, manufacture, purchase, or sale of merchandies les an income-producing factor, inventories of merchandies on hand should be taken at the beginning and end of the tuxable year, which may be valued at (a) cost, or (b) cost or market, whichever is lower. Taxpayers were given an option to adopt the basis of either (a) cost, or (b) cost or market, whichever is lower, for their 1920 inventory. The basis properly adopted for that year or any subsequent year is controlling and a change can now year or any subsequent year is controlling and a change can now the properly adopted for the year of any subsequent year is controlling and a change can now the properly adopted for the year of any subsequent year is controlling and a change can now the properly adopted from the Commissioner to change the basis of valuing inventories shall be made the last and field with the Commissioner. tories shall be made in writing and filed with the Commissioner within 90 days after the beginning of the taxable year in which it is desired to make the change. Indicate opposite the inventories in the statement submitted by the use of "C" or "C" or M" whether the inventories are valued at cost, or cost or market, whichever is lower. (See section 22 (d), with reference to the special method of taking inventories at the election of the taxable of the close of any taxable. payer as of the close of any taxable year beginning after December 31, 1938.)

Depreciation, etc.—See General Instruction M with respect to

Deprecation, etc.—See General Instruction M with respect to requirements in case any deduction is claimed for depreciation, obsolsseence, or depletion.

Bad debts.—Bad debts may be deducted either (1) when they become wholly or partially worthless, or (2) by a reasonable addition to a reserve. (No change of method without permission missioner.)

Installment sales .- If the installment method is used, attach Installment sates.—It the installment method is used, attach to the return a schedule showing separately for the years 1940, 1941, 1942, and 1943 the following: (a) Gross sates: (à) cost of goods sold; (c) gross profits; (d) percentage of profits to gross

TABLE 4-B.—Taxable fiduciary returns with net income, 1948, by net income classes specific source of income and

[For description of items and classifications, and

[Net income classes and money

| 52           | 52 55   | \$   |      |  |            |
|--------------|---|--|------|--|------------|
| Grand total  | Total | Taxable fiduciary returns with net income:  Under 0.5.  0.5 under 0.75.  1.5 under 1.5.  1.5 under 1.5.  1.5 under 1.5.  2.5 under 2.5.  2.5 under 2.5.  2.5 under 2.5.  3. 5 under 4.  4. under 4.  4. under 4.  5. under 6.  6 under 7.  7 under 8.  8 under 9.  9 under 10.  9 under 11.  11 under 12.  12 under 13.  13 under 14.  14 under 4.  15 under 6.  6 under 7.  7 under 8.  8 under 9.  9 under 10.  10 under 10.  10 under 10.  20 under 20.  30 under 30.  30 under 40.  30 under 30.  30 under 30.  300 under 40.  300 under 40.  300 under 20.  300 under 30.  300 under 30.0 | (1)  | Net income classes <sup>1</sup>                              |            |
| 3, 368       | 440   | 541<br>1146<br>1146<br>1146<br>1148<br>1148<br>1188<br>97<br>98<br>98<br>98<br>98<br>98<br>98<br>98<br>98<br>98<br>98  | (15) | Net loss from sales of capital assets #                      |            |
| 1,0/1        |   | (i) (ii) (iii) (iii) (iii)   | (16) | Net loss from sales of property other than capital assets 18 | Deductions |
| 1 1,000      |   |  | (17) | Business<br>loss 10  |            |
| <u>ا _</u> ا |   |  |      |  |            |

For footnotes, see pp. 252-254.

figu me

| and returns with no net income in aggregate: Number of returns, amount of each deduction, and net income—Continued  method of tabulating data, see pp. 6-13] | Vumber | e, | returns, | amount | ્યું ૧ | each |
|--|--------|----|----------|--------|--------|------|
| figures in thousands of dollars]   |        |    |          |        |        |      |

| 396         | 354<br>42             | (i) (ii) (ii  | (18) | Partner-<br>ship loss 11                              |
|-------------|-----------------------|---|------|---|
| 9, 493      | 8, 286<br>1, 207      | 472<br>327<br>327<br>327<br>327<br>327<br>327<br>328<br>328<br>329<br>329<br>329<br>329<br>329<br>329<br>329<br>329   | (19) | Interest<br>paid 16                                   |
| 17, 994     | 16, 809<br>1, 185     | 1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1, 933<br>1,  | (20) | Taxes<br>paid 10                                      |
| 32, 285     | 31, 077<br>1, 207     | 2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038<br>2.038 | (21) | Other deductions 39                                   |
| 65, 695     | 61, 534<br>4, 160     | <br>2. 444<br>2. 2. 444<br>2. 2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2. 444<br>2.  | (22) | Total<br>deduc-<br>tions                              |
| 16 629, 701 | 622, 341<br>18 7, 359 | 56, 142 26, 967 110, 869 110, 869 110, 869 110, 869 110, 869 111, 396 111,   | (23) | Balance<br>income 4                                   |
| 254, 597    | 246, 576<br>8, 022    | 4.0<br>4.0<br>4.0<br>4.0<br>4.0<br>4.0<br>4.0<br>4.0  | (24) | Amount<br>distribut-<br>able to<br>benefi-<br>claries |
| 18 375, 103 | 375, 766<br>14 663    | . 6, 310<br>. 7, 481<br>. 7, 788<br>. 8, 99, 99, 99, 99, 99, 99, 99, 99, 99,  | (25) | Net income<br>(taxable<br>to the<br>fiduciary)        |

PAGE 4

sales; (\*) amount collected; and (f) gross profit on amount col-(See section 44.)

Limitation on salaries and wages.- In any case in which a Limitation on salaries and wages.—In any case in which a wage or snlary payment, for which a deduction would otherwise be allowable under section 23 (a), is determined by the National War Labor Board, by the Secretary of Agriculture, or by the Commissioner to have been made in contravention of the Act of October 2, 1942, or of the regulations, orders, or rulings, promulgated thereunder, the entire amount of such payment will be disallowed as a deduction.

9. Other income.—If the estate or trust had any taxable income, space for reporting which is not provided eisewhere on page 1, enter it as item 9, and explain its nature, using a separate sheet if necessary for that purpose.

10. Total income.—Enter and explain in Schedule H all income, except interest, claimed as exempt, but do not include as part of item 9. Exempt interest on Government obligations, etc., should be entered in Schedule B.

11. Interest—For Income Tax.—Enter all interest paid or accrued, other than on business indebtedness (which should be accrued, other than on business indebtedness (which should be deducted in computing income under item 6 or 8.). Do not include interest on indebtedness incurred or continued to purchase or carry obligations (other than obligations of the United States issued after September 21, 1917, and originally subscribed for by the taxpayer; the interest upon which is wholly exempt from taxation. Any deductions on account of interest, should be explained and temized in Schedule Cut of interest, should be explained and temized in Schedule Cut of interest (24 (c)). Do not deduct amounts paid or accrued on indebtedness incurred or continued to purchase a single promium life insurance or or continued to purchase a single premium life insurance or endowment contract. A contract shall be considered a single remium life insurance or endowment contract if substantially all the premium on such contract are paid within a period of 4 years from the date on which the contract is purchased.

4 years from the date on which the contract is purchased.

For Victory Tax.—The deduction generally allowable for the purpose of computing the Income Tax net income is allowable for the purpose of computing the Victory Tax net income if the indebtedness with respect to which such interest is paid or accrued was incurred (a) in carrying on any trade or business, (b) for the production or collection of income, or (c) for the management, conservation, of maintenance of property held for the production of income.

Interest upon indebtedness incurred incident to the acquisition

Interest upon indebtedness incurred incluent to the acquisition of property held for investment, even though such property produces no income during the taxable year, is nevertheless deductible. Such deductible interest not reported in item 6 or 8 should be included in item 13, column 2, page 1.

12. Taxes-For Income Tax.-Enter and explain in Schedule G taxes imposed upon the estate or trust and paid or accrued during the taxable year, not including taxes on property used in the trade or business of the estate or trust and those assessed against local benefits of a kind tending to increase the value of the property assessed. Do not include Federal income taxes, the property assessed. Do not include Federal income taxes, nor estate, inheritance, legacy, succession, gift taxes, taxes imposed upon the interest of the estate or trust as shareholder of a corporation without reimbursement from the estate or trust. No deduction is allowable for any portion of foreign income and profits taxes if a credit is claimed in item 27. (See section 29.126-3 of the regulations for rule relating to deduction for estate tax attributable to income in respect of decedent.)

able to income in respect of decedent.)

For Victory Tax.—Taxes paid or accrued generally allowable for the purpose of computing Income Tax net income are allowable for the purpose of computing Victory Tax net income only if paid or accrued (a) in connection with the carrying on of a trade or business, (b) in connection with property used in the trade or business, or (c) in connection with property held for the production of income. Such deductible taxes not reported in item 6 or 8 should be included in item 13, column 2, page 1.

13. Other deductions authorized by law.-Enter any other authorized deductions for which no space is provided on page 1, including net operating loss deduction allowed by section 23 (s). including net operating loss deduction allowed by section 23 (8). Every tax-payer claiming a deduction due to a net operating loss for the preceding taxable year or years shall file with his return the statement required by section 29,122-1 of the regulations. Include nontrade or nonbusiness expense incurred either (1) for the production or collection of taxable income or (2) for the

management, conservation, or maintenance of property held for the production of taxable income.

Worthless bonds and similar obligations and nonbusiness had

debts should be included in Schedule E as losses on capital

Do not deduct losses incurred in transactions which were neither connected with the trade or business of the estate or trust nor entered into for profit. Deductions should be explained In case the estate or trust incurred expenses in connection with exempt, income or owned any property the income from which is exempt, see section 24 (a) (5) and the regulations.

which is exempt, see section 24 (a) (b) and the regulations. For Income Tax.—Hern I3 should include losses of property not connected with the business or profession of the estate or trust sustained during the year, if airsing from fire, storm, shipwreck, or other casualty, or from theft, and if not compensated for by insurance or otherwise.

Explain and itemize losses claimed in Schedule G, setting forth

Explain and itemize losses claimed in Schedule G, setting forth a description of the property, date acquired, cost, subsequent improvements, depreciation allowable since acquisition, insurance, salvage value, and deductible loss. Include also losses (not claimed in item 8) from property destroyed or seized in the course of military or naval operations during the war, and of property located in enemy countries or in areas which come under the control of the enemy. (See section 127 for rules as to treatment of losses from war, taxation of property recovered, and basis of property.)

Include amortizable bond premium not claimed in item 4.

The deduction for amortization of bond premium is not allowable for the purpose of computing the Victory Tax net income.

16. Amount distributable to beneficiaries.-Enter the total 16. Amount distributable to beneficiaries.—Enter the total amount distributable to beneficiaries as reflected in columns 2, 7b, 8b, and 9, Schedule A. Care should be taken in filling in Schedule As on as to include as beneficiaries persons for whose benefit amounts of charitable contributions which pursuant to the terms of the will or deed creating the trust are during the taxable year paid or permanently set aside as provided in section 162(a). If any part of the income of the trust is taxable to the grantor under section 166 or 167, it should not be reported the grantor under section 100 or 167, it should not be reported on Form 1041, but such income and the amount of deductions and credits applicable thereto should be shown in a separate statement to be attached to Form 1041. (As to the treatment of distributions made within 65 days after the close of the taxable year, see section 162 (d).)

20. Personal exemption.—An estate is allowed, for both normal tax and surtax purposes, the personal exemption of \$500 allowed a single person under section 25(b)(1), and a trust is allowed in lieu of the personal exemption under section 25 (b)

allowed in lieu of the personal exemption under section 25 (b) (1), a credit of \$100 against net income.

In case the return of an estate is for a fractional part of the year, the personal exemption must be reduced proportionately to the number of months in such fractional part of the year.

25. Surtay Table .- The following table shows the surtay due for the taxable year upon surtax net incom

| If the surtax net income is:          | The surtax shall be:                          |
|---------------------------------------|---|
| Not over \$2,000                      | 13% of the surtar net income.                 |
| Over \$2,000 but not over \$4,000     | \$260, plus 16% of excess over \$2,000.       |
| Over \$4,000 but not over \$6,000     | \$580, tilus 20% of excess over \$4,000.      |
| Over \$6,000 but not over \$8,000     | \$980. plus 24% of excess over \$6,000.       |
| Over \$8,000 but not over \$10,000    | \$1 460 plus 7807 of excess over \$8 000      |
| O ver \$10,000 but not over \$12,000  | 82 000 plus 2207 of execus over \$10 000      |
| Over \$12,000 but not over \$14,000   | \$2,500, plus 36% of excess over \$12,000.    |
| Over \$12,000 DEL BUL OVER \$14,001   | \$2,000, plus 50% of excess over \$14,000.    |
| Over \$14,000 but not over \$16,000   | \$3,360, pius 60% of excess over \$19,000.    |
| Over \$16,000 but not over \$18,000   | \$4,180, plus 43% of excess over \$15,000.    |
| Over \$18,000 but not over \$20,000   | \$5,040, plus 46% of excess over \$18,000.    |
| Over \$20,000 but not over \$22,000   |   |
| Over \$22,000 hut not over \$26,000   | \$8,940, plus 52% of excess over \$22,000.    |
| Over \$26,000 but not over \$32,0.6   | \$9.020, plus 55% of excess over \$28,000.    |
| Over \$32,000 but not over \$18,000   | \$12,320, plus 59% of excess over \$32,000.   |
| Over \$38,000 but not over \$44,000   | \$15,900, plus 61% of excess over \$38,000.   |
| Over \$44,000 but not over \$50,000   | \$19.480 plus 6317, of excess over \$44.000.  |
| Over \$50,000 but not over \$60,000   |   |
| Over \$50,000 but not over \$70,000   | 221,510, 1103 00/6 of execus over \$50,000.   |
| Over \$00,000 but not over \$70,000   | 220,040, plus 09% of excess over 200,000.     |
| Over \$70,000 but not over \$80,000   |   |
| Over \$80,000 but not over \$90,000   | \$43,940, plus 75% of excess over \$80,000.   |
| Over \$90,000 but not over \$100,000  | \$51,440, plus 77% of excess over \$90,000.   |
| Over \$100,000 but not over \$150,000 | \$59,140, plus 79% of excess over \$100,000.  |
| Over \$150,000 but not over \$200,000 | \$96,640, plus 81% of excess over \$150,000.  |
| Over \$200,000                        | \$139,140, plus 82% of excess over \$200,000. |

27. Income and profits taxes paid to a foreign country or United States possession.—If, in accordance with section 131(a), a credit is claimed for income, war-profits, and excess-profits a credit is claimed for income, war-profits, and excess-profits taxes paid to a foreign country or a possession of the United States, submit Form 1116 with the return, together with the receipts for such payments. In case credit is sought for taxes accured, the form must have stached to it a certified copy of the return on which the tax was based, and the Commissioner must dive fit in the tax was based, and the Commissioner must be such as the submitted of the tax when paid differs from the credit claimed. 32. Limitation as second of Victors Tax. —The accuract of the control of the control of Victors Tax. —The accuract of the control of Victors Tax. —The accuract of the control of Victors Tax. —The accuract of the control of Victors Tax. —The accuract of the control of Victors Tax. —The accuract of the control of Victors Tax. —The accuract of the control of Victors Tax. —The accuract of the control of Victors Tax. —The accuract of the control of Victors Tax. —The accuract of the control of Victors Tax. —The accuract of the control of Victors Tax. —The accuract of the control of Victors Tax. —The accuract of the control of Victors Tax. —The accuract of the control of Victors Tax. —The accuract of the control of Victors Tax. —The accuract of the control of Victors Tax. —The accuract of the control of Victors Tax. —The accuract of the control of Victors Tax. —The accuracy of Victors Tax.

found due if the tax when paid differs from the credit claimed.

32. Limitation on amount of Victory Tax.—The amount of the Victory Tax is limited to an amount representing the excess of 90 percent of the taxpayer's net income for the taxable year over the tax imposed by chapter I for such taxable year, computed without regard to the Victory Tax imposed by section 450, and without regard to the application of (a) the credit for foreign income tax, (b) the credit for tax withheld at the source under section 143, and (c) the credit for Income Tax and Victory Tax withheld at the source waters. Tax withheld at the source on wages.

Tax being a source.—Enter the fiduciary's share

36. Income tax paid at source.—Enter the fiduciary's share of that portion of the 2 percent Federal income tax on bond interest which was paid at the source by the debtor corporation.

FORM 1065 Treasury Department

UNITED STATES

DADTAICDCHIN DETIMAL OF MICORE

|                                       |   | 'KEIU                  | KN UI                                   | INC          | UME         | 194              |
|---------------------------------------|---|------------------------|---|--------------|-------------|------------------|
|                                       | (To be Filed Also b                       | y Syndicates, Pools    | Joint Ventures,                         | Etc.)        |             |                  |
|                                       | For Ca                                    | alendar Yea            | r 1943                                  |              | Do Net      | Use These Spaces |
| •                                     | or fiscal year beginning                  |                        |   | 1944         | File Code   |                  |
|                                       | (File this return not later than          | the 15th day of the 3d | menth following the                     | close of the | Serial No.  |                  |
|                                       | (PRINT PLAINLY NAME A                     | ND BUSINESS ADDRES     | S OF THE ORGANIZ                        | ATION)       | Serial 140. |                  |
|                                       |   | (Name)                 | *************************************** |              | District    | ate Received)    |
|                                       |   | (Street and number)    |   |              | 1           |                  |
|                                       | Business or Profession                    | (City or town)         |   | State)       | 1           |                  |
| Item and<br>Instruction No.           | GROSS INCOM                               |                        |   |              | <u> </u>    |                  |
| 1. Gross receipts from busine         | ess or profession                         | IE.                    |   | 1            |             |                  |
| 2. Less cost of goods sold:           | or protession                             |                        | <del></del>                             | \$           |             | 1                |
| (a) Inventory at begin                | nning of year                             | ŀ                      | . 1                                     |              |             |                  |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              | - 1 1       | - 1              |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              |             | Ţ                |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              |             | J                |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              |             | [                |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              |             |                  |
| 4. Income (or loss) from other        | r partnerships, syndicates, pools, o      | etc community          |   | \$           |             | 1                |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              | 1 1         | - 1              |
|                                       |   |                        |   | ***          | •           | J.               |
| 6. Interest on corporation bo         | nds, etc. (except interest to             |                        | Less amortizable                        | ie           |             | [                |
| be reported in item 7)                | ) <b>e</b>                                |                        | bond premium                            |              | 1 1         | 1                |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              |             | - 1              |
| tax was paid at source                |   |                        | \$                                      | 1            | 11          | - 1              |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              |             | ļ                |
| (a) From line (h), Sche               | dule A                                    |                        | \$                                      | 1            | 1 1         | j                |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              |             |                  |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              |             | - 1              |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              |             | .                |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              |             | )                |
| 13 Other in                           | ome):                                     |                        |   |              |             |                  |
| 13. Other income (state nature of inc |   |                        |   |              |             | ı                |
| 14. Total income in items             | 3 to 13                                   |                        | <del>:</del>                            |              |             | - 1              |
| 14. I otal income in items            | and in ferres impressions recome in 24 pc | issins A and G)        |   |              |             |                  |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              |             |                  |
| 16. Rent                              | de compensation for partners)             |                        |   | } \$         | }}          | 1                |
|                                       | i. 6.2.4.1.00                             |                        |   |              |             |                  |
| 18. Interest on indebtedness (expl    | nin in Schedule F)                        |                        |   | .            |             | - 1              |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              |             | ł                |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              |             | 1                |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              |             | - 1              |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              |             | ł                |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              |             | 1                |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              |             | !                |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              |             | - 1              |
| a seed decidentions the tre           | 11 17 to 24                               |                        |   |              |             | - 1              |
| - Ordinary her income ()              | (em 14 minus item /5)                     |                        |   |              | ·           |                  |
|                                       |   |                        |   |              |             |                  |
| 28. Net long-term capital gain (or    | loss) (from line 2, column 4, Summary, Se | hadula HD              |   |              | ······      |                  |

|   | Sc   | hedule /  | INT                                     | ERES           | T ON  | GOVE       | RNM               | ENT                           | ОВ       | LIC      | ATIC                                      | NS,                      | ETC.                   | (5                            | ee l                 | nstru   | ction              | n 8)  |   | P   | ngo 2               |  |  |  |
|---|--|---|---|----------------|---|------------|-------------------|-------------------------------|----------|----------|---|--------------------------|------------------------|-------------------------------|----------------------|---|--------------------|---|---|---|---------------------|--|--|--|
|   |  |   |   | 1. 061         | igations or   | securitie  |                   |                               |          |          |   |                          |                        |                               |                      | 2. Amou<br>end                                      | of yes             | ned at  | 3. Interest (and div<br>dends subject to su<br>tax only) received<br>accrued during the |   |                     |  |  |  |
| a) Obligations of a                     | State, Te  | rritory, or   | political st                            | bdivision      | thereof, o  | or the D   | istrict e         | l Colu                        | mbia,    | , or L   | Inited St                                 | ates p                   | ssessio                | ns                            | :                    | <b>3</b>  |                    |   | \$  |   |                     |  |  |  |
| b) Obligations issu                     | ed prior to  | rior to March 1, 1941, under Federal Farm Loan Act, or under such Act as amended                        |   |                |   |            |                   |                               |          |          |   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| c) Obligations of U                     | Inited Sta   | ates issued on or before September 1, 1917  |   |                |   |            |                   |                               |          |          |   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| 7) Treasury Notes                       | s issued p   | issued prior to December 1, 1940, Treasury Bills and Treasury Certificates of Indebtedness issued prior |   |                |   |            |                   |                               |          |          |   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| to March 1,                             |  | 41  |   |                |   |            |                   |                               |          |          |   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| e) United States S                      | avings Bonds and Treasury Bonds issued prior to March 1, 1941  |   |   |                |   |            |                   |                               |          |          |   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| f) Obligations of in                    | strumentalities of the United States (other than obligations to be reported in (b) above) issued prior to March 1, 1941.    XXXXXX X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X |   |   |                |   |            |                   |                               |          |          |   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
|   |  |   |   |                |   |            |                   |                               |          | prio     | r to Mai                                  | ch 28,                   | 1942                   |                               | ···· <u>  ×</u>      | * * * * *   |                    | 1 2 X X   | 5   |   | *****               |  |  |  |
| h) Total of                             | lines (e),   | (f), and (g)  | , column                                | (enter a       | s item 8 (  | a), page   | 1)                |                               |          | ••••     |   |                          |                        |                               | 1                    |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| ) Treasury Notes                        |  | (ten)   | Db.                                     | . 1 1040       | الله لمد  | instinne   | iomed :           |                               | ior N    | farrh    | 1 1941                                    | by the                   | Unite                  | d State                       | - 1                  | Amount  | owned<br>year      | as end  | en<br>(sc   | est receive<br>sed during<br>bject to no<br>d surtas) | the year            |  |  |  |
| or any agency                           |  |   |   |                |   |            |                   |                               |          |          |   |                          |                        |                               |                      | <b>5</b>  |                    |   | \$  |   |                     |  |  |  |
| Schodule B                              |  |   |   |                |   |            |                   |                               |          |          |   |                          | PER                    | TY C                          | этн                  | ER T  | HAI                | N CA  | PITA  | AL ASS  | ETS.                |  |  |  |
| enodule p                               | -UAII  | 3 7.10  | LOJUL                                   |                |   | (          | See Ir            | ıstru                         | ctio     | n I      | 1)  |                          |                        |                               |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
|   |  |   |   |                | 1 Cene  | a sales pi | ice 4             | . Cost                        | or oth   | her      | 5. Cape                                   | nse of s                 | le and                 | leos                          | 6. De                | preciatio   | olla ne            | wed   7.  | Cain  | or loss (c<br>column 6 m<br>of columns                | olumn 3             |  |  |  |
| 1. Kind e                               | of property  |   | 2. Date                                 | acquired       | (contr  | ract price |                   | ba                            | ais .    | -        | quent                                     | to sco                   | uisition<br>3          | or                            | 901                  | allowable<br>sition or<br>) (furnish                | Marc               | h 1.  | pius e  | oi columns  | 4 and 5)            |  |  |  |
|   |  |   |   |                |   |            |                   |                               | _        | _        |   |                          | 1                      | -17                           |                      |   |                    | S   |   |   | 1                   |  |  |  |
|   |  |   | •                                       |                |   |            |                   |                               |          |          | *   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   | ••••               | "   | •   |   |                     |  |  |  |
|   |  |   |   |                |   |            |                   |                               |          |          |   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| •••••                                   |  |   |   |                |   |            |                   |                               |          |          |   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| T 1                                     |  |   |   | 11             | 1)  |            |                   |                               |          | ,        |   |                          |                        | ,-                            |                      |   |                    |   | i   |   | _                   |  |  |  |
| Total net  <br>tale the family, fi      | gain (or i   | oss) (ente  | seletions                               | hin to us      | u il anu  | of our     | chaser            | of anu                        | of th    | e abe    | ne item                                   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| face the jamity, p<br>I any of the abou |  |   |   |                |   |            |                   |                               |          |          |   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   |                    | A   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| ) any of the about                      | e items to   | tre atquire   | a eg goa .                              |                | Schedu  | le C.      | -TAX              | ES.                           | (S       | ec I     | nstru                                     | ction                    | 19)                    | _                             |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
|   |  |   |   |                |   | Nat        |                   |                               | ÷        | _        |   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   |                    |   |   | Amount  |                     |  |  |  |
|   |  |   |   |                |   |            |                   |                               |          |          |   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   |                    |   |   |   | 1                   |  |  |  |
|   | •••••  |   |   | ••••••         | •                       |            |                   |                               |          |          |   |                          |                        |                               | •••••                |   | ****               | \$  |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
|   |  |   |   | ········       |   |            |                   |                               |          |          |   |                          |                        |                               | •••••                |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| ····                                    | •••••  |   |   |                |   |            |                   |                               |          |          |   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   | *****              |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
|   |  |   |   | ••••••         | •••••   |            |                   |                               |          |          |   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   | •••••              |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| Total (ent                              | er na ster   | n IV, page  | 1)                                      | Sel            | redule  | D —B       | AD E              | ERT                           | S.       | (Se      | e Inst                                    | ruct                     | ion 2                  | 1)                            |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
|   |  |   |   | 301            | leddie .  | D.—B       |                   |                               | -        |          | organi                                    |                          |                        | <u>:-</u> -                   |                      | Lorenizi  | Num c              | arried a  | reserve   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| 1. Taxable y                            | ear.   | 2. Net is   | come repo                               | ted            | 3. Sales  | on accou   | int               | 1 31                          | no re    | eserve   | is carri                                  | ed on                    | 5. Gr                  | nes Ame                       |                      | dded to 1   |                    | 7*  |   | rged agains   | t teresas           |  |  |  |
|   |  |   |   | <del></del>  - |   |            |                   |                               |          | -        |   | _                        | 1                      |                               |                      |   | _                  | -   |   |   | T-                  |  |  |  |
| 940                                     |  | \$  |   | \$             |   |            | -                 | \$                            |          | ••••     | •••••                                     | -                        | ·                      |                               |                      |   |                    | 3   |   | •••••   |                     |  |  |  |
| 941                                     |  |   |   |                |   |            |                   |                               |          |          | •••••                                     | · ·····                  |                        | ••                            |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| 942                                     |  |   | • |                |   |            | -                 |                               |          | ••••     |   | -                        | ·                      |                               |                      |   |                    |   | •   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| 943                                     |  |   |   | <u>  -</u>     |   |            | <u> </u>          | 1                             |          |          |   | -)                       | 1                      | 12.2                          |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| NOTE.—C                                 | eck whet   | her deduc   |   |                |   |            |                   |                               |          | worth    | e Inst                                    | Of IS                    | an add                 | ition                         | toa                  | reserve   | <u>L!-</u>         |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
|   |  |   |   | Sched          |   | DEPF       | (ECI/             | 1110                          | IN .     | (30      | e inst                                    | ruct                     | 10n 2                  | 2 (u)                         |                      |   |                    | -   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| Kind of proper material of a            | ercy (if buil<br>which const   | dings, state<br>ructed)   | Z. D<br>acqu                            | ate<br>ured 3  | Cost or<br>basis (d.<br>include la<br>other non<br>crable pro | idebic.    | 4. Asset<br>preci | a fully<br>ated in<br>d of ye | mer l    | lo<br>a! | epreciatio<br>wed (or a<br>ale) in<br>ara | on al-<br>llow-<br>prior | 6. Ren<br>or 1<br>10 b | saining<br>other l<br>e recov | cost<br>enis<br>cred | 7, Fatin<br>fife us<br>in accu<br>lating<br>precias | qt+<br>imn+<br>seq | 8. Estim<br>remain<br>file fre<br>beginn<br>of year | ing   | 9. Deprocia<br>lowable th                             | tion al-<br>is year |  |  |  |
|   |  |   | -                                       | \-             | Carrie bet  | 1          |                   | T                             |          | \$       | 1   | -                        | 5                      |                               |                      |   | _                  |   |   | \$  | 1                   |  |  |  |
|   | •••••  |   |   | \$             | ••••••  | 1          | <b>*</b>          |                               |          | <b>*</b> |   |                          | •                      |                               |                      |   |                    |   | ·   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| •                                       |  |   |   |                |   | 1          |                   |                               |          |          |   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| *************************************** |  |   |   |                | •••••   | ·} -       |                   | \                             |          |          |   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
| T1/                                     |  | m 22(a),  | nage 1)                                 |                |   | -1 -       |                   |                               | [        |          |   |                          |                        | 1                             |                      |   |                    |   |   | \$  |                     |  |  |  |
| 10ter (en                               | eer ma 100   |   | ule F                                   | EXP            | ANATI   | ON O       | F DF              | DUC                           | TIC      | ONS      | CLA                                       | IME                      | ) IN                   | ITE                           | MS                   | 18 Al   | ND :               | 24  |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
|   |  |   |   | -/:            |   |            |                   |                               | 1        |          |   |                          | _                      |                               |                      | (contin   |                    |   | 7   | 3. Атко   | unt                 |  |  |  |
| 1. Item No.                             |  | 2, 1  | Explanation                             | ·              |   | 3,         | Amoun             | •                             |          | contu    | ued)                                      |                          |                        | Cipli                         |                      | · /courn  |                    |   |   | (continu  | <u>d)</u>           |  |  |  |
|   |  |   |   |                |   | \$         |                   | -                             | J        |          |   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   |                    |   | \$.   |   |                     |  |  |  |
|   |  |   |   |                |   |            |                   |                               | <b> </b> |          |   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
|   |  |   |   |                | l   | <br>       |                   |                               | ļ        |          |   |                          | ·                      |                               |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
|   |  |   |   |                |   |            |                   |                               |          |          |   |                          |                        |                               |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |
|   |  |   |   |                |   |            |                   | 1                             | 8 .      |          | - 1                                       |                          |                        |                               |                      |   |                    |   |   |   |                     |  |  |  |

STATISTICS OF INCOME FOR 1943, PART 1

| Schedule G.—NON   | J. Source of        |   | OTHER                                   | тн             | AN INT                       | ERES      | T REPOR                      | TE             | D IN SCI   | 1ED      | ULE A.                                     | (See           | ln:                          | tructio                | Pag<br>n 14      | )  |
|---|---------------------|---|---|----------------|------------------------------|-----------|------------------------------|----------------|--|----------|--|----------------|------------------------------|------------------------|------------------|----|
|   |                     |   |   |                | 3. Amount                    |           |                              | =              |  |          |  |                |                              |                        |                  |    |
|   |                     |   |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          |  |                | 3                            |                        |                  | •  |
|   | ••••••              |   |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          |  |                |                              |                        |                  | •  |
| ***************************************   |                     |   | **********                              |                |                              |           |                              |                | ***********  |          |  |                |                              |                        |                  |    |
|   | ••                  |   |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          |  |                |                              | *******                |                  |    |
| ***************************************   |                     |   |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          |  |                |                              |                        |                  |    |
| Schedule H.—GAI   | NS AND I            | OSSES F                                 | ROM SAL                                 | ES             | OR EX                        | CHAN      | GES OF                       | CA             | PITAL A  | SSE"     | TS. (See                                   | Ins            | truct                        | tions 27               | 7-28             | ,  |
| 1. Kind of property (if peres-  | 1                   |   | 1                                       |                | 1                            |           | 6. Expense of                | sale           | 7. Deprecia  | tion     | 0 Cain or 1                                |                | Gein                         |                        | be tak           | =  |
| <ol> <li>Kind of property (if neces-<br/>sary attach statement of de-<br/>acriptive details not shown<br/>below)</li> </ol> | 2. Date<br>acquired | 3. Date                                 | 4. Carnas a<br>price (cont.             | alea<br>ract   | S. Cost o                    | or other  |                              |                | silowed (or a  | llow-    | 6. Cain or I<br>(column 4 p<br>column 7 mi | ilus           |                              | into accor             | unt              | _  |
| below)  | Me. Day Year        | Mo. Day Year                            | price)                                  |                | -                            | _         | guent to ac<br>sitson or Man | ċλ I,          | 7. Deprecia<br>allowed (or a<br>able) since a<br>attion or Mai<br>1913 (furn<br>details) | uh I.    | the sum of e<br>umns 5 and                 | 6)             | 9, Per-                      | 10, A                  | mount            |    |
|   | SHORT-TE            | RM CAPITA                               | L GAINS A                               | ND I           | LOSSES-                      | -ASSE     | IS HELD N                    | _              |  |          | MONTHS                                     |                | FBc                          | <u> </u>               |                  | -  |
|   | î                   |   | 15                                      | Ī              | 1.                           | 1         | \$                           | <u> </u>       |  | 1        |  |                |                              |                        |                  | -  |
|   |                     |   | *************************************** |                | *                            |           | *                            |                | 3  |          | \$   |                | 100                          | \$                     |                  | •  |
|   |                     |   |   |                | 1                            |           |                              |                |  |          |  |                | 100                          |                        | ]-               | •  |
| ***************************************   |                     |   |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          |  |                | 100                          |                        | [-               | ٠  |
| ***************************************   |                     |   |   |                | 1                            |           |                              | ****           | **********   |          |  |                | 100                          |                        | -                | ٠  |
|   |                     |   |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          | *************                              |                | 100                          |                        | -                | -  |
|   | ļ                   |   |   |                |                              |           |                              | ****           | ***********  |          |  |                | 001                          | ļ                      |                  | ٠  |
|   | (                   |   |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          |  |                | 100                          |                        |                  | •  |
| ~   |                     |   |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          |  |                | 001                          |                        | -                | •  |
|   |                     |   |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          | ***************************************    |                | 100                          |                        | ·                | •  |
| Total net short-term  | capital gain o      | r loss (enter i                         | in line 1, co                           | lumn           | 2, of sun                    | omary i   | relow)                       |                |  |          |  | 1              | 100                          | \$                     |                  | 4  |
|   |                     | RM CAPITAL                              |   |                |                              |           | S HELD FO                    |                | ODE THE  |          |  |                |                              | •                      |                  | -  |
|   | 1                   | i con ma                                | . CANTO AL                              | 1              | 1.                           | M33E1.    | . HELD FU                    | K IM           | OKE THAT   | 6 1      | IUNTHS                                     |                |                              |                        |                  |    |
| ***************************************   |                     |   | 3                                       |                | \$                           |           | \$                           |                | \$   |          | \$   |                | 50                           | \$                     |                  |    |
| ***************************************   |                     |   |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          |  |                | 50                           |                        |                  |    |
| ***************************************   |                     |   |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          |  |                | 50                           |                        |                  |    |
|   |                     |   |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          |  | }              | 50                           |                        | }                | ٠. |
|   |                     | ************                            |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          |  |                | 50                           |                        |                  |    |
|   |                     |   |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          |  |                | 50                           |                        | [                |    |
|   |                     |   |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          |  | }              | 50<br>50                     |                        |                  | •  |
|   |                     |   |   |                |                              |           |                              |                | **********   |          |  |                | 50                           |                        |                  | •  |
|   |                     |   |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          |  |                | 50                           |                        |                  | -  |
| Total net long-term ce  | pital gain or l     | loss (enter in l                        | line 2, colum                           | n 2,           | of summa                     | ry belov  | «)                           |                |  |          |  | 1              | ~                            | •                      |                  | -  |
|   |                     |   | MARY C                                  | _              |                              |           |                              | OS             | SFS  |          |  |                |                              | *                      | ·                | =  |
|   |                     |   |   | _              |                              |           |                              |                |  |          | -,   | _              |                              |                        |                  | _  |
| 1. Classifica   | tion                | ]                                       | Z. Net gain or<br>count fro             | er coj<br>post | to be taken<br>waan 10, also | into ac-  | count fre                    | en et<br>manen | s to be taken<br>her partnersh<br>trust funds  | into a   | 4. Total n                                 | en col         | n or k<br>urans :<br>uransur | ne taken is<br>2 and 3 | nto se<br>of thi | :  |
|   |                     | -                                       | e. Gain                                 | 1              | b. L                         | .Ou       | a. Ca                        |                | 1 61   | -        | -  |                | =                            | ما ۱۵                  |                  | -  |
| I. Total net short-term capital g   | ain or loss (enter  | in column 3,                            |   |                |                              | ī         |                              | 1              |  | $\top$   | -  | 1              |                              |                        | _                | -  |
| 2. Total net longuerm capital as  | r loss shown in c   | olumn 4) (                              |   |                | \$                           | <u> </u>  | \$                           |                | . \$   | <u> </u> | <u></u>  \$ <u></u>                        |                | <u></u>  \$                  |                        | _                |    |
| Schedule J. amount of gain of   | t loss shown in c   | olumn 4) S                              |   |                | \$                           |           | \$                           |                | . \$   |          |  |                | s                            |                        | 7                |    |
| State the family, fiduciary, or I   | usiness relatio     | nship to you, i                         | f any, of pur                           | chase          | r of any o                   | f the abo | oe items:                    |                |  |          |  |                |                              |                        | (                | :  |
| If any of the above items were a  | acquired by you     | other than by                           | purchase, ex                            | plair          | fully how                    | acquire   | d:                           |                |  |          | *******                                    | •              |                              | *********              |                  | •  |
|   |                     | le I.—CO                                |   |                |                              |           |                              | /8-            | Instruct   | 1        | 20)  |                |                              |                        |                  | :  |
|   | -                   |   | lame and addre                          | _              |                              |           |                              | (50.           | , macruci  | ion      | 23)  | <del>-</del> - |                              |                        |                  | 2  |
|   |                     |   |   |                | - Entitle Colo               | <u>'</u>  |                              |                |  |          |  | - -            |                              | Amount                 |                  |    |
|   | ••••••              |   | ••••                                    |                | ••••••                       | *****     |                              |                |  |          |  | \$             |                              |                        |                  |    |
|   |                     | • |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          |  |                |                              |                        |                  |    |
|   |                     |   |   |                |                              | ••••••    | ••••                         |                | •  |          |  |                |                              |                        |                  |    |
| ***************************************   |                     |   |   | •              |                              |           | •••••                        | •              |  | •••••    |  |                |                              |                        |                  |    |
|   |                     |   |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          |  | ·-             | •••••                        |                        |                  | •  |
|   |                     | ************                            |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          |  |                |                              |                        |                  |    |
|   |                     | ************                            |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          |  | -              |                              | {                      |                  |    |
| Total (enter in column 10   | ). Schedule J).     |   |   |                |                              |           |                              |                |  |          |  |                |                              |                        | *****            | :  |
|   |                     |   |   |                |                              |           |                              | -              |  | *****    |  | <u>-1</u>      |                              |                        |                  |    |

|   |  |  | Schedule   | , j.                   | _PART!  | VER  | S' SHA  | RES                     | OF IN                               | co  | ME AND                               | c  | REDITS   | . (Se  | e I   | nstruc   | tion   | 29)  |   | Pa  | <b>10 4</b>   |  |
|---|--|--|--|------------------------|---|--|---|-------------------------|-------------------------------------|---|--------------------------------------|--|--|--|---|--|--|--|---|---|---|--|
| Name and address of each parener     (Designate moneraident altern)     Where return of pariner or member is first an assistent cultivation district, specify district.  Where return of pariner or member is first an assistent cultivation business, the  II the full time of any partner was member to business, the precentage of time despected must be stated |  |  |  |                        |   |  |   |                         | interest                            | Ordinary net income less interest on Government obligations, etc., subject to surtax only (item 20, page 1, minus item 5 (a), page 1) |                                      |  |  |  | chi<br>(in  | nge o  | erro gain<br>m sale or<br>i capital a<br>hedula H. 3<br>se 2, colum  | ssets<br>Suma  |   |   |   |  |
|   |  |  |  |                        |   |  | 5   |                         |                                     |   |                                      |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |   |   |   |  |
| (a)<br>(L)  |  |  |  |                        |   | ·····  |   |                         |                                     |   |                                      |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |   |   |   |  |
| (c)   |  |  |  |                        |   |  |   |                         |                                     |   |                                      |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |   |   |   |  |
| (d)   |  |  |  |                        | ·····   |  |   |                         |                                     |   |                                      |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |   |   |   |  |
| (e)   | ••••   |  |  | ••••                   |   |  |   |                         |                                     |   |                                      |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |   |   |   |  |
| (f)   | ••••••   |  |  |                        |   |  |   |                         |                                     |   |                                      |  |  |  | سست ات  | 11.101.  | <u> </u>   | 1 2224   |   |   |   |  |
| To  | ub   |  |  |                        |   |  |   |                         |                                     |   | \$                                   |  |  | . \$   |   |  |  | 3  |   |   | 1   |  |
|   |  |  |  | _                      |   | _  |   |                         |                                     |   | F SCHEI                              | ,01  | <u></u>  |  | T   |  | 1  |  | T   |   |   |  |
|   |  |  |  | ĺ                      |   |  | Part  | ally t                  | az-ezempt                           |   |                                      |  |  |  |   |  |  | II. Federa   | in-   | 12. Tncon   | ne and  |  |
| 5 Use<br>letter<br>corre-<br>sponding<br>to above   | 6. Wholly<br>(ime:<br>Sche   | 6. Wholly tax-exempt obligations (ines (a), (b), (c), and (d) of Schedule A)  7. United States Savines Bonds (too exclude A)  7. United States Savines Bonds (too exclude A)  8. Ohligation mentals (c), Schedule A) |  |                        |   | ons è<br>lities<br>(line                     |   | <del></del> -           |                                     | ed income   |                                      | 10. Charitable<br>contributions<br>(from Schedule I)               |  | at source (2   |   | profits to<br>paid<br>a forei<br>countr<br>United S  | Azes<br>to<br>gn<br>y or<br>ctutes   |  |   |   |   |  |
| to identify<br>partner  | a, Princ   | ipal   | b. Inter   | est                    | a, Princip  | al .   | b. Interest<br>arrortiza<br>bond prem   | ble                     | . Princip                           | al<br>——  | b. Interest<br>amortiza<br>bond prem | less<br>ium  |  |  | - -   |  | _  | 7, page 1  | _   |   |   |  |
|   | \$   |  | \$   | ļ                      | \$  |  | \$  |                         | \$                                  |   | \$                                   |  | \$   |  | ٠   ١   |  |  | \$   |   | <b>3</b>  |   |  |
| •••••   |  | ·  |  | ļ                      |   |  | ļ   |                         |                                     |   |                                      |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |   |   |   |  |
| •••••   |  | ·  |  |                        |   |  |   |                         |                                     |   |                                      |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |   |   |   |  |
|   |  |  |  | ļ                      |   |  |   |                         |                                     |   |                                      |  |  |  |   |  |  |  |   |   |   |  |
|   |  |  |  | ļ                      |   | ļ  |   |                         |                                     | ļ   | -                                    |  | -  |  | - -   |  |  |  |   |   |   |  |
|   |  |  |  |                        |   |  | \$  |                         | \$                                  |   | . S                                  |  | . \$   |  |   | \$   |  | \$   | ļ. <u></u>  | 3   |   |  |
| 2. Naturetto 3. Was cold 4. Chec 5. State ye look state st. 6. Did en   | a return illector's of the whether is of the whether in which is of the whether in were supported by the organization of the organization in which is of the o | ganiz<br>filed<br>office<br>or the<br>r inv<br>value<br>basi<br>used<br>mizat<br>ore the   | for precede was it set is return entories d at (a) s is used and the ion at around eight | ling ht? was at t cost | year?<br>s prepared<br>he beginn<br>, or (b) o<br>tach state<br>te invente<br>me during<br>viduals? | on<br>ing<br>cost<br>men<br>ory<br>its<br>(A | the cash<br>and end<br>or marke<br>it describ<br>was last<br>taxable<br>nswer | If s of tet, w ing reco | have in i                           | h le is y, th ts  | If anstion f decre                   | men<br>nses<br>Lab<br>true<br>inci<br>org<br>direct<br>wer<br>file | ctly any s r, as defir "Yes" or r is "Yes, r of inforr d for the | nt of warring the lf ansing all assess resorthe attach decrease at any tock of article | ages wer such guin Cor also es. y tin a f a f secti h se on | s or sales yet to secon increased the missione a copy me during for sold forms 1 chedule Forms 1 ear 194 | ear? and cosses of prior of the corpor of th | represent (Answe juestion i r decreas r approv Internal he author te taxable ration or he Intern ired by I and 1099 See Instri | r "Y's "Y's s"y's s"Y's s"y's s"Y's s"y's s"Y's s"y's s"Y's s"Y's s"y's s"s"s"s"s"s"s"s"s"s"s"s"s"s"s"s"s"s"s | es" or " es," att If any of the Na the Na though for e r own d rrsonal l evenue uction I Forms V n H) | "No") tach a f such ational stated each of lirectly holding Code? |  |
| and to<br>stated  | /we swer<br>o the bes<br>l, pursua   | ar (o<br>st of<br>int t  | r affirm)<br>my/our<br>o the In  | kno<br>tern            | at this re<br>owledge a<br>al Reven   | nd l   | n (incluc<br>belief is a<br>Code and  | ling<br>a tru<br>d th   | any acco<br>ie, correc<br>e regulat | t, a  | panying s<br>and comp<br>s issued t  | che<br>lete<br>ind   | er autho   | rity th  | ere   | of.  | ith,   | een exa<br>for the a   | min   | unting  |   |  |
| (Signate  | ne of betton   | (other   | than partin  | 1 07 1                 | nember) prep  | aring  | return)   |                         | (Date)                              |   | ******                               |  |  | Partner o  |   |  |  |  |   |   | ,<br>   |  |
|   | (N   | arne of  | firm or smj  | doye                   | , il anyı   |  |   |                         | •                                   |   |                                      |  | 1 1  |  |   | tse of part  |  |  |   |   |   |  |
| Subsc   |  |  |  |                        | ore me th   |  |   |                         |                                     |   |                                      |  | ed and s   |  |   |  | , ac   | .1113  |   |   | 194   |  |
|   | ··   |  | day of   |                        | ••••  |  |   |                         | , 194                               |   |                                      |  | da   | y of   | ••••  | ••••••   | •••••  |  |   |   | . / 1   |  |
|   | •  | (Sign  | nure of offic  | er adi                 | ministerin <b>e</b> o   | eth)   |   | u: s.                   | (Title)                             |   | <br>ING OFFICE                       | ••••   | (Signatu<br>16—35092-1   |  | er ad   | roinisterir  | a owi  | ,<br>)   |   | (Tel  | :)  |  |

# INSTRUCTIONS FOR FORM 1065 UNITED STATES PARTNERSHIP RETURN OF INCOME

Page 1

It will be helpful to read General Instructions A to I before commencing to fill in returns, and to read Specific Instructions in connection with filling in the items to which they refer.

The term "partnership" as used herein includes a syndicate, group, pool, joint venture, or other unincorporated organization, through or by means of which any business, financial operation, or venture is carried on, and which is not, within the meaning of the Internal Revenue Code, a trust or estate or a corporation; and the term "partner" as used herein includes a member in such a syndicate, group, pool, joint venture, or organization.

#### GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

A. Whe must use Form 1065.—Every domestic partnership fineluding syndicates, groups, pools, joint ventures, etc.) and every foreign partnership, syndicate, pool, etc., doing business within the United States shall make a return of income on Form 1065. If the return is filed on bebalf of a syndicate, pool, joint venture, or similar group, a copy of the operating agreement should be attached to the return, unless a copy has been previously filed, together with all amendments thereto.

B. Period to be covered by return.-The return shall be filed for the calendar year 1943 or fiscal year beginning in 1943 and ending in 1944. A fiscal year must end on the last day of a calendar month other than December.

calcular for the control of the control of the last day of a calcular month other tinan December of the control Baltimore 2, Md.

D. Affidavits.—The return shall be sworn to by any one of the partners. If receivers, trustees in bankrupter, or assignees are in control of the property or business of the organization, such receivers, trustees, or assignees shall execute the return under

oath.

Where the return is actually prepared by some person or persons other than a member or employee of the partnership, such person or persons must execute the affidavit at the foot of page of the return.

The oath or affirmation will be administered without charge by any collector, deputy collector, or internal revenue agent. If an internal revenue officer is not available, the return should be internal revenue officer is not available, the return should be aworn to before a person authorized to administer oaths for general purposes by the law of the United States or of any State. Territory, or possession of the United States, or of the District of Columbia, wherein such oath or affirmation is administered, except an attorney or agent employed to represent the taxpayer before the Department in connection with his tax liability.

Parallelian Parallelia Indiana to the state and the state of the stat

E. Penalites.—For willful failure to make and file return on time.—Not more than \$10,000 or imprisonment for not more than

time.—Not more than \$10,000 or imprisonment for not more than one year, or both, together with the cests of prosecution.

For willfully attempting to eade or defeat payment of the tar.—Not more than \$10,000 or imprisonment for not more than five years, or both, together with the costs of prosecution.

F. Basis of return.—If the books of account of the partnership are kept on the accrual lasis, report all lincome accrued, even though it has not been settinally received or entered on the books. and expenses incurred instead of expenses paid. If the books, are kept on the cash receipts and disbursements basis, or if the partnership kept no books, make the return on the cash basis and partnership age no coops, make the return on the cash cases and report all income received or constructively received, such as bank interest credited to the partnership's account and coupon

bond interest matured, and report expenses actually paid.

G. Items exempt from tax.—As to items of income exempt from tax other than those listed below, see section 22 (b).

(1) Interest on Governmental obligations:

(1) Interest on Governmental obligations:
(a) Entirely exempt.—The interest on (1) obligations of a State. Territory, or political subdivision thereof, or the District of Columbia, or United States possessions; (2) obligations issued prior to March 1, 1941, under Federal Farm Loan Act, or under such Act as amended; (3) obligations of the United States issued on or before September 1, 1917, and (4) Treasury interest of indebtedness issued prior to December 1,1940, Treasury bills and Treasury ertificates of indebtedness issued prior to March 1, 1941, postal aavings accounts to the extent that they represent deposits made prior to March 1, 1941, adjusted service bonds, and certain other obligations of the United States. gations of the United States.

(b) Partially exempt.—The interest on (1) United States sav-ings bonds and Treasury bonds issued prior to March 1, 1941, owned in excess of \$5,000 and (2) obligations of certain instru-mentalities of the United States issued prior to March 1, 1941, is subject only to surfer

is subject only to surtax.

(2) Proceeds of insurance policits.—The proceeds of life insurance policies, paid by reason of the death of the insured, are exempt. If any part of the proceeds is held by the insurer under an agreement to pay interest, the interest is taxable. Amounts received under a life insurance or endowment policy, not payable by reason of the death of the insured, are not taxable until the aggregate of the amounts received exceeds the premiums or consideration paid for the policy. (See Specific Instruction 13 as to taxation of annutities.) taxation of annuities.)

(3) Federal savings and loan associations.—Dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations in case of shares issued prior to March 28, 1942, are subject only to surtax.

(4) Income from improvements by lease.—Income, other than rent, derived by a lessor of real property upon the termination of a lease, representing the value of such property attributable to buildings erected or other improvements made by the lessee.

buildings erected or other improvements made by the lessee.

H. Information at source.—Every person making payments of salaries, wages, interest, rents, commissions, or other fixed of eterminable income of \$500 or more during the calendar year 1943, to an individual, a partnership, or a fiduciary, is required to make a return on Forms 1906 and 1909 showing the amount of such payments and the name and address of each recipient, except that the making of such return will not be required with respect to (1) salary or wage payments from which the tax has been withheld, provided duplicates of the statements on Forms W-2 and V-2 are furnished, and (2) salaries and other compensation for personal services aggregating less than \$524, made to sation for personal services aggregating less than \$624, made to a married individual.

a married individual.

I. Stock owned in forcign corporations and personal holding companies.—If at any time during the taxable year the partnership owned directly or indirectly any stock of a forcign corporation (including a forcign personal holding company, as defined in section 331, in which the partnership owned less than 5 percent in value of the outstanding stock of such company) or a personal holding company, as defined in section 501, attach to the return a statement setting forth the name and address of each such company and the total number of shares of each class of outstanding stock owned by the partnership during the taxable year. If the partnership owned stock at any time during the taxable year in a forcign personal holding company, as defined in section 331, the partnership must include in the return as a dividend the amount required to be included in gross income by section 337 amount required to be included in gross income by section 337 amount required to be included in gross income by section 33?
If the partnership owned 5 percent or more in value of the outstanding stock of such foreign personal holding company, so; forth in an attached statement in complete detail the information and the statement in complete detail the information and the statement in complete detail the information and the statement in complete detail the information and the statement in complete detail the information and the statement in complete detail the information and the statement in complete detail the information and the statement in complete detail the information and the statement in complete detail the information and the statement in the sta tion required by section 337 (d).

# SPECIFIC INSTRUCTIONS

PAGE 2

gross receipts from sages or services, less any discounts or allowances from sale price or service charge.

2. Cost of goods sold.—If the production, manufacture, purchase, or sale of merchandise is an income-producing factor in the trade or business, inventories of merchandise on hand should be taken at the beginning and end of the taxable year, which may be valued at (a) cost, or (b) cost or market, whichwhich may be valued at (a) cost, or (b) cost or market, which-ever is lower. Taxpayers were given an option to adopt the basis of either (a) cost, or (b) cost or market, whichever is lower, for their 1920 inventories. The basis properly adopted for that year, or any subsequent year, is controlling, and a change can now be made only after permission is secured from the Com-missioner. Application for reprincipt to change the basis of now or made only after permission is secured from the Commissioner. Application for permission to change the basis of valuing inventories shall be made in writing and filed with the Commissioner within 90 days after the beginning of the taxable year in which it is desired to effect a change. Enter the letters "C," or "C or M," immediately before the amount column, if the inventories are valued at either each or cert or market. the inventories are valued at either cost, or cost or market, whichever is lower, and explain fully in answer to question 5 on page 4 of the return the method used.

See the regulations with respect to inventories by dealers in

securities.

If the partnership elects to use the inventory method provided in section 22 (d), there should be filed an election on Form 970. Installment season-file the installment method is used, attach 1941, 1942, and 1943 the following; (c) Gross sales; (b) cost of goods sold; (c) gross profits; (d) percentage of profits to gross sales; (c) amount collected; and (f) gross profit on amount of the following; (b) profits to gross sales; (c) amount collected; and (f) gross profit on amount of the following; (d) percentage of profits to gross profit on amount collected; and (f) gross profit on amount of the following of the partnership congretes a fermion of the following of the partnership congretes a fermion of the following of the partnership congretes a fermion of the following of the partnership congretes a fermion of the following of the partnership congretes a fermion of the following of the partnership congretes a fermion of the following of the followin

collected. (See section 44.)

Farmer's income schrdule.—If the partnership operates a farm and keeps no books of account, or keeps books on a cash basis, obtain from the collector and attach to the return, Form 1040F, cotain from the collector and attach to the return, form 1930f, Schedule of Farm Income and Expenses, and enter the net farm income as item 3 on page 1 of the return. If the farm books of account are kept on an accrual basis, the filing of Form 1040F is optional.

A partnership electing to include in gross income amounts

A partnership electing to include in gross income amounts received during the year as loans from the Commodity Credit Corporation should file with its return a statement showing the details of such loans. (See section 123.)

A Income (or loss) from other partnerships, syndicates, pols, etc.—Enter the partnership's share of the profits (whether received r not) or of the losses of another partnership's capital gains or losses, which should be reported in Schedule H and included in item 27 or 28. The partnership's share of interest on obligations of the United States, etc., owned by another partnership or an estate or trust should be included in Schedule A. If the taxable year on the basis of which the partnership's return is filed does not coincide with the annual accounting period of the other panereship, include in the return the distributive share of the one profits (or losses) for the accounting period of such partnership ending within the period for which the return is filed.

6. Interest on corporation bonds, etc.—Enter interest on 6. Interest on corporation bonds, etc.—Enter interest on bonds, debentures, notes, or certificates or other evidences of indebtedness, issued by any corporation, with interest coupons or in registered form. Do not include interest on any such obligations held by the partnership primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of the trade or business. Such interest should be entered in item 5. (See instruction 8 for deduction of amortization of bond premium.)

question of amortization of bond premium.)
7. Interest on instrice covenant bonds.—Enter interest on bonds upon which a Federal income tax was paid at the source by the debtor corporation, if an ownership certificate on Form 1000 was filed with the interest coupons. The tax of 2 percent paid at the source on such interest should be allocated to the partners in column 11, Schedule J.

partners in column 11, Schedule J.

8. Interest on Government obligations, etc.—Enter in Schedule A the principal amount owned and interest received. The proportionate share of each partner's interest and dividends from obligations described in lines (c), (f), and (g), Schedule A, should be considered with his individual holdings can be observed of earthships by the proportion of the pro Schedule A, should be considered with his individual holdings for the purpose of ascertaining his tax liability with respect to such income. An individual partner is entitled for the purpose of the normal tax to a credit against his net income of his proportionate share of such amounts (not in excess of the net income of the partnership) of interest (less amortizable bond premium) as are received by the partnership from obligations described in lines (e) and (f), Schedule A.

Section 23 (v) provides for the deduction of amortizable bond premium by the owner of the bond. The term "bond" means any bond debenuter note, or certificate or other evidence of

any bond, debenture, note, or certificate or other evidence of

The following instructions are numbered to correspond with item numbers on the first page of the return. he following instructions are numbered to correspond with the following instructions and bearing interest indebtedness, issued by any corporation and bearing interest including any like obligation issued by a government or political ross receipts from sales or services, less any discounts or allow subdivision thereof), with interest coupons or in registered form, subdivision thereof), with interest coupons or in registered form, but does not include any such obligation which constitutes stock in trade of the partnership or any such obligation of a kind which would properly be included in the inventory if on hand at the close of the taxable year, or any such obligation held primarily for sale to eustomers in the ordinary course of the trade or business. The amount of the deduction, computed under section 125, should be entered in the appropriate spaces in items 6, 7, and 8 and deducted from the amount of interest received or

Amortization of bond premium is mandatory with respect to Amortization of bond premium is mandatory with respect to fully tax-exempt bonds the interest on which is not subject to income tax). In the case of fully taxable bonds (the interest on which is not subject to the normal tax and the surtax) and partially tax-exempt bonds (the interest on which is subject to only to surtax), the amortization of bond premium is elective as to either one or as to both. Such election shall be made by the partnership by taking a deduction for the bond premium on the return for the first taxable year to which the election is to be applicable. Attach a statement showing the computation of the deduction.

The election shall apply to all bonds with respect to which it

The election shall apply to all bonds with respect to which it The election shall apply to all bonds with respect to which lit was made owned by the partnership at the beginning of the first taxable year to which the election applies and also to all bonds of such class (or classes) thereafter acquired, and shall be binding for all subsequent taxable years, unless upon application by the partnership, the Commissioner permits the partnership to reache the election. for all subsequent taxable years, unless upon appreciation of the partnership, the Commissioner permits the partnership to revoke the election.

In the case of a fully tax-exempt bond, the amortizable pre-

In the case of a fully tax-exempt bond, the amortizable pre-mium for the taxable year is an adjustment to the basis or adjusted basis of the bond but no deduction is allowable on account of such amortizable premium. In the case of a fully taxable bond, the amortizable premium is both an adjustment to the basis or adjusted basis of the bond and also a deduction. In the case of a partially tax-exempt bond, the amortizable premium for the taxable year is used for three purposes: (1) As an adjust-ment to the basis or adjusted basis; (2) as a deduction; and (3) as

ment to the basis or adjusted basis; (c) as a reduction, and (c) as a reduction to the credit for the interest on the bonds.

9. Rents.—Enter the gross amount received or accrued for the rent of property. Any deductions claimed for repairs, interest, taxes, and depreciation should be included in items 17, 18,

19 and 20 respectively.

19, and 20, respectively. If property or crops were received in lieu of cash rent, report the income as though the rent had been received in cash. Crops received as rent on a crop-share basis should be reported as income for the year in which disposed of, unless the return reflects

income accrued.

10. Royalties.—Enter the gross amount received or accrued as royalties. If a deduction is claimed on account of depletion, it should be included in item 23. (See sections 23 (m) and 114.)

11. Net gain (or loss) from sale or exchange of property other than capital assets.—Report sales or exchanges of such property in Schedule B., and enter the gain or loss shown in column 7, Schedule B. (Tor definition of "capital assets," see Specific Instruction 27-28.)

Schedule B. (rof definition of capital assets, see Special Instruction 27-28.)

12. Dividends.—Enter the total of all taxable dividends received from domestic and foreign corporations. Enter in Schedule G all dividends received which are claimed to be non-taxable, and enter on line (g), Schedule A, dividends on share taxable, and enter on the (g), schedule A, dividends on share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations in case of share accounts issued prior to March 28, 1942; dividends on share accounts issued on or after that date should be included in item

12.

13. Other income.—If the partoership had any taxable income, space for reporting which is not provided elsewhere on page 1, enter it as item 18, and explain its nature, using a separate sheet if necessary for that purpose. Include taxable income from annuities and insurance proceeds. Amounts received as an annuity under an annuity or endowment contract shall be included in gross income to the extent of 3 percent of the shall be included in gross indicated to the extended for such annuity. If the aggregate of the amounts received and excluded from an income in years previous to the taxable year equals the aggregate premiums or consideration paid for such-annuity, the entire amount received must be included in gross income. (Section

14. Total income.-Enter and explain in Schedule G all in-

14. Joras income.—Enter and explain in Schedule G all income claimed as exempt (except interest which should be explained in Schedule A), but do not include as part of item 14.
15. Salaries and wages.—Enter all salaries and wages not included as a deduction in line (c), item 2, except compensation for partners, which shall not be claimed as a deduction in this item or elsewhere on the return.

item or elsewhere on the return.

Limitations on wages and salaries.—Except as stated below,

If any increase or decrease in salary or wages is made during the taxable year without the prior approval of the National War Labor Board or the Commissioner of Internal Revenue, no amount of such salary or wages paid or accrued in contra-vention of the Act of October 2, 1942, entitled "An Act ta-amend the Emergency Price Control Act of 1942, to aid in preventing inflation, and for other purposes," or regulations, rulings, or orders promulgated thereunder, is allowable as a de-duction. Any increase, however, may be made without rulings, or orders promulgated thereunder, is allowable as a duetion. Any increase, however, may be a laid without the prior approval of the National War Labor Badde without the prior approval of the National War Labor and a measurement of the stands which the terms of an estaolished wage or salary agreement or established wage or salary rate schedule covering the work assignments and it is made as a result of individual promotions or reclassifications, individual merit increases within established rate ranges, operation of an established plan of wage or salary under plansed upon length of service, increased productivity under plansed the promotion of the production of

under piece-work or incentive plans, or operation of an appreatice or trainee system.

16. Rent.—Enter rent on business property in which the partnership has perfusive to not include rent for a dwelling occupied by any partituder residential purposes.

17. Repairs, including labor, supplies, and other times which do not add to the value of apprecially prolong the items, which do not add to the value of apprecially prolong the first property. Expenditures for new buildings, machiner requirements which increase the value of the property are chargeable to capital with increase the value of the property are chargeable to capital accounts or to depreciation reserve, depending on how depreciation is charged on the books of the 
partnership.

partnership.

18. Interest on indebtedness.—Enter interest on business in-18. Interest on indeptedness.—Enter interest on ousness in-debtedness to others. Do not include interest on capital invested in the business by any partner, nor interest on indebtedinvested in the business by any partner, nor interest on indepted-ness incurred or continued to purchase or carry obligations (other than obligations of the United States issued after Sep-tember 24, 1917, and originally subscribed for by the partnership) the interest upon which is wholly exempt from taxation. (See also General Instruction F with reference to deductions for the interest upon which is wholly exempt from taxation. (See also General Instruction F with reaction to deductions for accrued interest and expenses.) (For imitations on deductions for unpaid expenses and interest, seem of the control of the con

21. Bad debts.—Bad debts may be deducted either (1) when they become wholly or partially worthless, or (2) by a reasonable addition to a reserve. (No change of method without permission of the Commissioner.) (See Instruction 27 regarding nonbusi-

ness debts.)

22. (a) Depreciation.—A reasonable allowance for the ex-22. (a) Depreciation.—A reasonable allowance for the exhaustion, wear and tear, and obsolescence of (1) property used in the trade or business or (2) property held for production of income may be deducted. If the property was acquired by purchase on or after March 1, 1913, the amount of depreciation should be determined upon the basis of the original cost (not replacement cost) of the property, and the probable number of years remaining of its expected useful life. In case the property was purchased prior to March 1, 1913, the amount of depreciation will be determined in the same manner, except that it will be computed on its original cost, less depreciation sustained prior to tion will be determined in the same manner, except that it will be computed on its original cost, less depreciation sustained prior to March 1, 1913, or its fair market value as of that data whichever its greater. The capital sum to be recovered could be charged off ratably over the useful life of the property. When the charged off ratably over the useful life of the property or method of apportionment is adopted must be reasonable and must have due regard to operating conditions during the taxable year and should be described in the return. Slocks, bonds, and like securities are not subject to depreciation within the meaning of the law.

If a deduction is claimed on account of depreciation, fill in If a deduction is claimed on account of depreciation, fill in Schedule E. In case obsolescence is included, state separately amount claimed and basis upon which it is computed. Land values or cost must not be included in this schedule, and where land and buildings were purchased for a lump sum, the cost of the building subject to depreciation must be established. The adjuved property accounts and the accumulated depreciation shown in the schedule should be reconciled with those accounts shown in the schedule should be reconciled with those accounts as the schedule of the businessis. (See sections 23 (0) as reflected on the books of the partnership. (See sections 23 (I)

and 114.)

(b) Amortization of emergency facilities.—Partnerships, provided an election is made as prescribed in section 124 (b) are entitled to a deduction with respect to the amortization of the adjusted basis (for determining gain) of an emergency facility based on a period of sixty montls. A statement of the pertinent facts should be filled with the partnership's election to take amortization deduction with resnest to such facility. Son secfacts should be filed with the partnership's election to take amortization deduction with respect to such facility. (See sec-tion 124 of the Internal Revenue Code and regulations issued

23. Depletion of mines, oil and gas wells, timber, etc.—If a 23. Depletion of mines, oil and gas wells, timber, etc.—If a deduction is claimed on account of depletion, procure from the collector Form D (miscellancous nonmentals) Form E (coal), Form F (miscellancous nonmentals) Form (oil and gas), or Form T (timber), fill in and file with return to land gas), or Form T (timber), fill in and file with return return to the file of the file with the complete of the file of t

24. Other deductions authorized by law.—Enter any other authorized deductions for which no space is provided deswhere on the first page of the return. Do not deduct losses incurred in transactions which were neither connected with the trade or usainess nor entered into for profit. No deduction is allowable for the amount of any item or part thereof allocable to a class of exampt income, other than interest. Items directly attributable control of the amount of any item or part thereof allocable to a class of exampt income, other than interest. Items directly attributable of the amount of any item or part thereof allocable to a class of directly attributable now. If an item is directly attributable and the control of the enemy. (See Specific Instruction 29) Include also losses from year, and of property of losses from year, and of property located in enemy countries our property or dose of military or navy opportune of the control of losses from war, taxation of property prevered, and basis of property.) 24. Other deductions authorized by law.—Enter any other

basis of property.)
27-28. Net short-term and net long-term capital gains and

27-28. Net short-term and net long-term capital gains and losses.—Report sales or exchanges of capital assets in Safedulo II, and enter the net short-term capital gain closes sitem 27, and the net long-term capital gain of loss as item 27, and the net long-term capital gain of loss as item 28, "Capital assets" defined.—The term, "capital assets" means property held by the taxapyer (whether or not connected with list trade or business), but not stock in trade or other property of a kind which would properly be included in his inventory if on hand at the close of the taxable year, or property held by the taxaneare primaryly for sale to customers in the ordinary course hand at the close of the taxable year, or property held by the taxpayer primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of his trade or business, or property used in the trade or business of a character which is subject to the allowance for depreciation provided in section 23 (1), or an obligation of the United States or any of its possessions, or of a State or Territory, or any political subdivision thereof, or of the District of Columbia, issued on or after March 1, 1941, on a discount basis and payable without interest at a fixed maturity data not recording the property of the contract of issued on or after March 1, 1941, on a discount basis and payable without interest at a fixed maturity date not exceeding one year from the date of issue, or real property used in the trade or business of the taxpayer.

A capital gain dividend, as defined in section 362 (relating to

A capital gain dividend, as defined in section 302 (relating to tax on regulated investment companies) shall be treated by the shareholder as gains from the sale or exchange of capital assets held for more than 6 months.

held for more than 6 months.

For special treatment of gains and losses from involuntary conversion, and from asle or exchange of certain property used in the trade or business, see section 117 (5).

Description of property—State following facts: (a) For real estate, location and description of land and improvements; (b) for bonds or other evidences of indebtedness, name of issuing copporation, particular issue, denomination and amount; and

by a corporate security with interest coupons or in registered form and other than a debt the loss from the worthlessness of which is incurred in the trade or business, becomes totally worthless within the taxable year, the loss resulting therefrom shall be considered a loss from the sale or exchange, during the taxable year, of a capital assets held for not more than 6 months.

Classification of capital gains and losses.—The phrase "hont-term" applies to gains and losses,—from the sale or exchange of capital assets held for 6 months or less; the phrase "long-term" the sale of exchange of capital assets are allowable to individual taxpayers only to the extent of the gains from such also core exchanges, plus the net income (computed without regard to capital gains and losses) or \$1,000, whichever is smaller. However, in the case of an individual taxpayer, a not capital loss as defined in section 117 (a) (11) for a taxable year beginning in 1942 may be carried over to the taxable year logaring in 1941 may not be included in computing the net capital loss for a taxable year beginning in 1942 which can be carried forward to a taxable year beginning in 1943. A partureship is not allowed the lonefits of a capital loss carry-over.

"Wash sales" losses.—Loss from sale or other disposition of slock or securities cannot be deducted unless sustained in one-slock or securities cannot be deducted unless sustained in one-slock or securities cannot be deducted unless sustained in one-slock or securities cannot be deducted unless sustained in one-slock or securities cannot be deducted unless sustained in one-slock or securities cannot be deducted unless sustained in one-slock or securities cannot be deducted unless sustained in one-slock or securities cannot be deducted unless sustained in one-slock or securities cannot be deducted unless sustained in one-slock or securities cannot be deducted unless sustained in one-slock or securities cannot be deducted unless sustained in one-slock or securities cannot be deducted unless su

stock or securities cannot be deducted unless sustained in connection with the taxpayer's trade or business, if, within 30 days before or after the date of sale or other disposition, the taxpayer has acquired (by purchase or by an exchange upon which the entire amount of gain or loss was recognized by law), or has entered into a contract or option to acquire, substantially identical stock or securities.

Losses in transactions between certain persons,—No deduction

Losses in transactions between certain persons.—No deduction shall be allowed in respect of losses from sales or exchanges of property, directly or indirectly—

A. Between members of a family, which is defined for the purpose of this paragraph to include only the taxpayer's brothers and sisters (whether by the whole or half blood), spouse, ancestors, and lineal descendants;

B. Except in the case of distributions in liquidation, between an individual and a corporation more than 50 percent in value of the outstanding stude of saled is owned, directly

or indirectly, by or for such individual;
C. Between a grantor and a fiduciary of any trust; or
D. Between a fiduciary of a trust and a beneficiary of

For the purposes of determining ownership of stock in applying

this paragraph, see section 24 (b) (2).

29. Partners' shares of income and credits.—Enter the names 22. Partners' shares of income and credits.—Enter the names and addresses of the partners on lines' (a), (b), (c), ct., in redumn 1, Schedule J, and extend in the proper columns each partner's share of income, whether distributed or not, and credits. Schedule J should show complete information with respect to all the persons who were members of the partnership, syndicate, group, etc., during any portion of the taxable year. If the full time of any partner was not devoted to the business, the percentage of time devoted to the business must be shown in Schedule J. Although the partnership is not subject to income and victory tax, the members thereof are liable for income and victory tax in their individual capacity and are taxable upon their distributive shares of the income of the partnership, whether distributive shares of the income of the partnership, whether distributed or not, and each is required to include his proportion. distributed or not, and each is required to include his proportionate share in his individual return. Each partner should be advised by the partnership of his proportionate share of the income and credits as shown in Schedule J of the partnership return, as, well as his share of any dividends included in item 8

(a) (see Specific Instruction 12).

Earned income.—Enter in column 9, Schedule J, the proper part of each partner's or member's distributive share of the partnership's net income which consists of earned income. Such part cannot exceed a reasonable allowance as compensation one part cannot exceed a reasonance anowance as compensation for personal services actually rendered by the partner in connection with the partnership's business. In the case of a partnership which is engaged in a trade or business in which

(c) for stocks, name of corporation, class of stock, number of shares, and capital changes affecting basis (including nontaxable distributions).

Basis—in determining GAIN in case of property acquired before March 1, 1913, use the cost or the fair market value as of March 1, 1913, adjusted as provided in section 113 (b), which ever is greater, but in determining LOSS use cost so adjusted. If the property was acquired after February 28, 1913, use cost, except as btherwise provided in section 113.

Losses on securities becoming worthless.—If (1) shares of stock become worthless during the year or (2) corporate securities with interest coupons or in registered form become worthless during the year, and are capital assets, as of the last day of such taxable year.

Nonbusiness dotis—If a debt, other than a debt evidenced by a corporate security with interest coupons or of the stock of the partnership is a reasonable stands of the last day of such taxable year.

Nonbusiness dotis—If a debt, other than a debt evidenced by a corporate security with interest coupons or in registered form and other than a debt the loss from contact stelly worthless and the partnership for the taxable year, computed without fewers which as a standard to the taxable year, computed without fewers the standard to the standard to the sar requirement of the partnership of the taxable year, computed without fewers and the taxable year, computed without seared in the tradal powers of the partnership for the taxable year, computed without fewers and the taxable year, computed without seared the partnership of the taxable year, computed without seared in the tradal powers of the partnership for the taxable year, computed without seared in the tradal powers of the partnership for the taxable year, computed without seared in the tradal powers of the partnership for the taxable year, computed without seared in the tradal powers of the partnership for the taxable year, computed without seared in the tradal powers of the partnership of the taxable year Although A received a salary of \$10,000 and B a salary of \$5,000, since the partnership is engaged in a business in which capital is a material income-producing factor, the carried income of each from the partnership is limited to 20 percent of his share of the net profits. A's share of the net profits is \$13,000 (\$10,000 (salary)+\$3,000 (\$4 on the profits after deduction of \$15,000 for salaries). Twenty percent of \$13,000 is \$2,600, to which amount. As earned income from the partnership is limited. Since B's share of the net profits is \$8,000 (\$5,000+\$3,000) 20 percent thereof, or \$1,000, is B's sarned income from the partnership. C has no earned income from the partnership. C has no earned income from the partnership. he renders no personal services in connection with the partnerthip business.

Charitable contributions.—No deduction for charitable contri-

ship business.

Charitable contributions.—No deduction for charitable contributions is allowable in computing the net income of a partner-ship, but each partner shall be considered as laving made payment, within his taxable year, of his distributive portion of any contribution or gift of the character described in section 23 (o), payment of which was made by the partnership within its taxable year. Enter in Schedule I contributions or gifts payment of which was made within the taxable year to or for he use of: (a) The United States, any State. Territory, or any political subdivision thereof, or the District of Columbia, or any possession of the United States, any State. Territory or of any contribution or gifts or Territory or of any possession of the United States, or community chest, fund, or foundation the contribution of the United States, or of any State or Territory or of any possession of the United States, or of any State or Territory or educational purposes, or for the prevention of cruelty to children or animals, no part of the net earnings of which inures to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual, and no substantial part of the activities of which is carrying on propaganda, or otherwise attemptim, to influence legislation; (c) the special fund for vocational rehabilitation authorized by section 12 of the World War Veterans' Act, 1924; (d) posts or organizations of war veterans, or auxiliary units or societies of any such posts or organizations, if such posts, organizations, units, or societies of their the tearnings hurses to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual; or (c) a domestic fraternal society, ordicing or association, operating under the lodge system, but only if such contributions or gifts are to be used exclusively for religious, charitable, scientific, literary, or educational purposes, if such contributions or gifts are to be used exclusively for religious, charitable, scientific, literary, or educational purposes, or for the prevention of cruelty to children or animals. Allocate each partner's share in such contributions or gifts in column 10, Schedule J.

Schedule J.

Credit for taxes.—If interest was received on tax-free covenant bonds in connection with which an ownership certificate on Form 1000 was filed, the Federal income tax of 2 percent paid at the source on such interest should be allocated to the partners in column 11, Schedule J.

If income and profits taxes paid to a foreign country or a

possession of the United States are entered in column 12, Schedule J, submit Form 1116 with the partnership return with Senedule J, stomer form 1116 with the partnership return with a receipt for each such tax payment. In case the amount entered in column 12 includes foreign taxes accrued but not paid, natach to the form a certified copy of the return on which the taxes were based. The Commissioner may require the partners or members to give a bond on Form 1117 for the payment of any additional tax found due if the foreign tax when paid differs from the contract actions of the contract actions of the contract actions of the contract actions of the contract actions of the contract actions of the contract actions of the contract actions of the contract actions of the contract actions of the contract actions of the contract actions of the contract actions of the contract action of the contract actions of the contract action of the contr Net operating loss deduction.—The benefit of the deduction for

Met operating loss deduction.—The benefit of the deduction for net operating losses provided by section 23 (s) shall not be allowed to a partnership. In computing his own net operating loss or his own net income for any taxable year for the purposes of the computations required by section 122, however, each partner shall take into account the income and losses of the partnership in accordance with sections 182 to 188, inclusive, with certain exceptions and limitations. (See section 19.189–14) of the regulations.)

\$ 16-65078-1 8. S. GOYZENHENT PRINTING OFFICE : 1941

# INDEX

(Subjects pertain to returns of individuals and/or fiduciaries except where indicated "Estate tax returns" or "Gift tax returns")

A

D --

| Additional assessments, not included   | Page                     |
|--|--------------------------|
|  | 106                      |
| Before tax credit. 304-305, 307, 309, 311, 31;   | 297                      |
| Net  | 3, 315                   |
| Additional tax and basic tax before tax credits (Fester tax and basic tax before tax credits (Fester tax and basic tax before tax credits (Fester tax and basic tax before tax credits (Fester tax and basic tax before tax credits (Fester tax and basic tax before tax credits (Fester tax and basic tax before tax credits (Fester tax and basic tax before tax credits (Fester tax and basic tax before tax credits (Fester tax before tax and basic tax before tax credits (Fester tax before tax and basic tax before tax credits (Fester tax before tax and basic tax before tax credits (Fester tax before | 3, 315                   |
| Additional tax and basic tax before tax credits (Estate tax returns) 320 Additional tax, returns with larger tax in 1942 3-4, 8, 132, 135, 144, 144 Administration, net losses during (Estate tax returns) 320 Additional tax.   | )-321                    |
| Additional tax returns with larger tax in 1049   | 0-321                    |
| Administration not lesses distinct (Fig. 1942 3-4, 8, 132, 135, 144, 147   | 7, 207                   |
| (Estate tax returns) _ 302-303 307   | 300                      |
| Administrative expenses funeral and (E-t-t-t-t-t-t-t-t-t-t-t-t-t-t-t-t-t-t-t   | 7, 319                   |
|  |                          |
| Agriculture, forestry, and fishery   | ', 31 <b>8</b>           |
| Aliens:  | 3, 96                    |
| Figure 1 av raturns  | -                        |
| Estate tax returns 291, 292, 298-299, 322, 360   | -361                     |
|  |                          |
| Individual and/or fiduciary returns 328, 329   | -345                     |
| Alimony  | e 33)                    |
| Alternative tax  | -147                     |
| 148-149, 152-153, 252 (note 9), 257, 284 (note   | e 5)                     |
| On returns with no net income  | te 9)                    |
| Amended returns  | 4                        |
|  | 315                      |
| Amortization of emergency facilities.  | 80                       |
| TIMOUNG UISHIDHEADIR IN DEPENDIQUIA  |                          |
|  | 441                      |
| Amusements 27, 78, 84, 96, 170, 177, 286 (note Annuities   | 96                       |
|  | 277                      |
| Annuities, dividends, and interest   | -213                     |
| Apparel and accessories208-  | 95                       |
|  |                          |
|  |                          |
|  |                          |
| Assets, capital, description 79,   | 116                      |
|  | 110                      |
|  | 96                       |
|  | 9 <b>0</b><br>9 <b>5</b> |
| riverage moonie and victory tax  | 'n                       |
| 128-129, 132, 135, 140-141, 144, 147, 148-153,   | 207                      |
| , , , === 111, 110-100,  | 207                      |
| В  |                          |
| Bad debts  | 40)                      |
|  |                          |
|  | 41)                      |
|  |                          |
| Estate tax returns   | 000                      |
|  |                          |
|  |                          |
|  |                          |
|  |                          |
|  |                          |
| List252v-vi,   | 254                      |
| v-vi,  | 123                      |
| 7584545027   |                          |
| 100302-00  |                          |

| The contract of the contract o |
|--|
| Basic tax (Estate tax returns):  |
| Basic tax (Estate tax returns): Page Before tax credits  |
| Net 291, 304–305, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 320–321   |
| Net  |
| Before tax credits 320-321   |
| Net (excluding defense tax) 320-321  |
| Beneficiaries, amount distributable to (Fiduciary returns) 77, 82,   |
| 178–179, 189, 252 (note 1), 270–272, 276–277, 286 (note 44)  |
| Bequests, charitable, public, and similar (Estate tax returns) 302-<br>303, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 319  |
|  |
| Bonds: Amortizable premium   |
| Corporation, bank deposits, notes, mortgages, interest received 77, 78, 83, 86   |
| Government, Federal State etc. (See Government obligations)  |
| Government, Federal, State, etc. (See Government obligations.) Other than Federal, State, and municipal (Estate tax returns)   |
| 303, 306, 308, 310, 312, 314, 316, 318   |
| State and municipal (Estate tax returns) 302-  |
| 303, 306, 308, 310, 312, 314, 316, 318   |
| Bonds and stocks:  |
| Bonds and stocks:<br>Estate tax returns 304-305, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 319   |
| Gift tax returns 327, 334, 340   |
| Business loss 77, 80, 85, 87, 93–96, 176–177, 182–183, 188, 253 (note 30), 265–277, 285  |
| 85, 87, 93–96, 176–177, 182–183, 188, 253 (note 30), 265–277, 285  |
| (note 27).   |
| (note 27).  Business profit  |
| 84, 87, 93-96, 176-177, 182-183, 187, 253 (note 30), 265-277, 285  |
| (note 27). Business service96  |
| Business service96   |
| C  |
| Capital assets, description 79, 116-119  |
| Capital assets, description  |
| Capital gains and losses:  116-120 266-277 286 (note 35)   |
| Capital net gain, 1922–1943  |
| Capital net loss carry-over 78-79, 98-100, 119-120   |
| Comparability with prior year 99   |
|  |
| Description78-80, 116, 117, 118, 119, 356  |
| Comparability with prior year 99 Description 78-80, 116, 117, 118, 119, 356 Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128-   |
| Emerge of not long towns constal gain over not chart-tarm constal loca 199   |
| Emerge of not long towns constal gain over not chart-tarm constal loca 199   |
| Emerge of not long towns constal gain over not chart-tarm constal loca 199   |
| Emerge of not long towns constal gain over not chart-tarm constal loca 199   |
| Emerge of not long towns constal gain over not chart-tarm constal loca 199   |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss128   |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128-129, 133-134, 140-141, 145-146, 148-149, 152-153  Long-term, definition  |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128-129, 133-134, 140-141, 145-146, 148-149, 152-153  Long-term, definition  |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128- 129, 133-134, 140-141, 145-146, 148-149, 152-153  Long-term, definition   |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128- 129, 133-134, 140-141, 145-146, 148-149, 152-153  Long-term, definition   |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128- 129, 133-134, 140-141, 145-146, 148-149, 152-153  Long-term, definition   |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128-129, 133-134, 140-141, 145-146, 148-149, 152-153  Long-term, definition  |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128—129, 133–134, 140–141, 145–146, 148–149, 152–153  Long-term, definition  |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128—129, 133–134, 140–141, 145–146, 148–149, 152–153  Long-term, definition  |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128-129, 133-134, 140-141, 145-146, 148-149, 152-153  Long-term, definition  |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128-129, 133-134, 140-141, 145-146, 148-149, 152-153 Long-term, definition   |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128- 129, 133-134, 140-141, 145-146, 148-149, 152-153  Long-term, definition   |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128-129, 133-134, 140-141, 145-146, 148-149, 152-153  Long-term, definition  |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128-129, 133-134, 140-141, 145-146, 148-149, 152-153 Long-term, definition   |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128-129, 133-134, 140-141, 145-146, 148-149, 152-153 Long-term, definition   |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128-129, 133-134, 140-141, 145-146, 148-149, 152-153   |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss  |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128-129, 133-134, 140-141, 145-146, 148-149, 152-153  Long-term, definition  |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128-129, 133-134, 140-141, 145-146, 148-149, 152-153  Long-term, definition  |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128-129, 133-134, 140-141, 145-146, 148-149, 152-153  Long-term, definition  |
| Excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss 128-129, 133-134, 140-141, 145-146, 148-149, 152-153  Long-term, definition  |

| ,  |                  |                     |
|--|------------------|---------------------|
| INDEX  | ;                | 399                 |
| Canital gains and losses Continued   |                  |                     |
| Synopsis of Federal tay laws affecting   | •                | Page                |
| Synopsis of Federal tax laws affecting  Tax credit for capital net loss, 1924–1933  Tax on capital net gain (12% percent) 1922–1933  | 116              | -120                |
| Tax on capital net gain (12% percent) 1922–1933  | 257,             | 357                 |
| Tax on capital net gain (12½ percent), 1922–1933 117, Capital stock in corporations (Estate tax returns)   | 257,<br>302-     | . 357<br>.303       |
| Cash (Estate tax returns)  Cash (Gift tax returns)  Cash (Gift tax returns)  | 316.             | 318                 |
| Cash (Estate tax returns)  | 302              | -319                |
| Cash (Gift tax returns)  | 334,             | 340                 |
| Cash payments at time of filing 30, 31, 34-3 Changes, Internal Revenue Code as amended:  | 7, 42            | 2-43                |
| Estate tax returns   |                  |                     |
| Estate tax returns   | 292-             | -293                |
| Gift tax returns   | -                |                     |
| Individual and/or fiduciary returns  |                  | 5-6                 |
| 307 200 211 212 215  | 02-              | 303,                |
| Charitable, public, and similar gifts (Gift tax returns)   | 317,             | 919<br>319          |
| 225 220  | 220              | 340,<br>340         |
| Chartable contributions. (See Contributions.)  |                  | 040                 |
| Citizens, nonresident (Estate tax returns)   |                  | 292                 |
|  |                  |                     |
| Estate tax returns 291, 298, 322,  | 360-             | -361                |
| 378  | くつい              | 361                 |
| Individual and/or inductary returns  | 244              | -345                |
| Classification of returns: Estate tax  |                  |                     |
| Cift toy   | <b>.</b>         | 298                 |
| Gift tax Individual and/or fiduciary  Common trust funds   | 330-             | 331                 |
| Common trust funds   | 7, 18            | , 93                |
| Community property:  |                  | 120                 |
| Estate tax returns   |                  | 909                 |
| Gift tax returns   |                  | $\frac{293}{328}$   |
| Individual returns 60-62 167-1   |                  | ე <u>⊿</u> გ<br>911 |
| Comparability of tax liability and tax collections.  |                  | 211                 |
| Estate tax returns   |                  | 294                 |
| Gill tax returns   |                  | 329                 |
| Individual and/or fiduciary returns  |                  | 106                 |
| Comparison of 1942 and 1943 tax habilities 12_13_103   | (note            | e 4)                |
| Comparison with 1942 summary data: Gift tax returns  |                  |                     |
| Individual and/or fiduciary returns  |                  | 327                 |
| Comparison with 1943 summary data (Estate tax returns)   |                  | 3-4                 |
| Compensation for personal services. (See Salaries.)  | -                | 291                 |
| Composite data (Individual returns and taxable fiduciary returns)  |                  | 13,                 |
| 76, 77, 124-135, 154-157, 173-179, 190-195, 214-215, 21  | 56-2             | 57                  |
| 258–264, 265–277, 278–283.   | ,                | οι,                 |
| Composition of basic sample 1  | 07-1             | 108                 |
| 258-264, 265-277, 278-283.  Composition of basic sample  | te 5             | 0),                 |
| Construction 178-179, 184-185, 253 (note 35), 265-277, 286 (n  | ote :            | 33)                 |
| Corporate stock (Estate ter returns) 200 202 202 202 202 203   | 93,              | 96                  |
| Credit for: 302-303, 306, 308, 310, 312, 314, 3  | 16, 3            | 318                 |
| Capital net loss from sale of assets held more than two years, 1924-   |                  |                     |
| 1933   |                  |                     |
| Dependents 9, 27, 61, 63, 82, 104 (note 25), 124-125, 13   | Λ 1 <sup>2</sup> | 257                 |
| 130-137, $142$ , $145$ , $162-172$ , $206$ , $208-213$ , $252$ (note)  | 4 \ 2            | 11 É                |
| Earned income  | 9 9              | 82                  |
| Earned income 124-125, 130, 134, 136-137, 142, 146, 206, 252 (note 5), 26  | 57. 3            | 158                 |
| roteigh van daid and ean daid at source  |                  | 0                   |
| 131, 135, 143, 147, 152–153, 28  | 57, 3            | 35 <b>8</b>         |
| Gift taxes (Estate tax returns) 293, 297, 304–305, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 320–321, 3   | 2                | 91,                 |
| Inheritance etc. tayor (Fetete to a series of the series o |                  |                     |
| Inheritance, etc., taxes (Estate tax returns) 293, 297, 304-305; 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 320-321, 30  | 29               | 91,                 |
| Credits, tax. (See Tax credits.)   | oU−3             | 61                  |
| Cumulative distribution of number of returns, net income, and tax  | 14               | 16                  |
|  |                  |                     |
| 1.   | 54-1             | Ų1                  |

| Page 7 0 12 40 50   |
|---|
| Current Tax Payment Act of 1943, tax forgiven under 5-6, 13, 46-59 Current collection of tax 5-6, 29  |
| D   |
| Data estimated 9-10   |
| Data tabulated: 294 Estate tax returns 290 221  |
| 0.000 1.000 0 |
| r = 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1   |
| Date of death (Estate tax returns) 292, 293 Dealers in automobiles, accessories, tires, batteries 95 Dealers in automobiles, accessories, tires, batteries 22, 270-271, 276-277, 286 (note 43)  |
| Dealers in automobiles, accessories, tires, batteries   |
| Debts, bad 82, 270-271, 270-271, 280 (note 45)  |
| Dealers in automobiles, accessories, tires, batteries 300   |
| Declaration of estimated tax  |
| Deductions: 296, 302–303, 306–311, 312–315, 316–319 Estate tax returns 296, 302–303, 306–311, 312–315, 316–319  |
| Allowable 302-303, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 319  |
| Disallowed 296, 302–303, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 319  |
| Allowable 302-303, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 319  Disallowed 296, 302-303, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 319  Gift tax returns 335, 337-338, 339, 340  Individual and/or fiduciary returns 76-88, 176-179, 182-185, 188-189  76   |
| Individual and/or fiduciary returns 70-00, 170-175, 102-100, 100-105  |
| Negative amounts reported under income 77, 82, 85, 88, 178–179, 184–185, 189  |
| Individual and/or fiduciary returns   |
| Optional returns, deductions not reported   |
| 85, 88, 105 (note 54), 178–179, 184–185, 253 (note 39), 265–277   |
| Sources76-88, 176-179, 182-183, 188-169, 205-217<br>Total77, 85, 88, 178-179, 184-185, 189, 265-277   |
| Total   |
| Defense tax: Estate tax returns 291, 297, 304-305, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 320-321   |
| Gift tax returns 366 (note 8)   |
| Gift tax returns 366 (note 8) Individual and/or fiduciary returns 3-4, 257, 284 (note 6)  |
|   |
| Returns with. (See No net income.)  |
| Returns with. (See No net income.)  77, 81–82, Dental, etc., expenses, medical and 85, 88, 100–102, 178–179, 184–185, 271–272, 277, 286 (note 48)   |
| Dentists  |
| Departmental, general merchandise, dry goods  |
| Dependents:  Credit for 9, 27, 61, 63, 82, 104 (note 25), 124-125, 130,   |
|   |
| Number of, classes  |
| Support of (Estate tax returns) 302-303, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 319  |
|   |
| Description of basic items 106-115 Description of sample 81, 208-213 Dividends, interest, and annuities 81, 208-213   |
|   |
| To a still and foreign componetions   |
|   |
| On share accounts in Federal savings and loan associations  |
|   |
| 330-331, 340, 341   |
| Drug stores 95.   |
| Dry goods 95 Dry goods 83   |
| Donors, identical (Gift tax feetins) 95.  Drug stores 95.  Dry goods 95.  Duplication of income tabulated for fiduciaries and beneficiaries 83.   |
| E   |
| Earned income credit  |
| Eating and drinking places 95 Educational, scientific, or literary institutions, bequests to (Estate tax re-  |
| Educational, scientific, or literary institutions, bequests to (Estate tax returns) 302-303, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 319  |

| TT (# 11   |                  |                        |
|--|------------------|------------------------|
| Effective tax rate (percent):  | e                | Page                   |
| Estate tax returns   |                  | 291                    |
| Che tax fettins  |                  | 227 001                |
| individual and/or indiciary returns  |                  | 2                      |
| 18 198_190 199 195 140 141 144 14  | M 110 180        | ~~= . ~,               |
|  | 2 215 200        | $-321, \overline{322}$ |
|  |                  |                        |
|  |                  | 298-299                |
| Applicable revenue acts and taxable status   |                  | 298                    |
| Basic items, description   |                  | 294-298                |
| Citizens, nonresident  |                  | 292                    |
|  |                  |                        |
| Classification   |                  | 000                    |
| rederal tax iaw  |                  | 201 202                |
| rame reconcements  |                  |                        |
| Geographic divisions   |                  | 000                    |
| Cross estate classes   | 208              | 210 010                |
|  |                  |                        |
| 110 estate 291 29h 302=303 307 300 311 319 91  | 5 917 91A        | 900 001                |
| Net estate before specific exemption classes, taxable return Neoresident aligns  | rns 298          | 306-311                |
| Troniesident anens   | 201 202          | 200 000                |
|  |                  |                        |
| Obdunat value, gross estate  |                  | 005                    |
| returns included   |                  | 909 904                |
| States and Territories   |                  | 200 001                |
|  |                  | 001                    |
| Synopsis of Federal tax laws affecting data  Tables  |                  | 260 262                |
| Tables   |                  | 200-202                |
| Description  |                  | 299                    |
| DescriptionFootnotes   |                  | - 299<br>- 323         |
| L/ISU  |                  | 2A1                    |
| Tax rates  | 201-202          | VI, 3UI                |
| Taxable and nontaxable returns, classification  Estates and trusts  Estimated data                                       | . 291-292,       | 302-303                |
| Estates and trusts   | 1 91 940         | - 298<br>(==+=0)       |
| Estimated data   | 4, 01, 346       | (note 9)               |
|  |                  |                        |
| Excess profits tax. 1917   | 0,               | 9, 29-45               |
| Excess profits tax, 1917  Exclusion of the first \$3,000 of gifts made to any one donee (furns)                          | (0:61            | _ 358                  |
| turns) 328   | CHIL THE LEGICAL | ;-<br>00* 000          |
|  |                  |                        |
| Personal 9, 27, 82, 104 (note 24), 124-125   | 100 100 1        | 00.10                  |
| 142, 145, 148–153, 162–172, 206, 208–213   | 130, 133, 1      | 36-137,                |
| Specific: 112, 113, 113 100, 102-172, 200, 203-213   | 5, 252 (note     | 3), 345                |
| Estate tax returns   |                  | 000                    |
| 295 302-303 307 200 211 212 215  | 217 010          | 292,                   |
| Gift tax returns 329 220 225   | 9, 317, 319, 6   | 360-361                |
| Gift tax returns 328, 329, 335 Individual returns 528, 329, 335  | , 338, 339, 8    | 340, 364               |
| Expenses, funeral and administrative (Estate tax returns)  |                  | - 60                   |
| 207 200 210  | 3                | 02-303,                |
| 307, 309, 310  | , 312, 315, 3    | 317, 318               |
| F  |                  |                        |
| Facsimiles of returns  |                  | 368, 396               |
| Family relationship 10, 11-12, 60-62   | . 162-172. 2     | 208-213                |
| <u> </u>   | , , -            | 96                     |
| redera:  |                  |                        |
| Government bonds. (See Government obligations.)  |                  |                        |
| Savings and loan associations, dividends received from   | 78, 80           | . 81, 82               |
| 104 (note 38), 252 (note 23), 271, 277, 285 (note  | 29), 286 (n      | ote 47)                |
| 104 (note 38), 252 (note 23), 271, 277, 285 (note Tax laws, synopsis of (Estate, Fiduciary, Gift, Individual Educiaries) | al)              | 366                    |
| riduciaries.   |                  |                        |
| Income from 77, 81, 82, 84,  | 87, 105 (no      | ote 47)                |
| 170177 182183 187 953 (note 29) 965  | 077 005 /        | - + - 00\              |
| Net income taxable to (Fiduciary returns)  | 103 (r           | note 1)                |
| 148-153, 189, 219  | -251 252         | note 1)                |
|  |                  |                        |

| Fiduciary returns: Page 219-251  |  |
|--|--|
| Fiduciary returns: 219-251 Aggregate, by States 344-359  |  |
| Aggregate, by States344-359 Synopsis of Federal tax laws affecting data344-359 Tables exclusively for14, 148-153, 186-189, 204-205   |  |
| Tables exclusively for 14, 140 100, 100 100,   |  |
| Filing requirements: 292, 360, 361 Estate tax returns 328, 364   |  |
| Estate tax returns 328, 364<br>Gift tax returns 4-5, 344   |  |
|  |  |
| Individual and/or indiciary returns 95 Filling stations 93, 96   |  |
| Filling stations 93, 96 Finance, insurance, real estate 6 Fiscal year returns 93, 96   |  |
| Fiscal year returns93.96   |  |
| Fiscal year returns 93, 96 Fishery 95 Food and kindred products 95   |  |
| Food and kindred products95 Food and package liquor stores95   |  |
|  |  |
| Tit to the tables  |  |
| Gift tax tables  |  |
| Individual and/or fiduciary tables:  Basic 252-254  Basic 284-287  |  |
|  |  |
| Historical 284–287   |  |
| Historical 103-105 Text 2, 358 Foreign countries, income and profits taxes paid to 93, 96  |  |
| Foreign countries, income and profits taxes paid to 93, 96 Forestry 5-6, 13, 46-59, 104 (note 32) Form 1040A, data for. (See Optional individual returns.)   |  |
| Forestry 5-6, 13, 46-59, 104 (note 32)   |  |
| Form 1040A data for. (See Optional individual returns.)  |  |
| Forms: 1 106(4)  |  |
| Excluded from tabulation1, 100(4)  |  |
| Facsimiles of:  1040—Individual income tax return  368-377   |  |
| to to to A. A. A. Individual Income tax return, gross income nov   |  |
|  |  |
| to it To be a compository rothirm (for estables will) brusbar 001 000  |  |
|  |  |
| Included in tabulation   |  |
| To a distribution of:  |  |
| Individual returns with surtax net income  |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |
| Salaries, wages, etc. (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Funeral and administrative expenses, etc. (Estate tax returns) 312-315, 317, 318   |  |
| Funeral and administrative expenses, etc. (Estate tax returns) 1307, 309, 310, 312, 315, 317, 318  Furniture and house furnishings 95  |  |
| Furniture and house furnishings  |  |
| G  |  |
| <u> </u>   |  |
| Gain, net, from sales of property other than capital assets 77,  |  |
| XI) 84, 80, 104 (11006 40), 110-111, 100 104, 101, 100 (2000 104)  |  |
| Gains, capital. (See Capital gains and losses.)  |  |
| Geographic divisions:  |  |
| States and Territories: Estate tax returns   |  |
| Estate tax returns 10.   |  |
| 10, Individual and/or fiduciary returns 1215, 216–217, 218–251, 278–283 13, 214–215, 216–217, 218–251, 278–283 240, 242  |  |
| C:r+ +0 321, 329-330, 330, 330, 340, 342   |  |
| Credit for (Estate tax returns)291,  |  |
| Credit for (Estate tax returns) 291, 293, 297, 304-305, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 320-321   |  |
| 330, 330, 338, 339, 340  |  |
|  |  |
| 328, 329, 364 Aliens — 328, 329, 364 Citizens and resident aliens — 328, 329, 364  |  |
| Olers: Gration 500-501   |  |
| Date tabulated (Regio items)   |  |
| Filing requirements 328  |  |
| Time to demonstrate and the second se |  |

| Gift tax returns—Continued  | Page                    |
|---|-------------------------|
| Gifts, type of  | 327 324                 |
| Historical data, 1932–1943  | 249                     |
| Identical donors  | 330-331 340 241         |
| Net gift classes  Net gifts for prior years classes  Nontaxable  Prior years  327, 330, 3   | 200 201, 040, 041       |
| Net gift classes  | 320 224 226 241         |
| Net gifts for prior years classes   | 000, 004-000, 041       |
| Nontaxable 327 320 3  | 224, 226, 220, 240, 240 |
| Prior years   | 207 200 200 240         |
| Returns included  | 527, 328, 330, 342      |
| Summary data  | 329                     |
| Synonsis of Federal tax laws offenting data   | 327-328                 |
| Tables  | 364-366                 |
|   |                         |
| Description   | 331                     |
| Footnotes   | 342                     |
| Townstee  | vii, 333                |
| List Tax rates Tayable and pontagoble returned by the state of the state o | 328, 365-366            |
| Taxable and nontaxable returns, classification  | 330                     |
| Total gift classes (nontaxable returns)   | 330, 339                |
| Total gift plus tax classes   | 330 337-338             |
| Total gift classes (nontaxable returns, classification————————————————————————————————————  | 291 293                 |
| 297, 304-305, 307, 309, 311, 313, 3   | 15 320-321 360-361      |
| Gifts:  | 10, 020 021, 000-001    |
| Charitable, public, and similar 3:  | 27220 220 220 240       |
| In trust  | 21-020, 000, 009, 040   |
| Miscellaneous   | 327, 340                |
| Net   | 227, 334, 340           |
| Other than charitable   | 29, 336, 338, 340, 342  |
| Prior years   | 335, 337, 339           |
| Total 5 cars 327, 328, 330, 33  | 36, 338, 339, 340, 342  |
| Miscellaneous   | 29, 334, 337, 339, 342  |
| After exclusions 32   | 29, 335, 337, 339, 340  |
| Amount onigations   | 97–98                   |
| Amount owned:  Estate tax returns 302-303, 306, 308, 31  Individual and/or fiduciary returns  |                         |
| Estate tax returns 302–303, 306, 308, 31  | 0, 312, 314, 316, 318   |
|   | 202-203, 204-205        |
|   | ,                       |
| Partially tax-exempt  | 77                      |
| 78, 83, 86, 104 (note 40), 173-175, 180-181, 252 (note 24), 253 (notes 25 and 45), 254  | 186, 203, 204-205.      |
| 252 (note 24), 253 (notes 25 and 45), 254   | (note 46) 265-277       |
| 200 (HOGE 51).  |                         |
| Partners' and/or beneficiaries' shares  | 253 (note 25)           |
|   |                         |
| 78, 83, 86, 104 (note 41) 173-175, 180-181  | 186 202 204 205         |
| 78, 83, 86, 104 (note 41), 173-175, 180-181, 252 (note 24), 253 (note 26), 271-272, 277, 28   | 160, 203, 204-203,      |
| Gross estate (Estate tax returns)   | o (note 46).            |
| 294-295 302-303 306 208 210 210 214 21  | 291,                    |
| ClassesOntioned value   | 0, 318, 320–321, 322    |
| Optional value  | 298, 312–319            |
| Optional value<br>Gross income:   | 295                     |
| Classes   |                         |
| Classes 11, 72–75, 92, 206–20   | 7, 208–213, 218–251     |
| Exclusions from Optional returns, Form 1040A 208-213, 214-215, 216-217, 218 Requirement for filing individual returns   | 347 (note 8)            |
| Optional returns, Form 1040A  | 2, 14, 206–207,         |
| 208-213, 214-215, 216-217, 218  | -251, 252 (note 10)     |
| Requirement for filing individual returns.  Gross insurance (Estate tax returns) 304-305, 307, 309, 311, 300, 300, 300, 300, 300, 300, 300  | 5                       |
| Gross insurance (Estate tax returns) 304-305, 307, 309, 31  | 1. 313. 315. 317. 319   |
| Gross receipts, 1916  | 285 (note 25)           |
|   | #60 (HO06 20)           |
| H   |                         |
|   |                         |
| Heads of families 60-62, 68-71, 74-75, 104 (not Historical data:  | e 37), 169-170 212      |
|   |                         |
| Estate tax returns  | 322                     |
| Gift tax returns  | 342                     |
|   | 042                     |

| Historical data—Continued  |
|--|
| 7 3::31 and /on fiduciony returns  |
| Capital gains and losses, 1922–1943, description 116–120   |
| Tables   |
| Feetnetes 204-201  |
| T int  |
| D-1  |
|  |
| Source of115-116   |
| Synopsis of tax rates, etc., 1913–1943   |
| Source Book of Statistics of Income, description 115–116 Source of 344–366 Synopsis of tax rates, etc., 1913–1943 60, 62, 163–166, 209–210 Husbands and wives, returns of 60, 62, 163–166, 209–210   |
| I  |
| 200 221 240 241  |
| Identical donors (Gift tax returns) 330-331, 340, 341 Income. (See Balance, Fiduciaries, Gross, Net. Ordinary, Other, Patterns   |
| Income. (See Balance, Fiduciaries, Gross, Net, Ordinary, Other, Latterns   |
| of, Sources of, Total.)  |
| Negative amounts reported under  |
| Income classes. (See Gross and Net income classes.)  11 Income year  |
| Income and profits taxes paid to foreign countries or possessions of the   |
| United States 2, 81, 358   |
| United States 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2,   |
| 8, 16, 22–25, 26, 27, 50–59, 103 (note 4), 126–129, 132, 135, 136–137, 136, 137, 137, 137, 137, 137, 137, 137, 137   |
| 141, 144, 147, 157, 161, 162–172, 207, 208–213, 214–215, 216–217,  |
|  |
|  |
| Income and victory tax withheld upon wages 15, 36, 60 to 16, 287 (note 54) Income tax on 1942 income 285 (note 16), 287 (note 54) Individual returns, synopsis of Federal tax laws affecting data 15, 16   |
|  |
| Individual returns not including inductary returns, tables for $30-25$ , $27$ , $28$ , $30$ , $32-45$ , $47$ , $50-59$ , $62$ , $64-75$ , $83-88$ , $89$ , $90-92$ , $95-96$ , $101-102$ , $136-147$ , $158-161$ , $162-172$ , $180-185$ , $196-201$ ,   |
| 05_06_101_102_136_147_158_161, 162_172, 180_185, 196_201,  |
| 009 009 916917 218-251   |
| -15.90-90  |
| Industrial classification 13,93-96   |
| Industrial activities of sole proprietors  13, 93–96  Industrial classification  13, 93–96  Information items (Estate tax returns) 304–305, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 319  |
|  |
| 293, 297, 304–303, 307, 313, 313, 313, 313, 313, 313   |
| Institutions, educational, scientific, literary, etc., bequests to (Estate tax   |
| Institutions, educational, scientific, literary, etc., bequests to (Estate tax) returns) 302-303, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 319  Instrumentalities of the United States, obligations of. (See Government   |
| Instrumentalities of the United States, Obligations of (1997)  |
| obligations.) Insurance:   |
| 295. 302-319   |
| 004,040  |
|  |
| Individual returns   |
| 300-311, 312-313, 310-317  |
| Interest and other income 208-213 Interest, dividends, and annuities 208-213  302-303  |
| Interest, dividends, and annuities 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest in unincorporated business (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest (Estate tax returns) 302-303, Interest ( |
|  |
|  |
| Interest on delinquent tax payments, not included———————————————————————————————————   |
| 178-179, 184-185, 189, 253 (note 36), 265-277, 286 (note 37)   |
| Tutowork resolved  |
| Hiterest received  |
| 78, 83, 86, 173-175, 180-181, 187  |
|  |
| Government obligations. (See Government obligations.) Other taxable interest, 1927–1943  |
| Y 1 1 D Codo obongog   |
| Internal Revenue Code, changes: 292–293 Estate tax returns 292–293   |
| Cift to v returns  |
| Individual and/or fiduciary returns 5-6  |
|  |

| ·  | #UU            |
|--|----------------|
| Introduction   | Page           |
| IntroductionInvoluntary conversions of propertyItems tabulated:  | 1-2            |
| Items tabulated:   | 70             |
| Estato tev returne   |                |
| Gift tax returns 294 Individual and/or fiduciary returns 329   | -297           |
| Individual and/or fiduciary returns 329  | -330           |
|  |                |
| Joint returns of husbands and wives  |                |
| Joint returns of husbands and wives  | 60             |
| Jointly owned property (Fetate 4-7, 73, 104 (note 34), 163-164, 209, 254 (note   | 49)            |
| 200 205 206 211 210 ave  | 294,           |
| 302-305, 306-311, 312-315, 316   | -319           |
| ш.   |                |
| Laws, Federal tax, synopsis of (Estate, Fiduciary, Gift, Individual) 344-  | 000            |
| Legal services 344-  | -366           |
| Limitations of data 106-<br>Literary, educational, or scientific institutions, etc., bequests to (Estate tax returns) 302-303, 207, 200, 211, 212, 214, 215  | 90<br>115      |
| Literary, educational, or scientific institutions, etc., bequests to (Estate   | -110           |
|  | 319            |
| Loss: Business   |                |
| Business 80, 85, 87, 95–96, 176–177, 182–183, 188, 253 (note 30), 265–Capital. (See Capital gains and lesses)  | 77,            |
| Capital. (See Capital gains and losses.)   | -277           |
| During administration (Estate tax returns)   |                |
| 307 200 211 212 217 017  | 303,           |
| Fire, storm, etc. 77, 81, 817, 77, 81, 87, 87, 81, 87, 87, 81, 87, 81, 87, 81, 87, 81, 87, 81, 87, 81, 87, 81, 87, 81, 81, 81, 81, 81, 81, 81, 81, 81, 81  | 319            |
| 178-179, 184-185, 253 (note 36), 270-272, 276-277, 286 (note   | , 00,<br>. 12) |
| Capital. (See Capital gains and losses.)  During administration (Estate tax returns)   | 77             |
| Net from sales of real extent 80, 85, 87, 176-177, 182-183, 188, 253 (lote   | 28)            |
|  |                |
| Net operating, deduction 80, 81  Partnership 77, 80, 85, 87, 178-179, 265-   | ., 82          |
| Reported under income  |                |
| Dynopsis of Federal tax laws pertaining to 246-247 (peter 7 ())  | 76             |
|  |                |
| 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317   | อบฮ,<br>310    |
| Lumber and timber basic products   | 95             |
| 3.5  |                |
| Manufacturing  | 0.5            |
| Marital status 93 Married persons, returns of 9, 12 Medical dental etc. expresses 60   | , 95           |
| Married persons, returns of  | , 00<br>⊷62    |
| Medical, dental, etc., expenses 77, 81-<br>85, 88, 100-102, 178-179, 184-185, 271-272, 277, 286 (note Men. returns of  | -82            |
| 85, 88, 100–102, 178–179, 184–185, 271–272, 277, 286 (note   | 48)            |
| Members of armed forces, tax forgiven 46.  Men, returns of 60, 62, 165, 167, 169, 171, 210— Military and naval personnel, exclusion applicable to active service pay 6, Mining and quarrying 93, Mortgages and debts of decedent (Estate tax returns) 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317   | -47            |
| Military and naval percental evaluation and light 165, 167, 169, 171, 210-   | 213            |
| Mining and quarrying exclusion applicable to active service pay 6,   | , 77           |
| Mortgages and debts of decedent (Estate tay returns)   | 95             |
| Mortgages and notes (Estate tax returns) 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 302–3   | พร,            |
| Mortgages and notes (Fotato town notices)  | 918            |
| Municipal and State bonds (Estate tax returns) 302-3   | กาล            |
| 300, 308, 310, 312, 314, 316, 3  | 318            |
|  |                |
| National data  | 13             |
|  | , <u>96</u>    |
| riogadive amounts reported linder income   | 77             |
| Net capital gain or loss. (See Capital gains and losses.)  | <b>7</b> 6     |
| Net estate (Estate tax returns)  296, 302-303, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 319, 5  Before specific exemption  296, 302-303, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 319, 5  296, 302-303, 307, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 319, 5  296, 302-303, 307, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 315, 315, 315, 315, 315 | 01             |
| 296, 302–303, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 310, 3   | 322            |
| Before specific exemption 296, 302–303, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 319, 319, 319, 319, 319, 319, 319, 319   | 319            |
| For hadi tax 291, 297, 302–303, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 320–3   | 321            |
| For additional tax 291, 297, 302–303, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 320–333, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 320–34, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 320–34, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 320–35, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 320–36, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 310, 310, 310, 310, 310, 310, 310, 310  | 321            |
| Net estate before specific exemption classes (Estate tax returns) 298, 306–3   | 311            |
|  |                |

o

| Net gain from sales of capital assets. (See Capital and Instantantial Section 27, 20, 24, 24, 24, 24, 24, 24, 24, 24, 24, 24  | 3 104 (             | noto        |
|---|---------------------|-------------|
| Net gain from sales of property other than capital assets 77, 80, 84, 80  | ), 104 ()<br>70 974 | 977         |
| 43), 176–177, 180–181, 187, 253 (note 28), 266–268, 270–207   | 12, 214-            | 240         |
| Net gifts (Gift tax returns) 327, 329, 33   | 30, 338,            | 340         |
| 43), 176–177, 180–181, 187, 253 (note 28), 260–265, 270–2.  Net gifts (Gift tax returns) 327, 329, 3:  Net gift classes (Gift tax returns) 330, 3:  Net gifts for prior years (Gift tax returns) 327, 328, 330, 336, 3:  Net gift for prior years classes (Gift tax returns)  | 34-330,             | 341         |
| Net gifts for prior years (Gift tax returns) 327, 328, 330, 336, 33   | 38, 339,            | 340         |
| Net gifts for prior years (Gift tax returns) 327, 328, 330, 336, 336, 336, 336, 336, 336, 336   | 331,                | 341         |
| Net income 3–7, 77, 85, 88  | 3, 101–             | 102,        |
| 103 (notes 1 and 14), 124-125, 130, 133, 136-137, 142   | , 145, 1            | L48–        |
| 153 155 162-172 178-179 184-185 189 214-215 21  | 6-217, 2            | 218-        |
| 251 252 (note 2) 256 260-261 265-277, 278-283, 29   | 34 (nót             | e 2)        |
| 251, 252 (1106e 2), 260, 260 261, 260 271, 275 265, 276   | 05. 273-            | -277        |
| 53,000 and over, returns with 202 200, 201 _  | ,                   | 14          |
| Optional returns, het income not reported   | 59 (not             | e 5)        |
| Ordinary 3 Prior years 256, 260–261, 265–272, 273–277, 278–283, 2   | 84 (not             | e 2)        |
| Prior years 250, 200-201, 200-212, 210-211, 210-201, 200-2010, 200-201, 200-201, 200-201, 200-201, 200-201, 200-201, 200-2010, 200-2010, 200-201, 200-2010, 200-2010, 200-2010, 200-2010, | loce                | 17          |
| Reduced by excess of long-term capital gain over short-term capital   | 45, 152-            | ı.,         |
| 133, 1  | 40, 102             | 11          |
| Returns with net income and returns with no net income, classificat   | 10n                 | 11,         |
| Returns with net income and returns with no net medine, classificated to fiduciary 103 (note 1), 148-153, 189, 219-251, 2 Under \$5 000   | s 7 and             | (12)        |
| Summary and comparison with 1942  |                     | 3-4         |
| Taxable to fiduciary 103 (note 1), 148–153, 189, 219–251, 2   | 252 (not            | te 1)       |
| Under \$5,000 10, 2   | 84 (not             | te 1)       |
| Under \$5,000 103 (note 1), 143-163, 163, 213 261, 2 Under \$2,000 for 1917 28  | 5 (note             | 23)         |
| Under \$500   |                     | 4           |
| Under \$500   | 14-16,              | 20-         |
| Net income classes 28 32 45 50 59 64-71 83-88 90-91 101-102   | 2. 124´-            | 135.        |
| 126 147 148 152 154-157 158-161 162-172 173-17  | 9 180~              | 185´        |
| 186–189, 190–195, 196–201, 202–203, 204–205, 218–2  | 51 258              | -264        |
| 180-189, 190-193, 190-201, 202-203, 204-200, 213-2  | 01, <b>2</b> 00     | 5-06        |
| Net loss from business  | 0                   | 0 00        |
| Net loss from sales of capital assets. (See Capital gams and losses.)   |                     | 77          |
| Net loss from sales of property other than capital assets   | 70 076              | 277         |
| 80, 85, 87, 176–177, 182–183, 188, 253 (note 28), 270–2   | 60 979              | 275         |
| Net loss, sales of real estate, stocks, bonds, 1916-1933 205-2  | 00, 410             | 202         |
| Net losses during administration (Estate tax returns)   | 302-                | -202        |
| Net loss from sales of capital assets. (See Capital gains and losses.)  Net loss from sales of property other than capital assets.  80, 85, 87, 176-177, 182-183, 188, 253 (note 28), 270-2  Net loss, sales of real estate, stocks, bonds, 1916-1933 265-2  Net losses during administration (Estate tax returns)  | 15, 517             | , 319       |
| Net operating loss deduction  | _ 80, 8             | 1, 84       |
| Net profit from business  | 9                   | 5-90        |
| Net profit from business  | 265-                | -268,       |
|   | 273                 | -275        |
| Net victory tax. (See Victory tax.)  No net income (Deficit), returns with  33-45, 51-59, 77, 83-88, 91, 101-102, 125, 127, 129  141, 149, 154-161, 175, 177, 179, 181, 183, 185, 186-18  |                     |             |
| No net income (Deficit) returns with  | l, 11, 13           | 5–16,       |
| 33-45 51-59 77 83-88, 91, 101-102, 125, 127, 129  | ), 137,             | 139,        |
| 141 140 154-161 175 177 179, 181, 183, 185, 186-18  | 9, 191,             | 193,        |
|   |                     |             |
| Sex and family relationship classification, not applied   |                     | 60          |
| 37 • 1 · 1 · 1 · 1 · 1 · 1 · 1 · 1 · 1 · 1  |                     |             |
| Nonresident aliens: Estate tax returns 291, 292, 298–299, 3   | 22 360              | <b>-361</b> |
| Gift tax returns  | 328                 | 364         |
| Gift tax returns  | 0_0                 | , 00-       |
| Nontaxable returns:  Estate tax returns  Gift tax returns  327, 330, 334–336, 3   | 210 220             | _391        |
| Estate tax returns291, 290, 310-6   | 20 340              | 342         |
| Gift tax returns 321, 330, 334-330, 6   | 000, 010            | 4,          |
| Individual returns  |                     | . <b></b>   |
| 10-11, 33-45, 51-59, 65-75, 76, 91, 92, 103 (note 13), 10   | 14 (BOLE            | 107,        |
| 125, 127, 129, 137, 139, 141, 162–172, 175, 177, 179, 18  | 51, 180,            | 100,        |
| 10-11, 35-49, 31-33, 03-0, 76, 76, 72, 175, 177, 179, 18 125, 127, 129, 137, 139, 141, 162-172, 175, 177, 179, 18 191, 193, 195, 197, 199, 201, 206-207, 208-213, 252 (n Normal tax 3, 7, 17-23, 27, 131, 134, 143, 146, 150-153, 252 (n  | ote 12)             | , 250       |
| Normal tax 3, 7, 17-23, 27, 131, 134, 143, 146, 150-153, 252 (  | note 8)             | , 250       |
| Rates, 1913-1943  |                     | 345         |
| Normal tax and surtax, total 7, 22–23, 126–129, 138–  | 141, 148            | 3-149       |
| Normal tax net income (net income subject to normal tax)  |                     | 345         |
| Notes and mortgages (Estate tax returns) 302-305, 306-311, 312-   | 315, 316            | 3–319       |
| Normal tax  | 10, 12, 6           | 32 - 75     |
| Tumber of dependents classes ==================================   |                     |             |
|   |                     |             |
| Number of returns (see specific type of returns or classification):  Method of tabulation, 1916–1943  | <b>284</b> (nc      | te 1)       |

| Obligations, Government. (See Government obligations.)  |
|---|
|   |
|   |
| Operating loss deduction, net. 96 Optional individual returns. Form 1040A   |
| Optional individual returns, Form 1040A   |
| 11, 14–16, 20, 22, 24, 32–45, 50–59, 64–75, 83–88, 90–92, 103, (22, 24, 32–45, 50–59, 64–75, 83–88, 90–92, 103, (22, 24, 32–45, 50–59, 64–75, 83–88, 90–92, 103, (22, 24, 32–45, 50–59, 64–75, 83–88, 90–92, 103, (22, 24, 32–45, 50–59, 64–75, 83–88, 90–92, 103, (22, 24, 32–45, 50–59, 64–75, 83–88, 90–92, 103, (22, 24, 32–45, 50–59, 64–75, 83–88, 90–92, 103, (22, 24, 32–45, 50–59, 64–75, 83–88, 90–92, 103, (22, 24, 32–45, 50–59, 64–75, 83–88, 90–92, 103, (22, 24, 32–45, 50–59, 64–75, 83–88, 90–92, 103, (22, 24, 32–45, 50–59, 64–75, 83–88, 90–92, 103, (22, 24, 32–45, 50–59, 64–75, 83–88, 90–92, 103, (22, 24, 32–45, 50–59, 64–75, 83–88, 90–92, 103, (22, 24, 32–45, 50–59, 64–75, 6 |
| 7), 124–128, 136–141, 154–157, 158–161, 162–172, 173, 105   |
| 180-185, 214-215, 216-217, 218-251, 252 (note 8), 259 261   |
| Tables exclusively for 92, 206-207, 208-213 Optional tax (Individual returns, Form 1040A) 3.  |
| Optional tax (Individual returns, Form 1040A)   |
| (-8, 14, 17, 32-45, 103 (note 8), 207, 252 (note 8), 250, and   |
|   |
| Optional value, gross estate (Estate tax returns) 295   |
| Ordinary net income359 (note 5)   |
| Other agriculture, forestry, and fishery  |
| Other deductions 77, 82, 85, 88   |
| 105 (note 54), 178–179, 189, 253 (note 39), 265–277, 286 (note 34)  |
| Ordinary variet, gross estate (Estate tax returns) 295 Ordinary net income 359 (note 5) Other agriculture, forestry, and fishery 77, 82, 85, 88, Other deductions 77, 82, 85, 88, Other income 76, 77, 81, 84, 87, 105 (note 48), 176-177, 182-183, 187, 253 (note 33), 266-272, 274-277, 286 (note 32) Other income, interest and 265-268, 273-274   |
| 182–183, 187, 253 (note 33), 266–272, 274–277, 286 (note 32)  |
| Other income, interest and 265-268, 273-274   |
| Other professional and social service   |
| Outer repair frage  |
| Other service and repair 96   |
| Other taxable interest, 1927–1943 266–272 274–277   |
| Other service and repair 96 Other taxable interest, 1927–1943 266–272, 274–277 Overpayment 30   |
| ·   |
| P   |
| Part year returns4  |
| Fartial tax 194 146 150   |
| Partially tax-exempt interest on Government obligations. (See Government obligations)   |
| ment obligations.)  |
| Partnership:  |
| Loss reported on individual and/or fiduciary returns 77,  |
| 80, 85, 87, 104 (note 46), 178-179, 184-185, 189, 253 (note 31)   |
| 80, 85, 87, 104 (note 46), 178-179, 184-185, 189, 253 (note 31), 265-277, 285 (note 28).  |
| Profit reported on individual and/or fiduciary returns 77   |
| 80, 84, 87, 104 (note 46), 176-177, 182-183, 187, 253 (note 31),  |
| 2.2 -2 1 (1000 10); 100 100; 101; 200 (HOUG 01);  |
| 205-277, 285 (note 28)  |
| Returns, data not tabulated   |
| 205-277, 285 (note 28).  Returns, data not tabulated  |
| 205-277, 285 (note 28).  Returns, data not tabulated  |
| Patterns of declaration 1, 120–121  Patterns of declaration 1, 120–121  Patterns of declaration 10, 12, 88–92  Payments on declaration 10, 12, 88–92  |
| Payments on 1942 tax  Returns, data not tabulated   |
| Payments on 1942 tax  Returns, data not tabulated   |
| Returns, data not tabulated   1, 120-121     Number of, 1917-1943   121     Patterns of income.   10, 12, 88-92     Payments on declaration   8, 9, 29-45     Penalties, not included   29-45     Penalties, data in tabulated   106     Payments on the state of the s    |
| Returns, data not tabulated   1, 120-121     Number of, 1917-1943   121     Patterns of income   10, 12, 88-92     Payments on declaration   8, 9, 29-45     Payments on 1942 tax   29-45     Penalties, not included   106     Percentages (other than effective tax rate):     Estate tax returns   201   |
| Returns, data not tabulated   1, 120-121     Number of, 1917-1943   121     Patterns of income   10, 12, 88-92     Payments on declaration   8, 9, 29-45     Payments on 1942 tax   29-45     Penalties, not included   106     Percentages (other than effective tax rate):     Estate tax returns   201   |
| Returns, data not tabulated 1, 120–121  Number of, 1917–1943 121  Patterns of income 10, 12, 88–92  Payments on declaration 8, 9, 29–45  Payments on 1942 tax 29–45  Penalties, not included 106  Percentages (other than effective tax rate):  Estate tax returns 291  Gift tax returns 327, 328  Individual and/or fiduciary returns 24 4 15 16 69 99 90 154 167, 327   |
| Returns, data not tabulated 1, 120–121  Number of, 1917–1943 121  Patterns of income 10, 12, 88–92  Payments on declaration 8, 9, 29–45  Payments on 1942 tax 29–45  Penalties, not included 106  Percentages (other than effective tax rate):  Estate tax returns 291  Gift tax returns 327, 328  Individual and/or fiduciary returns 24 4 15 16 69 99 90 154 167, 327   |
| Returns, data not tabulated 1, 120–121  Number of, 1917–1943 121  Patterns of income 10, 12, 88–92  Payments on declaration 8, 9, 29–45  Payments on 1942 tax 29–45  Penalties, not included 106  Percentages (other than effective tax rate):  Estate tax returns 291  Gift tax returns 327, 328  Individual and/or fiduciary returns 24 4 15 16 69 99 90 154 167, 327   |
| Returns, data not tabulated 1, 120–121  Number of, 1917–1943 121  Patterns of income 10, 12, 88–92  Payments on declaration 8, 9, 29–45  Payments on 1942 tax 29–45  Penalties, not included 106  Percentages (other than effective tax rate):  Estate tax returns 291  Gift tax returns 327, 328  Individual and/or fiduciary returns 3-4, 15–16, 62, 86–88, 89, 154–161, 256  Personal exemption 9, 27, 82, 104 (note 24), 124–125, 130, 133, 136–137, 142, 145, 148–153, 162–172, 206, 208–213, 252 (note 3), 345  Personal property (Estate tax returns) 302–305, 306–311, 212, 215, 216, 216   |
| Returns, data not tabulated 1, 120–121  Number of, 1917–1943 121  Patterns of income 10, 12, 88–92  Payments on declaration 8, 9, 29–45  Payments on 1942 tax 29–45  Penalties, not included 106  Percentages (other than effective tax rate):  Estate tax returns 291  Gift tax returns 3-4, 15–16, 62, 86–88, 89, 154–161, 256  Personal exemption 9, 27, 82, 104 (note 24), 124–125, 130, 133, 136–137, 142, 145, 148–153, 162–172, 206, 208–213, 252 (note 3), 345  Personal property (Estate tax returns 302–305, 306–311, 312–315, 316–319  Personal service 66   |
| Returns, data not tabulated 1, 120–121 Number of, 1917–1943 121 Patterns of income 10, 12, 88–92 Payments on declaration 8, 9, 29–45 Payments on 1942 tax 29–45 Penalties, not included 106 Percentages (other than effective tax rate): Estate tax returns 291 Gift tax returns 3-4, 15–16, 62, 86–88, 89, 154–161, 256 Personal exemption 9, 27, 82, 104 (note 24), 124–125, 130, 133, 136–137, 142, 145, 148–153, 162–172, 206, 208–213, 252 (note 3), 345 Personal property (Estate tax returns 302–305, 306–311, 312–315, 316–319 Personal service 96 Physicians, surgeons, oculists   |
| Returns, data not tabulated 1, 120–121 Number of, 1917–1943 121 Patterns of income 10, 12, 88–92 Payments on declaration 8, 9, 29–45 Payments on 1942 tax 29–45 Penalties, not included 106 Percentages (other than effective tax rate): Estate tax returns 291 Gift tax returns 3-4, 15–16, 62, 86–88, 89, 154–161, 256 Personal exemption 9, 27, 82, 104 (note 24), 124–125, 130, 133, 136–137, 142, 145, 148–153, 162–172, 206, 208–213, 252 (note 3), 345 Personal property (Estate tax returns 302–305, 306–311, 312–315, 316–319 Physicians, surgeons, oculists 96 Population by States and Territories, percentage of total returns to 214–215   |
| Returns, data not tabulated 1, 120–121 Number of, 1917–1943 121 Patterns of income. 10, 12, 88–92 Payments on declaration 8, 9, 29–45 Payments on 1942 tax 29–45 Penalties, not included 106 Percentages (other than effective tax rate): Estate tax returns 291 Gift tax returns 327, 328 Individual and/or fiduciary returns 3-4, 15–16, 62, 86–88, 89, 154–161, 256 Personal exemption 9, 27, 82, 104 (note 24), 124–125, 130, 133, 136–137, 142, 145, 148–153, 162–172, 206, 208–213, 252 (note 3), 345 Personal property (Estate tax returns) 302–305, 306–311, 312–315, 316–319 Personal service 96 Physicians, surgeons, oculists 96 Population by States and Territories, percentage of total returns to 214–215 Possessions of the United States:  |
| Returns, data not tabulated 1, 120–121  Number of, 1917–1943 121  Patterns of income. 10, 12, 88–92  Payments on declaration 8, 9, 29–45  Payments on 1942 tax 29–45  Penalties, not included 106  Percentages (other than effective tax rate):  Estate tax returns 291  Gift tax returns 327, 328  Individual and/or fiduciary returns 3-4, 15–16, 62, 86–88, 89, 154–161, 256  Personal exemption 9, 27, 82, 104 (note 24), 124–125, 130, 133, 136–137, 142, 145, 148–153, 162–172, 206, 208–213, 252 (note 3), 345  Personal property (Estate tax returns) 302–305, 306–311, 312–315, 316–319  Personal service 96  Physicians, surgeons, oculists 96  Population by States and Territories, percentage of total returns to 214–215  Possessions of the United States:  Obligations of (See Government obligations)  |
| Returns, data not tabulated 1, 120–121  Number of, 1917–1943 121  Patterns of income. 10, 12, 88–92  Payments on declaration 8, 9, 29–45  Payments on 1942 tax 29–45  Penalties, not included 106  Percentages (other than effective tax rate):  Estate tax returns 291  Gift tax returns 327, 328  Individual and/or fiduciary returns 3-4, 15–16, 62, 86–88, 89, 154–161, 256  Personal exemption 9, 27, 82, 104 (note 24), 124–125, 130, 133, 136–137, 142, 145, 148–153, 162–172, 206, 208–213, 252 (note 3), 345  Personal property (Estate tax returns) 302–305, 306–311, 312–315, 316–319  Personal service 96  Physicians, surgeons, oculists 96  Population by States and Territories, percentage of total returns to 214–215  Possessions of the United States: Obligations of (See Government obligations.)  Printing and publishing industries 95   |
| Returns, data not tabulated 1, 120–121 Number of, 1917–1943 121 Patterns of income. 10, 12, 88–92 Payments on declaration 8, 9, 29–45 Payments on 1942 tax 29–45 Penalties, not included 106 Percentages (other than effective tax rate): Estate tax returns 291 Gift tax returns 327, 328 Individual and/or fiduciary returns 3–4, 15–16, 62, 86–88, 89, 154–161, 256 Personal exemption 9, 27, 82, 104 (note 24), 124–125, 130, 133, 136–137, 142, 145, 148–153, 162–172, 206, 208–213, 252 (note 3), 345 Personal property (Estate tax returns) 302–305, 306–311, 312–315, 316–319 Personal service 96 Physicians, surgeons, oculists 96 Physicians, surgeons, oculists 96 Population by States and Territories, percentage of total returns to 214–215 Possessions of the United States: Obligations of. (See Government obligations.) Printing and publishing industries 95  |
| Returns, data not tabulated 1, 120–121 Number of, 1917–1943 121 Patterns of income 10, 12, 88–92 Payments on declaration 8, 9, 29–45 Payments on 1942 tax 29–45 Penalties, not included 106 Percentages (other than effective tax rate): Estate tax returns 291 Gift tax returns 3-4, 15–16, 62, 86–88, 89, 154–161, 256 Personal exemption 9, 27, 82, 104 (note 24), 124–125, 130, 133, 136–137, 142, 145, 148–153, 162–172, 206, 208–213, 252 (note 3), 345 Personal property (Estate tax returns 302–305, 306–311, 312–315, 316–319 Personal service 96 Physicians, surgeons, oculists 96 Population by States and Territories, percentage of total returns 214–215 Possessions of the United States: Obligations of. (See Government obligations.) Printing and publishing industries 95 Prior years. (See Historical.) Professional and social service 94, 96  |
| Returns, data not tabulated 1, 120–121 Number of, 1917–1943 121 Patterns of income. 10, 12, 88–92 Payments on declaration 8, 9, 29–45 Payments on 1942 tax 29–45 Penalties, not included 106 Percentages (other than effective tax rate):  Estate tax returns 291 Gift tax returns 327, 328 Individual and/or fiduciary returns 3–4, 15–16, 62, 86–88, 89, 154–161, 256 Personal exemption 9, 27, 82, 104 (note 24), 124–125, 130, 133, 136–137, 142, 145, 148–153, 162–172, 206, 208–213, 252 (note 3), 345 Personal property (Estate tax returns) 302–305, 306–311, 312–315, 316–319 Personal service 96 Physicians, surgeons, oculists 96 Physicians, surgeons, oculists 96 Population by States and Territories, percentage of total returns to 214–215 Possessions of the United States: Obligations of. (See Government obligations.) Printing and publishing industries 95 Prior years. (See Historical.) Professional and social service 94, 96 Property:   |
| Returns, data not tabulated 1, 120–121 Number of, 1917–1943 121 Patterns of income 10, 12, 88–92 Payments on declaration 8, 9, 29–45 Payments on 1942 tax 29–45 Penalties, not included 29–45 Penalties, not included 29–45 Percentages (other than effective tax rate):  Estate tax returns 291 Gift tax returns 3–4, 15–16, 62, 86–88, 89, 154–161, 256 Personal exemption 9, 27, 82, 104 (note 24), 124–125, 130, 133, 136–137, 142, 145, 148–153, 162–172, 206, 208–213, 252 (note 3), 345 Personal property (Estate tax returns 302–305, 306–311, 312–315, 316–319 Personal service 96 Physicians, surgeons, oculists 96 Population by States and Territories, percentage of total returns to 214–215 Possessions of the United States: 0bligations of. (See Government obligations.) Printing and publishing industries 95 Prior years. (See Historical.) Professional and social service 94, 96 Property: 200, 200, 200, 200, 200, 200, 200, 200   |
| Returns, data not tabulated 1, 120–121 Number of, 1917–1943 121 Patterns of income 10, 12, 88–92 Payments on declaration 8, 9, 29–45 Payments on 1942 tax 29–45 Penalties, not included 106 Percentages (other than effective tax rate): Estate tax returns 291 Gift tax returns 3-4, 15–16, 62, 86–88, 89, 154–161, 256 Personal exemption 9, 27, 82, 104 (note 24), 124–125, 130, 133, 136–137, 142, 145, 148–153, 162–172, 206, 208–213, 252 (note 3), 345 Personal property (Estate tax returns 302–305, 306–311, 312–315, 316–319 Personal service 96 Physicians, surgeons, oculists 96 Population by States and Territories, percentage of total returns to 214–215 Possessions of the United States: Obligations of. (See Government obligations.) Printing and publishing industries 95 Prior years. (See Historical.) Professional and social service 94, 96 Property: Community returns: Estate tax   |
| Returns, data not tabulated 1, 120–121 Number of, 1917–1943 121 Patterns of income 10, 12, 88–92 Payments on declaration 8, 9, 29–45 Payments on 1942 tax 29–45 Penalties, not included 106 Percentages (other than effective tax rate): Estate tax returns 291 Gift tax returns 327, 328 Individual and/or fiduciary returns 3–4, 15–16, 62, 86–88, 89, 154–161, 256 Personal exemption 9, 27, 82, 104 (note 24), 124–125, 130, 133, 136–137, 142, 145, 148–153, 162–172, 206, 208–213, 252 (note 3), 345 Personal property (Estate tax returns) 302–305, 306–311, 312–315, 316–319 Personal service 96 Physicians, surgeons, oculists 96 Population by States and Territories, percentage of total returns to 214–215 Possessions of the United States: Obligations of. (See Government obligations.) Printing and publishing industries 95 Prior years. (See Historical.) Professional and social service 94, 96 Property: Community returns:  |

| Intangible (Estate tax returns) 302-305, 306-311, 312-315, 316-  | age<br>319<br>79  |
|--|-------------------|
| Jointly owned (Estate tax returns) 2   | 94,               |
| 302-305; 306-311, 312-315, 316-327, 334  | 319<br>340        |
| Miscellaneous (Gift tax returns) 302-305, 306-311, 312-315, 316-312, 324-2305, 306-311, 312-315, 316-312, 302-305, 306-311, 312-315, 316-312, 302-305, 306-311, 312-315, 316-3 | 319               |
| Power of appointment (Estate tax returns) 294-2  | 95,<br>319        |
| Previously taxed:  | •                 |
| Estate tax returns 293, 295-296, 302-305, 306-311, 312-315, 316-<br>Net deduction 302-303, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317,<br>Gift tax returns   | 319<br>319<br>364 |
| Real estate  |                   |
| Estate tax returns 302-303, 306, 308, 310, 312, 314, 316,  | 318<br>340        |
| Gift tax returns 334,<br>Tangible (Estate tax returns) 302-303, 306, 308, 310, 312, 314, 316,<br>Transferred:  |                   |
| Estate tax returns (Property transferred during decedent's life) _ 2<br>295. 302-305. 306-311. 312-315. 316-   | 319               |
| Gift tax returns (Type of property transferred) 327, 334.  Property other than capital assets, sale of:  | 340               |
| Net gain 77, 80, 84, 86, 104 (note 43), 176–177, 180–181,  | 187               |
| Net loss 77, 80, 85, 87, 176–177, 182–183, Public Salary Tax Act 348 (note 8, par.   | 188               |
| Public utilities 93  | , 95              |
| Ř  |                   |
| The control of the co |                   |
| Rate, effective tax. (See Effective tax rate.) Rates of tax, historical (Estate, Fiduciary, Gift, Individual)  | 345,<br>366       |
| Real estate:   |                   |
| Estate tax returns 302-303, 306, 308, 310, 312, 314, 316, Gift tax returns 334.  | 340               |
| Individual returns 93  | , 96              |
| Individual returns 93 Real estate, stocks, bonds, profit or loss from sale of, 1916–1933 265–273–  | 275               |
| Reduction of tax, 1923 348 (note Religious bequests (Estate tax returns) 302-303, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 319, 319, 319, 319, 319, 319, 319, 319   | 319               |
| Rents and royalties 77, 80, 84, 80, 170-177, 182-183, 187, 283 (110te 29), 203-  | 211               |
| Resident aliens (Estate tax returns) 291, 298, 322, 360—<br>Retail trade 94  | 361<br>. 95       |
| Returns:   |                   |
| Facsimiles   | 396<br>e 1)       |
| Included:<br>Estate tax  |                   |
| Gift tax   | 329               |
| Individual and/or fiduciary 4-5, 284 (note Requirements for filing:  |                   |
| Estate tax 292, 360-   |                   |
| Gift tax328, Individual and/or fiduciary income tax4-5,  | 364               |
| Sampled 106-   | 044<br>115        |
| With larger tax liability on 1942 income   | 59                |
| With larger tax liability on 1943 income   | -55<br>11.        |
| 60, 103 (notes 7 and 12), 252 (note  | 11)               |
| With net profit or loss from business  |                   |
| Applicable to estate tax returns 302-305, 360-   | 363               |
| Historical synopsis of provisions affecting data in this report. 344—Paying figures 284 (note  | 366               |
| Revised figures 284 (note Royalties, rents and 77, 80, 84, 86, 176-177, 182-183, 187, 253 (note 29), 265-  | 277               |
|  |                   |

| S Pag  | re        |
|--|-----------|
| Salaries, wages, etc   | 8,        |
| And other income 89-9 Rendered for a period of 3 years or more 77-7  | 12        |
| Salary Tax Act   | 3)        |
| Sample:  |           |
| Composition of   | 5         |
| Percent coverage   | 8         |
| State aggregates114-11   | 5         |
| Universe sizes 109–11<br>Variability 111–11  | 0         |
| Weighting procedures 110-11  | 1         |
| Savings bonds and Treasury bonds. (See Government obligations.)  |           |
| Savings and loan associations, Federal, dividends from78, 80, 81, 82   | 3.<br>()  |
| Scientific, educational, or literary institutions, bequests to (Estate tax re-   |           |
| turns) 302-303, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 31<br>Scope of estimated data  | 9         |
| Selection of samples 10, 108-10<br>Separate returns of husbands and wives 60-62  | 9         |
| Separate returns of husbands and wives 68-60 74 165-166 210 252 (note 20) 285 (note 10   | <u>},</u> |
| 68-69, 74, 165-166, 210, 252 (note 20), 285 (note 19)<br>Service   | 6         |
| Sex and family relationship 62, 162-172, 208-21 Simple and cumulative distribution of number of returns, net income and  | 3         |
| tax by net income classes, and corresponding percentages 14-16, 154-16   | 1         |
| Single men and women, returns of   | 3         |
| Sole proprietorship 80, 93-96, 105 (note 56 Source Book data, description 121-12   | 2         |
| Source Book data, description  | 3         |
| Sources of income and deductions 76–88 173–179, 180–185, 186–189, 265–277, 285 (note 25  | z<br>3.   |
| 173-179, 180-185, 186-189, 265-277, 285 (note 25   | ĺ         |
| Duplication of income tabulated for individuals and fiduciaries8 Returns with no net income 77, 83-88, 175, 177, 179, 181, 183, 185, 186-18                        | ა<br>9    |
| Specific exemption. (See Exemption.)   | -         |
| State: Inheritance taxes, credit for (Estate tax returns) 291  |           |
| 293, 297, 304–305, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 320–321, 360–36  | 1         |
| Officers' and employees' compensation 76, 348 (note 8, par. 3 State aggregates 114-11  | 5         |
| State and municipal bonds (Estate tax returns) 302–303   | 3.        |
| 306, 308, 310, 312, 314, 316, 318<br>States and Territories:   | 8         |
| States and Territories: Estate tax returns 320-32  | 1         |
| Individual and/or fiduciary returns10, 13, 214-215, 216-217, 218-251, 278-28   | 3         |
| Stock, corporate (Estate tax returns) 302-303, 306, 308, 310, 312, 314, 316, 31  | 8         |
| Stocks and bonds: Estate tax returns   | a         |
| Gift tax returns 327, 334, 34  | ő         |
| Summary data: Estate tax returns 29  | 1         |
| Gift tax returns327-32   | 8         |
| Individual and/or fiduciary returns 2—Supplementary sample   | 4         |
| Supplementary sample 110, 111, 114, 11. Support of dependents (Estate tax returns) 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 317, 319   | ,         |
| Surgeons   | ก         |
| Surfax 3, 7, 17, 19, 22–23, 26–28, 131, 134, 143, 146, 150–153, 252 (note 8), 256  | Ř         |
| Rates and total surtax, 1913–1943. 350–35. Surtax net income 7, 11, 26–28, 103 (note 23 Synopsis of Federal tax laws (Estate, Fiduciary, Gift, Individual) 344–366 | 2         |
| Synopsis of Federal tax laws (Estate, Fiduciary, Gift, Individual) 344-36  | 6         |
|  |           |

| Τ,   |                       |    |
|--|-----------------------|----|
| Tables:  | Page                  |    |
| Fatoto tay returns   | 302-322               | )- |
| Tiduoione noturno cale   | 148153                | 3  |
| Gift tax returns   | 334-342               | ,  |
| Individual returns only: Basic 14, 136-147,  | 158-172               | ٠. |
| Text   | 7. 28. 30.            |    |
| 32-45, 47, 50-59, 62, 64-75, 83-88, 89, 90-92, 95-96,  | 101-102               | •  |
| Individual and fiduciary returns, composite data:  |                       |    |
| Resig 13, 124-135,   | 154-157               | ζ. |
| Historical data  | 250-283               | 5  |
| Text   | -4. 10, 77<br>301 333 | 2  |
| Optional returns only  | 72-75.92              | ۶. |
| m 1 1 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1  | 13-14                 | ŀ  |
| m : 1 1  | 3112-3113             |    |
| 300. 308. 310. 31 <i>4</i> . 314.  | . കൂറ. കൂര            | 3. |
| Tax. (See Additional, Alternative, Average, Basic, Defense, Effecti<br>rate, Estate, Forgiven, Gift, Income and profits, Income and victor   | ve                    |    |
| rate, Estate, Forgiven, Gift, Income and profits, Income and victor Normal, Optional, Rates, Surtax, Tentative, Total, Unforgive   | у,                    |    |
|  | 11,                   |    |
| Victory, etc.) Taxable and nontaxable returns, classification:   |                       |    |
| Fetato tay returns   | 298                   | 3. |
|  |                       | )  |
| Individual and/or fiduciary returns 10-11, 17, 18, 103 (notes 12)  | 2 and 13)             | )  |
| Taxable insurance (Estate tax returns) 302-305, 306-311, 312-315   | , 316–319             | )· |
| Gift tax returns   | 3, 25 (               | ١. |
| Tax before tax credits   | itv)                  | ,  |
| Tax credits:   | 10,7 1,7              |    |
| 902 907 204-205 207 309 311 313 315  | , 320–321             | 1  |
| Individual and/or fiduciary returns 9, 34-37, 42-43, 103 (note 10).  Tax, effective rate (percent). (See Effective tax rate.)  | , 257, 358            | 8. |
| Tax, effective rate (percent). (See Effective tax rate.)   | ( t - 97              | ·  |
|  |                       |    |
| Tax-exempt insurance (Estate tax returns) 307 309 311 313 315  | 317.319               | ģ  |
| Tay forgiven members of armed services.  | 46-4                  | 7  |
| Taxes paid   | 344-36                | 6. |
| Tay hability and collections comparison.   |                       |    |
| Estate tay returns   | 294                   |    |
| Gift tax returns   | 329<br>100            | -  |
| Individual and/or fiduciary returns  | 257 35                |    |
| Tay on 1943 income   | 3                     | 5. |
| 16 20_25 27 50_59 131-132 134-135 143-144 146  | -147, 20              | 7  |
| Tax paid at source 8, 131, 135, 143, 147, 152-153  | i, 257, 35            | 8  |
| Tax paid at source 8, 131, 135, 143, 147, 152–153  | 29-4                  | 5  |
|  |                       |    |
| Tax, prior years: Gift tax returns 256-257, 262-263 Individual and/or fiduciary returns 256-257, 262-263   | 278-28                | 3  |
| The management of the second o   |                       |    |
| Change in during taxable year 348  | (note 12              | (; |
| Change in, during taxable year 348 Historical (Estate, Fiduciary, Gift, Individual)  | 344-36                | 6  |
| Tax reduction, $1923$ | (note ro              | "  |
| Tax refund   | . 9, 29 <del>-4</del> | 5  |
| Tax withheld Tentative returns   | 14, 29-4              | 4  |
| Tentative returns Tentative tax (Estate tax returns)   | 291-29                | 2  |
| Territories. (See States and Territories.)   |                       | _  |
| Tort tables  | 3-4                   | 1, |
| 13 15-16 18 19 20-25 27 28 30 32-45 47 50-59 62  | 64-75, 77             | 7, |
| 83-88, 89, 90-92, 95-96, 101-102.  |                       |    |

| Total deductions 77, 82, 85, 88, 178–179, 184–185, 189, 265–277 Total income (see also Gross income) 14,   |
|--|
| 77, 81, 84, 176–177, 182–183, 187, 265–277   |
| Individual and/or fiduciary returns 3, 8-9, 16, 30, 32-33, 36-45, 47, 50-59, 103 (note 5), 126-127, 131, 134, 138-139, 143, 146, 148-153, 156, 160, 207, 214-215, 216-217, 218-251, 252 (note 6), 263, 278-283, 285 (note 18). |
| Optional returns (Form 1040A) 16, 32-33, 36-45, 50-51, 54-58, 126-127, 138-139, 156, 160, 207, 218-251   |
| Total tax:   |
| Estate tax returns 297, 304-305, 307, 309, 311, 313, 315, 322 Gift tax returns 327, 336, 338, 340 Individual and/or fiduciary returns 16, 30, 32-33, 36-45, 278-283  |
| Optional returns (Form 1040A) 16 Trade 93, 94, 95  |
| Transfer of property: Estate tax returns (transferred during decedent's life) 294-   |
| 295, 302–305, 306–311, 312–315, 316–319 Gift tax returns (type of property transferred)  |
| Transportation 95 Treasury bonds, notes, etc. (See Government obligations.)  |
| Trust, gifts transferred in, by kind of property (Gift tax returns) 340 Trusts and estates 4, 81, 348 (note 9) Type of tax 10, 11, 17-25   |
| II   |
| Unforgiven tax 3-4, 8, 30, 34-37, 42-43, 46, 48, 50-59, 132, 135, 144, 147, 207<br>Unincorporated business, interest in (Estate tax returns)   |
| v  |
| Variability of sample  |
| $\cdot$ W  |
| Wages, salaries, and other compensation for personal services. (See Salaries.)   |
| Weighting procedures 110-111 Wholesale trade 95 Wholly tax-exempt Government obligations. (See Government obligations.)  |
| Withholding  |
| Yours (See Historical)   |
| Years. (See Historical.)   |
| 0  |